
SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 

April 4, 2024 – AMENDED 3/29/24 TO ADD AB 24-072 City Manager Recruitment Update and direction to staff 

 

City Council 

 

AMENDED - AGENDA  
Special Meeting  

April 4, 2024 at 5:30 p.m. 

Legion Hall – Below City Hall 

216 East Park Street 

McCall, ID 

 

ANNOUNCEMENT: 
American with Disabilities Act Notice: The City Council Meeting room is accessible to persons 

with disabilities. If you need assistance, please contact City Hall at 634-7142 at least 48 hours 

prior to the meeting. Council Meetings are available for in person and virtual attendance. Any 

member of the public can join and listen only to the meeting at 5:30 pm by calling in as follows:  

Dial 208-634-8900 when asked for the Conference ID enter: 515 438 047# 

Or you may watch live by clicking this link: https://youtube.com/live/h-Tl45pdfnA?feature=share  

 

OPEN SESSION AND ROLL CALL 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS CONTINUED  

AB 24-070 Request to Approve CUP-23-07 – 1300 East Lake Street – Expansion of Mile High 

Marina (FOR REQUESTED ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ONLY- NO PUBLIC 

COMMENT) (ACTION ITEM) 

 

AB 24-071 Request to Uphold the McCall Area Planning & Zoning Commission Decision to Deny 

FPDP-23-01 for a Floodplain Development Permit at 221 Morgan Drive (FOR 

REQUESTED ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ONLY- NO PUBLIC COMMENT) 

(ACTION ITEM) 

 

PLEASE NOTE 

The listed public hearings are not open for public comment. These public hearings were continued 

in order for the Council to receive specific information regarding these items.  

 
BUSINESS AGENDA 

AB 24-072 City Manager Recruitment Update and direction to staff (ACTION ITEM)  

(ADDED 3/29/24) 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

  

https://youtube.com/live/h-Tl45pdfnA?feature=share


SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 

April 4, 2024 

 

City Council 

 

AGENDA  
Special Meeting  

April 4, 2024 at 5:30 p.m. 

Legion Hall – Below City Hall 

216 East Park Street 

McCall, ID 

 

ANNOUNCEMENT: 
American with Disabilities Act Notice: The City Council Meeting room is accessible to persons 

with disabilities. If you need assistance, please contact City Hall at 634-7142 at least 48 hours 

prior to the meeting. Council Meetings are available for in person and virtual attendance. Any 

member of the public can join and listen only to the meeting at 5:30 pm by calling in as follows:  

Dial 208-634-8900 when asked for the Conference ID enter: 515 438 047# 

Or you may watch live by clicking this link: https://youtube.com/live/h-Tl45pdfnA?feature=share  

 

OPEN SESSION AND ROLL CALL 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS CONTINUED  

AB 24-070 Request to Approve CUP-23-07 – 1300 East Lake Street – Expansion of Mile High 

Marina (FOR REQUESTED ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ONLY- NO PUBLIC 

COMMENT) (ACTION ITEM) 

 

AB 24-071 Request to Uphold the McCall Area Planning & Zoning Commission Decision to 

Deny FPDP-23-01 for a Floodplain Development Permit at 221 Morgan Drive (FOR 

REQUESTED ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ONLY- NO PUBLIC COMMENT) 

(ACTION ITEM) 

 

 

PLEASE NOTE 

The listed public hearings are not open for public comment. These public hearings were continued 

in order for the Council to receive specific information regarding these items.  

 
 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

  

https://youtube.com/live/h-Tl45pdfnA?feature=share


BLANK PAGE



McCALL CITY COUNCIL 216 East Park Street 

AGENDA BILL McCall, Idaho 83638 

Number AB 24-070 

Meeting Date April 4, 2024   
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION 

SUBJECT:  

 

Request to Approve CUP-23-07 – 1300 East Lake 

Street – Expansion of Mile High Marina 

 

A PUBLIC HEARING (FOR REQUESTED 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ONLY- NO 

PUBLIC COMMENT) 

 Initials 

Originator  

or 

Supporter 

Mayor / Council   

City Manager PKK  

Clerk   

Treasurer   

Community Development BP/ Originator 

Police Department   

Public Works   

Golf Course   

COST IMPACT: N/A Parks and Recreation   

FUNDING 

SOURCE: 

N/A Airport   

Library   

TIMELINE: N/A Information Systems   

Grant Coordinator   

SUMMARY STATEMENT: 

This is an application for a Conditional Use Permit, Design Review, and Shoreline Environs Review to 

expand the Mile High Marina and replace the existing log breakwater with wave attenuator infrastructure 

and include publicly accessible dock area with approximately 90 additional boat slips. 

 

During the regularly scheduled January 11, 2024 meeting, the McCall City Council conducted a properly 

noticed public hearing, closed the public hearing, and voted to continue the subject application to the 

February 8, 2024 meeting. At that time, the Council voted to reopen the public hearing for more information 

only from the applicant and staff on the subject application but not for additional public comment. Questions 

were provided by the City Council to the applicant to obtain additional information.  

The applicant’s answers to the questions asked by Council and supporting documents are attached. Staff 

also provided comments on the new information.  

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

1. Continue the Public Hearing 

2. Close the public hearing.  

3. Deliberate 

4. Direct staff to prepare Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decision documents for CUP-

23-07 with the recommended conditions of approval and authorize the Mayor to sign all necessary 

documents. 

RECORD OF COUNCIL ACTION 

MEETING DATE ACTION 

January 11, 2024 Closed public hearing and continued deliberations to February 8, 2024 

February 8, 2024 Re-opened and continued public hearing to April 4, 2024 
 



APPLICANT’S RESPONSES 1 
 

APPLICANT’S RESPONSES TO CITY COUNCIL’S ADDITIONAL QUESTIONS 
REGARDING CUP 23-07 

 
Mile High Marina, LLC, submits the following responses to the City Council’s additional 
questions regarding the Marina Breakwater/Expansion Application (the “Application”). The 
Applicant reserves the right to submit additional comments if requested by City Staff or at the 
April 4, 2024 Meeting.  
Question 1:  Describe the types and quantities of boats currently utilizing slips at Mile High 
Marina. 
Applicant’s Response: Over the period of February 26-March 1, 2024, the Applicant conducted 
two controlled and comprehensive surveys. One was conducted by Cassidy Templeton, General 
Manager of the Marina. This survey solicited input from existing Marina moorage customers on six 
questions. Cassidy was able to poll 140 of the 160 existing moorage customers. The other survey 
was conducted by Kelly Worley, a co-owner of the Marina who works full time at the Marina 
during the season and is responsible for slip assignments and maintenance of the Marina’s slip 
waiting list. This survey solicited input from the first 90 persons on the Marina’s slip waiting list 
(the “Marina Waiting List”) who would be eligible for new slips on eight questions, some of which 
were two part questions.  
  The sworn Declaration of Kelly Worley is attached as Attachment 1. Kelly explains the 
questions which were asked of each of the first 90 persons on the Marina Waiting List who would 
be eligible for the 90 proposed additional slips. She confirms that she personally spoke with each of 
the survey respondents and maintained a separate “Tally Sheet” for each respondent’s answers. She 
then prepared an “Overall Tally Sheet”, which is attached to her Declaration as Exhibit A. The 
Overall Tally Sheet provides the answers, by question, of the total group surveyed.  

The sworn Declaration of Cassidy Templeton is attached as Attachment 2. Like Kelly, 
Cassidy explains the questions which were asked of the current Marina slip holders. She also 
confirms that she personally spoke with each of the survey respondents and maintained a separate 
“Tally Sheet” for each respondent’s answers. She also prepared an Overall Tally Sheet which is 
attached to her Declaration as Exhibit A. The Overall Tally Sheet provides the answers, by 
question, of the total group surveyed.  

The surveys provide valuable information which is responsive to numerous questions 
posed by the Council. As to Question Nos. 1 and 2, the types of boats currently in the Marina, as 
well as the types of boats owned by people on the Marina Waiting List, are disclosed in the Overall 
Tally Sheets.  

Additional significant data derived from the surveys includes the following: 
a) Of the first 90 people who would be eligible for the new slips, 82 already own 

boats and use their boat on Payette Lake. 7 of the 8 who reported not owning a 
boat reported that they are currently using a boat on Payette Lake, but it is owned 
by family, friends, or a rental company, or they are transitioning from a boat 
owned in the 2023 season to a new boat. Thus, the survey establishes that at least 
82 of the boats which would be occupying the new Marina slips are already using 



APPLICANT’S RESPONSES 2 
 

Payette Lake and are not new boats being added to the Lake.1  
b) As to Question No. 3, the surveys establish that the extent of boat usage on the 

Lake by the Marina Waiting List group, who ramp in and out on their days of use 
of the Lake, did not materially vary from the extent of usage of the Lake by the 
current Marina slip holders. 56% of the Marina Waiting List group and 51% of the 
Marina Slip holders reported that they use their boats 11-30 days per year. 60% of 
the Marina Waiting List group reported that they typically use their boat for 4 
hours or less per day of use, with 34% reporting that they use their boat 5-6 hours 
per day of use (i.e. 94% use their boats 6 hours or less per day of use). 79% of 
Marina slip holders reported that they typically use their boat for 4 hours or less, 
with 18% reporting that they use their boat 5-6 hours (i.e. 97% use their boats 6 
hours or less per day of use). So, the data suggests that the relative usage, as 
between the two groups, is comparable. If anything, the Marina Waiting List group 
use their boats somewhat longer per day of use than do the Marina slip holders.  

c) Most of the Marina Waiting List respondents reported that on their days of use of 
the Lake they park their vehicle and trailer in the upland City lot. Many reported 
frustration with congestion at the City ramps, which they attributed to domination 
of the ramps by rental companies.  

d) 51% of the Marina slip holders and 43% of the Marina Waiting List group own or 
have the use of a residence within walking distance of the Marina.  

Question 2:  Provide information on the types and quantities of boats that could be reasonably 
expected to be docked at the new slips, either from information collected from the prior survey 
(which asked the question of what kind of boat), or if not available, sales trends (preferably in 
Idaho, but nationwide if necessary), or data collected from boater registrations in Idaho, or other 
sources as available. 
Applicant’s Response: See Response to Question 1. 
Question 3:  Please provide any available information about boater miles used, frequency of use, 
or any metric that provides information on intensity of boat use by slip owners versus non-slip 
owners, either specifically to this marina, or otherwise. 
Applicant’s Response: See Response to Question 1.  
Question 4:  How will additional boat traffic from the expanded marina, and specifically an 
increase in wake boat traffic, impact the social capacity and carrying capacity for Payette Lake that 
was discussed in the Valley County Waterways Management Plan. 
Applicant’s Response: The Valley County Waterways Management Plan (the “Plan”), which is 
attached as Attachment 4, reported the following, related to social carrying capacity: 
 

 
1 The survey actually establishes that only one of the 90 respondents did not already boat on the Lake. However, the 
Applicant would prefer to err on the side of overstating rather than understating the impacts of the proposed 
expansion. Therefore, for purposes of Applicant’s responses to the Council’s questions, the Applicant assumes that 
the Marina expansion will add 8 new boats to the Lake.  
 



APPLICANT’S RESPONSES 3 
 

a) Over 70% of boaters polled use their boat on the Lake 25 days or less per season; 
b) Over 83% of boaters described their overall experience as “excellent”; and,  
c) Over 86% of the boaters rated the feeling of crowdedness as moderate to not at 

all. 
The above referenced survey of Marina Waiting List people establishes that, at most, 

only eight (8) of the new slip lessees will be new boaters on the Lake. Adding 8 boats to the 
Lake will have no measurable impact on the social capacity of the Lake and will certainly not 
jeopardize the Plan’s Keystone Indicator of maintaining at least 75% of boaters reporting that 
their experience was “excellent”.  

Carrying Capacity is a complicated concept which ultimately rests on a somewhat 
subjective decision as to the optimal number of boats per acre on the Lake at any given time. The 
Plan states that case studies as to carrying capacity suggest a range of 4-40 boats per acre. 
Observed boats on Payette Lake at one time ranged from 20 boats (“low use”) to 76 boats (“high 
use”) on 4,326 usable acres (i.e. excluding no-wake area). This would equate to approximately 1 
boat per 216 acres (low use) or 1 boat per 57 acres (high use). The Keystone Indicator in the Plan 
suggests that the desired future condition for the Lake would be 102 boats at high use. Adding 8 
boats to the Lake, even in the very unlikely event that they were all on the Lake at the same time, 
results in a “high use” number which is still well below this Keystone Indicator.  
Question 5:  Provide an analysis of the impacts of the proposed expansion on the boat launch and 
trailer parking area. 

Applicant’s Response: Based on the survey of Marina Waiting List people, over the course of 
the boating season approximately 1,300 boat launches and 1,300 boat retrievals will be eliminated 
from the City ramps and a like number of days of trailer parking in the City Lot will be 
eliminated. This will obviously reduce congestion at both the ramps and the City lot.2  
Question 6:  Describe the impact of the proposed expansion on surface water quality and non-
motorized usage in the vicinity of the marina. 
Applicant’s Response: Non-motorized usage in the vicinity of the Marina will be enhanced by 
the Breakwater/Expansion Project. The new Breakwater will provide a southern “anchor” to the 
McCall Parks and Recreation Department’s plan to create a non-motorized use area in the water 
immediately north of the Marina. The Breakwater is designed to accommodate a dock extending 
north from the Breakwater/Boardwalk to be dedicated to non-motorized use. In addition, with the 
expansion, boats exiting the new slips will exit well to the west of the Legacy Park waterfront 
area, in which much of the current non-motorized use is concentrated. The Marina and the ingress 
and egress routes from the Marina out onto and returning from the Lake are within an established 
no-wake zone, which should control any impacts on non-motorized users in terms of boat wakes 
from boats entering or leaving the Marina, as well as surface water impacts. The reduced use of 
the City’s ramps will also have a positive impact on surface water disturbance associated with 
boat launches and retrievals. Last but certainly not least, the expansion will introduce, at most, 8 
new boats to the Lake. Under even the most pessimistic assessment, the impacts on non-
motorized use and surface water quality from 8 new boats are far outweighed by the above-noted 
improved facilities for non-motorized lake users and the reduced ramp and parking activity.  

 
2 This is based on the actual number of days-of-use reported by each respondent on the Marina Waiting List Survey 
who use the City ramps. 



APPLICANT’S RESPONSES 4 
 

Question 7:  Describe measures proposed to ensure that the proposed expansion will not have a 
detrimental effect on the health of Payette Lake. 
Applicant’s Response: As established by the surveys, the Marina expansion will introduce at 
most 8 new boats onto the Lake. The Responses to these questions and the attached materials 
provide a firm basis for a finding that the expansion will not have any detrimental impact on the 
Lake, let alone a “substantial” one3. Additionally, the following measures will further assure that 
the proposed expansion will not have a detrimental impact on the lake: 

a) The Marina intends to limit boats placed in the new slips to model year 2010 or 
newer.4  

b) The Marina will not allow any 2-stroke engines on boats placed in the new slips. 
c) The Marina intends to continue its annual milfoil abatement program. 
d) The Marina intends to continue its boater education program, with particular 

emphasis on the established no-wake zones and the avoidance of shallow water by wake boats. 
e) At the suggestion of the City Engineer, the Marina has formalized and updated 

its Spill Control and Response Plan and has also provided a Spill Response Plan applicable to its 
underground storage tanks, which was prepared by Christensen, Inc. the Marina’s fuel supplier. 
These Plans were submitted as Supplemental Submittals 3 and 4 and are reattached hereto as 
Attachments 9 and 10. These plans were independently reviewed by Brett Smith, P.E., LG, of 
Environmental Compliance Associates, LLC, an environmental engineer and exploration 
geophysicist, who has extensive experience with the drafting and monitoring of Spill Prevention 
and Control Plans. Mr. Smith’s Resume and Review Letter were Supplemental Submittals 5 and 6 
to the Application and are reattached hereto as Attachments 11 and 12. Mr. Smith’s opinion is 
that “my review finds the above-referenced documents to adequately provide legible and 
understandable spill response measures and a listing of the equipment needed to effectively and 
promptly contain any fuel spills that may occur during UST-filling or during watercraft refueling 
at the marina-based dispenser. Provided that Facility personnel understand and diligently follow 
the above-referenced spill response documents, the water quality of Payette Lake is being 
responsibly protected by the Mile High Marina.” 

f) In response to a request made by a member of the Big Payette Water Quality 
Council, rubber splash guards that would be compatible with the Marina’s fuel dispensers have 
been ordered and will be in-use this coming season. 
Question 8:  Describe the pollution created and associated impacts on air and water quality from 
the proposed expansion. 
Applicant’s Response: As established by the Surveys, the Marina expansion will introduce at 
most 8 new boats onto the Lake. The Responses to these questions and the attached materials 
provide a firm basis for a finding that the expansion will not introduce any detectable 
contaminants or pollutants into the Lake. 

A. Water Quality:  
1. The materials which will be used: In response to a question posed by a 

member of the Big Payette Lake Water Quality Council, Applicant asked the Supplier and likely 

 
3 The relevant standard in the City Code is that the use not cause any “substantially harmful environmental 
consequences to any land or waters within the planning jurisdiction.” M.C.C. 3.13.03 (B),5.  
4 Effective with 2010 models, the E.P.A. imposed stringent emission controls of recreational watercraft. See 
Response to Question 8. 



APPLICANT’S RESPONSES 5 
 

contractor for the breakwater/dock installation (Kropf Industrial) to comment on the materials 
which will be used in the project and the maintenance protocol, from a water quality perspective. 
His response to Sam Worley was submitted as Supplemental Submittal 11 and is reattached as 
Attachment 17. It includes the following information: 

a) Floatation: The steel pipe floatation does not contain any foam, so there’s 
no risk of plastics/foams escaping even in a catastrophic event.  

b) Treated wood: The only wood in the system is installed above the water 
line, and is treated with a process (Micro Pro Sienna) that’s approved for use in playgrounds, etc.  

c) Epoxy coating: The Amerlock 2 epoxy is approved for use in potable 
water systems (see Data Sheet attached). 

d) There’s nothing involved in the maintenance or servicing of the dock that 
would introduce chemicals or toxic substances. 

2. The removal of the log boom and construction of the new breakwater:  
In response to an issue identified by the Big Payette Water Quality Council, the Applicant 

commissioned an evaluation by the McMillen Company of the potential impacts on water 
quality, in particular the City Water Intake line, from the removal of the existing log boom and 
the construction of the new wave attenuator breakwater. The McMillen Company Bio, as well as 
those of the two principals who worked on the Evaluation, were submitted as Supplemental 
Submittals 7, 8 and 9. They are reattached as Attachments 13, 14 and 15. The McMillen 
Company’s Technical Memorandum was submitted as Supplemental Submittal 10. It is 
reattached as Attachment 16. McMillen Company’s conclusions included the following: 

a) No disturbances are anticipated to the Lake bottom associated with the 
removal of the existing log boom. 

b) The City’s intake line sits at a depth of 73.6-93.6 feet, depending on Lake 
levels. 

c) At its closest point, the Marina will be 352 feet from the intake.  
d) The new concrete blocks will be placed on the lakebed, rather than “keyed 

into” the lakebed. 
e) The littoral range of the Lake (i.e. the shallow shelf nearest the shoreline) 

is typically subject to more lake motion and turbidity. The intake is 550 feet beyond the littoral 
range. 

f) It is anticipated that “resuspended sediment concentration” at the intake 
during the placement of the concrete block will not exceed naturally occurring suspended 
sediments. 

g) The risk of damage to the intake line is “extremely low” due to the 
separation between the nearest concrete anchor and the line. 

3. The 8 new boats:  
a) The City’s Water Quality Reports: Attachment 6 contains the City’s 

Water Quality Reports for the years 2011-2022. The Reports contain information which is 
directly responsive to this Question. The City tests for four chemicals found in gasoline, which 
are benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene and xylenes (collectively referred to below as “BTEX”), 
which have never been detected in the City’s drinking water since 2011. The City also tests for 
turbidity. The Applicant commissioned engineer Brett Smith to review and comment on these 
Reports, relative to this Question. His Report and conclusions are contained in his March 8, 2024 
letter to the Applicant, which is attached as Attachment 18. His Conclusions include the 



APPLICANT’S RESPONSES 6 
 

following: 
i. Given the relatively significant depth and distance from the City’s 

WTP intake, the findings of two separate and independent studies 
showing no disturbances within the upper 15 feet of a lake’s water 
column, the existence of an established No-wake Zone within the lake 
surface over the intake and the fact that BTEX COCs preferentially 
float, it is highly unlikely that BTEX pollution will ever reach the 
City’s WTP intake. 

ii. All WQ Reports revealed Turbidities well below the 1 NTU Maximum 
Contaminant Level (MCL), with considerably lower NTU values 
detected during 2021 and 2022. Given the relatively significant depth 
and distance of the City’s WTP intake to the Mile High Marina; 
findings from two separate and independent studies showing no 
disturbances within the upper 6.5 to 15 feet of the lake’s water column 
and the existence of an established No-wake Zone over the intake, it is 
extremely unlikely that full-speed (let alone idling) watercraft will 
contribute anything to the naturally occurring turbidity at the lake 
bottom or by the intake. 

iii. Given the Findings and Conclusions addressed in this letter, it is 
highly unlikely that the proposed 90-slip expansion for the Mile High 
Marina will significantly pollute Payette Lake bottom water with 
BTEX COCs and it is even more unlikely that (idling or even full-
speed) watercraft will contribute any additional turbidity to the lake 
bottom water surrounding the City’s WTP intake. 

It is noteworthy that, since 2011, no BTEX chemicals have been detected at the City’s Treatment 
Plant despite the fact that, over the same period of time, the number of recreational watercrafts 
using the Lake has significantly increased. It is also noteworthy that, since 2011, the turbidity 
levels in the City’s drinking water have significantly decreased, despite the fact that the numbers 
of wake boats on the Lake has significantly increased.  

b) Other Data Regarding Turbidity: The Valley County Waterways Plan 
addresses the issue of turbidity potentially caused by recreational watercraft. It notes that 
“studies have shown that minimal lakebed disturbance occurs from boats at depths greater than 9 
feet in fine sand beds and 15 feet in silt bed lakes. Therefore, adding no-wake zones in areas with 
depths of less than 10 feet would reduce the “resuspension” of bottom sediments and subsequent 
nutrient loading.” It also correctly recognizes that a study referred to as the “Fay Wake Surfing 
Study” reaches the same conclusion and recommends at least a 200 foot no-wake zone.5 Valley 
County imposes a 300 foot no-wake zone on Payette Lake.6 In addition, the exit from the new 
slips will be at a depth of 45-60 feet.  

c) Air quality: The E.P.A. adopted stringent emission controls for marine 
spark-ignition engines and vessels in 2010 which cover both the engines and the fuel systems. At 

 
5 See Numerical Study of the Impact of Wake Surfing on Inland Bodies of Water, 2022, which is attached as 
Attachment 3.  
6 Valley County Code, 4-5-6(D). 



APPLICANT’S RESPONSES 7 
 

the time, the Agency estimated that “When fully implemented, the new standards will result in 
an estimated 70 percent reduction in HC+NOx emissions and a 50 percent reduction in CO from 
new SD/I engines’ exhaust. The standards will also result in a 60 percent reduction in HC+NOx 
emissions from OB/PWC engines. The new standards will reduce evaporative emissions by 
about 70 percent.”7 Indeed, the Agency’s projections were not overly optimistic as to 
recreational watercraft. Since 2010, there has been a 90% reduction in marine engine emissions 
with a corresponding 40% increase in fuel efficiency.8 Recreational watercraft now account for 
only .7% (i.e. .007) of U.S. Transportation Greenhouse Emissions.9 Greenhouse gas emissions 
are further discussed in the Response to Question 9.  
Question 9:  Provide a greenhouse gas emissions inventory of the proposed expansion utilizing 
the methodology established in the Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard, Revised 
Edition. 
Applicant’s Response: This has proven to be a very difficult question to answer with any 
certainty, due in no small part to the lack of available data. The above-referenced methodology 
would require accurate data as to the total gallons of fuel likely to be used annually by the 8 new 
boats which it is assumed for purposes of these Responses will be brought to the Lake by the 
Marina expansion. While accurate data is available as to the total gallons of fuel which is 
dispensed annually by the Marina’s fuel dispensing station, that fuel is consumed by many lake 
users other than the Marina slip holders. A review of the Valley County GIS Parcel Map and 
associated aerial photography suggests that there are approximately 609 lakefront parcels on the 
Lake and more than 344 additional slips in other marinas on the Lake. Although not every 
lakefront parcel has a dock, the vast majority do and many, if not most, of the single-family 
docks accommodate more than one boat. Thus, any greenhouse gas inventory of the proposed 
expansion must, by necessity, rely on industry-wide or federal nationwide estimates of fuel 
consumption, rather than actual data.  

With these challenges in mind, the Applicant retained Ryan Eldridge, P.E., of Water, 
Civil and Environmental, Inc. to assist in preparing an inventory. Mr. Eldridge’s Report is 
attached as Attachment 19. In his calculations, with the Applicant’s concurrence, Mr. Eldridge 
erred on the side of overstating rather than understating the extent of the greenhouse gas which 
might be produced by the 8 new boats. For example, although the Federal Highway 
Administration estimates that gas-powered watercraft use between .88 and 2.31 gallons per hour 
of fuel, Mr. Eldridge inflated the top end of that range and assumed that the 8 new boats in the 
Marina would consume 3 gallons per hour, an increase of 30% over the high end of the Highway 
Administration’s estimate. Similarly, although Mr. Eldridge concluded that the average annual 
hours of usage of boats referenced in the Marina surveys was approximately 111.5 hours, for 
purposes of his calculations he assumed 120 hours of annual usage. Moreover, the resulting 
calculation further assumes that the boat is running for 100% of the time that it is on the Lake, 

 
7 See Attachment 5, at page 3. 
8 U.S. EPA MOVES Database and Phase-Out of Conventional Carbureted Two-Stroke Engines in 2010 40CFR Part 
1045 ‘Control of Emissions from Spark-Ignition Propulsion Marine Engines and Vessels’; 
Phase out of conventional carbureted two-stroke outboard engines and implementation of direct fuel injection two-
stroke and four-stroke marine engines.  
9 US EPA Greenhouse Gas Explorer CSV File Download 1990–2020, Greenhouse gas emissions from ships and 
boats in the United States https://cfpub.epa.gov/ghgdata/inventoryexplorer/#allsectors/allsectors/allgas/econsect/all; 
See also Attachment 7 hereto. 
 

https://cfpub.epa.gov/ghgdata/inventoryexplorer/#allsectors/allsectors/allgas/econsect/all


APPLICANT’S RESPONSES 8 
 

which is certainly not the case with many boaters. Using these assumptions, Mr. Eldridge 
concludes that the 8 new boats will consume 2,880 gallons of fuel per year, and would, therefore, 
produce 27 metric tons of GHG. He notes that this equates to approximately 7 automobiles and 
would represent less than a 3% increase in GHG associated with the total Marina annual fuel 
sales. Mr. Eldridge states that this estimate is “very conservative and most likely contains a 
significant safety factor.” Indeed, if the actual average hours per season of use Mr. Eldridge 
discerned from the Marina surveys (111.5) and the high end of the Federal Highway 
Administration’s estimate of gallons of fuel used per hour by gas powered watercraft (2.31 gph) 
are inserted into Mr. Eldridge’s calculations, then the projected total GHG produced by the 8 
boats is approximately 18 metric tons, instead of 27 metric tons, which is equivalent to 4 
automobiles. And, if the low end of the Federal Highway Administration’s estimate of gallons 
per hour of fuel used by gas powered boats is inserted into the calculation (.88 gallons per hour) 
the resulting projection is 7 metric tons, equivalent to 1.5 automobiles.  

Yet another method of calculating the GHG which might be produced by the 8 new boats 
at the Marina is displayed in Attachment 20, which calculates the GHG which might be 
produced by the 8 boats by using existing data on the total number of boats in the U.S., Idaho 
and the Marina and the total reported metric tons of GHG associated with those types of boats, 
prorated by the numbers of boats. Using this methodology the projected GHG from the 8 boats is 
just under 6 metric tons, or the equivalent of 1.3 automobiles.  

This discussion in no way is intended to cast any aspersions whatsoever on Mr. 
Eldridge’s calculations, but rather to point out, as did Mr. Eldridge, that his projection “contains 
a significant safety factor” and that, with the available data, this is not an exact science.  

Perhaps most importantly, as is explained in the Response to Question 17, the Applicant 
intends to purchase carbon offset credits from a reputable carbon credit bank sufficient to render 
the 8 new boats carbon neutral. 
Question 10:  There was a discussion regarding measures that the Marina currently does to 
contain/minimize milfoil invasion. Please provide information on what the current methods are, 
whether and/or how those methods will be extended to the proposed expanded marina. 
Applicant’s Response: The current program involves a diver annually hand pulling any milfoil 
which is discovered within the Marina footprint. Yes, the program will be extended to the 
expanded footprint, although, based on the depth of the water in the expansion area, it is 
anticipated that very little milfoil will be present. 
 
Question 11:  Provide the last 10 years, if available, of turbidity data, particularly for data 
collected in locations around the water intake pipe, the marina, legacy park, or in the general 
vicinity. There were some recent turbidity violations that were reported. If the reason for the 
increased turbidity is known to a reasonable degree of certainty, please provide that information 
(no speculation). 
Applicant’s Response: The only turbidity testing of which the Applicant is aware is done at the 
City’s Water Treatment Plant. Those Reports are provided in Attachment 6. Those Reports 
establish that, since 2011, there have been no turbidity violations and, in fact, turbidity is 
significantly trending downward since 2011.  
Question 12:  With respect to turbidity, provide information of how more boats, and in particular 



APPLICANT’S RESPONSES 9 
 

wake boats, leaving the marina may disturb near-shore sediment. 
Applicant’s Response: See Response to Question 8. 
Question 13:  Public comment stated that there are newer wake boats capable of 6’ waves, and 
that have a fuel system that expels exhaust under water rather than in the air. It would not be 
unreasonable to assume such newer wakes boats may be docked in the expanded marina initially, 
or as the newer boats become more prevalent. (I don’t know how new these boats are.) Provide 
information regarding the new fuel injection system for wake boats and any information about 
how far out and in the water column such exhaust may impact water quality for drinking, and 
also water quality for swimming. In other words, can drinking water quality as well as water 
quality at Legacy Park, Brown Park, and in the vicinity of the marina be impacted for swimmers 
and non-motorized users? 
Applicant’s Response: The Applicant’s research suggests that the reference to 6 feet is to the 
length of the wave, rather than the height. As to the balance of the Question, see Responses to 
Questions 8 and 9.  
Question 14:  There was discussion in the public hearing about parking, and that parking 
congestion might be alleviated because the boat owners with slips will not have to park trailers to 
boat. However, now there are 90 boats that are associated with 90 cars that will come to access 
their boats. Provide further information or analysis on how the project intends to address 
additional parking that would be needed to accommodate the slip renters. 
Applicant’s Response: The Question seems to suggest that the expansion will bring 90 new 
boats to the lake. As the Marina Surveys discussed in Response to Question 1 establishes, at 
most 8 new boats will be introduced to the Lake as a result of the expansion. See Responses to 
Questions 1 and 5.  
Question 15:  If boat slip renters now will not need to find parking spaces large enough for their 
trailers, then can park in smaller spaces that are further from the marina. How will the lack of 
parking impact parking that is designed significantly for non-boat users of Legacy Park? 
Applicant’s Response: As is established by the Marina Surveys, there will be at most 8 new 
boat owners seeking parking on a day of the year of which all 8 boats are being used at the same 
time. In contrast, the expansion will eliminate 1,300 occasions in which a current Marina 
Waiting List person is parking their trailer in the City Lot. Given these facts, there is simply no 
basis to conclude that any Legacy Park parking will be displaced.  
Question 16:  Clarify the ADA accessible parking spaces – number and location. 
Applicant’s Response: There are two ADA parking spaces. One is located directly in front of the 
Marina. The other is directly across the street. 
Question 17:  Provide information in the context of how the proposed expansion is consistent 
with/supports, or is inconsistent with, the City’s adopted Greenhouse Gas Emissions Inventory and 
Framework for Climate Action Planning. 
Applicant’s Response: Although the Applicant believes that the actual GHG produced by the 8 
new boats will be less than 27 metric tons (see discussion in Response to Question 9), the 
Applicant intends to purchase carbon offset credits from a reputable carbon credit bank sufficient 
to render the 8 new boats carbon neutral, assuming that they will produce 27 metric tons of GHG. 
The Applicant is in the process of developing the specifics of this plan and will supplement this 



APPLICANT’S RESPONSES 10 
 

Response when the plan is finalized. In addition, the Applicant will require that boats placed in the 
new slips be not older than a 2010 model year and will not allow any boats with 2 stroke motors to 
occupy any of the new slips. Lastly, The Marina has already implemented or will implement the 
Marina Green Practices identified in Attachment 21. 
Question 18:  Is the applicant willing to have conditions on the permit for the 90 new slips, that 
would prohibit: 

a) Commercial renters 
b) Subletting of slips 
c) Wake boats from renting 
d) Any single party from renting more than one slip? 

Applicant’s Response:  
 a) Commercial renters-Yes. The Applicant’s understanding of the term “commercial 

renters” is a renter using the slip to generate income.  
b) Subletting of slips-Yes. 
c) Wake boats from renting-No (Note that only 23% of the first 90 persons on the Marina 

Waiting List own a wake boat). 
d) Any single party from renting more than one slip? Yes. 



STATE OF IDAHO ) 
) ss 

County of Valley ) 

DECLARATION OF KELLY WORLEY 

I, Kelly Worley, having been duly sworn upon oath, depose and state as follows: 

1. My husband, Sam Worley, and I are owners of the Mile High Marina.

2. I work at the Marina full time during the months it is open.

3. Part of my responsibilities include assigning boats to the Marina's slips and working with

slip renters. 

4. The Marina maintains a waiting list of persons seeking a slip, which is used to fill slips that

open up. 

5. Over the period of February 26-March 1, 2024, I surveyed people on our waiting list and

asked each person surveyed the following questions: 

a) Do you own a boat?

b) What is the year, type and model?

c) Do you own or have ready access to a residence in Valley County? If so, is the

residence within walking distance of the Marina?

d) Do you currently use you boat in Payette Lake? Which ramp do you typically use

when you boat on Payette Lake, the City ramps next to the Marina or the ramps at

Ponderosa Park?

e) Do you currently use the boat in any other water bodies? Which ones?

f) How many days would you estimate you used your boat in Payette Lake during the

2023 season?

g) On days of use, typically how many hours did you spend on the Lake?

h) On days of use, typically where do you park your vehicle and trailer? Have you ever

been unable to find a parking spot in the City Lot upland from the Marina? If so, how

frequently does this occur?

DECLARATION OF KELLY WORLEY - l 

ATTACHMENT 1









ATTACHMENT 2





Journal of Water Resource and Protection, 2022, 14, 238-272 
https://www.scirp.org/journal/jwarp 

ISSN Online: 1945-3108 
ISSN Print: 1945-3094 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012  Mar. 23, 2022 238 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 

Numerical Study of the Impact of Wake Surfing 
on Inland Bodies of Water 

Endicott M. Fay1 , Andrew Gunderson2, Arden Anderson2 

1Cotty Fay Marine Design Inc., Bainbridge Island, WA, USA 
2Mercury Marine, Fond du Lac, WI, USA 

Abstract 
In many areas around the world, wake surfing has been cited as one of the 
major causes of lakeshore erosion and turbidity. This paper quantifies the im-
pact related to turbidity and erosion with the use of computational fluid dy-
namics (CFD) of boat wakes in shallow water and the build-up of wind driven 
waves. The energy, type and direction of the boat’s wake are described quan-
titatively and a table for predicting wind driven waves over varying fetches, 
depth and wind speeds is provided. The CFD simulation shows that if a wake 
surf boat is operated 200 ft from shore and in at least 10 ft of water, the envi-
ronmental impact is minimal.  

Keywords 
CFD, Erosion, Waves, Wakes, Wind Driven Waves 

1. Introduction

Wake surfing is a water sport in which a surfer rides a boat generated wake 
without the need for a direct connection to the boat. This contrasts with water 
skiing and wake boarding, which require the use of a tow rope to pull the rider. 
Wake surfing has rapidly gained popularity over the last few decades, causing 
the watercraft industry to introduce hulls specifically designed to optimize the 
wake shape and size for surfing. Typically, this is done by adding ballast such as 
water tanks to the back of the hull and utilizing special tabs to change the hull 
orientation. Wake surf boat operation can be segregated into two modes: surf 
mode and planning mode. Surf mode uses the ballast and/or tabs to create a 
wake capable of pulling a surfer without need of a tow rope (see Figure 1). Typ-
ical speeds range from 10 - 13 mph. Planning mode, defined further in Section 2, 

How to cite this paper: Fay, E.M., Gunder-
son, A. and Anderson, A. (2022) Numerical 
Study of the Impact of Wake Surfing on 
Inland Bodies of Water. Journal of Water 
Resource and Protection, 14, 238-272. 
https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 

Received: February 20, 2022 
Accepted: March 20, 2022 
Published: March 23, 2022 

Copyright © 2022 by author(s) and  
Scientific Research Publishing Inc. 
This work is licensed under the Creative 
Commons Attribution International  
License (CC BY 4.0). 
http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/ 

Open Access

ATTACHMENT 3

https://www.scirp.org/journal/jwarp
https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012
https://www.scirp.org/
https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3975-362X
https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012
http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 239 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

is a more efficient mode of operation for travelling longer distances and is the 
most widely used mode of operation for power boats. Typical planning speeds 
for recreational craft range from 20 to 60 mph. 

Due to the increased frequency of wake surf boat activity in recent years, users 
and residents of inland bodies of water have raised the question of whether wake 
surfing is detrimental to the shoreline and bottom. The purpose of this study is 
to examine the actual impact of wake surf boats on the shoreline and water bot-
tom using computational fluid dynamics (CFD). 

CFD utilizes high performance computing to numerically solve the equations 
governing fluid flow. It has gained popularity in the marine industry for product 
development over the last 20 years due to the increasing availability of reasona-
bly priced computing power. Many studies have been performed to validate CFD 
results and prove their usefulness for predicting real world performance. A well- 
known example for non-planning hulls such as large container ships is the 2016 
Lloyd Register blind CFD workshop. Participants using various software pack-
ages were not allowed access to test results ahead of time, and all simulation re-
sults predicted speed within 4% of test data. The 2018 Multi Agency Craft Con-
ference (MACC) generic prismatic planning hull (GPPH) simulation grand chal-
lenge is another case specific to planning hulls with a similar match between 
CFD and test data. Additionally, CFD has broad ranging applications in other 
fields such as the aerospace, automotive, and process industries. 

This study starts with a discussion of linear wave theory and the wave genera-
tion power of different boat types. Then, CFD simulations using the Open-
FOAM solver are performed on a popular wake surf boat to compare the impact 
of vessel weight, vessel speed, water depth, and distance from shore on wake 
propagation. Simulations are additionally performed using Siemens Star-CCM+ 
to solve for the interaction of wake surf boat propeller wash with various bottom 
depths. Finally, waves generated by the wind for various lake sizes and wind 
speeds are discussed and a CFD simulation is performed for validation. The 
purpose of the research is to accurately model the wake behind a planning craft 
and how it dissipates over time and distance. 
 

 
Figure 1. Typical wake boat in surf mode. 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012
Steve
Highlight



E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 240 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

2. Boat Generated Waves 

The wake behind a boat is a combination of a group of wave patterns that com-
bine into one train behind the craft. Figure 2 shows an aerial view of the typical 
wake of a high-speed planning craft. The energy applied to the water includes a 
viscous effect that generates heat through hull friction and an inertial effect that 
generates the group of waves on the free surface of the water. The energy in the 
water is proportional to the power provided to the propeller. The general di-
mensions of power into the water are the vessels’ resistance times the speed. The 
resistance components are frictional resistance and wave making resistance. The 
frictional resistance is the viscous effect of the water running over the surface of 
the boat. The drag generates a boundary layer that builds based on the length 
and speed of the boat. The wave making resistance is the remainder of the resis-
tance that the propeller must overcome to allow the boat to travel at a particular 
speed. 

The type of boat has an impact based on the normal operating speed of the 
boat. A small sailboat, kayak or canoe generates little or no wake because of the 
size of the boat as well as speed. These small boats are running at their hull speed 
or below depending on the wind speed or person paddling. The hull speed is 
generally estimated as the square root of the waterline length of the craft in 
nautical miles per hour. For statute miles per hour, we can multiply by 1.15. For 
example, a twelve-foot canoe has a hull speed of 3.5 knots or 4 miles per hour 
(mph). In the case of a 23-foot wake boat with a waterline length of 19.5 feet, the 
hull speed is 5 miles per hour. In a displacement type of hull, the hull will sink 
into the water as the speed increases. In the case of a large ship, the resistance 
increases dramatically at this speed and makes it economically impossible to go 
any faster than hull speed.  

In the case of the motorboat, the hull has been designed as a planning craft that 
is able to plane on the surface of the water much like a waterski on the surface of 
the water. The boat has the power available to go beyond hull speed and begin to  
 

 

Figure 2. Typical wave pattern of a planning craft. 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 241 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

plane where the center of gravity will begin to rise. The term is generally noted 
as semi-displacement speeds and finally planning speeds. The planning speed is 
generally defined as the point where the center of gravity is finally passed above 
the vertical center when the boat is at rest and the hull is supported by the hy-
drodynamic lift of the hull running over the surface of the water. The Froude 
number for planning craft is generally taken as the following. 

1
3

VF

g
∇ =

∇

                            (1) 

where: 
V: Speed in feet per second; 
g: acceleration due to gravity = 32.17 feet/sec2; 
∇ : Volumetric Displacement = cubic feet. 
The transition to planning speeds is estimated at a volumetric Froude number 

of 2. For a wake boat at a displacement of 7100 pounds, the full planning speed is 
25 feet per second or 17 mph (27 kph). At speeds below 17 mph, the boat is 
semi-planning and is partially supported by buoyancy. The normal wake surfing 
speed is 12 mph (19.3 kph) which is midway between the displacement speed 
and planning speed with a Froude number of 1.41. The total power applied to 
the water is the engine power absorbed by the propeller. The wake of the propel-
ler generates the thrust needed to propel the boat and overcome the resistance 
generated by the frictional and wave making components. The propeller effi-
ciency is proportional to the thrust times speed divided by the torque times en-
gine RPM. The thrust from the propeller is equal to the resistance of the boat 
plus a thrust deduction to overcome the added resistance caused by the high ve-
locity water off the propeller that strikes the rudder and reduces the pressure 
under the hull increasing the trim of the boat. The thrust deduction is generally 
estimated at ten percent so the required propeller thrust can be estimated at ap-
proximately 110% of the estimated resistance of the boat. 

The wave making resistance is proportional to the weight of the boat and the 
running trim angle. The applied force to the surface of the water is estimated by 
the following equation [1]. 

( )tanwF τ= ∆                           (2) 

where: 
Fw: force applied to the free surface; 
Δ: boats displacement in lbf; 
τ: running trim angle at speed. 
Figure 3 shows the boats’ resistance curves in the free running and ballast 

conditions.  
The free running displacement is estimated at 5500 lbs and the ballast condi-

tions are estimated at 7100 lbs and 10,500 lbs. The data is assumed to represent 
an average wake boat operating in North America. The condition of interest is 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 242 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

the wake surfing condition at 12 mph in the ballasted conditions to represent the 
largest wake developed by this type of craft. The speed versus engine RPM is 
shown in Figure 4 and the engine power is shown in Figure 5. The energy in the 
wake is a combination of the kinetic and potential energy components. 

The results of the ballasted condition at 7200 lbs (3264 kg) are: 
Vessel Speed 12 mph (19.3 kph); 
Total Resistance 1510 lbf (6.72 kN); 
Engine RPM 2410; 
Engine Power 104 horsepower (77.6 kW); 
Overall Efficiency 46.5% (Propeller is cavitating badly). 

 

 

Figure 3. Wake boat resistance estimate. 
 

 

Figure 4. Speed versus engine RPM for a typical wake boat. 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 243 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

 

Figure 5. Engine power versus speed for a typical wake boat. 
 

The wave making resistance can be estimated by subtracting the frictional re-
sistance, appendage and wind drag. We can assume the wind drag is small com-
pared to the overall resistance at 12 mph. The appendage drag is approximately 
32 lbf and the frictional resistance is estimated at 87 lbf (387 N) with a frictional 
coefficient of 2.625 (10−3) and a wetted surface of 117 ft2. The result is the wave 
making resistance is 1391 lbf at 12 mph (17.62 ft/sec). 

If we take the wave making resistance figure and multiply it by the speed of 
the boat we can estimate the power input into the development of the wave field 
following the boat. The wave making power in ft-lbf/sec is 24,509 ft-lbf/sec or 
33.23 kW or 33,230 joules per second. 

The results of the ballasted condition at 10,500 lbs (4760 kg) are: 
Vessel Speed 12 mph (17.3 kph); 
Total Resistance 2030 lbf (9.03 kN); 
Engine RPM 2950; 
Engine Power 145 horsepower (108.2 kW); 
Overall Efficiency 44.8% (Propeller is cavitating badly). 
The wave train behind the boat is travelling at the same speed of boat assum-

ing the boat is travelling at a constant speed. The wave train shows an angle be-
hind the boat with a series of waves traveling at an angle of 19 degrees off the 
line of travel or an included angle of 38 degrees. The waves are a group of dis-
turbances from the boat’s disruption of the free surface. The waves are dispersive 
meaning they are a series of waves emanating from a single source. 

Figure 2 shows an aerial view of a planning craft running at approximately 30 
mph. The waves are described as gravity waves and are travelling at the speed of 
the boat appearing that they are attached to the boat. The appearance of the “V” 
shaped angle is related to the phase velocity and group velocity of the waves fol-
lowing behind the boat. The “V” shape is described as the Kelvin Wedge. The 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 244 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

angled layout is shown in Figure 6 with each leg at an angle of 19.4 degrees [2]. 
The wave crests are set at an angle to the line of travel at approximately 35.3 de-
grees. The velocity of the crest relative to the speed of the boat is: 

( )cosc V θ=                            (3) 

where 
c: phase velocity, ft/sec; 
θ: Wave angle to line of travel = 35.3 degrees; 
V: Boat speed, ft/sec. 
The phase velocity is the speed of the crest of the largest or dominant wave-

length and has a speed of 0.816 (V). The wavelength of the gravity wave in deep 
water is: 

2

2c
cL
g

= π                             (4) 

where 
Lc: wavelength of the dominant wave on the crest of the wake; 
g: acceleration due to gravity. 
The group velocity of the wave train because of the range of wavelengths that 

make up the full wake is equal to one-half of the phase velocity in deep water. 
The definition of deep water is dependent on speed. As the depth is reduced for 
a particular wave train the group velocity will approach the phase velocity caus-
ing the waves to bunch up and begin to break at the crest. 

The estimate for the group velocity in shallow water can be estimated based 
on the following equation. The factor (n) will be used to determine the energy in 
a wave train for comparison to typical waves generated by wind. 

4
1 1
2 4sinh

c

c

h
LUn

c h
L

 
π 

 = = +  π
  
   

                     (5) 

where 
 

 

Figure 6. Kelvin wave boundary. 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 245 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

n: Velocity factor; 
U: Wave group velocity, ft/sec; 
c: Phase velocity, ft/sec; 
h: Water depth, feet. 
The velocity factor with the boat wake surfing at 12 mph at different depths is 

shown in Table 1. The phase velocity is the cosine of 35.4 degrees times the ves-
sel speed of 17.62 feet per second or 14.37 ft/sec. The group velocity in deep wa-
ter is 7.19 feet per second. 

The wave energy can be estimated by the following equation for a standard 
gravity wave.  

k pE E E= +                            (6) 

where: 
Ek: waves kinetic energy; 
Ep: wave potential energy. 
The wave running in deep water ignoring dissipation of the wave energy the ki-

netic energy equals the potential energy and can be estimated based on the fol-
lowing equation. 

2 2 2

16 16 8
c c c

k p
gH L gH L gH L

E E E
ρ ρ ρ

= + = + =             (7) 

where: 
H: mean wave height in the wave train in the Kelvin wedge. 
The power in the wave can be derived from the following equation based on 

the total energy represented by the dominant wave in the wave train. 

P Enc=                             (8) 

where: 
P: Wave power in ft-lbf per second; 
n: Group velocity factor; 
E: Wave energy in lbf; 
c: Phase Velocity. 
If we equate the wave making effective power to the wave power, we can esti-

mate the height of the wave that would be recognized by the observer on the 
shore. The total effective power for wave making is estimated at 1391 lbf times  
 
Table 1. Group velocity at different depths at 12 mph (17.61 ft/sec). 

Depth, h feet n Group Velocity, U 

5 0.845 12.14 

10 0.640 9.20 

15 0.545 7.83 

20 0.512 7.36 

25 0.503 7.23 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 246 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

the speed of 17.61 feet per second or 24,509 ft-lbf per second. The wave train is 
split in two with a wave train running on either side of the vessel. The single 
dominant wave is assumed to be close to root mean square of the group of waves 
travelling with the boat. The effective power for the dominant wave is the RMS 
value of one half the total power or 8664 ft-lbf/sec. So the estimated wave height 
can be determined from the effective wave making power of the power and the 
above equation for the effective power of the wave. 

2

8664
8

cgH L
Enc nc

ρ
= =                      (9) 

2

11900
8

cgH L
Enc nc

ρ
= =                    (10) 

The estimated wave height of the dominant wave is 1.85 feet (0.564 m) at 7200 
lbs displacement and 2.26 feet (0.688 m) at 10,500 lbs displacement.  

Figure 7 shows the wake height of the boat at 7200 lbs displacement at 12 
mph in 15 feet of water. The second wave crest behind the boat is the dominant 
wavelength running at the group velocity. The height of the wave from trough to 
crest is approximately 0.50 m. It is also clear in the figure that the wave height 
dissipates quickly as it expands outward and away from the boat. The height of 
the dominant wave may not carry the RMS value of the energy in the wave train 
and the figure may be closer to half than the RMS value of 70.7 percent. 

Figure 8 shows a second view of the wave train behind the wake boat running 
at 12 mph. The peak wave at the tip of the train has a height of 0.50 meters (1.64 
feet). The center peak is the vertex of the surface disturbance. The figure shows 
how the wave train is a series of waves with diverging and transverse waves.  

For comparison, the wave power at a free running speed of 30 mph at a dis-
placement of 5500 lbf is estimated. The wave making resistance is estimated at 
463 lbf. The speed of 30 mph equals 44 feet per second. The effective wave mak-
ing power is the speed times the force applied to the water surface or 20,372 
ft-lbf per second. The wave making power is higher at 30 mph at a lighter dis-
placement. The data is presented below. 
 

 

Figure 7. Wake Height of Wake boat 100 feet (30.5 m) from shore in 15 feet of water. 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 247 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

 

Figure 8. Wake boat at 12 mph in 15 feet of water approximately 100 feet from shore. 
 

Speed: 30 mph = 44 feet per second; 
Displacement: 5500 lbf; 
Wave Making Resistance: 463 lbf; 
Effective Power RrV: 20,372 ft-lbf/sec; 
Wave Phase Velocity—c: 35.9 ft second; 
Group Wavelength Lc: 251 feet; 
Group Velocity Factor—n: 0.956 (15 foot water depth); 
Group Wave Energy: 7203 ft-lbf/sec; 
Estimated Wave Height: 0.327 feet (0.1 m). 
Although the wave height is significantly lower, the wave energy is only se-

venteen percent lower than the wake surfing condition. In addition, the longer 
wavelength will allow the high-speed wave to travel further with less dispersion. 
The higher energy is primarily a function of the higher velocity of the wake. The 
wave loses a certain amount of energy during each period. The longer wave-
lengths are travelling faster and have a longer period. The period of the wake 
surfing wave group is 2.81 seconds compared to 7.0 seconds for the wave group 
in the free running condition at 30 mph. The higher speed craft running at the 
same distance from shore will generate similar wave energy striking the shore-
line than the wake boat at a heavier displacement running at 12 mph. In each 
case, the recommendation is to operate the boat 200 feet from shore and in water 
depths greater than 10 feet. 

3. Computational Fluid Dynamic Analysis of Wake Surf Boat 

The purpose of this section is to evaluate the waves generated by a wake surf 
type of boat. The initial development was untaken in Sections 1 and 2 to prepare 
the reader for the application of CFD in predicting the height, period and dis-
tribution of the wave train generated by a passing wake surf boat. The difficulty 
of developing a model is that only a single condition can be run at one time. The 
wake is influenced by obvious factors including the vessel weight, running trim 
and center of gravity. As discussed in Section 2, the running trim and displace-

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012
Steve
Highlight



E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 248 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

ment are directly related to the resistance of the vessel. Other factors include the 
water depth and distance from shore. To a lesser extent, the type of shoreline al-
so may have an influence on reflected waves. 

Based on the speed of the wake surfing boats, a depth of ten feet or higher will 
have little effect on shape, height, and period of the wave train [3]. As the wave 
train approaches a sloped beach the waves will tend to pile up. The range of CFD 
analysis includes two operating ballast conditions. The ballast conditions are 
outlined in Section 2 at displacements of 7200 lbf and 10,500 lbf. The heavier 
load is an extreme case to define the heavier range of wake surfing boats. The 
waterline length of the test boat is 19.63 feet at a displacement of 10,500 lbf is at 
the limit for the boat. The wake surf boat market includes heavier boats, but they 
have longer waterlines, and the expected running trim would be lower. 

The boats were run at two basic speeds to represent wake surfing at 10 - 12 mph 
and 20 - 22 mph to represent wake boarding. The CFD domains are expanded to 
provide the wave train well beyond and behind the boat to show the expected dis-
sipation of the wave train over time. The time range of the domain based on the 
speed is about 40 seconds in the wake surfing mode and 25 seconds in the wake 
boarding condition. The size of the domain for the study in shallow water is 47 
million cells and 67 million cells for the deep-water domain. A third domain mod-
eling a channel with a shoreline on each side was developed to show the wave 
impact with the shoreline and reflected wave shapes. The size of the channel 
domain is 45 million cells. The channel model shows the boat approximately 100 
feet from shore while the deep-water model shows the boat 200 feet from shore. 
The shallow water model shows the boat 150 feet from shore. The depth of the 
channel model is 16.4 feet (5 m), the depth of the deep-water model is 33 feet (10 
m) and the shallow water model is 10 feet (3 m). All the models were run at the 
Super Computing Center at Ohio State University (https://www.awesim.org/). 

3.1. CFD Model Domains 

In general, for the CFD modeling of hulls, the domain is minimized to reduce 
the computational time required to solve the equations. The purpose is normally 
to estimate the resistance of the hull at a given speed, operating displacement, 
and center of gravity. In the present case, the shape, extent and size of the wake 
is the primary goal. To model the wave train, the domain needed to be refined 
well beyond the normal resistance estimate. 

The domain was extended side to side to capture the wave train as it devel-
oped behind the boat. The depth was set to determine impact of the water depth 
on the shape, height and extent of the wave train. The largest impact on the 
model was the refinement of the mesh that made up the body of water. The 
mesh at the surface was critical to accurately define the wave surface and the 
mesh below the surface was critical to determine the impact of the water depth. 

The canal model was developed to show the effects of the beach on either side 
and the impact of reflecting waves. The shallow water model depth was constant 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012
https://www.awesim.org/
Steve
Highlight



E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 249 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

to starboard and sloped to nothing on the port side to show the effects of waves 
approaching a shoreline.  

To develop a full wave profile over the whole domain the models were all run 
for 2000 seconds with the boat fixed on the surface. The forces and moments 
were evaluated, and the position of the boat was balanced based on the vessels 
weight and center of gravity for each speed point. 

The domain of the canal model is shown in Figure 9. The figure shows the 
water mesh from the inlet to the domain with the boat 80 meters into the model. 
The green boundary is the beach with a twenty-degree slope on each side. The 
mesh around the boat is more refined by a factor of eight and a layered mesh of 
three elements is added to the boat surface. An additional layer of two elements 
is added to the beach surface to model viscous effects.  

Figure 10 shows the domain of the shallow water model. The width of the 
model has been extended to 45 meters (150 ft) to look at the increased distance 
from shore. The water depth reduces to 0.45 m to port and is a constant 3 m (10 
feet) to starboard. The boat and bottom have a layer of cells added to model the 
viscous effects. 
 

 

Figure 9. Channel model showing the water mesh. 
 

 

Figure 10. Shallow water model showing water mesh. 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 250 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

Figure 11 shows the refined mesh around the boat with the added mesh layers 
on the boat hull. The red in the model is the water while the blue is the air with 
the boat running at 11 mph. The white is the transition between the two liquids. 
The fluids are immiscible and are split by cells. 

Figure 12 shows the water mesh for the deep-water model. The water depth 
goes to zero on the port side and remains at 10 m (30 feet) to starboard.  

3.2. Computational Results 

The iterative process of the position of the boat on the surface was made easier 
using the simulation in Section 2 as a starting point. Figure 13 shows the con-
vergence of the forces and moments on the hull in shallow water model at 12 
mph. 

The different effects that were investigated include the distance from shore, 
the depth of water and the type of beach. The Canal model shows the distance 
from shore of approximately 100 feet with a 20-degree sloping beach. 
 

 

Figure 11. Shallow water model showing the refined mesh. 
 

 

Figure 12. Deep water model water mesh. 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 251 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

 

Figure 13. Convergence of vertical force. 
 

The canal model is a good model to show the change in the wave train due to 
boat speed. The runs were done at the same displacement of 7200 lbs at 11, 17 
and 23 mph. Figures 14-16 show the change in the wave train shape based on 
vessel speed in 5 m (16 feet) of water. 

The figures show the wake stretching further behind the boat as the divergent 
waves tend to turn towards shore as the speed increases. The shallow water be-
gins to have some impact at 23 mph with a larger series of reflected waves.  

Figure 17 shows the canal model in perspective with the shore running be-
hind the boat. The distance of the beach is 28 meters (92 feet). Figure 18 shows 
the shallow model at 45 meters (148 feet) off the beach and Figure 19 shows the 
deep model that is 60 meters (197 feet) from the edge of the domain. The boat is 
traveling at 11 mph in each example at a displacement of 10,500 lbf ballast for 
wake surfing. 

In each figure the number of waves striking the shore increases as the distance 
increases. The number of waves striking the shore 28 meters in Figure 17 is five. 
The number in Figure 18 at 45 meters is eight and the number at 60 meters in 
Figure 19 is eleven. The group of waves tends to separate out into its compo-
nents centered around the group velocity. The wave train shape height and am-
plitude will be discussed further in Section 3.3.  

Figure 20 and Figure 21 show the change in depth at the heavy displacement. 
Figure 20 is run in deep water at 30 feet deep and Figure 21 is run in shallow 
water at 10 feet (3 m) deep.  

The shallow water runs in Figure 21 shows more wave peaks in view meaning 
that the group of waves is separated quicker in shallow water. The wave train be-
gins as a single large wave at centerline and the wave group disperses outward 
from the center at an included angle of 38.4 degrees. 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 252 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

 

Figure 14. Canal model at 11 mph. 
 

 

Figure 15. Canal model at 17 mph. 
 

 

Figure 16. Canal model at 23 mph. 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 253 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

 

Figure 17. Canal model at 11 mph. 
 

 

Figure 18. Shallow water model at 11 mph. 
 

 

Figure 19. Deep water model at 11 mph. 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 254 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

 

Figure 20. Deep water runs at 12 mph at 10,500 lbs displacement. 
 

 

Figure 21. Shallow water runs at 12 mph at 10,500 lbs displacement. 

3.3. Wave Shape and Group Velocity 

If we take cuts at different distances off centerline, the wave profile will begin as 
a single major wave where the surfer is on the wave. Moving outboard from cen-
terline, the wave train breaks into smaller waves with periods and wavelengths 
around the group wavelength based on the wave celerity. The wavelength is the 
longest in front or in the lead as the faster waves outpace the slower ones until 
the group separates out into a group of around seven peaks. 

The group of waves satisfies the simple dispersion equation [2] as follows. 
1 2

2
gc λ =  π 

                          (11) 

where: 
c: wave speed (feet per second); 
λ: wavelength (feet). 
If we simplify and rearrange the variables, we get the Froude number showing 

the wave speed and wavelength are proportional to boat speed. 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 255 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

22
n

V c cF
ggl gλ λ
π

= = =                    (12) 

The wave trains from the deep-water model were cut at 5 m (16 feet), 10 m 
(33 feet) and 20 m (65 feet) to show the shape of the wave train as it traveled 
away from the boat. Figure 22 shows the section through the surface at 5 meters 
(16 feet) off centerline. The wave is primarily a single large wave. Figure 23 
shows a section at 10 m (33 feet) and Figure 24 shows the section at 20 m (65 
feet). The sections are taken at 12 mph in the deep-water model. 
 

 

Figure 22. Surface section at 5 m off centerline in deep water at 12 mph. 
 

 

Figure 23. Surface section at 10 m off centerline in deep water at 12 mph. 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 256 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

 

Figure 24. Surface section at 20 m off centerline in deep water at 12 mph. 
 

The deep-water model is not affected by the depth and the group velocity will 
be half of the wave velocity allowing the wavelength to disperse. The shape of the 
wave profile in Figure 22 is most likely missing a bit of the top of the wave be-
cause the wave is breaking. The wake clearly shows a single disturbance. In Fig-
ure 23, the wave train has split in two at one period (2.8 seconds) behind the 
first section at 5 meters. Figure 24 is about four wave cycles behind the boat and 
the section clearly shows five wave peaks. The wave train has separated into a 
group of waves as it travels away from the boat. The longer wavelengths lead the 
group with the peak amplitude wave in the middle. The wave period at the front 
of the group in Figure 24 is 3.73 seconds. The last wave has a period of 1.86 
seconds. The peak wave or dominant wave has a period of 2.81 seconds. 

The time plot is the longitudinal position from the transom divided by the 
speed of the boat. The time zero is the boat passing at the transom and the nega-
tive time is the distance behind the boat. Positive time begins forward of the 
transom and negative time behind the transom corresponds to the domain di-
mensions with the origin at the transom. 

4. Experimental Field Data 

There are numerous ways to estimate the height of waves on the water. In deep 
water the wave disturbance from boats has been measured with submerged pres-
sure sensors. The pressure sensors needed to be calibrated and the distance be-
low the surface can be affected by current and the orbital velocities in the wave. 
A common approach in the study of offshore waves is to measure the maximum 
velocity at the surface using a high-speed GPS recorder.  

Another approach has been to measure the wave height directly with sensors 
that are in the water column and measure the running surface height. In general, 
these units are floating and can be affected by the orbital velocity, background 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 257 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

waves and fundamental heave frequencies as the wave passes. The measurement 
devices are generally floating and anchored to the bottom. 

Reference [4] took a series of wake measurements in shallow and deep water 
at various distances from shore. The boat used in the experiment was a wake surf 
boat at a displacement of approximately 10,500 lbs. The wave heights were meas-
ured perpendicular to the shoreline, but the boat ran at an angle to the shoreline 
to produce a wave train that travelled perpendicular to the shoreline. The angle 
is assumed to be approximately 19 degrees based on a Kelvin wave. The data used 
for comparison were taken using pressure sensors located below the surface. The 
sensitivity and calibration of the sensors are difficult when trying to measure the 
wave heights in shallow water. The limited depth reflects a pressure field off the 
boat as it approaches and then quickly dissipates as the boat passes. The plots 
shown are taken from data in relatively deep water with approximately ten feet 
of water below the sensor. The shallow water wave height data was not consis-
tent and ignored for comparison. 

The CFD analysis shows the initial wake is a disturbance that breaks up into 
its component waves as it moves away from the boat. The wake sections taken 
off centerline represent the travel time of the wave train away from the boat. The 
plotted wave profiles from [5] show the wave profile of a boat in wake surfing 
mode at different distances from the path of the boat. Each sensor represents 
a distance and time from the path of the boat after it has passed. The time 
represents wave cycles as they travel over the surface of the water. Figure 25 
shows the field test wave train over time while it travels away from the boat. The 
time is difficult to compare since the sensors are perpendicular to the shore and 
at an unknown angle to the line of travel of the boat. The field data time plot is 
roughly from the time the boat passed the line of sensors. The CFD data follows  
 

 

Figure 25. Data provided by [4] at 11 mph at a displacement of 10,500 lbf. 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 258 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

the sign of the position of the boat from the transom. The CFD model had 67 
million cells shown in Figure 12. The resolution near the boat is good but dete-
riorates at more than three boat lengths away from the boat making it impossible 
to plot the expected wave height more than 100 feet from the track of the boat.  

The CFD analysis data is taken at a point in time or picture of the wave train. 
By taking cross sections through the CFD domain at positions off centerline pa-
rallel to the path of the boat, the shape of the waves can be estimated. The time 
on the plot utilizes the speed of the domain and distance to estimate time. Fig-
ure 26 shows the CFD wave profile at 5 m (16 ft) off centerline. The disturbance is 
very similar to the provided shown at the bottom of Figure 25 where the sensor 
was close to the path of the boat. Figure 27 shows the CFD profile at 20 m (66  
 

 

Figure 26. Wake profile 5 m off centerline at 11 mph at a displacement of 10,500 lbf. 
 

 

Figure 27. Wave profile at 20 m off centerline. 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 259 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

feet) off centerline. The figure represents the third profile from the bottom in 
Figure 25. The CFD analysis captures the shape, height and distributions of the 
wave train generated by the boat in the field test. Although the two boats are 
different their basic configuration and weight are similar. 

The wave generated by any planning craft will produce a disturbance on the 
water surface. As the boat passes the wake breaks into a series of smaller waves. 
The wake extends outward and breaks into its component parts. The measured 
data and CFD data results show the wave disturbance at the transom and the 
group of waves trailing behind the vessel. The wave heights, period, and shape of 
the wave train match well. The wave height drops in half after about 15 cycles or 
30 seconds. The field test data and CFD analysis show the same reduction in 
wave height as the wave train moves away from the path of the boat.  

A similar review of the wave profile of the boat at 20 mph in a wake boarding 
condition at 10,500 lbf between the CFD analysis and the field data shows similar 
results. The wave profiles show the same initial large disturbance, and the group 
components separate into a range of individual waves of different wavelengths. 

Figure 28 shows the wave height plot at the different sensors running in deep 
water. The time starts as the boat passes the line of sensors. The boat passed at a 
reported ten feet from the first sensor or about one wavelength based on the 
plot.  

Figure 29 and Figure 30 show the wave profile at 20 mph during wake board-
ing. The wave shape, height and period are all consistent between the field test 
data and the CFD analysis. Figure 29 shows the wake near the transom at 5 m 
off centerline and Figure 30 shows the wake profile 20 m off centerline. The 
higher speed of the vessel puts the CFD plots at the first two plots from the bot-
tom in Figure 28 showing the wave profiles of the field test. 
 

 

Figure 28. Wake boarding wave train profile test data 20 mph at a displacement of 10,500 
lbf. 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 260 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

 

Figure 29. CFD results at 20 mph at 5 m off centerline at a displacement of 10,500 lbf. 
 

 

Figure 30. CFD results at 20 mph at 20 m off Centerline at a displacement of 10,500 lbf. 

5. Wave Energy Attenuation 

The wave train behind the boat is a group of waves following the boat with a 
range of periods and wavelengths centered around the group velocity. The wave 
train expands into the individual waves as it travels away from the boat and its 
energy will dissipate as it travels. 

The primary loss in energy as the wave train travels in shallow water generally 
found in confined bodies of water is through bottom friction [2]. The bottom 
friction is a result of the orbital motion of the wave interacting with the bottom 
as the wave travels. The amount of energy lost per cycle can be significant de-

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 261 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

pending on the depth of the water and the average wavelength. 
The average wavelength is proportional to the vessels’ speed. For example, the 

average wavelength from a wake surfing boat running at 12 miles per hour is 
approximately 40 feet while the average wavelength from the same boat at a 
wake boarding speed of 20 miles per hour is 112 feet. 

The loss of energy is a function of the viscosity, frequency, and depth of the 
water. The following formula is provided [2]. The square brackets are the visc-
ous components, and the curling brackets provide a factor for the wave number 
and water depth. 

( )

1
2

2
22Loss per Cycle

sinh 2
kh

h kh

υ
ω

 
  π       =   

   
 
 

             (13) 

where υ: kinematic viscosity (ft2/sec2) 
ω: wave frequency (radians per second); 
h: water depth – feet; 

k: wave number: 
2

2

4k
gT
π

= ; 

T: wave period—seconds. 
The second term provides the factor based on wavelength and depth. Table 2 

and Table 3 show the wavelength, Lw and water depth, h ratio comparing the 
wake surfing and wake boarding conditions. 

Figure 31 shows a plot of the data in Table 2 and Table 3. A cycle is equiva-
lent to one period or one wavelength in distance. The longer wavelength of the  
 

 

Figure 31. Percentage energy loss per wave period. 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 262 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

Table 2. Wave surfing. 

VESSEL SPEED = 12 MPH (19.3 KPH) WAVE, C = 14.38 FT/SEC (4.38 M/S) 

WAVELENGTH = 40.33 FT (12.3 M) WAVE PERIOD = 2.81 SECONDS 

WAVE NUMBER, K = 0.156 CYCLE TIME = 2.81 SECONDS 

 

DEPTH RATIO ENERGY 

h Lw/h LOSS 

2 20.17 93.81% 

4 10.08 78.14% 

6 6.72 59.06% 

8 5.04 41.51% 

10 4.03 27.69% 

12 3.36 17.79% 

14 2.88 11.13% 

16 2.52 6.82% 

18 2.24 4.11% 

20 2.02 2.45% 

22 1.83 1.45% 

24 1.68 0.85% 

26 1.55 0.49% 

28 1.44 0.28% 

30 1.34 0.16% 

 
Table 3. Wake boarding. 

VESSEL SPEED = 20 MPH (32.2 KPH) WAVE, C = 23.96 FT/SEC (7.30 M/S) 

WAVELENGTH = 112 FT (34.1 M) WAVE PERIOD = 4.68 SECONDS 

WAVE NUMBER, K = 0.0561 CYCLE TIME = 4.68 SECONDS 

 

DEPTH RATIO ENERGY 

h Lw/h LOSS 

2 56.02 99.17% 

4 28.01 96.72% 

6 18.67 92.83% 

8 14.00 87.74% 

10 11.20 81.75% 

12 9.34 75.16% 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 263 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

Continued 

14 8.00 68.27% 

16 7.00 61.34% 

18 6.22 54.58% 

20 5.60 48.15% 

22 5.09. 42.15% 

24 4.67 36.64% 

26 4.31 31.67% 

28 4.00 27.22% 

30 3.73 23.29% 

 
wake boarding wave will interact with the bottom in deeper water than the wake 
surfing waves. The observer would see the larger waves impacting the shore 
from the wake surfing boat due to the shorter wavelengths and lack of interac-
tion with the bottom. 

In terms of the shape of wave for wake surfing, the depth Froude Number and 
its impact on the shape of the wave train are shown in Equation (14). The critical 
depth Froude number is defined as follows [6]. 

h
UFr
gh

=                          (14) 

where: 
Frh: Depth Froude Number; 
U: Vessel Speed in meters per sec; 
g: Acceleration due to gravity 9.81 m/s2; 
h: Water Depth in meters. 
The critical depth at 11 mph is 8.1 feet and the depth to minimize bottom ef-

fects is at a Frh of 0.75 resulting in a depth of 14.4 feet. Anecdotally, the depth of 
16 feet has been noted by wake surf enthusiast as the minimum depth for the 
best wave. In the case of wake boarding, the critical depth is 26.8 feet. Assuming 
a speed of 20 mph, the Froude depth number is 1.33 at a depth of 15 feet. Refer-
ence [6] discusses Frh numbers above one as super critical where the wave train 
produces no transverse waves only divergent long crested waves. The shape of 
the divergent waves in the absence of the transverse waves would provide an op-
timum experience for the wake boarder providing clean water between the di-
vergent waves. 

6. Turbidity 

The power boat is driven through the water by the thrust from the propeller. The 
propeller generates the thrust required to overcome the hull resistance that in-
cludes the power to generate the wave train travelling on the boat. The thrust is 
generated by a change in momentum of water running through the propeller 
disk. The added momentum generates a high velocity column of water travelling 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012
Steve
Highlight



E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 264 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

through the propeller and behind the boat. The change in momentum generates 
the thrust needed to propel the boat. The following equation idealizes the esti-
mate of the thrust. 

( )0p pT AV V Vρ= −                       (15) 

where: 
T: Thrust in lbf; 
A: Area of the Propeller Disc (ft2); 
ρ: water density;  
Vp: Water Velocity in propeller stream (nP/12) (ft/sec); 
n = propeller speed in revs/sec; 
P = propeller pitch in inches; 
V0: Boat Speed (ft/sec). 
In Section 2 the performance at 12 mph was estimated, providing an engine 

RPM and required thrust. The resistance of the hull was estimated at 1056 lbf 
(4697 N). A thrust deduction is added based on the interaction of the propeller 
induced velocities on the hull. The estimated total thrust required is 1290 lbf 
(5737 N) based on a thrust deduction of about 20 percent based on the shaft an-
gle and rudder position. The propeller RPM is 1680 with a reduction ratio of 
1.57:1 based on the engine RPM of 2636. The required power is estimated at 91 
horsepower (67.9 kW). 

The propeller pitch is 16 inches and a shaft RPM of 1680 Vp is 37.3 feet per 
second (25 mph) and V0 is 17.61 feet per second (12 mph). The stern gear ar-
rangement is shown in Figure 32 with a shaft angle of 18 degrees. Figure 33 
shows the CFD model with a thrust disc to represent the propeller with the boat 
operating at 12 mph. The resulting ideal thrust based on the thrust equation is 
1746 lbf (7775 N). The actual thrust based on the propeller performance inte-
grated with the shaft line and rudder is 1290 lbf (5740 N).  

Seconds. There will be some continued mixing near the surface generated by 
the wake and the turbulence in the boundary layer of the boat. Figure 34 pro-
vides some insight into a rotating propeller and the vertical movement of water 
from the surface to the propeller under the boat. The domain has a depth of 5 m 
(16 ft) at a displacement of 7200 lbs. 

The flow is shown in the streamlines through the propeller with the boat hull 
over the top. The oxygenation of the water through power boat activity has been 
monitored by the Environmental Protection Agency [7] to show that the body of 
water sees a general increase in oxygen content during boating activity. 

The illustrations of the flow of the propeller in Figures 33-35 show that the 
wash does not travel toward the bottom with the movement of the boat through 
the water. In Figure 35 the wash reaches approximately seven and a half feet be-
low the surface with the propeller at approximately three feet below the surface.  

This is further seen in Figure 36 which depicts velocity on planes located at 
various depths below the water surface. Note that this simulation was performed 
with infinite depth (no bottom). 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 265 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

 

Figure 32. Propeller shaft and rudder arrangement. 
 

 

Figure 33. Propeller wash velocity (25 mph = 36.7 ft/sec). 
 

 

Figure 34. Propeller streamlines showing vertical mixing. 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 266 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

 

Figure 35. Water velocity below the surface. 
 

 

Figure 36. Velocity profiles at different depths. 
 

The inclusion of a bottom could serve to increase propwash penetration depth 
by as much as 0.5 ft, depending on the proximity of the propeller to the bottom. 
Additionally, a vessel with larger displacement such as 10,500 lbs from Section 3 
could place the propeller slightly lower than 3 ft (1 m) below the surface and re-
quire higher thrust to overcome increased drag. For these reasons, the recom-
mended depth for wake surf operation is conservatively set at 10 ft (3 m).  

7. Wind and Waves 

The wind level around the lake depends on the fetch and buffer zones around 
the lake. Most lakes experience a significant number of days per year with a 
steady wave train breaking on the shores generated by seasonal prevailing winds 
and weather systems. The wind generated waves help mix the water column to 
distribute nutrients and oxygen rich water. The wind generated waves disturb 
the shoreline causing widespread turbidity in combination with well oxygenated 
water. The wind generated waves can cause minor erosion early in the season 
where the shoreline has been impacted by ice pushing or loading. 

Wind generated waves on lakes and small bodies of water are unique that they 
are generally small but develop very quickly. For a wind speed of 25 miles per 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012
Steve
Highlight



E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 267 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

hour, the wave train is fully developed in approximately twelve minutes over a 
fetch of 800 yards. The significant wave height is ten inches with a wave period 
of 1.6 seconds and a wavelength of 8.4 feet. 

The wind and wave data were developed from Army Corps, Coastal Engi-
neering Manual (2015). The equations were extrapolated to accept shorter 
fetches and were checked based on observation and computational fluid dynam-
ics. The equations are split into a wave height equation and a wave period equa-
tion and include a function for water depth. 

The wave height equation: 

0.42

0.75 2

2 2 0.75

2

0.0125
0.283tanh 0.578 tanh

tanh 0.578

gF
gH gd U
U U gd

U

 
       = ×    

 
 
          


 

   (16) 

The wave period equation: 

0.25

0.375 2

2 0.375

2

0.077
1.20 tanh 0.520 tanh

2
tanh 0.520

gF
gT gd U

U U gd
U

 
         = ×    π                

   (17) 

where 
H: Wave height—feet; 
U: Wind speed—feet per second; 
g: Acceleration due to gravity 32.2 ft/sec2; 
F: Fetch distance in feet; 
d: Water depth in feet; 
T: Wave period in seconds. 
The significant wavelength, Lw: 

1
2 2 2

2

4tanh
2w
gT dL

T g
  π

=   π    
                  (18) 

The equation has been analyzed to include smaller fetches and checked using 
computational fluid dynamics (CFD). Table 4 shows the results of the equation 
at a wind speed of 35 mph (15 m/s) and at a depth of 16 feet (5 m). The line in 
the table is highlighted (fetch of 800 yards) that shows the details of the CFD 
model.  

The table takes the fetch, wind speed and water depth and provides the wave 
height, wave period and time in minutes for the wave state to become fully de-
veloped. In the case of a fetch of 800 yards, the waves will become fully devel-
oped after a period of ten minutes. The wave height is 1.11 feet (0.338 m), the 
wavelength is 9.5 feet (2.9 m) and the wave period is 1.86 seconds. The impact of 
the wind event would have a 1.16 foot (0.354 meter) high wave impacted the 
shoreline every 1.86 seconds or approximately 1940 times per hour. Another in-

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 268 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

teresting observation factor is that the sea state only takes ten minutes to become 
fully developed at a wind speed of 35 miles per hour. Figure 37 shows a photo-
graph of the wave spectra on a lake with a fetch of about one mile in 15 - 20 mph 
(24 - 32 kph) of wind.  

Figure 38 shows the results of the CFD analysis of the wave train over the 
800-foot fetch. The CFD model uses 32 million cells and a long eddy simulation 
to model the wind to water interface. The elevation shows a wave height of 0.32 
meters which corelates to the wind-wave model shown above. 
 

 

Figure 37. Image of wind driven waves at 25 - 35 mph. 
 

Table 4. Wave height estimate. 

FETCH FETCH WIND DEPTH WAVE WAVE WAVELENGTH TIME WAVESPEED 

YARDS FEET FT/SEC FEET HEIGHT PERIOD FEET MINUTES FT/SEC 

100 300 51.4 16 0.267 0.941 4.82 2.71 2.13 

200 600 30 16 0.357 1.101 5.64 4.59 2.49 

300 900 30 16 0.422 1.205 6.17 6.23 2.73 

400 1200 30 16 0.475 1.282 6.57 7.75 2.90 

500 1500 30 16 0.521 1.344 6.89 9.18 3.04 

600 1800 30 16 0.561 1.396 7.15 10.54 3.16 

700 2100 30 16 0.598 1.440 7.38 11.85 3.26 

800 2400 30 16 0.631 1.480 7.58 13.12 3.35 

900 2700 30 16 0.662 1.515 7.76 14.34 3.43 

1000 3000 30 16 0.691 1.547 7.93 15.54 3.50 

1200 3600 30 16 0.743 1.602 8.21 17.85 3.63 

1400 4200 30 16 0.791 1.649 8.45 20.06 3.73 

1600 4800 30 16 0.834 1.691 8.67 22.21 3.83 

1800 5400 30 16 0.873 1.728 8.85 24.29 3.91 

2000 6000 30 16 0.910 1.761 9.02 26.31 3.99 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012


E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 269 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

 

Figure 38. Wave height elevation at 35 mph over a fetch of 800 yards. 
 

Figure 39 shows the wind velocity profile over the water surface. The wind 
speed is set at the top of the domain at an elevation of 30 meters which is defined 
as the standard for the measurement of wind velocity overland. The level of tur-
bulence over the water is an indication of the wind and water interaction as the 
sea state develops.  

8. Conclusions 

The report has shown that the operation of wake boats on a lake has a minor 
impact on the environmental health of the body of water.  

In an Australian study [8], the goal was to develop a decision support tool 
(DST) to objectively access the vulnerability of a particular shoreline to erosion. 
The study references a range of papers that describe the wave energy threshold 
for erosion. The range of wave heights noted by the author does not include any 
reference to wind waves and the author states, “Importantly, the previously 
proposed wave management criteria do not take into account the natural back-
ground wave energy, nor the condition of the bank.” The quote from the author 
is true, but the studies cited were all done for a specific body of water. The wave 
heights noted generally agree on a maximum wave height of 28 cm (11 inches) 
as it approaches the shore. A broader definition [9] uses the following equation 
to define a maximum wave height. 

4.50.5h
h

H
T

≤                          (19) 

where: 
Hh: Maximum wave height (meters); 
Th: Mean Wave period (seconds). 
The higher speed wake at 20 mph will cause turbidity through bottom friction 

while producing a smaller series of waves at the shoreline. The impact of rain 
events and modest wind events also tend to raise the level of turbidity and are 
the primary cause of erosion on shorelines and the introduction of sediment into 
the lake. 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012
Steve
Highlight



E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 270 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

 

Figure 39. Wind profile over the water surface – 15 m/s at 30 m above the water surface. 
 

In Section 2 the predicted wave heights based on the wave energy equation 
assume the wake is a single wave. The equation is accurate close to the boat 
where the initial disturbance generates the wake. The predicted height of the 
wave by calculation matches closely with the measured wave height in Figure 25 
and the CFD results shown in Figure 26. As shown in the CFD analysis and in 
field test data, the initial disturbance of the water surface breaks into a group of 
waves as the wave train moves away from the boat and cycles over the surface of 
the water. The total energy of the wave train remains relatively constant while 
dissipating with every cycle, but the initial large wave breaks apart into smaller 
and smaller waves as the group travels away from the boat. The wave train ener-
gy that reaches the shore is reduced as the initial large surfing wave breaks into 
several smaller waves that will have little or no impact on the shoreline. 

Based on both the field data and CFD data, the key to reducing the impact of 
wake surfing is to operate the boat far enough offshore to allow the wake neat 
the boat to dissipate into its component parts where the individual wave heights 
of the group are reduced to a height less than 28 cm (11 inches). The field test 
data [4] found 200 feet to be adequate to reduce the wave heights to under 28 cm 
(11 inches). In comparison to wind generated waves, the wave height of 28 cm is 
common in a modest wind event on lakes with a fetch of a half mile (0.8 km) at a 
wind speed of 20 mph (9.0 m/s). The full wave spectrum would be fully devel-
oped in less than 20 minutes and the average wave period would be 1.5 seconds.  

The turbidity question is answered in the CFD analysis where motor craft 
should not operate at planning speeds in water depths under ten feet. At this 
depth, the turbidity levels would remain well above the bottom and the wash 
from the propeller(s) would not endanger any native water plants or disturb 
small fry. In lakes that are relatively shallow and have large ranges of shallow 
water, further restrictions may be necessary to reduce the bottom friction gener-
ated by turbidity caused by wakes of passing motor craft. 

In a study, it has been observed that a wake-surf boat wake will dissipate com-
pletely in 300 meters from the boat path while operating in deep water [8]. Op-

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012
Steve
Highlight

Steve
Highlight

Steve
Highlight



E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 271 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

erating a boat that far off a shoreline may not be possible due to the size of the 
lake. The testing [4] [8] suggests a distance of 200 feet allows the wave train to 
dissipate enough to cause little or no impact on the shoreline. The commonsense 
approach includes a few operating guidelines for wake surfing. Always operate 
the boat at least 200 feet from shore and in a water depth greater than ten feet. If 
possible, run parallel to shore and make only lateral runs without turning at 
speed to reduce the large wake produced during a turn. If the lake is large 
enough, relocate within the lake to reduce the time in a particular area.  

9. Epilogue 

While operating any motorboat on a small body of water, the depth of water and 
the proximity to shore should be considered for the people on shore as well as 
the health of the lake. On large lakes in Ontario, a speed limit is imposed within 
100 m (330 ft) from shore of 10 kph (6.3 mph) and 70 kph (44 mph) over the 
remainder of the lake. In New Hampshire there is a no-wake zone within 150 
feet of the shore. Many states’ focuses are on enforcement of existing laws on the 
books which state that the boat operator is responsible for their wake and any 
damage it may cause. The price of a ticket for a wake that causes damage or in-
jury can be as high as $720. The law in Oregon reads if a skipper operates a boat 
in a way that damages or is likely to damage private property or cause injury, 
ORS 830.305 clearly states it as a citable offense. At this time many states are 
opting for the Play Away approach that everyone has a right to be on the water, 
but anyone that endangers others will be cited. 

In some states, they are looking at imposing restrictions on lakes with an av-
erage water depth under fifteen feet. Wake surf boats should operate 200 feet 
offshore to minimize the wave impact on shore to allow the wave to break into 
their group components to an average height lower than the suggested limit of 
11 inches in height. The rules going forward will include all power boats, but the 
wake surfing community needs to embrace their responsibility as operators to 
minimize the confrontations with other boats and people on shore. The conspi-
cuous nature of wake surfing by generating a larger wake at a slower speed and 
staying in the area tends to draw attention to the activity. Sometimes the effected 
shoreline needs a break from the action, and they could move to a new location. 
The wake-surfers need to be sensitive to people on shore as everyone has a right 
to enjoy the water.  

Acknowledgements 

The development of this paper was supported financially by the National Marine 
Manufacturers Association (NMMA) in cooperation with its members. The 
computational fluid dynamic analysis was accomplished at Ohio State Universi-
ty’s Supercomputer Center using OpenFOAM Version 8 [10].  

Conflicts of Interest 

The authors declare no conflicts of interest regarding the publication of this paper. 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012
Steve
Highlight

Steve
Highlight

Steve
Highlight



E. M. Fay et al. 
 

 

DOI: 10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012 272 Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
 

References 
[1] Savitsky, D. (1964) Hydrodynamic Design of Planning Hulls, Marine Technology. 

Marine Technology and SNAME News, 71-95.  
https://doi.org/10.5957/mt1.1964.1.4.71 

[2] Lighthill, J. (1978) Waves in Fluids, Cambridge Mathematical Library. Cambridge 
University Press, New York. 

[3] Elmore, W.C. and Heald, M.A. (1969) Physics of Waves. General Publishing Co., 
Toronto, Ontario, Canada. 

[4] Clifford, A.G. and Girod, L.G. (2015) Characterisation of Wake-Sport Wakes and 
Their Potential Impact on Shorelines. Water Sports Industry Association, Orlando, 
FL. 

[5] Bilkovic, D., Mitchell, M., Davis, J., Andrews, E., King, A., Mason, P., Herman, J., 
Tahvildari, N. and Davis, J. (2017) Review of Boat Wake Wave Impacts on Shore-
line Erosion and Potential Solutions for the Chesapeake Bay. STAC Publication 
Number 17-002, Chesapeake Bay Scientific and Technical Advisory Committee 
(STAC), Edgewater, MD, 68 p. 

[6] MacFarlane, G. (August, 2018) Wave Wake Study-HB4099. Report 18WW01, Uni-
versity of Tasmania, Newnham, TAS, Australia. 

[7] Yousef, A. (1974) Assessing Effects of Water Quality by Boating Activity. Florida 
Technical University, Melbourne, FL. 

[8] Glamore, W.C. (January, 2008) A Decision Support Tool for Assessing the Impact 
of Boat Wake Waves on Inland Waterways.  

[9] Parnell, K. (2001) Wakes from Large High-Speed Ferries in Confined Coastal Wa-
ters: Management Approaches with Examples from New Zealand and Denmark. 
Coastal Management, 29, 217-237. https://doi.org/10.1080/08920750152102044 

[10] Greenshields, C.J. (June, 2020) OpenFoam Users Guide, Version 7.1. OpenFOAM 
Foundation Ltd. 

 
 

https://doi.org/10.4236/jwarp.2022.143012
https://doi.org/10.5957/mt1.1964.1.4.71
https://doi.org/10.1080/08920750152102044


V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y
W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N

A  S u s t a i n a b l e  a n d  A d a p t a b l e  P l a n  — 
P r e s e r v i n g  W h a t  We  L o v e

F I N A L  D R A F T 
O C T O B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 2 2

A T A T A T T A C
A T T A C H M E N T  4



 V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

VALLEY COUNTY 
COMMISSIONERS 
Elt Hasbrouck, Chairman
Sherry Maupin
Ed Allen
CITY OF MCCALL 
Bob Giles, Mayor
Colby Nielsen, President 
Lyle Nelson 
Julie Thrower 
Mike Maciaszek
CITY OF DONNELLY 
Susan Dorris, Mayor
CITY OF CASCADE 
Judy Nissula, Mayor
PLANNING TEAM 
Cynda Herrick, Valley County 
Dave Bingaman, Valley County (former 

Commissioner)
Michelle Grovenevelt, City of McCall
Mike Maciaszek, City of McCall
Erin Greaves, City of McCall
McKenzie Kraemer, Micael McKenize 

Inc Creative
Bruce Meighen, Logan Simpson
Kristina Kachur, Logan Simpson
Kevin Small, Logan Simpson
Kelly Naumann, Logan Simpson
Stephanie Leschinski, Logan Simpson
Diane Kushlan, Kushlan Associates 
Jen Zung, Harmony Design & 

Engineering Inc

TECHNICAL ADVISORY GROUP 
US Forest Service - Payette NF
US Bureau of Reclamation - Middle 

Snake River Area Office
US Bureau of Reclamation - Snake 

River Area Office
Idaho Department of Parks and 

Recreation - Lake Cascade State Park
Idaho Department of Parks and 

Recreation - Ponderosa State Park 
Idaho Department of Lands
Idaho Department of Fish and Game
Idaho Department of Environmental 

Quality
Valley County Recreation
Valley County Sheriff’s Office 
City of McCall Parks and Recreation
Valley Soil & Water Conservation District 
Irrigation District - Lake Fork & Lake 

Districts 
Irrigation District - Payette River  
Friends of Lake Cascade 
Idaho Rural Water Association

acknowledgements

Brett Johnson Donnelly Chamber of Commerce 



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N

CHAPTER 1: SUMMARY ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������1
Introduction ����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������1
Framework �����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������4
A Living Document�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������5
Outreach Highlights ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������6
CHAPTER 2: FOCUS AREA CURRENT TRENDS ��������������������������������������������11
Introduction ��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������11
Recreation ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������12
Land Use �����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������18
Environmental Resources  ��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������24
Waterway Existing Conditions Highlights ����������������������������������������������������������������30
CHAPTER 3: THE PLAN ��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������45
Introduction ��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������45
County-Wide Vision �������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������46
Waterway Specific Vision & Strategies ��������������������������������������������������������������������48
CHAPTER 4: ADAPTIVE MANAGEMENT PLAN ����������������������������������������������67
A Plan in Action �������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������67
Adaptive Management Program ������������������������������������������������������������������������������68
Plan Implementation  �����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������74
REFERENCES �������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������78

contents

McCall Area Chamber John Webster for Tamarack Resort

Cover Photo: Loon Lake. Jon Conti

BEA Bureau of Economic 
Analysis

BMP Best Management Practice
CDH Central District Health
CWA Clean Water Act

IDEQ Idaho Department of 
Environmental Quality

IDFG Idaho Department of Fish 
and Game

IDL Idaho Department of Lands
IDPR Idaho Parks and Recreation 

IDWR Idaho Department of Water 
Resources

KWP Kelly's Whitewater Park
mg/L Milligrams per liter 

NRCS National Resource 
Conservation Service

Reclamation

TAG 

U�S� Bureau of Reclamation

Technical Advisory Group
TMDL Total maximum daily loads

USEPA U�S� Environmental 
Protection Agency 

USFS U�S� Forest Service

VSWCD Valley Soil & Water 
Conservation District 

WMA Wildlife Management Areas

The purpose of the Waterways Management Plan... 
 is to provide a coordinated framework for decision-making 
to guide management and improvements of all waterways in 
Valley County. Implementation of specific projects, policies, 
and initiatives shall require approval by the Board of County 
Commissioners, City Councils of local municipalities, and/or 

the governing bodies of other partner respective jurisdictions. 



Payette Lake. Case Conti Visuals



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    1

CHAPTER 1: SUMMARY
INTRODUCTION
Valley County is a mountainous paradise located in the west central mountains of Idaho, that offers 
numerous types of outdoor recreation activities� Maintaining ecosystem health and recreational opportunity 
on Valley County’s lakes and rivers - collectively referred to in this Plan as waterways - is a high priority 
and value of Valley County� The waterways provide a source of clean drinking water, irrigation, aquatic 
habitat, and attractive recreation spaces. The community’s resolve has been strengthened to create a 
cohesive decision-making structure for the future management of the County’s waterways to represent 
strong Idaho values� This Valley County Waterways Management Plan (the Plan) addresses the desired 
future condition and management for all waterways across the County with additional strategic direction 
for Lake Cascade, Big Payette Lake, Warm Lake, alpine lakes, and North Fork of the Payette River� 
While important to the County, unique management direction was not warranted at this time for other 
waterways, such as Upper Payette Lake, Little Payette Lake, and Herrick Reservoir�

Comprehensive plans for the County and local 
municipal jurisdictions recognize the waterways 

as “special areas” as drinking water sources, 
wildlife habitat, quality public access, protection 
of shoreline, and local economic development.



2  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

NEED FOR THE PLAN
Valley County has a diverse 
array of waterway resources 
ranging from high-activity, 
motorized use reservoirs to 
small, backcountry destinations 
and esteemed river systems� 
Water plays a very important role 
in the quality of life and economic 
development opportunities for 
residents, second homeowners, 
recreation users, irrigation 
districts, and businesses� Valley 
County’s waterways offer fishing, 
swimming, sailing, kayaking, 
power boating, wakeboarding, 
jet-skiing, canoeing, hiking, 
camping, and other recreational 
opportunities that contribute 
to the resiliency and lifestyle 
associated with living in a 
mountain community� 

With its stunning mountain 
setting and vast recreation 
opportunities, Valley County 
has increasingly attracted residents and visitors alike� The County is transitioning from its traditional 
agrarian, timber harvesting, and mining roots to include a recreation destination-based economy� With 
this shift comes increased use of public lands, as well as land-use challenges and impacts of population 
and visitation growth� Uncertainly about the future of some public lands, concerns from residents, new 
lake developments (e.g., marinas), fluctuating water quality, soil erosion, recreation leases, changing 
recreational trends and technology, and recent regulations have prompted the need for management 
guidance of Valley County’s waterways. This Plan reinforces the valuable partnerships between Valley 
County, the City of McCall, and other local, state, and federal jurisdictions for the sustainable management 
of their most important resource�

WHO USES THIS PLAN
Valley County and the respective jurisdictions will use this Plan to help guide future recreation management 
while considering environmental stewardship of the lakes, reservoirs, and rivers� The Plan provides 
guiding direction for future waterway management, land use standards, and best management practices 
(BMPs)� Various agencies and partners can adopt and help implement portions of the Plan as relevant to 
their jurisdiction� The Plan incorporates high level best practices from land management agencies as well 
as other major recreation waterbodies across the nation within Idaho’s legal framework.

PAYETTE PAYETTE 
LAKELAKE

WARMWARM
LAKELAKE

LAKELAKE
CASCADECASCADE

0 5 10 20 MILESN

VALLEY COUNTY WATERWAYS



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    3

GOALS OF THE WATERWAYS 
MANAGEMENT PLAN ARE TO:
• Provide a framework for future decision making by 

defining a county-wide and city-wide vision for waterways 
management and identify waterway-specific desired 
future conditions and strategies for all uses of water�

• Provide diverse opportunities for recreational users of the 
County’s lakes, reservoirs, and rivers.

• Balance ecosystem health with recreational experience 
by developing keystone indicators based on best 
available scientific data and existing research.

• Consider trends in recreation, visitation, population 
growth, and land use and management�

• Create an adaptable management structure to address 
continued visitation and changing water quality with 
monitoring and indicators for the implementation of data-
driven best management practices and regulations to 
maintain the desired future conditions of each waterway�

• Identify priorities for short-term action and long-term 
adaptable implementation�

• Create a grassroots-based plan centered on our 
community, partners, committees, agencies, and 
leadership�

PLAN OVERVIEW
• Outlines recommendations in partnership with other agencies for future management 

and policy considerations.
• Provides guidelines oriented towards the health and safety of recreational users.
• Provides recommendations for operations including enforcement.
• Identifies science-based keystone indicators for future monitoring and adaptive 

management.
• Provides general improvements needed to enhance the recreational experience on  

the waterways.
• Identifies data gaps for future research.

Donnelly Chamber of Commerce

Chad Case



4  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

FRAMEWORK
Maintaining Valley County’s high-quality  
waterways is a high priority and value 
of Valley County residents and visitors� 
The emerging tourism economy of Valley 
County and its cities depends on its 
waterways� These waterways also serve a 
growing population both recreationally and 
by providing drinking water� A framework 
will allow the community to adjust and 
preserve what locals and visitors cherish� 

Three frameworks have been established 
to organize the Plan – recreation, land use, 
and environmental resources� However, 
none of these topics exist as a standalone 
component� They are interrelated with 
impacts and benefits to each other. Quality 
of life is intricately tied to natural landscapes 
and recreation, and the long-term future 
depends on the stewardship of water, 
energy, sensitive lands, and air quality� 
A critical outcome of this plan will be the 
ability to balance the protection of water 
resources with economic development 
objectives�

WHAT THE PLAN IS NOT: 

The scope of the Waterways Management Plan does not result in any immediate 
restrictions or new regulations to waterways management. Agency partners 
were critical to the plan development, but any potential policy or rule changes 
would need to be adopted through separate processes. The planning effort 
relied on the best available data at the time and did not include collection of 
original environmental data collection or scientific efforts. Further, many of 
these efforts are underway by other agencies as funding and staffing allows.



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    5

A LIVING DOCUMENT
This Waterways Management Plan is designed to be an interactive, adaptable plan to be used by not only 
the County but any agency with management and/or resource oversight of the waterways� The planning 
process took place over four tasks� However, an ongoing Task 5 will be needed to implement the adaptive 
management program and to continually evaluate the keystone indicators� Based on any changes to 
the keystone indicators, priority strategies could be adjusted to meet the desired future condition of the 
waterways�

TASK 1 
FOUNDATION

TASK 2 
VISIONING & 

TRENDS

TASK 3 
OPPORTUNITIES & 

CHOICES 

TASK 4
 RECOMMENDATIONS 

& ADAPTIVE PLAN 

ONGOING TASK 5
“A LIVING DOCUMENT” THROUGH

ADAPTIVE MANAGEMENT 



6  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

OUTREACH HIGHLIGHTS
The planning process for the Waterways Management Plan was co-managed by Valley County and City 
of McCall with collaborative input from many non-profit, federal, state, and local agencies. 

BUILDING OFF PAST STRONG WATERWAY EFFORTS

The Waterways Management Plan acknowledges the work of previous 
and existing waterway efforts, some of which include:

PROJECT OUTREACH OVERVIEW

4 11 2
TAG Meetings Stakeholder interviews County and municipality joint 

worksessions

16 150+ 
Agencies and Divisions  
represented on the TAG

Intercept and boat count questionnaire 
hours by 22 volunteers over 2 years

5 300  30+
Valley Soil and Water 
Conservation District Updates

Comments Public Draft Plan    Steering Committee meetings

• The Valley Soil and Water Conservation District regularly responds to various challenges 
facing water quality in the North Fork Payette River watershed. Tackling efforts to address 
land management; waves, erosion, and sedimentation; wetlands, aquatic vegetation, and fish 
habitat; wastewater: sewer, septic, and urban runoff; and lake storage. 

• The Valley County Waterways Advisory Committee is an appointed committee advising on 
maintenance and improvements of waterways. 

• Plans created with the assistance of previous working groups helped informed this Plan:

• The Watershed Advisory Groups - Idaho Department of Environmental Quality (IDEQ)
convened groups during the development of water quality improvement plans and total 
maximum daily loads (TMDLs) for the Cascade Reservoir/North Fork Payette. 

• The Big Payette Lake Water Quality Council, a State legislature established group that 
disbanded seven years after the passage of the Lake Management Plan.



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    7

TECHNICAL ADVISORY GROUP MEETINGS
A Technical Advisory Group (TAG) was convened for this planning process and was made up of the 
many agency partners that are involved in the day-to-day management of the waterways or have an 
oversight role of the properties� They provided technical input to the development of the Plan, bringing 
together agency best management practices and a holistic view of the waterways management� The 
TAG included representation from the U�S� Forest Service (USFS), Idaho Department of Fish and Game 
(IDFG), Idaho Department of Lands (IDL), Friends of Lake Cascade, Idaho Department of Environmental 
Quality (IDEQ), U�S� Bureau of Reclamation (Reclamation), Valley Soil & Water Conservation District 
(VSWCD), Idaho Parks and Recreation (IDPR) - Ponderosa State Park and Lake Cascade State Park, 
Payette River Watermaster, and irrigation districts, among others� The group met four times to provide 
their input on the desired future condition, recommendations, and plan implementation�

VISIONING QUESTIONNAIRE
The Waterways Management Plan planning process 
sought to understand visitor perceptions and satisfaction 
with their experiences on the water� During the summer 
of 2021, the public and visiting recreationalists were able 
to share their experiences and desired visions for the 
waterways� Two online questionnaires were available: An 
extensive visioning questionnaire was developed to begin 
to understand visitor-use patterns/activities, general 
challenges/concerns, and to gather input on the long-
term vision for each waterway� It asked about all the major 
waterways in Valley County� There were 214 completed 
responses�

PARTNER AND 
BUSINESS INTERVIEWS

Discussions with rental companies, parks, 
and recreation businesses took place during 
the summer of 2021. Key input included: 

• Recreation conflicts associated with key 
activities

• Education is key: Mapping and rules/
ethics

• Rental business was already growing, then 
grew even more with COVID

• Payette and Cascade are big enough for 
users; just need to consider how the areas 
are used

• Payette Lake: Concentration of users at 
Legacy Park Area

• Warm Lake: Erosion is multiple factors 
(higher water levels, shoreline trails, 
boats, wind, etc.)

• Lake Cascade: Harmful Algae Bloom 
occurring earlier, hurts tourism

Logan Simpson

4 11 2
TAG Meetings Stakeholder interviews County and municipality joint 

worksessions

16 150+ 
Agencies and Divisions  
represented on the TAG

Intercept and boat count questionnaire 
hours by 22 volunteers over 2 years

5 300  30+
Valley Soil and Water 
Conservation District Updates

Comments Public Draft Plan    Steering Committee meetings



 V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

BOAT COUNTS & VISITOR USE INTERCEPT 
QUESTIONNAIRE
A shorter intercept questionnaire asked about visitors’ direct 
experiences during their visit� The intercept questionnaire was 
available online via QR code on signs at various boat ramps, on 
postcards at area businesses, and facilitated by volunteers on select 
days (as described below)� There were 234 completed responses of 
which 164 response were collected during boat counts during the 
summer of 2021� A second intercept was conducted in the summer 
of 2022� 

In an effort to specifically correlate visitor perceptions and satisfaction 
with the number of boats on the water, specific times and dates were 
identified to count the number of boats and simultaneously ask people 
about their perceptions that day. This was a large volunteer effort that 
involved over 22 volunteers and 150+ volunteer hours were attributed 
to the effort. The effort attempted to collect data on  weekday and 
weekend time periods once during peak season (end of July) and 
once during non-peak season (mid-September)� Weather and 
seasonal restrictions constrained some of the data collection, which 
included: stormy weather on the weekday time period in July, lower 
than normal water levels on Payette Lake in September, lower water 
levels and a Harmful Algae Bloom health advisory on Lake Cascade 
on August 13, 2021�

QUESTIONNAIRE RESULTS 
Visitation (in the past 12 months)? 

 0 days  1-5 
days

 6-15 
days

 16-25 
days

 25+ 
days

# of 
Responses 

Big Payette Lake 17�2% 18�9% 13�0% 12�4% 38�5% 169 
Lake Cascade 40�4% 27�8% 12�6% 5�3% 13�9% 151 
Warm Lake 57�2% 21�1% 5�3% 3�9% 12�5% 152 
Upper Payette 
Lake/Little Payette 
Lake 

47�3% 32�2% 15�8% 4�1% 0�7% 146 

Horsethief, Herrick, 
Boulder Meadows, 
and Deadwood 
Reservoirs 

69�9% 23�8% 6�3% 0% 0% 143 

Alpine Lakes 47�2% 26�4% 18�1% 4�2% 4�2% 144 
River above Lake 
Cascade 58�7% 23�9% 13�0% 2�9% 1�4% 138 

River below Lake 
Cascade 60�6% 25�8% 9�8% 1�5% 2�3% 132 

Donnelly Chamber of Commerce

Steve
Highlight

Steve
Highlight



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    9

Typical Visitation Groups

Just 
myself 

One 
other 

person 

A group 
of 

friends 

A group  
of family  

including kids 

Canine 
friends 

Total 
checks 

Big Payette Lake 13�7% 21�8% 22�7% 25�5% 16�2% 357 
Lake Cascade 9�9% 25�7% 24�6% 23�6% 16�2% 191 

Warm Lake 12�8% 22�2% 21�1% 26�1% 17�8% 180 

Upper Payette Lake/Little Payette Lake 14�3% 29�8% 21�1% 16�1% 18�6% 161 
Horsethief, Herrick, Boulder Meadows, 
and Deadwood Reservoirs 18% 28�8% 15�3% 19�8% 18% 111 

Alpine Lakes 15�9% 33% 19�2% 13�7% 18�1% 182 
River above Lake Cascade 14�8% 28�9% 23�4% 14�8% 18% 128 
River below Lake Cascade 15�3% 28�8% 24�6% 18�6% 12�7% 118 

Overall Experience 

Feeling of Crowdedness

Waterway Poor Neutral Excellent

Big Payette Lake 1�9% 14�6% 83�5%
Lake Cascade 3�0% 22�4% 74�6%

Warm Lake 0�0% 0�0% 100�0%

Waterway Not at all 
crowded

Slightly 
crowded

Moderately 
crowded

Extremely 
crowded No opinion

Big Payette Lake 33�3% 32�1% 20�8% 13�2% 0�6%
Lake Cascade 41.8% 32�8% 14�9% 9�0% 1�5%

Warm Lake 25.0% 50�0% 25�0% 0�0% 0.0%

Steve
Highlight

Steve
Highlight



Logan Simpson



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    11

CHAPTER 2: FOCUS AREA 
CURRENT TRENDS
INTRODUCTION
Based on the best available data, an overview of baseline data for the area was completed� The following 
chapter describes the qualitative understanding of the unique issues and challenges that affect the 
waterways� An assessment of keystone is also integrated� The full Current Trends Report is provided 
under separate cover�

The combination of two marinas, boat launch, public 
beach, fuel station, swimmers and non-motorized boat 
users concentrates activity in the Legacy Park Area. 

- Mile High Marina Stakeholder Comment



1 2  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

RECREATION
WHY DOES IT MATTER
It would be difficult to overstate the opportunities for outdoor 
recreation in and around Valley County’s waterways included in this 
Plan� These waterways are a key source of pride for locals and serve 
a population from the region and beyond� They provide immense 
aesthetic and mental health benefits and recreational opportunities, 
such as swimming and boating, which help support the local tourism 
economy and keep local taxes lower� As the tourism economy of 
Valley County and its cities grows, the importance of the waterways 
is highlighted. As Valley County’s waterways are seeing an increase 
in visitation, recreation trends are also shifting� New technology 
and types of watercraft are changing how the waterways are used� 
Paddleboarding has emerged as a popular activity, wakesurfing has 
changed how power boats use the waterways, and boat rentals - of 
all types -are increasing�

In addition to water-based forms of recreation, nearly every waterway 
location offers camping, hiking, wildlife viewing, birding, and biking 
along the shores� The waterways and surrounding areas also provide 
habitat for a diversity of wildlife and fish species. Although recreation 
activities and access to waterways should be maintained, increased 
use of the waterways in Valley County require heightened awareness 
and development of a long-term plan that seeks to balance the 
demands of recreational use with the needs of maintaining a healthy 
environment� 

Chad Case



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    1 3

CURRENT WATERWAYS MANAGEMENT 

MANAGEMENT GUIDANCE 
The waterways and their various functions are managed by different 
entities, including the County, Reclamation, IDPR, IDL, IDFG, and the 
USFS� The IDEQ sporadically monitors water quality� Lake Cascade 
State Park and Ponderosa State Park are located at Lake Cascade 
and Big Payette Lake, respectively� The Idaho Parks and Recreation 
Department manages most of the waterways’ campgrounds and 
trails. The IDFG manages fishery resources and implements 
fishing regulations, including stocking some fish species in certain 
waterbodies�

The 2020 Valley County Waterways Ordinance (Ordinance #20-11) 
stipulates operational rules, regulations, and behavioral standards, 
including no wake zones for public waterways in Valley County� 
The ordinance establishes a 300-foot no wake zone for Big Payette 
Lake, Upper Payette Lake, and Lake Cascade with certain exclusion 
areas� Idaho State Code 67-7077 no wake rules apply within 100 feet 
of a dock, person, or structure, including within the Valley County 
Waterways Ordinance 300-foot no wake zone�

Steve
Highlight



1 4  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

GROWTH IN RECREATION ACTIVITIES 
The Idaho Statewide Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan from 2018 highlights the importance of 
outdoor recreation to Idaho and summarizes demand of all types of outdoor recreation across Idaho� 
Through this process IDPR surveyed recreation providers, public land managers, and the general public� 
Focus groups with recreation providers in Valley County also identified paddleboarding and wake surfing 
as two of the top trending outdoor activities� 

Stand up paddleboarding has increased significantly, due to its 
ease of learning and low cost to entry� Recreation providers can 
accommodate the activity without having to add large facilities� 
Many park concessionaires and retailers provide rental boards� 
Wake surfing has also grown in popularity in Idaho as wake surfing 
technology and equipment continues to evolve and become more 
available. Unlike wakeboarding, wakesurfing involves catching a ride 
on top of the wake created by the boat’s wake. According to the Idaho 
Department of Parks and Recreation, 7,811 boat licensees selected 
Valley County as either their primary or secondary use location in 
2021� 

Growth has occurred in shoreline recreation uses devoted to camping, 
picnicking, swimming, and fishing. Over the past five years, both 
Lake Cascade and Ponderosa State Parks have witnessed a steady 
increase in camping and day use from both Idaho residents and out-
of-state visitors�

During the peak of the season from late June to Labor Day, onshore 
recreation facilities around some County waterways are strained� 

A significant number of 
people using the North 
Beach lot are day users 
of the beach and are not 

paddlers renting from 
the company. With the 

lot full by 11 am, people 
continue up the Waterway 

to River Bend or over 
the bridge, areas which 
are equally impacted. 

Stef Woods, owner of 
Backwoods Adventures 

Canoe and Kayak Rentals

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%
Paddle-
boarding

UTV riding Wake- 
surfing

E-bike 
riding

Drone  
flying

Disc golf Pickleball

Idaho SCORP 2018: Outdoor Recreation Provider Online Survey

TRENDING OUTDOOR RECREATION ACTIVITIES IN IDAHO



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    1 5

ECONOMIC IMPACT 
According to the Bureau of Economic 
Analysis (BEA), outdoor recreation 
accounts for $2�5 billion or 3 percent of 
Idaho’s economy and supports 36,537 
jobs� The recently released Gross 
Domestic Product numbers by the BEA 
highlights the importance of boating 
and fishing to Idaho’s economy. Idaho 
continues to see a greater increase (1�2 
percent growth) in the outdoor recreation 
industry compared to the rest of the United 
States (0�4 percent growth) (apps�bea�gov 
2021)�

 ACTIVITY

GROSS 
DOMESTIC 
PRODUCT

(2019)

RVing $195,316,000
Hunting/Shooting/Trapping $149,240,000
Boating/Fishing $141,438,000
Equestrian Use $125,925,000
Snow Activities $57,721,000
Motorcycling/ATVing $55,173,000
Climbing/Tent Camping $20,917,000
Bicycling $11,177,000

REVENUE GENERATED BY RECREATION 
ACTIVITIES IN IDAHO

Bureau of Economic Analysis

Chad Case



1 6  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

CARRYING CAPACITY 
Spatial Capacity – Capacity in regard to the physical 
constraints leading to space-related impacts� 
In other words, spatial capacity is the number of 
boats that can comfortably conduct their chosen 
recreational activity in a specific area of a waterway. 
For this analysis boats are considered motorized 
boats, capable of generating wake, active on the 
water at one time. A lake’s shape and water level 
will also affect the physical constraints on use. 
An irregular shoreline limits the amount of usable 

boating surface� The water level (aka pool level) at 
Lake Cascade fluctuates significantly and changes 
the amount of surface acres available to recreate on 
a seasonal basis� In determining what “too much” 
means it is important to understand that no carrying 
capacity formula is right for every waterway� One 
factor to consider is the ecological or aesthetic 
value of the lake, which may not be captured in a 
boater survey� Case studies range from 4 boats per 
acre to 40 motorized boats per acre� 

BIG PAYETTE LAKE LAKE CASCADE WARM LAKE

Observed motorized boats 
at one time (High Use) 76 161 6

Observed motorized boats 
at one time (Low Use) 20 35 2

Wake Area (Acres) at high 
pool 4,326 21,504 224 

(between 11am-6pm)

No wake Area (Acres) at 
high pool

771 
(300 feet from 
shoreline, with 

exclusions)

1,952 
(300 feet from 
shoreline, with 

exclusions)

423 
(between 6pm- 11am) 

199 
(between 11am-6pm)

SPATIAL CAPACITY ANALYSIS

Visit Idaho

Steve
Highlight

Steve
Highlight



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    1 7

Social Capacity – Capacity in regard to visitors’ 
perception of crowding. Social capacity is defined 
by the specific user groups of each specific lake. 
Social capacity may but not always impact the 
users’ enjoyment of the recreational resources. 
Social capacity is reached when conflict arises or 
when users choose not to utilize the resource� The 
demand for various activities and the condition of 
the lakes and reservoirs must be considered to set 
realistic goals and standards� 

Facility Capacity – Capacity in regard to the ability 
of infrastructure to support the demand of various  
recreation user groups� Considerations include 
parking lots, marina capacity, boat launches, traffic/
circulation, and camping with boating access� 
Staffing for education, management, maintenance, 
and enforcement should also be considered�

BIG PAYETTE LAKE LAKE CASCADE WARM LAKE

Observed motorized boats at 
one time (High Use) 76 161 6

Observed motorized boats at 
one time (Low Use) 20 35 2

Perception Survey (High Use)

Experience Excellent� 
Slight to Moderate 

with Areas of extreme 
crowding (Put-in Areas 

and North Beach)�

Experience Excellent� 
Slight  Crowding� Areas 

of extreme crowding 
associated with unsafe 

behavior and boat ramp�

Experience Excellent� 
Not Crowded�

Perception Survey (Low Use)
Experience Excellent� 
No to Slight Crowding� 

Experience High�  
Not Crowded� 

Experience Excellent 
Not Crowded� 

SOCIAL CAPACITY ANALYSIS

Steve
Highlight



1 8  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

LAND USE
WHY DOES IT MATTER
The use of the land immediately adjacent to the Valley County 
waterways and within the watershed has a substantial impact on the 
natural and recreational value of the waterways and to the domestic 
water supply and irrigation� Continued growth in the region, increased 
demand for shoreline development in general, and increased 
demand for recreational access to the water is expected� Land uses 
surrounding the waterways include a variety of federal, state, and local 
governments, as well as privately held land. Each has an influence on 
the recreation experience and water quality to varying degrees�

The waterways are valued for the inherent beauty of their natural 
environment and are appreciated as part of a larger natural ecosystem� 
Development can substantially diminish the environmental attributes 
of these waterways� While the region has long been a magnet for 
visitors and second homeowners, that dynamic has increased with 
the development of high-end residential communities and resorts in 
the past ten years, including Tamarack Resort, Jug Mountain Ranch, 
Blackhawk on the River, and Whitetail� Especially during the COVID 
pandemic, an increasing number of people have moved or decided to 
spend more time in the area as many more people are able to work 
remotely�

Of the 2,354,048 acres of land in Valley 
County, 2,147,983 acres are under 

federal, state, or county management� 
The remaining 206,065 acres (8.7%) 
are privately owned (Valley County 2018)� 
88% of Valley County is within portions 
of three National Forests: the Boise, 
Payette, and Salmon/Challis�

Chad Chase



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    1 9

MANAGEMENT GUIDANCE
In the State of Idaho, authority for regulating land uses is delegated to 
local jurisdictions: Valley County and the cities of Cascade, Donnelly, 
and McCall� Local governments also coordinate with federal, state, and 
regional agencies in the review of development impacts on waterways 
including floodplain management, stormwater management, wetland 
area protection, and domestic water and septic systems� 

There are many obligations related to water use and storage operations 
of the water come from adjancent lands, including agricultural water 
contracts, fish augmentation flow, flood control, power generation and 
drinking water supply�

REGULATORY GUIDANCE 
The Valley County Code requires a conditional use permit for most 
land uses, except agriculture, single family residences, and some 
public uses� All residential buildings are required to be set back at least 
30 feet from high water lines, and all other buildings are required to be 
at least 100 feet set back from high water lines� Allowable residential 
lot size is dependent on the type of water and sewer system available 
with a minimum of one acre required for a residence served by a 
septic system and individual well� 

All conditional uses require the preparation of an Impact Report to 
address the potential environmental, economic, and social impacts 
of proposed uses and how these impacts are to be minimized or 
mitigated� Included are issues important to waterside development: 
surface water drainage and quality; disturbance of wetlands; flood-
prone areas; vegetation removal; and soil, slope, and embankment 
disturbance and stability� 



2 0  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

For properties within the McCall Area of City Impact, Valley County adopted the same codes for Impact 
Area (County) as the City� For the City of McCall Impact Area, the City of McCall and Valley County 
have adopted an overlay district to protect the water quality and aesthetic views  of Big Payette Lake 
and the North Fork of the Payette River. The Shoreline and River Environs Zone (150’ from high water 
mark) requires design review of all properties adjacent to the waterways and establishes a 50 foot 
minimum development setback from the lake and river�  Within the setback, structures, patios, walls, 
lawns, and fences are prohibited� To protect water quality, a stormwater management plan consistent 
with best management practices is required for all building permit applications� In addition, wildlife habitat, 
wetlands, and views are to be protected� 

300

200

100

0
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Valley County    McCall 

BUILDING PERMITS
Valley County and City of McCall Building Department, August 2021

POPULATION GROWTH
Valley County has witnessed substantial population growth, 19 percent, between 2010 and 2020� During 
the same period, McCall grew by 28 percent. This growth is reflected in the number of residential building 
permits. Both Valley County and the City of McCall have experienced significant spikes in building 
permits, 58 percent and 54 percent respectively, in recent years� The population of Treasure Valley alone 
could pass 1 million people in the next 20 years, demonstrating that resources and visitation need to be 
managed now� Over the past six years, there have been over 80 shoreline permits issued in the McCall 
Area Shoreline and River Environs District, including an average of seven per year for new construction, 
mostly larger homes replacing original cabins� 



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    2 1

14,000

12,000

10,000

8,000

6,000

4,000

2,000

0

2000 2010 2016 2020
Valley County    McCall     Cascade    Donnelly

U.S. Census Bureau
POPULATION

20

15

10

5

0
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

New Residential  Addition/accessory structure  Other

SHORELINE PERMITS (MCCALL AREA)

Valley County    McCall 

City of McCall Planning and Zoning Department, August 2021

The population of Treasure Valley alone could pass 1 million people in the next 
20 years, demonstrating that resources and visitation need to be managed now.



2 2  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

LAND USE IMPACTS ON THE WATERWAYS
Water Quality – Pressure from changing land use activities can result in the mobilization and loading of 
nutrients (nitrates and phosphorus) to aquatic ecosystems via sediment, increased runoff, the application 
of fertilizers, faulty septic systems, and altered landscape (United Payette 2021). The cumulative effects 
of increased nutrient loading are typically highly detrimental to fresh-water lakes and streams� Strict 
adherence to good conservation practices can mitigate these negative impacts�

The water quality of Lake Cascade and Big Payette Lake is compromised by runoff from the surrounding 
land uses� Expected growth and development will further exacerbate these impacts� Contributing factors 
include: 

• On site septic systems located proximate to waterways and the potential release of nitrogen and 
phosphorous into surface waters if these systems are not maintained;   

• Pathogen and nutrient-laden waste generated by pets and livestock; 
• Sediment, pesticides, and pathogen loads from crop production/agricultural and livestock grazing;
• Hydrocarbons, pesticides, nutrients, pathogens, heavy metals, and thermal pollution from urban and 

landscape run-off and drainage systems; 
• Dust and hydrocarbons from roads;  
• Sediment, salt, and oil runoff released from roads, pavement, and other impervious surfaces; 
• Sediment loads from land erosion and loss of vegetative cover caused by timber harvesting and 

wildfire burns; and 
• Increases in residential water use for domestic and landscaping needs (including aesthetic ponds) 

results in a reduction in water quantity available in the rivers, and also reduces water quality (i�e� 
temperature)� 

Payette Lake. Case Conti Visuals



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N

Recreation – Land uses surrounding the waterways influence the quality of the recreation experience 
on, and adjacent to, the water� The adequacy, location, maintenance, and safety of land-based support 
facilities for recreational activities are important in the enjoyment of the waterways� Considerations 
include the adequacy of: 

• Public land for accessing the waterways, such as boat launch areas, day use facilities, and beaches; 
• Facilities that support recreational activities, including restrooms, signage, and refuse disposal; 
• Parking and roads to meet user demand; and
• The balance of access and facilities distribution with lake congestion or choke point areas�

Environmental Resources – The waterways are valued for the inherent beauty of their natural environment 
and are appreciated as part of a larger natural ecosystem� Overly developed water edges impact the 
waterways in the following ways:  

• They create physical and visual barriers between the water and its watershed with a loss in the 
authenticity of the natural system� 

• They cause habitat loss and fragmentation for indigenous wildlife species� 
• They replace natural filtering wetlands vegetation with buildings and fertilized landscaping. 
• They modify the natural landform of the shoreline with walls and severe topographical changes�  
• They introduce activity, noise, and lights to a naturally quiet and peaceful environment free from light 

pollution at night�
• They introduce septic systems close to the shoreline� 



 V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES 
WHY DOES IT MATTER
The waterways in Valley County are a very valuable environmental 
resource, but they are only beneficial if they are clean and safe. Big 
Payette Lake, Lake Cascade, Warm Lake, and their tributary rivers 
and creeks provide important habitat to cold water aquatic life and 
support salmonid spawning� 

However, human activities, as described previously, can cause 
adverse impacts to waterways to the point where they can no longer 
provide the beneficial uses that we expect and have enjoyed in 
the past� Activities that occur on the land adjacent to the lakes and 
streams and throughout the watershed affect water quality and can 
create hazardous and toxic conditions for humans and animals� 

The effects of climate change and prolonged drought may require 
conservation measures to meet designated water use obligations 
and water quality and quantity goals�

MANAGEMENT GUIDANCE 
Many of the water quality issues associated with the waterways 
have been brought to light as a result of assessments by the IDEQ 
mandated by the federal Clean Water Act (CWA)� This Act requires 
that states and tribes restore and maintain the chemical, physical, 
and biological integrity of the nation’s waters. Section 303(d) of the 
CWA requires publication of a list of impaired water bodies that do not 
meet water quality standards and the development of total maximum 
daily loads (TMDL) for pollutants that are causing impairments� A 
TMDL is an estimation of the maximum pollutant amount that can be 
present in a waterbody and still allow that waterbody to meet water 
quality standards for a specific beneficial use.  

Of the waterways included in this Plan and their tributaries, the IDEQ 
has set TMDLs for Lake Cascade, the West Mountain tributaries to 
Lake Cascade, Gold Fork River, Boulder Creek, Willow Creek, Mud 
Creek, North Fork Payette River, tributaries to Big Payette Lake, and 
Box Creek (IDEQ 2018)� A Watershed Management Plan is in place 
for Lake Cascade and TMDLs are reviewed every five years to assess 
if conditions are improving, declining, or remaining stable� The last 
TMDL review for the Lake Cascade Watershed was completed in 2018 
and the last TMDL review for the North Fork Payette River Watershed 
was completed in 2012. Specifics by waterway are shared in following 
sections� On a local level, the Valley County Waterways Ordinance 
includes a regulation against discharging sewage, garbage, fuel, 
and other materials directly into the waterways� However, it does not 
address other practices that could help protect the environmental 
qualities in and around the waterways� 

Logan Simpson



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    2 5

ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERNS
There are several environmental concerns that affect the ability of the Valley County waterways to 
provide habitat for fish and other aquatic species, safe water for recreation, and clean drinking water. The 
following is a description of the water quality issues that are current concerns in Valley County� 

ALGAL BLOOMS
Phytoplankton are free-floating microorganisms found in lakes, streams, and oceans that convert sunlight 
into energy through photosynthesis� They are an important part of the aquatic food chain� The types 
of phytoplankton include algae, cyanobacteria, protist, and diatoms� Although not technically algae, 
cyanobacteria is commonly known as “blue-green” or “toxic” algae� When it grows excessively it becomes 
visible to the naked eye and can release toxins into the surrounding water or air making it harmful to 
people, animals, fish, and other parts of the ecosystem. 

There are many adverse environmental impacts of excessive blue-green algae growth (harmful algal 
blooms)� The toxins that are released can cause skin irritation, and if the water is ingested, they can 
cause gastrointestinal illness and liver damage in humans and death in animals� As the algae die, they 
sink to the bottom of the waterbody, decompose, and remove oxygen from the water in the process� The 
pH of the water can also be affected due to the release of acid and base compounds during respiration 
and photosynthesis. This depletion of dissolved oxygen and change in pH is harmful to fish and other 
aquatic organisms� Large algal blooms can also block sunlight from reaching organisms deeper in the 
waterbody and cause unpleasant odors�

Harmful algal blooms are caused by the presence of excessive nutrients and can be exacerbated by 
warmer water temperatures and slow-moving water� Nitrogen and phosphorus are the primary nutrients 
of concern� Since some types of cyanobacteria can utilize atmospheric nitrogen as a source of growth, 
phosphorous is most often the limiting factor� Algal blooms are a sign of premature eutrophication of 
lakes due to excess nutrients� Eutrophication is the process by which a waterbody becomes enriched in 
dissolved nutrients (e�g�, phosphates), stimulating the growth of aquatic plants and usually resulting in the 
depletion of dissolved oxygen�

Phosphorus occurs naturally in the environment within soils and certain types of rocks� Anthropogenic 

Microscopic view of Cyanobacteria including Gloeotrichia (left) and Dolichospermum and Aphanizomenon (right). Lenard Long



2 6  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

(human-caused) sources of phosphorus include fertilizers, detergents, wastewater, erosion, and livestock 
grazing� Past studies and research in Valley County have shown that waterways are vulnerable to water 
quality degradation from anthropogenic activities, including development� A study of phosphorus loading 
around Lake Cascade found that due to the limited movement of phosphorus in sandy soils there was 
potential for phosphorus contamination from residential septic systems if they were installed within 13 
meters of a water course or installed into the seasonal or permanent water table (Zimmer, 1983)� Livestock 
grazing can contribute both phosphorus and nitrogen to waterways from feces and soil erosion that is 
carried to lakes and rivers by stormwater runoff. Grazed watersheds have been found to contribute 10 
to 50 times more phosphorus to receiving waters compared to forested or ungrazed watersheds (Duda, 
1983) (Saxton, 1983)� 

There are several metrics used to measure the potential for harmful algae blooms, including concentrations 
of phosphorus, chlorophyll-a, and dissolved oxygen; water clarity measured by Secchi transparency; and 
measurements of pH� Chlorophyll-a is the primary photosynthetic pigment of phytoplankton and is used 
as an estimator of phytoplanktonic biomass�



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N

REDUCING IMPACTS OF BOATING
Although no wake zones are typically based on the horizontal distance from the shore or 
other features of concern, there is scientific support for adding no wake zones based on 
vertical depth of the waterbody. A 1994 study by the Corps of Engineers investigated the 
relationship between boat traffic and sediment resuspension and found that the amount 
of sediment resuspension varied with water depth and sediment type. Silt substrates were 
observed to have the highest amount of sediment resuspension in water depths of three feet 
and no resuspension seen at 8 feet depth (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 1994). Additional 
studies have also found that the highest amount of sediment resuspension arises when 
boats are operating in waters less than around 8 feet deep (Yousef, 1974), (Cucinski, 1982) 
(Klein, 1997). Theoretical boat slip streams show that motorboats have potential to affect 
bed sediments to a depth of 33 feet depending on speed and angle of the trim angle of the 
propeller. However, at slipstream velocities of less than 0.25 m/s (0.6 mph) this depth is reduced 
to less than 4 m or approximately 12 feet (Ray, 2020). A 2003 study combined theoretical 
and experimental investigation of hydrodynamic impacts of recreational watercraft in 
shallow waterbodies and found that there was minimum potential for impact at water depths 
greater than 9 feet in a fine sand bed lake and 15 feet in a silt bed lake. Although impact 
varies depending on boat size, engine size, speed, and substrate type, a literature review 
by Wisconsin DNR noted that few impacts have been found at depths greater than 10 feet 
(Asplund, 2000). Thus, adding no wake zones in areas with depths less than 10 feet could be 
implemented to reduce the resuspension of bottom sediments and subsequent nutrient loading.

Steve
Highlight



2 8  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

SEDIMENTATION
Sediment originates from the erosion of rocks and soils and is the most common nonpoint source pollutant 
that affects rivers, streams, and lakes. Nonpoint source pollution comes from many diffuse sources 
rather than from an easily identifiable single source (e.g., sewage treatment plant or industrial source). 
Elevated levels of suspended sediment and bedload sediment are harmful to fish, prevent plant growth, 
and are major sources of phosphorus� Sediment deposited at the bottom of lakes can continuously 
release phosphorus causing eutrophication even while external inputs of nutrient loading are reduced� 

Sediment is mobilized and carried to lakes, rivers, and streams through a variety of mechanisms� Along 
lakes and reservoirs, boat wave-induced erosion increases sediment in the waterbody, especially during 
high water periods. Shoreline erosion due to winds has created 5- to 50-foot vertical cliffs in some areas 
on the east shore of Lake Cascade� Livestock grazing and streambank erosion can cause excessive 
sediments to be carried into the receiving waters. Sedimentation is also caused by uncontrolled off-road 
vehicle use and gravel roads with poorly functioning drainage structures� 

The metric used to measure the sedimentation potential of a stream is the percentage of the banks that 
are considered stable� The goal of the National/Idaho Pollutant Discharge Elimination System Stormwater 
Programs under the CWA is to limit erosion and sediment pollution� Measures to implement this goal 
should be enforced�

PATHOGEN (COLIFORM) AND NITRATE CONTAMINATION
Coliform bacteria are present in the environment and in animal and human feces� Although coliform 
bacteria are unlikely to cause illness, their presence is an indicator of the potential presence of harmful 
pathogens. Human health effects from pathogenic coliform bacteria include nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, 
acute respiratory illness, meningitis, ulceration of the intestines, and possible death� Since Big Payette 
Lake is used as a source of drinking water for the City of McCall, pathogen contamination is a real 
concern�  

In addition to coliform bacteria, nitrates are also a concern for drinking water supplies� At concentrations 
above 10 mg/L in drinking water, nitrates can cause a diminished capacity of the blood to transport 
oxygen in infants younger than three months, which leads to “blue baby syndrome�” Blue baby syndrome 
is a condition where a baby’s skin turns blue due to a lack of oxygen.



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    2 9

Both coliform and nitrate contamination can originate from wastewater effluent or runoff over agricultural 
or forested lands where animals are present� There was a measurable impact on the fecal bacteria 
detected in streams downstream of recreational housing on the west side of Lake Cascade and an 
even higher impact downstream of grazed land (Zimmer, 1983)� Since nitrate nitrogen (one part nitrogen 
plus three parts oxygen) is highly mobile and standard septic systems are only able to achieve 10 to 
20 percent removal rates (U.S. EPA, 2002), septic leachfields and unpermitted systems located near 
waterbodies are concerns� 

AQUATIC HABITAT HEALTH
The primary environmental hazard to aquatic species is low dissolved oxygen during the winter and 
summer months, elevated water temperatures in the late summer, and low water levels or streamflow. 
Juvenile aquatic organisms are more susceptible to the effects of low dissolved oxygen. Reservoir 
drawdowns and low stream flows limit fish habitat and limit fish access to refuge areas in the tributaries 
where water is more highly oxygenated and cooler� 

Dissolved oxygen concentration above 6 mg/L is optimal for aquatic life� Cold water holds more dissolved 
oxygen than warm water and increased flow rates provide more aeration and higher dissolved oxygen 
concentrations. Thus, elevated temperatures and low flows reduce dissolved oxygen and negatively 
impact aquatic habitat health� 

RIPARIAN VEGETATION CONDITIONS
Riparian zones or areas are the interface between land and waterbodies� Riparian vegetation provides 
a transition between wetland and upland areas� The riparian areas adjacent to the waterbodies provide 
water quality enhancement, flood control, shoreline stabilization, and very important wildlife habitat. 
Shading provided by willows and other riparian 
vegetation enhances aquatic habitat by cooling 
the water and increasing dissolved oxygen 
levels and provides protective cover for nesting 
waterfowl�

Livestock grazing, land development adjacent to 
waterbodies, and proliferation of access paths 
can destroy the riparian vegetation, in addition to 
increasing erosion and sedimentation potential� 
The riparian vegetation can also be greatly 
impacted by invasive, non-native plants� 

Certain areas of Lake Cascade are very 
shallow. So much so that the 300-foot 
buffer may only extend to depths of a 
few feet. These areas are not boatable 
when water levels drop in the summer.



3 0  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

WATERWAY EXISTING 
CONDITIONS HIGHLIGHTS
LAKE CASCADE
Lake Cascade is a relatively shallow man-made reservoir managed 
by Reclamation� The average depth of the lake is 26 feet at full 
pool (high pool) and approximately 12 to 14 feet after drawdown 
in late summer� Designated water use includes contract irrigation, 
power generation, fish migration, augmentation flow, flood control, 
recreational use, and drinking water supply� 

RECREATION
There are 25 existing recreation sites at Lake Cascade, 19 of which 
are under Reclamation jurisdiction with Lake Cascade State Park 
managing much of the recreation infrastructure and programming; 
the other six sites are under USFS jurisdiction� There are 10 boat 
launches managed by IDPR or USFS� Recently, there have been 
discussions of adding new marinas but no official plans have been 
approved� There are approximately 300 camping sites, including 
developed sites, group camping sites, private campgrounds, yurts, and 
dispersed camping spaces� There are numerous private residential 
docks, especially on the northeast arms� The lake provides important 
aquatic and terrestrial wildlife habitat and fishing is popular year-
round� Some areas surrounding the lake are closed or inaccessible 
during winter but others provide cross-country skiing, snowshoeing, 
fat tire biking, ice fishing, and snowmobiling trails.

LAND USE 

The 86-mile shoreline of Lake Cascade is a mix of natural forest, 
agricultural, recreational, and residential land uses� Almost two 
dozen campgrounds and day use areas, some with boat launches 
and direct access to the water, are present at Lake Cascade� 
Development is more concentrated on the east and north sides of the 
Lake with scattered residential subdivisions along the west side� Most 
prominent is the Tamarack Resort and the West Mountain subdivision� 
Grazing land exists to the east, north and south, as well as natural 
habitat, including forests and wetlands� A private airstrip and golf 
course round out the variety of land uses� For much of the perimeter 
of Lake Cascade, roads separate the waterway from development� 
Much of the West Mountain Road adjacent to the Lake is partially 
graveled and very dusty� Aside from the urban drainage from McCall 
and Payette lakes, the watershed of Lake Cascade is primarily 
forest and agricultural land� Increasingly, the trend is to convert the 
agricultural land to residential uses, including subdivisions and large 
rural residential parcels� As an example, Tamarack Resort, on state-
leased land, converted forest land to a resort� 

Community Input 
on the Most Highly 
Rated Waterway 
Attributes

• Safety 
• Parking



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    3 1

Donnelly Chamber of Commerce



3 2  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES

Six areas of over 4,000 acres at Lake Cascade are specifically designated as Wildlife Management 
Areas (WMAs)� The overall purpose of WMAs is to protect habitat for migratory birds and sensitive, 
threatened, or endangered wildlife species� The most crucial, abundant, and sensitive of these habitats 
are the riparian areas and wetlands. The emergent vegetation, adjacent wet meadows, swales, mudflats, 
and sandbars are critical as nesting, feeding, and loafing habitat for waterfowl, shorebirds, wading birds, 
and raptors� 

Water quality became a concern in Valley County in the 1970s when noxious algal blooms, aquatic 
weeds, and fish kills began to occur frequently in Lake Cascade. In the early 1990s, significant blue-
green algae blooms caused by low water levels, high phosphorous loading, and hot weather resulted in 
23 cattle dying from ingesting the toxic algae in the Lake� In 1995, a public health advisory was issued for 
Lake Cascade due to massive algal blooms� In 1996, the Lake Cascade Phase I Watershed Management 
Plan was developed and TMDLs were established for phosphorus for Lake Cascade, North Fork Payette 
River, and several tributaries� 

Donnelly Chamber of Commerce



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    3 3

OWNERSHIP
RECLAMATION
SIZE (ACRES)

28,000

RECREATIONAL 
CHARACTER
URBAN-RURAL

SURROUNDING LAND USES
• Rural residential parcels
• Residential subdivisions
• Residential condominium
• City Residential 
• Irrigated and dry grazing land
• USFS
• Wetlands
• Conservation areas 
• Airstrip
• Campgrounds
• Day use areas
• Boat launches
• Golf Course

ADJACENT OWNERSHIP
• Public

 - Bureau of Reclamation
 - Boise National Forest
 - Idaho Department of Parks and 

Recreation
 - Valley County
 - City of Cascade
 - City of Donnelly

• Private

Identified sources of phosphorus in Lake Cascade include unimproved 
roads adjacent to the Lake, unpermitted and substandard septic 
systems in the West Mountain Area (Lappin, 1989), internal recycling 
of nutrients within the Lake, and land management practices within 
the watershed (Lappin, 1989)� Point sources of phosphorus include 
two wastewater treatment plants and the Idaho Department of Fish 
and Game fish hatchery. 

Water quality monitoring by the IDEQ from 1989 through present 
indicates that there have been improvements to water quality in the 
Lake and most of the tributary systems, but the TMDL targets have 
still not been met� Recreation, cold water aquatic life, and agricultural 
water supply are still designated as impaired� Impaired water quality is 
apparent in the increased frequency of posted public health advisories 
including in 2021 for Lake Cascade due to toxic algal blooms� In Lake 
Cascade, more frequent and in-depth monitoring of cyanobacteria 
and its causes of proliferation is warranted� 

Motorized 
Boating

Fishing

Hiking

Wildlife Viewing

Non-motorized 
Boating

Birding Winter  
Activities

Swimming Paddle Sports Camping



3 4  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

BIG PAYETTE LAKE
Big Payette Lake is a relatively deep glacial lake often referred to as the 
“crown jewel” of McCall because of its clear water and nearby forest 
landscape, making it the area’s major attraction. Big Payette Lake 
is important to McCall residents from a recreational and economic 
standpoint primarily in the summer months. It also supplies the area’s 
potable drinking water and therefore it is vital to preserve the water 
quality and shoreline� The primary boating season at Big Payette 
Lake is early July to Labor Day due to its relatively cold temperatures� 

RECREATION 
Much of the public land surrounding Big Payette Lake is managed 
as Ponderosa State Park, which offers over 1,600 acres of natural 
wilderness on the peninsula in the center of the lake� Ponderosa 
State Park offers campsites, hiking trails, and habitat for terrestrial 
and aquatic wildlife. The area’s abundant wildlife resources attract 
nature viewers and photographers throughout the year� Ponderosa 
State Park includes 14�3 miles of groomed Nordic ski trails ranging in 
difficulty from recreational to competitive and 3.4 miles of designated 
snowshoe trails� All of these trails are open for hiking during the rest 
of the year�

The rest of Big Payette Lake is surrounded by private land, as well as 
City of McCall parks. McCall’s five parks located along Big Payette 
Lake draw both locals and visitors and are highly used during the 
peak season� Most visible is Legacy Park, which supports a myriad 
of shoreline activities such as swimming, non-motorized boating, 
picnicking, volleyball, and concessions� Many private homes have 
their own boat docks or other amenities on the water� IDL owns a 
significant amount of shoreline property in the northern portion of the 
lake�

Community Input 
on the Most Highly 
Rated Waterway 
Attributes

• Water Quality 
• Cleanliness
• Accommodations/

Services

IDL: NAVIGATIONAL ENCROACHMENT PERMITS

Boat Garage – 13 
Boat Lift – 3 
Breakwater – 10 
Commercial Marina – 11 (Includes City 
of McCall and Ponderosa State Park) 
Community Dock – 44 

Mooring Buoy – 118 
Other Navigational – 15 (Mostly 
Private Boat Ramps)
Single Family Dock – 392 
Two Family Dock – 30

Steve
Highlight

Steve
Highlight



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    3 5

LAND USE 
Big Payette Lake is used for irrigation, recreation, and is the City of McCall’s domestic water supply. For 
these water-related uses, water quality is critical�

Big Payette Lake is anchored on the south by commercial and residential land uses in the City of McCall 
and public access to the lake is provided by five parks owned and operated by the City of McCall. 
Approximately 7 miles (27 percent) of the shoreline is adjacent to Ponderosa State Park, which is located 
on a peninsula that divides the lake into west and east arms, and at the North Beach on the northern end 
of the lake where the Payette River flows into the lake. Residential development second home cabins 
surround much of the remainder of the 26-mile-long shoreline with a scattering of private campgrounds 
and one resort lodge� USFS and IDL-managed land exists along both sides of the northern perimeter 
of the lake, continuing north, west, and east within the lake’s watershed. Contrasted with much of Lake 
Cascade, development is immediately adjacent to the lake, with the road access behind developed areas� 
Access through the North Beach and along the northern half of the eastern side is from gravel roads� 

The Big Payette Lake shoreline could be further developed and redeveloped as IDL divests itself of the 
remaining leased cottage sites and moves toward higher and best uses for some endowment lands� In 
the agency’s draft “Payette Endowment Land Strategy” (IDL 2020), 41 acres of endowment land were 
identified as transition areas over the next 20 years, including two islands in the lake and land along the 
east shoreline� The endowment land surrounding Big Payette Lake is a controversial issue at this time 
related to discussions between development and conservation� Another 3,500 acres of endowment land 
not identified for transition in the report immediately borders the lake.  

City of McCall



3 6  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES

In 1997, a technical study of Big Payette Lake was conducted to evaluate its capacity to assimilate nutrient 
inputs and its potential for eutrophication� Based on measurements of total phosphorus, nitrogen, and 
chlorophyll-a taken in 1995 and 1996, the lake was found to be oligotrophic (low productivity) because 
blue-green algae was found to be rare and total phosphorus was consistently low� However, the bottom 
of the lake had low dissolved oxygen concentrations due to the colder water at the bottom not mixing with 
the upper layers� Accumulating organic matter in the lake bed sediments also caused an internal load of 
nutrients� These factors, combined with increases in residential development and recreational use, cause 
concern for potential future eutrophication of Big Payette Lake and a reduction in its water quality� 

Coliform contamination and volatile and synthetic organic chemical contamination from fueling sources 
near the water supply intakes is a concern� In the summer of 2000, the surface water intake at the Shore 
Lodge encountered high levels of bacteria above the safe drinking water limits� 

Downtown McCall. Chad Case



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    3 7

The Big Payette Lake Management Plan was completed in 1997� It 
included a management plan, an implementation plan, a monitoring 
and trend analysis, and an extensive list of recommended BMPs (Big 
Payette Lake Water Quality Council, 1997)� From 1997 to 2020, the 
IDEQ has performed monitoring of dissolved oxygen, total phosphorus, 
total  nitrogen, and chlorophyll-a in Big Payette Lake (Cusack, 2020)� 
The summary report was completed in 2020 and found that total 
phosphorus had remained relatively consistent but had increased in 
2020 and should be closely monitored� Total nitrogen was found to 
have decreased since 2005� Two of the four water quality objectives 
included in the Big Payette Lake Management Plan were not met 
for three consecutive years� This included the objective related to 
dissolved oxygen concentrations from June to September and the 
median value of total phosphorus measured from May to September� 
Measurements and impacts of hydrocarbons in Big Payette Lake 
should be evaluated� Eurasian water milfoil has been establishing in 
Big Payette Lake, causing impacts to aquatic habitat by consuming 
oxygen and blocking sunlight� The Valley County Weed Department 
is actively working to remove milfoil from Payette and Warm lakes� 

OWNERSHIP
IDAHO DEPT� OF 

LANDS

SIZE (ACRES)
5,330

RECREATIONAL 
CHARACTER

URBAN

SURRROUNDING LAND USES
• City commercial (lodging, retail, 

restaurants, recreation services) 
• City residential
• Rural residential subdivisions
• Rural residential parcels
• Residential condominiums
• USFS land
• Wetlands
• Campgrounds
• Day use areas
• Boat launches

ADJACENT OWNERSHIP
• Public

 - Idaho Department of Lands
 - Idaho Department of Parks and 

Recreation
 - University of Idaho
 - Valley County
 - City of McCall

• Private

Motorized 
Boating

Swimming

Fishing

Hiking

Wildlife  
Viewing

Non-motorized 
Boating

Paddle Sports Camping

Birding

Biking

Winter  
Activities

Steve
Highlight



3 8  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

WARM LAKE
Warm Lake is the largest natural lake in the Boise National Forest 
and it is geothermal� There are many natural hot springs in the area� 

RECREATION 
Motorized and non-motorized boating are popular activities� There is 
a small beach area for swimming� Fishing, hiking, birding, and wildlife 
viewing are also popular activities� Along with USFS campgrounds, 
two lodges manage recreation along the north side of the lake through 
USFS leases� 

LAND USE 
The perimeter of the 1�6-mile-long Warm Lake shoreline includes two 
lodges, three campgrounds, a swimming beach, and three residential 
cabin neighborhoods on USFS-leased land� The Northshore Lodge 
manages 10 cabins and a restaurant/store� Warm Lake Lodge 
hosts seven cabins and seven camping sites� A small neighborhood 
of cabins borders the western edge of the lake� The campgrounds 
include Picnic Point with eight sites, Shoreline with 31 sites, and 
Warm Lake with 12 sites�

Community Input 
on the Most Highly 
Rated Waterway 
Attributes
• Water Quality 
• Safety
• Aquatic Vegetation/

Habitat

Logan Simpson 



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    3 9

OWNERSHIP
USFS

SIZE (ACRES)
423

RECREATIONAL 
CHARACTER
SEMI-RURAL

SURROUNDING LAND USES
• Two historic lodges with restaurants, 

lodges and store
• Residential cabins on leaseholds in three 

neighborhoods�  
• Campgrounds
• Swimming beach 
• Boat launches

ADJACENT OWNERSHIP
• USFS - Boise National Forest 

Motorized 
Boating

Swimming Fishing

Hiking

Wildlife  
Viewing

Non-motorized 
Boating

Camping

Birding

Hot Springs

Paddle Sports

ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES
There has been no cause for concern to monitor water quality at 
Warm Lake, therefore minimal information exists� Potential impacts 
of current concern include increased use of recreational visitors, 
including wake boats, camping, and social trails, as well as nearby 
impacts from adjacent roads and future mining operations�



4 0  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

ALPINE LAKES
There are nearly 300 alpine lakes within Valley County, most of which 
are only accessible via non-motorized means� 

RECREATION 
Alpine lakes offer extraordinary backcountry experiences including 
camping, scenic viewing, and fishing (some lakes stocked with trout 
and other species by IDFG)�

LAND USE 
Other land uses within the watershed of Valley County waterways 
include timber harvesting, unpaved access roads, dispersed 
recreational use, grazing, communication facilities, and limited mining�

ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES
There has been no cause for concern to monitor water quality at the 
alpine lakes, therefore, minimal information exists�

Hidden Lakes. Jon Conti



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    4 1

OWNERSHIP
USFS (TYPICAL)
SIZE (ACRES)

VARIES

RECREATIONAL 
CHARACTER

PRIMITIVE

SURROUNDING LAND USES
• Forest lands
• Backcountry recreation
ADJACENT OWNERSHIP
• Public

Fishing Hiking Wildlife  
Viewing

Camping



4 2  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

NORTH FORK OF THE PAYETTE RIVER
The North Fork Payette River flows approximately 113 miles south from 
the Salmon River Mountains to join the Payette River, which is a tributary 
of the Snake River� The river is popular for kayaking, whitewater rafting, 
fishing, birding, and wildlife viewing. A section of the river is 16 miles north 
of  Banks is considered big-water Class V for whitewater kayaking� It has 
served as the site of the North Fork Championship – one of the most 
challenging whitewater competitions in the world� County Ordinance #20-
11 defines non-motorized stretches of the river north of Lake Cascade and 
Payette Lake�

RECREATION 

Just upstream and downstream of Big Payette Lake are popular fishing 
and paddling sections of the river� The Meanders north of the Lake is a 
scenic flat water stretch through towering trees, where abundant wildlife 
can be spotted� Paddle sports are growing in the area� The Meanders 
can be accessed from multiple locations along the adjacent road causing 
resource issues with social trails and litter� Just south of the Lake through 
the City of McCall, the river can also be accessed for fishing and floating. 
It also can attract whitewater paddlers when the water level is right� 
However, access point aren’t formulized and there are some issues with 
private property�

The BLM manages a recreation site on the North Fork Payette River, 
approximately 11 miles south of McCall. The site offers a small sandy 
beach, swimming, fishing, picnicking, and other sorts of non-motorized 
river activities. The surrounding forest offers birding and wildlife viewing. 

Kelly’s Whitewater Park (KWP) opened in June 2010. It includes a short 
stretch of the North Fork Payette that flows through the 3.4 acres of public 
park downstream of Lake Cascade. KWP offers rafting, kayaking, paddle 
boarding, and tubing opportunities. It also links to a five-mile walking path 
along the bank of the river. The mission of the non-profit park is “to provide 
local children with an opportunity to learn water sports and water safety 
while instilling an appreciation for the river�” 

A popular family-friendly whitewater trip with Class II and III rapids, that 
is also commercially rafted, is from the Cabarton Bridge down to Smith’s 
Ferry� The put-in location is managed by Valley County and is very busy 
on summer weekends, to the point of creating safety and natural resource 
concerns�

LAND USE
The land uses surrounding the North Fork of the Payette River between 
Lake Cascade and Big Payette Lake are predominately rural, characterized 



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    4 3

by grazing/crop land and residential development on large lots with 
more dense development within and near the cities. A fish hatchery 
and two sewage treatment facilities also exist along the river, 
including the McCall Wastewater Treatment Plant and the West 
Mountain Sewer and Water Plant� 

ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES
The North Fork of the Payette River is susceptible to erosion and 
sedimentation and has been identified with sediment impairment 
below Lake Cascade� An IDEQ assessment of the river between Big 
Payette Lake and Lake Cascade indicates that elevated temperature 
is a potential impairment to cold water aquatic life and salmon 
spawning; however, nutrients are not in excess and dissolved 
oxygen and sedimentation is not impairments in this stretch of 
the river� Currently, the Payette Lake Recreational Water & Sewer 
District inter-sewage effluent storage pond leaks into an underdrain 
that discharges into the North Fork of the Payette River�

OWNERSHIP
N/A

SIZE 
113 MILES

RECREATIONAL 
CHARACTER

SEMI-PRIMITIVE 
NON-MOTORIZED 

(ABOVE LAKE 
CASCADE); 

SEMI-PRIMITIVE 
MOTORIZED 

(BELOW LAKE 
CASCADE)

SURROUNDING LAND USES
• Rural residential parcels
• Rural residential subdivisions
• Residential condominiums
• Commercial
• Dry and irrigated grazing
• Irrigated crop lands
• USFS land
• Wastewater treatment plant
• Day use/river access points
• Private common areas 
• Private campgrounds
• Fish Hatchery
• Trails 
ADJACENT OWNERSHIP
• Public

 - Valley County
 - City of McCall

• Private

Fishing

Camping Wildlife  
Viewing

Birding

Kayaking Whitewater
Rafting

John Webster for Tamarack Resort



City of McCall



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N  4 5

CHAPTER 3: THE PLAN
INTRODUCTION
The County-wide desired future condition guides the general management for the County-wide system 
of waterways, by building off public and partner interviews, the existing conditions summary, and case 
study review� Additional details are provided for each major waterway� Management maps help illustrate 
the community’s vision to manage the land resources in such a way that protects water quality, reduces 
environmental impacts, and enhances the waterways� Priority strategies direct future management for 
each waterway, including process, policy, operational, and infrastructure opportunities�

The lake is large enough to accommodate everyone. 
It comes down to better education. People want 
to do the right thing but need to know the rules.

- Waterway User



4 6  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

Little Lake. Visit Idaho

COUNTY-WIDE VISION
The following desired future condition and priority strategies sets the guiding vision for 
all waterways across the County�

COUNTY-WIDE DESIRED FUTURE CONDITION:
A waterways system that balances and enhances recreation experiences, adjacent 
land uses, and environmental resources by:

• Optimizing each waterway for its desired 
recreation experience and protection of its 
natural resources; 

• Protecting high water quality for all 
including end users, recreators, and 
aquatic ecosystems;

• Continuing positive visitor satisfaction and 
supporting a sustainable tourism industry;

• Ensuring complementary and integrated 
adjacent land uses that support 
waterways; and

• Providing an understandable and 
thoughtful path forward for our community 
and visitors�



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    4 7

Definitions for Waterway- Specific Visions
The visions for each specific waterway is made up of four parts:

• Desired Future Condition: Statement of purpose that describes the ultimate 
management scenario� 

• Priority Strategies: Initiatives, guidance, and management recommendations that 
are needed to maintain the desired future condition�

• Management Map: A geographic illustration of priority strategies� 
• Keystone Indicators: The primary metrics that will be used to track progress to 

achieve the desired future condition� Additional details of implementation of the 
indicators will be identified in the Adaptive Management Plan.

COUNTY-WIDE OBJECTIVES:
Objectives that apply County-wide include:

CW 1� Maintaining and enhancing amenities 
to ensure the provision of a high-quality 
recreation experience and higher quality 
facilities�

CW 2� Ensuring public safety of water-based 
recreationalists, including both motorized 
and non-motorized boating�

CW 3� Conserving and promoting ecological 
processes, including maintaining healthy 
wildlife populations, fisheries, and native 
aquatic plant communities� 

CW 4� Maintaining strong partnerships with the 
County, Reclamation, IDPR, IDL, USFS, 
IDFG, IDEQ, Valley County Weed District, 
VSWCD, NRCS (Natural Resources 
Conservation Service), North Fork Payette 
Watershed Coalition, local municipalities, 
and landowners, among others�  

CW 5� Managing upland uses within watersheds 
to protect water quality, including 
development, recreational access, weed 
control, forest management, farming, and 
grazing�

CW 6� Implementing actions from the Valley 
County Groundwater Quality Improvement 
and Drinking Water Source Protection Plan 
(2022) and the Implementation Plan for the 
Cascade Reservoir Phase II Watershed 
Management Plan (2000)�

CW 7� Creating a desired future condition to 
support annually monitoring and reporting 
keystone indicator data to a consolidated 
database�

Steve
Highlight

Steve
Highlight



4 8  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

WATERWAY SPECIFIC VISION & STRATEGIES
LAKE CASCADE VISION

PRIORITY STRATEGIES 
LC 1� Encouraging appropriate use to prevent user conflicts and 

support the environment�
LC 1a� Establish new safety zones around areas identified 

as High Impact Caution Areas to include reducing 
speeds and establishing directional travel�

LC 1b� Establish no wake management areas where water 
depth is 10 feet or less and maintain the current 300 
foot shoreline buffer per County Ordinance.
 - Publishing materials on water fluctuations and 
maps of high and low pool and educate the public 
on the Lake’s purpose.

 - Publishing maps and data via mapping applications 
GAIA, onX, Avenza (georeferenced PDFs), and/
or Navionics and educate users before they get on 
the water�

LC 1c� Educate the public about Idaho State Statutes Operation of Vessel Section 67-7077 
considering no wake rules that apply within 100 feet of a dock, person, or structure� 

LC 1d� Maintain level of boater safety enforcement and marine sheriff patrols. Publish 
Wakeboat Etiquette Tips; start a Ride the Core, Avoid the Shore program� Determine 
sources for more patrol funding�

LC 1e� Incorporate a public involvement process to cite new marinas to minimize changes 
to the natural landscape, provide for safe navigation, and meet indicators for carrying 
capacity� 

LC 1f� Work with State agencies to assess the need and implementation opportunities for 
aquatic invasive species checks at specific boat ramp locations.

Community Input on 
Waterway Concerns
• Recreation

 - Boat waves
 - Carrying capacity 

• Environmental Resources  
 - Phosphorus and toxic 

algae blooms 
 - Nitrogen and other 

nutrients 
 - Dust particulates 

• Land Use 
 - Rangeland/grazing 

management 
 - Increasing residential 

development impacts 
 - Post-wildfire impacts

Desired Future Condition 
Lake Cascade enhances water quality while fostering an 
emerging outdoor recreation industry�



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    4 9

LC 2� Creating complementary land uses that contribute to water quality health to reduce occurrences of 
public health advisories due to harmful algal blooms�

LC 2a� Work with irrigation districts, IDFG, and Idaho Power to assess locations of water diversions 
and possible changes to maintain higher flows and colder water temperatures.

LC 2b� Work with NRCS and private landowners to implement grazing management plans to 
exclude livestock near streams and waterway shorelines, alternate water sources, and other 
conservation practices�

LC 2c� Strengthen conservation practices from the impacts of grazing and return flood irrigation flows.
LC 2d� Support EPA’s recommendation to complete septic tank inspections every 3-5 years to 

determine if pumping and/or repairs are needed� Complete inspections upon sale of a property 
and provide ways to incentivize septic owners to maintain their systems�

LC 2e� Support a South Lake Recreation Water and Sewer District centralized sewer collection and 
treatment system�

LC 2f� Enhance education on the purpose and operations of Lake Cascade as a reservoir and the 
role of water uses downstream�

LC 2g� Work with Valley County and partners to implement strategies and practices from the Valley 
County Ground Water Quality Improvement and Drinking Water Source Protection Plan�

Logan Simpson



5 0  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

LC 3� Keeping our shorelines free from runoff pollution.
LC 3a� Implement improvements to existing zoning provisions, such as the requirement for 

an impact report to apply to properties around the lake and/or adopt an overlay zone 
adjacent to the Lake and its tributaries to implement BMPs (natural vegetative swales, 
prohibition excessive clearing, limiting fertilizers and water use by reducing areas of sod 
and identifying preferred plant species, on-site water retention, grassy swales without 
fertilizer, etc�)� Review minimum lot requirements adjacent to waterways�

LC 3b� Stabilize stream banks with bioengineering techniques without riprap, where possible�

LC 3c� Work with the USFS and other adjacent landowners to identify solutions to and improve 
sustainability of roads and trails to decrease erosion and improve drainage, while 
maintaining access� 

LC 3d� Support BMP measures outlined in the Implementation Plan for the Cascade Reserovir 
Phase II Watershed Management Plan (IDEQ 2000)�

LC 3e� Work with the USFS and IDL on forest management within the wildland urban interface 
to protect water quality� 

LAKE CASCADE KEYSTONE INDICATORS
Indicator Baseline # Desired Future Condition
User Satisfaction 75% surveyed rate overall 

experience as excellent
Maintain greater than 75% feeling of 
excellent experience

Incidents 113 warnings issued per year 
(across Valley County)

Maintain less than <100 warnings per year 
(across Valley County)

Feeling of extreme 
crowdedness

10% surveyed <20% surveyed

Health Advisories Issued [1] 1 issued in 2022, 2021, 2020, 2019 No health advisories
Total Phosphorus 0�03-0�06 mg/L [1, 2, 3] <0�025 mg/L [4]
Water Clarity (Secchi disk 
readings)

0 - 20�5 ft > 6 ft

Dissolved Oxygen <6 mg/L [4] >6 mg/L [5]
Water Temperature 75°F max [4] <22°C (71�6°F)  max, <19°C (66°F) avg 

[5]
Carrying Capacity (Boats at 
one time)

161 (High) 368 (at 40 acres per boat)

[1] 2019 Monitoring Report for Cascade Reservoir and the North Fork Payette River (HUC 17050123) between Payette Lake and Cascade 
Reservoir

[2]  IDEQ 2021 Lake Cascade Water Sampling results (Excel format)

[3] IDEQ 2021 North Fork Payette Update, NF Payette Monitoring Cascade Reservoir Monitoring Cyanobacteria and Big Payette Lake 
Monitoring for NFPR Watershed Summit presentation

[4] “Cascade Reservoir Watershed: Phase III Water Quality Management Plan and TMDL Five-Year Review” https://www2.deq.idaho.gov/
admin/LEIA/api/document/download/11976

[5] “Water Body Assessment Guidance 3rd Edition” https://www2.deq.idaho.gov/admin/LEIA/api/document/download/14844. Per the DEQ 
1998 Phase II WMP - “dissolved oxygen in lakes and reservoirs (>6 mg/L at all times, except for the bottom 20% of water depth in lakes and 

reservoirs where depths are thirty-five (35) meters or less, and hypolimnion waters in stratified lakes and reservoirs)”



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    5 1

Lake Cascade
Strategies 

Wildlife Management Areas

High Impact Caution Area

No Wake Zones* (High and Low 
Pools)

10 ft Depth at High Pool

10 ft Depth at Low Pool

* Per Valley County Ordinance 20-11. Lake 
Cascade no wake zone varies as pool-
elevation shifts. Idaho State Lake Section 
67-7077 no wake rules apply within 100 ft of 
a dock, person, or structure, as well as the 
exclusion area. 

Direction of motorized travel 
priority area

Non-motorized Non-motorized 
AreaArea

Non-motorized Non-motorized 
AreaArea

Non- Non- 
motorized motorized 

AreaArea

Adam
s County

Valley County

0 .5 1 2 MILESN

LAKE CASCADE
MANAGEMENT MAP



5 2  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

BIG PAYETTE LAKE VISION

PRIORITY STRATEGIES     
BP 1� Preventing user conflicts and protecting our headwaters 

ecosystem�

BP 1a� Implement a targeted expansion of no wake 
management areas and install buoys, as 
appropriate (potentially with cameras), to denote 
changes in use and management based on the 
following criteria: 
 - Shallow water 10 feet or less in depth 
 - Environmental/Wildlife areas extended to 500 feet
 - River inlets extended to 500 feet
 - High-traffic areas/marinas extended to 500 feet 
 - Urban shoreline/docks/houses to extended 500 feet (south of narrows and pilgrim 
cove) 

BP 1b� Provide robust user education through signage, mapping, interactive applications, rental 
company education, and social media/newsletter messaging�

 - Create a map and brochure to send out with rental companies, concessionaires, and 
recreation agencies to share consistent standards (develop signage plan) regarding 
life jackets, whistles, and invasive species stickers� 

 - Publish Wakeboat Etiquette Tips and start a Ride the Core, Avoid the Shore program�

BP 1c� Educate the public about Idaho State Statutes Operation of Vessel Section 67-7077 
considering no wake rules that apply within 100 feet of a dock, person, or structure, 
along with speed limits� 

Desired Future Condition 
Big Payette Lake is a significant recreational summer 
destination for Valley County tourism and a variety of 
activities while continuing to protect our headwaters�

Community Input on 
Waterway Concerns
• Recreation

 - Boat waves
 - Carrying capacity 
 - Enforcement/education

• Environmental Resources  
 - Erosion
 - Invasive aquatic species 
 - Drinking water source 

• Land Use 
 - Residential impacts
 - Urban runoff
 - Infrastructure damage

Steve
Highlight

Steve
Highlight

Steve
Highlight



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    5 3

SPOTLIGHT ON: MANAGEMENT AREA CASE STUDIES 
 

Indicators of reduced water quality, increased shoreline erosion, and dissatisfaction of public input show that the current 
County ordinance of 300 feet (as defined) should not be decreased. Demand for recreation, including more non-
motorized vessels, is growing without dedicated space to safely recreate� To maintain safety and water quality, no wake 
management areas should be expanded� Targeted expansion in shallow waters, urban shoreline, and high impact areas 
are often where facilities (e�g�, docks and marinas) are already located and require low speeds� Carrying capacity for all 
recreation users to safely enjoy the lake can still be maintained�

Technical summary of scientific data completed by Kootenai County established that wave action is tied to erosion 
potential, no wake zones of more than 500 feet are recommended, and boats operating at transition speeds generate 
the most damaging wake� Lake Tahoe has implemented a 600-foot no wake zone to minimize shoreline erosion, reduce 
impacts to gamefish spawning areas, improve light sources essential to submerged vegetation, and minimize noise 
impacts on visitors, residents, and wildlife� 

This Plan recommends a targeted expanded no wake management area to protect the safety of all users and to reduce 
impacts to the shoreline� 

Payette North Beach. Logan Simpson

https://cdalakepoa.com/uploads/3/6/4/3/36431208/technical_summary_finalpdf.pdf
https://www.trpa.gov/programs/environmental-improvement-program/watercraft/  
Steve
Highlight

Steve
Highlight

Steve
Highlight



5 4  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

BP 2� Managing Big Payette Lake’s natural setting area and high water-quality standard for drinking 
water�
BP 2a� Designate parking and develop additional facilities (e�g�, restrooms, kiosks, trash cans) 

to protect water quality in the headwaters and sensitive natural areas�

BP 2b� Work with IDPR and IDL on recreation management at the north end of the lake, in 
tandem with river management (see following section on North Fork of Payette River)�

BP 2c� Work with Idaho Department of Water Resources (IDWR) and the Lake Reservoir 
Company to monitor and manage residential water intakes and dam releases to 
maintain water quality and temperature for the health of the lake and river�

BP 2d� Maintain an updated Water Master Plan and work with Valley County and partners 
to implement strategies and practices from the Valley County Ground Water Quality 
Improvement and Drinking Water Source Protection Plan�

BP 2e� Work with State agencies to assess the need and implementation opportunities for 
aquatic invasive species checks at specific boat ramp locations.

BP 3� Encouraging appropriate multiple use and keeping our waterways safe�

BP 3a� Sign “Paddle Sport/Swim Priority Areas” to educate users about high use non-motorized 
areas where additional precautions should be met� 

BP 3b� Develop concessionaire program to further define desired uses and capacity.
BP 3c� Maintain presence of law enforcement at docks and high-use areas during peak times 

with additional funding, volunteer rangers, and patrol hours� 
BP 3d� Work with the City to assess launch fees and allocate funds for user safety education 

and future enforcement�
BP 3e� Identify new points of access to reduce social trails on public lands� 

Steve
Highlight

Steve
Highlight



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    5 5

BP 4� Reducing impacts from land uses to preserve and protect the watershed and natural corridors 
that connect to the lake� 
BP 4a� Continue to monitor, review, and amend current land use regulations including the 

McCall Area Shoreline and River Environs Overlay Zone� 
BP 4b� Continue to follow IDEQ guidance, adopt best practices, and monitor impacts from 

urban stormwater management and remaining septic systems adjacent to the lake�

BP 4c� Work with the USFS and IDL on forest management within the wildland urban interface 
to protect water quality� 

BP 4d� Working with the various City departments, review code enforcement related to 
municipal water use and supply and adjacent land uses�

BP 4e� Complete wildlife/environmental analysis of islands to asses critical resources�

Steve
Highlight

Steve
Highlight



5 6  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

No Wake Zones* (300ft)

* Per Valley County Ordinance 20-11. Idaho 
State Code 67-7077 no wake rules apply 
within 100 ft of a dock, person, or structure, 
as well as within the exclusion area. 

Direction of motorized travel 
priority area

Expanded No Wake 
Management Areas (500ft)

Paddle Sport/Swim Priority Area

Non- Non- 
motorized motorized 

AreaArea

Shallow 
water

Wildlife 
Consideration

 Area

Wildlife 
Consideration

 Area

Payette Lake
Strategies

0 .5 1 2 MILESN

PAYETTE LAKE
MANAGEMENT MAP



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    5 7

BIG PAYETTE LAKE KEYSTONE INDICATORS
Indicator Baseline # Desired Future Condition
User Satisfaction 84% surveyed rate overall experience as 

excellent
Maintain greater than 75% feeling of 
excellent experience

Incidents 113 warnings issued per year (across Valley 
County)

Maintain less than <100 warnings 
per year (across Valley County)

Feeling of crowdedness 13% surveyed  stated feeling extremely 
crowded

Maintain less than 30% feeling of  
extreme crowdedness

Dissolved Oxygen >6 mg/L [1] >6 mg/L (above 200 foot depth)
Total Phosphorus �0047 - �0062 mg/L [2] <0�006 mg/L[3]
Carrying Capacity 76 (High) 102 (at 40 acres per boat)

Acres of no wake 771 1,003 (based on expanding the no 
wake distances in targeted areas)

Length of shoreline in 
conserved public lands 
and available for public 
access

7 miles (27%) Increase to greater than 35%

[1] “Cascade Reservoir Watershed: Phase III Water Quality Management Plan and TMDL Five-Year Review” https://www2.deq.idaho.gov/admin/LEIA/api/
document/download/11976

[2] Eutrophication potential of Payette Lake, Idaho https://pubs.er.usgs.gov/publication/wri974145

[3} Big Payette Lake Management Plan and Implementation,  Big Payette Lake Water Quality Council , 1997



5 8  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

WARM LAKE VISION

PRIORITY STRATEGIES 
WL 1� Keeping a productive ecosystem to protect water quality, 

riparian areas, and nesting birds�

WL 1a� Implement and enforce targeted no wake zones in 
all areas with macrophyte vegetation areas (i�e�, 
at 10 feet depth and within �025 mile of nesting 
bird areas)� 

WL 1b� Implement no wake zones 300 feet from the 
shoreline and maintain no wake hours before 11 AM and after 6 PM�

WL 1c� Implement and maintain no wake buoys to delineate no wake zones�

WL 1d� Implement and enforce directional travel for motorized vessels�

WL 1e� Provide robust user education through signage, mapping, interactive applications, and 
social media/newsletter messaging on unique management of Warm Lake�

Community Input on 
Waterway Concerns
• Recreation

 - Recreation growth
 - Carrying capacity 

• Environmental Resources  
 - Invasive aquatic species 
 - Erosion 

• Land Use 
 - Forest management
 - Rural road management 

Desired Future Condition 
Warm Lake provides a minimally developed recreation 
experience in a natural forested environment�  

Logan Simpson



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    5 9

No wake rules apply:
• within 100 ft of a dock, person, or 

structure (Idaho State Lake Section 
67-7077)

• within 100 feet of anchored vessel, swim 
fl oat, marked swimming area, person 
in water, person in a vessel engaged in 
fi shing or any manually propelled vessel 
(Valley County Ordinance 20-11) 

• between 6pm and 11am (Valley County 
Ordinance 20-11)

Direction of motorized travel 
priority area

Paddle Sport/Swim Area

Warm Lake
Strategies

WARM LAKE

0 .13 .25 .5 MILESN

Shallow 
water

No Wake Zones* (300ft and 
vegetation area)

MANAGEMENT MAP



6 0  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

WARM LAKE KEYSTONE INDICATORS
Indicator Baseline # Desired Future Condition
Carrying Capacity (Boats at 
one time) 

52 (High) 64 (at 10 acres per boat) 

Nitrogen Future Testing Required 0�006 mg/L

Temperature Future Testing Required <22°C max, <19°C avg [1]

[1] “Water Body Assessment Guidance 3rd Edition” https://www2.deq.idaho.gov/admin/LEIA/api/document/download/14844

WL 1f� Identify baseline water-quality values for indicators such as dissolved oxygen, total 
phosphorous, water clarity, and water temperature�

WL 1g� Create a friends group and work with Warm Lake Recreation & Sewer and IDEQ to 
implement a water quality program�

WL 1h� Work with the USFS to assess launch fees and allocate funds to user safety education 
and future enforcement�

WL 2� Minimizing adjacent land-use impacts� 
WL 2a� Construct new vault toilets and ensure septic and waste management are working 

efficient (working with the USFS, concessionaires, and Warm Lake Associations of 
Cabin Owners)� 

WL 2b� Define a Shoreline Trail between North Shore Lodge and Billy Rice Public Beach and 
complete repairs to trails around lake to reduce erosion� 

WL 2c� Prohibit camping anywhere along the shoreline of Warm Lake�



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    6 1

NORTH FORK OF PAYETTE RIVER & TRIBUTARIES (ABOVE PAYETTE 
LAKE, BELOW PAYETTE, BELOW CASCADE) VISION

PRIORITY STRATEGIES 
NF 1� Maintain high-quality user experiences and natural 

resources across all river segments� 
NF 1a� Educate users on low-impact river recreation 

management (e�g�, pack it in and out, leave no 
trace practices)� 

NF 1b� Complete specific river management plan for each 
river segment to maintain water quality and define 
appropriate recreation access points�

NF 1c� Work with land management agencies to clean 
up dispersed camping and work toward developing a designated dispersed camping 
system and/or more formalized campgrounds with amenities�

NF 1d� Continue to survey river uses for feeling of crowdedness and user satisfaction�

NF 1e� Stabilize stream banks with bioengineering techniques without riprap, where possible�

Community Input on 
Waterway Concerns
• Recreation

 - Recreation growth
 - Carrying capacity 

• Environmental Resources  
 - Invasive aquatic species 
 - Erosion  

Loss of connectivity and 
stream function

• Land Use 
 - Forest management
 - Rural road management 

Desired Future Condition 
Providing different degrees of non-motorized use that 
responds to the natural environment�

Chad Case



6 2  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

NF 1f� Implement improvements to existing zoning provisions integrating BMPs (natural 
vegetative swales, prohibition excessive clearing, limiting fertilizers and water use by 
reducing areas of sod and identifying preferred plant species, on-site water retention, 
grassy swales without fertilizer, etc�) and review minimum lot requirements adjacent to 
rivers and streams�

NF 1g� Work with landowners, developers, irrigators, land management agencies, and local 
working groups to identify and prioritize projects that restore stream connectivity and 
function, reduce nutrient loading, and improve temperature and flow conditions.

NF 1h� Work with Central District Health to ensure septic systems are maintained and are not 
built adjacent to waterways� 

NF 2� Work with IDPR and IDL to minimize natural resource impacts above Payette Lake by creating 
site-specific designs and an implementation plan.
NF 2a� Define parking and access points along the river. Work to establish adequate, formalized 

user access trails and restore social trails that are no longer needed�

NF 2b� Evaluate the need for parking permit and/or designated camping system� Limit parking 
to designated locations only� 

NF 2c� Provide vault toilets, refuse disposal, and signage for boaters at popular put-in locations, 
such as at North Beach (second needed), River’s Bend, Fisherman’s Point, and Twah 
access points� 

NF 2d� Work with land conservation coalitions and land managers to secure recreation 
easements or other public access of lands managed by IDL�

McCall Area Chamber



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    6 3

KEYSTONE INDICATORS
Indicator Baseline # Desired Future Condition
User Satisfaction Future survey needed to 

determine surveyed rate overall 
experience as excellent  

Maintain greater than 75% feeling of 
excellent experience

User numbers at Cabarton 
Bridge Launch

Future counts needed TBD

Turbidity/Sediment “Well below” 25 mg/L target and 50 mg/L monthly 
average 

Water temperature (mean 
daily average as measured at 
Payette Lake Outflow)

62�1°F [1] 55°F [2]

[1] North Fork Payette River Water Quality Monitoring Report, IDEQ 2019

[2] North Fork Payette River Subbasin Assessment and Total Maximum Daily Load, July 2005, https://www2.deq.idaho.gov/admin/LEIA/api/
document/download/11985

NF 3� Ensure water quality on the river below Payette Lake�

NF 3a� Develop and define new river access points to provide recreational experiences and  
maintain river vegetation�

NF 3b� Buffer from grazing uses.
NF 3c� Prohibit untreated sewage wastewater discharges into the river�
NF 3d� Evaluate a reasonable and feasible minimum stream flow in this reach (and others) and 

work with Water Resource Board to adopt the recommendations� 
NF 3e� Work with IDFG and water users on maintaining water temperature to support the river 

fishery.
NF 4� Enhance and maintain access to a unique river experience below Lake Cascade to Smith’s 

Ferry�

NF 4a� Implement and enforce contained waste management for overnight rafting trips (USFS 
requirement to have contained waste and pack out)�

NF 4b� Develop management to track users, educate users on impacts, and create 
accountability (e�g�, information permit system)�  

NF 4c� Develop parking management plan for Cabarton river access and implement parking 
pass permit system�

NF 4d� Update Valley County Waterways Ordinance to reinforce non-motorized use below Lake 
Cascade and others as needed�



6 4  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

ALPINE LAKES VISION

PRIORITY STRATEGIES 
AL 1� Maintaining the pristine nature of alpine lakes�

AL 1a� Work with the USFS to expand education 
on backcountry safety, know before you go, 
responsible outdoor recreation practices, and pack it in/pack it out ethics� 

AL 1b� Expand backcountry use education on Valley County trailhead and access points�

AL 1c� Work with local communities to provide classes on backcountry recreation, education, 
wilderness first aid, etc. 

AL 1d� Work with the USFS to monitor backcountry campsites every five years for barren 
ground, human waste, soil compaction, presence of noxious weeds to maintain 
ecosystem function�

AL 1e� If monitoring indicates a poor impact rating, work with the USFS to implement no 
camping within 200-feet of waterway or a designated dispersed camping area system�

AL 1f� Explore a minimum area for motorized watercraft on smaller water bodies� 

Desired Future Condition 
Maintain the function of lake and stream ecosystems in high 
mountain lakes, especially within wild areas�

Community Input on 
Waterway Concerns
• Increase in dispersed use 
• Impacts from camping and 

fires 
• Backcountry recreation 

management

Louie Lake. Jon Conti



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    6 5

KEYSTONE INDICATORS
Indicator Baseline # Desired Future Condition
User Satisfaction Future data needed to determine 

surveyed rate overall experience 
as excellent 

Maintain greater than 75% feeling of 
excellent experience

Overall Impact Rating (Ground 
Disturbance, Tree Damage, & 
Disturbed Area)

Collect baseline data <4 [1]

[1] USFS Wilderness Campsite Inventory Form & Rapid Assessment Campsite Condition Rating Guide, McCall and New Meadows District 
of the Payette National Forest.



Chad Case



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N  6 7

CHAPTER 4: ADAPTIVE 
MANAGEMENT PLAN
A PLAN IN ACTION 
This Chapter outlines how adaptive management, keystone indicators, strategies, and triggers are 
structured to improve Valley County’s waterways. The adaptive management program responds to 
increased use, development, and changing environmental conditions at an increasing rate� Chapter 
3 emphasizes the waterways’ desired future condition and priority strategies for successful Plan 
implementation� Tying this Plan to the everyday responsibilities of agencies, partners, and decision-
makers and connecting its strategies directly to County-wide and jurisdiction initiatives and policies will 
ensure a defined action plan. This tailored implementation and monitoring program meets not only the 
current needs for waterway management but responds to changing circumstances and future needs 
based on a series of keystone indicators and desired future condition targets�

Chapter 4 outlines:

• “What is an Adaptive Management 
Program?”

• “What should we do now, and what 
are our first initiatives?”

• “What should we do if the condition 
deteriorates?”

• “How do we monitor success and 
who is responsible for monitoring?”

• “How do we ensure the Plan is 
living and continues to adapt?”

The adaptive management program is not a federal or state document but a community document that 
addresses land use, recreation, and the environment� Federal and state plans directly addressing water 
quality are already planned or in place� The Plan is oriented toward what Valley County and its cities 
can do, knowing that non-profit, state, and federal agencies also have ongoing efforts to protect our 
waterways� Future data collection, monitoring, and implementation of desired policy will be needed� 

There is not a silver bullet nor is it up to 
one entity to protect our water quality and 

provide for responsible recreation – meeting 
the vision of the Waterways Management 

Plan will require we all do our part.



6 8  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

ADAPTIVE MANAGEMENT PROGRAM
The Adaptive Management Program is a quantitative review structure that provides the measurability 
and accountability needed to ensure the community will achieve this Plan’s vision. The Adaptive 
Management Program allows the community to be adaptive, responsible, and decisive in optimizing the 
vision� The adaptive management program is supported by a quantitative review structure that provides 
the measurability and accountability needed to ensure the community will achieve the desired future 
condition� In other words, if sustainable land-use practices, recreation experience, and water quality 
are met, the Plan’s strategies can be very targeted. However, if conditions remain the same or are 
deteriorating, we need to be proactive and implement the communities’ defined strategies to ensure what 
we love remains the same or is better than we left it�

All keystone indicators in this report all currently being gathered primarily by IDEQ, Friends of Lake 
Cascade, IDFG, among others� These indicators were chosen based on the issues unique to each 
waterway and desired future conditions. They are efficient for County and City staff to report as they 
are accurate, reproducible, obtainable, and affordable. A brief annual indicator report will be placed on 
the County’s waterways website so the public can stay informed on the state of the waterways. Triggers 
and indicator feedback mechanisms provide a structure to continuously verify the community’s path and 
correct course when necessary, noting that it may be beneficial to use averages over two or three years 
before some strategies are implemented� Multiple strategies, tools, partnerships, and actions can lead 
to the desired change in the indicator baseline. While corrective strategies are identified, they may not 
be the only measures taken to meet the desired future condition� Partners should meet when a keystone 
indicator trigger is hit to determine a complete and practical approach forward�



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    6 9

The trend data in key indicators measures the success or failure of management actions and provides 
an “early warning system” for issues along our waterways� Therefore, management strategies must 
be adjusted to reverse negative trends approaching or exceeding a trigger (not meeting the desired 
future condition)� A trigger is an endpoint, while trend data is a continuum that needs to be evaluated 
yearly. Progress will be gauged yearly and determined by whether there are significant differences in 
variables from the previous year’s data. As the Plan outlines, the County, Cities, the IDEQ, IDFG, and 
other agencies know that specific indicators and associated triggers are already exceeded. Therefore, 
immediate County- and City- initiated strategies that are listed in the 6th column in the following tables 
are recommended�

The following table outlines by waterway each keystone indicator, the agency that is currently collecting 
the data, current baseline conditions, and desired future conditions� If a keystone indicator has been 
triggered, immediate strategies should be considered� If the condition declines over two or three  
years or there is a goal to enhance the waterbody, additional strategies listed in the last column should 
be followed�

Donnelly Chamber of Commerce



7 0  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

ADAPTIVE MANAGEMENT AND ACTION PLAN

Indicator 
Who is 
Collecting  
this Data?

Baseline Desired Future 
Condition

Has this 
Indicator 
Been 
Triggered?

Immediate 
Strategies 
and Ease of 
Implementation

Not Meeting 
Desired Future 
Condition for 2-3 
Years or Goal to 
Enhance

Lake Cascade

User Satisfaction County 
and City

75% surveyed 
rate overall 
experience as 
excellent

Maintain 
greater than 
75% feeling 
of excellent 
experience

No LC 1a, LC 1b, LC 
1c, LC 1d LC 1e

Incidents County 
Sheriff

113 warnings 
issued per 
year (across 
Valley 
County)

Maintain less 
than <100 
warnings per 
year (across 
Valley County)

No LC 1a, LC 1c LC 1d, LC 1d

Feeling of 
extreme 
crowdedness

County 
and City 10% surveyed <20% surveyed No LC 1a, LC 1b LC 1a, LC 1c,  

LC 1d

Health Advisories 
Issued

IDEQ, 
CDH

1 issued in 
2022, 2021, 
2020, 2019

No health 
advisories Yes LC 1b, LC 1g, LC 

2d, LC 3a, LC 3d

LC 2a, LC 2b, 
LC2c, LC 2e, LC 
3b, LC 3c

Total Phosphorus IDEQ 0�03-0�06 
mg/L <0�025 mg/L Yes

LC 1b, LC 2c, LC 
2d, LC 2e, LC 3a, 
LC 3d

LC 2a, LC 2b, 
LC2c, LC 2e, LC 
3b, LC 3c

Water Clarity 
(Secchi disk 
readings)

Friends 
of Lake 
Cascade

0 - 20�5 ft > 6ft Yes LC 1b, LC 1g, LC 
2d, LC 3a, LC 3d

LC 2a, LC 2b, LC 
2c, LC 3b, LC 3c

Dissolved 
Oxygen IDEQ <6 mg/L >6 mg/L Yes

LC 1b, LC 1g, LC 
2b, LC 2e, LC 3a, 
LC 3d

LC 1f, LC 2a, LC 
2b, LC 2c, LC 3b, 
LC 3c

Water 
Temperature

IDEQ, 
Friends 
of Lake 
Cascade

75°F max
<22°C (71�6°F)  
max, <19°C 
(66°F) avg

Yes
LC 1b, LC 1g, LC 
2c, LC 2d, LC 3a, 
LC 3d

LC 2a, LC 2b, LC 
2c, LC 3b, LC 3c

Carrying 
Capacity 
(Boats at one 
time)

County 
and City 161 (High) 368 (at 40 

acres per boat) No



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    7 1

ADAPTIVE MANAGEMENT AND ACTION PLAN

Indicator
Who is 
Collecting  
this Data?

Baseline Desired Future 
Condition

Has this 
Indicator 
Been 
Triggered?

Immediate 
Strategies 
and Ease of 
Implementation

Not Meeting 
Desired Future 
Condition for 2-3 
Years or Goal to 
Enhance

Big Payette Lake

User Satisfaction County 
and City

84% surveyed 
rate overall 
experience as 
excellent

Maintain 
greater than 
75% feeling 
of excellent 
experience

No BP 1a, BP 1b, BP 
2b, BP 3a

BP 3b, BP 3c, BP 
3d 

Incidents County

113 warnings 
issued per 
year (across 
Valley 
County)

Maintain less 
than <100 
warnings per 
year (across 
Valley County)

No BP 1b, BP 1c, 
BP 3a

BP 3b, BP3c, BP 
3d 

Feeling of 
extreme 
crowdedness

County 
and City

13% surveyed  
stated feeling 
extremely 
crowded

Maintain less 
than 30% 
feeling of 
crowdedness

No BP 1a, BP 1b BP 3b, BP 3c, BP 
3d 

Dissolved 
Oxygen IDEQ >6 mg/L >6 mg/L (above 

200 foot depth) No
BP 2c, BP 2d, BP 
2e, BP 4a, BP 4b, 
BP 4c, BP 4d

Total Phosphorus IDEQ �0047 - �0062 
mg/L <0�006 mg/L No

BP 2c,  BP 2d, BP 
4a, BP 4b, BP 4c, 
BP 4d

Carrying 
Capacity (Boats 
at one time)

County 
and City

76 (High) 102 (at 40 
acres per 
boat) No BP 3b, BP 3c, BP 

3d 

Acres of No wake 
Areas

County 
and City

771 1,003 (based 
on expanding 
the no wake 
distances 
in targeted 
areas)

No BP 1a NA

Length of 
Shoreline in 
Conserved 
Public Lands 
and Available for 
Public Access

City 7 miles (27%)
Increase to 
greater than 
35%

Yes BP 2a, BP 2b BP 3d, BP 1e, BP 
4e



7 2  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

ADAPTIVE MANAGEMENT AND ACTION PLAN

Indicator
Who is 
Collecting  
this Data?

Baseline Desired Future 
Condition

Has this 
Indicator 
Been 
Triggered?

Immediate 
Strategies 
and Ease of 
Implementation

Not Meeting 
Desired Future 
Condition for 2-3 
Years or Goal to 
Enhance

Warm Lake

Carrying 
Capacity (Boats 
at one time) 

County 
and City 52 (High) 64 (at 10 acres 

per boat) No WL 1d, WL 1e, 
WL 1f WL 1g, WF 1h

Nitrogen TBD Future Testing 
Required 0�006 mg/L TBD

WL 1a, WL 1b, 
WL 1c, WL 1f, 
WL 1g

WL 2a, WL 2b, 
WL 2c

Temperature TBD Future Testing 
Required

<22°C max, 
<19°C avg TBD WL 1f

ADAPTIVE MANAGEMENT AND ACTION PLAN

Indicator
Who is 
Collecting  
this Data?

Baseline Desired Future 
Condition

Has this 
Indicator 
Been 
Triggered?

Immediate 
Strategies 
and Ease of 
Implementation

Not Meeting 
Desired Future 
Condition for 2-3 
Years or Goal to 
Enhance

North Fork of Payette River & Tributaries  
(Above Payette Lake, Below Payette Lake, and Below Lake Cascade)

User Satisfaction County 
and City

Future survey 
needed to 
determine 
surveyed 
rate overall 
experience as 
excellent

Maintain 
greater than 
75% feeling 
of excellent 
experience

No
NF 1a, NF 1b, NF 
1c, NF 1d, NF ld, 
NF 2a, NF 2b, NF 
2c, NF 4d

NF 2d, NF 3a

User Numbers at 
Cabarton Bridge 
Launch

County Future counts 
needed TBD TBD

NF 1a, NF 1b, 
NF 1c, NF 1d, NF 
2a, NF 2b, NF 2c, 
NF 4c

Turbidity/
Sediment IDFG “Well below”

25 mg/L 
target and 50 
mg/L monthly 
average

No
NF 3d, NF 1e, NF 
3e, NF 4a, NF 
4b, NF 4d

NF 3b, NF 3c

Average Water 
Temperature 
(as measured 
at Payette Lake 
Outflow)

IDFG 61�2°F 55°F No
NF 3d, NF 1e, NF 
3e, NF 4a, NF 
4b, NF 4d

NF 3b, NF 3c



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    7 3

ADAPTIVE MANAGEMENT AND ACTION PLAN

Indicator
Who is 
Collecting  
this Data?

Baseline Desired Future 
Condition

Has this 
Indicator 
Been 
Triggered?

Immediate 
Strategies 
and Ease of 
Implementation

Not Meeting 
Desired Future 
Condition for 2-3 
Years or Goal to 
Enhance

Alpine Lakes

User Satisfaction

McCall 
Master 
Naturalists 
and USFS

Future survey 
needed to 
determine 
surveyed 
rate overall 
experience as 
excellent

Maintain 
greater than 
75% feeling 
of excellent 
experience

No AL 1a, AL 1b, AL 
1c, AL 1d AL 1e

Overall Impact 
Rating (Ground 
Disturbance, 
Tree Damage, & 
Disturbed Areas)

McCall 
Master 
Naturalists 
and USFS

Collect 
baseline data <4 No AL 1a, AL 1b,  

AL 1c, AL 1d AL 1e

Logan Simpson



7 4  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

PLAN IMPLEMENTATION 
This Plan is consistent with what the National Academy of Sciences outlines as Adaptive Management� 
However, it is a County-based plan recognizing the connection between community, land use, recreation, 
and our natural environment� 

ANNUAL INDICATOR REPORT, WORK PLANS, AND MONITORING 
WEBSITE
A brief annual indicator report will be produced consisting of keystone and supplemental individual 
indicators� Alternatively, a dashboard could be set up on the website, providing quick access to information 
and links to other online data. Annual indicator reports should be designed to evaluate the community’s 
progress toward achieving the vision� These annual snapshots should be summarized and presented to 
other technical working groups and forums� Other agencies may also be prepared to give their annual 
reports, progress, and data at this time� Through these yearly indicator reports, the community will 
understand how we are measuring up and will have the information needed to proactively input into 
annual work plans�

A yearly work plan for implementing the Plan as part of the budget process would complement the annual 
indicator report� In setting the work plan, the community should evaluate the work completed over the 
past year, review annual indicators, and prioritize strategies for implementation� The work plan may 
also include the implementation of preemptive strategies before triggering a strategy, plan amendment, 
or plan update� As strategies are completed and/or new best practices, technology, and information 
become available, the work plan may include strategies that are not listed� However, every task in the 
work plan should be relevant to the Plan’s Vision, implementable by the responsible party and effective 
in addressing the focus areas and community input on waterway concerns�

Donnelly Chamber of Commerce



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    7 5

A LIVING PLAN AND UPDATE CYCLE
This Plan will be living, allowing it to adapt to changes� Annual monitoring enables the ability to react 
quickly� If keystone indicators in the Plan are triggered for multiple years, minor updates to the Plan 
should occur every two years. Once minor amendments are initiated, the staff, Technical Advisory 
Group (TAG), Boards, and Commissions will go through targeted amendments� While additional or more 
stringent strategies may not be the most desired outcome, they may be necessary for progress toward 
the desired result� This update will allow the addition of current data, removal of additional key indicators 
and strategies, and the incorporation of completed plans and strategies� 

Plan amendments, if necessary, should occur with the annual indicator report� Consideration could occur 
at the same yearly meetings where the annual indicator report is reviewed and the implementation work 
plan for the following year is set� This promotes a simultaneous and comprehensive review of proposed 
amendments, indicators, strategies, and the work plan to adapt to the current conditions� Concurrent 
reviews encourage adaptation to changing conditions while discouraging overreaction to opportunities 
that do not adequately address specific issues. New and/or strengthened strategies with the County and 
City and agencies like the IDEQ may need to be established� If land use, recreation, or water quality 
conditions deteriorate, strategies are not implemented, regulations are not being followed, and/or if BMPs 
are determined to be ineffective; then the County, Cities, and agencies will work with their partners to 
ensure corrective steps are taken� During these periods, additional monitoring and special studies in 
response to specific needs may be identified.

If no annual indicators are triggered, the Plan should be updated at least every five years� A more 
extensive public process should ensure the Plan always meets the County’s vision. An update should 
occur even if a keystone indicator was not triggered and we are meeting our targets� Regular, informed, and 
focused updates to the Plan will allow the community to affirm its values and identify new implementation 
strategies. The five-year update should be a community effort built on the lessons learned through 5 
years of annual indicator reports�



7 6  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

PARTNERSHIPS
As part of a living and adaptable plan, annual conversations with the County, McCall, Cascade, and 
Donnelly communities should continue during indicator reviews, minor amendments, and plan updates� 
This engagement fosters more effective outcomes and enhances support for those outcomes. Part of the 
annual monitoring and implementation of the Plan will be consistent outreach on the community’s values 
and implementation priorities

The community’s ability to achieve this Plan’s priorities is intertwined with the ability to cooperate and 
communicate with non-profit, local, state, and federal agencies. The County and Cities will continue 
coordinating with nearby land managers to implement this Plan’s framework, identify shared interests 
and available resources, and address issues affecting the entire ecosystem.

Roles and Responsibilities 
• The County and City planning and parks staff are responsible for producing annual indicator reports, 

conducting surveys, executing yearly work plans, making minor amendments, and updating the Plan�

• The TAG and partners are responsible for providing indicators data and working towards 
implementation actions� They are also conducting complimentary studies and initiatives supporting 
the same objectives�

• The community is responsible for living harmoniously with the natural setting and following rules 
and regulations put in place to protect our waterways for generations to come� The local and visiting 
communities are also instrumental in reaching out to those who live and use the waterways�

Logan Simpson



W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    7 7

FUNDING
Maintaining high water quality and attractive recreation amenities will 
result in greater recreational demand and an increase in the amount 
of local and visitor use, which may necessitate the implementation of 
additional funding sources� A multi-layered approach to funding will 
be necessary, including: 

• Actions with high benefits at little cost
• Working with watershed partners and landowners
• Parking and launch user fees
• County-wide recreation permit
• Recreation districts
• General funds
• Park and open space impact fees
• Concessionaires
• Grants
• Donations

Fees are often prorated based on resident vs� visitor, income, 
location, and other factors� Having this additional funding that can 
be used for enforcement and planning staffing will help support the 
community’s goals and create high-quality and safe waterways. The 
lack of funding commitments has been the most significant obstacle 
to making progress with implementing many other waterway plans� 
The resources required to implement these strategies should be 
considered, along with the parties responsible for implementing 
the strategy, the timeframe for implementing the strategy, and the 
effectiveness of each strategy.

Donnelly Chamber of Commerce



7 8  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

REFERENCES
Big Payette Lake Water Quality Council� 1997� Big Payette Lake Management Plan and Plan 

Implementation Program� Available online at: https://725936d0-75fa-44e7-9829-2dd72af0d390�

filesusr.com/ugd/8bf0b5_5550999dd17c4f15ba49e695afe47d01.pdf�

Bureau of Economic Analysis� 2020� Revenue Generated By Recreation Activities In Idaho� Available 
online at: https://www�bea�gov/tools/�

Bureau of Economic Analysis� 2021� Gross Domestic Product� Available online at: https://www�bea�

gov/tools/�

City of McCall� 2022� Ordinance number 3�7�02� Available online at: https://codelibrary�amlegal�com/
codes/mccallid/latest/mccall_id/0-0-0-1349.

Cucinski, H� 1982� Sediment suspension and resuspension from small-craft induced turbulence. 
Arnold, MD: Anne Arundel Community College�

Cusack, C� 2020� IDEQ Monitoring Results for Big Payette Lake� Boise, ID: Idaho Department of 
Environmental Quality�

Idaho Department of Environmental Quality (IDEQ)� 1996� Cascade Reservoir Phase I Watershed 
Management Plan. Boise, ID: DEQ. Available online at: https://www.deq.idaho.gov/media/452836-_
water_data_reports_surface_water_tmdls_cascade_reservoir_cascade_reservoir_phase1_noapps.
pdf   Appendices available online at: https://www.deq.idaho.gov/media/452830-_water_data_reports_
surface_water_tmdls_cascade_reservoir_cascade_reservoir_phase1_apps.pdf�

Idaho Department of Environmental Quality (IDEQ)� 2005� North Fork Payette River Subbasin 
Assessment and Total Maximum Daily Load� Available online at: https://www2�deq�idaho�gov/admin/
LEIA/api/document/download/11985�

Idaho Department of Environmental Quality (IDEQ)� 2009� Cascade Reservoir Watershed Phase III 
Water Quality Management Plan and TMDL Five-Year Review� Available online at: https://www2�deq�

idaho�gov/admin/LEIA/api/document/download/11976�

Idaho Department of Environmental Quality (IDEQ)� 2012� North Fork Payette River Watershed TMDL 
Five-Year Review� Boise, Idaho: DEQ� Available online at: https://www2�deq�idaho�gov/admin/LEIA/
api/document/download/11987�

Idaho Department of Environmental Quality (IDEQ)� 2016� Water Body Assessment Guidance – 3rd 

Edition. Boise, ID: DEQ� Available online at: https://www�deq�idaho�gov/water-quality/surface-water/
monitoring-assessment/� 

Idaho Department of Environmental Quality (IDEQ)� 2018� Cascade Reservoir Watershed: TMDL 
Five-Year Review. Boise, ID: DEQ� Available online at: https://www�deq�idaho�gov/media/60181465/
cascade-reservoir-watershed-tmdl-five-year-review.pdf. 

https://725936d0-75fa-44e7-9829-2dd72af0d390.filesusr.com/ugd/8bf0b5_5550999dd17c4f15ba49e695afe47d01.pdf
https://725936d0-75fa-44e7-9829-2dd72af0d390.filesusr.com/ugd/8bf0b5_5550999dd17c4f15ba49e695afe47d01.pdf
https://www.deq.idaho.gov/media/452830-_water_data_reports_surface_water_tmdls_cascade_reservoir_cascade_reservoir_phase1_apps.pdf
https://www.deq.idaho.gov/media/452830-_water_data_reports_surface_water_tmdls_cascade_reservoir_cascade_reservoir_phase1_apps.pdf


W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    7 9

Idaho Department of Environmental Quality (IDEQ)� 2019� 2019 Monitoring Report for Cascade 
Reservoir and the North Fork Payette River (HUC 17050123) between Payette Lake and Cascade 
Reservoir� Boise, ID: DEQ� 

Idaho Department of Environmental Quality (IDEQ)� 2022� Valley County Ground Water Quality 
Improvement and Drinking Water Source Protection Plan� Available online at: https://www2�deq�

idaho�gov/admin/LEIA/api/document/download/17041

Idaho Department of Parks and Recreation (IDPR)� 2018� Idaho Statewide Comprehensive Outdoor 
Recreation Plan� Available online at: https://parksandrecreation�idaho�gov/wp-content/uploads/scorp/
Idaho-Statewide-Comprehensive-Outdoor-Recreation-Plan-2018-1�pdf�

Idaho Department of Lands (IDL)� 2020� Payette Endowment Land Strategy (PELS) Implementation 
Plan� Available online at: https://www�idl�idaho�gov/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/12/Payette-
Endowment-Land-Strategy-DRAFT-121520-rev-020921�pdf

Klein, R� 1997� The effects of marinas and boating activity upon tidal waterways. Owings Mills, MD: 
Community & Environmental Defense Services�

Idaho State� 2003� Code 67-7077� Available online at: https://legislature�idaho�gov/statutesrules/idstat/
title67/t67ch70/�

Lappin, J� T� 1989� Privy Sanitation Survey - West Mountain Area, Valley County, Idaho. Central District 
Health Department�

National Academy of Sciences� 2004� Adaptive Management for Water Resources Project Planning� 
Available online at: https://nap�nationalacademies�org/catalog/10972/adaptive-management-for-
water-resources-project-planning�

Ray, A� 2020� Analyzing Threats to Water Quality from Motorized Recreation on Payette Lake, Idaho. 
Valley County, Idaho: Big Payette Lake Water Quality Council�

U�S� Army Corps of Engineers� 1994� Cumulatrive impacts of recreational boating on the Fox River - 
Chain O’Lakes area in Lake and McHenry Counties, Illinois: Final Environmental Impact Statement. 
Chicago, IL: Environ� and Social Anal� Branch, U�S� Armny Corps of Eng�

U�S� Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA)� 2002� Onsite Wastewater Treatment Systems 
Manual. Office of Water, Office of Research and Development. Available online at: https://www.epa.
gov/sites/default/files/2015-06/documents/2004_07_07_septics_septic_2002_osdm_all.pdf.

U�S� Fish and Wildlife (USFS)� No Date� Wilderness Campsite Inventory Form & Rapid Assessment 
Campsite Condition Rating Guide, McCall and New Meadows District of the Payette National Forest� 
As shared by McCall Ranger District June 2022� Available on request�



8 0  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y

U�S� Geological Survey (USGS) and Idaho Division of Environmental Quality (IDEQ)� 1997� 
Eutrophication Potential of Payette Lake, Idaho� Available online at: https://pubs�usgs�gov/
wri/1997/4145/report�pdf�

United Payette� 2021� Payette Endowment Lands Strategy (PELS) Implementation Plan� Available 
online at: https://static1�squarespace�com/static/60ef419cb68c2913bece7800/t/614b24730b92de543
a8407da/1632314546283/UP_Proposal_Plan+Final+w+R1.pdf

Valley County� 2020� Ordinance number 9-1-1� Available online at: https://codelibrary�amlegal�com/
codes/valleycountyid/latest/valleycounty_id/0-0-0-1652

Valley County� 2020� Ordinance number 20-11� Available online at: http://www�co�valley�id�us/wp-
content/uploads/2020/08/429344�pdf�

Valley County� 2022� Waterways Management Plan: Current Trends Report� Available online at: https://
www�mccall�id�us/media/COUNCIL/Packets/2022�04�22%20Special%20Council%20Meeting%20
Packet%20w_Agenda.pdf 

Yousef, Y� 1974� Assessing effects onwater quality by boating activity, vol. 1. Washington, DC: National 
Environmental Research Center�

Zimmer, D� W� 1983� Phosphorous loading and bacterial contamination of Cascade Reservoir. Boise, 
ID: U�S� Bureau of Reclamation�

https://pubs.usgs.gov/wri/1997/4145/report.pdf
https://pubs.usgs.gov/wri/1997/4145/report.pdf


W A T E R W A Y S  M A N A G E M E N T  P L A N    8 1

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK



8 2  V A L L E Y  C O U N T Y



R
eg

ul
at

or
y A

nn
ou

nc
em

en
t


EPA Finalizes Emission Standards for 
New Nonroad Spark-Ignition Engines, 
Equipment, and Vessels 

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) is adopting new
exhaust emission standards for marine spark-ignition engines and 

small land-based nonroad engines. EPA is also adopting evaporative 
emission standards for equipment and vessels using these engines. 
These standards apply only to newly manufactured products. The 
standards will reduce the harmful health effects of ozone and carbon 
monoxide from these engines, equipment, and vessels. 

Which engines and vehicles are affected? 

We are adopting new standards for emissions of hydrocarbons (HC), nitrogen oxides 
(NOx), and carbon monoxide (CO) from a variety of nonroad engines, equipment, 
and vessels that cause or contribute to air pollution. The controls for these products 
have been combined into one rulemaking because these engines and vehicles share 
many common characteristics. Differences in their design and use led us to adopt 
separate emission standards for each group. 

• Small Nonroad Spark-Ignition Engines and Equipment: Spark-ignition (SI)
nonroad engines rated below 25 horsepower (19 kW) used in household and
commercial applications, including lawn and garden equipment, utility
vehicles, generators, and a variety of other construction, farm, and industrial
equipment.

• Marine Spark-Ignition Engines and Vessels: Spark-ignition engines used
in marine vessels, including outboard engines, personal watercraft, and
sterndrive/inboard engines.

Office of Transportation and Air Quality 
EPA420-F-08-013 
September 2008 

ATTACHMENT 5



R
eg

ul
at

or
y A

nn
ou

nc
em

en
t


What are the differences between the final rule and the proposed rule? 

Several minor changes from the proposed rule are being adopted in the final rule. These changes 
reflect important cooperative efforts between EPA and the regulated industries to implement 
cleaner technology as early as possible while still providing communities across the United 
States with needed emissions reductions. 

First, the implementation dates for Marine Outboard/Personal Watercraft (OB/PWC) and 
Sterndrive/Inboard (SD/I) exhaust emissions standards are being delayed one year to allow 
sufficient time for manufacturers to convert their entire product line-ups to lower emissions 
simultaneously while adopting to supplier changes. Second, modifications are being made to 
the Marine SD/I High Performance (>373 kW) exhaust emissions requirements to reflect the 
limitations of catalyst technology on these engines. Lastly, we are adopting provisions for cold 
weather evaporative emission standards to reflect the capability of fuel line materials and 
adding a phase-in for marine diurnal standards. Both of these changes will enhance the 
safety of the new requirements. 

Why is EPA regulating these engines, equipment, and vessels? 

The engines and vehicles covered by this rule are significant sources of air pollution. They 
account for about 26 percent of mobile source VOC emissions and 23 percent of mobile 
source carbon monoxide emissions. With the new controls, VOC pollutants will be further 
reduced by 34 percent for Small SI engines and 70 percent for Marine SI engines by 2030. With 
the new controls, CO pollutants will be further reduced by 9 percent for Small SI engines and 
19 percent for Marine SI engines by 2030. 

The new standards continue the process of establishing nonroad standards as required by the 
Clean Air Act. We are required to study emissions from nonroad engines and vehicles and to set 
emissions standards if the level of pollutants from these sources cause or significantly contribute 
to air pollution and, more specifically, if the emissions of CO, NOx or hydrocarbons contribute 
significantly to the formation of ozone and carbon monoxide in more than one area of the country 
currently not meeting ozone and carbon monoxide standards. We completed the Nonroad Engine 
and Vehicle Emission Study in 1991, and in 1994 determined that these sources contribute 
significantly to ozone or CO nonattainment. We have already set emission standards for most 
nonroad engines, including farm and construction equipment, locomotives, commercial marine, 
and recreational vehicles. 

What are the New Requirements? 

The new requirements vary depending on the kind of engine or vehicle. In developing these 
requirements, we considered specific factors for each type. Among the factors considered were 
the environmental impacts, the number of hours each year that the engine is used, the need for 
high-performance operation, and the costs. The new requirements for each type of engine and 
vehicle are: 

2 



R
eg

ul
at

or
y A

nn
ou

nc
em

en
t


Small Nonroad Engines 
We are adopting HC+NOx exhaust emission standards of 10 g/kW-hr for Class I engines starting 
in the 2012 model year and 8 g/kW-hr for Class II engines starting in the 2011 model year. We 
expect manufacturers to meet these standards by improving fuel systems, engine combustion 
and in some cases adding catalysts. These standards are consistent with the requirements recently 
adopted by the California Air Resources Board (ARB). We are not adopting new exhaust emission 
standards for handheld emissions. 

For spark-ignition engines used in marine generators, we are adopting a more stringent Phase 3 
CO emission standard of 5 g/kW-hr. This applies equally to all sizes of small SI engines used in 
marine generators. 

We are adopting new evaporative emission standards for both handheld and nonhandheld 
equipment. The new standards include requirements to control fuel tank permeation, fuel line 
permeation, and diffusion emissions. For nonhandheld engines we also require control of run
ning losses. 

When fully implemented, the new standards will result in a 35 percent reduction in HC+NOx 
emissions from new engines’ exhaust. The new standards will reduce evaporative emissions by 
45 percent. 

Marine spark-ignition engines and vessels 
We are adopting a more stringent level of emission standards for outboard and personal water
craft engines starting with the 2010 model year. The HC+NOx standard for engines producing 
less than or equal to 4.3 kW maximum power is 30 g/kWh and for engines producing greater 
than 4.3 kW have a standard that gradually increases based on the engine’s maximum power. 
The CO standard for engines producing less than or equal to 40 kW gradually increases based 
on the engine’s maximum power. The CO standard for engines with maximum power greater 
than 40 kW is 300 g/kWh. We expect manufacturers to meet these standards with improved 
fueling systems and other in-cylinder controls. The federal levels of the HC+NOx standards are 
consistent with the requirements recently adopted by California ARB with the addition of a 
first-ever CO standard for this category of nonroad engines. 

We are adopting new exhaust emission standards for sterndrive and inboard marine engines. 
The standards are 5 g/kW-hr for HC+NOx and 75 g/kW-hr for CO starting with the 2010 model 
year. We expect manufacturers to meet these standards with three-way catalysts and closed-loop 
fuel injection. To ensure proper functioning of these emission control systems in use, we will 
require manufacturers to diagnose engines for failure in the emission control system. 

For sterndrive and inboard marine engines above 373 kW with high-performance characteristics 
(generally referred to as “SD/I high-performance engines”), we are adopting a CO standard of 
350 g/kW-hr. We are adopting a HC+NOx standard of 20 g/kWh for high-performance engines 
producing between 373 and 485 kW in 2010 followed by a tightened standard of 16 g/kWh 
in 2011. For high-performance engines producing greater than 485 kW, we are adopting a 
HC+NOx standard of 25 g/kWh in 2010 and 22 g/kWh in 2011. We are also adopting a variety 
of other special provisions for high-performance engines to reflect unique operating characteristics. 

3 



R
eg

ul
at

or
y A

nn
ou

nc
em

en
t


The emission standards described above relate to engine operation over a prescribed duty cycle 
for testing in the laboratory. We are also adopting “not-to-exceed” standards that require manu
facturers to maintain a certain level of emission control when engines operate under normal 
speed-load combinations that are not included in the certification duty cycle. 

We are also adopting new standards to control evaporative emissions for all vessels using marine 
spark-ignition engines. The new standards include requirements to control fuel tank permeation, 
fuel line permeation, and diurnal fuel tank vapor emissions, including provisions to ensure that 
refueling emissions do not increase. 

When fully implemented, the new standards will result in an estimated 70 percent reduction in 
HC+NOx emissions and a 50 percent reduction in CO from new SD/I engines’ exhaust. The 
standards will also result in a 60 percent reduction in HC+NOx emissions from OB/PWC 
engines. The new standards will reduce evaporative emissions by about 70 percent. 

Health and Environmental Benefits 
We estimate that by 2030, the new standards will result in significant annual reductions of pol
lutant emissions from regulated engine and equipment sources nationwide, including approxi
mately 600,000 tons of volatile organic hydrocarbon emissions, 130,000 tons of NOx emissions, 
and 5,500 tons of direct particulate matter (PM2.5) emissions. These reductions correspond to 
significant reductions in the formation of ground-level ozone and ambient PM2.5. We also expect 
to see annual reductions of 1.5 million tons of carbon monoxide emissions, with the greatest 
reductions in situations where there have been problems with individual exposures. The final 
rule will result in substantial benefits to public health and welfare and the environment. We 
estimate that by 2030, on an annual basis, these emission reductions will prevent 230 PM-
related premature deaths, between 77 and 350 ozone-related premature deaths, approximately 
1,700 hospitalizations and emergency room visits, 23,000 work days lost, 180,000 lost school 
days, 590,000 acute respiratory symptoms, and other quantifiable benefits every year. The 
total estimated annual benefits of this rule in 2030 are approximately between $1.6 and 
$4.4 billion. Estimated costs in 2030 are many times less, at approximately $190 million. 

Costs 
The estimated annualized cost of the new exhaust and evaporative emissions standards is $391 
million, assuming a seven percent discount rate over 30 years. The corresponding annualized 
fuel savings due to more efficient controls is $155 million. As a result, the net annualized cost of 
the program is $236 million. 
The results of the economic impact modeling performed for the Small SI and Marine SI engines 
and equipment control programs suggest that the social costs of those programs are expected 
to be about $459 million in 2030 with consumers of these products expected to bear about 86 
percent of these costs. We estimate fuel savings of about $273 million in 2030 that will accrue to 
consumers. 

4 



For More Information 
You can access the rule and related documents on EPA’s Office of Transportation and Air 
Quality (OTAQ) Web site at: 

www.epa.gov/otaq/equip-ld.htm or www.epa.gov/otaq/marinesi.htm 

For more information on this rule, please contact the Assessment and Standards Division at: 

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency

Office of Transportation and Air Quality

2000 Traverwood Drive

Ann Arbor, MI 48105

Information Line:734-214-4636

E-mail: asdinfo@epa.gov


R
eg

ul
at

or
y A

nn
ou

nc
em

en
t


�


mailto:asdinfo@epa.gov
http://www.epa.gov/otaq/equip-ld.htm
http://www.epa.gov/otaq/marinesi.htm


Page 1 

Annual Drinking Water Quality Report 

City Of McCall Water Treatment Facility 
July, 2011 

We are pleased to present to you this year's Annual Quality Water Report. This report is designed to inform you 
about the quality water and services we deliver to you every day. Our constant goal is to provide you with a safe 
and dependable supply of drinking water. We want you to understand the efforts we make to continually 
improve the water treatment process and protect our water resources. We are committed to ensuring the quality 
of your water. Our water source is Payette Lake. There are two intake pump stations, Davis Beach and Legacy 
Park.  Water is pumped to the Water Treatment plant in Spring Mountain Ranch.  The City of McCall had one 
water quality violation in 2010.  Total Haloaceitic Acids were .062 mg/l on July 23, 2010.  The maximum 
contaminant level for HAAs is .060 mg/l.  We are testing HAAs quarterly in 2011.  The first two tests were 
within legal limits. 

If you have any questions about this report or concerning your water utility, please contact John Lewinski at 
634-1853.  We want our valued customers to be informed about their water utility.  If you want to learn more,
please attend any of our regularly scheduled meetings. They are held every other Thursday at City Hall.

The City Of McCall Water Treatment Facility routinely monitors for constituents in your drinking water 
according to Federal and State laws.  This table shows the results of our monitoring for the period of January 1, 
2009 to December 31, 2010.  We are required to monitor other parameters periodically and they are listed as 
well and the dates of when they were last tested. All drinking water, including bottled drinking water, may be 
reasonably expected to contain at least small amounts of some constituents.  It is important to remember that the 
presence of these constituents does not necessarily pose a health risk.  

In this table, you will find many terms and abbreviations you may not be familiar with. To help you better 
understand these terms we have provided the following definitions: 

N/A - Not applicable  

Non-Detects (ND) - Laboratory analysis indicates that the constituent is not present. 

Parts per million (ppm) or Milligrams per liter (mg/l)  

Parts per billion (ppb) or Micrograms per liter (ug/L) 

Parts per trillion (ppt) or Nanograms per liter (nanograms/l)  

Parts per quadrillion (ppq) or Picograms per liter (picograms/l) 

Picocuries per liter (pCi/L) - Picocuries per liter is a measure of the radioactivity in water. 

Millirems per year (mrem/yr) - Measure of radiation absorbed by the body. 

Million Fibers per Liter (MFL) - Million fibers per liter is a measure of the presence of asbestos fibers that are 

ATTACHMENT 6



Page 2 

longer than 10 micrometers.  
Nephelometric Turbidity Unit (NTU) - Nephelometric turbidity unit is a measure of the clarity of water. 
Turbidity in excess of 5 NTU is just noticeable to the average person. 
 
Action Level - The concentration of a contaminant, which, if exceeded, triggers treatment, or other 
requirements, which a water system must follow. 
 
Treatment Technique (TT) - A treatment technique is a required process intended to reduce the level of a 
contaminant in drinking water. 
 
Maximum Contaminant Level - The “Maximum Allowed” (MCL) is the highest level of a contaminant that is 
allowed in drinking water.  MCLs are set as close to the MCLGs as feasible using the best available treatment 
technology. 
 
Maximum Contaminant Level Goal - The “Goal”(MCLG) is the level of a contaminant in drinking water below 
which there is no known or expected risk to health.  MCLGs allow for a margin of safety. 

TEST RESULTS 

Contaminant Violation 
Y/N 

Level  
Detected 

Unit 
Measurement 

MCLG Date 
Tested 

MCL Likely Source of Contamination 

Microbiological Contaminants 
1. Total Coliform Bacteria       N  ND   

    
0 Monthly Presence of 

coliform 
bacteria in 5% 
of monthly 
samples 

Naturally present in the 
environment 

2. Fecal coliform and             
E.coli 

 
 
N/A 

  0  A routine 
sample and 
repeat sample 
are total 
coliform 
positive, and 
one is also 
fecal coliform 
or E. coli 
positive 

Human and animal fecal waste 

 3. Turbidity   
N 
 

 
.180 

NTU 1.0 

 
Continuous 

monitoring at 
the Water 
Treatment 

Plant  

1.0 

 
Soil runoff 

Radioactive Contaminants 
4. A    Gross Alpha N <1.0 pCi/l  2/03 15 Erosion of natural 

deposits 
    B    Gross Beta N 3.1 pCi/l  2/03 50 Erosion of Natural 

Deposits 
    C  Radium 226 N <.2 pCi/l  2/03 3 Erosion of Natural 

Deposits 
    D  Radium 228 N <1.0 pCi/l  2/03  Erosion of Natural 

Deposits 
    Total Measured Radium N <.2 pCi/l  2/03 5 Erosion of Natural 

Deposits 
 5. Alpha emitters     N 0.0 pCi/1 0  15 Erosion of natural deposits 



Page 3 

Inorganic Contaminants.  Sodium was also analyzed in 2010.  The result was 6.02 mg/l. 
 7. Antimony N    ND ppb 6 7/10 6 Discharge from petroleum 

refineries; fire retardants; ceramics; 
electronics; solder 

 8. Arsenic N <.003 ppb .01 7/10 50 Erosion of natural deposits; runoff 
from orchards; runoff from glass 
and electronics production wastes 

 9. Asbestos 
 

N <.083 MFL 7 11/04 7 Decay of asbestos cement water 
mains; erosion of natural deposits 

10. Barium N ND ppm 2 7/10 2 Discharge of drilling wastes; 
discharge from metal refineries; 
erosion of natural deposits 



Page 4 

 

TEST RESULTS 

Contaminant Violation 
Y/N 

Level  
Detected 

Unit 
Measurement 

MCLG Date 
Tested 

MCL Likely Source of Contamination 

 
11. Beryllium N ND ppb 4 7/10 4 Discharge from metal refineries 

and coal-burning factories; 
discharge from electrical, 
aerospace, and defense industries 

12. Cadmium N ND ppb 5 7/10 5 Corrosion of galvanized pipes; 
erosion of natural deposits; 
discharge from metal refineries; 
runoff from waste batteries and 
paints 

13. Chromium N 2 ppb 100 7/10 100 Discharge from steel and pulp 
mills; erosion of natural deposits 

14. Copper N 0.459 ppm 1..3 7/08 AL=1..3 Corrosion of household plumbing 
systems; erosion of natural 
deposits; leaching from wood 
preservatives 

15. Cyanide N N\D ppb 200 3/04 200 Discharge from steel/metal 
factories; discharge from plastic 
and fertilizer factories 

16. Fluoride N ND ppm 4 7/10 4 Erosion of natural deposits; water 
additive which promotes strong 
teeth; discharge from fertilizer and 
aluminum factories 

17. Lead N 11.5 
 

ppb 0 8/08 AL=15 Corrosion of household plumbing 
systems, erosion of natural deposits 

18. Mercury (inorganic) N ND ppb 2 7/10 2 Erosion of natural deposits; 
discharge from refineries and 
factories; runoff from landfills; 
runoff from cropland 

19. Nitrate (as Nitrogen) N   <.10 ppm 10 2/10 10 Runoff from fertilizer use; leaching 
from septic tanks, sewage; erosion 
of natural deposits 

20. Nitrite (as Nitrogen) N ND ppm 1 3/04 1 Runoff from fertilizer use; leaching 
from septic tanks, sewage; erosion 
of natural deposits 

21.   Selenium N ND ppb 50 7/10 50 Discharge from petroleum and 
metal refineries; erosion of natural 
deposits; discharge from mines 

22. Thallium N ND ppb 0.5 7/10 2 Leaching from ore-processing 
sites; discharge from electronics, 
glass, and drug factories 

Synthetic Organic Contaminants including Pesticides and Herbicides.   42 SOCs were 
analyzed in 2001.  Several SOCs were analyzed in 2008.  All were non-detectable.  A 
complete list is available upon request. 
23. 2,4-D N N/D ppb 70 3/04 70 Runoff from herbicide used on row 

crops 
24. 2,4,5-TP (Silvex)  N N/D ppb 50 3/04 50 Residue of banned herbicide 

25. Acrylamide                        N N/D  0 02/98 TT Added to water during 
sewage/wastewater treatment 

26. Alachlor N N/D ppb 0 3/04 2 Runoff from herbicide used on row 
crops 

27. Atrazine N N/D ppb 3 3/04 3 Runoff from herbicide used on row 
crops 

28. Benzo(a)pyrene (PAH) N N/D nanograms/l 0 3/04 200 Leaching from linings of water 
storage tanks and distribution lines 



Page 5 

29. Carbofuran N N/D ppb 40 3/04 40 Leaching of soil fumigant used on 
rice and alfalfa 

30. Chlordane N N/D ppb 0 3/09 2 Residue of banned termiticide 

 

TEST RESULTS 

Contaminant Violation 
Y/N 

Level  
Detected 

Unit 
Measurement 

MCLG Date 
Tested 

MCL Likely Source of Contamination 

 
31. Dalapon N N/D ppb 200 3/04 200 Runoff from herbicide used on 

rights of way 
32. Di(2-ethylhexyl)           

adipate 
N N/D ppb 400 3/04 400 Discharge from chemical factories 

33. Di(2-ethylhexyl)          
phthalate 

N N/D ppb 0 3/04 6 Discharge from rubber and 
chemical factories 

34. Dibromochloropropane N N/D nanograms/1 0 02/98 200 Runoff/leaching from soil fumigant 
used on soybeans, cotton, 
pineapples, and orchards 

35. Dinoseb N N/D ppb 7 3/04 7 Runoff from herbicide used on 
soybeans and vegetables 

36. Diquat N N/D ppb 20 3/04 20 Runoff from herbicide use 

37. Dioxin 
       [2,3,7,8-TCDD] 

N N/D picograms/l   0 2/98 30 Emissions from waste incineration 
and other combustion; discharge 
from chemical factories 

38. Endothall N N/D ppb 100 3/04 100 Runoff from herbicide use 

39. Endrin N N/D ppb 2 3/09 2 Residue of banned insecticide 

40. Epichlorohydrin N N/D  0 02/98 TT Discharge from industrial chemical 
factories; an impurity of some 
water treatment chemicals 

41. Ethylene dibromide  N N/D nanograms/1 0 02/98    50 Discharge from petroleum 
refineries 

42. Glyphosate N N/D ppb 700 3/04 700 Runoff from herbicide use 

43. Heptachlor N N/D nanograms/1 0 3/09 400 Residue of banned termiticide 

44. Heptachlor epoxide N N/D nanograms/1 0 3/09 200 Breakdown of heptachlor 

45. Hexachlorobenzene N N/D ppb 0 3/04 1 Discharge from metal refineries 
and agricultural chemical factories 

46. Hexachlorocyclo-     
pentadiene 

N N/D ppb 50 3/04 50 Discharge from chemical factories 

47. Lindane N N/D nanograms/l 200 3/09 200 Runoff/leaching from insecticide 
used on cattle, lumber, gardens 

48. Methoxychlor N N/D ppb 40 3/09 40 Runoff/leaching from insecticide 
used on fruits, vegetables, alfalfa, 
livestock 

49. Oxamyl [Vydate] N N/D ppb 200 3/04 200 Runoff/leaching from insecticide 
used on apples, potatoes and 
tomatoes 

50. PCBs [Polychlorinated   
biphenyls] 

N N/D nanograms/1 0 3/09 500 Runoff from landfills; discharge of 
waste chemicals 

51. Pentachlorophenol N N/D ppb 0 3/04 1 Discharge from wood preserving 
factories 

52. Picloram N N/D ppb 500 3/04 500 Herbicide runoff 

53. Simazine N N/D ppb 4 3/04 4 Herbicide runoff 

54. Toxaphene N N/D ppb 0 3/09 3 Runoff/leaching from insecticide 
used on cotton and cattle 



Page 6 

 

TEST RESULTS 

Contaminant Violation 
Y/N 

Level  
Detected 

Unit 
Measurement 

MCLG Date 
Tested 

MCL Likely Source of Contamination 

Volatile Organic Contaminants.  26 VOC’s  were analyzed in 2010.  All were non-
detectable except total trihalomethanes.  Total trihalomethanes were measured in 2010.  
The reading was 57.9 ppb.  The maximum contaminant level is 80 ppb as a rolling 
average.  Total Halocetic Acids in 2010 were .062 mg/l.  The mcl for HAA is .060. 
 
55. Benzene N N/D ppb 0 3/09 5 Discharge from factories; leaching from 

gas storage tanks and landfills 
56. Carbon tetrachloride N N/D ppb 0 3/09 5 Discharge from chemical plants and 

other industrial activities 
57. Chlorobenzene N N/D ppb 100 06/97 100 Discharge from chemical and 

agricultural chemical factories 
58. o-Dichlorobenzene N N/D ppb 600 3/09 600 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
59. p-Dichlorobenzene N N/D ppb 75 3/09 75 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
60. 1,2 - Dichloroethane N N/D ppb 0 3/09 5 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
61. 1,1 - Dichloroethylene N N/D ppb 7 3/09 7 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
62. cis-1,2-ichloroethylene N N/D ppb 70 06/97 70 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
63.  trans - 1,2 -

Dichloroethylene 
N N/D ppb 100 06/97 100 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
64. Dichloromethane N N/D ppb 0 3/09 5 Discharge from pharmaceutical and 

chemical factories 
65. 1,2-Dichloropropane N N/D ppb 0 3/09 5 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
66. Ethylbenzene N N/D ppb 700 3/09 700 Discharge from petroleum refineries 

67. Styrene N N/D ppb 100 3/09 100 Discharge from rubber and plastic 
factories; leaching from landfills 

68. Tetrachloroethylene N N/D ppb 0 3/09 5 Leaching from PVC pipes; discharge 
from factories and dry cleaners 

69. 1,2,4 -
Trichlorobenzene 

N N/D ppb 70 3/09 70 Discharge from textile-finishing 
factories 

70. 1,1,1 - Trichloroethane N N/D ppb 200 02/01 200 Discharge from metal degreasing sites 
and other factories 

71. 1,1,2 -Trichloroethane N N/D ppb 3 3/09 5 Discharge from industrial chemical 
factories 

72. Trichloroethylene N N/D ppb 0 3/09 5 Discharge from metal degreasing sites 
and other factories 

73. TTHM                                       
[Total trihalomethanes] 

N 64.0 ppb 80 

 
3/09 80 

 
By-product of drinking water 
chlorination 

74. Toluene N N/D ppm 1 3/09 1 Discharge from petroleum factories 

75. Vinyl Chloride N N/D ppb 0 3/09 2 Leaching from PVC piping; discharge 
from plastics factories 

76. Xylenes N N/D ppm 10 3/09 10 Discharge from petroleum factories; 
discharge from chemical factories 

 
Initial Distribution System Evaluation (IDSE):  IDSE is an important part of the Stage 2 Disinfection By-Products Rule 
(DBPR).  The IDSE is a one-time study conducted by some water systems, providing disinfection or chlorination, to identify 
distribution system locations with concentrations of trihalomethanes (THMs) and haloacetic acids (HAAs).  Water systems 
will use results from the IDSE, in conjunction with their Stage 1 DBPR compliance monitoring data, to select monitoring 
locations for Stage 2 DBPR.  Not all water systems were required to perform an IDSE. 
 



Page 7 

Lead Informational Statement (Health effects and ways to reduce exposure) 
 

If present, elevated levels of lead can cause serious health problems, especially for pregnant women and young children.  
Lead in drinking water is primarily from materials and components associated with service lines and home plumbing.  The 
utility named above is responsible for providing high quality drinking water, but cannot control the variety of materials used 
in plumbing components.  

When your water has been sitting for several hours, you can minimize the potential for lead exposure by flushing your tap for 
30 seconds to 2 minutes before using water for drinking or cooking.  If you are concerned about lead in your drinking water, 
you may wish to have your water tested.  Information on lead in drinking water, testing methods, and steps you can take to 
minimize exposure is available form the Safe Drinking Water Hotline or at http://www.epa.gov/safewater/lead.                

 
 
Microbiological Contaminants: 
 (3) Turbidity - Turbidity has no health effects. However, turbidity can interfere 7with disinfection and provide a medium for 
microbial growth. Turbidity may indicate the presence of disease-causing organisms. These organisms include bacteria, viruses, and 
parasites that can cause symptoms such as nausea, cramps, diarrhea, and associated headaches. 



Page 8 

Inorganic Contaminants: 
(7) Antimony  - Some people who drink water containing antimony well in excess of the MCL over many years could experience 
increases in blood cholesterol and decreases in blood sugar. 
 (9) Asbestos - Some people who drink water containing asbestos in excess of the MCL over many years may have an increased risk 
of developing benign intestinal polyps.  
(10) Barium - Some people who drink water containing barium in excess of the MCL over many years could experience an increase in 
their blood pressure. 
(11) Beryllium - Some people who drink water containing beryllium well in excess of the MCL over many years could develop 
intestinal lesions. 
(12) Cadmium - Some people who drink water containing cadmium in excess of the MCL over many years could experience kidney 
damage. 
(13) Chromium - Some people who use water containing chromium well in excess of the MCL over many years could experience 
allergic dermatitis. 
(14) Copper - Copper is an essential nutrient, but some people who drink water containing copper in excess of the action level over a 
relatively short amount of time could experience gastrointestinal distress. Some people who drink water containing copper in excess of 
the action level over many years could suffer liver or kidney damage. People with Wilson's Disease should consult their personal 
doctor. 
(16) Fluoride - Some people who drink water containing fluoride in excess of the MCL over many years could get bone disease, 
including pain and tenderness of the bones. Children may get mottled teeth. 
(17) Lead - Infants and children who drink water containing lead in excess of the action level could experience delays in their physical 
or mental development. Children could show slight deficits in attention span and learning abilities. Adults who drink this water over 
many years could develop kidney problems or high blood pressure. 
(18) Mercury (inorganic) - Some people who drink water containing inorganic mercury well in excess of the MCL over many years 
could experience kidney damage.  
(20) Nitrite - Infants below the age of six months who drink water containing nitrite in excess of the MCL could become seriously ill 
and, if untreated, may die. Symptoms include shortness of breath and blue-baby syndrome.  
(21) Selenium - Selenium is an essential nutrient. However, some people who drink water containing selenium in excess of the MCL 
over many years could experience hair or fingernail losses, numbness in fingers or toes, or problems with their circulation.  
 
Volatile Organic Contaminants: 
(73) TTHMs [Total Trihalomethanes] - Some people who drink water containing trihalomethanes in excess of the MCL over many 
years may experience problems with their liver, kidneys, or central nervous systems, and may have an increased risk of getting cancer.  
 
Inadequately treated water may contain disease-causing organisms.  These organisms include bacteria, viruses, 
and parasites, which can cause symptoms such as nausea, cramps, diarrhea, and associated headaches. 
 
 
We are proud that your drinking water meets or exceeds all Federal and State requirements. We have learned 
through our monitoring and testing that some constituents have been detected. The EPA has determined that 
your water IS SAFE at these levels.  
 
All drinking water, including bottled water, may reasonably be expected to contain at least small amounts of 
some contaminants.  The presence of contaminants does not necessarily indicate that the water poses a health 
risk.  More information about contaminants and potential health effects can be obtained by calling the 
Environmental Protection Agency’s Safe Drinking Water Hotline at 1-800-426-4791. 
 
MCL’s are set at very stringent levels. To understand the possible health effects described for many regulated 
constituents, a person would have to drink 2 liters of water every day at the MCL level for a lifetime to have a 
one-in-a-million chance of having the described health effect. 
 
In our continuing efforts to maintain a safe and dependable water supply, it may be necessary to make 
improvements in your water system. The costs of these improvements may be reflected in the rate structure. 
Rate adjustments may be necessary in order to address these improvements. 



Page 9 

 
Thank you for allowing us to continue providing your family with clean, quality water this year. In order to 
maintain a safe and dependable water supply we sometimes need to make improvements that will benefit all of 
our customers. These improvements are sometimes reflected as rate structure adjustments. Thank you for 
understanding. 
 
Some people may be more vulnerable to contaminants in drinking water than the general population.  Immuno-
compromised persons such as persons with cancer undergoing chemotherapy, persons who have undergone 
organ transplants, people with HIV/AIDS or other immune system disorders, some elderly, and infants can be 
particularly at risk from infections. These people should seek advice about drinking water from their health care 
providers. EPA/CDC guidelines on appropriate means to lessen the risk of infection by cryptosporidium and 
other microbiological contaminants are available from the Safe Drinking Water Hotline (800-426-4791).   
 
Please call our office if you have questions.   634-1853 
 
John Lewinski, McCall Water and Sewer 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 1 

 

Annual Drinking Water Quality Report 
 

City Of McCall Water Treatment Facility 
July, 2012 

 
 
We are pleased to present to you this year's Annual Quality Water Report. This report is designed to inform you 
about the quality water and services we deliver to you every day. Our constant goal is to provide you with a safe 
and dependable supply of drinking water. We want you to understand the efforts we make to continually 
improve the water treatment process and protect our water resources. We are committed to ensuring the quality 
of your water. Our water source is Payette Lake. There are two intake pump stations, Davis Beach and Legacy 
Park.  Water is pumped to the Water Treatment plant in Spring Mountain Ranch.  The City of McCall had no 
water quality violations in 2012. 
 
If you have any questions about this report or concerning your water utility, please contact John Lewinski at 
634-1853.  We want our valued customers to be informed about their water utility.  If you want to learn more, 
please attend any of our regularly scheduled meetings. They are held every other Thursday at City Hall.  

 
The City Of McCall Water Treatment Facility routinely monitors for constituents in your drinking water 
according to Federal and State laws.  This table shows the results of our monitoring for the period of January 1, 
2011 to December 31, 2011.  We are required to monitor other parameters periodically and they are listed as 
well and the dates of when they were last tested. All drinking water, including bottled drinking water, may be 
reasonably expected to contain at least small amounts of some constituents.  It is important to remember that the 
presence of these constituents does not necessarily pose a health risk.  
 
In this table, you will find many terms and abbreviations you may not be familiar with. To help you better 
understand these terms we have provided the following definitions: 
 
N/A - Not applicable  
 
Non-Detects (ND) - Laboratory analysis indicates that the constituent is not present. 
 
Parts per million (ppm) or Milligrams per liter (mg/l)  
 
Parts per billion (ppb) or Micrograms per liter (ug/L) 
 
Parts per trillion (ppt) or Nanograms per liter (nanograms/l)  
 
Parts per quadrillion (ppq) or Picograms per liter (picograms/l) 
 
Picocuries per liter (pCi/L) - Picocuries per liter is a measure of the radioactivity in water. 
 
Millirems per year (mrem/yr) - Measure of radiation absorbed by the body. 
 
Million Fibers per Liter (MFL) - Million fibers per liter is a measure of the presence of asbestos fibers that are 
longer than 10 micrometers.  
Nephelometric Turbidity Unit (NTU) - Nephelometric turbidity unit is a measure of the clarity of water. 



Page 2 

Turbidity in excess of 5 NTU is just noticeable to the average person. 
 
Action Level - The concentration of a contaminant, which, if exceeded, triggers treatment, or other 
requirements, which a water system must follow. 
 
Treatment Technique (TT) - A treatment technique is a required process intended to reduce the level of a 
contaminant in drinking water. 
 
Maximum Contaminant Level - The “Maximum Allowed” (MCL) is the highest level of a contaminant that is 
allowed in drinking water.  MCLs are set as close to the MCLGs as feasible using the best available treatment 
technology. 
 
Maximum Contaminant Level Goal - The “Goal”(MCLG) is the level of a contaminant in drinking water below 
which there is no known or expected risk to health.  MCLGs allow for a margin of safety. 

TEST RESULTS 

Contaminant Violation 
Y/N 

Level  
Detected 

Unit 
Measurement 

MCLG Date 
Tested 

MCL Likely Source of Contamination 

Microbiological Contaminants 
1. Total Coliform Bacteria                                    N  ND   

    
0 Monthly Presence of 

coliform 
bacteria in 5% 
of monthly 
samples 

Naturally present in the 
environment 

2. Fecal coliform and             
E.coli 

 
 
N/A 

  0  A routine 
sample and 
repeat sample 
are total 
coliform 
positive, and 
one is also 
fecal coliform 
or E. coli 
positive 

Human and animal fecal waste 

 3. Turbidity   
N 
 

 
.45 

NTU 1.0 

 
Continuous 

monitoring at 
the Water 
Treatment 

Plant  

1.0 

 
Soil runoff 

Radioactive Contaminants 
4. A    Gross Alpha N <1.0 pCi/l  2/03 15 Erosion of natural 

deposits 
    B    Gross Beta N 3.1 pCi/l  2/03 50 Erosion of Natural 

Deposits 
    C  Radium 226 N <.2 pCi/l  2/03 3 Erosion of Natural 

Deposits 
    D  Radium 228 N <1.0 pCi/l  2/03  Erosion of Natural 

Deposits 
    Total Measured Radium N <.2 pCi/l  2/03 5 Erosion of Natural 

Deposits 
 5. Alpha emitters     N 0.0 pCi/1 0  15 Erosion of natural deposits 

Inorganic Contaminants.  Sodium was also analyzed in 2011.  The result was 8.38 mg/l. 



Page 3 

 7. Antimony N    ND ppb 6 7/10 6 Discharge from petroleum 
refineries; fire retardants; ceramics; 
electronics; solder 

 8. Arsenic N <.001 ppb .01 3/11 50 Erosion of natural deposits; runoff 
from orchards; runoff from glass 
and electronics production wastes 

 9. Asbestos 
 

N <.083 MFL 7 11/04 7 Decay of asbestos cement water 
mains; erosion of natural deposits 

10. Barium N ND ppm 2 7/10 2 Discharge of drilling wastes; 
discharge from metal refineries; 
erosion of natural deposits 



Page 4 

 

TEST RESULTS 

Contaminant Violation 
Y/N 

Level  
Detected 

Unit 
Measurement 

MCLG Date 
Tested 

MCL Likely Source of Contamination 

 
11. Beryllium N ND ppb 4 7/10 4 Discharge from metal refineries 

and coal-burning factories; 
discharge from electrical, 
aerospace, and defense industries 

12. Cadmium N ND ppb 5 7/10 5 Corrosion of galvanized pipes; 
erosion of natural deposits; 
discharge from metal refineries; 
runoff from waste batteries and 
paints 

13. Chromium N 2 ppb 100 7/10 100 Discharge from steel and pulp 
mills; erosion of natural deposits 

14. Copper N 0.531 ppm 1..3 7/11 AL=1..3 Corrosion of household plumbing 
systems; erosion of natural 
deposits; leaching from wood 
preservatives 

15. Cyanide N N\D ppb 200 3/04 200 Discharge from steel/metal 
factories; discharge from plastic 
and fertilizer factories 

16. Fluoride N ND ppm 4 7/10 4 Erosion of natural deposits; water 
additive which promotes strong 
teeth; discharge from fertilizer and 
aluminum factories 

17. Lead N 13 
 

ppb 0 7/11 AL=15 Corrosion of household plumbing 
systems, erosion of natural deposits 

18. Mercury (inorganic) N ND ppb 2 7/10 2 Erosion of natural deposits; 
discharge from refineries and 
factories; runoff from landfills; 
runoff from cropland 

19. Nitrate (as Nitrogen) N   <.30 ppm 10 3/11 10 Runoff from fertilizer use; leaching 
from septic tanks, sewage; erosion 
of natural deposits 

20. Nitrite (as Nitrogen) N ND ppm 1 3/04 1 Runoff from fertilizer use; leaching 
from septic tanks, sewage; erosion 
of natural deposits 

21.   Selenium N ND ppb 50 7/10 50 Discharge from petroleum and 
metal refineries; erosion of natural 
deposits; discharge from mines 

22. Thallium N ND ppb 0.5 7/10 2 Leaching from ore-processing 
sites; discharge from electronics, 
glass, and drug factories 

Synthetic Organic Contaminants including Pesticides and Herbicides.   42 SOCs were 
analyzed in 2001.  Several SOCs were analyzed in 2008.  All were non-detectable.  A 
complete list is available upon request. 
23. 2,4-D N N/D ppb 70 3/04 70 Runoff from herbicide used on row 

crops 
24. 2,4,5-TP (Silvex)  N N/D ppb 50 3/04 50 Residue of banned herbicide 

25. Acrylamide                        N N/D  0 02/98 TT Added to water during 
sewage/wastewater treatment 

26. Alachlor N N/D ppb 0 3/04 2 Runoff from herbicide used on row 
crops 

27. Atrazine N N/D ppb 3 3/04 3 Runoff from herbicide used on row 
crops 

28. Benzo(a)pyrene (PAH) N N/D nanograms/l 0 3/04 200 Leaching from linings of water 
storage tanks and distribution lines 



Page 5 

29. Carbofuran N N/D ppb 40 3/04 40 Leaching of soil fumigant used on 
rice and alfalfa 

30. Chlordane N N/D ppb 0 3/09 2 Residue of banned termiticide 

 

TEST RESULTS 

Contaminant Violation 
Y/N 

Level  
Detected 

Unit 
Measurement 

MCLG Date 
Tested 

MCL Likely Source of Contamination 

 
31. Dalapon N N/D ppb 200 3/04 200 Runoff from herbicide used on 

rights of way 
32. Di(2-ethylhexyl)           

adipate 
N N/D ppb 400 3/04 400 Discharge from chemical factories 

33. Di(2-ethylhexyl)          
phthalate 

N N/D ppb 0 3/04 6 Discharge from rubber and 
chemical factories 

34. Dibromochloropropane N N/D nanograms/1 0 02/98 200 Runoff/leaching from soil fumigant 
used on soybeans, cotton, 
pineapples, and orchards 

35. Dinoseb N N/D ppb 7 3/04 7 Runoff from herbicide used on 
soybeans and vegetables 

36. Diquat N N/D ppb 20 3/04 20 Runoff from herbicide use 

37. Dioxin 
       [2,3,7,8-TCDD] 

N N/D picograms/l   0 2/98 30 Emissions from waste incineration 
and other combustion; discharge 
from chemical factories 

38. Endothall N N/D ppb 100 3/04 100 Runoff from herbicide use 

39. Endrin N N/D ppb 2 3/09 2 Residue of banned insecticide 

40. Epichlorohydrin N N/D  0 02/98 TT Discharge from industrial chemical 
factories; an impurity of some 
water treatment chemicals 

41. Ethylene dibromide  N N/D nanograms/1 0 02/98    50 Discharge from petroleum 
refineries 

42. Glyphosate N N/D ppb 700 3/04 700 Runoff from herbicide use 

43. Heptachlor N N/D nanograms/1 0 3/09 400 Residue of banned termiticide 

44. Heptachlor epoxide N N/D nanograms/1 0 3/09 200 Breakdown of heptachlor 

45. Hexachlorobenzene N N/D ppb 0 3/04 1 Discharge from metal refineries 
and agricultural chemical factories 

46. Hexachlorocyclo-     
pentadiene 

N N/D ppb 50 3/04 50 Discharge from chemical factories 

47. Lindane N N/D nanograms/l 200 3/09 200 Runoff/leaching from insecticide 
used on cattle, lumber, gardens 

48. Methoxychlor N N/D ppb 40 3/09 40 Runoff/leaching from insecticide 
used on fruits, vegetables, alfalfa, 
livestock 

49. Oxamyl [Vydate] N N/D ppb 200 3/04 200 Runoff/leaching from insecticide 
used on apples, potatoes and 
tomatoes 

50. PCBs [Polychlorinated   
biphenyls] 

N N/D nanograms/1 0 3/09 500 Runoff from landfills; discharge of 
waste chemicals 

51. Pentachlorophenol N N/D ppb 0 3/04 1 Discharge from wood preserving 
factories 

52. Picloram N N/D ppb 500 3/04 500 Herbicide runoff 

53. Simazine N N/D ppb 4 3/04 4 Herbicide runoff 

54. Toxaphene N N/D ppb 0 3/09 3 Runoff/leaching from insecticide 
used on cotton and cattle 



Page 6 

 

TEST RESULTS 

Contaminant Violation 
Y/N 

Level  
Detected 

Unit 
Measurement 

MCLG Date 
Tested 

MCL Likely Source of Contamination 

Volatile Organic Contaminants.  26 VOC’s  were analyzed in 2011.  All were non-
detectable except total trihalomethanes.  Total trihalomethanes were measured in 2011.  
The reading was 57.4 ppb.  The maximum contaminant level is 80 ppb as a rolling 
average.  Total Halocetic Acids in 2011 were .044 mg/l.  The mcl for HAA is .060. 
 
55. Benzene N N/D ppb 0 12/11 5 Discharge from factories; leaching from 

gas storage tanks and landfills 
56. Carbon tetrachloride N N/D ppb 0 12/11 5 Discharge from chemical plants and 

other industrial activities 
57. Chlorobenzene N N/D ppb 100 06/97 100 Discharge from chemical and 

agricultural chemical factories 
58. o-Dichlorobenzene N N/D ppb 600 12/11 600 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
59. p-Dichlorobenzene N N/D ppb 75 12/11 75 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
60. 1,2 - Dichloroethane N N/D ppb 0 12/11 5 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
61. 1,1 - Dichloroethylene N N/D ppb 7 12/11 7 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
62. cis-1,2-ichloroethylene N N/D ppb 70 06/97 70 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
63.  trans - 1,2 -

Dichloroethylene 
N N/D ppb 100 06/97 100 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
64. Dichloromethane N N/D ppb 0 12/11 5 Discharge from pharmaceutical and 

chemical factories 
65. 1,2-Dichloropropane N N/D ppb 0 12/11 5 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
66. Ethylbenzene N N/D ppb 700 12/11 700 Discharge from petroleum refineries 

67. Styrene N N/D ppb 100 12/11 100 Discharge from rubber and plastic 
factories; leaching from landfills 

68. Tetrachloroethylene N N/D ppb 0 12/11 5 Leaching from PVC pipes; discharge 
from factories and dry cleaners 

69. 1,2,4 -
Trichlorobenzene 

N N/D ppb 70 12/11 70 Discharge from textile-finishing 
factories 

70. 1,1,1 - Trichloroethane N N/D ppb 200 12/11 200 Discharge from metal degreasing sites 
and other factories 

71. 1,1,2 -Trichloroethane N N/D ppb 3 12/11 5 Discharge from industrial chemical 
factories 

72. Trichloroethylene N N/D ppb 0 3/09 5 Discharge from metal degreasing sites 
and other factories 

73. TTHM                                       
[Total trihalomethanes] 

N 57.4 ppb 80 

 
8/11 80 

 
By-product of drinking water 
chlorination 

74. Toluene N N/D ppm 1 12/11 1 Discharge from petroleum factories 

75. Vinyl Chloride N N/D ppb 0 12/11 2 Leaching from PVC piping; discharge 
from plastics factories 

76. Xylenes N N/D ppm 10 12/11 10 Discharge from petroleum factories; 
discharge from chemical factories 

 
Initial Distribution System Evaluation (IDSE):  IDSE is an important part of the Stage 2 Disinfection By-Products Rule 
(DBPR).  The IDSE is a one-time study conducted by some water systems, providing disinfection or chlorination, to identify 
distribution system locations with concentrations of trihalomethanes (THMs) and haloacetic acids (HAAs).  Water systems 
will use results from the IDSE, in conjunction with their Stage 1 DBPR compliance monitoring data, to select monitoring 
locations for Stage 2 DBPR.  Not all water systems were required to perform an IDSE. 
 



Page 7 

Lead Informational Statement (Health effects and ways to reduce exposure) 
 

If present, elevated levels of lead can cause serious health problems, especially for pregnant women and young children.  
Lead in drinking water is primarily from materials and components associated with service lines and home plumbing.  The 
utility named above is responsible for providing high quality drinking water, but cannot control the variety of materials used 
in plumbing components.  

When your water has been sitting for several hours, you can minimize the potential for lead exposure by flushing your tap for 
30 seconds to 2 minutes before using water for drinking or cooking.  If you are concerned about lead in your drinking water, 
you may wish to have your water tested.  Information on lead in drinking water, testing methods, and steps you can take to 
minimize exposure is available form the Safe Drinking Water Hotline or at http://www.epa.gov/safewater/lead.                

 
 
Microbiological Contaminants: 
 (3) Turbidity - Turbidity has no health effects. However, turbidity can interfere 7with disinfection and provide a medium for 
microbial growth. Turbidity may indicate the presence of disease-causing organisms. These organisms include bacteria, viruses, and 
parasites that can cause symptoms such as nausea, cramps, diarrhea, and associated headaches. 



Page 8 

Inorganic Contaminants: 
(7) Antimony  - Some people who drink water containing antimony well in excess of the MCL over many years could experience 
increases in blood cholesterol and decreases in blood sugar. 
 (9) Asbestos - Some people who drink water containing asbestos in excess of the MCL over many years may have an increased risk 
of developing benign intestinal polyps.  
(10) Barium - Some people who drink water containing barium in excess of the MCL over many years could experience an increase in 
their blood pressure. 
(11) Beryllium - Some people who drink water containing beryllium well in excess of the MCL over many years could develop 
intestinal lesions. 
(12) Cadmium - Some people who drink water containing cadmium in excess of the MCL over many years could experience kidney 
damage. 
(13) Chromium - Some people who use water containing chromium well in excess of the MCL over many years could experience 
allergic dermatitis. 
(14) Copper - Copper is an essential nutrient, but some people who drink water containing copper in excess of the action level over a 
relatively short amount of time could experience gastrointestinal distress. Some people who drink water containing copper in excess of 
the action level over many years could suffer liver or kidney damage. People with Wilson's Disease should consult their personal 
doctor. 
(16) Fluoride - Some people who drink water containing fluoride in excess of the MCL over many years could get bone disease, 
including pain and tenderness of the bones. Children may get mottled teeth. 
(17) Lead - Infants and children who drink water containing lead in excess of the action level could experience delays in their physical 
or mental development. Children could show slight deficits in attention span and learning abilities. Adults who drink this water over 
many years could develop kidney problems or high blood pressure. 
(18) Mercury (inorganic) - Some people who drink water containing inorganic mercury well in excess of the MCL over many years 
could experience kidney damage.  
(20) Nitrite - Infants below the age of six months who drink water containing nitrite in excess of the MCL could become seriously ill 
and, if untreated, may die. Symptoms include shortness of breath and blue-baby syndrome.  
(21) Selenium - Selenium is an essential nutrient. However, some people who drink water containing selenium in excess of the MCL 
over many years could experience hair or fingernail losses, numbness in fingers or toes, or problems with their circulation.  
 
Volatile Organic Contaminants: 
(73) TTHMs [Total Trihalomethanes] - Some people who drink water containing trihalomethanes in excess of the MCL over many 
years may experience problems with their liver, kidneys, or central nervous systems, and may have an increased risk of getting cancer.  
 
Inadequately treated water may contain disease-causing organisms.  These organisms include bacteria, viruses, 
and parasites, which can cause symptoms such as nausea, cramps, diarrhea, and associated headaches. 
 
 
We are proud that your drinking water meets or exceeds all Federal and State requirements. We have learned 
through our monitoring and testing that some constituents have been detected. The EPA has determined that 
your water IS SAFE at these levels.  
 
All drinking water, including bottled water, may reasonably be expected to contain at least small amounts of 
some contaminants.  The presence of contaminants does not necessarily indicate that the water poses a health 
risk.  More information about contaminants and potential health effects can be obtained by calling the 
Environmental Protection Agency’s Safe Drinking Water Hotline at 1-800-426-4791. 
 
MCL’s are set at very stringent levels. To understand the possible health effects described for many regulated 
constituents, a person would have to drink 2 liters of water every day at the MCL level for a lifetime to have a 
one-in-a-million chance of having the described health effect. 
 
In our continuing efforts to maintain a safe and dependable water supply, it may be necessary to make 
improvements in your water system. The costs of these improvements may be reflected in the rate structure. 
Rate adjustments may be necessary in order to address these improvements. 



Page 9 

 
Thank you for allowing us to continue providing your family with clean, quality water this year. In order to 
maintain a safe and dependable water supply we sometimes need to make improvements that will benefit all of 
our customers. These improvements are sometimes reflected as rate structure adjustments. Thank you for 
understanding. 
 
Some people may be more vulnerable to contaminants in drinking water than the general population.  Immuno-
compromised persons such as persons with cancer undergoing chemotherapy, persons who have undergone 
organ transplants, people with HIV/AIDS or other immune system disorders, some elderly, and infants can be 
particularly at risk from infections. These people should seek advice about drinking water from their health care 
providers. EPA/CDC guidelines on appropriate means to lessen the risk of infection by cryptosporidium and 
other microbiological contaminants are available from the Safe Drinking Water Hotline (800-426-4791).   
 
Please call our office if you have questions.   634-1853 
 
John Lewinski, McCall Water and Sewer 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 1 

          

Annual Drinking Water Quality Report 
 

City Of McCall Water Treatment Facility 
July, 2013 

 
 
We are pleased to present to you this year's Annual Quality Water Report. This report is designed to inform you 
about the quality water and services we deliver to you every day. Our constant goal is to provide you with a safe 
and dependable supply of drinking water. We want you to understand the efforts we make to continually 
improve the water treatment process and protect our water resources. We are committed to ensuring the quality 
of your water. Our water source is Payette Lake. There are two intake pump stations, Davis Beach and Legacy 
Park.  Water is pumped to the Water Treatment plant in Spring Mountain Ranch.  The City of McCall had no 
water quality violations in 2013. 
 
If you have any questions about this report or concerning your water utility, please contact John Lewinski at 
634-1853.  We want our valued customers to be informed about their water utility.  If you want to learn more, 
please attend any of our regularly scheduled meetings. They are held every other Thursday at City Hall.  

 
The City Of McCall Water Treatment Facility routinely monitors for constituents in your drinking water 
according to Federal and State laws.  This table shows the results of our monitoring for the period of January 1, 
2012 to December 31, 2012.  We are required to monitor other parameters periodically and they are listed as 
well and the dates of when they were last tested. All drinking water, including bottled drinking water, may be 
reasonably expected to contain at least small amounts of some constituents.  It is important to remember that the 
presence of these constituents does not necessarily pose a health risk.  
 
In this table, you will find many terms and abbreviations you may not be familiar with. To help you better 
understand these terms we have provided the following definitions: 
 
N/A - Not applicable  
 
Non-Detects (ND) - Laboratory analysis indicates that the constituent is not present. 
 
Parts per million (ppm) or Milligrams per liter (mg/l)  
 
Parts per billion (ppb) or Micrograms per liter (ug/L) 
 
Parts per trillion (ppt) or Nanograms per liter (nanograms/l)  
 
Parts per quadrillion (ppq) or Picograms per liter (picograms/l) 
 
Picocuries per liter (pCi/L) - Picocuries per liter is a measure of the radioactivity in water. 
 
Millirems per year (mrem/yr) - Measure of radiation absorbed by the body. 
 
Million Fibers per Liter (MFL) - Million fibers per liter is a measure of the presence of asbestos fibers that are 
longer than 10 micrometers.  
Nephelometric Turbidity Unit (NTU) - Nephelometric turbidity unit is a measure of the clarity of water. 



Page 2 

Turbidity in excess of 5 NTU is just noticeable to the average person. 
 
Action Level - The concentration of a contaminant, which, if exceeded, triggers treatment, or other 
requirements, which a water system must follow. 
 
Treatment Technique (TT) - A treatment technique is a required process intended to reduce the level of a 
contaminant in drinking water. 
 
Maximum Contaminant Level - The “Maximum Allowed” (MCL) is the highest level of a contaminant that is 
allowed in drinking water.  MCLs are set as close to the MCLGs as feasible using the best available treatment 
technology. 
 
Maximum Contaminant Level Goal - The “Goal”(MCLG) is the level of a contaminant in drinking water below 
which there is no known or expected risk to health.  MCLGs allow for a margin of safety. 

TEST RESULTS 

Contaminant Violation 
Y/N 

Level  
Detected 

Unit 
Measurement 

MCLG Date 
Tested 

MCL Likely Source of Contamination 

Microbiological Contaminants 
1. Total Coliform Bacteria                                    N  ND   

    
0 Monthly Presence of 

coliform 
bacteria in 5% 
of monthly 
samples 

Naturally present in the 
environment 

2. Fecal coliform and             
E.coli 

 
 
N/A 

  0  A routine 
sample and 
repeat sample 
are total 
coliform 
positive, and 
one is also 
fecal coliform 
or E. coli 
positive 

Human and animal fecal waste 

 3. Turbidity   
N 
 

 
.16 

NTU 1.0 

 
Continuous 

monitoring at 
the Water 
Treatment 

Plant  

1.0 

 
Soil runoff 

Radioactive Contaminants 
4. A    Gross Alpha N <1.0 pCi/l  2/03 15 Erosion of natural 

deposits 
    B    Gross Beta N 3.1 pCi/l  2/03 50 Erosion of Natural 

Deposits 
    C  Radium 226 N <.2 pCi/l  2/03 3 Erosion of Natural 

Deposits 
    D  Radium 228 N <1.0 pCi/l  2/03  Erosion of Natural 

Deposits 
    Total Measured Radium N <.2 pCi/l  2/03 5 Erosion of Natural 

Deposits 
 5. Alpha emitters     N 0.0 pCi/1 0  15 Erosion of natural deposits 

Inorganic Contaminants.  Sodium was also analyzed in 2012.  The result was 7.30 mg/l. 



Page 3 

 7. Antimony N    ND ppb 6 7/10 6 Discharge from petroleum 
refineries; fire retardants; ceramics; 
electronics; solder 

 8. Arsenic N <.001 ppb .01 2/12 50 Erosion of natural deposits; runoff 
from orchards; runoff from glass 
and electronics production wastes 

 9. Asbestos 
 

N <.083 MFL 7 11/04 7 Decay of asbestos cement water 
mains; erosion of natural deposits 

10. Barium N ND ppm 2 7/10 2 Discharge of drilling wastes; 
discharge from metal refineries; 
erosion of natural deposits 

 

TEST RESULTS 

Contaminant Violation 
Y/N 

Level  
Detected 

Unit 
Measurement 

MCLG Date 
Tested 

MCL Likely Source of Contamination 

 
11. Beryllium N ND ppb 4 7/10 4 Discharge from metal refineries 

and coal-burning factories; 
discharge from electrical, 
aerospace, and defense industries 

12. Cadmium N ND ppb 5 7/10 5 Corrosion of galvanized pipes; 
erosion of natural deposits; 
discharge from metal refineries; 
runoff from waste batteries and 
paints 

13. Chromium N 2 ppb 100 7/10 100 Discharge from steel and pulp 
mills; erosion of natural deposits 

14. Copper N 0.531 ppm 1..3 7/11 AL=1..3 Corrosion of household plumbing 
systems; erosion of natural 
deposits; leaching from wood 
preservatives 

15. Cyanide N N\D ppb 200 3/04 200 Discharge from steel/metal 
factories; discharge from plastic 
and fertilizer factories 

16. Fluoride N ND ppm 4 7/10 4 Erosion of natural deposits; water 
additive which promotes strong 
teeth; discharge from fertilizer and 
aluminum factories 

17. Lead N 13 
 

ppb 0 7/11 AL=15 Corrosion of household plumbing 
systems, erosion of natural deposits 

18. Mercury (inorganic) N ND ppb 2 7/10 2 Erosion of natural deposits; 
discharge from refineries and 
factories; runoff from landfills; 
runoff from cropland 

19. Nitrate (as Nitrogen) N   ND ppm 10 2/12 10 Runoff from fertilizer use; leaching 
from septic tanks, sewage; erosion 
of natural deposits 

20. Nitrite (as Nitrogen) N ND ppm 1 3/10 1 Runoff from fertilizer use; leaching 
from septic tanks, sewage; erosion 
of natural deposits 

21.   Selenium N ND ppb 50 7/10 50 Discharge from petroleum and 
metal refineries; erosion of natural 
deposits; discharge from mines 

22. Thallium N ND ppb 0.5 7/10 2 Leaching from ore-processing 
sites; discharge from electronics, 
glass, and drug factories 

Synthetic Organic Contaminants including Pesticides and Herbicides.   42 SOCs were analyzed in 2001.  
Several SOCs were analyzed in 2009 and 2012.  All were non-detectable.  A complete list is available upon 
request. 
23. 2,4-D N N/D ppb 70 3/04 70 Runoff from herbicide used on row 

crops 



Page 4 

24. 2,4,5-TP (Silvex)  N N/D ppb 50 3/04 50 Residue of banned herbicide 

25. Acrylamide                        N N/D  0 02/98 TT Added to water during 
sewage/wastewater treatment 

26. Alachlor N N/D ppb 0 3/12 2 Runoff from herbicide used on row 
crops 

27. Atrazine N N/D ppb 3 3/12 3 Runoff from herbicide used on row 
crops 

28. Benzo(a)pyrene (PAH) N N/D nanograms/l 0 3/12 200 Leaching from linings of water 
storage tanks and distribution lines 

29. Carbofuran N N/D ppb 40 3/04 40 Leaching of soil fumigant used on 
rice and alfalfa 

30. Chlordane N N/D ppb 0 3/12 2 Residue of banned termiticide 

 

TEST RESULTS 

Contaminant Violation 
Y/N 

Level  
Detected 

Unit 
Measurement 

MCLG Date 
Tested 

MCL Likely Source of Contamination 

 
31. Dalapon N N/D ppb 200 3/04 200 Runoff from herbicide used on 

rights of way 
32. Di(2-ethylhexyl)           

adipate 
N N/D ppb 400 3/04 400 Discharge from chemical factories 

33. Di(2-ethylhexyl)          
phthalate 

N N/D ppb 0 3/12 6 Discharge from rubber and 
chemical factories 

34. Dibromochloropropane N N/D nanograms/1 0 02/98 200 Runoff/leaching from soil fumigant 
used on soybeans, cotton, 
pineapples, and orchards 

35. Dinoseb N N/D ppb 7 3/04 7 Runoff from herbicide used on 
soybeans and vegetables 

36. Diquat N N/D ppb 20 3/04 20 Runoff from herbicide use 

37. Dioxin 
       [2,3,7,8-TCDD] 

N N/D picograms/l   0 2/98 30 Emissions from waste incineration 
and other combustion; discharge 
from chemical factories 

38. Endothall N N/D ppb 100 3/04 100 Runoff from herbicide use 

39. Endrin N N/D ppb 2 3/12 2 Residue of banned insecticide 

40. Epichlorohydrin N N/D  0 02/98 TT Discharge from industrial chemical 
factories; an impurity of some 
water treatment chemicals 

41. Ethylene dibromide  N N/D nanograms/1 0 02/98    50 Discharge from petroleum 
refineries 

42. Glyphosate N N/D ppb 700 3/04 700 Runoff from herbicide use 

43. Heptachlor N N/D nanograms/1 0 3/12 400 Residue of banned termiticide 

44. Heptachlor epoxide N N/D nanograms/1 0 3/12 200 Breakdown of heptachlor 

45. Hexachlorobenzene N N/D ppb 0 3/12 1 Discharge from metal refineries 
and agricultural chemical factories 

46. Hexachlorocyclo-     
pentadiene 

N N/D ppb 50 3/12 50 Discharge from chemical factories 

47. Lindane N N/D nanograms/l 200 3/09 200 Runoff/leaching from insecticide 
used on cattle, lumber, gardens 

48. Methoxychlor N N/D ppb 40 3/12 40 Runoff/leaching from insecticide 
used on fruits, vegetables, alfalfa, 
livestock 

49. Oxamyl [Vydate] N N/D ppb 200 3/04 200 Runoff/leaching from insecticide 
used on apples, potatoes and 
tomatoes 



Page 5 

50. PCBs [Polychlorinated   
biphenyls] 

N N/D nanograms/1 0 3/12 500 Runoff from landfills; discharge of 
waste chemicals 

51. Pentachlorophenol N N/D ppb 0 3/04 1 Discharge from wood preserving 
factories 

52. Picloram N N/D ppb 500 3/04 500 Herbicide runoff 

53. Simazine N N/D ppb 4 3/12 4 Herbicide runoff 

54. Toxaphene N N/D ppb 0 3/12 3 Runoff/leaching from insecticide 
used on cotton and cattle 

 

TEST RESULTS 

Contaminant Violation 
Y/N 

Level  
Detected 

Unit 
Measurement 

MCLG Date 
Tested 

MCL Likely Source of Contamination 

Volatile Organic Contaminants.  26 VOC’s  were analyzed in 2011.  All were non-detectable except total trihalomethanes.  
Total trihalomethanes were measured in 2012.  The reading was 55.0 ppb.  The maximum contaminant level is 80 ppb as 
a rolling average.  Total Halocetic Acids in 2012 were .046 mg/l.  The mcl for HAA is .060. 
 
55. Benzene N N/D ppb 0 3/12 5 Discharge from factories; leaching from 

gas storage tanks and landfills 
56. Carbon tetrachloride N N/D ppb 0 3/12 5 Discharge from chemical plants and 

other industrial activities 
57. Chlorobenzene N N/D ppb 100 06/97 100 Discharge from chemical and 

agricultural chemical factories 
58. o-Dichlorobenzene N N/D ppb 600 3/12 600 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
59. p-Dichlorobenzene N N/D ppb 75 3/12 75 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
60. 1,2 - Dichloroethane N N/D ppb 0 3/12 5 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
61. 1,1 - Dichloroethylene N N/D ppb 7 3/12 7 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
62. cis-1,2-ichloroethylene N N/D ppb 70 06/97 70 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
63.  trans - 1,2 -

Dichloroethylene 
N N/D ppb 100 3/12 100 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
64. Dichloromethane N N/D ppb 0 3/12 5 Discharge from pharmaceutical and 

chemical factories 
65. 1,2-Dichloropropane N N/D ppb 0 12/11 5 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
66. Ethylbenzene N N/D ppb 700 3/12 700 Discharge from petroleum refineries 

67. Styrene N N/D ppb 100 3/12 100 Discharge from rubber and plastic 
factories; leaching from landfills 

68. Tetrachloroethylene N N/D ppb 0 3/12 5 Leaching from PVC pipes; discharge 
from factories and dry cleaners 

69. 1,2,4 -
Trichlorobenzene 

N N/D ppb 70 3/12 70 Discharge from textile-finishing 
factories 

70. 1,1,1 - Trichloroethane N N/D ppb 200 3/12 200 Discharge from metal degreasing sites 
and other factories 

71. 1,1,2 -Trichloroethane N N/D ppb 3 3/12 5 Discharge from industrial chemical 
factories 

72. Trichloroethylene N N/D ppb 0 3/12 5 Discharge from metal degreasing sites 
and other factories 

73. TTHM                                       
[Total trihalomethanes] 

N 55.0 ppb 80 

 
3/12 80 

 
By-product of drinking water 
chlorination 

74. Toluene N N/D ppm 1 3/12 1 Discharge from petroleum factories 

75. Vinyl Chloride N N/D ppb 0 3/12 2 Leaching from PVC piping; discharge 
from plastics factories 

76. Xylenes N N/D ppm 10 3/12 10 Discharge from petroleum factories; 
discharge from chemical factories 



Page 6 

 
Initial Distribution System Evaluation (IDSE):  IDSE is an important part of the Stage 2 Disinfection By-Products Rule 
(DBPR).  The IDSE is a one-time study conducted by some water systems, providing disinfection or chlorination, to identify 
distribution system locations with concentrations of trihalomethanes (THMs) and haloacetic acids (HAAs).  Water systems 
will use results from the IDSE, in conjunction with their Stage 1 DBPR compliance monitoring data, to select monitoring 
locations for Stage 2 DBPR.  Not all water systems were required to perform an IDSE. 
 
Lead Informational Statement (Health effects and ways to reduce exposure) 

 
If present, elevated levels of lead can cause serious health problems, especially for pregnant women and young children.  
Lead in drinking water is primarily from materials and components associated with service lines and home plumbing.  The 
utility named above is responsible for providing high quality drinking water, but cannot control the variety of materials used 
in plumbing components.  

When your water has been sitting for several hours, you can minimize the potential for lead exposure by flushing your tap for 
30 seconds to 2 minutes before using water for drinking or cooking.  If you are concerned about lead in your drinking water, 
you may wish to have your water tested.  Information on lead in drinking water, testing methods, and steps you can take to 
minimize exposure is available form the Safe Drinking Water Hotline or at http://www.epa.gov/safewater/lead.                

 
 
Microbiological Contaminants: 
 (3) Turbidity - Turbidity has no health effects. However, turbidity can interfere with disinfection and provide a medium for microbial 
growth. Turbidity may indicate the presence of disease-causing organisms. These organisms include bacteria, viruses, and parasites 
that can cause symptoms such as nausea, cramps, diarrhea, and associated headaches. 
Inorganic Contaminants: 
(7) Antimony  - Some people who drink water containing antimony well in excess of the MCL over many years could experience 
increases in blood cholesterol and decreases in blood sugar. 
 (9) Asbestos - Some people who drink water containing asbestos in excess of the MCL over many years may have an increased risk 
of developing benign intestinal polyps.  
(10) Barium - Some people who drink water containing barium in excess of the MCL over many years could experience an increase in 
their blood pressure. 
(11) Beryllium - Some people who drink water containing beryllium well in excess of the MCL over many years could develop 
intestinal lesions. 
(12) Cadmium - Some people who drink water containing cadmium in excess of the MCL over many years could experience kidney 
damage. 
(13) Chromium - Some people who use water containing chromium well in excess of the MCL over many years could experience 
allergic dermatitis. 
(14) Copper - Copper is an essential nutrient, but some people who drink water containing copper in excess of the action level over a 
relatively short amount of time could experience gastrointestinal distress. Some people who drink water containing copper in excess of 
the action level over many years could suffer liver or kidney damage. People with Wilson's Disease should consult their personal 
doctor. 
(16) Fluoride - Some people who drink water containing fluoride in excess of the MCL over many years could get bone disease, 
including pain and tenderness of the bones. Children may get mottled teeth. 
(17) Lead - Infants and children who drink water containing lead in excess of the action level could experience delays in their physical 
or mental development. Children could show slight deficits in attention span and learning abilities. Adults who drink this water over 
many years could develop kidney problems or high blood pressure. 
(18) Mercury (inorganic) - Some people who drink water containing inorganic mercury well in excess of the MCL over many years 
could experience kidney damage.  
(20) Nitrite - Infants below the age of six months who drink water containing nitrite in excess of the MCL could become seriously ill 
and, if untreated, may die. Symptoms include shortness of breath and blue-baby syndrome.  
(21) Selenium - Selenium is an essential nutrient. However, some people who drink water containing selenium in excess of the MCL 
over many years could experience hair or fingernail losses, numbness in fingers or toes, or problems with their circulation.  
 
Volatile Organic Contaminants: 
(73) TTHMs [Total Trihalomethanes] - Some people who drink water containing trihalomethanes in excess of the MCL over many 
years may experience problems with their liver, kidneys, or central nervous systems, and may have an increased risk of getting cancer.  
 
Inadequately treated water may contain disease-causing organisms.  These organisms include bacteria, viruses, 
and parasites, which can cause symptoms such as nausea, cramps, diarrhea, and associated headaches. 
 



Page 7 

 
We are proud that your drinking water meets or exceeds all Federal and State requirements. We have learned 
through our monitoring and testing that some constituents have been detected. The EPA has determined that 
your water IS SAFE at these levels.  
 
All drinking water, including bottled water, may reasonably be expected to contain at least small amounts of 
some contaminants.  The presence of contaminants does not necessarily indicate that the water poses a health 
risk.  More information about contaminants and potential health effects can be obtained by calling the 
Environmental Protection Agency’s Safe Drinking Water Hotline at 1-800-426-4791. 
 
MCL’s are set at very stringent levels. To understand the possible health effects described for many regulated 
constituents, a person would have to drink 2 liters of water every day at the MCL level for a lifetime to have a 
one-in-a-million chance of having the described health effect. 
 
In our continuing efforts to maintain a safe and dependable water supply, it may be necessary to make 
improvements in your water system. The costs of these improvements may be reflected in the rate structure. 
Rate adjustments may be necessary in order to address these improvements. 
 
Thank you for allowing us to continue providing your family with clean, quality water this year. In order to 
maintain a safe and dependable water supply we sometimes need to make improvements that will benefit all of 
our customers. These improvements are sometimes reflected as rate structure adjustments. Thank you for 
understanding. 
 
Some people may be more vulnerable to contaminants in drinking water than the general population.  Immuno-
compromised persons such as persons with cancer undergoing chemotherapy, persons who have undergone 
organ transplants, people with HIV/AIDS or other immune system disorders, some elderly, and infants can be 
particularly at risk from infections. These people should seek advice about drinking water from their health care 
providers. EPA/CDC guidelines on appropriate means to lessen the risk of infection by cryptosporidium and 
other microbiological contaminants are available from the Safe Drinking Water Hotline (800-426-4791).   
 
Please call our office if you have questions.   634-1853 
 
John Lewinski, McCall Water and Sewer 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 1 

          

Annual Drinking Water Quality Report 
 

City Of McCall Water Treatment Facility 
July, 2014 

 
 
We are pleased to present to you this year's Annual Quality Water Report. This report is designed to inform you 
about the quality water and services we deliver to you every day. Our constant goal is to provide you with a safe 
and dependable supply of drinking water. We want you to understand the efforts we make to continually 
improve the water treatment process and protect our water resources. We are committed to ensuring the quality 
of your water. Our water source is Payette Lake. There are two intake pump stations, Davis Beach and Legacy 
Park.  Water is pumped to the Water Treatment plant in Spring Mountain Ranch.  The City of McCall had no 
water quality violations in 2013. 
 
If you have any questions about this report or concerning your water utility, please contact John Lewinski at 
634-1853.  We want our valued customers to be informed about their water utility.  If you want to learn more, 
please attend any of our regularly scheduled meetings. They are held every other Thursday at City Hall.  

 
The City Of McCall Water Treatment Facility routinely monitors for constituents in your drinking water 
according to Federal and State laws.  This table shows the results of our monitoring for the period of January 1, 
2013 to December 31, 2013.  We are required to monitor other parameters periodically and they are listed as 
well and the dates of when they were last tested. All drinking water, including bottled drinking water, may be 
reasonably expected to contain at least small amounts of some constituents.  It is important to remember that the 
presence of these constituents does not necessarily pose a health risk.  
 
In this table, you will find many terms and abbreviations you may not be familiar with. To help you better 
understand these terms we have provided the following definitions: 
 
N/A - Not applicable  
 
Non-Detects (ND) - Laboratory analysis indicates that the constituent is not present. 
 
Parts per million (ppm) or Milligrams per liter (mg/l)  
 
Parts per billion (ppb) or Micrograms per liter (ug/L) 
 
Parts per trillion (ppt) or Nanograms per liter (nanograms/l)  
 
Parts per quadrillion (ppq) or Picograms per liter (picograms/l) 
 
Picocuries per liter (pCi/L) - Picocuries per liter is a measure of the radioactivity in water. 
 
Millirems per year (mrem/yr) - Measure of radiation absorbed by the body. 
 
Million Fibers per Liter (MFL) - Million fibers per liter is a measure of the presence of asbestos fibers that are 
longer than 10 micrometers.  
Nephelometric Turbidity Unit (NTU) - Nephelometric turbidity unit is a measure of the clarity of water. 



Page 2 

Turbidity in excess of 5 NTU is just noticeable to the average person. 
 
Action Level - The concentration of a contaminant, which, if exceeded, triggers treatment, or other 
requirements, which a water system must follow. 
 
Treatment Technique (TT) - A treatment technique is a required process intended to reduce the level of a 
contaminant in drinking water. 
 
Maximum Contaminant Level - The “Maximum Allowed” (MCL) is the highest level of a contaminant that is 
allowed in drinking water.  MCLs are set as close to the MCLGs as feasible using the best available treatment 
technology. 
 
Maximum Contaminant Level Goal - The “Goal”(MCLG) is the level of a contaminant in drinking water below 
which there is no known or expected risk to health.  MCLGs allow for a margin of safety. 

TEST RESULTS 

Contaminant Violation 
Y/N 

Level  
Detected 

Unit 
Measurement 

MCLG Date 
Tested 

MCL Likely Source of Contamination 

Microbiological Contaminants 
1. Total Coliform Bacteria                                    N  ND   

    
0 Monthly Presence of 

coliform 
bacteria in 5% 
of monthly 
samples 

Naturally present in the 
environment 

2. Fecal coliform and             
E.coli 

 
 
N/A 

  0  A routine 
sample and 
repeat sample 
are total 
coliform 
positive, and 
one is also 
fecal coliform 
or E. coli 
positive 

Human and animal fecal waste 

 3. Turbidity   
N 
 

 
.24 

NTU 1.0 

 
Continuous 

monitoring at 
the Water 
Treatment 

Plant  

1.0 

 
Soil runoff 

Radioactive Contaminants 
4. A    Gross Alpha N <1.0 pCi/l  2/03 15 Erosion of natural 

deposits 
    B    Gross Beta N 3.1 pCi/l  2/03 50 Erosion of Natural 

Deposits 
    C  Radium 226 N <.2 pCi/l  2/03 3 Erosion of Natural 

Deposits 
    D  Radium 228 N <1.0 pCi/l  2/03  Erosion of Natural 

Deposits 
    Total Measured Radium N <.2 pCi/l  2/03 5 Erosion of Natural 

Deposits 
 5. Alpha emitters     N 0.0 pCi/1 0  15 Erosion of natural deposits 

Inorganic Contaminants.  Sodium was also analyzed in 2012.  The result was 7.28 mg/l. 



Page 3 

 7. Antimony N    ND ppb 6 7/10 6 Discharge from petroleum 
refineries; fire retardants; ceramics; 
electronics; solder 

 8. Arsenic N ND ppb .01 2/13 50 Erosion of natural deposits; runoff 
from orchards; runoff from glass 
and electronics production wastes 

 9. Asbestos 
 

N <.2 MFL 7 8/13 7 Decay of asbestos cement water 
mains; erosion of natural deposits 

10. Barium N ND ppm 2 7/10 2 Discharge of drilling wastes; 
discharge from metal refineries; 
erosion of natural deposits 

 

TEST RESULTS 

Contaminant Violation 
Y/N 

Level  
Detected 

Unit 
Measurement 

MCLG Date 
Tested 

MCL Likely Source of Contamination 

 
11. Beryllium N ND ppb 4 7/10 4 Discharge from metal refineries 

and coal-burning factories; 
discharge from electrical, 
aerospace, and defense industries 

12. Cadmium N ND ppb 5 7/10 5 Corrosion of galvanized pipes; 
erosion of natural deposits; 
discharge from metal refineries; 
runoff from waste batteries and 
paints 

13. Chromium N 2 ppb 100 7/10 100 Discharge from steel and pulp 
mills; erosion of natural deposits 

14. Copper N 0.531 ppm 1..3 7/11 AL=1..3 Corrosion of household plumbing 
systems; erosion of natural 
deposits; leaching from wood 
preservatives 

15. Cyanide N N\D ppb 200 3/04 200 Discharge from steel/metal 
factories; discharge from plastic 
and fertilizer factories 

16. Fluoride N ND ppm 4 7/10 4 Erosion of natural deposits; water 
additive which promotes strong 
teeth; discharge from fertilizer and 
aluminum factories 

17. Lead N 13 
 

ppb 0 7/11 AL=15 Corrosion of household plumbing 
systems, erosion of natural deposits 

18. Mercury (inorganic) N ND ppb 2 7/10 2 Erosion of natural deposits; 
discharge from refineries and 
factories; runoff from landfills; 
runoff from cropland 

19. Nitrate (as Nitrogen) N   ND ppm 10 2/13 10 Runoff from fertilizer use; leaching 
from septic tanks, sewage; erosion 
of natural deposits 

20. Nitrite (as Nitrogen) N ND ppm 1 3/10 1 Runoff from fertilizer use; leaching 
from septic tanks, sewage; erosion 
of natural deposits 

21.   Selenium N ND ppb 50 7/10 50 Discharge from petroleum and 
metal refineries; erosion of natural 
deposits; discharge from mines 

22. Thallium N ND ppb 0.5 7/10 2 Leaching from ore-processing 
sites; discharge from electronics, 
glass, and drug factories 

Synthetic Organic Contaminants including Pesticides and Herbicides.   42 SOCs were analyzed in 2001.  
Several SOCs were analyzed in 2009 and 2012.  All were non-detectable.  A complete list is available upon 
request. 
23. 2,4-D N N/D ppb 70 3/04 70 Runoff from herbicide used on row 

crops 



Page 4 

24. 2,4,5-TP (Silvex)  N N/D ppb 50 3/04 50 Residue of banned herbicide 

25. Acrylamide                        N N/D  0 02/98 TT Added to water during 
sewage/wastewater treatment 

26. Alachlor N N/D ppb 0 3/12 2 Runoff from herbicide used on row 
crops 

27. Atrazine N N/D ppb 3 3/12 3 Runoff from herbicide used on row 
crops 

28. Benzo(a)pyrene (PAH) N N/D nanograms/l 0 3/12 200 Leaching from linings of water 
storage tanks and distribution lines 

29. Carbofuran N N/D ppb 40 3/04 40 Leaching of soil fumigant used on 
rice and alfalfa 

30. Chlordane N N/D ppb 0 3/12 2 Residue of banned termiticide 

 

TEST RESULTS 

Contaminant Violation 
Y/N 

Level  
Detected 

Unit 
Measurement 

MCLG Date 
Tested 

MCL Likely Source of Contamination 

 
31. Dalapon N N/D ppb 200 3/04 200 Runoff from herbicide used on 

rights of way 
32. Di(2-ethylhexyl)           

adipate 
N N/D ppb 400 3/04 400 Discharge from chemical factories 

33. Di(2-ethylhexyl)          
phthalate 

N N/D ppb 0 3/12 6 Discharge from rubber and 
chemical factories 

34. Dibromochloropropane N N/D nanograms/1 0 02/98 200 Runoff/leaching from soil fumigant 
used on soybeans, cotton, 
pineapples, and orchards 

35. Dinoseb N N/D ppb 7 3/04 7 Runoff from herbicide used on 
soybeans and vegetables 

36. Diquat N N/D ppb 20 3/04 20 Runoff from herbicide use 

37. Dioxin 
       [2,3,7,8-TCDD] 

N N/D picograms/l   0 2/98 30 Emissions from waste incineration 
and other combustion; discharge 
from chemical factories 

38. Endothall N N/D ppb 100 3/04 100 Runoff from herbicide use 

39. Endrin N N/D ppb 2 3/12 2 Residue of banned insecticide 

40. Epichlorohydrin N N/D  0 02/98 TT Discharge from industrial chemical 
factories; an impurity of some 
water treatment chemicals 

41. Ethylene dibromide  N N/D nanograms/1 0 02/98    50 Discharge from petroleum 
refineries 

42. Glyphosate N N/D ppb 700 3/04 700 Runoff from herbicide use 

43. Heptachlor N N/D nanograms/1 0 3/12 400 Residue of banned termiticide 

44. Heptachlor epoxide N N/D nanograms/1 0 3/12 200 Breakdown of heptachlor 

45. Hexachlorobenzene N N/D ppb 0 3/12 1 Discharge from metal refineries 
and agricultural chemical factories 

46. Hexachlorocyclo-     
pentadiene 

N N/D ppb 50 3/12 50 Discharge from chemical factories 

47. Lindane N N/D nanograms/l 200 3/09 200 Runoff/leaching from insecticide 
used on cattle, lumber, gardens 

48. Methoxychlor N N/D ppb 40 3/12 40 Runoff/leaching from insecticide 
used on fruits, vegetables, alfalfa, 
livestock 

49. Oxamyl [Vydate] N N/D ppb 200 3/04 200 Runoff/leaching from insecticide 
used on apples, potatoes and 
tomatoes 



Page 5 

50. PCBs [Polychlorinated   
biphenyls] 

N N/D nanograms/1 0 3/12 500 Runoff from landfills; discharge of 
waste chemicals 

51. Pentachlorophenol N N/D ppb 0 3/04 1 Discharge from wood preserving 
factories 

52. Picloram N N/D ppb 500 3/04 500 Herbicide runoff 

53. Simazine N N/D ppb 4 3/12 4 Herbicide runoff 

54. Toxaphene N N/D ppb 0 3/12 3 Runoff/leaching from insecticide 
used on cotton and cattle 

 

TEST RESULTS 

Contaminant Violation 
Y/N 

Level  
Detected 

Unit 
Measurement 

MCLG Date 
Tested 

MCL Likely Source of Contamination 

Volatile Organic Contaminants.  26 VOC’s  were analyzed in 2013.  All were non-detectable except total trihalomethanes.  
Total trihalomethanes were measured in 2012.  The reading was 77.7 ppb.  The maximum contaminant level is 80 ppb as 
a rolling average.  Total Halocetic Acids in 2013 were .054 mg/l.  The mcl for HAA is .060. 
 
55. Benzene N N/D ppb 0 8/13 5 Discharge from factories; leaching from 

gas storage tanks and landfills 
56. Carbon tetrachloride N N/D ppb 0 8/13 5 Discharge from chemical plants and 

other industrial activities 
57. Chlorobenzene N N/D ppb 100 8/13 100 Discharge from chemical and 

agricultural chemical factories 
58. o-Dichlorobenzene N N/D ppb 600 8/13 600 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
59. p-Dichlorobenzene N N/D ppb 75 8/13 75 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
60. 1,2 - Dichloroethane N N/D ppb 0 8/13 5 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
61. 1,1 - Dichloroethylene N N/D ppb 7 3/12 7 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
62. cis-1,2-ichloroethylene N N/D ppb 70 06/97 70 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
63.  trans - 1,2 -

Dichloroethylene 
N N/D ppb 100 3/12 100 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
64. Dichloromethane N N/D ppb 0 3/12 5 Discharge from pharmaceutical and 

chemical factories 
65. 1,2-Dichloropropane N N/D ppb 0 8/13 5 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
66. Ethylbenzene N N/D ppb 700 8/13 700 Discharge from petroleum refineries 

67. Styrene N N/D ppb 100 8/13 100 Discharge from rubber and plastic 
factories; leaching from landfills 

68. Tetrachloroethylene N N/D ppb 0 8/13 5 Leaching from PVC pipes; discharge 
from factories and dry cleaners 

69. 1,2,4 -
Trichlorobenzene 

N N/D ppb 70 8/13 70 Discharge from textile-finishing 
factories 

70. 1,1,1 - Trichloroethane N N/D ppb 200 8/13 200 Discharge from metal degreasing sites 
and other factories 

71. 1,1,2 -Trichloroethane N N/D ppb 3 8/13 5 Discharge from industrial chemical 
factories 

72. Trichloroethylene N N/D ppb 0 3/12 5 Discharge from metal degreasing sites 
and other factories 

73. TTHM                                       
[Total trihalomethanes] 

N 55.0 ppb 80 

 
3/12 80 

 
By-product of drinking water 
chlorination 

74. Toluene N N/D ppm 1 3/12 1 Discharge from petroleum factories 

75. Vinyl Chloride N N/D ppb 0 8/13 2 Leaching from PVC piping; discharge 
from plastics factories 

76. Xylenes N N/D ppm 10 8/13 10 Discharge from petroleum factories; 
discharge from chemical factories 



Page 6 

 
Initial Distribution System Evaluation (IDSE):  IDSE is an important part of the Stage 2 Disinfection By-Products Rule 
(DBPR).  The IDSE is a one-time study conducted by some water systems, providing disinfection or chlorination, to identify 
distribution system locations with concentrations of trihalomethanes (THMs) and haloacetic acids (HAAs).  Water systems 
will use results from the IDSE, in conjunction with their Stage 1 DBPR compliance monitoring data, to select monitoring 
locations for Stage 2 DBPR.  Not all water systems were required to perform an IDSE. 
 
Lead Informational Statement (Health effects and ways to reduce exposure) 

 
If present, elevated levels of lead can cause serious health problems, especially for pregnant women and young children.  
Lead in drinking water is primarily from materials and components associated with service lines and home plumbing.  The 
utility named above is responsible for providing high quality drinking water, but cannot control the variety of materials used 
in plumbing components.  

When your water has been sitting for several hours, you can minimize the potential for lead exposure by flushing your tap for 
30 seconds to 2 minutes before using water for drinking or cooking.  If you are concerned about lead in your drinking water, 
you may wish to have your water tested.  Information on lead in drinking water, testing methods, and steps you can take to 
minimize exposure is available form the Safe Drinking Water Hotline or at http://www.epa.gov/safewater/lead.                

 
 
Microbiological Contaminants: 
 (3) Turbidity - Turbidity has no health effects. However, turbidity can interfere with disinfection and provide a medium for microbial 
growth. Turbidity may indicate the presence of disease-causing organisms. These organisms include bacteria, viruses, and parasites 
that can cause symptoms such as nausea, cramps, diarrhea, and associated headaches. 
Inorganic Contaminants: 
(7) Antimony  - Some people who drink water containing antimony well in excess of the MCL over many years could experience 
increases in blood cholesterol and decreases in blood sugar. 
 (9) Asbestos - Some people who drink water containing asbestos in excess of the MCL over many years may have an increased risk 
of developing benign intestinal polyps.  
(10) Barium - Some people who drink water containing barium in excess of the MCL over many years could experience an increase in 
their blood pressure. 
(11) Beryllium - Some people who drink water containing beryllium well in excess of the MCL over many years could develop 
intestinal lesions. 
(12) Cadmium - Some people who drink water containing cadmium in excess of the MCL over many years could experience kidney 
damage. 
(13) Chromium - Some people who use water containing chromium well in excess of the MCL over many years could experience 
allergic dermatitis. 
(14) Copper - Copper is an essential nutrient, but some people who drink water containing copper in excess of the action level over a 
relatively short amount of time could experience gastrointestinal distress. Some people who drink water containing copper in excess of 
the action level over many years could suffer liver or kidney damage. People with Wilson's Disease should consult their personal 
doctor. 
(16) Fluoride - Some people who drink water containing fluoride in excess of the MCL over many years could get bone disease, 
including pain and tenderness of the bones. Children may get mottled teeth. 
(17) Lead - Infants and children who drink water containing lead in excess of the action level could experience delays in their physical 
or mental development. Children could show slight deficits in attention span and learning abilities. Adults who drink this water over 
many years could develop kidney problems or high blood pressure. 
(18) Mercury (inorganic) - Some people who drink water containing inorganic mercury well in excess of the MCL over many years 
could experience kidney damage.  
(20) Nitrite - Infants below the age of six months who drink water containing nitrite in excess of the MCL could become seriously ill 
and, if untreated, may die. Symptoms include shortness of breath and blue-baby syndrome.  
(21) Selenium - Selenium is an essential nutrient. However, some people who drink water containing selenium in excess of the MCL 
over many years could experience hair or fingernail losses, numbness in fingers or toes, or problems with their circulation.  
 
Volatile Organic Contaminants: 
(73) TTHMs [Total Trihalomethanes] - Some people who drink water containing trihalomethanes in excess of the MCL over many 
years may experience problems with their liver, kidneys, or central nervous systems, and may have an increased risk of getting cancer.  
 
Inadequately treated water may contain disease-causing organisms.  These organisms include bacteria, viruses, 
and parasites, which can cause symptoms such as nausea, cramps, diarrhea, and associated headaches. 
 



Page 7 

 
We are proud that your drinking water meets or exceeds all Federal and State requirements. We have learned 
through our monitoring and testing that some constituents have been detected. The EPA has determined that 
your water IS SAFE at these levels.  
 
All drinking water, including bottled water, may reasonably be expected to contain at least small amounts of 
some contaminants.  The presence of contaminants does not necessarily indicate that the water poses a health 
risk.  More information about contaminants and potential health effects can be obtained by calling the 
Environmental Protection Agency’s Safe Drinking Water Hotline at 1-800-426-4791. 
 
MCL’s are set at very stringent levels. To understand the possible health effects described for many regulated 
constituents, a person would have to drink 2 liters of water every day at the MCL level for a lifetime to have a 
one-in-a-million chance of having the described health effect. 
 
In our continuing efforts to maintain a safe and dependable water supply, it may be necessary to make 
improvements in your water system. The costs of these improvements may be reflected in the rate structure. 
Rate adjustments may be necessary in order to address these improvements. 
 
Thank you for allowing us to continue providing your family with clean, quality water this year. In order to 
maintain a safe and dependable water supply we sometimes need to make improvements that will benefit all of 
our customers. These improvements are sometimes reflected as rate structure adjustments. Thank you for 
understanding. 
 
Some people may be more vulnerable to contaminants in drinking water than the general population.  Immuno-
compromised persons such as persons with cancer undergoing chemotherapy, persons who have undergone 
organ transplants, people with HIV/AIDS or other immune system disorders, some elderly, and infants can be 
particularly at risk from infections. These people should seek advice about drinking water from their health care 
providers. EPA/CDC guidelines on appropriate means to lessen the risk of infection by cryptosporidium and 
other microbiological contaminants are available from the Safe Drinking Water Hotline (800-426-4791).   
 
Please call our office if you have questions.   634-1853 
 
John Lewinski, McCall Water and Sewer 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 1 

          
Annual Drinking Water Quality Report 

 
City Of McCall Water Treatment Facility 

July, 2015 
 
We are pleased to present to you this year's Annual Quality Water Report. This report is designed to inform you 
about the quality water and services we deliver to you every day. Our constant goal is to provide you with a safe 
and dependable supply of drinking water. We want you to understand the efforts we make to continually 
improve the water treatment process and protect our water resources. We are committed to ensuring the quality 
of your water. Our water source is Payette Lake. There are two intake pump stations, Davis Beach and Legacy 
Park.  Water is pumped to the Water Treatment plant in Spring Mountain Ranch.  The City of McCall had no 
water quality violations in 2014. 
 
If you have any questions about this report or concerning your water utility, please contact Matthew Dellwo at 
634-1853.  We want our valued customers to be informed about their water utility.  If you want to learn more, 
please attend any of our regularly scheduled meetings. They are held every other Thursday at City Hall.  

 
The City Of McCall Water Treatment Facility routinely monitors for constituents in your drinking water 
according to Federal and State laws.  This table shows the results of our monitoring for the period of January 1, 
2014 to December 31, 2014.  We are required to monitor other parameters periodically and they are listed as 
well and the dates of when they were last tested. All drinking water, including bottled drinking water, may be 
reasonably expected to contain at least small amounts of some constituents.  It is important to remember that the 
presence of these constituents does not necessarily pose a health risk.  
 
In this table, you will find many terms and abbreviations you may not be familiar with. To help you better 
understand these terms we have provided the following definitions: 
 
N/A - Not applicable  
 
Non-Detects (ND) - Laboratory analysis indicates that the constituent is not present. 
 
Parts per million (ppm) or Milligrams per liter (mg/l)  
 
Parts per billion (ppb) or Micrograms per liter (ug/L) 
 
Parts per trillion (ppt) or Nanograms per liter (nanograms/l)  
 
Parts per quadrillion (ppq) or Picograms per liter (picograms/l) 
 
Picocuries per liter (pCi/L) - Picocuries per liter is a measure of the radioactivity in water. 
 
Millirems per year (mrem/yr) - Measure of radiation absorbed by the body. 
 
Million Fibers per Liter (MFL) - Million fibers per liter is a measure of the presence of asbestos fibers that are 
longer than 10 micrometers.  
Nephelometric Turbidity Unit (NTU) - Nephelometric turbidity unit is a measure of the clarity of water. 
Turbidity in excess of 5 NTU is just noticeable to the average person. 



Page 2 

 
Action Level - The concentration of a contaminant, which, if exceeded, triggers treatment, or other 
requirements, which a water system must follow. 
 
Treatment Technique (TT) - A treatment technique is a required process intended to reduce the level of a 
contaminant in drinking water. 
 
Maximum Contaminant Level - The “Maximum Allowed” (MCL) is the highest level of a contaminant that is 
allowed in drinking water.  MCLs are set as close to the MCLGs as feasible using the best available treatment 
technology. 
 
Maximum Contaminant Level Goal - The “Goal”(MCLG) is the level of a contaminant in drinking water below 
which there is no known or expected risk to health.  MCLGs allow for a margin of safety. 

TEST RESULTS 
Contaminant Violation 

Y/N 
Level  

Detected 
Unit 

Measurement 
MCLG Date 

Tested 
MCL Likely Source of Contamination

Microbiological Contaminants 
1. Total Coliform Bacteria    N  ND   

    
0 Monthly Presence of 

coliform 
bacteria in 5% 
of monthly 
samples

Naturally present in the 
environment 

2. Fecal coliform and            
E.coli 

 
 
N/A 

  0 Monthly A routine 
sample and 
repeat sample 
are total 
coliform 
positive, and 
one is also 
fecal coliform 
or E. coli 
positive

Human and animal fecal waste

 3. Turbidity   
N 
 

 
.24 

NTU 1.0 Continuous 
monitoring at 

the Water 
Treatment 

Plant 

1.0 
 

Soil runoff

Radioactive Contaminants 
4. A    Gross Alpha N <1.0 pCi/l 2/03 15 Erosion of natural 

deposits 
    B    Gross Beta N 3.1 pCi/l 2/03 50 Erosion of Natural 

Deposits 
    C  Radium 226 N <.2 pCi/l 2/03 3 Erosion of Natural 

Deposits 
    D  Radium 228 N <1.0 pCi/l 2/03  Erosion of Natural 

Deposits 
    Total Measured Radium N <.2 pCi/l 2/03 5 Erosion of Natural 

Deposits 
 5. Alpha emitters     N 0.0 pCi/1 0  15 Erosion of natural deposits

Inorganic Contaminants.  Sodium was also analyzed in 2012.  The result was 7.28 mg/l. 
 7. Antimony N    ND ppb 6 7/10 6 Discharge from petroleum 

refineries; fire retardants; ceramics; 
electronics; solder



Page 3 

 8. Arsenic N ND ppb .01 2/13 50 Erosion of natural deposits; runoff 
from orchards; runoff from glass 
and electronics production wastes

 9. Asbestos 
 

N <.2 MFL 7 8/13 7 Decay of asbestos cement water 
mains; erosion of natural deposits

10. Barium N ND ppm 2 7/10 2 Discharge of drilling wastes; 
discharge from metal refineries; 
erosion of natural deposits

 
TEST RESULTS 

Contaminant Violation 
Y/N 

Level  
Detected 

Unit 
Measurement 

MCLG Date 
Tested 

MCL Likely Source of Contamination

 
11. Beryllium N ND ppb 4 7/10 4 Discharge from metal refineries 

and coal-burning factories; 
discharge from electrical, 
aerospace, and defense industries

12. Cadmium N ND ppb 5 7/10 5 Corrosion of galvanized pipes; 
erosion of natural deposits; 
discharge from metal refineries; 
runoff from waste batteries and 
paints 

13. Chromium N 2 ppb 100 7/10 100 Discharge from steel and pulp 
mills; erosion of natural deposits

14. Copper N 0.531 ppm 1..3 7/11 AL=1..3 Corrosion of household plumbing 
systems; erosion of natural 
deposits; leaching from wood 
preservatives

15. Cyanide N N\D ppb 200 3/04 200 Discharge from steel/metal 
factories; discharge from plastic 
and fertilizer factories

16. Fluoride N ND ppm 4 7/10 4 Erosion of natural deposits; water 
additive which promotes strong 
teeth; discharge from fertilizer and 
aluminum factories

17. Lead N 13 
 

ppb 0 7/11 AL=15 Corrosion of household plumbing 
systems, erosion of natural deposits

18. Mercury (inorganic) N ND ppb 2 7/10 2 Erosion of natural deposits; 
discharge from refineries and 
factories; runoff from landfills; 
runoff from cropland

19. Nitrate (as Nitrogen) N   ND ppm 10 2/13 10 Runoff from fertilizer use; leaching 
from septic tanks, sewage; erosion 
of natural deposits

20. Nitrite (as Nitrogen) N ND ppm 1 3/10 1 Runoff from fertilizer use; leaching 
from septic tanks, sewage; erosion 
of natural deposits

21.   Selenium N ND ppb 50 7/10 50 Discharge from petroleum and 
metal refineries; erosion of natural 
deposits; discharge from mines

22. Thallium N ND ppb 0.5 7/10 2 Leaching from ore-processing 
sites; discharge from electronics, 
glass, and drug factories

Synthetic Organic Contaminants including Pesticides and Herbicides.   42 SOCs were analyzed in 2001.  
Several SOCs were analyzed in 2009 and 2012.  All were non-detectable.  A complete list is available upon 
request. 
23. 2,4-D N N/D ppb 70 3/04 70 Runoff from herbicide used on row 

crops 
24. 2,4,5-TP (Silvex)  N N/D ppb 50 3/04 50 Residue of banned herbicide



Page 4 

25. Acrylamide                     N N/D  0 02/98 TT Added to water during 
sewage/wastewater treatment

26. Alachlor N N/D ppb 0 3/12 2 Runoff from herbicide used on row 
crops 

27. Atrazine N N/D ppb 3 3/12 3 Runoff from herbicide used on row 
crops 

28. Benzo(a)pyrene (PAH) N N/D nanograms/l 0 3/12 200 Leaching from linings of water 
storage tanks and distribution lines

29. Carbofuran N N/D ppb 40 3/04 40 Leaching of soil fumigant used on 
rice and alfalfa

30. Chlordane N N/D ppb 0 3/12 2 Residue of banned termiticide

 
TEST RESULTS 

Contaminant Violation 
Y/N 

Level  
Detected 

Unit 
Measurement 

MCLG Date 
Tested 

MCL Likely Source of Contamination

 
31. Dalapon N N/D ppb 200 3/04 200 Runoff from herbicide used on 

rights of way
32. Di(2-ethylhexyl)           

adipate 
N N/D ppb 400 3/04 400 Discharge from chemical factories

33. Di(2-ethylhexyl)          
phthalate 

N N/D ppb 0 3/12 6 Discharge from rubber and 
chemical factories

34. Dibromochloropropane N N/D nanograms/1 0 02/98 200 Runoff/leaching from soil fumigant 
used on soybeans, cotton, 
pineapples, and orchards

35. Dinoseb N N/D ppb 7 3/04 7 Runoff from herbicide used on 
soybeans and vegetables

36. Diquat N N/D ppb 20 3/04 20 Runoff from herbicide use

37. Dioxin 
       [2,3,7,8-TCDD] 

N N/D picograms/l   0 2/98 30 Emissions from waste incineration 
and other combustion; discharge 
from chemical factories

38. Endothall N N/D ppb 100 3/04 100 Runoff from herbicide use

39. Endrin N N/D ppb 2 3/12 2 Residue of banned insecticide

40. Epichlorohydrin N N/D  0 02/98 TT Discharge from industrial chemical 
factories; an impurity of some 
water treatment chemicals

41. Ethylene dibromide  N N/D nanograms/1 0 02/98    50 Discharge from petroleum 
refineries 

42. Glyphosate N N/D ppb 700 3/04 700 Runoff from herbicide use

43. Heptachlor N N/D nanograms/1 0 3/12 400 Residue of banned termiticide

44. Heptachlor epoxide N N/D nanograms/1 0 3/12 200 Breakdown of heptachlor

45. Hexachlorobenzene N N/D ppb 0 3/12 1 Discharge from metal refineries 
and agricultural chemical factories

46. Hexachlorocyclo-     
pentadiene 

N N/D ppb 50 3/12 50 Discharge from chemical factories

47. Lindane N N/D nanograms/l 200 3/09 200 Runoff/leaching from insecticide 
used on cattle, lumber, gardens

48. Methoxychlor N N/D ppb 40 3/12 40 Runoff/leaching from insecticide 
used on fruits, vegetables, alfalfa, 
livestock 

49. Oxamyl [Vydate] N N/D ppb 200 3/04 200 Runoff/leaching from insecticide 
used on apples, potatoes and 
tomatoes 

50. PCBs [Polychlorinated   
biphenyls] 

N N/D nanograms/1 0 3/12 500 Runoff from landfills; discharge of 
waste chemicals



Page 5 

51. Pentachlorophenol N N/D ppb 0 3/04 1 Discharge from wood preserving 
factories 

52. Picloram N N/D ppb 500 3/04 500 Herbicide runoff

53. Simazine N N/D ppb 4 3/12 4 Herbicide runoff

54. Toxaphene N N/D ppb 0 3/12 3 Runoff/leaching from insecticide 
used on cotton and cattle

 
TEST RESULTS 

Contaminant Violation 
Y/N 

Level  
Detected 

Unit 
Measurement 

MCLG Date 
Tested 

MCL Likely Source of Contamination

Volatile Organic Contaminants.  26 VOC’s  were analyzed in 2013.  All were non-detectable except total trihalomethanes.  
Total trihalomethanes were measured in 2014.  The reading was 77.7 ppb.  The maximum contaminant level is 80 ppb as 
a rolling average.  Total Halocetic Acids in 2014 were .036 mg/l.  The mcl for HAA is .060. 
 
55. Benzene N N/D ppb 0 2/14 5 Discharge from factories; leaching from 

gas storage tanks and landfills
56. Carbon tetrachloride N N/D ppb 0 2/14 5 Discharge from chemical plants and 

other industrial activities
57. Chlorobenzene N N/D ppb 100 2/14 100 Discharge from chemical and 

agricultural chemical factories 
58. o-Dichlorobenzene N N/D ppb 600 2/14 600 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
59. p-Dichlorobenzene N N/D ppb 75 2/14 75 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
60. 1,2 - Dichloroethane N N/D ppb 0  2/14

  
5 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
61. 1,1 - Dichloroethylene N N/D ppb 7 3/12 7 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
62. cis-1,2-ichloroethylene N N/D ppb 70 06/97 70 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
63.  trans - 1,2 -

Dichloroethylene 
N N/D ppb 100 3/12 100 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
64. Dichloromethane N N/D ppb 0 3/12 5 Discharge from pharmaceutical and 

chemical factories
65. 1,2-Dichloropropane N N/D ppb 0 8/13 5 Discharge from industrial chemical 

factories 
66. Ethylbenzene N N/D ppb 700 8/13 700 Discharge from petroleum refineries

67. Styrene N N/D ppb 100 8/13 100 Discharge from rubber and plastic 
factories; leaching from landfills

68. Tetrachloroethylene N N/D ppb 0 8/13 5 Leaching from PVC pipes; discharge 
from factories and dry cleaners

69. 1,2,4 -
Trichlorobenzene 

N N/D ppb 70 8/13 70 Discharge from textile-finishing 
factories 

70. 1,1,1 - Trichloroethane N N/D ppb 200 8/13 200 Discharge from metal degreasing sites 
and other factories

71. 1,1,2 -Trichloroethane N N/D ppb 3 8/13 5 Discharge from industrial chemical 
factories 

72. Trichloroethylene N N/D ppb 0 3/12 5 Discharge from metal degreasing sites 
and other factories

73. TTHM                             
[Total trihalomethanes] 

N 55.0 ppb 80 3/12 80 By-product of drinking water 
chlorination 

74. Toluene N N/D ppm 1 3/12 1 Discharge from petroleum factories

75. Vinyl Chloride N N/D ppb 0 8/13 2 Leaching from PVC piping; discharge 
from plastics factories

76. Xylenes N N/D ppm 10 8/13 10 Discharge from petroleum factories; 
discharge from chemical factories

 



Page 6 

Initial Distribution System Evaluation (IDSE):  IDSE is an important part of the Stage 2 Disinfection By-Products Rule 
(DBPR).  The IDSE is a one-time study conducted by some water systems, providing disinfection or chlorination, to identify 
distribution system locations with concentrations of trihalomethanes (THMs) and haloacetic acids (HAAs).  Water systems 
will use results from the IDSE, in conjunction with their Stage 1 DBPR compliance monitoring data, to select monitoring 
locations for Stage 2 DBPR.  Not all water systems were required to perform an IDSE. 
 
Lead Informational Statement (Health effects and ways to reduce exposure) 

 
If present, elevated levels of lead can cause serious health problems, especially for pregnant women and young children.  
Lead in drinking water is primarily from materials and components associated with service lines and home plumbing.  The 
utility named above is responsible for providing high quality drinking water, but cannot control the variety of materials used 
in plumbing components.  
When your water has been sitting for several hours, you can minimize the potential for lead exposure by flushing your tap for 
30 seconds to 2 minutes before using water for drinking or cooking.  If you are concerned about lead in your drinking water, 
you may wish to have your water tested.  Information on lead in drinking water, testing methods, and steps you can take to 
minimize exposure is available form the Safe Drinking Water Hotline or at http://www.epa.gov/safewater/lead.                

 
 
Microbiological Contaminants: 
 (3) Turbidity - Turbidity has no health effects. However, turbidity can interfere with disinfection and provide a medium for microbial 
growth. Turbidity may indicate the presence of disease-causing organisms. These organisms include bacteria, viruses, and parasites 
that can cause symptoms such as nausea, cramps, diarrhea, and associated headaches. 
Inorganic Contaminants: 
(7) Antimony  - Some people who drink water containing antimony well in excess of the MCL over many years could experience 
increases in blood cholesterol and decreases in blood sugar. 
 (9) Asbestos - Some people who drink water containing asbestos in excess of the MCL over many years may have an increased risk 
of developing benign intestinal polyps.  
(10) Barium - Some people who drink water containing barium in excess of the MCL over many years could experience an increase in 
their blood pressure. 
(11) Beryllium - Some people who drink water containing beryllium well in excess of the MCL over many years could develop 
intestinal lesions. 
(12) Cadmium - Some people who drink water containing cadmium in excess of the MCL over many years could experience kidney 
damage. 
(13) Chromium - Some people who use water containing chromium well in excess of the MCL over many years could experience 
allergic dermatitis. 
(14) Copper - Copper is an essential nutrient, but some people who drink water containing copper in excess of the action level over a 
relatively short amount of time could experience gastrointestinal distress. Some people who drink water containing copper in excess of 
the action level over many years could suffer liver or kidney damage. People with Wilson's Disease should consult their personal 
doctor. 
(16) Fluoride - Some people who drink water containing fluoride in excess of the MCL over many years could get bone disease, 
including pain and tenderness of the bones. Children may get mottled teeth. 
(17) Lead - Infants and children who drink water containing lead in excess of the action level could experience delays in their physical 
or mental development. Children could show slight deficits in attention span and learning abilities. Adults who drink this water over 
many years could develop kidney problems or high blood pressure. 
(18) Mercury (inorganic) - Some people who drink water containing inorganic mercury well in excess of the MCL over many years 
could experience kidney damage.  
(20) Nitrite - Infants below the age of six months who drink water containing nitrite in excess of the MCL could become seriously ill 
and, if untreated, may die. Symptoms include shortness of breath and blue-baby syndrome.  
(21) Selenium - Selenium is an essential nutrient. However, some people who drink water containing selenium in excess of the MCL 
over many years could experience hair or fingernail losses, numbness in fingers or toes, or problems with their circulation.  
 
Volatile Organic Contaminants: 
(73) TTHMs [Total Trihalomethanes] - Some people who drink water containing trihalomethanes in excess of the MCL over many 
years may experience problems with their liver, kidneys, or central nervous systems, and may have an increased risk of getting cancer.  
 
Inadequately treated water may contain disease-causing organisms.  These organisms include bacteria, viruses, 
and parasites, which can cause symptoms such as nausea, cramps, diarrhea, and associated headaches. 
 
 



Page 7 

We are proud that your drinking water meets or exceeds all Federal and State requirements. We have learned 
through our monitoring and testing that some constituents have been detected. The EPA has determined that 
your water IS SAFE at these levels.  
 
All drinking water, including bottled water, may reasonably be expected to contain at least small amounts of 
some contaminants.  The presence of contaminants does not necessarily indicate that the water poses a health 
risk.  More information about contaminants and potential health effects can be obtained by calling the 
Environmental Protection Agency’s Safe Drinking Water Hotline at 1-800-426-4791. 
 
MCL’s are set at very stringent levels. To understand the possible health effects described for many regulated 
constituents, a person would have to drink 2 liters of water every day at the MCL level for a lifetime to have a 
one-in-a-million chance of having the described health effect. 
 
In our continuing efforts to maintain a safe and dependable water supply, it may be necessary to make 
improvements in your water system. The costs of these improvements may be reflected in the rate structure. 
Rate adjustments may be necessary in order to address these improvements. 
 
Thank you for allowing us to continue providing your family with clean, quality water this year. In order to 
maintain a safe and dependable water supply we sometimes need to make improvements that will benefit all of 
our customers. These improvements are sometimes reflected as rate structure adjustments. Thank you for 
understanding. 
 
Some people may be more vulnerable to contaminants in drinking water than the general population.  Immuno-
compromised persons such as persons with cancer undergoing chemotherapy, persons who have undergone 
organ transplants, people with HIV/AIDS or other immune system disorders, some elderly, and infants can be 
particularly at risk from infections. These people should seek advice about drinking water from their health care 
providers. EPA/CDC guidelines on appropriate means to lessen the risk of infection by cryptosporidium and 
other microbiological contaminants are available from the Safe Drinking Water Hotline (800-426-4791).   
 
Please call our office if you have questions.   634-1853 
 
Matthew Dellwo, McCall Water and Sewer 
 
 
 
 
 
 































Annual Drinking Water Quality Report 

City Of McCall Water Treatment Facility 
July, 2019 

We are pleased to present to you this year's Annual Quality Water Report. This report is designed to inform you 
about the quality water and services we deliver to you every day. Our constant goal is to provide you with a safe 
and dependable supply of drinking water. We want you to understand the efforts we make to continually 
improve the water treatment process and protect our water resources. We are committed to ensuring the quality 
of your water. Our water source is Payette Lake. There are two intake pump stations, Davis Beach and Legacy 
Park.  Water is pumped to the Water Treatment plant in Spring Mountain Ranch.  The City of McCall had no 
water quality violations in 2018. 

If you have any questions about this report or concerning your water utility, please contact Stacy LaFay at 634-
1853.  We want our valued customers to be informed about their water utility.  If you want to learn more, please 
attend any of our regularly scheduled meetings. They are held every other Thursday at City Hall. 

The City Of McCall Water Treatment Facility routinely monitors for constituents in your drinking water 
according to Federal and State laws.  This table shows the results of our monitoring for the period of January 1, 
2018 to December 31, 2018. All drinking water, including bottled drinking water, may be reasonably 
expected to contain at least small amounts of some constituents.  It is important to remember that the presence 
of these constituents does not necessarily pose a health risk.  

In this table, you will find many terms and abbreviations you may not be familiar with. To help you 
better understand these terms we have provided the following definitions: 

N/A - Not applicable 

Non-Detects (ND) - Laboratory analysis indicates that the constituent is not present. 

Parts per million (ppm) or Milligrams per liter (mg/l) 

Parts per billion (ppb) or Micrograms per liter (ug/L) 

Parts per trillion (ppt) or Nanograms per liter (nanograms/l) 

Parts per quadrillion (ppq) or Picograms per liter (picograms/l) 

Picocuries per liter (pCi/L) - Picocuries per liter is a measure of the radioactivity in water. 

Millirems per year (mrem/yr) - Measure of radiation absorbed by the body. 

Million Fibers per Liter (MFL) - Million fibers per liter is a measure of the presence of asbestos fibers that are 
longer than 10 micrometers.  
Nephelometric Turbidity Unit (NTU) - Nephelometric turbidity unit is a measure of the clarity of water. 
Turbidity in excess of 5 NTU is just noticeable to the average person. 

Page 1 



Page 2 

Action Level - The concentration of a contaminant, which, if exceeded, triggers treatment, or other 
requirements, which a water system must follow. 

Treatment Technique (TT) - A treatment technique is a required process intended to reduce the level of a 
contaminant in drinking water. 

Maximum Contaminant Level - The “Maximum Allowed” (MCL) is the highest level of a contaminant that is 
allowed in drinking water.  MCLs are set as close to the MCLGs as feasible using the best available treatment 
technology. 

Maximum Contaminant Level Goal - The “Goal”(MCLG) is the level of a contaminant in drinking water below 
which there is no known or expected risk to health.  MCLGs allow for a margin of safety. 

Test Results 

Chemical And Radiological Sampling History 
Contaminant Date Collected Facility Non Detect? Detected Level Units CCR Units 

1,1,1-TRICHLOROETHANE 12/18/2018 PAYETTE LAKE MANIFOLD Y 0.000 0.000 

1,1-DICHLOROETHYLENE 12/18/2018 PAYETTE LAKE MANIFOLD Y 0.000 0.000 

1,2,4-TRICHLOROBENZENE 12/18/2018 PAYETTE LAKE MANIFOLD Y 0.000 0.000 

1,2-DICHLOROETHANE 12/18/2018 PAYETTE LAKE MANIFOLD Y 0.000 0.000 

1,2-DICHLOROPROPANE 12/18/2018 PAYETTE LAKE MANIFOLD Y 0.000 0.000 

BENZENE 12/18/2018 PAYETTE LAKE MANIFOLD Y 0.000 0.000 

CARBON TETRACHLORIDE 12/18/2018 PAYETTE LAKE MANIFOLD Y 0.000 0.000 

CHLOROBENZENE 12/18/2018 PAYETTE LAKE MANIFOLD Y 0.000 0.000 

CIS-1,2- 
DICHLOROETHYLENE 12/18/2018 PAYETTE LAKE MANIFOLD Y 0.000 0.000 

DICHLOROMETHANE 12/18/2018 PAYETTE LAKE MANIFOLD Y 0.000 0.000 

ETHYLBENZENE 12/18/2018 PAYETTE LAKE MANIFOLD Y 0.000 0.000 

NITRATE 12/18/2018 PAYETTE LAKE MANIFOLD Y 0.000 0.000 

O-DICHLOROBENZENE 12/18/2018 PAYETTE LAKE MANIFOLD Y 0.000 0.000 

P-DICHLOROBENZENE 12/18/2018 PAYETTE LAKE MANIFOLD Y 0.000 0.000 

TETRACHLOROETHYLENE 12/18/2018 PAYETTE LAKE MANIFOLD Y 0.000 0.000 

TOLUENE 12/18/2018 PAYETTE LAKE MANIFOLD Y 0.000 0.000 

TRANS-1,2- 
DICHLOROETHYLENE 12/18/2018 PAYETTE LAKE MANIFOLD Y 0.000 0.000 

TRICHLOROETHYLENE 12/18/2018 PAYETTE LAKE MANIFOLD Y 0.000 0.000 

VINYL CHLORIDE 12/18/2018 PAYETTE LAKE MANIFOLD Y 0.000 0.000 

XYLENES, TOTAL 12/18/2018 PAYETTE LAKE MANIFOLD Y 0.000 0.000 



Page 3 

Coliform Sampling History 
Contaminant Date Collected P=Present A=Absent 

COLIFORM (TCR) 12/18/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 12/18/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 12/18/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 12/18/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 11/20/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 11/20/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 11/20/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 11/20/2018 
A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 10/23/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 10/23/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 10/23/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 10/23/2018 A 

E. COLI 09/24/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 09/17/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 09/17/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 09/17/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 09/17/2018 A 

E. COLI 09/10/2018 A 

E. COLI 08/27/2018 
A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 08/15/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 08/15/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 08/15/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 08/15/2018 A 

E. COLI 08/13/2018 A 

E. COLI 08/02/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 07/24/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 07/24/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 07/24/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 07/24/2018 A 

E. COLI 07/16/2018 A 

E. COLI 07/02/2018 A 

E. COLI 06/18/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 06/06/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 06/06/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 06/06/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 06/06/2018 A 

E. COLI 06/04/2018 A 

E. COLI 05/21/2018 A 



Page 4 

E. COLI 05/10/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 05/09/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 05/09/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 05/09/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 05/09/2018 A 

E. COLI 04/24/2018 A 

E. COLI 04/10/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 04/10/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 04/10/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 04/10/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 04/10/2018 
A 

E. COLI 03/26/2018 A 

E. COLI 03/20/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 03/20/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 03/20/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 03/20/2018 A 

E. COLI 02/27/2018 
A 

E. COLI 02/13/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 02/13/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 02/13/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 02/13/2018 
A 

E. COLI 01/29/2018 A 

E. COLI 01/17/2018 
A 

E. COLI 01/17/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 01/17/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 01/17/2018 A 

COLIFORM (TCR) 01/17/2018 A 

Lead And Copper Sampling History 
Contaminant # Samples Collected 90th %ile Result Units Date Collected CCR Units 

LEAD 
SUMMARY 12 0.000 MG/L 09/14/2017 0.000 
COPPER 
SUMMARY 12 0.510 MG/L 09/14/2017 0.510 
LEAD 
SUMMARY 24 0.006 MG/L 07/18/2014 6.000 
COPPER 
SUMMARY 24 0.361 MG/L 07/18/2014 0.361 

DBP Sampling History PWS Number: ID4430033 PWS Name: MCCALL CITY OF 
TOTAL HALOACETIC ACIDS 

(HAA5) 11/20/2018 USFS SMOKEJUMPERS/MISSION STREET N 0.038 MG/L 38.400 
TOTAL HALOACETIC ACIDS 

(HAA5) 08/15/2018 USFS SMOKEJUMPERS/MISSION STREET N 0.035 MG/L 35.100 
TOTAL HALOACETIC ACIDS 

(HAA5) 05/09/2018 USFS SMOKEJUMPERS/MISSION STREET N 0.030 MG/L 29.700 
TOTAL HALOACETIC ACIDS 

(HAA5) 03/12/2018 USFS SMOKEJUMPERS/MISSION STREET N 0.028 MG/L 27.500 
TTHM 11/20/2018 USFS SMOKEJUMPERS/MISSION STREET N 0.046 MG/L 45.800 

TTHM 08/15/2018 USFS SMOKEJUMPERS/MISSION STREET N 0.041 MG/L 40.700 
TTHM 05/09/2018 USFS SMOKEJUMPERS/MISSION STREET N 0.042 MG/L 41.600 
TTHM 03/12/2018 USFS SMOKEJUMPERS/MISSION STREET N 0.044 MG/L 43.600 

Chlorine Maximum Residual Disinfectant Level Sampling History 
Samples Collected Chlorine Residual Begin Date Monitoring Period 

3 1.2000 01/01/2018 JAN2018 

3 1.4800 02/01/2018 FEB2018 

3 1.4000 03/01/2018 MAR2018 

4 1.4000 04/01/2018 APR2018 

4 1.0000 05/01/2018 MAY2018 

4 1.3000 06/01/2018 JUN2018 

4 1.3800 07/01/2018 JUL2018 

4 1.6000 08/01/2018 AUG2018 

4 1.1300 09/01/2018 SEP2018 

4 1.3200 10/01/2018 OCT2018 

4 1.4700 11/01/2018 NOV2018 

4 1.5000 12/01/2018 DEC2018 



Page 5 

Initial Distribution System Evaluation (IDSE): JDSE is an important part of the Stage 2 Disinfection By-Products 
Rule (DBPR). The JDSE is a one-time study onducted by some water systems, providing disinfection or chlorination, to 
identify distribution system locations with concentrations oftrihalomethanes (THMs) and haloacetic acids (HAAs).  
Water  systems 

will use results from the IDSE, in conjunction with their Stage 1 DBPR compliance monitoring data, to select monitoring 
locations for Stage 2 DBPR. Not all water systems were required to perform an IDSE. 

Lead Informational Statement (Health effects and ways to reduce exposure) 

If present, elevated levels of lead can cause serious health problems, especially for pregnant women and young children. 
Lead in drinking water is primarily from materials and components associated with service lines and home plumbing. The 
utility named above is responsible for providing high quality drinking water, but cannot control the variety of materials 
used in plumbing components. 
When your water has been sitting for several hours, you can minimize the potentiai for iead exposure by flushing your tap 
for 30 seconds to 2 minutes before using water for drinking or cooking. If you are concerned about lead in your drinking 
water, you may wish to have your water tested. Information on lead in drinking water, testing methods, and steps you can 
take to minimize exposure is available form the Safe Drinking Water Hotline or at http://www.epa.gov/safewater/lead. 

Microbiological Contaminants: 
(3) Turbidity - Turbidity has no health effects. However, turbidity can interfere with disinfection and provide a medium  for microbial

growth. Turbidity may indicate the presence of disease-causing organisms. These organisms include bacteria, viruses, and
parasites that can cause symptoms such as nausea, cramps, diarrhea, and associated headaches.
Inorganic Contaminants:
(7) Antimony - Some people who drink water containing antimony well in excess of the MCL over many years could experience
increases in blood cholesterol and decreases in blood sugar.
(9) Asbestos - Some people who drink water containing asbestos in excess of the MCL over many years may have an increased
risk of developing benign intestinal polyps.
(10) Barium - Some people who drink water containing barium in excess of the MCL over many years could experience an increase
in their blood pressure.

(11) Beryllium  -  Some people  who drink  water  containing  beryllium  well  in excess of  the MCL over  many  years could
develop
intestinal lesions.
(12) Cadmium - Some people who drink water containing cadmium in excess of the MCL over many years could experience
kidney damage.
(13) Chromium - Some people who use water containing chromium well in excess of the MCL over many years could experience
allergic dermatitis.
(14) Copper - Copper is an essential nutrient, but some people who drink water containing copper in excess of the action level over
a relatively short amount of time could experience gastrointestinal distress. Some people who drink water containing copper in
excess of the action level over many years could suffer liver or kidney damage. People with Wilson's Disease should consult their
personal doctor.

(16) Fluoride - Some people who drink water containing fluoride in excess of the MCL over many years could get bone disease,
including pain and tenderness of the bones. Children may get mottled teeth.
(17) Lead - Infants and children who drink water containing lead in excess of the action level could experience delays in their
physical or mental development. Children could show slight deficits in attention span and learning abilities. Adults who drink this
water over many years could develop kidney problems or high blood pressure.
(18) Mercury (inorganic) - Some people who drink water containing inorganic mercury well in excess of the MCL over many years
could experience kidney damage.
(20) Nitrite - Infants below the age of six months who drink water containing nitrite in excess of the MCL could become seriously

http://www.epa.gov/safewater/lead


Page 6 

ill and, if untreated, may die. Symptoms include shortness of breath and blue-baby syndrome. 
(21) Selenium - Selenium is an essential nutrient. However, some people who drink water containing   selenium in excess of the

MCL over many years could experience hair or fingernail losses, numbness in fingers or toes, or problems with their
circulation.

Volatile Organic Contaminants: 
(73) TTHMs [Total Trihalomethanes] - Some people who drink water containing trihalomethanes in excess of the MCL over many
years may experience problems with their liver, kidneys, or central nervous systems, and may have an increased risk·of getting
cancer.

Inadequately treated water may contain disease-causing organisms.  These organisms include bacteria, viruses, 
and parasites, which can cause symptoms such as nausea, cramps, diarrhea, and associated headaches. 

During the time from 3/1-3/31-2018 and 12/1-12/31-2018 we received two violations.  These violations were 
monitoring violations due to SCADA monitoring system malfunction.  Daily water quality was not affected, the 
water quality was continuously monitored by operators and equipment calibrations occurred daily.    

We are proud that your drinking water meets or exceeds all Federal and State requirements. We have learned 
through our monitoring and testing that some constituents have been detected. The EPA has determined that 
your water IS SAFE at these levels.  

All drinking water, including bottled water, may reasonably be expected to contain at least small amounts of 
some contaminants.  The presence of contaminants does not necessarily indicate that the water poses a health 
risk.  More information about contaminants and potential health effects can be obtained by calling the 
Environmental Protection Agency’s Safe Drinking Water Hotline at 1-800-426-4791. 

MCL’s are set at very stringent levels. To understand the possible health effects described for many regulated 
constituents, a person would have to drink 2 liters of water every day at the MCL level for a lifetime to have a 
one-in-a-million chance of having the described health effect. 

In our continuing efforts to maintain a safe and dependable water supply, it may be necessary to make 
improvements in your water system. The costs of these improvements may be reflected in the rate structure. 
Rate adjustments may be necessary in order to address these improvements. 

Thank you for allowing us to continue providing your family with clean, quality water this year. In order to 
maintain a safe and dependable water supply we sometimes need to make improvements that will benefit all of 
our customers. These improvements are sometimes reflected as rate structure adjustments. Thank you for 
understanding. 

Some people may be more vulnerable to contaminants in drinking water than the general population.  Immuno-
compromised persons such as persons with cancer undergoing chemotherapy, persons who have undergone 
organ transplants, people with HIV/AIDS or other immune system disorders, some elderly, and infants can be 
particularly at risk from infections. These people should seek advice about drinking water from their health care 
providers. EPA/CDC guidelines on appropriate means to lessen the risk of infection by cryptosporidium and 
other microbiological contaminants are available from the Safe Drinking Water Hotline (800-426-4791).   

Please call our office if you have questions.   634-1853 



Page 7 

Stacy V. LaFay 
Water Operations Specialist 
City Of McCall 
 
 
 
 
 
 



We are pleased to present this year’s Annual Water Quality Report (Consumer 
Confidence Report) as required by the Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA). This 
report is designed to provide details about where your water comes from, what 
it contains, and how it compares to standards set by regulatory agencies. This 
report is a snapshot of last year’s water quality. We are committed to providing 
you with information because informed customers are our best allies.

City of McCall’s

Water Quality
Report REPORTING 

YEAR 2020



Water Quality Data Table
In order to ensure that tap water is safe to drink, EPA prescribes regulations which limit the amount of contaminants in water provided by public water systems. The table below lists all of the drinking 
water contaminants that we detected during the calendar year of this report. Although many more contaminants were tested, only those substances listed below were found in your water. All sources of 
drinking water contain some naturally occurring contaminants. At low levels, these substances are generally not harmful in our drinking water. Removing all contaminants would be extremely expensive, 
and in most cases, would not provide increased protection of public health. A few naturally occurring minerals may actually improve the taste of drinking water and have nutritional value at low levels. 
Unless otherwise noted, the data presented in this table is from testing done in the calendar year of the report. The EPA or the State requires us to monitor for certain contaminants less than once per 
year because the concentrations of these contaminants do not vary significantly from year to year, or the system is not considered vulnerable to this type of contamination. As such, some of our data, 
though representative, may be more than one year old. In this table you will find terms and abbreviations that might not be familiar to you. To help you better understand these terms, we have provided 
the definitions below the table.

Undetected Contaminants
The following contaminants were monitored for, but not detected, in your water.

Contaminants
MCLG or 
MRDLG

MCL, TT, or 
MRDL

Average Detect 
In Your Water

Range Sample 
Date ViolationLow High

Disinfectants & Disinfection By-Products
(There is convincing evidence that addition of a disinfectant is necessary for control of microbial contaminants)
Chlorine (as Cl2) (ppm) 4 4 1.138 0.8 1.5 2020 No Water additive used to control microbes
Haloacetic Acids (HAA5) (ppb) NA 60 43.625 19.3 75.5 2020 No By-product of drinking water chlorination
TTHMs [Total Trihalomethanes] (ppb) NA 80 48.1 30.6 371.5 2020 No By-product of drinking water disinfection
Microbiological Contaminants
Total Coliform (RTCR) NA TT NA NA NA 2020 No Naturally present in the environment
Turbidity (NTU) NA 0.3 99 NA NA 2020 No Soil runoff
99% of the samples were below the TT value of .3. A value less than 95% constitutes a TT violation. The highest single measurement was .44. Any measurement in excess of 1 is a violation unless otherwise 
approved by the state.

Contaminants
MCLG or 
MRDLG

MCL, TT, or 
MRDL Your Water Violation Typical Source

1,1,1-Trichloroethane (ppb) 200 200 ND No Discharge from metal degreasing sites and other factories
1,1,2-Trichloroethane (ppb) 3 5 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
1,1-Dichloroethylene (ppb) 7 7 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene (ppb) 70 70 ND No Discharge from textile-finishing factories
1,2-Dichloroethane (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
1,2-Dichloropropane (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
Antimony (ppb) 6 6 ND No Discharge from petroleum refineries; fire retardants; ceramics; electronics; solder; test addition.
Barium (ppm) 2 2 ND No Discharge of drilling wastes; Discharge from metal refineries; Erosion of natural deposits
Benzene (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from factories; Leaching from gas storage tanks and landfills

Beryllium (ppb) 4 4 ND No Discharge from metal refineries and coal-burning factories; Discharge from electrical, aerospace, and defense 
industries

Cadmium (ppb) 5 5 ND No Corrosion of galvanized pipes; Erosion of natural deposits; Discharge from metal refineries; runoff from waste 
batteries and paints

Carbon Tetrachloride (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from chemical plants and other industrial activities
Chlorobenzene 
(monochlorobenzene) (ppb) 100 100 ND No Discharge from chemical and agricultural chemical factories

Chromium (ppb) 100 100 ND No Discharge from steel and pulp mills; Erosion of natural deposits
Dichloromethane (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from pharmaceutical and chemical factories
Ethylbenzene (ppb) 700 700 ND No Discharge from petroleum refineries

Fluoride (ppm) 4 4 ND No Erosion of natural deposits; Water additive which promotes strong teeth; Discharge from fertilizer and 
aluminum factories

Mercury [Inorganic] (ppb) 2 2 ND No Erosion of natural deposits; Discharge from refineries and factories; Runoff from landfills; Runoff from 
cropland

Nitrate [measured as Nitrogen] 
(ppm) 10 10 ND No Runoff from fertilizer use; Leaching from septic tanks, sewage; Erosion of natural deposits

Nitrite [measured as Nitrogen] 
(ppm) 1 1 ND No Runoff from fertilizer use; Leaching from septic tanks, sewage; Erosion of natural deposits

Radium (combined 226/228) 
(pCi/L) 0 5 ND No Erosion of natural deposits

Selenium (ppb) 50 50 ND No Discharge from petroleum and metal refineries; Erosion of natural deposits; Discharge from mines
Styrene (ppb) 100 100 ND No Discharge from rubber and plastic factories; Leaching from landfills
Tetrachloroethylene (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from factories and dry cleaners
Thallium (ppb) 0.5 2 ND No Discharge from electronics, glass, and Leaching from ore-processing sites; drug factories
Toluene (ppm) 1 1 ND No Discharge from petroleum factories
Trichloroethylene (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from metal degreasing sites and other factories
Uranium (ug/L) 0 30 ND No Erosion of natural deposits
Vinyl Chloride (ppb) 0 2 ND No Leaching from PVC piping; Discharge from plastics factories
Xylenes (ppm) 10 10 ND No Discharge from petroleum factories; Discharge from chemical factories
cis-1,2-Dichloroethylene (ppb) 70 70 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
o-Dichlorobenzene (ppb) 600 600 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
p-Dichlorobenzene (ppb) 75 75 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
trans-1,2-Dichloroethylene (ppb) 100 100 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories

Contaminants MCLG AL
Average Detect 
In Your Water 

Range Sample 
Date

# Samples 
Exceeding AL

Exceeds 
AL Typical SourceLow High

Inorganic Contaminants
Copper - action level at 
consumer taps (ppm) 1.3 1.3 0.42 ND 0.61 2020 0 No Corrosion of household plumbing systems; Erosion of natural deposits

Lead - action level at consumer 
taps (ppb) 0 15 3.9 ND 23 2020 3 Yes Corrosion of household plumbing systems; Erosion of natural deposits



Source water assessment and  
its availability
To receive a copy of the City of McCall’s 
Source Water Assessment please call the water 
treatment plant at 208-634-1853.

Why are there contaminants in my 
drinking water?
Drinking water, including bottled water, may 
reasonably be expected to contain at least small 
amounts of some contaminants. The presence 
of contaminants does not necessarily indicate 
that water poses a health risk. More information 
about contaminants and potential health effects 
can be obtained by calling the Environmental 
Protection Agency’s (EPA) Safe Drinking Water 
Hotline (800-426-4791). The sources of drinking 
water (both tap water and bottled water) include 
rivers, lakes, streams, ponds, reservoirs, springs, 
and wells. As water travels over the surface of 
the land or through the ground, it dissolves 
naturally occurring minerals and, in some cases, 
radioactive material, and can pick up substances 
resulting from the presence of animals or from 
human activity:

microbial contaminants, such as viruses and 
bacteria, that may come from sewage treatment 
plants, septic systems, agricultural livestock 
operations, and wildlife; inorganic contaminants, 
such as salts and metals, which can be naturally 
occurring or result from urban stormwater runoff, 
industrial, or domestic wastewater discharges, 
oil and gas production, mining, or farming; 
pesticides and herbicides, which may come 
from a variety of sources such as agriculture, 
urban stormwater runoff, and residential uses; 
organic Chemical Contaminants, including 
synthetic and volatile organic chemicals, which 
are by-products of industrial processes and 
petroleum production, and can also come from 
gas stations, urban stormwater runoff, and septic 
systems; and radioactive contaminants, which 
can be naturally occurring or be the result of 
oil and gas production and mining activities. 
In order to ensure that tap water is safe to 
drink, EPA prescribes regulations that limit 
the amount of certain contaminants in water 
provided by public water systems. Food and Drug 
Administration (FDA) regulations establish limits 
for contaminants in bottled water which must 
provide the same protection for public health.

Description of Water Treatment 
Process
Your water is treated by filtration and 
disinfection. Filtration removes particles 
suspended in the source water. Particles 
typically include clays and silts, natural 
organic matter, iron and manganese, and 
microorganisms. Your water is also treated by 
disinfection. Disinfection involves the addition 
of chlorine or other disinfectants to kill bacteria 
and other microorganisms (viruses, cysts, 
etc.) that may be in the water. Disinfection is 
considered to be one of the major public health 
advances of the 20th century. 

TERM DEFINITION
ug/L: Number of micrograms of substance in one liter of water
ppm: parts per million, or milligrams per liter (mg/L)
ppb: parts per billion, or micrograms per liter (μg/L)
pCi/L: picocuries per liter (a measure of radioactivity)
NTU: Nephelometric Turbidity Units. Turbidity is a measure of 
the cloudiness of the water. We monitor it because it is a good 
indicator of the effectiveness of our filtration system.
% positive samples/month: Percent of samples taken 
monthly that were positive
NA: not applicable
ND: Not detected
NR: Monitoring not required, but recommended.

Monitoring and reporting of compliance data violations: February 1, 2019 through March 31, 2019 the City of McCall failed to report CT Ratio because the plant computer failed to collect required DEQ data.  
Water Quality was never impacted..

IMPORTANT DRINKING WATER DEFINITIONS
MCLG: Maximum Contaminant Level Goal: The level of a contaminant 
in drinking water below which there is no known or expected risk to 
health. MCLGs allow for a margin of safety.
MCL: Maximum Contaminant Level: The highest level of a 
contaminant that is allowed in drinking water. MCLs are set as 
close to the MCLGs as feasible using the best available treatment 
technology.
TT: Treatment Technique: A required process intended to reduce the 
level of a contaminant in drinking water.
AL: Action Level: The concentration of a contaminant which, if 
exceeded, triggers treatment or other requirements which a water 
system must follow.

Variances and Exemptions: State or EPA permission not to meet an 
MCL or a treatment technique under certain conditions.
MRDLG: Maximum residual disinfection level goal. The level of 
a drinking water disinfectant below which there is no known or 
expected risk to health. MRDLGs do not reflect the benefits of the use 
of disinfectants to control microbial contaminants.
MRDL: Maximum residual disinfectant level. The highest level of a 
disinfectant allowed in drinking water. There is convincing evidence 
that addition of a disinfectant is necessary for control of microbial 
contaminants.
MNR: Monitored Not Regulated
MPL: State Assigned Maximum Permissible Level

Where does my water 
come from?
The City of McCall gets its water from Payette Lake.

How can I get involved?
If you would like to learn more please 
attend any of our regularly scheduled 
meetings, held every other Thursday 
at City Hall.

© 2020 Goldstreet Design Agency, Inc. All Rights Reserved

https://goldstreetdesigns.com/


For more information please contact:
Sabrina Sims, Water Systems Manager

Phone: 208-315-7403

Stacy LaFay, Water Treatment Plant Manager
Phone: 208-634-1853

CROSS CONNECTION  
Control Survey
The purpose of this survey is 
to determine whether a cross-
connection may exist at your home 
or business. A cross connection is an 
unprotected or improper connection 
to a public water distribution system 
that may cause contamination or 
pollution to enter the system. We 
are responsible for enforcing cross-
connection control regulations and 
insuring that no contaminants can, 
under any flow conditions, enter the 
distribution system. If you have any 
of the devices listed below please 
contact us so that we can discuss 
the issue, and if needed, survey your 
connection and assist you in isolating 
it if that is necessary.

• Boiler/ Radiant heater 
(water heaters not included)

• Underground lawn sprinkler system

• Pool or hot tub 
(whirlpool tubs not included)

• Decorative pond

• Watering trough

Source Water Protection Tips
Protection of drinking water is everyone’s 
responsibility. You can help protect your 
community’s drinking water source in several ways:
• Eliminate excess use of lawn and garden 

fertilizers and pesticides - they contain 
hazardous chemicals that can reach your 
drinking water source.

• Pick up after your pets.
• If you have your own septic system, properly 

maintain your system to reduce leaching to 
water sources or consider connecting to a 
public water system.

• Dispose of chemicals properly; take used 
motor oil to a recycling center.

• Volunteer in your community. Find 
a watershed or wellhead protection 

organization in your community and 
volunteer to help. If there are no active 
groups, consider starting one. Use EPA’s 
Adopt Your Watershed to locate groups in 
your community, or visit the Watershed 
Information Network’s How to Start a 
Watershed Team.

• Organize a storm drain stenciling project 
with your local government or water 
supplier. Stencil a message next to the 
street drain reminding people “Dump No 
Waste - Drains to River” or “Protect Your 
Water.” Produce and distribute a flyer for 
households to remind residents that storm 
drains dump directly into your local water 
body.

Additional Information for Lead
If present, elevated levels of lead can cause serious health problems, 
especially for pregnant women and young children. Lead in drinking water 
is primarily from materials and components associated with service lines 
and home plumbing. City of McCall is responsible for providing high 
quality drinking water, but cannot control the variety of materials used 
in plumbing components. When your water has been sitting for several 
hours, you can minimize the potential for lead exposure by flushing your 
tap for 30 seconds to 2 minutes before using water for drinking or cooking. 
If you are concerned about lead in your water, you may wish to have your 
water tested. Information on lead in drinking water, testing methods, 
and steps you can take to minimize exposure is available from the Safe 
Drinking Water Hotline or at http://www.epa.gov/safewater/lead.

Do I need to take special precautions?
Some people may be more vulnerable to contaminants in drinking 
water than the general population. Immuno-compromised persons such 
as persons with cancer undergoing chemotherapy, persons who have 
undergone organ transplants, people with HIV/AIDS or other immune 
system disorders, some elderly, and infants can be particularly at risk 
from infections. These people should seek advice about drinking water 
from their health care providers. EPA/Centers for Disease Control 
(CDC) guidelines on appropriate means to lessen the risk of infection by 
Cryptosporidium and other microbial contaminants are available from the 
Safe Water Drinking Hotline (800-426-4791).

WATER CONSERVATION TIPS
Did you know that the average U.S. household uses approximately 400 gallons of water per 
day or 100 gallons per person per day? Luckily, there are many low-cost and no-cost ways 
to conserve water. Small changes can make a big difference - try one today and soon it will 
become second nature.

Take short showers - a 5 minute 
shower uses 4 to 5 gallons of 
water compared to up to 50 
gallons for a bath.

Shut off water while brushing 
your teeth, washing your hair 
and shaving and save up to 500 
gallons a month.

Use a water-efficient showerhead. 
They’re inexpensive, easy to 
install, and can save you up to 
750 gallons a month.

Run your clothes washer and 
dishwasher only when they are 
full. You can save up to 1,000 
gallons a month.

Water plants only when 
necessary.

Fix leaky toilets and faucets. 
Faucet washers are inexpensive 
and take only a few minutes to 
replace. To check your toilet 
for a leak, place a few drops of 
food coloring in the tank and 
wait. If it seeps into the toilet 
bowl without flushing, you have 
a leak. Fixing it or replacing it 
with a new, more efficient model 
can save up to 1,000 gallons a 
month.

Adjust sprinklers so only your 
lawn is watered. Apply water 
only as fast as the soil can 
absorb it and during the cooler 
parts of the day to reduce 
evaporation.

Teach your kids about water conservation to ensure a future generation that uses water wisely. 
Make it a family effort to reduce next month’s water bill! Visit www.epa.gov/watersense for 
more information.



We are pleased to present this year’s Annual Water Quality Report (Consumer 
Confidence Report) as required by the Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA). This 
report is designed to provide details about where your water comes from, what 
it contains, and how it compares to standards set by regulatory agencies. This 
report is a snapshot of last year’s water quality. We are committed to providing 
you with information because informed customers are our best allies.

City of McCall’s

Water Quality
Report REPORTING 

YEAR 2019



Water Quality Data Table
In order to ensure that tap water is safe to drink, EPA prescribes regulations which limit the amount of contaminants in water provided by public water systems. The table below lists all of the drinking 
water contaminants that we detected during the calendar year of this report. Although many more contaminants were tested, only those substances listed below were found in your water. All sources of 
drinking water contain some naturally occurring contaminants. At low levels, these substances are generally not harmful in our drinking water. Removing all contaminants would be extremely expensive, 
and in most cases, would not provide increased protection of public health. A few naturally occurring minerals may actually improve the taste of drinking water and have nutritional value at low levels. 
Unless otherwise noted, the data presented in this table is from testing done in the calendar year of the report. The EPA or the State requires us to monitor for certain contaminants less than once per 
year because the concentrations of these contaminants do not vary significantly from year to year, or the system is not considered vulnerable to this type of contamination. As such, some of our data, 
though representative, may be more than one year old. In this table you will find terms and abbreviations that might not be familiar to you. To help you better understand these terms, we have provided 
the definitions below the table.

Undetected Contaminants
The following contaminants were monitored for, but not detected, in your water.

Contaminants
MCLG or 
MRDLG

MCL, TT, or 
MRDL

Average Detect 
In Your Water

Range Sample 
Date Violation Typical SourceLow High

Disinfectants & Disinfection By-Products
(There is convincing evidence that addition of a disinfectant is necessary for control of microbial contaminants)
Chlorine (as Cl2) (ppm) 4 4 1.134 0.6 1.5 2019 No Water additive used to control microbes
Haloacetic Acids (HAA5) (ppb) NA 60 26.9 22.7 35.1 2019 No By-product of drinking water chlorination
TTHMs [Total Trihalomethanes] (ppb) NA 80 30.475 26.1 33.4 2019 No By-product of drinking water disinfection
Microbiological Contaminants
Total Coliform (RTCR) NA TT NA NA NA 2019 No Naturally present in the environment
Turbidity (NTU) NA 0.3 99 NA NA 2019 No Soil runoff
99% of the samples were below the TT value of .3. A value less than 95% constitutes a TT violation. The highest single measurement was .365. Any measurement in excess of 1 is a violation unless otherwise 
approved by the state.

Contaminants
MCLG or 
MRDLG

MCL, TT, or 
MRDL Your Water Violation Typical Source

1,1,1-Trichloroethane (ppb) 200 200 ND No Discharge from metal degreasing sites and other factories
1,1,2-Trichloroethane (ppb) 3 5 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
1,1-Dichloroethylene (ppb) 7 7 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene (ppb) 70 70 ND No Discharge from textile-finishing factories
1,2-Dichloroethane (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
1,2-Dichloropropane (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
Antimony (ppb) 6 6 ND No Discharge from petroleum refineries; fire retardants; ceramics; electronics; solder; test addition.
Barium (ppm) 2 2 ND No Discharge of drilling wastes; Discharge from metal refineries; Erosion of natural deposits
Benzene (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from factories; Leaching from gas storage tanks and landfills

Beryllium (ppb) 4 4 ND No Discharge from metal refineries and coal-burning factories; Discharge from electrical, aerospace, and defense 
industries

Cadmium (ppb) 5 5 ND No Corrosion of galvanized pipes; Erosion of natural deposits; Discharge from metal refineries; runoff from waste 
batteries and paints

Carbon Tetrachloride (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from chemical plants and other industrial activities
Chlorobenzene 
(monochlorobenzene) (ppb) 100 100 ND No Discharge from chemical and agricultural chemical factories

Chromium (ppb) 100 100 ND No Discharge from steel and pulp mills; Erosion of natural deposits
Dichloromethane (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from pharmaceutical and chemical factories
Ethylbenzene (ppb) 700 700 ND No Discharge from petroleum refineries

Fluoride (ppm) 4 4 ND No Erosion of natural deposits; Water additive which promotes strong teeth; Discharge from fertilizer and 
aluminum factories

Mercury [Inorganic] (ppb) 2 2 ND No Erosion of natural deposits; Discharge from refineries and factories; Runoff from landfills; Runoff from 
cropland

Nitrate [measured as Nitrogen] 
(ppm) 10 10 ND No Runoff from fertilizer use; Leaching from septic tanks, sewage; Erosion of natural deposits

Nitrite [measured as Nitrogen] 
(ppm) 1 1 ND No Runoff from fertilizer use; Leaching from septic tanks, sewage; Erosion of natural deposits

Radium (combined 226/228) 
(pCi/L) 0 5 ND No Erosion of natural deposits

Selenium (ppb) 50 50 ND No Discharge from petroleum and metal refineries; Erosion of natural deposits; Discharge from mines
Styrene (ppb) 100 100 ND No Discharge from rubber and plastic factories; Leaching from landfills
Tetrachloroethylene (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from factories and dry cleaners
Thallium (ppb) 0.5 2 ND No Discharge from electronics, glass, and Leaching from ore-processing sites; drug factories
Toluene (ppm) 1 1 ND No Discharge from petroleum factories
Trichloroethylene (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from metal degreasing sites and other factories
Uranium (ug/L) 0 30 ND No Erosion of natural deposits
Vinyl Chloride (ppb) 0 2 ND No Leaching from PVC piping; Discharge from plastics factories
Xylenes (ppm) 10 10 ND No Discharge from petroleum factories; Discharge from chemical factories
cis-1,2-Dichloroethylene (ppb) 70 70 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
o-Dichlorobenzene (ppb) 600 600 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
p-Dichlorobenzene (ppb) 75 75 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
trans-1,2-Dichloroethylene (ppb) 100 100 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories

Contaminants MCLG AL Your Water
Sample 

Date
# Samples 

Exceeding AL Exceeds AL Typical Source
Inorganic Contaminants
Copper - action level at 
consumer taps (ppm) 1.3 1.3 0.51 2017 0 No Corrosion of household plumbing systems; Erosion of natural deposits

Lead - action level at consumer 
taps (ppb) 0 15 0 2017 0 No Corrosion of household plumbing systems; Erosion of natural deposits



Source water assessment and its 
availability
To receive a copy of the City of McCall’s 
Source Water Assessment please call the water 
treatment plant at 208-634-1853.

Why are there contaminants in my 
drinking water?
Drinking water, including bottled water, may 
reasonably be expected to contain at least small 
amounts of some contaminants. The presence 
of contaminants does not necessarily indicate 
that water poses a health risk. More information 
about contaminants and potential health effects 
can be obtained by calling the Environmental 
Protection Agency’s (EPA) Safe Drinking Water 
Hotline (800-426-4791). The sources of drinking 
water (both tap water and bottled water) include 
rivers, lakes, streams, ponds, reservoirs, springs, 
and wells. As water travels over the surface of 
the land or through the ground, it dissolves 
naturally occurring minerals and, in some cases, 
radioactive material, and can pick up substances 
resulting from the presence of animals or from 
human activity:

microbial contaminants, such as viruses and 
bacteria, that may come from sewage treatment 
plants, septic systems, agricultural livestock 
operations, and wildlife; inorganic contaminants, 
such as salts and metals, which can be naturally 
occurring or result from urban stormwater runoff, 
industrial, or domestic wastewater discharges, 
oil and gas production, mining, or farming; 
pesticides and herbicides, which may come 
from a variety of sources such as agriculture, 
urban stormwater runoff, and residential uses; 
organic Chemical Contaminants, including 
synthetic and volatile organic chemicals, which 
are by-products of industrial processes and 
petroleum production, and can also come from 
gas stations, urban stormwater runoff, and septic 
systems; and radioactive contaminants, which 
can be naturally occurring or be the result of 
oil and gas production and mining activities. 
In order to ensure that tap water is safe to 
drink, EPA prescribes regulations that limit 
the amount of certain contaminants in water 
provided by public water systems. Food and Drug 
Administration (FDA) regulations establish limits 
for contaminants in bottled water which must 
provide the same protection for public health.

Description of Water Treatment 
Process
Your water is treated by filtration and 
disinfection. Filtration removes particles 
suspended in the source water. Particles 
typically include clays and silts, natural 
organic matter, iron and manganese, and 
microorganisms. Your water is also treated by 
disinfection. Disinfection involves the addition 
of chlorine or other disinfectants to kill bacteria 
and other microorganisms (viruses, cysts, 
etc.) that may be in the water. Disinfection is 
considered to be one of the major public health 
advances of the 20th century. 

TERM DEFINITION
ug/L: Number of micrograms of substance in one liter of water
ppm: parts per million, or milligrams per liter (mg/L)
ppb: parts per billion, or micrograms per liter (μg/L)
pCi/L: picocuries per liter (a measure of radioactivity)
NTU: Nephelometric Turbidity Units. Turbidity is a measure of 
the cloudiness of the water. We monitor it because it is a good 
indicator of the effectiveness of our filtration system.
% positive samples/month: Percent of samples taken 
monthly that were positive
NA: not applicable
ND: Not detected
NR: Monitoring not required, but recommended.

Monitoring and reporting of compliance data violations: February 1, 2019 through March 31, 2019 the City of McCall failed to report CT Ratio because the plant computer failed to collect required DEQ data.  
Water Quality was never impacted..

IMPORTANT DRINKING WATER DEFINITIONS
MCLG: Maximum Contaminant Level Goal: The level of a contaminant 
in drinking water below which there is no known or expected risk to 
health. MCLGs allow for a margin of safety.
MCL: Maximum Contaminant Level: The highest level of a 
contaminant that is allowed in drinking water. MCLs are set as 
close to the MCLGs as feasible using the best available treatment 
technology.
TT: Treatment Technique: A required process intended to reduce the 
level of a contaminant in drinking water.
AL: Action Level: The concentration of a contaminant which, if 
exceeded, triggers treatment or other requirements which a water 
system must follow.

Variances and Exemptions: State or EPA permission not to meet an 
MCL or a treatment technique under certain conditions.
MRDLG: Maximum residual disinfection level goal. The level of 
a drinking water disinfectant below which there is no known or 
expected risk to health. MRDLGs do not reflect the benefits of the use 
of disinfectants to control microbial contaminants.
MRDL: Maximum residual disinfectant level. The highest level of a 
disinfectant allowed in drinking water. There is convincing evidence 
that addition of a disinfectant is necessary for control of microbial 
contaminants.
MNR: Monitored Not Regulated
MPL: State Assigned Maximum Permissible Level

TT Violation Explanation Length Health Effects Language Explanation and Comment

Surface water treatment rule filtration and 
disinfection violations

Between February 1 2019 and March 31 2019 the 
water treatment plant failed to meet CT (Contact 
Time) requirements because the plant computer 
failed to collect required DEQ data. Water Quality 
was never impacted.

2/1/19-3/31/19

Inadequately treated water may contain disease-causing 
organisms. These organisms include bacteria, viruses, 
and parasites, which can cause symptoms such as 
nausea, cramps, diarrhea, and associated headaches.

Plant computer has been fixed and 
back up system is in place.

Where does my water 
come from?
The City of McCall gets its water from Payette Lake.

How can I get involved?
If you would like to learn more please 
attend any of our regularly scheduled 
meetings, held every other Thursday 
at City Hall.



For more information please contact:
Sabrina Sims, Water Systems Manager

Phone: 208-315-7403

Stacy LaFay, Water Treatment Plant Manager
Phone: 208-634-1853

CROSS CONNECTION  
Control Survey
The purpose of this survey is 
to determine whether a cross-
connection may exist at your home 
or business. A cross connection is an 
unprotected or improper connection 
to a public water distribution system 
that may cause contamination or 
pollution to enter the system. We 
are responsible for enforcing cross-
connection control regulations and 
insuring that no contaminants can, 
under any flow conditions, enter the 
distribution system. If you have any 
of the devices listed below please 
contact us so that we can discuss 
the issue, and if needed, survey your 
connection and assist you in isolating 
it if that is necessary.

• Boiler/ Radiant heater 
(water heaters not included)

• Underground lawn sprinkler system

• Pool or hot tub 
(whirlpool tubs not included)

• Decorative pond

• Watering trough

Source Water Protection Tips
Protection of drinking water is everyone’s 
responsibility. You can help protect your 
community’s drinking water source in several ways:
• Eliminate excess use of lawn and garden 

fertilizers and pesticides - they contain 
hazardous chemicals that can reach your 
drinking water source.

• Pick up after your pets.
• If you have your own septic system, properly 

maintain your system to reduce leaching to 
water sources or consider connecting to a 
public water system.

• Dispose of chemicals properly; take used 
motor oil to a recycling center.

• Volunteer in your community. Find 
a watershed or wellhead protection 

organization in your community and 
volunteer to help. If there are no active 
groups, consider starting one. Use EPA’s 
Adopt Your Watershed to locate groups in 
your community, or visit the Watershed 
Information Network’s How to Start a 
Watershed Team.

• Organize a storm drain stenciling project 
with your local government or water 
supplier. Stencil a message next to the 
street drain reminding people “Dump No 
Waste - Drains to River” or “Protect Your 
Water.” Produce and distribute a flyer for 
households to remind residents that storm 
drains dump directly into your local water 
body.

Additional Information for Lead
If present, elevated levels of lead can cause serious health problems, 
especially for pregnant women and young children. Lead in drinking water 
is primarily from materials and components associated with service lines 
and home plumbing. City of McCall is responsible for providing high 
quality drinking water, but cannot control the variety of materials used 
in plumbing components. When your water has been sitting for several 
hours, you can minimize the potential for lead exposure by flushing your 
tap for 30 seconds to 2 minutes before using water for drinking or cooking. 
If you are concerned about lead in your water, you may wish to have your 
water tested. Information on lead in drinking water, testing methods, 
and steps you can take to minimize exposure is available from the Safe 
Drinking Water Hotline or at http://www.epa.gov/safewater/lead.

Do I need to take special precautions?
Some people may be more vulnerable to contaminants in drinking 
water than the general population. Immuno-compromised persons such 
as persons with cancer undergoing chemotherapy, persons who have 
undergone organ transplants, people with HIV/AIDS or other immune 
system disorders, some elderly, and infants can be particularly at risk 
from infections. These people should seek advice about drinking water 
from their health care providers. EPA/Centers for Disease Control 
(CDC) guidelines on appropriate means to lessen the risk of infection by 
Cryptosporidium and other microbial contaminants are available from the 
Safe Water Drinking Hotline (800-426-4791).

WATER CONSERVATION TIPS
Did you know that the average U.S. household uses approximately 400 gallons of water per 
day or 100 gallons per person per day? Luckily, there are many low-cost and no-cost ways 
to conserve water. Small changes can make a big difference - try one today and soon it will 
become second nature.

Take short showers - a 5 minute 
shower uses 4 to 5 gallons of 
water compared to up to 50 
gallons for a bath.

Shut off water while brushing 
your teeth, washing your hair 
and shaving and save up to 500 
gallons a month.

Use a water-efficient showerhead. 
They’re inexpensive, easy to 
install, and can save you up to 
750 gallons a month.

Run your clothes washer and 
dishwasher only when they are 
full. You can save up to 1,000 
gallons a month.

Water plants only when 
necessary.

Fix leaky toilets and faucets. 
Faucet washers are inexpensive 
and take only a few minutes to 
replace. To check your toilet 
for a leak, place a few drops of 
food coloring in the tank and 
wait. If it seeps into the toilet 
bowl without flushing, you have 
a leak. Fixing it or replacing it 
with a new, more efficient model 
can save up to 1,000 gallons a 
month.

Adjust sprinklers so only your 
lawn is watered. Apply water 
only as fast as the soil can 
absorb it and during the cooler 
parts of the day to reduce 
evaporation.

Teach your kids about water conservation to ensure a future generation that uses water wisely. 
Make it a family effort to reduce next month’s water bill! Visit www.epa.gov/watersense for 
more information.



We are pleased to present this year’s Annual Water Quality Report (Consumer 
Confidence Report) as required by the Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA). This 
report is designed to provide details about where your water comes from, what 
it contains, and how it compares to standards set by regulatory agencies. This 
report is a snapshot of last year’s water quality. We are committed to providing 
you with information because informed customers are our best allies.

City of McCall’s

Water Quality
Report REPORTING 

YEAR 2021



Water Quality Data Table
In order to ensure that tap water is safe to drink, EPA prescribes regulations which limit the amount of contaminants in water provided by public water systems. The table below lists all of the drinking water 
contaminants that we detected during the calendar year of this report. Although many more contaminants were tested, only those substances listed below were found in your water. All sources of drinking 
water contain some naturally occurring contaminants. At low levels, these substances are generally not harmful in our drinking water. Removing all contaminants would be extremely expensive, and in most 
cases, would not provide increased protection of public health. A few naturally occurring minerals may actually improve the taste of drinking water and have nutritional value at low levels. Unless otherwise 
noted, the data presented in this table is from testing done in the calendar year of the report. The EPA or the State requires us to monitor for certain contaminants less than once per year because the 
concentrations of these contaminants do not vary significantly from year to year, or the system is not considered vulnerable to this type of contamination. As such, some of our data, though representative, 
may be more than one year old. In this table you will find terms and abbreviations that might not be familiar to you. To help you better understand these terms, we have provided the definitions below the 
table.

Undetected Contaminants
The following contaminants were monitored for, but not detected, in your water.

Contaminants
MCLG or 
MRDLG

MCL, TT, or 
MRDL

Average Detect 
In Your Water

Range Sample 
Date ViolationLow High

Disinfectants & Disinfection By-Products
(There is convincing evidence that addition of a disinfectant is necessary for control of microbial contaminants)
Chlorine (as Cl2) (ppm) 4 4 1.216 0.9 1.65 2021 No Water additive used to control microbes
Haloacetic Acids (HAA5) (ppb) NA 60 28.825 23.4 28.2 2021 No By-product of drinking water chlorination
TTHMs [Total Trihalomethanes] (ppb) NA 80 40 29 57 2021 No By-product of drinking water disinfection
Microbiological Contaminants
Total Coliform (RTCR) NA TT NA NA NA 2021 No Naturally present in the environment
Turbidity (NTU) NA 0.3 0.038 0.01 0.347 2021 No Soil runoff
99.9% of the samples were below the TT value of .3. A value less than 95% constitutes a TT violation. The highest single measurement was 0.347. Any measurement in excess of 1 is a violation unless otherwise.

Contaminants
MCLG or 
MRDLG

MCL, TT, or 
MRDL Your Water Violation Typical Source

1,1,1-Trichloroethane (ppb) 200 200 ND No Discharge from metal degreasing sites and other factories
1,1,2-Trichloroethane (ppb) 3 5 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
1,1-Dichloroethylene (ppb) 7 7 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene (ppb) 70 70 ND No Discharge from textile-finishing factories
1,2-Dichloroethane (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
1,2-Dichloropropane (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
Antimony (ppb) 6 6 ND No Discharge from petroleum refineries; fire retardants; ceramics; electronics; solder; test addition.
Barium (ppm) 2 2 ND No Discharge of drilling wastes; Discharge from metal refineries; Erosion of natural deposits
Benzene (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from factories; Leaching from gas storage tanks and landfills

Beryllium (ppb) 4 4 ND No Discharge from metal refineries and coal-burning factories; Discharge from electrical, aerospace, and defense 
industries

Cadmium (ppb) 5 5 ND No Corrosion of galvanized pipes; Erosion of natural deposits; Discharge from metal refineries; runoff from waste 
batteries and paints

Carbon Tetrachloride (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from chemical plants and other industrial activities
Chlorobenzene 
(monochlorobenzene) (ppb) 100 100 ND No Discharge from chemical and agricultural chemical factories

Chromium (ppb) 100 100 ND No Discharge from steel and pulp mills; Erosion of natural deposits
Dichloromethane (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from pharmaceutical and chemical factories
Ethylbenzene (ppb) 700 700 ND No Discharge from petroleum refineries

Fluoride (ppm) 4 4 ND No Erosion of natural deposits; Water additive which promotes strong teeth; Discharge from fertilizer and 
aluminum factories

Mercury [Inorganic] (ppb) 2 2 ND No Erosion of natural deposits; Discharge from refineries and factories; Runoff from landfills; Runoff from 
cropland

Nitrate [measured as Nitrogen] 
(ppm) 10 10 ND No Runoff from fertilizer use; Leaching from septic tanks, sewage; Erosion of natural deposits

Nitrite [measured as Nitrogen] 
(ppm) 1 1 ND No Runoff from fertilizer use; Leaching from septic tanks, sewage; Erosion of natural deposits

Radium (combined 226/228) 
(pCi/L) 0 5 ND No Erosion of natural deposits

Selenium (ppb) 50 50 ND No Discharge from petroleum and metal refineries; Erosion of natural deposits; Discharge from mines
Styrene (ppb) 100 100 ND No Discharge from rubber and plastic factories; Leaching from landfills
Tetrachloroethylene (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from factories and dry cleaners
Thallium (ppb) 0.5 2 ND No Discharge from electronics, glass, and Leaching from ore-processing sites; drug factories
Toluene (ppm) 1 1 ND No Discharge from petroleum factories
Trichloroethylene (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from metal degreasing sites and other factories
Uranium (ug/L) 0 30 ND No Erosion of natural deposits
Vinyl Chloride (ppb) 0 2 ND No Leaching from PVC piping; Discharge from plastics factories
Xylenes (ppm) 10 10 ND No Discharge from petroleum factories; Discharge from chemical factories
cis-1,2-Dichloroethylene (ppb) 70 70 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
o-Dichlorobenzene (ppb) 600 600 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
p-Dichlorobenzene (ppb) 75 75 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
trans-1,2-Dichloroethylene (ppb) 100 100 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories

Contaminants MCLG AL
Average Detect 
In Your Water 

Range Sample 
Date

# Samples 
Exceeding AL

Exceeds 
AL Typical SourceLow High

Inorganic Contaminants
Copper - action level at 
consumer taps (ppm) 1.3 1.3 0.26 ND 0.29 2021 0 No Corrosion of household plumbing systems; Erosion of natural deposits

Lead - action level at consumer 
taps (ppb) 0 15 8.5 ND 9 2021 5 No Corrosion of household plumbing systems; Erosion of natural deposits



Source water assessment and  
its availability
To receive a copy of the City of McCall’s 
Source Water Assessment please call the water 
treatment plant at 208-634-1853.

Why are there contaminants in 
my drinking water?
Drinking water, including bottled water, may 
reasonably be expected to contain at least small 
amounts of some contaminants. The presence 
of contaminants does not necessarily indicate 
that water poses a health risk. More information 
about contaminants and potential health effects 
can be obtained by calling the Environmental 
Protection Agency’s (EPA) Safe Drinking Water 
Hotline (800-426-4791). The sources of drinking 
water (both tap water and bottled water) 
include rivers, lakes, streams, ponds, reservoirs, 
springs, and wells. As water travels over the 
surface of the land or through the ground, it 
dissolves naturally occurring minerals and, in 
some cases, radioactive material, and can pick 
up substances resulting from the presence of 
animals or from human activity:

microbial contaminants, such as viruses 
and bacteria, that may come from sewage 
treatment plants, septic systems, agricultural 
livestock operations, and wildlife; inorganic 
contaminants, such as salts and metals, which 
can be naturally occurring or result from urban 
stormwater runoff, industrial, or domestic 
wastewater discharges, oil and gas production, 
mining, or farming; pesticides and herbicides, 
which may come from a variety of sources such 
as agriculture, urban stormwater runoff, and 
residential uses; organic Chemical Contaminants, 
including synthetic and volatile organic 
chemicals, which are by-products of industrial 
processes and petroleum production, and can 
also come from gas stations, urban stormwater 
runoff, and septic systems; and radioactive 
contaminants, which can be naturally occurring 
or be the result of oil and gas production and 
mining activities. In order to ensure that tap 
water is safe to drink, EPA prescribes regulations 
that limit the amount of certain contaminants 
in water provided by public water systems. Food 
and Drug Administration (FDA) regulations 
establish limits for contaminants in bottled water 
which must provide the same protection for 
public health.

Description of Water Treatment 
Process
Your water is treated by filtration and 
disinfection. Filtration removes particles 
suspended in the source water. Particles 
typically include clays and silts, natural 
organic matter, iron and manganese, and 
microorganisms. Your water is also treated by 
disinfection. Disinfection involves the addition 
of chlorine or other disinfectants to kill bacteria 
and other microorganisms (viruses, cysts, 
etc.) that may be in the water. Disinfection is 
considered to be one of the major public health 
advances of the 20th century. 

TERM DEFINITION
ug/L: Number of micrograms of substance in one liter of water
ppm: parts per million, or milligrams per liter (mg/L)
ppb: parts per billion, or micrograms per liter (μg/L)
pCi/L: picocuries per liter (a measure of radioactivity)
NTU: Nephelometric Turbidity Units. Turbidity is a measure of 
the cloudiness of the water. We monitor it because it is a good 
indicator of the effectiveness of our filtration system.
% positive samples/month: Percent of samples taken 
monthly that were positive
NA: not applicable
ND: Not detected
NR: Monitoring not required, but recommended.

Monitoring and reporting of compliance data violations: February 1, 2019 through March 31, 2019 the City of McCall failed to report CT Ratio because the plant computer failed to collect required DEQ data.  
Water Quality was never impacted..

IMPORTANT DRINKING WATER DEFINITIONS
MCLG: Maximum Contaminant Level Goal: The level of a contaminant 
in drinking water below which there is no known or expected risk to 
health. MCLGs allow for a margin of safety.
MCL: Maximum Contaminant Level: The highest level of a 
contaminant that is allowed in drinking water. MCLs are set as 
close to the MCLGs as feasible using the best available treatment 
technology.
TT: Treatment Technique: A required process intended to reduce the 
level of a contaminant in drinking water.
AL: Action Level: The concentration of a contaminant which, if 
exceeded, triggers treatment or other requirements which a water 
system must follow.

Variances and Exemptions: State or EPA permission not to meet an 
MCL or a treatment technique under certain conditions.
MRDLG: Maximum residual disinfection level goal. The level of 
a drinking water disinfectant below which there is no known or 
expected risk to health. MRDLGs do not reflect the benefits of the use 
of disinfectants to control microbial contaminants.
MRDL: Maximum residual disinfectant level. The highest level of a 
disinfectant allowed in drinking water. There is convincing evidence 
that addition of a disinfectant is necessary for control of microbial 
contaminants.
MNR: Monitored Not Regulated
MPL: State Assigned Maximum Permissible Level

Where does my water 
come from?
The City of McCall gets its water from Payette Lake.

How can I get involved?
If you would like to learn more 
please attend any of our regularly 
scheduled meetings, held every 
other Thursday at City Hall.

© 2022 Goldstreet Design Agency, Inc. All Rights Reserved

https://goldstreetdesigns.com/


For more information please contact:
Sabrina Sims, Water Systems Manager

Phone: 208-315-7403

Stacy LaFay, Water Treatment Plant Manager
Phone: 208-634-1853

CROSS CONNECTION  
Control Survey
The purpose of this survey is 
to determine whether a cross-
connection may exist at your home 
or business. A cross connection is an 
unprotected or improper connection 
to a public water distribution system 
that may cause contamination or 
pollution to enter the system. We 
are responsible for enforcing cross-
connection control regulations and 
insuring that no contaminants can, 
under any flow conditions, enter the 
distribution system. If you have any 
of the devices listed below please 
contact us so that we can discuss 
the issue, and if needed, survey your 
connection and assist you in isolating 
it if that is necessary.

• Boiler/ Radiant heater 
(water heaters not included)

• Underground lawn sprinkler system

• Pool or hot tub 
(whirlpool tubs not included)

• Decorative pond

• Watering trough

Source Water Protection Tips
Protection of drinking water is everyone’s 
responsibility. You can help protect your 
community’s drinking water source in several ways:
• Eliminate excess use of lawn and garden 

fertilizers and pesticides - they contain 
hazardous chemicals that can reach your 
drinking water source.

• Pick up after your pets.
• If you have your own septic system, properly 

maintain your system to reduce leaching to 
water sources or consider connecting to a 
public water system.

• Dispose of chemicals properly; take used 
motor oil to a recycling center.

• Volunteer in your community. Find 
a watershed or wellhead protection 

organization in your community and 
volunteer to help. If there are no active 
groups, consider starting one. Use EPA’s 
Adopt Your Watershed to locate groups in 
your community, or visit the Watershed 
Information Network’s How to Start a 
Watershed Team.

• Organize a storm drain stenciling project 
with your local government or water supplier. 
Stencil a message next to the street drain 
reminding people “Dump No Waste - Drains 
to River” or “Protect Your Water.” Produce 
and distribute a flyer for households to 
remind residents that storm drains dump 
directly into your local water body.

Additional Information for Lead
If present, elevated levels of lead can cause serious health problems, 
especially for pregnant women and young children. Lead in drinking 
water is primarily from materials and components associated with service 
lines and home plumbing. City of McCall is responsible for providing high 
quality drinking water, but cannot control the variety of materials used 
in plumbing components. When your water has been sitting for several 
hours, you can minimize the potential for lead exposure by flushing 
your tap for 30 seconds to 2 minutes before using water for drinking or 
cooking. If you are concerned about lead in your water, you may wish to 
have your water tested. Information on lead in drinking water, testing 
methods, and steps you can take to minimize exposure is available from 
the Safe Drinking Water Hotline or at http://www.epa.gov/safewater/lead.

Do I need to take special precautions?
Some people may be more vulnerable to contaminants in drinking 
water than the general population. Immuno-compromised persons such 
as persons with cancer undergoing chemotherapy, persons who have 
undergone organ transplants, people with HIV/AIDS or other immune 
system disorders, some elderly, and infants can be particularly at risk 
from infections. These people should seek advice about drinking water 
from their health care providers. EPA/Centers for Disease Control 
(CDC) guidelines on appropriate means to lessen the risk of infection by 
Cryptosporidium and other microbial contaminants are available from 
the Safe Water Drinking Hotline (800-426-4791).

WATER CONSERVATION TIPS
Did you know that the average U.S. household uses approximately 400 gallons of water per 
day or 100 gallons per person per day? Luckily, there are many low-cost and no-cost ways to 
conserve water. Small changes can make a big difference - try one today and soon it will become 
second nature.

Take short showers - a 5 minute 
shower uses 4 to 5 gallons of 
water compared to up to 50 
gallons for a bath.

Shut off water while brushing 
your teeth, washing your hair 
and shaving and save up to 500 
gallons a month.

Use a water-efficient showerhead. 
They’re inexpensive, easy to 
install, and can save you up to 
750 gallons a month.

Run your clothes washer and 
dishwasher only when they are 
full. You can save up to 1,000 
gallons a month.

Water plants only when 
necessary.

Fix leaky toilets and faucets. 
Faucet washers are inexpensive 
and take only a few minutes to 
replace. To check your toilet 
for a leak, place a few drops of 
food coloring in the tank and 
wait. If it seeps into the toilet 
bowl without flushing, you have 
a leak. Fixing it or replacing it 
with a new, more efficient model 
can save up to 1,000 gallons a 
month.

Adjust sprinklers so only your 
lawn is watered. Apply water 
only as fast as the soil can 
absorb it and during the cooler 
parts of the day to reduce 
evaporation.

Teach your kids about water conservation to ensure a future generation that uses water wisely. 
Make it a family effort to reduce next month’s water bill! Visit www.epa.gov/watersense for more 
information.



We are pleased to present this year’s Annual Water Quality Report (Consumer 
Confidence Report) as required by the Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA). This 
report is designed to provide details about where your water comes from, what 
it contains, and how it compares to standards set by regulatory agencies. This 
report is a snapshot of last year’s water quality. We are committed to providing 
you with information because informed customers are our best allies.

City of McCall’s

Water Quality Report
REPORTING YEAR 2022



Water Quality Data Table
In order to ensure that tap water is safe to drink, EPA prescribes regulations which limit the amount of contaminants in water provided by public water systems. The table below lists 
all of the drinking water contaminants that we detected during the calendar year of this report. Although many more contaminants were tested, only those substances listed below 
were found in your water. All sources of drinking water contain some naturally occurring contaminants. At low levels, these substances are generally not harmful in our drinking water. 
Removing all contaminants would be extremely expensive, and in most cases, would not provide increased protection of public health. A few naturally occurring minerals may actually 
improve the taste of drinking water and have nutritional value at low levels. Unless otherwise noted, the data presented in this table is from testing done in the calendar year of the 
report. The EPA or the State requires us to monitor for certain contaminants less than once per year because the concentrations of these contaminants do not vary significantly from 
year to year, or the system is not considered vulnerable to this type of contamination. As such, some of our data, though representative, may be more than one year old. In this table 
you will find terms and abbreviations that might not be familiar to you. To help you better understand these terms, we have provided the definitions below the table.

Undetected Contaminants
The following contaminants were monitored for, but not detected, in your water.

Contaminants
MCLG or 
MRDLG

MCL, TT, or 
MRDL

Average Detect 
In Your Water

Range Sample 
Date ViolationLow High

Disinfectants & Disinfection By-Products
(There is convincing evidence that addition of a disinfectant is necessary for control of microbial contaminants)
Chlorine (as Cl2) (ppm) 4 4 1.175 0.08 1.7 2022 No Water additive used to control microbes
Haloacetic Acids (HAA5) (ppb) NA 60 35.5 31.1 37.2 2022 No By-product of drinking water chlorination
TTHMs [Total Trihalomethanes] (ppb) NA 80 48 36.7 67 2022 No By-product of drinking water disinfection
Microbiological Contaminants
Total Coliform (RTCR) NA TT NA NA NA 2022 No Naturally present in the environment
Turbidity (NTU) NA 0.3 0.078 0.017 0.275 2022 No Soil runoff
100% of the samples were below the TT value of .3. A value less than 95% constitutes a TT violation. The highest single measurement was 0.275. Any measurement in excess of 1 is a violation unless otherwise.

Contaminants
MCLG or 
MRDLG

MCL, TT, or 
MRDL Your Water Violation Typical Source

1,1,1-Trichloroethane (ppb) 200 200 ND No Discharge from metal degreasing sites and other factories
1,1,2-Trichloroethane (ppb) 3 5 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
1,1-Dichloroethylene (ppb) 7 7 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene (ppb) 70 70 ND No Discharge from textile-finishing factories
1,2-Dichloroethane (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
1,2-Dichloropropane (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
Antimony (ppb) 6 6 ND No Discharge from petroleum refineries; fire retardants; ceramics; electronics; solder; test addition.
Barium (ppm) 2 2 ND No Discharge of drilling wastes; Discharge from metal refineries; Erosion of natural deposits
Benzene (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from factories; Leaching from gas storage tanks and landfills

Beryllium (ppb) 4 4 ND No Discharge from metal refineries and coal-burning factories; Discharge from electrical, aerospace, and defense 
industries

Cadmium (ppb) 5 5 ND No Corrosion of galvanized pipes; Erosion of natural deposits; Discharge from metal refineries; runoff from waste 
batteries and paints

Carbon Tetrachloride (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from chemical plants and other industrial activities
Chlorobenzene 
(monochlorobenzene) (ppb) 100 100 ND No Discharge from chemical and agricultural chemical factories

Chromium (ppb) 100 100 ND No Discharge from steel and pulp mills; Erosion of natural deposits
Dichloromethane (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from pharmaceutical and chemical factories
Ethylbenzene (ppb) 700 700 ND No Discharge from petroleum refineries

Fluoride (ppm) 4 4 ND No Erosion of natural deposits; Water additive which promotes strong teeth; Discharge from fertilizer and 
aluminum factories

Mercury [Inorganic] (ppb) 2 2 ND No Erosion of natural deposits; Discharge from refineries and factories; Runoff from landfills; Runoff from 
cropland

Nitrate [measured as Nitrogen] 
(ppm) 10 10 ND No Runoff from fertilizer use; Leaching from septic tanks, sewage; Erosion of natural deposits

Nitrite [measured as Nitrogen] 
(ppm) 1 1 ND No Runoff from fertilizer use; Leaching from septic tanks, sewage; Erosion of natural deposits

Radium (combined 226/228) 
(pCi/L) 0 5 ND No Erosion of natural deposits

Selenium (ppb) 50 50 ND No Discharge from petroleum and metal refineries; Erosion of natural deposits; Discharge from mines
Styrene (ppb) 100 100 ND No Discharge from rubber and plastic factories; Leaching from landfills
Tetrachloroethylene (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from factories and dry cleaners
Thallium (ppb) 0.5 2 ND No Discharge from electronics, glass, and Leaching from ore-processing sites; drug factories
Toluene (ppm) 1 1 ND No Discharge from petroleum factories
Trichloroethylene (ppb) 0 5 ND No Discharge from metal degreasing sites and other factories
Uranium (ug/L) 0 30 ND No Erosion of natural deposits
Vinyl Chloride (ppb) 0 2 ND No Leaching from PVC piping; Discharge from plastics factories
Xylenes (ppm) 10 10 ND No Discharge from petroleum factories; Discharge from chemical factories
cis-1,2-Dichloroethylene (ppb) 70 70 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
o-Dichlorobenzene (ppb) 600 600 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
p-Dichlorobenzene (ppb) 75 75 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories
trans-1,2-Dichloroethylene (ppb) 100 100 ND No Discharge from industrial chemical factories

Contaminants MCLG AL
Average Detect 
In Your Water 

Range Sample 
Date

# Samples 
Exceeding AL

Exceeds 
AL Typical SourceLow High

Inorganic Contaminants
Copper - action level at 
consumer taps (ppm) 1.3 1.3 0.23 ND 1.35 2022 1 No Corrosion of household plumbing systems; Erosion of natural deposits

Lead - action level at consumer 
taps (ppb) 0 15 34 ND 134 2022 3 Yes Corrosion of household plumbing systems; Erosion of natural deposits



Source water assessment and  
its availability
To receive a copy of the City of McCall’s 
Source Water Assessment please call the water 
treatment plant at 208-634-7802.

Why are there contaminants in my 
drinking water?
Drinking water, including bottled water, may 
reasonably be expected to contain at least small 
amounts of some contaminants. The presence 
of contaminants does not necessarily indicate 
that water poses a health risk. More information 
about contaminants and potential health effects 
can be obtained by calling the Environmental 
Protection Agency’s (EPA) Safe Drinking Water 
Hotline (800-426-4791). The sources of drinking 
water (both tap water and bottled water) include 
rivers, lakes, streams, ponds, reservoirs, springs, 
and wells. As water travels over the surface of 
the land or through the ground, it dissolves 
naturally occurring minerals and, in some cases, 
radioactive material, and can pick up substances 
resulting from the presence of animals or from 
human activity:

microbial contaminants, such as viruses and 
bacteria, that may come from sewage treatment 
plants, septic systems, agricultural livestock 
operations, and wildlife; inorganic contaminants, 
such as salts and metals, which can be naturally 
occurring or result from urban stormwater runoff, 
industrial, or domestic wastewater discharges, 
oil and gas production, mining, or farming; 
pesticides and herbicides, which may come 
from a variety of sources such as agriculture, 
urban stormwater runoff, and residential uses; 
organic Chemical Contaminants, including 
synthetic and volatile organic chemicals, which 
are by-products of industrial processes and 
petroleum production, and can also come from 
gas stations, urban stormwater runoff, and septic 
systems; and radioactive contaminants, which 
can be naturally occurring or be the result of 
oil and gas production and mining activities. 
In order to ensure that tap water is safe to 
drink, EPA prescribes regulations that limit 
the amount of certain contaminants in water 
provided by public water systems. Food and Drug 
Administration (FDA) regulations establish limits 
for contaminants in bottled water which must 
provide the same protection for public health.

Description of Water Treatment 
Process
Your water is treated by filtration and 
disinfection. Filtration removes particles 
suspended in the source water. Particles 
typically include clays and silts, natural 
organic matter, iron and manganese, and 
microorganisms. Your water is also treated by 
disinfection. Disinfection involves the addition 
of chlorine or other disinfectants to kill bacteria 
and other microorganisms (viruses, cysts, 
etc.) that may be in the water. Disinfection is 
considered to be one of the major public health 
advances of the 20th century. 

Source Contaminant or Report # of Samples Required Monitoring Period Due Date

Distribution System Alkilinity, Calcium, Conductivity, pH, Temperature 6 7/1/2022 - 12/31/2022

Payetete Lake Manifold Calcium, Conductivity, pH, Temperature 2 7/1/2022 - 12/31/2022

TERM DEFINITION
ug/L: Number of micrograms of substance in one liter of water
ppm: parts per million, or milligrams per liter (mg/L)
ppb: parts per billion, or micrograms per liter (μg/L)
pCi/L: picocuries per liter (a measure of radioactivity)
NTU: Nephelometric Turbidity Units. Turbidity is a measure of 
the cloudiness of the water. We monitor it because it is a good 
indicator of the effectiveness of our filtration system.
% positive samples/month: Percent of samples taken 
monthly that were positive
NA: not applicable
ND: Not detected
NR: Monitoring not required, but recommended.

Monitoring and reporting of compliance data violations:  A review of Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) records indicates that the City of McCall public water system (McCall) failed to submit a sample 
or report within the required time frame. If a sample was taken, or a report completed, please contact DEQ, and provide the results so that we may adjust our records. 

Missing samples and reports results in a Failure to Monitor (FTM) or Failure to Report (FTR) violation and McCall will remain out of compliance for the listed contaminant(s) until DEQ receives the next required 
sample/report. Repeated violations can result in a disapproval of the water system and an initiation of formal enforcement action by DEQ. 
This violation requires McCall to do the following: 
• Within one year of the violation date, provide public notification. (Community Systems can include it in the Consumer Confidence Report).
• • Within 10 days of the posting or delivery, provide copy of the notification and certification form to DEQ.
• Sample public notification and certification templates are available by choosing the ‘Tier 3’ selection on DEQ’s Public Drinking Water System Switchboard: 
            http://www2.deq.idaho.gov/water/PublicNotificationTemplates/.
If you have questions, please contact the DEQ Boise Regional Office at (208) 373-0550.

IMPORTANT DRINKING WATER DEFINITIONS
MCLG: Maximum Contaminant Level Goal: The level of a contaminant 
in drinking water below which there is no known or expected risk to 
health. MCLGs allow for a margin of safety.
MCL: Maximum Contaminant Level: The highest level of a 
contaminant that is allowed in drinking water. MCLs are set as 
close to the MCLGs as feasible using the best available treatment 
technology.
TT: Treatment Technique: A required process intended to reduce the 
level of a contaminant in drinking water.
AL: Action Level: The concentration of a contaminant which, if 
exceeded, triggers treatment or other requirements which a water 
system must follow.

Variances and Exemptions: State or EPA permission not to meet an 
MCL or a treatment technique under certain conditions.
MRDLG: Maximum residual disinfection level goal. The level of 
a drinking water disinfectant below which there is no known or 
expected risk to health. MRDLGs do not reflect the benefits of the use 
of disinfectants to control microbial contaminants.
MRDL: Maximum residual disinfectant level. The highest level of a 
disinfectant allowed in drinking water. There is convincing evidence 
that addition of a disinfectant is necessary for control of microbial 
contaminants.
MNR: Monitored Not Regulated
MPL: State Assigned Maximum Permissible Level

Where does my water 
come from?
The City of McCall gets its water from Payette Lake.

How can I get involved?
If you would like to learn more 
please attend any of our regularly 
scheduled meetings, held every 
other Thursday at City Hall.

© 2023 Goldstreet Design Agency, Inc. All Rights Reserved

https://goldstreetdesigns.com/
https://goldstreetdesigns.com/


For more information please contact:
Sabrina Sims, Water Systems Manager

Phone: 208-315-7403

CROSS CONNECTION  
Control Survey
The purpose of this survey is 
to determine whether a cross-
connection may exist at your home 
or business. A cross connection is an 
unprotected or improper connection 
to a public water distribution system 
that may cause contamination or 
pollution to enter the system. We 
are responsible for enforcing cross-
connection control regulations and 
insuring that no contaminants can, 
under any flow conditions, enter the 
distribution system. If you have any 
of the devices listed below please 
contact us so that we can discuss 
the issue, and if needed, survey your 
connection and assist you in isolating 
it if that is necessary.

• Boiler/ Radiant heater 
(water heaters not included)

• Underground lawn sprinkler system

• Pool or hot tub 
(whirlpool tubs not included)

• Decorative pond

• Watering trough

Source Water Protection Tips
Protection of drinking water is everyone’s 
responsibility. You can help protect your 
community’s drinking water source in several ways:
• Eliminate excess use of lawn and garden 

fertilizers and pesticides - they contain 
hazardous chemicals that can reach your 
drinking water source.

• Pick up after your pets.
• If you have your own septic system, properly 

maintain your system to reduce leaching to 
water sources or consider connecting to a 
public water system.

• Dispose of chemicals properly; take used 
motor oil to a recycling center.

• Volunteer in your community. Find 
a watershed or wellhead protection 

organization in your community and 
volunteer to help. If there are no active 
groups, consider starting one. Use EPA’s 
Adopt Your Watershed to locate groups in 
your community, or visit the Watershed 
Information Network’s How to Start a 
Watershed Team.

• Organize a storm drain stenciling project 
with your local government or water 
supplier. Stencil a message next to the 
street drain reminding people “Dump No 
Waste - Drains to River” or “Protect Your 
Water.” Produce and distribute a flyer for 
households to remind residents that storm 
drains dump directly into your local water 
body.

Additional Information for Lead
If present, elevated levels of lead can cause serious health problems, 
especially for pregnant women and young children. Lead in drinking 
water is primarily from materials and components associated with service 
lines and home plumbing. City of McCall is responsible for providing high 
quality drinking water, but cannot control the variety of materials used 
in plumbing components. When your water has been sitting for several 
hours, you can minimize the potential for lead exposure by flushing 
your tap for 30 seconds to 2 minutes before using water for drinking or 
cooking. If you are concerned about lead in your water, you may wish to 
have your water tested. Information on lead in drinking water, testing 
methods, and steps you can take to minimize exposure is available from 
the Safe Drinking Water Hotline or at http://www.epa.gov/safewater/lead.

Do I need to take special precautions?
Some people may be more vulnerable to contaminants in drinking 
water than the general population. Immuno-compromised persons such 
as persons with cancer undergoing chemotherapy, persons who have 
undergone organ transplants, people with HIV/AIDS or other immune 
system disorders, some elderly, and infants can be particularly at risk 
from infections. These people should seek advice about drinking water 
from their health care providers. EPA/Centers for Disease Control 
(CDC) guidelines on appropriate means to lessen the risk of infection by 
Cryptosporidium and other microbial contaminants are available from 
the Safe Water Drinking Hotline (800-426-4791).

WATER CONSERVATION TIPS
Did you know that the average U.S. household uses approximately 400 gallons of water per 
day or 100 gallons per person per day? Luckily, there are many low-cost and no-cost ways 
to conserve water. Small changes can make a big difference - try one today and soon it will 
become second nature.

Take short showers - a 5 minute 
shower uses 4 to 5 gallons of 
water compared to up to 50 
gallons for a bath.

Shut off water while brushing 
your teeth, washing your hair 
and shaving and save up to 500 
gallons a month.

Use a water-efficient showerhead. 
They’re inexpensive, easy to 
install, and can save you up to 
750 gallons a month.

Run your clothes washer and 
dishwasher only when they are 
full. You can save up to 1,000 
gallons a month.

Water plants only when 
necessary.

Fix leaky toilets and faucets. 
Faucet washers are inexpensive 
and take only a few minutes to 
replace. To check your toilet 
for a leak, place a few drops of 
food coloring in the tank and 
wait. If it seeps into the toilet 
bowl without flushing, you have 
a leak. Fixing it or replacing it 
with a new, more efficient model 
can save up to 1,000 gallons a 
month.

Adjust sprinklers so only your 
lawn is watered. Apply water 
only as fast as the soil can 
absorb it and during the cooler 
parts of the day to reduce 
evaporation.

Teach your kids about water conservation to ensure a future generation that uses water wisely. 
Make it a family effort to reduce next month’s water bill! Visit www.epa.gov/watersense for 
more information.



THE U.S. NATIONAL 
BLUEPRINT FOR 
TRANSPORTATION 
DECARBONIZATION 
A Joint Strategy to  
Transform Transportation

ATTACHMENT 7



THE VISION
Transportation connects us. It connects people, countries, and cultures, and draw us closer to 
one another. It is also the backbone of our economy and critical to supporting the daily needs 
of all Americans. Our transportation system has been an engine for growth and prosperity over 
many decades, but that growth has not come without consequences, and that prosperity has 
not been shared equally. The transportation sector is now the largest source of greenhouse gas 
emissions in the United States, contributing to the climate crisis that is worsening quality of life 
in cities, towns, and rural communities throughout America. Emissions from the transportation 
sector also contribute to poor air quality. In the United States, these effects disproportionately 
impact underserved and disadvantaged communities. 

To address the climate crisis, we must eliminate nearly all greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions 
from the sector by 2050 and implement a holistic strategy to achieve a future mobility system 
that is clean, safe, secure, accessible, affordable, and equitable, and provides sustainable 
transportation options for people and goods. This U.S. National Blueprint for Transportation 
Decarbonization (Blueprint) is the roadmap for how we can address these issues to provide 
better transportation options, expand affordable and accessible options to improve efficiency, 
and transition to zero-emission vehicles and fuels. 

This Blueprint offers a whole-of-government approach to transform the transportation sector and 
sets forth an interagency call to action to coordinate and work effectively together. Achieving our 
goals will require close cooperation with industry, local, regional, state, and Tribal governments, 
non-profits, and other stakeholder groups, as well as allies around the world. With bold, 
coordinated actions, together we can build a clean transportation system that is clean, safe, 
secure, accessible, affordable, and equitable, for all Americans to help create a more sustainable 
future for generations to come.



“The domestic transportation sector presents an enormous opportunity to drastically reduce 
emissions that accelerate climate change and reduce harmful pollution. The Department of 
Energy is prepared to implement this Blueprint alongside our partners within the Biden-Harris 
Administration to ensure all Americans feel the benefits of the clean transportation transition: 
good-paying manufacturing jobs, better air quality, and lower transportation costs.”

Jennifer M. Granholm 
Secretary, U.S. Department of Energy

“Transportation policy is inseparable from housing and energy policy, and transportation 
accounts for a major share of U.S. greenhouse gas emissions, so we must work together in 
an integrated way to confront the climate crisis. Every decision about transportation is also an 
opportunity to build a cleaner, healthier, more prosperous future. When our air is cleaner; when 
more people can get good-paying jobs; when everyone stays connected to the resources they 
need and the people they love, we are all better off.”

Pete Buttigieg
Secretary, U.S. Department of Transportation

"Under the leadership of President Biden, the Environmental Protection Agency is working  
with our federal partners to aggressively reduce pollution that is harming people and our 
planet—while saving families money at the same time. At EPA, our priority is to protect public 
health, especially in overburdened communities, while advancing the President’s ambitious 
climate agenda. This Blueprint is a step forward in delivering on those goals and accelerating 
the transition to a clean transportation future.”

Michael S. Regan
Administrator, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency

"The Department of Housing and Urban Development is proud to join our federal partners in 
ensuring an equitable transition toward a decarbonized transportation future. Any investments 
we make must provide opportunities for all, including the communities and households that 
have historically been underserved by our transportation sector. We look forward to working 
with our local and federal partners to make sure the built environment fully supports a clean, 
affordable, and efficient transportation sector: from planning to the construction of affordable 
housing near transit.”

Marcia Fudge
Secretary, U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development



Decarbonizing our transportation 
sector is achievable, and the benefits 

will improve the lives of Americans 
for generations to come.



CONTENTS
I. Executive Summary 2 

1. Introduction 12
a. Context & Vision 12
b. Plan & Strategy 14

2. A Whole-of-Government Approach 21
a. The Agencies 21
b. Guiding Principles 23
c. The Levers 24

3. Transportation Challenges Today 28
a. Current Status 28
b. Changing Mobility Needs 30
c. Mobility Costs and Impact of Fuel Prices 32

4. Strategies to Decarbonize Transportation 34
a. Increasing Convenience by Implementing System-Level and Design Solutions 36
b. Improving Efficiency through Mode Shift and More Efficient Vehicles 43
c. Transitioning to Clean Options by Deploying Zero-Emission Vehicles and Fuels 49

5. Applying the Strategies by Transportation Mode 56
a. Light-Duty Vehicles 58
b. Medium- and Heavy-Duty On-Road Trucks and Buses 61
c. Off-Road Vehicles and Mobile Equipment 64
d. Rail 66
e. Maritime Vessels 68
f. Aviation 71
g. Pipelines 74

6. Conclusion – A Call to Action 76

          1



2         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

The transportation sector is the largest source of 
greenhouse gas emissions in the United States, 
responsible for one-third of all emissions. To address 
the growing climate crisis, and to meet the goal of 
net-zero GHG emissions economy-wide by 2050, it is 
critical to decarbonize transportation by eliminating 
nearly all GHG emissions from the sector.1,2 

Transportation costs are the second largest household 
expense for Americans and a well-planned transition to 
a sustainable transportation future will also result in a 
more affordable and equitable transportation system, 
with improved transportation services; more mobility 
choices; improved air quality and health; greater energy 
security; better quality of life and accessibility; improved 
health outcomes; enhanced access to a variety of 
housing options, services, and amenities; well-paying 
jobs; and safer, more vibrant and resilient communities 
throughout the country. A decarbonized transportation 
system can mobilize a sustainable economy that 
benefits everyone. As our transportation system and 
communities are increasingly threatened by worsening 
climate impacts such as hurricanes, wildfires, flooding, 
heatwaves, and drought, decarbonizing the sector is 
essential to addressing this existential crisis.

The recently enacted Bipartisan Infrastructure Law 
(BIL) and Inflation Reduction Act (IRA) together 
represent historic investments in the future of our 
nation that will transform how we move and live 
while we build the backbone of a safer and more 
sustainable transportation system. This Blueprint for 
Transportation Decarbonization follows the momentum 

from those investments to crystallize a first-of-its-kind  
strategy for federal leadership and partnerships to 
decarbonize the entire U.S. transportation sector. 
Decarbonizing transportation will affect everyone, 
and solutions must address the needs of all urban, 
suburban, and rural communities; businesses of 
all sizes; and individuals and families at every 
socioeconomic level. The scope, scale, and speed of 
the shift will continue to require solutions that leverage 
market forces and private sector investments, which 
government policies and investments should jumpstart 
and guide. 

I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Decarbonizing the transportation 
sector will require multiple 
strategies and resources to deliver 
safe, effective, affordable, and 
sustainable solutions to existing 
and emerging challenges. 

1 The Long-Term Strategy published by the White House in 2021 calls for an 80-100% reduction in transportation emissions by 2050, that combined with some carbon dioxide removal, or negative 
emissions, allows achieving a net-zero-emissions economy. 
2 This Blueprint uses the term “decarbonization” to refer to all greenhouse gas emissions.



         3

Decarbonizing the transportation sector will require 
multiple strategies and resources to deliver clean, safe, 
secure, accessible, affordable, and equitable solutions 
to existing and emerging challenges. Working with 
partners to enhance land-use planning will tackle the 
problem at the root and make it appealing and practical 
for people to take fewer or shorter trips, or to walk or 
bike on those trips where that is feasible. Implementing 
large investments in rail, public transportation, and safe 
active transportation infrastructure will give people 
the option to safely use more energy-efficient forms 
of transportation. And, thanks to significant strides in 
research, development, and demonstration (RD&D), 
technologies to decarbonize most transportation 
systems are within sight and offer realistic and viable 
pathways. The electrification of cars, trucks, and buses 
and providing the necessary infrastructure to charge 
them is underway and must accelerate. Given different 
applications and requirements, decarbonizing the entire 
transportation sector will require a diverse portfolio 
of solutions and technologies. This Blueprint focuses 
on those solutions that are viable and have sufficient 
resources to scale. Additional RD&D will be needed to 
further improve certain solutions and reduce costs, but 
progress and demonstration of promising technologies 
is well underway.

COORDINATION IS NEEDED
Implementing a holistic decarbonization strategy 
will require coordinated actions from federal, 
regional, state, local, and Tribal governments; non-
profit and philanthropic organizations; and private 
industries. In recognition of our critical roles, the United 
States Department of Energy (DOE), the United States 
Department of Transportation (DOT), the United States 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), and the United 
States Department of Housing and Urban Development 
(HUD) signed a joint memorandum of understanding 
(MOU) in September of 2022 to formalize our 
commitment to the highest level of collaboration and 
coordination on transportation decarbonization. 

As an essential part of the MOU, the four agencies 
committed to creating a decarbonization strategy 
for the entire transportation sector to guide future 
policymaking and research, development, 
demonstration, and deployment in the public and 
private sectors. This Blueprint articulates that strategy 
and enumerates the actions needed to transform how 
people and goods move throughout the United States, 
all built upon five guiding principles:

 • Implement Bold Actions to Achieve  
Measurable Results: Act upon the urgency  
of the climate crisis and seize the critical 
opportunity to improve lives by prioritizing efforts 
that measurably and rapidly reduce GHG emissions 
and improve health outcomes, especially for 
overburdened communities. 

 • Embrace Creative Solutions Across the Entire 
Transportation System: Evaluate a broad set of 
solutions to reduce emissions; including battery 
electric vehicles (EVs); improved land-use planning; 
infrastructure investments; and new policies; 
technologies; and business models that support 
clean modes of travel and zero-emission vehicles, 
including battery electric, plug-in hybrid electric, 
and hydrogen fuel cell electric vehicles, for 
passengers and freight.

 • Ensure Safety, Equity, and Access: Focus 
on approaches that prioritize safety; include 
community engagement; address consumer needs 
and reduce emissions; expand accessibility and 
affordability of travel; distribute benefits more 
equitably and address disproportionate burdens; 
enhance infrastructure resiliency to a changing 
climate; and improve quality of life, health 
outcomes, and economic opportunity,  
particularly in overburdened and historically 
underserved communities.

 • Increase Collaboration: Create and support 
collaborative programs that leverage the combined 
expertise of DOE, DOT, EPA, HUD, and other federal 



4         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

partners, and expand the federal government’s 
partnerships with regional, state, local, and Tribal 
governments; private industry; community-based 
organizations; and other stakeholders. 

 • Establish U.S. Leadership: Position the U.S. 
to lead the global race to clean transportation 
solutions, creating well-paying domestic jobs, 
strengthening U.S. energy independence and 
security, and developing robust and sustainable 
new domestic and international supply chains for 
clean transportation technologies.

IMMEDIATE ACTIONS AND  
LONG-TERM PLANNING
Implementing immediate strategies that achieve 
meaningful emissions reductions this decade is 
essential to reaching our nation’s 2030 emissions 
reduction goals in line with the president’s 
commitment and the U.S. Nationally Determined 
Contribution under the Paris Agreement. We must 
work concurrently to develop solutions that will  
result in full economy-wide decarbonization by 
midcentury. This Blueprint provides a comprehensive, 
system-level perspective of the entire transportation 
system across all passenger and freight travel  
modes and fuels, and lays out three key strategies 
 to achieve decarbonization: 

1. Increase convenience by supporting community 
design and land-use planning at the local and 
regional levels that ensure that job centers, 
shopping, schools, entertainment, and essential 
services are strategically located near where people 
live to reduce commute burdens, improve walkability 
and bikeability, and improve quality of life... 

 ...Because every hour we don’t spend sitting in 
traffic is an hour we can spend focused on the 
things and the people we love, all while reducing 
GHG emissions. 

2. Improve efficiency by expanding affordable, 
accessible, efficient, and reliable options like public 
transportation and rail, and improving the efficiency 
of all vehicles... 

 ...Because everyone deserves efficient 
transportation options that will allow them to 
move around affordably and safely, and because 
consuming less energy as we move saves money, 
strengthens our national security, and reduces  
GHG emissions. 

3. Transition to clean options by deploying zero-
emission vehicles and fuels for cars, commercial 
trucks, transit, boats, airplanes, and more... 

 ...Because no one should be exposed to air pollution 
in their community or on their ride to school or work 
and eliminating GHG emissions from transportation 
is imperative to tackle the climate crisis. 

Active 
Mobility Pool Riding Vehicle Fuel

Economy
Clean 

Electricity
Sustainable

Biofuels
E-fuels

Clean 
HydrogenPlanning Telework 

E-Commerce
Public 

Transportation
Operational 
Improvement

Travel 
Demand 

Management

Rail 
& Shipping 

Convenient E�cient Clean

Improve Community Design 
and Land-use Planning 

Increase Options to Travel 
More E�ciently

 Transition to Zero Emission 
Vehicles and Fuels 

Section 2 Strategy Overview Figure 

Figure A. Summary of transportation decarbonization strategies.



         5

While the first two 
strategies—increasing 
convenience and 
improving efficiency—
will contribute to 
reducing GHG emissions 
and produce significant 
co-benefits, transitioning 
to clean options is 
expected to drive the 
majority of emissions 
reductions. Given the 
broad array of vehicle 
types, technologies, 
and usage patterns, a 
successful transition will 
require various vehicle 
and fuel solutions and 
must consider full life-
cycle emissions. This 
Blueprint focuses on each major transportation mode 
and identifies specific decarbonization opportunities 
and challenges, highlighting the role of various clean 
technologies for various applications. 

To achieve a decarbonized transportation sector, the 
four agencies and our partners will need to deploy 
and leverage the full extent of our tools, expertise, and 
resources, such as: 

• Policy and Regulation: The federal government, 
along with regional, state, local, and Tribal 
governments, and with international partners and 

allies, can use a variety of policy and regulatory 
levers, including long-term planning, standards, 
and coordinated procurement to support 
decarbonization of the transportation sector. 

• Investments and Financing: All levels of 
government and the private sector can support 
decarbonization through strategic investments 
to deploy infrastructure and support 
manufacturing that accelerate 
the transition to cleaner, 
active, and more 

BATTERY/ELECTRIC HYDROGEN SUSTAINABLE
LIQUID FUELS

Light Duty Vehicles (49%)*

Medium, Short-Haul Heavy Trucks & Buses (~14%)

Long-Haul Heavy Trucks (~7%)

O�-road (10%)

Rail (2%)

Maritime (3%) 

Aviation (11%)

Pipelines (4%)

Additional Opportunities

RD&D Priorities

• Stationary battery use
• Grid support (managed
   EV charging) 

• National battery strategy
• Charging infrastructure  
• Grid integration
• Battery recycling 

• Heavy industries
• Grid support 
• Feedstock for chemicals 
   and fuels

• Decarbonize 
   plastics/chemicals
• Bio-products

• Electrolyzer costs
• Fuel cell durability 
   and cost
• Clean hydrogen 
   infrastructure

• Multiple cost-e�ective   
   drop-in sustainable fuels
• Reduce ethanol 
   carbon intensity
• Bioenergy scale-up

TBD TBD

TBD

 * All emissions shares are for 2019                                                                                                                        Includes hydrogen for ammonia and methanol

1 icon represents limited long-term opportunity
2 icons represents large long-term opportunity
3 icons represents greatest long-term opportunity

Figure: Section 4C Improving Vehicles and Fuels

Figure B. Summary of vehicle improvement strategies and technology solutions for different travel modes 
that are needed to reach a net-zero economy in 2050 (more details provided in Section 5).



6         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

efficient modes of transportation and vehicles and 
facilitate the transition to zero-emission vehicles 
and sustainable fuels. 

• Research and Innovation: All levels of 
government, the private sector, and philanthropy 
can focus resources on RD&D to identify and 
scale technologies and tools that will achieve 
decarbonization. Reducing the cost of clean energy 
transportation technologies will be required to  
drive the scale and pace of adoption needed for 
sector-wide decarbonization and to achieve market 
pull to accelerate deployment. 

• Data and Tools: Complete and comprehensive 
information is needed for the public and decision 
makers to understand the benefits of clean 
mobility options and the implications for energy, 
infrastructure, the economy, and our environment. 

• Education and Training: Workforce training and 
education are essential to support a transition to 
diverse and well-paying clean transportation sector 
careers. Expanded training opportunities will be 
especially important for residents and businesses in 
disadvantaged communities3.  
 

• Stakeholder Engagement and Public-Private 
Partnerships: Stakeholder engagement that 
ensures representation from traditionally 
underrepresented, overburdened, and 
underserved communities across all the proposed 
strategies in this Blueprint will be essential to 
achieving an equitable transportation future. 
Partnerships among regional, state, local, 
and Tribal governments, with disadvantaged 
communities, the private sector, and philanthropic 
organizations, will also be critical. All levels of 
government need to align their efforts and work 
with private industry and community stakeholders 
to support sustained and targeted actions. 

A CALL TO ACTION
This Blueprint, which is an important step toward a 
decarbonized transportation future, will be followed 
by more detailed decarbonization Action Plans. The 
agencies will develop and implement the Action Plans 
and will work with other federal agencies, governments 
at the regional, state, local, and Tribal levels, 
philanthropic organizations, the private sector, and with 
global partners to achieve the following milestones:

3 As set forth in Executive Order 14008 on Tackling the Climate Crisis at Home and Abroad, disadvantaged communities are those that are marginalized, underserved, and overburdened by pollution. 
For more detail on specific indicators, see the Council on Environmental Quality’s Climate and Economic Justice Screening tool.

https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/CEQ-CEJST-QandA.pdf


         7

Before 2030 – Turning the Tide on Transportation GHGs:  
Research and Investments to Support Deployment

Maximize the impact of the historic BIL/IRA investments and catalyze collaboration and private investments

Partner with local communities to develop and demonstrate effective, equitable, and scalable local or 
regional land-use and planning solutions to increase convenience and reduce emissions by making it 
possible for people to take fewer or shorter trips Provide best practices, data, tools, and technical assistance 
on system-level design solutions to increase convenience and reduce emissions

Work with public and private sector partners to identify and advance solutions for a more equitable and 
healthier transportation system including support for transit-oriented development

Support land-use, street design, and development policies that make walking and biking easier, safer,  
and more convenient

Reduce national transportation cost burden by at least 5% by 2030 REF

Invest in rail, public transportation, and active transportation infrastructure to provide the option to use more 
affordable and energy-efficient forms of transportation 

Provide incentives to support greater use of efficient travel modes and vehicles and reduce the 
transportation cost burden on disadvantaged communities. Continue to strengthen standards to improve 
vehicle efficiency 

Set clear, ambitious but achievable targets across all travel modes (e.g., sales shares of zero-emission 
vehicles, volumes of sustainable fuels, emissions reduction targets)

Work with international partners to define targets, infrastructure standards, and implementation plans to 
encourage international shipping and aviation to rapidly decarbonize 

Invest in research and innovation to further develop and demonstrate clean technologies (e.g., achieve 
battery, hydrogen electrolysis, and sustainable fuel cost targets) and enable seamless integration with 
energy systems

Continue and expand funding and market incentives to accelerate the uptake of low- or zero-emission 
vehicles and invest in supporting infrastructure (e.g., vehicle rebates and EV charging infrastructure), 
especially in low-income and overburdened communities

Develop a robust workforce including by engaging residents and businesses in disadvantaged communities 
and secure domestic and international supply chain solutions to ensure the U.S. can manufacture enough 
clean vehicles and fuels to meet rapidly growing demand

https://www.transportation.gov/sites/dot.gov/files/2022-04/US_DOT_FY2022-26_Strategic_Plan.pdf


8         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

2030-2040 – Accelerating Change: Scaling Up Deployment of Clean Solutions 
Adapt strategies and implementation plans in response to global events,  

consumer response, and technology progress

Continue to implement land-use and planning solutions and policies at the appropriate scale while ensuring 
transportation infrastructure is equitable and resilient to a changing climate

Administer forward-looking policy to maximize the positive impact of transformative technologies, like 
automation, in terms of quality of life and emissions

Continue to invest in and encourage greater use of efficient travel modes for passenger and freight to 
optimize travel and freight logistics and improve fuel economy

Leverage technologies and innovative business models to enable multimodal and shared travel 

Continue to strengthen standards to further improve vehicle efficiency

Transition all new vehicles sales to zero-emission technologies and scale up production and use  
of sustainable fuels

Ensure infrastructure needed to support clean technologies is in place (e.g., EV charging,  
clean hydrogen and sustainable fuel refueling) and is fully integrated in the energy systems

Continue to build resilient supply chains, expand infrastructure, and implement a robust workforce 
development strategy to enable a full transition to zero-emission solutions 

2040-2050 – Completing the Transition: A Sustainable and Equitable Future
Ensure that no one is left behind and do our part to achieve a net-zero-emissions economy 

Continue to support the implementation of equitable regional or local land-use and planning solutions and 
policies to reduce emissions and achieve net-zero-emissions goals

Fully leverage the system-wide potential for efficient travel modes like rail, transit, and shared  
multimodal mobility and maximize vehicle efficiency

Support fleet turnover to fully replace legacy vehicles and petroleum infrastructure with clean  
zero-emission solutions

Fully integrate the clean transportation and clean energy systems to ensure reliable operations of mobility, 
freight, and energy supply and delivery networks

The above efforts will complement and support the various GHG emissions reduction goals and targets the nation 
has committed to:



         9

Transportation  
Mode

Share of Current 
Transportation 

Emissions
Federal GHG Emissions Reduction Goals

Light-Duty Vehicles
49%

• Achieve 50% of new vehicle sales being zero-emission by 
2030 supporting a pathway for full adoption, and ensure 
that new internal combustion engine vehicles are as 
efficient as possible

• Deploy 500,000 EV chargers by 2030 REF

• Ensure 100% federal fleet procurement be zero-emission 
by 2027 REF

Medium and Heavy-
Duty Trucks and Buses

21%

• Aim to have 30% of new vehicle sales be zero-emission  
by 2030 and 100% by 2040 REF

• Ensure 100% federal fleet procurement is zero-emission  
by 2035 REF

Off-road
10%

• Work to establish specific targets
• Focus resources to develop technology pathways  

and set efficiency and zero-emissions vehicle and 
equipment targets

Rail
2%

• Work to establish specific targets
• Focus resources to develop technology pathways and  

set efficiency and zero-emissions vehicle targets
• Encourage greater use for passenger and freight travel  

to reduce emissions from road vehicles

Maritime 3% 

• Continue to support the Zero-Emission Shipping Mission 
(ZESM) goals to ensure that 5% of the global deep-sea 
fleet are capable of using zero-emission fuels by 2030, at 
least 200 of these ships primarily use these fuels across 
the main deep sea shipping route, and 10 large trade ports 
covering at least three continents can supply zero-emission 
fuels by 2030 REF

• Support the U.S. domestic maritime sector by performing 
more RD&D into sustainable fuels and technologies and 
incentivize U.S. commercial vessel operators to move 
towards lower GHG emissions

• Work with countries in the International Maritime 
Organization to adopt a goal of achieving zero emissions 
from international shipping by 2050 REF

Aviation 11%

• Reduce aviation emissions by 20% by 2030 when 
compared to a business-as-usual scenario

• Achieve net-zero GHG emissions from the U.S. aviation 
sector by 2050

• Catalyze the production of at least three billion gallons 
of SAF per year by 2030 and ~35 billion gallons by 2050, 
enough to supply the entire sector REF

EMISSIONS Activity

Energy Intensity

Carbon Intensity

=
X

X

https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/12/13/fact-sheet-the-biden-harris-electric-vehicle-charging-action-plan/
https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/presidential-actions/2021/12/08/executive-order-on-catalyzing-clean-energy-industries-and-jobs-through-federal-sustainability/
https://globaldrivetozero.org/2022/11/16/cop27-usa-growing-number-nations-sign-global-mou/
https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/presidential-actions/2021/12/08/executive-order-on-catalyzing-clean-energy-industries-and-jobs-through-federal-sustainability/
http://mission-innovation.net/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/Zero-Emission-Shipping-Mission-Action-Plan.pdf
https://www.state.gov/remarks-at-how-ocean-solutions-contribute-to-net-zero/
https://www.faa.gov/sites/faa.gov/files/2021-11/Aviation_Climate_Action_Plan.pdf


10         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

Climate strategies must also help communities fulfill 
their equity and environmental justice responsibilities. 
Overburdened and historically underserved communities 
continue to bear the economic and health burdens of 
higher emissions, noise, and worsened air quality, and 
it is critical that these communities are not left behind 
in the transition to a decarbonized economy, as called 
for in the President’s Justice40 Initiative (see textbox on 
page 16). Strategies that combat the climate crisis have 
the ability to strengthen all communities and ensure 
that infrastructure investments will address current and 
future needs and avoid the unequal impacts of the 
past. Moreover, we must ensure that our investments 
in low-carbon solutions build resilience to the impacts 
of climate change that disproportionately affect 
some communities. Building a clean, safe, secure, 
accessible, affordable, equitable, and decarbonized 
transportation system will ultimately deliver significant 
co-benefits to all communities. 

Many aspects of consumer decisions and business 
actions will shape the strategies in this Blueprint, and 
the strategies themselves will continue to be influenced 

by evolving macroeconomic trends, technological 
progress, behavioral changes, and other factors. 
Therefore, this Blueprint should not be viewed as 
static. To effectively address the climate crisis, we 
must be able to adjust course and act quickly to meet 
the decarbonization goals outlined here. With the 
resources available in the BIL and the IRA, a path 
to achieving our climate goals and avoiding climate 
catastrophe is clearer than ever. But realizing these 
goals and doing so in a way that maximizes equity 
and environmental justice will require careful planning 
and decisive coordinated actions. Our agencies are 
committed to meeting our nation’s goals, and we 
call on other stakeholders to help us. Success will 
require unprecedented coordination among every 
level of government, private industry, community-
based organizations, stakeholder groups, and all 
Americans. Decarbonizing our transportation sector is 
achievable, and the benefits will improve the lives of 
Americans for generations to come. 

The time to act is now.

Pipelines

4%

• Work to establish specific targets
• By 2036, repair or replace 1,000 miles of high-risk, leak-

prone, community-owned legacy gas distribution pipeline 
infrastructure, as well as an estimated reduction of 1,000 
metric tons of methane emissions REF

• Eliminate leakages and enable use of pipelines for clean 
sustainable fuels

Total Sector 100% • 80–100% Emissions Reductions by 2050 (in line with the 
U.S. LTS)

EMISSIONS Activity

Energy Intensity

Carbon Intensity

=
X

X

https://www.transportation.gov/sites/dot.gov/files/2022-04/US_DOT_FY2022-26_Strategic_Plan.pdf


         11

On November 15, 2021, President Biden signed the 
Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act, also known as 
the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL), into law. The 
BIL is the first infrastructure law in U.S. history that 
acknowledges and addresses the climate crisis and 
has a dedicated climate title, and it invests $660 billion 
into transportation systems and technologies over five 
years. On August 16, 2022, President Biden signed the 
Inflation Reduction Act (IRA) into law, representing the 
most aggressive action on tackling the climate crisis in 
U.S. history. 

Together, the BIL and IRA represent a once-in-a-
generation investment in infrastructure, technology, 
and supply chains, giving us an opportunity to guide 
our economy toward safer, more sustainable actions 
than ever before. Combined, these laws are projected 
to lower economy-wide emissions more than 40% by 
2030, relative to 2005 levels, positioning us to achieve 
the goal of a 50-52% emissions reduction by the end 
of the decade REF, REF. In the transportation sector, these 
investments include historic levels of funding for transit, 

rail, and active transportation, buildouts of EV charging 
and sustainable fuel infrastructure, new and improved 
clean vehicle and fuels tax credits, sustainable aviation 
fuel tax credits, rebates for clean school buses and 
trucks, clean ports, investments along the EV and battery 
supply chains, and more. While BIL and IRA equip us 
with many of the appropriate tools for decarbonizing the 
transportation sector, implementation will be critical. 

By 2030, BIL and IRA will drive substantial adoption of 
new zero-emission vehicles and sustainable fuels and 
support large-scale GHG emissions reductions. The 
degree of impact will also depend on choices made by 
regional, state, local, and Tribal recipients of BIL funding, 
as well as market evolution and technology development 
and deployment by the private sector. We intend to 
closely collaborate with the entities involved. Achieving 
our climate goals will not only require implementing the 
BIL and IRA to maximize their decarbonization, equity, 
and other benefits, but also taking action beyond these 
pieces of legislation, as identified in the MOU  
and this Blueprint. 

THE BIPARTISAN INFRASTRUCTURE 
LAW AND INFLATION REDUCTION ACT 

TO EFFECTIVELY ADDRESS 
THE CLIMATE CRISIS
we must be able to adjust course 
and act quickly to meet the 
decarbonization goals  
outlined here. 

EMISSIONS Activity

Energy Intensity

Carbon Intensity

=
X

X

https://www.energy.gov/sites/default/files/2022-08/8.18%20InflationReductionAct_Factsheet_Final.pdf
https://www.energy.gov/articles/doe-projects-monumental-emissions-reduction-inflation-reduction-act


12         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

A. CONTEXT & VISION
In November 2021, the Biden-Harris administration 
published The Long-Term Strategy (LTS) of the  
United States, a visionary climate strategy that 
outlines a plan to tackle the growing climate crisis 
by decarbonizing our national economy. The LTS 
established a goal of net-zero GHG emissions by no 
later than 2050 with an interim, near-term milestone 
of a 50–52% reduction from 2005 levels in economy-
wide net GHGs by 2030. Addressing the climate crisis 
is critical for the long-term health and well-being of 
every resident of the United States and will require 
rapid, widespread, and major transformations of many 
complex systems that are closely intertwined with 
our economy and way of life. Achieving a net-zero-
emissions economy by 2050 involves aggressive 
curbing of emissions from all sectors (see Figure 1), 
including transportation, which is now the largest 
source of U.S. GHGs—about a third of all domestic 
emissions. In the LTS, transportation emissions are 
projected to reduce by 80–100% by 2050.

The rising temperatures and increases in wildfires, 
droughts, and severe weather that are the direct 

impacts of climate change are already stressing the 
nation’s transportation system. The results over the 
past few years are evident, for example, in the sections 
of California’s Highway 1 that collapsed into the ocean 

1. INTRODUCTION
“In the United States and around the world, we are already feeling the impacts of a changing 
climate. Here at home, in 2021 alone we have seen historic droughts and wildfires in the 
West, unprecedented storms and flooding in the Southeast, and record heatwaves across 
the country. We see the same devastating evidence around the world in places like the fire-
ravaged Amazon, the sweltering urban center of Delhi, and the shrinking coastlines of island 
nations like Tuvalu. The science is clear: we are headed toward climate disaster unless we 
achieve net-zero global emissions by midcentury. We also know this crisis presents vast 
opportunities to build a better economy, create millions of good-paying jobs, clean our waters 
and air, and ensure all Americans can live healthier, safer, stronger lives.”

The Long-Term Strategy of the United States, November 2021

Figure 1. The path to economy-wide decarbonization entails 
electricity emissions and emissions from transportation, buildings, 
and industry falling dramatically in all scenarios, with the greatest 
reductions coming from electricity, followed by transportation, and 
growth in non-land sink carbon dioxide removals (Source: LTS).

Figure: Section 1a  

0.0

1.0

2.0

2005 2020 2050

TRANSPORTATION
BUILDINGS
INDUSTRY
ELECTRICITY
CDR

EN
ER

GY
 EM

ISS
IO

NS
 (G

IG
AT

ON
S C

O 2)



         13

and forced officials to close the highway for more than 
a year and in the increased flooding in the New York 
City subway system. In Alaska, melting permafrost 
has buckled roads and bridges in areas that were 
previously frozen year-round. Flooding in the Gulf Coast 
halted rail service after Hurricane Harvey, and floods in 
Michigan shut down metropolitan highways for days. 
In Texas, a deadly ice storm led to several fatalities on 
I-35, while wildfires in California burned nearly 4,000 
structures and mudslides in Colorado stranded more 
than 100 motorists overnight. Heat waves in the Pacific 
Northwest melted streetcar power cables in Portland. 
Deadly floods have occurred in eastern Kentucky, and 
hurricane winds knocked out power in all of Puerto 
Rico. Florida experienced its deadliest hurricane since 
the 1930s. 

Without successfully decarbonizing the economy  
and fortifying the nation’s infrastructure, impacts of 
climate change are projected to worsen and yield 
a substantial cost of inaction, potentially up to $2 
trillion annually or 10% of gross domestic product 
(GDP) by the end of the century REF. The urgency is 
high, and the time to act is now. Transforming our 
transportation system, while challenging, is possible 
with a dedicated, coordinated effort. Doing so provides 
an unprecedented opportunity to tackle climate change, 
while improving quality of life; making mobility safer 
and more affordable; and creating vibrant, sustainable, 
healthy, resilient, and equitable communities. 

In response to the urgency of the moment, the 
Department of Energy (DOE), the Department of 
Transportation (DOT), the Environmental Protection 
Agency (EPA), and the Department of Housing and 
Urban Development (HUD) are coordinating actions 
toward a decarbonized sustainable transportation 
future, starting with a memorandum of understanding 
(MOU) and this Blueprint. These agencies directly 
influence transportation decisions through policy, 
regulation, collaboration, and investments in innovation 

and RD&D of new technologies and infrastructure. 
This Blueprint is the first comprehensive, whole-
of-government approach to decarbonizing the 
transportation sector that aligns decision-making 
among agencies and identifies new and innovative 
opportunities for collaboration that are critical to 
achieving our shared vision of a future decarbonized 
transportation system. The agencies provide guiding 
principles and strategies described here to shape future 
federal policies and actions direct the development and 
implementation of practical and effective pathways for 
all four agencies and our partners. This document will 
serve as a guide for other stakeholders, including other 
government agencies, local communities, the private 
sector, and philanthropic organizations, providing a 
united and consistent message on decarbonizing the 
transportation sector.

The Blueprint builds on and complements the LTS, 
which serves as a guidepost to determine the 
pathways for transportation, as part of a broader, U.S. 
economy-wide solution to the climate crisis. Following 
the Blueprint’s release, the agencies will publish 
addenda detailing specific actions that each agency 
can take to enable and accelerate decarbonization 
across all transport modes and fuels. This Blueprint, 
and the addenda that will follow, are the beginning 
of a process that will continue to evolve over time. 
Consumer decisions, business actions, and evolving 
macroeconomic trends will shape the implementation 
of these strategies. To effectively address the climate 
crisis, we must be able to adjust course and act 
quickly to meet our goals through the decarbonization 
pathways outlined here.

The urgency is high, and the time to act 
is now. Transforming our transportation 
system, while challenging, is possible 
with a dedicated, coordinated effort. 

https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/OMB_Climate_Risk_Exposure_2022.pdf


14         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

B. PLAN & STRATEGY
The emissions from transportation are the result 
of three interrelated factors, all of which must be 
addressed to achieve significant emissions  
reductions, while yielding significant co-benefits  
and advancing equity: 
1. Transportation system design and land use – 

Homes, workplaces, and services are often  
located far apart from one another. When people 
have limited transportation choices, or less 
accessible and efficient options, it can take them 
even more time to address their daily needs.  
The spatial mismatch between jobs, housing,  
and services is especially pronounced in 
disadvantaged communities. 

2. Vehicle and engine efficiency – While vehicle 
efficiency has improved greatly over the last several 
decades, further improvements are needed to meet 
decarbonization goals. 

3. High-GHG fuels – Petroleum provides nearly all 
energy used in transportation today. This reliance 
on petroleum is a major energy security concern 
and driver of transportation emissions. 

Decarbonizing the transportation sector will require 
strategies and actions that approach the problem 
from all angles. Working with local partners to enhance 
land-use planning and coordinate public and private 
sector investments will tackle the problem at the root 
and make it possible for people to take fewer or shorter 
trips, or make it easier to walk and bike on those trips. 
This will both improve equity and provide better access 
to goods and services with less travel required for 
rural, suburban, and urban communities. Investments 
in passenger rail, public transportation, and active 
transportation infrastructure will give people the option 
to use more energy-efficient forms of transportation. 
And, thanks to significant strides in research and 
innovation, the technologies to decarbonize most 

transportation systems are within sight and offer 
realistic and viable pathways to replace fossil fuels with 
sustainable solutions. 

This Blueprint focuses on continued, coordinated RD&D 
and deployment efforts from multiple stakeholders 
to enable widespread and equitable deployment of 
solutions that are viable, affordable, and that have 
sufficient resources to scale. It also allows for the 
development of missing solutions via innovation and 
demonstration. We identify several enabling catalysts, 
such as policies that encourage increased convenience 
in our communities, transit and efficient mobility, vehicle 

Achieving meaningful reductions in 
emissions this decade is essential 
in reaching the near-term emissions 
reductions goals and enabling a 
pathway to reach net-zero  
emissions economy-wide by 2050. 



         15

electrification, and availability of sustainable fuels. 
We can pair these actions with continued growth in 
research and technology deployment and coordination 
with the wide-ranging community to shape our 
transportation future. This will allow the United States to 
achieve our ambitious climate goals and improve lives. 
We envision a future mobility system that is clean, 
safe, secure, accessible, affordable, and equitable, 
and provides decarbonized transportation options 
for people and goods. 

Achieving this vision will require actionable strategies 
that result in a major transformation of how people 
and goods move in the United States, including the 
modes of travel chosen and the fuels used. This 
transformation is already underway, and consumers 
and businesses have started to adopt new clean 
technologies, but the trend needs to accelerate 
dramatically both in scale and scope. It is essential 
to make meaningful reductions in emissions this 
decade to reach near-term emissions reductions 
goals and enable a pathway to reach net-zero-
emissions economy-wide by 2050. 

The strategies outlined in this Blueprint emphasize 
existing commercially available solutions or 
technologies that are currently under advanced 
development and can be deployed in the near term. 
Additional RD&D will be needed to further improve 
certain solutions and reduce costs, but progress and 
demonstration are well underway. Some of these 

solutions will result in immediate emissions reductions 
while others will require a longer time to implement, 
with impacts that will be observed over the decades  
to come. We must act now to implement near-term  
and longer-term solutions that reduce GHG emissions 
from transportation. 

Accordingly, this Blueprint’s vision will guide and 
inform agencies’ policy and decision-making across a 
wide range of activities, including regulatory standard 
development, infrastructure investments, grants 
and technical assistance, research and innovation, 
evaluation, and deployment. This Blueprint can also 
serve to guide other decision-makers, including 
federal, regional, state, local, and Tribal governments; 
the private sector, academia, and community-based 
organizations; and non-profit, grassroots, and 
philanthropic organizations toward decarbonized 
transportation solutions. Our vision for a transformed 
transportation sector not only minimizes GHG and 
pollutant emissions but also ensures improvements 
towards a safe, affordable, and equitable system that 
provides better access to clean transportation options 
for all communities. Transportation systems must 
support resilience to the impacts of climate change, 
create new domestic jobs and economic opportunities,  
bring co-benefits to communities, and position the 
United States to lead the global race to 
clean energy and transportation 
technologies adoption. 



16         Decarbonizing Transportation: A Blueprint For Change

4 Ewing, Reid, Rolf Pendall, and Don Chen. "Measuring sprawl and its transportation impacts." Transportation research record 1831.1 (2003): 175-183.
Howell, Amanda, et al. "Transportation impacts of affordable housing." Journal of Transport and Land Use 11.1 (2018): 103-118.
5 Rothstein, R. (2018). The color of law. Liveright Publishing Corporation.
6 Van Wee, Bert. "Land use and transport: research and policy challenges." Journal of transport geography 10.4 (2002): 259-271.; Litman, Todd. "Evaluating transportation land use impacts." (2008).

The benefits and costs of transportation systems in 
the United States have historically been unequally 
distributed. American transportation systems 
have disproportionally impacted underserved or 
overburdened communities REF, REF. Low- and medium-
income and minority households tend to have less 
access to personal vehicles and fewer transportation 
options that connect them to housing, employment 
centers and other services and amenities. Historical 
underfunding of public transportation has deprioritized 
or neglected enhancements in public transportation 
quality in the communities that need it most, leading to 
longer travel times and constrained mobility options. 
These communities are often underfunded in other 
infrastructure areas, including sidewalks, bike lanes, 
and EV chargers, further constraining residents’ 
transportation options. 

Communities that are overburdened and historically 
underserved are also exposed to a disproportionate 
amount of air pollution and environmental hazards, 
including the release of toxic pollutants from petroleum 
refineries and petrochemical facilities, which 
exacerbates existing health and economic inequities. 
Additionally, the financial burden of transportation 
as a percentage of income is almost three-times 
higher for households in the bottom income quintile 
compared to the top quintile REF. 

These disproportionate impacts are reinforced by a long 
history of federal, state, and local policies that have 
shaped our transportation system. In many cities and 
towns, exclusionary practices such as redlining and other 
discriminatory housing policies led to racially segregated 
neighborhoods, with areas with predominantly 
minority populations tending to suffer from chronic 
underinvestment. While investments in amenities were 
disproportionately directed to wealthier areas, highways 
were in many cases intentionally routed through existing 
neighborhoods, damaging the character and economies 
of those communities, and affecting the wellbeing of 
residents due to long-lasting effects from worsened air 
quality, increased heat and noise pollution, and physical 
barriers to opportunity and mobility. 

In some places, housing policies and land-use decisions 
have reinforced the transportation barriers.4 For 
example, disjointed housing and transportation policies 
over the past decades have impeded access to safe and 
reliable transportation options and hindered travel to 
critical destinations—including work, schools, grocery 
stores, and health care facilities—leading to increased 
transportation and housing cost burdens.5 Further, 
many communities’ land-use codes or development 
processes have failed to provide sufficient affordable 
housing, thereby excluding low-income and moderate-
income residents. In many instances, these communities 
can lift exclusionary barriers, invest more in affordable 
housing, and link those investments to enhancements 
in public transportation and a viable mix of travel 
options.6 Additionally, communities of color have often 
been passed over for infrastructure wealth-creation 
opportunities such as jobs, careers, and the use of 
minority-owned contractors.

The federal government is committed to the Justice40 
initiative, which establishes the goal that at least 40% 
of the benefits of certain federal investments flow 
to disadvantaged communities REF. As investments in 
cleaner transportation solutions increase, it will be 
important to ensure that disadvantaged communities 
reap the benefit of those investments, including jobs and 
business opportunities. It will be necessary to balance 
community priorities as potential federal investments 
are considered. Strategies should avoid resident 
displacement and address the need for quality affordable 
housing near transit or other affordable and convenient 
transportation options. Federal investments in the clean 
energy economy can lead to decreased consumer 
costs, increased access to clean transportation, 
improved public health, new business and workforce 
opportunities, and enhanced community resiliency 
REF. Meaningful public involvement is critical to realize 
these goals, including early and proactive discussions 
with communities to develop plans and programs. 
Decarbonizing the transportation sector while addressing 
equity will be key to ensuring our future transportation 
infrastructure results in better outcomes for everyone, 
particularly residents of disadvantaged communities.

ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE AND EQUITY

https://hrlr.law.columbia.edu/hrlr/the-road-to-racial-justice-resolving-the-disproportionate-health-burden-placed-on-communities-of-color-by-highway-pollution/
https://ascelibrary.org/doi/abs/10.1061/9780784483541.038
https://data.bts.gov/stories/s/ida7-k95k#transportation-expenditures-and-income
https://www.whitehouse.gov/environmentaljustice/justice40/
https://publications.anl.gov/anlpubs/2022/05/175535.pdf


         17

Achieving a net-zero economy 
by 2050 will require major 
transformations across 
all sectors and effective 
integration between them. 
The Inventory of U.S. 
Greenhouse Gas Emissions 
and Sinks, which EPA 
publishes annually, provides 
detailed accounting of GHG 
emissions across the U.S. 
economy REF. The sources 
of GHG emissions for 2019 
are shown in Figure 2, along 
with additional detail for the 
transportation sector.7 This 
Blueprint focuses on reducing 
emissions from the use phase 
of the transportation sector 
(the blue slice in Figure 
2). Analyses throughout this 
Blueprint will use 2019 as a baseline, as impacts due to the COVID-19 pandemic complicate the use of later data.

Transportation is closely interconnected with other sectors of the economy. For example, EVs rely on electricity 
generation and will have different implications for manufacturing relative to manufacturing of internal combustion 
engine vehicles. Specific strategies to reduce full life-cycle emissions associated with transportation activities are not 
addressed in this document, but they are needed to achieve a decarbonized economy. They are the focus of other 
government-wide initiatives that will affect this Blueprint’s implementation.

Figure: Section 1B Plan

2019 U.S. GHG EMISSIONS

33%
Transportation

25%
Electric Power

22%
Industry

11%
Buildings

9%
Agriculture 49% Light Duty Vehicles

21% Medium & Heavy Vehicles 
(including Trucks and Buses)

10% O� Road Vehicles and Equipment
2% Rail

3% Maritime
11% Aviation

4% Other (Pipeline/Military/Lubricants)

Aviation and Maritime include emissions from international aviation and maritime transport. 
Fractions may not add up to 100% due to rounding.

7 The U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks report shows transportation as responsible for 29% of all U.S. emissions in 2019. Figure 2 includes mobile source 
emissions in the off-road category and fuels for international travel which are included elsewhere in the GHG Inventory report. For further discussion of what is 
included in each specific sector, see the Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks report, and section 3 of this report.
8 The off-road vehicles and equipment category in Figure 2 includes some mobile source emissions that are reported in the U.S. GHG Inventory report as part of the 
Commercial and Industrial sectors. Figure 2 also includes international maritime and aviation fuels.

Figure 2. Total 2019 U.S. GHG emissions with transportation and mobile sources breakdown. Data 
derived from the EPA Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks REF.8 This Blueprint uses 
2019 as a baseline since impacts due to COVID-19 complicate the use of later data.

https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/inventory-us-greenhouse-gas-emissions-and-sinks
https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/inventory-us-greenhouse-gas-emissions-and-sinks


18         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

This Blueprint focuses on the direct transportation 
emissions from the use phase of transportation 
vehicles and systems, but our vision considers full 
life-cycle emissions reductions and recognizes that 
the transportation sector also induces additional GHG 
emissions from the production and end-of-life phases. 
These include GHG emissions from fuel production 
and processing; vehicle manufacturing and disposal; 
and construction, maintenance, and disposal of 
transportation infrastructure. Transportation systems 
contribute to climate pollution at a variety of points and 
full life-cycle transportation GHG emissions need to 
be considered and addressed. The carbon emissions 
from the full life-cycle of a product or service—often 
referred to as “embodied carbon”—are significant, 
although they are not included in the 33% of economy-
wide emissions attributed to the transportation 
sector in Figure 2. Decarbonizing those sectors of 
our economy is the focus of other government-wide 
initiatives that complement this Blueprint. In particular, 
many transportation decarbonization solutions rely on 
electricity directly or indirectly (such as the production 
of hydrogen or certain sustainable fuels). Achieving 

100% clean electricity by 2035, largely through new  
solar and wind energy development, will be a critical  
co-strategy to support transportation decarbonization REF.

For example, according to America’s Cement 
Manufacturers, over the next five years, spending 
from the BIL alone will result in the use of 18.63 million 
metric tons (MMT) of cement for roads and bridges, 5.78 
MMT for airports, 2.99 MMT for ports and waterways, 
and 0.31 MMT for rail and transit. About 0.5-0.6 tons 
of carbon dioxide (CO2) is emitted per ton of cement 
produced, so cement used in projects funded by the BIL 
will result in about 15.2 MMT of CO2 emissions REF, REF. 
This is equivalent to the emissions from about  
3.3 million gasoline-powered vehicles driving for a  
year. Reaching the goal of net-zero GHG emissions 
by 2050 requires addressing the GHG emissions 
associated with the production and end-of-life phases 
of fuels, vehicles, and transportation infrastructure 
and systems, both directly through procuring lower-
carbon materials and indirectly by employing more 
sustainable construction practices, including leveraging 
digitalization and e-construction. 

LIFE-CYCLE EMISSIONS AND EMBODIED CARBON

Figure: Section 1b, new concept

USE PHASE END-OF-LIFEPRODUCTION

https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy22osti/81644.pdf
https://www.cement.org/docs/default-source/cement-concrete-applications/ed-sullivan's-fall-forecast-2021.pdf?sfvrsn=cbe0fcbf_2
https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/7f8aed40-89af-4348-be19-c8a67df0b9ea/Energy_Technology_Perspectives_2020_PDF.pdf


         19

This Blueprint provides a comprehensive, system-level perspective covering the 
entire transportation sector across all passenger and freight travel modes and fuels, 
and lays out a three-pronged strategy for a transition to a sustainable transportation 
future, all centered around providing better options to increase convenience, 
improve efficiency, and transition to clean options:

INCREASE CONVENIENCE 
by supporting community design and land-use planning at the local 
or regional level that ensure that job centers, shopping, schools, 
entertainment, and essential services are strategically located near 
where people live to reduce commute burdens, improve walkability 
and bikeability, and improve quality of life...
...Because every hour we don’t spend sitting in traffic is an hour we 
can spend focused on the things and the people we love, all while 
reducing GHG emissions. 

IMPROVE EFFICIENCY 
by expanding affordable, accessible, efficient, and 
reliable options like public transportation and rail, 
and improving the efficiency of all vehicles... 
...Because everyone deserves efficient transportation 
options that will allow them to move around 
affordably and safely, and because consuming less 
energy as we move saves money, strengthens our 
national security, and reduces GHG emissions. 

TRANSITION TO CLEAN OPTIONS 
by deploying zero-emission vehicles and fuels for 
cars, commercial trucks, transit, boats, airplanes, 
and more... 

...Because no one should be exposed to air pollution 
in their community or on their ride to school or work 
and eliminating GHG emissions from transportation 
is imperative to tackle the climate crisis. 

1

2 3

EMISSIONS Activity

Energy Intensity

Carbon Intensity

=
X

X

EMISSIONS Activity

Energy Intensity

Carbon Intensity

=
X

X

EMISSIONS Activity

Energy Intensity

Carbon Intensity

=
X

X



20         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

These solutions, which may take time to implement, 
will provide critical co-benefits such as improved safety 
and quality of life, and while they are not sufficient 
to reach our net-zero goals, they are essential to 
offsetting expected increase in travel demand driven 
by population and economic growth. It will also be 
important to improve system and vehicle efficiency, 
while supporting greater use of more efficient travel 
modes such as rail and transit. Absent solutions to 
increase convenience and improve efficiency, we will 
see the undesirable outcomes of travel amplified—
more and longer trips needed to support day-to-day 
activities; long hours spent sitting in traffic on the daily 
commute; and higher expenses for gasoline, vehicle 
maintenance, and other costs. 

A transition to clean options that involves the rapid 
and widespread deployment of clean vehicle and fuel 
technologies is critical to achieving deep emissions 
reductions by mid-century. Agency-led efforts are 
crucial to tying these strategies to necessary policies 
and partnerships and to further incentivize innovation 
where it is most needed to accelerate the pace of 
deployment. Collaboratively focusing on solutions 
ranging from system-level design integrations 
to investments in new technologies will allow all 
Americans to benefit from improved mobility options in 
the equitable and decarbonized transportation 
sector of the future.

It is essential to implement design solutions that increase convenience, 
provide better access to clean modes of travel, and support demand 
management policies that make it easier and more convenient to choose 
more efficient travel options. 

Coordination of  
effort across all three of these 
areas will be necessary to achieve 
our long-term goals. 



         21

A. THE AGENCIES
Each of the four agencies engages in extensive efforts 
related to transportation, and our fundamentally distinct 
missions shape our actions:

DOE: The Department of Energy, 
in partnership with our National 
Laboratories, strengthens the 
nation’s prosperity and security by 

addressing energy, environmental, climate, and 
nuclear challenges through transformative science, 
technology, and infrastructure solutions. This includes 
RD&D and deployment of a wide array of sustainable 
technologies and solutions to make transportation and 
other sectors cleaner and more efficient. 

DOT: The Department of Transportation 
seeks to transform the nation’s 
transportation system to make it safer, 
more accessible, more reliable, and 

multimodal; to increase economic strength; improve 
climate and equity outcomes; and build global 
competitiveness for the American people. To achieve 
these goals, DOT provides funding to regional, state, 

local, and Tribal governments and other entities to 
invest in transportation infrastructure, accelerate electric 
vehicle deployment, and support mobility options 
across all modes of transportation. DOT has a number 
of regulatory and policy levers, such as fuel economy 
standards, that it can use to help reduce emissions in 
the transportation sector. DOT also supports extensive 
RD&D deployment and innovation initiatives. 

EPA: The Environmental Protection 
Agency’s mission is to protect human 
health and the environment. As part 
of this mission, EPA is responsible 

for numerous regulatory, partnership, and funding 
programs that seek to reduce air pollutants, air toxics, 
and GHG emissions from across the transportation 
sector. EPA provides modeling tools, policy analysis, 
technical assistance, and public information—such 
as the fuel economy and emissions labels on all new 
vehicles. EPA has a strong focus on environmental 
justice and equity and supports community-led action to 
clean up environmental hazards, create new economic 
opportunities, and support equitable revitalization.

2. A WHOLE-OF-GOVERNMENT  
 APPROACH
The MOU between DOE, DOT, EPA, and HUD represents a historic step toward a 
collaborative approach to decarbonizing transportation. Each of the agencies has 
access to a unique set of tools, knowledge, and partnerships. 
This Blueprint recognizes these proficiencies and evaluates how they can be applied collectively to achieve 
transportation decarbonization goals faster and more efficiently than any agency could alone. This collaboration 
can serve as the basis for further cooperation on decarbonization with other federal agencies; regional, state, local, 
and Tribal governments; private industry; academia; community-based organizations; non-profits; and philanthropic 
groups. This section highlights how the four agencies will work together and with our external partners to ensure 
these ambitious but attainable decarbonization goals are achieved.



22         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

HUD: The Department of Housing and 
Urban Development’s mission is to 
create strong, sustainable, inclusive 
communities and quality affordable 

homes for all. Central to this mission is supporting 
location-efficient housing investments that increase 
mobility options for low- and moderate-income 
households; promote economic development; lower 
combined housing-transportation as well as utility 
expenditures; increase access to employment, schools, 
services, and amenities; and encourage equitable 
transit-oriented development. 

As articulated in the MOU, the four agencies are 
committed to building a clean, safe, secure, accessible, 
affordable, equitable, and decarbonized transportation 
system for all. These goals are integral to the mission 
of our agencies and are aligned with the agencies’ 
initiatives and strategic goals REF. The agencies will 
each be critical to reducing transportation emissions 

at the pace climate science demands, and our work 
cannot take place in silos. For decarbonization to be 
successful, close collaboration and sharing of best 
practices, research, policy ideas, and other resources 
are necessary. For example, the BIL created the Joint 
Office of Energy and Transportation (Joint Office), which 
combines expertise from DOE and DOT to tackle issues 
of mutual concern, including EV charging infrastructure 
deployment and technical assistance for programs such 
as EPA’s Clean School Bus initiative. 

Additionally, DOE, DOT, EPA, and HUD work with 
other federal agencies and regional, state, local, 
and Tribal entities to provide modeling tools, data, 
technical assistance, and public information. These 
and related efforts aim to ensure resources are 
being used efficiently and effectively to maximize 
impact and accelerate the transition to a sustainable, 
decarbonized transportation future. 

https://www.transportation.gov/sites/dot.gov/files/2022-04/US_DOT_FY2022-26_Strategic_Plan.pdf


         23

B. GUIDING PRINCIPLES
The Blueprint’s strategies are based on a set of  
five guiding principles:

 • Implement Bold Actions to Achieve  
Measurable Results: Act upon the urgency of the 
climate crisis and seize the critical opportunity to 
improve lives by prioritizing efforts that  
measurably and rapidly reduce GHG emissions 
and improve health outcomes, especially for 
overburdened communities. 

 • Embrace Creative Solutions Across the Entire 
Transportation System: Evaluate a broad set of 
solutions to reduce emissions, including improved 
land-use planning; infrastructure investments; and 
new policies, technologies, and business models 
that support clean modes of travel and zero-
emission vehicles (including battery electric, plug-in 
hybrid electric, and hydrogen fuel cell EVs) for both 
passengers and freight.

 • Ensure Safety, Equity, and Access: Focus 
on approaches that prioritize safety; include 
community engagement; address consumer  
needs and reduce emissions; expand accessibility 
and affordability of travel; distribute benefits  
more equitably and address disproportionate 
burdens; enhance infrastructure resiliency to a 
changing climate; and improve quality of life,  
health outcomes, and economic opportunity, 
particularly in overburdened and historically 
underserved communities.

 • Increase Collaboration: Create and support 
collaborative programs that leverage the combined 
expertise of DOE, DOT, EPA, HUD, and other federal 
partners, and expand the federal government’s 
partnerships with regional, state, local, and Tribal 
governments; private industry; community-based 
organizations; and other stakeholders. 

 • Establish U.S. Leadership: Position the U.S. 
to lead the global race to clean transportation 
solutions, creating well-paying domestic jobs, 
strengthening U.S. energy independence and 
security, and developing robust and sustainable 
new domestic and international supply chains for 
clean transportation technologies.

As articulated in the MOU, the 
four agencies are committed to 
building a clean, safe, secure, 
accessible, affordable, equitable, 
and decarbonized transportation 
system for all. These goals are 
integral to the mission of our 
agencies and are aligned with  
the agencies’ initiatives and 
strategic goals. 



24         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

C. THE LEVERS
The agencies intend to work collaboratively and with 
external partners to ensure we are using all tools at 
our disposal to decarbonize the transportation sector. 
These tools include numerous levers that the agencies 
can jointly pursue to enable and support a transition 
to a sustainable transportation future consistent with 
the Biden-Harris administration’s 2030 and 2050 
GHG reduction goals, thus avoiding the worst climate 
outcomes. These levers fall into the six general 
categories described below. By defining these levers, 
the agencies will identify potential for new research, 
collaboration, and opportunities to reduce GHG 
emissions from transportation.

 • Policy and Regulation: The federal government, 
along with regional, state, local, and Tribal 
governments, can use a variety of policy and 
regulatory levers to help enable transportation 
sector decarbonization. These levers can support 
the transition to zero-emission vehicles and fuels, 
enable access to clean transportation options, 
improve the efficiency of systems and vehicles, and 
support increased production of sustainable fuels. 
Policies and regulations may include, but are not 
limited to: market incentives (e.g., vehicle purchase 
credits or production tax credits for sustainable 
fuels); GHG and fuel economy standards; 
infrastructure compatibility standards; prioritization 
of zero-emission transportation projects in 
discretionary grant programs; transit-oriented 
development policies to support reliable, frequent, 
and affordable public transportation services; 
transportation-demand management programs 
(e.g., rideshare and vanpool programs, employer-
based trip reduction programs); investments in 
walking and biking infrastructure; transportation 
planning; and programming processes and 
procurement. Economy-wide policies, such as 
carbon pricing, sustainable fuel standards, or 
renewable fuel standards, would also affect  
carbon reduction efforts. 

 • Infrastructure, Industrial Investments, and 
Financing: Investments in infrastructure are critical 
to enable decarbonization, including supporting 
a transition to zero-emission vehicles, the 
production and delivery of sustainable fuels, and 
operational improvements through travel demand 
management. Investments in these areas are 
crucial and will encompass projects that help spur 

Achieving meaningful reductions in 
emissions this decade is essential 
in reaching the near-term emissions 
reductions goals by 2050. 



         25

mode shift and all its benefits, including increasing 
the share of trips made using low- to no-carbon 
travel options. Example areas for financing are:

 − Battery EV charging infrastructure for all  
on-road vehicles and other applications of 
battery technologies and other zero-emission 
fueling infrastructure for rail, off-road,  
maritime, and aviation, as well as grid 
transformation and upgrades to enable 
transportation electrification.

 − Manufacturing of zero-emission vehicles, 
batteries, fuel cells, and production of 
sustainable fuels such as hydrogen and 
sustainable biofuels, including industrial 
investments to strengthen supply chains and 
improve access to critical minerals.

 − Transit and rail, for building new systems and 
expanding service on existing systems.

 − Safe infrastructure for active transportation 
options like walking and biking and shared 
micromobility options such as scooters  
and e-bikes. 

 − A fix-it-first-and-fix-it-right approach to road and 
bridge investments, that prioritizes repairing 
and modernizing existing roadways before 
expanding capacity. 

 − Smart planning and improved system 
operations, innovative uses of the transportation 
right-of-way, such as siting renewable energy 
technologies on highway or rail properties), and 
other cross-sector strategies. 

 − Accelerating the transition to zero-emissions 
vehicle and engine technologies.

 The BIL and the IRA’s historic investments in 
clean transportation options and infrastructure 
demonstrate the role of the federal government and 
how those investments can be used to enable a 

path toward deep decarbonization economy-wide, 
especially in transportation (see textbox on page 11).

 • Research and Innovation: Innovation in clean 
technologies is critical to achieve our climate goals 
and will support both economic growth and the 
creation of well-paying jobs. Markets alone will not 
accelerate the energy transition at a sufficient pace 
or scale to address the climate crisis, and the federal 
government has an integral role to play to catalyze 
the private sector into actions to ensure that the 
U.S. economy is competitive REF. Reducing the cost 
of clean transportation options will be required to 
drive the scale of adoption needed for sector-wide 
decarbonization, as well as to achieve market pull to 
accelerate adoption. In particular, our agencies—in 
close collaboration with DOE National Laboratories—
should strategically advance RD&D and deployment 
to improve performance and reduce costs of clean 
energy solutions and support the development of 
new and higher-risk (but potentially higher-reward) 
technologies collaboratively with the private sector 
while also leveraging universities, non-profits, and 
philanthropic organizations. 

Achieving meaningful reductions in 
emissions this decade is essential 
in reaching the near-term emissions 
reductions goals and enabling a 
pathway to reach net-zero  
emissions economy-wide by 2050. 

https://www.whitehouse.gov/cea/written-materials/2021/04/23/innovation-investment-and-inclusion-accelerating-the-energy-transition-and-creating-good-jobs/


26         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

The interagency Climate Innovation Working Group 
launched in February of 2021 will also help drive 
innovation. It works to identify, prioritize, and 
accelerate innovation in game-changing net-zero 
technologies. The working group has identified 37 
net-zero RD&D and deployment opportunities and 
prioritized five areas to launch the Net-Zero Game 
Changers initiative, including net-zero aviation and 
net-zero power grid and electrification REF.  
The private sector, with incentives from the BIL 
and IRA, can focus resources on scaling and 
commercializing technology solutions that drive 
decarbonization. RD&D and deployment should 
focus on all stages of the innovation spectrum 
and support a wide array of solutions. Although 
some aspects of our future transportation systems, 
mobility needs, and available technologies remain 
uncertain, the federal government, regional, state, 
local, and Tribal governments, the private sector, 
and other stakeholders are investing to develop 
the talents and solutions necessary to ensure 

a sustainable transportation future. Alignment 
of research and policy workstreams across our 
agencies will be critical to ensure research and 
innovation efforts inform commercially deployable 
technologies and that research efforts can target 
and address identified gaps. 

 • Data and Analytic Tools: The public and decision-
makers need accurate and accessible information 
to understand the benefits of clean mobility options, 
such as improvements to air quality, heath, and 
quality of life, and their implications for the rest of 
the energy systems and the economy. Timely and 
reliable data and analytic tools are critical to inform 
and guide decisions by consumers and others, 
ensure equitable outcomes, and adjust course 
during this monumental transition.

 • Workforce Education, and Training: As the  
country transitions to a clean energy economy, 
there are tremendous opportunities to create 
new, well-paying jobs. These jobs can provide 
meaningful economic prospects for all people, 
including former fossil fuel industry workers and 
residents of disadvantaged communities. Building 
a diverse and well-trained clean energy workforce 
is critical to developing a successful clean energy 
economy, including in the transportation sector. 
To create that workforce, all levels of government 
and the private sector should invest in high-quality 
training and education programs connected to 
well-paying jobs. Such programs may include 
pre-apprenticeships and apprenticeships. A strong 
clean energy and transportation workforce can help 
create an economy that benefits everyone.
 

 • Stakeholder Engagement and Public-Private 
Partnerships: Engagement and partnerships 
with local and international governments, the 
private sector, and other stakeholders is critical to 

https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/U.S.-Innovation-to-Meet-2050-Climate-Goals.pdf


         27

achieving decarbonization. All levels of government 
and the private sector should align their efforts to 
enact solutions through technical assistance and 
collaborative work. Partnering with the private 
sector to accelerate climate-focused research 
and innovation is also critical. Further, it will be 
essential to work alongside labor unions and other 
community stakeholders to ensure the transition 
to a decarbonized transportation sector empowers 
and improves the lives of everyone. The federal 
government must provide leadership, set the 
course, and provide long-term confidence and 
stability during the global transition from fossil 
fuels. Achieving near- and long-term energy and 

climate goals will require building consensus among 
different stakeholders and coordinated action. 

The goal of this Blueprint is to illustrate how domestic 
actions within the above levers can be catalyzed. 
However, many of the same actors and solutions that 
have a role in decarbonizing the U.S. transportation 
sector are also critical in supporting decarbonization 
abroad. Many of the companies that will deploy 
decarbonization solutions are global. It is therefore 
vital to share and seek best practices with stakeholders 
abroad and to consider other available levers 
internationally to support global decarbonization.



28         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

A. CURRENT STATUS
In 2017, the transportation sector surpassed the electric 
power sector to become the largest direct source 
of U.S. GHG emissions. Transportation emissions 
increased 22% between 1990 and 2019, largely due to 
increased vehicle miles traveled REF. After a reduction in 
transportation emissions during the COVID-19 pandemic, 
transportation demand has returned to near pre-
pandemic levels and is projected to continue growing 
REF, REF. While U.S. transportation emissions increased 
between 1990 and 2019, emissions from the electric 
power sector fell by more than 12% over the same 
period and by more than 30% between 2007 and 2019 
REF. Emissions from the electric power sector continue to 
fall as power generation has rapidly moved toward wind, 
solar, and natural gas sources, and away from coal REF.

As shown in Figure 2, light-duty vehicles, including 
passenger cars, SUVs, pickup trucks, and motorcycles, 
are responsible for about half of all U.S. transportation 
GHG emissions, as reported in the Inventory of U.S. 
Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks. The evolution 
of vehicle design and use over the last decades has 
shaped light-duty vehicle (LDV) emissions. Between 
the late 1980s and 2004, technology progress allowed 
for increase in vehicle weight and power, while fuel 
economy remained essentially flat. Since 2004, average 
new vehicle fuel economy has increased 32%, but 
horsepower has also increased 20%, and weight has 
increased 4%, which has offset some of the potential 
fuel economy gains. The percentage of all new vehicles 
classified as trucks under DOT and EPA regulations used 
to be less than 40%, but has steadily grown, reaching 

63% in model year 2021 driven mostly by the adoption 
of SUVs REF, REF. Increasing annual miles traveled and 
the preference for larger, less fuel-efficient vehicles 
are two long-running trends that have significantly 
contributed to light-duty vehicles emissions and will 
make decarbonization more challenging.

Medium- and heavy-duty vehicles (MHDVs) are the 
second-largest contributor to transportation GHG 
emissions, at 21% of all emissions. This diverse category 
of vehicles includes larger pickup trucks, delivery 
and work vans, refuse collection vehicles, buses, and 
heavy trucks. Aviation is the third largest contributor to 
transportation GHG emissions, at 11%. Aviation emissions 
include fuel used for all domestic flights and for 
aircraft taking off from the U.S. on international flights. 
Emissions from off-road vehicles and equipment are 
responsible for an additional 10% of U.S. transportation 
GHG emissions, including vehicles used for agricultural, 
mining, construction, and other mobile sources of 
emissions.9 Maritime activities, including shipping and 
recreational boating, account for 3% of transportation 
GHG emissions, and rail transport is responsible for 2%. 
The final 4% of U.S. transportation sector GHG emissions 
is from the operation of pipelines, emissions created 
from the use of lubricants (due to combustion during use 
or disposal), and domestic military aviation activities.10 
The impacts of lubricants and domestic military activity 
are not further explored in this Blueprint.

GHGs emitted from transportation sources during 
vehicle use are predominantly (more than 97%) in the 
form of CO2 released as a byproduct of combusting 

9 The off-road vehicles and equipment category in Figure 2 includes some mobile source emissions that are reported in the U.S. GHG Inventory report as part of the Commercial and Industrial sectors. 
10 For more detailed definitions of what is included in each specific sector, see the Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks reports.

3. TRANSPORTATION  
 CHALLENGES TODAY

https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/us-greenhouse-gas-inventory-report-archive
https://www.energy.gov/eere/vehicles/articles/fotw-1250-august-8-2022-us-12-month-vehicle-travel-march-2022-matched
https://www.bts.gov/covid-19
https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/us-greenhouse-gas-inventory-report-archive
https://www.epa.gov/egrid
https://www.epa.gov/automotive-trends
https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/us-greenhouse-gas-inventory-report-archive
https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/inventory-us-greenhouse-gas-emissions-and-sinks


         29

fossil fuels and biofuels. Combustion processes also 
create smaller amounts of methane and nitrogen oxides 
(NOx), which are potent GHGs. Additionally, various 
hydrofluorocarbons used in vehicle air conditioners 
contribute to the overall GHG emissions from 
transportation. Aviation emits soot and induces cirrus 
cloudiness, which also contribute to aviation’s global 
warming impact and is an active area of study. 

In addition to GHG emissions, the transportation 
sector is responsible for other emissions that 
impact our environment and public health and that 
disproportionately affect disadvantaged communities. 
Transportation is responsible for about half of all U.S. 
emissions of NOx, as well as emissions of volatile 
organic compounds (VOCs), particulate matter, sulfur 
dioxide (SO2), and various air toxics REF, REF. Air toxics are 
compounds such as benzene and formaldehyde that are 
known or suspected to cause cancer or other serious 
health and environmental effects. Most emissions 
from transportation are due to the combustion and 
evaporation of fossil fuels. Brake and tire wear are also 
significant sources of particulate emissions.
 
The health effects of air pollution affect millions of 
people, especially those who live near highways; ports; 
rail yards; or petroleum extraction, refinery, storage 
or transport infrastructure. These effects can include 
asthma, decreased lung function, cancer, and premature 
death. Children, older adults, people with preexisting 
cardiopulmonary disease, people of low socioeconomic 
status, and racial and ethnic minorities are among those 
at higher risk for health impacts from air pollution due 
to disproportionate exposure. Nationally, these impacts 

AIR QUALITY

The transportation sector depends heavily on petroleum 
fuels, and is responsible for more than 70% of the 
total U.S. petroleum consumption. More than 95% of 
transportation energy use comes from petroleum-based 
fuels, making it the least energy-diverse sector and 
subjecting the American economy to the volatility of 
global markets. 

affect people of 
color disproportionately. 
For example, Black Americans are 
40% more likely to have asthma and almost 
three times more likely to die from asthma-related 
causes than non-Hispanic white Americans REF. 
 
Reducing emissions from the transportation system 
creates significant benefits to public health and  
welfare REF. On December 20, 2022, EPA adopted a final 
rule, “Control of Air Pollution from New Motor Vehicles: 
Heavy-Duty Engine and Vehicle Standards,” that 
sets stronger emissions standards to further reduce 
air pollution from heavy-duty vehicles and engines. 
That rule alone is projected by 2045 to reduce up to 
2,900 premature deaths and 18,000 fewer cases of 
asthma in children annually REF, REF. Decarbonizing the 
transportation system will reduce air pollution and its 
associated health impacts. For example, transitioning 
to electric vehicles powered by clean electricity will 
eliminate tailpipe emissions and the associated air 
quality and health impacts. 

https://www.epa.gov/transportation-air-pollution-and-climate-change/smog-soot-and-other-air-pollution-transportation
https://www.epa.gov/transportation-air-pollution-and-climate-change/overview-air-pollution-transportation
https://minorityhealth.hhs.gov/omh/browse.aspx?lvl=4&lvlid=15
https://www.epa.gov/clean-air-act-overview/benefits-and-costs-clean-air-act-1990-2020-second-prospective-study
https://www.epa.gov/system/files/documents/2022-12/420f22031.pdf
https://www.epa.gov/regulations-emissions-vehicles-and-engines/final-rule-and-related-materials-control-air-pollution


30         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

B. CHANGING MOBILITY NEEDS 
An effective strategy to reduce emissions from 
transportation must consider current and future mobility 
needs for both people and goods. Population and 
economic growth are fundamental forces shaping 
future mobility needs, as are the trends in personal 
travel and housing choices and opportunities, goods 
movement and delivery business models, and available 
transportation options. 

Projections for a business-as-usual reference scenario 
from the Annual Energy Outlook 2022 (AEO), published 
by the U.S. Energy Information Administration, show a 
rebound in mobility demand to pre-pandemic levels and 
subsequent steady increase in vehicle miles traveled 
from light-duty and heavy-duty vehicles. This projection 
in light-duty vehicle travel demand is primarily driven 
by population growth, with per-capita miles traveled 
remaining relatively flat. Growth in heavy-duty vehicle 
travel demand is projected to be more significant, 
increasing by about 50% by 2050, mostly driven by 
projected economic growth and assumed relationships 
between GDP and freight demand. The AEO reference 
case also projects a significant increase in air travel, 
which is expected to almost double by 2050. Freight 
rail demand is also projected to grow, while domestic 
maritime operations are expected to decline slightly 

over time. These projections are based on assumed 
population growth of 0.4% per year and GDP growth of 
2.2% per year from 2021 to 2050 REF. 

The AEO reference case is not intended to reflect  
a transformative future and does not account for  
major regulatory, policy, or technology changes. 
Instead, the AEO reference case represents a  
business-as-usual perspective with limited changes 

from the current systems and no behavioral, 
technological, or policy changes. 

There is uncertainty regarding the extent to which 
travel demand is expected to grow in the future. The 
COVID-19 pandemic altered mobility and behavioral 
patterns related to how people travel and obtain 
goods and services. While the duration and long-term 
effects of these impacts are unknown, and travel 
has largely returned to pre-pandemic levels for most 
travel modes already, the pandemic has shown that 
rapid change can occur both in total transportation 
demand and how that demand is met. New services 
and transportation options have also been introduced 
into the marketplace in recent years. There has been 
explosive growth in e-commerce, for example, and 
options such as ride hailing services, scooters, and 

RAIL & DOMESTIC FREIGHT SHIPPING
AE02022 Reference Case
Trillion Ton-miles

4

3

2

1

0

4

3

2

1

0

4

3

2

1

0
2010 2030 2050

VEHICLE TRAVEL
AE02022 Reference Case
Trillion Vehicle-miles

2021
Projections

2010 2030 2050

2021
Projections

PUBLIC PASSENGER TRAVEL
AE02022 Reference Case
Trillion Passenger-miles

2010 2030 2050

2021
Projections

Light-duty Vehicles
Rail

Domestic Maritime

Air
Bus

Passenger Rail
Medium-duty and 
Heavy-duty Trucks

Figure: Section 3b

Figure 3. Passenger and freight demand projections from AEO 2022 with additional illustrative uncertainty bounds.

https://www.eia.gov/outlooks/aeo/pdf/AEO2022_ReleasePresentation.pdf


         31

e-bikes on shared platforms have all become part of the 
mobility fabric in a very short time. These disruptions 
of the status quo could cause, among other things, 
long-term shifts in mobility needs, commerce, and 
travel choices that will profoundly impact transportation 
systems and associated emissions. However, several 
other transportation energy sector issues have emerged 
since the economic recovery post-COVID-19, including 
a decline in the use of public transportation, congested 
freight transportation due to near record-high demands, 
and energy supply constraints due to the Russian 
invasion of Ukraine. These challenges in transitioning 
away from fossil fuels illustrate that aggressively 

decarbonizing transportation will serve the dual purpose 
of insulating the nation from the global energy and 
climate crises that America faces today.

Changing mobility needs and preferences create both 
challenges and opportunities looking forward. Policy and 
infrastructure investments at the federal, regional, state 
local, and Tribal levels, as well as other macroeconomic 
changes, new technologies, and behavioral drivers will 
influence future passenger and freight travel in major 
ways. While there is uncertainty in demand growth 
for future passenger and freight mobility, there is also 
an opportunity to help shape that future to provide 
more options to reduce vehicle miles traveled while 
increasing mobility options and accessibility, improving 
quality of life, and reducing emissions. Leveraging these 
opportunities can influence future travel demand and 
contribute to a more sustainable transportation future.

Projections for a business-as-
usual reference scenario from 
the Annual Energy Outlook 2022 
(AEO), published by the U.S. Energy 
Information Administration, show a 
rebound in mobility demand to pre-
pandemic levels and subsequent 
steady increase in vehicle miles 
traveled from light-duty and  
heavy-duty vehicles. 



32         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

C. MOBILITY COSTS AND IMPACT  
OF FUEL PRICES

Transportation is currently the second-largest 
household expense in the U.S., with the average family 
spending more than $10,000 a year on transportation 
costs—almost 20% of the $60,574 average annual 
household expenditures REF. In 2019, owning and 
operating private vehicles accounted for more than 70% 
of the total transportation costs, and gasoline expenses 
represented another 21% (see Figure 4). In the same 
year, public transportation accounted for 7% of total 
transportation costs REF. The cost of transportation is 
a significant expense for many families, particularly 
for those in overburdened communities. In addition, 
the price volatility of gasoline and diesel fuels has 
contributed to economic uncertainty for families and 
businesses alike.

Alternative transportation options represent an 
opportunity to reduce transportation costs while 
simultaneously reducing emissions and improving 
access and quality of life for many people. For example, 
EVs are already cheaper to drive than gasoline vehicles: 
fuel prices are on average 80% lower for EVs compared 
to gasoline vehicles REF and maintenance costs for 
light-duty EVs are about 40% lower than for internal 
combustion engine vehicles REF. Additionally, while 
electricity costs have risen, they have not increased as 
much as petroleum fuel costs and do not experience 
the same large price swings that regularly occur in 
the petroleum sector. The increasing supply, diversity 

of available models, and 
technological improvement of 
EVs are increasing their cost 
competitiveness with internal 
combustion engine vehicles. 
We will continue to support 
efforts that improve access 
to EV ownership and EV 
infrastructure, particularly for 
disadvantaged communities. 
The transportation future 
envisioned in this Blueprint 
represents an opportunity to 
achieve our GHG emission 
goals while reducing the 
burden of transportation on 
many families and businesses 
and making travel more 
accessible for all.

Figure 4. Consumers expenditures highlight the burden of transportation, the second-largest 
expenditure after housing, at over $10,000 per year on average. Data source: Bureau of Labor 
Statistics REF. This Blueprint uses 2019 as a baseline since impacts due to COVID-19 complicate the 
use of later data.

2019 AVERAGE ANNUAL 
HOUSEHOLD EXPENDITURES

$4,394 Vehicle purchases

$2,094 Gasoline, other fuels, motor oils

$3,474 Other vehicle expenses

$781 Public and other transportation

$10,743
Transportation

$20,679
Housing

$7,165
Personal 

insurance &
 retirement

$8,169
Food

$1,995
Cash contributions $3,540

Miscellaneous

$5,193
Healthcare

$3,090
Entertainment

Fuel prices are on average 
80% LOWER  
for EVs compared to gasoline.

EMISSIONS Activity

Energy Intensity

Carbon Intensity

=
X

X

https://data.bts.gov/stories/s/Transportation-Economic-Trends-Transportation-Spen/ida7-k95k/
https://www.bls.gov/opub/reports/consumer-expenditures/2020/home.htm
https://www.energy.gov/eere/vehicles/articles/fotw-1251-august-15-2022-electric-vehicles-have-lowest-annual-fuel-cost-all
https://www.energy.gov/eere/vehicles/articles/fotw-1190-june-14-2021-battery-electric-vehicles-have-lower-scheduled
https://www.bls.gov/opub/reports/consumer-expenditures/2020/home.htm


         33

Technologies, including connectivity and automation 
systems, are transforming transportation in many ways. 
These developments can radically change how mobility 
needs are met, as well as consumer choices  
and options. New tools give people trip planning, 
booking, and payment options at their fingertips, 
improving efficiency and convenience, opening up 
seamless integration of travel modes, offering more 
options for ride and vehicle sharing, and responding 
to consumer preferences by increasing transparency 
around travel emissions.

 • SHARING RIDES – including car/vanpooling and 
ride hailing—impacts emissions per passenger mile 
traveled. Transportation systems become more 
efficient when passengers and cargo can move to 
their destinations with fewer or no vehicle miles, 
which can also lower transportation costs. When 
passengers traveling in the same direction share 
a ride, they are helping to reduce energy use and 
emissions. However, shared vehicles often travel 
empty or “deadhead” between rides, increasing 
emissions. When vehicles take circuitous routes to pick 
up and drop off multiple passengers, assessing the net 
emissions impact can be challenging. Additionally, 
the pandemic has reduced the desire for sharing 
trips and rides, impacting travel mode choices, while 
increasing travel to alternative locations. 

 • CONNECTED MOBILITY SOLUTIONS enable 
unprecedented system-level improvements—
better communication among vehicles and with 
infrastructure can smooth traffic flow and reduce 
congestion. Connectivity and automation, such 
as eco-approach and departure at traffic lights 
and platooning, enable reductions in energy 
consumption. Technologies that link vehicle controls 

with traffic control infrastructure, for example, have 
been demonstrated to reduce energy use by almost 
20% on a test track.11

 • AUTOMATED DRIVING SYSTEMS could offer 
convenient and safe travel options, enhancing 
efficiency, accessibility, and productivity. These 
systems are becoming increasingly available. Nine 
out of 10 currently available new cars are equipped 
with adaptive cruise control, for example, and 
50% of those can control both speed and steering 
(e.g., lane assist) REF. It will be important to carefully 
plan for these systems to avoid unanticipated 
consequences such as increased travel demand  
and congestion.

 • REMOTE WORK AND VIRTUAL INTERACTIONS 
can provide a viable alternative to daily commute 
requirements for some people, as the COVID-19 
pandemic demonstrated. An increase in remote 
work and virtual engagements has the potential 
to change travel patterns, including shifting peak 
commute times, reducing commuting miles, and/
or increasing off-peak miles. However, overall 
passenger car travel has already returned to pre-
pandemic levels.

Overall, widescale use of connectivity and automation 
will dramatically change future mobility in ways that are 
hard to forecast. Policies and technology solutions can 
harness these changes to improve safety, convenience, 
and affordability, and enable more efficient mobility 
while helping to avoid the risk of increased travel these 
technologies could pose if not properly managed. Our 
transportation systems need to be flexible enough to 
accommodate unforeseen new technology and societal 
changes that will cause mobility shifts.

CONNECTIVITY, AUTOMATION, AND SHARING COULD 
RADICALLY CHANGE FUTURE MOBILITY

11 J. Han, D. Shen, J. Jeong, M. D. Russo, N. Kim, J. J. Grave, D. Karbowski, A. Rousseau, and K. M. Stutenberg, “Energy Impact of Connecting Multiple Signalized Intersections to Energy-Efficient Driving: 
Simulation and Experimental Results,” to be submitted to IEEE Vehicular Technology Magazine

https://www.consumerreports.org/automotive-technology/how-much-automation-does-your-car-really-have-level-2-a3543419955/#:~:text=In%20fact%2C%2092%20percent%20of,control%20both%20steering%20and%20speed.


34         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

Emissions reductions throughout the entire 
transportation sector will be necessary to achieve full 
decarbonization. All sources of transportation emissions 
will need to be addressed considering the projected 
growth and changes in mobility needs discussed above. 
Transportation use-phase emissions are the result of 
three main drivers or categories: the total amount of 
activity, (i.e., the distance and volume of passenger and 
goods travel); the energy intensity of the transportation 
options used to meet the activity demand, (i.e., the 
energy used per mile traveled); and the carbon intensity 
of the fuels used to provide that energy, specifically the 
amount of GHG emitted per unit of energy consumed:

These three categories have been widely used 
in scientific studies to evaluate decarbonization 
challenges and provide a useful framework for 
developing holistic decarbonization strategies REF. 
The three strategies proposed in this Blueprint 
directly address each of the categories and must be 
implemented in concert to achieve the full vision of a 
clean, safe, secure, accessible, affordable, equitable, 

and decarbonized transportation system for everyone. 
The strategies will empower people and businesses to: 

 • Increase convenience by implementing system-
level design solutions that prioritize access and 
proximity to work opportunities, community 
services, and entertainment options to reduce 
unnecessary or excess movement of people 
and goods while still meeting all mobility needs. 
Local and regional land-use decisions and 
the design of our communities and mobility 
systems are major drivers of travel behavior, 
and in turn, transportation emissions. Improving 
mobility systems to reduce emissions and provide 
improvements in safety, traffic, and quality of life 
requires careful local or regional land-use planning, 
improved freight logistics, and harnessing emerging 
trends like telework and the sharing 
economy. Collectively, these 
approaches can 

4. STRATEGIES TO DECARBONIZE  
 TRANSPORTATION

EMISSIONS Activity

Energy Intensity

Carbon Intensity

=
X

X

https://www.adb.org/publications/transport-and-carbon-dioxide-emissions-forecasts-options-analysis-and-evaluation


         35

also help improve connections and access in 
communities that are historically disadvantaged  
and underserved.

 • Improve efficiency by providing options to enable 
shifts to more efficient vehicles and transport modes 
like transit, rail, walking/biking, or new mobility 
solutions. Coupled with system-level design 
solutions, more efficient mobility options offer 
people and businesses better access to services 
and reduce reliance on energy-intensive modes 
of transport. Transportation efficiency can also be 
improved by introducing and scaling innovative 
technologies and services that can better connect 
people with mobility options, especially better 
first-mile/last-mile solutions. The benefits of these 
efforts include reduced congestion, vehicle miles 
traveled, parking requirements, total energy use, 
and GHG emissions, as well as enhanced energy 
security, and overall improved quality of life. 
Moreover, policies and technology solutions can 
be used to adapt to changes in future mobility. 
For example, the wide-scale use of connectivity 
and automation technologies can improve safety, 
convenience, and affordability, and enable more 
efficient travel. Properly designed policies and 
technology solutions can help communities avoid 
the risk of increased travel that could occur if these 
technologies and related systems are not properly 
managed. Achieving these goals will require proper 

management of mobility at the transportation 
systems-level rather than at mode-specific or 
technology-specific levels. Finally, in addition to 
system-level efficiency improvements, vehicle 
efficiency can be improved for all vehicle types.

 • Transition to clean options by deploying zero-
emission vehicles and fuels for all passenger 
and freight travel modes. This includes light-duty 
vehicles, commercial trucks, buses, off-road 
vehicles (such as agricultural and construction 
equipment), aircraft, locomotives, maritime vessels, 
and pipelines. This strategy involves adopting 
highly efficient zero-emission battery vehicles, 
hydrogen fuel cell vehicles, and sustainable fuels for 
vehicles and applications that are more challenging 
to electrify. Reducing the carbon intensity of the 
fuels that power our vehicles, airplanes, trains, 
and ships is essential to reducing transportation 
GHG emissions. Achieving a net-zero economy 
by 2050 will require transitioning new vehicle 
sales to zero-emission technologies across all 
modes of transportation by the mid-2030s, and 
rapidly converting older and higher-polluting fossil 
fuel-powered vehicles. This transition will require 
addressing EV charging and clean fuel infrastructure 
needs to enable every person and business to meet 
their mobility requirements.

Active 
Mobility Pool Riding Vehicle Fuel

Economy
Clean 

Electricity
Sustainable

Biofuels
E-fuels

Clean 
HydrogenPlanning Telework 

E-Commerce
Public 

Transportation
Operational 
Improvement

Travel 
Demand 

Management

Rail 
& Shipping 

Convenient E�cient Clean

Improve Community Design 
and Land-use Planning 

Increase Options to Travel 
More E�ciently

 Transition to Zero Emission 
Vehicles and Fuels 

Section 2 Strategy Overview Figure 

Figure 5. Three strategies to address all sources of transportation emissions and achieve the full vision of a clean, safe, secure, accessible, 
affordable, equitable, and decarbonized transportation system for everyone.



36         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

A. INCREASING CONVENIENCE BY 
IMPLEMENTING SYSTEM-LEVEL AND 
DESIGN SOLUTIONS

Increasing convenience by implementing system-
level and design solutions will be critical to achieving 
sustainable mobility, especially in light of expected 
population and economic growth that could otherwise 
significantly increase demand for passenger and 
freight travel. Increased convenience entails supporting 
community designs and land-use planning that ensure 
job centers, shopping, schools, entertainment, and 
essential services are strategically located near 
where people live to reduce commute times, improve 
walkability and bikeability, and improve quality of 
life. It is also important to recognize the different 
transportation needs and opportunities for rural 
communities, which are often separated by large 
distances, have little or no public transit options, and 
present unique infrastructure challenges. Reducing 
transportation emissions starts with understanding 
and addressing the factors influencing travel demand 

and optimizing the amount of travel needed to reliably 
access services and distribute freight to ensure the 
mobility needs of all Americans are fully met.

The design of our cities, towns, suburbs, and 
neighborhoods, and investments in transportation 
infrastructure like highways, streets, bike lanes, and 
railways, heavily influence travel behavior and mode 
choices, which in turn impacts total miles traveled and 
resulting emissions. Decisions that federal, regional, 
state, local, and Tribal governments have made—
including ones made decades ago—have shaped our 
current transportation landscape, where reliance on 
driving, increased traffic, congestion, and associated 
emissions are accepted as norms. These decisions 
have also often caused disproportionate environmental 
and health impacts on low-income, minority, and 
underserved communities and deprived them of 
investments in affordable, low-carbon transportation 
options, which has been exacerbated by dispersed 
development. These communities have higher housing 
and transportation cost burdens that further exacerbate 
inequities. Local and regional land-use policies and 
infrastructure investments need to deliberately 
support these communities and help them address 
transportation disparities. Similarly, land-use practices 
have moved logistics facilities away from urban 
centers, which has resulted in increased emissions. 
Infrastructure investments and policy decisions made 
today will shape land-use development patterns for 

Significant emission reductions can 
be achieved by 2050 by supporting 
regional, state, local, and Tribal 
governments’ development and land-
use policies that prioritize investments 
in efficient transportation options 
and by leveraging new 
technologies.  
Together, these system-
level design and 
technological solutions 
can increase accessibility 
and mobility options and 
enhance freight efficiency 
while decreasing  
GHG emissions. 



         37

decades, setting the stage for future mobility demand 
and creating the opportunity to improve transportation 
systems. While land-use decisions are made at the 
regional, state, local, and Tribal levels, federal policy 
and investments can guide and inform those decisions. 

It is important to plan for redevelopment and new 
development that take into account future mobility 
patterns and support equitable, clean, and convenient 
transportation systems. Robust partnerships with 
regional, state, local, and Tribal communities can 
enable and incentivize land-use decisions—promoting 
equitable redevelopment of existing neighborhoods, 
retrofitting dispersed development to create a mix of 
uses and improve transportation options, and planning 
for new development—that will lessen environmental 
and health harms, reduce travel times, make it easier to 
choose less-polluting transportation options, improve 
quality of life, and mitigate longer-term climate change 
impacts. Supporting land-use strategies and planning 
practices that enable clean transportation solutions will 
improve mobility for people and goods; give people 
easier access to work and housing opportunities, 
community services, and entertainment options; and 
bring other environmental, health, economic, and 
community benefits.

New technologies could also improve convenience 
through better mobility and access. For example, 
telework, the shared economy, and e-commerce are 
transforming our lives and changing the way we access 
goods and services. Mobile applications can more 
seamlessly integrate multiple travel options, including 
transit, e-bike and scooter options, multimodal freight, 
and others on a single platform. Additionally, mobile 
technologies have allowed digital service offerings to 
replace some trips. Telework is now commonplace, 
and remote access to services like healthcare and 
education has grown. E-commerce is widespread. 

These trends and how they continue to evolve will be 
key determinants of future travel demand (see textbox 
on page 33). However, increased automation and 
connectivity will not necessarily decrease emissions 
and might instead induce increases in travel demand 
if not properly managed. For example, there could be 
an increase in miles traveled without a passenger for 
autonomous vehicles, reflecting the need to carefully 
consider the full effects of design solutions and new 
solutions. Forward-looking policy and management at 
the transportation system-level are needed for emerging 
technologies to improve quality of life and reduce 
emissions. This reliance on digital technologies will also 
require efforts to ensure that everyone has access to 
these platforms and the opportunities they offer.

Achieving the benefits of system-level and design 
solutions to reduce transportation emissions requires 
coordination across federal, regional, state, local, and 
Tribal governments and engagement with community-
based organizations, businesses, and residents. 
Pursuant to state-enabling legislation, towns, cities, 
or counties have jurisdiction over regulations and 
zoning laws that shape land use. This positions them 
to use policy and planning tools to curb GHG emissions 
over time with future development patterns REF. For 
example, changes in local zoning regulations to 
allow for multifamily and affordable housing, work, 
and play to be close to public transportation will 
reduce the need for longer trips to meet daily needs. 

https://www.urban.org/urban-wire/who-zones-mapping-land-use-authority-across-us


38         Decarbonizing Transportation: A Blueprint For Change

Complementary actions that support decarbonization 
of the transportation sector can include integrating 
land-use, transportation, and freight planning to reduce 
vehicle miles traveled, and increasing investments 
in first-mile/last-mile solutions to broaden access to 
public transportation. Federal resources and efforts can 
amplify actions at all levels of government: 

Fix Existing Assets Before  
Building New Assets 
One key system-level planning solution is to prioritize 
investments that fix assets and modernization projects 
that enhance existing infrastructure, avoiding more 
costly expansions in roadway capacity. Investments 
in expanding roadway capacity increase maintenance 
expenditures and induce additional travel, resulting in 
increased emissions. Additionally, capacity expansion 
generally provides limited-to-no congestion reduction 
benefits over the long-term REF, REF, REF, REF. In 2018, 
22.9% of spending on highways receiving federal aid 
went to system expansion REF. A recent analysis by 
the Georgetown Climate Center found that whether 
the investments in the BIL lead to an increase or a 
decrease in emissions depends on how effectively the 
federal government and regional, state, local, and Tribal 
entities can use the available funds to support climate-
friendly infrastructure projects and prioritize system 
maintenance and multimodal options over expanding 
roadway capacity REF. The BIL and IRA funding present 
an opportunity to encourage locally driven land-use 
changes and reinvest in existing communities, including 
rural main street revitalizations, and transit-oriented and 
walkable development. 

Eighty-seven percent of federal highway funding is 
distributed to states via a congressionally established 
formula, and states have discretion in how those 
funds are spent REF. In order to meet our climate goals 
by prioritizing repairing and modernizing existing 

infrastructure, DOT’s Federal Highway Administration 
(FHWA) released guidance in December 2021 to 
encourage states and other funding recipients to 
use newly available resources to prioritize repair, 
rehabilitation, and modernization of existing roads  
and bridges over expanding capacity, and to be  
mindful of their abilities to deploy resources in  
support of multimodal projects REF. Several states  
have already shown leadership in this space and  
have goals for reducing VMT, including California,  
Minnesota, Massachusetts, Pennsylvania, Washington, 
and Colorado REF. 

Changes in Land-Use Planning and 
Transportation Systems Design 
More compact cities and towns with a mix of 
commercial, residential, and civic uses close to each 
other reduce the distances between where people 
live, work, and recreate, which makes active modes of 
transportation and transit even more viable and allows 
people to spend less time sitting in traffic.  
A compact urban form can also help reduce distance 
traveled at various supply chain stages, thereby  
making light modes, such as cargo-bikes and smaller 
EVs, more practical for freight delivery. Planning for  
all transportation system users, including pedestrians, 
bicyclists, transit riders, motorists, and delivery  
drivers, can also improve roadway safety for all  
users, encouraging more people to choose  
active transportation. 

https://www.georgetownclimate.org/articles/federal-infrastructure-investment-analysis.html#ref-back-24
https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/sites/9b7fd459-en/index.html?itemId=/content/component/9b7fd459-en
https://rmi.org/if-you-build-it-the-cars-and-the-pollution-will-come/
https://environment.transportation.org/teri-idea/induced-demand-from-operational-efficiency-and-the-impact-on-ghg-emissions-part-1-synthesis/
https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/policy/23cpr/
https://www.georgetownclimate.org/articles/federal-infrastructure-investment-analysis.html#ref-back-24
https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/IN/IN11758/2
https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/bipartisan-infrastructure-law/building_a_better_america-policy_framework.cfm
https://database.aceee.org/state/transportation-system-efficiency


         39

Planning must also be centered around improving 
access for people with disabilities to ensure that all 
transportation system users are able to choose from 
clean mobility options. The combination of mixed-
use development, increased density, and improved 
transportation systems could also lead to more 
efficient distribution of goods. For example, mixed-use 
development could reduce the travel distance  
between stores or distribution centers and their 
customers, and also allow for different vehicle choices 
like delivery e-bikes. Public and private players in the 
last-mile ecosystem of freight delivery have a key role 
to play in reducing emissions because of the significant 
rise in e-commerce. 

The federal government, with regional, state, local,  
and Tribal governments, stakeholder groups and 
partners from private industry, can play a role in the 
following areas: 

 • Equitable Transit-Oriented Development (eTOD).  
Improved land-use planning and transportation 
systems design can also support transit-oriented 
development, making active travel modes (e.g., 
walking and biking) and public transportation 
even more viable. As these modes become more 
attractive, drivers also benefit from reduced 
congestion.12 ETOD supports a walkable, mixed-
use development and transit lifestyle and meets 
the needs of existing businesses and consumers, 
while avoiding displacement of local residents and 
ensuring an adequate mix of affordable and market-
rate housing. A cornerstone of TOD is the inclusion 
of affordable housing, to be achieved through new 
construction, preservation of existing stock, and 
tenant protection efforts to minimize displacement 
caused by increased land values that often 

accompany TOD. The federal government can work 
with local transit agencies and the private sector 
to incentivize development that protects existing 
residents from displacement, as well as support 
small business and economic development. For 
example, under the Federal Transit Administration’s 
(FTA) Joint Development Guidance, local transit 
agencies can use land purchased with FTA funds 
to support eTOD through joint development 
partnerships or joint development.

Decision-makers at the regional, state, local, and 
Tribal levels can also leverage federal funding 
opportunities to support first-mile/last-mile 
solutions and equitable transit-oriented and 
walkable development. For example, localities 
can apply for DOT RAISE planning grants to 
develop integrated corridor plans that encompass 
improvements to bike/pedestrian infrastructure and 
transit along with affordable housing strategies, or 
seek federal financing opportunities such as DOT’s 
loans programs, HUD’s Community Development 
Block Grants and the associated Section 108 Loan 
Guarantee program—along with formula affordable 
housing grants through the Home Investment 
Partnership Program (HOME)—to support transit-
oriented development REF, REF. 

In addition to funding, federal agencies can 
coordinate and align technical assistance, as is 
being done through the Thriving Communities 
Network, which provides a whole-of-government 
approach to place-based technical assistance 
from seven federal agencies, including DOE, 
DOT, EPA, and HUD.13 For example, HUD and 
DOT are partnering to provide assistance to local 
governments to identify and use vacant land on or 

12 U.S. Government Accountability Office, Public Transportation: Multiple Factors Influence Extent of Transit Oriented Development, GAO –15-70, 2014. Cited in Mariia V. Zimmerman et al, National 
Academies, Coordination of Public Transit Services and Investments with Affordable Housing Policies (2022). 
13 DOT, Federal Interagency Thriving Communities Network 

https://www.transportation.gov/buildamerica/financing/tifia
https://www.transportation.gov/buildamerica/financing/rrif
https://www.transportation.gov/federal-interagency-thriving-communities-network


40         Decarbonizing Transportation: A Blueprint For Change

near transportation investments that is suitable for 
housing development, and identify unnecessary 
barriers to location-efficient housing REF. 

 • Location Affordability and Efficiency. Combining 
transit-oriented development with affordable 
housing strategies is an effective way to reduce 
GHG emissions, while supporting other co-benefits. 
Location efficiency is the siting of housing and 
commercial development in proximity to transit 
and other amenities. Past suburban and exurban 
development resulted in families moving further 
and further from downtowns and urban centers 
to find affordable housing. In doing so, they often 
incurred higher transportation costs associated 
with the location of that housing. HUD and DOT 
created the Location Affordability Index (LAI) in 
2015 to increase public access to data about 
transportation, housing, and land use REF , REF. The LAI 
provides a combined index of household housing 
and transportation expenditures, taking into 
account proximity to transit, car ownership, access 
to amenities and services, and other factors.14 
Similarly, EPA developed a Smart Location Database 
that includes more than 90 attributes summarizing 
characteristics such as housing density, diversity 
of land use, neighborhood design, destination 
accessibility, transit service, employment, and 
demographics REF. Federal agencies can encourage 
or incentivize location-efficient housing with 
federal financing, as HUD does through the Green 
Mortgage Insurance Premium for multifamily 
affordable housing, and some states do in Qualified 
Allocation Plans for the federal Low Income 
Housing Tax Credit. 

 • Local Zoning Reform. States and localities can 
craft local regulations and zoning policies to 
encourage more housing supply in walkable, 
transit-oriented areas. The president’s Housing 
Supply Action Plan REF identifies local zoning and 
land-use policies as a significant constraint on 
affordable housing production: “One of the most 
significant issues constraining housing supply and 
production is the lack of available and affordable 
land, which is in large part driven by state and 
local zoning and land-use laws and regulations 
that limit housing density.” Local zoning reform can 
address the critical need to both expand housing 
supply, and simultaneously enable a wider range 
of transportation choices in local communities. 
Localities may also reset minimum and maximum 
parking requirements. Recognizing that zoning is 
a local responsibility, the Housing Supply Action 
Plan includes proposals for rewarding jurisdictions 
that have implemented forward-looking local 
land-use policies with higher scores in certain 
federal grant processes, and leverage BIL funding 
to encourage state and local governments to boost 
housing supply. As outlined in the Housing Supply 
Action Plan, DOT will continue to include language 
encouraging locally driven land-use reform, density, 
rural main street revitalization, and transit-oriented 
development in BIL and other transportation 
discretionary grant programs. 

 • Supporting Safe Active Transportation. 
Regional, state, local, and Tribal governments 
can invest in safe active transportation, including 
through opportunities in the BIL, such as the new 
Safe Streets and Roads for All program and the 
Transportation Alternatives Program to support 

14 Location affordability refers to the fact that most of the benefit occurs because of the attributes of a neighborhood or location, holding income and household size constant; makes it possible to 
identify bundles of discrete actions (those that increase local convenience and regional accessibility) that can lower transportation costs.

https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/spm/gmomgmt/grantsinfo/fundingopps/fy22_tc
https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/location-affordability-index/
https://htaindex.cnt.org/map/
https://www.epa.gov/smartgrowth/smart-location-mapping
https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2022/05/16/president-biden-announces-new-actions-to-ease-the-burden-of-housing-costs/


         41

pedestrian and bike infrastructure, recreational 
trails, safe routes to school and more. Additionally, 
curbside management strategies and complete 
streets, or streets designed to enable safe use and 
support mobility for all users, can enhance safety 
and convenience in communities and support a 
shift to active transportation. As more people use 
clean travel options and personal light-duty travel 
decreases, road lanes can further accommodate 
shared and active modes of transportation REF. 

 • Coordinated Transportation Planning. 
Transportation planners and researchers have 
long recognized the importance of coordinating 
transportation, transit, and land-use planning 
near higher-capacity transit services to help build 
ridership, reduce congestion, and shape community 
development REF. The BIL includes several changes 
in the metropolitan planning process that 
provide new opportunities to align investments 
in transportation and housing.15 These include 
provisions for Metropolitan Planning Organizations 
to consider projects and strategies that promote 
consistency between transportation improvements 
and state and local housing patterns; to increase 
consultation with housing officials and opportunities 
for comment by affordable housing organizations; 
and to address the integration of housing, 
transportation, and economic development 
strategies through a housing coordination plan.

Digital Solutions and Teleworking 
Telework and other components of a digital economy 
that allow consumers to access information and 
services remotely can improve convenience by reducing 
travel demand, especially for work commuting. The 
COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted major opportunities 
for telework, with some studies showing the possibility 

of 10% long-term reduction in annual VMT REF. However, 
for most travel modes, total travel activity has already 
returned to near pre-pandemic levels. Ultimately the 
impact of telework depends on the specific travel 
displaced and whether additional travel is induced  
due to vehicle use by other household members, 
possible relocation decisions, impacts to commercial 
centers, and other complex factors. Overall, the 
transportation implications of telework are not yet fully 
understood REF, REF.

Transportation Demand  
Management (TDM)
Transportation demand management is the use of 
strategies and policies to reduce travel demand, 
which in turn reduces traffic, energy use, and GHG 
emissions. TDM initiatives are multimodal in nature 
and include strategies like congestion pricing and 
parking pricing paired with affordable transit options, 
car free zones with accessible and safe bike and 
pedestrian infrastructure, ride sharing promotions, safe 
walking, biking, and rolling routes to school, transit 
fare discounts, off-peak goods delivery incentives, and 
more. An understanding of local mobility needs and 
optimizing existing transportation assets are essential 
for implementing effective TDM strategies REF. The 
federal government can support TDM efforts at the 
regional, state, local, and Tribal levels by sharing best 
practices, data, and tools to support decision-maker 
efforts to effectively manage transportation demand.

Supply Chain Management and  
Freight Efficiency
Supply chain management and logistics planning is 
the practice of optimizing the movement of goods 
from one place to another. Improvements to supply 
chain management, which could reduce VMT and 
associated emissions, involve strategies to improve 

15 Bipartisan Infrastructure Law, Section 11201(d), 23 USC 134. 

https://www.epa.gov/smartgrowth
https://doi.org/10.17226/26542
https://dot.ca.gov/-/media/dot-media/programs/research-innovation-system-information/documents/preliminary-investigations/pi-0288-a11y.pdf
https://www.nature.com/articles/s41558-020-0877-y
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378778820317710
https://ops.fhwa.dot.gov/publications/fhwahop12035/chap2.htm


42         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

vehicle and infrastructure utilization, such as enabling 
vehicles to travel with full loads as often as possible 
(reducing empty or “deadhead” miles) and optimizing 
vehicle travel routes. For example, just-in-time queuing 
at ports can enable ships to optimize their speed, 
thus reducing fuel consumption and emissions REF. 
Strategies to increase freight efficiency could also 
include using emerging technologies like improved 
packaging and materials, distributed manufacturing, 
and dematerialization. Advanced computing and data 
analytics (e.g., sensors, big data analytics, blockchain) 
have the potential to improve supply chains by 
optimizing truck routing and freight logistics. EPA’s 
SmartWay program helps companies improve freight 
transportation sustainability by selecting more efficient 
modes, carriers, equipment, and operational strategies 
and fuel-saving technologies REF. The continuing 
growth of e-commerce creates new opportunities for 
improvement—as increasing direct delivery of goods to 
consumers can offset personal travel—but fast-delivery 
demands and returns present new challenges.

These system-level and design solutions to increase 
convenience have the potential to deliver total 
reductions in GHG emissions of an estimated 5-15% 
by 2050, and also offer significant additional co-
benefits (see textbox on page 48) REF, REF. Near-term 
benefits are expected to be modest due to the long 
service lives of residential and commercial buildings 
and transportation infrastructure, but benefits can 
compound over time and managing demand is critical 
to avoid increased emissions from population growth or 
induced demand from clean technologies and solutions. 
Implementing system-level and design solutions 
will require coordination across multiple levels of 
government, especially local governments and planning 
organizations. DOE, DOT, EPA, and HUD encourage 
these approaches in partnership with other federal 
agencies, regional, state, local, and Tribal governments, 
and private stakeholders. States and cities have taken 
the lead on many of these solutions, however there is a 
federal role in aligning and supporting these efforts.

The transportation right-of-way (ROW) offers an opportunity to support decarbonization and enhance energy system 
resilience. Specifically, transportation agencies can leverage pre-existing sites to host critical infrastructure, such 
as electric vehicle charging infrastructure, electricity transmission lines and renewable energy systems with lower 
approval barriers. For example, more than 52,000 acres of empty roadside land is available at interstate exits and 
suitable for solar energy development, offering the potential to generate up to 36 terawatt hours (tWh) a year, 
which is enough energy to power roughly 10 million passenger EVs REF. The ROW also offers a pathway to deploy 
electric transmission lines that will be critical to connect renewable electricity to end users, increasing resiliency 
for the benefit of all Americans REF. Other potential resilience benefits of using transportation ROW in innovative 
ways include sequestering carbon and reducing air pollution through the strategic planting of trees and bushes REF; 
combating heat island effects with native vegetation; and capturing, filtering, and absorbing rainfall to protect water 
quality and reduce localized flooding. This green infrastructure—trees and planted areas along streets, parking lots, 
and other paved areas—also beautifies neighborhoods, makes walking and biking more appealing, and can manage 
stormwater runoff more cost-effectively than conventional infrastructure REF. While working in the right-of-way can 
entail a high degree of coordination and approvals from property owners, easement holders, and the travelling 
public, we understand the benefits of these applications, and DOT released a memorandum to further encourage 
and allow for state transportation agencies to expand the productivity of existing highway ROW REF.

USING THE TRANSPORTATION RIGHT-OF-WAY 
FOR CLIMATE BENEFITS

https://dcsa.org/standards/jit-port-call/
https://www.epa.gov/smartway/learn-about-smartway
https://escholarship.org/uc/item/3np3p2t0
https://nap.nationalacademies.org/catalog/12747/driving-and-the-built-environment-the-effects-of-compact-development
https://theray.org/
https://wstc.wa.gov/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/2022-0215-BP5-NextGenHwys.pdf
https://www.epa.gov/air-research/recommendations-constructing-roadside-vegetation-barriers-improve-near-road-air-quality
https://www.epa.gov/smartgrowth/enhancing-sustainable-communities-green-infrastructure
https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/real_estate/right-of-way/corridor_management/alternative_uses_guidance.cfm


         43

B. IMPROVING EFFICIENCY  
THROUGH MODE SHIFT AND  
MORE EFFICIENT VEHICLES

The second key strategy to reduce transportation 
emissions is to improve efficiency by increasing the 
availability of highly efficient travel options, while also 
improving the energy efficiency (or fuel economy) of 
all vehicles, especially passenger vehicles, which often 
have low occupancy. Road freight vehicles such as 
trucks and vans are the largest contributor to freight 
emissions, and heavy road freight vehicles in particular 
can be difficult to decarbonize. This energy- and 
emissions-intensive paradigm is a significant reason why 
transportation has become the largest GHG emissions 
source in the United States. Using more efficient modes 
and vehicles is essential to reduce overall transportation 
emissions and energy use. The use of more efficient 
modes could also reduce the number of vehicles on the 
road and reduce congestion, improving travel time and 
traffic flow thereby further reducing GHG emissions and 
other harmful air pollutants.

The choice of which transport mode is best for any 
given trip is complex and depends on available mobility 
options, as well as cost, speed, safety, convenience, 
and other factors. Generally, transportation options 
that move greater numbers of people or volumes of 
goods (buses, trains, large ships, carpooling, etc.) 
result in lower GHG emissions per mile traveled. 
Figure 6 provides a snapshot of the current emissions 
from various travel modes in the United States (note 
that these results are based on current vehicles on 
the road powered by petroleum fuels). For local 
passenger travel, large personal vehicles with low 
occupancy have the highest emissions, while buses 
and transit rail offer the cleanest options other than 
walking or biking. For longer passenger trips, buses 
and cars with multiple occupants offer the lowest 
emissions option, followed by rail, aviation, and large 
passenger vehicles with low occupancy. For freight, 
maritime and rail offer the cleanest options, followed 
by trucks and aviation, which results in the highest 
emissions. New first/last mile transportation services 
and infrastructure, such as shared electric scooters 
and e-bikes, shared mobility apps, mobility hubs where 
multiple personal transportation options are available, 
and intermodal freight terminals that can help optimize 
freight movement, are all transportation developments 
that can enable and support a shift to more efficient 
transportation modes and help reduce GHG emissions REF. 
Additionally, emerging vehicle technologies and fuels 
will reduce emissions for many of these travel modes 
over time and will require an ongoing evaluation  
of mode-specific emissions and  
energy efficiency.

https://www.cmu.edu/news/stories/archives/2018/august/modal-shift.html


44         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

By increasing clean and efficient transportation 
options and improving vehicle efficiency, we can 
reduce harmful climate change impacts and air 
pollution; ensure a more equitable, accessible, and 
affordable transportation system that improves 
quality of life for all users; reduce reliance on fossil 
fuels; and improve energy security. In 2018, public 
transportation in the United States saved 63 MMT of 
carbon dioxide equivalent. 

16 Building on this success, 
an effort to continue expanding transit, intercity rail, 
and active transportation options and use will further 
reduce emissions. In addition, clean and efficient 
freight solutions can help address negative impacts 
associated with freight delivery, such as traffic and air 
pollution, while ensuring that consumer expectations 
are met. Combined with enhanced travel convenience, 
improving efficiency can significantly reduce energy 
needs and GHG emissions.
 
Multiple solutions and actions can improve mobility 
options and offer all Americans more affordable, 
energy-efficient, and cleaner alternatives, including: 

 • More investments in efficient passenger  
and freight transportation
Regional, state, local, and Tribal governments can 
encourage greater use of transit by leveraging 
federal funding and financing opportunities to 
expand existing transit and intercity rail systems 
and invest in new service. Ensuring that transit 
service is equitable and fully accessible for 
people with disabilities will make it easier and 
more appealing for all users to choose less 
carbon-intensive options. Strategies to increase 
convenience that were highlighted in the previous 
chapter will also improve mobility options, as 
transit-oriented development and complete streets 
will allow more people to choose lower-carbon 
modes of transportation such as walking, biking, 
and public transportation. Investment in protected 

COMMUTER RAIL

CAR
(1 occupant)

LIGHT-DUTY TRUCK
(1 occupant)

TRANSIT RAIL

CAR
(3 occupants)

BUS

WALK OR CYCLE Passenger
(Local Travel)

Average pounds of GHG emissions per passenger mile or freight ton-mile using for existing fossil fuel technologies.

EMISSIONS BY MODE OF TRANSPORTATION

Figure: Section 4b

AVIATION

RAIL

TRUCK
(Long Haul)

TRUCK
(Short Haul)

MARITIME Freight

Passenger
(Long Trips)

LIGHT-DUTY TRUCK
(3 occupants)

AVIATION
(Long Haul)

AVIATION
(Short Haul)

CAR
(1 occupant)

LIGHT-DUTY TRUCK
(1 occupant)

INTERCITY RAIL

CAR
(3 occupants)

BUS

Figure 6. Different modes of transportation have different carbon 
intensities per passenger mile or per ton mile, and a system that 
prioritizes low-carbon-intensity options has fewer emissions overall. 
Note: emissions vary significantly based occupancy, fuel type, and 
other factors, so the scale in this figure is meant to be illustrative and 
represent the current fuel mix. For example, transit rail is fully electrified, 
while most other modes rely on fossil fuels. Illustrative data informed by 
GREET modeling REF and EPA data REF.

16 Transit Cooperative Research Program (Research Report 226)

greet.anl.gov
https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/ghg-emission-factors-hub


         45

bike lines, accessible sidewalks, and other roadway 
safety improvements will further encourage people 
to choose active modes of transportation. Timely 
and impartial data collection and analysis will also 
help inform decisions and guide investments, 
especially on behavioral responses and impacts of 
innovative technologies and solutions. Equitable 
access to rail, pedestrian, and bicycle infrastructure 
can also help reduce emissions from freight. Well-
maintained, wide sidewalks, for example, could 
support delivery robot movement in addition to 
pedestrian access, and bicycle infrastructure can 
support the use of cargo bikes for freight delivery.

 • Incentives for less carbon-intensive options 
 and shared mobility
All levels of government should guide and 
incentivize development and use of efficient 
passenger travel systems, including vehicle 
sharing solutions. This could include a diverse set 
of policies, including local zoning and permitting 
and incentive programs. Additionally, investing in 
infrastructure for more efficient modes of freight 
transport will enable and encourage businesses 
to use less carbon-intensive options. Jurisdictions 
can consider options like dynamic parking pricing, 
removing minimum parking space requirements, 
and congestion pricing to encourage people to 
consider alternative travel modes or solutions to 
enable ride pooling and vehicle sharing. In doing so, 
they should also consider equity implications and 
ensure that these policies do not disproportionately 
burden disadvantaged communities. Employers can 
also provide incentives for employees to choose 
less carbon-intensive commuting options, including 
public transportation, active transportation, 
carpooling, and telework. The federal government 
can support these efforts by sharing best practices 
and providing funding. Educational materials 
that highlight the benefits of mode shift, such as 

financial savings, increased exercise, less stressful 
commutes, or more convenient travel options, 
can encourage the general public to consider less 
carbon-intensive mobility options. Industry can 
prioritize shifting parts of shipment journeys away 
from trucks to rail and water shipping when feasible. 
Additionally, light modes of freight delivery, such 
as cargo bikes, delivery robots, and small EVs can 
be encouraged for local/last-mile deliveries in 
more compact areas. Incentives can be offered to 
encourage the use of freight-efficiency practices, 
such as minimizing empty miles, off-peak deliveries, 
and freight vehicle load optimization. 

 • Improvements in the operation of  
transportation systems
Transportation systems operations can be improved 
and optimized to reduce energy use and emissions. 
For example, better logistics could increase vehicle 
routing and load factors, improving efficiency 
while also reducing fuel costs. New technologies 
can help improve multimodal freight transport and 
logistics and enable the use of shared transport 
assets and services, and more effectively respond to 
changes or unexpected delays using real-time data. 
Also, new connectivity and automation solutions 
can enable additional system-level efficiency 
improvements to alleviate traffic congestion and 
significantly reduce emissions. For example, 
cooperative driving automation (e.g., platooning, 
intersection eco-approach) could reduce congestion 
and improve energy efficiency by up to 20% REF. 
Additionally, new air traffic management 
methods such as Trajectory 
Based Operations

https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.sciencedirect.com%2Fscience%2Farticle%2Fabs%2Fpii%2FS0968090X18305199&data=05%7C01%7Cclay.carrington%40ee.doe.gov%7Ca2432c4b3de64068006b08daf031f85e%7C6b183ecc4b554ed5b3f87f64be1c4138%7C0%7C0%7C638086394659126671%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=sB4M7RMQiAmnqP%2BU3FzKwUS3UUvfiYUGcCfT7Dq2SPg%3D&reserved=0


46         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

can increase system efficiency by optimizing 
flights using time-based management, improving 
information exchange between air and ground 
systems, and fully leveraging an aircraft’s ability 
to fly a precise path REF. Importantly, automation 
and other operational improvements could result 
in additional travel demand, offsetting efficiency 
improvement benefits. This paradox highlights the 
importance of properly managing new technology 
to achieve positive results. 

 • Improvements in the energy  
efficiency of vehicles 
While achieving long-term climate goals requires 
transitioning to cleaner vehicles and fuels (see 
Section 4C), conventional vehicles will continue 
to be sold over the next decade and many legacy 
vehicles are likely to still be operating in 2050. 
Therefore, it is critical to continue to improve 
system- and vehicle-level efficiency through 
improved engines and vehicles; light-weighting 
and use of better materials; reduction of non-
combustion emissions (e.g., pipeline leakage); 
and optimizing vehicle use to minimize emissions 
(e.g., better freight logistics to improve fuel 
economy). Vehicle-level efficiency improvements 
such as hybridization or mixed use of fuels (e.g., 
oceangoing vessels using electricity generated 
on shore while in ports) will also be important. 
Vehicle energy efficiency improvements will also 
benefit consumers and businesses through lower 
operating costs. These improvements will help 

reduce the cost of future EVs while increasing 
energy security. Government policies have played a 
key role in improving the energy efficiency of new 
passenger vehicles and medium/heavy-duty trucks. 
These policies will continue to be critical as clean 
vehicles are adopted.

 • Innovative business models and solutions
Emerging business models and technologies will 
shape the future of the transportation sector. The 
public and private sectors should work together to 
explore and test technologies that enable mode 
shifts and multimodal solutions that include high-
efficient modes for passenger and freight travel. 
For example, rideshare companies can encourage 
pooled rides and partnerships with transit agencies 
so the public can easily incorporate micromobility, 
transit, and additional forms of shared mobility 
when planning trips. The California Integrated 
Travel Program (Cal-ITP) is a seamless trip planning 
and payment program across California rail and 
bus providers that brings together the principles 
of “sustainability, equity, and optimizing the rider 
experience” by eliminating barriers related to fare 
payment, verification of transit discounts, and 
accessible real-time data REF. Overall, public support 
can help reduce investment risks and encourage 
innovative solutions to test market effects and 
consumer response. 

In 2018, public transportation  
in the United States saved 
63 MILLION 
METRIC TONS  
of carbon dioxide 
equivalent.

EMISSIONS Activity

Energy Intensity

Carbon Intensity

=
X

X

https://www.faa.gov/sustainability/aviation-climate-action-plan
https://www.calitp.org/


         47

The federal government can support regional, state, 
local, and Tribal governments in facilitating a shift 
toward more efficient travel through funding and 
financing opportunities for transit, rail, and active 
transportation. DOT can also work with stakeholders 
to help facilitate this shift through improvements in 
roadway safety. The department’s National Roadway 
Safety Strategy outlines a comprehensive approach to 
improve safety on our nation’s highways, roads, and 
streets, which will encourage more people to walk, 
bike, and roll. Working with stakeholders, the federal 
government can improve mobility options for everyone, 
but ultimately the general public and businesses make 
decisions based on what travel choices are most 

affordable, accessible, 
and convenient. Cleaner, 
more affordable, and more convenient 
travel options will encourage people to explore 
transportation options besides single-occupancy 
vehicles and help people become more comfortable 
with new, efficient transportation choices. The federal 
government, partners, and stakeholders will need 
to build a transportation system that ensures these 
efficient travel modes are the most reliable, affordable, 
and convenient solutions for both freight and  
passenger movement. 



48         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

In addition to beneficial climate impact, improved 
transportation systems and mobility options offer a 
variety of co-benefits.

 • Safety and Quality of Life – Investments in active 
transportation infrastructure can ensure that those 
walking, biking, and rolling can travel safely and 
improve access to public transportation. In addition 
to reducing air pollution, these investments will 
generate health benefits by encouraging people to 
exercise in the course of their daily lives and avoid 
the stress of driving in traffic. Transportation systems 
that rely more on walking, biking, and transit require 
a smaller physical footprint, which reduces impacts 
on the natural and human environment, frees up 
space used for parking, and lowers noise and 
pollution in communities, greatly improving quality of 
life in our neighborhoods. 

 • Equity – Today’s transportation system does not 
serve all communities equitably. For example, 20% 
of American families below the poverty line do 
not have access to a car, with a disproportionate 
percentage of those families being Black (33%) 
and Latino (25%) REF. Limited transportation options 
mean limited access to jobs, culture, recreation, 
and even friends and family. Investments in reliable, 
frequent, and affordable transit service, along with 
safe sidewalks and bike lanes, provide much-needed 
mobility for households without access to personal 
vehicles and offer outsized benefit for people of 
color, residents of low-income communities, and 
Americans with limited mobility. Increasing access to 
low-carbon travel infrastructure by improving bicycle 
and pedestrian safety will benefit all roadway users 
and bring significant benefits to vulnerable roadway 
users, including seniors, people with disabilities, and 
people in lower income communities. In addition, 
investments in infrastructure can increase wealth 
creation opportunities for underserved communities. 
DOT’s Disadvantaged Business Enterprise program 
is helping ensure that small businesses owned by 
people of color and women get a fair chance to 
compete for infrastructure contracts.

 • Air Quality – Decarbonizing the transportation 
sector will reduce air pollutants that are harmful to 
the environment and to public health, such as NOx, 
volatile organic compounds, particulate matter, sulfur 
dioxide, and others (also see air quality textbox on 
page 29). 

 • Economic Growth – Investment in public 
transportation, rail, and active transportation 
infrastructure generates large economic returns. 
Every $1 invested in public transportation generates 
an estimated $5 in long-term annual economic 
returns, and every $1 billion invested in public 
transportation supports about 20,000 jobs REF.  
Fuel savings from walking and biking instead of 
driving are estimated to be $3.3 billion annually in 
the U.S. REF. A study on Georgia’s Silver Comet Trail 
expansion found that people gain an estimated $4.64 
in direct and indirect economic benefits from every  
$1 invested in the expansion REF. In 2017, Class I 
railroads alone generated $219 billion in economic 
activity and yielded around $26 billion in tax 
revenues, while supporting 1.1 million jobs across 
the nation REF. Additionally, the compact, mixed-
use development patterns that support a cleaner 
transportation system also generate greater revenue 
per acre of land, spur more economic productivity, 
and support job creation REF. 

 • Energy Security – Transportation is currently heavily 
dependent on petroleum fuels, and the sector 
accounts for over 70% of all petroleum used in the 
United States. Improving mobility options and the 
efficiency of the transportation sector will reduce 
our dependence on petroleum, limit the impacts of 
petroleum price volatility and inflation, and lower 
our total energy use. Lower and more diversified 
energy demand—when accompanied by enhanced 
domestic supply chains or clean technologies—will 
improve the nation’s security, decrease vulnerability 
to supply interruptions or price changes, and increase 
the reliability and affordability of mobility for all 
Americans. Incentives in the BIL and IRA combined 
with other federal investments and the National 
Blueprint for Lithium-Batteries REF are actively 
expanding sources of battery components, increasing 
diversification and energy security.

CO-BENEFITS OF 
DECARBONIZING 
TRANSPORTATION SYSTEMS 

https://www.americanprogress.org/article/can-new-transportation-technologies-improve-equity-and-access-to-opportunity/
https://www.apta.com/wp-content/uploads/APTA-Economic-Impact-Public-Transit-2020.pdf
https://www.railstotrails.org/resource-library/resources/new-research-finds-public-investment-in-trails-walking-and-biking-infrastructure-delivers-potential-economic-benefits-of-1385-billion-annually/
https://altago.com/wp-content/uploads/Silver-Comet-Executive-Summary_all072213-2.pdf
https://www.aar.org/article/jobs-output-taxes-freight-rails-economic-impact/
https://www.epa.gov/smartgrowth/smart-growth-and-economic-success-benefits-real-estate-developers-investors-business
https://www.energy.gov/sites/default/files/2021-06/FCAB National Blueprint Lithium Batteries 0621_0.pdf


         49

C. TRANSITIONING TO CLEAN OPTIONS BY 
DEPLOYING ZERO-EMISSION VEHICLES 
AND FUELS

The third strategy to reduce transportation emissions is 
to transition to clean options by deploying zero-emission 
vehicles and fuels as rapidly as possible for all viable 
vehicles and fuels. Improving the transportation system 
by increasing convenience and improving efficiency is 
the foundation upon which we can deploy clean vehicles 
and fuels. Successfully implementing the first two 
emissions reduction strategies will ease the challenges 
associated with rapidly deploying clean vehicles and 
fuels and replacing fossil fuels with clean alternatives.

Achieving a net-zero-emissions economy by 2050 
requires aggressively curbing transportation 
emissions through a suite of technology solutions 
across all passenger and freight travel modes, vehicle 
types, and fuels. Today’s transportation system relies 
on petroleum fuels for more than 95% of its energy 
use. With renewable electricity and sustainable fuels 
becoming increasingly available and affordable, 
there are more viable pathways to transition to low- 
or zero-carbon technologies by 2050. 

The cornerstone of this new transportation paradigm 
will be highly efficient zero-emission EVs that can 
leverage clean electricity while also supporting the 
decarbonization of the power sector (see textbox 
on page 55). The specific requirements of different 
modes and applications will require multiple targeted 
technology solutions across all passenger and freight 
travel modes, including direct electrification, use of 
hydrogen, and low-carbon sustainable liquid fuels. 
Progress in battery and electric drive technologies 
has already made zero-emission battery EVs a viable 
alternative to fossil fuel-powered vehicles in many 
applications. EVs are rapidly becoming a practical 
alternative for most on-road vehicle applications, with 

potential opportunities in other modes as well REF. 
Hydrogen fuel cell vehicles can complement battery 
EVs for applications requiring longer ranges and faster 
refueling times, like long-haul trucking. To achieve net-
zero targets, sustainable fuels produced from biomass 
and waste feedstocks can be used to decarbonize hard-
to-electrify forms of transportation such as air transport 
and long-haul shipping that require more energy-dense 
fuels. Widespread electrification of on-road vehicles 
will ensure that sufficient amounts of sustainable fuels 
are available for these harder-to-electrify applications 
(see textbox on page 54). Even with accelerated fleet 
turnover, combustion engine vehicles will still be in use 
after 2040, so sustainable fuels can help decarbonize 
legacy vehicles during the transition toward zero-emissions 
technologies. The transition to clean fuels will also have 
a profound effect on the source of this energy—the 
electric grid. The grid itself is decarbonizing, and the 
electricity needs of new transportation systems will 
require innovations in design and operation of the grid.

These clean technologies will also have benefits outside 
the transportation sector—such as use of hydrogen 
or batteries to decarbonize industry or the electricity 
sector and use of bio-products to replace fossil fuel 

https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/2516-1083/abe0ad/meta


50         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

BATTERY/ELECTRIC HYDROGEN SUSTAINABLE
LIQUID FUELS

Light Duty Vehicles (49%)*

Medium, Short-Haul Heavy Trucks & Buses (~14%)

Long-Haul Heavy Trucks (~7%)

O�-road (10%)

Rail (2%)

Maritime (3%) 

Aviation (11%)

Pipelines (4%)

Additional Opportunities

RD&D Priorities

• Stationary battery use
• Grid support (managed
   EV charging) 

• National battery strategy
• Charging infrastructure  
• Grid integration
• Battery recycling 

• Heavy industries
• Grid support 
• Feedstock for chemicals 
   and fuels

• Decarbonize 
   plastics/chemicals
• Bio-products

• Electrolyzer costs
• Fuel cell durability 
   and cost
• Clean hydrogen 
   infrastructure

• Multiple cost-e�ective   
   drop-in sustainable fuels
• Reduce ethanol 
   carbon intensity
• Bioenergy scale-up

TBD TBD

TBD

 * All emissions shares are for 2019                                                                                                                        Includes hydrogen for ammonia and methanol

1 icon represents limited long-term opportunity
2 icons represents large long-term opportunity
3 icons represents greatest long-term opportunity

Figure: Section 4C Improving Vehicles and Fuels

feedstocks—but will require targeted investments in 
RD&D, infrastructure deployment, supply chains for 
materials and minerals, and comprehensive policy 
support that varies by travel mode as described in more 
detail in Chapter 5.

Reducing transportation emissions to a level consistent 
with a net-zero economy in 2050 will require a full fleet 
transition, as well as a large scale-up of sustainable 
fuels to replace petroleum that will take decades. To 
achieve 2050 goals, most new vehicle sales will need 
to be zero-emissions by the mid-2030s, and the legacy 
stock of fossil-based vehicles must be simultaneously 
transitioned to EVs. Multiple solutions and actions are 
needed to enable such a transition: 

 • Support Adoption of Zero-Emission Vehicles
Zero-emission EVs offer a pathway to transition 

away from fossil fuel vehicles and decarbonize 
a large portion of the transportation sector. This 
transition will help reduce air pollution and improve 
health, especially in communities near highways 
or heavy traffic zones. To achieve this transition, 
numerous coordinated actions across multiple 
stakeholders will be required. These actions include 
continued support for technology development 
and cost reduction; financial incentives to support 
market growth; and regulation to support the 
broad adoption of EVs and to require safe, efficient 
vehicles and infrastructure. Stakeholders will need 
to support consumer education on these new 
technologies, work to deploy the required fueling 
and recharging infrastructure, and develop tools 
and signage that enable drivers to locate and 
easily use new infrastructure. Particular attention 
and investment will be needed at the federal, 

Figure 7. Summary of vehicle improvement strategies and technology solutions for different travel modes that are needed to reach a net-
zero economy in 2050 (more details provided in Section 5).



         51

state, and local levels to plan, fund, and install 
infrastructure in advance of zero-emission vehicles 
deployments and to ensure these benefits extend 
to disadvantaged communities. These actions will 
be critical for overburdened communities looking 
to increase access to and adoption of EVs. The 
federal government and other stakeholders should 
also ensure safe and reliable supply chains and 
ensure that a trained workforce is available. Finally, 
the federal government should adopt policies that 
account for the full set of externalities associated 
with fossil fuels. 

The federal government is already leading 
the transition to EVs. In his Executive Order on 
Catalyzing Clean Energy Industries and Jobs 
Through Federal Sustainability, President Biden 
directed the federal government to use its scale 
and procurement power to achieve ambitious goals, 
including 100% zero-emission vehicle acquisitions 
by 2035 and 100% zero-emission light-duty vehicle 
acquisitions by 2027 REF. Moreover, President 
Biden set a target of 50% EV sales share in 2030 
and kicked off the development of long-term 
fuel efficiency and emissions standards to save 
consumers money, cut pollution, boost public 
health, advance environmental justice, and address 
the climate crisis REF. 

Importantly, the IRA is already providing consumer 
incentives and investments supporting the 
expansion of zero-emission transportation 
industries, which will help support the industrial 
transition to clean energy technologies and secure 
the production of EVs in the United States. Building 
upon investments from the BIL, including $2.8 billion 
in the sustainable sourcing of critical minerals, 
battery production, and recycling, and the CHIPS 
and Science Act which will bolster the supply 
of automotive microchips, the IRA supports the 
commercialization of advanced vehicle technology 

components, conversion of domestic automotive 
manufacturing facilities, production tax credits 
for batteries and critical minerals, and more. For 
example, $3 billion from IRA will enable the United 
State Postal Service to purchase 66,000 battery 
electric delivery vehicles by 2028, with acquisitions 
delivered in 2026 and thereafter expected to 
be 100% electric REF. Timely and impartial data 
collection and analysis from federal agencies will 
inform decisions and guide investments during the 
transition, allowing for course adjustment as more 
information is collected, especially on impacts of 
innovative technologies and solutions. Additionally, 
education highlighting the benefits of EV ownership 
and dispelling misinformation will accelerate the 
adoption of personal EVs. 

 • Accelerate Replacement of Older Vehicles
At current vehicle turnover rates, replacing the more 
than 300 million fossil fuel vehicles in operation 
today will take decades. Fleet turnover rate varies 
by transportation mode, but in nearly all cases it 
requires that almost all new vehicles purchased by 
the mid-2030s are zero emission. Even at that rate, 
without acceleration in legacy vehicle replacement, 
a share of the vehicles in use in 2050 may still rely 
on fossil fuels. Funding programs in both BIL and 
IRA will help bring new zero-emission vehicles 
and engines to market sooner than would be 
otherwise expected. It is also possible that vehicle 
turnover rates will accelerate as the technology 
and costs of zero-emission vehicles continue to 
improve. If, for example, EVs become cheaper than 
internal combustion engine vehicles and dominate 
new vehicle sales, the cost to operate fueling 
and maintenance infrastructure and services for 
internal combustion engines could increase, further 
accelerating the replacement of legacy fossil fuel-
powered vehicles. However, higher up-front costs 
continue to serve as a barrier to adoption for lower-
income consumers. Incentives or other policies 

https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/presidential-actions/2021/12/08/executive-order-on-catalyzing-clean-energy-industries-and-jobs-through-federal-sustainability/
https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/08/05/fact-sheet-president-biden-announces-steps-to-drive-american-leadership-forward-on-clean-cars-and-trucks/
https://about.usps.com/newsroom/national-releases/2022/1220-usps-intends-to-deploy-over-66000-electric-vehicles-by-2028.htm


52         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

may be required to increase the rate of adoption 
of zero- or low-emission vehicles or to replace 
fossil fuels with cleaner energy alternatives. This is 
particularly true for transportation modes such as 
maritime and rail that have vehicles with very long 
lifespans. Additionally, educational materials and 
data on the benefits of zero-emission vehicles (e.g., 
lower maintenance and fueling costs) can support 
the acceleration of the transition. 

 • Support Development of Drop-in Sustainable 
Fuels and Related Infrastructure
Not all transportation applications are prime 
candidates for electrification. Some applications, 
such as long-haul aviation, have range and power 
requirements that are beyond the limits of current 
and expected electric technologies. Drop-in, 
energy-dense sustainable fuels will be needed 
for these applications. These sustainable fuels 
can also help decarbonize legacy vehicles across 
other modes and applications during the transition 
period. While some initial production is already 
in place, these fuels require targeted support to 
continue technology progress, including policies 

and incentives to support market growth in early 
phases. Ideally, the deployment of these fuels would 
utilize existing infrastructure, leverage streamlined 
regulation to ensure interoperability of systems, 
and support the development of safe and reliable 
supply chains and a properly trained workforce. 
Renewable diesel and sustainable aviation fuels are 
already being developed using standards to ensure 
they are safe for use and are fully compatible with 
existing vehicle fleets and fueling infrastructure 
and minimize emissions in their full life-cycles. 
As a result, these fuel alternatives are already 
capitalizing on our existing supply chains and 
workforce, with even greater opportunities ahead 
to leverage existing industrial infrastructure by 
converting petroleum refineries and other facilities 
for sustainable fuel production.

 • Develop a Robust Supply Chains and Workforce 
to Produce Zero-Emission Vehicles and Fuels
A robust domestic supply chain for batteries, 
charging infrastructure, hydrogen, and sustainable 
fuels will be critical to support the transition to zero-
emission vehicles and fuels. Major advancements in 

Figure: Section 5B

VEHICLES ON THE ROAD TODAY PROJECTED ON THE ROAD IN 2035 PROJECTED ON THE ROAD IN 2050
These personal light-weight vehicles 

represents the 280 million cars, S.U.V.s, 
vans, and pickup trucks on America’s roads 

today. The vast majority run on gasoline.

Electric vehicles sales have been growing. 
Even if they reached 100% of sales in 
2035, 60% or more of vehicles on the 

road would still be powered by gasoline.

Even in 2050, after 15 years of selling 
only EVs, a small but significant share 

of vehicles on the road will still run 
on gasoline.

Electric Gasoline

Figure 8. Illustrative example of fleet turnover evolution in a scenario achieving 100% light-duty EV sales in 2035 based on modeling 
framework documented in Muratori et al.



         53

oil and gas technologies allowed the United States 
to reduce its dependence on foreign fossil fuels 
and their volatile global markets. As we transition to 
new clean technologies, it is imperative to support 
a comprehensive industrial strategy that maintains 
this energy independence and strengthens our 
national security by supporting diverse energy 
sources, by building reliable supply chains, and 
by developing secure manufacturing solutions. 
Such a strategy will help ensure reliable access to 
strategic materials and address potentially stranded 
assets REF, REF. The Federal Consortium for Advanced 
Batteries (FCAB) is bringing together federal 
agencies to ensure a domestic supply of lithium 
batteries and to accelerate the development of a 
robust and secure domestic industrial base REF.  
Similarly, the Sustainable Aviation Fuel (SAF) Grand 
Challenge and the National Clean Hydrogen 
Strategy and Roadmap articulate steps needed 
to secure domestic industrial bases for those 
sustainable fuels, including mitigating safety and 
environmental risks and developing the necessary 
codes, standards, and workforce to enable this 
transition REF. As we transition from fossil fuels 
and internal combustion engine vehicles, it is 
important to create opportunities for workforce 
development that lead to well-paying jobs, including 
in manufacturing, vehicle fuel supply, and vehicle 

maintenance. A strong workforce will be critical to 
enable the transition and can be supported through 
training and education programs, including pre-
apprenticeships, apprenticeships, and on-the-job 
training programs to create well-paying careers. 
Many of these types of programs can be targeted 
to ensure no one is left behind in the transition to a 
clean energy economy.

Improving vehicle efficiency and rapidly transitioning 
to zero-emission vehicles and fuels will be critical to 
achieving near- and long-term emission reduction goals 
and will require coordinated and sustainable actions 
from multiple stakeholders: the federal government, 
local governments, industry, and the general public. 
Multiple technology solutions will be needed for various 
travel modes and applications (see Section 5), and some 
technologies are not yet commercially viable. Declaring 
clear cross-agency goals now, with support from 
industry, federal, and local planners, labor, and other 
stakeholders, will enable targeted investments in 
RD&D and deployment and infrastructure and the 
design of effective policies. It will 
also provide the lead time needed 
to complete this transformation and 
succeed in achieving a net-zero-
emissions economy by 2050. 

EMISSIONS Activity

Energy Intensity

Carbon Intensity

=
X

X

https://www.whitehouse.gov/cea/written-materials/2021/04/23/innovation-investment-and-inclusion-accelerating-the-energy-transition-and-creating-good-jobs/
https://www.energy.gov/policy/articles/americas-strategy-secure-supply-chain-robust-clean-energy-transition
https://www.energy.gov/eere/vehicles/federal-consortium-advanced-batteries-fcab
https://www.hydrogen.energy.gov/pdfs/clean-hydrogen-strategy-roadmap.pdf


54         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

Sustainable fuels offer an opportunity to replace 
petroleum and reduce GHG emissions. They provide 
the same advantages and flexibility of petroleum 
fuels, making them well-positioned to decarbonize 
applications like long-haul aviation and international 
maritime shipping that require energy-dense liquid 
fuels. Sustainable fuels can also be used with existing 
infrastructure and vehicles, helping to reduce emissions 
of legacy vehicles. Multiple production pathways exist 
to create sustainable fuels using renewable resources 
including corn, vegetable oils and animal fats, forestry 
and agriculture residues, wastes, and purpose-grown 
energy crops and algae, as well as from renewable 
electricity. However, the full environmental impact from 
scaling up feedstocks for sustainable fuels must be part 
of the full life-cycle emissions analysis, and the amount 
of available biomass, its geographic distribution, and 
technologies to sustainably convert that waste carbon 
into fuel are limited REF. The scale-up of sustainable fuel 
production requires developing and deploying advanced 
technologies to reduce cost and improve performance, 
while ensuring that life-cycle emissions and overall 
environmental and societal impacts are minimal. DOE’s 
Bioenergy Technologies Office (BETO) estimates that 
over 50 billion gallons of sustainable biofuels (80% or 
more GHG emissions reduction) can be cost-effectively 
produced domestically by leveraging multiple production 
pathways REF. In a future in which on-road transportation 
will largely rely on EVs, 50 billion gallons of 
sustainable fuels would be enough to 
fully supply aviation,

maritime, and rail demand in 2050, as shown in Figure 9. 
Although it is uncertain if all pathways will become cost 
effective, there is a significant effort to demonstrate that 
SAF can fully replace fossil fuels in aviation. Moreover, 
synthetic e-fuels (liquid fuels produced using captured 
carbon and hydrogen produced by electrolysis of water 
with renewable electricity) could also provide a viable 
pathway to produce sustainable fuels and increase 
supply. Depending on the final fuel product, sustainable 
fuels could address some local air pollution issues and 
offer a solution for transportation applications that lack 
other clean alternatives. Moreover, some sustainable 
fuel production pathways offer the opportunity to 
leverage carbon capture and storage (CCS) to further 
reduce GHGs and even achieve carbon-negative 
emissions REF. Finally, a robust bioenergy industry could 
also produce chemicals and products for the petroleum 
industry with significantly lower emissions. Sustainable 
fuels must be produced in a way that considers climate 
change, land use, water, and ecosystems implications, 
and planning will require cross-sectoral expertise and 
broad collaborations.

SUSTAINABLE FUELS SUPPLY

https://orbit.dtu.dk/en/publications/energy-systems
https://www.energy.gov/eere/bioenergy/2016-billion-ton-report
https://orbit.dtu.dk/en/publications/energy-systems


         55

MODERNIZING AND CLEANING THE ELECTRICITY GRID
Future transportation systems must leverage affordable and abundant clean electricity to  
power battery EVs and produce clean hydrogen and sustainable fuels. While the exact 
mechanisms for creating a clean and resilient grid are out of scope for this document, clean 
electricity will be critical to decarbonizing transportation. Widespread transition away from fossil 
fuels for transportation will have far-reaching consequences for energy and electricity systems, 
including new opportunities for significant electricity load growth, while also requiring greater 
coordination for planning and operation between the transportation and electricity sectors. 

EVs are projected to become the largest source of load growth in the U.S. and could represent more than 25% of 
total electricity demand in 2050, up from <1% today REF. There are many aspects of our generation transmission and 
electricity distribution systems that are not yet ready to accommodate such load growth, requiring new analysis and 
solutions to plan and operate a reliable and affordable decarbonized grid. Effective integration of EVs with the power 
system—driven by interoperability standards, transparent electricity markets, and coordinated long-term planning 
among fleet operators and utilities—is necessary to ensure this growing demand for electricity can be supplied 
reliably and that grid planning fully considers the rapidly evolving transportation electricity demand. The impact on 
the grid is exacerbated for hydrogen and e-fuels, which require approximately twice and four times, respectively,  
the amount of clean electricity per mile of travel compared to direct use of electricity in EVs. New transportation 
loads can support the decarbonization of the grid, especially by complementing variable renewable energy sources 
with managed EV charging and other solutions REF. Similarly, flexible electrolyzer operation for hydrogen production 
and use of hydrogen as a long-duration energy storage solution could provide major benefits to the power grid REF, 
REF. EVs can also act as distributed energy storage devices, providing electricity back to the grid (V2G) or to other 
loads (V2X) to further support the power system and increase resiliency, especially during extreme events.

Figure 9. Current and projected liquid transportation fuel demand and sustainable biofuel supply. Note that the AEO reference case 
represents a business-as-usual perspective with limited changes from the current systems and does not reflect the transformative changes 
this Blueprint envisions. Data sources: EIA AEO Ref case REF and DOE BETO assessments REF.

Figure: Section 4C

EMISSIONS Activity

Energy Intensity

Carbon Intensity

=
X

X

https://doi.org/10.2172/1459351
https://pubs.rsc.org/en/content/articlehtml/2022/ee/d1ee02206g
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0306261920311491
https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy22osti/81779.pdf
https://www.energy.gov/eere/bioenergy/2016-billion-ton-report
https://www.energy.gov/sites/prod/files/2017/09/f36/biofuels_and_bioproducts_from_wet_and_gaseous_waste_streams_full_report.pdf


56         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

These strategies will need to be applied broadly and 
must consider all of the many interconnections between 
transportation systems, vehicles and technology, and 
the lives of people across a large and diverse country. 
This chapter provides an overview of solutions that can 
facilitate the transition to clean vehicles and fuels for all 
passenger and freight transportation modes. 

The transportation sector includes a broad array 
of travel options for passenger and freight and is 
generally broken-down into seven specific sub-sectors 
or travel modes: light-duty vehicles, medium and 
heavy-duty trucks and buses, off-road vehicles and 
mobile equipment, rail, maritime vessels, aviation, 
and pipelines. Emissions from off-road vehicles and 
mobile equipment are often considered part of the 
industrial and agricultural sectors, but the solutions 
to decarbonize those vehicles will leverage and be 
aligned with solutions for other transportation vehicles. 
Therefore, for the purposes of this Blueprint, off-road 
vehicles and mobile equipment are considered part 
of the transportation sector. Similarly, while pipelines 
are not always considered part of the transportation 
sector, they carry the second largest quantity of freight 
(liquid and gaseous commodities) by tonnage in the 
United States of any of the seven modes and thus play a 
significant role in our transportation system REF.

Each of these travel modes, or sub-sectors, presents 
unique technological challenges to transition to clean 
technologies, yet each also offers major opportunities 
to reduce emissions. The U.S. government has defined 
clear decarbonization paths for some, but not all, of 
the transportation subsectors. For example, the 2021 
United States Aviation Climate Action Plan, which was 
coordinated across multiple federal agencies, provides 
a strategy to help the federal government and industry 
achieve net-zero GHG aviation emissions by 2050. 
Other travel modes have less established pathways 
or partial goals and require additional research and 
policy coordination to establish viable routes to full 
decarbonization. Additionally, in some sub-sectors 
there are well-identified zero-emission technologies 
that are already transforming industries. For example, 
battery EVs, which have widespread global support, 
are successfully helping to decarbonize the light-duty 
vehicle sector. Their sales are rising, manufacturers 
are investing heavily in them, and consumer demand 
is rapidly growing. Other sectors will need to prioritize 
research in the near-term to identify the best 
technologies for decarbonization. The table on the next 
page summarizes current transportation emissions 
by mode and established federal emissions reduction 
goals and associated measures.

5. APPLYING THE STRATEGIES BY 
 TRANSPORTATION MODE
Decarbonizing the transportation sector in the United States will require 
increasing convenience, improving efficiency, and transitioning to clean 
transportation options. 

https://ops.fhwa.dot.gov/publications/fhwahop16083/ch1.htm


         57

Transportation  
Mode

Share of Current 
Transportation 

Emissions
Federal GHG Emissions Reduction Goals

Light-Duty Vehicles
49%

• Achieve 50% of new vehicle sales being zero-emission by 
2030 supporting a pathway for full adoption, and ensure 
that new internal combustion engine vehicles are as 
efficient as possible

• Deploy 500,000 EV chargers by 2030 REF

• Ensure 100% federal fleet procurement be zero-emission 
by 2027 REF

Medium and Heavy-
Duty Trucks and Buses

21%

• Aim to have 30% of new vehicle sales be zero-emission  
by 2030 and 100% by 2040 REF

• Ensure 100% federal fleet procurement is zero-emission  
by 2035 REF

Off-road
10%

• Work to establish specific targets
• Focus resources to develop technology pathways  

and set efficiency and zero-emissions vehicle and 
equipment targets

Rail
2%

• Work to establish specific targets
• Focus resources to develop technology pathways and  

set efficiency and zero-emissions vehicle targets
• Encourage greater use for passenger and freight travel  

to reduce emissions from road vehicles

Maritime 3% 

• Continue to support the Zero-Emission Shipping Mission 
(ZESM) goals to ensure that 5% of the global deep-sea 
fleet are capable of using zero-emission fuels by 2030, at 
least 200 of these ships primarily use these fuels across 
the main deep sea shipping route, and 10 large trade ports 
covering at least three continents can supply zero-emission 
fuels by 2030 REF

• Support the U.S. domestic maritime sector by performing 
more RD&D into sustainable fuels and technologies and 
incentivize U.S. commercial vessel operators to move 
towards lower GHG emissions

• Work with countries in the International Maritime 
Organization to adopt a goal of achieving zero emissions 
from international shipping by 2050 REF

Aviation 11%

• Reduce aviation emissions by 20% by 2030 when 
compared to a business-as-usual scenario

• Achieve net-zero GHG emissions from the U.S. aviation 
sector by 2050

• Catalyze the production of at least three billion gallons 
of SAF per year by 2030 and ~35 billion gallons by 2050, 
enough to supply the entire sector REF

EMISSIONS Activity

Energy Intensity

Carbon Intensity

=
X

X

https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/12/13/fact-sheet-the-biden-harris-electric-vehicle-charging-action-plan/
https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/presidential-actions/2021/12/08/executive-order-on-catalyzing-clean-energy-industries-and-jobs-through-federal-sustainability/
https://globaldrivetozero.org/2022/11/16/cop27-usa-growing-number-nations-sign-global-mou/
https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/presidential-actions/2021/12/08/executive-order-on-catalyzing-clean-energy-industries-and-jobs-through-federal-sustainability/
http://mission-innovation.net/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/Zero-Emission-Shipping-Mission-Action-Plan.pdf
https://www.state.gov/remarks-at-how-ocean-solutions-contribute-to-net-zero/
https://www.faa.gov/sites/faa.gov/files/2021-11/Aviation_Climate_Action_Plan.pdf


58         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

A. LIGHT-DUTY VEHICLES
With more than 280 million vehicles on the road, 
light-duty passenger vehicles—cars, SUVs, and pick-
up trucks—are the primary mode of passenger travel 
in the country and account for over 75% of total U.S. 
passenger miles traveled REF, REF. LDVs are responsible 
for about 50% of total transportation energy use and 
emissions: over 120 billion gallons of gasoline consumed 
and over 1,000 MMT CO2 emitted each year REF. Light-
duty passenger vehicles are also major contributors 
to air pollution, which especially impacts people who 
live near highways. The fuel economy of new LDVs has 
improved by about 30% over the past 15 years, driven 
largely by regulations, including EPA GHG emissions 
standards and the Corporate Average Fuel Economy 
(CAFE) standards established by the National Highway 
Traffic Safety Administration. This improved fuel economy 
has translated into significant per-vehicle energy and 
emissions savings REF. However, sales trends toward 
larger and less-efficient vehicles have led to lower overall 
emission reductions than would have been achieved 
without these market shifts REF. 

Achieving 2050 net-zero-emissions goals will require 
transitioning new LDV sales to zero-emission EVs by 
the mid-2030s, and then rapidly replacing the legacy 
stock of higher-polluting fossil-based vehicles with 
zero-emission EVs. Ensuring that fossil fuel vehicles 

sold in the interim are as efficient as possible will 
further reduce energy needs and emissions during the 
transition. The rate of EV adoption and speed of vehicle 
replacement will affect the degree to which LDVs use 
liquid fuels in the decades to come. Thus, sustainable 
fuels provide an additional opportunity to reduce the 
emissions of legacy internal combustion engine vehicles 
still on the road in 2050 and beyond. 

Sales of plug-in battery EVs have been rapidly 
increasing in recent years thanks to technology 
improvements and lower costs (especially for batteries, 
as shown in Figure 10), supporting policies, and 
increased availability of charging infrastructure REF. In 
2021, U.S. EV sales more than doubled to over half a 
million vehicles sold, reaching 4.5% of the total market 
share. Globally, EVs accounted for 9% of new vehicle 
sales in 2021, with Europe and China representing the 
two largest EV markets REF. In California, where support 
for EVs has been substantial, EVs accounted for about 
18% of vehicle sales in the first half of 2022 REF. Despite 
this progress, more than 99% of LDVs on the road in 
America today still rely on gasoline17 or diesel fuels, 
since only a small fraction of vehicles are replaced each 
year. A rapid acceleration of new EV sales will be critical 
to achieving decarbonization goals. 

17 Motor gasoline is a blend of 90% fossil gasoline and 10% ethanol.

Pipelines

4%

• Work to establish specific targets
• By 2036, repair or replace 1,000 miles of high-risk, leak-

prone, community-owned legacy gas distribution pipeline 
infrastructure, as well as an estimated reduction of 1,000 
metric tons of methane emissions REF

• Eliminate leakages and enable use of pipelines for clean 
sustainable fuels

Total Sector 100% • 80–100% Emissions Reductions by 2050 (in line with the 
U.S. LTS)

EMISSIONS Activity

Energy Intensity

Carbon Intensity

=
X

X

https://www.eia.gov/outlooks/aeo/
https://nhts.ornl.gov/
https://www.eia.gov/outlooks/aeo/pdf/AEO2022_ReleasePresentation.pdf
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2020.111517
https://www.epa.gov/automotive-trends
https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/2516-1083/abe0ad/meta
https://www.iea.org/reports/global-ev-outlook-2022
https://www.gov.ca.gov/2022/10/19/california-zev-sales-near-18-of-all-new-car-sales-in-2022/
https://www.transportation.gov/sites/dot.gov/files/2022-04/US_DOT_FY2022-26_Strategic_Plan.pdf


         59

With sales increasing globally 
and manufacturers planning to 
spend more than half a trillion 
dollars on EV and battery 
development through 2030 REF, 
it is clear that EVs are a viable 
technology to dramatically 
reduce GHG emissions from 
LDVs by 2050. The number of EV 
models available is also rapidly 
increasing, with more than 100 
models currently or soon-to-be 
available across multiple vehicle 
classes, including larger SUVs  
and pick-up trucks REF.  
The outlook for EV growth for 
personal and commercial vehicles 
is increasingly positive, and 
over time the environmental 
benefits of zero-emission vehicles 
combined with progressive grid 
decarbonization are expected 
to compound REF. Further 
technological progress will 
accelerate EV competitiveness 
for additional applications 
and increase affordability for 
all consumers. Batteries are projected to continue to 
improve and become cheaper, especially as domestic 
minerals processing and cell production capacity 
increases, enabling further competitiveness over the next 
decade. Still, significant challenges remain to achieving 
high market penetration of EVs over the next decades, 
and multiple actions are needed to achieve 2030 and 
2050 goals:

1. Implement policy and regulation to expand the 
market share and use of EVs. Government, industry, 
and labor set a target of 50% new light-duty EV 
sales share by 2030 REF. The actions needed to 

achieve this goal will demonstrate the viability and 
underlying benefits of EVs, including lower costs, 
and put us on a pathway for 100% EV adoption. 
EPA and DOT are currently evaluating future GHG 
emissions and fuel economy policies that will support 
this transition while ensuring that new internal 

Figure: Section 5A LDV

Vehicle battery costs dropped 90% over the ten-year period ending in 2020, creating less 
expensive overall electric vehicle costs. Studies indicate that when battery costs reach an 
average of $100/kWh (or $60/kWh per cell), EV purchase prices (MSRP) will reach parity 
with gasoline-powered vehicles. Multiple technology pathways exist to achieve this cost 
threshold, including lithium-ion with graphite, lithium-ion with silicon, and lithium metal.

$1,400

$1,200

$1,000

$800

$600

$400

$200

0
2010 20212015 2025 2030

$157
$100/kWh Pack

$297

2 3

Li-ion w. Silicon
Lithium Metal

EV Purchase Price Parity with Conventional Gasoline Vehicles

Li-ion w. Graphite

1

IMPROVED AFFORDABILITY 
OF BATTERY COSTS

Figure 10. Battery cost evolution and projections (2021 USD per pack-level usable kilowatt-
hour (kWh)) Data source: DOE Vehicle Technologies Office REF. Investments, including from the 
BIL, IRA, and the CHIPS and Science Acts, are ensuring battery costs continue to decline and 
that reliable and secure supply chains and manufacturing are available.

https://www.edf.org/media/automakers-worldwide-will-spend-more-half-trillion-dollars-electric-vehicles-decade-new
https://www.epa.gov/automotive-trends
https://publications.anl.gov/anlpubs/2022/07/176270.pdf
https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/08/05/fact-sheet-president-biden-announces-steps-to-drive-american-leadership-forward-on-clean-cars-and-trucks/#:~:text=Specifically%2C%20the%20President%20will%20sign,or%20fuel%20cell%20electric%20vehicles.
https://www.energy.gov/eere/vehicles/articles/fotw-1206-oct-4-2021-doe-estimates-electric-vehicle-battery-pack-costs-2021


60         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

combustion engine vehicles sold in the interim are 
as efficient as is feasible. At the same time, tax 
credits and manufacturing incentives established 
by the IRA are designed to reduce the costs of new 
and used EVs and strengthen supply chains and 
domestic manufacturing. The federal government 
is also leveraging its scale and procurement power 
to transition the federal fleet to EVs, with the goal of 
having 100% of its vehicle acquisitions for its fleet 
of more than 600,000 vehicles be zero-emission 
vehicles by 2035 (2027 for LDVs) REF. Regional, 
state, local, and Tribal actions can also enable 
more rapid zero-emission vehicle transitions. 
For example, 13 states—California, Colorado, 
Connecticut, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, 
Minnesota, New Jersey, New York, Oregon, Rhode 
Island, Vermont, and Washington—have adopted 
mandates on automakers’ sales of zero-emission 
vehicles, charting a course toward 100% EV sales 
REF. Additional policy and vehicle incentives may 
also be needed to encourage legacy fleet turnover 
to EVs, at least until the additional purchase cost of 
EVs is sufficiently lowered to achieve widespread 
adoption. EVs generally have much lower operating 
costs, so educating consumers on the total cost of EV 
ownership relative to conventional vehicles (rather 
than simply comparing purchase prices) could also 
speed adoption. 
 

2. Continue EV charging infrastructure investments 
and planning to ensure every individual and 
business has access to convenient and affordable 

charging whenever needed. These actions will 
entail an equitable expansion of access to charging, 
including widespread public charging solutions for 
those without access to home charging (workplace, 
curbside, multi-unit buildings with shared parking), 
and ubiquitous fast charging networks. A major 
expansion of the U.S. charging ecosystem will offer 
opportunities to rapidly charge EVs during long 
trips, ensure consistent and convenient access to 
charging, and provide charging assurance for all 
individuals, including those without personal access 
to vehicle chargers. Moreover, investments must 
support network maintenance to ensure that a  
well-functioning and reliable charging system is 
available at all times. 
 
The Joint Office of Energy and Transportation will be 
a critical part of this effort. Created through the BIL to 
coordinate efforts between DOE and DOT, the Joint 
Office supports the president’s goal of deploying 
500,000 EV chargers by 2030. Combining the 
expertise of both agencies, the Joint Office is helping 
to implement BIL programs that will jumpstart a 
national network of EV charging along our highways 
and throughout our communities. In collaboration 
with regional, state, local, and Tribal jurisdictions, 
the Joint Office can help ensure that all Americans 
have full access to charging infrastructure. EPA is 
working with the Joint Office to help communities 
plan for investments in EV charging infrastructure 
and to ensure chargers are distributed equitably and 
in ways that will bring additional co-benefits. Local 

https://www.cleanenergyministerial.org/content/uploads/2022/09/evi-zero-emission-government-fleet-declaration-final.pdf
https://dec.vermont.gov/air-quality/mobile-sources/zev#:~:text=To%20date%2C%2012%20states%20have,ZEVs%20over%20the%20next%20decade.


         61

and state governments can update ordinances to 
encourage or require vehicle chargers, particularly at 
multi-unit dwellings or commercial buildings that also 
support interoperability. Additionally, it is imperative 
to develop and implement solutions for effective 
vehicle-grid integration, as EVs are expected to 
become one of the largest electricity load categories 
by 2050. Managed charging and incentivizing 
charging at times that are beneficial for the grid can 
provide valuable demand-side flexibility to better 
design and operate the power system, reducing 
electricity costs for all and increasing resiliency. 

3. Fund research and innovation that will continue to 
improve vehicle, battery, and charger performance 
and reduce costs, and leverage large investments 
from BIL, IRA, and the CHIPS and Science Act to 
develop a domestic EV manufacturing supply chain 
that is reliable, secure, and creates equitable clean-
energy manufacturing jobs, as articulated in the 
National Blueprint for Lithium Batteries REF. Based 
on its research and development activities, DOE 
projects that new technologies under development 
will reduce battery costs to $80–100/kWh over 
the next decade, which is expected to allow EVs 
to achieve purchase price parity with conventional 
vehicles REF. Moreover, EVs offer lower operational 
(fuel and maintenance) costs by being more efficient 
and having fewer moving parts than conventional 
vehicles. These benefits offer significant cost 
savings, especially for consumers who own older 
vehicles REF. DOE estimates the maintenance cost 
of EVs is 40% cheaper than for internal combustion 
engine vehicles, which can amount to thousands 
of dollars of savings over the course of a vehicle’s 
lifetime REF. Additional research and innovation will 
be required to accelerate these trends in efficiency 
and performance, and to continue developing future 
generations of battery technology.

B. MEDIUM AND HEAVY-DUTY ON-ROAD  
     TRUCKS AND BUSES
Medium duty and heavy-duty vehicles include a wide 
range of vehicles that vary in size, from heavy-duty 
pickup trucks to long-haul semi-trucks. The use of these 
vehicles is correspondingly diverse, as this category 
encompasses vehicles used for local delivery, refuse 
collection, public transportation, long-haul goods 
delivery, and many other purposes. While MHDVs 
represent only 5% of total vehicles on the road, they 
are responsible for an outsized 21% of transportation 
emissions, making them the second-largest emissions 
contributor behind only light-duty vehicles. And within 
MHDVs, a small portion—about 10% of heavy trucks 
with high utilization—is responsible for approximately 
50% of total MHDV emissions REF. MHDVs are also a 
major source of criteria pollutant emissions, particularly 
along busy corridors that are close to disadvantaged 
communities. These emissions cause increased asthma 
and lung disease rates among these populations and 
have been linked to thousands of premature deaths. 
They also contribute to the inability of some areas to 
achieve compliance with federal ambient area quality 
standards REF, REF, putting residents at disproportionate 
risk for additional health impacts. 

Although nearly all MHDVs on the road today rely 
on internal combustion engines fueled with diesel 
(81%), gasoline (17%), or natural gas (1%) REF, many 
manufacturers are investing heavily in zero-emission 

https://www.energy.gov/sites/default/files/2021-06/FCAB National Blueprint Lithium Batteries 0621_0.pdf
https://www.energy.gov/eere/vehicles/batteries
https://publications.anl.gov/anlpubs/2021/05/167399.pdf
https://www.energy.gov/eere/vehicles/articles/fotw-1190-june-14-2021-battery-electric-vehicles-have-lower-scheduled
https://www.nature.com/articles/s41560-021-00855-0
https://www.epa.gov/sciencematters/links-between-air-pollution-and-childhood-asthma
https://www.epa.gov/newsreleases/epa-proposes-stronger-standards-heavy-duty-vehicles-promote-clean-air-protect
https://www.eia.gov/outlooks/aeo/pdf/AEO2022_ReleasePresentation.pdf


62         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

MHDVs that use battery electric or hydrogen fuel cell 
electric powertrains. At COP27 on November 16, 2022, 
the United States joined the Global Memorandum of 
Understanding on Zero-Emission Medium- and Heavy-
Duty Vehicles REF. First introduced at COP26, the Global 
MOU puts countries on a path to 100% new zero-
emission MHDV sales by 2040 at the latest, with an 
interim goal of at least 30% new sales by 2030 REF.

Since MHDVs are used for a variety of purposes, there 
will likely be a suite of zero-emission technology 
solutions in the future to cover various use cases.  
Based on expectations of current technological 
progress, smaller vehicles with lower utilization will 
likely be EVs REF. Other manufacturers are investing 
in hydrogen powertrains using fuel cells. While not 
currently commercially viable for freight applications, 
hydrogen vehicles are appealing for future long-
haul operations requiring greater vehicle range 
and faster refueling times. There is also ongoing 
RD&D and deployment focused on hydrogen use in 
internal combustion engines, which could improve 
deployment and support the build out of hydrogen 
fueling infrastructure. Research and development are 
also improving durability and reducing costs of fuel 
cells, which will enable major efficiency improvements. 
Fleet operators are sensitive to fuel and maintenance 
costs, which could make efficient EVs even more 
appealing and result in a more rapid shift toward EVs. 
With continued improvements in vehicle and fuel 

technologies (in line with DOE targets for zero-emission 
vehicle technologies and fuels costs and performance 
vetted with industry), zero-emission vehicles in all 
MHDV classes can reach total-cost-of-driving parity with 
conventional diesel vehicles by 2035 REF.

Sustainable fuels may also be an option for some 
MHDVs, particularly for remote applications and for 
legacy vehicles relying on internal combustion engines. 
The historically slow turnover rate for many MHDVs 
means that new technologies may not replace diesel 
engines for several decades and that disseminating 
new technology across the MHDV fleet will be a slow 
process if market forces or policy decisions do not 
accelerate vehicle turnover. Sustainable fuels could 
help alleviate this turnover challenge by providing 
low-carbon solutions that are compatible with existing 
vehicles. To achieve 2030 and 2050 goals, the current 
MHDV reliance on diesel and gasoline must shift to 
zero-emission vehicles and sustainable fuels. This 
shift can be achieved in part through decisive and 
coordinated actions, including:

1. Fund research and innovation to develop viable 
technologies to replace fossil-fuel vehicles for all 
MHDV applications. It is vital to continue to support 
research, design, and development toward lower-
cost and higher-energy-density batteries and 
fuel cell applications, as well as the use of clean 
hydrogen and sustainable fuels to fully decarbonize 

Virtually all MHDVs on the road today rely  
on internal combustion engines fueled with

NATURAL GAS (1%) GASOLINE (17%)DIESEL (81%) 

https://globaldrivetozero.org/mou/
https://globaldrivetozero.org/2022/11/16/cop27-usa-growing-number-nations-sign-global-mou/
https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy22osti/82081.pdf
https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy22osti/82081.pdf


         63

the MHDV sector. For example, DOE is investing 
hundreds of millions of dollars to support the 
next stage of the SuperTruck initiative aimed at 
electrifying freight trucking REF. The department 
is also collaborating with industry through the 
21st Century Truck Partnership, which is shaping 
a national vision for trucks and buses that safely 
and cost-effectively move larger volumes of 
freight and greater numbers of passengers while 
emitting little or no pollution and dramatically 
reducing dependency on petroleum REF. DOE is 
also coordinating with partners internationally on 
the development of the new Megawatt Charging 
System standard, which will enable compatibility 
between automakers and charging equipment 
installed in the United States. Research can 
also help improve access to big data, such as 
information collected from GPS navigation services 
and user mobile phone applications, to inform 
strategies to reduce GHG emissions. 
 

2. Implement policy and regulation to reduce 
new vehicle GHG and criteria emissions and set 
ambitious targets for transitioning to zero-emissions 
vehicles on a timeline consistent with achieving 
economy-wide 2030 and 2050 emissions reduction 
goals. This effort should account for the wide 
range of MHDV vehicles and applications. One 
example of such regulatory action is EPA’s Clean 
Trucks Plan, which will reduce the emissions of 
GHGs and other harmful pollutants through a series 
of rulemakings REF. Another example is the fuel 
efficiency standards for MHDVs, which DOT issued 
jointly with EPA. Additionally, the government will 
continue to provide grants and other incentives for 
low-emission or zero-emission vehicles (e.g., the 
Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality Program, the 
Low or No Emission Vehicle Program, the Diesel 
Emission Reduction ACT (DERA), SmartWay, and 
the Clean School Bus Program REF). Regional, state, 
local, and Tribal actions to enable more rapid zero-

emission MHDV transitions can further support 
these programs. For example, 17 states and the 
District of Columbia and the Canadian province of 
Quebec are working collaboratively through the 
Zero Emission Vehicle (ZEV) Task Force to advance 
and accelerate the market for electric MHDVs REF. 
The committed signatories have stressed the need 
for market-enabled adoptions, including innovative 
financing models and additional funding sources 
and actions to encourage fleet purchases. Together, 
they have emphasized accelerating deployments of 
zero-emission trucks and buses in disadvantaged 
communities. In addition to multi-state actions, 
strategies can be further identified through 
regional, state, local, and Tribal climate action plans 
that consider freight planning, and state freight 
plans should include GHG emissions-reduction 
strategies. Regional coordination formalized in 
such planning documents will also help support 
this transition by reflecting multi-jurisdictional 
capacities. Additionally, fleet transition plans can 
accelerate the shift to zero-emission vehicles. The 
IRA directs EPA to award grants and rebates for 
zero-emissions heavy duty vehicles. And under the 
BIL, zero-emission vehicle project grant applications 
for the Buses and Bus Facilities Program and the 
Low or No Emission Vehicle Program must include 
a Zero-Emission Fleet Transition Plan. Innovative 
freight strategies, such as green loading zones, 
zero- or low-emissions delivery zones, and 
restricted multi-use lanes, can also incentivize  
the use of zero- or low-carbon freight options in 
urban areas. 

The government will continue 
to provide grants and other 
incentives for low-emission  
or zero-emission vehicles.

EMISSIONS Activity

Energy Intensity

Carbon Intensity

=
X

X

https://www.energy.gov/articles/doe-announces-162-million-decarbonize-cars-and-trucks
https://www.energy.gov/eere/vehicles/21st-century-truck-partnership
https://www.epa.gov/regulations-emissions-vehicles-and-engines/clean-trucks-plan
https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2022/03/07/fact-sheet-vice-president-harris-announces-actions-to-accelerate-clean-transit-buses-school-buses-and-trucks/
https://www-f.nescaum.org/documents/multi-state-medium-and-heavy-duty-zero-emission-vehicle-action-plan/


64         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

3. Invest in strategic demonstration and deployment 
to support the build-out of interoperable EV 
charging and refueling infrastructure through 
coordinated planning, policy, and funding 
opportunities. An unprecedented level of 
collaboration is needed among fleet operators, 
facilities throughout the freight transportation 
network, infrastructure providers, and 
electric utilities to ensure energy systems can 
accommodate the charging demands associated 
with the rollout of zero-emission MHDVs during 
the latter half of this decade. The Joint Office is 
offering technical assistance to school districts 
and transit operators for deployment of electric 
school and transit buses under BIL programs. For 
freight applications, vehicles can leverage central 
fueling facilities, and accordingly there will need 
to be an initial focus on large truck depots and key 
truck corridors that carry high volumes of freight 
from ports. These centrally located fueling facilities 
and focused uses will have the strongest business 
cases, particularly since they can help reduce 
the emissions and noise impacts in urban areas 
that disproportionately burden disadvantaged 
communities. The BIL created a new Reduction of 
Truck Emissions at Port Facilities grant program, 
which will support electrification at ports. For 
long-haul freight, long-term strategies may involve 
multi-state considerations for on-the-road charging 
stations and other infrastructure needs to support 
zero-emission fueling applications of long-haul 
freight. An accelerated decarbonization transition 
will require advancing the adoption of EVs and 
the deployment of a supporting charging and 
fueling infrastructure concurrently, so the growth 

of each component 
complements the other. 
Sustainable fuel readiness planning can 
help local and regional governments identify and 
address barriers to adoption, such as insufficient 
supporting infrastructure. 

C. OFF-ROAD VEHICLES AND  
     MOBILE EQUIPMENT
Off-road vehicles are primarily designed to operate 
away from existing roadways. This category contains 
a disparate and very diverse set of vehicles and use 
cases, including construction and mining equipment 
(36% of off-road energy use), industrial equipment 
(23%), agriculture equipment (21%), lawn and garden 
equipment (15%), and recreational vehicles (4%) REF. 
Diesel provides the majority (79%) of the total fuel 
that off-road vehicles consume today, especially for 
agricultural, construction and mining and industrial 
equipment, with gasoline (8%), liquified petroleum  
gas (11%) and compressed natural gas (2%) making up 
the remaining fuel consumption. Recreational vehicles, 
in contrast, are primarily fueled by gasoline REF.  
Combined, off-road vehicles are responsible for 10% 
of transportation GHG emissions. Due to the nature 
of these vehicles and the work they do, the emissions 
from these vehicles are often mapped to the industrial 
and agriculture sectors in emissions accounting. Off-
road vehicle and mobile equipment are included with 
transportation in this Blueprint since the technology 
solutions required to decarbonize them are well-aligned 
with solutions used for other transportation modes.

There are a wide range of engine sizes, power 
requirements, duty cycles, and vehicle applications 

https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy22osti/82081.pdf
https://tedb.ornl.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/TEDB_Ed_39.pdf#page=66


         65

to be considered in the pathways for decarbonizing 
off-road vehicles. Unlike most on-road vehicles, an 
off-road vehicle’s engine typically provides power 
to propel the vehicle and to perform auxiliary work, 
such as digging or harvesting. As a result, different 
applications in the off-road sector have specific 
requirements for ruggedness, durability, and other 
operational constraints. Strategies for decarbonizing 
the off-road sector will leverage technologies similar 
to other sectors, including battery electric and fuel cell 
EVs and sustainable fuels. However, the exact roles of 
different technologies and solutions across these use 
cases have many nuances. A deeper understanding 
of real-world operations and requirements is needed 
to enable comprehensive data-driven analysis that 
can identify viable pathways at the vehicle and system 
level. Hybridization can also help optimize engine 
operation, allow for engine downsizing support auxiliary 
power needs, and increase overall efficiency. Finally, 
automation could offer opportunities to optimize vehicle 
design and use to reduce emissions.

Electrification is already taking place across parts of 
the off-road sector, particularly household lawn and 
garden equipment. As battery technology progresses, 
more opportunities for electrification in this wide 
category of vehicles will emerge. Large vehicles that 
run continuously or operate in remote areas far from 
refueling infrastructure might require hydrogen or 
sustainable liquid fuels. Building infrastructure that 
brings sustainable fuel and/or electricity to work 
sites (or produces it there) will be a key strategy for 
decarbonizing the off-road sector.

Significant challenges remain to develop, demonstrate, 
and deploy off-road vehicle decarbonization solutions 
aligned with overall 2030 and 2050 goals. Strategies 
for addressing those challenges include:

1. Increase targeted research and innovation efforts 
to better understand the spectrum of available 
technologies and collect real-world operational 
data to enable a deeper understanding of off-road 
vehicle and mobile equipment requirements. New 
analytical tools must also be developed to perform 
technical analyses that identify viable pathways for 
zero-emission vehicles to replace fossil fuel vehicles 
or to find opportunities to improve efficiency for 
off-road applications in which zero-emissions 
technologies are not viable. Targets for future 
zero-emission technologies—such as batteries 
and fuel cells performance to match off-road 
vehicle and mobile equipment requirements—also 
need to be identified. Finally, solutions will be 
needed to increase efficiency, reduce operational 
costs, and promote electrification (including by 
leveraging vehicle automation) in complex work 
settings. Research efforts should also focus on 
demonstrating the viability of zero-emission off-
road and mobile equipment applications during 
early market phases by leveraging available  
on-road vehicle and infrastructure technologies. 



66         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

2. Implement policy and regulations, including 
establishing GHG and efficiency standards for off-
road vehicles and mobile equipment and setting 
ambitious targets for transitioning to zero- or 
low-emissions technologies. These efforts will help 
drive down emissions and accelerate the transition 
to clean vehicles and equipment. Standards must 
be comprehensive and cover the entire range 
of vehicles, manufacturers, and applications. 
New mechanisms to ensure compliance and a 
framework to assess life-cycle emissions may 
also be required. Federal and local-level policy 
are necessary, especially for areas that do not 
meet national ambient air quality standards, as is 
funding to incentivize and support early adoption 
and infrastructure deployment and to encourage 
turnover of existing fossil fuel-powered vehicles, 
which might otherwise remain in use for decades. 
 

3. Invest in strategic demonstration to understand 
EV charging and clean fuel refueling infrastructure 
needs, and support deployment through 
coordinated planning, policy, and funding 
opportunities. Providing reliable access to 
electricity and clean fuels for off-road vehicles and 
mobile equipment will require addressing varied 
and unique usage challenges, especially in remote 
locations, extreme conditions, and temporary 
sites. Electrification will be easier for applications 
that can leverage existing electricity access, 
such as applications at residential or commercial 
buildings. Some off-road vehicles may be able to 
leverage refueling facilities for other transportation 
applications at or near places such as ports or 
along highways. In contrast, providing charging and 
access to clean fuels in remote locations, temporary 
sites, or for equipment intended to provide back-
up power and resilience will require new and 
innovative solutions that need to be developed 
and demonstrated. Developing and demonstrating 

reliable and effective charging and refueling 
solutions for the varied off-road vehicles and mobile 
equipment is critical to enable the decarbonization 
of the sector. 

D. RAIL
The United States has the largest rail network in 
the world, and it is used primarily to support freight 
movement. Although passenger rail does not currently 
account for a relatively large proportion of passenger 
miles traveled relative to other modes, it is critical to 
addressing traffic congestion in and between cities 
and can play an important role in decarbonizing both 
freight and passenger movements REF. Passenger rail 
services include local passenger travel on commuter 
and transit rail services in cities where it is available, 
and some intercity travel. In the U.S., there are very 
limited higher-speed rail options. Freight accounted 
for 91% of all domestic rail-use energy in 2019. Rail 
makes up approximately 28% of U.S. freight movement 
by ton-miles but only accounts for about 2% of total 
U.S. transportation emissions thanks to its significantly 
higher efficiency than freight trucking. Rail is also an 
energy-efficient mode of passenger transportation, 
offering a cleaner option than single-occupancy 
vehicles and air travel REF. 

While electric rail technologies are widely used 
worldwide, in the U.S., freight rail carriers almost 
exclusively use diesel locomotives. Intercity passenger 
and commuter carriers also heavily rely on diesel, 
though there are some partially or fully electrified 

Identifying transformation 
pathways can also help to  
set ambitious goals and 
inform development of 

regulation to reduce rail emissions.

EMISSIONS Activity

Energy Intensity

Carbon Intensity

=
X

X

https://www.bts.gov/archive/publications/national_transportation_statistics/table_01_40
https://railroads.dot.gov/newsroom/press-releases/federal-railroad-administration-announces-climate-challenge-meet-net-zero-0


         67

lines. Most rail systems that provide local public 
transportation, such as light rail and streetcars, are 
electrified but represent less than 5% of rail energy use 
REF. The rail industry is currently exploring opportunities 
to maintain its comparative energy-use advantage on a 
ton-mile basis by transitioning to direct use of electricity 
(e.g., overhead catenary charging, third-rail systems), 
batteries, hydrogen fuels, sustainable fuels, or hybrid 
solutions. Full electrification via catenary systems 
used in other countries has been hindered by the long 
distances and relatively low traffic on U.S. railways. 
Diesel alternatives for use in the U.S. freight rail  
industry are primarily in demonstration stages 
and not yet widely available, although there are 
interim opportunities to advance fleet technologies 
by retrofitting locomotives and using modular 
hybridization. For example, there are battery-powered 
locomotives in use (primarily in switch yards), and 
additional pilot projects using battery-powered 
locomotives or hydrogen fuel cells are underway REF. 
Sustainable fuels can play a key role in reducing rail 
emissions, especially in the near and medium terms,  
but they are currently not cost competitive. 

While electrification is more common in the U.S. for 
passenger rail than for freight rail, commuter rail is 
not fully electrified. As such, the electrification of 
commuter rail fleets offers promising opportunities for 
further emissions reduction. Longer-distance rail for 
passengers and freight may require fuel technologies 
in addition to electric batteries and fuel cells to achieve 
emissions reductions goals, and pathways to total 
decarbonization still need to be determined. Priority 
actions and levers to decarbonize rail include: 

1. Infrastructure investments in electric locomotives 
and the expansion of electrification corridors to 
help to accelerate the zero-emission transition. 
Interoperability and infrastructure for clean fuel 

technology adoption will facilitate efforts. Federal 
funding may be used to purchase more efficient 
and cleaner trains and to implement solutions that 
improve system-level efficiency. Other investments 
that will maximize emissions reductions include 
building strong domestic rail equipment supply 
chains for electric and alternatively fueled 
locomotives and railcars and supporting the 
development and deployment of sustainable fuels.  

2. Multi-stakeholder collaborations to accelerate 
the deployment of rail technologies that reduce 
emissions and increase efficiency. Ambitious 
and shared targets and regulation for the rail 
sector can help minimize investment risk and 
catalyze decarbonization actions. Existing industry 
partnerships such as EPA’s SmartWay Program 
are designed to improve efficiency and reduce 
emissions in the freight network. State freight 
advisory committees and rail and freight plans 
present opportunities for stakeholders to help 

https://www.eia.gov/outlooks/aeo/pdf/AEO2022_ReleasePresentation.pdf
https://hydrogen-central.com/stadler-san-bernardino-county-transit-authority-sbcta-presenting-stadlers-fist-hydrogen-flirt-train-innotrans-us/


68         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

identify pathways to transition fleets  
and modernize rail systems. 

3. Research and innovation to advance 
technology through pilot projects, 
greater infrastructure investments, and 
continued policy and regulation support 
that helps accelerate the growth of 
electrification of the U.S. passenger rail 
system. Freight rail research should 
be prioritized to determine the most 
promising paths to decarbonization, including a 
focus on sustainable fuels and the design and 
manufacture of new locomotive propulsion and 
fueling systems. The four agencies and partners 
should identify transformative pathways that can 
help inform the development of ambitious goals 
and regulation to reduce rail emissions. The 
continued collection of real-world operational data 
to better understand vehicle requirements and 
develop models and tools to perform technical 
analyses can help to identify the most viable 
pathways for clean technology solutions to replace 
diesel locomotives. 

E. MARITIME VESSELS
Maritime transportation moves people and freight via 
waterways. The U.S. maritime fleet is comprised of 
numerous vessel types across its domestic shipping, 
international shipping, and recreational boat segments. 
While the fleet of U.S.-flagged ocean-going vessels is 
relatively small, the fleet of vessels that operate under 
U.S. registry along our coasts and inland waterways is 
significantly larger. There are approximately 12 million 
privately owned recreational boats (USCG Office 
of Auxiliary and Boating Safety 2019) and 38,000 
commercial vessels, such as tugboats, containerships, 
and ferries (USCG Maritime Information Exchange 2021), 
in the U.S. maritime sector. Recreational boats usually 
burn gasoline, while larger vessels rely on an 

almost equal share of diesel and residual oil, the latter 
of which is generally used for international voyages. 
A small fraction of maritime energy use comes from 
liquified natural gas. According to EPA estimates, 
half of U.S. marine vessel carbon emissions are from 
international shipping (including from fuel purchased 
in the U.S. for international voyages), roughly 30% is 
from domestic shipping, and the remaining 20% is from 
recreational boats. Although these numbers reflect 
the best available information, accurate accounting 
of maritime emissions is challenging due to the 
complex international nature of vessel operations and 
ownership. Emissions from multimodal equipment 
at ports largely contribute to poor air quality and 
environmental justice issues for millions of people living 
in near-port communities, many of which often consist 
of disadvantaged and underserved populations.

The maritime industry is international in scope, 
with the largest share of GHG emissions originating 
from international voyages. Therefore, effective 
decarbonization will require intergovernmental 
collaboration that aligns with industry and community 
needs. During the 2021 Leaders Summit on Climate, 
President Biden pledged to work with countries in 
the International Maritime Organization to revise the 
organization’s current decarbonization strategy and 
adopt a new goal of zero emissions (on a life-cycle 
basis) from the sector by 2050 REF. 

https://em.dk/media/14312/declaration-on-zero-emission-shipping-by-2050-cop26-glasgow-1-november-2021.pdf


         69

Despite the variety of potential decarbonization 
fuels, technologies, and policies under development, 
the best pathway for decarbonizing the maritime 
sector is unclear. New maritime technologies can 
be slow to be adopted, particularly when safety and 
operational standards still need to be established. 
Vessels have a long fleet turnover time—30 years 
or more—so understanding the costs, standards, 
and requirements is critical for long-term investment 
planning. Decarbonizing the sector by 2050 will require 
innovative practices, targeted regulations, and a 
strong and immediate commitment to innovation and 
deployment of new and emerging technologies. 

Efforts are underway globally to significantly reduce 
the GHG emissions of vessels and port activities, 
while considering vessel types and size, routes, and 
other operational constraints. Accordingly, a variety 
of approaches are likely necessary to decarbonize 
the maritime sector. There are currently several 
viable energy-efficient technologies, including 
battery electrification options for smaller vessels and 
recreational boats, and in-port shore power or "cold 
ironing” using clean, onshore energy sources. There 
are also a select few clean and affordable fuels that can 

be deployed now for limited vessel types. Once 
alternative fuels and technologies have 

been demonstrated, a significant 
effort will be needed  

 
 

to support deployment, adoption, and the roll-out of 
required infrastructure.

Priority actions and levers to decarbonize  
maritime include:
1. Research and innovation on viable alternative 

fuels and new technologies to determine the most 
promising paths to decarbonizing the maritime 
sector. Additional research can identify and 
expedite effective solutions for different vessel 
types and applications. Extensive performance and 
operations data on the total life-cycle emissions 
from new shipping technologies and alternative 
fuels should be collected from real-world settings 
and shared widely with stakeholders. New models 
and tools need to be developed to characterize and 
forecast critical aspects of the maritime industry, 
including emissions, energy use, costs, or other 
impacts and externalities to inform decisions and 
investments. Promising fuels and technologies that 
can support maritime decarbonization include: 

a.  Sustainable liquid and gaseous fuels. These 
include certain types of biofuels, ammonia, 
hydrogen, and methanol. Some biofuels and 
biofuel blends are drop-in replacements 
for traditional fossil fuels and offer the 
most substantial immediate GHG emissions 
reductions, as well as the opportunity 
to complement sustainable aviation fuel 
production and associated investments. 
Hydrogen, ammonia, and methanol are other 
promising fuel alternatives, but more research 
is needed to use and supply these fuels, 
ensure that they have low life-cycle emissions, 
and verify that they do not increase criteria 
pollutant emissions. 

b.  Electric vessels. Electric powertrains and 
batteries can be used to augment power on 
certain ships, especially smaller boats, offering 
high efficiency and zero stack emissions. 

    Decarbonizing the  
    sector by 2050 will 
    require innovative   
     practices and a  
strong, immediate commitment  
to innovation and deployment of  
new and emerging technologies.

EMISSIONS Activity

Energy Intensity

Carbon Intensity

=
X

X



70         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

c.  Cold-ironing. Cold-ironing of larger vessels 
(“plugging-in” while at port to utilize clean 
electricity generated onshore) can reduce 
emissions and greatly improve local air quality 
at ports. 

d.  Energy efficiency and hybridization: There 
are a number of existing technologies that 
can help improve overall vessel efficiency, 
including electric powertrain hybridization, 
waste heat recovery, improved hull design or 
coatings, higher-efficiency HVAC, and power 
management systems. Vessel speed reduction 
and other operational strategies can also help.

e.  Renewable energy: Renewable energy 
from solar, wind, and nuclear power is being 
investigated for onboard use to provide 
supplemental propulsion or auxiliary electrical 
power generation to offset fuel consumption. 

f.  Exhaust treatment and carbon capture: Post-
combustion exhaust treatment measures can 
limit emissions of criteria pollutants, and CO2 
capture can potentially capture some or all 
CO2 emissions; however, there are challenges 
with capture technologies, onboard storage, 
and portside supply chain logistics that must 
be resolved. 

2. International and domestic stakeholder 
engagement to develop and implement effective 
decarbonization strategies and regulation. 
Coordination between the federal government and 
key outside stakeholders, such as vessel owner/
operators, ports, terminal operators, and energy 
providers, is necessary. Given the international 
nature of the maritime sector, it is essential to 
build well-functioning domestic and international 
stakeholder collaborations to better understand 
industry challenges and needs and to enable the 
investments necessary to transition to low-carbon 

maritime operations. The federal government is 
engaging with international stakeholders through 
DOT’s Maritime Administration, which collaborates 
with the International Maritime Organization and 
the Quad Shipping Task Force, and through the 
government’s participation in the Clydebank 
Declaration REF, REF, REF. DOE is co-leading the Mission 
Innovation Zero-Emission Shipping Mission, which 
aims to transition at least 5% of the global deep-
sea fleet to zero-emission fuels and ensure that at 
least 10 ports on three continents can supply zero-
emission fuels by 2030 REF.  

3. Infrastructure investments and improved design 
and planning in clean technologies and fuels for 
maritime applications funded through new and 
existing federal programs. Resources are necessary 
for activities including clean vessel upgrades, 
retrofits, or conversions, and essential charging and 
refueling infrastructure. For example, the Inflation 
Reduction Act allocates funding for ports to develop 
climate action plans and purchase zero-emission 
equipment. Similarly, the Port Infrastructure 
Development Program (PIDP) offers grants for port 
and terminal infrastructure improvements REF.  
Federal agencies can also provide technical 
assistance to interested applicants and coordinated 
planning across the maritime industry to ensure 
resources are used as efficiently and effectively  
as possible. 

https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/09/24/fact-sheet-quad-leaders-summit/
https://ukcop26.org/cop-26-clydebank-declaration-for-green-shipping-corridors/
https://www.imo.org/
http://mission-innovation.net/missions/shipping/
https://www.maritime.dot.gov/office-port-infrastructure-development/port-and-terminal-infrastructure-development/2019-port-1


         71

F. AVIATION 
The combustion of jet fuel from domestic and 
international aviation is responsible for more than 
10% of total transportation GHG emissions in the U.S. 
REF, REF. The CO2 emissions from domestic commercial 
flights are roughly comparable to the CO2 emissions of 
international commercial flights coming to and leaving 
from the U.S. REF.  

1. The 2021 United States Aviation Climate Action  
Plan REF describes a whole-of-government  
approach to achieve net-zero emissions in the 
U.S. aviation sector by 2050. The plan builds 
on individual and sector-wide commitments 
announced by the U.S. aviation industry and 
highlights specific actions and policy measures 
to foster innovation and drive change across the 
entire domestic aviation sector. The plan identifies 
key measures required to meet this challenging 
goal, including sector growth rate management, 
new aircraft and engine technologies to reduce fuel 
requirements, operational efficiency improvements, 
and switching to sustainable aviation fuels that 
would result in significant life-cycle emissions 
reductions and that are expected to account for the 
majority of aviation emissions reductions. 

As aviation demand continues to grow, the 
development and introduction of new aircraft and 
engines by manufacturers will be critical to reducing 
future CO2 emissions (see Section 3b). With investments 
by industry and the federal government, new, more 
fuel-efficient aircraft could be introduced. Through 

the Sustainable Flight National Partnership (SFNP), the 
government will work with industry to demonstrate a 
suite of aircraft technologies by 2030 that achieve a 
30% improvement in fuel efficiency compared to today’s 
best-in-class aircraft. 

An increase in aviation demand could also lead 
to additional congestion and inefficient air traffic 
management-related fuel usage. Without continued 
investment in operational improvements, excess per-
flight fuel usage is expected to increase. Even though 
the National Airspace System is already highly efficient, 
there are areas for improvement in all operational 
phases of flight to reduce fuel usage. Further 
optimization of surface, takeoff, cruise, and landing 
operations is possible with continued infrastructure 
investments and the development of improved 
operational concepts. As with any changes to the 
aviation system, operational procedure upgrades would 
need to ensure the safety of all aircraft operations and 
account for local environmental factors, such as noise 
and pollutants affecting air quality.

Sustainable aviation fuels will be critical to the long-
term decarbonization of aviation. SAFs are fully 
interchangeable, drop-in liquid hydrocarbon fuels with 
the same performance and safety as conventional jet 
fuels produced from petroleum. They can be deployed 
in existing infrastructure, engines, and aircraft. SAF 
can be created from renewable or waste materials and 
have been shown to reduce life-cycle GHG emissions 
by at least 50% relative to conventional jet fuel and 

https://www.faa.gov/sites/faa.gov/files/2021-11/Aviation_Climate_Action_Plan.pdf
https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/inventory-us-greenhouse-gas-emissions-and-sinks
https://www.faa.gov/sites/faa.gov/files/2021-11/Aviation_Climate_Action_Plan.pdf
https://www.faa.gov/sustainability/aviation-climate-action-plan


72         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

potentially 100% if low-carbon technologies such 
as climate-smart agricultural practices, low-carbon 
electricity and hydrogen usage, or CCS are used REF  
(see textbox on page 54). Efforts are ongoing to 
approve the use of 100% SAF in today’s fleet of aircraft, 
thus enabling the decarbonization of aviation without a 
change in its underlying infrastructure.

The SAF production industry is still developing, a 
trend spurred on by the SAF Grand Challenge. That 
partnership among the federal government, the airline 
industry, and partners established a goal of increasing 
U.S. SAF production to at least 3 billion gallons per  
year by 2030. This would put the U.S. on a path to 
produce and use about 35 billion gallons of SAF by 
2050, which would decarbonize the aviation sector 
almost entirely REF. SAF production will also be aided by 
the new tax credits and a competitive grant program the 
IRA established. 

In addition to SAF, battery electrification and hydrogen 
fuel are also potential options for replacing petroleum-
based aviation fuels. These technologies can play an 
important role in the coming decades by decarbonizing 
short-distance flights and dedicated regional cargo 
routes. However, they are not expected to provide a 
solution by 2050 for the medium- and long-haul flights 
that generate most of the aviation sector’s carbon 
emissions. At present, flights less than 500 nautical 
miles represent 50% of operations but only 15% of 
total fuel usage. Conversely, flights greater than 1,000 
nautical miles represent 20% of operations and 65% of 

total fuel usage. An analysis conducted by the United 
Nations’ International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) 
on global aviation showed that even if a short-range 
hydrogen aircraft were to enter the fleet in the mid-
2030s, hydrogen aircraft as a whole would not have 
a measurable effect on aviation CO2 emissions before 
2050 REF. Since the majority of aviation CO2 emissions 
stem from long-haul operations and fleet turnover 
is slow—an average of 30 years for most aircraft—
drop-in SAF is the most viable pathway for rapid 
decarbonization of the aviation sector.

Finally, aviation contributes to climate impacts beyond 
GHG emissions. It also creates high-altitude emissions 
and aviation-induced cloudiness that can affect the 
climate. Additional research is needed to quantify the 
GHG impact from these factors and to understand how 
SAF, improved technologies, and operational procedure 
changes might mitigate climate impact without 
increasing CO2 emissions from added fuel usage.

The Sustainable Aviation Fuel Grand Challenge 
Roadmap, developed by DOE, EPA, the U.S. 
Department of Agriculture and DOT’s Federal Aviation 
Administration, is a multi-agency blueprint that 
identifies key actions to realize SAF Grand Challenge 
goals, including policy support to cut costs and support 
rapid scale-up of domestic production of SAF REF. The 
roadmap articulates how federal agencies will 
coordinate RD&D and 

The combustion of jet 
fuel from domestic and 
international aviation 
is responsible for more 
than 10% of total transportation  
GHG emissions in the U.S.

EMISSIONS Activity

Energy Intensity

Carbon Intensity

=
X

X

https://www.faa.gov/sustainability/aviation-climate-action-plan
https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/09/09/fact-sheet-biden-administration-advances-the-future-of-sustainable-fuels-in-american-aviation/
https://www.icao.int/environmental-protection/LTAG/Pages/LTAGreport.aspx
https://www.energy.gov/sites/default/files/2022-09/beto-saf-gc-roadmap-report-sept-2022.pdf


         73

deployment activities to catalyze technology innovation, 
public–private partnerships, policy frameworks, and 
investments needed to address barriers to achieving 
the SAF Grand Challenge goals.

Key priorities to enable a transition to a sustainable 
aviation industry by 2050 include:
1. Policy and regulation to incentivize low-emission 

aviation innovations through new and breakthrough 
technologies, and to reduce emissions by providing 
access to and use of proven technologies from 
other transportation sectors. Rulemaking can 
accelerate the implementation of strategies within 
the Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for 
International Aviation (CORSIA) to the greatest 
extent possible and will also spur decarbonization 
efforts. CORSIA requires aircraft operators 
purchase emissions offsets or use CORSIA eligible 
fuels (CEF) to reduce international CO2 emissions 
above a defined baseline. As an international 
program, CORSIA enables the development of 
harmonized standards for emissions offsets and 
CEF to ensure their robustness and sustainability 
and creates a marketplace for their use. This 
harmonization establishes global certainty for all 
stakeholders involved. The federal government 
has led the development of all aspects of CORSIA 
and continues to work to ensure CORSIA’s 
environmental integrity. 

2. Research and innovation to advance technological, 
operational, and sustainable aviation fuels solutions 
to reduce emissions. Research on aircraft and engine 
technologies can deliver improvements in efficiency 
and reductions in emissions. The SFNP will conduct 
ground and flight tests to demonstrate technologies 
with step-change improvements in environmental 
performance. The legacy infrastructure in use 
across the National Airspace System must continue 
to be modernized to support improved and 

emerging technologies. Enhanced data quality and 
information distribution can enable operators to fly 
more fuel-efficient trajectories in U.S.-controlled 
airspace, especially during the cruise phases 
of flights. Continued federal support for RD&D 
and deployment focused on feedstock systems, 
conversion, testing, analysis, and coordination—as 
well as ongoing industry collaboration through 
direct partnerships and the Commercial Aviation 
Alternative Fuels Initiative (CAAFI)—will be essential 
to a successful transition to SAF. In addition, decision 
support tools must be developed for industry to 
cost-effectively address the overall climate impacts 
of aviation via contrail mitigation. 

3. Expand stakeholder engagement and 
partnerships around the world to address the 
challenges and opportunities inherent in the 
international nature of aviation. Pursuing ambitious 
international standards that incentivize the most 
effective technologies is essential to safely limit 
the growth of, and ensure reductions in, aircraft 
emissions. The federal government can continue 
to provide technical leadership to the ICAO 
Committee on Aviation Environmental Protection 
(CAEP) and its working groups. Government 
leadership must also negotiate internationally 
to maintain the environmental integrity of 
CORSIA and its mission, strengthen ICAO’s 
aircraft CO2 emissions standard, and support the 
implementation of the medium- and long-term 
goals adopted by ICAO in 2022 to ensure they 
realize their potential to drive aviation climate 
action globally. The U.S. must also work toward 
mutually beneficial climate protection provisions in 
aviation bilateral and multi-lateral agreements.



74         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

G. PIPELINES
Although freight is typically thought of as commercial 
goods hauled by trucks, ships, or rail, petroleum 
fuels, natural gas, and other commodities primarily 
transported by pipelines are also considered freight. In 
fact, pipelines carried 18% of all freight by tonnage in 
the U.S. in 2015, second only to trucks REF. Approximately 
3.3 million miles of pipelines transport natural gas and 
petroleum (crude oil and refined products) throughout 
the country. Natural gas and petroleum represent 32% 
and 37% of total U.S. energy usage today, respectively. 
Liquid fuels such as gasoline are pushed through 
pipelines by pump stations, which are typically powered 
by electricity, diesel, or natural gas-powered engines. 
Gaseous fuels such as natural gas are pushed through 
pipelines by compressor stations, which are usually 
powered by natural gas or electricity. 

Generally, these pipeline systems offer an efficient 
method of transportation; however, the fossil fuels they 
move are a major source of U.S. GHG emissions. The 
energy used to move products through pipelines is 
responsible for approximately 4 MMT of CO2 emissions 
per year (plus emissions associated with generation of 
electricity). These emissions come from several sources, 
including the combustion of fuels to drive pumps and 
compressors, intentional pipeline blowdowns and 
venting, and equipment malfunctions or human error 
resulting in unintentional releases. Moreover, pipeline 
leaks and failures can release methane, a potent GHG, 
into the environment. Methane leaks resulted in an 
estimated 57 MMT of CO2-equivalent emissions in  
2019 (methane emissions during hydrocarbon 
production was responsible for an additional 134 MMT 
of CO2-equivalent emissions in 2019)—a much higher 
amount of emissions than generated by pump and 
compressor stations. 

 

Reducing methane emissions while energy systems 
transition to cleaner fuels will require more accurate 
leak detection and quantification, as well as 
adjustments to pipeline operation and maintenance 
procedures. Similarly, emissions from pipeline energy 
use can be reduced by using cleaner energy to operate 
pumps, compressor stations, and other support 
equipment, and by reducing the use and transportation 
of fossil fuels. 

The federal government and pipeline owners and 
operators have a variety of tools at their disposal to 
mitigate methane leaks, reduce emissions from pipeline 
operations, and positively impact environmental justice 
communities. Priority levers include:

1. Policy and regulation that continue to increase 
the stringency of methane emissions limits, tackle 
emissions associated with pipeline operations 
(e.g., pumping and compressor stations), and 
promote the viable use of electricity or other clean 
energy sources. The bipartisan Protecting our 
Infrastructure of Pipelines and Enhancing Safety 
Act of 2020 (PIPES Act) directed DOT’s Pipeline 
and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration 
(PHMSA) to minimize methane emissions from 
pipeline facilities. PHMSA has issued a number of 
regulations focused on pipeline safety and methane 
emission reduction, as outlined in the U.S. Methane 
Emissions Reduction Action Plan (including 
the Gas Gathering Pipeline Safety 
Rule, Valve Rule, and Gas 
Transmission Safety 
Rule). In addition, 
PHMSA has initiated 
rulemaking on  

https://ops.fhwa.dot.gov/publications/fhwahop16083/ch1.htm


         75

several other rules (including Leak Detection Rule, 
Gas Distribution Rule, and Liquified Natural Gas 
(LNG) Facilities Rule, as well as a new rule for 
carbon dioxide pipelines) to enhance pipeline safety 
and methane and carbon emissions reductions from 
pipeline facilities. 

2. Infrastructure investments and improved design 
and planning for pipelines as made possible 
through provisions in the BIL. The new Natural Gas 
Distribution Infrastructure Safety and Modernization 
grant program will support the repair, rehabilitation, 
or replacement of leaking or failure-prone natural 
gas distribution pipeline facilities in community-
owned systems. Those efforts will decrease 

leakage, thus reducing pipeline-related 
methane emissions REF.  

 

Additionally, investments focused on shifting toward 
electrifying pumps and compressor stations can 
reduce emissions associated with operations.  

3. Research and innovation to continue to develop 
tools and reporting systems for accurate 
disclosure of methane emissions, including direct 
measurement and remote sensing technologies; 
performance-based risk reduction for design, 
construction, operations, maintenance, and fire 
protection of LNG facilities; improved safety 
systems for underground natural gas storage 
facilities; and new technologies to mitigate 
risk posed by excavation damage to pipelines. 
Additional research efforts should focus on safety 
and environmental mitigation improvements 
associated with an increase in the transport of 
sustainable fuels, hydrogen, and CO2 for CCS via 
pipelines. It will be critical to focus on the safety, 
reliability, resiliency, and emissions associated with 
pipelines used for sustainable fuel and CO2 as we 
transition to a decarbonized economy. 

FUTURE OF PIPELINES 
 As we transition to a net-zero economy, the role of pipelines 
will also transform. While pipelines primarily transport fossil 
fuels today, in a future sustainable energy system pipelines 
could also transport CO2 to injection wells for carbon capture 
and sequestration and to other end users. They could also 
be used to transport hydrogen and other sustainable liquid 
fuels like SAF. There are several risks and barriers associated 
with the transportation of alternative fuels by pipeline and 
potential integrity threats posed by different fuels must be 
fully examined and understood.

https://www.phmsa.dot.gov/grants/pipeline/natural-gas-distribution-infrastructure-safety-and-modernization-grants


76         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

6. CONCLUSION – A CALL TO ACTION
“The benefits of a net-zero future will not only be felt by future generations. Mobilizing 
to achieve net-zero will also deliver strong net benefits for all Americans starting today. 
Driving down greenhouse gases will create high-quality jobs, improve public health in every 
community, and spur investments that modernize the American economy while reducing 
costs and risks from climate change. Reducing air pollution through clean energy will alone 
help avoid 300,000 premature deaths in the United States—alleviating these and other 
severe impacts that also fall disproportionately on communities of color and low-income 
communities. Investments in emerging clean industries will enhance our competitiveness and 
propel sustained economic growth. Modernizing the American economy to achieve net-zero 
can fundamentally improve the way we live, creating more connected, more accessible, and 
healthier communities. 

That does not mean it will happen quickly or without hard work. There will be many 
challenges on our path to net-zero that will require us to marshal all our ingenuity and 
dedication. But it can, and must, be done. And even as we invest at home, the new 
technologies and investments outlined in this strategy will also help scale up low-cost,  
carbon-free solutions for the world. We can create a healthy, vibrant, and abundant world  
for our children. This plan is our promise to them—and it is one we must keep.”

The Long-Term Strategy of the United States, November 2021

The Long-Term Strategy of the United States 
highlights the urgency of tackling the climate crisis 
and decarbonizing the U.S. economy. Transportation 
is the largest source of GHGs emissions and the 
second largest household expense. Decarbonizing 
the transportation sector is integral to achieving 
a net-zero-emissions economy that benefits all 
communities. Moving toward zero transportation 
GHG emissions is not only critical to tackling the 
climate crisis, but the accompanying transformation 
of passenger and freight mobility system toward 
sustainable solutions and technologies will save lives 
and improve quality of life. It will reduce pollution, 
increase U.S. competitiveness, decrease household 
costs, and increase accessibility for all communities, 

particularly those that have traditionally been 
overburdened and underserved. 
 
To confront this challenge, in September 15 of 2022, 
DOE, DOT, EPA, and HUD signed a historic MOU to 
collaborate on rapidly decarbonizing transportation. 
The agreement recognized the unique expertise, 
resources, and responsibilities of each agency, setting 
the foundation for solutions that are more innovative 
and far-reaching than any of the agencies could achieve 
independently. The first step in this collaboration 
was to create a national vision for a decarbonized 
transportation system that will guide the four agencies 
and our partners as we move toward a better 
transportation future. This Blueprint offers that shared 



         77

vision, giving direction to our future policymaking 
and research, development, demonstration, and 
deployment in the public and private sectors. 

This Blueprint is based on five principles: initiate bold 
action; embrace creative solutions across the entire 
transportation system; ensure safety, equity, and access; 
increase collaboration; and establish U.S. leadership. It 
presents a three-pronged approach to realizing a clean, 
safe, secure, accessible, affordable, equitable, and 
decarbonized transportation system for all: 

  1  INCREASING CONVENIENCE by supporting 
community design and land-use planning that 
ensure services are located near where people 
live to reduce commute times, improve walkability 
and bikeability, and enhance quality of life and 
access to jobs and services; 

  2  IMPROVING EFFICIENCY by expanding 
affordable, accessible, and efficient options like 
public transportation and rail, and improving the 
efficiency of our systems and vehicles; and 

  3  TRANSITIONING TO CLEAN VEHICLES AND 
FUELS across all travel modes and vehicle types. 

These strategies present unique opportunities and will 
be most effective if decision-makers, acting quickly 
and in concert, continually increase the ambitions of 
their actions, collaboration, and investments. There 
is no one technology or approach that will solve 
our transportation challenges unilaterally; we need 

to develop, deploy, and integrate a wide array of 
technologies and solutions to ensure we achieve our 
2030 and 2050 goals.

Achieving a sustainable transportation future will 
require implementing bold changes and different sets 
of solutions to address unique challenges in different 
locations and across all travel modes and applications. 
Accordingly, this Blueprint identifies six specific levers 
that the agencies can use to support and implement 
these strategies: Policy and Regulation; Infrastructure, 
Industrial Investments, and Financing; Research and 
Innovation; Data and Tools; Workforce Education and 
Training; and Stakeholder Engagement and Public-
Private Partnerships. 

Transforming our transportation systems over the next 
three decades will be a complex endeavor, but by 
taking a comprehensive and coordinated approach 
it is a challenge that we can, and must, solve. In 
addition to leadership at the federal level, reaching our 
ambitious climate goals will require collaboration with 
regional, state, local and Tribal governments; industry; 
community-based organizations; and non-profit and 
philanthropic organizations. Together, we must act 
decisively to provide better mobility options, reduce 
inequities, and offer affordable and clean mobility 
solutions to ensure the health of the planet for future 
generations. The time to act is now.

The Blueprint’s Five Principles

Initiate bold action Embrace creative 
solutions across the 
entire transportation 

system

Ensure safety, 
equity, and access

Increase 
collaboration

Establish U.S. 
leadership



78         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

NEXT STEPS: MOVING TOWARDS  
THE SOLUTION

Addressing the climate crisis requires rapid, dedicated, 
and coordinated actions. This Blueprint is a critical 
step by DOE, DOT, EPA, and HUD to provide leadership 
across the federal government toward achieving the 
goal of a decarbonized transportation system. However, 
the Blueprint alone is not enough. The new challenge 
to each of the agencies, and all of our partners, is to 
take actions and implement the changes necessary 
to achieve U.S. climate goals. The strategies, guiding 
principles, and tools and levers identified in this 

document will steer each agency’s efforts, as will our 
overarching and historic commitment to coordinate 
actions in bold and innovative ways. The agencies will 
implement the strategies presented in this Blueprint 
to shape policy and regulatory decisions, funding 
and budget priorities, research goals, stakeholder 
interactions, and many other agency activities that will 
impact the future of transportation, energy, and our 
economy. The agencies will also jointly develop and 
release more detailed action plans that focus on the 
specific actions and levers relevant to each agency 
in order to accelerate decarbonization. Below is a 
summary of actions described in this Blueprint:

Before 2030 – Turning the Tide on Transportation GHGs:  
Research and Investments to Support Deployment

Maximize the impact of the historic BIL/IRA investments and catalyze collaboration and private investments

Envision, develop, and demonstrate scalable urban, suburban, and rural planning and land-use solutions, 
performance measurement, and supporting policies to increase convenience and reduce travel needs, 
considering environmental justice and equity.

• Convene an interagency group to develop tools and collect data to better understand behavioral 
changes and opportunities to manage travel demand

Support state and local decision makers with best practices, data, tools, and technical assistance to develop, 
implement, and evaluate a wide range of demand-management strategies on system-level design solutions 
to increase convenience and reduce emissions

Work with partners to identify solutions to ensure current and future transportation systems are more 
equitable and benefit underserved and disadvantaged communities 

Support land-use, street design, and development policies that make walking, biking, and rolling easier, 
safer, and more convenient

Reduce the national transportation cost burden by at least 5% by 2030

Improve reliability, frequency, accessibility, and affordability and expand service for rail and public 
transportation, and invest in active transportation infrastructure to provide options to safely use more 
energy-efficient forms of transportation Continue to strengthen standards to improve vehicle efficiency 

Provide incentives to support greater use of efficient travel modes and vehicles



         79

Set clear, ambitious but achievable targets across all travel modes (e.g., sales shares of zero-emission 
vehicles, volumes of sustainable fuels, emissions reduction targets) 

Work with international partners to define targets and implementation plans to encourage international 
shipping and aviation to rapidly decarbonize those modes 

Demonstrate a suite of aircraft technologies by 2030 that achieve a 30% improvement in fuel efficiency 
compared to today’s best-in-class aircraft 

Reduce aviation emissions by 20% when compared to a business-as-usual scenario

Invest in research and innovation to further develop and demonstrate clean technologies necessary for a 
decarbonized transportation sector 

• Keep lowering battery costs to close purchase price gap with conventional vehicles

• Develop and demonstrate pathways to produce clean hydrogen and sustainable fuels affordably

• Increase production of sustainable aviation fuels to 3 billion gallons a year by 2030

Continue to provide funding and policy incentives to accelerate the uptake of low- or zero-emission vehicles 
and invest in supporting infrastructure (e.g., vehicle rebates and EV charging infrastructure), especially in 
low-income and overburdened communities 

• Build an equitable network of 500,000 EV chargers by 2030 to support EV adoption

• Achieve 50% of electric light-duty vehicle sales by 2030

• Ensure that 100% of light-duty federal fleet vehicle acquisitions are zero-emission vehicles by 2027 and 
100% of medium and heavy-duty vehicles are zero-emissions by 2035

• Achieve 30% zero-emission medium- and heavy-duty vehicle sales by 2030 

• Develop a policy toolkit or guidelines to help regional, state, local, and Tribal governments encourage 
people and freight companies to use EVs. 

Develop a robust workforce and supply chain solutions to ensure the U.S. can manufacture enough clean 
vehicles and fuels to meet rapidly growing demand and that the resulting jobs and economic opportunities 
are distributed equitably

2030-2040 – Accelerating Change: Scaling Up Deployment of Clean Solutions 
Adapt strategies and implementation plans in response to global events, consumer response, and 

technology progress

Implement urban, suburban, and rural planning and land-use solutions and supporting policies at scale to 
increase convenience and reduce travel needs



80         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

Continue to leverage advanced computing and data analytics to optimize logistics planning and provide 
options to reduce vehicle miles traveled Administer forward-looking policy and management at the overall 
transportation-system-level to maximize the positive impact of transformative technologies, like automation, 
in terms of quality of life and emissions.

Continue to invest in and encourage a greater use of efficient travel modes for passenger and freight to 
optimize travel and freight logistics and improve fuel economy

• Leverage connectivity, micromobility, and other technologies, as well as innovative business models, to 
enable multimodal and shared travel and improve options to complement efficient modes like rail and 
transit for first- and last-mile solutions 

Continue to strengthen standards to further improve vehicle efficiency

Transition all new vehicles sales to zero-emission technologies and scale-up sustainable fuels

• Transition light-duty vehicle sales to zero-emission EVs by the mid-2030s

• Achieve 100% zero-emission medium- and heavy-duty vehicle sales by 2040. Ensure that 100% of all 
federal fleet vehicle acquisitions are zero-emissions vehicles by 2035

• Continue to scale-up use of sustainable fuels for aviation and maritime

Ensure infrastructure needed to support clean technologies is in place

• Build out hydrogen refueling networks for commercial trucks and other applications 

• Continue to scale-up equitable EV charging infrastructure and support grid decarbonization

• Scale up clean fuel production, including hydrogen and sustainable aviation fuels 

• Effectively integrate future transportation system with the broader energy sector—especially the power 
grid—to maximize the benefit of renewable energy and support resiliency

Continue to build resilient supply chains and a robust workforce development strategy to enable a full 
transition from petroleum to clean solutions 

2040-2050 – Completing the Transition: A Sustainable and Equitable Future
Ensure that no one is left behind and do our part to achieve a net-zero-emissions economy 

Continue to realize and use urban, suburban, and rural land-use and planning solutions and policies to 
increase convenience and to provide better and more equitable transportation options that reduce emissions 
across the transportation system

Fully leverage the potential for efficient travel modes like rail, transit, shared multimodal mobility, and 
maximize vehicle efficiency

Support fleet turnover to fully replace legacy vehicles with clean zero-emission solutions

• Supply 100% of fuel demand with clean fuels (e.g., 35 billion gallons of SAF by 2050)



         81

In addition to guiding federal agencies, this Blueprint 
is intended to send a strong signal to our partners and 
other stakeholders, who can look to this document as a 
guidepost and framework to support and complement 
their own planning and investments and to further 
coordinate actions. These stakeholders include local, 
state, regional, county, and Tribal governments; 
industry; investors; and community and advocacy 
groups. Recognizing the urgency of the moment and the 
critical role that decarbonizing the transportation sector 
must play in tackling the climate crisis, stakeholders 
across the transportation sector should continue to 
pursue ambitious targets, seize the opportunity to 
implement change, and lead the decarbonization of our 
transportation system from every angle, starting from 
and building off of the strategies presented here.

This Blueprint articulates the strategies and the 
targets needed to enable a transition to a sustainable 
transportation system by 2050, building upon and 
expanding existing goals and ongoing efforts for 
every mode of transportation. It is an exciting first 
step toward realizing the vision of an improved and 
sustainable transportation future. Decarbonizing our 
transportation system will not come without challenges. 
However, with coordinated and bold actions across 

the federal government and with our partners, they 
are challenges that we can meet. We will continue to 
increase ambition, setting bold targets for improving 
our transportation systems and transitioning to zero-
emissions vehicles and fuels on a timeline consistent 
with achieving economy-wide 2030 and 2050 
emissions reduction goals. As we decarbonize our 
transportation system, we can create a more affordable 
and equitable transportation system that will provide 
multiple benefits to all Americans for generations to 
come—the work is worth the effort. As technology 
and policy continue to evolve in an ever-changing 
world, it will be important to continually evaluate and 
improve our actions, and to continue strengthening 
the collaborations between DOE, DOT, EPA, and HUD, 
and with all of our partners. It is up to all of us to make 
that vision a reality and move forward with creative and 
innovative solutions toward a better future for all. 

This BLUEPRINT articulates the 
strategies and the targets needed to 
enable a transition to a sustainable 
transportation system by 2050.



82         THE U.S. NATIONAL BLUEPRINT FOR TRANSPORTATION DECARBONIZATION

Study Leadership
The following individuals were responsible for the 
overall leadership and visions behind this Transportation 
Decarbonization Blueprint:

• DOE: Michael Berube
• DOT: Andrew Wishnia
• EPA: Karl Simon
• HUD: Alexis Pelosi

Study Coordination and Primary Authors
The following individuals led the development and 
writing of this Blueprint and coordinated the technical 
work including drafting, reviewing, and editing processes:

• DOE: Matteo Muratori
• DOT: Tatjana Kunz
• EPA: Aaron Hula
• HUD: Michael Freedberg

Main Contributors 
The following core team members were responsible for 
key elements of the writing and revision process that 
took place from November 2021 to December 2022, 
including drafting and editing content and addressing 
comments made by peer reviewers:

• DOE: Kara Podkaminer, Morgan Ellis,
Noel Crisostomo, David Hume, Michael
Weismiller, Jay Fitzgerald, Neha Rustagi

• DOT: Tony Choi, Elliot Sperling, Becca Ellison,
Tyler Clevenger, Serena Alexander,
Michael Johnsen

• EPA: Andrea Maguire
• HUD: Lauren Ross
• Communication and graphic support:

Clay Carrington, Krista Wilkins,
Carson Poe, Brian Orms

• Council on Environmental Quality:
Austin Brown, Crystal Bergemann

Secondary Contributors
The following contributors provided a range of 
technical and analytic input in specific topic areas of the 
Transportation Decarbonization Blueprint. Individuals 
who provided valuable peer-review comments are also 
noted below.

• DOE: Heather Croteau, Gina Coplon-Newfield, 
Jacob Ward, Raphael Isaac, Erin Boyd, Prasad 
Gupte, Gurpreet Singh, Kevin Stork, Siddiq 
Khan, David Anderson, Dave Howell, Zia Haq, 
Art Wiselogel, Valerie Reed, Marc Melaina, Pete 
Devlin, Sunita Satyapal, Jose Benitez

• DOT: Hal Connolly, Victor Waldron,
Jim Hileman, Kevin Welsh, Kevin Partowazam, 
Vinay Nagabhushana, Dan Yuska, Michael 
Carter, Tricia Harr, Sentho White, Steve Nanney, 
Max Kieba, Kandilarya Barakat, Vincent 
Holohan, John Gale, John Davies, Alan Mitchell, 
Ryan Steinbach, Shawn Johnson

• EPA: Britney McCoy, Lisa Snapp, Chris Ramig, 
Jessica Daniels, Sarah Froman, Chien Sze, 
Sarah Roberts, Cullen Leggett, Kevin Bolon, 
Robin Moran, Brian Nelson, Richard Baldauf, 
Megan Susman, John V. Thomas,
Reyes Barboza

• HUD: Regina Gray, Josh Geyer, Robin Keegan, 
Pamela Blumenthal, Solomon Greene, Warren 
Friedman, Bruce Haber, Susan Horowitz, 
Joseph Downes

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 



         83

AEO ...............Annual Energy Outlook 2022
BETO..............Bioenergy Technologies Office 
.......................(U.S. Department of Energy)
BIL .................Bipartisan Infrastructure Law
CAAFI .............Commercial Aviation Alternative  
.......................Fuels Initiative
CAEP ..............Committee on Aviation 
.......................Environmental Protection
CAFE ..............Corporate Average Fuel Economy
Cal-ITP ...........California Integrated Travel Program
CCS ................carbon capture and storage
CEF ................CORSIA eligible fuels
CO2 ................carbon dioxide
CORSIA ..........Carbon Offsetting and Reduction  
.......................Scheme for International Aviation
DERA .............Diesel Emissions Reduction Act
DOE ...............U.S. Department of Energy 
DOT ...............U.S. Department of Transportation 
EPA ................U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
eTOD ..............equitable transit-oriented development 
EOP ................Executive Office of the president
EV ..................electric vehicle
FCAB..............Federal Consortium for  
.......................Advanced Batteries
FHWA.............Federal Highway Administration
FTA ................Federal Transit Administration
GDP ...............gross domestic product
GHG  ..............greenhouse gas emissions
HOME ............Home investments Partnership Program
HUD ...............U.S. Department of Housing and  
.......................Urban Development 
ICAO ..............International Civil Aviation  
.......................Organization (United Nations)
IRA .................Inflation Reduction Act
kWh ...............kilowatt-hour

LAI .................Location Affordability Index
LDV ................light-duty vehicle
LNG ................liquified natural gas
LTS .................Long-Term Strategy of the United States
MDV ...............medium-duty vehicle
MHDV ............medium- and heavy-duty vehicles
MMT  .............million metric tons
MOU ..............memorandum of understanding
NHTSA ...........National Highway Traffic  
.......................Safety Administration
NOx ...............nitrogen oxides
PHMSA ..........Pipeline and Hazardous Materials  
.......................Safety Administration
PIPES Act .......Protecting our Infrastructure of  
.......................Pipelines and Enhancing Safety Act 
PIDP ...............Port Infrastructure  
.......................Development Program
RD&D .............research, development,  
.......................and demonstration
ROW ..............right-of-way
SAF ................sustainable aviation fuel
SFNP ..............Sustainable National Flight Partnership
SO2 ................sulphur dioxide
TDM ...............transportation demand management
tWh ................terawatt hours
USD ...............United States dollars
USDA .............United States Department of Agriculture
V2G................vehicle-to-grid power
V2X ................vehicle-to-other power
VMT ...............vehicle miles traveled
VOC ...............volatile organic compounds
ZESM .............Zero Emission Shipping Mission
ZEV  ...............Zero Emission Vehicle Task Force

TRANSPORTATION DECARB BLUEPRINT 
ACRONYM LIST



DOE/EE-2674  |  January 2023



Environmental Compliance Associates, LLC 

372 S Eagle Road, Suite 146, Eagle, ID  83616  (208) 501-9984  ecabrett@gmail.com 

March 8, 2024 

Sam Worley 
Mile High Marina 
P.O. Box 3090 
McCall, ID 83638 

RE: Historical impacts of marinas upon the Water Quality of Payette Lake 

Sam, 

You recently contacted me regarding concerns that the McCall City Council has regarding the potential 
adverse environmental impact that the proposed 90-slip expansion to the Mile High Marina (henceforth 

referred to as the marina) may have upon the overall water quality of Payette Lake. 

The following findings and conclusions presented in this letter are based upon 1) annual Drinking Water 
Quality Reports (2011 through 2022) provided by the City of McCall Water Treatment Plant (WTP) and 
2) conversations with City personnel regarding the creation of the Reports.

After reviewing the above-referenced documents, the following information was obtained: 

COC – Contaminant of Concern 
MCL – Maximum Contaminant Level or the maximum concentration allowed in drinking water 
B – Benzene, a non-methane volatile organic compound.  MCL is 5 parts per billion, ppb. 
T – Toluene, a non-methane volatile organic compound.  MCL is 1 part per million, ppm. 
E – Ethylbenzene, a non-methane volatile organic compound. MCL is 700 ppb. 
X – Total (ortho, meta and para) Xylenes; all non-methane volatile organic compounds.  MCL is 10 ppm. 
Turbidity – MCL is 1 NTU (Nephelometric Turbidity Unit). 
ND – Not Detected, where the lab analysis reveals no detectable levels of the COC. 
NA – Not Analyzed or Not Available. 
NOTES regarding BTEX water-sampling dates: 2019-2022 (no info); 2017-2018 (DEC); 2014-2015 (FEB, 
MAR for B and T, AUG for E and X); 2013 (AUG); 2011-2012 (MAR).  
NOTE regarding Turbidity water-sampling dates: Continuously, at the McCall WTP. 
NOTE regarding Turbidity values for years 2011-2022: Average detection values for the sample year. 
Ω – 99 percent of yearly sample analyses were below 0.3 NTU. 

Historical Drinking Water Quality for the City of McCall, Idaho 
COC MCL 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

B 5 ppb ND ND ND ND ND NA ND ND ND ND ND ND 

T 1 ppm ND ND ND ND ND NA ND ND ND ND ND ND 

E 700 ppm ND ND ND ND ND NA ND ND ND ND ND ND 

X 10 ppm ND ND ND ND ND NA ND ND ND ND ND ND 

Turbidity 1 NTU 0.45 0.16 0.24 0.24 0.24 NA 0.24 NA NA Ω NA Ω 0.038 0.078 

ATTACHMENT 8



Environmental Compliance Associates, LLC 

372 S Eagle Road, Suite 146, Eagle, ID  83616  (208) 501-9984  ecabrett@gmail.com 

FINDINGS 
After reviewing 11 annual Drinking Water Quality Reports (WQ Reports) and through conversations with 
City personnel, the following noteworthy facts came to bear: 

 A No Wake Zone exists over the Legacy Park intake (City’s WTP intake), which is submerged at 

least 70 feet and located at least 500 feet from the Mile High Marina. A 2022 wake surfing study 
determined that the greatest water depth impacted by propeller down-wash is no greater than 6.5 
feet, when the propeller is set 3 feet below the lake surface (1). A 2022 study regarding the 
hydrodynamic impacts of recreational watercraft found a minimal potential for impact upon silty 
lake bottoms at water depths exceeding 15 feet (2). 

 The BTEX Contaminants of Concern (COCs) are organic liquids known as LNAPLs (Light Non-
aqueous Phase Liquids) which have specific gravities less than that (ie, 1.0) of lake water and 
would therefore predominantly (if not entirely) float upon the lake surface.  

 Not all WQ samples and analyses were made at the optimal time (ie, AUG) to best check potential 
adverse impacts of watercraft pollution upon the Lake. The above table reveals that most sampling 
events occurred during the off-season. 

 All WQ Reports refer to the post-treatment analysis of lake water samples. City personnel stated 
that analyses will henceforth also be made before treatment at the WTP. 

 City personnel revealed that the WTP has been and is currently not equipped to treat the BTEX 
COCs shown in the above table.   

 City personnel revealed that they strongly suspect that a significant source of lake water turbidity 
may be attributable to glacial silt, which is most commonly referred to as rock flour, which creates 
the vivid turquoise hues seen in glacier-fed lakes like Lake Louise in Canada.  Rock flour consists 
of extremely light and tiny particles of rock-derived silt that stays suspended within the water 
column considerably longer than typical lake-bottom sediments. 
City personnel shared that the equipment that measures Turbidity NTU is being replaced with 
superior (ie, more sensitive) devices that will provide more accurate results.  

CONCLUSIONS 
The following conclusions are derived from the findings listed above: 

✓ Given the relatively significant depth and distance from the City’s WTP intake, the findings of 
two separate and independent studies showing no disturbances within the upper 15 feet of a lake’s 
water column, the existence of an established No Wake Zone within the lake surface over the 
intake and the fact that BTEX COCs preferentially float, it is highly unlikely that BTEX pollution 
will ever reach the City’s WTP intake. 

✓ Because most BTEX water samples were taken during off-season times, the possibility exists that 
the WQ Reports are biased in favor of BTEX polluters, since considerably less watercraft activity 
occurs during the off-season. Future water sample collection / analysis during the peak season 
should provide a more accurate picture regarding the potential BTEX pollution commonly 
associated with motorized watercraft. 
One encouraging fact is seen in the AUG (ie, peak season) water analyses for Ethylbenzene (E) 
and Total Xylenes (X), where Not Detected (ND) levels were nonetheless found. 

✓ Given that the WTP has not historically treated or currently treats BTEX, the analyses for these 
untreated COCs may be considered as pre-treatment analyses. Accordingly, the Not Detected 
(ND) findings should be considered as representative of the water quality at the City’s WTP intake 
regarding BTEX. 



Environmental Compliance Associates, LLC 

372 S Eagle Road, Suite 146, Eagle, ID  83616  (208) 501-9984  ecabrett@gmail.com 

✓ All WQ Reports revealed Turbidities well below the 1 NTU Maximum Contaminant Level 
(MCL), with considerably lower NTU values detected during 2021 and 2022. Given the relatively 
significant depth and distance of the City’s WTP intake to the Mile High Marina; findings from 
two separate and independent studies showing no disturbances within the upper 6.5 to 15 feet of 
the lake’s water column and the existence of an established No Wake Zone over the intake, it is 
extremely unlikely that full-speed (let alone idling) watercraft will contribute anything to the 
naturally occurring turbidity at the lake bottom or by the intake.  Given that some (or most) of the 
lake water turbidity may be attributable to natural “rock flour” conditions, the possibility exists 
that the City’s future Turbidity MCL may become less stringent regarding this COC. 

Given the Findings and Conclusions addressed in this letter, it is highly unlikely that the proposed 90-slip 
expansion for the Mile High Marina will significantly pollute Payette Lake bottom water with BTEX 
COCs and it is even more unlikely that (idling or even full-speed) watercraft will contribute any additional 
turbidity to the lake bottom water surrounding the City’s WTP intake. 
 
Please call me if you have any questions whatsoever.  
 
Sincerely, 

 
Brett D. Smith PE, LG 
Professional Engineer / Licensed Geologist 
(LG registration in WA) 
(PE registrations in ID, NV, OR and WA) 
 
 
REFERENCES CITED 

1. Endicott, Fay M., et al:  Numerical Study of the Impact of Wake Surfing on Inland Bodies of 

Water, Journal of Water Resource and Protection, 14, 238-272, 2022. 
2. Valley County and the City of McCall, Idaho: A Sustainable and Adaptable Plan Preserving What 

We Love, Valley County Waterways Management Plan, 2022. 



SPILL RESPONSE PLAN – MILE HIGH MARINA 

P O L I C Y  T I T L E :  S P I L L  R E S P O N S E  P L A N  –  M I L E  H I G H  M A R I N A  

E F F E C T I V E  D A T E :  1 / 1 / 2 0 2 3  

R E V  C Y C L E :  1  

P R O C E S S  O W N E R :  E L I  E L I S O N D O  

E X E C U T I V E  A P P R O V E R :  T I M  W O L T H I U S  

ATTACHMENT 9



 

 

 

2 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

Table of Contents 
Policy .......................................................................................................................................................................4 

Responsibilities .......................................................................................................................................................4 

Supervisors shall: ................................................................................................................................................4 

Employees shall: .................................................................................................................................................4 

Spill Response Personnel shall: ...........................................................................................................................4 

Mile High Marina shall: .......................................................................................................................................5 

Implementation ......................................................................................................................................................5 

Preparation .............................................................................................................................................................5 

Classification and Reportable Criteria for Spills ......................................................................................................6 

Christensen Inc. Follows IDAPA 58.01.02.851.04a for spill classification: ...........................................................6 

Spill Reporting Requirements and Procedures .......................................................................................................6 

Spill Remediation ....................................................................................................................................................6 

General Cleanup Procedures ..............................................................................................................................6 

Clean-Up Guidelines for Different Environments:...............................................................................................7 

General Spill Procedures .....................................................................................................................................7 

SPILL CLEANUP SUPPLIES AT FACILITIES ..............................................................................................................8 

SPILL CLEANUP SUPPLIES ON TRUCK ..................................................................................................................9 

Spill Monitoring and Reporting ...........................................................................................................................9 

Non-Compliance .....................................................................................................................................................9 

Program Evaluation .................................................................................................................................................9 

APPENDIX A .......................................................................................................................................................... 10 

Minor Spill General Response Procedures ........................................................................................................... 11 

In the event of a MINOR SPILL the following steps should be taken:............................................................... 11 

APPENDIX B .......................................................................................................................................................... 12 

Major Spill General Response Procedures ........................................................................................................... 13 

In the event of a MAJOR SPILL the following steps should be taken:............................................................... 13 

APPENDIX C .......................................................................................................................................................... 14 

MHM - Spill Response Quick Guide ...................................................................................................................... 15 

Appendix D ........................................................................................................................................................... 16 

Site ENvironmental Assessment .......................................................................................................................... 17 

General Site Information.................................................................................................................................. 17 

Potential Worst-Case Release Information ...................................................................................................... 17 

Site Drainage, Containment and Diversion Information .................................................................................. 17 

Appendix E ........................................................................................................................................................... 18 



 

 

 

3 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

Delivery Procedures ............................................................................................................................................. 19 

Appendix F ........................................................................................................................................................... 21 

Site Map ............................................................................................................................................................... 22 

APPENDIX G ......................................................................................................................................................... 23 

Fuel Tank Opening Map ....................................................................................................................................... 24 

APPENDIX H ......................................................................................................................................................... 25 

Delivery Area Storm Drain Map ........................................................................................................................... 26 

APPENDIX I ........................................................................................................................................................... 27 

Delivery Area Storm Drain Photo ......................................................................................................................... 28 

APPENDIX J ........................................................................................................................................................... 29 

Watercraft Ramp Storm Drain Map ..................................................................................................................... 30 

APPENDIX K .......................................................................................................................................................... 31 

Watercraft Ramp Storm Drain Photo ................................................................................................................... 32 

APPENDIX L .......................................................................................................................................................... 33 

Storm Drains South of Tanks ................................................................................................................................ 34 

APPENDIX M......................................................................................................................................................... 35 

40 CFR 302.4 Reportable Quantities Determination Table .................................................................................. 36 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

4 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

POLICY  

Christensen Inc. is committed toward the goal of necessary preparation for and response to spills, leaks, 
and all unintentional chemical releases, Christensen Inc. has developed a plan that will be updated and 
reviewed by the Christensen Inc. management team as necessary to ensure accuracy. Christensen Inc. 
has addressed the necessary preparation for and response to spills, leaks, and all unintentional chemical 
releases. 

 
RESPONSIBILITIES  

Spills can occur during a chemical's storage, transportation, or transfer, as well as in the actual use.  Spill 
prevention should be a major component of a spill response planning. Adherence to the specific 
Christensen Inc. procedures and its guidance on the safe and proper use, handling and storage of 
hazardous chemicals will help to minimize the potential for chemical spills.  

Supervisors shall :   

• Ensure employees understand the policy and procedure requirements of this document and any 
relevant chemical-specific spill response procedures.  

• Maintain current safety data sheets (SDS) for all chemicals. 

• Review SDS and handling procedures for all chemicals with employees and maintain training 
records.  

• Ensure that appropriate and adequate spill response and personal protective equipment (PPE) 
supplies are maintained and available for use at all times.  

 
Employees shall :   

• Understand the policy and procedure requirements of this document and any relevant chemical-
specific spill response procedures.  

• Promptly and appropriately respond to chemical spills.  

• Do not use chemicals if not adequately trained. 

• Wear personal protective equipment as directed by this or other relevant spill response 
procedures.  

 

Spi l l  Response Personnel shall :   

• Understand the policy and procedure requirements of this document and any relevant chemical-
specific spill response procedures covering specific techniques, equipment, and strategies for 
responding to petroleum spills effectively and safely. This training may be provided by an 
approved trainer or agencies that specialize in oil spill response. 



 

 

 

5 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

• Wear personal protective equipment as directed by this or other relevant spill response 
procedures annual refresher training on spill response procedures, including clean-up techniques 
for different environments. 

• Complete HAZWOPER Training: 

o All members of the spill response team should complete the appropriate level of 
HAZWOPER training based on their role: 

▪ HAZWOPER 24-hour training: This is required for personnel who may encounter 
hazardous substances but are unlikely to be directly involved in cleanup 
operations. Examples include supervisors, on-scene coordinators, and personnel 
who assess the site. 

▪ HAZWOPER 40-hour training: This comprehensive training is required for 
personnel engaged in hazardous substance cleanup and emergency response 
operations.  

Mile High Marina shal l :   

• Understand relevant chemical-specific spill response procedures.  

• Understand the policy requirements of spill reporting to Christensen as well as regulatory 
agencies. and any relevant chemical-specific spill response procedures.  

• Promptly and appropriately cooperate with remediation efforts.  

• Coordinate with Christensen personnel to report all spills that meet the criteria necessitating the 
event to be reported to the applicable agency.  

 
IMPLEMENTATION  

Chemical spills most often involve small quantities of materials and, if precautions are taken, present 
minimal hazards. However, some spills will require the use of outside assistance, because of the spill's 
size or potential hazards posed to individuals or the environment. This procedure provides guidance on 
determining the hazard severity of a spill and the procedures that shall be implemented based on the 
determined hazard severity.  

 

PREPARATION 

To prepare for spills, each affected Christensen Inc. employee shall:  

• Be familiar with the hazards of the chemicals that are under their control.  

• Be familiar with these general chemical spill response procedures and, as necessary, develop 
specific procedures for any chemicals that require specific measures.  

•  Ensure the availability of equipment and completion of training necessary to follow those 
procedures.  

 



 

 

 

6 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

CLASSIFICATION AND REPORTABLE CRITERIA FOR  SPILLS  

Christensen Inc.  Fol lows IDAPA 58.01.02.851.04a for spi l l  c lassif ication: 

1. Minor spills (<25 gallons) – Spill or overfill that results in a release that is less than 25 gallons and 
does not cause a sheen on nearby surface water shall be reported to the Department of 
Environmental Quality if cleanup cannot be accomplished within 24 hours.  
 

2. Major Spills (>25 gallons) - Spill or overfill that results in a release that exceeds 25 gallons or that 
causes a sheen on nearby surface water shall be reported to the Department of Environmental 
Quality within 24 hours. 

 
SPILL  REPORTING REQUIREMENTS AND PROCEDURES  

All chemical spills, regardless of size, should be reported as soon as possible to the Facility Responsible 
Person. The Facility Responsible Person will alert HSSE whether the spill has the potential to affect the 
environment outside of the facility and must be reported to emergency management services. 
Christensen Inc. is required to report certain releases/discharges of hazardous substances to the 
Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ – ID) and the National Response Center (NRC). In order to 
ensure fulfillment of and compliance with the regulatory obligations, the HSSE Department shall assist in 
the execution of all reporting notifications to the previously mentioned regulatory agencies. Strategic 
planning shall occur following major spills to prevent reoccurrence.  

 

SPILL  REMEDIATION  

The objective of a Spill Remediation Plan (SRP) is to establish clear guidelines and requirements for the 
clean-up of petroleum spills in various environments, including water, asphalt, cement, and soil. 
Christensen aims to ensure swift and effective remediation of petroleum spills, minimizing 
environmental impacts and promoting public safety. The Incident Commander is responsible for 
developing a Spill Remediation Plan that must be approved by HSSE and the Executive Team. The plan 
should cover the following aspects: 

• Notifications: Identify applicable Federal, State, and local agencies that must be notified of the spill. 

• Containment and Mitigation: Identify strategies that will be made to contain the spill and prevent further 
spread, using appropriate booms, absorbent materials, or other containment methods. 

• Assessment and Classification: The spill shall be promptly assessed and classified based on its severity and 
identify potential environmental impacts as well as impact to land use, transportation, etc. 

• d. Clean Up Process: Depending on the spill classification, the plan must identify specific clean-up 
procedures tailored for water, asphalt, cement, or soil, following the general guidelines described below 
that meet the state’s specific clean up requirements.  

General Cleanup Procedures  

Spill cleanup procedures vary depending on the severity of the spill. The responder should assess the 
situation to determine if the spill is major or minor. Even small spills of highly toxic or flammable 



 

 

 

7 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

substances can be hazardous. Large spills can cause serious employee injuries, damage to the facility, 
and have an environmental impact.  

When a spill occurs, the responder should do the following: 

• Isolate the Area – If there is a fire or medical attention is needed, contact your supervisor or call 
911. Warn all people nearby and evacuate the area as necessary. 

• Evacuate the Spill – If the spill is flammable or volatile, immediately warn everyone, control all 
potential ignition sources, and ventilate the area.  

• Put on Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) – Use the proper level of PPE based on the 
evaluation above. 

• Confine the Spill – Stop the spill at the source (repair leaks, close valves, use emergency shut-off 
switch). 

• Clean up the Spill – Follow the proper cleanup procedures, depending on the severity of the spill 
and the situation in which it occurs, to clean up and contain the spilled chemical. Cleanup should 
begin as soon as possible after a spill has been detected, contained, and evaluated. 

 

Clean-Up Guidelines for Different Environments:  

• Water: For spills into water bodies, immediate action should be taken to deploy containment booms and 
skimmers to prevent oil from spreading. Specialized equipment and techniques may be necessary to 
recover or disperse the oil, as approved by the regulatory authorities. 

• Asphalt: Spills on asphalt surfaces should be contained and promptly cleaned with absorbent materials or 
specialized cleaning agents that are safe for the environment. If required, the affected area should be 
excavated and replaced with fresh asphalt. 

• Cement: Spills on cement surfaces shall be rapidly contained and cleaned using absorbent material and 
surface cleaners appropriate for petroleum spills. Pressure washing may be necessary if the spill has 
penetrated into the surface. 

• Soil: Spills on soil require thorough assessment to determine the extent of contamination. If the 
contamination is limited, soil excavation should be performed, removing the affected area to an approved 
waste management facility. In cases of major spills or significant contamination, remediation plans should 
be developed in consultation with environmental experts. 

General Spil l  Procedures  

A spill from a truck or at a customer site will be handled differently than a spill in the warehouse. Here 
are the basic steps to take for all warehouse spills:  

• Identify the Spilled Substance – Liquids leaking from marked containers are easy to recognize. 
Employees should keep away from unknown spills. Never risk your health or life by trying to 
identify a spilled material. Just reporting the spill may be enough. The first step is to immediately 
contact a person in the plan who can identify the spill. 

• Report the Spill – Immediately report the spill to the appropriate person as per the documented 
response plan. Whoever is in charge of handling the spill may need to report it to outside 
agencies. The Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) lists the amounts and types of chemical spills 



 

 

 

8 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

that must be reported. It needs to be reported if a hazardous material spill enters a storm drain 
or poses other threats to the environment. 

• Protect Workplace Responders – The responders must know the type of PPE that’s needed. If 
the spill hasn’t been identified, they should assume the worst and use all PPE available. Keep 
items such as plugs, patches, wrenches, and other tools with the PPE. It’s also good to have 
containers on hand to catch the spilled liquid. All PPE and supplies should be checked regularly 
and replaced as needed. 

• Contain the Spilled Material – Responders should contain the spill to keep it from spreading. This 
is usually done by placing dikes around the spill’s edges. If there are drains near the spill, they 
need to be covered with a drain cover. After putting the drain cover on, add a layer of Floor Dry 
for an extra layer of protection. This will prevent hazardous materials from getting into the 
drainage system. Cover them even if the spill has already started flowing into the drain to stop 
the damage. 

• Cut Off the Source – If it’s still leaking, try to stop it. This might mean turning off spouts or valves, 
patching a seam, or rolling a leaky drum so that the leak is on the top. This can be done at the 
same time as containing the spill. 

• Clean up the Spill – Cleanup can begin once all other employees are out of the spill zone and the 
spill is stopped at the source. Work from the outside in toward the center. This helps to make 
sure the entire area has been cleaned. Anything absorbent can be used – mops, shop towels, 
mats, socks, etc. Use shop vacs to clean up larger spills. 

• Restock Supplies – Make an inventory and restock all supplies and PPE used during the cleanup 
as soon as possible. Be sure you’re prepared for a future spill. 

 

SPILL CLEANUP SUPPLIES AT FACILITIES  

Spill kits or bags are vital for maintaining a safe work environment following a spill. These kits can 
prevent spill-related injuries and property damage. Every Christensen facility should have spill cleanup 
supplies readily available in case of a spill. Spill supplies at facilities should include but are not limited to: 

• Booms – Spill containment booms are devices used to contain spills. Placed around the spill area, 
they prevent the spill from spreading any further. 

• Absorbent pads – Pads are used to recover spills, especially on water. They are hydrophobic, 
which means that they absorb hydrocarbons while repelling water. This allows them to float on 
waterways. 

• Floor Dry – Floor Dry captures oil so it can be disposed of in a landfill.  

• Plug and Dike – This is a clay type of material used to seal small holes in containers and fuel 
tanks. It is not a permanent seal, but it will last until you can transfer the liquids from the holed 
container. 

• Waste Disposal Bags – After spill cleanup supplies have been used, the waste disposal bags are 
used to hold all the contaminated products from the spill. This is to ensure the collected spill will 
not drip or spill further. 



 

 

 

9 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

• Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) – The responder should have a pair of gloves and safety 
glasses available for protection against the product. The responder should also be wearing anti-
slip shoes when handling a spill. 

 

SPILL CLEANUP SUPPLIES ON TRUCK  

Every Christensen truck should have spill cleanup supplies readily available in case of a spill. Spill 
supplies on trucks should include but are not limited to: 

• Floor dry. 

• Bucket. 

• Non-sparking shovel. 

• Broom. 

• Absorbent diapers and/or booms. 

• Since Christensen trucks vary in size and space, not every truck can fit all the items listed above. 
If the truck cannot accommodate all the supplies, drivers can reduce the list of supplies to the 
following: 

• Bucket. 

• Absorbent pads. 

• Floor Dry. 

 

Spi l l  Monitoring and Report ing  

After the clean-up process, a post-remediation sample should be pulled to ensure the effectiveness of 
the clean-up efforts. A report summarizing the spill incident, response, and outcomes should be 
submitted to relevant authorities for documentation and to aid in future spill prevention and response 
planning. Non-compliance may result in penalties, fines, or legal actions, as per applicable laws and 
regulations. 

 

NON-COMPLIANCE 

Failure to adhere to this policy may result in disciplinary action, including but not limited to retraining, 
suspension, or termination, depending on the severity and frequency of the non-compliance. 

       
PROGRAM EVALUATION  

Toward the goal of overall program effectiveness, the Spill Response Plan (SRP) will be assessed annually 
by the HSSE Department. Furthermore, program compliance will be evaluated during HSSE Department 
facility inspections as well as during routine monthly facility inspections conducted by facility personnel.  



 

 

 

10 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

 
Revision # Effective Date Change(s) Reason(s) Author 
1 1/1/23 Contacts Integration Eli Elisondo 
     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
APPENDIX A   



 

 

 

11 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

MINOR SPILL GENERAL RESPONSE PROCEDURES  
 

In the event of a MINOR SPILL the following steps should be taken:  

 
1. STOP THE FLOW - Shut off pumps, close valves, and anything to reduce or stop the 

flow. Establish ventilation, if possible. 
2. SECURE THE AREA – Immediately isolate and control access to the spill area.  

Personnel not directly involved should be kept out of the spill area until clean-up 
has been completed.  

a. If the spill involves flammable materials, remove ignition sources and unplug 
nearby electrical equipment.  

3. NOTIFY – Immediately notify management on site and your direct supervisor 
4. LOCATE THE SPILL KIT.  Briefly inventory the contents to ensure that all necessary 

items are available. Do not start the clean-up if critical items are not available.  
5. PPE – Choose appropriate personal protective clothing/equipment (goggles, face 

shield, impervious gloves, apron, etc.). The minimum chemical protective clothing 
used should include chemical glasses and glasses. Ensure that all skin surfaces are 
covered.   It is recommended that two sets of gloves be worn: one as the primary 
barrier, the second as a thin inner liner in the event the primary barrier fails. 
Chemical splash goggles shall be used if available over standard safety glasses. PPE 
use, to include training responsibilities, shall be in accordance with Christensen Inc. 
policy. 

6. CONTROL SPILL - Use berms, boom, water hose, etc. to prevent fuel from drains or 
low lying areas where there is water. Put all single use contaminated items (gloves, 
clothing, cleaning supplies, etc.) into a plastic disposal bags.  

a. Double layer and seal all disposal bags (twist the open top and wrap with 
duct tape) and, as possible, contain in the original spill kit container (5-gallon 
white bucket).  

b. Label the container with the name of the spilled material, date, and the 
words “hazardous waste.”  

7. DECONTAMINATE – When the cleanup is completed, wash hands and other 
potentially affected skin surfaces with soap and water.  

 
 



 

 

 

12 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

APPENDIX B  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

13 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

MAJOR SPILL GENERAL RESPONSE PROCEDURES   
 

In the event of a MAJOR SPILL the following steps should be taken:  

 
1. STOP THE FLOW - Shut off pumps, close valves, and anything to reduce or stop the 

flow. 
2. SECURE THE AREA – Immediately isolate and control access to the spill area.  
3. NOTIFY –  Manager or dispatch, who will coordinate with HSSE for Environmental 

Response Services to the spill.  
a. Provide the following information:  

i. Location of spill 
ii. Estimate of quantity 
iii. Name of chemical spilled 
iv. Conditions of area and affected individuals  

b. Notify Emergency Services if the event involves personal injury or chemical 
exposure:  

i. Move the victim from the immediate area of fire, explosion, or spill (if 
this can be done without further injury to the victim or you).  

ii. Locate the nearest emergency eyewash or safety shower.  
iii. Remove any contaminated clothing from the victim and flush all areas 

of the body contacted by chemicals with copious amounts of water 
for 15 minutes. 

iv. Seek medical attention.  
4. EVACUATE – Communicate the condition to and assist with evacuating, as 

necessary, all potentially impacted personnel.  
5. CONTROL SPILL – If save to do so, use berms, boom, water hose, etc. to prevent 

fuel from drains or low lying areas where there is water.  
6. REPORT – Submit required spill notification to Department of Environmental 

Quality. 
 
 

 

 



 

 

 

14 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

APPENDIX C  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

15 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

MHM - SPILL RESPONSE QUICK GUIDE 
  
1. STOP THE FLOW - Shut off pumps, close valves, and 

anything to reduce or stop the flow. 
2. SECURE THE SCENE - Prevent further impact or 

injury 
3. SHUT OFF IGNITION SOURCES – prevent fire/ 

explosion 
4. CONTROL SPILL - Use berms, boom, water hose, 

etc. to prevent fuel from drains or low-lying areas 
where there is water.  

5.  NOTIFY – Immediately notify Manager  
a.  PERS Emergency Hotline------- (800) 633-8253 
b.  Transport Dispatch ---------- (888) 638-5943 Ext. 1       

6. REPORT – Complete incident report and photograph 
the scene. 

7.  NOTIFICATIONS 
a. NRC -------------------------------------- 1-800-424-8802  
b. ID Response Center --------------------------------- 911  
c. Mile High Marina ---------------------- (208) 634-8605 
d. MHM Man. Cassidy Tempelton ---- (208) 459-1043 
e. MHM Op Man Sam Worley --------- (208) 315-1907 

 
 



 

 

 

16 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

APPENDIX D  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

17 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

SITE ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT  

 

General Site Information  

• Name: Payette River (North Fork) Subbasin 

• Size: 927 square miles 

• Bodies of water:  Big Creek, Boulder Creek, Boulder/Willow Creek, Cascade Reservoir, Clear 
Creek, Fall Creek, Gold Fork, Mud Creek, North Fork Payette River, Round Valley Creek, 
tributaries to Payette Lake, West Mountain tributaries to Cascade Reservoir 

• Characteristics: The North Fork Payette River subbasin lies on the northern edge of the 
Southwest Basin and encompasses the towns of McCall, Donnelly, and Cascade. The subbasin 
includes Cascade Reservoir and the Payette Lakes. 

 

Potential Worst-Case Release Information  

Potential Failure Spill Direction Potential Volume Released Spill Rate 

Complete failure of 
full tank 

West / 
Southwest 10,000 gallons Instantaneous 

Partial failure of a 
full tank 

West / 
Southwest Up to 10,000 gallons Gradual to instantaneous 

Tank overfill West / 
Southwest Up to 10,000 gallons Up to 300 gallons a 

minute 

Plumbing failure West / 
Southwest Up to 10,000 gallons Up to 250 gallons a 

minute 

Truck leak or failure West / 
Southwest Up to 2,000 gallons Gradual to instantaneous 

Hose leak or failure West / 
Southwest Up to 1,000 gallons Gradual to instantaneous 

 

Site Drainage, Containment and Divers ion  Information 

• Storm drain with a sand trap nearest to tank openings (Appendix H) 

• Storm drain with a sand trap in front of Watercraft Ramp (Appendix J) 

• Storm drain with a sand trap to the south of tank openings (Appendix L) 

 

 

 



 

 

 

18 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

APPENDIX E  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

19 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

DELIVERY PROCEDURES  

1. Review site map:  Before leaving the Rack, determine the driving route, and best way to enter the site.    
2. Double-check dispatch and terminal paperwork:  Double-check that the amount loaded at the Rack is the 

amount on the dispatch.  
3. Enter site and position the vehicle for unloading.    
4. Set brakes:  Set Tractor and Trailer Brakes  
5. Remove keys from vehicle:  Remove the keys from ignition and keep the keys with you.  
6. Trucks are never to be left running during unloading or fueling unless using a pump.  
7. Trucks are at no time ever to be left running and unattended.  
8. Hoses are not to be left connected to fills or truck/trailers and left unattended at any time.  
9. Turn off all devices:  Turn off all lights, radios, cell phones and other electrical equipment.  Cell phones 

may be carried in your jacket or belt but MUST be turned off.  
10. Chock wheels:  Chock Tractor and Trailer wheels  
11. Confirm delivery address:  Check the address on the bill of lading against the physical address of the 

building.  Also check at this time for the State underground storage license plate. If you cannot locate you 
must call dispatch for further instructions.  

12. Place cones:  Put cones out to create an unloading area “zone”.  A minimum of four (4) cones should 
always be utilized in the attempt to make the public aware of the unloading of fuel operation.  

13. Walk around vehicle:  Walk around vehicle and inspect area to make sure that safe conditions exist.  
14. Put on standard PPE (eye protection and gloves). 
15. Identify tanks:  Each tank fill should have the name of the product and your delivery information should 

have tank sizes.  If you do not have either of these items –STOP your delivery and call dispatch.  
16. Measure tanks:  Measure each of the tanks and record the readings on your delivery form.  Use stick 

readings. Do not depend upon tank monitor reports.  Refer to your tank chart to determine if the product 
will fit.  Company Policy is not to exceed 90% of tank capacity and not to unload part of a compartment.  

17. Use water paste, mark water readings on BOL, even if level is zero.  
18. Assess weather conditions and prepare spill kit materials for quick access in the event of a spill.  
19. Connect vapor hose:  Connect the vapor hose to the trailer and then to the fitting and tank fill.    
20. Connect product hose:  The product hose must be connected to the tank first and then to the trailer.  A 

bucket should be placed under the hose/plumbing connection. In most cases the largest compartment 
should be unloaded first.  Verify product marker on truck before connecting drop hose.  

21. Diesel should always be delivered before unloading other products.  
22. Double check the connections and walk the hose to verify the correct compartment is connected to the 

correct UST.  
23. Triple check – Before starting the flow of product, check the following:  Product tumbler, tank fill and your 

bill of lading to ensure the correct product is delivered into the correct tank.  Check key components (UST 
product identification, product markers, load sheet, BOL).  

24. Open the internal valve:  Open the internal valve and then open the quarter turn valve about one-third of 
the way until you are sure of no leaks and hose/fittings have a good connection.  You must stay in 
attendance (15-20 feet and full view) while hoses are connected.   

25. Drop and complete diesel delivery first.  
26. Disconnect product hose:  Disconnect the product hose from the vehicle and then from the ground.    
27. Disconnect vapor hose:  Disconnect the vapor from the ground tank connection and then from the 

vehicle. 



 

 

 

20 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

28. Switch compartments:  To switch compartments.  Close internal valve, walk/drain the hose and then close 
the ¼ turn valve and drain again.  Move the product hose from the tank to the next tank and then the 
product hose from the vehicle to the next compartment.  

29. Stick the tanks:  Stick the tanks, check measurements with tank charts and verify all products were 
delivered.  Do not depend upon tank monitor reports.  Some units may have bottom load sensors as an 
extra tool to verify the unit is empty.    

30. Replace lids:  Replace tank caps and lids.   
31. Turn in paperwork:  Give paperwork to delivery location.    
32. Put safety cones away:  Make sure caps are snapped down securely.  Report any broken caps.  Drain fill 

post of any product left in them.  Put away safety cones last.  
33. Walk site:  Before leaving, walk around truck/trailer making sure tank lids are covered, all hoses, fitting 

and valves are closed and secured.  Double checks to make sure hose tube latches are secured.  If not, 
you will damage or lose a hose.  While walking around vehicle, tap on bottom of tanks to double check 
their empty.  Make sure it is clear to leave. If there are maintenance issues at the station (product ID tags 
missing, lids not painted, etc.) that could cause a future cross drop, report to Dispatch and write on 
bottom of BOL. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

21 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

APPENDIX F  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

22 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

SITE MAP  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

23 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

APPENDIX G  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

24 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

FUEL TANK OPENING MAP  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

25 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

APPENDIX H 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

26 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

DELIVERY AREA STORM DRAIN MAP  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

27 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

APPENDIX I  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

28 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

DELIVERY AREA STORM DRAIN PHOTO  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

29 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

APPENDIX J  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

30 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

WATERCRAFT RAMP STORM DRAIN MAP  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

31 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

APPENDIX K  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

32 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

WATERCRAFT RAMP STORM DRAIN PHOTO  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

33 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

APPENDIX L  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

34 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

STORM DRAINS SOUTH OF TANKS  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

35 

W I N N I N G T O G E T H E R  C H R I S T E N S E N U S A . C O M  

Spill Response Plan 

APPENDIX M 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



SPILL RESPONSE PLAN – MILE HIGH MARINA 
 
 

 40 CFR 302.4 REPORTABLE QUANTITIES DETERMINATION TABLE  

 

Chemical Name Index Name 

CAS/313 
Category 
Codes 

Section 302 
(EHS) TPQ 

Section 
304 (EHS) 
RQ 

CERCLA 
RQ 

CAA 
112(r) 
TQ Conc. % Reportable volume 

GASOLINE               
Benzene a BENZENE 71-43-2  n/a n/a 10 n/a 5% 30 gallons 

Xylene (mixed isomers) XYLENEMIXEDISOMER 1330-20-7  n/a n/a 100 n/a 9.50% 157 gallons 
Cumene CUMENE 98-82-8  n/a n/a 5,000 n/a 4% 18,712 gallons 
Cyclohexane CYCLOHEXANE 110-82-7  n/a n/a 1,000 n/a 1.50% 9,980 gallons 
Ethylbenzene ETHYLBENZENE 100-41-4  n/a n/a 1,000 n/a 2.50% 5,988 gallons 
n-Hexane HEXANE-N 110-54-3  n/a n/a 5,000 n/a 12% 6,237 gallons 
Naphthalene NAPHTHALENE 91-20-3  n/a n/a 100 n/a 0.05% 2,994 gallons 
Toluene TOLUENE 108-88-3  n/a n/a 1,000 n/a 12% 1,247 gallons 
         
DIESEL         
Naphthalene NAPHTHALENE 91-20-3  n/a n/a 100   3% 481 gallons 
Ethylbenzene ETHYLBENZENE 100-41-4  n/a n/a 1,000 n/a 1% 14,409 gallons 
Hexane HEXANE 110-54-3  n/a n/a 5,000 n/a 1% 72,046 gallons 
         



Spill Control and Response Plan 1 

MILE HIGH MARINA

SPILL CONTROL AND RESPONSE PLAN

(Updated December 12, , 2023) 

Facility Information 

Facility Name: Mile High Marina 

Facility Address: 1300 East Lake Street McCall, ID 83638 

Mailing Address:  P.O. Box 3090, McCall, ID  83638 

Phone: 208-634-8605 

Owner: Samuel Worley 

Address: P.O. Box 4010, McCall, ID  83638 

Phone: 208-315-1907 

Key Contacts 

National Response Center: 800-424-8802 

City of McCall, Public Works Department: 

Director: 208-634-8943 

Water: 208-315-3891 

Streets: 208-634-9264 

ID DEQ: 208-373-0502 

ID EPA: 208-378-5746 

Fire and Police: 911 

Nwestco, Maintenance and Testing: 208-344-6483 

Christensen, Inc.  dba United Oil, 208-459-6363 

Olympus Technical Services, Clean Up Contractor: 208-562-5500 

Cassidy Templeton, General Manager: 208-469-1043 

Samuel Worley, Owner: 208-315-1907 

Storage Tanks 

Tank 1: Underground storage tank, double-walled construction 10,000-gallon capacity 

ATTACHMENT 10



Spill Control and Response Plan  2 
 

Tank 2: Underground storage tank, double-walled construction 10,000-gallon capacity 

See Figure 1 for the location of buried underground fuel storage tanks. 

Both tanks are kept locked at all times.  The only keys to the tanks are kept with Mile High Marina 

management and Christensen Oil and Gas who accesses the fuel tanks upon seasonal deliveries as 

needed during the summer season. 

Emergency Procedures 

The purpose of this plan is to assure a prompt, effective response to any marine emergency that relates 

to safety of life, property and environmental protection.   

In any emergency, the primary consideration is for personal and public safety.  In the event of an 

emergency, involved persons should be removed from the area to safety in a manner that ensures the 

safety of all those involved.  If a person is in the water, do the following immediately: 

1. Throw any flotation device or anything that floats 

2. Only proceed into the water wearing a flotation device that can support both the rescuer and 

victim 

3. Professional help should be called immediately 

As to property,  surrounding uninvolved movable property such as boats, cars, trucks, trailers should be 

removed from the area.  Do not cut loose a damaged or leaking boat from the docks as it could float into 

other boats or property.  Once matters are under control and professional help has arrived, property 

should remain undisturbed until professional department investigations are complete. 

In the event of a fuel or other hazardous material spill , oil and fuel sorbent materials are stored on the 

docks in the location designated on the attached Figure 1, and should be deployed as designed. In order 

to minimize environmental damage, debris, oil, and fuel spill source  should be removed from the water 

and/or land as soon as it’s safe to do so in accordance with local regulatory guidelines and direction.   

The following checklist is posted inside the dock box near the fuel dispensers, inside near the fuel 

computer system, and retained by management for quick access. 

Emergency Response Plan 

1. Sound the Alarm – this is the first step in announcing and putting into action the Emergency 

Response Plan 

2. Life Safety – the safety of personnel, customers, and the public is a first priority 

3. It should be noted that many of these steps can happen simultaneously, including: 

4. Shutdown pumping in event of a spill during any fuel transfer operation or an emergency at the 

fuel dispensers.   

5. Shut off power to the fuel dispensers or affected area.  There is one emergency shut-off located 

on the West side of the dock box (on the fuel dock) and another emergency shut-off on the front 

(East side) of building.   See Mile High Marina Dock Schematic for locations of Emergency Shut-

Off. Note that shutting off the power at either of these locations will prevent fuel from 

continuing to flow from the underground tanks.  

6. Deploy Spill Kit materials (in the case of a fuel spill). 



Spill Control and Response Plan  3 
 

7. Eliminate potential sources of ignition such as open flames or sparks. 

8. Call emergency personnel and related regulatory agencies. 

9. Assign staff to meet and direct emergency first responders to the area. 

10. Contact the Marina owner or manager. 

11. Remove all uninvolved boats and equipment from  the contaminated area. 

12. Crowd control keeping the public at a safe distance and allowing emergency personnel access to 

the contaminated area 

Materials 

Fuel spill or fuel containment and clean up.  If possible, safe, and trained to do so, identify and secure 

source of the discharge and contain the discharge with sorbents. 

a. Sorbent pads are located in the dock box and the garage (See Figure 1) 

b. Spill kit is located on the dock, near the fuel dispensers (See Figure 1) 

c. Spill Kit contains the following products: 

200 Sorbent Pads 2 Pairs of Nitrile Gloves 

12 Sorbent Socks 2 Pairs of Safety Goggles 

10 Sorbent Pillows 1 Box of Rags 

5 Sorbent Booms 1 Copy of Emergency Response Guide 

5 Waste Disposal Bags 

Containment Booms -The Marina Owner is working with its Engineer to determine the 

appropriate size and quantity. These will be located in the garage (See Figure 1) 

Contact regulatory authorities and other response personnel and organizations. 

Post Emergency Plan 

1. Notify the Marina’s insurance company of the incident 

2. Photograph or video all damage caused to the affected area 

3. Complete written Incident Report detailing event occurrence and steps taken 

4. Protect against environmental damage from fuel or oil leakage.  Use containment booms and 

absorption pads as necessary 

5. Secure all vessels and docks for insurance investigation 

6. Gather written statements from personnel and witnesses as to the fact pattern or circumstances 

that lead to the event 

7. Cooperate fully with Fire Department and First Responders as they formally investigate the 

incident 

8. Properly dispose of all contaminated hazmat materials and replace marina supplies immediately 

a. – The Marina has a secure hazardous waste disposal collection bin on site, in the garage  

for storage of any hazardous materials pending appropriate off-site disposal.  

Emergency Education and Training 



Spill Control and Response Plan  4 
 

Management to conduct training seminars explaining the importance of the Emergency Plan and to 

ensure that personnel are aware of potential problems that exist at the Marina and the need for the 

Emergency Plan.  Employee education is continuous throughout the operating season which will greatly 

improve the learning curve of staff.  Once potential problems are understood, then the Emergency Plan 

can be introduced and understood as well. 

The Marina schedules annual fire education training sessions with Will Adams of Mid-State Fire 

Protection, McCall Idaho.  The location of all fire extinguishers is reviewed and the proper use of fire 

extinguishers are reviewed.  As practice, each staff member is then required to deploy an extinguisher in 

order to fully understand how to use a fire extinguisher properly. 

Security Measures 

1) The Marina facility is open for gasoline sales 7 days a week 8am-7pm during the summer months 

(Memorial Day to September 30th).  In the off hours of 7pm to 8am the pumps are locked, the 

computer software controlling the fuel pumps are turned off disabling fuel to the dispensers, and 

the dock box housing the computer systems is locked. 

2) During the winter, fuel pumps are winterized and inoperable.  

3) A trained Marina employee fuel attendant must dispense fuel. Customers are not allowed to 

dispense their own fuel or to self-fuel their boats. 

4) There is one emergency power shut-off located on the West side of the dock box (on the fuel dock) 

and another emergency power shut-off on the front (East side) of building.   Note that shutting off 

the power at either of these locations will prevent fuel from continuing to flow from the 

underground tanks.  

5) All tank fill pipes are capped and locked when not in use; tanks do not have drain valves.  

6) The dispenser pump controls are inside the dock box on the computer. The dock box is locked when 

the marina is closed and only authorized employees have the computer log in credentials.  

7) Sorbent pads are used every time a boat is fueled on the gas dock to absorb any drips that may 

occur during fueling. Extra sorbent pads are located in the dock box and the garage. 

8) Marina customers are encouraged to have proper fuel spill supplies on board their vessels at all 

times in the event of an inadvertent spill while away from the docks 

a. – Customers should also be reminded to always check their bilges for potential leaks prior to 

engaging bilge pumps. 

Inspections 

1) Owner and facility manager are trained to do visual inspections of fuel storage and transfer areas 

and equipment. Visual inspections are completed by owner/manager weekly during peak seasonal 

usage and upon each fuel delivery. Detailed inspections of tanks, lines/pipes and leak detector are 

completed by Nwestco annually. Records/certificates of approval are obtained from each inspection 

and kept in a Fuel Binder.  Inspections are also completed by Idaho DEQ every three years. 

Certificates from DEQ are also kept by management in a Fuel Binder. 



Spill Control and Response Plan  5 
 

2) The liquid level gauges on the UST’s are inspected and calibrated at least annually by Nwestco. UST’s 

liquid level gauge-activated high-level alarm is inspected monthly and functionally tested annually 

following manufacturer’s procedures by a qualified employee.  

3) An assigned employee also visually inspects the dispensers on the fuel dock at least daily for 

indications of deterioration and discharges, including the transfer hoses, valves, and other fittings,.  

4) If an employee encounters a spill during an inspection of the fuel storage or transfer equipment, the 

employee will immediately notify marina management and take the necessary actions. 

5) An assigned employee ensures sorbent pads and spill kit are fully stocked. 

When calling 911, provide the following information: 

1. Type of product spilled: gas, oil or unknown 

2. Source of the spill: Boat, Marina Fuel Lines, or other 

3. Quantity spilled: quarts or gallons 

4. Wind direction and strength 

5. Actions taken by Marina management and staff to prevent spill from spreading 

6. Is the spill within a confined area? 

 

Log the Spill Incident on an Incident Report Sheet and record the following: 

1. Time and date of initial event notice 

2. Type of product spilled 

3. Quantity 

4. Source of the spill 

5. Location of the spill 

6. Wind direction 

7. What actions were taken 

8. Names and contact information of all employees and other witnesses / parties involved 

9. Time and date of final event resolution 

 

 

 



MILE HIGH MARINA

DATE

PROJECT 23023

11/7/2023

DRAWN

RFP

FIGURE NO.

1

SPILL PREVENTION PLAN
EMERGENCY FUEL SHUT OFF LOCATIONS

SCALE: 1" = 60'

323 DEINHARD LANE, SUITE C  ·  PO BOX 2330
McCALL, IDAHO 83638

208.634.4140  ·  208.634.4146 FAX OF1
NORTH

CRESTLINE
 E N G I N E E R S

FIGURE 1

Garage

AutoCAD SHX Text
MILE HIGH MARINA

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAST LAKE STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
EMERGENCY FUEL  SHUT OFF SWITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
EMERGENCY FUEL  SHUT OFF SWITCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNDERGROUND FUEL STORAGE TANKS

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAYETTE LAKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPILL PREVENTION  EQUIPMENT DOCK BOX



Environmental Compliance Associates, LLC SPCC Resume’ 

Brett D. Smith PE, LG

Senior Environmental Engineer 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SELECTED PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE

SPCC Plans for Puget Sound Energy, Western Washington — Worked with PSE’s Environmental 
Compliance professionals developing Multi-Facility SPCC Plans based upon SPCC requirements set forth in 
40CFR112 for 23 electrical substation sites located in western Washington State.  
SPCC Plans for Benton PUD, Benton County, Washington — Worked with BPUD’s Supervisor of Operations 
developing Multi-Facility SPCC Plans based upon SPCC requirements set forth in 40CFR112 for 23 electrical 
substation sites and one Operations Center located in Benton County, Washington State. 
SPCC Plans for Coleman Oil Company, Idaho and Washington — Worked with Coleman Oil’s Operations 
staff developing SPCC Plans based upon SPCC requirements set forth in 40CFR112 for 34 bulk oil storage and 
cardlock refueling facilities located in Idaho State and Washington State. 
SPCC Plans for Busch Distributors, Idaho and Washington — Worked with Busch’s Operations staff 
developing SPCC Plans based upon SPCC requirements set forth in 40CFR112 for 10 bulk oil storage facilities 
located in Idaho State and Washington State. 
SPCC Plans for Calbag Metals Company in Oregon and Washington — Worked with Calbag Metals’ 
Environmental Compliance staff developing SPCC Plans for based upon SPCC requirements set forth in 
40CFR112 for two complex metals recycling facilities (Portland, Oregon and Tacoma, Washington) having 
numerous secondary containment systems and oil-based fluids handling challenges. 
SPCC Plans for Tessenderlo-Kerley, Inc., Idaho and Washington — Worked with TKI’s Environmental 
Compliance staff developing SPCC Plans based upon SPCC requirements set forth in 40CFR112 for two fertilizer 
processing facilities located in Idaho State and Washington State. 
Environmental Compliance Assessment System (ECAS); Minnesota State Army National Guard — One of 
five Team Leaders who supervised compliance assessments pertaining to such federal regulatory requirements as 
RCRA, CERCLA, TSCA and FIFRA regarding national guard facilities located throughout the State of 
Minnesota. Prepared ECAS Reports that discussed regulatory deficiencies and recommended best management 
practices to achieve sufficient regulatory compliance at all facilities. 

Qualifications 

Education 

• M.S. – Geophysics, Colorado School of Mines, 1984
• B.S. – Biology, University of Utah, 1975

Registrations / Certifications 

• Idaho State Professional Engineer (No. 17237)
• Nevada State Professional Engineer (No. 24542)
• Oregon State Professional Engineer (No. 85846)
• Washington State Professional Engineer (No. 37083)
• Licensed Professional Geologist, WA (No. 1478)

Specialized Training 

• Ultrasonic Thickness Testing (tanks), since 2020
• OSHA 40-Hour Hazardous Waste Operations

Safety Training; 1989
• OSHA 8-Hour Hazardous Waste Operations

Refresher; annual since 1989
• Geophysical Surveying Methods – electrical

resistivity, electromagnetics, magnetics; seismic
refraction (shear and compressional wave)

Presentations / Articles 

• The SPCC Rule – since 2003
• 8-hr SPCC Training Workshops – since 2018
• Article – The SPCC Rule, 2014

Mr. Smith is a registered Professional Engineer and a 
licensed Professional Geologist with more than 36 
years’ experience as an environmental engineer and 
exploration geophysicist. He has extensive experience 
with the Spill Rule (aka the SPCC Rule or 40CFR112) 
and has been a guest speaker on numerous occasions. 
During the past 20 years, Mr. Smith has helped electric 
utilities, petroleum marketers, metal recyclers and other 
industry clients comply with the SPCC Rule, by 
preparing SPCC Plans, conducting Tank Inspections, as 
per SP001 (6th Edition) and conducting 8-hr SPCC 
Workshops for regulated clients. 

Mr. Smith has extensive experience in the performance 
of environmental site assessments (ESAs) regarding 
commercial and industrial sites, which includes the 
design and performance of environmental and 
construction based geophysical surveys; the design and 
installation of groundwater monitoring systems; the 
design of engineering plans and operational narratives 
for solid waste landfills; the design and preparation of an 
underground injection control (UIC) permit; and the 
performance of approximately 300 Phase 1 ESAs. 

ATTACHMENT 11



Environmental Compliance Associates, LLC 

372 S Eagle Road, Suite 146, Eagle, ID  83616  (208) 501-9984  ecabrett@gmail.com 

December 9, 2023 

Sam Worley 
Mile High Marina 
P.O. Box 3090 
McCall, ID 83638 

RE: Fuel Spill Response Capability of the Mile High Marina located at 1300 E Lake Street 

Sam, 

You recently contacted me regarding concerns that Morgan Stroud, EI, Staff Engineer with the City of 
McCall’s Public Works Department (the City) has regarding the ability of the Mile High Marina (Facility) 
to adequately respond to onsite fuel spills.  It is my understanding that the City requires a Spill 
Prevention, Control and Countermeasure (SPCC) Plan (if appropriate) or an equivalent spill response 
document that addresses future fuel spills at your Facility. 

The City indicated the following (assumed not all-inclusive) items should be addressed in the spill 
response documents maintained at your Facility: 

• A Facility Diagram showing locations of fuel-storage tanks and surface drainage.
• Fuel-storage containment, if any.
• Onsite inspections.

You provided me with 1) a Spill Prevention, Control and Countermeasure Plan, prepared by you, 2) a 
diagram of the Facility’s fuel shut off switches, prepared by Crestline Engineers of McCall and 3) the 
Spill Control and Response Plan prepared by Christensen, Inc. of Richland, Washington. 

You have informed me that the onsite storage of oil-based liquids comprises two 10,000-gallon 
underground storage tanks (USTs) containing fuel for motorized watercraft and that all other (if any) oil-
based liquids storage (55-gallon containers and larger) never exceeds 1,320 gallons aggregate. The UST 
fuel storage is specifically regulated by 40CFR280 and is administered by the Idaho State Department of 
Environmental Quality (IDEQ), whereas the storage of aboveground oil-based liquids storage is regulated 
by 40CFR112 (aka the SPCC Rule), but only when the aggregate storage exceeds 1,320 gallons. 

After reviewing the above-referenced documents, I have acquired the following Findings of Fact 
regarding the Facility’s ability to effectively handle fuel and other oil-based fluid spills: 

1. The Facility does not need an SPCC Plan, since it stores much less than 1,320 gallons of oil-based
liquids and/or fuel in aboveground tanks or containers.

ATTACHMENT 12



Environmental Compliance Associates, LLC 

372 S Eagle Road, Suite 146, Eagle, ID  83616  (208) 501-9984  ecabrett@gmail.com 

2. The above-referenced documents adequately address 1) fuel storage containment (ie, USTs), tank-
filling procedures, associated spills, spill and stormwater drainage directions and the location of 
the nearest storm drain inlet, 2) motorized watercraft point-of-service (fuel dispenser) spills, 
delivery system shut off switch locations and required response measures, 3) the Facility layout 
and the location of the USTs, 4) the location of spill response materials and a listing thereof, 5) 
Facility security measures to prevent unauthorized access to fuel dispensers, 6) weekly (owner-
based) and annual (third-party professional) inspections of fuel-storage and transfer systems and 7) 
Facility inspections by the IDEQ every three years.  

In conclusion, my review finds the above-referenced documents to adequately provide legible and 
understandable spill response measures and a listing of the equipment needed to effectively and promptly 
contain any fuel spills that may occur during UST-filling or during watercraft refueling at the marina-
based dispenser. 

Provided that Facility personnel understand and diligently follow the above-referenced spill response 
documents, the water quality of Payette Lake is being responsibly protected by the Mile High Marina. 
 
Please call me if you have any questions whatsoever.  
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
Brett D. Smith PE, LG 
Managing Principal 
Professional Engineer / Licensed Geologist 
(LG registration in WA) 
(PE registrations in ID, NV, OR and WA) 
 



page 1 of 7 

TIM FOLEY 

Construction VP 

Areas of Specialty 

• Construction projects in controlled access locations

• Demolition and general civil improvements

• Renovation of large industrial facilities

• Construction of water/wastewater treatment facilities since 1997

• CM/GC Contracts, Design-Build, & GMP terms

• Constructability reviews

• Risk assessments and mitigation

Tim Foley brings 27 years of hands-on experience and has led multi-million-

dollar projects from the planning stages, design, construction, and startup 

and commissioning. He brings a unique combination of design and 

construction experience, leading constructability reviews and value 

engineering during early work stages, managing the engineering team to 

optimize the design, and monitoring construction and startup. Under his 

supervision, he has coordinated a variety of construction crews and 

subcontractors and also coordinated a variety of discipline design leads and 

construction managers on our design-build projects. Often serving as the 

client's single point of contact, he has successfully delivered projects within 

budget, on schedule, and with outstanding quality and safety results. 

Special Access: His expertise in the single point of contacting special access 

programs where he managed the demolition and replacement of complete 

plant infrastructure for the facility’s rotary UPS. All work required the facility 

to remain online while all work was completed, including complete FIST 

(fully integrated system test) before the installation at the facility. His level 

of security clearance is TS/SCI, which has enabled him to work in restricted 

areas on projects in the United States and overseas. 

Alternative Contracting: He has delivered complex construction projects 

utilizing several contracting mechanisms, including CM/GC, EPC, Design-

Build, and the traditional Design-Bid-Build. 

Constructability/Assessments: He provided a constructability review for our 

$150M West Kauai Pumped Storage Energy Project and is currently 

assessing operations for a hydropower facility in North Washington. 

Specific Elements: Recently, he has managed a team of construction 

managers for a wide variety of projects, including the rehabilitation of a 

spillway, installation of a large butterfly valve, development of a tunnel, 

demolition new powerhouse, and construction a new hydro facility including 

Education 

• BS, Construction

Management, Boise State

University

Registrations / Licenses 

• Idaho Public Works and

Construction Manager
License ID (38690)

• OSHA 30 Hour

ATTACHMENT 13



Tim Foley 

page 2 of 7 

spillway, powerhouse, equipment, and supporting infrastructure. He has extensive experience with pressurized 

pipelines, mechanical equipment installation, and electrical/control systems integration. 

CMGC delivery: He has completed previous projects using the CMGC contracting method, has managed the 

construction of piping and heavy civil projects with in-water work and hazardous materials, and has participated 

in Pre-Construction services in close coordination with owners and owner’s engineers. 

Accommodations 

• Idaho Construction Leadership Academy – Top Graduate 

• TS/SCI – US Intelligence Department  

Relevant Project Experience 

Grant County PUD; -Priest Rapids Turbine/Generator Rehab Audit-, WA | Contract Reviewer. This $500M, 

10-year, turbine-generator rehabilitation program using 16 subcontractors, consists of disassembling, repairing, 

and replacing damaged components of 10 turbine-generator units. Major turbine components include: turbine 

shafts, stay vanes, headcovers, wicket gates, and thrust brackets. McMillen is identifying methods to increase 

efficiencies, refine scope, evaluate the reasonableness of cost, and understand potential schedule and 

construction risks. Tim was provided, overall contract review, subcontract review, financial forecasting, labor 

productivity review. ($150,000; 05/2022 - 01/2023) 

City of Boise; Boise River Whitewater Park Phase II Design-Build, ID | VP of Construction. This project 

included constructing in-river drops, chutes, natural slaloms, jetties, and instream boulders to maximize the 

recreational experience for kayakers and surfers. Work included excavation, demolition, erosion and sediment 

control, and pile driving. Dewatering required two cofferdams to divert the river and dewatering wells that 

operated during the four months of in-river work. Sequencing and phasing of work were critical due to the short 

window of time they could work in the river. The project was completed with zero days away cases, no time, and 

within budget. ($10,280,234; 06/2016 - 07/2019 & 2020 - 2021) 

Metropolitan Water Dis S Cal; Colorado River Aqueduct Pumping Plants Seismic Retrofit, CA | VP of 

Construction. We were the prime contractor to seismically upgrade five 6.9 kilovolt pumping plants. The project 

strengthened the existing concrete buildings by installing concrete wall overlays, new buttress walls, micropile 

foundations, and new drag beams. The work included demolishing the existing transformer oil lines and re-

routing existing electrical conduits. We also removed the existing concrete decks for construction access, 

replaced them with new ones, and repaired cracks in the concrete walls. ($9,365,702; 12/2016 - 08/2018) 

Central Rivers Powers US, LLC; Dietrich Drop Hydroelectric Gate Improvement Design-Build, ID | VP of 

Construction. This hydro facility experienced successive failures to an intake gate and needed concrete repair 

work. Our contract included improvements to several elements of this hydro project, including an emergency 

repair to the 5,000-pound bypass tainter gate system with new hoists and controls. Work included site 

survey, dewatering with the use of pumps, demolition and removal of deteriorated materials, placement of 

concrete and grouting, fabrication inspections, application of epoxy coatings on the intake gate, and installation 

of guardrails near the hoist system. Tim led the design-build team to design and construct a cofferdam in the 

intake canal, inspecting the turbine conduit to retrieve debris from the failed gate and dive-inspecting the turbine 

to retrieve any additional debris. ($1,900,000; 08/2017 - 03/2020) 

Portland General Electrical Co; Faraday Repower CMGC, OR | Project Manager/Construction VP. Scope of 



Tim Foley 

page 3 of 7 

work also included the construction of a new reinforced concrete powerhouse (multi-story 122’x60’), installation 

of 2 higher-efficiency vertical Kaplan turbine/generator units, welded steel penstock, trash rake/rack system, 

new access roads, a bridge, the installation of 2 new draft tube bulkhead gates (19’x8’), slots, and 15-ton 

monorail beam and wire rope hoist system, and all balance of plant mechanical and electrical systems including 

the tie-in to the grid. Work also included earthwork, erosion control, drainage systems, and environmental 

monitoring. Challenges include a small construction footprint, penstock on steep slopes, and proximity to the 

river, requiring a cofferdam and dewatering system. ($82,500,000; 2019 - 12/2022) 

Grand Teton National Park; -Jenny Lake Trail Renewal & Interpretive Plaza Task Orders-, WY | VP of 

Construction. Included construction at a major visitor area in the Grand Teton National Park. Work included 

managing superintendents for the demolition and construction of various site features. Task included installing 

new water production and sewer treatment/collection systems, foundations for signage, exhibits, and placement 

of granite boulders according to landscape architect specs. We delivered the eight months early, under budget, 

with zero incidents and no near misses. ($3,621,311; 05/2016 - 09/2018) 

USACE Albuquerque District; John Martin Reservoir, Stilling Basin Sediment Removal & Dewatering, CO | 

VP of Construction. McMillen performed as the General Contractor for the sediment removal and concrete 

rehabilitation work performed in the stilling basin pool of the John Martin Dam. This construction project 

included site preparation, dewatering of the stilling basin, excavating and hauling approximately 60,000 CY of 

sediment removal in the stilling basin, sediment disposal and grading operations, haul road maintenance and 

dust control, concrete repairs, and relocation of sediment. The project was completed with no injuries, ahead of 

schedule, and within budget. ($4,815,116; 09/2018 - 04/2019) 

Oahu Public Works; Keehi Transfer Station, HI | Project Manager. McMillen completed structural and 

mechanical renovations of the existing transfer sort and weighing stations including demolition, excavation, 

concrete, and mechanical installations. All works were performed within an operation facility requiring extensive 

customer coordination and installation of safety measures for personnel and plant. ($2,600,000; 2013 - 2018) 

Hawaii Fire Department; Waipahu Vehicle Maintenance Facility, HI | Project Manager. As the subcontractor, 

for this $8.6 million project, our firm's construction crews excavated, backfilled, and compacted the contractor 

staging area and removed and replaced concrete structures. We removed the construction entrance and existing 

concrete, compacted the subgrade at the asphalt pavement, set steel bollards, and drilled and prepared the 

dowels at the existing footing and concrete. ($72,601; 04/2017 - 08/2017) 

County of Hawaii; Kealakehe Wastewater Treatment Plant Aeration Upgrade & Sludge Removal, HI | 

Program Manager. This wastewater treatment plant’s aeration upgrade restored the facility’s treatment 

capacity to its intended 5.1 million gallons per day. Our scope of work included installation of 316 stainless steel 

air headers, procurement and installation of 2 Siemens energy automation blower systems, a new course 

bubbler system, a programmable logic controller with complete site automation, replacement of 3 energy 

automation vertical turbine effluent pumps, electrical recapitalization, sludge removal and processing, high 

density polyethylene reservoir/lagoon liner system, and installation and startup of dissolved oxygen sensors. 

($6,831,089; 06/2017 - 10/2017) 

Gay & Robinson, Inc; Olokele Hydroelectric, HI | Project Manager. This project replaced an existing 1 MW 

hydroelectric facility built in 1921. The new run-of-river facility generates approximately 6.7 MW of power with 

an annual generating capacity of 20,000 MW/h. The new hydro facility includes a new diversion dam, 4,000 feet 

of pipeline, a new powerhouse, and a new Canyon Industries 6.7 MW two-jet horizontal Pelton turbine and 

generator. McMillen served as the general contractor, we self-performed the construction and managed local 



Tim Foley 

page 4 of 7 

specialty subcontractors. Upon completion, we assisted with start-up activities. Tim provided risk assessments, 

QA/QC, factory acceptance testing (FAT), and safety oversight. He had direct oversight for in-house construction 

managers who self-performed much of the work, including concrete crews, pipe, etc., and provided oversight of 

several subcontractors. He provided technical input during construction and led the startup and testing. He was 

responsible for the overall schedule, budget, and contract management and accumulating costs against an 

established GMP. ($14,842,174; 07/2017 - 12/2018) 

Confidential Owner; Solar H Facility, HI | Project Manager. For this $15 million dollar project, McMillen's 

construction provided seismic stabilization to the installation of structural concrete and steel members.   Tim 

led the construction effort working with local resources to execute this project. ($18,721; 2018) 

Avista Corporation; Nine Mile Dam Sediment Bypass Design-Build Improvements, WA | Construction 

Project Manager. The purpose of this project was to upgrade the inoperable sediment bypass system (SBS), 

which included a new 50’ tall fabricated steel intake structure with a 12’x10’ wheel roller gate with rope hoist, a 

new Kunz trash rack, and 18’x10’ bulkhead; a knife gate inside the powerhouse; a cable-mounted segmented 

debris boom; replacement of pre-cast access bridge; and the automated controls to integrate the new 

components into the existing system. Challenges included short work windows with an accelerated schedule, 

coordinating active facility operations, and working in the wet with a diving team. Tim's team managed the 

construction and delivered the project within the established GMP. He participated in constructability reviews 

and value engineering and assisted the project closeout and commissioning. ($8,600,000; 01/2017 - 01/2019) 

Sacramento Municipal Utility; South Fork Powerhouse Design-Build, CA | Program Manager. Scope of work 

includes design and construction of a 40’ x 60’ powerhouse, a new hydraulic connection to an existing tunnel, 

the installation of a slide gate (14’ x 11’), 36-inch and 78-inch butterfly valves, a 60-inch fixed cone valve, and a 

penstock connection to the powerhouse and cone valve. The project included cofferdams/dewatering in the river, 

partial tunnel demolition, and a concrete transition from a 5-mile-long hard rock tunnel into the adit 

tunnel. Other site work included culverts and excavation/backfill site work. Tim participated in value engineering 

and risk assessments, fostered QA/QC and safety onsite, managed FAT, and led the startup and testing. 

($16,201,707; 06/2016 - 01/2021) 

PacifiCorp; Naughton Plant Zero Ash Transport Discharge Design-Build, WY | Design-Build Project 

Manager. As design-build lead, McMillen provided the design, construction, and commissioning of a new 

standalone water treatment plant for three cooling tower units. The facility treats the spent cooling water before 

releasing it into the local environment. Tim served as the primary contact for PacifiCorp and managed a multi-

disciplined team to design, construct, and commission this facility. He was ultimately responsible for delivering 

the project on time, within budget, and according to contract terms. He oversaw QA/QC and promoted a safe 

working environment. Our firm was retained to design-build a new cooling tower blowdown, suspended solids 

removal treatment system for three cooling tower units. We were able to complete the project without 

interruption to the existing operations. Tim's crews installed two new stainless steel flocculation tanks and two 

multi-component "Westech – Super-Settler" clarifiers, including sludge blowdown systems. He used a crane to 

place the floc tanks in the building through the roof braces and connected them in place. ($4,823,956; 04/2017 - 

11/2018) 

Yakama Tribal Council; Melvin R. Sampson Coho Facility EPC, WA | Construction Manager. Our team was 

responsible for the early concept and final design and self-performing the construction. Scope of work included 

the development of new groundwater and surface water supply and treatment systems. Additional elements 

consisted of an adult holding and spawning, egg prep and incubation, and early rearing. Partial re-circulating 

aquaculture systems utilized dual drain circular grow-out tanks, a heat exchanger with temperature control and 



Tim Foley 

page 5 of 7 

energy recovery, a facility building, and outdoor raceways. ($22,912,261; 02/2016 - 09/2021) 

Kauai Island Utility; West Kauai Energy (WKEP), HI | VP of Construction. McMillen is leading the design, 

procurement, and construction of this new pumped storage project under an EPC contract. It contains both 

rehabilitation of existing infrastructure and new construction. New aspects of the project include six miles of 

pressurized penstocks, two new hydropower stations, gate and intake structures, and a pump station. 

($150,000,000; 10/2018 - 12/2027) 

Klamath River Renewal Corp; Klamath River Renewal - Owner Representative, CA | VP of Construction. For 

this $450M program, we are supporting the decommissioning and removal of four hydroelectric dams on the 

Klamath River. The goal is to create a free-flowing river condition, volitional fish passage, and site restoration. 

Our responsibilities include guidance for the technical design and the administration of a progressive design-

build contract. McMillen is also providing design and construction management on additional improvements 

related to the dam removals on the Klamath River. ($5,467,972; 12/2019 - 01/2024) 

Idaho Power Company; Upper Salmon B Reject Gate Replacement, ID | Constructability Review. Scope of 

work included a feasibility study, detailed design, FERC support, and construction sequencing to replace the 

gate and concrete gate and spillway structure, two vertical spillway roller gates (17’ x 21’), electrical controls, 

and the 40-ton hoist structures. Design tasks included site dewatering, design of a cofferdam and flow 

diversion, concrete spillway design, including an uplift assessment. Design sequencing required hydraulic 

modeling and site modifications to ensure environmental flows for endangered species downstream of the reject 

gates during construction. Tim provided a consult for the installation of the gates. ($680,000; 01/2019 - 

07/2021) 

Puget Sound Energy; Lower Baker Dam Debris Boom Design-Build, WA | VP of Construction. We completed 

designing and constructing a new 2,800-foot debris boom to replace the existing system. Project elements 

included geotechnical investigations, FERC coordination/submittals, procurement, demolition and removal of the 

existing boom and its shore anchor systems, installation of the debris boom system, and commissioning and 

testing. We also provided design-only services to modify the existing Floating Surface Collector Exclusion Net 

System. ($3,460,201; 12/2017 -12/2018) 

Client Name; ADF East (Aerospace Data Facility) CM/GC, | Project Manager* CM/GC contract for the 

demolition and replacement of complete plant infrastructure for the facility's rotary UPS. All work required the 

facility to remain online while all work was completed including complete FIST (fully integrated system test) 

before the commencement of installation at the facility. Tim was the primary contact for the client and 

participated in a risk assessment, FAT, and startup and commissioning.  (2015-2017) 

Client Name; Arrowhead Canyon Booster Stations, | Project Manager* Tim managed the construction of two 

36,000-gallon booster stations, the installation of necessary instrumentation and controls for United Water's 

SCADA system, and the start-up of mechanical pumping components and inline pressure control devices. 

Despite challenges from developer involvement and an inaccessible site, the project was completed and is 

currently serving new United Water customers. The project was the first for United Water intended to minimize 

pumping energy required to service its end users, consequently lowering distribution costs.  (2001-2003) 

StarKist Tuna; Fish Processing Facility, | Design-Build Lead* As the owner of Foley Management Group, Tim 

served as the design-build lead for a project involving the removal of the deep-sea disposal processes through 

barges and included the processing of high-strength waste to be processed into cat food for distribution to a 

variety of locations throughout the world. () 



Tim Foley 

page 6 of 7 

CLIENT NAME; Garden City Groundwater Filtration, ID | Project Manager* This was for an iron and 

manganese treatment project utilizing twin sand filtration wellhead treatment. The project consisted of new 

pressure filter buildings with on-site sodium hypo-chloride generation at two well sites. The two sites were 

constructed concurrently for the on-time start-up. (2002-2003) 

Confidential Client; Industrial and Domestic Water CM/GC, | Project Manager* Tim served as the client 

contact for this CM/GC contract and was responsible for completing the project within a predetermined GMP 

and baseline schedule. He managed a construction crew of 25, managed all logistics, FAT, crew assignments, 

and subcontractors. Work consisted of the recapitalization of the site's existing potable water system with a 

new RO (Reverse Osmosis) skid-mounted treatment facility. The work included the removal of existing above-

grade steel tanks and a new transmission and distribution system. The project included a new finished water 

pumping system and completely automated SCADA control system; integrated into the site's existing 

Wonderware platform, offering seamless integration for the site operators. All materials required for this effort 

were American Standards, thus requiring extensive shipping logistics. (2013) 

City of Boise Public Works; Lander Street Wastewater Treatment Plant Renovation CM/GC, ID | 

Superintendent/Project Manager* The CM/GC contract included miscellaneous improvements to an existing grit 

chamber, modifications to an existing primary clarifier, piping and equipment modifications, and installation of a 

PVC liner in the deteriorated concrete grit chamber. Scope of work included removal of hazardous materials. Tim 

coordinated a multi-discipline team during the construction and startup and commissioning to bring the facility 

online. This project was nominated and awarded the Rocky Mountain Division - American Public Works 

Association - Contractor of the Year Award by the APWA for its teamwork and cooperation on this project.  

(1999-2000) 

United Water; Maple Hills Filter Building, ID | Design-Build Manager* Tim was the Project Manager for the 

construction of a sand filtration wellhead treatment project (horizontal pressure filtration facility). The project 

consisted of a new pressure filter building with on-site sodium hypo-chloride generation. As Design-Build 

Manager, he managed the detailed design. The project and coordination of Owner Furnished Equipment to 

accomplish on-time start-up. (2004-2005) 

United Water; Marden Water Treatment Plant Expansion, ID | Project Manager* While employed by 

Contractors Northwest, Inc., he managed the construction of the Marden Water Treatment Plant. It was a 

difficult 8-mgd expansion to the existing 8-mgd treatment plant. The project was a negotiated-partnering 

contract with United Water – Idaho. The concrete for this project was a specially designed silica fume mix. All 

the concrete for the project was placed during the winter with a difficult water cure specification. The project 

was completed 3 months ahead of schedule and 150,000 dollars under budget. The contract documents 

originally included 8 weeks of allowable plant shutdown. Yet through extensive coordination and pre-planning, 

the shutdown time was reduced to 3 weeks. United Water was able to produce and distribute water to its 

customers nearly two months earlier than anticipated. (2005) 

Client Name; Meridian Wastewater Treatment Facility CM/GC Improvements, ID | Project Manager* This 

CM/GC project included construction to accommodate the installation of a new primary clarifier with new splitter 

capability, two aeration basins including a lift station, a new secondary clarifier with a splitter box, and post 

aeration facility. Extensive yard piping was included to enable these new processes to function throughout the 

existing the treatment plant. Mr. Foley led the startup and commissioning team to sync the facility with the 

existing operations. (2006) 

Client Name; Payette Wastewater Treatment Plant Modification CM/GC, ID | Project Manager* This CM/GC 



Tim Foley 

page 7 of 7 

project consisted of the construction of a new grit screening facility, screw pump demolition and installation, 

underground piping installation, and a new 24" trunk sewer. This contract consisted of two new structures and 

numerous modifications to the existing infrastructure. The key to the project's success was through equipment 

procurement and manufacturer coordination. Through effective coordination with various national and 

international manufacturers and engineering personnel, the equipment and the project were substantially 

complete seven weeks ahead of the project's anticipated completion date. Scope of work included removal of 

hazardous materials. Tim led the startup and commissioning of all equipment. (2002) 

Client Name; Weiser Water Treatment Plan, ID | Project Manager* This project was a major addition to 

Weiser's Water Treatment Plant. This project consisted of a new Chemical pre-treatment building, a 1,500 CY 

heavily reinforced concrete sedimentation basin, and a 350,000-gallon concrete water storage tank. The project 

was completed successfully–on schedule, on budget, and team-oriented. (2002-2004) 

Client Name; West Boise Wastewater Treatment Plant, ID | Project Manager* The project scope included the 

complete renovation of two existing 3+ million-gallon basins and the construction of a new plant control 

building. His responsibilities involved close coordination with the contractor (JCC), the designer (CH2M-Hill), and 

the City of Boise. The project was completed months ahead of contract completion. (2003-2005) 

*Project completed while employed by previous firm. 

Work History 

McMillen, V.P. of Construction and Business Development (04/2017 - Current) 

| ESI Construction, Senior Project Manager - Federal Division (04/2011 - 04/2017) 

| Foley Management Group, President and Owner (10/2006 - 04/2012) 

| JC Constructors, Inc., Project Superintendent/Project Manager (07/1999 - 10/2006) 

| Contractors Northwest Inc., Project Manager/Project Superintendent (12/1997 - 09/1999) 

| United States Postal Service, Project Manager (1997 - 1999) 

| Toothman-Orton Engineering, Inc., Project Engineer (05/1995 - 05/1996) 

| Micron Construction, Inc., Project Engineer (05/1994 - 08/1994) 

| Jordan-Wilcomb Construction, Inc., General Laborer (05/1992 - 08/1992 and 05/1993 - 08/1993) 

Awards 

• Public Works Contractor of Year - Rocky Mountain District, , 2000 

 

 

 

 

 

 



page 1 of 3 

ERICA KOPPES 

Staff Geomorphologist 

Areas of Specialty 

• Hydraulic modeling & analysis

• Scour analysis

• Sediment transport, river hydraulics & fluvial geomorphology

• Floodplain modeling/mapping

Erica is a geomorphologist performing hydrologic and hydraulic analyses 

including hydraulic modeling for bridge design and floodplain modeling for 

No-Rise Certifications and FEMA LOMR/CLOMRs. She has supported 

permitting for environmental compliance documentation, floodplain 

development permits, joint permit applications, etc. She has served as a 

survey technician and performed topographic and construction surveys 

using various GPS equipment. 

Relevant Project Experience 

Mainspring Conservation Trust; Ela Dam Removal Review, NC | 

Geomorphologist. McMillen is providing services in connection with the 

potential acquisition of the Bryson project (FERC no. 2601) and the 

subsequent removal of Ela Dam, which is a project work therein project. 

($5,000; 08/2023 - Ongoing) 

Energy Northwest; Packwood Hydroelectric Relicensing, WA | 

Geomorphologist. McMillen served as Energy Northwest’s consulting 

project management team throughout the relicensing process from 2004 to 

2010. The outcome of the process was that the Packwood Hydroelectric 

project was issued a new 40-year operating license. Our firm was then 

selected to provide all consulting services related to implementing 

compliance with the license. To date, work has included strategic planning 

activities; developing management plans and a comprehensive compliance 

matrix; initial agency interaction; and reintegration with the Federal Energy 

Regulatory Commission. Erica is responsible for calculating sediment 

gradation size for the proposed project and determining quantities for the 

proposed restoration of Lake Creek, including boulders for channel design, 

logs for ELG structures and anchors. ($4,014,328; 2013 - 2023) 

Stanford University; Searsville Watershed Restoration, CA | 

Geomorphologist. McMillen serves as the Design-Build lead, including 

analyzing alternatives, value engineering, environmental and permitting 

support, life-cycle cost analysis, risk assessment, final design, and 

construction. The project involves the construction of a 14-foot tunnel at the 

Education 

• ME, Civil Engineering |
Water Resources Focus,

University of Idaho

• BS, Geosciences |
Hydrology Emphasis, Boise

State University

Registrations / Licenses 

Professional Engineer 
• ID (EIT - in process

12/2023)

ATTACHMENT 14



Erica Koppes 

page 2 of 3 

base of the 60-foot-tall dam that will be fitted with a roller gate. Opening the gate means 1 million cubic yards 

of sediment will be flushed out of the reservoir for 4 to 8 years. (; 2020 - 2025) 

Sonoma County Water Agency; Potter Valley Restoration, CA | Geomorphologist. McMillen conducted a 

feasibility evaluation of possible modifications to the existing Potter Valley project with investigations on both 

the Eel and Russian River Watersheds in Northern California. Work included an evaluation of volitional and non-

volitional fish passage, dam decommissioning, a power production model for the powerhouse, investigations of 

tunnel capacity, and the alternatives for a pump back system at Lake Mendocino. Erica is responsible for 

selecting a reference reach for the Eel River, defining a new channel slope and designing the channel geometry 

and cross-sectional shape of the proposed channel. ($1,830,000; 2016 & 2019 - 2021, 2022 - Ongoing) 

City of Seattle; South Fork Tolt Relicensing, WA | Geomorphologist.  McMillen was selected to work as an 

extension of Seattle City Light and Seattle Public Utilities staff to accomplish all phases of the South Fork Tolt 

Relicensing process, including the Pre-Application Document (PAD), Notice of Intent (NOI), and License 

Application filing. This multi-year, phased contract includes a term of engagement extending through the target 

license issuance date of July 2029. ($3,200,000; 01/2023 - 11/2029) 

State of California; Rindge Dam Removal and Malibu Ecosystem Restoration, CA | Geomorphologist.  

McMillen’s team will provide A/E services including, a series of technical studies to update and finalize technical 

work previously performed for an Integrated Feasibility Report, including sediment transport analysis that 

considers both natural transport and trucking options, surface flow modeling, and preparation of the engineering 

plans for barrier remediation. In addition, we are responsible for preparing a dam removal design in sequential 

phases up to 90% design, environmental permitting, and communication and public outreach. ($6,034,659; 

03/2023 - 08/2025) 

Idaho Transportation Dept.; Old Hwy 30/Plymouth Street Bridge, ID | Water Resources Scientist* Canyon 

Highway District #4 and the City of Caldwell proposed to construct a new Boise River crossing near the existing 

West Plymouth Street Bridge in Canyon County, Idaho. In addition to the proposed crossing of the Boise River, 

the project included two culvert crossings over the Riverside Canal. Erica was responsible for modeling the 

hydraulics for the Riverside Canal for the culvert designs using a 1D Hec-Ras model and preparing an ITD 

Bridge Hydraulics Report. Erica prepared a 1D HEC-RAS model for the existing and proposed conditions of 

crossings over the Riverside Canal and assisted in modeling of the crossing over the Boise River. Erica conducted 

a scour analysis for the proposed culvert design and recommended scour countermeasures. (2020-2022) 

Idaho Transportation Dept.; Browns Creek Bridge, ID | Water Resources Scientist* Idaho Transportation 

District #3 proposed to replace the SH 78 crossing over Browns Creek. The existing crossing is a two-span 

concrete structure supported on timber piles constructed in 1954. The proposed structure is required to meet 

the minimum low chord design elevations required by ITD. Erica was responsible for preparing a Hydraulic Risk 

Assessment Memo (HRAM). The HRAM included hydrologic analysis, a review of all past hydraulic/hydrologic 

studies, flood risk assessment, geomorphic assessment, and qualitative scour risk assessment. Erica performed a 

hydrologic analysis for Browns Creek using USGS stream gage and StreamStats data, USGS Open File Report 

81-909, and a Rational and TR-55 Methods comparison. (2020-2023) 

Local Highway Technical Assistance Council (LHTAC); Leading Idaho Local Bridge Program, ID | Water 

Resources Scientist* LHTAC proposed to replace local bridges in Idaho that are in poor condition. Erica was 

responsible for preparing a 1D HEC-RAS model to simulate proposed and existing conditions for bridge design. 

Erica prepared a truncated hydraulics report for multiple bridges, which included a hydrologic, hydraulic, and 

scour analyses and recommended scour countermeasures for bridge design. () 



Erica Koppes 

page 3 of 3 

Trout Unlimited/WSDOT; SR 97 Johnson Creek, WA | Water Resources Scientist* The Client proposed to 

subdivide a parcel of land in Elmore County. Base Flood Elevations (BFE) needed to be established for the 

project area mapped as Zone A on FEMA Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) panel 1602120250B. A Letter of 

Map Revision was required to complete the project proposed by the Client. Erica was responsible for preparing a 

2D informed 1D HEC-RAS model for the project area. Erica established BFEs for the project area located on the 

South Fork Boise River. Erica prepared a LOMR application and established a 100-yr floodplain and floodway for 

the project area. Erica prepared a project narrative, Annotated FIRM, Topo Work Map, floodplain development 

permit, and all the application material for the LOMR. The project narrative included hydrologic/hydraulic 

analyses, FEMA product review, proposed model results and floodway simulation. (2021-2022) 

*Project completed while employed by previous firm. 

Relevant Educational Coursework 

BS, Geosciences | Hydrology Emphasis 

Boise State University 

ME, Civil Engineering | Water Resources Focus 

University of Idaho 

• Introduction to Geography • Aquatic Habitat Modeling 

• Evolution of North America Water in the West • Fluvial Geomorphology/River Mechanics 

• Earth’s Climate Past, Present and Future • Engineering Fluid Mechanics 

• Introduction to GIS • Sedimentation Engineering 

• Seeing Unseen: Introduction to Geophysics • Watershed Science/Management 

• Earth Sciences • Remote Sens/GIS Integration 

• Geomorphology • Environmental Hydrodynamics 

• Earth Materials • Fundamentals of Research 

• Sedimentation and Stratigraphy • River Modeling Management 

• Hydrology • River Restoration 

• Aqueous Geochemistry  

• Sustainability of Natural Resources  

• Structural Geology  

• Hydrogeology   

 

 

 

 

 

 



1471 Shoreline Dr, Ste 100 +1 (208) 342–4214

Boise, ID 83702 mcmillen.com

Dear Mr. Millemann 

We appreciate the opportunity to assist with the evaluation of Mile High Marina’s wave attenuation 

boom and boardwalk improvements.  Below please find a brief company bio and a list of a few relevant 

projects. 

COMPANY BIOGRAPHY 

McMillen, Inc. (McMillen) is a design and build firm offering clients realistic solutions. We provide 

engineering, environmental, and construction services with scalable, multi-disciplinary capabilities. Our 

staff brings best practices to the water resources industry serving the energy, dams, infrastructure, 

fisheries, and natural resources markets within the United States, Canada, Australia, and France. For 

nearly two decades, McMillen has established a reputation as a trusted and knowledgeable partner—

80% of our work is from repeat clients. Many of our client relationships are as long-standing as the firm 

itself. Throughout this time, we have proven reliable, adaptable, and forward-thinking. 

McMillen balances technical precision with collaborative delivery throughout all project phases. We 

have the resources and expertise to contribute to a project at the feasibility and planning stage, navigate 

the regulatory and permitting requirements, develop detailed designs, self-perform construction, and 

participate in startup, testing, and commissioning. We offer strategic planning, technical expertise, 

comprehensive project management, and integration of multi-disciplinary studies for traditional and 

alternative project delivery methods.  

PROJECT EXAMPLES 

1. Katherine Albertson Park – Project included the design and installation of pedestrian

walkways in an existing riparian reserve.  Project included in-water installation of

structural foundations and composite walkways.

2. Boise City – Whitewater Surf – Project required the diversion of a ¼ mile stretch of the

Boise River for the installation of concrete wave feature including Obermeyer Bladder

Dams and wave feature form blocks.

3. Brownlee Reservoir – On this project McMillen launched a barge into the reservoir and

installed 135 concrete anchors to secure a new debris boom.  The work was executed

with a barge mounted crane and materials supply vessel which supplied anchors and

cabling to the hoisting operation.

Sincerely, 

Tim Foley, Vice President 

ATTACHMENT 15



Rev. No. 1 / December 2023 1 

Technical Memorandum 

To: Sam Worley Project: McCall Marina 

From: Tim Foley, McMillen, Inc. cc: 

Prepared by: Erica Koppes, Geomorphologist Job No: 24-003

Date: 12/01/2023 

Subject: Turbidity and Physical Damage Concerns for the New Wave Attenuator Breakwater 

Revision Log 

Revision No. Date Revision Description 

1.0 Mile High Marina Wave Attenuator Breakwater 

Mile High Marina, LLC plans to replace the existing, aging log boom with a new wave 

attenuator—a fixed breakwater system. The system will be located nearer the marina boat 

slips and will include a debris boom, wave attenuation curtain, and a boardwalk with a 10-foot 

composite deck for public use. This breakwater system will be anchored in place with cables 

and concrete blocks. A crane barge will be used to place the concrete blocks on the lakebed 

during low water. There are no plans to remove material from the lakebed during the 

placement of the concrete blocks.  

Removal of the existing log boom breakwater – the existing boom does not have anchored 

piers making it unnecessary to remove any material from the lakebed during removal of the 

existing log boom. Therefore, no disturbances are anticipated to the lake bottom associated 

with the removal of the existing boom and this Technical Memorandum focuses on the effects 

on turbidity and the City’s intake line from the placement of the concrete anchors for the new 

wave attenuator system.  

Publicly available data and preliminary project plans, provided by Millemann Pemberton & 

Holm LLP, were reviewed. The information summarized in this technical memorandum 

ATTACHMENT 16



McCall Marina  Technical Memorandum 

Rev. No. 1 / December 2023 2  

addresses concerns of unwanted turbidity and provides an analysis of the potential for damage 

to the Village of McCall’s submerged raw-water pipe inlet.  

The provided plans (dated February 8, 1957) were georeferenced to compose the map in 

Figure 1. McMillen, Inc. used this data to digitize Payette Lake pipeline where it connects to the 

shoreline pumphouse. The plans locate the pipe approximately 950 feet from the pumphouse 

at a depth of 73.6 feet. The low-water relative elevation is 93.6 feet. The orientation of the 

pipe was provided by the city. No bathymetric data in the vicinity of the Mile High Marina was 

available to confirm elevations or depths. The closest disturbance to the pipe inlet is 352 feet 

away.  

 

Figure 1. Vicinity Map of the Wave Attenuator Breakwater and Payette Lake Pipe 

(locations and distances are approximate) 

Pollutants—in this case, fine sediments—move through water by three different processes: 

advection, diffusion, and dispersion. Advection transports sediment at an average rate equal to 

the average velocity of water. Diffusion and dispersion are processes that spread materials 

Mile High 

Marina 



McCall Marina  Technical Memorandum 

Rev. No. 1 / December 2023 3  

from highly concentrated areas to less concentrated areas. Diffusion is caused by the random 

motion of molecules, and dispersion is caused by variations in water velocities over time.  

Lake bottoms exhibit little to no movement in terms of velocity. Advection is not likely to occur 

at the lakebed. Fine sand, clay, and silt particles will be re-suspended as the concrete blocks 

are placed on the lakebed. However, concentration of fine materials will be low because the 

concrete blocks are being placed on the surface of the lakebed instead of being keyed into the 

lakebed. Dispersion and diffusion are anticipated to take place within the vicinity of the 

disturbance, but the concentrations of the fine materials will be negligible at the pipe inlet due 

to the distance and low initial concentrations of re-suspended sediment.  

The littoral range is the nearshore area of the lake with a downward sloping, shallow shelf 

where sunlight penetrates the bed and vegetation can survive. The pipe inlet is 550 feet 

beyond the littoral range according to the original pipe plans for Payette Lake. The littoral 

range is typically subject to the most visible form of lake motion via wind waves; wind waves 

have little to no impact outside the littoral zone. Velocities that occur on the lakebed in areas 

outside of the littoral range of the lake can be affected by upwelling and downwelling, 

hypolimnetic currents, baroclinic motions, and internal waves. These velocities can range from 

1 centimeters per second (cm/s) to tens of cm/s, in which higher velocities can re-suspend 

sediment. It is not likely that the sediment concentration re-suspended by the placement of the 

concrete blocks will exceed the sediment concentration re-suspended by natural lake 

processes at the pipe inlet. 

For the evaluation associated with installing the new attenuator system, we considered the 

risks of potential damage to the intake pipe, intake structure, and supply pipe. The risk of 

damage is extremely low as the pipe is more than 120 feet away from the nearest concrete 

anchor, and the intake structure is more than 350 feet away. Both distances offer high 

confidence that work associated with the installation of the new fixed breakwater system, 

debris boom, wave attenuation curtain, and boardwalk will have little to no impact to the 

Village of McCall’s raw-water intake or transmission system.  



From: Jordan Kropf <jordan@kropfindustrial.com> 
Sent: Wednesday, December 6, 2023 4:01 AM
To: Sam Worley (sam@worleysb.com) <sam@worleysb.com>
Subject: Floating breakwater materials

Hello Sam,

Please find below some information and comments regarding your questions about the
environmental/water quality impacts of the materials used in our floating breakwater system.

Dock Materials
1. Concrete anchors: Concrete anchors are used throughout North America in a wide range of

dock anchoring applications, on reservoir lakes, etc.
2. Floatation: The steel pipe floatation does not contain any foam, so there’s no risk of

plastics/foams escaping even in a catastrophic event.
3. Treated wood: The only wood in the system is installed above the water line, and is treated

with a process (Micro Pro Sienna) that’s approved for use in playgrounds, etc.
4. Epoxy coating: The Amerlock 2 epoxy is approved for use in potable water systems (see Data

Sheet attached)

Dock Maintenance
1. There’s nothing involved in the maintenance or servicing of the dock that would introduce

chemicals or toxic substances. The winches need to be greased occasionally, but that is done
at deck level and none of the grease enters the water. There’s nothing on the dock system
that requires regular staining/sealing/treating/coating etc.

I hope this information is helpful. If I can provide anything further, please do not hesitate to reach 
out.

Regards,

Jordan Kropf
Sales Manager
jordan@kropfindustrial.com
T. 888.480.3777  ext. 238
T. 705.378.2453
F. 705.378.5068
www.kropfindustrial.com

ATTACHMENT 17






Environmental Compliance Associates, LLC 

372 S Eagle Road, Suite 146, Eagle, ID  83616  (208) 501-9984  ecabrett@gmail.com 

March 8, 2024 

Sam Worley 
Mile High Marina 
P.O. Box 3090 
McCall, ID 83638 

RE: Historical impacts of marinas upon the Water Quality of Payette Lake 

Sam, 

You recently contacted me regarding concerns that the McCall City Council has regarding the potential 
adverse environmental impact that the proposed 90-slip expansion to the Mile High Marina (henceforth 

referred to as the marina) may have upon the overall water quality of Payette Lake. 

The following findings and conclusions presented in this letter are based upon 1) annual Drinking Water 
Quality Reports (2011 through 2022) provided by the City of McCall Water Treatment Plant (WTP) and 
2) conversations with City personnel regarding the creation of the Reports.

After reviewing the above-referenced documents, the following information was obtained: 

COC – Contaminant of Concern 
MCL – Maximum Contaminant Level or the maximum concentration allowed in drinking water 
B – Benzene, a non-methane volatile organic compound.  MCL is 5 parts per billion, ppb. 
T – Toluene, a non-methane volatile organic compound.  MCL is 1 part per million, ppm. 
E – Ethylbenzene, a non-methane volatile organic compound. MCL is 700 ppb. 
X – Total (ortho, meta and para) Xylenes; all non-methane volatile organic compounds.  MCL is 10 ppm. 
Turbidity – MCL is 1 NTU (Nephelometric Turbidity Unit). 
ND – Not Detected, where the lab analysis reveals no detectable levels of the COC. 
NA – Not Analyzed or Not Available. 
NOTES regarding BTEX water-sampling dates: 2019-2022 (no info); 2017-2018 (DEC); 2014-2015 (FEB, 
MAR for B and T, AUG for E and X); 2013 (AUG); 2011-2012 (MAR).  
NOTE regarding Turbidity water-sampling dates: Continuously, at the McCall WTP. 
NOTE regarding Turbidity values for years 2011-2022: Average detection values for the sample year. 
Ω – 99 percent of yearly sample analyses were below 0.3 NTU. 

Historical Drinking Water Quality for the City of McCall, Idaho 
COC MCL 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

B 5 ppb ND ND ND ND ND NA ND ND ND ND ND ND 

T 1 ppm ND ND ND ND ND NA ND ND ND ND ND ND 

E 700 ppm ND ND ND ND ND NA ND ND ND ND ND ND 

X 10 ppm ND ND ND ND ND NA ND ND ND ND ND ND 

Turbidity 1 NTU 0.45 0.16 0.24 0.24 0.24 NA 0.24 NA NA Ω NA Ω 0.038 0.078 

ATTACHMENT 18



Environmental Compliance Associates, LLC 

372 S Eagle Road, Suite 146, Eagle, ID  83616  (208) 501-9984  ecabrett@gmail.com 

FINDINGS 
After reviewing 11 annual Drinking Water Quality Reports (WQ Reports) and through conversations with 
City personnel, the following noteworthy facts came to bear: 

 A No Wake Zone exists over the Legacy Park intake (City’s WTP intake), which is submerged at 

least 70 feet and located at least 500 feet from the Mile High Marina. A 2022 wake surfing study 
determined that the greatest water depth impacted by propeller down-wash is no greater than 6.5 
feet, when the propeller is set 3 feet below the lake surface (1). A 2022 study regarding the 
hydrodynamic impacts of recreational watercraft found a minimal potential for impact upon silty 
lake bottoms at water depths exceeding 15 feet (2). 

 The BTEX Contaminants of Concern (COCs) are organic liquids known as LNAPLs (Light Non-
aqueous Phase Liquids) which have specific gravities less than that (ie, 1.0) of lake water and 
would therefore predominantly (if not entirely) float upon the lake surface.  

 Not all WQ samples and analyses were made at the optimal time (ie, AUG) to best check potential 
adverse impacts of watercraft pollution upon the Lake. The above table reveals that most sampling 
events occurred during the off-season. 

 All WQ Reports refer to the post-treatment analysis of lake water samples. City personnel stated 
that analyses will henceforth also be made before treatment at the WTP. 

 City personnel revealed that the WTP has been and is currently not equipped to treat the BTEX 
COCs shown in the above table.   

 City personnel revealed that they strongly suspect that a significant source of lake water turbidity 
may be attributable to glacial silt, which is most commonly referred to as rock flour, which creates 
the vivid turquoise hues seen in glacier-fed lakes like Lake Louise in Canada.  Rock flour consists 
of extremely light and tiny particles of rock-derived silt that stays suspended within the water 
column considerably longer than typical lake-bottom sediments. 
City personnel shared that the equipment that measures Turbidity NTU is being replaced with 
superior (ie, more sensitive) devices that will provide more accurate results.  

CONCLUSIONS 
The following conclusions are derived from the findings listed above: 

✓ Given the relatively significant depth and distance from the City’s WTP intake, the findings of 
two separate and independent studies showing no disturbances within the upper 15 feet of a lake’s 
water column, the existence of an established No Wake Zone within the lake surface over the 
intake and the fact that BTEX COCs preferentially float, it is highly unlikely that BTEX pollution 
will ever reach the City’s WTP intake. 

✓ Because most BTEX water samples were taken during off-season times, the possibility exists that 
the WQ Reports are biased in favor of BTEX polluters, since considerably less watercraft activity 
occurs during the off-season. Future water sample collection / analysis during the peak season 
should provide a more accurate picture regarding the potential BTEX pollution commonly 
associated with motorized watercraft. 
One encouraging fact is seen in the AUG (ie, peak season) water analyses for Ethylbenzene (E) 
and Total Xylenes (X), where Not Detected (ND) levels were nonetheless found. 

✓ Given that the WTP has not historically treated or currently treats BTEX, the analyses for these 
untreated COCs may be considered as pre-treatment analyses. Accordingly, the Not Detected 
(ND) findings should be considered as representative of the water quality at the City’s WTP intake 
regarding BTEX. 



Environmental Compliance Associates, LLC 

372 S Eagle Road, Suite 146, Eagle, ID  83616  (208) 501-9984  ecabrett@gmail.com 

✓ All WQ Reports revealed Turbidities well below the 1 NTU Maximum Contaminant Level 
(MCL), with considerably lower NTU values detected during 2021 and 2022. Given the relatively 
significant depth and distance of the City’s WTP intake to the Mile High Marina; findings from 
two separate and independent studies showing no disturbances within the upper 6.5 to 15 feet of 
the lake’s water column and the existence of an established No Wake Zone over the intake, it is 
extremely unlikely that full-speed (let alone idling) watercraft will contribute anything to the 
naturally occurring turbidity at the lake bottom or by the intake.  Given that some (or most) of the 
lake water turbidity may be attributable to natural “rock flour” conditions, the possibility exists 
that the City’s future Turbidity MCL may become less stringent regarding this COC. 

Given the Findings and Conclusions addressed in this letter, it is highly unlikely that the proposed 90-slip 
expansion for the Mile High Marina will significantly pollute Payette Lake bottom water with BTEX 
COCs and it is even more unlikely that (idling or even full-speed) watercraft will contribute any additional 
turbidity to the lake bottom water surrounding the City’s WTP intake. 
 
Please call me if you have any questions whatsoever.  
 
Sincerely, 

 
Brett D. Smith PE, LG 
Professional Engineer / Licensed Geologist 
(LG registration in WA) 
(PE registrations in ID, NV, OR and WA) 
 
 
REFERENCES CITED 

1. Endicott, Fay M., et al:  Numerical Study of the Impact of Wake Surfing on Inland Bodies of 

Water, Journal of Water Resource and Protection, 14, 238-272, 2022. 
2. Valley County and the City of McCall, Idaho: A Sustainable and Adaptable Plan Preserving What 

We Love, Valley County Waterways Management Plan, 2022. 



 

Water, Civil, and Environmental Inc.  Page 1  Greenhouse Gas Emissions Calculations 
March 8, 2024  Mile High Marina 

 
 

 
 
 
 

To:  Sam Worley Project: Marina Greenhouse Gas Calculations  

 
Prepared By: 
 

 
Ryan A. Eldridge, P.E.  
 

 
Cc: 
 
 

 
File 
 
 

Date: March 8, 2024 Task:  

Subject: Greenhouse Gas Calculations – Mile High Marina Expansion  

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
Water, Civil, and Environmental Inc. (WCE Inc.) has prepared the following technical memorandum 
presenting greenhouse gas (GHG) calculations for the fuel sold at the Mile High Marina fueling station and 
estimated emissions from new boats that will be using Payette Lake due to the proposed expansion of the 
Mile High Marina (Marina).  
 
2.0 BACKGROUND 
 
On February 14, 2024, Mile High Marina received a request for additional information on Conditional Use 
Permit Application CUP-23-07 from the McCall City Planner. This technical memorandum addresses GHG 
gas emissions from the proposed expansion. Specifically, the following was requested:  

 

“Provide a greenhouse gas emissions inventory of the proposed expansion utilizing the 
methodology established in the Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard, Revised Edition”. 

 
The Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard, Revised Edition (CARS) provides guidance on 
identifying and calculating GHG emissions, reporting, and other items involved with the GHG Protocol 
Initiative. For this technical memorandum, WCE Inc. focused on identifying and calculating GHG 
emissions for the existing Marina and the proposed expansion.  
 
Currently, the Marina consists of 170 slips for watercraft and the Owner is proposing to add another 90 
slips. Additionally, the Marina is the only fueling station located on Payette Lake that allows recreational 
watercraft to refuel without having to remove their watercraft from the water. This means that a large 
percentage of property owners around Payette Lake with slips and other marinas such as Lake Shore Marina 
use the fueling station and fuel delivery records can provide an estimate of GHG emissions for the annual 
watercraft use on Payette Lake.  
 
3.0 GREENHOUSE GAS ESTIMATING PROCESS 
 
CARS recommends the following steps to identify and calculate GHG Emissions:  

• Identify Sources 
• Select Calculation Approach 
• Collect Data and Choose Emissions Factors 
• Apply Calculation Tools 

ATTACHMENT 19



 

Water, Civil, and Environmental Inc.  Page 2  Greenhouse Gas Emissions Calculations 
March 8, 2024  Mile High Marina 

 
The following subsections describe how each step was completed.  
 
3.1 Identify Sources 
As described above the fueling station provides fuel to the general public which includes the lessees of slips 
at the Marina. For the purpose of this memorandum only non-road sources for GHG emissions will be 
considered. On-road sources were not considered for this calculation since the fueling station only sells fuel 
to watercraft that have been launched and are on the water.  
 
As described above WCE Inc. will use information from the annual fuel deliveries to the Marina as well as 
results of surveyed existing slip lessees and watercraft users on the waiting list for the proposed new slips 
to develop an estimate of GHG emissions from watercraft that are not currently operating on Payette Lake. 
The survey is described below, and additional survey information was submitted to the commissioners 
under a separate cover.  
 
3.2 Select Calculation Approach 
WCE Inc. used the United States Environmental Protection Agency’s (US EPA’s) “Simplified GHG 
Emissions Calculator, 2023”, for calculation of GHG emissions for the proposed expansion. The 
spreadsheet follows the guidance for CARS and provides industry accepted GHG emission values.  
 
3.3 Collect Data and Choose Emissions Factors 
WCE Inc. obtained information on existing slip watercraft types, number of watercraft, as well as the total 
amount of fuel delivered to the Mile High Marina full-service fueling station for the 2021 through 2023 
seasons. Table 1 provides a breakdown of the number of watercraft and engine sizes that are leasing existing 
slips as well as a breakdown of the types of watercraft on the waiting list for the proposed slips. Tables 2, 
3, and 4 show the number of deliveries, and quantity of fuel delivered to Marina fueling station for the past 
three years. 
 
Again, it should be noted that the total fuel delivered to the Marina provides an estimate for all use of 
watercraft on Payette Lake not just the existing slips at the Marina.  
 
3.3.1 Annual Fuel Deliveries to Mile High Marina 
The fueling station at the Marina sells fuel to the general public which includes the Marina, Lake Shore 
Marina users, private property owners around Payette Lake, and operators who trailer in their watercraft. 
On average approximately 98,000 gallons of gasoline were delivered to the fueling station over the past 3 
years with the highest amount being 108,308 gallons in 2021 and the lowest amount being 91,611 gallons 
in 2023. The amount of fuel delivered to the fueling station has decreased each of the last two years from 
the high in 2021 (Table 5).  
 
3.3.2 Estimate of Annual Hours of Watercraft Usage 
Recently the Marina surveyed existing customers and requested the following information:  

• Boat Year 
• Boat Type 
• If the customer owned a residence in McCall 
• If the customer walks to the Marina 
• Normal put-in and take-out days for their watercraft. 
• Number of days they used their watercraft on Payette Lake. 
• Estimated hours of each day of use 

 
Additionally, the Marina Owner surveyed potential customers who were on the waiting list for either 
existing boat slips or new boat slips. Of particular note of the 90 people surveyed who were on the waiting 



 

Water, Civil, and Environmental Inc.  Page 3  Greenhouse Gas Emissions Calculations 
March 8, 2024  Mile High Marina 

list 82 of them already owned a personal watercraft that they were using on Payette Lake. Seven of the eight 
people who did not own a boat currently either rented or borrowed a boat for use on Payette Lake, and only 
one respondent was new to the area and did not already participate in the use of watercraft on Payette Lake. 
To determine the increase in GHG emissions WCE Inc. estimated that a total of 8 new watercraft would be 
put into use due to the proposed Marina expansion. 
 
The survey of existing watercraft indicates that the average hours of use for each boat with existing slips at 
the Marina is approximately 111.5 hours per year. To determine the approximate annual usage of the 
additional 8 watercraft that will be put into use WCE Inc. used a conservative value of 120 hours per year 
which is approximately 7 percent higher than the annual average use for the existing slips. The estimated 
annual usage for the additional 8 watercraft is 960 hours.  
 
The 960 hours for the 8 waiting list lessees who are planning to purchase watercraft represent the increase 
in GHG emissions from the proposed expansion of the Marina since all of the other watercrafts are already 
using Payette Lake and their usage would be accounted for in the annual fuel sold from the Marina.  
 
3.3.2 Estimated Fuel Consumption of Watercraft at the Marina 
In order to develop an estimate for the fuel used by the additional 8 watercraft WCE Inc. used information 
from the Federal Highway Administration which estimates that between 0.88 to 2.31 gallons per hour 
(GPH) is used by gasoline-powered watercraft (FHWA 2015, Table 5-2). The lower end of the estimated 
range represents sail boats, and the upper end of the estimated range represents personal watercraft. 
Powerboats are shown as using approximately 2.1 GPH. In order to develop a conservative estimate of 
GHG emissions by the additional 8 watercraft WCE Inc. chose to use 3 GPH.  
 
3.4 Basis of Greenhouse Gas Calculations 
For the calculation of GHG emissions from existing watercraft on Payette Lake, WCE Inc. used the 
approximate annual fuel delivered to the Marina (98,000 gallons). As discussed above this value provides 
an estimate of GHG emissions for a significant portion of watercraft using Payette Lake and also covers 
the emissions from the use of 170 existing slips and 82 of the proposed slips at the Marina.  
 
To calculate the emissions from the 8 new watercraft that will be put into service from the proposed 
expansion WCE Inc. multiplied the total average annual hours of use for watercraft at the existing Marina 
(120 hours x 8 watercraft) and multiplied that by the estimated rate of fuel consumption (3 GPH). The total 
estimated fuel consumption for the additional 8 watercraft is 2,880 gallons per year.  
 
3.3 Apply Calculation Tools 
As described in Section 3.2 WCE Inc. used the US EPA’s “Simplified GHG Emissions Calculator, 2023” 
to prepare the GHG emissions estimates for the Marina. WCE Inc. prepared calculations based on the 
following categories:  
 

• The average annual fuel sold at the Marina fueling station represents the existing use of a majority 
of watercraft on Payette Lake.  

• The watercraft represented by the 8 survey respondents who do not currently own watercraft but 
plan to buy watercraft once the slips are available.  

 
4.0 RESULTS 
 
The total GHG emissions from the annual average fuel sold at Mile High Marina is 911 metric tons of CO2 
equivalent emissions. This value accounts for GHG emissions from all users on Payette Lake who purchase 
fuel from the Marina not just Mile High Marina slip lessees. According to a recent count of slips on Payette 



 

Water, Civil, and Environmental Inc.  Page 4  Greenhouse Gas Emissions Calculations 
March 8, 2024  Mile High Marina 

Lake conducted by Milleman Pemberton and Holm, LLP there are currently over 1,000 slips on Payette 
Lake.  
 
The emissions from the 8 watercraft that would be purchased and put into use on Payette Lake once the 
proposed expansion is complete are equal to approximately 27 metric tons. This value represents the 
increase in GHG emissions from the proposed expansion of the Marina. Results from the calculations are 
presented in Table 6. Calculation input and summary sheets are presented in Appendix 1. 
 
5.0 CONCLUSIONS 
 
The estimated total GHG emissions from the average amount of fuel delivered to the Marina is 911 metric 
tons per year. The fuel station is open to the public and is used by a majority of boaters that moor their boats 
on Payette Lake including private property owners, Marina users, Lake Shore Marina users, as well as all 
other day-use watercraft traffic on Payette Lake.  
 
Additionally, as described in the survey results over 90 percent of the watercraft users on the waiting list 
for the proposed 90 slips already own and operate a watercraft on Payette Lake. Only 8 of the proposed 
users intend to buy a watercraft that do not currently operate on Payette Lake. These additional 8 watercraft 
would represent the increase in GHG emissions from the proposed expansion.  
 
The 27 metric tons of GHG emissions from the proposed new watercraft is less than a 3 percent increase in 
emissions. Also, it should be noted that the average usage of 3 GPH is an approximately 30 percent increase 
in average fuel consumption over industry standards (FHWA 2015). This indicates that the value is very 
conservative and most likely contains a significant safety factor.   
 
For comparison, the US EPA estimates that the average on-road passenger vehicle in the United States 
emits approximately 4.6 metric tons of CO2 per year (US EPA Website 2024). Using this average value the 
GHG emissions for the new watercraft that are not currently operating on Payette Lake are equal to the use 
of approximately 7 additional on-road vehicles for one year.  
 
6.0 REFERENCES 
 
United States Environmental Protection Agency 
 2023 Simplified GHG Emissions Calculator 

https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/simplified-ghg-emissions-calculator (Accessed 
3/7/2024) 
 

United States Environmental Protection Agency 
 2024 Greenhouse Gas Emissions from a Typical Passenger Vehicle (Website) 

https://www.epa.gov/greenvehicles/greenhouse-gas-emissions-typical-passenger-vehicle 
(Accessed 3/7/2024) 

 
United States Federal Highway Administration 

2015 Off-Highway And Public-Use Gasoline Consumption Estimation Models Used In The 
Federal Highway Administration 

 Publication Number – FHWA-PL-17-012 
 

World Resources Institute and World Business Council for Sustainable Development 
2004 The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (Revised 

Edition) 
https://ghgprotocol.org/sites/default/files/standards/ghg-protocol-revised.pdf (Accessed 
3/7/2024) 



 

Water, Civil, and Environmental Inc.    Greenhouse Gas Emissions Calculations 
March 8, 2024  Mile High Marina 

Tables 
 



Existing Slips

Watercraft Type Quantity
Engine 

Horsepower

Cabin Cruiser 2 200
Deck Boat 1 150
Fishing Boat 1 200
Jet Boat 1 300
Pontoon Boat 50 200
Runabout Boats 32 150
Sail Boat 3 75
Ski Boat 10 150
Surf Boat 63 400

Total 163

Pontoon Boat 17 200
Runabout Boat 35 150
Surf Boat 21 400
Aluminum Fishing Boat 9 200

Total 82

Pontoon Boat 6 200
Runabout Boat 2 150

Total 8

Proposed New Slips (New Boat Owners Not Operating a Boat on Payette Lake)

Proposed Slips with Owners Currently Operating on Payette Lake

Table 1

Watercraft Type and Quantities
Mile High Marina

19



Customer Name Product code Product Name Qty  Date

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 5,000        5/25/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0537NNNN NO LEAD ALL TAXES 5,000        5/25/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0537NNNN NO LEAD ALL TAXES (5,000)       5/25/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 6,301        5/25/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 6,301        5/25/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES (6,301)       5/25/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0537NNNN NO LEAD ALL TAXES 5,001        6/25/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 6,005        6/25/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 2,799        7/3/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 6,301        7/3/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 4,999        7/8/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 6,300        7/8/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 2,799        7/14/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 4,700        7/14/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 1,600        7/15/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 4,998        7/20/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 6,301        7/20/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 5,000        7/28/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 6,304        7/28/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 2,799        8/3/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 6,301        8/3/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 2,800        8/10/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 6,301        8/10/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 2,799        8/18/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 6,300        8/18/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 2,800        9/3/2021

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 3,800        9/3/2021

***** 27 ITEMS --> CUSTOMER NUMBER 50578

108,308    

*****GRAND TOTALS: 27 ITEMS

108,308    

Fuel Delivered to Mile High Marina (2021)

Table 2

Mile High Marina

3/8/2024



Customer Name Product code Product Name Qty  Date

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 4,700         5/24/2022

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 3,802         5/24/2022

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 2,800         7/1/2022

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 4,700         7/1/2022

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 3,799         7/8/2022

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 7,501         7/8/2022

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 4,998         7/14/2022

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 6,001         7/14/2022

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 5,000         7/23/2022

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 4,700         7/23/2022

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 2,801         7/28/2022

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 6,100         7/28/2022

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 4,397         8/4/2022

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 6,800         8/4/2022

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 4,408         8/11/2022

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 6,804         8/11/2022

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 2,804         8/17/2022

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 6,900         8/17/2022

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 1,700         8/24/2022

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 2,998         9/8/2022

***** 20 ITEMS --> CUSTOMER NUMBER 50578

93,713       

*****GRAND TOTALS: 20 ITEMS

93,713       

Fuel Delivered to Mile High Marina (2022)

Table 3

Mile High Marina

3/8/2024



Account Code Product Qty Date Delivered

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 4,999        05/23/2023

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 5,001        05/23/2023

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 1,999        06/28/2023

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 5,499       06/28/23

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 6,001        07/03/2023

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 2,976       07/03/23

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 7,000        07/07/2023

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 2,000       07/07/23

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 3,000        07/14/2023

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 6,001        07/14/2023

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 3,000        07/21/2023

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 7,499       07/21/23

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 6,901        07/28/2023

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 976          07/28/23

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 4,951        08/04/2023

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 6,301       08/04/23

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 3,499        08/13/2023

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 6,004        08/13/2023

MILE HIGH MARINA 0237NNNN NO LEAD MIDGRADE ALL TAXES 2,001        08/25/2023

MILE HIGH MARINA 0637NNNN PREMIUM, ALL TAXES 6,003        08/25/2023

***** 20 ITEMS --> CUSTOMER NUMBER 50578

91,611     

*****GRAND TOTALS: 20 ITEMS

91,611     

Fuel Delivered to Mile High Marina (2023)

Table 4

Mile High Marina

3/8/2024



Year 
Total Fuel Delivered

(Gal)

2021 108,308
2022 93,713
2023 91,611

Total 293,632
Average 97,877

Table 5

Average Fuel Delivered to Marina
Mile High Marina



Slip Type/Watercraft Status

Total Annual GHG Emission
CO2 Equivalent
(Metric Tons)

Fuel Sold at Mile High Marina 911
Increase in Emissions from Proposed Expansion* 27

Total Annual Emissions after Expansion 938

Table 6

Greenhouse Gas Emissions
Mile High Marina

*Increase is based on the reported 8 additional watercraft that would be put into service on Payette 
Lake after the proposed marina expansion



 

Water, Civil, and Environmental Inc.    Greenhouse Gas Emissions Calculations 
March 8, 2024  Mile High Marina 

Appendix 1 
GHG Calculator Input and Summary Sheets 



Scope 1 Emissions from Mobile Sources

Guidance

                      - If mileage or fuel usage is unknown, estimate using approximate fuel economy values (see Reference Table below).
                      - Vehicle year and Miles traveled are not necessary for non-road equiment.

Biodiesel Percent: 20 %
Ethanol Percent: 80 %

Table 1.  Mobile Source Fuel Combustion and Miles Traveled
Source Source Vehicle Vehicle Fuel Units Miles

ID Description Type Year Usage Traveled
Fleet-012 HQ Fleet OnRoad Passenger Cars - Gasoline 2019 500 gal 12,650

Existing Usage on Payette Lake NonRoad Recreational Equipment - Gasoline (4 stroke) 2019 98,000 gal

GHG Emissions

Total Organization-Wide Mobile Source Fuel Usage and CO2 Emissions (On-Road and Off-Road Vehicles)
CO2
(kg)

Motor Gasoline 98,000 gallons 860,440.0
Diesel Fuel 0 gallons 0.0
Residual Fuel Oil 0 gallons 0.0
Aviation Gasoline 0 gallons 0.0
Kerosene-Type Jet Fuel 0 gallons 0.0
Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG) 0 gallons 0.0
Ethanol 0 gallons 0.0 Note: emissions here are only for the gasoline portion of the fuel, biogenic CO2 emissions are reported below

Biodiesel 0 gallons 0.0 Note: emissions here are only for the diesel portion of the fuel, biogenic CO2 emissions are reported below

Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG) 0 gallons 0.0
Compressed Natural Gas (CNG) 0 scf 0.0

Total Organization-Wide Non-Road Mobile Source Fuel Usage and CH4/N2O Emissions

Vehicle Type Fuel Type
Fuel Usage 

(gallons) CH4 (g) N2O (g)

Residual Fuel Oil -                  -                                                                                    -               
Gasoline (2 stroke) -                  -                                                                                    -               
Gasoline (4 stroke) -                  -                                                                                    -               
Diesel -                  -                                                                                    -               

Locomotives Diesel -                  -                                                                                    -               
Jet Fuel -                  -                                                                                    -               
Aviation Gasoline -                  -                                                                                    -               
Gasoline (2 stroke) -                  -                                                                                    -               
Gasoline (4 stroke) -                  -                                                                                    -               
Gasoline Off-Road Trucks -                  -                                                                                    -               
Diesel Equipment -                  -                                                                                    -               
Diesel Off-Road Trucks -                  -                                                                                    -               
LPG -                  -                                                                                    -               
Gasoline (2 stroke) -                  -                                                                                    -               
Gasoline (4 stroke) -                  -                                                                                    -               
Gasoline Off-Road Trucks -                  -                                                                                    -               
Diesel Equipment -                  -                                                                                    -               
Diesel Off-Road Trucks -                  -                                                                                    -               
LPG -                  -                                                                                    -               
Gasoline (2 stroke) -                  -                                                                                    -               
Gasoline (4 stroke) -                  -                                                                                    -               
Diesel -                  -                                                                                    -               
LPG -                  -                                                                                    -               
Gasoline -                  -                                                                                    -               
Diesel -                  -                                                                                    -               
LPG -                  -                                                                                    -               
Gasoline (2 stroke) -                  -                                                                                    -               
Gasoline (4 stroke) -                  -                                                                                    -               
Diesel -                  -                                                                                    -               
LPG -                  -                                                                                    -               
Gasoline (2 stroke) -                  -                                                                                    -               
Gasoline (4 stroke) -                  -                                                                                    -               
Diesel -                  -                                                                                    -               
Gasoline -                  -                                                                                    -               
Diesel -                  -                                                                                    -               
LPG -                  -                                                                                    -               
Gasoline (2 stroke) -                  -                                                                                    -               
Gasoline (4 stroke) 98,000            281,260                                                                            147,000       
Diesel -                  -                                                                                    -               
LPG -                  -                                                                                    -               

Total CO2 Equivalent Emissions (metric tons) - Mobile Sources 911.3

Total Biomass CO2 Equivalent Emissions (metric tons) - Mobile Sources 0.0

Ships and Boats

Aircraft

Agricultural Equipment

On-Road or 
Non-Road?

Fuel Type Fuel Usage Units

                  - Enter "Fuel Usage" in appropriate units (units appear when vehicle type is selected).

(C) Biomass CO2 emissions from biodiesel and ethanol are not reported in the total emissions, but are reported separately at the bottom of the sheet.

(B) When using biofuels, typically the biofuel (biodiesel or ethanol) is mixed with a petroleum fuel (diesel or gasoline) for use in 
      vehicles.   Enter the biodiesel and ethanol percentages of the fuel if known, or leave default values.

(A) Enter annual data for each vehicle or group of vehicles (grouped by vehicle type, vehicle year, and fuel type) in ORANGE cells in 
     Table 1.  Example entry is shown in first row (GREEN Italics ).  Only enter vehicles owned or leased by your organization on 
     this sheet.  All other vehicle use such as employee commuting or business travel is considered a scope 3 emissions source 
     and should be reported in the corresponding scope 3 sheets. 

                  - Select "Vehicle Type" from drop down box (closest type available).  
                  - Select "On-Road" or "Non-Road" from drop down box to determine the Vehicle Types available.  Must make this selection before picking vehicle type. 
                  - Note: As of the v9 Simplified GHG Calculation tool update, the latest mobile combustion factors reflect year 2020 data. Therefore, for all vehicle model years 2021 onward, the 2020 year factor is used. 

Industrial/Commercial Equipment

Logging Equipment

Railroad Equipment

Recreational Equipment

Construction/Mining Equipment

Lawn and Garden Equipment

Airport Equipment

Back to Intro Back to Summary Help

EPA Climate Leaders Simplified GHG Emissions Calculator (Direct 2.0) 1 of 1



Emissions Summary

Guidance

    (B) The "Go To Sheet" buttons can be used to navigate to the data entry sheets. 

Organizational Information:
Organization Name:

Organization Address:

Inventory Reporting Period:
Start: MM/DD/YY End:

Name of Preparer:
Phone Number of Preparer:
Date Prepared:

Summary of Organization's Emissions:

Scope 1 Emissions

Stationary Combustion 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Mobile Sources 911 CO2-e (metric tons)

Refrigeration / AC Equipment Use 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Fire Suppression 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Purchased Gases 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Location-Based Scope 2 Emissions

Purchased and Consumed Electricity 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Purchased and Consumed Steam 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Market-Based Scope 2 Emissions

Purchased and Consumed Electricity 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Purchased and Consumed Steam 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Total organization Emissions

Total Scope 1 & Location-Based Scope 2 911 CO2-e (metric tons)

Total Scope 1 & Market-Based Scope 2 911 CO2-e (metric tons)

The total GHG emissions from each source category are provided below. You may also use this summary sheet to fill 
out the Annual GHG Inventory Summary and Goal Tracking Form  (.xls) as this calculator only quantifies one year of 
emissions at a time. 

    (A) Enter organization information into the orange cells. Other cells on this sheet will be automatically calculated 
from the data entered in the sheets in this workbook. Blue cells indicate required emission sources if applicable. Green 
cells indicate scope 3 emission sources and offsets, which organizations may optionally include in its inventory.

7-Mar-23

McCall, Idaho

Mile High Marina

1300 East Lake Street

Annual GHG Estimate for Fuel Sold at Marina

Ryan Eldridge
208.319.9744

MM/DD/YY

By entering the data below into the appropriate cell of the Annual GHG Inventory Summary and Goal Tracking Form, 

you will be able to compare multiple years of data.
If you have multiple Calculator files covering sub-sets of your inventory for a particular reporting period, sum each of 
the emission categories (e.g. Stationary Combustion) to an organizational total, which then can be entered into the 
Annual GHG Inventory Summary and Goal Tracking Form .

https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/target-setting

Go To Sheet

Go To Sheet

Go To Sheet

Go To Sheet

Go To Sheet

Go To Sheet

Back to Intro

Go To Sheet

Go To Sheet

Go To Sheet

EPA Climate Leaders Simplified GHG Emissions Calculator (Summary) 1 of 2

https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/target-setting
https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/target-setting
https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/target-setting
https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/target-setting
https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/target-setting
https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/target-setting
https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/target-setting
https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/target-setting
https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/target-setting


Reductions

Offsets 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Net Scope 1 and 2 Location-Based Emissions 911 CO2-e (metric tons)

Net Scope 1 and 2 Market-Based Emissions 911 CO2-e (metric tons)

Scope 3 Emissions

Employee Business Travel 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Employee Commuting 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Upstream Transportation and Distribution 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Waste 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Required Supplemental Information

Biomass CO2 Emissions from Stationary Sources 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Biomass CO2 Emissions from Mobile Sources 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Go To Sheet

Go To SheetGo To Sheet

Go To Sheet

Go To Sheet

Go To Sheet

Go To Sheet

Go To Sheet

EPA Climate Leaders Simplified GHG Emissions Calculator (Summary) 2 of 2



Scope 1 Emissions from Mobile Sources

Guidance

                      - If mileage or fuel usage is unknown, estimate using approximate fuel economy values (see Reference Table below).
                      - Vehicle year and Miles traveled are not necessary for non-road equiment.

Biodiesel Percent: 20 %
Ethanol Percent: 80 %

Table 1.  Mobile Source Fuel Combustion and Miles Traveled
Source Source Vehicle Vehicle Fuel Units Miles

ID Description Type Year Usage Traveled
Fleet-012 HQ Fleet OnRoad Passenger Cars - Gasoline 2019 500 gal 12,650

New Slips Not Currently Operating (8) Slips not currently operating on Lake NonRoad Recreational Equipment - Gasoline (4 stroke) 2019 2,880 gal

GHG Emissions

Total Organization-Wide Non-Road Mobile Source Fuel Usage and CH4/N2O Emissions

Vehicle Type Fuel Type
Fuel Usage 

(gallons) CH4 (g) N2O (g)

Residual Fuel Oil -                  -                                                                                   -               
Gasoline (2 stroke) -                  -                                                                                   -               
Gasoline (4 stroke) -                  -                                                                                   -               
Diesel -                  -                                                                                   -               

Locomotives Diesel -                  -                                                                                   -               
Jet Fuel -                  -                                                                                   -               
Aviation Gasoline -                  -                                                                                   -               
Gasoline (2 stroke) -                  -                                                                                   -               
Gasoline (4 stroke) -                  -                                                                                   -               
Gasoline Off-Road Trucks -                  -                                                                                   -               
Diesel Equipment -                  -                                                                                   -               
Diesel Off-Road Trucks -                  -                                                                                   -               
LPG -                  -                                                                                   -               
Gasoline (2 stroke) -                  -                                                                                   -               
Gasoline (4 stroke) -                  -                                                                                   -               
Gasoline Off-Road Trucks -                  -                                                                                   -               
Diesel Equipment -                  -                                                                                   -               
Diesel Off-Road Trucks -                  -                                                                                   -               
LPG -                  -                                                                                   -               
Gasoline (2 stroke) -                  -                                                                                   -               
Gasoline (4 stroke) -                  -                                                                                   -               
Diesel -                  -                                                                                   -               
LPG -                  -                                                                                   -               
Gasoline -                  -                                                                                   -               
Diesel -                  -                                                                                   -               
LPG -                  -                                                                                   -               
Gasoline (2 stroke) -                  -                                                                                   -               
Gasoline (4 stroke) -                  -                                                                                   -               
Diesel -                  -                                                                                   -               
LPG -                  -                                                                                   -               
Gasoline (2 stroke) -                  -                                                                                   -               
Gasoline (4 stroke) -                  -                                                                                   -               
Diesel -                  -                                                                                   -               
Gasoline -                  -                                                                                   -               
Diesel -                  -                                                                                   -               
LPG -                  -                                                                                   -               
Gasoline (2 stroke) -                  -                                                                                   -               
Gasoline (4 stroke) 2,880              8,266                                                                               4,320           
Diesel -                  -                                                                                   -               
LPG -                  -                                                                                   -               

Total CO2 Equivalent Emissions (metric tons) - Mobile Sources 26.8

Total Biomass CO2 Equivalent Emissions (metric tons) - Mobile Sources 0.0

Industrial/Commercial Equipment

Logging Equipment

Railroad Equipment

Recreational Equipment

Construction/Mining Equipment

Lawn and Garden Equipment

Airport Equipment

                  - Enter "Fuel Usage" in appropriate units (units appear when vehicle type is selected).

(C) Biomass CO2 emissions from biodiesel and ethanol are not reported in the total emissions, but are reported separately at the bottom of the sheet.

(B) When using biofuels, typically the biofuel (biodiesel or ethanol) is mixed with a petroleum fuel (diesel or gasoline) for use in 
      vehicles.   Enter the biodiesel and ethanol percentages of the fuel if known, or leave default values.

(A) Enter annual data for each vehicle or group of vehicles (grouped by vehicle type, vehicle year, and fuel type) in ORANGE cells in 
     Table 1.  Example entry is shown in first row (GREEN Italics ).  Only enter vehicles owned or leased by your organization on 
     this sheet.  All other vehicle use such as employee commuting or business travel is considered a scope 3 emissions source 
     and should be reported in the corresponding scope 3 sheets. 

                  - Select "Vehicle Type" from drop down box (closest type available).  
                  - Select "On-Road" or "Non-Road" from drop down box to determine the Vehicle Types available.  Must make this selection before picking vehicle type. 
                  - Note: As of the v9 Simplified GHG Calculation tool update, the latest mobile combustion factors reflect year 2020 data. Therefore, for all vehicle model years 2021 onward, the 2020 year factor is used. 

Ships and Boats

Aircraft

Agricultural Equipment

On-Road or 
Non-Road?

Back to Intro Back to Summary Help

EPA Climate Leaders Simplified GHG Emissions Calculator (Direct 2.0) 1 of 1



Emissions Summary

Guidance

    (B) The "Go To Sheet" buttons can be used to navigate to the data entry sheets. 

Organizational Information:
Organization Name:

Organization Address:

Inventory Reporting Period:
Start: MM/DD/YY End:

Name of Preparer:
Phone Number of Preparer:
Date Prepared:

Summary of Organization's Emissions:

Scope 1 Emissions

Stationary Combustion 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Mobile Sources 27 CO2-e (metric tons)

Refrigeration / AC Equipment Use 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Fire Suppression 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Purchased Gases 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Location-Based Scope 2 Emissions

Purchased and Consumed Electricity 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Purchased and Consumed Steam 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Market-Based Scope 2 Emissions

Purchased and Consumed Electricity 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Purchased and Consumed Steam 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Total organization Emissions

Total Scope 1 & Location-Based Scope 2 27 CO2-e (metric tons)

Total Scope 1 & Market-Based Scope 2 27 CO2-e (metric tons)

The total GHG emissions from each source category are provided below. You may also use this summary sheet to fill 
out the Annual GHG Inventory Summary and Goal Tracking Form  (.xls) as this calculator only quantifies one year of 
emissions at a time. 

    (A) Enter organization information into the orange cells. Other cells on this sheet will be automatically calculated 
from the data entered in the sheets in this workbook. Blue cells indicate required emission sources if applicable. Green 
cells indicate scope 3 emission sources and offsets, which organizations may optionally include in its inventory.

44992

McCall, Idaho

Mile High Marina

1300 East Lake Street

New to Operating on Payette Lake - Proposed (8 Boats)

Ryan Eldridge
208.319.9744

MM/DD/YY

By entering the data below into the appropriate cell of the Annual GHG Inventory Summary and Goal Tracking Form, 

you will be able to compare multiple years of data.
If you have multiple Calculator files covering sub-sets of your inventory for a particular reporting period, sum each of 
the emission categories (e.g. Stationary Combustion) to an organizational total, which then can be entered into the 
Annual GHG Inventory Summary and Goal Tracking Form .

https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/target-setting

Go To Sheet

Go To Sheet

Go To Sheet

Go To Sheet

Go To Sheet

Go To Sheet

Back to Intro

Go To Sheet

Go To Sheet

Go To Sheet

EPA Climate Leaders Simplified GHG Emissions Calculator (Summary) 1 of 2

https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/target-setting
https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/target-setting
https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/target-setting
https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/target-setting
https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/target-setting
https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/target-setting
https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/target-setting
https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/target-setting
https://www.epa.gov/climateleadership/target-setting


Reductions

Offsets 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Net Scope 1 and 2 Location-Based Emissions 27 CO2-e (metric tons)

Net Scope 1 and 2 Market-Based Emissions 27 CO2-e (metric tons)

Scope 3 Emissions

Employee Business Travel 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Employee Commuting 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Upstream Transportation and Distribution 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Waste 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Required Supplemental Information

Biomass CO2 Emissions from Stationary Sources 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Biomass CO2 Emissions from Mobile Sources 0 CO2-e (metric tons)

Go To Sheet

Go To SheetGo To Sheet

Go To Sheet

Go To Sheet

Go To Sheet

Go To Sheet

Go To Sheet

EPA Climate Leaders Simplified GHG Emissions Calculator (Summary) 2 of 2



Calculation of GHG ATTACHMENT 20
Mile High Marina

Total US Footnote Total Idaho Footnote Total MHM

13,000,000                  Total number of registered recreational boats in US 1 87,840                registered boats 2 260 includes 90 additional slips
Total US Recreational Marine Industry

0.68% 0.002% % of boats to total US

0.296% % of boats in Idaho

Macro to Micro Analysis

4,941,000,000            Metric tons of CO2 US Annually (2022) 100% 3

1,383,480,000            US Transportation Industry 28% 4 (of the US total emissions)

41,504,400                  Total US Maritime Industry 3% 5 (of the US transportation industry)

9,684,360                    Total US Recreational Marine Industry 0.7% 6 (of the US transportation industry)

65,854                          Idaho Rec Marine 87,840      Boats 0.68% (of the Idaho rec marine industry)

195                               Mile High Marina 260 Boats 0.296%

Metric tons to Lbs conversion

428,828                       lbs Mile High Marina 260 Boats 7 at conversion rate of 19.5 lbs equals 21,991      gals

1,649                            lbs Mile High Marina 1 Boat at conversion rate of 19.5 lbs equals 85              gals

13,195                          lbs Mile High Marina 8 Boats at conversion rate of 19.5 lbs equals 677            gals

280,330                       lbs Mile High Marina 170 Boats at conversion rate of 19.5 lbs equals 14,376      gals

* metric ton equals 2200 lbs

Footnotes:

1 https://www.siyachts.com/which-us-state-has-the-most-boats

2 https://www.statista.com/statistics/1155988/us-recreational-boating-vessels/

3 https://www.statista.com/statistics/183943/us-carbon-dioxide-emissions-from-1999/

4 https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/sources-greenhouse-gas-emissions

5 https://www.energy.gov/sites/default/files/2023-01/the-us-national-blueprint-for-transportation-decarbonization.pdf

6 https://cfpub.epa.gov/ghgdata/inventoryexplorer/#allsectors/allsectors/allgas/econsect/al

7 https://8billiontrees.com/carbon-offsets-credits/carbon-ecological-footprint-calculators/boat-calculator/



Marina Green Practices 1 

MARINA GREEN PRACTICES-MILE HIGH MARINA 

The following are practices derived from a variety of sources which the Mile High Marina either 
already has or intends to implement: 

Establish Recycling as a Norm 

Placing recycle bins in the vicinity and installing text/graphic directions for use may convince 
boaters to take more eco-friendly measures. 

• Purchase marina products in bulk to minimize packaging
• Request that on-site restaurants use recyclable carryout containers
• Recycle batteries

• No self-serve fueling.  Require marina staff to fill each vessel.

• Recycle cardboard

Digitize Your Operations 

Going paperless is time and cost-efficient.   Automate fueling, accounting, billing, and other day-
to-day operations 

Promote Green Shipping Practices 

Use eco-friendly boat cleaning products 
Use biodegradable oil absorbents 
Use low-emissions boats (built after 2010) 

Educate Boaters & Staff on Boat & Engine Maintenance 

Education is key when it comes to environmentalism 

• Boat owners should have their engines fine-tuned at least once a year by a qualified
mechanic; oil leaks should be detected; and fuel lines should be inspected on a regular
basis.

• Recommend biodegradable, less toxic propylene glycol (PG) antifreeze instead of
traditional ethylene-glycol (EG) antifreeze.

• Promote the use of natural cleaning products on vessels, such as baking soda, lemon
juice, white vinegar and borax.

• Guests who bring pets to the marina must clean up after them. Pet waste can wash into
the basin and add pollutants to the water.

ATTACHMENT 21



Marina Green Practices 2 

Marina Must-Haves and Must-Dos 

• Have trash bags available to boaters to ensure they can dispose of their on-board trash
and bring it back to the marina for trash pickup.

• Have plentiful trash bins around the marina with signs urging marina patrons to dispose
of trash on-shore.

• Provide doggy waste bags and receptacles to make it easier for guests to clean up after
their pets.

• Make sure fuel nozzles are hung vertically to avoid dripping and that no one empties
excess fuel in hose on the ground or in water.

• Report oil spills or hazardous waste concerns (including sewage) immediately as
instructed in Spill Prevention Plan.

• Replace all incandescent lighting throughout the marina with more efficient LED
lighting.

• Encourage vessel owners to use the marina’s on-shore restrooms and have restrooms
regularly cleaned using eco-friendly soaps and cleaners.

• Advise vessel owners to rinse boats off with fresh water after coming to shore.  Waxing
the boat each year can also prevent buildup on the vessel’s surface.

• Sell environmentally friendly cleaning products

• Whenever reasonably possible, Marina on-site restaurant to purchase locally sourced
food for menu items.















































































































































































































































































































































































































































































3/20/24, 12:34 PM Pontoons continue to lead in recreational boating sales | Boating Industry

https://boatingindustry.com/blogs/2022/10/11/pontoons-continue-to-lead-in-recreational-boating-sales/ 1/5

Pontoons continue to lead in recreational

boating sales

 Adam Quandt • October 11, 2022

https://boatingindustry.com/author/adam/
https://boatingindustry.com/author/adam/
https://boatingindustry.com/author/adam/


3/20/24, 12:34 PM Pontoons continue to lead in recreational boating sales | Boating Industry

https://boatingindustry.com/blogs/2022/10/11/pontoons-continue-to-lead-in-recreational-boating-sales/ 2/5

By Ryan Kloppe

From raising a boat’s sails on the wide-open ocean to spending a day cruising
the lake, recreational boating has been more popular than ever over the last
few years. Recreational boating saw record sales in 2020, with more Americans
spending time on the water to escape from the hustle and bustle on land.

According to the U.S. Department of Commerce’s Bureau of Economic Analysis
(BEA), recreational boating/fishing was the leading contributor to the country’s
$689 billion outdoor recreation economy in 2020. Consumer interest and
demand for recreational boating is still high, especially in the pontoon boat
market.

Pontoons Setting the Pace

The pontoon market has demonstrated remarkable growth since 2008, when
the financial crisis resulted in declines across the boating industry. According to
data from Statistical Surveys Inc. (SSI), a Trader Interactive brand, pontoon
boats, second to personal watercraft, have been a leading segment in the
recreational boating industry over the last decade.

In 2021, pontoon boats made up 22% of total marine units registered that year,
outperforming others in the main powerboat segment. For example, aluminum
fishing and runabout boat registrations each declined 14%, from 2020 to 2021,
whereas pontoon boats only saw a 5% dip over the same period of time.



3/20/24, 12:34 PM Pontoons continue to lead in recreational boating sales | Boating Industry

https://boatingindustry.com/blogs/2022/10/11/pontoons-continue-to-lead-in-recreational-boating-sales/ 3/5

SSI data also reveals that 2021 pontoon registrations were some of the highest
we’ve seen over the past 10 years. This includes a 16% increase from 2019
(57,287) to 2021 (66,280) when other recreational boat segments saw declines.

The Popularity of Pontoons

Pontoon growth can be attributed to the manufacturers continuing to add
features which make pontoons a very versatile boat.

Pontoon boats have seen great advancements to transform from the simple
aluminum platforms they once were. Today, these all-purpose boats are the
ultimate vessels for on-the-water relaxation and recreation, with manufacturers
adding innovative features and dynamic designs to appeal to every type of
water lover.

The success of pontoon boats compared to other powerboat segments could
also indicate boaters converting to a more versatile watercraft that also has
outboard power. Pontoons are now being manufactured with high horsepower
engines, including three-tube models, for increased performance. The idea of
how to utilize a pontoon boat has expanded from simply a vessel for lounging
or partying to a boat that’s also powerful enough for water sports as well.

https://boatingindustry.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/2021-Powerboat-Registrations-by-Segment.jpg
https://boatingindustry.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/2021-Powerboat-Registrations-by-Segment.jpg


3/20/24, 12:34 PM Pontoons continue to lead in recreational boating sales | Boating Industry

https://boatingindustry.com/blogs/2022/10/11/pontoons-continue-to-lead-in-recreational-boating-sales/ 4/5

Emerging Pontoon Markets

Pontoons have always been popular in specific lake markets. According to SSI
data, Michigan, Minnesota, and Wisconsin are consistently the top states for
national pontoon registrations, which isn’t surprising given the states’ proximity
to the Great Lakes and abundance of in-land lakes. However, pontoon boats
are also gaining popularity in new markets.

We’re seeing growth in Florida and North Carolina the past couple of years.
Both states have shown double-digit growth year over year. As of October
2022, SSI’s 12-month rolling stats for national registrations show Florida (4,615)
edging out Wisconsin (4,533), while just under Minnesota (4,767). Texas has
also seen steady growth, on a 12-month rolling basis, from 2018 to 2021.

It’s no coincidence that these six states also led the nation in new powerboat,
engine, trailer, and accessories sales in 2020. According to data from the
National Marine Manufacturers Association (NMMA), Florida generated $4.3
billion in sales, followed by Texas ($2.4), Michigan ($1.3), North Carolina ($1.2),
Minnesota ($1.1), and Wisconsin ($967 million). Pontoons are quickly gaining
traction and increasing popularity in these leading boat markets.

As we approach the end of 2022, industry experts are anticipating another
strong year for recreational boat sales, particularly pontoons. While the overall
year over year growth will be down compared to record numbers in 2020 and
2021, the pontoon market will remain strong for 2022 and beyond. It appears
to be full speed ahead for the pontoon market.

Ryan Kloppe has been with Statistical Surveys Inc. (SSI), a Trader Interactive
brand, since 2012. He has 25 years of sales experience in the marine, banking,
and medical industries. While at SSI, Ryan has consistently increased sales year
over year, while developing and maintaining successful business relationships.
Ryan’s work can be seen in multiple trade publications that are released on a
monthly and quarterly basis. Ryan holds a Bachelor of Business Administration
from Grand Valley State University. Ryan’s exceptional work ethic and attention
to detail has rewarded him with a very successful sales career.



3/20/24, 12:34 PM Pontoons continue to lead in recreational boating sales | Boating Industry

https://boatingindustry.com/blogs/2022/10/11/pontoons-continue-to-lead-in-recreational-boating-sales/ 5/5

Reply

DICK CLARK
January 31, 2023 at 1:17 pm

Ryan: Great article. It’s good to know what bpats are selling and why
customers are buying them.

ONE COMMENT

http://teclausa.com/


 

Subject: CUP-23-07 – 1300 East Lake Street – City Council Questions 

From:  Brian Parker, City Planner 

Date:   April 4, 2024  

The intention of this Memorandum is to provide a summary and review of answers to additional 
questions requested by the McCall City Council regarding the proposed conditional use permit for the 
Marina Expansion 

During the regularly scheduled February 8, 2024 McCall City Council Meeting, the Council deliberated on 
the subject application. At that time, the Council voted to reopen the public hearing for more 
information only from the applicant and staff on the subject application. Questions were provided by 
the Council to the applicant for additional information. The applicant’s answers are attached, and staff’s 
analysis is provided below.  

Questions 
For questions 1 and 2, please provide a classification system for boat types commonly found on inland 
lakes similar to Payette Lake. The classification system should consider the boats’ capacities to generate 
wake, noise, and other environmental detractors. 

1. Describe the types and quantities of boats currently utilizing slips at Mile High Marina. 

2. Provide information on the types and quantities of boats that could be reasonably expected to 
be docked at the new slips, either from information collected from the prior survey (which 
asked the question of what kind of boat), or if not available, sales trends (preferably in Idaho, 
but nationwide if necessary), or data collected from boater registrations in Idaho, or other 
sources as available. 

For questions 1 and 2, the applicant has provided the results of phone surveys conducted by 
Mile High Marina staff of the 140 of the 160 existing lessees, as well as the first 90 individuals on 
the waitlist. The general quantities and types of boats are as follows: 



 

2 
 

 

Data note: the boat type data of existing lessees was derived from the marina’s records rather than the surveys, so the 
total number of boats exceeds 140. 

Additionally, the applicant has stated that pontoon boats are a growing segment of the new 
sales in the boating industry. To support this statement, the applicant has provided an article 
from boatingindustry.com, a boat sales industry publication. 

  

Classic/Wooden, 0

Classic/Wooden, 3

Fishing Boat, 1

Fishing Boat, 9

Cabin Cruiser, 2

Cabin Cruiser, 0

Sailboat, 3

Sailboat, 0

Runabout/Ski Boat, 42

Runabout/Ski Boat, 34

Pontoon/Deck Boat, 51

Pontoon/Deck Boat, 23

Wake/Surf/Jet Boat, 64

Wake/Surf/Jet Boat, 21

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

Ex
is

ti
n

g 
Le

ss
ee

s
W

ai
tl

is
t

Boat Types of Existing Slip Lessees and Waitlist Survey Respondents



 

3 
 

3. Please provide any available information about boater miles used, frequency of use, or any 
metric that provides information on intensity of boat use by slip owners versus non-slip 
owners, either specifically to this marina, or otherwise. 

The surveys of existing lessees and waitlisted individuals asked for an estimate of the days per 
year and average duration of use per day. Multiplying these two provides an annual estimate of 
total boating hours. 

 

Data note: staff compiled information regarding annual hours from individual survey responses. Not all waitlist 
responses clearly indicated the type of boat. 

  

Fishing Boat, 30.0

Fishing Boat, 58.8

Cabin Cruiser, 155.0 

Cabin Cruiser, 30

Sailboat, 166.7 

Sailboat, 0

Runabout/Ski Boat, 86.2

Runabout/Ski Boat, 67.5

Pontoon/Deck Boat, 120.8

Pontoon/Deck Boat, 84.0

Wake/Surf/Jet Boat, 114.4

Wake/Surf/Jet Boat, 85.7

All Types, 110.9

All Types, 77.3

 -  20.0  40.0  60.0  80.0  100.0  120.0  140.0  160.0  180.0

Ex
is

ti
n

g 
Le

ss
e

es
W

ai
tl

is
t

Average Annual Hours



 

4 
 

Payette Lake is generally accessed in three ways: boat launches, commercial marinas, or private 

docks. The Idaho Department of Lands (IDL) has provided the following counts of marina slips 

and private moorages: 

 Count 
Maximum Boat Moorage 

Per Unit Total Moorage 

M
ar

in
as

 Mile High (Includes Expansion) 250 

May 86 

Shore Lodge 108 

P
ri

va
te

 M
o

o
ra

ge
s Mooring Buoys 124 1 124 

Single Family Docks 396 2 792 

Two-Family Docks 30 4 120 

Community Docks (Small) 26 4 104 

Community Docks (Large) 20 16 320 

Total 1,904 

 

It can be assumed that the existing lessees are generally a representative sample of slip lessees 

throughout the three (3) commercial marinas on Payette Lake. As more casual boaters would be 

less likely to find sufficient utility to rent a slip, the waitlist respondents can be expected to 

represent the heavier use population of the boat launch users. This assumption can be 

supported by comparing the waitlist survey to the surveys conducted for the Waterways 

Management Plan: 

Annual Days of Use Waitlist Survey Waterways Management Plan Survey 

0 7.8% 17.2% 

1-5 15.6% 18.9% 

6-15 32.2% 13.0% 

16-25 33.3% 12.4% 

25+ 11.1% 38.5% 

 

No data is available on usage rates by private dock users, and that information is outside the 

scope of this subject application. 

  



 

5 
 

4. How will additional boat traffic from the expanded marina, and specifically an increase in 
wake boat traffic, impact the social capacity and carrying capacity for Payette Lake that 
discussed in the Valley County Waterways Management Plan. 

The Valley County Waterways Management Plan provides the following “Keystone Indicators” 
regarding capacity of Payette Lake: 

Indicator Baseline Desired Future Condition 

User Satisfaction 84% “Excellent” experience 
in surveys 

>75% “Excellent” Experience 
in Surveys 

Feeling of Crowdedness 13% of surveys indicate 
extreme crowding 

<30% of surveys indicate 
extreme crowding 

Acres Per Boat (peak usage) 57 (76 boats on lake) 40 (102 boats on lake) 

 

The applicant’s responses indicate that the total number of new boats added to the lake will be 
limited to the waitlist responses that indicated the person did not currently own a boat (eight 
(8) responses). However, in an email, the applicant’s representative indicated that the boat 
number of boat launch users is not generally impacted by the amount of congestion or trailer 
parking availability, and absent management systems such as launch fees or paid parking, the 
usage of the boat launch would likely remain constant at or near current levels. This would 
indicate that the total number of new boats added to the lake would be much closer to the 
number of new slips added to the marina (ninety (90) new boats). 

The survey data indicates that the overall usage of slip owners is approximately 44% higher than 
waitlist users. No data has been presented indicating any usage patterns of slip owners versus 
lessees at high congestion times. However, the average number of days used by slip owners is 
29.6, in comparison to 17.2 average days of a waitlist respondent. If we assume the “high usage 
days” as Saturdays and federal holidays between Memorial Day and Labor Day (inclusive), there 
are nineteen (19) potential high usage days in a typical summer. Weather, wildfire smoke, and 
similar environmental factors are likely to eliminate a few high usage days out of a year. The 
inference to be made from the substantial difference in usage days between slip lessees and 
waitlist respondent is that slip lessees tend to boat on off days as well as high usage days, and 
that the increase in total hours used is unlikely to occur during high usage days. 



 

6 
 

 

 

The existing available “carrying capacity" of Payette Lake as identified in the Valley County 
Waterways Management Plan is an additional 26 boats at high usage times. For the reasons 
described above it is unlikely that the total number of boats on the lake during high usage times 
would be in excess of the 102 boats identified as a Keystone Indicator in the Waterways Master 
Plan as a result of the marina expansion. As mentioned above and recommendation in the 
Valley County Waterways Master Plan, launch fees and paid trailer parking would be tools 
available to effectively manage peak demand. 

  



 

7 
 

5. Provide an analysis of the impacts of the proposed expansion on the boat launch and trailer 
parking area. 

The applicant has indicated that the net impact on the boat launch and trailer parking would be 
the removal of approximately 1,300 launches, removals, and parking between launch and 
removal. As discussed above, this is predicated on the assumption that the net effect on lake 
usage would be limited to the waitlist members that do not currently own a boat. While that 
assumption is questionable, there is no reason to believe that the net effect of an expanded 
marina on the launch or trailer parking would be detrimental. As mentioned above and 
recommended in the Waterways Master Plan, launch fees and paid trailer parking would be 
tools available to effectively manage peak demand. 

6. Describe the impact of the proposed expansion on surface water quality and non-motorized 
usage in the vicinity of the marina. 

The applicant’s response describes the future plans for an expanded non-motorized use area in 
the vicinity of the marina, consistent with those identified in the McCall Parks, Recreation, and 
Open Space Plan (PROS Plan). The proposed board walk is a component of this future plan and 
would provide a southern “anchor” to a future non-motorized area. The applicants response 
fails to discuss any potential impacts on water quality that a non-motorized user could be 
impacted by as a result of additional slips in the marina. Staff has included relevant sections of 
the Environmental Protection Agency’s (EPA) National Management Measures to Control 
Nonpoint Source Pollution from Marinas and Recreational Boating for further information 
regarding potential surface water quality impacts and mitigation measures. 

7. Describe measures proposed to ensure that the proposed expansion will not have a 
detrimental effect on the health of Payette Lake. 

The applicant is proposing the following measures to assure continued lake health: 

• A restriction on new leases to be exclusively for model year 2010 or newer boats, except 
for classic wooden boats. 

• A prohibition of new leases against two-stroke engines. 

• Continuance of the marina’s milfoil abatement practices 

• Continuance of the marina's boater education program emphasizing no-wake zones and 
avoidance of creating wake in shallow waters. 

• An updated and formalized Spill Control and Response Plan. 

• The use of rubber splash guards on fuel dispensers. 

All proposed measures described above should be added as conditions of approval on the 
subject application. 

8. Describe the pollution created and associated impacts on air and water quality from the 
proposed expansion. 

The proposed expansion is unlikely to generate day-to-day water quality impacts beyond 
potentially increasing the turbidity of the water within the lake. It is important to note that 
turbidity is not a contaminant in and of itself, but is an indicator of the overall water quality and 
can indicate an increased likeliness of contaminants to enter the drinking water supply due 
overtaxed filtration systems, as stated by the McCall Water System Manager. A larger concern 



 

8 
 

of water staff is the increased potential for spills and leaks to occur as a result of additional 
boats being consistently stored in the lake. The water system, as currently constructed, would 
not be able to supply more than one (1) (summer) day’s worth of water if a spill event were to 
contaminate the water at the treatment plant. 
The proposal to limit new leases to 2010 or newer boats would ensure that the new leases are 
for those that meet the EPA emissions standards, with the exception of classic wooden boats. 

9. Provide a greenhouse gas emissions inventory of the proposed expansion utilizing the 
methodology established in the Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard, Revised 
Edition. 

The applicant has provided a greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions inventory in accordance with the 
requested standards. As discussed above, the likely net change to the total boat usage of the 
lake is most likely somewhere between eight (8) and ninety (90) new boats. As such, the total 
emissions created by the proposed expansion will be greater than indicated in the inventory, but 
the specific quantity is unclear. 

10. There was a discussion regarding measures that the Marina currently does to 
contain/minimize milfoil invasion. Please provide information on what the current methods 
are, whether and/or how those methods will be extended to the proposed expanded marina. 

The applicant has described the existing milfoil abatement program and has indicated that it 
would be expanded to include the footprint of the proposed marina after expansion. 

11. Provide the last 10 years, if available, of turbidity data, particularly for data collected in 
locations around the water intake pipe, the marina, legacy park, or in the general vicinity. 
There were some recent turbidity violations that were reported. If the reason for the 
increased turbidity is known to a reasonable degree of certainty, please provide that 
information (no speculation). 

The applicant provided water quality reports for 2011-2016, and 2018-2022. Based on 
conversations with the McCall Water System Manager, turbidity measurements are taken at the 
treatment plant rather than at individual intakes, it is difficult to ascertain with much confidence 
the primary source of turbidity issues. 

12. With respect to turbidity, provide information of how more boats, and in particular wake 
boats, leaving the marina may disturb near-shore sediment. 

The applicant has provided a study published in the Journal of Water Resource and Protection 
on March 23, 2022 entitled “Numerical Study of the Impact of Wake Surfing on Inland Bodies of 
Water.” The study finds that impacts to shorelines or sediment mixing can be effectively 
minimized through proper enforcement of the current no-wake zones. 

13. Public comment stated that there are newer wake boats capable of 6’ waves, and that have a 
fuel system that expels exhaust under water rather than in the air. It would not be 
unreasonable to assume such newer wakes boats may be docked in the expanded marina 
initially, or as the newer boats become more prevalent. (I don’t know how new these boats 
are.) Provide information regarding the new fuel injection system for wake boats and any 
information about how far out and in the water column such exhaust may impact water 
quality for drinking, and also water quality for swimming. In other words, can drinking water 
quality as well as water quality at Legacy Park, Brown Park, and in the vicinity of the marina 
be impacted for swimmers and non-motorized users?  



 

9 
 

The applicant has indicated that no wake boats currently on the market or anticipated to be 
coming to the market soon are capable of a six-foot (6’) tall wave. The public comment was 
likely in reference to a boat capable of creating a six-foot (6’) wide surfable face on a wave. 

14. There was discussion in the public hearing about parking, and that parking congestion might 
be alleviated because the boat owners with slips will not have to park trailers to boat. 
However, now there are 90 boats that are associated with 90 cars that will come to access 
their boats. Provide further information or analysis on how the project intends to address 
additional parking that would be needed to accommodate the slip renters. 

The waitlist survey indicated that 37 of the respondents had access to a residence within 
walking distance of the marina, and 87 had access to a residence in Valley County. As boating is 
an inherently fair-weather activity, it is reasonable to assume that a significant portion of the 
slip lessees will opt to walk or bike to access their boat rather than driving and parking. The 
applicant is proposing to improve the bike parking and multiuse travel lane in proximity to the 
marina, and the City should continue to focus efforts on improving bicycle and pedestrian 
infrastructure and providing housing near downtown in accordance with the goals of the McCall 
Area Comprehensive Plan. 

15. If boat slip renters now will not need to find parking spaces large enough for their trailers, 
then can park in smaller spaces that are further from the marina. How will the lack of parking 
impact parking that is designed significantly for non-boat users of Legacy Park? 

There is not a designated parking area for Legacy Park. As discussed above, efforts should be 
made to encourage non-motorized travel to the marina and Legacy Park. Parking is currently 
available near Legacy Park on-street and at city-owned public parking facilities. 

16. Clarify the ADA accessible parking spaces – number and location. 

The applicant has indicated that there are two ADA parking spaces. However, the site plan 
indicates that the existing ADA parking space would be relocated to the other side of East Lake 
Street. An application for the redevelopment of the vacant parcel across East Lake Street has 
been submitted with frontage improvements proposed. The proposed relocated ADA parking 
space would be retained with those improvements and enhanced with the construction of a 
sidewalk and bulb-out along the east side of East Lake Street. 

17. Provide information in the context of how the proposed expansion is consistent 
with/supports, or is inconsistent with, the City’s adopted Greenhouse Gas Emissions Inventory 
and Framework for Climate Action Planning. 

The applicant has provided recommended “green” practices and is proposing to purchase 
carbon offsets for an increase of eight (8) boats worth of usage. Staff is supportive of these 
proposals and encourages the applicant to consider a localized carbon offset strategy such as 
using the equivalent carbon offset funds to purchase electric boat chargers or similar zero 
carbon infrastructure. 

  



 

10 
 

18. Is the applicant willing to have conditions on the permit for the 90 new slips, that would 
prohibit: 

a) Commercial renters 

The applicant is amenable to this restriction. 

b) Subletting of slips 

The applicant is amenable to this restriction. 

c) Wake boats from renting 

The applicant is not amenable to this restriction. 

d) Any single party from renting more than one slip? 

The applicant is amenable to this restriction. 

Conditional Use Permit Criteria 
For reference, the requirements for the granting of a conditional use permit found in McCall Code 

Section 3.13.03(B)(2) are below: 

1. Constitute a conditional use authorized in the zone involved. 

2. Be harmonious with and in accord with the general objectives and with any specific objectives of the 

comprehensive plan and/or this title. 

3. Be designed, constructed, operated and maintained to be harmonious and appropriate in 

appearance with the existing or likely character of the neighborhood, and that such use will not 

change the essential character of the surrounding area. 

4. Not be detrimental to the health, safety and general welfare of persons residing or working in the 

neighborhood of such proposed use. 

5. Not cause any substantially harmful environmental consequences to any land or waters within the 

planning jurisdiction. 

6. Not create excessive additional public cost for public facilities and services, and will not be 

detrimental to the economic welfare of the community. 

7. Be served adequately by essential public facilities and services including highways, streets, police 

and fire protection, drainage structures, refuse disposal, water and sewer, and schools. The 

applicant may be required, as a condition of approval, to mitigate any deficient public service. 

8. Not involve uses, activities, processes, materials, equipment or conditions of operation that will 

cause unreasonable production of traffic, noise, smoke, fumes, glare, odors or other forms of 

pollution. 

9. Have vehicular approaches to the property so designed as not to create a detrimental interference 

with traffic on surrounding public or private thoroughfares, or adversely affect the pedestrian 

environment. 

10. Not result in the destruction, loss or damage of an important natural, scenic or historic feature. 

11. Be on a site of sufficient size to accommodate the proposed use, including the yards, open spaces, 

snow storage, walls, fences, parking areas, loading zones and design standards applicable. 

12. Have a minimal negative economic impact on the neighborhood or surrounding community. 



 

11 
 

Recommended Conditions of Approval 
Based on the information provided to date, if the Council chooses to approve the subject application, 

Staff recommends the following conditions of approval (changes since January 11, 2024 public hearing 

underlined). 

 Prior to Condition Recommended 
Contact 

1. The issuance of a building 
permit 

The applicant shall receive final engineering 
approval 

City Engineer 

2. The final location and Design of the bicycle 
parking proposed to be installed within 
Legacy Park shall be reviewed and approved 
by the City of McCall Parks and Recreation 
Department. 

Parks and 
Recreation Director 

3. The applicant shall consult with the Public Art 
Advisory Committee on a more specific plan 
regarding the installation of public art along 
the boardwalk area. 

City Planner 

  The applicant shall offset carbon emissions as 

discussed in Question 17 of the Applicant’s 

Response Document. 

City Planner 

4. The issuance of a 
certificate of occupancy 

The applicant shall reseed all disturbed areas 
with native grasses or wildflowers 

Building Official 

  The applicant shall enter into a maintenance 

and operations agreement regarding the 

boardwalk facility. 

Parks and 
Recreation Director 

Expirations 
1. This Conditional Use Permit approval shall lapse and become void whenever the applicant has not 

applied for a building permit within three (3) years from the date of initial approval. 

Other 
1. The City may utilize the marina and attenuator structures for the placement of monitoring 

equipment relating to lake health. 

2. The City reserves the right to utilize the identified publicly accessible public art sites for the 

installation of public art. 

3. Except for wooden boats built prior to 1999, No new leases for any boat slips shall be granted to 

boats built prior to 2010. 

4. No new leases shall be granted to boats with a two-stroke engine. 

5. The applicant shall continue to annually conduct milfoil abatement within the footprint of the 

marina, including the expansion area. 

6. The applicant shall provide educational information to lessees regarding no-wake zones and the 

importance of avoiding the creation of wake in shallow waters. 



 

12 
 

7. The applicant shall follow the Spill Control and Response Plan included within the application 

materials as needed. 

8. The applicant shall install and utilize rubber splash guards on fuel dispensers. 

 



From: Steve Millemann
To: Brian Parker; Heather Potts; Sam Worley
Cc: Meredith Todd; Michelle Groenevelt; BessieJo Wagner
Subject: Re: CUP Applicant Responses to Additional Questions - Mile High Marina
Date: Monday, March 11, 2024 6:42:05 PM
Attachments: image002.png

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you
recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

Brian,
Thanks for the questions. See initial responses below. 
We welcome further questions as you continue to review the Responses.
Best,
 
Steven J Millemann
Millemann, Pemberton & Holm LLP
208-634-7641  

From: Brian Parker <bparker@mccall.id.us>
Sent: Monday, March 11, 2024 4:10 PM
To: Heather Potts <heather@mpmplaw.com>; Steve Millemann <sjm@mpmplaw.com>; Sam
Worley <sam@worleysb.com>
Cc: Meredith Todd <mtodd@mccall.id.us>; Michelle Groenevelt <mgroenevelt@mccall.id.us>;
BessieJo Wagner <bwagner@mccall.id.us>
Subject: RE: CUP Applicant Responses to Additional Questions - Mile High Marina
 
 
I’m starting to dive into this, but am already running into some confusion. Please clarify the
following:

Were the two surveys conducted via phone/verbally? Would it be possible to get
(redacted if needed) copies of the individual tally sheets? SJM: They were conducted
by phone. No problem providing redacted copies of the individual tally sheets. 
Is Question 1 answered in the Responses document? All the analysis in the
Response to Question 1 seems to be in regard to Questions 2 and 3.SJM: Question 1
is answered in the Overall Tally Sheet attached as Exhibit A  to the Cassidy
Templeton Declaration. I can break it out if you need. 
Please help me equivalate the typologies of the existing lessee and waitlist boats.??
The total number of boats in the existing lessee survey is 163, not 140. Is this a
tabulation error, or did some of the lessees own multiple boats? SJM: Cassidy was
only able to reach 140 of the existing lessees in the time available. We are very
comfortable that this is a representative sample for purposes of the data presented. 
On the existing lessee survey, would it be possible to provide individual entry/exit
dates and/or average days with a boat in a slip? SJM: The entry and exit dates are
reported in the existing lessee Individual Tally Sheets. Waiting List people were just
asked how many days they are on the Lake and typically how many hours per day of
use. . 
On Question 7, would the “Classic Wooden Boats” identified on the waitlist be

mailto:sjm@mpmplaw.com
mailto:bparker@mccall.id.us
mailto:heather@mpmplaw.com
mailto:sam@worleysb.com
mailto:mtodd@mccall.id.us
mailto:mgroenevelt@mccall.id.us
mailto:bwagner@mccall.id.us



prohibited from leasing, or are there retrofit options available to bring them up to 2010
EPA standards? Can you provide an estimate of how many existing lessee boats and
waitlist boats are not up to the 2010 EPA standards? SJM: Note that the Classic
Wooden Boats and Runabout Ski Boats were combined in Kelly Worley’s Overall
Tally Sheet of Waiting List folks.  There are very few classic wooden boats on the
Waiting List and only 2 in the Marina now. The Classic Wooden Boat owners don’t
particularly like being in a Marina. That being said, the classic wooden boats are an
important part of the history of the Lake and will be exempted from the 2010 model
year requirement. I am not sure that the profile of the existing lessee boats is within
the scope of the current Application. And, I don’t know that we will be able to provide
exact counts as to the Waiting List, because not every respondent provided the year
of their boat. Nonetheless, we will review the individual tally sheets and pass along
what we find out. Keep in mind that the trend right now is that boaters are upgrading
to new boats, particularly pontoon boats, as the boating population ages. Also, keep
in mind that these slips won’t be available for a couple of years. So, the protocol once
the Application is approved will be to circle back to each of the first 90 Waiting List
folks and, other than the few classic wooden boat owners, if the boat is not a 2010 or
newer model, the Waiting List person will be given the opportunity to upgrade to a
newer boat; or, Sam and Kelly will move to the next person on the List. They do not
anticipate that this will ultimately be an issue, given the current trends.
On Question 13, how does one measure the “length” of a wave?  SJM: It would be
the length of the surfable face of the wave.
Generally, it seems that a lot of the responses are pointing to 8 new boats being
added to the lake as an absolute total. The waitlist survey expressed challenges with
congestion at the launch and with trailer parking. Did you conduct any research or
analysis on what induced demand may occur once the 1,300 launches/retrieves and
trailer parking alleviate some of the congestion, both at the launch and in the parking
areas? SJM:  The absolute fact is that 82 of the 90 respondents from the Waiting List
reported that they already own a boat and already use it on Payette Lake. Thus, they
are not “new boats” being introduced to the Lake by the expansion of the Marina and,
to the extent that there are impacts related to these boats, those impacts are pre-
existing and have nothing to do with the Marina offering them slips. There are no new
impacts that result from them leaving their boats in a slip rather than trailering them
in, particularly when you recognize that the relative days and hours of use between
the two groups is not materially different. The 8 “new boats” is explained in the
Responses as the maximum number of new boats which might become slip
lessees. As explained in the Responses it is an overstatement, because 7 of those 8
respondents reported that they used a boat on the Lake in 2023 and intend to do so
again in 2024, but do not currently own a boat. We erred on the side of overstating
the actual impact of the expansion rather than understating it. On your second
question, we did not try to evaluate the issue of “induced demand”, nor do I know how
we possibly would. It would be pure speculation and we frankly don’t believe that the
notion that less congestion will create new lake boaters is credible. People who own
boats and want to use them on the Lake will do so and, except on the rare high traffic
days like July 4,  neither congestion nor parking will dissuade them, particularly given
the availability of the ramp and parking at Ponderosa Park.  Moreover, if this is a
concern, then it is an issue that the City ultimately has the ability to monitor and
control at its ramps as the City continues to work with the County and the State on



Lake capacity analysis.
 
It’s fairly likely that more questions will be floating your way in the next couple days.
 
Thank you,
 
Brian Parker, AICP   |  City Planner
216 E. Park Street | McCall | Idaho 83638
Direct: 208.634.4256 | Fax: 208.634.3038

 
From: Heather Potts <heather@mpmplaw.com> 
Sent: Monday, March 11, 2024 1:44 PM
To: Brian Parker <bparker@mccall.id.us>
Cc: Steve Millemann <sjm@mpmplaw.com>; Sam Worley <sam@worleysb.com>; Meredith Todd
<mtodd@mccall.id.us>; Michelle Groenevelt <mgroenevelt@mccall.id.us>; BessieJo Wagner
<bwagner@mccall.id.us>
Subject: RE: CUP Applicant Responses to Additional Questions - Mile High Marina
 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you
recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

 
This is correct, thank you.
 
Heather Potts
Paralegal and Office Manager
Millemann Pemberton & Holm LLP
P.O. Box 1066 (Mailing Address)
706 N. 1st Street (Physical Address)
McCall, ID 83638
Tel.: 208-634-7641
Fax: 208-634-4516
Email: heather@mpmplaw.com

The information contained in this transmission may contain privileged and confidential information.  It is intended only for
use of the person(s) named above.  If you are not the intended recipient: (1) you are hereby notified that any review,
dissemination, distribution or duplication of this communication is strictly prohibited; and, (2) please contact the sender by
reply email and destroy all copies of the original message.  Thank you for your cooperation. 
 
From: Brian Parker <bparker@mccall.id.us> 
Sent: Monday, March 11, 2024 1:40 PM
To: Heather Potts <heather@mpmplaw.com>

mailto:heather@mpmplaw.com
mailto:bparker@mccall.id.us
mailto:sjm@mpmplaw.com
mailto:sam@worleysb.com
mailto:mtodd@mccall.id.us
mailto:mgroenevelt@mccall.id.us
mailto:bwagner@mccall.id.us
mailto:heather@mpmplaw.com
mailto:bparker@mccall.id.us
mailto:heather@mpmplaw.com


Cc: Steve Millemann <sjm@mpmplaw.com>; Sam Worley <sam@worleysb.com>; Meredith Todd
<mtodd@mccall.id.us>; Michelle Groenevelt <mgroenevelt@mccall.id.us>; BessieJo Wagner
<bwagner@mccall.id.us>
Subject: RE: CUP Applicant Responses to Additional Questions - Mile High Marina
 
 
Received, thank you. Since there are a few versions floating around, please confirm that
the two attached documents are the version you would like me to review.
 
Thank you,
 
Brian Parker, AICP   |  City Planner
216 E. Park Street | McCall | Idaho 83638
Direct: 208.634.4256 | Fax: 208.634.3038

 
From: Heather Potts <heather@mpmplaw.com> 
Sent: Monday, March 11, 2024 8:42 AM
To: Brian Parker <bparker@mccall.id.us>
Cc: Steve Millemann <sjm@mpmplaw.com>; Sam Worley <sam@worleysb.com>
Subject: RE: CUP Applicant Responses to Additional Questions - Mile High Marina
 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you
recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

 
Brian,
I realize that Attachment 19 was not labeled, see fully labeled attachments 1-21. Thank you.
 
Heather Potts
Paralegal and Office Manager
Millemann Pemberton & Holm LLP
P.O. Box 1066 (Mailing Address)
706 N. 1st Street (Physical Address)
McCall, ID 83638
Tel.: 208-634-7641
Fax: 208-634-4516
Email: heather@mpmplaw.com

The information contained in this transmission may contain privileged and confidential information.  It is intended only for
use of the person(s) named above.  If you are not the intended recipient: (1) you are hereby notified that any review,
dissemination, distribution or duplication of this communication is strictly prohibited; and, (2) please contact the sender by
reply email and destroy all copies of the original message.  Thank you for your cooperation. 
 

mailto:sjm@mpmplaw.com
mailto:sam@worleysb.com
mailto:mtodd@mccall.id.us
mailto:mgroenevelt@mccall.id.us
mailto:bwagner@mccall.id.us
mailto:heather@mpmplaw.com
mailto:bparker@mccall.id.us
mailto:sjm@mpmplaw.com
mailto:sam@worleysb.com
mailto:heather@mpmplaw.com


From: Heather Potts 
Sent: Monday, March 11, 2024 12:07 AM
To: Brian Parker <bparker@mccall.id.us>
Cc: Steve Millemann <sjm@mpmplaw.com>; Sam Worley <sam@worleysb.com>
Subject: CUP Applicant Responses to Additional Questions - Mile High Marina
 
Good morning Brian,
Attached please find the responses and attachments to the above referenced CUP City Council
Additional Questions. Please let me know if you have any issues accessing or opening the
documents. Thank you.
 
Heather Potts
Paralegal and Office Manager
Millemann Pemberton & Holm LLP
P.O. Box 1066 (Mailing Address)
706 N. 1st Street (Physical Address)
McCall, ID 83638
Tel.: 208-634-7641
Fax: 208-634-4516
Email: heather@mpmplaw.com

The information contained in this transmission may contain privileged and confidential information.  It is intended only for
use of the person(s) named above.  If you are not the intended recipient: (1) you are hereby notified that any review,
dissemination, distribution or duplication of this communication is strictly prohibited; and, (2) please contact the sender by
reply email and destroy all copies of the original message.  Thank you for your cooperation. 
 

mailto:bparker@mccall.id.us
mailto:sjm@mpmplaw.com
mailto:sam@worleysb.com
mailto:heather@mpmplaw.com


United States
Environmental Protection
Agency

National Management Measures
Guidance to Control Nonpoint
Source Pollution from Marinas and
Recreational Boating

EPA 841-B-01-005
November 2001

Office of Water
(4503F)



National Management
Measures to Control

Nonpoint Source Pollution
from Marinas and

Recreational Boating

Nonpoint Source Control Branch
Office of Wetlands, Oceans and Watersheds

Office of Water
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency

November, 2001



Acknowledgements

Edwin Drabkowski, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Nonpoint
Source Control Branch, Washington, DC, was the primary author and project leader for this
guidance document.

Sam Pett, Tetra Tech, Inc., Fairfax, Virginia, assisted in the effort.

Neil Ross, Neil Ross Consultants, Kingston, Rhode Island, provided valuable contributions



Contents

i

CONTENTS

SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION
The Purpose and Scope of This Guidance ........................................................................................  1-1
Relationship to CZARA Guidance ...................................................................................................  1-2
National Water Quality Inventory ....................................................................................................  1-3
What is Nonpoint Source Pollution? .................................................................................................  1-4
Watershed Approach to Nonpoint Source Pollution Control ...............................................................  1-5
Programs to Control Nonpoint Source Pollution ................................................................................  1-7

National Nonpoint Source Pollution Control Program ...............................................................  1-7
Storm Water Permit Program .................................................................................................  1-8
Coastal Nonpoint Pollution Control Program ...........................................................................  1-8
Clean Vessel Act Pumpout Grant Program .............................................................................  1-9
International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL) .......................  1-9
Oil Pollution Act (OPA) and Regulations ..............................................................................  1-10

Sources of Further Information .....................................................................................................  1-10
Watershed Resources ...................................................................................................................  1-11

SECTION 2: SOURCES OF WATER POLLUTION FROM MARINAS AND
RECREATIONAL BOATING
Pollutant Types and Impacts ...........................................................................................................  2-2
Pollutants in the Water Column .......................................................................................................  2-2

Low Dissolved Oxygen .........................................................................................................  2-3
Metals ..................................................................................................................................  2-3
Petroleum Hydrocarbons .......................................................................................................  2-3
Solvents ................................................................................................................................  2-4
Antifreeze .............................................................................................................................  2-4
Acids ....................................................................................................................................  2-4
Surfactants ...........................................................................................................................  2-4

Pollutants in Aquatic Organisms ......................................................................................................  2-4
Pollutants in Sediments ...................................................................................................................  2-5

Metals ..................................................................................................................................  2-5
Petroleum Hydrocarbons .......................................................................................................  2-5

Pathogens ......................................................................................................................................  2-5
Debris and Litter ............................................................................................................................  2-6
Sediment and Habitat Alterations ....................................................................................................  2-6
Shoaling and Shoreline Alterations ...................................................................................................  2-7

SECTION 3: NONPOINT SOURCE POLLUTION CONTROL AND WATERBODY
CHARACTERISTICS
Understanding Management Measures and Practices .......................................................................  3-1
How Management Practices Work to Prevent Nonpoint Source Pollution ..........................................  3-2
Management Practice Systems .......................................................................................................  3-4
Site-Specific Design of Management Practices ................................................................................  3-4
Important Characteristics of Marina Environments from a Pollution Perspective ................................  3-5

General Factors Common to All Waterbodies ..........................................................................  3-5
Lakes and Reservoirs ............................................................................................................  3-5
Rivers ...................................................................................................................................  3-6
Estuaries ...............................................................................................................................  3-6
Coastal Environments ............................................................................................................  3-7



ii

Contents

Boating on Inland Waters ................................................................................................................  3-7
Boating Access ..............................................................................................................................  3-8

SECTION 4: MANAGEMENT MEASURES
Introduction ....................................................................................................................................  4-1
4.1. Marina Flushing ...................................................................................................................  4-7
4.2. Water Quality Assessment .................................................................................................  4-13
4.3. Habitat Assessment ...........................................................................................................  4-19
4.4. Shoreline Stabilization .........................................................................................................  4-27
4.5. Storm Water Runoff ..........................................................................................................  4-31
4.6. Fueling Station Design ........................................................................................................  4-45
4.7. Petroleum Control ..............................................................................................................  4-53
4.8. Liquid Material Management ..............................................................................................  4-59
4.9. Solid Waste Management ...................................................................................................  4-67
4.10. Fish Waste Management ....................................................................................................  4-73
4.11. Sewage Facility Management .............................................................................................  4-77
4.12. Maintenance of Sewage Facilities .......................................................................................  4-87
4.13. Boat Cleaning ....................................................................................................................  4-91
4.14. Boat Operation ..................................................................................................................  4-95
4.15. Public Education ................................................................................................................  4-99

Note: A BMP Summary Table follows each Management Measure discussion.

SECTION 5: DETERMINING POLLUTANT LOADS
Example Models for Marina Flushing Assessment ............................................................................  5-2

Selection criteria ...................................................................................................................  5-2
Models selected ....................................................................................................................  5-3

Simple Model .................................................................................................................................  5-3
Mid-Range Models .........................................................................................................................  5-5

Tidal prism model ..................................................................................................................  5-5
NCDEM DO model ..............................................................................................................  5-6

Complex Models ............................................................................................................................  5-6
WASP4 ................................................................................................................................  5-6
EFDC Hydrodynamic Model..................................................................................................  5-7

Water Quality Monitoring in Marinas (for modeling applications) .......................................................  5-8
Sampling guidelines for existing marinas .................................................................................  5-8
Spatial coverage ....................................................................................................................  5-8
Constituents sampled .............................................................................................................  5-9
Sampling locations ...............................................................................................................  5-10
Sampling time and frequency ...............................................................................................  5-10

APPENDICES
A.  Best Management Practices Checklist for Marinas and Recreational Boating
B.  Example Oil Spill Response Plan
C.  Tables of Costs and Benefits of Marina Best Management Practices
D.  Federal Laws Related to Marinas and Recreational Boating
E. Web Sites With Information Related to Marinas and Recreational Boating
F. Storm Water Runoff Management Practice Tables

BIBLIOGRAPHY

GLOSSARY



Contents

iii

Tables
1-1 Percentages of surveyed waters supporting designated uses ..................................................  1-4
3-1 Marine sanitation device descriptions ....................................................................................  3-4
4-1 Common invasive and exotic species of the United States ....................................................  4-21
4-2 Conversion of SIC to NAICS .............................................................................................  4-32
4-3 Effectiveness of management practices for runoff control ....................................................  4-33
4-4 EPA-designated no-discharge zones in the United States ......................................................  4-83
5-1 Ease of application:  Sources, support, and documentation ......................................................  5-4
5-2 Level of effort for best models .............................................................................................  5-5

BMP Summary Tables
Key to BMP Tables .......................................................................................................................  4-4
Table 1 Marina flushing management ........................................................................................  4-11
Table 2 Water quality assessment management .........................................................................  4-17
Table 3 Habitat assessment management ..................................................................................  4-24
Table 4 Shoreline and streambank stabilization management .......................................................  4-30
Table 5 Storm water runoff management ..................................................................................  4-40
Table 6 Fueling station design management ...............................................................................  4-50
Table 7 Petroleum control management .....................................................................................  4-56
Table 8 Liquid material management .........................................................................................  4-63
Table 9 Solid waste management ..............................................................................................  4-71
Table 10 Fish waste management ...............................................................................................  4-75
Table 11 Sewage waste management .........................................................................................  4-84
Table 12 Maintenance of sewage facilities management ..............................................................  4-89
Table 13 Boat cleaning management ...........................................................................................  4-94
Table 14 Boat operation management .........................................................................................  4-98
Table 15 Public education management .....................................................................................  4-105

Figures
1-1 Schematic of a watershed ....................................................................................................  1-6
1-2 MARPOL placard .............................................................................................................  1-10
2-1 Effects of pollutants in aquatic systems .................................................................................  2-2
3-1 Typical features of and differences between lakes and reservoirs ...........................................  3-8
4-1 Example marina designs .......................................................................................................  4-9
4-2 Breached breakwater, Puerto Del Rey Marina (PR) ............................................................  4-10
4-3 The Secchi disk .................................................................................................................  4-13
4-4 Scallop monitoring, Cedar Island Marina (CT) .....................................................................  4-15
4-5 Biological assemblages used for lake monitoring ..................................................................  4-16
4-6 Habitat assessment, Elliot Bay Marina (WA) .......................................................................  4-20
4-7 Oak Harbor Marina (WA) sign ...........................................................................................  4-23
4-8 Inland boat repair, Conanicut Marine Service (RI) ...............................................................  4-35
4-9 Grassed buffer, Deep River Marina (CT) ............................................................................  4-37
4-10 Grassed filter strip .............................................................................................................  4-38
4-11 Crushed gravel lot, Lockwood Boat Works (NJ) ..................................................................  4-38
4-12 Underground trench with oil/grit chamber ............................................................................  4-39
4-13 PWC floating docks ...........................................................................................................  4-47
4-14 High temperature furnace, West Access Marina (IL) ..........................................................  4-62
4-15 Filter cloths, Port Annapolis Marina (MD) ...........................................................................  4-67
4-16 Vacuum sanders, The Lodge of the Four Seasons Marina (MO) ...........................................  4-68
4- 17 Closed sandblasting system, Associated Marine Technologies (FL) .......................................  4-70



iv

Contents

4-18 Pumpout station logo ..........................................................................................................  4-78
4-19 Examples of pumpout systems ............................................................................................  4-79
4-20 Pumpout system, Hall of Fame Marina (FL) ........................................................................  4-80
4-21 Staff pumpouts, Battery Park Marina (OH) .........................................................................  4-80
4-22 An example of a sign declaring a “no discharge” marina ......................................................  4-81
4-23 Disposable doggie bags, Elliot Bay Marina (WA) .................................................................  4-82
4-24 Warning sign that indicates toxicity to both people and the environment .................................  4-92
4-25 National Clean Boating Campaign logo .............................................................................  4-101
4-26 Sign with instructions to patrons on proper disposal of materials ..........................................  4-102
5-1 Structure of and modules associated with the EFDC model ....................................................  5-7



SECTION 1: Introduction

1-1

SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION

The Purpose and Scope of This Guidance

This national management measures guidance for
marinas and recreational boating provides guid-
ance to states, territories, authorized tribes, and
the public regarding management measures that
may be used to reduce nonpoint source pollution
from marinas and recreational boating activities.

The guidance is intended to provide technical
assistance to state program managers and others
on the best practicable means of reducing
nonpoint source pollution of surface waters from
marinas and recreational boating. The guidance
provides background information about nonpoint
source pollution from marinas and recreational
boating—including where it comes from and how
it enters the nation’s waters—and technical
information about how to reduce nonpoint source
pollution from marinas and recreational boating. It
also discusses the relationship of marinas to the
watersheds in which they are located.

The guidance can assist marina managers in
identifying possible sources of nonpoint source
pollution and offers potential solutions. Finding a
solution to nonpoint source pollution problems at a
marina requires taking into account the site-

specific factors that together compose the setting
of a marina. The best management practices
(BMPs) presented in Section 4 of this guidance
are recommended based on their successful
application at many marinas nationwide. Their
applicability to any particular marina or situation,
however, must be determined based on site-
specific factors. The applicability of the individual
BMPs and combinations of BMPs should be
considered within the overall context of the
location, environment, design, and needs of the
marina. Marina managers should make informed
decisions, based on the circumstances at their
particular marina, as to whether the BMPs in this
guidance or others would be most effective for
controlling nonpoint source pollution. Which BMP
or combination of BMPs is used is not the critical
point. Preventing water pollution is.

This guidance refers to statutory and regulatory
provisions that contain legally binding requirements.
It does not take the place of those provisions or
regulations, nor is it a regulation itself. Thus, it does
not impose legally binding requirements on the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), states,
territories, authorized tribes, or the public and might
not apply to a particular situation. The decision

Section 1 Contents

The Purpose and Scope of This Guidance ....................................................................1-1
Relationship to CZARA Guidance ....................................................................................1-2
National Water Quality Inventory .....................................................................................1-3
What is Nonpoint Source Pollution? ...............................................................................1-4
Watershed Approach to Nonpoint Source Pollution Control .......................................1-5
Programs to Control Nonpoint Source Pollution...........................................................1-7

National Nonpoint Source Pollution Control Program .............................................1-7
Storm Water Permit Program .......................................................................................1-8
Coastal Nonpoint Pollution Control Program ............................................................1-8
Clean Vessel Act Pumpout Grant Program ................................................................1-9
International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution
from Ships (MARPOL) ...................................................................................................1-9
Oil Pollution Act (OPA) and Regulation ....................................................................1-10

Sources of Further Information .....................................................................................1-10
Watershed Resources..................................................................................................... 1-11



1-2

National Management Measures Guidance

makers of EPA, states, territories, and authorized
tribes retain the discretion to adopt approaches on
a case-by-case basis that differ from this guidance
where appropriate. EPA may change this guidance
in the future.

The guidance is organized in six parts:

• Section 1 introduces the guidance.

• Section 2 discusses the sources of nonpoint
source pollution and the specific pollutants of
concern associated with marinas and recre-
ational boating.

• Section 3 discusses management measures
and site-specific BMPs generally, the use of
combinations of BMPs (BMP systems), and
the characteristics of surface waters where
marinas are located.

• Section 4 introduces the 15 management
measures for marinas and recreational
boating and describes BMPs that can be used
to achieve the management measures.

• Section 5 describes some models used to
estimate pollutant loads and discusses water
quality monitoring.

• Appendices provide additional relevant
information.

The management measures in this guidance are
the best available, economically achievable
practices or combinations of practices that can be
used to address nonpoint sources of pollution
related to marinas and recreational boating. EPA
originally identified 15 management measures for
implementation within the state coastal manage-
ment areas (see Guidance Specifying Manage-
ment Measures for Sources of Nonpoint
Pollution in Coastal Waters [USEPA, 1993]).
The titles of the management measures are listed
in the box to the above right. From discussions
with marina owners and operators at facilities on
fresh waters nationwide, these 15 management
measures and associated practices have been
found generally to be just as applicable to fresh
water marinas as they are to coastal water
marinas. They form the basic measures recom-
mended in this guidance.

Best management practices are individual
activities or structures that can be used alone or in
combination to achieve the management mea-
sures. Refer to Section 4 for a thorough discus-
sion of the 15 management measures for marinas
and recreational boating and the known BMPs
that can be used to achieve them.

The scope of this national management measures
guidance is broad, covering diverse nonpoint
source pollutants from marinas and recreational
boating. Because it reflects all types of
waterbodies, it cannot provide all practices and
techniques suitable to all regional or local marina
or waterbody conditions. Also, BMPs are continu-
ously being modified and developed as a result of
experience gained from BMP implementation and
the innovation of marina managers across the
country.

Management measures are steps that
can be taken to control of the addition of
pollutants from nonpoint sources. Manage-
ment measures are achievable through the
application of BMPs, technologies,
processes, siting criteria, operating
methods, or other alternatives.

Management Measures for Marinas
and Recreational Boating

Flushing
Water quality assessment
Habitat assessment
Shoreline stabilization
Storm water runoff
Fueling station design
Petroleum control
Liquid material management
Solid waste management
Fish waste management
Sewage facilities
Maintenance of sewage facilities
Boat cleaning
Boat operation
Public education



SECTION 1: Introduction

1-3

Relationship to CZARA Guidance

Readers should note that this guidance is consis-
tent with the Guidance Specifying Management
Measures for Sources of Nonpoint Pollution in
Coastal Waters (USEPA, 1993) published under
section 6217 of the Coastal Zone Act Reauthori-
zation Amendments of 1990 (CZARA). This
guidance does not supplant or replace the 1993
coastal management measures guidance for the
purpose of implementing programs under section
6217.

Under CZARA, states that participate in the
Coastal Zone Management Program under the
Coastal Zone Management Act are required to
develop Coastal Nonpoint Pollution Control
Programs that ensure the implementation of
EPA’s management measures in their coastal
management areas. The 1993 guidance continues
to apply to that program.

This national management measures guidance
modifies and expands upon the supplementary
technical information contained in the coastal
management measures guidance both to reflect
circumstances relevant to differing inland condi-
tions and to provide current technical information.
It does not set new or additional standards for
state Nonpoint Source Management Programs
under section 319 of the Clean Water Act (CWA)
or section 6217 of CZARA. It does, however,
provide information that government agencies,
private sector groups, and individuals can use to
understand and apply measures and practices to
address nonpoint source pollution from marinas
and recreational boating.

National Water Quality Inventory

The nation’s aquatic resources are among its
most valuable assets. Although environmental
protection programs in the United States like
those implemented under the CWA have brought
great improvements to water quality during the
past 30 years, many challenges remain. Significant
progress has been made in reducing pollution to the
nation’s waters from industrial and municipal
wastewater treatment systems. Nevertheless,
EPA reported in its 1998 National Water Quality
Inventory, published in June 2000, that more than
35 percent of the inland waters and estuaries

assessed are still too polluted to support their
designated uses (based on survey information
submitted by states, territories, and tribes). The
health of these waters is primarily degraded by
nonpoint source pollution, which is described more
fully on page 1-4.

Every 2 years, EPA reports to Congress on the
quality of the nation’s waters in the National
Water Quality Inventory. States, territories, and
tribes survey the water quality in a sample of the
rivers and streams; lakes, ponds, and reservoirs;
estuaries; ocean shorelines; and/or Great Lakes
shorelines in their jurisdictions and report the
findings to EPA for the Inventory. Because each
state, territory, and tribe surveys its jurisdictional
waters according to individual priorities, the
survey results cannot be generalized as the quality
of the nation’s waters overall, but the results do
provide a snapshot of nationwide water quality
and water quality trends.

The 1998 National Water Quality Inventory
summarizes the water quality assessment reports
submitted by states, territories, and tribes.
Table 1-1 lists the overall percentages of each
waterbody type surveyed and the water quality of
those waters in terms of designated use support.

States, territories, and tribes designate waters as
suitable for particular uses, depending on location,
surrounding land use, and other factors. For
instance, a river passing near an urban area might
be designated to be used for noncontact recre-
ation (such as fishing or boating), while a stream
in a state park might be designated for aquatic life
support. Water quality criteria are set for each
waterbody according to its designated use(s).

The types of pollutants that degrade these waters
are

Designated uses are set by states as
water quality goals for individual
waterbodies. Designated use goals
include drinking water supply, primary
contact recreation (such as swimming),
and aquatic life support. Each designated
use has a unique set of water quality
requirements or criteria that must be met
for the use to be attained.



1-4

National Management Measures Guidance

• Nutrients (excess nitrogen and phosphorus).

• Sediment (from soil and shoreline erosion).

• Disease-causing bacteria (from animal waste
washed into surface waters and inadequately
treated sewage).

• Toxic metals (from mining runoff, storm-
water runoff from urban and industrial areas,
and industrial processes).

• Toxic organic chemicals (such as dioxins and
polychlorinated biphenyls, or PCBs).

• Oxygen-depleting materials (organic materials
like leaf litter that consume oxygen as they
break down in the water).

• Pesticides (including insecticides and herbi-
cides).

• Petroleum compounds (such as fuel, oil, and
grease).

• Noxious or invasive aquatic plants (such as
Eurasian water milfoil and water hyacinth).

The leading sources of these pollutants are
agriculture, municipal point sources, industrial
discharges, nonpoint sources (in general), urban
runoff/storm sewers, atmospheric deposition,

hydrologic modification (dams and shoreline
modification), habitat modification, and mining.

Although marinas are not one of the major
sources of pollution to our nation’s rivers, lakes, or
estuaries, they are centers of recreation, and poor
or inadequate pollution prevention practices in
them can result in human health problems and
local water quality degradation. Examples of
potential nonpoint source pollution problems at
marinas include poor water circulation and
flushing within the marina, petroleum spills from
storage tanks and boat fueling, bilge oil dis-
charges, and runoff from boat hull maintenance
and engine repair areas. Nonpoint source pollution
at marinas can also result from poor housekeeping
practices (such as in-water boat washing with
polluting detergents), a lack of containers for
recycling solid and liquid waste materials, and
inadequate sanitary facilities.

What Is Nonpoint Source Pollution?

Nonpoint source pollution results from rainwater
and snow (or snowmelt) carrying pollutants
picked up from the atmosphere or the ground to
surface water and ground water. It is also
associated with land runoff from irrigation or lawn
watering, ground water drainage from mines and

Table 1-1.  Percentages of surveyed waters supporting designated uses.

Waterbody Type
Percent

Surveyed

Fully
Supporting
All Usesaa

Threatened for
One or More

Usesaa

Impaired for
One or More

Usesaa

Quantity of
Waterbody
Type in US

Rivers &
Streams (miles)

23 65 10 35 3.7 million
miles

Lakes, Ponds, &
Reservoirs
(acres)

42 55 9 45
41.6 million

acres

Estuaries
(square miles)

32 56 9 44
90,465

square miles

Ocean Shoreline
(miles)

5 88 8 12
66,645
miles

Great Lakes
Shoreline (miles)

90 4 2 96 5,521
miles

a Percent of units of waterbody type surveyed in this category.  For example, 9 percent of the 32 percent of estuaries
surveyed were threatened for one or more uses at the time of the survey.
Source: USEPA, 2000 (1998 Report to Congress)



SECTION 1: Introduction

1-5

landfills, seepage from broken or leaking pipes,
and hydrologic modification. Hydrologic modifica-
tion is anything that alters natural water currents,
such as dams and levees or changes to natural
shorelines with hard structures or excavation,
such as riprap or cement. These are considered
nonpoint sources of pollution because of the harm
that can occur to the biological and physical
integrity of surface and ground waters as a result
of them. The nonpoint source pollutants that
cause the greatest harm to surface waters are
nutrients, sediments, organic matter, pathogens,

and toxic compounds (including petroleum com-
pounds and toxic metals).

Technically, the term nonpoint source is defined
to mean any source of water pollution that does
not meet the legal definition of point source in
section 502(14) of the CWA of 1987:

The term “point source” means any
discernible, confined and discrete
conveyance, including but not limited to
any pipe, ditch, channel, tunnel, con-
duit, well, discrete fissure, container,
rolling stock, concentrated animal
feeding operation, or vessel or other
floating craft, from which pollutants are
or may be discharged. This term does
not include agricultural storm water
discharges and return flows from irri-
gated agriculture.

Although diffuse runoff is usually treated as
nonpoint source pollution, runoff that enters and is
discharged from conveyances like those described
above is treated as a point source discharge. Point
sources typically enter receiving water bodies at
some identifiable site, such as the end of a pipe,
and they are usually the result of a discharge from
some industrial process or construction activity,
not rain or snowfall. The distinction between point
and nonpoint sources of pollution is an important

one because point source discharges such as
municipal and industrial wastewaters and storm
sewer outfalls from urbanized areas are regulated
and issued permits under the CWA, whereas
nonpoint sources are not subject to federal permit
requirements.

Watershed Approach to Nonpoint Source
Pollution Control

Marinas, by nature of their business, are posi-
tioned in a watershed, where the activities of
others in the watershed affect water quality in the
marina basin. Water quality at any specific point
along a river is influenced by all upstream and
upgradient locations in the river’s watershed.
Marinas located on rivers and reservoirs are
potential recipients of the runoff from sources
located upstream and along upstream tributaries,
and from all upgradient land-based activities in the
watershed. Lakes are the natural sinks for runoff
from activities in their basins, and the water
quality in marinas on lakes is potentially influenced
by all of the activities in the watershed and
activities that occur on the lake. The water quality
of marinas in estuaries and coastal areas is
similarly influenced by the numerous activities that
contribute runoff and pollutants to the water
flowing into the marina basin. The runoff from
marinas in urban settings is often mixed with
runoff from nearby areas because runoff is
directed toward the surface waters where
marinas are located. Similarly, marinas in water-
sheds where agriculture is abundant may receive
a lot of runoff from upland agricultural sources.

Marinas can benefit from cooperative environ-
mental protection efforts that involve and educate
those who potentially contribute pollutants to the
surface waters in the watershed where the
marina is located and seek responsible, shared
solutions to water quality problems.

Since 1991 EPA has promoted the watershed
protection approach as a comprehensive frame-
work for addressing complex pollution problems,
such as those from nonpoint sources within a
defined geographic area. The watershed
protection approach is not a new centralized
government program. It is a flexible framework
for focusing and integrating current environ-

Surface waters include ponds, lakes,
streams, rivers, estuaries, bays, and
oceans. Ground water is the water in
soils and aquifers.



1-6

National Management Measures Guidance

mental protection efforts and for exploring
innovative methods to achieve maximum
efficiency in using resources and obtaining
positive environmental effects.

The watershed protection approach is a compre-
hensive planning process that considers all natural
resources in a watershed, as well as social,
cultural, and economic factors (Figure 1-1). The
process tailors workable solutions to ecosystem
needs through the participation and leadership of
stakeholders.

Although watershed approaches might vary in
terms of specific objectives, priorities, elements,
timing, and resources, all should be
based on the following guiding
principles:

• Partnerships: People affected
by management decisions are
involved throughout and help
shape key decisions. Cooperative
partnerships among federal,
state, and local agencies; Indian
tribes; and nongovernmental
organizations with interests in the
watershed are formed. This
approach ensures that environ-
mental objectives are well
integrated with those for eco-
nomic stability and other social/
cultural goals of the area. The
approach also builds support for
action among the people who
are economically dependent on
the natural resources of the
area.

Watershed projects typically
involve state environmental,
public health, agricultural, and
natural resources agencies; local
and/or regional boards, commis-

sions, and agencies; EPA waterand air
programs; other  federal agencies; private
wildlife and conservation organizations;
industry sector representatives; and the
academic community.

• Geographic focus: Resource management
activities are coordinated and directed within
specific geographic areas, usually defined by
watershed boundaries, areas overlying or
recharging ground water, or a combination of
both. Watershed projects encompass all or
most of the landscape in a well-defined
watershed or other ecological, physiographic,
or hydrologic unit, such as an embayment, an
aquifer, or a lake and its drainage area.

• Sound management techniques based on
strong science and data: Collectively,
watershed stakeholders employ sound
scientific data, tools, and techniques in an

Watersheds are areas of land that drain to
a single stream, lake, or other water
resource. Watersheds are defined solely
by drainage areas and not by land owner-
ship or political boundaries.

Figure 1-1.  Schematic of a watershed.  Sources of pollutants from
throughout the watershed are carried downstream in surface water
runoff and ground water flow. The watershed approach involves
examining all pollution problems in the watershed, setting priorities,
and taking an integrated approach to addressing the problems.



SECTION 1: Introduction

1-7

iterative decision-making process. Typically,
this process includes:

– Assessment and characterization of the
natural resources in the watershed and the
people who depend on them.

– Goal setting and identification of environmen-
tal objectives based on the condition or
vulnerability of resources and the needs of
the aquatic ecosystem and the people. Well-
defined goals and objectives are established
for the watershed, including objectives for
chemical water quality (e.g., reduced
toxicity), physical water quality (e.g., tem-
perature, flow, circulation), habitat quality
(e.g., channel morphology, health of biotic
communities), and biodiversity (e.g., species
number, range, replacement of exotic species
with native species).

– Identification of priority problems. Water-
shed projects identify the most significant
threats to water quality, based on a com-
parative risk analysis of the potential human
health, ecological, and economic impacts.
The resources of the participants in a
watershed project are then targeted in a
coordinated fashion toward the high-risk
problems.

– Development of specific management
options and action plans. Based on the
priorities that have been set, integrated
action plans that will achieve the goals and
objectives of the watershed protection
project are devised.

– Implementation, evaluation, and revision of
plans as needed. All appropriate authorities
and techniques are employed to achieve the
goals and objectives set forth in the action
plans. Normally, existing programs of local,
state, and federal agencies; private environ-
mental and civic groups; and industries and
corporations form the basis of the frame-
work for implementation of the action plans.
These separate efforts are merely coordi-
nated and redirected to work together more
efficiently to achieve common goals. Cost
savings due to this coordination of efforts
are often realized by the participants.

• Getting Organized: Working as a task force,
stakeholders reach consensus on goals and
approaches for addressing a watershed’s
problems, the specific actions to be taken, and
how those actions will be coordinated and
evaluated. Coordinated action can be taken in
areas such as voluntary pollution prevention
(BMP installation) and source reduction
(waste minimization).

Programs to Control Nonpoint Source
Pollution

Several federal laws and programs that address
nonpoint source pollution in one form or another
are in effect. The most important ones are
discussed below.

National Nonpoint Source Pollution Control
Program

During the first 15 years of the federal water
pollution control program to abate and control
water pollution (1972–1987), EPA and the states
focused most of their water pollution control
activities on industrial and municipal wastewater
point source discharges. They regulated point
sources through the National Pollutant Discharge
Elimination System (NPDES) permit program
established by section 402 of the 1972 Federal
Water Pollution Control Act (Clean Water Act).
Discharges of dredged and fill materials into
wetlands were also regulated by EPA and the
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers under section 404
of the CWA.

As a result of these activities, by the mid-1980s
pollutant loads from point source discharges had
been greatly reduced and considerable progress
had been made in restoring and maintaining water
quality. However, the gains made in controlling
point sources had not achieved the desired level
of water quality improvement. Recent studies and
surveys by EPA and by state water quality
agencies indicate that most of the remaining
water quality improvement impairments in rivers,
streams, lakes, estuaries, coastal waters, and
wetlands result from nonpoint source pollution and
other nontraditional sources, such as urban storm
water discharges and combined sewer overflows.



1-8

National Management Measures Guidance

In view of the growing national awareness of the
now-dominant influence of nonpoint source
pollution on water quality, Congress amended the
CWA in 1987 to focus pollution control efforts on
nonpoint sources. The amended CWA added a
fundamental principle to section 101, “Declaration
of Goals and Policy”:

It is the national policy that programs
for the control of nonpoint sources of
pollution be developed and implemented
in an expeditious manner so as to
enable the goals of this Act to be met
through the control of both point and
nonpoint sources of pollution.

Supporting the section 101 Declaration, Congress
enacted section 319 in the 1987 act, which
established a national program to control nonpoint
sources of water pollution. Under section 319,
states, territories, and Indian tribes address
nonpoint source pollution by assessing the prob-
lems and causes of nonpoint source pollution and
implementing management programs to control
them. Section 319 authorizes EPA to issue grants
to states and tribes to assist them in implementing
management programs or the portions of manage-
ment programs that have been approved by EPA.
In 1990–2001, EPA awarded more than $1.3
billion in section 319 grants to help states, territo-
ries, and tribes implement their nonpoint source
programs.

Further information about nonpoint source pollu-
tion control is available at EPA’s web site,
http://www.epa.gov/owow/nps.

Storm Water Permit Program

The CWA prohibits the discharge of any pollutant
to waters of the United States from a point source
unless the discharge is allowed under a National
Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES)
permit. The NPDES permitting program is
designed to track classes of point source dis-
charges, monitor the discharge of pollutants from
specific sources to surface waters, and require
the implementation of the controls necessary to
minimize the discharge of pollutants.

As pollution control measures for industrial and
municipal wastewater sources were implemented

and refined, studies showed that storm water
runoff draining large surface areas, such as
agricultural and urban land, was also a significant
cause of water quality impairment.

In 1987 Congress amended the CWA to require
implementation of a comprehensive national
program for addressing problematic nonagricul-
tural sources of storm water discharges. As
required by the amended CWA, the NPDES
Storm Water Program is implemented in two
phases:

• Phase I requires permits for separate storm
water systems serving large- and
medium-sized communities (those with more
than 100,000 inhabitants) and for storm water
discharges associated with industrial and
construction activity involving at least 5 acres
(see Title 40 of the Code of Federal Regula-
tions [CFR], Part 122).

• Phase II addresses urban areas with popula-
tions of less than 100,000; construction sites
of 1 to 5 acres; and retail, commercial, and
residential activities.

Further information is available on EPA’s NPDES
Storm Water Program web page,
http://www.epa.gov/owm/npdes.htm.

Information on the applicability of the Storm
Water Permit Program to marinas is provided in
Section 4.5.

Coastal Nonpoint Pollution Control Program

In November 1990 Congress enacted CZARA.
The amendments were intended to address the
impacts of nonpoint source pollution on coastal
water quality. Section 6217, “Protecting Coastal
Waters” (codified as 16 U.S.C. section 1455b),
provides that each state with an approved Coastal
Zone Management Program must develop and
submit a Coastal Nonpoint Pollution Control
Program to EPA and the National Oceanic and
Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) for approval.
Section 6217 required NOAA to recommend and
states to determine the geographic area in each
coastal state within which land and water uses
have a significant effect on coastal water quality,
and states are to implement control measures

http://www.epa.gov/owow/nps
http://www.epa.gov/owm/npdes.htm


SECTION 1: Introduction

1-9

within this 6217 management area, or coastal
management area.

Coastal Nonpoint Pollution Control Programs are
not intended to supplant existing Coastal Zone
Management Programs and Nonpoint Source
Management Programs. Rather, they are to serve
as an update and expansion of existing nonpoint
source management programs in the 6217 man-
agement area and are to be coordinated closely
with the Coastal Zone Management Programs
that states and territories are already implement-
ing. The legislative history indicates that the
central purpose of section 6217 is to strengthen
the links between federal and state coastal zone
management and water quality programs and to
enhance state and local efforts to manage land
use activities that degrade coastal waters and
habitats.

Section 6217(g) of CZARA required EPA to
publish, in consultation with NOAA, the U.S. Fish
and Wildlife Service, and other federal agencies,
“guidance for specifying management measures
for sources of nonpoint pollution in coastal
waters.” EPA published Guidance Specifying
Management Measures for Sources of Non-
point Source Pollution in Coastal Waters in
1993. In that document, CZARA management
measures and BMPs were defined and described
for marinas and recreational boating, as well as
for urban development, agriculture, hydro-
modification and wetlands, and forestry.

Further information on CZARA and coastal
nonpoint source pollution control can be found at
the EPA web site for CZARA and section 6217:
http://www.epa.gov/owow/czmact.html.

Clean Vessel Act Pumpout Grant Program

The Clean Vessel Act (CVA) Pumpout Grant
Program makes matching grants available,
through a competitive process, to all states and
territories for construction and education
efforts and to coastal states (excluding Alaska)
to conduct surveys and develop plans for the
installation of pumpouts for onboard sewage
holding tanks. States match grant funds at a 3:1
(federal-to-state) ratio. The program benefits
boaters, who will have more numerous and
convenient pumpout facilities to use as a result

of the program, and the public and environment as
a whole through reductions of disease-carrying
microorganisms contained in sewage discharges
and improvements in dissolved oxygen concentra-
tions. Further information is available at
http://fa.r9.fws.gov/cva/cva.html.

International Convention for the Prevention
of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL)

The International Convention for the Prevention
of Pollution from Ships, known as MARPOL 73/78
(for Marine Pollution) is an internationally accepted
treaty that, together with U.S. laws and regula-
tions, sets out operational waste discharge
requirements for ships. MARPOL 73/78 contains
five annexes designed to reduce marine pollution
by controlling or prohibiting discharges of harmful

substances from ships (see box). It covers
intentional and accidental discharges of wastes of
all kinds from vessels and applies to ports, termi-
nals, and marinas as well. The United States is
signatory to MARPOL 73/78 and Annexes I, II,
III, and V; Annex IV is not currently in force
internationally.

In the United States, MARPOL 73/78 is imple-
mented through the Act to Prevent Pollution
from Ships of 1980, as amended. The U.S.
Coast Guard is responsible for promulgating
regulations and enforcing the treaty. Regulations
for ships are included in 33 CFR Part 151; those
for port reception facilities are included in 33
CFR Part 158.

MARPOL 73/78 ANNEXES

Annex I: Oil
Annex II: Noxious liquid substances in

bulk
Annex III: Harmful substances carried

in package form
Annex IV: Sewage
Annex V: Garbage and all other

ordinary ship-generated solid
and liquid waste not covered
by Annexes I, II, III, and IV

http://fa.r9.fws.gov/cva/cva.html


1-10

National Management Measures Guidance

MARPOL 73/78 Annex V is implemented in the
United States by the Marine Plastic Pollution
Research and Control Act (MPPRCA) of 1987,
Title II of Public Law 100-220. Annex V prohibits
disposal of plastics at sea and restricts at-sea
disposal of other vessel-generated trash. It also
requires shore reception facilities for the plastics
and other trash brought to shore for disposal.
Recreational boating facilities, along with other
ports and terminals, are required to have a trash
reception facility that is capable of receiving trash
from those vessels that do business with them
(33 CFR Part 158). Vessels 26 feet or longer
must display a placard that explains MARPOL
73/78 Annex V ocean disposal regulations
(Figure 1-2).

Oil Pollution Act (OPA) and Regulations

The Oil Pollution Act (OPA) is a comprehensive
prevention, response, liability, and compensation
regime for dealing with vessel- and facility-
generated discharges of oil or hazardous sub-
stances. Under the OPA, any hazardous waste
spill from a vessel must be reported by the owner
of the vessel and vessel owners are responsible
for any costs of a resulting environmental cleanup
and any damage claims that might result from the

spill. Marinas are responsible for any oil contami-
nation resulting from their facilities, including
dumping or spilling of oil or oil-based paint and the
use of chemically treated agents.

The OPA also requires Area Committees to
prepare an Area Contingency Plan for approval
by EPA and the Coast Guard. An Area Contin-
gency Plan provides details of how to respond to
a spill within a specific geographic area. Marinas
are subject to a broader range of claims and
liability than vessel owners, and marina owners
should consult their Area Contingency Plan for
proper remedial actions.

There are other laws that relate directly and indi-
rectly to marinas and recreational boating. The major
tenets of those laws are presented in Appendix D
and on EPA’s web site at http://www.epa.gov/oilspill.

Sources of Further Information

Other information about nonpoint source pollution
and its control can be accessed at the Office of
Wetlands, Oceans, and Watersheds page of the
EPA web site, http://www.epa.gov/owow.

USCG. 1994. Managing Waste at Recreational
Boating Facilities. U.S. Coast Guard, Marine

Figure 1-2. MARPOL placard

http://www.epa.gov/oilspill
http://www.epa.gov/owow


SECTION 1: Introduction

1-11

Environmental Protection Division, Environmental
Coordination Branch, Washington, DC. April.

USEPA. 1993. Guidance specifying manage-
ment measures for sources of nonpoint pollu-
tion in coastal waters. EPA 840-B-92-002. U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency, Office of
Water, Washington, DC. January.

USEPA. 1996. Clean Marinas—Clear Value:
Environmental and Business Success Stories.
EPA 841-R-96-003. U.S. Environmental Protec-
tion Agency, Office of Water, Washington, DC.
August.

USEPA and USDOC. 1993. Coastal Nonpoint
Pollution Control Program: Program Develop-
ment and Approval Guidance. U.S. Environ-
mental Protection Agency, Office of Water,
Washington, DC, and National Oceanic and
Atmospheric Administration, Washington, DC.
January.

Watershed Resources

EPA’s Surf Your Watershed web site offers a
Web-based source of information about water-
sheds throughout the United States. The site
contains information about watershed size,
pollutants, stressors, and condition. Access
information for any watershed in the nation by
clicking on maps at http://www.epa.gov/surf.

USEPA. 1991. The Watershed Protection
Approach. EPA/503/9-92/002. U.S. Environmental
Protection Agency, Office of Water, Washington,
DC. December.

USEPA. 1995. Watershed Protection: A Project
Focus. EPA841-R-95-003. U.S. Environmental
Protection Agency, Office of Water, Washington,
DC. August.

USEPA. 1997. Top 10 Watershed Lessons
Learned. EPA840-F-97-001. U.S. Environmental
Protection Agency, Office of Water, Washington,
DC. October. [This document discusses some
very important lessons in ensuring the success of
watershed protection projects, gained from
experience with the watershed approach for
addressing environmental problems. The docu-
ment contains case studies of watershed projects
that have been implemented throughout the

country and lists of contacts for further informa-
tion and technical assistance. It is available at
http://www.epa.gov/owow/lessons.]

Other references and information on organizations
related to pollution prevention in marinas can be
found in the bibliography and Appendix E. Other
information about nonpoint source pollution and its
control can be found at the EPA Office of
Wetlands, Oceans, and Watersheds web page:
http://www.epa.gov/owow.

http://www.epa.gov/owow
http://www.epa.gov/owow/lessons
http://www.epa.gov/surf


1-12

National Management Measures Guidance



SECTION 2: Sources of Pollution

2-1

SECTION 2: SOURCES OF WATER POLLUTION FROM MARINAS
AND RECREATIONAL BOATING

Marinas are not reported by states, territories, or
tribes to be a major source of nonpoint pollutants
that contribute to poor water quality, as are
sources such as agriculture and urban areas,
though the location of marinas at the water’s edge
can lead to their being affected by other pollutant
sources. Pollutants from upstream point and
nonpoint sources in a watershed might flow to a
marina’s waters, adding to any nonpoint pollutants
released at the marina itself. Water quality in a
marina, therefore, is often a reflection of not only
nonpoint source pollutants generated at the marina
but also a cumulative load of pollutants from
several watershed sources. Awareness of the
potential for the generation of nonpoint source
pollution at a marina and of how to use
management measures and site-specific BMPs to
reduce nonpoint source pollution is important to
ensuring the best possible water quality in a
marina basin. This section of the guidance
describes the pollutants that can be generated at a

marina and their potential effects on water quality
and aquatic life.

The construction of a marina can create a
condition of reduced water circulation. Installing
structures such as bulkheads and jetties, which
are necessary to ensure the safety of vessels,
docks, and shoreside structures, can cause water
circulation in the basin to be below what it was
before the marina’s construction. In an area
already protected from wave action, such as a
cove or inlet, marinas can potentially introduce
pollutants to an area with limited natural circula-
tion or water exchange. Over time, reduced
circulation and increased pollutant generation can
increase pollutant concentrations in the water
column, sediments, and aquatic organisms.

The pollutants that might be generated at a marina
and enter a marina basin include nutrients and
pathogens (from pet waste and overboard sewage
discharge), sediments (from parking lot runoff and

Section 2 Contents

Pollutant Types and Impacts .............................................................................................. 2-2
Pollutants in the Water Column ......................................................................................... 2-3

Low Dissolved Oxygen .................................................................................................. 2-3
Metals ............................................................................................................................... 2-3
Petroleum Hydrocarbons .............................................................................................. 2-4
Solvents ........................................................................................................................... 2-4
Antifreeze ........................................................................................................................ 2-4
Acids ................................................................................................................................. 2-4
Surfactants ...................................................................................................................... 2-4

Pollutants in Aquatic Organisms .....................................................................................   2-4
Pollutants in Sediments ..................................................................................................... 2-5

Metals ............................................................................................................................... 2-5
Petroleum Hydrocarbons .............................................................................................. 2-5

Pathogens ............................................................................................................................ 2-5
Debris and Litter ................................................................................................................. 2-6
Sediment and Habitat Alterations ..................................................................................... 2-6
Shoaling and Shoreline Alterations .................................................................................. 2-7



2-2

National Management Measures Guidance

shoreline erosion), fish waste (from dockside fish
cleaning), petroleum hydrocarbons (from fuel and
oil drippings and spills and from solvents), toxic
metals (from antifoulants and hull and boat
maintenance debris), and liquid and solid wastes
(from engine and hull maintenance and general
marina activities). The effects of these pollutants
on waterways and aquatic plants and animals are
discussed in this section. Marina construction and
reconstruction, in-water modifications at marinas,
and propeller wash and boat wakes can also
disturb aquatic habitats, plants, and animals.

Although nonpoint source pollution is a serious
problem nationally, more is always being learned
about effective ways to prevent and reduce it.
The purpose of this section is to describe the
general causes of nonpoint source pollution,
the specific pollutants and problems of concern,
and the general approaches to reducing the
impact of pollutants and other problems on aquatic
resources as these relate to marinas and recre-
ational boating. Figure 2-1 illustrates the general
types of problems that various pollutants can
cause in aquatic systems.

Pollutant Types and Impacts

Marina construction can alter habitats at a site.
Shoreline vegetation may be reduced at some
locations. Bottom sediments may be stirred up
more frequently with boating activity and dredging
to maintain channel and basin depth. These kinds
of alterations can have both negative and positive
effects. For example, installation of marina pilings
and bulkheads introduces a hard-surfaced habitat
into a marina that previously might have been
dominated by a soft-bottomed habitat of mud and
silt. Organisms that prefer rocks and other hard
surfaces (fouling organisms) will colonize this new
habitat and in turn may attract other invertebrates
and juvenile fish to the area.

The fact that a marina is present does not mean
that water quality is poor. Many marinas have
good to excellent water quality. Despite this, their
aquatic habitats might not be healthy enough to
support a natural diversity of aquatic organisms,
and they might still have sediments contaminated
by pollutants from storm water runoff or by anti-
foulants that have leached from ship hulls or piers.

Figure 2-1. Effects of pollutants in aquatic systems.



SECTION 2: Sources of Pollution

2-3

Pollutants in the Water Column

Pollutants from marinas can cause pollution
problems in the water column. These problems
usually take the form of decreased levels of
dissolved oxygen and increased levels of metals
and petroleum hydrocarbons. Pollutants that
cause these problems get into the water through
storm water runoff, discharges from boats, and
spills of fuel or bilge water.

Low Dissolved Oxygen

The organic matter in materials such as sewage
discharged from recreational boats, trash tossed
into surface waters or on the ground, pet waste
carried to waterbodies in storm water runoff, and
fish waste disposed of into surface waters
consumes dissolved oxygen as it decomposes.
The amount of dissolved oxygen required to
decompose sewage and other organic matter is
measured as the “biological oxygen demand”
(BOD) of a waterbody. Consumption of oxygen
by decomposing organic matter leaves less
oxygen for fish, crabs, clams, and other aquatic
organisms. Very low levels of dissolved oxygen
can result when water temperatures are high
(because hotter water holds less oxygen), which
is often the case during the peak summer boating
season. Decreases in dissolved oxygen in several
northwestern marinas have been noted in the late
summer and early fall, the peak times of marina
use. An intensive study in several North Carolina
marinas showed large differences in dissolved
oxygen concentrations in the marinas compared to
the concentrations in the adjacent waterbodies,
with concentrations in the marinas being much
lower.1  These low concentrations of dissolved
oxygen were thought to be due to high biological
oxygen demand in the marina basins (due to
unknown causes) and poor flushing.

Metals

Metals and metal-containing compounds have
many functions in boat operation, maintenance,
and repair. Arsenic is used in paint pigments,

pesticides, and wood preservatives. Zinc anodes
are used to deter corrosion of metal hulls and
engine parts, and zinc is often a constituent of
motor oil and tires. Copper is used as a biocide in
antifoulant paints. Chromated copper arsenate
(CCA) is used in wood as a preservative. Mer-
cury is contained in many float switches for bilge
pumps and shower water storage tank pumps and
in air conditioning/heating thermostats. These
switches can contain as much mercury as 100
fluorescent lamps. Nickel is a component of brake
linings and pavement material, and cadmium is
present in batteries and brake linings. These and
other metals (aluminum, iron, and chromium) are
used in various components used at marinas or by
recreational boaters and can wash from parking
lots, service roads, and launch ramps into surface
waters with rainfall. High levels of zinc, chro-
mium, and lead have been detected in the waters
of some marinas.

Many of the antifoulants used for barnacle control
in marine waters are used in fresh waters as well.
Copper is the most common metal found at toxic
concentrations in marina waters.2  Dissolved
copper has been detected at toxic concentrations
at several marinas within the Chesapeake Bay. 3

Copper is leached to surface waters and sedi-
ments from bottom paints and scrapings. Tin in
the form of butyltin, an extremely potent and non-
specific biocide, has been detected at toxic levels
in marina waters nationwide.4 The use of butyltins
in bottom paint is now restricted to paints with
release rates of 4.0 micrograms per square
centimeter or less and on vessels larger than 25
meters (82 feet) in length and on aluminum-hulled
vessels regardless of size. Although butyltins are
no longer used on most boats, the years of their
use in antifoulants has left areas of low to high
concentrations of these compounds in sediments.
Disturbance of the sediments can reintroduce the
toxic compounds into the water column, where
they can be ingested by fish or other aquatic
organisms and in turn by people.

1 NCDEM, 1990. 2 NCDEM, 1990, 1991; METRO, 1992.
3 Hall et al., 1987.
4 Grovhoug et al., 1986; Maguire, 1986; Stephenson et

al., 1986; Stallard et al., 1987.



2-4

National Management Measures Guidance

Petroleum Hydrocarbons

Sources of hydrocarbons at a marina include
fueling stations; operation, maintenance, and
repair of boat engines; and storm water runoff
from the marina property and off-site upland
areas. Petroleum hydrocarbons are contained in

fuel, oil, grease, lubricants, finishes, and cleansers.
Petroleum can be spilled directly into surface
waters when fuel drips from fueling nozzles or a
fuel tank is overfilled at a dock. Older 2-stroke
marine engines discharge unburnt fuel and oil
directly to the atmosphere and surface waters
while they are operating. Oil, fuel, paint, anti-
freeze, or other liquids dripped from engines or
paint brushes or spilled while draining oil or fuel
from engines enter surface waters indirectly with
storm water runoff or in flows of ground water
after the substances have seeped into the ground.
Rainwater washes anything dripped, spilled,
deposited, or disposed of from building roofs,
parking areas, boat ramps, and maintenance areas
on the marina property and nearby properties to
the nearest downstream surface water, which is
often the marina basin.

Solvents

Solvents like methylene chloride, tetrachloro-
ethane, trichloroethene, and trichlorethylene are
contained in degreasing agents, varnishes, paint
removers, and lacquers. They are used at marinas
for engine maintenance and repair activities and
vessel painting and cleaning. If not properly
contained, solvents can potentially enter marina
waters through surface water runoff or through
ground water transport from hull maintenance
areas. Solvents are stable compounds that are
insoluble in water, which makes them very mobile
in ground water. They are usually heavy, long-
chain organic compounds, so they sink to an
impermeable bottom layer in the ground (like
bedrock) and accumulate. Many solvents are
known cancer-causing compounds (carcinogens).

Antifreeze

Antifreeze is used at marinas in dry storage of
boats and engine maintenance. It contains either
ethylene glycol or propylene glycol. Propylene
glycol antifreeze is reported to be much less toxic

to aquatic organisms than ethylene glycol and is
therefore preferred for use in boats. Both types of
antifreeze, however, are considered toxic and
should be poured, stored, and drained carefully to
avoid spillage. Used antifreeze should be taken to
a hazardous waste collection center and recycled
if possible.

Acids

Batteries contain battery acid, which is very
corrosive and toxic and often contains high levels
of toxic metals like lead. Cleaning compounds and
detergents often contain strong acids or lye.
These materials can be washed into the marina
basin with the next rain along with the petroleum
hydrocarbons, solvents, paint chips, and other
material spilled on the ground. Many hazardous
waste collection stations accept used batteries.

Surfactants

Surfactants are compounds used in detergents
and other cleaning agents to reduce surface
tension. Some are known to be very deadly to
aquatic organisms. Surfactants can also accumu-
late at the water surface and create a barrier
against the transfer of dissolved oxygen across
the air-water interface, resulting in lowered
dissolved oxygen concentrations in the water. For
these reasons, surfactants are best not used on
boats that are in the water or on upland areas
where runoff washes into surface waters.

Pollutants in Aquatic Organisms

Many aquatic organisms feed by sifting through
sediments or eating organisms that filter food
particles out of the water. The aquatic organisms
thus ingest any pollutants attached to or mixed in
with the sediments or suspended particles. The
pollutants they ingest accumulate in their tissues
rather than being excreted. When many smaller
organisms, each of which has accumulated some
pollutants in its tissues, are eaten by an organism
higher in the food chain (for instance, a fish), that
organism then accumulates in its tissues all of the
pollutants accumulated by the lower organisms.
This process, called bioaccumulation, is the reason
that very small quantities of pollutants in the water
column can result in dangerous concentrations of
pollutants in fish, oysters, and other aquatic



SECTION 2: Sources of Pollution

2-5

organisms. Numerous studies conducted from the
late 1970s through early 1990s have demonstrated
this effect and, in particular, the effect on marinas
when proper pollution prevention is not prac-
ticed.5  Copper and zinc have been found at higher
concentrations in oysters from marinas than in
oysters from sites outside marinas; higher-than-
normal concentrations of copper, cadmium,
chromium, lead, tin, zinc, and PCBs have been
found in mussels from marina waters; after 3
months, concentrations of lead, zinc, and copper
were two to three times higher in oysters trans-
planted to marinas than in oysters left outside
marinas; and concentrations of copper in green
algae and fouling organisms (barnacles, etc.)
were much higher in a marina area than in
adjacent areas.

Pollutants in Sediments

Many contaminants generated from boat mainte-
nance and general marina use (e.g., oil and grease
drippings from cars) do not dissolve well in water
and accumulate to higher concentrations in
sediments than in the overlying water. Contami-
nated sediments may, in turn, act as a source from
which these contaminants can be released into
overlying waters. Benthic organisms—those
organisms that live on the bottom or in the
sediment—are exposed to pollutants that accumu-
late in sediments. Pollutants ingested by these
organisms become increasingly concentrated in
animal tissue as the pollutants are passed up the
food chain, and thus can reach levels dangerous
for human consumption. Many fish advisories are
issued for this reason.

Metals

Copper is the major contaminant of concern in
sediments because many common antifouling
paint preparations contain cuprous oxide as the
active biocide component.6  In most cases metals
tend to sink and accumulate in sediments and not
stay in the water column, though they do attach to
small suspended particles and can be distributed in

the water column with these particles. When
attached to suspended particles, metals are often
associated with small particles, so they settle out
of the water column slowly and are mixed upward
easily. In marinas, higher levels of some metals
(such as copper and lead) have been found near
maintenance area drains and fuel docks than at
other locations, suggesting that maintenance areas
and fueling stations are sources of metals to the
water and good targets for pollution prevention
practices.7

Petroleum Hydrocarbons

Petroleum hydrocarbons, particularly polynuclear
aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), tend to attach to
suspended particles and sediments. Because
they can stay in sediments for years, they can be
ingested by mussels, oysters, or other bottom-
dwelling organisms long after they are spilled or
washed into the water. Studies have found high
concentrations of petroleum hydrocarbons in
marinas, though the studies have also found that
concentrations of these compounds are much
lower in the sediments of well-flushed marinas.8

Such findings support the supposition that
sufficient flushing in a marina basin is important
to prevent a buildup of pollutants in marina
sediments.

Pathogens

Studies that have attempted to determine whether
there is a correlation between boating density and
pathogen (fecal coliform) concentrations in lakes
and reservoirs are divided in their conclusions.
Pathogens are added to surface waters by
wildlife, dogs and cats, seeping septic tanks, and
combined sewer outfall overflows, and these
sources could have a larger impact than boaters
on pathogen concentrations. Some violations of
health standards for fecal coliform bacteria (the
bacteria found in human and animal wastes) have
been related to periods of high-intensity recre-
ational use, such as holiday weekends. These
violations could be due to either boater discharges

5 CARWQCB, 1989; Marcus and Stokes, 1985;
McMahon, 1989; NCDEM, 1991; Nixon et al., 1973;
SCDHEC, 1987; Wendt et al., 1973; SCDHEC, 1987;
Wendt et al., 1990; Young et al., 1979.

6 METRO, 1992.

7 McMahon, 1989; NCDEM, 1991; Soule et al., 1991.
8 Marcus et al., 1988; McMahon, 1989; NCDEM, 1990;

Voudrias and Smith, 1986.



2-6

National Management Measures Guidance

or sediments where pathogens are concentrated
being stirred up, or both.

Studies conducted in Puget Sound, Long Island
Sound, Narragansett Bay, North Carolina, and
Chesapeake Bay have shown that boats can be a
source of fecal coliform bacteria in areas with
high boat densities and poor flushing.9  Human
health problems can result, especially if nearby
waters are used for swimming, surfing, wind
surfing, water skiing, or other recreational activi-
ties that involve significant water contact.

Bacterial and viral contamination of waters can
result from improper use of marine sanitation
devices (MSDs). If a vessel has an installed toilet,
the law requires that it be equipped with an MSD.
Incorrect configuration of the toilet and MSD can
lead to direct discharge of waste to surface
waters. Discharge of the contents of portable
toilets to surface waters also results in contamina-
tion. Boats with portable toilets are not required to
have MSDs, and their contents should be disposed
of at a sanitation facility.

Currently a number of states have designated all
or nearly all of their surface waters as no dis-
charge zones (NDZs). These states include
Michigan, Missouri, New Hampshire, New
Mexico, Rhode Island, and Wisconsin. Boats on
fresh waters in New Hampshire, Missouri, and
New Mexico must be configured such that
wastes cannot be discharged directly into the
water (i.e., Y-valves must be disabled), and boats
may be inspected to see that this requirement is
met. In addition, other states have segments of
their surface waters designated as NDZs. These
states include California, Florida, Georgia, Massa-
chusetts, Minnesota, New Jersey, Nevada, New
York, South Carolina, Texas, and Vermont. NDZs
are approximately evenly divided (in number of
areas designated) between fresh waters and
marine or estuarine waters. A no-discharge policy
is also in effect on all Army Corps of Engineers
reservoirs.

Debris and Litter

The numerous activities that occur at marinas—
vessel and engine repair and maintenance,
recreation on and off boats, fueling, dock mainte-
nance, and building and grounds maintenance—
are sources of a variety of debris and litter. Paper
towels and cups, plastic bags, plastic and glass
bottles, fish netting, fishing line, discarded oil
filters and engine parts, discarded rags, debris
from sanding or pressure washing, pet droppings,
aluminum cans, and other forms of trash all find
their way into surface waters if not disposed of
properly. Coastal cleanups result in the collection
of millions of pounds of trash and debris from
U.S. coasts annually. The most common items
found along the nation’s coasts are cigarette butts,
plastic pieces, foamed plastic pieces, plastic food
bags/wrappers, plastic caps/lids, paper pieces,
glass pieces, plastic straws, metal beverage cans,
glass beverage bottles, plastic beverage bottles,
and foamed plastic cups. These wastes are
dangers to marine animals, which can die from
becoming entangled in items like fishing nets and
lines and from ingesting small pieces of debris that
are mistaken for food. The trash and debris are
dangerous to people visiting the coasts, who might
accidentally step on discarded items, injure
themselves, and risk infection. They are also
unnatural, unsightly additions to the coastal
landscape.

Sediment and Habitat Alterations

Dredging can disturb aquatic habitats; resuspend
bottom sediments (and recirculate toxic metals,
hydrocarbons, pathogens, and nutrients that are
found in sediments into the water column); and
increase turbidity, which reduces sunlight available
to algae and aquatic vegetation. Increased
turbidity lowers the rate of photosynthesis and
decreases the rate at which dissolved oxygen is
added to the water. Because dredging usually
occurs over a short time period and then ceases,
impacts that result from it, such as turbidity and
dissolved oxygen reductions, are usually tempo-
rary and do not have long-term negative effects.
Other consequences of dredging, such as habitat
disruption and deterioration, can have lasting
impacts.

9 Fisher et al., 1987; Gaines and Solow, 1990; Milliken
and Lee, 1990; NCDEM, 1990; Sawyer and Golding,
1990; Seabloom et al., 1989.



SECTION 2: Sources of Pollution

2-7

Boat operation can cause these same problems in
the water column and for aquatic organisms by
disrupting shallow habitats and communities and
mixing nearshore sediments into the water
column.10  Propeller-driven boats operated too fast
near the shoreline can cause bank erosion.11

Shallow waterways can be affected by propellers
cutting off or uprooting aquatic plants from the
bottom and propwash mixing sediments into the
water.12  The latter not only reduces photosynthe-
sis, but also can interfere with fish and other
sight-feeding animals, clog fish gills, and smother
plants and animals.

The effect that boat traffic and motor operation
can have on water quality and biological commu-
nities in lakes, reservoirs, rivers, and estuaries
varies and depends on the characteristics of the
waterbody and the type of watercraft being
operated on it.13 The effects are most acute in
soft-bottomed lakes and reservoirs, quiet side
channels of rivers and streams where fine
sediment accumulates because of the lack of
strong currents, and waterbodies that have
sediments rich in nitrogen and phosphorus.

The impact of boats on rooted plants depends on
the depth of the plants below the surface. Where
submerged aquatic vegetation (SAV) occurs in
shallow areas, boats passing through the area can
create troughs where the vegetation is eliminated
or severely reduced. Most direct effects of
motorboats on submerged aquatic vegetation take
place in water less than 5 feet deep, and motor-
boats can effectively remove all rooted vegetation
in water less than 3 feet deep, especially in areas
with sandy sediments. Recovery of submerged
aquatic vegetation beds can take years, and loss
of vegetation can lead to increased erosion and
invasion by other species. Submerged aquatic
vegetation protects shorelines from erosion and is
an important resource for many aquatic organisms
because it provides food and shelter.

Larval and juvenile fish can be killed directly by
boat propellers and propeller wash. Spawning or
nesting fish can be disturbed, and propeller wash

can be powerful enough to destroy fish eggs. Fish
populations can be lowered if survival of young-
of-the-year fish is diminished and reproductive
success is lowered. Manatees and other aquatic
animals that swim near the water surface also
suffer from propeller strikes. Many manatees in
Florida bear the scars of propeller cuts.

Shoaling and Shoreline Alterations

Shoaling and shoreline erosion result from the
physical transport of sediment caused by waves
and currents. These waves and currents can be
natural (wind-induced, rainfall runoff, etc.) or
human-induced by boat wakes or in-water
structures that change currents or reflect waves.

When waves caused by passing vessels or
reflected from breakwaters reach the shallow
margins of a waterway, they can erode banks and
nearby bottom sediments. This effect tends to
wash away plants loosely rooted in sediments
near the shore and the associated animal life. A
substantial volume of the sediment that causes
shoaling is eroded from banks, and removing this
material by dredging is a costly recurrent
expense. Frequent dredging can be necessary
where boat traffic causes extensive bank erosion.
No wake zones and travel lanes located away
from shorelines can reduce and help prevent bank
erosion and shoaling. There is a direct relationship
between factors such as the distance of a boat
from shore, boat speed, slopes of the sides of a
bank, type of sediment, and depth of the water-
way and the amount of erosion and subsequent
shoaling that results. The location of travel lanes
should be determined for each specific case with
these factors in mind.

The amount of shoreline erosion caused by boat
wakes in lakes and reservoirs depends on the
same factors as in coastal environments—design
features of the boat (size, hull shape, and draft),
distance of the boat from the shoreline, water
depth, channel width (if the boat is passing
through a channel), shoreline soil condition, slope
of the shoreline bank, and amount of shoreline
vegetative cover. In contrast to coastal environ-
ments, in lakes and reservoirs vegetation often
grows up to the shoreline, currents are minimal,
and there are no tides. Therefore, although boat

10 Chmura and Ross, 1978.
11 British Waterways Board, 1983.
12 USEPA, 1974.
13 USFWS, 1982.



2-8

National Management Measures Guidance

wakes may be a primary source of erosive energy
in lakes with a large amount of boating activity,
vegetated shorelines reduce the potential for
erosion in lakes. Boat wakes are most likely to
cause lake shoreline erosion where the shoreline
has been altered and not stabilized and is there-
fore already susceptible to erosion.



SECTION 3: Nonpoint Source Pollution Control

3-1

SECTION 3: NONPOINT SOURCE POLLUTION CONTROL AND
WATERBODY CHARACTERISTICS

Understanding Management Measures and
Practices

Management measures and practices are imple-
mented at marinas primarily to control nonpoint
source pollution, which in turn protects water
resources and terrestrial and aquatic habitat,
enhances the aesthetic appeal of the marina, and
protects the marina and the people using it from
toxic and harmful substances. The focus of this
guidance is on management measures and
practices that mitigate the generation of pollutants
(using pollution prevention practices) and the
delivery of runoff or nonpoint source pollutants
(using source reduction practices) to our nation’s
coastal and fresh waters.

Management measures are defined as

economically achievable measures for
the control of the addition of pollutants
from existing and new categories and
classes of nonpoint sources of pollu-
tion, which reflect the greatest degree
of pollutant reduction achievable
through the application of the best
available nonpoint source control
practices, technologies, processes,

siting criteria, operating methods, and
other alternatives.

Marinas and recreational boating management
measures contain general management guidelines
to prevent or minimize nonpoint source pollution.
Individual management practices are not included
as part of the statement of the management
measures, and states have considerable flexibility
in determining how they will achieve the manage-
ment measures.

Best management practices, or BMPs, are used
to fulfill management measures. There are two
basic types of management practices—pollution
prevention and source reduction. Pollution pre-
vention practices are practices implemented to
prevent the creation or release of pollution into the
environment. An example is a vacuum sander that
gathers sanding dust before it even has a chance
to fall to the ground. Using a nontoxic cleanser in
place of a toxic one is another example of pollu-
tion prevention. Source reduction controls are
practices implemented to gather pollutants that
have been released before they can reach the
water. They include practices that filter, screen,
trap, contain, absorb, chemically neutralize, or
divert pollutants before they reach a waterbody or

Section 3 Contents

Understanding Management Measures and Practices .................................................3-1
How Management Practices Work to Prevent Nonpoint Source Pollution ................3-2
Management Practice Systems ........................................................................................3-4
Site-Specific Design of Management Practices ............................................................3-4
Important Characteristics of Marina Environments from a Pollution

Perspective ....................................................................................................................3-5
General Factors Common to All Waterbodies ............................................................3-5
Lakes and Reservoirs ..................................................................................................3-5
Rivers .............................................................................................................................3-6
Estuaries ........................................................................................................................3-6
Coastal Environments ..................................................................................................3-7

Boating on Inland Waters ..................................................................................................3-7
Boating Access ..................................................................................................................3-8



3-2

National Management Measures Guidance

ground water. An oil/water separator in a storm
drain is an example. A tarp under a boat during
hull maintenance, with follow-up disposal of all
collected debris in a trash receptacle, is another
example of source reduction.

Management measures and practices can also be
either structural (e.g., used oil collection contain-
ers, multiple openings to a marina basin) or
managerial (e.g., pollution control agreements in
slip leases, marina policies regarding where boat
hull maintenance can be done on the marina
property and who is allowed to do it). Individual
management practices are not usually sufficient
for solving water quality problems but are used in
combination to control the diverse potential
sources of pollution at marinas. For example,
placement of absorbent pads in bilges is a good
means to control the release of petroleum-based
pollutants, but without storm water runoff controls
in parking lots and air/fuel separators to control
spillage during refueling, petroleum hydrocarbon
pollution in the marina basin is likely.

Management practices are best selected, de-
signed, implemented, and maintained in accor-
dance with site-specific considerations to ensure
that the practices function together properly to
achieve overall pollution management goals. For
example, a grassed drainage swale designed to
handle only the quantity of water expected to fall
on a parking lot during a design storm will not
effectively control pollution if the grassed drain-
age swale receives runoff from non-marina
upland areas as well. When more than one
management practice is used to control a type of
pollutant from individual or multiple sources, the
individual practices will work as a system more
effectively if the design standards and specifica-
tions of the individual practices are compatible.
Additional effectiveness might be achieved if
BMPs for a site are selected within the context of
an overall watershed protection program. Further
information can be found at EPA’s watershed
protection web site, http://www.epa.gov/owow/
watershed.

EPA’s management measures for marinas and
recreational boating are described in Section 4.

How Management Measures and Practices
Work to Prevent Nonpoint Source Pollution

Nonpoint source pollution control management
measures and practices are devised to prevent
and reduce the introduction of pollutants gener-
ated by marina-related activities to the marina
basin. Controlling the entry of pollutants into the
marina basin helps protect water quality, control
aquatic weeds, reduce odors that result from
decaying matter, ensure a more attractive and
healthy shoreline, maintain water clarity, and allow
for the natural ecological processes of the marina
basin and surrounding waters to maintain the
basin without the need for expensive chemical or
mechanical treatments.

Management measures are recommended to
control the delivery of nonpoint source pollutants
to receiving waters by

• Minimizing pollutants released to the environ-
ment during an activity (pollution prevention).

• Preventing the transport and delivery of
pollutants by reducing runoff and thus the
amount of pollutant transported (source
reduction).

• Treating runoff pollution before it is released
into surface or ground waters (source reduc-
tion).

Management practices are used to control
pollutants generated by specific activities. For
example, pumpouts, dump stations, and/or
restrooms are installed to discourage dumping
sewage into waterways and thus to reduce the
release of organic materials and pathogens into
the water.

Implementing management measures and prac-
tices also provides secondary benefits. For
example, use of a vacuum-based (often referred
to as “dustless”) sanding system prevents paint,
wood, and fiberglass dust from being blown about
and potentially ending up in marina basin waters.
It also improves working conditions, protects the
health of employees, and reduces post-sanding
clean-up work so workers can be more produc-
tive. Another example of a management practice
that provides environmental benefits beyond those
linked to water quality is a grassed drainage swale

http://www.epa.gov/owow/watershed


SECTION 3: Nonpoint Source Pollution Control

3-3

surrounding a marina basin. As a runoff pollution
control practice, it reduces nutrient and sediment
delivery to the basin. It also provides an aesthetic
buffer along the water’s edge and natural habitat
for aquatic plants and animals.

Nitrogen and phosphorus, in both dissolved
organic and inorganic forms, are the two principal
nutrients that promote plant and algal growth. In
general, nitrogen is the limiting nutrient for plant
growth (the nutrient whose abundance determines
rates of plant growth) in marine ecosystems, and
phosphorus is the limiting nutrient in freshwater
ecosystems. Both nitrogen and phosphorus can
limit plant growth in some estuarine systems,
where freshwater and marine ecosystems
converge, and both are necessary for the produc-
tion of phytoplankton, free-floating microscopic
algae, and macrophytes (larger floating and rooted
plants). When the limiting nutrient is overabun-
dant, phytoplankton, algae, and macrophytes can
grow excessively, causing a decrease in water
clarity, production of unsightly surface scum, and
clogged waterways. All of these conditions are
detrimental to marina operations for aesthetic
reasons. They are also detrimental for operational
reasons: excessive macrophytes can hinder boat
passage and entangle propellers and pipelines. As
these plants die, their decomposition in the marina
basin consumes dissolved oxygen and degrades
water quality. In extreme cases, anaerobic, foul-
smelling water might result.

For these reasons, controlling the entry of nutri-
ents into the marina basin makes good managerial
sense. The marina will be aesthetically more
appealing and operationally more functional, and
maintenance costs will be kept down by not
having to harvest overgrowths of aquatic plants.

Sources of nitrogen and phosphorus at a marina
include detergents that contain phosphorus,
sewage from boat heads or on-site septic sys-
tems, fertilizers used on marina grounds, pet and
wildlife waste, and waste from fish cleaning.

The introduction of pathogens into a marina basin
due to inadequate sanitation practices is a legiti-
mate cause for concern by marina managers. If
the water in a marina basin has elevated levels of
fecal coliform bacteria or is contaminated with
viruses, marina patrons could be in danger of

contracting illness. Insistence that marina patrons
use pumpout stations or have a properly operating
Type I or II marine sanitation device (MSD) on
their vessel can protect the patrons from the
dangers of poor sanitation and the marina owner
from lawsuits that could result from such incidents.
The types of MSDs are described in Table 3-1.

Untreated sewage, pet waste, discarded fish
parts, and all forms of litter can add polluting
organic matter and debris to a marina basin’s
water, creating an aesthetically and biologically
undesirable environment. Excessive organic
matter in a marina basin leads to lowered dis-
solved oxygen levels. It also makes water murky.
Water clarity is reduced further from other
activities that stir sediment and particles of
decomposing organic debris up from the bottom.
Litter like paper and styrofoam cups, plastic bags
and soda can holders, fishing lines or nets, and
discarded materials from boat maintenance
activities creates an unsightly marina basin. It is
also a threat to fish, waterfowl, and shorebirds,
which can become entangled in plastics or might
eat debris mistaken for food and die as a result.
Harmful or toxic compounds in a marina basin
create conditions that not only are dangerous to
the health of people and animals but also can be
aesthetically unpleasant and expensive to correct.
Petroleum compounds can be toxic to aquatic
habitat and a nuisance for marina patrons. Oil,
gasoline, and materials that contain these com-
pounds (such as discarded oily rags, bilge pads,
and dirty bilge water) are pollutants that detract
from the beauty of the marina setting by leaving
an unsightly surface sheen. In addition, the
discharge of any petroleum product in a sufficient
quantity to cause a surface sheen is a violation of
federal law and is punishable by the imposition of
substantial fines and penalties. These compounds
foul boats, docks, and anything else that comes
into contact with them. Fish gills and the feathers
of waterfowl are fouled by these substances,
jeopardizing the animals’ health, and plant leaves
can become coated, preventing or reducing the
plants’ ability to photosynthesize.

All of these potential sources of pollution to
marina basins and the undesirable conditions they
cause for marina patrons and owners point out the
importance of establishing controls on how wastes



3-4

National Management Measures Guidance

are disposed of, the use of pumpouts, where
storm water drains, and where boat maintenance
is allowed to occur. Good pollution control can
leave marina basin waters as healthy an environ-
ment for people, fish, aquatic plants, and other
aquatic organisms as any other part of a
waterbody.

Management Practice Systems

Water quality problems can’t usually be solved
with one management practice because single
practices cannot provide the full range and extent
of control needed to limit the entry of pollutants
from numerous sources. Multiple management
measures or practices can be combined to build
management practice systems that address the
pollutant control needs associated with pollutant
generation from more than one source. For
example, controlling petroleum hydrocarbon
pollution is an objective of four marina manage-
ment measures (storm water runoff, fueling
station design, liquid material, and petroleum
control). A single management practice cannot
adequately control petroleum hydrocarbon
pollution because one management practice can
usually address pollution from only a single
source. Separate management practices are

necessary to control pollution from other sources.
For instance, a grassed drainage swale can
control petroleum hydrocarbon pollution from
surface runoff, air/fuel separators can control it
from boat fuel tanks, berms are helpful (and might
be required) at liquid material storage areas, and
bilge pads are effective in boat bilges. If any one
of these sources is overlooked or inadequately
addressed, the overall goal of controlling petro-
leum hydrocarbon pollution in the marina basin
might not be attained.

Site-Specific Design of Management
Practices

There is no single, ideal management practice for
controlling a pollutant or class of pollutants in all
situations. Rather, management practices should
be chosen and designed based on the types of
pollutants causing problems, sources of the
pollutants, causes of pollution at the marina,
climate, type of waterbody, existing water quality,
habitats in and around the marina basin, pollution
reduction goals, experience of the system design-
ers, and willingness and ability of the marina
owner to implement and maintain the practices.
The relative importance of these and other factors
varies depending on other considerations such as

MSD TYPES

Type I
(Vessel size = <65 ft)

A flow-through MSD in which sewage is filtered though an on-board
treatment system and then directly discharged. Required to produce an
effluent with a fecal coliform bacteria count � 1,000/100 mL and no visible
floating solids (40 CFR 140.3). Rely on maceration and disinfection for
treatment of sanitary waste.

Type II
(Vessel size = >65 ft)

A flow-through device larger than a Type I MSD. Required to produce an
effluent with a fecal coliform bacteria count � 200/100 mL and suspended
solids � 150 mg/L (40 CFR 140.3).  A Type II MSD provides more
advanced treatment than a Type I MSD.

Type III
(All vessel sizes)

Device designed to prevent overboard discharge of treated or untreated
sewage. Commonly a called holding tank because the sewage flushed from
the marine head is deposited into a tank containing deodorizers and other
non-treatment chemicals. Contents of the holding tank are stored until
properly disposed of at a shoreside pumpout facility. Can be equipped with
a discharge option, called a Y-valve, that allows the boater to direct the
discharge from the head either into the holding tank or directly overboard.
Overboard discharge is illegal in U.S. navigable waters.

Table 3-1. Marine sanitation device descriptions



SECTION 3: Nonpoint Source Pollution Control

3-5

whether the implementation is voluntary or
mandatory (e.g., required under a storm water
permit).

Important Characteristics of Marina
Environments from a Pollution Perspective
Marinas are located on nearly every type of
surface water—lakes, rivers, inland waterways,
reservoirs, embayments, bays, coastal channels,
and others. Each of these waterbody types has
different characteristics that affect how pollutants
behave in them; that is, whether they are diluted
quickly or not, accumulate in sediments or remain
in the water column, or concentrate in specific
areas or disperse. Although marina operators
cannot affect the qualities of or processes that
occur in waterbodies, knowledge of the qualities
and processes particular to the type of waterbody
where a marina is located is useful when devising
a pollution control strategy and in general for
helping to understand the larger watershed
context within which every marina is located.

General Factors Common to All Waterbodies

Sediment has the potential to be a concern at any
marina because of the turbid waters it can create,
the dredging that might become necessary if too
much sediment accumulates in the marina basin,
and the pollutants it can carry with it. Sediment
can enter a marina from upland flow (storm water
runoff) and from surrounding waters. The amount
of sediment contained in either of these sources is
very site-specific and needs to be assessed
individually at each marina.

Along with the sediment are nutrients and toxic
substances attached to sediment particles. The
types and quantities of these pollutants are other
factors that are best assessed on a site-specific
basis. Many chemicals (including nutrients and
chemical pollutants) have different forms with
different tendencies to attach to particles, biode-
grade, and volatilize. Each chemical form might
have a different toxicity to aquatic life. The
chemical form can change when the compound
moves from one environment to another––for
instance, from ground water to surface water or
from fresh water to salt water. Heavy metals
naturally react to particles and sorb onto sus-
pended particulates. This process is particularly

accentuated in estuaries, where the mixing of
fresh and salt water creates turbulent and turbid
conditions. Most metals transported down rivers
to estuaries are removed to bottom sediments in
the estuary.

Pollutant resuspension is another potential con-
cern in marinas, and it is affected by currents,
boat traffic, and dredging. Toxic metals and
hydrocarbons are often mentioned in the context
of pollutant resuspension, but bacteria and viruses,
nutrients, organic matter, and any other pollutants
concentrated in sediments are also resuspended
by water turbulence and can cause water quality
problems.

The type of waterbody on which a marina is
located plays a role in processes in the marina
basin, like sedimentation; pollutant delivery,
settling, and resuspension; and circulation. The
subsections that follow discuss the general types
of environments where marinas are located and
factors of concern in each of them.

Lakes and Reservoirs

Lakes and reservoirs are strongly affected by the
characteristics of the watersheds in which they
are located, more so than coastal waters because
lakes and reservoirs are not flushed and mixed
with a larger body of water. Water that enters
lakes and reservoirs carries with it nutrients,
sediment, oxygen, decomposing organic matter,
fertilizers and pesticides used on farms and lawns,
and weathered minerals. In addition, pollutants
from on-site waste disposal systems (septic tanks)
that leak into ground water, industrial and munici-
pal point sources that discharge into rivers and
streams that then feed into the lake or reservoir,
street runoff, and pollutants from the atmosphere
all enter lakes and reservoirs and affect their
ecology.

The water quality and biological effects of
pollutants discharged into the waters of lakes and
reservoirs depend on a combination of lake and
reservoir characteristics. Depth is one of the
characteristics that determines the effect of
marinas and recreational boating in a lake or
reservoir. Lakes and deeper reservoirs are usually
thermally divided during the summer into distinct
upper (epilimnion) and lower (hypolimnion)



3-6

National Management Measures Guidance

Watersheds are areas of land that drain to
a single stream, lake, or other water
resource. Watersheds are defined solely
by drainage areas and not by land owner-
ship or political boundaries.

portions. Because the density of water depends
on its temperature, the temperature difference
between the upper and lower portions creates a
difference in density as well. Wind circulation
alone is not enough to overcome the density
difference between the upper and lower portions,
so there is little exchange of dissolved oxygen
between the upper portion and the lower portion
while a lake or reservoir is divided in this manner.

The epilimnion usually has a depth of from about
10 feet in shallow lakes to 40 feet in deep lakes.
A narrow region where water temperature
changes rapidly with depth (usually about 1.5 ºF
per 3 feet of depth), the thermocline, rests
between the epilimnion and the hypolimnion. The
hypolimnion is more or less uniform in tempera-
ture and extends from the base of the thermocline
to the bottom of the lake or reservoir.

Stratified lakes and reservoirs have two periods of
overturn or mixing each year, one in the autumn
and another in the spring. The change of season
from a warm summer to a cold winter destratifies
lakes and reservoirs and induces mixing; the
reverse process of warming with the change from
winter to summer induces another mixing period.
Because there is limited exchange of dissolved
oxygen between the epilimnion and the hypolim-
nion while a lake or reservoir is stratified, the
oxygen depleted in the hypolimnion during the
summer is not replenished until the autumn
overturn. During the overturn, when a lake or
reservoir is unstratified, dissolved oxygen is
usually uniformly distributed from the surface to
the bottom.

Stratification and mixing of lakes and reservoirs
influence the effect of pollutants on them. When a
lake or reservoir is stratified, the upper
(epilimnetic) volume of the lake or reservoir
determines the volume of water available for
dilution of fuel, oil, and other wastes that are not
mixed into or do not sink into the hypolimnion
while the waterbody is stratified. The total volume of

the lake or reservoir determines the volume of water
available to dilute pollutants over time.

Another important characteristic of lakes and
reservoirs is the hydraulic residence time (HRT).
The HRT of a lake or reservoir is the time it
would theoretically take for all of the water in the
lake or reservoir to be replaced by new water
entering it naturally. For example, if a lake has a
volume of 5 million gallons and natural flow into
the lake from streams averages 10,000 gallons per
day, the HRT of the lake would be 500 days
(5,000,000/10,000). In a lake with an HRT of 10
years, therefore, even if pollution input were
completely stopped, existing lake water would
predominate for many years while new water
slowly replaced the polluted water. There would
be a long lag time (perhaps 2 to 3 years) before
improvements in lake water quality would be seen.

Rivers

Water quality at any point along a river is strongly
influenced by upstream water and land uses. If
the conditions that affect upstream water quality
change, downstream water quality is affected.
Examples of upstream changes in conditions
include clearing land near the river for construc-
tion or forest harvesting, which might increase
sediment loading, or changing land use change
from forest to agriculture, which could increase
sediment, nutrient, and chemical pollution. Water
quality changes at downstream locations can
occur in pulses if inputs of pollutants from up-
stream dredging or pesticide and fertilizer
applications, for instance, are short-lived. The
duration of changes in water quality depends on
the type of upstream change. A change in land
use from forest to agriculture over a large area,
for instance, could cause long-term changes in
water quality, whereas an increase in suspended
sediment from dredging might last no longer than
the duration of the dredging work.

Estuaries

Estuaries are similar to coastal embayments with
the special characteristic of receiving fresh water
from upland areas via rivers and streams. This
characteristic creates special circumstances and
properties. Where fresh water meets salt water,
there is a change in salinity and alkalinity, a



SECTION 3: Nonpoint Source Pollution Control

3-7

change in water density (because salt water is
more dense than fresh water), a loss of water
velocity, and turbulence due to the meeting of
fast-moving river water and quiescent estuarine
water. These factors affect the behavior of
sediment and the pollutants attached to it.

Sedimentation is greater in the upper portions of
estuaries where rivers enter because of the
water’s loss of velocity. Sedimentation also
occurs where the fresh water and salt water meet
because the change in salinity causes suspended
particles to join together into larger particles and
settle. The changes in salinity and pH affect many
pollutants, such as nutrients and toxic metals, in
the incoming fresh water as well. The form of a
pollutant might change because of these changes
in the water, making it less or more toxic or
causing it to attach to or detach from sediment
particles. As in coastal embayments, the force of
tides influences estuarine environments as well.

Coastal Environments

Coastal environments are areas of high energy,
with tides moving in and out, coastal storms,
waves constantly washing against the shore, and
currents moving along the coast. Marinas cannot
afford to be subject to all of this energy because
of the need to offer protection for boats and
on-land structures; therefore, they are usually
located on quieter embayments along the coast or
are protected from coastal energies by artificial
means like breakwaters. However, the energetic
processes of the coast still exert a strong effect
on the water quality and aquatic environment of
marinas.

Coastal embayments have quieter waters than
open coastal areas, and sediments tend to accu-
mulate in quiet-water areas because the lack of
water movement permits the sediment to settle.
Countering this tendency are tides and coastal
storms that mix sediments from the bottom and
transport them to open waters. So, in marinas
located in coastal embayments, pollutants can
build up if tidal action is not strong or the
embayment is well protected from storm action.
As noted above, metals transported down rivers
to estuaries sorb onto particulates and settle to
sediments. In general, more than 90 percent of
particulate matter transported by rivers settles in

estuarine and coastal marine areas and does not
escape to offshore waters.

Modification of coastal areas—for example, by
excavating coastal land to create a marina or by
adding breakwaters—can alter coastal currents
near marina entrances. The effect in any particu-
lar area depends on local conditions relating to
currents and the sizes and types of sediments
transported by them. Coastal currents carry
sediments with them, and these sediments tend to
be transported into channels that lie perpendicular
to the current. Artificial structures and channels
can also alter erosion patterns due to alterations
of wave patterns in the immediate vicinity. Thus,
marinas in altered coastal environments might
have to contend with problems of sedimentation
and erosion that were not present before the
coastal alterations.

Boating on Inland Waters

A picture of a marina on a large inland reservoir,
lake, or river would look very similar to a picture
of a coastal marina. Lakes and reservoirs range in
size from small (an acre or less) to very large.
Reservoirs operated by the Tennessee Valley
Authority range in surface area size from rela-
tively small (10 to 12 miles long by ½ mile wide)
to large (180 miles long by 1 mile wide), and their
depths typically range from 100 to 300 feet. The
size of a lake or reservoir dictates the types of
boats that can be used on it, and the boats used on
large inland lakes and reservoirs are usually of the
same types (keeled sailboats, large motorboats,
and yachts) as those used along the coast.
Marinas on large lakes and reservoirs are also
very similar to coastal marinas. They can have as
many as 200 slips (some marinas on Lake
Winnipesaukee in New Hampshire have 150 to
200 slips); they often have fueling stations,
pumpout services, and hull maintenance areas;
boat use is concentrated on the weekends, with
holiday weekends being especially busy. Inland
marinas can also be smaller, especially those
located on smaller lakes and rivers. A directory of
marinas in Louisiana lists 51 marinas on freshwa-
ter lakes, rivers, and bayous with capacities of as
few as 10 boats in slips or moorings.



3-8

National Management Measures Guidance

Because reservoirs are dendritic (that is, they
have a branching configuration; see Figure 3-1),
the surface area in their main channels is limited.
Marinas or docks extending into the main channel
of a reservoir would impede navigation, and
therefore they are typically located to the side of
the main channel. Some typical features of lakes
and reservoirs are summarized in Figure 3-1.

Boating Access

In 1984 Congress created the Aquatic Resources
Trust Fund, which made two sources of funding
available for the acquisition, design, and construc-
tion of recreational boating facilities. The Boating
Safety Account is administered by the U.S. Coast
Guard and primarily provides grants to states to
help finance boating safety programs, one element
of which is access. The Sport Fish Restoration
Account is administered by the U.S. Fish and
Wildlife Service. Ten percent of revenues to the
account from recreational user taxes and a
marine fuel tax must be expended by states for
boating access. States may also use funds from
the account to operate and maintain recreational
boating facilities.

The States Organization for Boating Access
(SOBA) was created in 1987 to promote the
acquisition, development, and administration of
recreational boating facilities. The organization
maintains close ties with the Coast Guard and
Fish and Wildlife Service both to ensure that the
boating access aspects of the grant programs
administered by these agencies receive the funds
and attention that Congress intended and to provide
input from states on program requirements.

Construction of boat ramps is an aspect of boating
access that can affect shorelines and water
quality in inland waters. Where appropriate,
measures that can help protect the environment
and ensure attractive and safe boating access
points are highlighted throughout this document
and are based on the concepts developed by
SOBA. A thorough treatment of the topic can be
found in SOBA’s book Design Handbook for
Recreational Boating and Fishing Facilities
(1996), available from SOBA at 919-781-0239.

Figure 3-1. Typical features of and differences between lakes and reservoirs.



 
  
  
  
  
  
 
  
  
 
   
  
  
 
 
  

 

 

SECTION 4: Management Measures 

SECTION 4: MANAGEMENT MEASURES
 

Section 4 Contents 

Introduction ........................................................................................................................4-1
 
4.1 Marina Flushing ........................................................................................................4-7
 
4.2 Water Quality Assessment .....................................................................................4-13
 
4.3 Habitat Assessment ................................................................................................4-19
 
4.4 Shoreline Stabilization ...........................................................................................4-27
 
4.5 Storm Water Runoff ................................................................................................4-31
 
4.6 Fueling Station Design...........................................................................................4-45
 
4.7 Petroleum Control ..................................................................................................4-53
 
4.8 Liquid Material Management .................................................................................4-59
 
4.9 Solid Waste Management.......................................................................................4-67
 
4.10 Fish Waste Management ........................................................................................4-73
 
4.11 Sewage Facility Management ................................................................................4-77
 
4.12 Maintenance of Sewage Facilities ........................................................................4-87
 
4.13 Boat Cleaning..........................................................................................................4-91
 
4.14 Boat Operation........................................................................................................4-95
 
4.15 Public Education .....................................................................................................4-99
 

Introduction The scope of this guidance is broad, covering 

Management measures are the best available, 
economically achievable practices or combina
tions of practices that can be used to address 
nonpoint source pollution from marinas and 
recreational boating. Best management practices 
(BMPs) are individual activities or structures that 
can be used alone or in combination to achieve 
the management measures. 

EPA identified 15 measures for implementation 
within state coastal management areas. From 
discussions with marina owners and operators at 
facilities on fresh waters nationwide, these 15 
management measures and associated practices 
have been found generally to be just as applicable 
to freshwater marinas as to coastal water mari
nas. They form the basic measures recommended 
in this guidance. This section discusses the 15 
management measures for marinas and recre
ational boating and BMPs that can be used to 
achieve them. 

diverse nonpoint source pollutants from marinas 
and recreational boating. Because it applies to all 
types of waterbodies, it cannot provide all prac
tices and techniques suitable to all regional or 
local marina or waterbody conditions. Also, 
BMPs are continually being modified and devel
oped as a result of experience gained from their 
implementation and the innovation of marina 
owners and operators across the country. 

The guidance can help marina managers identify 
potential sources of nonpoint source pollution and 
offer potential solutions. Finding the best solution 
to a nonpoint source pollution problem at a marina 
requires taking into account the many site-specific 
factors that together compose the setting of a 
marina and identifying the most applicable BMPs. 

Considering management measures and BMPs 
during marina design will help to ensure that the 
site has good flushing and water circulation 
characteristics, avoid encroachment on vital 

4-1 



National Management Measures Guidance 

aquatic habitats, improve habitat quality in and 
around the marina basin, and reduce the potential 
for water quality problems in the marina basin. 
Considering pollution prevention possibilities when 
planning a marina can help ensure that the design 
of the marina and activities at the marina do not 
lead to degraded water quality in the basin once 
the marina is operational. Incorporating pollution 
prevention and source reduction measures into an 
existing marina can help improve and protect 
water quality at the marina. Good water quality 
can help any marina keep operational costs low 
and improve customer satisfaction. 

Marina siting and design play important roles in 
determining how good water quality in a marina 
basin will be. Marina location (open—sited 
directly on a river, lake, bay, or barrier island, or 
semi-enclosed—sited on an embayment, cove, or 
other protected area) affects circulation in a 
marina basin and, therefore, how well it flushes. 
The depth of a marina basin affects circulation of 
deep water in the basin and how often it needs 
maintenance dredging, if at all. Dredging stirs 
contaminants from the bottom and can disturb 
bottom habitats. Marina design, especially the 
configuration of the basin and its orientation to 
prevailing winds, waves, tides, and currents, 
affects the retention of pollutants in a marina 
basin and the movement of pollutants out of a 
basin. Some marinas may be affected by storm 
water runoff from upland areas in the watershed. 

Existing marinas can improve water and habitat 
quality in the marina basin through application of 
these management measures. Circulation and 
flushing may be improved in a marina basin by 
creating an additional opening in a breakwater. 
Shoreline stabilization may reduce the sedimenta
tion rate and sediment levels in a marina basin, 
provide an area for patron activities, and make 
shoreline habitats more suitable for a variety of 
aquatic and terrestrial plants and animals. Im
provements to storm water runoff patterns, 
fueling stations, sewage facilities, hull mainte
nance areas, or other areas or aspects of a 
marina where pollutants are generated can reduce 
pollutant inputs to the marina basin from these 
sources and improve water quality. 

A marina designed with the important points of 
the management measures in mind—including 
physical location, flushing and circulation, aquatic 
habitat, shoreline stability, and pollution preven
tion—will probably have better water quality and 
fewer water-pollution-related problems during its 
life of operation, and economic benefits may 
result from making such improvements.1  This 
applies whether the management measures are 
applied while the marina is being designed or 
incorporated into the marina after it is operational. 

Subsections 4.1 through 4.15 of this section 
discuss each of the management measures. It is 
best to plan to apply management measures 
comprehensively by first evaluating pollution 
problems throughout the marina and incorporating 
those elements of different management mea
sures that will most efficiently and effectively 
address the specific pollution issues at the marina. 
With a comprehensive approach to management 
measure application, any marina can achieve or 
maintain good water quality and maintain healthy 
shorelines and aquatic habitats. 

In addition to the management measures, BMPs 
are also described. EPA has found the BMPs 
described in this guidance to be representative of 
the types of BMPs that can be applied success
fully to achieve the management measures. Site-
specific or regional circumstances, however, 
should be considered in the selection of BMPs for 
a particular marina. Circumstances such as type 
of adjacent waterbody, climate, and type of work 
performed at the marina affect the design con
straints and pollution control effectiveness of 
BMPs. The list of practices for each management 
measure is not all-inclusive, and marina operators 
are encouraged to use other BMPs where they 
would be as effective as or more effective than 
those discussed in this guidance. 

The management measures for marinas and 
recreational boating are applicable to the facilities 
and their associated shore-based services that 
support recreational boats and boats for hire. 
Generally, the following types of operations and 
facilities would be expected to benefit by use of 

1 See USEPA, 1996: Clean marinas—Clear Value: 
Environmental and Business Success Stories. 

4-2 



SECTION 4: Management Measures 

the management measures and BMPs in this 
guidance: 

• Any facility that contains 10 or more slips, 
piers where 10 or more boats may tie up, or 
any facility where a boat for hire is docked. 

• Boat maintenance or repair yards that are
 
adjacent to the water.
 

• Any federal, state, or local facility where
 
recreational boat maintenance or repair is
 
done on or near the water.
 

• Public or commercial boat ramps. 

• Any residential or planned community marina 
with 10 or more slips. 

• Any mooring field where 10 or more boats 
are moored. 

Facilities with fewer than 10 slips, where fewer 
than 10 boats are moored, or where piers have a 
capacity of fewer than 10 boats might also benefit 
from the management measures and BMPs 
described in this guidance, and operators of such 
facilities are encouraged to review the information 
presented here and consider its possible applica
tion to their situations. 

Some of the management measures (e.g., marina 
flushing) are more applicable to the siting and 
design phase of marina construction or expansion, 
while others (e.g., maintenance of sewage 
facilities) concern marina operation and mainte
nance and are more applicable to operational 
marinas. Still others (e.g., storm water runoff) are 
applicable to all marinas, whether in the design 
phase, already operational, or in the process of 
expanding. 

Following the discussion of each management 
measure and its associated BMPs is a table that 
restates the management measure and summa
rizes the environmental concerns that the man
agement measure addresses, the BMPs appli
cable to the management measure, and informa
tion pertinent to the implementation of each BMP. 
The table that follows here, Key to BMP Tables, 
describes the type of content in each column in 
the tables. The tables (beginning with BMP 

Summary Table 1, p. 4-11) are organized as 
follows: 

• The first column, Best Management Practice 
Examples, lists the BMPs mentioned in this 
guidance that can be used to achieve the 
management measure. Where appropriate, 
BMPs are divided by category, either pollution 
prevention or source reduction, as described 
in the Key to BMP Tables. 

• The second column, Marina Location & 
Usage, identifies where in the marina the 
BMP would usually be located and the 
purpose for its use. The applicability of each 
BMP is categorized as universal, general, or 
recommended, as described in the Key to 
BMP Tables. 

• The third column, Benefits to Marina, 
describes the benefits that marina owners and 
operators and boat owners at the marina 
could expect from using the BMP. The 
magnitude of the benefits is categorized as 
high, moderate, or low, as described in the 
Key to BMP Tables. 

• The fourth column, Projected Environmental 
Benefits, describes the environmental benefits 
that can be expected from using the BMP. 
These are also categorized as high, moderate, 
or low, as described in the Key to BMP 
Tables. 

• The fifth column, Initial Cost Estimate, is an 
estimate of the cost of initially installing the 
BMP (e.g., a structural BMP) or establishing 
the practice (e.g., a recycling program) at the 
marina. A cost range, as described in the Key 
to BMP Tables, is provided for each BMP. 

• The sixth column, Annual Operation & 
Maintenance Cost Estimate, is an estimate 
of the ongoing cost, if any, of using or main
taining the BMP at a marina. The cost of 
annual operation and maintenance is esti
mated as for the initial cost estimate. See the 
Key to BMP Tables. 

• The last column, Notes, provides descriptions 
of additional benefits or other information 
pertinent to the BMP. 

4-3 



KEY TO BMP TABLES: Title of Manaeement Measure 
MANAGEMENT MEASURE: The statement of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency management measure. 

APPLICABILITY: A statement of the ~neral a~licabilitv of the mana~ment measure. 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERNS: A descriptive statement of the potential environmental problems, what the pollutants could be, reason for concern, and how they 
could ~et into the water. 
MANAGEMENT MEASURE PRACTICES 

Projected Annual Operation 
Best Management Marina Location & Environmental & Maintenance 
Practice Examples Usa11e Benefits to Marina Benefits Initial Cost Estimate Cost Estimate Notes 

Each best management This is a general Use oflhis practice A good practice has Estimated cost ranges for Estimated annual cost Each practice has 
practice (BMP) listed is description of where in should provide clear environmental benefits the purchase, ranges fur operating descriptions of 
a recommended example the marina the practice is benefits to the marina or and improvements to oonstmction, and each practice and additional benefits, 
used successfully by likely to be used. boat owner for adoption clean boating. installation of each maintaining it in effects, infonnation, 
marinas or boaters. Many For example, a pumpout to happen. Benefits may Each recommended practice. Actual costs ruoning condition fur a tips, advice, cautions, 
of these practices are is where it is easiest for be economic, simple to practice has one or more vary from site to site. reasonable use life. or comments to help 
simple common sense. most boats to get service, use, available off the environmental benefits The initial cost does not Actual costs vary from select and use the 

such as on 1:he fuel dock. shelf, easily for consideration. include the cost of operation to operation. technique for cl"""er 
Not all practices are A vacuum sander is used taught/learned, and Although it is impossible applying for construction boating and marina 
appropriate for each in the boat maintenance effective. to predict exact benefits permits and legal facilities. 
marina since each facility area. No-wake zones are The benefits listed are everywhere, the most services. 
has site-specific needs. present in the channels typical and will help in common found here will 
Managers can alter a leading ro or near the determining which aid in selecting the most 
practice to meet their marina basin. practice to select for the cost-effective practice. 
site-specific situation as site-specific need. Use of any practice must 
appropriate to achieve predictably result in clear 
comparable benefits. Jn and measurable 
some marinas a single environmental protection 
practice might be or improvement in water 
sufficient to achieve a quality. 
result, and in others a 
combination of practices 
might be necessary. 

This list should not limlt 
anyone from trying 
something new or 
different if it is cost-
effective and practical 
and will help maintain or 
i~ve water oualitv. 

N
ational M

anagem
ent M

easures G
uidance

4
-4






KEY TO BMP TABLES. lcont.l Title ofMan•0 cmcnt Measure 
Projected Annual Operation 

Be.st Management Marina Location & Enviromnental Initial Cost & Maintenance 
Practice Examples Usage Benefits to Marina Benefits Estimate c ... t Estimate Notes 

Some BMPs are applied Some BMPs may be HIGH = Considerable IDGH = Considerable NONE=$0 NONE=$0 
where products are used to appropriate for use in all value to user, best environmental protection; 
prevent pollutants from or most marinas and cost/benefits when used. clear and obvious water LOW = under $2,000 LOW= under $1,000 
being released into the boats, whereas others quality improvement can 
water. They are often the have limited usage. Select MODERATE= Of value be expected, MODERATE= MODERATE= 
first, best. least costly, and practices that are to user; good $2,000 to 9,999 $1,000 to 4,999 
most effective practices to appropriate and costm cost/benefits from use. MODERATE= Protects 
prevent contaminants from effective for each site- the environment; !IlGH = Sl!l,000 to HIGH = $5,000 to 
entering the water. BMPs specific need, Every BMP LOW = Some value; improvement to water 24,999 9,999 
of this type include not will not work everywhere. fewer cost/benefits to quality could be expected, 
using a toxic solvent,, Some could be broadly the user. EXPENSIVE= EXPENSIVE= 
diluting a product so it is effective in many sites; LOW = Some protection $25,ooo+ $10,ooo+ 
less toxic, switching to a others are less adaptable to the environment; 
less or non-harmful for wide or effective use. limited water quality When a range is When a range is 
product, or doing improvement expected. given, e.g., High to given, e.g., Low to 
something differently so Moderate, expect Moderate, expect cost 
no pollution results. cost to lean toward to lean toward lower 
Education can t:each people higher end end 
to change their behavior so 
they do things in a less 
polluting manner or to use 
methods that reduce the 
type or amount of 
contamination created. 

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 4: M
anagem

ent M
easures

4
-5


 



KEY TO BMP TABLES. lcont.l Title of Man•oement Measure 
Projected Annual Operation 

Best Management Marina Location & Environmental Initial Cost & Maintenance 
Practice Exanml"" Usa2e Benefits to Marina Benefits Estimate Cost Eslilllate Not.. 

Other BMPs are used to UNIVERSALLY 
remove pollutants from the RECOMMENDED 
environment, and are applied 
between the place where Very effective practice for 
poHutant.s are released and the wide use; best choice; 
water. These practices can greatest cost/benefits; can 
capture, filter, screen, trap, be used in any marina (or 
contain, absorb, or chemically on any boat) where 
neutralize pollutants or divert applicable. 
them to municipal sewer lines. 
Recycling and use of a filter in GENERALLY 
a storm drain are examples. RECOMMENDED Gcod 
These BMPs often are more practice for common use; 
expensive to use and less effective choice; good 
effective than BMPs that cost/benefits; can be used 
reduce pollutant releases. in most marinas (or on 

most boats) where 
applicable. 

RECOMMENDED 
Practice for selected use, 
workable choice; 
reasonable cost/benefits; 
may be used in some 
marinas (or some boats) 
where better practices are 
not available or 'f'lrt'actical. 

N
ational M

anagem
ent M

easures G
uidance

4
-6






  

SECTION 4: Management Measures 

4.1. MARINA FLUSHING 

Management Measure for Marina Flushing: 

Site and design marinas such that tides and/or currents will aid in flushing of 
the site or renew its water regularly. 

Management Measure Description In tidal waters, flushing is driven primarily by 

Water quality in a marina basin depends largely on 
how well the basin is flushed, which depends in 
turn on how well water circulates within the 
marina. Studies have shown that adequate 
flushing improves water quality in marina basins, 
reduces or eliminates water stagnation, and helps 
maintain biological productivity and aesthetic 
appeal. Flushing can reduce pollutant concentra
tions in a marina basin by anywhere from 70 
percent to almost 90 percent over a 24-hour 
period.1 

When a single number (e.g., 10 days) is given as 
the flushing time or residence time of a body of 
water (e.g., marina basin, harbor, or estuary), this 
number represents an average and doesn’t 
accurately reflect what is happening inside the 
marina basin. Actually, flushing time in a marina 
basin can range from zero days at the boundary 
with the adjacent waterbody (at points of entry 
into the marina basin) to as much as several 
weeks within the marina basin at secluded 
locations or where in-water structures prevent 
water from circulating. 

In a poorly flushed marina, pollutants tend to 
concentrate in the water and/or sediments. 
Pollutants and debris can collect in poorly flushed 
corners or secluded or protected spots in the 
same way that leaves collect in depressions in 
the ground where they are protected from 
wind. Stagnant, polluted water—with little 
biological activity, lifeless shorelines, and 
offensive odors—can be the consequence. 

Cardwell and Koons, 1981; Tetra Tech, 1988. 

the ebb and flow of the tide. A large tidal 
volume relative to the total volume of a marina 
basin provides excellent flushing because each 
tidal exchange replaces a large amount of the 
marina basin water with “new” water from 
outside the marina basin. This condition is com
mon on coastal waters in northern New England, 
the Pacific Northwest, and Alaska, where tidal 
circulation should adequately flush marinas. 

In nontidal coastal waters, such as the Great 
Lakes, wind drives circulation in the water 
adjacent to a marina. The circulating water 
outside a marina basin can have a flushing effect 
on water within the marina if the speed, persis
tence, and direction of the wind create a strong 
enough current. In many situations wind-driven 
currents can provide adequate flushing of marina 
basins. 

In river waters, with current flow, water usually 
moves into and out of the marina basin continu
ously unless the basin is built into the land or has 
only one small entrance channel. 

The BMPs mentioned below are particularly 
applicable for incorporation into a marina’s design 
at new and expanding marinas. Marinas with poor 
water quality that could be attributed to poor 
flushing might also benefit from using one or more 
of the following BMPS, as appropriate. Entrance 
channel design and wave protection structures 
must be designed with other factors in mind as 
well. Adequate protection from wave energies, 
episodic storm currents, and ice floes and 
shoreline erosion protection must be considered 
in the overall design strategy. 

4-7 

1 



National Management Measures Guidance 

Applicability 

This management measures primarily applies to 
new and expanding marinas. 

Best Management Practices 

♦	 Ensure that the bottom of the marina and 
the entrance channels are not deeper than 
adjacent navigable channels 

Flushing rates in marinas can be improved and 
maximized by proper design of entrance channels 
and the basin. Areas with minimal or no tides or 
poor circulation should have basin and channel 
depths designed to gradually increase toward 
open water to promote flushing. 

Even where good flushing does occur, this alone 
does not guarantee that a marina’s deepest 
waters will be renewed on a regular basis. As 
mentioned previously, deep canals and depres
sions much deeper than adjacent waters might not 
be adequately flushed by tidal action or wind-
generated forces. Fine sediment and organic 
debris will collect in them, and low dissolved 
oxygen concentrations can result. In the warmer 
months when dissolved oxygen concentrations are 
normally low because of higher water tempera
tures, the even lower dissolved oxygen concentra
tions in these depressions can deteriorate water 
quality and hinder biological activity in the water. 

♦	 Consider design alternatives in poorly 
flushed waterbodies to enhance flushing. 
For example, consider 

• An open design where a semienclosed design 
is not functional. 

There are situations where it may be 
necessary to have areas deeper than the 
rest of the marina basin. For example, 
Cove Haven Marina (Rhode Island) ser
vices large 12-meter America’s Cup 
sailboats with deep keels and needs 
sufficiently deep water in and adjacent to 
the boat haul-out facility to do so. In this 
case, the state allows the marina to 
maintain this site dredged deeper than the 
rest of the marina (USEPA, 1996: Clean 
Marinas—Clear Value). 

• Floating wave attenuators where fixed
 
breakwaters are not functional.
 

When selecting a marina site and developing a 
design or when reconfiguring an existing marina, 
the need for efficient flushing of marina waters 
should be a prime consideration. 

Where a poorly flushed location is the only one 
available or where a marina is already operational 
in such a location, special arrangements may be 
necessary to ensure adequate flushing. Selection 
of an open marina design may be considered. 
Open marina designs have no natural barriers to 
restrict the exchange of water between the larger 
waterbody and the marina basin. To accommo
date both improved flushing and protection from 
wave energy, floating wave attenuators can be 
useful. Floating wave attenuators do not impede 
flushing because water exchange is not restricted 
by an underwater structure, yet the marina is 
protected from limited wave action. Floating wave 
attenuators can provide effective protection 
where waves do not usually exceed 3 feet, and 
open area designs can be a viable alternative 
where they do not leave a marina exposed to 
excessive wave action that could damage prop
erty and cause shoreline erosion. 

♦	 Design new marinas with as few enclosed 
water sections or separated basins as 
possible to promote circulation within the 
entire basin. 

Overall flushing in a marina is a function of the 
number of separate basins in the marina. A 
marina in open water generally flushes better than 
a one-basin marina; a one-section marina, instead 
of square corners, can eliminate stagnant corner 
water and can help produce strong circulation in a 
marina basin. A marina in open water flushes 
better than a one-segment marina, a one-segment 
marina generally flushes better than a two-section 
marina, and so forth (Figure 4-1). Curved corners, 
instead of square corners, can eliminate stagnant 
corner water and can help produce strong circula
tion within a marina basin. 

♦	 Consider the value of entrance channels in 
promoting flushing when designing or 
reconfiguring a marina. 

4-8 



SECTION 4: Management Measures 

Figure 4-1. Example marina designs. 

The alignment and number of entrance channels 
may affect flushing, along with many other site-
specific factors. The following points generally 
hold true and should be considered when design
ing or reconfiguring a marina: 

• Entrance channels that follow the natural
 
channel alignment and have only gradual
 
bends promote flushing.
 

• Where the tidal range is small, a wider
 
entrance may promote flushing.
 

• Where the tidal range is large, a single narrow 
entrance channel may improve flushing. 

• In tidal and nontidal waters, entrance chan
nels aligned parallel to the direction of prevail
ing winds or water flow might enhance 
flushing. 

The orientation and location of a solitary entrance 
might affect marina flushing rates and should be 
considered along with other factors that affect 
flushing. Consider the following points: 

• In a square or rectangular marina basin, a 
single entrance at the center of a marina may 
promote flushing better than a single corner-
located asymmetric entrance. 

• In a circular marina basin, an off-center
 
entrance channel might promote better
 
circulation.
 

♦	 Establish two openings at the most appro
priate locations within the marina to pro
mote flow-through currents. 

Where water-level fluctuations are small (e.g., 
nontidal waters), alternatives in addition to the 
ones previously discussed can be considered to 
ensure adequate water exchange and to increase 
flushing rates. An elongated marina situated 
parallel to a tidal river may be adequately flushed 
by using two entrances to promote a flow-through 
current. A small outlet onto an adjacent 
waterbody can be opened solely to enhance 
flushing (Figure 4-2). Buried pipelines have been 
similarly used to promote flushing. 

♦	 Consider mechanical aerators to improve 
flushing and water quality where basin and 
entrance channel configuration cannot 
provide adequate flushing. 

Where poor water quality throughout a marina 
basin or in secluded spots is a problem because of 
poor flushing, limited circulation, or other circum
stances, mechanical aerators (such as those used 
for ice protection) might be helpful. 

These devices can raise the level of dissolved 
oxygen in the water and circulate floating debris 
out of corners into the rest of the basin, where it 
can be flushed out naturally. Underwater air 
bubblers or submerged impeller-type motors can 
be effective during short-term episodes that might 
occur during the summer. In certain circum
stances, such as in shallow and enclosed waters, 
water clarity improvement is often noted if 
artificial aeration is used. 

Both compressed air and agitator 
systems work in fresh water, salt water, 
and brackish water. They do not work 
well in ice-covered rivers because river 
currents destroy bubble or flow patterns 
and because of the lack of heat. 
Thermal mixing of river water is a 
natural process, and a river that has 
formed an ice cover has already 
dissipated nearly all available heat. 

4-9 



National Management Measures Guidance 

Figure 4-2. Puerto Del Ray Marina (Puerto Rico) has an 
offshore rubble mound breakwater that protects the 
southeastern and eastern exposures of the marina. Two 
hundred feet of the southern breakwater was removed, 
creating a new south side breachway exit/enterance that 
is still well protected but now allows for greater 
circualtion in the basin. Water clarity improved after the 
alteration, and as a result new customers (a 3 percent 
increase for the marina) relocated to Puerto Del Rey 
Marina (USEPA, 1996: Clean Marinas—Clear Value). 

Ice suppression systems available for marinas 
hinder ice formation by using compressed air 
bubblers or in-water agitators. Bubbler systems 
force air to entrain warmer bottom water into a 
rising plume, which reacts with and melts the 
underside of the ice sheet. Water agitators work 
on the basis of thermal reserves of basin waters 
and surface currents to prevent freezing. 

BMP Summary Table 1 summarizes the BMPs 
for Marina Flushing mentioned in this guidance. 

4-10
 



BMPS Table 2. WATER QUALITY ASSESSMENT MANAGEMENT 
MANAGEMENT MEASURE: Assess water nualitv as oart of marina sitin2 and desion. 
APPLICABILITY: Primarilv annlies to the desi~ of new and exnandin• marinas. 
ENVIRONMENT AL CONCERNS: Water quality is assessed during the marina design phase to predict the effect of marina development on the chemical and physical health 
of the water and aquatic environment Marina development can cause changes in flushing and circulation; and boat maintenance, boat operation, and the human activities in and 
around boats can be sources of solid and liquid wastes, pathogenic organisms, and petroleum compounds. The results of water quality predictions or sampling are compared to 
state or federal water quality standards. Water quality assessments for dissolved oxygen concentrarion and pathogenic organisms can be used as indicators of the general health 
of an aquatic environment. Wat.er quality assessments can be useful in determining the suitability of a location for marina development, the best marina design for ensuring 
oood water oualitv, and the causes and sources of water oualitv oroblems. 
WATER QUALITY ASSESSMENT PRACTICES 

Annual Operation & 
Best Managmrent Mari.mt Location Projected Initial Cost Milintewmce 
Praetiee E:umples &usa .. Bendlts to Marilla Environmental Benefi:bi Estimate CO!il Estimate Notes 

Use water quality Proposed marina MODERA1E; can help MODERA1E to HIGH; HIGH, depends on NONE Monitoring an area larger than 
sampling andlor basin/expansion site; determine whether a can help determine if an type of tests and just the marina is necessary to 
manitoring to measure generally recommended proposed marina will area can sustain good number or samples determine the source of water 
waler qualily cooditioos negatively affect water waler qualiLy with a quality problems; gather 

quality and suggest marina existing data first; check with 
design alternatives; state and county agencies, 
might be required U.S. Geological Survey 

(USGS). 
Use a water quality Proposed marina basin; MODERATE to HIGH; MODERATE to ll!GH; MODERATE to NONE Some models applicable to 
modeling methodology to recommended for large can cost less than modeb can predict HIGH :mari.nas are reviewed in 
predict post-construction new projects sampling; can assist in flushing and pollutant Section 5. 
water quality conditions choosing the best loads for many different 

de.'llign; suitable for marina designs 
predicting circulation 
and wave damage 
exposure 

Monitor water quality Marina groWJ.ds and HIGH ro MODERAIB; HIGH; regular visual NONE WW to NONE Appearance, clarity, and smell 
using indicators basin; universally quickly provides inspections help track of water, abundance and 

recommended information about the changes, help identify appearance of aquatic plants., 
health of ihe water and porential problems before and appearance of sediments 
aquatic habitat they become large are all good imlicalolll; very 

cost-effective; simple; requires 
littlo m.fo;no. 

Use rapid bioassessment Marina basin; HIGHtoMODERAlE; MODERA1E; can WW; might have WW Cost-effective; not available 
techniques to monitor recommended where provides information indicate water quality to train someone in for many waters 
water quality bioassessment protocols about the biological problems that might not aquatic 

have been established quality of marina be tested for in a water invertebrate 
waters. oualitv samolin identification. 

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 4: M
anagem

ent M
easures

4-11
 



BMPS Table 1. (oonl.) MANAGEMENT MEASURE FOR MARINA FLUSmNG 
Projected AnnWLI Operation & 

Best Management Marina Location & Benclits to Environmental Initial Cost Maintenance Cost 
Pracllce Example Usage Marina Benefits Estimate Estimate Notes 

Establish two openings at the Entrance channels; MODERATE ro MODERATE ro HIGH; EXPENSIVE HIGH to EXPENSIVE; More than one entrance 
most appropriate locations recommended only where HIGH; flow-through entrance channels aligned depending on degree of channel may leave the 
within the marina to feasible circulation promotes with natural flow can wave attenuation marina too exposed 
promote flow-through good water increase flushing 
cum:nts 

Consider mechanical Marina basin; generally HIGH; useful to keep HIGH; can quickly LOW - per unit; LOW to MODERATE; Air bubblers or impeller 
aerators to improve flushing recommended for marinas floating debris from improve circulation and MODERATE ro depending on number of motors are effective 
and water quality where with poor circulation collecting in comers; raise the dissolved oxygen HIGH - bubbler units and days used during short periods of 
bas.in and entrance channel also can he used as concentration; improves system low dissolved oxygen 
configuration cannot provide ice control system in water clarity concentration, e.g., 
adequate !lushing winter during a very hot period. 

N
ational M

anagem
ent M

easures G
uidance

4-12




SECTION 4: Management Measures 

4.2. WATER QUALITY ASSESSMENT 

Management Measure for Water Quality Assessment: 

Assess water quality as part of marina siting and design. 

Management Measure Description 

Water quality can be assessed as a part of new 
marina development or expansion. This manage
ment measure is useful for determining the 
suitability of a location for marina development, 
the best marina design for ensuring good water 
quality, and the causes and sources of water 
quality problems. 

When planning for a new or expanded marina 
site, state water quality management agencies can 
be contacted for available information. A water 
quality assessment consists of taking samples of 
water from a waterbody; testing them for one or 
more criteria, usually chemical and physical 
characteristics and the presence of pathogenic 
organisms; and comparing the results to accepted 
standards of water quality. Historically, state 
water quality assessments have focused on 
testing the dissolved oxygen concentration of 
water and the presence of pathogen indicators, 
such as fecal coliform bacteria (Escherichia 
coli) and enterococci. Other tests, such as 
measurement of water temperature or Secchi disk 
depth (Figure 4-3), are used as well. 

The dissolved oxygen concentration in water is 
used as an indicator of the general health of an 
aquatic ecosystem. A good concentration of 
dissolved oxygen (typically about 6 milligrams/liter 
[mg/L], but “good” can vary from waterbody to 
waterbody) can indicate that there’s enough 
oxygen for fish to breathe and aquatic plants to 
photosynthesize, and there’s a good exchange of 
gases between the waterbody and the atmo
sphere. A low dissolved oxygen concen-tration, or 
a level below what is normal for the waterbody, 
might indicate that there is too much decaying 
organic matter in the water or that a film of oil or 

other substance is on the surface preventing an 
exchange of gases with the atmosphere, either of 
which could be due to nonpoint source pollution. 

Pathogenic organisms in the water indicate the 
potential for public health problems. Pathogens 
are contained in human and animal fecal waste, 
and they can cause illness. Tests for these water 
quality criteria can be used to determine the 
condition of a site where a marina is proposed to 
be developed. 

Federal, state, and municipal agencies routinely 
test the water of coastal and estuarine waters, 
lakes, and reservoirs, especially if there is a lot of 
recreational use of the waterbody and protection 
of public health is important. Results of the tests 
can be obtained by calling the agency that does 
the testing (e.g., state department of natural 
resources or environmental protection). 

Figure 4-3. The Secchi disk is a simple and useful 
tool for monitoring long-term trends in water quality. 

4-13 



National Management Measures Guidance 

Applicability 

This management measure primarily applies to the 
design of new and expanding marinas. 

Best Management Practices 

Monitoring can serve many purposes, such as 
determining the ambient quality of water, deter
mining the extent or causes and sources of a 
water quality problem, analyzing trends in water 
quality, and measuring the effectiveness of 
management practices used in the marina. 
Modeling is appropriate for comparing the 
effects of different options, such as predicting the 
water quality that would result from different 
marina designs before actual construction or the 
effects of various marina designs on water 
circulation in a marina basin before a planned 
expansion. In areas of known good water quality, 
monitoring might not be needed for small marina 
developments. The BMPs described here are 
useful for major developments or expansions so 
that sufficient water quality measurements are 
made at a site to ensure that existing conditions 
are not significantly altered. 

When considering monitoring water quality at a 
marina, consider that results indicating a water 
quality problem exists at a marina do not neces
sarily mean that the marina is the source of the 
problem. Marinas often are located where their 
water quality reflects other activities in a water
shed, lake, or river. Determining of the source of 
water quality problems often involves a water-
shed-wide monitoring effort. See page 1-5 for 
more information about EPA’s Watershed 
Approach. 

♦	 Use water quality sampling and/or monitor
ing to measure water quality conditions. 

Water quality data for the waterbody on which a 
marina is located might be available. Many states 
or local agencies collect this information. A state 
agency of environmental protection, a local or 
regional water quality authority, a parks and 
recreation department, USEPA, the U.S. Geologi
cal Survey, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, or 
a local university (such as a Sea Grant college) is 
potential source of water quality data. 

It will be useful to contact the state agency 
responsible for water quality data at the outset of 
a project to establish water quality objectives and 
to determine whether water quality data are 
available for the site. Comparing water quality 
data from the marina to water quality data 
collected by a state agency, for instance, would be 
best accomplished by using the same sampling 
strategy and analytical methods used by the state 
agency so that a comparison of the two sets of 
data will be meaningful (Figure 4-4). 

♦	 Use a water quality modeling methodology 
to predict postconstruction water quality 
conditions. 

Not all proposals for new or expanding marinas 
will require the use of modeling techniques to 
predict water quality characteristics. Numerical 
modeling can be useful, however, for studying the 
effects of different design alternatives and for 
selecting the design that best avoids or minimizes 
impacts on water quality. 

Modeling techniques can be useful for predicting 
flushing time and pollutant concentrations in the 
absence of site-specific data. A distinct advan
tage of numerical models over monitoring studies 
is the ability to perform sensitivity analyses. For 
instance, dissolved oxygen concentrations and 
flushing times can be predicted for a number of 
design options once data for the marina project 
have been entered into the model. Modeling can 
be an expensive undertaking, and the costs should 
be weighed against any anticipated benefits. 

A professional marina designer would be the best 
person to consult regarding the feasibility and cost 

EPA Region 4 completed an in-depth 
report on marina water quality.  The 
primary focus of the study was to provide 
guidance for selecting and applying 
computer models for analyzing the 
potential water quality impacts (both 
dissolved oxygen and pathogen indica
tors) of a marina. EPA reviewed a number 
of available methods and classified them 
into three categories—simple methods, 
mid-range models, and complex models. 
See Section 5. 

4-14 



SECTION 4: Management Measures 

Figure 4-4. Cedar Island Marina (Connecticut) 
scallop monitoring. After the state of Connecticut 
declined a permit for expansion on the grounds that it 
would result in “destroying valuable marina life and 
habitat,” the marina began a program of water quality 
monitoring to prove the state wrong.  The marina 
monitors temperature, salinity, dissolved oxygen, 
habitat, coastal birds, finfish, and scallop growth. 
The photo shows marina personnel checking scallop 
cages suspended below the docks. The marina has 
found better dissolved oxygen levels and lower fecal 
coliform bacteria counts than those reported for the 
town beach, and heavy metals do not accumulate in 
scallops grown at the marina (USEPA, 1996: Clean 
Marinas—Clear Value). 

of using models. Some models applicable to 
marinas are reviewed in Section 5. 

♦	 Monitor water quality using indicators. 

Water sampling, water quality monitoring, and 
numerical modeling are not necessary in many 
cases to gather information about the health of a 
marina’s waters. Simple yet effective forms of 
monitoring that provide valuable information about 
the conditions in the water can be done by 
someone knowledgeable of the marina and the 
surrounding waterbody. Visual inspections of the 
abundance and appearance of aquatic plants in 
and around the marina, use of the marina and 
surroundings by ducks and geese, the appearance 
of bottom sediments, the general clarity of the 
water near docks, and the abundance of fish can 
provide all the information necessary to judge the 
health of the water (Figure 4-5). All of these 
characteristics are indicators of the health of the 
waters. These types of inspections can be done 
during the course of daily operations by any 
member of the marina staff at minimal cost to the 
marina. (See volunteer monitoring BMP below.) 
Done every year, these visual inspections lead to 
a good knowledge of the “normal” conditions in 
the marina and surrounding waterbody, and any 

changes will be apparent to the keen observer. 
When changes are noted, some limited water 
sampling can be done to determine what might 
account for them if a local or state environmental 
management authority hasn’t already done this. 

♦	 Use rapid bioassessment techniques to 
monitor water quality. 

Rapid bioassessment techniques can provide a 
cost-effective means to assess potential sites for 
marina development and to assess water quality in 
an existing marina basin. This technique is 
discussed further under the Habitat Assessment 
management measure. 

♦	 Establish a volunteer monitoring program. 

Marinas can help involve their clientele and local 
community in water quality issues and environ
mental protection at the marina by beginning a 
volunteer monitoring program. Across the country, 
private citizens are learning about water quality 
issues and helping protect the Nation’s water 
resources by becoming volunteer monitors. 
Volunteers analyze water samples for dissolved 
oxygen, nutrients, pH, temperature, and a host of 
other water constituents; evaluate the health of 
stream habitats and aquatic biological communi
ties; inventory streamside conditions and land uses 
in a watershed that might affect water quality; 
catalog and collect beach debris; and restore 
degraded habitats. 

EPA’s Office of Water encourages citizens to 
learn about their water resources and supports 
volunteer monitoring because of its many benefits. 
Volunteer monitors build awareness of pollution 
problems, become trained in pollution prevention, 
help clean up problem sites, provide data for 
waters that might otherwise be unassessed, and 
increase the amount of water quality information 
available. Among the uses of volunteer data are 
delineating and characterizing watersheds, 
screening for water quality problems, and measur
ing baseline conditions and trends. 

For more information, contact EPA’s Office of 
Wetlands, Oceans, and Watersheds, Monitoring 
Branch, or the monitoring branch of a regional 
EPA or state environmental protection office. 
EPA’s volunteer monitoring Web site is located at 
<www.epa.gov/owow/monitoring/vol.html>. 

4-15 

http://www.epa.gov/owow/monitoring/vol.html


National Management Measures Guidance 

Figure 4-5. Biological assemblages used for lake monitoring. 

BMP Summary Table 2 summarizes the BMPs 
for Water Quality Assessment mentioned in this 
guidance. 

4-16 



BMPS , Table 2. WATER QUALITY ASSESSMENT MANAGEMENT 
MANAGEMENT MEASURE: Assess water quality as part of marina sitin~ and desirn. 
APPLICABILITY: Primarilv annlies to ilie des ion of new and exoamlin• marinas. 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERNS: Water quality is assessed during the marina design phase to predict the effect of marina development on the chemical and physical health 
of the water and aquatic environment Marina development can cause changes in flushing and circulation; and boat mainteuance, boat operation, and the human activities in and 
around boats can be sources of solid and liquid wastes, pathogenic organisms, and petroleum compounds. The results of water quality predictions or sampling are compared to 
stale or federal water quality standards. Water quality assessments fur dissolved oxygen concentration and pailiogenic organisms can be used as indicators of ilie general health 
of an aqUJ1tic environment. Water quality assessments can be useful in determining ilie suitability of a location for marina developmen~ the best marina design for ensuring 
good water oualitv, and the causes and sources of water nualitv problems. 
WATER QUALITY ASSESSMENT PRACTICES 

Annlllll Operation & 
Best Management Marina Location Projected Initial Cost Maintenance 
Practice Exampl .. & u ..... Bmelits to Marina Environmental Benefits Estimate Cost Estimate Notes 

Use w- qwility Proposed !llJllina MODERATE; can help MODERATE to llIGH; llIGH, depends on NONE Monitoring an area larger tbJm 
sampling and/or basin/expansion site; determine whether a can help determine if an type of t.ests and just the marina is necessary to 
monitoring to measure generally recommended proposed marina will area can sustain good number or samples detemrine the source of water w- qwility conditillllll negatively affect - water qualily with a quality problems; gather 

quality and suggest marina existing data first; check with 
design alternatives; st.ate and county agencies, 
might be required US. Geological Survey 

(USGS). 
Use a water quality Proposed marina basin; MODERAIB to HIGH; MODERATE to !IlGH; MODERATE to NONE Some models applicable to 
modeling methodology to recommeoded for large can cost less than models can predict !IlGH marinas are reviewed in 
predict post-oonsl!oction new projects sampling; can assist in flushing and pollutant Secilon5. 
water quality conditions choosing the best loads for many different 

design; suitable for marina designs 
predicting circulation 
and wave damage 
exposure 

Monitor w- qwility Marina grounds and HIGH to MODERAIB; HIGH; regniar visual NONE LOW to NONE Appem:ance, clarity, and smell 
using indicators basin; universally quickly provides inspections help tlllek of water, abundance and 

recommended information about the changes, help identify appearance of aquatic plants, 
health of the water and potential problems before and appearance of sediments 
aquatic habitat they become large are all good indicators; very 

costmeffective; simple; requires 
little training. 

Use rapid bioassessment Marina basin; HIGH to MODERATE; MODERATE; can LOW; might have LOW Cost-effective; not available 
techniques to monitor recommended where provides information indicate water quality to train someone in for many waters 
w-quality bioassessment protocols about the biological problems that might not aquatic 

have been established quality of marina be tested for in a water invertebrate 
watm. qwility samplino nro""'111. identification. 

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 4: M
anagem

ent M
easures

4-17
 



BMPS Table 2. (amt.) MANAGEMENT MEASURE FOR WATER QUALITY ASSESSMENT 
Projecied Annwtl Operation & 

Best Maaagement Marina Location & Benefits to Environmental Initilll Cost Estimate Maintenance Cost 
Practice Examples Usage Marina Benefits Estimate Notes 

Establish a volunteer Marina grounds and HIGH ro MODERATE to HIGH; WW; some basic WW Can help build public 
monitoring program basin; universally MODERATE; volunteers focus on equipment and training involvement; consult 

recommended provides information different environmental for volunteers will be with state for 
about all aspects of issues and develop keen necessary guidelines; check 
the marina; actively environmental EPA's web site, 
involves marina awareness and concern <www.epa.gov/ 
patrons owow/monitoring/ 

vol.html> 

N
ational M

anagem
ent M

easures G
uidance

4-18




SECTION 4: Management Measures 

4.3. HABITAT ASSESSMENT 

Management Measure for Habitat Assessment: 

Site and design marinas to protect against adverse effects on shellfish re
sources, wetlands, submerged aquatic vegetation, or other important riparian 
and aquatic habitat areas as designed by local, state, or federal governments. 

Management Measure Description areas, shellfish harvesting areas, designated 

The construction of a marina in any waterbody 
can disrupt aquatic habitats. This management 
measure is important because of the value of 
protecting natural habitats so they continue to 
provide food and recreational opportunities for 
people, as well as food and shelter for plants and 
animals, and so their roles in the ecological health 
of waterbodies are protected. Past waterfront 
development has adversely affected many 
waterbodies, but our knowledge of ecology has 
increased. We now realize the importance of 
healthy aquatic habitats to both our health and the 
overall health of our waterbodies. Efforts to 
decrease the introduction of invasive and exotic 
species have increased, and minimizing pollution in 
waterbodies is widely accepted as a sound 
ecological and economic practice. In many cases, 
federal and state laws require analyses of the 
potential impacts on the natural environment 
before projects begin. This management measure 
focuses on marina siting and design and extends 
to assessments of how marinas can incorporate 
natural habitats into their siting and design. 

When well designed and cared for, marinas can 
be a valuable habitat for plants and animals that 
are adapted to quiet, sheltered waters. Regardless 
of the type of waterbody on which a marina is to 
be constructed, siting it where its development or 
operation will diminish the biological or economic 
value of the surrounding habitats should be very 
carefully considered, especially if the potential site 
is near locations that have been given special 
designations by local, state, or federal govern
ments. Such habitats might be fish spawning 

wetlands, beds of submerged aquatic vegetation 
(SAV), or areas where threatened or endangered 
species are known to occur. If a marina is 
properly designed and located, aquatic plants and 
animals should be able to continue to use the 
marina waters for the same activities (e.g., 
reproduction or feeding) that occurred in the 
waters before the marina’s presence. 

Marinas that have been operating for a while can 
provide sheltered, quiet waters for plants and 
animals that prefer this type of environment or for 
animals that need this type of environment during 
specific life stages, such as spawning. Where the 
surrounding environment has been developed and 
offers little in the way of natural habitat, such as 
in an urbanized waterfront district, a marina might 
provide a refuge for many species. A pollution 
prevention and control program, based on the 
management measures presented in this guidance, 
can help maintain or improve water and habitat 
quality for aquatic species. 

The locations of all important aquatic and riparian 
habitats in a locality or waterbody might not be 
known. A visual survey by a biologist may be 
appropriate before any marina construction or 
expansion begins, and a specialist in aquatic 
habitat restoration can be contacted if marina 
management is considering modifying the marina 
to create good aquatic habitat in the marina basin. 
Geographic information systems (GIS) are being 
used increasingly to map biological resources in 
many states and show promise as a method of 
conveying important habitat and other siting inform
ation to marina developers and environmental 

4-19 



National Management Measures Guidance 

protection agencies. The state department of 
environmental protection or natural resources can 
be contacted for this type of information. 

Applicability 

This management measure is applicable to new 
and expanding marinas where site changes might 
affect wetlands, shellfish beds, aquatic vegetation, 
or other important aquatic resources or habitats. 

Best Management Practices 

♦	 Conduct habitat surveys and characterize 
the marina site, including identifying any 
exotic or invasive species. 

The first step in constructing a marina that will be 
compatible with the surrounding natural environ
ment or expanding or modifying an existing 
marina to create a more natural environment is to 
characterize the environment of the proposed site 
or operational marina. Before marina develop
ment or expansion, critical or unique habitats, such 
as beds of submerged vegetation and shellfish 
beds, should be identified. The importance of the 
area that will be affected by development to 
aquatic organisms for spawning, feeding, or their 
overall survival should be assessed within the 
context of the entire waterbody (Figure 4-6). 
Equally as important, exotic plants and animals 
that could be problematic for marina operation 
should be identified. Table 4-1 lists some common 
exotic and invasive aquatic species in the United 
States. Once the site has been characterized, 
marina development or expansion can proceed in 
a way that minimizes adverse effects on aquatic 
life and habitats. 

♦	 Assess habitat function (e.g., spawning 
area, nursery area, feeding area) to mini
mize indirect effects. 

An area proposed for marina development or 
expansion could be used seasonally by fish or 
other animals. Animals use special areas of 
many coves, shorelines, beds of submerged 
vegetation, rivers, streams, and estuaries for 
short periods of time—from a few nights to 
weeks—for particular life functions such as 
migration, spawning, and rearing young. Mari
nas can accommodate these special, short-term 

Figure 4-6. Habitat assessment was used at Elliot 
Bay Marina (Washington) to design the marina to 
work with natural habitat function. Wide openings 
between rock groin-type breakwaters, docks, and 
beach give easy access to migrating juvenile 
salmon leaving Puget Sound, while providing good 
water circulation and tidal changes inside the 
marina basin. A man-made 1,500-foot-long sandy 
beach has replaced lost habitat, providing a 
feeding ground for young salmon. Schools of 
young salmon and herring move throughout the 
marina basin (USEPA, 1996: Clean Marinas— 
Clear Value). 

uses if marina designers and managers are 
aware of the need for the areas and the marina is 
built with the needs in mind. 

♦	 Use rapid bioassessment techniques to 
assess effects on biological resources. 

Rapid bioassessment techniques, where they have 
been developed, provide cost-effective biological 
assessments of potential marina development 
sites. Rapid bioassessment uses biological criteria 
(usually invertebrate and fish populations) as 
indicators of the condition of a habitat. To apply 
rapid bioassessment to a marina development site 
or an operating marina, select biological communi
ties at the proposed site or the operational marina 
are compared to the same biological communities 
at an undisturbed site in the same waterbody or a 
similar one. The biological health of the proposed 
site or marina basin is rated based on how 
favorably the invertebrate or fish communities 
there compare with those of the undisturbed site. 
Scores from rapid bioassessments are useful for 
determining whether a site is stressed by pollution 
or other factors, such as habitat alteration. Rapid 
bioassessment protocols for macroinvertebrates 
and fish in freshwater streams and rivers are 
being developed by many states, and a document 
on them is available from EPA at the web address 

4-20 



S
E

C
T

IO
N

 4: M
anagem

ent M
easures

Table 4-1. Common Invasive and Exotic Species of the United States 

4-21 



National Management Measures Guidance 

<http://www.epa.gov/owowwtr1/monitoring/rbp/ 
index.html>. 

♦	 Redevelop waterfront sites that have been 
previously disturbed and expand existing 
marinas. 

Waterfront areas that have been previously used 
for industrial or military purposes might make 
good locations for new marinas because they 
have been developed before, usually have all the 
necessary infrastructure, and minimize distur
bances to aquatic habitats. Many sites suitable for 
recreational boating facilities may be located in 
existing urban harbors where shorelines have 
been modified by bulkheading and filling. The 
adverse environmental consequences of redevel
opment are usually minimal, and redevelopment 
can improve water quality, expand upland habitats, 
beautify and expand shorelines, and provide 
additional public access. 

Waterfronts that are converted from water-
dependent uses, such as marinas and recreational 
boating, to non-water-dependent uses, such as 
residences, office space, and shopping areas, 
reduce the availability of sites for marina develop
ment. To protect against such conversion in areas 
that contain important habitat, a state may pur
chase the property or the development rights from 
existing water-dependent uses. To preserve an 
existing marina, for example, a state government 
could pay the difference between the market 
value for other non-water-dependent develop
ment, such as for condominiums, and the water-
dependent value of the marina to the marina 
owner, and receive in return a guarantee that the 
site would not be converted to a non-water-

The Hammond Marina (Indiana) was 
built on a derelict brownfield industrial 
site with a steel mill slag shoreline. The 
area is now a pleasant and protected 
boating facility with an attractive public 
access area, and it is popular as a 
sportfishing site. The local economy 
has benefitted from the redevelopment, 
and shorelines, upland habitats, and 
aquatic habitat at the site have been 
tremendously improved (USEPA, 1996: 
Clean Marinas —Clear Value). 

dependent use. States can use this method to 
retain sites suitable for marinas, maintain access 
for boating uses of the waterways, prevent 
conversion to other uses, and reduce the base 
value for property taxes. 

♦	 Consider alternative sites where adverse 
environmental effects will be minimized or 
positive effects will be maximized. 

An analysis of alternative sites (sites other than 
the one proposed) can be used to demonstrate 
which site is the most economically and environ
mentally suitable. Analysis of alternative sites and 
designs has been effectively used to reduce the 
effects of development (including effects on 
tidelands, stream courses, shorelines, wetlands, 
and submerged aquatic vegetation) at many 
proposed marinas, and to find sites with flushing 
characteristics better than those at the sites 
initially proposed. 

Many marinas built on freshwater lakes and rivers 
over the past two decades are located on what 
are known as brownfields, or shoreland that had 
been modified and seriously abused by previous 
industrial facilities. Usually, these areas support 
little to no natural vegetation or habitats when 
they are first converted to marinas. The marinas 
have turned these areas into recreational sites and 
public access points and have provided sheltered 
areas with protected shorelines, where natural 
vegetation has been able to reestablish itself. 

♦	 Create new habitats or expand habitats in 
the marina basin. 

Almost any surface placed in coastal or inland 
waters, and especially rough surfaces—including 
rocks, piles, piers, and floats—quickly becomes 
home to a host of plants, animals, and bacteria. 
The submerged parts of breakwaters, piers, and 
floating docks are excellent examples of this kind 
of “created” habitat. The plants that colonize 
these surfaces provide refuge for a variety of 
invertebrates and are a good source of food for 
juvenile fish, which in turn can attract sport fish 
(Figure 4-7). 

♦	 Minimize disturbance of riparian areas. 

Riparian areas are the narrow areas along the 
banks of rivers, streams, lakes, ponds, reservoirs, 

4-22 

http://www.epa.gov/owowwtr1/monitoring/rbp/index.html


SECTION 4: Management Measures 

Figure 4-7. Oak Harbor Marina sign. Oak Harbor 
Marina (Washington) has used its marina waters to 
raise salmon for release. Volunteers built salmon 
pens, and more than 420,000 salmon have been 
released as a result of the program. Deep River 
Marina (Connecticut) was the site for a 3-year 
federal/state stocking program for Atlantic salmon. 
The Puerto Rico Department of Natural Resources’ 
Fisheries Office is located in Puerto del Rey Marina 
(Puerto Rico) and uses part of the facility’s clean 
waters for an injured sea turtle rescue and recovery 
program (USEPA, 1996; Clean Marinas–Clear 
Value). 

and wetlands. They may be vegetated, or may be 
beaches or rocky areas. Vegetated riparian areas 
extract nutrients from runoff from the land as it 
moves toward the waterbody and from the water 
that constantly circulates along the banks of the 
waterbody. The nutrients make them very produc
tive habitats, with biodiversity and biomass 
typically higher than those of adjacent uplands. 
Many processes important to the health of 
waterbodies occur in vegetated riparian areas, 
including the following: 

• Large quantities of nutrients are absorbed as 
waters pass through riparian areas. 

• Eroded soils and other pollutants are filtered 
out of the water and absorbed by riparian 
vegetation. 

• Nutrients are modified from forms that can’t 
be used by aquatic organisms to forms they 
can readily use. 

• The vegetation in riparian areas serves as a 
refuge for species for nesting, hiding from 
predators, and foraging. 

Beaches and rocky shorelines also provide habitat 
variety and are important to many aquatic organ
isms. Because of the importance of all types of 
riparian areas to the general health of 
waterbodies, minimizing disturbances to them 
during marina development can be beneficial. 
Creating favorable conditions for the presence of 
riparian or wetland areas within a marina basin 
might be an effective, low-cost way to improve 
water quality in the basin or increase habitat 
diversity in the basin, depending on site conditions 
and space limitations. 

♦ Use dry stack storage. 

An alternative to building new docks for expand
ing boating access and marina capacity is to build 
dry stack storage facilities, in which many boats 
are stored on vertical stands on very little land. 
Boats stored in dry stack storage do not leak 
antifoulants to the water and can be more easily 
maintained on land in protected hull maintenance 
areas, providing less opportunity for spillage 
directly to surface waters. Dry stack storage has 
minimal environmental effects, and where zoning 
restrictions permit it, it is an appropriate means to 
increase public access to waterways. 

BMP Summary Table 3 summarizes the BMPs for 
Habitat Assessment mentioned in this guidance. 

4-23 



N
ational M

anagem
ent M

easures G
uidance 

alteration 

4-24




RMPS Table 3. lcont.l HABITAT ASSESSMENT MANAGEMENT 
Projected Anowtl Operation & 

Best Management Marina Location & Benefits to Marina Environmental Benefits Initial Cost Estimate Maintenance Cost 
Practice Examples u- Estimate Notes 

Creat.e new habitat or expand Marina basin; generally MODERAIB to IBGH; lllGH; new b.ab:itats increase MODERAIBto MODERATE to LOW Ripmp, new beaches in basin 
habitat in the marina basin recommended "created" habitat can attract habitat diversity for more EXPENSIVE corners, and vegetated 

sport.fish and improve animals and plants and may shorelines are examples of this 
fishing from shoreline or cleanse runoff kind of "created" habitat 
dock; improves marina 
a........,.arance 

Minimize disturbance of Marina basin and shores; MODERATE; retaining HIGH; riparian areas cleanse MODERATE w HIGH MODERATE w HIGH Riparian areas are the narrow 
riparian areas universally recommended riparian or wetland areas runoff and basin water; vegetated areas along the banks 

for new marinas or major within a marina basin can be improves and diversifies of rivers, streams, lakes, ponds, 
expansions an effective, low-cost means habitat for plants and and reservoirs. They are very 

to improve water quality and animals productive and are important 
reduce construction costs habitats for many land and 

aquatic animals. They are 
critical landscare elements. 

Use dry stack storage Marina land and docks; HJ.GH; can reduce all types HJ.GH; reduces habitat HIGH MODERATE Dry rack storage is applicable to 
recommended wherever of marinamrelat.00 pollution disturbance in the marina shallow draft and lowmheight 
space s:nd local ordinances in the marina basin basin powerboats of less t.han 
allow approximately 40 feet LOA; use 

may reqWre zoning changes; 
may conflict with scenic vista 
issues; increases upland 
lmnervious swface area 

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 4: M
anagem

ent M
easures

4-25
 



National Management Measures Guidance 

4-26
 



 

SECTION 4: Management Measures 

4.4. SHORELINE AND STREAMBANK STABILIZATION 

Management Measure for Shoreline and Streambank Stabilization: 

Where shoreline or streambank erosion is a nonpoint source pollution prob
lem, shorelines and streambanks should be stabilized. Vegetative methods 
are strongly preferred unless strectural methods are more cost-effective, 
considering the severity of wave and wind erosion, offshore bathymetry, and 
the potential adverse impact on other shorelines, streambanks, and offshore 
areas. 

Protect shorelines and streambanks from erosion due to uses of either the 
shorelands ar adjacent surface waters. 

Management Measure Description 

Streambank erosion is used in this guidance to 
refer to erosion along nontidal streams and rivers. 

Shoreline erosion is used here to refer to erosion 
in tidal portions of coastal bays and estuaries. 

Erosion is a natural process that results from 
water acting on streambanks and shorelines. 
Erosion along a river or stream removes material 
from one area and deposits it elsewhere, and 
beaches are constantly and naturally eroded and 
resupplied with sediment from other areas. 
Streambank and shoreline stabilization may be 
needed where natural erosion is occurring to 
protect shoreline structures. 

Induced erosion often occurs where soil, 
streambanks, or shorelines have been disturbed. 
Removing vegetation from any streambank or 
shoreline exposes soil to the erosive energy of 
waves and currents. Altering a watercourse (for 
instance, by installing a breakwater or a dam) or 
artificially affecting the course of water (perhaps 
by channelizing a river) can cause erosion because 
the manner in which energy is transmitted through 
a waterbody can be affected. In the latter case, 
erosion sometimes occurs far from the location of 
the channelization. Properly designed erosion 
control measures and structures can reduce natural 
as well as induced erosion. 

In a marina, structural elements are often neces
sary to protect boats and the marina perimeter 
from waves or water current energy. Hence, the 
marina basin is often a fairly calm, nonerosive 
environment. Erosion can still occur along the 
perimeter, however, and wave energy reflected 
off a structure, such as an improperly designed 
breakwater, or from boat wakes may be a 
contributing factor. Bank erosion may result 
where it is desirable to hold a given slope. Scour 
along the bottom of a structure such as a break
water or at the abrupt junction of two unlike 
materials, such as river bottom sediments and a 
cement boat ramp, can also be a problem. Bank 
erosion and scour can result in sediment filling 
in a marina basin (and the need for maintenance 
dredging) or erosion at the edges of a boat ramp. 
Minimizing shoreline erosion can protect marina 
shorelines and can reduce the need for or fre
quency of maintenance dredging. Less frequent 
dredging also reduces the need for proper and 
potentially costly disposal of dredged material. 

A vegetated shoreline can minimize the transmis
sion of wave energy to other locations. Vegetation 
is also a relatively low-cost means to stabilize a 
shoreline, and it can add a natural, attractive 
element to an otherwise engineered environment. 
Used by itself, vegetation is most effective where 
waves or currents are low in energy and the soil 

4-27 



National Management Measures Guidance 

is stable enough for plant growth. Another site 
factor conducive to vegetative stabilization is 
shallow sloped banks. Where wave or current 
energy is too strong for vegetation to gain a 
foothold, temporary structures can be used to 
protect vegetation until it can establish itself, or 
permanent structures might be necessary. 

Permanent streambank or shoreline protection 
structures could be needed where wave or 
current energy is too great for establishing and 
maintaining vegetation. Some structural methods 
to stabilize shorelines and navigation channels are 
gabions, riprap, sloping revetments, bulkheads, 
jetties, and breakwaters. The first three dissipate 
incoming wave energy more effectively than the 
rest and usually result in less scouring than the 
last three. Bulkheads are appropriate in some 
circumstances where other preferred alternatives 
are not feasible. Vegetation can often be added at 
the edges of these structural elements to control 
erosion from storm water runoff and to serve as a 
landscaping element. 

The type of perimeter stabilization might be 
dictated in both inland and coastal marinas by 
local variations in water level due to dam 
drawdown in a reservoir, natural fluctuation in a 
lake, or tides along the coast. In some of these 
instances, shoreline stabilization might not be 
practical. Because rivers are hydrographically 

Herrington Harbour Marina South 
(Maryland) retained and enhanced much of 
the natural shoreline during a recent 
rebuilding, modernization, and expansion 
program. An old, failing bulkhead was 
removed, and rock riprap and filter cloth 
were placed on the regraded shoreline. 
Native shore species were planted along 
the shore, and nearby wetlands were 
cleaned and restored to native marsh 
grasses. Over a few years, the shoreline 
vegetation filled in and created a very 
attractive and effective buffer that helps 
control erosion and storm water runoff. 
Wildlife diversity also increased in the 
surrounding shoreline area, including 
several blue herons that have taken up 
year-round residence. 

complex and many factors need to be taken into 
account when determining how to correct erosive 
problems, shoreline stabilization might not be 
sufficient to eliminate an erosion problem. 
Streambank and river restoration projects, of 
which erosion is usually only a small part, can 
encompass anywhere from a small section of a 
river or stream to the entire watershed. 

Some specialized locations along the banks of 
rivers, reservoirs, and lakes, however, may be 
ideal candidates for shoreline stabilization. Such 
locations may be severely eroded soils around a 
storm sewer discharge point, disturbed soils 
where a boat ramp has been installed or is in need 
of maintenance, or overused shoreline areas in or 
next to established recreational areas. 

Examples of vegetative and structural methods 
are presented below. Before selecting any of 
them for a particular erosion problem, it is impor
tant to identify the cause of the erosion, which, 
especially in rivers and coastal environments, 
could be extremely complex. Selecting the 
appropriate technique to remedy an erosion 
problem might require analysis by a professional. 

Applicability 

This management measure is applicable to new 
and expanding marinas where site changes might 
result in shoreline erosion. 

Best Management Practices 

♦	 Use vegetative plantings, wetlands, 
beaches, and natural shorelines where 
space allows. 

Vegetative plantings, wetland enhancements, 
beaches, and preservation of natural shorelines, 
where feasible, can be the most effective means 
of shoreline stabilization. Plantings can be in the 
form of a grassed buffer strip that serves the 
triple purpose of shoreline stabilization, establish
ing a visually aesthetic area, and controlling 
polluted runoff. If natural wetlands are found or 
were present within the boundaries of a marina 
before its development, their preservation or 
re-creation can protect shorelines, dissipate low 
wave energy, provide wildlife habitat, and filter 
pollutants out of the water and storm water 

4-28 



SECTION 4: Management Measures 

runoff. A sloping beach is the best surface for 
attenuating wave action, though such beaches can 
occupy more space than other perimeter stabilization 
methods. 

Establishing a “no wake zone” in nearshore, 
shallow aquatic areas can also be effective to 
reduce impacts from boat wave energy. 

♦	 Where shorelines need structural stabiliza
tion and where space and use allow, riprap 
revetment is preferable to a solid vertical 
bulkhead. 

In some cases, primarily because of space 
limitations or elevation differences between the 
land and water surface, steep slopes are neces
sary within marinas. Riprap is a common and 
economical revetment that can withstand substan
tial wave energy. Its irregular surface also 
reduces wave energy transmission better than a 
solid vertical bulkhead does. Natural rock is the 
best material. Concrete rubble can be used, but its 
many flat surfaces transmit more wave energy 
than do irregular natural rocks. Gabions (rock in 
heavy-duty wire mesh baskets) can be used 
where a slope steeper than that which can be 
obtained with riprap is needed. Gabions function 
best where waves do not exceed 12 inches. The 
irregular surface of riprap revetment can provide 
habitat for shore and nearshore plants and 
animals. 

♦	 Where reflected waves will not endanger 
shorelines or habitats and where space is 
limited, protect shorelines with structural 
features such as vertical bulkheads. 

Vertical bulkheads reflect waves and are not a 
good choice for shoreline stabilization where 
waves or surges occur in the marina basin and 
are not mitigated in the stabilization design. They 
are usually more costly to install than other forms 
of shoreline protection but might be necessary 
where boats are hauled and launched, where the 
marina cannot be moved farther into the water, 
and where valuable real estate needs protection. 
They can be constructed of concrete, treated 
timbers, steel, aluminum, or vinyl. Vertical bulk
heads can be combined with riprap by placing the 
former at the upper portion of a bank and riprap 
along the lower edge. Scour protection at the toe 

of the bulkhead should be incorporated into the 
structural design. 

♦	 At boat ramps, retain natural shoreline 
features to the extent feasible and protect 
disturbed areas from erosion. 

Near boat ramps, shorelines can be damaged 
during ramp construction. Shorelines are also 
susceptible to erosion from runoff that is chan
neled alongside the ramp (especially if the site has 
been sloped for the ramp), boat wakes, waves, 
and currents after initial installation. During boat 
ramp construction, therefore, retention of natural 
shoreline features to the extent possible generally 
saves maintenance or corrective costs later. 
Natural-appearing shorelines are also aesthetically 
appealing, and they can minimize the likelihood of 
invasion by unwanted or exotic plant species later. 

BMP Summary Table 4 summarizes the BMPs 
for Shoreline Stabilization mentioned in this 
guidance. 

4-29 



BMPS Table 4. SHORELINE AND STREAMBANK STABILIZATION MANAGEMENT 
MANAGEMENT MEASURE: Where shoreline or streambank erosion is a nonpoint source pollution problem, shorelines and streambanks should be stabilired. Vegetative 
methods are strongly preferred unless structural methods are more cost-effective, considering the severity of wave and wind erosion, offshore bathymetry, and the potential 
adverse imoact on other shorelines. stream.banks. and offshore areas. 
APPLICABILITY: New and e.,,..andin~ marinas where site chanPes mav result in shoreline erosion. 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERNS: Erosion in any waterbody is a natural process that results when moving waler and waves undermine, collapse, and wash out banks and 
shorelines. Banks erocle along nontidal lakes, rivers, and streams~ shorelines erode along intertidal portions of coastal bays and estuaries. Eroding streambanks and shorelines do 
not protect the land and structures during storm events. Such erosion contributes to nonpoint source pollution problems, turbidity, and shoaling increases the need for 
maintenance dredging in marina basins and channels. Vegetation and structural methods have been shown to be effective for mitigating shoreline erosion and for filtering 
pollut.ants from overland and storm water runoff. 

SHORELINE AND STREAMBANK STABILIZATION PRACTICES 
Proj«led Annlllll Operation & 

llest ~ement Practice Marina Location& llenel'lts to Marina Environmental Benefits Initial Cost Estimate Maintenance Cost 
Eumples Usage Estimate Notes 

Use vegetative plantings, wetlands, Marina shores and MODERATEtoillGH; ffiGH; effective shoreline WW to MODERATE WW to MODERATE Includes veget.ative 
beaches, and natural shorelines banks; generally reduce frequency of stabi1i7..at:ion that also plantings, wetland 
where space allows reoommended maintenance dredging; filters pollutants from enhancements, beaches, 

provide recreational areas runoff and provides and preservation of natural 
for customers; attractive; wildlife habitat shorelines; suitable for 
eliminate wave refraction low-energy waves and 

cwrents, low sloping 
shores. No-wake :;r.o:nes are 
also effective 

Where shorelines need structural Marina shores and lilGH; revetments illGH; the ilregular EXPENSIVE WW to MODERATE Natural rock set over 
stabilization and where space and banks; generally withstand subst.a.ntial surface provides excellent vertical bulkheads require filteroloth is commonly 
use allow, riprap revetment is recommended wave energy and reduce habitat for aquatic pl.ants ongoing maintenance; used; concrete rubble 
preferable to a solid vertical wave energy transmission; and animals through gabion baskets are subject transmits more wave 
bulkhead lowered erosion rate reduced sedimentation to failure energy; gabions permit 

reduces need for and dissipated wave steeper slopes 
maintenance action 

Where reflected waves will not Marina shoreline, illGH to MODERATE; LOW; vertical. surfaces EXPENSIVE NONE to LOW Allows marinas to locale 
endanger shorelines or habitats and particularly in areas of easy to install; occupy reflect waves; can closer to shore; can help 
where space is limited, prolect deep water and boat little horizontal space increase bottom scour reduce dredging frequency 
shorelines with structural features lift!hmtlout wells; along wall base; 
such as vertical bulkheads •eru:xallv reoommended limit aouatic habitat 

At boat ramps. retain natural Boat ramp shores and MODERATE to HIGH; MODERATE to HIGH; MODERATE to HIGH WW to MODERATE Refer to the boat launch 
shoreline features to the extent banks; generally can save on maintenance reduce damage from boat ramp design booklet 
possible and protect disturbed recommended or corrective costs; retain wakes and waves, and published by the Stales 
areas from erosion the natural appearance of currents; stabilize Organization for Boating 

the shoreline shoreline; retain habitat Access (SOBA); blend 
for plants and animals shoreline features with 

functionality of the ramp 
and access ways 

N
ational M

anagem
ent M

easures G
uidance

4-30




 

SECTION 4: Management Measures 

4.5. STORM WATER RUNOFF MANAGEMENT 

Management Measure for Storm Water Runoff: 

Implement effective runoff control strategies that include the use of pollution 
prevention activities and the proper design of hull maintenance areas. 

Reduce the average annual loadings of total suspended solids (TSS) in runoff 
from hull maintenance areas by 80 percent. For the purposes of this measure, 
an 80 percent reduction of TSS is to be determined on an average annual 
basis. 

Management Measure Description including those from storm water runoff. The 

Any debris that is on the ground and light enough 
to be swept away by flowing rainwater or snow-
melt can end up in lakes, reservoirs, ponds, rivers, 
streams, canals, bays, estuaries, or oceans. 
Sanding dust, paint dust and chips, copper and 
other heavy metals, and other such solids that are 
carelessly or inadvertently allowed to drop to the 
ground while maintaining or repairing a boat by 
sanding, pressure washing, or other abrasive 
methods can be swept up by the runoff of the 
next rainstorm. Oils, grease, solvents, paint 
drippings, and fuel spilled or dripped onto the 
ground can also be carried away in the runoff. 
Unless the runoff is controlled or treated in some 
manner, all of these pollutants end up in the 
marina basin, where they create unsightly surface 
films or float until they adhere to surfaces like 
boat hulls or docks. Some of these pollutants flow 
dissolved in runoff or attached to soil carried by 
the runoff. When they reach the marina basin, 
they sink with the soil to the bottom, are eaten by 
bottom-feeding fish or by filter-feeding shellfish, 
or settle onto the leaves of aquatic vegetation and 
clog their pores. Storm water that is treated in 
some way to remove these pollutants before they 
can reach the marina basin does not result in 
these problems. 

The National Pollutant Discharge Elimination 
System (NPDES) was established to control 
pollutant discharges to the nation’s waters, 

1987 amendments to the Clean Water Act 
mandated EPA to develop a tiered implementation 
strategy for the NPDES Storm Water Program. 
In response to the 1987 Amendments, EPA 
developed Phase I of the NPDES Storm Water 
Program in 1990. Phase I requires NPDES 
permits for storm water discharges from 

• “Medium” and “large” municipal separate 
storm sewer systems (MS4s) that serve or 
are located in incorporated places or counties 
with populations of 100,000 or more people. 

• Eleven categories of industrial activity, one of 
which is construction activity that disturbs 5 
acres or more of land. 

The 11 categories of industrial activities for which 
storm water discharge permits are required are 
defined at 40 CFR 122.26(b)(14). A permit is 
required for Standard Industrial Classification 
(SIC) codes 4493 (marinas) and 3732 (boatyards 
and boat builders that repair, clean, and/or fuel 
boats). Note that the North American Industry 
Classification System (NAICS) is replacing the 
U.S. SIC system and is scheduled to be com
pleted by 2002. NAICS was developed jointly by 
the United States, Canada, and Mexico to provide 
new comparability in statistics about business 
activity across North America. NAICS numbers 
corresponding to the previous SIC numbers are 
provided in Table 4-2. 

4-31 



National Management Measures Guidance 

Table 4-2. Conversion of SIC to NAICS. 

The second phase, known as Storm Water Phase 
II, was signed by EPA in October 1999 and 
published in the Federal Register on December 
8, 1999. The Phase II Rule will bring many 
municipal separate storm sewer systems serving 
fewer than 100,000 people, census districts in 
counties with population densities greater than 
1,000 per square mile, and small construction sites 
of between 1 and 5 acres into the NPDES 
permitting program by March 2003. Construction 
sites where more than 1 acre is disturbed will 
need to obtain a permit and implement BMPs to 
minimize erosion and pollutant runoff. The rule 
exempts from regulation facilities that have 
industrial materials or activities that are not 
exposed to rain or snow. The Storm Water Rule 
and further information on Phases I and II of the 
Storm Water Program can be obtained from 
EPA’s web site for the point source permitting 
program: http://cfpub1.epa.gov/npdes. 

Removal of TSS at the 80 percent level is practi
cable, and the management practices mentioned 
here, or combinations of them, can achieve this 
degree of pollutant removal if they are designed 
properly and the site is suitable for their installation 
and use. The 80 percent level also provides a high 
degree of protection for surface waters. Used 
properly, pollutant removal management practices 
can also reduce final TSS concentrations in runoff 
very effectively. Table 4-3 reviews the pollutant 
removal efficiencies of many storm water control 
practices. Tables in Appendix F compare the 
advantages and disadvantages of many storm 
water control practices and their costs. 

The 80 percent removal of TSS is recommended 
for hull and engine maintenance areas, the runoff 
from which often contains higher levels of toxic 

pollutants than runoff from other parts of a marina 
property. Pollutants in runoff from the remaining 
marina property should be considered when 
designing an effective runoff pollution prevention 
system. If sufficient land area is not available 
on-site to install runoff systems, management 
practices that increase vegetative cover, reduce 
impervious surfaces, and include infiltration 
devices are practical solutions. 

The principal pollutants in runoff from marina 
parking areas and hull maintenance areas are 
suspended solids (paint chips, sanding dust, and 
the like.) and organics (predominately oil and 
grease). Toxic metals (in antifoulant paints) from 
boat hull scraping and sanding tend to attach 
themselves to suspended soil particles and are 
carried to the marina basin with the particles. 

Designing and operating a hull maintenance work 
area with a focus on pollution prevention is an 
excellent way to prevent dangerous pollutants 
from reaching the marina basin. Particularly 
effective practices are designating a specified 
area that has an impervious surface (cement, for 
example) for hull maintenance work; doing all hull 
maintenance work under a roof to prevent the 
area from getting wet; and channeling and 
draining runoff from other areas of the marina 
property away from hull maintenance areas so it 
won’t pick up the pollutants associated with hull 
maintenance. Devices with controls that collect 
pollutants as they are produced, such as vacuum-
based (or dustless) sanders, are also effective for 
preventing pollutants from entering runoff. 

Pollutants can also be trapped, collected, or 
filtered after they are on the ground but before it 
rains. This can be accomplished by using street 

4-32 

http://cfpub1.epa.gov/npdes


SECTION 4: Management Measures 

Table 4-3.  Effectiveness of management practices for runoff control (adapted from Caraco and Winer, 2000). 

Shaded rows show data for groups of practices (e.g., dry ponds includes quality control ponds and dry extended detention
 
ponds).
 
Numbers in italics are based on fewer than five data points.
 
a Excludes vertical sand filters 
b Refers to open channel practices not designed for water quality. 
TSS = total suspended solids, TP = total phosphorus, OP = ortho-phosphorus, TN = total nitrogen, NOx = nitrate and nitrite 
nitrogen, Cu = copper, Zn = zinc. 

4-33 



National Management Measures Guidance 

sweepers and vacuums that collect debris from 
the ground, placing tarps under boats while they 
are being sanded or painted, and planting grass 
buffers around hull maintenance areas, parking 
lots, sidewalks, and other impervious surfaces 
where pollutants tend to accumulate. Grass 
buffers effectively filter runoff water before it 
reaches surface waters, and they are attractive 
landscape elements. 

Covering areas that are not used for boat mainte
nance with a porous surface allows rainwater to 
filter into the ground and reduces the amount of 
runoff created on the marina property. Crushed 
gravel or concrete and low grassy areas inter
spersed around and within otherwise impervious 
areas (parking lots, for example) are surfaces that 
allow rainwater to infiltrate into the ground. 
Directing storm water to a grassed area instead 
of to drains, pipes, or cement channels is an 
effective way to prevent the pollutants in runoff 
from reaching the marina basin, regardless of 
whether the runoff originates from parking lots, 
hull maintenance areas, rooftops, or any other 
impervious surface. 

Some marinas might need to pretreat storm water 
runoff before it is discharged to a local sewer 
system. Pretreating wastewater from hull clean
ing (pressure washing) might also be needed. The 
state or local environmental agency should be 
contacted to determine any specific legal require
ments for treatment before discharge. 

The goal of 80 percent reduction in the load of 
total suspended solids (TSS) in storm water runoff 
recommended in this management measure is 
achieved by eliminating (by pollution prevention or 
source reduction) 80 percent of the total annual 
load of suspended materials produced in an 
average year of work. Most marinas use some 
management practices and are already collecting 
some or all of this 80 percent. Note that 80 percent 
of the TSS load cannot usually be eliminated during 
each storm because the efficiency of any means 
chosen to remove pollutants from storm water 
fluctuates above and below 80 percent for 
individual storms. The goal of the management 
measure is to control an average of 80 percent of 
the amount of TSS produced at a marina during 
any given year. Because no two marinas are the 

same, the storm water control management 
practices used to achieve this goal have to be 
chosen site-specifically for each marina. 

The annual TSS load baseline can be calculated 
as follows: 

• Assume that marina operations are being 
conducted as usual, except that no manage
ment practices are used to collect pollutants 
from hull maintenance areas. All of the 
sanding dust, paint chips, and so forth pro
duced fall to the ground. 

• Given this scenario, add together the total 
amount of solid pollutants, such as paint chips 
and sanding dust, that would be swept away 
in runoff during storms that occur over a 
1-year period and that are less than or equal 
to the 2-year/24-hour storm for the area. 
Solids carried away in snowmelt runoff should 
also be included. 

• Multiply this quantity by 80 percent (0.80) to 
obtain the target minimum quantity of solid 
pollutants to be removed from storm water 
runoff and prevented from reaching the 
marina basin or storm drain. 

This calculation can be complicated, primarily 
because of the difficulty in measuring the quantity 
of pollutants produced at a marina. The state or 
local environmental agency can be contacted for 
additional storm water guidance and for informa
tion pertaining to storm water regulations. 

Applicability 

This management measure is applicable to new 
and expanding marinas and to existing marinas at 
a minimum at hull maintenance areas. 

Best Management Practices 

♦	 Perform as much boat repair and 
maintenance work as possible inside work 
buildings. 

Sandblasting is best performed in a place where 
the debris produced is prevented from drifting to 
surrounding areas and being swept away in storm 
water runoff. One of the simplest and most 
effective ways to prevent pollutants from boat 
repairs from entering storm water runoff is to 

4-34 



SECTION 4: Management Measures 

perform as much work as possible under roofs or 
in enclosures. Performing maintenance work in a 
fully enclosed building protects the work area 
from wind and contains the dust and debris 
produced during the work so it is much easier to 
clean up afterward. 

♦	 Where an inside work space is not avail
able, perform abrasive blasting and sand
ing within spray booths or tarp enclosures. 

The inside of a building provides the most pro
tected space, but if a large enough interior space 
is not available, a suitably sized area can be 
protected with tarps or temporary plastic buildings 
can be used. Tarps help prevent residue from 
drifting to nonwork areas of the marina and into 
surface waters. Scheduling work on calm days 
helps ensure that wind won’t carry debris and 
pollutants to other areas of the marina property 
and the marina basin. 

♦	 Where buildings or enclosed areas are not 
available, provide clearly designated land 
areas for boat repair and maintenance. 

If a facility is large enough, one or more sections 
of the yard, ideally located well away from the 
shore, can be designated for boat repairs and 
maintenance (Figure 4-8). Mark the area well 
with signs, post a list of boat owner responsibili
ties, indicate the rules for use of the work area, 
and do not permit work outside the designated 
areas. Areas where abrasive work will be 
performed should be protected from wind and 
enclosed if possible. This practice should help the 
marina property stay relatively clean. Where 
possible, inland areas, away from surface waters, 
should be used for boat repair work. 

♦	 Design hull maintenance areas to minimize 
contaminated runoff. 

Hull maintenance areas can be located indoors or 
outdoors, and activities that produce a large 
amount of polluting debris can be conducted over 
a dry, impervious surface like a cement pad. 
Other portable, temporary ground covers like 
tarps can also be effective. Such a surface makes 
it easy to collect and properly dispose of debris, 
residues, solvents, and spills before they enter 
storm water runoff. 

Figure 4-8. Conanicut Marine Service (Rhode Island) 
found that purchasing land almost a mile from the 
shore and using a hydraulic boat trailer was 
significantly less expensive than purchasing 
waterfront property, and doing so allowed expansion 
of its service work to an inland boatyard. No coastal 
permits were needed for the inland yard, and the risk 
of water pollution from runoff from the yard was 
significantly reduced (USEPA, 1996: Clean Marinas— 
Clear Value). 

♦	 Use vacuum sanders both to remove paint 
from hulls and to collect paint dust and 
chips. 

Vacuum sanders have proven very effective at 
capturing paint dust and chips during boat hull and 
bottom sanding. Immediate capture prevents paint 
dust and chips from entering the marina basin, 
makes cleaning up the work area easier. It also 
increases the speed at which a boat bottom can 
be completely sanded. 

Such sanders capture up to 98 percent of the dust 
generated. Workers do not have to wear full suits 
with respirators. They use fewer disk pads and 
have less cleanup to perform in surrounding 
areas. Vacuum-based sanders are increasingly 
being used in boatyards and marinas, and they 
might be available for rental by boat owners who 
want to sand their own hulls. Many marinas have 
converted to dustless sanders and require that 
they be used by customers and outside contrac
tors. In addition to preventing pollution, using 
vacuum sanders can dramatically increase the 
efficiency of sanding operations. 

The results of a BMP demonstration project at 
five Rhode Island marinas showed that several 
techniques can make the use of vacuum sanders 
more effective. First, the availability of the 
machinery needs to be publicized with flyers or 

4-35 



National Management Measures Guidance 

signs in hull maintenance areas. Second, staff 
should be well trained and ready to inform 
customers that a professional vacuum sander is 
available for use and how to use it properly. Users 
need to be given complete operating instructions 
and must clearly understand them before using 
the machine. 

♦	 Restrict the types and/or amount of do-it
yourself work done at the marina. 

Largely for environmental liability reasons, an 
increasing number of marina owners are restrict
ing do-it-yourself boat repair work of the “dirty” 
kind, such as exterior sanding and painting. A 
small but increasing percent of marinas are 
prohibiting such repairs on-site unless done by a 
professional who is trained in, understands, and 
follows state-approved environmental manage
ment practices. 

♦	 Clean hull maintenance areas immediately 
after any maintenance to remove debris, 
and dispose of collected material properly. 

Cleaning hull maintenance areas immediately 
after maintenance or repair work is done removes 
trash, visible paint chips, and other debris before 
they can be blown or washed into the marina 
basin. Spent sandblasting grit, boat repair debris, 
and solid waste should be stored under cover and 
in a manner that minimizes contact with process 
or storm water. Vacuuming or sweeping is an 
excellent method of collecting these wastes, 
especially over paved surfaces. Hosing a mainte
nance area for cleanup can result in the same 
pollution that storm water would cause. 

♦	 Capture and filter pollutants out of runoff 
water with permeable tarps, screens, and 
filter cloths. 

Tarpaulins can be placed on the ground, before a 
boat is placed in a cradle or stand for sanding and 
painting. The common plastic tarpaulins collect 
paint chips, sanding dust, and paint drippings, 
which then can be collected and disposed of into 
dumpsters with other solid trash, as permitted by 
local or state ordinances. Impermeable plastic 
tarps, however, have their drawbacks. Wind easily 
blows dust and chips off the tarps, and rainwater 
washes debris from the tarps. Semipermeable 

filter cloths can be more effective than solid cloth 
or plastic tarps for collecting debris where wind is 
a problem, where tarps are not always cleaned 
each day after work is completed, or where work 
is continued during light rains. The filter cloths 
hold onto debris better and allow water to pass 
through while retaining debris for later disposal. 

♦	 Sweep or vacuum around hull maintenance 
areas, roads, and driveways frequently. 

Frequent vacuuming of impervious areas can 
effectively prevent pollutants from reaching the 
marina basin and nonmaintenance areas of the 
marina property. Scheduling vacuuming (e.g., 
once a day or every other day during the boating 
season) and adhering to the schedule helps make 
this a particularly effective management practice. 
The practice is most effective in hull maintenance 
areas if the surface under any boat being worked 
on is swept at the end of each workday. 

♦	 Sweep parking lots regularly. 

Cars, trucks, commercial vehicles, and foot traffic 
carry a lot of sand, grit, and dirt to parking lots. 
Gum wrappers, paper and styrofoam cups, 
cigarette butts, and cellophane wrappings tend to 
end up on parking lot pavement as well. Storm 
water carries these pollutants to the marina basin 
or to drain inlets, catch basins, and oil/grit separa
tors. Regular parking lot sweeping helps reduce 
the amount of sand, grit, and trash that reaches 
the marina basin and storm water controls. 
Because catch basins and oil/grit separators 
require periodic cleaning for efficient operation, 
sweeping the parking lot extends the time 
between sweepings. 

♦	 Plant grass between impervious areas and 
the marina basin. 

Grass retains and filters pollutants from runoff. A 
well-maintained lawn that is located between 
impervious surfaces (e.g., parking lots) and the 
marina basin and to which runoff from the 
impervious surface is directed increases rainwater 
infiltration and creates an attractive marina 
environment (Figure 4-9). 

The technical term for a channel or ditch planted 
with grass and used for storm water treatment is 
grassed swale. Grassed swales are low-gradient 

4-36 



 

SECTION 4: Management Measures 

Figure 4-9. Storm water runoff is controlled at Deep 
River Marina (Connecticut) by 50-foot-wide grass 
buffers and a parking lot that is covered with 
crushed rock and has sediment traps in the storm 
drains. Picnic tables and flowers in the lawn areas 
make the marina visually attractive and useful to 
families. Summerfield Boat Works (Florida) added 
an unpaved parking lot across the street from the 
main marina property and basin and landscaped its 
perimeter to blend in with the neighborhood. Harbour 
Towne Marina (Florida) reduced runoff contamination 
by planting a grass buffer around the perimeter of 
the facility.  The facility’s parking is largely paved 
and drains to the buffer strip, and the grass adds a 
cooling and visually pleasing element to the marina 
property (USEPA, 1996: Clean Marinas—Clear 
Value). 

channels that can be used in place of buried storm 
drain pipes (Figure 4.10). To effectively remove 
pollutants, grassed swales need to have only a 
slight slope and should be long enough to allow all 
of the pollutants in storm water to be filtered out. 
Because storm water is directed to them and 
storms are occasionally very strong, erosion-
resistant vegetation such as deep-rooted grasses 
works best. The vegetation filters out pollutants 
and absorbs nutrients from the storm water, and 

runoff infiltrates into the ground as it is slowed by 
the grass in the swale. Grassed swales are best 
used in conjunction with other practices listed under 
this management measure. 

♦	 Construct new or restore former wetlands 
where feasible and practical. 

If space and economy permit, consider restoring 
wetland vegetation that might have formerly 
existed at the edge of the marina basin or altering a 
portion of the basin perimeter to support wetland 
vegetation. Wetlands are extremely efficient at 
removing pollutants from water. 

♦	 Use porous pavement where feasible. 

Pervious pavement has strength characteristics 
approximately equal to those of traditional pave
ment but allows rainfall and runoff to percolate 
through it. The key is the elimination of most of 
the fine aggregate found in conventional pavements. 
There are two types of pervious pavement, porous 
asphalt and pervious concrete. Porous asphalt has 
coarse aggregate held together in the asphalt with 
sufficient interconnected voids to yield high 
permeability. Pervious concrete, in contrast, is a 
discontinuous mixture of Portland cement, coarse 
aggregate, admixtures, and water that also yields 
interconnected voids for the passage of air and 
water. Underlying the pervious pavement are a 
filter layer, a stone reservoir, and a filter fabric. 
Stored runoff gradually drains out of the stone 
reservoir into the subsoil. 

A porous surface can also consist of a coarse, 
permeable top layer covering an additional layer 
of gravel (Figure 4-11). Runoff infiltrates through the 
porous layer and into the ground. As storm water 
passes through the pavement, the gravel, and 
perhaps a perforated underground pipe system 
and then into the underlying soil, pollutants are 
naturally filtered out. Porous pavement helps 
recharge ground water and provides excellent 
pollutant removal (up to 80 percent of sediment, 
trace metals, and organic matter). 

Other types of porous pavements might be 
suitable for walkways and areas that will not be 
subjected to heavy loads. 

♦	 Install oil/grit separators and/or vertical 
media filters to capture pollutants in runoff. 

4-37 



National Management Measures Guidance 

Figure 4-10. Grassed filter strip surrounding an infiltration trence (adapted from 
Schueler, 1987). 

Oil/grit separators are useful where petroleum is 
spilled or could be spilled (Figure 4-12). Oil/grit 
separators can be used to treat water from small 
areas where other measures are infeasible. They 
are particularly applicable where the work 
performed contributes large loads of grease, oil, 
mud, or sand to runoff. Inspection and mainte
nance should occur at least twice per year or per 
the manufacturer’s recommendations. With 
proper maintenance, oil/grit separators can last 50 
years. 

Vertical media filters use passive filtration to 
remove many pollutants from storm water. The 
pollutants removed include sediment, nutrients, 
soluble metals, hydrocarbons, trash, and debris. 
The filters are typically installed in high-use 
parking lots, industrial parking lots, roads, bridge 
decks, and multiple-use areas. A variety of filter 
media can be installed to capture different 
pollutants, and the number of filter media used 
can be adjusted, permitting the user to adapt the 
installation to the requirements of the specific 
location. 

♦	 Use catch basins where storm water flows 
to the marina basin in large pulses. 

Catch basins with flow restrictions are used to 
prevent large pulses of storm water from entering 
the marina basin at one time. Particulates and soil 

settle to the bottom of a 
catch basin, in which the 
bottom of the basin is typi
cally 2 to 4 feet below the 
outlet pipe (the pipe through 
which the trapped water is 
allowed to escape). The traps 
in a catch basin require 
periodic cleaning and mainte
nance, but if properly main
tained, a catch basin should 
have a life span similar to 
that of oil/grit separators (50 
years). 

Catch basins can have a 
separate chamber filled with 
sand. With this design, runoff 
first enters an open chamber 
where coarse particles that 

could clog the sand are filtered out. The runoff 
then flows into a second chamber where other 
pollutants are filtered out by infiltrating through 
the sand. Catch basins with sand filters are 
effective in highly impervious areas, where other 
practices have limited usefulness. They need to 
be inspected at least annually, and the top layer of 
sand should be removed periodically and replaced 
with fresh, clean sand. 

Figure 4-11.  Lockwood Boat Works (New Jersey) 
regraded its combined parking and boat 
maintenance yard and surfaced it with 6 inches of 
crushed concrete to successfully control runoff. 
Using recycled concrete crushed into stone-sized 
pieces, the cost was $18,000 per acre installed, 
whereas crushed rock would have cost $27,000 per 
acre and asphalt paving would have cost $54,000 
per acre (USEPA, 1996: Clean Marinas—Clear 
Value). 

4-38 



SECTION 4: Management Measures 

Figure 4-12. Underground trench with oil/grit chamber (adapted from Schueler, 1987). 

♦	 Add filters to storm drains that are located 
near work areas. 

Some storm drain designs permit insertion of a 
filter to screen solid materials out of runoff. If oil 
is typically contained in runoff, an oil absorption 
pad can be inserted into the water pool or trap 
beneath the filter as well. Filters and absorption 
pads placed in storm drains must be cleaned or 
replaced regularly to function properly. 

♦	 Place absorbents in drain inlets. 

Oil and grease are not ordinarily captured by 
catch basins. An absorbent material placed in a 
drain where it will intercept storm water can 
remove much of the oil and grease contained in 
runoff. Absorbent material products can remove 
10 to 25 times their weight in oil. Absorption pads 
placed in drain inlets must be cleaned or replaced 
regularly to function properly. 

♦	 Use chemical and filtration treatment 
systems only where necessary. 

Wastewater can be treated by the addition of 
certain chemicals that cause small solid particles 
to adhere together to form larger particles, which 
are then filtered from the water. This type of 
treatment system can remove more than 90 

percent of the suspended solids and 80 percent of 
most toxic metals associated with hull pressure-
washing wastewater. The degree of treatment is 
determined by how much of the chemical is added 
and the porosity of the filter used, and it can be 
altered to meet municipal standards. Because the 
chemicals used for this type of treatment require 
disposal themselves, this method of pollutant 
removal is suggested for use only where other 
methods prove ineffective. This type of treatment 
system might be regulated by the state or local 
environmental authority, and any regulatory 
restrictions for its use should be determined 
before choosing to use it. 

BMP Summary Table 5 summarizes the BMPs 
for Storm Water Runoff control mentioned in this 
guidance. 

4-39 



BMP Swmnarv Table 5. STORM WATER RUNOFF MANAGEMENT 
MANAGEMENT MEASURE: Implement effective runoff control strategies that include the use of pollution prevention activities and the proper design of hull maintenance 
areas. Reduce the average annual lorulings of total suspended solids (TSS) in runoff from hull maintenance areas by 80 percent. For the purposes of thls measure, an 80 
""'rcent reduction of TSS is to be determined on an avera ....... annual basis. 
APPLICABILITY: New and exnandine marinas. and existin2 marinas at a minimum at hull maintenance areas. 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERNS: Sanding dust, paint dust and chips, copper and other heavy metals, and other such solids that drop on the ground during boat repair and 
maintenance can all be swept into the water by the next rainstorm's runoff. Oils, grease, solvents, paint drippings, and fuel spilled 
or dripped onto the ground are also be carried away in runoff. Unless runoff is treated in some manner, all of these pollutants will end up in the marina basin, where they will 
create unaightly surface films or float until they adhere to a surface like a boat hull. Some of these pollutants can sink to the bottom soil, where they can be eaten by bottom-
feeding fish or filter-feeding shellfish, or settle onto the leaves of anuatic vegetation and clog their pores. 

STORM WATER RUNOFF MANAGEMENT PRACTICES 

Projected Annual Operation & 
Best Management Marina Location & Benefits to Environmental Mllinterumce Cost 
Practice Examples Usage Marina Benefits Initial Cost Estimate Estimate Notes 

Perform as much boat Boat maintenance area; MODERATil to HIGH; MODERATil to HIGH; LOW if building exists to MODERATil Temporary plastic buildings 
repair and maintenance universally recommended protects the work area simple and effective way EXPENSIVE for new can be used 
work as possible inside from wind and rain; to prevent pollutants building 
work buildings contains dust and debris from entering storm 

for easier cleanup water rnnoff 
Where an inside work space Boat maintenance area; MODERATil to HIGH; MODERATil to HIGH MODERATil MODERATil Schedule work on calm 
is not available, perform universally recommended protects the work area days to help ensure that 
abrasive blasting and from wind and rain; debris and po11utants are not 
sandill.g within spray booths contains dust and debris canied to other areas of the 
or tarp enclosures for easier cleanup marina property and the 

marina ba.~in 

Where buildings or Hull maintenance in MODERATE; keeping all HIGH; keeping t.he work LOW to MODERATE LOW to MODERATil Protet.1 from wind and 
enclosed areas are not designated upland areas; work in one area helps away from the water is capture debris using one of 
available, provide clearly generally recommended control pollutants an effective way to the BMPs mentioned (tarp, 
designated land areas for protect water quality filter cloth, ele.) 
boat repair and maintenance 

Design hull maintenance Boat maintenance area; MODERATE to HlGH; HlGH; decreases MODERATE to HJGH MODERATE Construct huU mainten~ance 
areas to minimize universally recommended debris oolli::ction and possibilil y thal areas with an impervious 
contaminated mnoff cleanup are easier when maintenance debris will surface like cement; mark 

appropriate controls are in ent.er wat.erhody with the boundaries of 
place runoff maintenance areas with 

clear visible si1n1s. 

N
ational M

anagem
ent M

easures G
uidance

4-40




BMP Summ•~ Table 5. (0011!.) STORM WATER RUNOFF MANAGEMENT 
Projected A1111ual Operation & 

Best Management Marina Location & Environmental Inltial Cost Maintenance Cost 
Practice Examoles u-ue Benefits to Marina Benefits Estimate Estimate Notes 

Use vacuum sanders both to Hull maintenance areas; HIGH; perhaps the most HIGH; 98% effective at LOW to LOW per unit Reni.al fee income can defray 
remove paint from hulls and universally recommended efficient and effective keeping sanding dust out MODERATil per capital cost; vacuum sanders are 
to collect paint dust and practice; easy to use; saves of environment unit desirable but not effective for 
chips cost of cleanup, improves some tasks 

quality and speed of bull 
work 

Restrict the types and/or Hull :maintenance areas; MODERATE; reduces MODERATE; reduces LOW WW Do-it-yourself work can be 
amount of do-it-yourself generally recommended debris production, non- debris produced at hull appropriate where users first are 
work done at the marina compUance with marina maintenance areas and thoroughly educated in pollutant 

rules, and staff time spent surface water pollution reduction and privileges can be 
cleaning up revoked fur non-compliance. 

Restrict the types and/or amount 
of do-it-yourself work done at the 
marina 

Clean hull maintenance Hull maintenance areas; MODERATE; daily MODERATE; reduces WW MODERATil Minimize use of hose water for 
areas immediately after any universally recommended cleaning of work areas amount of maintenance cleaning grounds because 
:maintenance to remove reduces accidents, debris and litter blowing pollutants can be carried in the 
debris, and dispose of improves work quality, around marina and into nmoff 
collected material properly and increases customer the water; sweeping 

satisfaction keeps litter and sand out 
of storm drains 

Capture and filter pollutants Upland and indoor MODERATE; debris is MODERATE to HIGH LOW WW Where heavily used. tarps need 
out of runoff water with :maintenance areas; more easily collected and for semipermeable ftlter daily cleaning and are subject to 
permeable tarps, screens, generally recommended disposed of into dumpsters cloths; LOW for wind blowing and ram runoff; 
and filter cloths with other solid trash, as impermeable plastic tarps semipermeable filter cloth tarps 

permitted by local or state are better 
ordinances; inexpensive, 
reusable materials 

Sweep and/or vacuum Marina upland areas; HIGH to MODERATE; MODERATE to HIGH; LOW; HIGH if MODERATE Clean grounds encourage boaters 
around hull maintenance universally recommended sweeping reduces the need regu:Jar sweeping keeps mobile sweeper to keep the marina and waters 
areas, roads, and driveways to clean the basin; keeps sand, grit, and debris out purchased clean 
frequently marina attractive of surface waters 

Sweep parking lots regularly Marina parking lots and HIGH to MODERATil; MODERATE to HIGH; LOW; HIGH if MODERATE Particularly important for porous 
roads; universally sweeping the parking lot regular sweeping keeps mobile sweeper pavement 
:recommended will extend the time litter and sand out of purchased 

between cleanings of cat.ch storm drains and the 
basins and oil/grit water 
separators; keeps marina 
attractive 

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 4: M
anagem

ent M
easures

4-41
 



BMPS Table 5. (oonl.) STORM WATER RUNOFF MANAGEMENT 
Projected Annual Operation 

Best Management Marina Location & Benefits to Environmental Initial Cost & Maintenance Cost 
Practice Examples Usage Marina Benellts Estimate Estimate Notes 

Plant grass between Between marina work and HIGH; creates an HIGH; lawn grass is a MODERATE MODERATE A shallow ditch planted with 
impervious areas and the parking areas and shoreline; attractive buffer, which very effective buffer; grass and used for storm water 
marina basin generally recommended add good appearance; if retains and filters treatment is a "grassed swale" 

wide enough, can serve as pollutants from runoff; regulaI maintenance is required 

recreation area for boaters absorbs nutrients from 
storm water; stabilizes the 
shore 

Construct new or restore Shore and water edge; MODERATE to HIGH; MODERATE to HIGH; HIGH to EXPENSIVE LOW to HIGH Not suitable where land is 
former wetlands where recommended where space wetlands are attractive wetlands are extremely limited; plantings can be hard to 
feasible and practical allows shoreline habitat; attract efficient at removing establish; but once established, 

customers pollutants from the water; require little or no mainterumre 
act as natural buffers; 
reduce erosion 

Use porous pavement Marina parking lots and HIGH to MODERATE; HIGH; recharges ground HIGH to EXPENSIVE LOW to MODERATE Suitable under certain conditions; 
where feasible maintenance areas; porous pavement can be water and provides requires frequent cleaning; not 

generally recommended cheaper than asphalt excellent suitable for passage of heavy 
paving; reduced need for pollutant filtration through loads and equipment 
other elaborate/costly the ground 
runoff control measures 

Install oil/grit separators Boat majntenance areas; MODERATE to HIGH; MODERATE to HIGH; MODERATE per unit LOW Must be cleaned regularly; see 
to capture petroleum. spills generally recommended oil/grit separators should effid.ent practice where manufacturer's specifications 
and coarse sediment last 50 years with proper the work performed 

maintenance; minimal contributes large loads of 
labor cost once installed grease, oil, mud, sand, or 

trash to runoff 

Use catch basins where Marina storm drains; MODERATE to HIGH; HIGH; catch basins with HIGH LOW Traps of catch basins require 
storm water flows to the recommended with proper mainlerumce, sand filters are effective in periodic cleaning and 
marina basin in large catch basins should last highly impervious areas, maintenance 
pulses 50 yeaxs where other practices have 

limited usefulness 

Add filters to storm drains Marina storm drains in work MODERATE to HIGH; MODERATE to HIGH; LOW LOW Require periodic maintenance; 
that are located near work areas; generally very low-cost; easy to get screen 1arger solid held in place just below the drain 
areas recommended and replace; effectively materials out of water; not cover 

filter out most large as effective for very small 
materials from runoff; particles 
simple and reliable 

N
ational M

anagem
ent M

easures G
uidance

4-42




BMP Swmmry Table 5. (cont.) STORM WATER RUNOFF MANAGEMENT 
Projected AllllWll Operation & 

Best Management Marina Location & Environmental Inililll Cost Maintenance Cost 
Practice Examples Usage Benelilli lo Marina Benelilli Estimale Estimale Notes 

Place absorbents in drain Marina storm drains and MODERATE; oil IDGH; remove much LOW LOW Absorbent materials need to 
inlets catch basins; generally pads and pillows of the oil and grease be inspected regularly and 

recommended absorb most from runoff; can changed periodically 
petroleum products remove 10 to 25 times 
effectively; low oosl their weight in oil from 
and readily available; water 
easy inspection and 
replacement 

Use chemical and Boatyard work and hull LOW; very effective ffiGH; these systems ffiGHto ffiGH to EXPENSIVE Check with local or state 
filtration trealment cleaning areas; but very expensive can remove in excess EXPENSIVE environment.al authority 
systems only where recommended practice of 90% of suspended before installation because 
necessary solids and 80% of most permits might be required 

toxic metals from hull 
pressure-washing 
wastewater 

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 4: M
anagem

ent M
easures

4-43
 



National Management Measures Guidance 

4-44
 



SECTION 4: Management Measures 

4.6. FUELING STATION DESIGN 

Management Measure for Fueling Station Design: 

Design fueling stations to allow for ease in cleanup of spills. 

Management Measure Description surface and are easy to capture if spill contain-

The possibility of spills during fueling operations 
always exists, and spills of gasoline and diesel fuel 
during boat fueling are a common source of 
pollution in marina waters. Most fuel dock spills 
are small and result from overfilling boat fuel 
tanks so that fuel splashes back at the nozzle onto 
the deck, squirts out of the boat’s air vent line, or 
drips from the nozzle as it is removed from the 
boat and returned to the fuel dock. Therefore, 
installation of equipment that can minimize the 
occurrence of spills and taking precautions to 
contain, absorb, and minimize the spread of 
petroleum products spilled during fueling opera
tions in navigable waters are prudent environmen
tal practices at all marinas. 

Congress passed the Occupational Safety and 
Health Act (OSHA) to ensure worker and 
workplace safety. Their goal was to make sure 
employers provide workers a place of employ
ment free from recognized hazards to safety and 
health, such as exposure to toxic chemicals, 
excessive noise levels, mechanical dangers, heat 
or cold stress, or unsanitary conditions. OSHA 
has various regulations governing employee 
involvement in spill cleanups, including requiring 
training for such activities. Facilities are en
couraged to have employees attend hazardous 
materials handling training or other appropriate 
training. 

A form of fuel loss that occurs rarely but is 
particularly damaging is when fuel leaks from fuel 
pipes and hoses between the fuel storage tank 
and the pump. This leakage can result from dock 
damage caused by a major storm or a collision 
involving a large boat. Because boat fuels are 
lighter than water, they float on the water’s 

ment and absorption equipment is readily available 
and used quickly. 

The most effective way to minimize fuel spills and 
petroleum hydrocarbon pollution at a marina is to 
locate, design, build, and operate a boat fuel dock 
or station so that most spills are prevented and 
those that do occur are quickly contained and 
cleaned up. An essential step in spill prevention 
for both new and existing fuel docks is to identify 
and locate possible sources of leaks or spills, such 
as at joints in piping systems or between pipes and 
storage tanks, and to address each one in the 
facility’s Spill Prevention, Control, and Counter
measures (or SPCC) Plan. An SPCC plan is a 
federal requirement (40 CFR Part 112) for any 
marina that has more than 660 gallons of petro
leum in a single aboveground container, an 
aggregate of 1,320 gallons above ground, or more 
than 42,000 gallons under ground. The regulation 
requires that SPCC plans be certified by a profes
sional engineer. Not all marinas are required to 
prepare and submit an SPCC plan, but if fuel is 
stored or transferred at a marina, even if only from 
a portable gasoline container filled at a distant gas 
station, being prepared to handle a spill is good 
environmental practice. 

Oil is defined in federal regulations to include 
gasoline, diesel fuel, crude and refined oils, and 
petroleum-derived products like turpentine. 
Among the marine transportation-related facilities 
considered to have the potential to cause “sub
stantial harm” to the environment are “onshore 
facilities capable of transferring oil to or from a 
vessel with a capacity of 250 barrels or more and 
deepwater ports.” A barrel of petroleum contains 
42 gallons, so 250 barrels translates to 10,500 
gallons. 

4-45 



 

National Management Measures Guidance 

Rules for underground storage tanks (USTs) and 
UST systems (40 CFR Part 280) apply to all 
owners and operators of UST systems, except as 
noted in the regulations. Marinas with one or 
more stationary fuel storage tanks, above or 
below ground, with a combined storage capacity 
of 1,100 gallons or more of petroleum products 
are subject to federal and state bulk storage 
regulations for registration, testing, monitoring, 
replacement, reconditioning, closure, and/or 
removal. Fuel storage is also subject to other 
regulations, such as for occupational safety and 
fire. To ensure compliance with all applicable 
regulations, the state and local authorities should 
be contacted. Underground tanks with a capacity 
of 110 gallons or more are subject to federal 
underground storage tank (UST) regulations. UST 
regulations can be viewed on the EPA web site at 
<www.epa.gov/swerust1/fedlaws/index.htm>. 

The location and design of fueling facilities also 
must meet applicable local, state, and federal 
regulations. 

Applicability 

This management measure is applicable to new 
and expanding marinas where fueling stations are 
to be added or moved. 

Best Management Practices 

♦	 Use automatic shutoffs on fuel lines and at 
hose nozzles to reduce fuel loss. 

A commercial fuel line shutoff can be located 
between the fuel storage tank and the dockside 
fuel pump. The shutoff automatically stops fuel 
movement when the system senses passage of a 
high volume of fuel through the line. The shutoff 
can also be manually closed when the fuel dock is 
not in operation or during emergencies. State and 
local codes might require shutoffs in specific 
locations. 

Similarly, automatic shutoff fuel nozzles guard 
against overfilling boat fuel tanks by automatically 
stopping the flow of fuel from the pump. They are 
an excellent way to guard against spillage where 
marina patrons fill their own tanks. Fume return 
lines can also be used on automatic shutoff 
nozzles. 

♦	 Remove old-style fuel nozzle triggers that 
are used to hold the nozzle open without 
being held. 

Old fuel nozzle triggers that hold the line open are 
illegal in some states because they can result in 
overfilling of fuel tanks and fuel loss out of air 
vents. Most new fuel nozzles automatically shut 
off when the tank fills. Check to see if the state 
you are in requires their use. 

♦	 Install personal watercraft (PWC) floats at 
fuel docks to help drivers refuel without 
spilling. 

Special docking facilities for PWCs can be 
installed to stabilize them while they are at a fuel 
dock (Figure 4-13). Docking PWCs while fueling 
reduces fuel loss caused by the craft rocking on 
the water while fueling. These docks have proven 
popular with PWC operators and do reduce 
spillage. 

♦	 Regularly inspect, maintain, and replace 
fuel hoses, pipes, and tanks. 

Regularly scheduled preventive maintenance is the 
best source control for fuel loss from the fuel 
storage and delivery system, and it is often less 
costly than cleanup costs and fines levied for spills. 
Many marinas are changing from underground 
storage tanks (UST) to aboveground, lined tanks. 
For EPA publications about USTs, call EPA’s 
RCRA/Superfund Hotline at 1-800-424-9346 or 
visit the EPA web site at <http://www.epa.gov/ 
swerrims/> (InformationServices link). 

♦	 Install a spill monitoring system 

The U.S. Navy has designed a real-time monitor
ing system that can detect spilled crude and 
petroleum-based products 24 hours a day in any 
weather condition. The floating instrument detects 
sheen as well as emulsion layers below the 
surface, and it also determines the type of spill. 
Either the instrument is hardwired or the data 
from the instrument is telemetered to a base 
station, where associated software distinguishes 
between background levels and spills. The soft
ware can be set for continuous or discrete event 
logging data storage, and if a spill is detected, the 
base station automatically contacts authorities 
until a response is made. 

4-46 

http://www.epa.gov/swerust1/fedlaws/index.htm
http://www.epa.gov/swerrims/


SECTION 4: Management Measures 

Figure 4-13. Two PWC floating docks were installed 
at Winter Yacht Basin, Inc. (New Jersey).  The floats 
are 4 feet by 10.5 feet and are connected to PVC 
pipes to allow them to ride up and down with the 
tide. Operators of PWCs can drive up onto the 
platform, step off, and fill the tank from the dock. 
The platform is stable enough to limit spilling during 
fueling. This practice has also decreased conflict 
between PWCs and larger boats at the fuel dock 
and has increased fuel sales at the marina (USEPA, 
1996: Clean Marinas—Clear Value). 

♦	 Train fuel dock staff in spill prevention, 
containment, and cleanup procedures. 

Marinas should have at least one key staff 
member fully trained and certified in spill manage
ment, and this person should be designated to be 
responsible for inspection, training, and control of 
any spill. Hazardous materials response training, 
such as 40-hour HAZWOPER training, is recom
mended. Contact the local agency responsible for 
hazardous waste response or a fire department 
for information. All staff members should know 
the location of absorbent materials and how to use 
them to remove the fuel immediately from the 
water or ground. Regular practice drills ensure 
that staff are familiar with the proper use of these 
materials. 

♦	 Install easy-to-read signs on the fuel dock 
that explain proper fueling, spill prevention, 
and spill reporting procedures. 

Most states and some federal agencies have 
specific signage guidance. Signs with easy-to
follow instructions, perhaps using pictures, located 
on or near fuel pumps and fuel delivery locations 
can help expedite a cleanup if a spill occurs. It is 

helpful to have signs that state the following 
information: 

• Step-by-step way to fuel a boat 

• Requirements of the law and spill reporting 
phone numbers 

• Procedures to follow in the event of a spill 

• Locations of absorbent materials 

• Proper use and disposal of fuel-absorbent
 
materials
 

• Warnings against the use of detergents or
 
emulsifiers.
 

Spills should be immediately reported to either the 
U.S. Coast Guard or EPA. The U.S. Coast Guard 
is the lead response agency for spills in coastal 
waters and deepwater ports, and EPA is the lead 
response agency for spills that occur in inland 
waters. Oil spills can be reported 24 hours a day 
at 1-800-424-8802. On navigable waters, any oily 
slick or sheen must be reported. More information 
on laws and regulations related to spills can be 
obtained at the U.S. Coast Guard web site: 
<http://www.uscg.mil/>. EPA’s web site for oil 
spill information is www.epa.gov/oilspill. 

♦	 Locate and design boat fueling stations so 
that spills can be contained, such as with a 
floating boom, and cleaned up easily. 

A well-positioned and well-designed fueling 
station allows for spill containment equipment, 
such as booms, to be easily deployed to surround 
a spill and any boats that may be tied to the fuel 
dock if a spill occurs. Fuel storage tanks, the fuel 
truck delivery area, and pipelines that deliver fuel 
to the pump are also sites of potential spills. 
Facilities that can be set back from the water 
should be so placed, and spill prevention equip
ment located at all likely places where spills could 
occur (such as at pipe junctions). Many marinas 
are switching from underground fuel storage 
tanks to aboveground tanks because the latter 
make spill detection and control easier and the 
capital costs are lower. 

When a spill occurs at the boat fueling station, 
there are three basic steps to take, which need to 

4-47 

http://www.uscg.mil/
http://www.epa.gov/oilspill


 

National Management Measures Guidance 

be considered when planning or rebuilding a fuel 
dock: 

• Report the spill to the proper authorities (U.S. 
Coast Guard, EPA, and the appropriate state 
agency). Any spill can be reported by calling 
the U.S. Coast Guard’s National Spill Re
sponse Hotline, 1-800-424-8802. Any petro
leum spill onto the navigable waters of the 
United States sufficient to cause a slick or 
sheen on the water is a violation of section 
311 of the Clean Water Act and must be 
reported to the hotline. 

• Contain the petroleum spill to prevent it from 
spreading. Put a boom around and confine 
diesel and other nonvolatile oils. The U.S. 
Coast Guard recognizes that gasoline spills 
pose an extreme explosion and fire threat and 
recommends that small gasoline spills be 
allowed to evaporate as quickly as possible 
without a boom placed around them. 

• Place materials on the water within the 
contained spill area to absorb the petroleum. 
If the spill is large, a commercial spill clean-up 
contractor may be needed. 

• Remove and dispose of the material at the 
appropriate time. Contact the local spill 
control authority, a fire department, or the 

Cap Sante Boat Haven (Washington) uses 
oil absorption booms anchored cross
current to capture floating oil. The booms 
are changed twice a year.  The marina also 
uses about 800 oil absorption pads a year 
at a cost of $200. Battery Park Marina 
(Ohio) also uses an oil boom where the 
fuel line joins the floating dock, in case the 
connection leaks. These booms are 
replaced every 6 months at a cost of $25 
each. Cedar Island Marina (Connecticut) 
keeps a pole with a small floating absorp
tion boom attached at one end on its fuel 
dock to be used quickly and effectively by 
staff to sweep and mop the water surface if 
any small spills occur during boat fueling 
(USEPA, 1996: Clean Marinas— Clear 
Value). 

local U.S. Coast Guard for specific removal 
and disposal guidance. 

♦	 Write and implement a fuel spill recovery 
plan. 

An SPCC plan is a first line of defense against 
petroleum pollution and should be developed by all 
marinas, whether required by regulations or not. 
An example plan is appended to the Petroleum 
Control Management Measure. An SPCC plan 
should be written to apply to all locations in the 
marina where fuel or oil is stored or transferred, 
and it should clearly explain spill emergency 
procedures, including health and safety, notifica
tion, and spill containment and control measures. 
Marina personnel should be trained in spill con
tainment and control practices. The plan should 
address the following: 

• Who: Clearly identify who is responsible for 
taking what action. Action items will include 
deploying the equipment and contacting the 
emergency agencies and additional cleanup 
services. The plan should contain a list, 
updated periodically, of emergency phone 
numbers to be used if a spill occurs. One 
person on the marina staff should be desig
nated the official spokesperson for the facility. 

• What: Define what actions should be taken if 
a fuel spill occurs and, based on likely threats, 
what equipment should be deployed. Include 
information on the type of spill equipment 
available on-site and its characteristics and 
capabilities. List emergency phone numbers 
to be called, including the U.S. Coast Guard 
and local fire department, when a spill is 
discovered. Make sure dispersants are not 
used on any spill. 

• When: Clearly state when additional resources, 
such as spill control services, should be called 
for assistance. Plan when the marina’s spill 
control equipment will be inspected and 
replaced, if necessary. A maintenance sched
ule for the equipment and a training schedule 
for staff should be established. 

• Where: Show where the spill control material 
is located in the facility. Make sure storage 
lockers are clearly marked and easy to 
access. Identify sources where additional spill 

4-48 



SECTION 4: Management Measures 

response equipment can be obtained quickly if 
necessary. Potential sources include commer
cial spill response companies, fire depart
ments, or neighboring marinas that have fuel 
spill response equipment. If a commercial fuel 
spill response firm is to be used, establish a 
prearranged agreement and cost estimates 
with the firm. 

• How: Explain how the spill control equipment 
should be used and disposed of. To be sure that 
marina personnel understand the response plan, 
regularly conduct drills that simulate a fuel spill. 
Evaluate the drill and share observa-tions with 
all employees. 

State and local regulations might have broader 
applicability than federal regulations and might 
even require an SPCC plan of any facility where 
fuel is stored or transferred. Contact the appropri
ate state and local authorities to determine if the 
facility needs to have a plan and for assistance in 
preparing one. 

An example of an oil spill response plan is con
tained in Appendix B. In order that it is clear what 
type of information is to be entered for the plan, 
the example is filled out with explanations of the 
information to be filled in or as if it were for an 
actual marina. Information specific to this ficti
tious marina is printed in Arial font. Where this 
font occurs, the entries should be replaced with 
information specific to the actual marina for 
which the plan is being written, and the plan 
should be updated as changes in procedure, 
regulations, or the marina occur. Oil spill informa
tion is updated quarterly in EPA’s “Oil Spill 
Program Update” on the Oil Program web site at 
<www.epa.gov/oilspill>. 

♦	 Have spill containment equipment storage, 
such as a locker attached or adjacent to 
the fuel dock, easily accessible and clearly 
marked. 

Store the appropriate type and quantity of fuel 
spill containment and control materials in a clearly 
marked cabinet or locker that is easily and quickly 
accessible at the fuel dock. The type and quantity 
depend on the type of spill likely to occur and the 
potential quantity of a spill. Place absorbent pads 
and booms, a copy of the SPCC plan, and other 

important petroleum spill equipment in the locker. 
Effective fuel spill containment equipment is 
readily available from commercial suppliers. 
Booms can absorb up to 25 times their weight in 
petroleum products and float even when they are 
saturated. It’s best to have enough length of boom 
to encircle the dock and the largest boat serviced, 
or a length of boom about three times as long as 
the longest boat serviced. 

The following are examples of fuel/oil spill control 
products currently available: 

• Booms: Usually 10-foot floating sections that 
interconnect to encircle the spill. 

• Pads: Flat absorbent sheets that float; also 
called diapers. 

• Pillows: Short booms often used in bilge of 
larger boats. 

• Bilge sock: Small pillow for most boat bilges. 

• Filter: Separates fuel from water. 

•	 Bilge switch: Replaces float switch and shuts 
off when floating fuel layer is reached. 

BMP Summary Table 6 summarizes the BMPs 
for Fueling Station Design mentioned in this 
guidance. 

4-49 

http://www.epa.gov/oilspill


BMP Summarv Table 6. FUELING STATION DESIGN MANAGEMENT 
MANAGEMENT MEASURE: Desi"" fueling stations to allow for case in cleanup of spills. 
APPLICABILITY: New and expanding marinas where fueling stations arc to be added or moved. 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERNS: Spills of gasoline and diesel oil during boat fueling are a common source of pollution in marina waters. Usually these are very small 
spills that occur from overfilling boat fuel tanks. These small spills may accumulate to create a larger pollution problem. The hydrocarbons in oil are harmful to juvenile fish, 
and to fish reproduction and genetics, and they interfere with the growth and reproduction of bottmn-dwelling organisms. The oil and gas ingested by one animal can be passed 
to the next animal that eats it. hi a marina, petroleum also deteriorates the white Styrofoam in floats and docks and discolors boat hulls, woodwork, and paint. Gasoline spills 
are also a safety problem because of the flammability of this product The most effective way to minimize fuel spills aad petroleum hydrocarbcm pollution at a marina is to 
locate dcsi= build and ~ate a boot fuel dock or station in such a manner that most snills arc -vented and those that do occur arc nuicklv contained and cleaned un. 
FUELING STATION DESIGN PRACTICES 

Am1Wll Operation & 
Best Management Marina Lo"'tion& Projected Initial Cost Maintenance Cost 
Practice Examples Usage Benefits to Marina Environmental Benefits Estimate Estimate Notes 

Use automatic shutoffs on Fuel hose nw,zles; HIGH; automatic HIGH; greatly reduces LOW NONE to LOW A commercial fuel line shutoff can 
fuel lines and at hose mriversally recommended shutoffs prevent most volume of fuel spills from be localed between lhe fuel 
nozzles to reduce fuel loss back-splashing as tank overfilling fuel tanks storage tank and the dockside fuel 

fills; keeps fuel dock pump; fume return lines can also 
neater; reduces fire be used on automatic shut-off 
hazard nozzles 

Remove old-style fuel Fuel hose nw,zles; HIGH; old-style nozzle HIGH; greatly reduces LOW LOW Replacing old noz1.1es is 
nozzle triggers that are used universally recommended I.riggers are illegal in possibility of fuel spills recommended 
to hold the nozzle open some states during filling; most fuel is 
without being held spilled during tank filling, 

so this prat.iice nearly 
eliminates this 
environmental impact 

Install personal wat.mcraft Fuel dock; generally IDGH; drive-on floats lift HIGH; reduces fuel loss MODERATE LOW Usually placed off to side where 
(PWC) floats on fuel docks recommended PW Cs out of the water, caused by rocking on the larger boats can't tie up; floating 
to help drivers refuel stop vessel tipping, water, so less risk to the docks are avaiJable for PWC 
without spilling reduce spills, and environment from fuel spills storage on the water 

increase fuel sales to 
PWC users; popular with 
PWC operators 

Regularly inspect, maintain, Fuel storage area and fuel HIGH; regularly MODERAIB; reduces MODERATE to LOW to MODERATE Biannually or more often, as 
and :replace fuel hoses, dock; universally scheduled preventive chance that persistent small HIGH necessary and prudent 
pipes, and tanks recommended majptffllance is the best leaks become a large 

way to prevent leaks pollution problem 
from the fuel storage a.nd 
delivery system; usually 
less costly than cleanup 
costs and resulting fines 

N
ational M

anagem
ent M

easures G
uidance

4-50




BMP Summary Table 6. (cont.)  FUELING STATION DESIGN MANAGEMENT 

contained, such as with a faster; reduces liability and environmental harm 

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 4: M
anagem

ent M
easures 

4-51 



National Management Measures Guidance 

4-52
 



SECTION 4: Management Measures 

4.7. PETROLEUM CONTROL 

Management Measure for Petroleum Control: 

Reduce the amount of fuel and oil from boat bilges and fuel tank air vents 
entering marina and surface waters. 

Management Measure Description 

Fuel is easily spilled into surface waters from the 
fuel tank air vent while fueling a boat (if overfill
ing), and oil is easily discharged during bilge 
pumping. A small fuel sheen on the water 
surface near docked boats is not an uncommon 
sight and can be caused by a spill of only a few 
drops or a slow leak from a gas tank. Because 
of the properties of oil, a cup of oil can spread as 
a very thin oil sheen over more than an acre of 
calm water. Small amounts of oil spilled from 
numerous boats can accumulate to create large 
oil sheens. Gasoline spills are also a safety 
problem because of gasoline’s flammability. 

Hydrocarbons are dangerous to aquatic plants 
and animals both at and below the water sur
face. Less than half of spilled oil stays in the 
water; the rest evaporates. Spread over the 
surface, oil creates a barrier to oxygen move
ment across the water surface and to animals 
(for instance, insect larvae) that must breathe at 
the surface. At and below the surface, oil 
attaches to plant leaves, decreasing their respira
tion, and bottom sediments. It can also be 
ingested by animals directly, or indirectly by 
feeding on other organisms such as filter feeders 
(mussels, sponges) that have ingested the oil. 
The hydrocarbons in oil harm juvenile fish, upset 
fish reproduction, and interfere with the growth 
and reproduction of bottom-dwelling organisms. 
Some oil remains as sediment contamination. 

Petroleum spills can also cause structural 
damage at marinas, such as discoloration on boat 
hulls, woodwork, and paint, and deterioration of 
white Styrofoam in floats and docks (because 
petroleum dissolves this material). 

The practices discussed here are used in many 
marinas, and their use can minimize the entry of 
petroleum from fueling and bilge pumping into 
surface waters. Technologies such as air/fuel 
separators, oil-absorbing pads, and bioremedial 
pads and socks have been developed in response 
to a growing recognition of the ecological and 
cumulative damage that can be done by even 
small spills of petroleum products into surface 
waters. These small spills escape the attention of 
many people, and marina owners and operators 
can play an important role in bringing the impor
tance of controlling this form of pollution to the 
attention of their patrons. 

Applicability 

This management measure is applicable to marina 
managers and boat owners. Although marina 
managers have no control over the implementa
tion of many of the BMPs mentioned in this 
section, particularly those applicable to privately 
owned and operated watercraft, aware-ness of 
the issues associated with boat engines and their 
maintenance is important because engines are 
potential sources of nonpoint source pollution and 
their operation and maintenance have the potential to 
affect marina waters. 

Best Management Practices 

♦	 Promote the installation and use of fuel/air 
separators on air vents or tank stems of 
inboard fuel tanks to reduce the amount of 
fuel spilled into surface waters during 
fueling. 

Often during fueling operations fuel overflows 
from the air vent from the built-in fuel tank on a 

4-53 



National Management Measures Guidance 

boat. Attachments for vent lines on fuel tanks, 
which act as fuel/air separators, are available 
commercially and are easily installed on most 
boats. These devices release air and vapor but 
contain fuel before it can overflow. Marinas can 
make these units available in their retail stores 
and post notices describing their spill prevention 
benefits and availability. 

♦	 Avoid overfilling fuel tanks. 

Fuel expands as it warms and the temperature in 
a boat’s fuel tank usually is much higher than 
that in the storage tank, especially an under
ground tank. While fueling, a distinctive change 
in sound occurs when a tank is almost full. Filling 
can be stopped at this time, leaving a small 
amount of space in the tank to allow for expan
sion of the fuel with temperature changes. 
Without this space, fuel in a completely filled 
tank can spill out when the fuel expands. 
Automatic shutoff nozzles might not stop fuel 
flow before some fuel spillage occurs through 
the air vent, and listening for the sound of the 
almost-full tank is the best way to know when to 
stop filling. Having an oil absorbent pad ready to 
wipe up any drops is also a good fueling practice. 

♦	 Provide “doughnuts” or small petroleum 
absorption pads to patrons to use while 
fueling to catch splashback and the last 
drops when the nozzle is transferred back 
from the boat to the fuel dock. 

Although few of us may be concerned about 
drops of fuel spilled onto the ground while we fill 
our car at the gas station, at the marina those 
drops can go directly into surface waters. There 
is no oil/water separator or catch basin to 
prevent drops at the marina fuel dock from 
entering the water, so using a little extra caution 
and taking precautions to prevent spills is good 
practice at the fueling dock. A doughnut placed 
over the fuel nozzle or a small absorbent pad in 
hand to catch any backsplash when the fuel tank 
is full and any drops that fall while the handle is 
replaced at the pump is an effective and easy 
way to prevent the small spills that can add up to 
big problems. 

A small absorbent pad temporarily attached to 
the hull below the fuel tank air vent during 

fueling provides an added precaution against fuel 
spilling directly into surface waters. Pads that 
attach to vertical or horizontal surfaces with 
suction cups are commercially available. Properly 
dispose of all petroleum-containing materials as 
hazardous waste, or according to your local 
hazardous waste authority’s recommendation. 

At Battery Park Marina on Lake Erie, staff 
cut absorption pads into squares, then cut 
an X-shaped hole in the center for the fuel 
nozzle to pass through. Any splashes 
while fueling are absorbed by the pad 
(USEPA, 1996: Clean Marinas—Clear 
Value). 

♦	 Keep engines properly maintained for 
efficient fuel consumption, clean exhaust, 
and fuel economy. Follow the 
manufacturer’s specifications. 

Well-tuned and maintained engines burn fuel more 
efficiently, improve mileage, and lower exhaust 
emissions. Mixing fuel for 2-cycle outboard 
engines according to the manufacturer’s specifi
cations (usually 50:1 fuel to oil) can help prevent 
inefficient burning. 

♦	 Routinely check for engine fuel leaks and 
use a drip pan under engines. 

The best way to keep fuel and oil out of bilge 
water is to check for and fix small leaks, including 
making sure fuel lines are secure and inspecting 
them for wear. 

♦	 Avoid pumping any bilge water that is oily 
or has a sheen. Promote the use of materi
als that capture or digest oil in bilges. 
Examine these materials frequently and 
replace as necessary. 

Marina operators can advertise the availability of 
oil-absorbing materials or can include the cost of 
installation of such material in yearly dock fees. A 
clause can be inserted in leasing agreements that 
requires boaters to use oil-absorbing materials in 
their bilges. 

4-54 



SECTION 4: Management Measures 

One oil spill response agent uses microbes to 
assist in cleaning up petroleum pollutants. 
Because it uses natural organisms, it is completely 
nonhazardous, nontoxic, and biodegradable. In 
independent tests by the National Environmental 
Technology Applications Corporation (NETAC), 
oil pollutants treated with the agent were 
reduced by up to 98 percent within 8 weeks. 

The agent can be sprayed as a loose powder 
onto an oil spill, where it bonds with the oil and 
keeps it from sinking and harming aquatic life. 
Special socks containing the agent can be placed 
directly in boat bilges to absorb oil there. The 
socks can immediately absorb twice their weight 
in oil, and they continue to degrade oil so that 
one sock can be used for an entire boating 
season. Once the oil has been degraded, the 
agent degrades itself and the empty sock can be 
thrown away. Consumers should make sure that 
they are using an oil spill response agent that 
actually “eats” the oil rather than seemingly 
similar products that are pills made of biodegrad
able detergents. These are actually emulsifiers 
that only break oil down into smaller particles to 
be discharged into the water. 

♦	 Extract used oil from absorption pads if 
possible, or dispose of it in accordance 
with petroleum disposal guidelines. 

If a container for recycling oil is available, 
boaters should place extracted oil into it. Re
cycled oil should be handled by a commercial 
waste oil hauler. If recycling is not an option, 
boat owners can place used pads in a sealed 
plastic bag and dispose of them with other oily 
wastes. All fuel- or oil-soaked materials should 
be stored together and removed by a certified 
waste hauler. Some booms can be cleaned and 
reused. Some materials can be recycled or 
burned as a heat source. If a marina doesn’t 
have a used oil collection receptacle or program, 
a local department of environmental protection 
can be contacted for the location of the nearest 
used oil recycling station or collection point. 

♦	 Prohibit the use of detergents and emulsifiers 
on fuel spills. 

Soaps, detergents, and emulsifying products 
should not be used on oil or petroleum spills 

because they only hide spills and seemingly make 
them disappear. They actually cause petroleum 
products to sink into the water, where the combi
nation of fuel and detergent can harm aquatic life 
and make the pollutants difficult to collect. Use of 
detergent bilge cleaners is illegal and subject to a 
high fine imposed by the U.S. Coast Guard. Many 
bilge cleaners are actually detergents and their 
use should be discouraged as well because 
environmentally friendly alternatives exist. 

BMP Summary Table 7 summarizes the BMPs 
for Petroleum Control mentioned in this guidance. 

4-55 



BMPS Table7. PETROLEUM CONTROL MANAGEMENT 
MANAGEMENT MEASURE: Reduce the amount of fuel and oil from boat bil•es and fuel tank air vents enterino mm:ina and surface waters. 
APPLICABILITY: Marina rnana~ and boat owners. 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERNS: Although more than half of the oil that spills into the water evaporates, less than a cup of oil can create a very thin sheen over more fuan an 
acre of calm water. Small amounts of oil spilled from numerous boats can accumulate to create a large oil sheen, that blocks oxygen from moving through the surface of the water 
and can be harmful to animals and larvae that must break the surface to breathe. The hydrocarbons in oil barm juvenile fish, upset fish reproduction, and interfere with the growth 
and reproduction of bottom-dwelling organisms. Oil and gas ingested by one animal can be passed oo the next animal that eats it In a mm:ina, petroleum spills also dissolve the 
whire Styrofoam in floats and docks and discolor boat hulls, woodwork, and paint. Gasoline spills, which evaporare quickly, are also a safety problem because of the flammability 
ofgasoline. 
PETROLEUM CONTROL PRACTICES 

Annwil Operation & 
Best Management Marina Location & Benefits to Projected Initial Cost Malnlerumce Cost 
Practice Exampl .. Usage Marina Environmental Benefits Estimate Estimate Notes 

Promote the illstallation Boat; generally MODERATE benefit MOD ERA TE; eliminates IJJW LOW 
and use of fuellair recommended to boater; saves fuel small but common spills 
separators on air vents or and keeps hull from air vents 
tank stems of inboard fuel deaner 
tanks to reduce the amount 
of fuel spilled into surface 
waters dUiinj; fuelin~ 
A void overfilling fuel tanks Fuel dock; universa'lly HIGH; marina policy HIGH; reduces small spills NONE NONE to LOW Fuel expands as it wanns, and the 

recommended for staff and fuel from air vent when boats remperature in a boat fuel tank 
dock customers will return to slips as fuel warms might be higher thao that in the 
reduce small spills, up and expands fuel storage tank., especially an 
saving cleanup costs underground tank; very effective 
and reducing visible when coupled with installation of 
oil slicks fueJ/a.ir sp.narator in fuel vent line 

Provide "doughnuts" or Fuel dock; universaUy HIGH; absorption HIGH; significantly reduces LOW LOW If fuel absorbed is gasoline, do not 
small petroleum absmption recommended pads are inexpensive amount of small fuel spills in store pad in an enclosed space 
pads to patrons to use while and easily cut into marina and visible petroleum until fumes have dispersed 
fueling to catch splashback smaUe:r sizes for use sheens 
and the last drops when the byboatera;low 
nozzle is transferred back technology and easy 
from the boat to the fuel to use 
dock 

Keep engines properly Marina area; universally LOW for marina; H!GH; well-tuned and LOW LOW 
maintained fur efficient recommended HIGH for boater; maintained engines produce 
fuel ooasumption, cl=t well-tuned and fewer emissions and leak 
exhaust, and fuel economy. maintained engines less to the water 
Follow the manufacturer's burn fuel more 
specifications efficiently; fewer 

exhaust fumes 

N
ational M

anagem
ent M

easures G
uidance

4-56




Prohibit the use of detergents Marina basin; universally MODERATE; using HIGH; soaps, detergents, and 

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 4: M
anagem

ent M
easures

4-57
 



National Management Measures Guidance 

4-58
 



SECTION 4: Management Measures 

4.8. LIQUID MATERIAL MANAGEMENT 

Management Measure for Liquid Material Management: 

Provide and maintain appropriate storage, transfer, containment, and disposal 
facilities for liquid material, such as oil, harmful solvents, antifreeze, and 
paints, and encourage recycling of these materials. 

Management Measure Description marinas affect boater satisfaction and present a 

Marinas store a variety of liquid materials for boat 
and facility operation and generate various liquid 
wastes through the activities that occur on marina 
property. Adequate storage and disposal facilities 
are important if these materials are to be kept out 
of the environment. Proper storage is also impor
tant to ensure that liquid materials do not become 
contaminated while in storage and have to be 
disposed of prematurely. Marina patrons and 
employees are more likely to properly dispose of 
liquid wastes if adequate and safe disposal 
facilities are provided. Many states have manda
tory or voluntary programs that address this 
management measure. 

Proper storage and disposal of potentially harmful 
liquid materials can eliminate their entering marina 
waters and harming the aquatic environment, 
aquatic organisms, and marina or customer 
property. Liquid materials for sale or use at the 
marina, such as fuels, oils, solvents, and paints, 
should be stored in a manner that minimizes the 
chance of a spill and contains a spill if one occurs. 
Liquid wastes, such as waste fuel, used oil, spent 
solvents, and spent antifreeze, should be similarly 
stored until they can be recycled or disposed of 
properly. 

Small quantities of many liquid wastes, including 
antifreeze, waste oil, pesticides, cleaners, solvents, 
and paints, can be harmful or deadly to people, 
wildlife, pets, fish, and other aquatic organisms. 
Discharge of these materials into marina waters 
not only is environmentally damaging but also 
destroys the overall clean, healthy environment 

poor image to prospective patrons. A clean 
marina reinforces the public image that boating is 
clean and that marinas are beneficial for the 
environment. 

Regulations also play a role in proper liquid 
material and waste management. Approved spill 
protection materials and methods might be 
required by the local fire department and are 
necessary for marine environmental and liability 
insurance coverage. Regardless of whether a 
liquid waste material is eventually recycled or 
disposed of, careful documentation of how much 
material is collected, how it is removed from the 
facility, and where it is ultimately going is ex
tremely important. These records are invaluable if 
there is ever any question from state or federal 
authorities about the marina’s hazardous waste 
collection and disposal practices. 

Marina staff and boaters should be informed 
about safe storage and disposal of liquid wastes. 
If a marina collects waste oil for recycling or 
disposal, precautions need to be taken to prevent 
contamination of one waste type with an incom
patible type. Contaminated or mixed liquid wastes 
are very expensive to dispose of because com
mercial removal companies charge their highest 
rates for unknown mixtures. Some marinas have 
received costly fines by not controlling what is 
dumped into waste oil containers or who dumps 
materials into them. Holding tanks for liquid 
wastes should be kept locked, and a staff person 
should be responsible for moving waste from a 
collection site to the storage facility. 

that a marina can provide to its patrons. Dirty 

4-59 



National Management Measures Guidance 

Applicability 

This management measure is applicable to 
marinas where liquid materials used in the mainte
nance, repair, or operation of boats are stored. 

Best Management Practices 

With respect to all BMPs mentioned in this 
section, please consult with your state and local 
regulatory authorities for specific requirements 
and make sure your facility is in compliance. 
Where state and local regulations contradict the 
recommendations provided in this guidance, the 
facility must follow regulatory requirements. 

♦	 Build curbs, berms, or other barriers 
around areas used for liquid material 
storage to contain spills. 

To contain spills, curbs or berms should be 
installed around areas where liquid material is 
stored. A general guide is to build berms or curbs 
to be capable of containing 10 percent of the total 
volume of liquid material stored or 110 percent of 
the volume of the largest container in storage, 
whichever is greater. Drains in the floor would 
defeat the purpose of the curbs or berms, so any 
drains present should be permanently closed. 

♦	 Store liquid materials under cover on a 
surface that is impervious to the type of 
material stored. 

Containers of hazardous liquid materials are best 
stored in a protected place where rain will not 
lead to the containers’ rusting and rupturing. It is 
equally important that the surface on which the 
containers are stored and of which the berms or 
curbs are made be impervious to the contents of 
the containers. If they aren’t, a spill could quickly 
destroy the spill containment material and spread. 

♦	 Storage and disposal areas for liquid 
materials should be located in or near 
repair and maintenance areas, undercover, 

Elliot Bay Marina (Washington) has its 
staff pick up almost any hazardous waste 
directly from the boat owner.  This saves 
the potential high cost for disposing of 
hazardous materials that have been 
accidentally mixed by customers, thrown 
into dumpsters, or left on the dock where 
they could fall or leak into the water.  This 
practice has worked well and has resulted 
in lower disposal costs, a spill-free marina, 
and happier customers who do not have to 
handle the waste product (USEPA, 1996: 
Clean Marinas—Clear Value). 

protected from runoff, with berms or sec
ondary containment, and away from flood 
areas and fire hazards. 

♦	 Store minimal quantities of hazardous 
materials. 

A good idea is to conduct a regular review of the 
facility’s hazardous materials inventory to identify 
any materials that can be stored in smaller 
amounts, or that are no longer needed or that 
have expired on the shelf. Buying only as much 
material as will be used within a year, or on a 
project basis, can save money and reduce waste. 

♦	 Provide clearly labeled, separate contain
ers for the disposal of waste oils, fuels, and 
other liquid wastes. 

Waste oils include waste engine oil, transmission 
fluid, hydraulic fluid, and gear oil. Waste fuels 
include gasoline, diesel, gasolines/oil blends, and 
water contaminated by these fuels. Other liquid 
materials of concern include used antifreeze/ 
coolant, solvents, acetone, paints, and, if a restau
rant is present, edible cooking oils and fats. Each 
of these liquids needs a separate container that is 
clearly marked to prevent mixing with other 
liquids and to assist in its identification for proper 
disposal. The containers should be covered in a 

Deep River Marina (Connecticut), Conanicut Marine Services (Rhode Island) and many 
other marinas use portable oil-changing units that use a vacuum tank to suction oil out of 
an engine through the dip-stick tube. The unit is rented to boaters for do-it-yourself oil 
changing (USEPA, 1996: Clean Marinas—Clear Value). 

4-60 



SECTION 4: Management Measures 

manner that prevents rainwater from entering 
them. Used oil filters are best drained before 
disposal by placing the filter in a funnel over the 
appropriate waste collection container. Waste 
should be removed from the marina site by 
someone permitted to handle such waste, such as 
a hazardous material contractor, and receipts and 
records of all materials disposed of and hauled 
away should be retained for inspection. 

Paint cans with unused paint should be opened in 
well ventilated areas and left to dry until solid, 
then disposed of with normal trash. For informa
tion on how to handle particular types of hazard
ous wastes and which wastes are hazardous and 
which are not, contact a local extension service, 
waste hauler, or fire department. 

♦	 Recycle liquid materials where possible. 

The decision to recycle is usually based on the 
type of waste and the availability of recycling 
facilities. Where a recycling program is available, 
consider participating and encouraging the partici
pation of all marina patrons. Liquids that are often 
acceptable for recycling include waste or used oil 
and used antifreeze. Drop-off at a hazardous 
waste collection point may be necessary. 

♦	 Change engine oil using nonspill vacuum-type 
systems to perform spill-proof oil changes or 
to suction oily water from bilges. 

♦	 Use antifreeze and coolants that are less 
toxic to the environment. 

Care should be taken to avoid combining different 
types of antifreeze/coolants. Propylene-glycol
based antifreeze (with a pink color) should be 
used because it is less toxic to the environment. 
Ethylene-glycol-based antifreeze (identifiable by 
its blue-green color) is very toxic to animals and 
should be recycled when it is used. 

♦	 Use alternative liquid materials where 
practical. 

When possible, use low-toxicity or nontoxic 
materials, such as water-based paints and sol
vents and propylene-glycol antifreeze, in place of 
more toxic products. The use of nontoxic, high-
bonding, easily cleaned coatings can be encour
aged among marina patrons. Solvents with low 

volatility and coatings with low volatile organic 
compound (VOC) content are available, as are 
long-lasting and nontoxic antifouling paints. 

♦	 Follow manufacturer’s directions and use 
nontoxic or low-toxicity pesticides. 

At both marinas and boat launch sites, all pesti
cides (herbicide or insecticide) should be applied 
according to the directions provided on the 
container and should be applied by someone 
trained in pesticide application. All precautions 
should be taken to avoid allowing any pesticide to 
enter surface waters. Herbicides that are not 
toxic to aquatic life are safest to use. A local 
extension service is a good source of information 
on the relative safety of pesticides and where and 
when they can be safely applied. Using mulches 
in gardens and under shrubs can be as effective a 
method for controlling weeds and is more environ
mentally friendly than using herbicides. 

♦	 Burn used oil used as a heating fuel. 

EPA permits burning used oil as a heating fuel 
(though some states might not permit it) if special 
high-temperature furnaces are used. This elimi
nates disposing of the used oil as a hazardous 
waste (Figure 4-14). Normally, the only oil that 
can be used as a fuel for high-temperature 
furnaces is that collected as part of normal 
maintenance and boat service work, but check 
with the furnace manufacturer. Also, verify that 
use of this system is permissible with the local 
environmental authority. 

♦	 Prepare a hazardous materials spill recov
ery plan and update it as necessary. 

If large amounts of hazardous materials and/or 
wastes are stored even for short periods of time 
on marina property, a spill prevention and recov
ery plan should be adopted. The plan should list 
the types and volumes of materials that could 
potentially be spilled. This information is important 
because spill response action depends on the type 
of material spilled. A spill response plan for 
hazardous material can be integrated into an oil 
spill response plan and should include the same 
components: 

•	 Who: Clearly identify who is responsible for 
taking what action. 

4-61 



National Management Measures Guidance 

Figure 4-14. West Access Marina (Illinois) installed 
a high-temperature furnace in 1993, which extended 
the marina’s boat maintenance activities into and 
through the winter. The marina’s engine mainte
nance service collects between 1,000 and 2,000 
gallons of waste oil a year.  It is collected in small 
containers and stored in a 1,000-gallon drum. The 
furnace burns very cleanly at 3,000 EF. The furnace 
saves the marina thousands of dollars each year in 
waste oil removal costs (USEPA, 1996: Clean Mari-
nas—Clear Value). 

•	 What: Explain what action should be taken 
during a spill event and, based on multiple 
scenarios, what equipment should be de
ployed. 

•	 When: Specify when additional resources
 
should be called for assistance.
 

•	 Where: Tell where the material is located in 
the facility. 

•	 How: Explain how the equipment should be 
used and disposed of. 

♦	 Keep adequate spill response equipment 
where liquid materials are stored. 

Equipment that is suitable for the variety of 
materials stored and can contain spilled material 
and prevent it from entering surface waters 
should be readily available near where spills are 
likely. Many hazardous materials do not remain on 
the water surface if they do enter surface waters, 
so absorbent materials should be used as soon as 
possible after a spill to contain them. These 
materials should then be disposed of properly. 

BMP Summary Table 8 summarizes the BMPs 
for Liquid Material management mentioned in this 
guidance. 

4-62
 



BMPS , Table 8. LIQUID MATERIAL MANAGEMENT 
MANAGEMENT MEASURE: Provide and maintain appropriate storage, transfer, containment, and disposal facilities for liquid material, such as oil, harmful solvents, 
antifreeze, and paints, and encourage recvclin• of these materials. 
APPLICABILITY: Marinas where liQuid materials used in the maintenance. repair. or oneration of boats are stored. 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERNS: Liquid material such as fuels, oils, solvents, paints, pesticides, acetone, cleaners, and antifreeze are potentially harmful or deadly to 
wildlife, pets, and humans and are toxic to fish and other aquatic organisms when they enter a waterbody. This is true for other types of liquid wastes such as waste fuel, used 
oil, spent solvents, battery acid, and used antifreeze. Waste oiJs include waste engine oiJ, transmission fluid, hydraulic fluid, and gear oil. Waste fuels include gasoline, 
diesel, gasoline/oil blends, and water contaminated by these fuels. 
LIQUID MATERIAL MANAGEMENT PRACTICES 

Projected Annual Operation & 
Best Management Marina 1.-0Cation & Benefits to Environmental Initial Cost Mlllntemmce 
Practice ExamDlos u .. a. Marina n ... .nis Estimate Coot Estimate Notes 

Build curbs, benruJ., or Designated work area; MODERAIB; HIGH; provides extra MODERAIBto LOW Check with local and state 
other baniers around universally recommended reduces loss of protection by ensuring that EXPENSIVE authorities before 
areas used for liquid spilled liquids; if spills or leaks do occur, implementing any of these 
materials storage to containment makes the hazardous liquids will BMPs because regulations 
contain spills for easy, less be contained and not enter vary from location to location 

ex"""nsive cleanun the water 

Store liquid materials under Designated work area; HIGH; properly HIGH; impervious surface LOW to LOW 
cover on a surface that is universally recommended protected containers protects against the MODERATE 
impervious to the type of should not mst or spreading of harmful liquids 
material stored rupture; saves on into the ground ifa spill does 

cleanuo costs occur 

Storage and disposal areas Designated work area; MODERAIB; more MODERATE; keeping MODERAIBto LOWtoMODERAIB 
for Hquid materia1s should universally recommended convenient to have the storage area away from HIGH 
be located :in or near repair liquids storage area flood zones and fire hazards 
and maintenance areas, located near repair and :reduces risk of spills, 
undercover, protected from maintenance leaching, or explosion 
runoff, with berms or 
secondary oo:ntainmment, 
and away from t1ood areas 
and fire hazards 

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 4: M
anagem

ent M
easures

4-63
 



N
ational M

anagem
ent M

easures G
uidance

4-64


that are less toxic to the universally recommended toxicity products protect propylene-glycol based 



BMPS Table 8. cont.) LIQUID MATERIAL MANAGEMENT 
Projected Annual Operation & 

Best Management Marina Location & Environmental l.Dillal Coot Maintenairee Coot 
Practice Examples Usage Benefits to Marina Benefits Estimate Estimate Notes 

Burn used oil as a heating Designated wrnk areas; HIGH; cost-saving measure bec:ause IDGH; any reuse of oil MODERATE LOW Allowed only in special 
fuel universally :recommended it eliminates cost of waste oil reduces the use of higb-tempemlllre 

removal and extends maintenance fossil fuels furnaces; check with 
activities through the winter local and state 

authorities before using 
Prepare a hazardous Desig.nat.ed work areas; MODERATE; ensures more efficient MODERATE; LOW LOW May be integrat.ed into 
materials spill recovery plan universally recommended cleanup in the event of a spill; helps planning and training an oil spill response plan 
and update it as necessary reduce liability exposure reduce chance and 

volumes of spills 
Keep adequate spill response Des.1gnated work areas; MODERATE; having equipment MODERATE; LOWtn LOW tn MODERATE Many hazardous 
equipment where liquid universally :recommended available will control spills faster; equipment must be MODERAIB materials do not remain 
materials are stored helps reduce liability exposure suitable for the variety on the water, so 

of materials stored absorbent materials 
should be used to 
contain them 

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 4: M
anagem

ent M
easures

4-65
 



National Management Measures Guidance 

4-66
 



SECTION 4: Management Measures 

4.9. SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT 

Management Measure for Solid Waste: 

Properly dispose of solid wastes produced by the operation, cleaning, mainte
nance, and repair of boats to limit entry of solid wastes to surface waters. 

Management Measure Description 

This management measure is focused on con
trolling the solid waste that can collect at mari
nas and boat ramp sites if waste receptacles are 
not provided and conveniently located or if 
sufficient attention is not given to controlling 
waste produced during boat cleaning, mainte
nance, and repair activities. Many of the man
agement practices that are useful for reducing 
solid waste production during boat maintenance 
activities are discussed under the Storm Water 
Runoff management measure because much of 
the solid waste produced during boat mainte
nance activities could potentially be carried to 
surface waters in storm water runoff. Please 
refer to the discussions of those management 
practices under the Storm Water Runoff man
agement measure. 

The purpose of this management measure is to 
prevent solid waste from polluting surface waters. 
Solid waste from boat cleaning, maintenance, and 
repair might contain harmful substances such as 
antifoulant paint chips or solvents used to clean or 
polish metal or wood parts. Solid waste from 
general activities and marina use, such as plastic 
bags, cups, cigarette butts, and food containers, 
also pollutes surface waters and degrades the 
habitats of aquatic animals and plants. The simple 
act of picking up and properly disposing of trash 
goes a long way toward preventing this form of 
nonpoint source pollution. 

Marinas that appear clean because litter is not a 
visual problem are also more attractive to 
customers when they are shopping for a place to 
dock their boats or when the time comes to sign 
a new slip rental lease. Cleanliness at a marina 

can also lead to public recognition and to fewer 
complaints about flat tires or floating trash in slips. 
Substantial cleanup costs can be replaced by 
small initial investments in trash collection and 
preventive practices (Figure 4-15). The invest
ment in some clean marina practices can be 
recovered by renting equipment such as dustless 
sanders or selling items such as filter cloth to boat 
owners. 

Providing sufficient waste receptacles, separating 
wastes into classes of recyclables, and preventing 
litter are all accepted practices today and are part 
of customer service and environmentally friendly 
management at any public establishment. Marinas 
generate solid waste through boat maintenance, 
parties and small social gatherings on boats, 
restaurants, commercial activity at the marina, 
and the day-to-day operation of the facility 

Figure 4-15. Filter cloths to capture debris. Port 
Annapolis Marina (Maryland) uses geotextile 
screening cloths to capture the normal sanding and 
scraping debris, as well as screws, nails, and other 
solid materials. This reduces cleanup time and 
improves appearance (USEPA, 1996: Clean 
Marinas—Clear Value). 

4-67 



National Management Measures Guidance 

(Figure 4-16). If adequate trash and solid waste 
disposal facilities are not available, solid waste is 
more likely to end up in surface waters or scat
tered on the marina grounds, from which it might 
be blown or washed into surface waters. Marina 
patrons and employees are more likely to properly 
dispose of solid waste if given adequate opportu
nity and disposal facilities. In fact, under federal 
law, marinas and port facilities must supply 
adequate and convenient waste disposal facilities 
for their customers. 

Applicability 

This management measure is applicable to all 
marinas. Many of the BMPs mentioned here are 
directed at boat owners and users, and the 
information is provided here so that marina 
managers are aware of the potential nonpoint 
source pollution problems. 

Best Management Practices 

♦	 Encourage marina patrons to avoid doing 
any hull maintenance while their boats are 
in the water. 

The quantity of debris discarded into the marina 
basin from boat maintenance activities can be 
minimized by limiting in-the-water boat mainte
nance to tasks (such as propeller work and hull 
inspection) that do not remove paint and other 
solid materials. Dustless sanders can be used for 

Figure 4-16. Vacuum sanders.  Employees at The 
Lodge of Four Seasons Marina (Missouri) use vacuum 
or “dustless” sanders to prepare hulls for painting, 
reducing waste in the environment and cleanup time 
(USEPA, 1996: Clean Marinas— Clear Value). 

topside work in slips, and tarps can be laid out 
between a boat and the dock to catch any debris. 

It can be very difficult to do any hull maintenance 
while the boat is in the water without some debris 
falling into the water, and some marina managers 
require that all work be done on land. If feasible, 
limit in-the-water hull maintenance to cleaning, 
preferably without the use of cleansers. (See the 
Boat Cleaning management measure). 

♦	 Place trash receptacles in convenient 
locations for marina patrons. Covered 
dumpsters and trash cans are ideal. 

Many people don’t want to put their trash any
where but in a trash receptacle. For these people, 
and to encourage those who might otherwise 
consider dropping trash on the ground to use trash 
receptacles, waste disposal facilities should be 
conveniently located near repair and maintenance 
areas, in parking lots, on docks, and in heavy-use 
areas, such as near grassy areas where people 
picnic and in parking lots. Covered trash recep
tacles do not fill up with water when it rains, do 
not lose their contents to strong winds, and are 
less likely to be invaded by scavenging mammals 
and birds. A loose cover also acts as an indicator 
that a receptacle is full. The best overfill preven
tion is frequent emptying by marina staff. 

♦	 Provide trash receptacles at boat launch 
sites. 

Trash disposal can be a big problem at boat 
launch ramps. Boat launch sites are often the 
most convenient access point to waterbodies, and 
people from nearby areas, the non-boating public, 
or those not using the launch ramp for boat 
launching (e.g., those who use the site for picnick
ing, swimming, or shore fishing) deposit their trash 
in the receptacles provided for boaters at the site. 
If trash receptacles are provided at the launch 
site, this use can be expected, and a pick-up 
schedule should be arranged accordingly. Some 
states (e.g., Maine and Minnesota) have experi
mented with removing trash receptacles from 
boat launch sites because overflowing trash 
receptacles and litter strewn on the ground can 
result from providing trash receptacles that are 
insufficient to accommodate the trash from many 
users. Some people leave their trash atop an 

4-68 



 

SECTION 4: Management Measures 

overflowing trash receptacle or beside one rather 
than taking it with them, thinking it will be picked 
up by someone whose job it is to do so. Maine 
and Minnesota have found that when trash 
receptacles are removed the boating public 
generally does not complain and takes their trash 
with them. Litter can actually cease to be a 
problem after trash receptacles are removed in 
these instances. If it is decided not to provide 
trash receptacles, posting signs that ask people to 
“Pack it out!” can reduce the amount of trash 
left at the site. 

♦	 Provide facilities for collecting recyclable 
materials. 

Recycling of nonhazardous solid waste such as 
scrap metal, aluminum, glass, wood pallets, 
alkaline batteries, paper, fishing line and nets, and 
cardboard is recommended wherever feasible. 
Recyclable hazardous solid waste such as used 
lead-acid batteries and used oil filters, should be 
stored on an impervious surface, under cover, and 
sent to or picked up by an approved recyclable 
materials handler. Often a recycling rebate is paid 
to the marina for each battery. 

Where recycling is available through the munici
pality, it can be a cost-effective way to decrease 
trash disposal costs. Public education is necessary 
if a recycling program is to be effective, though 
today many people recycle at their homes and 
already have a “recycle” consciousness. Hazard
ous and nonhazardous wastes are collected for 
recycling separately. 

Although recycling is a preferred disposal method 
for reusable materials, not all municipalities 
provide the service free of charge. Recycling can 

The All Seasons Marina (New Jersey) 
cut its trash bill in half by taking advan
tage of the local solid waste recycling 
program. The Cap Sante Boat Haven 
(Washington) participates in a municipal 
recycling program and saves 10 to 20 
percent on its annual trash removal bill. 
The marina rents 28 recycling bins from 
the town and places them at dock 
heads for customers’ convenience 
(USEPA, 1996: Clean Marinas—Clear 
Value). 

be performed in-house, but private service 
providers are often costly. In such a case, the 
quantity of waste produced can be lessened by 
reusing materials and sharing leftover cleaning 
and maintenance supplies (e.g., excess varnish 
and paint) among customers. A marina can place 
a bulletin board up for notices from patrons about 
extra supplies that are available or can provide 
some sort of materials exchange program. 

♦	 Encourage fishing line collection and 
recycling or disposal. 

Lost or discarded fishing line and netting in 
aquatic environments is extremely dangerous to 
aquatic life. Providing educational materials about 
the dangers these materials pose and receptacles 
or a location where marina patrons can dispose of 
unwanted fishing line and nets could help reduce 
the magnitude of the problem. Information on 
debris problems is available from the Center for 
Marine Conservation at <www.cmc-ocean.org>. 

♦	 Provide boaters with trash bags. 

Boaters can be encouraged to bring all of the 
trash they generate while boating back to an 
onshore trash receptacle by providing them with a 
plastic bag or other suitable trash container. 
Imprinted with a marina’s logo, the bag will carry 
the clear message that the marina cares about the 
environment. 

♦	 Use a reusable blasting medium. 

New technologies are available that make use of 
a plastic blasting medium that can be reused 
several times until it wears out. The medium is 
used to remove antifoulant paint and is vacuumed 
into a hopper along with the debris for recovery, 
cleaning, and reclaiming (Figure 4-17). The much 
smaller volume of debris is collected and sent to a 
landfill. 

♦	 Require patrons to clean up pet wastes and 
provide a specific dog walking area at the 
marina. 

Where floating piers extend far from the grassy 
areas of a marina, dog waste can become a 
problem, leading to many complaints from staff 
and boat owners. In many cities, dog owners are 
required to clean up after their pets when they 

4-69 

http://www.cmc-ocean.org


National Management Measures Guidance 

Figure 4-17. Associated Marine Technologies 
(Florida) took prevention of hull sand-blasting debris 
a step further by switching from a silica wet/dry 
sandblasting medium to a closed system that 
employs a reusable plastic material. The facility 
uses a high-capacity plastic-medium-blasting dry 
stripper and a media reclaimer that recovers the 
plastic material and separates it from the paint dust. 
This process significantly reduces the cost of 
cleanup and disposal, gives a higher-quality 
surface, and is much less aggressive on the 
gelcoats of fiberglass hulls (USEPA, 1996: Clean 
Marinas—Clear Value) 

walk them on public streets and parks. A similar 
policy can take care of this problem at marinas. 

BMP Summary Table 9 summarizes the BMPs 
for Solid Waste Management mentioned in this 
guidance. 

4-70
 



BMPS Table9. SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT 
MANAGEMENT MEASURE: Properly dispose of solid wastes produced by the operation, cleaning, maintenance, and repair of boots to limit entry of solid wastes to surface 
waters, 
APPLICABILITY: All mminas. Many of the BMPs mentioned here are directed at boat owners and users, and information is provided here so that marina managcrn are 
aware of potential nonpoinl source pollution nmblems. 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERNS: Boat maintenance, painting and repair can result in a range of waste materials, such as sanding debris, antifoulant paint chips, scrap 
metal, fiberglass pieces, sweepings, and battery lead and acid. Other solid waste such as bottles, plastic bags, aluminum cans, coffee cups, 
six-pack rings, disposable diapers, wrapping paper, glass bottles, cigarette filters, and fishing line can come from general boating activities and marina use. Living organisms 
and the habitats of aquatic animals and plants are lranned by this type of debris after it enters the water. A litter-free marina is mnre attractive to present and potential 
customers. Reducinli! a marina's solid waste also reduces overall disoosal costs. 
SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT PRACTICES 

Projected Annual Operation & 
llestManageDient Marina Location & Environmental Initial Cost Maintenance Cost 
Practice Exampl .. Usage Benefits to Marina Benefits Estimate Estimate Notes 

Encourage marina patrons to Marina dock area; MODERATE; less debris LOW to MODERATE; any LOW to MODERATE LOW to MODERA'IB Ensure that any in-wat.er boat 
avoid doing any hull recommended will end up in the marina :maintenance work on a boat maintenance docs not remove 
maintenance while their bas±a., improving in a slip is more likely to paint from the boat hull 
boats are in the water appearance pollute and harder to 

control; reasonable attempts 
at cleaner prru..1ices will 
reduce pollution going into 
the water 

Place trash receptacles in Marina-wide; universally IIlGH; convenient trash HIGH; covers control LOW per unit LOW to MODERA'IB Secure containers near docks 
convenient locations for :recommended containers will be used if animal and bird access and or the water to avoid 
marina patrons, Covered placed near access to prevent windblown litter accidental spi1lage; label 
dumpsters and trash cans are docks; encourages staff from entering the water contamers to promote 
ideal and cust.omers to help placement of different waste 

keep grounds clean types in separate containers 

Provide trash receptacles at Boat launch sites; IIlGH; a litter-free launch MODERA'IB; use of trash LOW per unit LOW to MODERA'IB Isolated public launch ramps 
boat launch sites universally recommended site is more attractive to containers reduces volume may become household dump 

boaters; encourages them of litter entering water for residents in rural areas, a 
to k.eep it clean problem that has many states 

discouraging use of trash 
receptacles 

Provide facilities for Marina-wide; universally MODERA'IB to IDGH; MODERA'IB; recycling has LOW LOW Recycling is best done where 
collecting recyclable :recommended recycling decreases trash environmental benefits provided through the 
materials disposal costs; popular beyond the marina by municipality; cleady mark 

with the public; good for reducing volume going to each receptacle for different 
business image; scrap landfills, and as resource for type of recyclable 
metals have highest cost manufacturers 
recoverv value 

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 4: M
anagem

ent M
easures

4-71
 



BMPS Table 9. oont.1 SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT 
Annual Operation & 

Best Mamgement Marina Location & Projected Environmental hdtial Cost Maintenance Cost 
Practice Examples Usage llenelils to Marina llenefils Estimate Estimate Notes 

Encourage fishing line Marina-wide; NONE to LOW; marilla may MODERA1E to !IlGH; LOW LOW Appropriate to combine with a 
collection and recycling or universally be colkcting trash it entanglement in discarded or public education effort 
disposal reoommeruled otherwise wouldn't have to lost fishing line takes the lives 

dispose of of thousands of aquatic 
animals each year 

Provide boaters with trash Marina work area; HIGH; encourages boaters to HIGH; all irash oollecred does LOW LOW 
bags generaUy recommended collect their tr.ash and not not go into the water or blow 

discard it overboard, in the around the marina as litter 
marina or at sea; reduces 
time spent on cleanup at 
marina 

Use a reusable blasting Marina work area; HIGH; cost savings can !IlGH; significantly reduces MODERATE MODERATE More practical and cost-
medium generally reoommended result by separating out dust volume of waste for disposal effective for high-volume 

and reusing blasting material boatyards, which do a lot of 
hull blasting 

Require patrons to clean up Marina-wide; IDGH; pet waste on docks, HIGH; pet waste contains LOW LOW SigIJJi should clearly mark the 
pet wastes and provide an universally walks, and beaches is a harmful bacteria, lowers water dog walkingarea as well as 
area specifically fur dog reoommeruled serious complaint by marina quality, and contaminates encourage patrons to clean up 
walking at the marina customers; signs and use of shellfish; BMP reduces the after their pets; providing 

pest waste disposal bags possibility that pet waste will disposable scoop bags 
work and reduce complaints enter the water; keeps waters encourages tlris practice and 
from other boat.era; when clean saves staff cleanup time. 
dogs have a place to go, the 
docks and walk:s are cleaner; 
saves cost of staff time to 
clean up 

N
ational M

anagem
ent M

easures G
uidance

4-72




SECTION 4: Management Measures 

4.10. FISH WASTE MANAGEMENT 

Management Measure for Fish Waste Management: 

Promote sound fish waste management through a combination of fish-cleaing 
restrictions, public education, and proper disposal of fish waste. 

Management Measure Description	 Some states prohibit fish waste from being 

Fish waste can create water quality problems at 
marinas where a lot of fish are landed. This might 
be the case where long piers or breakwaters 
provide access to deep water or accommodation 
for many fishers, where fishing tournaments are 
held, or at any marina during the local high fishing 
season. The waste from fish cleaning shouldn’t be 
disposed of into a marina basin because of the 
chance of overwhelming the natural ability of the 
waterbody to assimilate and decompose it. The 
dissolved oxygen consumed by the decomposing 
fish parts can cause anaerobic, foul-smelling 
conditions. Unconsumed or floating fish parts are 
also an unattractive addition to the marina prop
erty. Fish waste is better disposed of in offshore 
waters (if the state allows) where the fish are 
caught, or treated as waste like any other and 
deposited in trash containers. 

Proper disposal of fish waste by marina patrons 
helps keep marinas clean and free of waste. 
Although only a few marinas deal with large 
amounts of fish waste or fishing within the basin, 
sport fishers can be found at most marinas, and it 
is a good idea for marinas to promote proper fish 
waste disposal. Fish cleaning stations provide 
convenient places for marina patrons to clean fish 
and dispose of their waste material, and they help 
to keep the rest of the marina clean. Marina 
managers often find that once a good fish clean
ing station is available to fishing patrons, the 
patrons gladly use it because gutting a fish at a 
fish cleaning station avoids the mess created on a 
boat or dock. Non-fishing marina patrons are 
likely to appreciate not having fish waste on docks 
or floating near their boats. 

discarded in nearshore waters and require that 
marinas prohibit the practice. Without a desig
nated place to clean fish, docks, piers, and 
bulkheads can become dirty quickly. 

Applicability 

This management measure is applicable to 
marinas where fish waste is determined to be a 
source of water pollution. Many of the BMPs 
mentioned for this management measure are 
implementable by marina patrons and are not 
directly under the control of marina managers. 

Best Management Practices 

♦	 Clean fish offshore where the fish are 
caught and discard of the fish waste at sea 
(if allowed by the state). 

Fish waste can be disposed of in the offshore 
ecosystems from which the fish are caught. The 
quantity of fish waste produced from recreational 
fishing generally should not cause any water 
quality problems in open waters. Some states 
(such as Florida) require that all game fish be 
brought ashore intact for measurement by fisher
ies officials, and this management practice does 
not apply. 

♦	 Install fish cleaning stations at the marina 
and at boat launch sites. 

A fish cleaning station is a particular area set 
aside for cleaning fish that have been caught. It 
typically has a cutting table large enough to 
accommodate a few to many people, a freshwater 
hose or other form of running water, and recep
tacles for the waste. Boaters and fishers can be 

4-73 



National Management Measures Guidance 

informed of the presence of the station and 
encouraged to use it. To keep the stations attrac
tive and sanitary, they should be cleaned frequently, 
even as often as after each use. Making the station 
convenient to use and clean will encourage people 
to keep it clean themselves. Fish waste is placed in 
covered containers, and the collected waste is 
disposed of with other solid waste or by some 
other environmentally friendly means. (Refer to 
the next management practice.) If nutrient 
enrichment is not a problem in regional waters, 
fish cleaning stations can use garbage disposal 
units to grind the waste and then send the ground 
waste to a municipal sewer line for waste dis
posal. As always, when state or local regulations 
could be applicable, check with the environmental 
authority to determine whether they apply. 

Where extensive fishing is done from a boat 
launch site, fish cleaning stations can be helpful. 
Fish waste disposal is a problem at boat launch 
sites because boaters return from fishing and 
usually want to clean their catch before they 
leave. Fish cleaning stations provide the ideal 
facility where fishers can gather to discuss their 
catch and clean it before heading home. As with 
a marina fish cleaning station, fish waste can be 
collected in covered containers and disposed of 
like regular trash or ground and emptied into a 
local sewage disposal system (where local 
regulations permit). An alternative approach 
would be to install an onsite disposal system with 
a holding tank, though this is not recommended 
where waterbodies have nutrient enrichment 
problems. 

♦	 Compost fish waste where appropriate. 

A law passed in 1989 in New York forbids 
discarding fish waste, with exceptions, into fresh 
water or within 100 feet of shore. Contaminants 
in some fish leave few alternatives for disposing 
of fish waste, so Cornell University and the New 
York Sea Grant Extension Program conducted a 
fish composting project to deal with the more than 
2 million pounds of fish waste generated by the 
salmonid fishery each year. In the demonstration 
project, fish parts were mixed with peat moss and 
the mixture quickly turned into an excellent 
compost suitable for gardens. The study found 
that even with this quantity of waste, if 

composting was done properly, the problems of 
odor, rodents, and insects were minimal and the 
process was effective. Another method of fish 
waste composting, described by the University of 
Wisconsin Sea Grant Institute, is suitable for 
amounts of compost ranging from a bucketful to 
the quantities produced by a fish-processing plant. 
A local Extension Service can be contacted for 
information on locally applicable composting 
procedures and equipment and where supplies 
can be purchased. 

♦	 Freeze fish parts and reuse them as bait or 
chum on the next fishing trip. 

Fishers may consider recycling their own fish 
waste into bait for their next fishing trip. The fish 
parts from one fishing trip can be placed in a 
plastic bag, frozen, and then used on the next 
excursion as bait or offshore chum to attract 
game fish. 

♦	 Encourage catch and release fishing, which 
does not kill the fish and produces no fish 
waste. 

The increasingly popular practice of “catch and 
release” by recreational and competitive fisher
men is reducing the fish waste problem at many 
marinas. 

BMP Summary Table 10 summarizes the BMPs 
for Fish Waste Management mentioned in this 
guidance. 

4-74 



BMP Swnmary Table 10. FISH WASTE MANAGEMENT 
MANAGEMENT MEASURE: Promote sound fish waste mana1rement throu•h a combination of fish-cleanin~ restrictions. public education, and prooer disposal of fish waste. 
APPLICABILITY: Marinas where fish waste is dctennined to he a source of water pollution. Many of the BMPs mentioned for this management measure are implementable by 
marina patrons and are not directly under the control of marina mana2ers. 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERNS: Sportfishing is very popular, but fish cleaning produces waste that can create water quality problems in marinas with poor circulation. Too 
much fish waste in a confined area can lower oxygen levels in the water, which leads to foul odor and fish kills. Floatiog fish parts are also an unsightly addition to marina 
waters. 
FISH WASTE MANAGEMENT PRACTICES 

Projected Annual Operation & 
Best Management Marina Location & Environmental Initial Cost Mainternm"" Cost 
Pracll"" Examples Usage Benefits to Marina Benefits Estimate Estimate Notes 

Clean fish offshore where the Boats offshore; generally lllGH; a marina free of fish HIGH; dispersed disposal NONE NONE Check to see if offfillore 
fish are caught and discard of recommended waste is more pleasant to of fish waste in open disposal of fish waste is 
the fish waste at sea (if current and potential water causes no ecological allowed; encourage this 
allowed by the state) customers problems; fish parts practice where permitted 

become food for seabirds 
and other animals 

Install fish cleaning stations at Marina near docks; HIGH; fish cleaning stations HIGH; keeps fi&h waste WW ro EXPENSIVE WW to MODERAIB Waste can be disposed of 
the marina and at boat launch generally recommended are popular; avoids the mess out of the water if like regular trash or growid-
sites created from cleaning fish on properly used; does not up and emptied into local 

boat or dock; can reduce attract sea birds which sewage system (where local 
complaints from other can foul boats, docks, and regulations pennit) 
marina customers about the water 
waste 

Compost fish waste where Marina near fish HIGH; cxccllcnt natural way MODERATE; eornposrod WW WW Contact a local Extension 
appropriate cleaning station; to convert waste into useful fish waste makes a very Service far infurmation on 

generally re<:ommended mulch and soil additive for effective soil additive, how to compost properly 
marina landscape use; which also organically 
reduces waste disposal costs fertilizes marina 

landscaping 
Freeze fish parts and reuse Fish cleaning station; HIGH; when practical, HIGH; produces no wa..~te NONE NONE Educate boaters to encourage 
them as bait or chum on the generally re<:ommonded reusing fish parts for bait in the marina this practice; a practical idea, 
next fishing trip keeps waste out of marina but may not have occurred t.o 

allfishm 
Encourage catch and release Boats offshore; HIGH; keeps fi&h waste out IIlGH; produces no waste; NONE NONE Can be a way to involve 
fishing, which does not kill universally of marina returns fish alive to their people who don't fi&h in an 
the fish and produces no fish recommended habitat environmentally friendly way 
waste 

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 4: M
anagem

ent M
easures

4-75
 



National Management Measures Guidance 

4-76
 



SECTION 4: Management Measures 

4.11.  SEWAGE FACILITY MANAGEMENT 

Management Measure for Sewage Facilities: 

Install pumpout, dump station, and adequate restroom facilities at marinas to 
educe the release of sewage to surface waters. Design these facilities to 
allow ease of access, and post signage to promote use by the boating public. 

Management Measure Description 

Boat sewage can be a problem when discharged 
into surface waters without pretreatment. It is 
similar to situations in which discharges of 
municipal sewage close beaches when heavy 
rainstorms overburden sewer systems and 
rainwater mixed with raw sewage is discharged 
directly to surface waters through combined 
sewer overflows. Sewage from boats is more 
concentrated than that from either combined 
sewer overflows or sewage treatment plants 
because marine heads use little water for 
flushing and the sewage in marine heads is not 
diluted by water from bathing, dishwashing, or 
rain. Boat sewage contains nutrients that can 
stimulate growth of aquatic plants (algae and 
large aquatic plants) and pathogens (fecal 
coliform bacteria and viruses), which can cause 
human health problems directly through contact 
in the water or indirectly through the consump
tion of contaminated seafood. 

Progress has been made toward eliminating 
discharges of sanitary waste from boats with the 
designation of no discharge zones, installation of 
pumpouts nationwide, and growing number of 
boater education programs. Efforts to reduce 
sewage discharges and to educate boaters about 
the damage they cause need to continue, and 
marinas can play a direct and important role in 
these matters. 

Pumpout facilities and restrooms should be 
installed at new marinas and, where feasible, at 
existing marinas. Most states encourage the 
installation and use of pumpouts through the 
federal Clean Vessel Act (CVA) Grant Program 
and boater education. 

Boaters and marinas are usually not considered 
primary sources of pathogen contamination in 
surface waters. Measurements of fecal coliform 
(Escherichia coli) bacteria are used as an 
indicator of sewage contamination in surface 
waters. It is often hard to attribute high coliform 
bacteria levels directly to any particular source, 
and within an area many potential sources are 
often present. Background coliform levels from 
runoff polluted with pet waste and droppings of 
waterfowl can be high, septic systems in an area 
might be poorly maintained or operating improp
erly, municipal sewage systems might have 
leaks, and boaters in marinas might be discharg
ing untreated or insufficiently treated waste into 
surface waters. This management measure 
addresses all potential sources of sewage 
pollution to surface waters. Boaters and mari
nas, in particular, have a vested interest in clean 
waters, because the livelihood of marinas and 
the recreational benefits boaters derive from use 
of the waters are clearly linked to clean water. 

Type I and II marine sanitation devices (MSDs) 
are used to pretreat boat sewage before dis
charging it overboard (except in a no discharge 
zone) if not prohibited by local ordinances. In an 
area designated as a no discharge zone, MSDs 
of all types must be configured to prevent 
discharge to surface waters and all sewage must 
be pumped out. Type III MSDs are holding 
tanks. They must be emptied into sewage 
treatment systems and cannot be discharged 
overboard. It is strongly recommended that 
holding tanks equipped with Y-valves have the 
valves in the closed position to prevent accidental 
discharge into boating waters. Pumpout use and 
no discharge zone designations have improved 

4-77 



National Management Measures Guidance 

water quality in many areas, so that shellfishing 
and aquaculture, once prohibited because of high 
bacterial concentrations, are allowed again. A 
description of the types of MSDs is provided in 
Section 3. 

Chemicals are used in holding tanks to retard the 
normal aerobic digestion of sewage and release of 
noxious odors. Some concern has been expressed 
about the effect that these chemicals might have 
on municipal sewage treatment systems (that is, 
the possibility of interfering with bacterial diges
tion in the first stages of sewage treatment) when 
boater sewage is transferred to a municipal 
sewage system. Studies of this effect have found 
that neither the chemicals nor the concentration of 
marine wastes is a problem for any properly 
operating public sewage treatment plant. 

Two of the most important factors in successfully 
preventing sewage discharge from boats are 
providing adequate and reasonably available 
pumpout facilities and conducting a comprehensive 
boater education program. Congress passed the 
Clean Vessel Act (CVA) in 1992 to help reduce 
pollution from vessel sewage discharges by 
providing funding to states for the installation of 
adequate pumpout facilities (Figure 4-18). The act 
established a 5-year (1992–1997) federal grant 
program administered by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
Service that authorized funding from the Sport Fish 
Restoration Account of the Aquatic Resources 
Trust Fund for use by states. The act was renewed 
for a second 5-year period in 1998. Grants are 
available from the CVA grant program to both 
private and public marinas for the construction, 
renovation, operation, and maintenance of pumpout 
stations and waste reception facilities. Further 
information about CVA grants and the grant 
program is available at the U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
web site at <http://fa.r9.fws.gov/cva/cva.html>. 

Applicability 

This management measure is applicable to 
marinas where adequate pumpout, dump station, 
and restroom facilities do not exist. 

Figure 4-18. Pumpout station logo (Clean Vessel 
Act). 

Best Management Practices 

♦	 Install pumpout facilities and dump stations. 
Use a system compatible with the marina’s 
needs. 

Three types of onshore sewage collection sys
tems to handle sewage from boat holding tanks 
and portable toilets are available—fixed point 
systems, portable/mobile systems, and dedicated 
slipside systems (Figure 4-19). 

• Fixed-point systems. 

Fixed-point collection systems include one or 
more centrally located sewage pumpout stations. 
The stations are usually located at the end of a 
pier, often on a fueling dock, so that fueling and 
pumpout operations can be done at the same time. 
A boat that needs pumpout service moves to the 
pumpout station; a flexible hose is connected to 
the wastewater fitting in the hull of the boat; and 
pumps or a vacuum system move the wastewater 
to an onshore holding tank, a public sewer 
system,a private treatment facility, or another 
approved disposal facility. 

• Dump stations for portable toilets. 

Where boats in a marina use only small portable 
(removable) toilets, a satisfactory disposal facility 
is a dump station, which is fundable with a CVA 
grant. 

• Portable systems. 

Portable/mobile systems are similar to fixed-point 
systems and in some situations can be used in 

4-78 

http://fa.r9.fws.gov/cva/cva.html


SECTION 4: Management Measures 

Figure 4-19. Examples of Pumpout systems 

their place at a fueling dock. A portable unit 
includes a pump and a small storage tank. The 
unit is moved to a boat where the boat is docked. 
The unit is connected to the deck fitting on the 
vessel, and wastewater is pumped from the 
vessel’s holding tank to the pumping unit’s storage 
tank. When the storage tank is full, the portable 
unit is taken to a location where its contents can 
be discharged into a municipal sewage system or 
a holding tank for removal by a septic tank 
pumpout service. 

Some marinas use a smaller mobile pumpout unit 
that does not have a holding tank attached but 
instead pumps directly from the boat, through a 
pump hose, and into a hose fitting in each slip that 
is connected to a below-dock, gravity-drained 
sewer pipe system. 

Because boaters do not have to move their boats 
to a special location to use the systems and 
marinas do not have to install extensive dockside 
piping and pumping systems to provide pumpout 
service, portable pumpout facilities might be the 
most feasible, convenient, accessible, regularly 

used, and affordable way to ensure 
proper disposal of boat sewage. 

Mobile systems have to be moved 
about a marina, and this factor 
should be considered when deter
mining the correct type of system 
for a marina. One type of portable/ 
mobile type of pumpout unit that is 
popular in the Great Salt Pond in 
Block Island, Rhode Island, is the 
radio-dispatched pumpout boat. The 
pumpout boat goes to a vessel in 
response to a radio-transmitted 
request, pumps the holding tank, 
and then moves on to the next 
vessel requesting a pumpout. This 
approach eliminates the inconve
nience of lines, docking, and 
maneuvering vessels in high-traffic 
areas. Pumpout boats and mobile 
systems are also fundable with a 
CVA grant. 

• Dedicated slipside systems. 

Dedicated slipside systems provide continuous 
wastewater collection at select slips in a marina. 
Slipside pumpouts are particularly suited to 
liveaboard vessels, and dedicated slipside pumpout 
points can be provided to slips designated for 
liveaboards while the remainder of the marina is 
served by a fixed-point or mobile pumpout 
system. 

In a dedicated system, direct connections are 
made between the boat and a below-dock gravity-
drained sewer pipe system (Figure 4-20). This 
requires use of a vacuum-type pumpout system, 
which evacuates the entire line and the boat 
holding tank. The landside vacuum pumpout, 
which has its own holding tank, can discharge 
directly into a large inground holding tank or to a 
municipal sewer system. 

♦	 Provide pumpout service at convenient 
times and at a reasonable cost. 

Use of pumpout stations increases if they are 
made available at times of day when customers 
want to use them. Pumpout availability during 

4-79 



National Management Measures Guidance 

Figure 4-20. Pumpout system at Hall of Fame 
Marina (Florida). Accommodating dozens of yachts 
more than 100 feet LOA, the marina’s pumpout 
system includes below-dock sewer pipes and 
connectors of each slip (USEPA, 1996: Clean 
Marinas—Clear Value). 

regular marina hours or when the fuel dock is 
also open (if the pumpout station is located next 
to the fuel station) has been found to work well. 
Pumpout stations should be available to all boats 
that are able to access them and cannot be 
restricted to marina members. Fees of up to $5 
are federally allowed under the CVA grant 
program, and high fees often decrease pumpout 
use. 

♦	 Keep pumpout stations clean and easily 
accessible, and consider having marina 
staff do pumpouts. 

Free pumpouts are certainly an attraction for 
customers, but cleanliness and ease of use are 
popular features as well. Customers are more 
likely to use pumpouts if they are kept clean and 
neat and directions for their use are clearly 

posted. Having a marina employee do pumpouts 
for patrons is a real service that patrons appreci
ate, especially if the staff person is skilled in use 
of the pumpout and is knowledgeable of the 
rules pertaining to marine sanitation devices 
(Figure 4-21). The ability of a pumpout station to 
attract new customers is magnified when 
pumpouts are free and done by marina staff. 

♦	 Provide portable toilet dump stations near 
small slips and launch ramps. 

The vast majority of boats used in the United 
States are less than 26 feet in length, and more 
than half are less than 18 feet in length. Of those 
boats that have toilets onboard, most use portable 
units designed to be carried ashore for dumping 
into toilets. Boaters on these boats can be 
encouraged to dispose of their waste properly by 
providing portable toilet dump stations. The 
stations can be placed on docks or land where 
they are convenient to use and can be kept clean. 
Marinas should consider making at least one 
dump station available, even if the marina caters 
primarily to large boats. Public launch ramps 
should offer dump stations where feasible. 

Figure 4-21. Management at Battery Park Marina 
(Ohio) found that most customers are willing to 
pump fuel but not their sewage. Dock staff at the 
marina, therefore, pump out the boats. Customers 
also often prefer to make a single stop for both 
fuel and a pumpout, and marinas that have made 
it convenient for boaters to do this (such as Battery 
Park Marina and Kean’s Detroit Yacht Harbor in 
Michigan) have found that the arrange-ment leads 
to an increase in the volume of fuel sales as well 
as customer satisfaction (USEPA, 1996: Clean 
Marinas—Clear Value). 

4-80 



SECTION 4: Management Measures 

♦	 Provide restrooms at all marinas and boat 
ramps. 

Clean, dry, brightly lit restrooms in marinas are 
generally used in preference to boat toilets, 
especially if easy to access. Restrooms are the 
best way to reduce boat toilet use and thus 
decrease the potential for overboard discharge of 
untreated sewage. Where feasible, restrooms 
should be provided for those who use boat launch 
ramps. Restrooms are also an amenity that can 
increase user satisfaction. 

♦	 Consider declaring marina waters to be a 
“no discharge” area. 

Federal law prohibits discharge of any untreated 
sewage into all territorial waters, including coastal 
waters to the 3-mile territorial limit, and inland 
waters of the Nation, but does allow use of Coast 
Guard-approved MSDs (Types I and II). A 
private marina that is not in a federal or state-
designated no discharge zone may prohibit 
sewage discharges within the marina basin, if 
desired, with the addition of a clause to the slip 
rental contract stating that sewage discharge is 
not permitted (Figure 4-22). An attorney can add 
the appropriate language. Marina-specific no 
discharge policies will work if conditions are 
similar to those necessary to make federal or 
state-designated NDZs effective: 

• Provision of adequate restroom facilities for 
marina patrons. 

• Convenient and low-cost or free pumpout 
service at the marina. 

• Adequate boater education. 

• Signs that declare the marina’s policy of no 
discharge. 

This is NO DISCHARGE marina.
 
Please use our clean restrooms.
 

Pumpout service is free to customers.
 
Please do your part to keep our water clean.
 

Figure 4-22. An example of a sign declaring a “no 
discharge” marina. 

• Contract language that is legally sufficient 
and easy to understand. 

• Visible enforcement. 

♦	 Establish practices and post signs to control 
pet waste problems. 

Many boats have dogs aboard, and the animals 
need an area to relieve themselves. The best way 
to control pet sewage is to provide a special area 
away from the shore for dogs to be taken and ask 
owners to clean up after their pets (Figure 4-23). 
A grassy area that is away from where people 
walk or children play is ideal. 

♦	 Avoid feeding wild birds in the marina. 

The popular practice of feeding wild ducks, geese, 
swans, and seagulls around the docks attracts 
more birds and encourages all of them to become 
long-term residents at the marina. Such residential 
flocks can contaminate water, foul docks, and 
create a mess on boats. The best way to reduce 
this water pollution source is to prohibit people 
from feeding the birds. 

The largest marina in the world, Marina Del Rey 
(California), is owned and operated by the County 
of Los Angeles. The county was forced to close 
one of its popular family bathing beaches for more 
than a year because of high fecal contamination in 
the water. Extensive tests proved that the source 
of the pollution problem was seagulls that spent 
the night on the beach, not boat sewage. Within 
days of stringing monofilament lines over the 
beach to discourage bird visits, water quality 
improved dramatically and the beach was eventu
ally reopened. 

♦	 Establish no discharge zones to prevent any 
boat sewage from entering boating waters. 

Every state has some no discharge boating waters 
that prohibit release of any treated or untreated 
sewage from all boats and vessels. No discharge 
zones (NDZs) are established specifically to 
control discharges of sewage from boats. Estab
lishing an NDZ does not imply that other dis
charges, such as those from municipal sewage 
treatment facilities, industrial facilities, combined 
sewage outfalls, septic tanks, and nonpoint source 
runoff do not enter the waterbody. These sources 

4-81 



National Management Measures Guidance 

Figure 4-23. Elliott Bay Marina (Washington) 
solved the problem of dog droppings on its docks 
by providing free disposable plastic bags for 
owners to use to clean up after their pets. This 
inexpensive solution freed staff from having to 
clean the grounds of dog droppings periodically 
and virtually eliminated complaints from other 
boaters (USEPA, 1996: Clean Marinas—Clear 
Value). 

are addressed by other permitting and regulatory 
programs. 

EPA regulations define two types of NDZs— 
those that are NDZs by nature of their geography 
and those that can be designated by EPA and 
states. Waterbodies of the first type include 
freshwater lakes and reservoirs, and other 
freshwater impoundments whose entrance and 
exit points do not support traffic by the regulated 
vessels, i.e., by vessels with installed toilets. 
Rivers that do not support interstate vessel traffic 
are also NDZs by this rule. Waterbodies of the 
second type (that can be designated as NDZs by 
EPA or states) include coastal waters and 
estuaries, the Great Lakes and their intercon
nected waterways, and other flowing interstate 
waters that are navigable by vessels with installed 
toilets. Since 1975, when EPA approved the first 
state application for a no discharge zone, many 
states have established NDZs. Some states, 
including Michigan, Missouri, New Mexico, and 

Rhode Island, have designated all their waters as 
no discharge zones (Table 4-4). Most of Lake 
Michigan and Lake Superior have been declared 
to be NDZs. 

A no discharge designation is particularly appli
cable to inland lakes and reservoirs where 
flushing may be limited, primary contact recre
ational activities (e.g., swimming, windsurfing) are 
popular, and surrounding homes might use on-site 
septic systems for sewage treatment. The CVA 
provides grants to coastal and inland states for 
pumpout stations and waste reception facilities to 
dispose of recreational boater sewage. A listing of 
existing no discharge zones is presented at the 
end of this management measure discussion. 

For a no discharge designation to be successful, 
three key elements are necessary: 

• Pumpout services in the area declared to be 
an NDZ should be reasonably available 
when customers need them and adequate for 
the number of boaters in the area. 

• Boaters should be educated about the 
purpose and importance of the NDZ desig
nation, how to properly comply with the 
designation, and the locations of pumpout 
services. 

• The NDZ designation should be strictly 
enforced to ensure compliance. Enforcement 
can include boat inspection to make sure that 
through-hull valves from boat toilets or 
holding tanks are sealed shut and that Y-
valves direct toilet waste into holding tanks. 

♦	 Establish practices and post signs to control 
pet waste problems.Establish equipment 
requirement policies that prohibit the use of 
Y-valves on boats on inland waters. 

The U.S. Coast Guard has established equipment 
requirements for vessels with onboard toilets. 
Federal law prohibits the discharge of any un
treated sewage from boats within the continental 
waters of the nation, including all rivers and lakes 
as well as coastal waters out to 3 nautical miles 
into the ocean. These requirements typically state 
that vessels must be configured so that the direct 
discharge of sewage, treated or untreated, to a 
waterbody is not possible. Only those relatively 

4-82 



   

   

     

     
 

SECTION 4: Management Measures 

Table 4-4.  EPA-designated no-discharge zones in the United States (as of 2001). 

States with all (or nearly all) waters designated as NDZs: 

Michigan, Missouri, New Hampshire, New Mexico, Rhode Island, and Wisconsin 

States with segments of their waters designated as NDZs: 

California, Florida, Georgia, Massachusetts, Minnesota, New Jersey, Nevada, New York, South 
Carolina, Texas, and Vermont 

Source: http://www.epa.gov/owow/oceans/vessel_sewage/vsdnozone.html 

few boats that do travel out beyond the 3-mile 
limit may use a Y-valve to discharge overboard. 
The reality, however, is that many boats that 
never enter the ocean have Y-valves, seacocks, 
and thru-hulls installed. Most of these are boats 
built before there were sufficient numbers of 
pumpouts available. Y-valves (also called 
“cheater valves”) have no purpose other than to 
bypass the holding tank to avoid using a pumpout. 
Doing this is clearly illegal and bad for water 
quality. 

As with no-discharge policies, for laws that 
require specific equipment or configurations on 
boats to work, sufficient and suitable facilities for 
disposing of any waste (pumpout services or 
dump stations) should be available. 

Another essential factor that promotes boater 
compliance is enforcement of regulations. On 
Lake Winnepeasaukee (New Hampshire), every 
boat is inspected for having a holding tank and no 
Y-valve or thru-hull discharge fitting. When a 
thru-hull fitting is discovered, it must be plugged 
solid before the boat may be used on the lake. 
This enforcement has been done successfully for 
over 30 years by state inspectors at all public 
launch ramps and by staff in private marinas 
around the lake. 

BMP Summary Table 11 summarizes the BMPs 
for Sewage Facility Management mentioned in 
this guidance. 

Dramatic improvement in water quality 
have been recorded where pumpouts 
have been installed and their use 
enforced. Water testing in Avalon 
Harbor (California) and Block Island 
(Rhode Island) following implementation 
of no discharge designations revealed 
significant decreases in fecal coliform 
bacteria concentrations during the 
boating season. In Rhode Island, the 
decrease permitted the opening of a 
major shellfish bed on Block Island 
after 13 years of summer closure. 

4-83 

http://www.epa.gov/owow/oceans/vessel_sewage/vsdnozone.html


BMPS Table 11. SEWAGE FACILITY MANAGEMENT 
MANAGEMENT MEASURE: Install pumpout, dump station, and restroom facilities where needed at new and expanding marinas to reduce the release of sewage to surface 
waters. Desi"" these facilities lo allow ease of access, and post si1maire to nromote use bv the boating nubile. 
APPLICABILITY: Marinas where adenuate num~•t d"~" station and restroom facilities do not exist. 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERNS: Boat sewage can be a problem when dumped overboard without any treatment Although the volume of sewage discharged from boats 
is not as massive as a typical sewage treatment plant outfall. boat sewage is very concentrated and can add to the overall problem of fecal coliform loading to the waterbody. 
Boat sewage also adds extra nutrients that use dissolved oxygen and can stimulate the growth of algae, which in worst cases can grow so fast that they use oxygen needed by 
fish and other orl!anisms. When untreated sewage l!oes overboard, it can contaminate shellfish, leading to nntentiallv serious human health nroblems. 

SEWAGE FACILITY MANAGEMENT PRACTICES 

Projected Annual Operation & 
Best Management Marina Location & Environmental Initial Cost Maintenance Cost 
Practice Examples Usage Benefits to Marina Benefits Estimate Estimate Notes 

Install pumpout facilities Marina docks and piers; HIGH; matching grant IDGH; reduces the MODERATil to !IlGH WW to MODERATil Types of systems: fixed point 
and dump stations. Use a universally money is available through chances that untreated system, portable/mobile 
system compatible with the recommended Clean Vessel Act grant sewage will enter the system, dump station, or 
marina's needs program for installation of water; results in cleaner dedicated slipside system; 

pumpout facility: free water quality and EPA recommends one 
pumpouts at a marina can uncontaminated shellfish pumpout per 300 vessels with 
attract new customers marine toilets 

Provide pumpout service at Marina basin; universally MODERATE; low fees (up HIGH; providing MODERATE to WW WW m MODERATE Pumpouts should be made 
convenient times and at a recommended to $5) or free service and convenient pumpout:s available during normal 
reasonable cost pumpouts done by marina encourages use and marina hours or when the fuel 

staff attract customers therefore reduces direct dock is also open du:ring the 
discharge of sewage into boating season 
nearshore waters 

Keep pumpout stations Marina pumpout station; MODERATE to HIGH; HIGH; pumpouts reduce MODERATE to WW WW m MODERATE Requires staff training 
clean and easily accessible, universally pumpout service at a marina direct discharge of sewage 
and consider having recommended can attract new customers, into nears.hare waters 
marina staff do pumpouts especially when customers 

do not have to pump their 
own boats 

Provide portable toilet Marina docks and ramps; MODERATE; malres it HIGH; providing WW to MODERATE WW m MODERATE One dump station may 'be all 
dump stations near small generally recommended convenient for boaters to convenient portable toilet that a drystack or small boat 
slips and launch ramps empty their portable toilet dump stations encourages marina needs; use signs to 

and reduces chances of use and therefore reduces indicate proper dump station 
unsightly and unsanitary direct discharge of sewage use; portable toilets should 
spills into nearshore waters never be dumped overboard 

Provide restrooms at all Marina dockside; HIGH; clean bathrooms HIGH; good restrooms get MODERATE to HIGH WW m MODERATE Clean, dry, convenient 
marinas and boat ramps universally attract customers; marina used and reduce boat restrooms; bright lights and 

recommended surveys show that a good toilet use, and hence pleasant odor are important 
:restroom is a major reason overboard discharge 
why boaters select a marina 

N
ational M

anagem
ent M

easures G
uidance

4-84




HMP Summary 'fable 11. (e<mt.) SEWAGE FACILITY MANAGEMENT 
Projected Annual Operation & 

Best Management Marina L00>tion & Environmental Maintenance Coot 
Practice Examples Usage Benefits to Marina Benefits Initial Coot Estimate Estimate Noles 

Consider declaring marina Marina-wide; generally MODERATEtoIDGH; IDGH; reduced risk of LOW NONE Legally binding slip rental 
waters to be a "no recommended such a policy can attract bacterial water pollution contracts with customers 
discharge" area environmentally conscious and transient visitors might 

customers; reduces sewage be required; works best 
discharges; increases use when restrooms are 
of pumpout; good for available, pumpouts are 
public relations available, boaters are 

educated, signs are posted, 
and policy is enforced 

Establish practices and Dock and upland areas; MODERATE to !IlGH; a MODERATE; keeps pet LOW LOW The best way to oontro] pet 
post signs to control pet recommended marina free of pet waste is waste with harmful waste is to create a dog 
waste problems more attractive to present bacteria from washing into walking area away from the 

and potential customers marina basin shore 
and will reduce 
complaints from boat 
owners 

Avoid feeding wild birds in Marina wide; universally MOD ERA TE tn IIlGH; MODERATE; reduces LOW NONE The best way to contro] bird 
the marina recommended keeps marina more free of harmful in marina basin waste is to avoid attracting 

waste and reduces and on docks and boats birds to the marina as a 
complaints from boat feeding ground 
owners; cleaner docks and 
boats 

Establish no discharge Any boating waters; MODERATE to IIlGH; IIlGH; significant MODERATE to IIlGH MODERATE to IIlGH fur EPA and states are 
zones to prevent any boat generally recommended increases pumpout use; improvements in water enforcement and education responsib]e for establising 
sewage from entering creates perception, real or q""1ity have been shown NDZs; marina managers can 
boating waters nat, that water quality is in enforced no discharge request that the state 

good zones; areas closed t.o establish an NDZ 
sheUfishing and 
swimming can be ooened 

Establish equipment Inland boating waters; IIlGH; the simplest and HIGH; decreases sewage MODERATE ro IIlGH MODERATE to IIlGH for This is required on some 
requirement policies that universally recommended most effet.i:ive loading to the waterbody enforcement and education waters under federal law 
prohibit use of Y-valvcs on for inland waters enforcement tool; allowing and can help to improve 
boats on inland waters this equipment to remain overall water quality in 

on the boat encourages inland lakes and reservoirs 
cheating 

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 4: M
anagem

ent M
easures

4-85
 



National Management Measures Guidance 

4-86
 



 

  

SECTION 4: Management Measures 

4.12. MAINTENANCE OF SEWAGE FACILITIES 

Management Measure for Maintenance of Sewage Facilities: 

Ensure that sewage pumpout facilities are maintained in operational condition 
and encourage their use. 

Management Measure Description patrons will not likely be pleased with having to pay 

Boaters are becoming increasingly aware of the 
need to protect the environment and of their role 
in maintaining healthy waters. Boaters today want 
to do what is proper for the environment, and 
maintaining sewage facilities in good operating 
condition at all times so that they are always 
accessible to boaters helps boaters achieve their 
environmental goals. This measure is important 
because it is the simplest and most effective way 
to prevent the failure of sewage facilities and to 
ensure their availability to boaters. 

Sewage collection facilities, including sewage 
pumpout stations and portable toilet dump stations, 
help reduce the release of untreated sewage into 
marina and surface waters. Boaters can use the 
facilities, however, only when the facilities are 
operating properly. Nonfunctioning sewage 
collection and disposal facilities present a serious 
obstacle to boaters whose holding tanks are full, 
and in such circumstances boaters are left with 
few choices for sewage disposal—travel else
where to find an operable pumpout or dump 
station, discharge sewage directly overboard, or 
cease using their boat toilets. The first of these 
options is very inconvenient; the second is illegal 
in no discharge zones and legal otherwise only 
through an approved marine sanitation device in 
appropriate waters; and the third would mean 
“stop using the boat” to many boaters. Also, an 
inoperable pumpout or dump station at one marina 
can create an excessive demand at stations in the 
same area that are operable. Long lines at the 
pumpouts can result, and these can be discourag
ing and tempt people to discharge illegally. Finally, 
if pumpouts are free to those with slips at a marina 
and the pumpout at that marina is inoperable, 

for a pumpout elsewhere. 

Applicability 

This management measure is applicable to 
marinas with sewage disposal facilities. 

Best Management Practices 

♦ Regularly inspect and maintain sewage 
facilities. 

Sewage disposal facilities can be kept operating 
properly with regular inspection and maintenance. 
Routine maintenance, performed according to 
instructions that come with the unit, can be done 
by marina staff, with major problems referred to 
qualified service personnel. Routine inspections of 
marina waste holding tanks and secondary 
containment areas will ensure their integrity. If 
septic tanks and leach fields are used for final 
disposal, the tanks will function most efficiently 
and at least cost if they are pumped out regularly 
to prevent overflows and clogging. 

Boatyards and marina facilities capable of 
servicing and repairing boat toilet and holding tank 
systems can promote annual marine sanitation 
device inspections and maintenance by offering 
this service to boat owners. During the off season 
or winter storage months, this service can gener
ate additional income for a marina. It is also one 
way that marinas can play a proactive role in boater 
education and the promotion of environmental 
awareness. 

♦ Disinfect the suction connection of a 
pumpout station (stationary or portable) by 
dipping it into or spraying it with 
disinfectant. 

4-87 



National Management Measures Guidance 

Although not a practice to protect water quality, 
part of pumpout station maintenance is protecting 
pumpout operators, whether marina staff or 
boaters, against infection and illness. Risk of 
contact with bacteria or viruses while handling the 
pumpout nozzle can be minimized by providing a 
pail that contains water and a nontoxic disinfec
tant, such as common bleach, next to the pumpout 
station. The nozzle end can be dipped into the pail 
immediately following each use. Care should be 
taken to ensure that the disinfectant solution does 
not spill into marina waters. The mildest, least 
harmful disinfectant that will do the job is the best 
choice for this purpose. Use of the disinfectant 
solution can be added to instructions provided on 
how to use the pumpout. 

♦ Maintain convenient, clean, dry, and 
pleasant restroom facilities in the marina. 

An effective way to encourage boaters to dispose 
of their sewage properly and not to discharge it 
overboard is to have good shoreside restroom 
facilities available for customers and guests. 
Surveys have shown that a factor important to 
boaters when selecting a marina is the cleanliness, 
condition, and convenience of its restrooms. The 
surveys show that boaters prefer to use restrooms 
that are 

• Clean and dry 

• Close to docks and accessible at all hours 

• Well maintained and brightly lit 

• Free of insects 

• Amply supplied with toilet paper and hand 
towels 

• Equipped with private showers and dressing 
rooms 

• Safe 

♦ Maintain a dedicated fund and issue a 
contract for pumpout and dump station 
repair and maintenance. 

Marinas and launch ramps can establish dedicated 
funds specifically to maintain pumpouts and dump 
stations in continuous operational condition. If a 
CVA grant was used to purchase and install the 
sewage station, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 

requires that pumpout equipment be maintained in 
operational condition for boater use. 

BMP Summary Table 12 summarizes the BMPs 
for Sewage Facility Maintenance mentioned in 
this guidance. 

4-88 



and pleasant restroom facilities recommended bathrooms attract used, reducing boat toilet 

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 4: M
anagem

ent M
easures

4-89
 



National Management Measures Guidance 

4-90
 



SECTION 4: Management Measures 

4.13. BOATING CLEANING 

Management Measure for Boat Cleaning: 

For boats that are in the water, perform cleaning operations to minimize, to the 
extent practicable, the release to surface waters of (a) harmful cleaners and 
solvents and (b) paint from in-water hull cleaning 

Management Measure Description 

Preventing the entry of chemicals from boat 
cleaners, cleaning solvents, and antifoulant paint 
into marina waters is the most direct way to 
prevent harm to the aquatic environment from 
these products. The management practices 
associated with this management measure are 
easily implemented. They can be practiced by 
boat owners and marina managers alike, and they 
do not interfere with the need to keep boats clean. 

Marina employees and boat owners use a variety 
of boat cleaners, such as teak cleaners, fiberglass 
polishers, and detergents, and boats are usually 
cleaned while in the water or onshore adjacent to 
the water. Some of the cleaner used ultimately 
ends up in the water. Additionally, when boat 
bottoms are cleaned aggressively while boats are 
in the water, antifouling paint can be abraded off 
and deposited into marina waters and sediments. 
This management measure is aimed at minimizing 
the release of harmful ingredients in cleaners, 
bottom paints, and harmful residues on boat hulls 
to marina basin waters. 

Many cleaners contain harsh chlorine, ammonia, 
phosphates, and other caustic chemicals that harm 
fish and other aquatic life. If a product’s label 
warns about potential harm to people’s skin or 
eyes, the product is most likely harmful to aquatic 
life. Some chemicals in these cleaners 
bioaccumulate in aquatic organisms (that is, they 
become more concentrated as they are ingested 
successively by animals higher on the food chain) 
and could eventually bioaccumulate in fish or 
shellfish that are be eaten by people, posing a 
health risk. 

Under the Clean Water Act, the NPDES Storm 
Water Permit Program defines boat wash water 
as “processed water.” Discharge of any processed 
water by a marina or boatyard is illegal nationwide 
without a formal permit from EPA or a state 
government. This permit requirement does not 
apply to boat owners who are cleaning their own 
boats, but it does apply to anyone who profession
ally cleans boats in a marina. 

If work is done sensibly, chemicals and debris 
from washing boat topsides, decks, and wetted 
hull surfaces while boats are in the water can be 
kept out of the water. 

Cleaning boats that are transported from one 
waterbody to another is important to preventing 
the spread of exotic species, and it is a highly 
recommended practice. 

Applicability 

This management measure primarily concerns the 
actions of boat owners, and the BMPs are to be 
implemented primarily by individual boat owners. 
The information contained here is provided to 
educate marina managers about the importance of 
these measures in maintaining a clean marina, and 
marina managers are encouraged to incorporate 
the BMPs mentioned here into education pro
grams and staff activities. 

Best Management Practices 

♦ Wash boat hulls above the waterline by 
hand. Where feasible, remove boats from 
the water and clean them where debris can 
be captured and properly disposed of. 

4-91 



National Management Measures Guidance 

Washing the boat hull by hand (that is, not by 
pressure washing) reduces the amount of abra
sion to the hull, which results in less paint chipped 
off and less debris lost to the marina basin. Where 
feasible, remove boats from the water and clean 
them where debris can be captured and properly 
disposed of. 

♦ Attempt to wash boats frequently enough 
that the use of cleansers will not be neces
sary. 

Frequent washings with water alone can prevent 
a boat from reaching a point at which abrasive or 
caustic cleansers are necessary to adequately 
clean the hull or topsides. This practice will help 
prevent the possibility of spilling chemicals into the 
water. 

♦ If using cleansers, buy and use ones that 
will have minimal impact on the aquatic 
environment. 

“Nontoxic” and “phosphate-free” cleaners are 
available and friendlier to the environment than 
products with toxic components. Products that 
carry safety warnings about the harm they can 
cause to people (Figure 4-24) can harm the 
environment as well. 

Although “biodegradable” sounds good, it does not 
mean that a product is nontoxic. Biodegradable 
products are those which can be broken down by 
bacteria, other organisms, or natural processes. 
The degradation of “biodegradable” products in 
water uses dissolved oxygen, and therefore these 
products can lower dissolved oxygen levels. Also, 
some products might not biodegrade in aquatic 
environments—freshwater or marine. 

♦ Switch to long-lasting and low-toxicity or 
nontoxic antifouling paints. 

Considerable progress has been made in antifoul
ing paint technology in recent years, and more 

improvements are expected that will reduce and 
effectively eliminate the toxicity of hull paints and 
increase their ability to keep hulls free of fouling 
growth for longer periods. Silicone-based and 
hard-surfaced, nonablative copper metal-based 
paints are such recent innovations. In general, 
harder paints last longer, and some reduce the 
need to repaint boat bottoms to once every 10 
years. More information on antifoulant paints and 
specifications is available on the Internet (search 
on “antifoulants”) or can be provided by a marine 
paint supplier. 

♦ Avoid in-the-water hull scraping or any 
abrasive process done underwater that 
could remove paint from the boat hull. 

Any hull cleaning performed in the water will 
remove the least amount of paint if done with 
something soft. Mechanical underwater scrubbing 
machines can scrape and chip off antifouling paint 
and encourage fouling growth on the hull. 

Frequent hand washing of hulls should not cause 
any paint to abrade or chip off but can adequately 
remove scum and fouling organisms. 

In-the-water hull cleaning performed by divers 
should also be done in a manner that does not 
remove paint from the hull. 

♦ Ensure that adequate precautions have 
been taken to minimize the spread of exotic 
and invasive species when boats are trans
ferred from one waterbody to another. 

Boat owners should be aware of the importance 
of thoroughly cleaning boats taken from waters 
known to be inhabited by exotic or invasive 
species. Some species can be introduced to new 
waterbodies this way. Generally, the spread of 
exotic and invasive species can be controlled by 
washing a boat in hot water and letting it thor
oughly dry for a minimum of 5 days before putting 
the boat into a different waterbody. The recom-

WARNING: EYE IRRITANT. Avoid contact with eyes. May cause skin irritation. For sensitive 
skin or prolonged use wear gloves. Use with adequate ventilation. FIRST AID: EYES—-rinse 
eyes with water for 15 minutes, call a physician. SKIN—rinse with water. IF SWALLOWED—
drink a glassful of water. Call a physician. KEEP OUT OF REACH OF CHILDREN. 

Figure 4-24. Warning sign that indicates toxicity to both people and the environment. 

4-92 



SECTION 4: Management Measures 

Associated Marine Technologies (Florida) installed a closed-loop pressure washing system for 
boat bottoms. 

•	 Green Cove Marina (New Jersey) designed its own sump drain system and lift pump under the 
boat lift. The system pushes dirty water into a filter and recycling system consisting of three 
55-gallon filtering drums and a 225-gallon holding tank. The debris is dried and sent to a landfill. 

• Harbour Towne Marina (Florida) installed a wastewater filtration system to clean the power wash 
water to meet the county’s gray water standards for discharge into the municipal sewer system. 
A concrete washing pad slopes down to a central drain, where the washwater is filtered and 
treated with three different chemicals. The marina hauled and washed 650 boats in the 
1994–1995 season. 

• Summerfield Boat Works (Florida) installed a water filtration system that includes an ultraviolet 
light ozone generator to oxidize all dissolved pollutants and erase odor. The wastewater is then 
recycled within the marina. The boatyard pays for its wastewater treatment program by charging 
an Environmental Cost Obligation for each boat hauled for pressure washing. 

(USEPA, 1996: Clean Marina—Clear Value) 

mendations for specific species vary, and informa
tion should be provided to boaters about any 
exotic or invasive species known to occur in 
waterbodies connected to a marina’s waters, or 
where patrons from a marina are known to visit. 

♦ Minimize the impacts of wastewater from 
pressure washing. 

There are several ways to treat the wastewater 
from pressure washing to remove the paint chips 
or particles that might be present: 

• Settling: Trap the water in a container and 
allow it to sit long enough after washing to 
permit any particles to settle out of the 
water. This method will remove only the 
particles large enough to settle out of 
solution. 

• Filtration: Wastewater can be passed 
through one or more filters that screen out 
particles. A filter cloth used at the wash site 
can be effective for straining out visible 
particles. Additional filtration is achieved by 
using a series of filters with smaller and 
smaller mesh sizes. 

• Treatment: Chemical or biological cleaning 
technologies can be used to treat the waste

water and remove contaminants. Treatment 
can remove oil and grease, metals, or other 
contaminants. Once wastewater has been 
treated, it can be discharged into marina 
waters or a sanitary sewer (check local 
regulations) or can be reused at the marina 
for more boat washing or grounds watering. 

Effluent from pressure washing usually requires a 
storm water discharge permit, issued by the state 
or locality. Closed loop or zero discharge pressure 
wash systems usually do not require a permit. 
Check with the appropriate environmental author
ity before discharging any effluent to a sewer 
system. 

BMP Summary Table 13 summarizes the BMPs 
for Boat Cleaning mentioned in this guidance. 

4-93 



BMP Summary Table 13. BOAT CLEANING MANAGEMENT 
MANAGEMENT MEASURE: For boats that are in the water, perform cleaning operations to minimize, to the extent practicable, the release to surface waters of (a) harmful 
cleaners and solvents and (b) paint from in-water hull cleaning. 
APPLICABILITY: Boat owners. Marina managers should be aware of the issues presented and inform boaters to the extent feasible. 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERNS: Many boat cleaners contain harsh chlorine, ammonia, phosphates, and other chemicals that can harm fish and other aquatic life. Some 
chemicals in these cleaners become more concentrated in aquatic organisms as they are ingested by other animals and can eventually find their way into fish and shellfish, 
which might be eaten by people. Chemicals and debris from washing boat topsides, decks, and hull surfaces can be kept out of the water by using some common sense boating 
practices. 
BOAT CLEANING PRACTICES 

Best Management 
Practice Examples 

Marina Location & 
Usage Benefits to Marina 

Projected 
Environmental 

Benefits 
Initial Cost 

Estimate 

Annual Operation 
& Maintenance Cost 

Estimate Notes 
Wash boat hulls above the Boats in marina basin; MODERATE; MODERATE; washing LOW LOW 
waterline by hand. Where feasible, generally recommended handwashing is less by hand reduces 
remove boats from the water and abrasive than other abrasion, which chips 
clean them where debris can be methods; works well if antifouling paint into the 
captured and properly disposed of done frequently water 

Attempt to wash boats frequently 
enough that the use of cleansers 
will not be necessary 

Boats in marina basin; 
generally recommended 

MODERATE; eliminates 
use of cleansers 

MODERATE LOW LOW Frequent handwashing with 
water and a cloth is 
recommended 

If using cleansers, buy and use one Boats in marina basin; MODERATE to HIGH; HIGH; reduces chance LOW LOW Marina managers can 
that will have minimal impact on generally recommended these products work well that harmful chemicals encourage use of 
the aquatic environment and are often less 

hazardous to humans 
will enter aquatic/marine 
environment 

environmentally friendly 
products by stocking them 
in the marina store 

Switch to long-lasting and low-
toxicity or nontoxic antifouling 
paints 

Marina store, work area, 
and boat; generally 
recommended 

HIGH for boater; harder 
paints last longer and can 
last several seasons before 
needing repainting 

MODERATE to HIGH; 
new antifouling paints 
are effective and less 
toxic or nontoxic to 
aquatic animals 

LOW to MODERATE LOW to MODERATE Use of antifouling paint on 
boats kept in fresh water is 
discouraged except, for 
example, where zebra 
mussels are a problem 

Avoid in-the-water hull scraping or 
any abrasive process done 
underwater that could remove paint 
from the boat hull 

Boats in marina basin; 
generally recommended 

LOW to MODERATE; 
depends on number of 
boaters who work on boat 
hulls in slips 

MODERATE; can 
reduce greatly the 
amount of paint lost to 
the water 

LOW LOW 

Ensure that adequate precautions Boats in marina basin; MODERATE to HIGH; MODERATE to HIGH; LOW LOW Much less expensive to 
have been taken to minimize the generally recommended exotic species infestations exotic and invasive prevent infestations than to 
spread of exotic and invasive can be very expensive to species can harm native control established exotic 
species when boats are transferred combat species and change and invasive species 
from one waterbody to another ecosystem dynamics 

Minimize the impacts of Marina work area; MODERATE; removing MOD ERA TE; reduces MODERATE LOW Wash water from hull 
wastewater from pressure washing generally recommended larger particles from 

wastewater can reduce 
treatment needs 

potential for release of 
debris to surface waters 

washing is processed water 
and cannot be discharged 
directly to U.S. waters; 
check local regulations 



SECTION 4: Management Measures 

4.14. BOAT OPERATION 

Management Measure for Boat Operation: 

Manage boating activities where necessary to decrease turbidity and physical 
destruction of shallow water habitat. 

Management Measure Description and shellfish and to work their way up the food 

No wake zones, motorized craft restrictions, and 
sign and buoy placement are widely used prac
tices for protecting shallow-water habitats. 
Important aquatic vegetation should be protected 
from damage due to boat and personal watercraft 
propellers because of its ecological importance 
and value in preventing shoreline erosion. This 
management measure presents effective, easily 
implemented practices for protecting aquatic 
vegetation and shorelines. 

Boat traffic (including personal watercraft) 
through shallow-water areas and in nearshore 
areas at wake-producing speeds can resuspend 
bottom sediment, uproot submerged aquatic 
vegetation, erode shorelines, and harm some 
animals, including manatees. Resuspended 
sediment and erosion along shorelines increases 
turbidity in the water column. Turbid waters can’t 
support submerged aquatic vegetation to the same 
depths as clear waters because sunlight can’t 
penetrate to as great a depth. With photosynthesis 
limited to the upper foot or so of water, less 
dissolved oxygen is produced. 

Fish that locate prey primarily by sight have a 
harder time finding prey in turbid waters. Plant 
leaves can become coated with fine sediment, and 
bottom-dwelling organisms are continually cov
ered by resettling sediment. 

Resuspended sediment can also contain harmful 
chemicals that were discharged at the marina or 
elsewhere in the watershed and had been trapped 
in the sediment. Once in the water column, these 
chemicals are more likely to be ingested by fish 

chain, possibly to someone’s dinner table. 

Uprooted submerged aquatic vegetation can no 
longer provide habitat for fish and shellfish or food 
for waterfowl. Instead of recycling nutrients 
released from matter decomposing in the 
waterbody, the vegetation adds more nutrients as 
it decomposes. It also cannot reduce wave energy 
at shorelines, so the shorelines become more 
exposed to the erosive forces of storm waves and 
the boat wakes that contributed to their initial loss. 
Replacing submerged aquatic vegetation once it 
has been uprooted or eliminated from an area is 
difficult, and the science of replacing it once it is 
lost is not well developed. 

Many manatee mortalities are human-related, 
occurring from collisions with watercraft, and 
restrictions on boating activity in shallow water 
habitats favored by the animals could reduce the 
number of animals injured by propellers. West 
Indian manatees (Trichechus manatus) are found 
in shallow, slow-moving rivers, estuaries, saltwater 
bays, canals, and coastal areas. They are a 
migratory species, and in the United States they 
are concentrated in Florida in the winter but can be 
found in summer months as far west as Alabama 
and as far north as Virginia and the Carolinas. 
There are about 2,600 West Indian manatees left in 
the United States. 

Manatees are protected under federal law by the 
Marine Mammal Protection Act of 1972 and the 
Endangered Species Act of 1973, which make it 
illegal to harass, hunt, capture, or kill any marine 
mammal. They are also protected by the Florida 
Manatee Sanctuary Act of 1978, which states: 

4-95 



National Management Measures Guidance

Guidelines for Responsible Personal Watercraft Operation 

Personal watercraft, include jet skis and waterbikes, are propelled by waterjet drives, have shallow 
draft designs, and are able to achieve planing speeds (65 mph and higher). Approximately one-
third of all new boat sales in recent years have been personal watercraft. They are defined as 
Class A inboard boats by the U.S. Coast Guard and are required to follow most boating regula
tions. The personal watercraft industry encourages users of personal watercraft to adopt the 
following simple guidelines to preserve natural resources: 

• Ride in main channels to avoid stirring bottom sediments; limit riding in shallow water. 

• In coastal areas, be aware of low tide when seagrass beds, other delicate vegetation, and 
bottom organisms are more exposed. 

• Operate away from shore as much as possible to avoid disturbing wildlife with wakes and 
noise and to avoid interfering with their feeding, nesting, and resting. 

• Ride at controlled speeds in waters where sea otters, sea lions, manatees, whales, and sea 
turtles live and swim, so you can avoid hitting and injuring them. 

• Avoid mangrove communities, kelp forests, seagrass beds, and coral reefs, since these are 
delicate ecosystems that are easily damaged. 

• Avoid high speeds near the shore to minimize or eliminate your contribution to shoreline 
erosion. 

• Wash your personal watercraft off after use and before trailering it to other waters to avoid 
spreading exotic, nonnative species to uninfected waters. 

(PWIA, 1999) 

“It is unlawful for any person, at any time, 
intentionally or negligently, to annoy, molest, 
harass, or disturb any manatee.” Anyone con
victed of violating Florida’s state law faces a 
possible maximum fine of $1,000 and/or imprison
ment for up to 60 days. Conviction on the federal 
level is punishable by a fine of up to $50,000 and/ 
or 1 year in prison. 

The manatee is mentioned to illustrate the harm 
that can be done to aquatic life by boats. Species 
other than manatees, such as seals or dolphins, 
might be more likely to be affected by boat 
operation in other regions of the country. The 
state natural resources agency can be contacted 
for state- or region-specific information. 

Applicability 

This management measure is applicable to state 
natural resource managers. Marina managers and 
boaters can become involved in efforts to protect 

Best Management Practices 

♦	 Restrict boater traffic in shallow-water 
areas. 

Where shallow areas that normally have sub
merged aquatic vegetation are found instead to 
have trenches (usually 10 to 24 inches wide) 
without vegetation running through them, boat 
propellers or personal watercraft are probably the 
reason. Seagrass beds usually grow in patches; 
the center of the patch is protected from erosive 
currents by vegetation at the edge of the patch. 
Trenches cut by boat propellers act like roads cut 
through a forest, exposing the center of the patch 
to currents and making the entire patch less 
stable. The sediment in the trench is also newly 
exposed to currents, making it difficult for new 
vegetation to establish itself. Further loss of 
submerged aquatic vegetation and sediment next 
to the trenches is likely after the initial loss. 

sensitive aquatic habitats. 

4-96 



SECTION 4: Management Measures 

To protect seagrass beds and bottom habitats, 
shallow-water areas can be established as “off 
limits” to boat traffic of any type, including 
personal watercraft. Signs or buoys in the water 
around the edges of these areas can help the 
public comply with shallow habitat protection 
efforts. Distribution of flyers with maps that show 
shallow areas and indicate permanent landmarks, 
so boaters can easily determine whether they are 
near shallow areas, is another effective tool. 
Boaters usually try to protect these habitats once 
they understand their ecological importance and 
are aware of their presence. Shallow-water 
habitat destruction is due more to a lack of 
knowledge than to negligence. 

♦	 Establish and enforce no wake zones to 
decrease turbidity, shore erosion, and 
damage in marinas. 

No wake zones are more effective than speed 
limits in shallow surface waters for reducing 
turbidity and erosion caused by boat passage. Hull 
shape strongly influences wake formation, 
allowing some boats to go fast with little wake 
while other boats throw a large wake at slow, 
nonplaning speeds. In shallow areas, larger waves 
from the wakes of “speed-limited” watercraft are 
more likely to resuspend bottom sediments and 
create turbid waters. 

Although the prime responsibility for creating, 
enforcing, and posting signs for no wake zones 
rests with government, marinas can (and many 
do!) post NO WAKE signs within their marina 
waters. 

BMP Summary Table 14 summarizes the BMPs 
for Boat Operation mentioned in this guidance. 

4-97 



BMP Summary Table 14. BOAT OPERATION MANAGEMENT 
MANAGEMENT MEASURE: Manage boating activities where necessary to decrease turbidity and physical destruction of shallow-water habitat. 
APPLICABILITY: State natural resources managers. Marina managers and boaters can become involved in efforts to protect aquatic habitats. 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERNS: Boat and personal watercraft traffic through very shallow water and nearshore areas at wake-producing speeds can resuspend bottom 
sediments and erode shorelines, all of which can increase turbidity in the water column. Turbidity blocks the penetration of sunlight to underwater plants that need light for 
survival, and it reduces visibility for fish who rely on sight to catch their prey. Vessel traffic can also uproot submerged aquatic vegetation (SAV), which is habitat for fish and 
shellfish and food for waterfowl, recycles nutrients released from matter decomposing in the waterbody, and reduces wave energy at shorelines, thus protecting them from erosion. 
Vessel traffic also might churn up harmful chemicals that had been trapped in the sediments and might contaminate fish and shellfish that people eat. Propellers or jet drives, 
when in contact with the bottom, dig visible furrows across the soil and the vegetation, which can take years to recover. 

BOAT OPERATION PRACTICES 

Best Management 
Practice Examples 

Marina Location & 
Usage Benefits to Marina 

Projected 
Environmental 

Benefits 
Initial Cost 

Estimate 

Annual Operation & 
Maintenance Cost 

Estimate Notes 
Restrict boater traffic in Shallow-water boating MODERATE; HIGH; shallow water MODERATE MODERATE Mark areas with signs and 
shallow-water areas areas; generally 

recommended 
vegetated bottoms help 
limit erosion and 
resuspension of 
sediments 

habitats are important to 
many aquatic organisms 
for feeding, shelter 

buoys; include sensitive 
shallow area restrictions on 
navigation charts; post charts 
on marina bulletin boards 

Establish and enforce no Near-shore areas; HIGH; wake control HIGH; reduces shoreline LOW LOW Consider posting "no-wake" 
wake zones to decrease universally recommended reduces damage to erosion; preserves signs near shoreline areas in 
turbidity, shoreline erosion, docks, floats, and biologically important the marina; solicit the local 
and damage in marinas shorelines and saves 

cost of maintenance 
dredging; wave-free 
marina basins are more 
pleasant for boaters 

nearshore habitats and the 
flora and fauna that Iive in 
them 

government to establish no-
wake zones where shoreline 
erosion might be a problem 



SECTION 4: Management Measures 

4.15. PUBLIC EDUCATION 

Management Measure for Public Education: 

Public education, outreach, and training programs should be instituted for 
boaters, as well as marina owners and operators, to prevent improper 
disposal of polluting material. 

Management Measure Description on its patrons. Numerous examples of public 

Public education is one of the most effective 
ways to reduce pollution in and around marinas 
and from recreational boating. A boating public 
that understands the causes and effects of 
pollution is more likely to want clean waters and 
healthy aquatic environments. If the public is told 
about the simple and effective ways that they can 
reduce their impacts on the environment, they are 
usually happy to do their part. One of the primary 
factors in the success of any pollution prevention 
program is widespread support for the program by 
an educated public. 

Public education is a low-cost, effective, proven 
method to improve and reinforce environmentally 
conscious behavior in all segments of the public, 
including the boating public. The availability of a 
variety of public education materials on virtually 
all environmental issues and for all segments of 
the public makes this management measure easy 
to implement, and creating an education program 
with a message that is consistent from the state 
level through the local level to the level of the 
private or public marina is an excellent way to 
ensure that the right message is reaching as wide 
a public as possible. 

Many states, localities, public and private agencies 
and organizations, and marina owners are using 
public education as a tool for combating pollution. 
This management measure supports efforts 
already being made and encourages others to join 
the educational campaign with public education 
programs of their own. A state might target 
registered boat owners, an organization might 
target its membership, and a marina might focus 

education materials are available from national 
organizations like the National Marine Manufac
turers Association, the National Clean Boating 
Campaign organized by the Marine Environmental 
Education Foundation, Inc. (or MEEF) 
(www.cleanboating.org), the National Oceanic 
and Atmospheric Administration’s Sea Grant 
program (www.nsgo.seagrant.org), and EPA’s 
Office of Water (www.epa.gov/OW). There is no 
reason to reinvent the wheel! Instead, time and 
effort can be saved by using available materials to 
create a program that focuses on a particular 
situation. 

The EPA web site offers a couple of ways to find 
out who is involved in environmental activities in 
your watershed. One is from the homepage of 
the Office of Wetlands, Oceans, and Watersheds 
(OWOW), <www.epa.gov/owow>. A listing of 
specific groups involved in actions for water
sheds throughout the United States can be found 
at the Surf Your Watershed homepage, 
<www.epa.gov/surf>. At this page, do the 
following: 

• Click on Locate your watershed. 

• Click on Search by Map. 

• Select your state from the map. 

• Within the state map, click on the watershed 
you’re interested in. 

The subsequent web page will tell you the name 
of the watershed you’ve chosen and the U.S. 
Geological Survey’s cataloging unit number for it. 
Near the bottom of the page will be a section 
titled People that provides links to groups involved 

4-99 

http://www.epa.gov/owow
http://www.epa.gov/OW
http://www.cleanboating.org
http://www.epa.gov/surf
http://www.nsgo.seagrant.org


 

National Management Measures Guidance 

with watershed protection activities in that 
watershed. 

Another way to find out who is involved in 
activities in your watershed from EPA’s 
homepage (www.epa.gov) is by clicking on the 
Concerned Citizens option. One of the options at 
the Concerned Citizens page is Acting Locally. 
This option provides links to national organizations 
active at the local and watershed levels. 

If you find that there are no groups listed as 
working in your watershed, try following the first 
three steps above, and at the Watershed Infor
mation page, under Working in Your Watershed, 
click on either How can I get involved in my 
watershed? or How do I start a watershed 
team? to find out how you can get yourself and 
others involved. 

EPA publishes many documents and fact sheets 
on topics of interest to boaters. A list of publica
tions related to a specific topic can be obtained 
from the EPA homepage (www.epa.gov). At the 
homepage, select Publications and then browse 
and search the National Publications Catalog 
using keywords such as “boat,” “storm water,” or 
“discharge” to find what you are interested in. 
Some of the documents are available on the 
Internet, or they can be ordered on-line from the 
Publications web site. Most are free of charge. 

The National Sea Grant Program encourages the 
wise stewardship of marine resources through 
research, education, outreach, and technology 
transfer. Sea Grant is a partnership between the 
Nation’s universities and the National Oceanic 
and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA). 
Congress passed the National Sea Grant College 
Program Act to create Sea Grant in 1966. Today 
29 Sea Grant Colleges are focused on making the 
United States the world leader in marine research 
and the sustainable development of marine 
resources. Sea Grant produces and makes 
available a wealth of information on marine 
topics—from public school curriculum materials to 
the most advanced scientific research. Visit the 
Sea Grant homepage (www.nsgo.seagrant.org) to 
see what publications are available, where the 
Sea Grant programs are located, and what kinds 
of research and activities they are involved in. 

The U.S. Coast Guard (USCG) homepage at 
<http://www.uscg.mil> offers a link to the USCG 
Marine Safety and Environmental Protection 
page. Links to other programs from the USCG 
can be found most easily by clicking on the link to 
Services We Provide and then choosing what is 
of interest on the subsequent page. For example, 
the Sea Partners Campaign is an environmental 
education and outreach program focused on 
communities at large to develop community 
awareness of maritime pollution issues and to 
improve compliance with marine environmental 
protection laws and regulations. A link to listings 
of publications of the USCG is also provided at 
this web page. 

Searching through an Internet search engine, such 
as Infoseek or Altavista, on clean boating should 
produce a number of links to sites with informa
tion on campaigns and organizations involved with 
clean boating issues. A few of the pages likely to 
appear as a result of the search are: 

• California Clean Boating Network (CCBN) 
homepage, <www.coastal.ca.gov/ccbn/ 
ccbndx.html>. 

• Marine Environmental Education Foundation 
National Clean Boating Campaign, 
<www.cleanboating.org>. 

• California Department of Boating and Water
ways, <www.dbw.ca.gov>. 

• Sea Grant Extension (San Diego) Boating
 
Pollution Prevention Section,
 
<commserv.ucdavis.edu/CESanDiego/
 
Seagrant/coastour.htm>.
 

• Save Our Shores dockwalkers, 
<www.saveourshores.org/dockwalkers.html>. 

A portion of funding from the Clean Vessel Act 
can be used for educational outreach regarding 
the effects of boater sewage and what boaters 
can do to avoid improper sewage disposal. Public 
awareness campaigns occur annually, and mari
nas are encouraged to participate in the National 
Clean Boating Campaign (Figure 4-25). Visit the 
campaign’s web site at <www.cleanboating.org>. 
Major national CVA educational products pro
duced by the joint effort have included a poster 
for distribution to more than 22,000 marinas, press 

4-100 

http://www.epa.gov
http://www.epa.gov
http://www.uscg.mil
http://www.coastal.ca.gov/ccbn/ccbndx.html
http://www.dbw.ca.gov
http://www.cleanboating.org
commserv.ucdavis.edu/CESanDiego/Seagrant/coastour.htm
http://www.saveourshores.org/dockwalkers.html
http://www.cleanboating.org
http://www.nsgo.seagrant.org


SECTION 4: Management Measures 

Figure 4-25. National Clean Boating Campaign logo. 

and training packets, and various public service 
announcements for radio, television, and print 
media. States have also held similar events and 
are producing their own educational products. 

These efforts are also geared toward informing 
boaters and marina operators of sewage disposal 
problems, educating them about the use and 
advantages of pumpout and dump stations, and 
where it is best to locate such stations. Boaters 
and anglers can call 1-800-ASK-FISH, a toll-free 
number established by the Sportfishing Promotion 
Council, to find the location of pumpout and dump 
stations near them and to report malfunctioning 
facilities. 

Signage is an important element in any public 
education campaign, both to remind the educated 
to practice what they know and to educate the 
unaware of what they can do to reduce their 
impact on the environment. Short, simple, positive 
messages should be prominently posted wherever 
they will be helpful. 

Applicability 

This management measure is applicable to all 
groups and entities involved in boater education. 
Effective education programs can be implemented 
by states, organizations, or marina managers. 

Best Management Practices 

♦	 Use signs to inform marina patrons of 
appropriate clean boating practices. 

Interpretive and instructional signs placed at 
marinas and boat-launching sites are a key 
method of providing information to the boating 
public. Boater cooperation can be substantially 
increased at modest expense by using signs. 

In a Rhode Island best management practice 
demonstration project, the use of signs was 
ranked by boaters as the best method to inform 
them about best management practices in the 
marina. It ranked second in terms of its effective
ness for getting boaters to use best management 
practices. Signs can be more cost-effective than 
other methods of education because they need be 
installed only once, and once in place they are 
effective for a long time. Inexpensive yet effec
tive signs can be produced by a marina employee 
with a little artistic talent. Common topics for 
marina signage include solid waste disposal, liquid 
waste disposal, pumpout locations and instruc
tions, and spill response instructions. Figure 4-26 
shows an example of wording on a sign in Ponaug 
Marina (Rhode Island). 

In areas where boaters are of various ethnic and 
cultural backgrounds, publishing education materi
als in the various languages appropriate to the 
region is encouraged. 

♦	 Establish bulletin boards for environmental 
messages and idea sharing. 

Bulletin boards are a form of signage, and they 
allow marinas to post recent or new information 

The Cap Sante Boat Yard (Washington) 
uses a materials exchange sheet in the 
harbor master’s office that encourages 
sharing leftover varnishes, paints, and 
other boat maintenance products 
instead of discarding them. People 
with materials left over after a project 
list what they have on a sheet, and 
anyone who needs them can contact 
the person on the sheet (USEPA, 1996: 
Clean Marinas— Clear Value). 

4-101 



National Management Measures Guidance 

HARMFUL MATERIALS COLLECTION SITE.  To ensure proper disposal, deposit harmful materials 
below.  Liquids such as solvents, fuels, engine oils, and toxic antifreeze should be bottled and 
capped to prevent spillage. Keep incompatible liquids such as oil and antifreeze separate. Label all 
containers noting their content and origin. Oil filters and other absorbent materials should be 
packaged so as to prevent leakage. Thank you for helping to keep our marina and the boating 
envionrment clean. 

Figure 4-26. Sign with instructions to patrons on proper disposal of materials. 

for the benefit of their patrons. They are conve
nient places to post notices about the availability 
of dustless sanders for rent, environmentally 
friendly cleaners and antifouling paints, new 
practices and programs at the marina for reducing 
pollution, water quality monitoring results, how to 
maintain an engine to keep emission output low, or 
any other positive clean boating message. Marina 
patrons can be invited to post notices about 
leftover products (for example, varnish or paint) 
they have for sale or tips on practices they’ve 
found to be easy and effective for protecting the 
boating environment. 

Bulletin boards are noticed more often if their 
contents are moved around or changed often and 
if the location of the bulletin board is changed 
occasionally as well. 

♦	 Promote recycling and trash reduction 
programs. 

A New Jersey marina encouraged recycling by 
giving its patrons reusable tote bags with the 
marina’s name printed on the side. The patrons 
used the bags to temporarily store recyclable 
glass, cans, and plastics from their boats for 
proper disposal later at a recycling collection 
point, and occasionally for grocery shopping. 
Promoting recycling is an effective way to reduce 
the quantity of solid and liquid waste placed in 
marina and surface waters. 

♦	 Hand out pamphlets or flyers, send newslet
ters, and add inserts to bill mailings with 
information about how recreational boaters 
can protect the environment and have clean 
boating waters. 

The Washington State Parks and Recreation 
Commission designed a multifaceted public 
education program that encourages the use of 
marine sanitation devices and pumpout facilities, 
discourages impacts on shellfish areas, and 

provides information to boaters and marina 
operators about environmentally sound boat 
operation and maintenance. The commission 
prepared written materials, gave talks to boating 
groups, participated in events such as boat shows, 
and developed signs for placement at marinas and 
boat launches. Printed materials included maps of 
pumpout facility locations, booklets explaining how 
boats pollute, pamphlets on the dangers of plastic 
debris in the water, and articles on the environ
mental effects of improper boat operation. 

Marina owners can do the same on a smaller 
scale. Written materials can be made available at 
a marina’s office, its supply store, or other places 
frequently visited by boaters or included with bills 
mailed to patrons. 

Fact sheets ranked second among boaters for 
informing them about best management practices 
in a University of Rhode Island demonstration 
project. Fact sheets had the highest effectiveness 
rating and ranked first in getting boaters to 
actually use best management practices, but 
boaters generally didn’t pick up educational flyers 
where they saw them. An important lesson from 
this demonstration project was that boaters cannot 
be expected to voluntarily take the information: 
brochures should be placed directly into their 
hands. Inserting fact sheets and information in 
newsletters or monthly mailings or handing them 
out with slip lease agreements are effective ways 
to do this. 

♦	 Organize and present enjoyable environ
mental education meetings, presentations, 
and demonstrations and consider integrat
ing them into ongoing programs. 

Presentations at local marinas or other locations 
are a good way to discuss issues with boaters and 
marina owners and operators. Boater workshops 
can also be a useful tool for introducing new 
environmental practices at marinas, but this 

4-102 



SECTION 4: Management Measures 

method was ranked last among methods for 
informing boaters about best management prac
tices. Conducting successful formal workshops 
requires a considerable investment of time and 
resources. One of the best methods to inform 
marina patrons about best management practices 
is a walking tour of the facility with demonstra
tions of products and procedures so that partici
pants see the benefits of management practices 
first-hand and gain hands-on experience in using 
the practices. Incentives for participation like door 
prizes, coupons for free pumpouts, or discounts at 
the marina store help bolster attendance. 

♦	 Educate and train marina staff to do their 
jobs in an environmentally conscious 
manner and to be good role models for 
marina patrons. 

Marina staff who are fully educated and trained 
on all of the environmental management practices 
used at a marina—from how to use a pumpout 
station, where the recycling bins are located, and 
what can and can’t be recycled to how storm 
water is treated and where it goes—can set an 
excellent example for patrons. Marina staff are 
the first people boaters will ask about a marina’s 
environmental practices. An informed staff 
presents the image of an environmentally proac
tive marina, whereas an uninformed staff could 
make patrons think a marina is not concerned 
about environmental matters. 

♦	 Insert language into facility contracts that 
promotes tenants’ using certain areas and 
clean boating techniques when maintaining 
their boats. Use a contract that ensures that 
tenants will comply with the marina’s best 
management practices. 

When a marina has established procedures for 
keeping the grounds and waters clean, coopera
tion from patrons is absolutely essential. The time 
and money spent to establish a clean marina can 
be negated by patrons who either don’t share an 
enthusiasm for clean boating or mistakenly don’t 
think it is their responsibility to keep the grounds 
and water clean. Language in slip contracts or 
other documents, such as dustless sander rental 
agreements, make them take notice and realize 
that the marina is serious about maintaining a 
clean marina, and clean boating in general. Some 

patrons might elect to dock their boats at other 
marinas, but most boaters are glad to cooperate 
with a good cause. 

♦	 Have a clearly written environmental best 
management practices agreement for 
outside contractors to sign as a precondi
tion to working on any boat in the marina. 

A facility is often legally responsible for pollution 
problems created by negligent outside contractors. 
Because of this significant liability, outside con
tractors need to be provided with information that 
clearly explains the facility’s pollution prevention 
policies and best management practices and 
clearly states the contractor’s responsibility to 
operate in accord with the marina’s policies. 

♦	 Participate with an organization that 
promotes clean boating practices. 

Public and private organizations are available to 
assist in developing or providing educational 
materials. These materials can be tailored to suit 
an individual marina or yacht club or to be used as 
public service announcements. Some marina-
oriented organizations that might be able to 
provide assistance with environmental education 
efforts are listed in Appendix E. 

Public Education Practices Applicable to 
Specific Management Measures 

Some public education strategies specifically 
geared toward individual management measures 
are suggested below. 

♦	 Provide MARPOL placards. 

International MARPOL law requires all boats of 
25 feet or more in length to have a visible sign 
about trash disposal regulations posted where 
garbage is stored. Most boat retail stores and 
marinas have standard MARPOL signs available 
for sale to customers who need to comply with 
this legal requirement. 

♦	 Paint signs on storm drains. 

Painted storm drains grab people’s attention at a 
marina and help control disposal of solid and liquid 
wastes in inappropriate places. Cap Sante Boat 

4-103 



National Management Measures Guidance 

Haven (Washington) stencils its storm drains with 
pictures of crabs and fish and the words “DUMP 
NO WASTE – DRAINS TO BAY/LAKE/RIVER.” 

♦	 Establish and educate marina patrons 
about rules governing fish cleaning. 

Marinas can issue rules regarding the cleaning of 
fish at the marina, depending on the type of 
services offered by the marina and its clientele. 
Marinas not equipped to handle fish wastes can 
prohibit fish cleaning at the marina; those that host 
fishing competitions or that have a large fishing 
clientele can establish fish cleaning areas with 
specific, enforceable rules for their use. Signs can 
be used to attract fishers to fish cleaning stations 
and explain the rules for their use. 

♦	 Educate boaters about good fish cleaning 
practices. 

Some boaters need to be educated about the 
problems created by discarding fish waste into 
marina waters, proper disposal practices, the 
ecological advantages of cleaning fish at sea, and 
discarding wastes into the water where the fish 
were caught (if allowed). Signs posted on docks 
(especially if fish cleaning has typically been done 
there) and talks with boaters during the course of 
other marina operations help educate boaters 
about marina rules governing fish cleaning, waste 
disposal, and cleanup. 

♦	 Provide information on local waste collec
tion and recycling programs. 

Information on used oil recycling and collection 
programs for used products that are contaminated 
with oil or other petroleum products can be 
inserted in monthly newsletters or monthly bills or 
provided with slip leasing contracts. A clause 
requiring the use of fuel/air vent spill preventors 
and bilge absorption pads on all boats can be 
added to contracts. 

♦	 Hold clinics on safe fueling and bilge 
maintenance. 

During special clinics on environmental practices 
or general clinics of interest to boaters, demon
strate the proper use and disposal of bilge oil pads 
and other petroleum control devices. 

♦	 Teach boaters how to fuel boats to minimize 
fuel spills. 

Boaters need to understand that whenever they 
spill even a few drops of oil or fuel, the environ
ment is harmed. There are simple steps boaters 
can take to prevent fuel loss: use an oil absorption 
pad to catch drops when the fueling nozzle is 
removed from the boat; install a fuel/air separator 
on the air vent line; and place an oil-absorbing pad 
in the bilge. Teach boaters that when they top off 
a fuel tank from an underground storage tank, the 
cool fuel expands as it heats up and will overflow 
through the air vent onto the water if there is not 
enough expansion space in the fuel tank. Spills of 
this type are even more dangerous when boats 
are placed in dry rack storage in buildings, where 
the fuel is a fire hazard. Antisiphoning valves can 
be installed on the engines of larger boats on the 
fuel line near the fuel tank to prevent fuel from 
draining if the fuel line breaks during an accident 
or fire. 

♦	 Stock phosphate-free, nontoxic cleaners and 
other environmentally friendly products. 

Marinas can stock, advertise, and promote the use 
of phosphate-free, nontoxic cleaners and other 
environmentally safe products. 

♦	 Place signs in the water and label charts to 
alert boaters about sensitive habitat areas. 

Many harbors establish and mark no wake zones 
near marinas or in narrow channels using floating 
marker buoys. Signs and buoys could also be used 
to designate sensitive environmental areas where 
boaters should exercise particular caution. As 
with other public education materials, these signs 
should be in multiple languages if appropriate to 
the region. 

♦	 Educate boaters to thoroughly clean their 
boats before boating in other waterbodies. 

The spread of many exotic and invasive aquatic 
species can be controlled by ensuring that they 
are not transported from one waterbody to 
another on trailered boats. See section 4.3, 
Habitat Assessment, for further information. 

BMP Summary Table 15 summarizes the BMPs 
for Public Education mentioned in this guidance. 

4-104 



BMPS Table 15. PUBLIC EDUCATION MANAGEMENT 
MANAGEMENT MEASURE: Public education, outreach, and training programs should be instituted for boaters, as well as marina owners and operators, lo prevent 
imnrrrt"llP'r disnosal of nnllutirur material. 
APPLICABILITY: All =uns and entities involved in oublic education for boaters. 
ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERNS: A boating public 1hat understands fue causes and effects of pollution is more likely lo want clean waters and healfuy aquatic 
environments, and if 1hey are told about 1he simple and effective ways that they can reduce their impact on the environment, they will usually be happy to do their part. Public 
education is one of the most effective wa'W to reduce oollution in and around marinas and from recreational boatin:e:. 
PUBLIC EDUCATION PRACTICES 

Projected Annual Operation & 
Best Management Marina Location & Environmental Initial Coot Mainterumce Coot 
Practice Examples Usage Benefits lo Marina Benefits Estimate Estimate Notes 

Use signs to inform Marinas and launch HIGH; cost-effective way MODERATE to HIGH; LOW to MODERATE NONE to LOW Boater cooperation can be 
marina patrons of ramps; universally to promote clean boating clean boating is good substantially increased by us.ing 
appropriate clean boating recommended practices; every boater who environment.al practice signs with positive messages; signs 
practices boats cleaner helps keep should be in all languages 

t.be marina cleaner appropriate to the region. 

Establish bulletin boards Marinas where MODERATE; promotes an MODERATE to HIGH; LOW NONE to LOW Move or change the contents often 
for environmental customers will stop and environmental image for :reduces waste produced to increase visibility; locate a 
messages and idea sharing read; universally t.be marina; inexpensive and potentUilly limits bu.U.etin board where boaters will 

recommended way to inform boaters of water pollution, air see it and where they spend a little 
new policies and pollution, solid and time waiting, such as in a store or 
educational events; posting hazaxdous waste reception area; use several bulletin 
a materials exchange list quantities boards if necessary to reach all 
for sharing leftovers will customers 
save money and :reduce 
waste 

Promote recycling and Marinas and launch MODERATE; recycling is MOD ERA TE; reduces LOW to MODERATE LOW Consider distributing reusable tote 
trash reduction programs ramps; genera:lly often less expensive than the quantity of solid and bags labeled with your marina's 

recommended waste hauling. especially if liquid waste sent to name for collecting and transporting 
provided by a municipal landfills; reduces new recyclables to the :rccyding area. 
recycling program resource use 

Hand out pamphlets or Marinas and all MODERATE to HIGH; MODERATE; NONE to LOW NONE to LOW Fact sheets are generally the most 
flyers, send newsletters, boaters; universally handouts promote clean environmental harm is effective method of getting a 
and add inserts to bill recommended boating practices; gives reduced with every message to boaters; many 
mailings with information marina a positive person who boats with a organizations and agencies have 
about how recreational environmental image conscious effort to fact sheets available for 
boaters can protect the protect the environment photocopying and redistribution, 
environment and have e.g., NOAA, USFWS, EPA, local 
clean boating waters boating arga.nizations, states, and 

others 

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 4: M
anagem

ent M
easures

4-105
 



BMP Swmmu;' Table 15. (cont.) PUBLIC EDUCATION MANAGEMENT 
Projected Annlllll Operation & 

Best Management Marina Looition & Environmental Initial Cost Maintenance Cost 
Practice El<llmpl"" Usage Benefits to Marina Benefits Estimate Estimate Notes 

Organize and present Marina; universally MODERAIB to IDGH; MODERAIB to IDGH; LOW to LOW to MODERAIB Consider a walldng tour of the 
enjoyable environmental recommended promotes a positive educated boalm k£ep MODERAIB facility with demonstrations of 
education meetings, environment.al image; boaters pollutants out of the products and procedures; see 
presentations, and that are trained in proper warer National Clean Boating Campaign 
demonstrations and procedure may redure staff web site for examples: 
consider integrating them time spent on environmental <www.cleanboating.org> 
into other programs cleanup 

Educate and train marina Marina; universally HIGH; a trained staff can HIGH; prevention and LOW to LOW to MODERAIB Marina staff are the first people 
staff t.o do their jobs in an recommended effectively prevent and respond quick response will MODERAIB boaters ask about a marina's 
environmenta'lly conscious appropriately to environmental help k£ep water clean environmental practices 
manner and to be good role problems; trained staff can 
models for marina patrons teach good practices to boalel'S 

and give a positive, proactive 
clean marina image and can 
attract new customers 

fusert language into facility Marina; universally IDGH; all boaters using tlle MODERAIB to IDGH; LOW NONE Language in slip contracts gives 
contracts that promotes recommended marina must use the same good water quality customers notice of what is 
tenants' using certain areas practices as those adopted by results from required and helps them realize 
and clean boating the marina to protect the cooperation of many that the marina is serious about 
techniques when environment; use of contract boaters maintaining a clean marina and 
maintaining their boats. language and clean boating promoting clean boating practices 
Use a contract that ensures agreements legally binds 
that tenants will comply cust.omer to comply; helps 
with the marina's best share liability for cleanup costs; 
management practices gives management an effective 

control tool for boater who does 
not want to comply 

Have a clearly written Marina; universally HIGH; outside contractors MODERAIB; LOW NONE A legally binding environmental 
environmental best recommended comply with marina's best adherence to marina agreement/contract lets out.side 
management practices management practices; a signed BMP standards helps contractors know the marina is 
agreement for outside contract can help distribute protect warer quality serious about clean boating in 
contractors to sign as a liability for cleanup costs and general; agreement, signature, and 
precondition to working on fines to outside contractors compliance together form a 
any boat in the marina responsible for the problem common marina management tool 

N
ational M

anagem
ent M

easures G
uidance

4-106




BMP Summary Table 15. (cont.) PUBLIC EDUCATION MANAGEMENT 
Projeded Annual Operation & 

Best Management Marina Location & Enviromnental Initial Cost Mllintennnce Cost 
Practice Eimmplcs Usage Benefits to Marina Benefits Estimate Estimate Notes 

Participate with an Marina; generally MODERATil to HIGH; by MODERATil; ilie NONE to LOW NONE to LOW Become a Parm.er in the National 
organization that promotes recommended joining with existing environment is protected Clean Boating Campaign; for more 
clean boating practices environmental programs, best when a common informa-tion visit their web site at 

the mari:na can use the message is provided to all <www.cleanboati.ng.org> 
materials (often free) boaters 
provided for a local 
educational program 

Provide MARPOL placards Boats; generally LOW; little effect on MODERATil; boaters NONBtnLOW NONBtnLOW Placards can be obtained from the 
recommended marina operations o:r costs return trash to shore-based U.S. Coast Guard or Center for 

facilities Marine Conservation 

Paint signs on storm drains Storm drain inlets; MODERAIB; lessens the MODERATil; especially LOW NONBtnLOW Paint in colo:r.ful, large, and obvious 
generally recommended chance that illegal helpful where storm letters and pictures; indicate what 

substances will be drains lead d±rcctly to surface watcrbody receives the 
discarded into storm drains surface waters storm water, if applicable; having 

children help will raise their 
environmental awareness 

Establish and educate Marina; generally MODERATE; cooperative MODERATE; less fish NONBtnLOW NONBtnLOW Rules are easy to follow when a 
marina patrons about rules recommended patrons lead to less work waste discarded to basin convenient fish cleaning station is 
governing fish cleaning for marina staff waters available 

Educate boaters about good Marina; generally LOW; lower cleanup costs MODERATE; less fish NONBtnLOW NONBtnLOW See the FOO Waste management 
fish cleaning practices recommended and maintenance costs waste discarded to basin measure 

watcrli 

Provide infoxmation on Marina; generally LOW tnMODERATE; MODERATE; recycling .is NONBtnLOW NONBtnLOW See the Solid Waste management 
local waste collection and recommended patrons might be more an important waste measure 
recycling programs willing to take their :reduction strategy 

recyclables to a local 
re.cycling cent.er if none is 
available at the marina, 
reducing waste at the 
marina 

Hold clinics on safe fueling Marina; generally MODERATE to HIGH; MODERATE; lowered NONE to LOW NONE to LOW Spring, when many boaters are 
and bilge maintenance recommended reduces the likelihood of a incidence of fuel and getting boats ready fur ilie boating 

fuel spill and fire, of other petroleum season, is a good time to hold clinics 

petroleum contamination in contamination 
the water. and oil and 
grease spills on marina 
property 

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 4: M
anagem

ent M
easures

4-107
 



BMP Summary Table 15. (oont.) PUBLIC EDUCATION MANAGEMENT 

Projected Anaual Operation & 
Best Management Marina Location & Environmental Initial Cost Maintewuu;" Cost 
Practice Examples Usage Benefits to Marina Benefits Estimate Estimate Notes 

Teach boalers bow lo fuel Marina; generally MODERATE 1'> HIGH; MODE.RATE; lowered NONEluLOW NONEluLOW See the Petroleum Control 
boats to minimize fuel spills reoommenrled reduces the likelihood of a incidence of fuel and management measure 

fuel spill and fire, and of other petroleum 
petroleum conta.nrinati.on oontamination 
in the water 

Stock phosphate-free, Marina store; generally MODERATE to LOW; MOD ERA TE; reduces NONE to LOW NONE to LOW See the Boat Cleaning 
nontoxic cleaners and other recommended many such produclS are the little spills I.hat go management measure 
environmentally friendly on the market, and unnoticed but add up to 
pmduts patrons will welcome a lot of damage 

their availability for 
purchase at the marina 

Place signs in the water and Marina waters; generally MODERATE to HIGH; MODERATE; shallow- NONE to LOW NONEtnLOW See the Boat Operation 
label charts to alert boaters reoommended protection of shallow- water environments are management measure; signs 
about sensitive habitat areas water habitats helps important ecologically should be in multiple languages 

protect shorelines from if appropriate. 
erosion 

Educate boaters to Marina waters; generally MODERATE to HIGH; MODERATE to HIGH; NONE to LOW NONEtnLOW 
thoroughly clean their boats recommended can prevent invasions of depends on whether the 
before boating in other exotic species, which species has already 
waterbodies could be costly to control established itself in the 

surrounding waters 

N
ational M

anagem
ent M

easures G
uidance

4-108




SECTION 5: Determining Pollutant Loads

5-1

SECTION 5: DETERMINING POLLUTANT LOADS

Section 5 Contents

Example Models for Marina Flushing Assessment ........................................................5-2
Selection Criteria ..........................................................................................................5-2
Models Selected ...........................................................................................................5-3

Simple Model ......................................................................................................................5-3
Mid-Range Models ............................................................................................................5-5

Tidal Prism Model .........................................................................................................5-5
NCDEM DO Model ........................................................................................................5-6

Complex Models ................................................................................................................5-6
WASP4 .............................................................................................................................5-6
EFDC Hydrodynamic Model .........................................................................................5-7

Water Quality Monitoring in Marinas (for modeling applications)................................5-8
Sampling Guidelines for Existing Marinas .................................................................5-8
Spatial Coverage...........................................................................................................5-8
Constituents Sampled ..................................................................................................5-9
Sampling Locations.....................................................................................................5-10
Sampling Time and Frequency ..................................................................................5-10

This section is included for those interested in the
technical information used to determine the
dynamics of water flow and water quality varia-
tions. Although numerical models provide an
effective approach to evaluate design parameters,
marina developers may use their own discretion in
employing modeling techniques.

The use of an area for a marina might infringe on
or preclude other uses of the resources, and it is
this potential conflict that can be evaluated by
using of water quality modeling. Marina basins
can contain pollutants ranging from sanitary
wastes to toxic metals leached from hulls and
petroleum products discharged in engine exhaust.
These wastes pose a variety of potential problems
for water quality, including microbiological con-
tamination of adjacent shellfish and swimming
areas, depletion of dissolved oxygen in the water
column or sediments, and toxic effects on estua-
rine biological resources. Water quality monitoring
can be used before marina construction or
expansion to determine the design (including basin
shape and entrance locations and runoff controls)

that will be the least disturbing to the surrounding
aquatic environment. It can be used after marina
construction to determine compliance with water
quality criteria and what, if any, changes in design
are necessary to meet any water quality criteria
that have been violated.

Water quality criteria are based on pollutant
concentrations. Concentrations of water quality
constituents (such as dissolved oxygen [DO] or
petroleum hydrocarbons) can be used to assess
instantaneous conditions (water quality when the
sample is taken) and conditions over time
(samples taken daily for a week or a month).
Concentrations of pollutants in water can be
measured in storm water runoff before the runoff
reaches a waterbody or in the waterbody of
interest. If concentrations are measured in runoff,
the timing is important. Pollutant concentrations
usually vary widely during a rainstorm, typically
being higher during the first wave or “first flush”
of storm water, when pollutants accumulated
since the previous storm are washed away, and
lower later in the storm.



5-2

National Management Measures Guidance

Concentrations also vary from storm to storm.
Longer periods between storms allow more
pollutants to accumulate on surfaces, whereas a
storm that occurs shortly after a previous storm
might carry very few pollutants in its runoff.

Time of year is also important. A storm that
occurs during a week of peak boat maintenance
activity is likely to carry more pollutants than a
storm that occurs in the spring before the boating
season begins. If nothing else, the pollutants
carried by the storm runoff will be different. A
storm in spring might carry more sediment and
salt from winter road treatments, whereas one in
summer might have more oil and debris from hull
maintenance activities.

Pollutant loads in a marina basin can be measured
by collecting samples at various times, depths, and
places in the basin. For a simple assessment of
water quality, samples of dissolved oxygen, fecal
coliform bacteria, and perhaps water clarity (using
a Secchi disk) might be performed. If sampling
for assessment of meeting state water quality
standards, samples for the constituents required
by the state have to be taken and the samples
might have to be analyzed by a state-approved
laboratory.

Samples can be taken once for an indication of
instantaneous water quality or over a period of
time to assess average water quality conditions or
trends in water quality (for example, whether
water quality is worse over busy boating week-
ends or in particular seasons, or just after a storm
and for how long after a storm has occurred).
Comparison of samples of storm water runoff and
samples of marina basin water quality might be
used to determine whether degraded water quality
during and shortly after storms is due to runoff
from the marina property or from surrounding
properties.

General water quality monitoring is discussed
under the Water Quality Assessment manage-
ment measure in Section 4. A discussion of
models and monitoring, which supports their use
for in-depth analyses of water quality and water
quality changes that might occur from changes in
marina configuration or marina construction,
follows. The discussion is somewhat technical
because it is anticipated that if these models are

applied, they will be applied by persons trained in
their use and familiar with their implementation.
Those without a background in modeling can still
benefit from reading the discussion to gain a
general understanding of what modeling involves
and to help decide whether modeling is appropri-
ate for a particular marina and situation.

Example Models for Marina Flushing
Assessment

Selection Criteria

To understand what is needed to apply a model, it
is essential to focus on the physical, chemical, and
biological processes that move water into and out
of the marina area, control mixing with adjacent
waters, regulate chemical reactions in the water
and sediments, and facilitate biological growth and
decay (die-off). A variable combination of winds,
tides, currents, and density differences is respon-
sible for the physical movement of water volumes
and pollutants. The geometry of a site can also
have a major effect on flushing and dispersion and
is an important issue in selecting the model,
collecting the data, and attaining the required
water quality standards.

Biodegradation of organic material, growth and
decay of bacteria and other organisms, nutrient
uptake, and chemical transformations of various
kinds are typical of the biochemical processes that
affect contaminants. Physical, chemical, and
biological processes should be combined to form a
conceptual model of the site and its consequent
contaminant assimilation potential. After the site
in question has been conceptualized, the next step
is to choose a model that incorporates the appro-
priate physical processes and biochemistry to
predict water quality. Depending on the level of
sophistication at which the assessment is taking
place, the model selected might be a simple
screening calculation (e.g., Tidal Prism Analysis)
or a multidimensional numerical model (e.g.,
WASP4, DEM, WQM2D, or EFDC Hydrody-
namic Model).

The models discussed here have been selected
for the following reasons:

• They are in the public domain.



SECTION 5: Determining Pollutant Loads

5-3

• They are available at a minimal cost from
various public agencies.

• They are supported to a varying extent by
federal or state agencies. The form of support
is usually telephone contact with a staff of
engineers and programmers who have
experience with the model and can provide
guidance (usually free of charge).

• They have been used extensively for various
purposes and are generally accepted within
the modeling profession.

• Together they form a sequence of increas-
ingly more technically complex models; that
is, each model takes additional phenomena
into account in a more detailed manner than
the preceding model.

Selection from among these models should be
made on the basis of the model capabilities
needed.

In addition to model capabilities, the two most
important factors in the selection of a model are
the adequacy of the documentation and the
adequacy of the support available. The documen-
tation should state the theory and assumptions in
adequate detail, describe the program organiza-
tion, and clearly present the input data require-
ments and format. A well-organized data scheme
is essential. The support provided should include
user access via telephone to programmers and
engineers familiar with the model. Special support
(including short courses or informational or
personnel exchanges) might be available under
existing intra-agency or interagency agreements
or can be made available to the potential user.
The support agency might also be able to provide
the potential user with a list of local users who
could be contacted for information regarding their
past or current experience with the computer
program. Table 5-1 presents documentation and
user’s support available for some of the models
discussed in this section.

In addition to having adequate documentation and
user’s support, the selected model should address
all marina water quality problems of concern.

The following section provides an overview of the
best-qualified marina water quality model in each

of the selected categories. These models are
listed in Table 5-1, which provides information
related to the operational features of the models.
This information is provided to help in evaluating
the estimated cost associated with and the ease of
acquiring the model, getting the model running on
the user’s system, calibrating the model, and
finally applying the model. Table 5-2 lists the level
of effort involved in applying the models.

Models Selected

The most rigorous tools that can be used for
assessing marina impacts on water quality are
numerical models. Models range in complexity
from simple desktop calculations to full three-
dimensional models that simulate physical and
chemical processes by solving equations of motion
and rate equations for chemical processes.

The complexity of the model used and the quality
of the input data determine the degree of resolu-
tion in the results. For example, in an early part of
a study, the Tidal Prism Analysis strategy is used
to obtain a general understanding of potential
impacts caused by pollutant discharged from a
proposed marina. It is likely that the simplified
strategy will predict substantial impacts on the
environment. Therefore, an advanced model is
needed to conduct further detailed analyses. A
mid-range model is used in situations where
steady-state conditions may be assumed and tidal
flushing is the predominant mode of flushing. A
complex model is used in dynamic environments
subject to complex circulation patterns and full
biochemical kinetics, with sources and sinks for all
dissolved constituents and for proposed marinas.

Simple Model

The methods listed here include desktop screening
methodologies that calculate seasonal or annual
mean pollutant concentrations based on steady-
state conditions and simplified flushing time
estimates. These models are designed to examine
and isolate trouble spots for more detailed analy-
ses. They should be used to highlight major water
quality issues and important data gaps in the early
stage of a study.

Methods presented in this section, particularly
some of the mathematical descriptions, are



5-4

National Management Measures Guidance

simplifications of more sophisticated techniques.
These techniques, as presented, can provide
reasonable approximations for screening potential
impact problems when site-specific data are not
available. The Tidal Prism Analysis was selected
as the method of choice in this category. This
method is capable of addressing all marina water
quality issues of concern (e.g., dissolved oxygen

and fecal coliform bacteria) and comes with
excellent documentation. The primary strengths
and advantages of the screening procedures are
as follows:

• Excellent user documentation and guidance.

Table 5-1. Ease of application: Sources, support, and documentation.



SECTION 5: Determining Pollutant Loads

5-5

• No computer is necessary because the
procedures can be performed on hand
calculators.

• Relatively simple procedures with minimal
data requirements that can be satisfied from
the user’s manual when site-specific data are
lacking.

The Tidal Prism Analysis procedures can be
easily implemented in a computer program. This
allows the user to test model sensitivity and
determine the range of potential water quality
impacts from a proposed marina quickly and
efficiently.

Mid-Range Models

The recommended marina mid-range models are
the Tidal Prism Model and the NCDEM DO
Model. Both models are in the public domain, are
easy to apply, and are supported with good
documentation.

Tidal Prism Model

The Tidal Prism Model is a steady-state model
capable of simulating up to 10 water quality
variables, including dissolved oxygen and fecal
coliform bacteria. The user’s manual is well

written and includes input/output examples, as
well as guidance on how to calibrate and apply
the model. Based on constituents modeled, the
Tidal Prism Model is recommended as the best-
qualified marina mid-range model. The primary
strengths and advantages of the Tidal Prism
Model are as follows:

• Excellent user documentation and guidance.

• Minimal computer storage requirements.

• Relatively simple procedures with data
requirements that can be satisfied from
existing data when site-specific time series
data are lacking.

The Tidal Prism Model is applicable only to
marinas where tidal forces are predominant with
oscillating flow (e.g., an estuary or a tidal river).
Therefore, the Tidal Prism Model can’t be applied
to marinas located on a sound, an open sea, or a
lake or reservoir. Because the Tidal Prism Model
is not applicable to most marina situations, the
NCDEM DO model is recommended as an
alternative best-qualified model for mid-range
applications where the Tidal Prism Model isn’t
applicable.

Table 5-2. Level of effort for best models.



5-6

National Management Measures Guidance

NCDEM DO Model

The NCDEM DO model is a steady-state
program that is capable of predicting only DO
concentrations. The NCDEM DO model is
applicable to one-, two-, and three-segment
marinas. Model theory, assumptions, and input
parameters are presented in adequate detail.
Model documentation includes input and output
examples of several applications as well as a
listing of the model code. The model code is
written in BASIC.

The NCDEM DO model incrementally mixes the
ambient and marina waters as a function of the
average lunar tides. The tidal variation is assumed
to follow a sinusoidal distribution. For simplicity, a
12-hour tidal cycle is used. If this time-variable
model is run through a sufficient number of tidal
cycles, the average marina basin DO value
approaches a steady-state value.

Complex Models

Complex models consist of two components—
hydrodynamics and water quality. In this model
category, hydrodynamics may be represented by
numerical solution of the one-dimensional or the
full two-dimensional equations of motion and
continuity. Water quality conservation-of-mass
equations are executed using the hydrodynamic
output of water volumes and flows. The water
quality component of the models calculates
pollutant dispersion and transformation or decay,
giving resultant concentrations over time. These
models are very complex and require an extensive
effort for specific applications.

Water Quality Analysis Simulation Program
(WASP4)

The Water Quality Analysis Simulation Program,
WASP4, is a dynamic compartment modeling
system that can be used to analyze a variety of
water quality problems in one, two, or three
dimensions. WASP4 simulates the transport and
transformation of conventional and toxic pollutants
in the water column and benthos of ponds,
streams, lakes, reservoirs, rivers, estuaries, and
coastal waters. The WASP4 modeling system
covers four major subjects—hydrodynamics,
conservative mass transport, eutrophication-

dissolved oxygen kinetics, and toxic chemical-
sediment dynamics. The modeling system also
includes a stand-alone hydrodynamic program
called DYNHYD4, which simulates the move-
ment of water. DYNHYD4 is a link-node model
that can be driven by either constantly repetitive
or variable tides. Unsteady inflows can be
specified, as well as wind that varies in speed and
direction. DYNHYD4 produces an output file of
flows and volumes that can be read by WASP4
during the water quality simulation. WASP4
contains two separate kinetic submodels,
EUTRO4 and TOXI4. EUTRO4 is a simplified
version of the Potomac Eutrophication Model
(PEM) and is designed to simulate most conven-
tional pollutant problems. EUTRO4 can simulate
up to eight state variables, including dissolved
oxygen and fecal coliform. TOXI4 simulates
organic chemicals, metals, and sediment in the
water column and underlying bed.

The WASP4 model system is supported by the
EPA’s Center for Exposure Assessment Modeling
(CEAM) in Athens, Georgia, and has been
applied to many aquatic environments. The
WASP4 model can be obtained from the CEAM
web page (www.epa.gov/ceampubl/
softwdos.htm). The water quality component is
set up for a wide range of pollutants, and the
model is the most versatile and most widely
applicable of all models considered here. For
these reasons WASP4 is the model of choice in
this category. The primary strengths and advan-
tages of the WASP4 model are as follows:

• Documentation: WASP4 has excellent user
documentation and guidance. Theory and
assumptions are presented in adequate detail;
program organization and input data require-
ments and format are clearly presented.

• Support: User access is available by tele-
phone to programmers and engineers familiar
with the model. Occasional workshops,
sponsored by CEAM, are available. The
support agency (CEAM) can provide the
potential user with a list of local users who
could be contacted for information regarding
their past or current experience with the
computer program.

www.epa.gov/ceampubl/softwdos.htm


SECTION 5: Determining Pollutant Loads

5-7

• Flexibility: Model users can add their own
subroutines to model other constituents that
might be more important to the specific
application with minimal or virtually no
programming effort required. The user can
operate WASP4 at various levels of complex-
ity to simulate some or all of these variables
and interactions.

CEAM maintains and updates software for
WASP4 and the associated programs. Continuing
model development and testing within the CEAM
community will likely lead to further enhance-
ments and developments of the WASP4 modeling
system. In fact, CEAM is currently supporting the
development of a 3-dimensional (3-D) hydrody-
namic model that will be linked to the WASP4
model.

EFDC Hydrodynamic Model

The environmental fluid dynamics code (EFDC)
model was originally developed at the Virginia
Institute of Marine Science (VIMS) for estuarine
and coastal applications and is considered public
domain software. It is a general-purpose modeling
package for simulating three-dimensional flow,
transport, and biogeochemical processes in
surface water systems, including rivers, lakes,
estuaries, reservoirs, wetlands, and coastal
regions. In addition to hydrodynamic and salinity
and temperature transport simulation capabilities,
EFDC can simulate cohesive and noncohesive
sediment transport, near-field and far-field
discharge dilution from multiple sources, eutrophi-
cation processes, the transport and fate of toxic
contaminants in the water and sediment phases,

and the transport and fate of various life stages of
finfish and shellfish. Special enhancements to the
hydrodynamic portion of the code, including
vegetation resistance, drying and wetting, hydrau-
lic structure representation, wave-current bound-
ary layer interaction, and wave-induced currents,
allow refined modeling of wetland marsh systems,
controlled flow systems, and nearshore wave-
induced currents and sediment transport. The
EFDC model has been extensively tested and
documented for more than 20 modeling studies.
The model is currently being used by a number of
organizations, including universities, governmental
organizations, and environmental consulting firms.

The structure of the EFDC model includes four
major modules: (1) a hydrodynamics model, (2) a
water quality model, (3) a sediment transport
model, and (4) a toxics model (see Figure 5-1).
The EFDC hydrodynamic model itself is com-
posed of six transport modules—dynamics, dye,
temperature, salinity, near-field plume, and drifter.
Various products of the dynamics module (water
depth, velocity, and mixing) are directly coupled to
the water quality, sediment transport, and toxic
models.

• Documentation: Extensive documentation of
the EFDC model is available. Theoretical and
computational aspects of the model are
described by Hamrick (1992a). An excellent
user’s manual (Hamrick, 1996) is available
and includes input file templates. A number of
papers describe model applications and
capabilities (Hamrick, 1992b, 1994; Hamrick
and Wu, 1996; Moustafa and Hamrick, 1994;
and Wu et al., 1996).

EFDC Model

Hydrodynamics
Sediment
Transport

Wate r
Quali ty

Toxics

Figure 5-1. Structure of and modules associated with the EFDC model.



5-8

National Management Measures Guidance

• Support: User access is available by tele-
phone to programmers and engineers familiar
with the model. VIMS can provide the
potential user with a list of local users who
could be contacted for model information.

• Flexibility: The EFDC model can be config-
ured to execute all or a portion of a model
application in reduced spatial dimension mode,
including two-dimension depth or width
averaged and one-dimension cross section
averaged. The number of layers used in the
three-dimension mode or two-dimension width
averaged mode is readily changed by one line
of model input. Model grid sections specified
as two-dimension width-averaged are allowed
to have depth-varying widths to provide
representations equivalent to those of two-
dimension width-averaged estuarine and
reservoir models, such a CE-QUAL-W2.

Water Quality Monitoring in Marinas (for
modeling applications)

Sampling Guidelines for Existing Marinas

General guidance is presented to develop the
framework for a site-specific water quality
sampling program suitable for an existing marina.
A monitoring study at an existing marina may be
requested by regulatory agencies if it is suspected
that the marina is causing degradation of water
quality standards. An overall monitoring program
can consist of three phases or levels. In Level 1,
preliminary screening is conducted to gather
baseline information on the marina. If historical
data on the marina are available, this level might
not be needed or the quantity of data needed
might be reduced. Based on the historical or
Level 1 data, if it is established that the marina
may be causing impacts on water quality, Level 2
sampling, which incorporates additional sampling
of the receiving waters, would commence. If
evaluation of Level 2 data also indicates that the
marina is affecting water quality, marina design
changes may be recommended and eventually
implemented. Level 3 sampling would be initiated
to evaluate the performance of any implemented
marina design changes. Examples of potential
marina design changes include removal of sills,
which tend to trap water in the lower depths of a

marina, and improvement of flushing by altering
sharp corners within the marina or by enlarging
the marina entrance.

Spatial Coverage

An intensive spatial coverage of the marina and
the adjacent waterbody for some indicator or
surrogate water quality parameter, such as salinity
or turbidity, is generally needed to estimate spatial
variability and to determine the model type and
the segmentation required.

Generally, the spatial coverage of the modeled
marina should extend away from the marina site
to the extent that normal background levels for
DO are encountered. At this location, model
boundary conditions (i.e., surface elevations or
current velocities) can be established. In this
manner the total effect of the marina can be
measured.

The preceding approach is appropriate when
using complex models. Sampling stations for
complex models should be spaced throughout the
model grid system, with the spatial coverage being
governed by the gradients in velocities and water
quality constituents. For existing marinas, adjacent
waterbodies are divided into a series of reaches
for complex model application, with each reach
described by a specific set of channel geometry
dimensions (cross-sectional dimensions) and flow
characteristics (flow rates, tidal range, velocities,
and biochemical processes). The models assume
that these conditions are uniform within each
reach. Each reach is in turn divided into a series
of model segments or computational elements to
provide spatial variation for the water quality
analysis. Each segment is represented by a grid
point in the model where all water quality vari-
ables are computed. For the WASP4 model, the
segment length is dependent on the degree of
resolution desired and the natural variability in the
system. Enough detail should be provided to
characterize anticipated spatial variation in water
quality.

The hydrodynamics of the Tidal Prism Model are
based on the tidal prism volume at each segment.
Therefore, the spatial coverage of a marina, using
the Tidal Prism Model, includes the entire estuary/
river where the marina is located. The length of



SECTION 5: Determining Pollutant Loads

5-9

each segment is defined by the tidal excursion, the
average distance traveled by a water particle on
the flood tide, because this is the maximum length
over which complete mixing can be assumed.

A sampling station for each model segment is the
minimum requirement to calibrate the returning
ratios of the Tidal Prism Model. Sampling stations
should generally be located along the length of the
estuary and in the main channel. The returning
ratio is defined as the percentage of tidal prism
that was previously flushed from the marina on
the outgoing tide.

Constituents Sampled

The specific constituents that must be sampled, as
well as the sampling frequency, depend to some
extent on the particular modeling framework to be
used in the analysis. The selected model should
include all of the processes that are significant in
the area under investigation without the unneces-
sary complexity of processes that are insignifi-
cant. A few preliminary measurements might be
useful to define which processes are important.

The minimum sampling requirements for all
dissolved oxygen studies should include dissolved
oxygen, temperature, carbonaceous biochemical
oxygen demand (CBOD), and total Kjeldahl
nitrogen (TKN), because these parameters are
fundamental to any dissolved oxygen analysis.
Biochemical oxygen demand (BOD) is typically
measured as 5-day BOD, but a few measure-
ments of long-term BOD are also necessary. The
Tidal Prism Model considers only the CBOD
component, and therefore the model should be
used only in situations where the nitrogenous
components are known to be unimportant.

In addition to TKN, ammonia (NH
3
) and nitrate

(NO
3G

) (or nitrite [NO
2G

] plus nitrate) should be
measured for dissolved oxygen investigations for
both the Tidal Prism and WASP4 models. Even if
ammonia, nitrate, and nitrite are not modeled, the
data are useful for estimating the nitrogenous
BOD decay rate or ammonia oxidation rate.

Concentrations of algal dry weight biomass or
chlorophyll a should be measured because both
the complex models and the Tidal Prism Model
simulate algae growth for dissolved oxygen

analysis. Light extinction coefficients (or Secchi
depths) are also needed for the algal growth
computations in dissolved oxygen analysis if the
complex models are used.

In situ sediment oxygen demand (SOD) should be
measured in situations where it is expected to be
a significant component of the oxygen budget.
This is most likely to occur in shallow areas
where the organic content of the sediments is high
or in deep marina basins where flushing is mini-
mal. In developing a strategy for SOD measure-
ment, it is logical to assume that those factors
important in establishing model reaches or seg-
ments are also relevant to selecting SOD mea-
surement sites. The more important of these
factors are

• Geometry: depth and width.

• Hydraulics: velocity, slope, flow, and bottom
roughness.

• Water quality: location of point sources,
nonpoint source runoff, and abrupt changes in
DO/SOD concentrations.

The most important factor for SOD is likely to be
the location of abrupt changes in DO/BOD
concentrations, such as areas surrounding the
entrance channels of marinas and in the marina
basin proper. The final point to consider is that
SOD can vary with season. This observation is
particularly relevant to marinas and adjacent
areas dominated by algal activity and/or oxidation
of organic and inorganic nutrients by benthic
microorganisms, both of which can occur season-
ally. The modeler should thus be aware of this
potential concern and structure the SOD mea-
surement times accordingly.

In addition to sampling for the constituents to be
simulated, measurements are also necessary to
help quantify the various coefficients and param-
eters included in the model equations. Coefficient
values can be obtained in four ways: (1) direct
measurement, (2) estimation from field data,
(3) literature values, and (4) model calibration.
Model calibration is usually required regardless of
the selected approach. However, coefficients that
tend to be site-specific or that can take on a wide
range of values should be either measured directly



5-10

National Management Measures Guidance

or estimated from field samples. These could
include the following parameters:

• CBOD decay rate

• CBOD settling rate

• NH
3
 oxidation rate (nitrogenous BOD decay

rate)

• SOD

In addition to the preceding model parameters,
which are determined primarily from the results of
field sampling surveys, several other rate coeffi-
cients can be measured in the field. For example,
stream reaeration rates for the WASP4 model and
returning ratios for the Tidal Prism Model can be
measured using tracer techniques. WASP4
provides several options for the reaeration rate
equation because many of the equations are
applicable to only certain ranges of depth and
velocity.

Sampling Locations

Water quality data should be collected at the
downstream boundary of the study area for model
calibration. Adjacent waters both upstream and
downstream should also be sampled to determine
background concentrations of water quality
constituents. Although a single downstream
station is the minimum requirement for short
channel sections, additional sampling stations are
desirable to provide more spatial data for calibrat-
ing the model. Logical locations for additional
stations are sharp corners and dead end segments
in the marina basin proper. If the marina is
segmented for a complex model application, each
segment should be sampled. However, water
quality variations might be negligible at stations
located upstream and downstream immediately
outside marinas.

In the Tidal Prism Model, water quality is as-
sumed to be well mixed and uniform over each
segment of the stream. Therefore, samples taken
immediately downstream of the marina would
probably not match conditions in the model unless
they were taken far enough downstream for
complete cross-sectional mixing to occur. In
general, increased sampling should be allocated to
those areas of the marina and the adjacent water

that have the most impact (along the shoreline). In
general, all of the major water quality parameters
of interest (DO, CBOD, TKN, NH

3
, NO

3
, fecal

coliform bacteria, temperature, and so forth)
should be measured at each station in the sam-
pling network.

Rate coefficients and model parameters can be
estimated from literature values before site-
specific measurements are available. For impor-
tant parameters such as the BOD decay rate,
sensitivity analyses can be performed to evaluate
the effects of different coefficient values in
formulating DO concentrations. These analyses
should provide enough information so that sam-
pling stations can be located in critical areas.

Sampling Time and Frequency

The duration and frequency of water quality
sampling depend to a large extent on whether the
Tidal Prism Model or a complex model will be
used. The Tidal Prism Model computes water
quality conditions only at slack before ebb; thus,
sampling at a higher rate is not necessary. The
complex models have a user-specified time step,
which means that sampling should be more
frequent for shorter time steps.

Because the Tidal Prism Model assumes that
conditions remain constant with time, it is impor-
tant to conduct the sampling program during a
period when this assumption is valid. Synoptic
surveys (e.g., sampling all stations over 2 to 3
days) should be conducted to the extent possible
so that water quality conditions at different
locations are not affected significantly by changes
in the weather or variations in the marina dis-
charge that are not accounted for in the model.
However, since temperature varies diurnally and
temperature influences the process rates of most
biological and chemical reactions, some variability
in the sampling results will be inevitable. It should
be noted that the Tidal Prism Model uses the first
day of field data as initial and boundary condition
input to the model. Field data from succeeding
cycles are then used to compare the output
simulations at the same cycle.

Complex models compute continuous changes
that occur over time because of variations in
stream flow, temperature, nonpoint and point



SECTION 5: Determining Pollutant Loads

5-11

source loadings, meteorology, and processes
occurring within a marina and its adjacent waters.
All of the factors that are assumed constant for a
Tidal Prism analysis are free to vary continuously
with time in a complex model. This feature allows
an analysis of diurnal variations in temperature
and water quality, as well as continuous prediction
of daily variations or even seasonal variations in
water quality.

Application of a complex model requires a much
more detailed sampling program than that required
by a mid-range model. Enough data should be
collected to define the temporal variations in
water quality throughout the simulation period at
the model boundary conditions. Therefore, more
frequent data collection should be conducted at
the model boundary condition. Complex models
investigate the temporal variations in dissolved
oxygen and fecal coliform bacteria much better
than mid-range models. To achieve this resolution,
intensive surveys should be mixed with long-term
trend monitoring. The significance of the temporal
variations depends on the context of the problem.
For example, if the daily average dissolved
oxygen concentration is around 5 mg/L or less, a
diurnal variation of less than 1 mg/L could be very
important with respect to meeting water quality
standards; if the average dissolved oxygen
concentration is around 10 mg/L, diurnal varia-
tions are important and the sampling program
should include 2 or 3 days of intensive sampling
for dissolved oxygen and temperature at all of the
key stations. As a minimum, these stations would
include the stations designated as the model
boundary, as well as the stations surrounding the
marina and adjacent waters and stations within
the marina. These locations satisfy the minimum
requirements of defining the boundary and loading
conditions, plus a few calibration stations in the
critical areas for DO, SOD, and fecal coliform
bacteria.

Long-term dynamic simulations of seasonal
variations in stream water quality might be
impractical. Where seasonal variation is of
interest, the typical practice is to run the Tidal
Prism Model or a complex model (with short-term
simulations) several times for different sets of
conditions that represent the full spectrum of
conditions expected over the period of interest.

Enough data should be collected to characterize
the seasonal variations and to provide adequate
data for calibrating and applying the model. If
possible, enough data should be collected to cover
the full range of conditions of the model analysis.
As a minimum, these should include conditions
during the critical season for the water quality
variable of interest. For DO, for example, the
critical season occurs during the hot summer
months (July through September).

Two general types of studies can be defined—
intensive surveys, which are those used to
identify short-term variations in water quality, and
trend monitoring, which is used to estimate
trends or mean values. Intensive surveys are
intended to identify intertidal variations or varia-
tions that occur because of a particular event in
order to make short-term forecasts. Intensive
surveys should encompass at least four full tidal
cycles. They should usually be conducted regard-
less of the type of modeling study being con-
ducted. Boundary conditions should be measured
concurrently with the monitoring of the marina
basin and the adjacent water. A record of all point
source waste loads located near the marina site
during the week before the survey is recom-
mended. Variables that should be sampled during
the intensive surveys include tide, current velocity,
salinity, DO, fecal coliform bacteria, nitrogen, and
phosphorus, measured hourly.

Trend monitoring is conducted to establish
seasonal and long-term trends in water quality.
Trend sampling may take place on a biweekly or
monthly basis for a year at a time. Stations should
be sampled at a consistent phase of the tide and
time of day to minimize tidal and diurnal influ-
ences on water quality variations. Some stations
may be selected for more detailed evaluation
during the intensive survey. Long-term trend
monitoring should also be considered as a way to
track changes in water quality between the
intensive surveys.

Most states have water quality standards for the
24-hour average concentration and the instanta-
neous minimum concentration of DO. Therefore,
it is important to collect DO data throughout a
complete cycle, that is, from the high value, which
normally occurs at mid-afternoon, to the low



5-12

National Management Measures Guidance

value, which usually occurs at dawn. This
approach will allow the DO range in the model to
be calibrated to specific field conditions. If the
waterbody is stratified, samples should be col-
lected at the surface, mid-depth (above and below
the thermocline and pycnocline, if possible), and
bottom. In general, it is necessary to collect
samples at a 2-hour frequency over a 24-hour
period to adequately define the daily average and
the minimum DO concentrations.



Bibliography

B–i

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Amaral, M., and V. Lee. 1994. Environmental guide for marinas: Controlling nonpoint source and
storm water pollution in Rhode Island. Rhode Island Sea Grant, Narragansett, Rhode Island.

ASCE. 1994. Planning and design guidelines for small craft harbors. ASCE Manuals and Reports on
Engineering Practice No. 50. American Society of Civil Engineers, New York, New York.

Barbour, M.T., J. Gerritsen, B.D. Snyder, and J.B. Stribling. 1999. Rapid bioassessment protocols for
use in streams and wadeable rivers: Periphyton, benthic macroinvertebrates, and fish. 2nd Edition.
EPA 841-B-99-002. U.S.Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Washington, DC.

BLS. 2000. Consumer Price Indexes. Bureau of Labor Statistics. <stats.bls.gov/cpihome.htm>. Last
updated August 16, 2000. Accessed August 21, 2000.

Bluewater. 1998. Environmental impact of two-stroke marine engines. Bluewater Network, San
Francisco, California.

British Waterways Board. 1983. Waterway ecology and the design of recreational craft. Inland
Waterways Amenity Advisory Council, London, England.

Brown, W., and T. Schueler. 1997. The economics of storm water BMPs in the mid-Atlantic region:
Final report. Prepared by the Center for Watershed protection, Ellicott City, Maryland, for the Chesa-
peake Research Consortium, Edgewater, Maryland.

Cahill Associates. 1991. Limiting NPS pollution from new development in the New Jersey coastal
zone. New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection, Trenton, New Jersey.

Caraco, D., and R. Winer. 2000. National pollutant removal performance database for stormwater
treatment practices. 2nd ed. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Office of Science and Technology,
Washington, DC.

Cardwell, R.D., and R.R. Koons. 1981. Biological consideration for the siting and design of marinas
and affiliated structures in Puget Sound. Technical Report No. 60. Washington Department of Fisher-
ies, Olympia, Washington.

CARWQCB. 1989. Staff report: State mussel watch program. California Regional Water Quality
Control Board, Los Angeles Region. March 27.

Chmura, G.L., and N.W. Ross. 1978. The environmental impacts of marinas and their boats: A
literature review with management considerations. Marine Advisory Service, University of Rhode
Island, Narragansett, Rhode Island.

City of Austin, Texas. 1990. The first flush of runoff and its effects on control structure design.

Claytor, S., and T. Schueler. 1996. Design of storm water filtering systems . Prepared for the Chesa-
peake Research Consortium, Solomons, Maryland, and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency,
Region 5, Chicago, Illinois.

Fisher, J.S., R.R. Perdue, M.F. Overton, M.D. Sobsey, and B.L. Sill. 1987. Comparison of water quality
at two recreational marinas during a peak-use period. University of North Carolina Sea Grant College
Program, Raleigh, North Carolina.

http://www.bls.gov/cpi/


B–ii

Bibliography

FLDEP. 2000. Florida’s Clean Marina Program. Florida Department of Environmental Protection,
Tallahassee, Florida. April.

Florida Sea Grant College Program. 1999. Panic preventer file . 2nd Edition. SGEB-45. Florida Sea Grant
College Program, Gainesville, Florida. September.

Gaines, A.G., and A.R. Solow. 1990. The distribution of fecal coliform bacteria in surface waters of
the Edgartown harbor coastal complex and management implications. Woods Hole Oceanographic
Institution, Woods Hole, Massachusetts.

Grovhoug, J.G., P.F. Seligman, G. Vafa, and R.L. Fransham. 1986. Baseline measurements of butyltin in
U.S. harbors and estuaries. In Proceedings Oceans 86, Volume 4 Organotin Symposium, Institute of
Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., New York, New York. Pp. 1283-1288.

Hall, L.W., Jr., M.J. Lenkevich, W.S. Hall, A.E. Pinkney, and S.T. Bushong. 1987. Evaluation of butyltin
compounds in Maryland waters of Chesapeake Bay. Marine Pollution Bulletin  18(2):78-83.

Hamrick, J.M. 1992a. A three-dimensional environmental fluid dynamics computer code: Theoretical
and computational aspects. Special Report 317. The College of William and Mary, Virginia Institute of
Marine Science, Blacksburg, Virginia. 63 pp.

Hamrick, J.M. 1992b. Estuarine environmental impact assessment using a three-dimensional circulation
and transport model. In Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference, Estuarine and Coastal
Modeling. M.L. Spaulding et al., eds. American Society of Civil Engineers, New York, New York. Pp.
292-303.

Hamrick, J.M. 1994. Linking hydrodynamic and biogeochemcial transport models for estuarine and
coastal waters. In Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference, Estuarine and Coastal Model-
ing. M.L. Spaulding et al., eds. American Society of Civil Engineers, New York, New York. Pp. 591-608.

Hamrick, J.M. 1996. A user’s manual for the environmental fluid dynamics computer code (EFDC).
Special Report 331. The College of William and Mary, Virginia Institute of Marine Science, Blacksburg,
Virginia. 234 pp.

Hamrick, J.M., and T.S. Wu. 1996. Computational design and optimization of the EFDC/HEM3D surface
water hydrodynamic and eutrophication models. In Computational methods for next generation
environmental models, G. Delich, ed. Society of Industrial and Applied Mathematics, Philadelphia,
Pennsylvania.

Horner, R.R. 1988. Environmental monitoring and evaluation of calcium magnesium acetate . Na-
tional Research Council, Transportation Research Board, Washington, DC.

IEP. 1991. Vegetated buffer strip designation method guidance manual. Narragansett Bay Project.
Prepared for the U.S. Enviromental Protection Agency and the Rhode Island Department of Environmen-
tal Management, Providence, Rhode Island.

Industrial Products Co. 1991. Safety equipment and supplies. Industrial Products Co., Langhorne, PA.

Maguire, R.J. 1986. Review of the occurrence, persistence and degradation of tributyltin in fresh water
ecosystems in Canada. In Proceedings Oceans 86, Volume 4 Organotin Symposium.  Institute of
Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., New York, New York. Pp. 1252-1255.

Marcus, J.M., and T.P. Stokes. 1985. Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons in oyster tissue and around
three coastal marinas. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 35:833-844.



Bibliography

B–iii

Marcus, J.M., G.R. Swearingen, A.D. Williams, and D.D. Heizer. 1988. Polynuclear aromatic hydrocar-
bons and heavy metals concentrations in sediments at coastal South Carolina marinas. Archives of
Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 17:103-113.

Maryland Department of Natural Resources. 1998. Maryland clean marina guidebook . Maryland
Department of Natural Resources, Annapolis, Maryland.

McMahon, P.J.T. 1989. The impact of marinas on water quality. Water Science Technology 21(2):39-43.

MEEF. 1998. National Clean Boating Campaign action kit, fact sheets, and partner tips. Marine Environ-
mental Education Foundation, Inc., Kingston, Rhode Island.

METRO. 1992. Maritime industrial waste project: Reduction of toxicant pollution from the maritime
industry in Puget Sound. Municipality of Metropolitan Seattle Water Pollution Control Department,
Industrial Waste Section, Seattle, Washington.

Milliken, A.S., and V. Lee. 1990. Pollution impacts from recreational boating: A bibliography and
summary review. Rhode Island Sea Grant Publications, University of Rhode Island Bay Campus,
Narragansett, Rhode Island.

Moustafa, M.Z., and J.M. Hamrick. 1994. Modeling circulation and salinity transport in the Indian River
Lagoon. In Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference, Estuarine and Coastal Modeling, M.L.
Spaulding et al., eds. American Society of Civil Engineers, New York, New York. Pp. 381-395.

National Recreation Lakes Study Commission. 1999. Reservoirs of opportunity . Final report of the
National Recreation Lakes Study, National Recreation Lakes Study Commission, Washington, DC. June.

NCDEM. 1990. North Carolina coastal marinas: Water quality assessment. Report No. 90-01. North
Carolina Division of Environmental Management, Raleigh, North Carolina.

NCDEM. 1991. Coastal marinas: Field survey of contaminants and literature review. Report No. 91-
03. North Carolina Division of Environmental Management, Raleigh, North Carolina.

Nixon, S.W., C.A. Oviatt, and S.L. Northby. 1973. Ecology of small boat marinas. Marine Technical
Report Series No. 5. University of Rhode Island, Kingston, Rhode Island.

Personal Watercraft Industry Association. 1999. <http://www.pwia.org/>. Accessed December 1999.

Pisano, W.C., 1989. Swirl concentrators revisited. In Design of Urban Runoff Quality Controls, L.A.
Roesner, B. Urbonas, and M.B. Sonnen, eds. American Society of Civil Engineers, New York, New
York. Pp. 390-402.

Richards, W.R., J.E. Shwop, and R. Romano. 1981. Evaluation of urban stormwater quality and non-
structural best management practices. In Nonpoint Pollution Control: Tools and Techniques for the
Future, K.C. Flynn, ed. Interstate Commission on the Potomac River Basin, Rockville, Maryland. Pp. 82-
99.

Rhodes, J., J. Marino, M. Amaral, and V. Lee. 1997. Best management practices for clean marinas:
Lessons learned. University of Rhode Island, Coastal Resources Center, Narragansett, Rhode Island.

Romano, F. 1990. Oil and water don’t mix: The application of oil-water separation technologies in
stormwater quality. Office of Water Quality, Municipality of Metropolitan Seattle, Seattle, Washington.

Sawyer, C.M., and A.F. Golding. 1990. Marina pollution abatement. International Marina Institute,
Wickford, Rhode Island.

http://www.pwia.org/


B–iv

Bibliography

SCDHEC. 1987. Heavy metals and extractable organic chemicals from the Coastal Toxics Monitor-
ing Network, 1984-1986. Technical Report No. 007-87. South Carolina Department of Health and
Environmental Control, Columbia, South Carolina.

Schueler, T.R. 1987. Controlling urban runoff: A practice manual for planning and designing
urban BMPs. Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments, Washington, DC.

Schueler, T.R., J. Galli, L. Herson, P. Kumble, and D. Shepp. 1991. Developing effective BMP strategies
for urban watersheds. In Nonpoint Source Watershed Workshop, September 1. EPA/625/4-91/027.
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC. Pp. 69-83.

Schueler, T.R., P.A. Kumble, and M.A. Heraty. 1992. A current assessment of urban best management
practices. Metropolitan Washington Council of Governments, Washington, DC.

Seabloom, R.A., G. Plews, F. Cox, and F. Kramer. 1989. The effect of sewage discharges from plea-
sure craft on Puget Sound waters and shellfish quality . Washington State Department of Health,
Shellfish Section, Olympia, Washington.

Shaver, E. 1991. Sand filter design for water quality treatment. Presented at 1991 ASCE Storm water
Conference in Crested Butte, Colorado.

Silverman, G.S., and M.K. Stenstrom. 1989. Source control of oil and grease in an urban area. In Design
of Urban Runoff Quality Controls, L.A. Roesner, B. Urbonas, and M.B. Sonnen, eds. American
Society of Civil Engineers, New York, New York. Pp. 403-420.

Soule, D.F., M. Oguri, and B.H. Jones. 1991. The marine environment of Marina Del Rey: October
1989 to September 1990. Marine Studies of San Pedro Bay, California, Part 20F. University of Southern
California, Los Angeles, California.

Stallard, M., V. Hodge, and E.D. Goldberg. 1987. TBT in California coastal waters: Monitoring and
assessment. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 9:195-220.

Stephenson, M.D., D.R. Smith, J. Goetzl, G. Ichikawa, and M. Martin. 1986. Growth abnormalities in
mussels and oysters from areas with high levels of tributyltin in San Diego Bay. In Proceedings Oceans
86, Volume 4, Organotin Symposium. Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., New York,
New York. Pp. 1246-1251.

SWRPC. 1991. Costs of urban nonpoint source water pollution control measures. Technical Report
No. 31. Prepared by the Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission, Waukesha, Wisconsin.
June.

Tanski, J. 1998. Stormwater runoff best management practices for marinas. A guide for operators.
New York Sea Grant Extension Program, Cornell Cooperative Extension, Ithaca, New York.

Tetra Tech. 1988. Rive St. Johns phase II canal system water quality model study.  Tetra Tech Report
TC-3668-04. Prepared for Dotsie Builders, Inc., Jacksonville, Florida, by Tetra Tech, Inc., Fairfax,
Virginia.

Tull, L. 1990. Cost of sedimentation/filtration basins. City of Austin, Texas.

University of California Cooperative Extension. 1995. Marina pollution prevention manual. University
of California Cooperative Extension, Sea Grant Extension Program, San Diego, California. August.

USEPA. 1974. Assessing effects on water quality by boating activity . U.S. Environmental Protection
Agency, National Environmental Research Center, Cincinnati, OH.



Bibliography

B–v

USEPA. 1985. Coastal marinas assessment handbook . U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region
4, Atlanta, Georgia. April.

USEPA. 1990. The lake and reservoir restoration guidance manual. 2nd ed. EPA-440/4-90-006. U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Washington, DC. August.

USEPA. 1991. Nonroad engine and vehicle emission study. Report PB92-126960. U.S. Environmental
Protection Agency, Washington, DC.

USEPA. 1992. Managing nonpoint source pollution. Final report to Congress on section 319 of the
Clean Water Act. EPA-506/9-90. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Washington,
DC. January.

USEPA. 1993. Guidance specifying management measures for sources of nonpoint pollution in
coastal waters. EPA 840-B-92-002. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Washing-
ton, DC. January.

USEPA. 1996. Clean marinas—clear value: Environmental and business success stories. EPA 841-
R-96-003. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Washington DC. August.

USEPA. 1998. National water quality inventory: 1996 report to Congress. EPA841-R-97-008. U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Washington, DC. April.

USEPA. 2001. Vessel sewage. <http://www.epa.gov/owow/oceans/vessel_sewage/vsdnozone.html>.
Accessed June. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Washington, DC.

USEPA and USDOC. 1993. Coastal nonpoint pollution control program. Program development and
approval guidance. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Washington, DC., and
National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Washington, DC. January.

USFWS. 1982. Mitigation and enhancement techniques for the upper Mississippi river system and
other large river systems. Resource Publication 149. U.S. Department of the Interior, Arlington, Virginia,
and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Washington, DC.

USFWS. 1997. The Clean Vessel Act of 1992 pumpout grant program American success stories.
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Arlington, Virginia.

Voudrias, E.A., and C.L. Smith. 1986. Hydrocarbon pollution from marinas in estuarine sediments. In
Estuarine, Coastal, and Shelf Science 22:271-284.

Wagner, K.J. 1990. Assessing impacts of motorized watercraft on lakes: Issues and perceptions. In
Proceedings of a National Conference on Enhancing States’ Lake Management Programs. North-
eastern Illinois Planning Commission, Chicago, Illinois. May 17-18. Pp. 77-93.

Wanielista, M.P., and Y.A. Yousef. 1986. Best management practices overview. In Urban Runoff
Quality—Impact and Quality Enhancement Technology,  proceedings of an Engineering Foundation
Conference, American Society of Civil Engineers, New York, New York. Pp. 314-322.

Wendt, P.H., R.F. Van Dolah, M.Y. Bobo, and J.J. Manzi. 1990. The effects of a marina on certain
aspects of the biology of oysters and other benthic macrofauna in a South Carolina estuary. Unpublished
draft manuscript. South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control, Columbia, South
Carolina.

Wilson, K. 1989. Handbook for the location, design, construction, operation, and maintenance of
boat launching facilities. Prepared for the States Organization for Boating Access, Washington, DC, by
Public Sector Consultants, Inc. March.

http://www.epa.gov/owow/oceans/vessel_sewage/vsdnozone.html


B–vi

Bibliography



Glossary

G–i

Bathymetric: Pertaining to the depth of a
waterbody.

Bed load transport: Sediment transport along
the bottom of a waterbody due to currents.

Benthic: Associated with the bottom of a
waterbody.

Biocriteria: Biological measures, such as the
incidence of cancer in benthic fish species, that
indicate the health of an environment.

BOD: Biochemical oxygen demand; the quantity
of dissolved oxygen used by microorganisms in
the biochemical oxidation of organic matter and
oxidizable inorganic matter by aerobic biological
action.

CBOD: Carbonaceous biochemical oxygen
demand; the quantity of dissolved oxygen used by
microorganisms in the biochemical oxidation of
organic matter by aerobic biological action.

Circulation cell: See gyre.

Conservative pollutant: A pollutant that
remains chemically unchanged in the water.

Critical habitat: A habitat determined to be
important to the survival of a threatened or
endangered species, to general environmental
quality, or for other reasons as designated by the
state or federal government.

CVA:  Clean Vessel Act of 1992 (P.L. 102-587,
Subtitle F); provides funding to states for the
construction, renovation, operation, and mainte-
nance of additional pumpout facilities and sanitary
waste reception facilities at marinas and other
vessel facilities.

CWA:  Clean Water Act.  Popular name for the
Federal Water Pollution Control Act (33 U.S.C.
1251–1376), amended in 1972 by the Federal
Water Pollution Control Act Amendments of 1972
(P.L. 92-500).

CZARA:  Coastal Zone Act Reauthorization
Amendments of 1990.  Amended the Coastal

GLOSSARY

Zone Management Act of 1972 (16 U.S.C. 1451–
1464, Chapter 33; Public Law 92-583).

DO: Dissolved oxygen; the concentration of free
molecular oxygen in the water column.

Drogue-release study:  A study of currents and
circulation patterns using objects, or drogues,
placed in the water at the surface or at specified
depths.

Dye-release study:  A study of dispersion using
nontoxic dyes.

EPA:  The United States Environmental Protec-
tion Agency, the federal agency charged with
ensuring that federal laws protecting human
health and the environment are enforced fairly
and effectively.

Exchange boundary: The boundary between
one waterbody, e.g., a marina, and its parent
waterbody; usually the marina entrance(s).

Fecal coliform bacteria: Bacteria present in
mammalian feces, used as an indicator of the
presence of human feces, bacteria, viruses, and
pathogens in the water column.

Fixed breakwater: A breakwater constructed of
solid, stationary materials.

Floating breakwater: A breakwater constructed
to possess a limited range of movement.

Flushing time: Time required for a waterbody,
e.g., a marina, to exchange its water with water
from the parent waterbody.

GIS: geographical information system; a com-
puter-based system for representing geographical
data and information.

Gyre: A mass of water circulating as a unit and
separated from other circulating water masses by
a boundary of relatively stationary water.

Hydrographic: Pertaining to ground or surface
water.

Ichthyofauna: Fish.



G–ii

Glossary

Macrophytes: Plants visible to the naked eye.

Mathematical modeling: Predicting the perfor-
mance of a design based on mathematical equa-
tions.

Micron: Micrometer; one one-millionth
(0.000001) of a meter.

NCDEM DO model: A mathematical model for
calculating dissolved oxygen (DO) concentrations
developed by the North Carolina Division of
Environmental Management (NCDEM).

No-discharge zone, or NDZ: An area where the
discharge of polluting materials is not permitted.

NPDES: National Pollutant Discharge Elimination
System.  A permitting system for point source
polluters regulated under section 402 of the Clean
Water Act.

Numerical modeling: See mathematical
modeling.

Nutrient transformers: Biological organisms,
usually plants, that remove nutrients from water
and incorporate them into tissue matter.

OPA:  Oil Pollution Act of 1990 (33 USCA 2701-
2761).

Organics: Carbon-containing substances such as
oil, gasoline, and plant matter.

PAH: Polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbon;
multiringed carbon molecules resulting from the
burning of fossil fuels, wood, etc.

Physical modeling: Using a small-scale physical
structure to simulate and predict the performance
of a full-scale structural design.

Rapid bioassessment: An assessment of the
environmental degradation of a waterbody based
on a comparison between a typical species
assemblage in a pristine waterbody and that found
in the waterbody of interest.

Removal efficiency: The capacity of a pollution
control device to remove pollutants from waste-
water or runoff.

Residence time: The length of time water
remains in a waterbody.  Generally the same as
flushing time .

Riparian: For the purposes of this report, riparian
refers to areas adjoining coastal waterbodies,
including rivers, streams, bays, estuaries, coves,
and the like.

Sensitivity analysis: Modifying a numerical
model’s parameters to investigate the relationship
between alternative [marina] designs and water
quality.

Shoaling: Deposition of sediment causing a
waterbody or location within a waterbody to
become more shallow.

Significant: A quantity, amount, or degree of
importance determined by a state or local govern-
ment.

SOD: Sediment oxygen demand; the biochemical
oxygen demand of microorganisms living in
sediments.

Suspended solids: Solid materials that remain
suspended in the water column.

Tidal prism: The difference in the volume of
water in a waterbody between low tide and high
tide.

Tidal range: The difference in height between
mean low tide and mean high tide.

Velocity shear: Friction created by two masses
of water moving in different directions or at
different speeds in the same direction.

WASP4 model: A generalized modeling system
for contaminant fate and transport in surface
waters; may be applied to biochemical oxygen
demand, dissolved oxygen, nutrients, bacteria, and
toxic chemicals.



Appendix A
Best Management Practices Checklist for Marinas

and Recreational Boating



A–ii

Appendix A

Name of marina: _________________________________________________

Marina address: _________________________________________________

Name of person doing assessment: ____________________________________

Date of assessment: ______________________________________________

This best management practices (BMP) checklist is designed to help marina owners and operators
review the general activities associated with developing or expanding recreational marinas and boat
ramps and operating existing marinas. Several BMPs and combinations of BMPs might be necessary at a
marina to prevent or reduce runoff pollutants. Professionals can also use this checklist to review new
marina development or expansion.

The BMP tables in the guidance provide detailed descriptions and the applicability of various management
measures and practices. The lists provided here can be used to assemble information on the BMPs
installed or used at the marina. If BMPs other than those listed are used, they may be identified in the
space provided.

The scope of this guidance is broad, covering diverse nonpoint source pollutants from marinas and recre-
ational boating. Because it includes all types of waterbodies, it does not provide all practices and tech-
niques suitable to all regional or local marina or waterbody conditions. Also, BMPs are continually being
modified and developed as a result of experience gained from their implementation and the innovation of
marina owners and operators across the country.

The guidance can assist marina owners and managers in identifying potential sources of nonpoint source
pollution and offer potential solutions. Finding the best solution to any nonpoint source pollution problem at
a marina requires taking into account the many site-specific factors that together compose the setting of
the marina. The applicability of BMPs to any particular marina or situation can be determined based on
site-specific factors unique to the marina site.

BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES CHECKLIST FOR MARINAS
AND RECREATIONAL BOATING



Appendix A

A–iii

1. MARINA FLUSHING

Site and design marinas such that tides and/or currents will aid in flushing of the
site or renew its water regularly.

Marina water quality depends on water circulation within the boat basin, the level of pollutants present,
and new amounts of pollutants entering the water. In a poorly flushed marina, pollutants tend to concen-
trate in the water and/or sediments. In a basin with poorly flushed corners or secluded or protected spots,
pollutants and debris can tend to collect in those locations. Stagnant, polluted water can be the conse-
quence. The flushing rate is the time required to replace the water in a basin. In tidal waters flushing is
driven primarily by the ebb and flow of the tide, whereas in inland lakes and rivers flushing depends on
wind-driven circulation and current speed. Pollutants tend to concentrate in water and/or sediments in
poorly flushed coves and marinas. Fine sediment and organic debris can collect in uncirculated water,
which can deplete the amount of oxygen in the water. Reduced dissolved oxygen in stagnant water
hinders biological activity and can result in lifeless shores and offensive odors. Adequate marina flushing
greatly reduces or eliminates the potential for water stagnation and helps maintain the biological produc-
tivity and aesthetic value of a marina basin. Good flushing can reduce pollutant concentrations in a marina
basin by from 70 percent to almost 90 percent over a 24-hour period.

BMPs that should be considered and used where appropriate:

o Ensure that the bottom of the marina and entrance channels are not deeper than adjacent navigable
channels.

o Consider design alternatives in poorly flushed waterbodies to enhance flushing (open design instead
of a semienclosed design, wave attenuators instead of fixed breakwaters).

o Design new marinas with as few enclosed water sections or separated basins as possible to promote
circulation within the entire basin.

o Consider the value of entrance channels in promoting flushing when designing or reconfiguring a
marina.

o Establish two openings at the most appropriate locations within the marina to promote flow-through
currents.

o Consider mechanical aerators to improve flushing and water quality where basin and entrance
channel configuration cannot provide adequate flushing.

o Other (describe):



A–iv

Appendix A

2. WATER QUALITY ASSESSMENT

Assess water quality as part of marina siting and design.

Water quality is assessed during the marina design phase to predict the effect of marina development on
the chemical and physical health of the water and aquatic environment. Marina development can cause
changes in flushing and circulation; and boat maintenance, boat operation, and the human activities in and
around boats can be sources of solid and liquid wastes, pathogenic organisms, and petroleum compounds.
The results of water quality predictions or sampling are compared to state or federal water quality
standards. Water quality assessments for dissolved oxygen concentration and pathogenic organisms can
be used as indicators of the general health of an aquatic environment. Water quality assessments can be
useful in determining the suitability of a location for marina development, the best marina design for
ensuring good water quality, and the causes and sources of water quality problems.

BMPs that should be considered and used where appropriate:

o Use water quality sampling and/or monitoring to measure water quality conditions.

o Use a water quality modeling methodology to predict postconstruction water quality conditions.

o Monitor water quality using indicators.

o Use rapid bioassessment techniques to monitor water quality.

o Establish a volunteer monitoring program.

o Other (describe):



Appendix A

A–v

3. HABITAT ASSESSMENT

Site and design marinas to protect against adverse effects on shellfish resources,
wetlands, submerged aquatic vegetation, or other important riparian and aquatic
habitat areas as designated by local, state, or federal governments.

The construction of a new marina in any waterbody type has the potential to disrupt aquatic habitats.
These habitats include fish spawning areas, shellfish harvesting areas, designated wetlands, beds of
submerged aquatic vegetation, and the habitats of threatened or endangered species. Marinas can be
designed and located to help support the aquatic plants and animals that were present in the waters
before the marina’s construction. A marina can be operated as a valuable habitat for plants and animals
that do well in quiet, sheltered waters.

BMPs that should be considered and used where appropriate:

o Conduct habitat surveys and characterize the marina site, including identifying any exotic or invasive
species.

o Assess habitat function (e.g., spawning area, nursery area, feeding area) to minimize indirect
effects.

o Use rapid bioassessment techniques to assess effects on biological resources.

o Redevelop waterfront sites that have been previously disturbed and expand existing marinas.

o Consider alternative sites where adverse environmental effects will be minimized or positive effects
will be maximized.

o Create new habitats or expand habitats in the marina basin.

o Minimize disturbance of riparian areas.

o Use dry stack storage.

o Other (describe):



A–vi

Appendix A

4. SHORELINE AND STREAMBANK STABILIZATION

Where shoreline or streambank erosion is a nonpoint source pollution problem,
shorelines and streambanks should be stabilized. Vegetative methods are strongly
preferred unless structural methods are more cost-effective, considering the
severity of wave and wind erosion, offshore bathymetry, and the potential adverse
impact on other shorelines, streambanks, and offshore areas.

Protect shorelines and streambanks from erosion due to uses of either the
shorelands or adjacent surface waters.

Erosion in any waterbody is a natural process that results when moving water and waves undermine,
collapse, and wash out banks and shorelines. Banks erode along nontidal lakes, rivers, and streams;
shorelines erode along intertidal portions of coastal bays and estuaries. Eroding streambanks and shore-
lines and streambanks do not protect the land and structures during storm events. Such erosion contrib-
utes to nonpoint source pollution problems, turbidity, and shoaling and increases the need for maintenance
dredging in marina basins and channels. Vegetation and structural methods have been shown to be
effective for mitigating shoreline erosion and for filtering pollutants from overland and storm water runoff.

BMPs that should be considered and used where appropriate:

o Use vegetative plantings, wetlands, beaches, and natural shorelines where space allows.

o Where shorelines need structural stabilization and where space and use allow, riprap revetment is
preferable to a solid vertical bulkhead.

o Where reflected waves will not endanger shorelines or habitats and where space is limited, protect
shorelines with structural features such as vertical bulkheads.

o At boat ramps, retain natural shoreline features to the extent feasible and protect disturbed areas
from erosion.

o Other (describe):



Appendix A

A–vii

5. STORM WATER RUNOFF MANAGEMENT

Implement effective runoff control strategies that include the use of pollution
prevention activities and the proper design of hull maintenance areas.

Reduce the average annual loadings of total suspended solids (TSS) in runoff from
hull maintenance areas by 80 percent. For the purposes of this measure, an 80
percent reduction of TSS is to be determined on an average annual basis.

Sanding dust, paint chips, metal filings, and other such solids that drop on the ground during boat repair
and maintenance can all be swept into the water by the next rainstorm’s runoff. Oils, grease, solvents,
paint drippings, and fuel spilled or dripped onto the ground are also be carried away in runoff. Unless
runoff is treated in some manner, all of these pollutants end up in the marina basin, where they create
unsightly surface films or float until they adhere to a surface, such as a boat hull. Some of these pollutants
sink to the bottom, where they can be eaten by bottom-feeding fish or filter-feeding shellfish, or settle
onto the leaves of aquatic vegetation and clog their pores.

BMPs that should be considered and used where appropriate:

o Perform as much boat repair and maintenance work as possible inside work buildings.

o Where an inside work space is not available, perform abrasive blasting and sanding within spray
booths or tarp enclosures.

o Where buildings or enclosed areas are not available, provide clearly designated land areas for boat
repair and maintenance.

o Design hull maintenance areas to minimize contaminated runoff.

o Use vacuum sanders both to remove paint from hulls and to collect paint dust and chips.

o Restrict the types and/or amount of do-it-yourself work done at the marina.

o Clean hull maintenance areas immediately after any maintenance to remove debris, and dispose of
collected material properly.

o Capture and filter pollutants out of runoff water with permeable tarps, screens, and filter cloths.

o Sweep and/or vacuum around hull maintenance areas, roads, and driveways frequently.

o Sweep parking lots regularly.

o Plant grass between impervious areas and the marina basin.

o Construct new or restore former wetlands where feasible and practical.

o Use porous pavement where feasible.

o Install oil/grit separators to capture petroleum spills and coarse sediment.

o Use catch basins where storm water flows to the marina basin in large pulses.

o Add filters to storm drains that are located near work areas.

o Place absorbents in drain inlets.



A–viii

Appendix A

o Use chemical and filtration treatment systems only where necessary.

o Other (describe):



Appendix A

A–ix

6. FUELING STATION DESIGN

Design fueling stations to allow for ease in cleanup of spills.

Spills of gasoline and diesel oil during boat fueling are a common source of pollution in marina waters.
Usually these are very small spills that occur from overfilling boat fuel tanks, but these small spills can
accumulate to create a larger pollution problem. The hydrocarbons in oil harm juvenile fish, upset fish
reproduction, and interfere with the growth and reproduction of bottom-dwelling organisms. Oil and gas
ingested by one animal can be passed to the next animal in the food chain, ultimately resulting in a poten-
tial risk to human health. In a marina, petroleum spills also deteriorate the white Styrofoam in floats and
docks and discolor boat hulls, woodwork, and paint. Gasoline spills are also a safety problem because of
the flammability of this product. The most effective way to minimize fuel spills and petroleum hydrocar-
bon pollution at a marina is to locate, design, build, and operate a boat fuel dock or station so that most
spills are prevented and those that do occur are quickly contained and cleaned up.

BMPs that should be considered and used where appropriate:

o Use automatic shutoffs on fuel lines and at hose nozzles to reduce fuel loss.

o Remove old-style fuel nozzle triggers that are used to hold the nozzle open without being held.

o Install personal watercraft (PWC) floats at fuel docks to help drivers refuel without spilling.

o Regularly inspect, maintain, and replace fuel hoses, pipes, and tanks.

o Install a spill monitoring system.

o Train fuel dock staff in spill prevention, containment, and cleanup procedures.

o Install easy-to-read signs on the fuel dock that explain proper fueling, spill prevention, and spill
reporting procedures.

o Locate and design boat fueling stations so that spills can be contained, such as with a floating
boom, and cleaned up easily.

o Write and implement a fuel spill recovery plan.

o Have spill containment equipment storage, such as a locker attached or adjacent to the fuel dock,
easily accessible and clearly marked.

o Other (describe):



A–x

Appendix A

7. PETROLEUM CONTROL

Reduce the amount of fuel and oil from boat bilges and fuel tank air vents entering
marina and surface waters.

Although more than half of the oil that spills into the water evaporates, less than a cup of oil can create a
very thin sheen over more than an acre of calm water. Small amounts of oil spilled from numerous boats
can accumulate to create a large oil sheen, which blocks oxygen from moving through the surface of the
water and can be harmful to animals and larvae that must break the surface to breathe. The hydrocar-
bons in oil harm juvenile fish, upset fish reproduction, and interfere with the growth and reproduction of
bottom dwelling organisms. Oil and gas ingested by one animal can be passed to the next animal in the
food chain, ultimately resulting in a risk to human health. In a marina, petroleum spills also dissolve the
white Styrofoam in floats and docks and discolor boat hulls, woodwork, and paint. Gasoline spills, which
evaporate quickly, are also a safety problem because of the flammability of gasoline.

BMPs that should be considered and used where appropriate:

o Promote the installation and use of fuel/air separators on air vents or tank stems of inboard fuel
tanks to reduce the amount of fuel spilled into surface waters during fueling

o Avoid overfilling fuel tanks

o Provide doughnuts or small petroleum absorption pads to patrons to use while fueling to catch
splashback and the last drops when the nozzle is transferred back from the boat to the fuel dock.

o Keep engines properly maintained for efficient fuel consumption, clean exhaust, and fuel economy.
Follow the manufacturer’s specifications.

o Routinely check for engine fuel leaks and use a drip pan under engines.

o Avoid pumping any bilge water that is oily or has a sheen. Promote the use of materials that either
capture or digest oil in bilges. Examine these materials frequently and replace as necessary.

o Extract used oil from absorption pads if possible, or dispose of it in accordance with petroleum
disposal guidelines.

o Prohibit the use of detergents and emulsifiers on fuel spills.

o Other (describe):



Appendix A

A–xi

8. LIQUID MATERIALS MANAGEMENT

Provide and maintain appropriate storage, transfer, containment, and disposal
facilities for liquid material, such as oil, harmful solvents, antifreeze, and paints,
and encourage recycling of these materials.

Liquid material such as fuels, oils, solvents, paints, pesticides, acetone, cleaners, and antifreeze are
potentially harmful or deadly to wildlife, pets, and humans and are toxic to fish and other aquatic organ-
isms when they enter a waterbody. This is true for other types of liquid waste, such as waste fuel, used
oil, spent solvents, battery acid, and used antifreeze. Waste oils include waste engine oil, transmission
fluid, hydraulic fluid, and gear oil. Waste fuels include gasoline, diesel, gasoline/oil blends, and water
contaminated by these fuels.

BMPs that should be considered and used where appropriate:

o Build curbs, berms, or other barriers around areas used for liquid material storage to contain spills.

o Store liquid materials under cover on a surface that is impervious to the type of material stored.

o Storage and disposal areas for liquid materials should be located in or near repair and maintenance
areas, undercover, protected from runoff with berms or secondary containment, and away from flood
areas and fire hazards.

o Store minimal quantities of hazardous materials

o Provide clearly labeled, separate containers for the disposal of waste oils, fuels, and other liquid
wastes.

o Recycle liquid materials where possible.

o Change engine oil and suction oily water from bilges using nonspill vacuum-type systems for spill-
proof oil changes.

o Use antifreeze and coolants that are less toxic to the environment.

o Use alternative liquid materials where practical.

o Follow manufacturer’s directions and use nontoxic or low-toxicity pesticides.

o Burn used oil used as a heating fuel where permitted by law.

o Prepare a hazardous materials spill recovery plan and update it as necessary.

o Keep adequate spill response equipment where liquid materials are stored.

o Other (describe):



A–xii

Appendix A

9. SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

Properly dispose of solid wastes produced by the operation, cleaning, mainte-
nance, and repair of boats to limit entry of solid wastes to surface waters.

Boat maintenance, painting, and repair can result in a range of waste materials, such as sanding debris,
antifoulant paint chips, scrap metal, fiberglass pieces, sweepings, and battery lead and acid. Other solid
waste such as bottles, plastic bags, aluminum cans, coffee cups, six-pack rings, disposable diapers,
wrapping paper, glass bottles, cigarette filters, and fishing line can come from general boating activities
and marina use. Living organisms and the habitats of aquatic animals and plants are harmed by this type
of debris after it enters the water. A litter-free marina is more attractive to present and potential custom-
ers. Reducing a marina’s solid wastes also reduces overall disposal costs.

BMPs that should be considered and used where appropriate:

o Encourage marina patrons to avoid doing any debris-producing hull maintenance while their boats are
in the water. When maintenance is done with the boat in the water (for small projects and where
necessary), prevent debris from falling into the water.

o Place trash receptacles in convenient locations for marina patrons. Covered dumpsters and trash
cans are ideal.

o Provide trash receptacles at boat launch sites.

o Provide facilities for collecting recyclable materials.

o Provide boaters with trash bags.

o Use a reusable blasting medium.

o Require patrons to clean up pet wastes and provide a specific dog walking area at the marina.

o Other (describe):



Appendix A

A–xiii

10. FISH WASTE MANAGEMENT

Promote sound fish waste management through a combination of fish-cleaning
restrictions, public education, and proper disposal of fish waste.

Sportfishing is very popular, but fish cleaning produces waste that can create water quality problems in
marinas with poor circulation. Too much fish waste in a confined area can lower oxygen levels in the
water, which leads to foul odor and fish kills. Floating fish parts are also an unsightly addition to marina
waters.

BMPs that should be considered and used where appropriate:

o Clean fish offshore where the fish are caught and discard of the fish waste at sea (if allowed by the
state).

o Install fish cleaning stations at the marina, and at boat launch sites.

o Compost fish waste where appropriate.

o Freeze fish parts and reuse them as bait or chum on the next fishing trip.

o Encourage catch-and-release fishing, which does not kill the fish and produced no fish waste.

o Other (describe):



A–xiv

Appendix A

11. SEWAGE FACILITY MANAGEMENT

Install pumpout, dump station, and restroom facilities where needed at new and
expanding marinas to reduce the release of sewage to surface waters. Design
these facilities to allow ease of access and post signage to promote use by the
boating public.

Boat sewage can be a problem when dumped overboard without any treatment. Although the volume of
sewage discharged from boats is not as massive as a typical sewage treatment plant outfall, boat sewage
is very concentrated and can add to the overall problem of fecal coliform bacteria loading to the water
body. Boat sewage also adds extra nutrients that use dissolved oxygen and can stimulate the growth of
algae, which in the worst case can grow so fast that they use oxygen needed by fish and other organisms.
When untreated sewage goes overboard, it can contaminate shellfish, leading to potentially serious human
health risks.

BMPs that should be considered and used where appropriate:

o Install pumpout facilities where needed. Use a system compatible with the marina’s needs (fixed-
point systems, dump stations for portable toilets, portable systems, dedicated slipside systems).

o Provide pumpout service at convenient times and at a reasonable cost.

o Keep pumpout stations clean and easily accessible, and consider having marina staff do pumpouts.

o Provide portable toilet dump stations near small slips and launch ramps.

o Provide restrooms at all marinas and boat ramps.

o Consider declaring marina waters to be a “no discharge” area.

o Establish practices and post signs to control pet waste problems.

o Avoid feeding of wild birds in the marina.

o Establish no discharge zones to prevent any sewage from entering boating waters.

o Establish equipment requirement policies that prohibit the use of Y-valves on boats on inland waters.

o Other (describe):



Appendix A

A–xv

12. MAINTENANCE OF SEWAGE FACILITIES

Ensure that sewage pumpout facilities are maintained in operational condition and
encourage their use.

When faced with nonfunctioning sewage collection and disposal facilities, boaters whose holding tanks
are full have three choices: (1) go elsewhere to find an operable pumpout or dump station, which is
inconvenient; (2) discharge sewage directly overboard, which is illegal in no discharge zones and legal
otherwise only through an approved marine sanitation device in nearshore waters; or (3) cease using their
boat toilets, which to some would mean “stop using the boat.” In addition, one inoperable pumpout might
overload another pumpout nearby, tempting boaters to discharge illegally, particularly if the other one is
not free or charges a higher fee.

BMPs that should be considered and used where appropriate:

o Maintain a dedicated fund and issue a contract for pumpout and dump station repair and mainte-
nance (applies to government-operated marinas, pumpout stations, and dump stations only).

o Regularly inspect and maintain sewage facilities.

o Disinfect the suction connection of a pumpout station (stationary or portable) by dipping it into or
spraying it with disinfectant.

o Maintain convenient, clean, dry, and pleasant restroom facilities in the marina.

o Other (describe):



A–xvi

Appendix A

13. BOAT CLEANING

For boats that are in the water, perform cleaning operations to minimize, to the
extent practicable, the release to surface waters of (a) harmful cleaners and sol-
vents and (b) paint from in-water hull cleaning.

Many boat cleaners contain harsh chlorine, ammonia, phosphates, and other chemicals that can harm fish
and other aquatic life. Some chemicals in these cleaners become more concentrated in aquatic organisms
as they are ingested by other animals and might eventually find their way into fish and shellfish that are
eaten by people. Chemicals and debris from washing boat topsides, decks, and hull surfaces can be kept
out of the water with some common sense boating practices.

BMPs that should be considered and used where appropriate:

o Wash boat hulls above the waterline by hand. Where feasible, remove boats from the water and
clean them where debris can be captured and properly disposed of.

o Buy and use detergents and cleaning compounds that will have minimal impact on the aquatic
environment.

o Avoid in-the-water hull scraping or any abrasive process that is done underwater that could remove
paint from the boat hull.

o Switch to long-lasting and low-toxicity or nontoxic antifouling paints.

o Minimize the impacts of wastewater from pressure washing.

o Other (describe):



Appendix A

A–xvii

14. BOAT OPERATION

Manage boating activities where necessary to decrease turbidity and physical
destruction of shallow-water habitat.

Boat and personal watercraft traffic through very shallow water and nearshore areas at wake-producing
speeds can resuspend bottom sediments and erode shorelines, all of which can increase turbidity in the
water column. Turbid waters block the penetration of sunlight to underwater plants that need light for
survival, and they reduce visibility for fish that rely on sight to catch their prey. Vessel traffic can also
uproot submerged aquatic vegetation which is habitat for fish and shellfish and food for waterfowl,
recycles nutrients released from matter decomposing in the waterbody, and reduces wave energy at
shorelines, thus protecting them from erosion. Vessel traffic might also churn up harmful chemicals that
have been trapped in the sediments and might contaminate fish and shellfish that people eat. Propellers or
jet drives, when in contact with the bottom, dig visible furrows across the soil and the vegetation, which
can take years to recover.

BMPs that should be considered and used where appropriate:

o Restrict boater traffic in shallow-water areas.

o Establish and enforce no wake zones to decrease turbidity, shore erosion, and damage in marinas.

o Other (describe):



A–xviii

Appendix A

15. PUBLIC EDUCATION

Public education, outreach, and training programs should be instituted for boaters,
as well as marina owners and operators, to prevent improper disposal of polluting
material.

A boating public that understands the causes and effects of pollution is more likely to want clean waters
and healthy aquatic environments. If they are told about the simple and effective ways that they can
reduce their impact on the environment, they will usually be happy to do their part. Public education is one
of the most effective ways to reduce pollution in and around marinas and from recreational boating.

BMPs that should be considered and used where appropriate:

o Use signs to inform marina patrons of appropriate clean boating practices.

o Establish bulletin boards for environmental messages and idea sharing.

o Promote recycling and trash reduction programs.

o Hand out pamphlets or flyers, send newsletters, and add inserts to bill mailings with information
about how recreational boaters can protect the environment and have clean boating waters.

o Organize and present enjoyable environmental education meetings, presentations, and demonstrations.

o Educate and train marina staff to do their jobs in an environmentally conscious manner and to be
good role models for marina patrons.

o Insert language into facility contracts that ensures that tenants use certain areas and clean boating
techniques when maintaining their boats. Use an environmental agreement that ensures that tenants
will comply with the marina’s best management practices.

o Have a clearly written environmental best management practices agreement for outside contractors
to sign as a precondition to working on any boat in the marina.

o Participate with an organization that promotes clean boating practices.

o Provide MARPOL placards to boaters.

o Paint signs on storm drains indicating that anything placed in it or runoff to it drains directly to
surface waters (where drainage is not to a treatment plant).

o Establish and educate marina patrons about rules governing fish-cleaning.

o Educate boaters about good fish cleaning practices.

o Provide information on local waste collection and recycling programs.

o Hold clinics on safe fueling and bilge maintenance.

o Teach boaters how to fuel boats to minimize fuel spills.

o Stock phosphate-free, nontoxic cleaners and other environmentally friendly products.

o Place signs in the water and label charts to alert boaters about sensitive habitat areas.

o Other (describe):



Appendix B
Example

Oil Spill Response Plan

(Note that text in Arial font should be
replaced by facility-specific information.)



B–ii

Appendix B

EMERGENCY RESPONSE ACTION:

Reaction

• Identify the source of the spill if possible.

• Attempt to secure the source of the spill.

• If a spill is observed at the fueling dock, immediately cease all fueling activities.

• Make a preliminary assessment as to what the spill material is and approximately how much has
entered the waterway. This information will dictate what equipment needs to be deployed.

• Advise the facility manager or spill response manager if necessary.

Reporting

• U.S. Coast Guard                                                         1-800-424-8802

• State department of environmental protection Business hours; 24 hours

All spills that result in a slick or a sheen on the water require that the Coast Guard and state
department of environmental protection be contacted and provided with pertinent information.

Note: All fuel spills, no matter how small, must be reported to the U.S. Coast Guard.

Response

Gasoline spill:

If the spill is small (5 gallons or less):

• Allow natural weathering to reduce and eliminate the spill.

• Do not allow smoking during any spill.

• Do not contain or collect gasoline because confined gasoline might create a risk of
explosion and fire.

For larger spills (more than 5 gallons):

• Implement the reporting requirements.

• Secure all electricity.

• Make sure everyone is away from the affected area.

• Do not allow anyone to enter the affected area.

• Use water hoses to wash the spill away to protect docks and boats.

• Contact the fire department and harbormaster.

Other oil spills (crude and refined residual oils, diesel fuel, and kerosene):

Oil Spill Response Plan
Name of Marina



Appendix B

B–iii

• Contain the oil spill using a curtain boom to prevent spreading. When possible, completely
surround the source.

• If the oil was spilled in an upland area, use an absorbent boom and pads to contain the
material and prevent it from entering the waterbody.

• If more oil than can be contained by the boom was spilled, contact: name of primary
contact for additional spill equipment.

• Once the spill is contained, use absorbent material to collect the oil. Absorbent pads can
be placed within the boomed area, retrieved, wrung out, and placed back in the boomed
area.

• If spreading is occurring too rapidly or other conditions prevent the containment of the oil,
use the boom to deflect the oil from critical or sensitive areas.

PERSONNEL

Spill Manager

Name of person responsible for maintaining plan and equipment inventory.

Qualified Staff

List marina staff authorized to implement the spill plan.

Marina spokesperson: One person who is responsible for communicating to enforcement officials,
customers, and the media. Using one person helps to ensure a consistent message.

Contact for Additional Assistance

In the event that this facility needs the services of a professional oil spill response company, con-
tact: list the name of a professional oil spill response company with whom prior arrangements exist.

This service should be requested only by the facility manager or the spill response manager.

THREATS

Maximum Threat(s)

Overfilling of gasoline during fueling, creating explosion hazard: The most common spill occurrence
will result from overfilling of gasoline and diesel fuel tanks at the fueling dock. Gasoline, because of
its flammability, is the greatest threat.

Vessel spill

Under a worst-case scenario, the largest on-board fuel tank is aboard a 50-foot
powerboat that carries approximately 200 gallons of diesel fuel and 20 gallons of
crankcase oil. This would pose a maximum threat if this vessel was to sink within the
marina perimeter.

Spill from fuel storage tank or connections to pumping station

On-site there is a ___gallon in-ground storage tank that is connected to the fuel
pumping station by a series of flexible and rigid hoses. A fuel spill could result from
the failure of one of the connections. A spill could also result when the fuel tank is
being filled.



B–iv

Appendix B

Minimum Threats

Spill from waste oil receptacle: On site there is a 200-gallon waste oil receptacle. It is
located 100 yards from the coastal edge and is surrounded by an impervious berm de-
signed to retain 110 percent of the receptacle’s volume.

SPILL RESPONSE EQUIPMENT

Available On-site Resources

(1) 150-foot harbor curtain boom (3 times the length of the vessel with the largest fuel tank)

Operational characteristics: deflects and contains oil in the water. Curtain boom is suscep-
tible to wind, waves, and current. These factors can cause oil to escape over the top and under
the bottom of the boom.

Deployment: Can be attached to a fixed structure or to an anchor. Place downstream of oil
spill. If surface current is moving greater than 0.7 knot, the boom will not contain oil acting at a
right angle to it. The boom angle will need to be adjusted to decreasing angles as the speed of
the current increases.

Disposal: The boom, if maintained properly, can be used multiple times. The average life span
for the boom is approximately 5 to 10 years, depending on the use it receives.

Maintenance: Rinse thoroughly with fresh water. Be sure to collect with absorbents any
remaining oil on the boom. Store out of sunlight in a manner that allows quick deployment.

(2) 80 feet of 5-inch absorbent boom (37.5 ft3; 84 lb)

Operational characteristics: Boom has little inherent strength and might need extra flotation
to keep from sinking when laden with oil.

(3) 200 individual absorbent pads (3/8 in. x 18 in. x 18 in.)

Operational characteristics: Use absorbents only in low current velocity situations.

Deployment: Place absorbents on spilled oil. Recovery efficiency decreases rapidly once outer
layer is oil-soaked.

Disposal: May be wrung out and reused. (See manufacturer’s specifications.) At the end of
the useful life, wring out and store in a sealed container. The container will be disposed of by a
contracted waste hauler.

Maintenance: When possible, wring out and dry after use. (See manufacturer’s specifica-
tions.) Otherwise, material will be disposed of properly.

(4) Empty 55-gallon drum with lid for storage of collected oil

(5) Gloves

(6) Pitchfork

(7) Two 15-lb Danforth anchors

(8) Mooring lines

(9) Standard mop or laundry wringer



Appendix B

B–v

Location

The spill response equipment is stored in the spill response shed located adjacent to the
maintenance shed. Key number 000, which the manager holds on the master ring,
opens the spill response shed.

Additional Equipment

If the rapid deployment of additional resources is necessary, we have secured permission to use
equipment from: List local sources of equipment and how they can be reached, e.g.,
neighboring marina, they can be reached on VHF CH 68 or by calling 555-0000.

Coast Guard oil spill response trailer is also available as a first-aid measure.

NOTES

Do not use dispersants on oil/fuel spills. Dispersants include products manufactured specifically for
that purpose and more common products such as detergent. Using them simply forces the oil into
the water column, where it might be more harmful. Dispersants may be used only with the approval
of the Coast Guard federal on-scene coordinator.

On the downstream side of the marina is a salt marsh that should be protected from a large oil spill.
A floating oil boom should be used to deflect spilled oil away from this critical area.

This response plan will be tested twice a year, with a least one test occurring at the beginning of the
boating season. All of the spill response equipment will be inspected at the time of the tests.

RECORDS

Staff Readiness Drills

Date Drill Simulation Who participated Supervisor

date Sinking vessel List of staff members who participated Signature



B–vi

Appendix B

Emergency Phone List

• United States Coast Guard, Marine Safety Office: (###) ### - ####

• State Department of Environmental Management: (###) ### - ####

• Local Harbormaster Department: (###) ### - ####

• Local Police Department: (###) ### - ####

• Local Fire Department: (###) ### - ####

Plan last updated: date

Updated by: name

Inspection

Date Inspected by: Condition/Notes

date Name Notes on equipment condition



Appendix C
Table of Costs and Benefits of Marina

Best Management Practices

(Originally published in USEPA, 1996:
Clean Marinas—Clear Value)







C–iv

Appendix C



Appendix D
Federal Laws Related to Marinas

and Recreational Boating



D
–ii

A
ppendix D

Table D. Federal Laws Related to Marinas and Recreational Boating



A
ppendix D

D
–iii

Table D.  Federal Laws Related to Marinas and Recreational Boating (cont.)



D
–iv

A
ppendix D

Table D.  Federal Laws Related to Marinas and Recreational Boating (cont.)



A
ppendix D

D
–

v

Table D.  Federal Laws Related to Marinas and Recreational Boating (cont.)



D
–vi

A
ppendix D

Table D.  Federal Laws Related to Marinas and Recreational Boating (cont.)



Appendix E
Web Sites with Information Related to Marinas

and Recreational Boating



E–ii

Appendix E

SOME WEBSITES TO VISIT

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office
of Wetlands, Oceans, and Watersheds

http://www.epa.gov/owow/

Information on the control of nonpoint source
pollution, the condition of the water-related
environment, and the management and
restoration of watersheds.

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of
Solid Waste and Emergency Response

http://www.epa.gov/swerrims/

Provides policy, guidance, and direction for the
land disposal of hazardous wastes, underground
storage tanks, solid waste management,
encouragement of innovative technologies, source
reduction of wastes, and the Superfund Program.

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency,Office
of Wetlands, Oceans, and Watersheds

Publications On Line

http://www.epa.gov/OWOW/info/PubList/
publist4.html

http://earth1.epa.gov/OWOW/info/NewsNotes/

A variety of EPA publications related to
Nonpoint Source Pollution that can be ordered
or read on the Internet.

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office
of Wetlands, Oceans, and Watersheds

Publications On Line

http://www.epa.gov/OWOW/info/PubList/
publist4.html

http://earth1.epa.gov/OWOW/info/NewsNotes/

A variety of EPA publications related to
Nonpoint Source Pollution that can be ordered
or read on the Internet.

U.S. Coast Guard Kids’ Corner

http://www.uscg.mil/hq/g-cp/kids/kidindx.html

Activities and information for kids about safety
and clean boating practices; “The Adventures
of Captain Cleanwater: An Activity Book for
Kids About Clean and Safe Boating” and “The
True Story of Inky the Whale.”

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Index
of Watershed Indicators

http://www.epa.gov/surf/iwi

Maps and information about watersheds nationwide.
Locate your own watershed and learn about the
quality of the waters in it, sources of pollution, and
organizations active in protecting it.

http://www.epa.gov/owow/
http://www.epa.gov/swerrims/
http://www.epa.gov/OWOW/info/PubList/publist4.html
http://www.epa.gov/OWOW/info/PubList/publist4.html
http://www.epa.gov/surf/iwi
http://www.uscg.mil/hq/g-cp/kids/kidindx.html
http://earth1.epa.gov/OWOW/info/NewsNotes
http://earth1.epa.gov/OWOW/info/NewsNotes/


Appendix E

E–iii

National Sea Grant National Depository

http://nsgd.gso.uri.edu

Searchable archive of all Sea Grant-funded
documents since 1967, including hundreds of
studies on boating, marinas, and the
environment, plus many educational flyers,
brochures, and fact sheets; well worth the visit.

National Sea Grant College Program

http://www.mdsg.umd.edu/NSGO/

Information about the National Sea Grant
program and links to state Sea Grant programs
nationwide.

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Clean Vessel
Act Program

http://fa.r9.fws.gov/cva/cva.html

Information on the CVA program, which
provides grants for pumpout and dump
stations for boaters to dispose of human waste
in an environmentally safe manner.

Tennessee Valley Authority

http://www.tva.gov/river/recreation/index.htm

Information on the camping and recreation
areas operated by the TVA.  TVA operates
some 100 public recreation areas throughout
the Tennessee Valley, including campgrounds,
day-use areas, and boat launching ramps. Their
opening and closing dates are listed at this site,
as well as contact numbers.

Canadian Coast Guard

http://www.pacific.ccg-gcc.gc.ca/Epages/
offboat/pae/pme.htm

Protecting the Aquatic Environment: A
Boater’s Guide with valuable information on
managing waste, boat maintenance, antifouling
paint, batteries, introduced species, tips for
protecting the aquatic environment, spill
reporting, and more.

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers

http://www.usace.army.mil/inet/functions/cw/
cecwo/recrea.htm

Information about all of the lakeside parks that
are administered by the Army Corps of
Engineers.  The Lakeside Recreation Resource
page shows a map.  Just click on an area of the
country that you are interested in and the maps
will show you all the information you need
about the USACE park system.

http://nsgd.gso.uri.edu
http://www.mdsg.umd.edu/NSGO/
http://fa.r9.fws.gov/cva/cva.html
http://www.tva.gov/river/recreation/index.htm
http://www.usace.army.mil/inet/functions/cw/cecwo/recrea.htm
http://www.pacific.ccg-gcc.gc.ca/Epages/offboat/pae/pme.htm


E–iv

Appendix E

Florida Department of Environmental Protection

http://www.dep.state.fl.us

Information and management practices for
managing the following types of waste:
•Distress signal flares
•Batteries (lead acid marine/auto and rechargeable)
•Mercury-containing devices: bilge pump float
switches, air conditioning thermostats

•Mercury containing lamps: fluor-escent and
high-intensity discharge

•Refrigerants and asbestos.

Maryland Department of Natural Resources

http://www.dnr.state.md.us/boating/

Links to a variety of pages with information of
interest to boaters, including:
•Boating Regulations
•Boating Safety
•Clean Marina Initiative
•Public Boating Facilities
•Pumpout Program
•Vessel Requirements
•Weather.

Marina Operators Association of America
(MOAA)

http://www.nmma.org/affiliates/usa/moaa

MOAA works for the enhancement of the
recreational marina industry through:
•Stimulating a continuing exchange of ideas
•Updating marina operators on new
information

•Banding together to maintain a strong
national voice

•Encouraging marina operators to institute the
best management practices

•Joining to establish a clean marina program
•Encouraging marina operators to be proactive
in their customer’s boating experience.

National Marine Manufacturers Association

http://www.nmma.org

NMMA members—more than 1,600
companies—produce every conceivable
product used by recreational boaters.  NMMA
provides a wide variety of programs and
services tailored to member needs: technical
expertise, standards monitoring, government
relations avocation, industry statistics, and
more. NMMA produces boat shows, including
the world’s largest marine trade show, the
International Marine Trades Exhibit &
Convention (IMTEC), in key North American
markets.

International Marina Institute

http://www.imimarina.com

IMI is a nonprofit membership organization
serving the global marine industry.  It offers
management training, education, and
information about research, legislation, and
environmental issues affecting the marina
industry.  IMI is a marine trade organization
that encompasses all segments of the marina
business both nationally and internationally.

National Safe Boating Council

http://www.safeboatingcouncil.org/

The mission of the NSBC is to provide a forum
for advancing and fostering safe boating, and
for educating the public in safe boating
principles, by developing and facilitating an
ongoing series of campaigns to promote safe
boating principles and practices; facilitating the
distribution and dissemination of information
on safe boating; promoting the development of
research initiatives to support boating
education and safety awareness; improving the
professional development of boating safety
educators; and encouraging the development
and implementation of outstanding boating
safety programs.

http://www.dep.state.fl.us
http://www.dnr.state.md.us/boating/
http://www.safeboatingcouncil.org/
http://www.nmma.org/affiliates/usa/moaa
http://www.nmma.org
http://www.imimarina.com


Appendix E

E–v

Marine Environmental Education Foundation

http://www.meef.org

MEEF is a national, nonprofit, tax-exempt,
charitable foundation founded to bring
together national specialists to develop
education programs and research on marine
environmental issues.  Its goal is to create and
present educational programs that will result in
cleaner waters for the boating public.  MEEF is
the creator and sponsor of the National Clean
Boating Campaign.

National Boating Federation

http://outdoorsource.com/nbf

The largest nationwide alliance of recreational
boating organizations, yacht and boating clubs,
and individual members focused on promoting
recreational boating activities.  The National
Boating Federation often appears before
congressional committees to testify on boating
matters.

Boat Owners Association of the United States

http://www.boatus.com

Provides services including representing the
interests of boat owners on Capitol Hill;
insuring members’ boats; operating an on-the-
water towing network; and providing discount
boating equipment through the Internet, mail
order, and marine centers.  BoatU.S. publishes
widely circulated publications for boaters,
serves as an educator in marine safety and
environmental issues, and routinely tests and
reports on boating safety equipment and other
products.

Marine Retailers Association of America

http://www.mraa.com

MRAA is the nation’s largest marine retailers
trade association, representing an industry with
more than 100,000 employees and nearly $20
billion in sales annually.  The mission of the
MRAA—Progress through Participation with
Industry Partners—is accomplished by
promoting programs and services and helping
create an environment that helps marine
retailers to operate.  MRAA promotes and
furthers the interests of all its member
companies and the marine industry in general.

Center for Marine Conservation

http://www.cmc-ocean.org

The Center for Marine Conservation is
committed to protecting ocean environments
and conserving the global abundance and
diversity of marine life.  Through science-based
advocacy, research, and public education, CMC
promotes informed citizen participation to
reverse the degradation of our oceans.

BoatFacts Online

http://www.boatfacts.com/home.asp

Information on boating products, publications,
marinas, classifieds, engines, boats, legislative
issues, organizations, discussion forums, and a
boating calendar.

http://www.meef.org
http://www.boatus.com
http://www.mraa.com
http://www.cmc-ocean.org


E–vi

Appendix E



Appendix F
Storm Water Runoff Management Practice Tables



F
–ii

A
ppendix F

Management
Practice Advantages Disadvantages Comparative

Costa

Runoff control ponds
Wet pond • Can provide peak flow control

• Can serve large developments; most cost-effective for larger,
more intensively developed sites

• Enhances aesthetics and provides recreational benefits
• Little ground water discharge
• Permanent pool in wet ponds helps to prevent scour and

resuspension of sediments
• Provides moderate to high removal of both particulate and

soluble urban runoff pollutants

• Not economical for drainage area less than 10 acres
• Potential safety hazards if not properly maintained
• If not adequately maintained, can be an eyesore, breed

mosquitoes, and create undesirable odors
• Requires considerable space, which limits use in densely

urbanized areas with expensive land and property values
• Not suitable for hydrologic soil groups “A” and “B” (USDA-

NRCS classification) unless a liner is used
• With possible thermal discharge and oxygen depletion, may

severely impact downstream aquatic life

Moderate to
high compared
to conventional
runoff detention

Infiltration practices
Infiltration
basin

• Provides ground water recharge
• Can serve large developments
• High removal capability for particulate pollutants and

moderate removal for soluble pollutants
• When basin works, it can replicate predevelopment

hydrology more closely than other BMP options
• Basins provide more habitat value than other infiltration

systems

• Possible risk of contaminating ground water
• Only feasible where soil is permeable and there is sufficient

depth to rock and water table
• Fairly high failure rate
• If not adequately maintained, can be and eyesore, breed

mosquitoes, and create undesirable odors
• Regular maintenance activities cannot prevent rapid clogging

of infiltration basin

Construction
cost moderate
but
rehabilitation
cost high

Infiltration 
trench

• Provides ground water recharge
• Can serve small drainage areas
• Can fit into medians, perimeters, and other unused areas of a

development site
• Helps replicate predevelopment hydrology, increases dry

weather baseflow, and reduces bankfull flooding frequency

• Possible risk of contaminating ground water
• Only feasible where soil is permeable and there is sufficient

depth to rock and water table
• Since not as visible as other BMPs, less likely to be

maintained by residents
• Requires significant maintenance

Cost-effective
on smaller sites
Rehabilitation
costs can be
considerable

Porous
pavement

• Provides ground water recharge
• Provides water quality control without additional

consumption of land 
• Can provide peak flow control
• High removal rates for sediment, nutrients, organic matter,

and trace metals
• When operating properly can replicate predevelopment

hydrology
• Eliminates the need for runoff drainage, conveyance, and

treatment systems off-site

• Requires regular maintenance
• Possible risk of contaminating ground water
• Only feasible where soil is permeable, there is sufficient

depth to rock and water table, and there are gentle slopes
• Not suitable for areas with high traffic volume
• Need extensive feasibility tests, inspections, and very high

level of construction workmanship (Schueler, 1987)
• High failure rate due to clogging
• Not suitable to serve large off-site pervious areas

Cost-effective
compared to
conventional
asphalt when
working
properly

Concrete grid
pavement

• Can provide peak flow control
• Provides ground water recharge
• Provides water quality control without additional

consumption of land

• Requires regular maintenance
• Not suitable for areas with high traffic volume
• Possible risk of contaminating ground water
• Only feasible where soil is permeable, there is sufficient

depth to rock and water table, and there are gentle slopes

Information not
available

Table F-1. Advantages and disadvantages of management practices (MDE, 2000).



A
ppendix F

F
–iii

Management
Practice Advantages Disadvantages Comparative

Costa

Filtering practices
Filtration basin • Ability to accommodate medium-size development (3-80

acres)
• Flexibility to provide or not provide ground water recharge
• Can provide peak volume control

• Requires pretreatment of stormwater through sedimentation
to prevent filter media from prematurely clogging

Information not
available

Open channel practices
Grassed swale • Requires minimal land area

• Can be used as part of the runoff conveyance system to
provide pretreatment

• Can provide sufficient runoff control to replace curb and
gutter in single-family residential subdivisions and on
highway medians

• Economical

• Low pollutant removal rates
• Leaching from culverts and fertilized lawns may actually

increase the presence of trace metals and nutrients

Low compared
to curb and
gutter

Structural management practices that do not fully meet the 80% TSS requirement
Vegetated filter
strip

• Low maintenance requirements
• Can be used as part of the runoff conveyance system to

provide pretreatment
• Can effectively reduce particulate pollutant levels in areas

where runoff velocity is low to moderate
• Provides excellent urban wildlife habitat
• Economical

• Often concentrates water, which significantly reduces
effectiveness

• Ability to remove soluble pollutants highly variable
• Limited feasibility in highly urbanized areas where runoff

velocities are high and flow is concentrated
• Requires periodic repair, regrading, and sediment removal to

prevent channelization 

Low

Water quality
inlet:  catch
basin with sand
filter

• Provide high removal efficiencies of particulates
• Require minimal land area
• Flexibility to retrofit existing small drainage areas
• Higher removal of nutrient as compared to catch basins and

oil/grit separator

• Not feasible for drainage areas greater than 5 acres
• Only feasible for areas that are stabilized and highly

impervious
• Not effective as water quality control for intense storms

Information not
available

Water quality
inlet: oil/grit
separator

• Captures coarse-grained sediments and some hydrocarbons
• Requires minimal land area
• Flexibility to retrofit existing small drainage areas and

applicable to most urban areas
• Shows some capacity to trap trash, debris, and other

floatables
• Can be adapted to all regions of the country

• Not feasible for drainage area greater than 1 acre
• Minimal nutrient and organic matter removal
• Not effective as water quality control for intense storms
• Concern exists for the pollutant toxicity of trapped residuals
• Require high maintenance

High, compared
to trenches and
sand filters

Extended
detention dry
pond with
micropool

• Can provide peak flow control
• Possible to provide good particulate removal
• Can serve large development
• Requires less capital cost and land area when compared to

wet pond
• Does not generally release water or anoxic water downstream
• Provides excellent protection for downstream channel erosion
• Can create valuable wetland and meadow habitat when

properly landscaped

• Removal rates for soluble pollutants are quite low
• Not economical for drainage area less than 10 acres
• If not adequately maintained, can be an eyesore, breed

mosquitoes, and create undesirable odors

Lowest cost
alternative in
size range

aComparative cost information from Schueler, 1992

Table F-1. (cont.)



F
–iv

A
ppendix F

 Table F-2. Costs of selected management practices (Claytor and Scheuler, 1996; Brown and Schueler, 1997).



A
ppendix F

F
–

v

 Table F-2. (cont.)



McCALL CITY COUNCIL 216 East Park Street 

AGENDA BILL McCall, Idaho 83638 

Number AB 24-071 

Meeting Date April 4, 2024   
AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION 

SUBJECT:  

Request to Uphold the McCall Area 

Planning & Zoning Commission Decision to 

Deny FPDP-23-01 for a Floodplain 

Development Permit at 221 Morgan Drive 

 

A PUBLIC HEARING (FOR REQUESTED 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ONLY- NO 

PUBLIC COMMENT) 

Department Approvals Initials 

Originator  

or 

Supporter 

Mayor / Council   

City Manager PKK  

Clerk   

Treasurer   

Community Development BP/ Originator 

Police Department   

Public Works   

Golf Course   

COST IMPACT: N/A Parks and Recreation   

FUNDING 

SOURCE: 

N/A Airport   

Library   

TIMELINE: N/A Information Systems   

Grant Coordinator   

SUMMARY STATEMENT: 

This is a request to appeal the Administrator’s decision to deny a Floodplain Development Permit 

Application. This application is related to the previous variance request (VAR-20-01) at the same 

location which was denied by the McCall City Council.  

During their regularly scheduled September 12, 2023 meeting the McCall Area P&Z Commission 

voted to uphold the denial of the subject application. During the regularly scheduled February 8, 

2024 meeting, the McCall City Council conducted a properly noticed public hearing and voted to 

continue the hearing to April 4, 2024 to allow the applicant’s representative and City Attorneys to 

develop legal briefs and responses regarding the outstanding issues identified during the public 

hearing. 

The March 1, 2024 and March 19, 2024 briefs from McCall City Attorney, the applicant’s attorney, 

and associated exhibits are attached, along with the meeting packet from the February 8, 2024 

hearing. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

1. Continue public hearing 

2. Close public hearing 

3. Deliberate 

4. Direct Staff to prepare Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decision documents 

upholding the McCall Area Planning & Zoning Commission’s decision to deny FPDP-23-01. 

RECORD OF COUNCIL ACTION 

MEETING DATE ACTION 
February 11, 2021 Directed Staff to prepare draft Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decision 

documents denying VAR-20-01. 

February 25, 2021 Adoption of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decision documents denying VAR-

20-01. 

February 8, 2024 Continue Public Hearing to April 4, 2024 

February 22, 2024 Revise due date of initial brief from February 8, 2024 motion 

 



Appeal of FPDP-23-01 Floodplain Development Permit Application 

Memo to Council 

Page 1 

 

White Peterson 
 

Attorneys at Law 

5700 E. Franklin Road, Suite 200 

Nampa, Idaho  83687 

Telephone:  (208) 466-9272 

Memorandum 

   

To:  Mayor and City Council, McCall, Idaho 

From:  Wm. L. Punkoney, Wm. F. Nichols, White Peterson 

Date:  February 17, 2024 
 

 Re: Appeal of FPDP-23-01 Floodplain Development Permit Application  

 

I. Introduction: 
 

 This memorandum is intended to address issues raised at the City Council’s February 8, 

2024 meeting regarding the administrative denial of Floodplain Development Permit Application 

FPDP-23-01 (Hereinafter the “FPDP”). This Memorandum provides you with succinct answers 

to questions relevant to the Council’s determination on the Sanders’ appeal of the denial of their 

FPDP. The underlying statutes and ordinances are provided for your review as identified 

exhibits.  

 

The following is a list of the questions answered in this Memorandum: 

 

1. What is being asked of the City Council? 

2. What is the nature of the application at issue? 

3. What is a Floodplain Development Permit? 

4. Why does McCall require Floodplain Development Permits? 

5. What authority does McCall have for its Floodplain Management ordinance? 

6. Why is the Council hearing this matter, and how did it get to us? 

7. Who is the Floodplain administrator? 

8. Why was the FPDP Denied? 

9. Do the McCall Floodplain Management Ordinances violate the Constitution? 

 

II. Discussion 

 

1. What is being asked of the City Council? 
 

The FPDP was denied by the City’s Floodplain Administrator, and the P&Z Commission. 

The Applicant has now appealed to the City Council. The Council may decide to either affirm 

the denial, or remand the application to the Floodplain Administrator with specific instructions 

that the application be granted. Affirmation of the denial should take the form of written findings 

and conclusions. 

 

2. What is the nature of the application is at issue? 
 



Appeal of FPDP-23-01 Floodplain Development Permit Application 

Memo to Council 

Page 2 

The proposed FPDP involves grading and filling areas located within the “Area of 

Special Flood Hazard” which includes areas designated as wetlands. The full application is at 

Exhibit A. 

 

3. What is a Floodplain Development Permit? 
 

A Floodplain Development Permit is required pursuant to MCC 9.08.033 for “any 

development activities within special flood hazard areas.” A copy of MCC 9.08.033  is provided 

for your review at Exhibit B.  

 

4. Why does McCall require Floodplain Development Permits? 
 

The Idaho Legislature very succinctly answered this question in Idaho Code 46-1020. A 

copy of that statute is provided for your review at Exhibit C. In summary, the legislature found 

that “recurring floods in Idaho threaten human life, health and property and that the public 

interest requires that the floodplains of Idaho be managed and regulated in order to minimize 

flood hazards to life, health and property.” Id. at 1(a). These purposes are repeated in MCC Title 

9 Chapter 8.  

 

As an additional matter, by having and enforcing a FEMA approved floodplain 

ordinance, property owners in McCall are eligible to participate in the National Flood Insurance 

Program and receive aid in the event of a major flooding event.  Here is a link to more 

information: https://www.fema.gov/floodplain-management/manage-risk/locaL 

 

5. What authority does McCall have for its floodplain management 

ordinance? 
 

The Idaho Legislature further found that it is the primary responsibility of “local units of 

government” for “planning, adoption and enforcement of land use regulations to accomplish this 

proper floodplain management.” I.C. 46-1020(1)(c). 

 

Furthermore, Idaho Code 46-1022 specifically authorizes local governments to “adopt 

floodplain zoning ordinances.” A copy of that statute is provided for your review at Exhibit D. 

I.C. 46-1022 specifically “encourages” local governments to “adopt a floodplain map and 

management ordinance…” The legislature likewise found that local governments “may regulate 

all mapped and unmapped floodplains within its jurisdiction.” Further, the legislature specifically 

allows local governments to adopt more restrictive standards than those provided in Idaho Code. 

“Nothing in this act shall prohibit a local government from adopting more restrictive 

standards than those contained in this chapter.” Id. (Emphasis added). 

 

6. Why is the Council hearing this matter, and how did it get to us? 
 

a. The FPDP at issue here initially was denied by the City Floodplain Administrator 

on March 31, 2023. A copy of the denial is provided for your review at Exhibit E. 

https://www.fema.gov/floodplain-management/manage-risk/locaL


Appeal of FPDP-23-01 Floodplain Development Permit Application 

Memo to Council 

Page 3 

b. Staff’s denial was appealed by the Applicants to the McCall Area Planning and 

Zoning Commission pursuant to McCall City Code 9.9.07 and Title 3, Chapter 15 

which is provided at Exhibit F.   

c. The P&Z Commission affirmed the denial of the application through findings and 

conclusions issued on November 7, 2023. The findings and conclusions are 

provided at Exhibit G.  

d. The applicants appealed the P&Z Commission’s findings and conclusions to the 

City Council pursuant to MCC 3.15.09. A copy of their Notice is attached as 

Exhibit H.  

 

7. Who is the City’s Floodplain Administrator? 
 

According to MCC 9.8.041 the City Planner is the “Floodplain Administrator.” 

 

8. Why was the FPDP denied? 
 

In short, the FPDP was denied because a FPDP that proposes grading and to deposit “fill” 

requires a building permit, and staff could not issue a building permit for the following reasons: 

 

i. Depositing “fill” in areas designated as “wetlands” is defined as impermissible “harm.” 

MCC 3.7.023. A copy of MCC 3.7.023 is provided for your review at Exhibit I. 

ii. Depositing “fill” on areas immediately above, on, or below high-water marks is defined 

as impermissible “harm.” MCC 3.7.023 

iii. Excessive clearing of natural vegetation or change of natural landforms within fifty-feet 

(50’) of the high-water marks is defined as impermissible “harm.” MCC 3.7.023 

iv. Excessive site grading and disturbance beyond the minimum necessary for development 

is prohibited. MCC 3.8.23 

 

To draw the above conclusion, several McCall ordinances are required to be reviewed. 

The following is a summary of the ordinance authority: 

 

i. Floodplain Development Permit Applications are reviewed by the Floodplain 

Administrator. MCC 9.8.042. 

ii. The City Planner is designated as the Floodplain Administrator. MCC 9.8.041. 

iii. According to MCC 9.8.031, no land within the Floodplain can be altered or developed 

“in any way without full compliance with the terms of this chapter and other applicable 

regulations.” (emphasis added).  

iv. Title 9 Chapter 8 is not intended in any way to “repeal, abrogate, impair, or remove the 

necessity of compliance with any other laws, ordinances, regulations, easements, 

covenants, or deed restrictions, etcetera. However, where this chapter and another 

conflict or overlap, whichever imposes more stringent or greater restrictions shall 

control.” MCC 9.8.035 

v. No land may be altered within the floodplain without being “in full compliance with the 

terms of this chapter and other applicable regulations.” MCC 9.8.038. 

vi. The requirements of McCall City Code Chapter 8, Title 3 are applicable to the FPDP. 

MCC 3.1.03 



Appeal of FPDP-23-01 Floodplain Development Permit Application 

Memo to Council 

Page 4 

vii.  MCC 3.8.01 states “The requirements of this code apply to all zones.” This includes R8 

and Floodplain Overlay zones.  

viii. MCC 3.8.02(G) states as follows: “Building Permit Required: Until a valid building 

permit has been issued by the city of McCall, no construction work, including grading, 

blasting, filling, trenching, tree removal, etc., may be started, except as permitted in 

section 3.8.03 of this chapter.” (Emphasis Added). 

ix.  The requirements of MCC 3.7.023 must be met before issuance of a building permit.  

x. According to MCC 3.7.023(C)(1) which provides limitations on issuance of building 

permits: 

a.  (C) Prohibitions: No construction, alteration or activity shall cause harm to: 

         a.   Water quality. 

         b.   Fish and aquatic habitats. 

         c.   Wetlands. 

         d.   Significant wildlife habitat harboring any threatened or endangered 

species. 

xi. MCC 3.7.023(C)(2) defines “Harm.” 

        2.   Harm Defined: "Harm" for these purposes means: 

         a.   The creation of conditions which foster runoff of, or other source of 

fertilizers, toxic substances, or other pollutants or contaminants, into the water; 

         b.   The excessive clearing of natural vegetation or change of natural 

landforms within the area between the water pool shore contour or high 

water mark and the fifty foot (50') building setback line; 

         c.   The removal, burial, or destruction in whole or part of boulders, 

sandy beaches, rocky shores, or other features of the water pool shore 

contour or high water mark, the land below the same, or the immediate 

upland edge; 

         d.   The filling or dredging of lake bottom or wetlands; (emphasis added) 

xii. MCC 3.8.23(D) states “Site grading shall follow the natural terrain of the land and be the 

minimum necessary for development of the site as determined by the Administrator and 

Public Works Director.” 

 

9.  Do the McCall Floodplain Management Ordinances violate the 

Constitution?  
 

The City’s Ordinance, and its resulting regulation of the floodplain is neither expressly 

nor impliedly pre-empted by either state or federal statutes. In fact, the City’s floodplain 

ordinance is expressly authorized and encouraged under Idaho Code. As noted above, Idaho 

Code § 46-1022 provides that local governments are “encouraged” to adopt a “floodplain 

management ordinance.” Further, “the local government may regulate all mapped and unmapped 

floodplains within its jurisdiction. Nothing in this act shall prohibit a local government from 

adopting more restrictive standards than those contained in this chapter.” Floodplain 

Management “is the analysis and integration of the entire range of measures that can be used to 

prevent, reduce or mitigate flood damage in a given location, and that can protect and preserve 

the natural, environmental, historical, and cultural values of the floodplain.” Idaho Code § 46-

1021 (emphasis added). 

 



Appeal of FPDP-23-01 Floodplain Development Permit Application 

Memo to Council 

Page 5 

Arguments about the denial of this application being limited by Clean Water Act (CWA) 

standards are a “red herring” intended to create an issue where a reviewing court would be 

unlikely to find one. The fact that a Section 404 permit authorizing dredging and filling can be 

issued does not conclude the analysis, or bind the City to any particular outcome. The Applicants 

own Notice of Appeal identifies that “States and political subdivisions are…free to impose more 

onerous standards subject to the limitations of other state and federal law.” 

 

The CWA primarily focuses on the reduction and elimination of pollution in the nation's 

waters to restore and maintain their chemical, physical, and biological integrity. Notably, the 

CWA does not preclude or inhibit local governments, including cities, from enacting laws aimed 

at managing floodplain areas. 33 U.S.C § 1370. The City of McCall’s floodplain and similar 

ordinances are designed to mitigate flood risks and preserve habitat within floodplain areas. As 

such, the City retains the authority to implement floodplain ordinance regulations as part of their 

broader environmental and land use planning efforts, which are not in conflict with the CWA. 

 

The appellant goes on to argue that Idaho Code 39-3601 does not authorize rules and 

requirements “beyond those of the federal clean water act.” The Applicant is making the 

argument that because McCall cannot exceed CWA standards, it likewise cannot regulate the 

area of special flood hazard.  Although the Applicant and the City must certainly comply with 

the Clean Water Act as well as state Department of Environmental Quality regulations, neither of 

those bodies of law form the basis for the administrative denial of the Sanders FPDP. Idaho Code 

Title 39 Chapter 36 does not prohibit a city from adopting a floodplain ordinance and enforcing 

it as the City of McCall has done. Rather, chapter 36 implements water quality standards 

promulgated by the EPA as required by the Clean Water Act (CWA). 33 U.S.C.A. § 1313. The 

Applicant’s argument here completely ignores the State Disaster Preparedness Act which 

specifically encourages regulation of floodplains. Idaho Code §§ 46-1020 through 1024. 

 

III. Conclusion 

 

1. The City’s Floodplain Administrator has the authority to deny a FPDP that does not meet 

the standards of the City Code. 

2. The City’s Floodplain Regulations were approved by FEMA and are not in violation of 

the Idaho Constitution. 

3. The Sanders’ FPDP was properly denied because the proposed fill represents “harm” as 

defined under the McCall City Code, and therefore could not be permitted.  



White Peterson

To:
From:
Date:

Attorneys at Law
5700 E. Franklin Road, Suite 200

Nampa, ldaho 83687
Telephon'e: (208) 466-9272

Memorandum
Mayor and City Council, McCall' Idaho
Wm. L. Punkoneyo Wm. F. Nicholso White Peterson
March 19,2024

Re: Response to Appeal "Appellant's Opening Supplementul Brief In Support of
Granting F PDP-2 3 -0 I F loodplain Development Permit Application

Introduction:

The Appellant's position fundamentally misinterprets the regulatory framework

governing the management of floodplains and environmental protection within the City of
McCall, leading to incorrect conclusions on several critical points of contention.

1. First, contrary to the Appellant's assertions, the City of McCall's ordinances

unambiguously require a building permit for the placement of fill within the floodplain or

any other area.

2. Second, the Shoreline and River Environs Code is explicitly applicable to such activities,

underscoring the City's commitment to safeguarding its waterways.

3. Third, the Appellant's assertion that the placement of fiIl does not constitute "harm" is

incorrect. The City's ordinances clearly define harm to include the Appellant's proposed

filling of wetlands within the Floodplain Overlay Zone.

4. Federal law does not preempt the City's authority to regulate construction within the

Shoreline and River Environs Zone, in fact, the City's ordinance is authorized by state

and federal law.

In sum, the Appellant's arguments fail to recognize the comprehensive and lawful approach

employed by ihe City of McCall to balance development with environmental stewardship and

flood risk management. Accordingly, FPDP-23-01 was properly denied by the Floodplain

Administrator.

Analysis:

1. A Building Permit, while not required for placement of fill alone under Title II' is
required for placement of fill under Titte III.

i. Title II is relevant, but not controlling to the exclusion of Title III

The Appellant is correct that under Title II of the McCall City Code, the placement of fill
alone does not necessitate a building permit requirement. This is primarily because Title II, by



virtue of its underlying purpose and through its adoption of the International Building Code, is

geared towards the regulation of site preparation and the installation of structures and equipment

imxed to real property. It does not extend its regulatory scope to the broader use of land, which

includes activities r,t"'h u. the placement of fill. Consequently, the requirements under Title II are

focused on ensuring the safety, compliance, and integrity of buildings and structures from the

point of conception through to construction, rather than governing non-construction related land

alterations such as filling.

ii. Title III requires a building permit for grading and filling.

In opposition to the Appellant's argument that Title III of the McCall City Code does not

necessitate u b.tilding permit for the placement of fill, a thorough examination of the Code shows

otherwise. At the outiet of Title III, MCC 3.1.02(A) and (C) articulates the purpose of the Title,

explicitly stating that one of Title III's roles is to o'maintain and promote" the "natural beauty of
the surrounding lands and lakeshore" and to "regulate the use of land." This foundational

principle underscores the intention of Title III to govern not just the construction of structures

6ut any alterations to the land itself. MCC 3.1.05 reinforces this position by stipulating that no

land may be used or altered except in conformity with the requirements specified within Title

III.l Thi; comprehensive mandate clearly encompasses the placement of fill as an activity

requiring adherence to Title III's regulations.

To place this fact beyond any doubt, MCC 3.8.02(G) explicitly requires that "no

construction work, including grading, blasting, @g, trenching, tree removal, etc., may be

started" without first obtaining a valid building permit from the City of McCall. (emphasis

added). This clause directly links the act of filling- aform of construction work by the Code's

own definition - with the prerequisite of acquiring a buitding permit. This provision serves as a

clear legal basis for the argument that Title III does, in fact, mandate a building permit for

activities such as the placunent of fill, underscoring the Code's comprehensive approach to land

use regulation and its commitment to overseeing developments that impact the physical and

environmental character of the land within its jurisdiction.

That Title II does not require a building permit for placement of fiIl is immaterial. In this

context, Title II itself has little or no application because there is no current application for

placement of a structure on the land. As such, the detailed requirements under Title II pertaining

io site preparation to support a structure will not need to be complied with. If a building were

considered, then certain iegulations governing compaction and placement of fill become relevant

under Title IL That being the case has no bearing on the scope of Title III, which encompasses

the overall use of land -d hur more stringent prohibitions regarding land use and alteration than

does Title II.

l MCC 3.1.05(A) states in tull:
Conformance Required: Except as herein specified, no land, building, structure or premises, and no

part thereof, shaf hereafter bi used, and no building or part thereof, or other structures, shall be

located, erected, moved, reconstructed, extended, enlarged or altered except in conformity with the

requirements herein specified for the zone in which it is located; nor shall any yard, lot or open

space be reduced in dimensions or area to an amount less than the minimum requirements set forth

herein.



Z. The Shoreline and River Environs Code applies to FPDP-23-0L because a building

permit is required for placement of fill under Title III, and because the Shoreline

and River Environs code itself requires a building permit.

Appetlant argues that the Shoreline and River Environs Code (MCC 3.1.020 et seq.) does

not applybecause it only applies to activities requiring a building permit or conditional use

p"r-it, and that because tteii|er Title II nor Title III require a building permit, the requirements

within the zone do not apply. Based on that, Appellant argues, the only requirement is for

compliance with Title IX, Ctrapter 8, o'Flood Control Regulations (Overlay)." The Appellant's

analysis is incorrect.

The Shoreline and River Environs Code is unequivocally applicable to FPDP'23'01for

several compelling reasons that werooted in the regulatory framework provided by Title III of

the McCall bity Coa., as discussed in the previous section, and further supported by the specific

provisions within the Shoreline and River Environs Zone tegulations.

First, Title III's requirement for a building permit encompasses a wide range of
developmeni activities, inlluding the placement of fill, thereby establishing a foundational legal

basis for the applicabiliy of thelhoreline and River Environi Code to FPDP-23-01.2

Second, the Shoreline and River Environs Code's reach is explicitly designed to extend

beyond mere construction to include any alteration or development along Payette Lake's

shoreline and the Payette River's banks and vicinity, as clearly stated in MCC 3.7.020.3 This

provision underscores the ordinance's intent to oversee and regulate any actions that could

impact the ecological and aesthetic integrity of these areas.

Further reinforcing this perspective, MCC 3.7 .022(9) explicitly acknowledges that the

requirements set forth in iitle tk, Chapter 8, "Flood Control Regulations (overlay)'" operate in

conjunction with, and not instead oi the regulations delineated within the Shoreline and River

Environs Zone.a it do.r so by requiring that all conditions of Title IX, Chapter 8, be met prior to

issuance of a permit in the Shoreiine and River Environs Zone. This ensures that development

activities, inciuding filI placement, are subjected to a comprehensive evaluation that considers

both flood risk management and the preservation of shoreline and riverine environments. This

2 MCC 3.8.02(G); see also infra Section l.
3 MCC 3.7.020 states:

payette Lake and the North Fork of the Payette River are critical economic resources of the planning

luiisdiction, because they are the distinguishing features of this area making it a destination resort

for tourists and summei residents. It ii therefore the purpose of this section 3.7.02 to regulate

development along and alterations of the shoreline of Payette Lake and the banks and immediate

vicinity of the Payitte River in order to protect and maintain water quality, fish and wildlife habitat,

edge and forest habitato vistas, and public visual and physical access.
4 MCC 3,7,022: PERMITTED USES:

All those uses permitted in the underlying zones upon which this zone is superimposed shall be

permitted, p.ouid"d they satisff the special conditions set forth in this chapter, except that:

(B) No fuilding and no land filling shall be permitted within a floodway and no building

within an area of s-pecial flood hazard as such terms are defined in title IX, chapter 8, "Flood

Control Regulations (Overlay)", of this code, unless the applicant complies with the standards set

forth in that chapter.



goes hand in hand with MCC 9.8.043(9), which requires that local permits,including a building

iermit, are obtained prior to a floodplain developrnent permit being issued.s

Most crucially, MCC 3.7.023(8) states that no building permit shall be issued, nor ooany

development, grading, or alteration of any land within this zone permitted," unless specific

criteria ur. -.i.u This inctudes the act of filling which is a form of land alteration or development

necessitating compliance with the ordinance's criteria before such activities can proceed. It is

within this framework that the applicability of the Shoreline and River Environs Zoneto the

placement of filI in FPDP-23-01 becomes indisputable.

In short, the comprehensive regulatory approach embodied in Title III, alongside the

specific provisions of the Shoreline and River Environs Code, establish a clear and undeniable

legal foundation for the applicability of the Shoreline and River Environs Code to FPDP-23-01.

The ordinance not onty appties, but serves as a critical mechanism for ensuring that development

activities like the ptu""--ttt of fill are conducted in a manner that aligns with the overarching

goals of environmental stewardship, flood risk management, and the preservation of McCall's

unique natural landscapes.

3. The placement of fill constitutes harm to wetlands under MCC 3.7.023(C).

Appellant argues that, ooeven if a building permit is required and the Shoreline and River

Environs Zone ordinance is found to apply, the conclusion that FPDP-23-01's proposed

placement of fill material . . . constitutes oharm' is . . . unreasonable," and unsupportable. App''s

Opening Supp. Br. in Supp. of Granting FPDP-23-01,Pg.15. Appellant further argues that the

issuance of a Section 404 peimit allowing for placement of hll proves that no harm is caused.

The Appellant's analysis is incorrect. McCall City Code unambiguously identifies

deposit of fill and grading inwetlands within the Shoreline and River Environs Zone as "harm."

aitne outset, it is important to understand that a Section 404 permit requires choosing the ooleast

environmentally darnaging practicable alternative" to minimize the negative impacts of placing

fill in wetlands. 40 CFR ZJ|.f O(a). As such, the issuance of a Section 404 permitunder federal

regulations does not mean an activity, like filling in wetlands, isn't considered harmful.

The inclusion of a requirement for a Section404 permit within MCC 3.7.023(B)(3) does

not negate the fundamental piemise that the act of filling wetlands within the floodplain overlay

zone is harmful under the McCall City Code.7 Instead, the Section 404 permit requirement

should be understood as a necessary but not solely sufficient condition for proceeding with

development within the floodplain, ensuring that such activities are subject to federal oversight

and compliance with the Clean Water Act. However, requiring compliance with federal

5 MCC 9.g.0a3@) states as a requirement: "Certification that all other local, State, and Federal permits required prior

to floodplain development permit issuance have been received'"
6 MCC Z.l .OZZ(S) siates: "irlo conditional use or building permit shall be issued, nor is any development, grading, or

alteration of any land within this zone permitted, unless the applicant establishes to the satisfaction of the

commission and council in the case of a conditional use, or of the administrator in the case of a building permit, that
tt

7 MCC 3 .7 .023(8) states that as a requirement for development with the zone thal an applicant obtain a letter from a

wetlands specialist or a proof that a section 404 permit has been issued or is forlhcoming'



regulations, does not exempt development activities from local regulations prohibiting

"rrrrirorr-.ntal 
harm or from the local regulatory framework designed to protect wetland

ecosystems.

Even in instances where a Section 404 permit has been issued for the placement of fill in
wetlands within the shoreline and river environs zone, such actions unambiguously constitute

"harm" under the provisions of MC C 3 .7 .023(C) of the McCall City Code. This conclusion is

drawn from a straightforward definition of "harm," to include "the filling or dredging of lake

bottoms or wetlands."8 This definition is unequivocal and establishes a clear baseline against

*fti.fr "r"ti".tr affecting wetlands are measuredo even with the issuance of a Section 404 permit.

Moreover, MCC 3.1 .05(B) fortifies this argument by stipulating that in the event of any

conflict between provisions, "the more restrictive provisions shall prevail."(emphasis added).

This clause is instrumental in resolving any perceived ambiguity between the requirement to

obtain a Section 404 permit and the prohibition against placement of fill under MCC 3.7.023(C).

Given that MCC 3.7.023(C) specifically identifies fill placement in wetlands within the

floodplain overlay zone as harmful, this local regulation constitutes a more restrictive provision

that takes precedence, thereby reinforcing the stance that such activities, regardless of the

issuance of federal permits, are considered harmful under local law.

In essenceo the issuance of a Section 404 permit does not absolve the harm caused by

filling activities, as determined by City Code that explicitly defines and prohibit such harm to

wetlands. This interpretation aligns with the overarching intent of McCall's regulatory

framework to offer iobust protection to its natural landscapes, ensuringthatwetland areas remain

safeguarded from activities that could compromise their ecological function and value.

4. Neither Federal nor State Law prohibit a City from regulating the use of land

within its floodplain.

Appellant argues that the City of McCall has exceeded its authority under Idaho law

because ii imposes riquirements on applicants beyond that of the Clean Water Act, which is

prohibited byldaho Law. As authority for this, the Appellant cites to Idaho Code $ 39-3601,

which states:

It is the intent of the legislature that the state of Idaho fully meet the goals and

requirements of the federal clean water act and that the rules promulgated under

this chapter not impose requirements beyond those of the federal clean water act.

The Appellant's analysis is incorrect. The Clean Water Act's purpose is solely related to

the preservation of water as a resource, and Idaho Code Title 39 Chapter 36 entitled o'Water

quality" focuses solely on the preservation of water quality, making no mention of floodplains

oi preservation of wetlands. As such, Title 39 Chapter 36 outlines policies and procedures for

maintaining water quality and details the roles and responsibilities of various entities in
managing and protecting water resources in Idaho. In doing so, it places limitations on those

8 MCC 3.7.023(C). (emphasis added).



entities responsible for preserving water quality, which does not affect the City's authority to

regulate floodplains or wetlands.

The City of McCall's authority to regulate floodplains and wetland fiIl operations derives,

in significant part, from its participation in the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP). The

NFIF, established by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), conditions the

availability of flood insurance on the adoption and enforcement of floodplain management

ordinances by local governments. These ordinances are designed to mitigate the risks associated

with flood hazards und ur" integral to the NFIP's broader objectives of reducing loss of life and

property damage due to flooding. The program encourages communities to exceed the minimum

floodplain management standards set by FEMA, thereby affording local governments

considerable latiiude to implement measures tailored to their specific needs and wlnerabilities.

In fact, McCall's floodplain management ordinances were adopted as a precondition of
participation in the NFIP, and are substantially in the form required by the federal government

for participation in the NFIP.

Furthermore, the State Disaster Preparedness Act specifically encourages regulation of

(emphasis added).

In this context, the City of McCall's ordinances regulating the placement of fill within
floodplains and wetlands can be seen as complementary to, rather than in conflict with, the

requiiements of the CWA and the NFIP. The City's regulations not only align with the spirit of
federal environmental protection efforts but also fulfill the mandate of the NFIP by adopting

local measures that enhance floodplain management, which includes preservation of the

floodplain.

In short, neither Federal nor State law preempts the City of McCall's exercise of its

regulatory authority over floodplain management. The City's ordinances represent alocalized
reJponse to the challenges of flood risk and environmental protection, reinforced by the NFIP's

requirements for community participation.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the appellant's challenges to the necessity of a building permit for fill
placement, the applicability of the Shoreline and River Environs Code, the definition of "harm"

io wetlands, and the alleged preemption by state and federal law are found to be without merit.

Through a careful interpretation of the City of McCall's ordinances, it is evident that the City's



regulations are designed to promote sustainable development, protect public safety and natural

."Jo,r...r, and mitigate flood risks in alignment with both the spirit and the letter of broader

environmental and iloodplain tnanag"ment objectives set forth at the federal and state levels. The

City's approach not only adheres to but enhances the regulatory framework provided by the

Clean Water Act and the National Flood Insurance Program, ensuring that local actions

contribute positively to overarching goals of environmental preservation and community safety.

As such, the appellant's positions arerefuted, affirming the City's authoritY and responsibility to

regulate activiiies within its floodplains and shorelines for the welfare of its community and the

prltection of its natural environment. Accordingly, FPDP-23-01 was properly denied, and the

Floodplain Administrator's determination should be affirmed by the City Council.

White, Peterson, Gigray, & Nichols' P.A.

Wm. L. Punkoney

m.



APPELLANT’S OPENING SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF GRANTING FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 1 
 

 
Mailing Address:  P.O. Box 1066, McCall, ID  83638 

Physical Address:  706 North First St., McCall, ID  83638 
  

STEVEN J. MILLEMANN (sjm@mpmplaw.com)  TELEPHONE (208) 634-7641 
AMY N. PEMBERTON (amy@mpmplaw.com)  FACSIMILE (208) 634-4516 
AMY K. HOLM (aholm@mpmplaw.com) 
JEANNE C. BAUGHMAN (jbaughman@mpmplaw.com) 
HANNAH R. DRABINSKI (hdrabinski@mpmplaw.com) 
FREDERICK CORIELL (fcoriell@mpmplaw.com)  
 

APPELLANT’S OPENING SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF GRANTING 
FPDP-23-01 

March 1, 2024 

City of McCall 
McCall City Clerk and Council 
216 East Park Street 
McCall, Idaho 83638 

Re: Supplemental Briefing Requested for Appeal of FPDP-23-01 Floodplain Development 
Permit Application for River’s Crossing Lot 19 Block 2, Application filed January 23, 2023, 
Administrative Denial emailed March 31, 2023, Planning & Zoning Commission Findings of 
Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decision upholding the Administrative Denial dated November 
13, 2023. 

Dear Madam Clerk and Councilmembers: 

 On behalf of Dwain and Cindy Sanders, we submit this supplemental legal brief in 
accordance with the decision of McCall City Council to accept supplemental briefing on the 
issues raised in the appeal of FPDP-23-01 of the McCall Area Planning and Zoning 
Commission’s Findings of Facts, Conclusions of Law, and Decision dated November 13, 2023.  
McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission upheld the Administrator’s Denial of Floodplain 
Development Permit Application FPDP-23-01, dated March 31, 2023.  During the appeal to City 
Council which hearing was held on February 8, 2023, Council requested additional legal 
analysis; therefore, we provide the following Appellant’s Opening Supplemental Brief in support 
of our request that these decisions be reversed and that City Council grant FPDP-23-01. 

mailto:sjm@mpmplaw.com
mailto:amy@mpmplaw.com
mailto:aholm@mpmplaw.com
mailto:jbaughman@mpmplaw.com
mailto:hdrabinski@mpmplaw.com
mailto:fcoriell@mpmplaw.com


APPELLANT’S OPENING SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF GRANTING FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 2 
 

Chart Summarizing this Process: 

Title Description City/Federal Action, if any 
CLOMR Conditional Letter of Map 

Revision 
 
January 23, 2023, Sanders applied 
for FPDP-23-01 as part of 
CLOMR application to begin the 
process of removing a 0.48-acre 
portion of their 5.3-acre property 
from the special flood hazard area 
 
Community Acknowledgement 
form asks City Administrator to 
confirm project as proposed 
would comply with Local 
floodplain regulations 

FPDF-23-01 denied 
 
CLOMR unsigned by City 
Administrator on the grounds 
that FPDP denied, (12/7/2022 
letter from Forsgren and 
Associates to Brian Parker 
requesting signature on 
Community 
Acknowledgement Form, 
CLOMR project narrative, 
supporting documents) 

Nation Wide Permit  
No. 29 “404 Permit” 

This is a U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers permit granted to the 
Sanders - certain project activities 
subject to mitigation requirements 
by Sanders: 
 
Activities include discharge of fill 
material within wetlands, 968 
cubic yards of fill material into 
0.15-acres of jurisdictional 
wetlands 

8/29/2020 Joint Application 
for Nation Wide Permit 
 
9/1/2020 NWP authorized by 
U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers 
 
4/11/2022 NWP extended 12 
months  
 
12/8/2023 Authorization 
confirmed by U.S. Army 
Corps of Engineers  

Place fill With the CLOMR and FPDF-
23-01 in hand, Sanders will 
place fill, 968 cubic yards of fill 
material into 0.15-acres of 
jurisdictional wetlands  

 

LOMR Letter of Map Revision  
 
This would revise FEMA’s Flood 
Insurance Rate Map  

 

 



APPELLANT’S OPENING SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF GRANTING FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 3 
 

I. 
ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL 

1. Whether the McCall City Code requires a building permit in addition to a floodplain 
development permit when the applicant proposes only to place fill within a special flood 
hazard area in aid of the CLOMR process and pursuant to a Section 404 permit. 
 

2. Whether the Shoreline and River Environs Ordinance applies to FPDD-23-01. 
 

3. Assuming the Shorelines and River Environs Ordinance applies to FPDP-23-01, whether 
the record below supports the Administrator’s and P&Z’s Findings and Conclusion that 
the proposed placement of fill into jurisdictional wetlands1 unconditionally constitutes 
“harm” as defined by MCC 3.7.023(C), notwithstanding that a Clean Water Act Section 
404 permit has been issued to place such fill.  
 

4. Whether the Administrator and P&Z imposed conditions on FPDP-23-01 that are beyond 
those required for this Section 404 permit and therefore violated both Article XII § 2 of 
the Idaho Constitution and Idaho Code § 50-301.  

II. 
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

 An applicant who complies with all applicable permit criteria and procedures cannot be 
denied their permit. Yet that is exactly what has happened to the Sanders in their application for 
FPDP-23-01. By imposing the additional requirement to obtain a building permit and subjecting 
FPDP-23-01 to the Shoreline and River Environs Zone—neither of which apply to a floodplain 
development permit proposing only to place fill in the special flood hazard area in aid of the 
Conditional Letter of Map Revision application process—the Administrator and McCall Area 
Planning and Zoning Commission (“P&Z”) denied the Sanders’ their right to a fair proceeding in 
applying for FPDP-23-01. 

 As the Administrator and P&Z found, FPDP-23-01 met all requirements in Title IX, 
Chapter 8 to obtain a floodplain development permit except for MCC 9.8.043(A)(1)(g). That 
section requires “certification that all other local, State, and Federal permits required prior to 
floodplain development permit issuance have been received.” However, according to P&Z, “the 
applicant has not received a building permit as required . . . [b]ecause the application has not 
demonstrated compliance with the Shoreline and River Environs Requirements for 
Development.” Although the Sanders have obtained all other necessary permits, the 
Administrator and P&Z erroneously believed that a building permit was required, and even if 

 
1 The term “jurisdictional wetlands” is used to define wetlands that meet the definition of waters of the United States 
as that term applies to 33 U.S.C. § 1344(g)(1). See Sacket v. Envtl. Prot. Agency, 143 S. Ct. 1322 (2023). 



APPELLANT’S OPENING SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF GRANTING FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 4 
 

one was required, erroneously found that the proposed placement of fill will create “harm” as 
defined by McCall Code Section 3.7.023(C)(2).  

 A building permit is required to construct a building, not to place a small amount of fill 
within the special flood hazard area for the sole purpose of obtaining a Conditional Letter of Map 
Revision—and eventually a Letter of Map Revision to remove a portion of the Sanders’ property 
from the special flood hazard area. Nor is FPDP-23-01 subject to the Shoreline and River 
Environs Zone. That ordinance applies only to development triggering design review and 
requiring a building permit or conditional use permit, and only prohibits “building within the 
area of special flood hazard . . . unless the applicant complies with the standards” in Title IX, 
Chapter 8. Because no building, structure, or development subject to design review is proposed 
by FPDP-23-01, compliance with the Shoreline and River Environs Zone Ordinance is not a 
required permit criterion in Title IX, Chater 8 for FPDP-23-01.    

 That leaves the Administrator’s and P&Z’s decision on the false reliance and incorrect 
finding that placing fill in waters of the United States pursuant to a validly issued Section 404 
permit unconditionally causes “harm” to wetlands. Even if compliance with the Shoreline and 
River Environs Zone is a required permit criterion, the record below and the Section 404 permit 
clearly establish that the proposed placement of fill will not “harm” 0.15-acres of wetlands. 
Indeed, the Sanders’ Section 404 permit requires them to complete compensatory mitigation for 
impacts to the wetlands by enhancing and establishing 0.30 acres of new wetlands on their parcel 
in accordance with the approved Sanders Property Rivers Crossing Subdivision Mitigation Plan 
dated October 17, 2023 (“Mitigation Plan”).2 That requirement alone is sufficient not to find 
“harm” to jurisdictional wetlands. 

 Finally, the Administrator’s and P&Z’s denials lead to the inescapable conclusion that the 
City of McCall is imposing requirements beyond those of the federal clean water act with respect 
to FPDP-23-01. Although the CWA sets the national floor for regulating the discharge of 
pollutants into waters of the United States, Idaho law prohibits municipalities from regulating 
such discharges more stringently than the CWA. Hence, if the City of McCall finds FPDP-23-01 
will cause harm to jurisdictional wetlands when the sole activity proposed is authorized and 
subject to the conditions of a validly issued Section 404 permit, including a Section 401 water 
quality certification by the Idaho Department of Environmental Quality, it necessarily imposes 
more stringent regulation than the CWA. Such a finding is void as a matter of law, and therefore 
is not a valid criterion to impose on FPDP-23-01. 

Because FPDP-23-01 meets all criteria for a floodplain development permit, the decisions 
below must be reversed, and FPDP-23-01 granted. 

 

 
 

2 A copy of the Mitigation Plan is attached hereto as Exhibit A and Exhibit B. 



APPELLANT’S OPENING SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF GRANTING FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 5 
 

III. 
FACTS AND PERMITTING PROCESS 

A. Conditional Letter of Map Revision Process 

Dwain and Cindy Sanders simply desire to elevate a portion of their residential property 
out of the floodplain using a federally recognized process called a Letter of Map Revision 
(“LOMR”). In January 2023, the Sanders applied for FPDP-23-01 as part of a Conditional Letter 
of Map Revision (“CLOMR”) application to begin the process of removing a 0.48-acre portion 
of their 5.3-acre property from the special flood hazard area. This process is administered by the 
Federal Emergency Management Agency (“FEMA”) and recognized by McCall City Code in 
Title IX, Chapter 8. The purpose of a LOMR is to revise FEMA’s Flood Insurance Rate Map 
(“FIRM”). In this case, the Sanders must first obtain a CLOMR because they propose physical 
modifications to the floodplain that will cause an increase of greater than one foot in the special 
flood hazard area. Unlike a LOMR, a CLOMR does not cause revision of an effective FIRM. 
Rather, a CLOMR is a letter to the Community Official (in MCC the Administrator is tasked 
with this) responsible for floodplain management that describes expected changes resulting from 
the project and states whether such changes would be in accordance with the National Flood 
Insurance Program regulations. In addition, a CLOMR applicant must show proposed activities 
will comply with the Endangered Species Act. 

After a CLOMR is issued, and the proposed floodplain modifications are completed, the 
Sanders can request a LOMR to revise the FIRM. This process is recognized in Title IX, Chapter 
8 of the McCall City Code and is consistent with the Idaho Disaster Preparedness Act’s purpose 
“[t]o encourage the orderly development and wise use of floodplains.”3 

The Sanders’ CLOMR application cannot be completed unless the Community Official 
responsible for floodplain management—the McCall City Planner—acknowledges that the 
“proposed project meets or is designed to meet all of the community floodplain management 
requirements . . . and that all necessary Federal, State, and local permits have been, or in the 
cases of a condition LOMR, will be obtained.” Even though the Sanders have obtained all 
necessary Federal and State permits, the Community Official has failed to acknowledge the 
application because the Administrator and P&Z erroneously contend that a building permit is 
required but cannot be issued for the development activities proposed in FPDP-23-01. 

 

 

 

 
3 I.C. § 46-1020(2)(f); see MCC 9.9.02 (defining LOMR and CLOMR); MCC 9.8.053(A)(3) (“The 
applicant/developer shall submit an application for a Conditional Letter of Map Revision (CLOMR) prior to 
preliminary plat approval and have obtained a Letter of Map Revision (LOMR) prior to any building permits for 
structures being issued.”). 



APPELLANT’S OPENING SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF GRANTING FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 6 
 

B. Section 404 of the Clean Water Act – Nationwide Permit No. 29 

The federal Clean Water Act prohibits the discharge of pollutants into waters of the 
United States without a permit.4 Section 404 of the CWA governs the discharge of “dredged or 
fill material into the navigable waters at specified disposal sites,” including jurisdictional 
wetlands.5 The Army Corps of Engineers may “issue general permits . . . on a nationwide basis 
for any category of activities involving discharges of dredged of fill material if . . . the activities 
in such category are similar in nature[,] . . . will cause only minimal adverse environmental 
effects when performed separately, and will have only a minimal cumulative adverse effect on 
the environment.”6 A Nationwide Permit Number 29 (“NWP No. 29”) is one such general permit 
and authorizes, among other things, the construction of building pads necessary for residential 
development.7 

As part of the CLOMR application, as well as the application for FPDP-23-01, the 
Sanders applied for and were issued an NWP No. 29.8 This permit is a “necessary Federal 
permit” because the proposed activities will modify the floodplain by discharging 968 cubic 
yards of fill material into 0.15-acres of jurisdictional wetlands to construct a building pad. Aside 
from compliance with both the general and regional conditions for an NWP No. 29 permit, the 
Sanders must also comply with three Special Conditions specific to the activities proposed on 
their property.  

Special Condition 1 requires mitigation for the impacts to 0.15-acres of jurisdictional 
wetlands by constructing 0.30-acres of new wetland on the Sanders’ property in accordance with 
the Mitigation Plan. Thus, activities required under FPDP-23-01 will result in a net gain of 
wetland acreage adjacent to undisturbed wetlands along the North Fork Payette River. 

Special Condition 2 requires the Sanders to submit monitoring reports for three years or 
“until the Corps has determined the mitigation site has met its performance standards” as 
described in the Mitigation Plan.  

Special Condition 3 requires the Sanders to take responsibility for all work done by any 
contractor and ensure that such contractors comply with all general, regional and special 
conditions in the permit. Failure to comply with all terms and conditions of a Section 404 permit 
can result in civil or criminal enforcement action and significant fines.9  

 
4 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a) (“Except as in compliance with this section and sections 1312, 1316, 1317, 1328, 1342, 
and 1344 of this title, the discharge of any pollutant by any person shall be unlawful.”). 
5 33 U.S.C. § 1344(a); see also 33 C.F.R. § 323.2 (defining “discharge of dredged material” and “discharge of fill 
material”). 
6 33 U.S.C. § 1344(e). 
7 See 86 Fed. Reg. 2744, 2784-85 (Jan 13, 2021). 
8 In 2020, the Sanders obtained this same permit for a separate application process. Although that permit expired 
because the Sanders were unsuccessful in that application process, the Corp issued a substantially similar NWP No. 
29 permit on December 8, 2023.  
9 See 33 C.F.R. § 326.6. 



APPELLANT’S OPENING SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF GRANTING FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 7 
 

C. Section 401 Water Quality Certification Issued by the State of Idaho 

Section 401 of the CWA allows States and authorized Tribal Nations to grant, deny, or 
waive water quality certification of federal permits authorizing the discharge of dredged or fill 
material into federally regulated waters within their borders.10 These certifications ensure that 
projects comply with state water quality standards and any other water quality requirements 
under state law. Absent a certification or waiver, a Section 404 permit, such as an NWP No. 29, 
cannot be issued.11 

The Idaho Department of Environmental Quality (“IDEQ”) has issued a Section 401 
Water Quality Certification for the NWP No. 29 general permit provided that the proposed 
activities do not cause loss of more than 300 linear feet of streambed or loss of more than 0.5-
acres of jurisdictional wetlands. As part of the certification, the permittee must comply with 
additional state-specific conditions that are set forth in IDEQ’s letter attached to the Sanders’ 
Section 404 permit. The CWA authorizes these conditions, which are designed to prevent 
degradation of Idaho’s surface water resources, including the North Fork Payette River. Since the 
Sanders’ Section 404 permit authorizes the discharge of fill material into only 0.15 acres of 
jurisdiction wetlands, it meets Idaho’s Section 401 Water Quality Certification for NWP No. 29 
general permits provided the Sanders comply with the state-specific conditions.  

D. Floodplain Development Permits are Regulated under MCC 

If the Sanders cannot develop within the Floodplain despite their compliance with local 
and federal requirements, it makes the McCall City Code and application process for a permit to 
develop in the floodplain entirely useless.   

The City of McCall regulates floodplain development under Title IX, Chapter 8 the 
McCall City Code pursuant to its authority under the Idaho Disaster Preparedness Act, Idaho 
Code §46-1001, et seq. The provisions in Chapter 8 are designed to, among other things, 
“[p]rotect human life, health, and property; . . . [h]elp maintain a stable tax base by providing for 
the sound use and development of flood prone areas; . . . [e]nsure potential buyers are notified 
the property is in an area of special flood hazard; and [e]nsure those who occupy the areas of 
special flood hazard assume responsibility for their actions.” 

To accomplish its purpose, Chapter 8 includes “methods and provisions” to “[c]ontrol 
filling, grading, dredging, and other development which may increase flood damage or erosion” 
and “[p]reserve and restore natural floodplains, stream channels, and natural protective barriers 
which carry and store flood waters.” Chapter 8 defines the special flood hazard area as “land in 
the floodplain subject to a one percent (1%) or greater chance of flooding in any given year. The 
combined definitions of “development” and “development activity” in Chapter 8 are nearly 

 
10 33 U.S.C. § 1341(a). 
11 Id. 



APPELLANT’S OPENING SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF GRANTING FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 8 
 

identical to the Idaho Disaster Preparedness Act. Clearly, “development”12 for purposes of Title 
IX, Chapter 8 includes the placement of fill material as proposed by FPDP-23-01. 

Title IX, Chapter 8 establishes procedures for authorizing both “development” and 
“development activities” in the special flood hazard area, including requiring a floodplain 
development permit. Under MCC 9.8.042(A), the Administrator has a duty to “[r]eview all 
floodplain development applications and issue permits for all proposed development within the 
special flood hazard areas to assure that the requirements of this chapter have been satisfied . . . 
[and] that all necessary local, State, and Federal permits have been received, including section 
404 of the [CWA].” In other words, if the floodplain development permit meets the requirements 
of Title IX, Chapter 8, the Administrator has no discretion to deny it.  

E. FPDP-23-01 

With respect to FPDP-23-01, the Administrator and P&Z concluded that it met all the 
requirements of Title IX, Chapter 8 except for one: the a floodplain development applicant must 
certify to the Administrator that “all other local, State, and Federal permits required prior to 
floodplain development permit issuance have been received.”13 However, despite meeting all 
other requirements, including receiving a Section 404 permit, the Administrator denied FPDP-
23-01 because all necessary “local” permits had not been received. Although correct in finding 
the “provisions of Title 9 authorizing FDP’s specifically subordinate and subjugate such permits 
to other applicable standards within the McCall City Code,” the Administrator incorrectly 
reasoned that Title III was applicable to this floodplain development permit. Specifically, the 
Administrator denied FPDP-23-01 because: 1) no building permit had been issued; 2) the 
proposed development would cause unpermitted “harm,” as defined in MCC 3.7.023(C)(2); and 
3) because no building permit application or Shoreline and River Environs Design Review 
application had been submitted, any site grading would be in excess of the minimum necessary 
for development of the site.  

The Sanders appealed to P&Z, which also denied FPDP-23-01. Similar to the 
Administrator’s decision, P&Z found that FPDP-23-01 required a building permit and that one 
could not be obtained because “the application has not demonstrated compliance with the 
Shoreline and River Environs Requirements for Development.” P&Z reasoned that “the facts in 

 
12 The Act defines “development” as: 

any man-made change to improved or unimproved real estate, including, but not limited to, the 
construction of buildings, structures or accessory structures, or the construction of additions or 
substantial improvements to buildings, structures or accessory structures; the placement of mobile 
homes; mining, dredging, filling, grading, paving, excavation or drilling operations; and the 
deposition or extraction of materials; specifically including the construction of dikes, berms and 
levees.12  

 
13 MCC 9.8.043(A)(1)(g) 



APPELLANT’S OPENING SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF GRANTING FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 9 
 

the record show that the proposed development” will create “harm as defined in McCall Code 
Section 3.7.023(C)(2),” and offered three bases for finding such “harm”: 1) excessive clearing of 
natural vegetation or change in natural land forms within the area between the . . . high-water 
mark and the fifty-foot (50’) [building] setback line; 2) removal, burial, or destruction in whole 
or in part of . . . other features of the . . . high water mark, the land below the same, or the 
immediate upland edge; and 3) the filling or dredging of lake bottom or wetlands. 

The decisions by the Administrator and P&Z apply the Shoreline and River Environs 
Zone to FPDP-23-01. But because both decisions found “harm,” a building permit could not be 
issued, which caused FPDP-23-01 to be denied because “all necessary local . . . permits” had not 
been received. Although the Sanders applied for a building permit to place the proposed fill 
material, they contend that application of the Shoreline and River Environs Zone ordinance as 
well as the requirement for a building permit are unreasonable interpretations of the McCall City 
Code. Additionally, the Sanders contend that even if the SREZ ordinance applies, the record 
below, including issuance of a Section 404 permit, fails to support any reasonable or lawful basis 
for finding “harm” to the jurisdictional wetlands on their property. 

IV. 
STANDARD OF REVIEW 

 When the McCall City Council (“Council”) reviews a “notice of appeal” of P&Z’s 
decision to deny a floodplain development permit, “proceedings before the council shall be on 
the record made below.”14 Although McCall City Code does not require any particular standard 
of review when Council acts in an appellate role, it does mandate Council not to solicit, accept, 
or consider new or additional facts or evidence that are outside the record made below.15 In 
addition, Council’s appellate review should, at a minimum, focus on the reasonableness of the 
decisions being reviewed. Under the Idaho Administrative Procedures Act (“IDAPA”) review 
includes whether the decision below was:   

1. In violation of constitutional or statutory provisions [or local ordinances]; 
2. In excess of the statutory authority of the agency [or P&Z]; 
3. Made on unlawful procedure; 
4. Not supported by substantial evidence on the record as a whole; or 
5. Arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion. 

The IDAPA standards of review are well-established and provide a robust framework 
from which Council can determine the reasonableness of the decisions below.  

MCC 3.15.08(A) expressly requires review “on the record made below,” indicating that 
Council’s review is appellate in nature, and based on the findings and conclusions of the prior 

 
14 MCC 3.15.08(A) (emphasis added); see also MCC 3.15.01(B) (“[T]he procedures in this chapter apply to . . . 
other land use decisions referenced by . . . Title IX of this code.”); MCC 9.9.07. 
15 See MCC 3.15.08(A). 



APPELLANT’S OPENING SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF GRANTING FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 10 
 

decision-maker. Finally, under MCC 3.15.08(D), Council must ultimately “[g]rant or deny the 
appeal or the permit.” As no authority exists to impose additional conditions on FPDP-23-01, 
Council’s review is limited to the four corners of the decisions below. 

Whatever standard of review is used, the Sanders request that Council expressly 
articulate it and provide the reasoning for choosing it. This small step ensures not just a complete 
record but also the Sanders’ rights to fair procedure, notice, and unbiased decision making are 
protected.   

Council must also make its decision in the time required by McCall City Code. “After the 
hearing has been held, the council may” delay its decision “for no longer than sixty (60) days . . . 
for further study or hearing,” and must “[g]rant or deny the appeal . . . no later than sixty (60) 
days from the date of the hearing.”16 Here, the hearing was held on February 8, 2024. Council 
chose to delay its decision for further study by requesting supplemental briefing from the 
applicant. Therefore, a decision to grant or deny FPDP-23-01 must be rendered no later than 
April 8, 2024. 

V. 
ARGUMENT 

A. FPDP-23-01 and the Placement of Fill Does Not Require a Building Permit. 

The threshold issue is whether a building permit is required to obtain FPDP-23-01. If not, 
the Shoreline and River Environs Zone does not apply, and all permit criteria applicable to 
FPDP-23-01 are found within Title IX, Chapter 8. As discussed below, a plain reading of the 
unambiguous provisions in the McCall City Code requires this result. The Administrator’s and 
P&Z’s misapplication of these provisions is unreasonable because it leads to the absurd result 
that anyone placing fill material on their property—e.g. whether for gardening, composting, or 
children’s sandboxes—must obtain a building permit before doing so. The McCall City Code 
does not give the Administrator discretion to require building permits for some things and not 
others. Rather the activities that require a building permit are unambiguously defined in Title II, 
and not Title III or Title IX. Under a plain reading of the McCall City Code, FPDP-23-01, which 
seeks only to place fill within the special flood hazard area—a portion of which is jurisdiction 
wetlands—in aid of a CLOMR application, requires only 1) a Section 404 permit and 2) a 
floodplain development permit.   

“The objective in interpreting a statute or ordinance is to derive the intent of the 
legislative body that adopted the act.”17 If the ordinance is unambiguous, the clearly expressed 
intent of the legislative body must be given effect, and there is no occasion to consider the rules 
of statutory construction.”18 Although an ordinance is ambiguous where reasonable minds might 

 
16 MCC 3.15.08(D)(2). 
17 Friends of Farm to Market v. Valley County, 137 Idaho 192, 197, 46 P.3d 9, 14 (2002) (citing Ada County v. 
Gibson, 126 Idaho 854, 856, 893 P.2d 801, 803 (Ct. App. 1995). 
18 Id.  



APPELLANT’S OPENING SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF GRANTING FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 11 
 

differ or be uncertain as to the its meaning, it is not ambiguous just because the parties disagree 
as to the meaning.19 If an ordinance is ambiguous, the rules of statutory construction may guide 
the interpretation and the decision maker may consider the reasonableness of the proposed 
interpretations.20 “All sections of applicable statutes must be construed together so as to 
determine the legislature’s intent,” and be read so that “no part is rendered superfluous or 
insignificant.”21 

A floodplain development permit to place fill pursuant to Section 404 permit in aid of a 
the CLOMR application process does not also require a building permit. Rather, building permits 
are required for the “construction, improvement, extension, alteration or demolition of any 
building, residence or structure” falling under the jurisdiction of the City of McCall.22 As 
defined by MCC 3.2.02, a building permit is: 

A permit pursuant to title II of [the McCall City Code], including without 
limitation the international building code adopted by that title. Such permits shall 
be issued only if the activity to be permitted conforms to title II and this title. 
Building permits are issued by the city building department. (emphasis supplied).  

Thus, McCall City Code is unambiguous that Title II defines when and for what activities 
a building permit is required. Title III does not because it explicitly places that burden on Title II.   

Title II is named and deals exclusively with “Building Regulations,” and is known as the 
“MCCALL AREA BUILDING REGULATIONS.” With few exceptions, it applies to “all building 
and construction within the McCall Area.”23 Title II expressly incorporates definitions from the 
Idaho Building Code Act (“IBCA”). The IBCA defines “construction” as “the erection, 
fabrication, reconstruction, demolition, alteration, conversion, or repair of a building or the 
installation of equipment therein normally a part of the structure.”24 [Emphasis Added]. 
Similarly, Title II defines “building” as “[a]ny structure used or intended for supporting or 
sheltering any use or occupancy.”25 It defines “structure” as “[a]nything constructed or erected, 
the use of which requires location on the ground or attachments to something having a fixed 
location on the ground,” which includes things like “buildings . . . walls, fences, decks, patios, 
satellite dishes, billboards, fuel tanks . . . and piers.” 

True, not all structures are inhabited buildings, but structures, as defined by Title II, are 
“constructed or erected” assemblages of components located on the ground or attached to 
something located on the ground, the precise design and shape of which performs a specific 

 
19 Ada County v. Gibson, 126 Idaho 854, 856, 893 P.2d 801, 803 (Ct. App. 1995) (citing Matter of Permit No. 36-
7200, 121 Idaho 819, 823, 828 P.2d 848, 852 (1992)). 
20 Id. 
21 Friends of Farm to Market, 137 Idaho at 197, 46 P.3d at 14. 
22 MCC 2.1.040; MCC 2.1.010. 
23 MCC 2.1.050 
24 I.C. § 39-4105(4). 
25 MCC 2.1.060. 



APPELLANT’S OPENING SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF GRANTING FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 12 
 

function, use, or purpose above the ground. Fill material placed in a floodplain for the specific 
purpose of removing a portion of real property from the special flood hazard area is not a Title II 
structure. Rather, it is simply piles of dirt. Although a Title II structure may someday be 
constructed or erected on top of the fill material, that does not transform the fill material into a 
structure. Unlike the list of things that are structures, which are located on the ground, the very 
purpose of the fill material is to create the ground. In any event, if the fill material is deemed a 
structure, then anyone who erects raised garden beds, builds a compost heap, or constructs a 
sandbox must obtain a building permit from the Building Department.  That result creates an 
absurdity of statutory interpretation.   

The Administrator’s and P&Z’s decision rely entirely on a finding that the “applicant has 
not received a building permit as required by McCall Code Section 3.8.02(G).” Although this 
section prohibits starting “construction work, including grading, blasting, filling, trenching, tree 
removal, etc.” without a building permit, it does not define the activities for which a building 
permit is required. As just noted, a building permit is “a permit pursuant to Title II,” which 
defines the activities requiring a building permit. According to the express terms of the McCall 
City Code, a building permit is not a permit pursuant to Title III. Indeed, construction work as 
defined by Title II’s incorporation of the IBCA pertains to a building or something attached to a 
building. Therefore, McCall City Code unambiguously requires an applicant who is constructing 
or erecting “any building, residence or structure” to obtain a building permit—which may be 
subject to additional criteria depending on the location and type of structure—before beginning 
the construction work. Since FPDP-23-01’s fill material is not any of these things, it does not 
require a building permit. 

i. Other McCall City Code sections support this finding.   

Similarly, other sections in Title III make clear that building permits are required “for 
structures” and not just “any development” activity occurring on real property. For example, the 
Shoreline and River Environs Zone ordinance requires certain criteria be met before “any 
development, grading or alteration of any land within this zone” occurs pursuant to a “building 
permit.”26 This does not mean that a building permit is required for “any development.”27  It 
means that a person seeking to build something requiring a building permit cannot start the 
construction work without a building permit.28 The Scenic Route Zone ordinance operates the 

 
26 MCC 3.7.023(B). 
27 The “Requirements for Development” in the Shoreline and River Environs Zone arguable narrow the definition of 
development to development requiring design review under Title III, Chapter 16. The purpose of Title III, Chapter 
16 “is to specify the process whereby new construction and remodeling of structures, landscaping, lighting, and 
public amenities are reviewed for compliance with development and design standards prescribed in title 3 ‘Planning 
and Zoning’ and title 9 ‘Subdivision And Development Of The MCC.’” MCC 3.16.01. 
28 See MCC 3.7.021 (“If any portion of a structure lies within this zone, then the total structure shall be deemed to 
be within this zone.”); MCC 3.7.022(B) (“[N]o building within an area of special flood hazard . . . unless the 
applicant complies with the standards set forth in” Title IX, Chapter 8); MCC 3.7.022(C) (“Any structure, wholly or 
partially within this zone . . . is subject to design review and approval under chapter 16 . . . notwithstanding that 
portions of the structure are not on land that is within this zone.”)  



APPELLANT’S OPENING SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF GRANTING FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 13 
 

same way. It requires additional scrutiny of activities subject to a building permit and prohibits 
site work and other construction work until the building permit is issued.29 

As is relevant here, Title IX, Chapter 8 requires a floodplain development permit before 
commencing a “development activity,” as that term is defined by Title IX, Chapter 8, within the 
special flood hazard area. It does not, like Title III, define when and for what activities a building 
permit is required.30 Certainly, a structure proposed in the special flood hazard area requires both 
a floodplain development permit and a building permit. But that is a fundamentally different 
scenario than “development activity” that falls outside the purview of Title II. In fact, Title IX, 
Chapter 8 defines “development activity” as “[a]ny activity defined as development which will 
necessitate a floodplain development permit; such as: the construction of buildings, structures, or 
accessory structures; additions or substantial improvements to existing structures; . . . or the 
deposition or extraction of materials.” This definition simply states that depositing materials in 
the special flood hazard area requires a flood plain development permit. It does define when or 
for which activities a building permit is required. That task is reserved for Title II. So, if 
development activity is placing fill upon wetlands in conjunction with constructing or erecting a 
structure, then yes, a building permit—including all other applicable criteria—would be required. 

But here, there is no “construction, improvement, extension, alteration or demolition of 
any building, residence or structure” proposed in FPDP-23-01. The only activity is placing fill in 
aid of the CLOMR process pursuant to a Section 404 permit. Because the activity proposed in 
FPDP-23-01 does not fall under the purview of Title II, it does not require a building permit.  
The City Council should find that no building permit was required and reverse the Planning & 
Zoning Commission and Administrator on this issue. 

B. The Shoreline and River Environs Zone Ordinance Does Not Apply to FPDP-23-01. 

The Shoreline and River Environs Zone ordinance only applies to activities that require 
design review and a building permit or conditional use permit or both. The purpose of this 
zoning overlay is to “regulate development along and alterations of . . . the banks and immediate 
vicinity of the [North Fork] Payette River in order to protect and maintain water quality, fish and 
wildlife habitat, edge and forest habitat, vistas, and public visual and physical access.”31 In the 
Shoreline and River Environs Zone: 

All those uses permitted in the underlying zones upon which this zone is 
superimposed shall be permitted provided they satisfy the special conditions set 

 
29 MCC 3.7.032 (“A building permit shall neither be issued, nor any such work or construction undertaken, until 
approval of the site plan and design approval of proposed structures.”) 
30 Indeed, MCC 9.8.02 states that “[b]uilding permits and/or floodplain development permits cannot be issued on a 
CLOMR, because the CLOMR does not change the NFIP map.” This definition, which clarifies the effect of a 
CLOMR, makes sense because building a structure in the special flood hazard area without raising the base flood 
elevation would negate other requirements in Title IX, Chapter 8, such as dictating the type of materials that can 
used below the base flood elevation or flood protection elevation.  
31 MCC 3.7.020. 



APPELLANT’S OPENING SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF GRANTING FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 14 
 

forth in this chapter, except that . . . No building and no land filling shall be 
permitted within a floodway and no building within an area of special flood hazard 
. . . unless the applicant complies with the standards set forth in” Title IX, Chapter 
8.32 

This just stands for the unremarkable proposition that a floodplain development permit is 
required prior to “building” in the special flood hazard area, which is already a requirement of 
Title IX, Chapter 8, and that such building must comply with the zone’s special conditions. It 
also makes clear that two different types of activity are prohibited in the floodway: building and 
filling. 

However, that the Shoreline and River Environs Zone makes “design review . . . required 
for all development . . . as provided for in chapter 16 of” Title III evinces a legislative intent that 
the ordinance only applies to structures.33 This is confirmed by MCC 3.7.022(C), which makes 
“[a]ny structure, wholly or partially in this zone . . . and any part of which is within the one 
hundred-fifty foot (150’) land strip” subject to design review, and confirmed by MCC 3.16.02, 
which applies “[t]he design review process . . . to all new construction and remodeling of 
structures,” and specifically “any structure which is . . . within the Shoreline and River Environs 
Overlay Zone.”34 Structure is defined in Title III exactly the same way as Title II.35 Thus, the 
Shoreline and River Environ Zone applies where the permit criteria requires a building permit—
that is, where the applicant proposes to construct or erect a structure falling within the purview of 
Title II.36 

Here, FPDP-23-01 does not trigger the Shoreline and River Environs Zone ordinance’s 
permit criteria. There is no proposed construction or erection of buildings or structures that 
require a building permit, and the activity does not necessitate a conditional use permit. Relying 
on the specific activities (“development, grading, or alteration of any land”) following the words 
“nor is any” in MCC 3.7.023(B) as defining the activity that triggers the Shoreline and River 
Environs Zone ordinance is incorrect because it ignores the critically important first part of the 
sentence. That part specifically limits what permits are subject to the Shoreline and River 
Environs Zone ordinance: building permits and conditional use permits. Applying the ordinance 
to an activity that requires neither type of permit unlawfully expands the City of McCall’s 
authority to regulate activities under the ordinance. The McCall City Code cannot “hide 
elephants in mouse holes.”37 The Shoreline and River Environs Zone ordinance is an “overlay” 
zone. Although it does not define when and for what purposes a building permit is required, it 
certainly applies when a building permit is required. Since FPDP-23-01 proposes only to place 

 
32 MCC 3.7.022(B). 
33 MCC 3.7.023(A); see also MCC 3.7.021 (“If any portion of a structure lies within this zone, then the total 
structure shall be deemed to be within this zone.”). 
34 MCC 3.16.01(8). 
35 Compare MCC 3.2.02 with MCC 2.1.060. 
36 MCC 3.7.023(B). 
37 Whitman v. American Trucking Ass’ns, 531 U.S. 457, 468 (2001) (Scalia, J.). 



APPELLANT’S OPENING SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF GRANTING FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 15 
 

fill material in jurisdictional wetlands pursuant to a Section 404 permit and in aid of the CLOMR 
application process, no building permit is required. Therefore, the Shoreline and River Environs 
ordinance does not apply. 

The abrogation clause in MCC 9.8.035 does not change this result. Although Title IX, 
Chapter 8 ensures “the necessity of compliance with any other laws, ordinances, [and] 
regulations,” because the Shoreline and River Environs Zone ordinance is inapplicable to the 
activity proposed in FPDP-23-01, there is no “conflict or overlap” where “more stringent or 
greater conditions shall control.” 

FPDP-23-01 does not require a building permit nor is it subject to the Shoreline and 
River Environs Zone ordinance. The only necessary local permit is a floodplain development 
permit, which was denied because the administrator and P&Z erroneously applied additional but 
inapplicable provisions of the McCall City Code. That was wrong. Because FPDP-23-01 met all 
applicable criteria in Title IX, Chapter 8, the appeal must be granted, and the permit approved. 

C. Unconditionally Defining FPDP-23-01 Proposed Activity as Harm Is Unreasonable. 

As explained above, a building permit is not required for the proposed activity in FPDP-
23-01, nor does the Shoreline and River Environs Zone ordinance apply to that activity. Without 
in any way waiving these arguments, even if a building permit is required and the Shoreline and 
River Environs Zone ordinance is found to apply, the conclusion that FPDP-23-01’s proposed 
placement of fill material in jurisdiction wetlands constitutes “harm” is not just unreasonable but 
has zero support from the record below. Therefore, a building permit must be issued because the 
activity proposed in in FPDP-23-01 complies with Title III and Title IX.38 

Unconditionally defining the placement of fill material in jurisdictional wetlands as 
“harm” renders other requirements in the McCall City Code meaningless. For example, it ignores 
the Shoreline and River Environs Zone ordinance’s “Permit Criteria” requiring either a letter 
certifying “that no wetlands related issues or issues related to fill of navigable waters were 
presented by the proposed development; or that a section 404 permit has been issued or is 
forthcoming by the corps of engineers, whichever is appropriate”39 [Emphasis Added]. And it 
ignores the fact that if the fill material is placed in jurisdictional wetlands pursuant to a Section 
404 permit, the “proposed development meets all applicable requirements” of Title III and Title 
IX.40 Indeed, both Titles acknowledge that where jurisdictional wetlands exist, compliance with 
federal law and regulations is necessary to prevent “harm,” as that term is defined by MCC 
3.7.023(C)2, when fill material is placed in jurisdictional wetlands.  

 Accordingly, the activity proposed in FPDP-23-01 will not “harm” jurisdictional 
wetlands because the Sanders must comply with all terms and conditions of the Section 404 

 
38 MCC 2.2.030(A); see also MCC 2.2.040.  
39 MCC 3.7.023(B)3 (emphasis supplied). 
40 Id. 



APPELLANT’S OPENING SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF GRANTING FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 16 
 

permit. Interpreting McCall City Code otherwise renders MCC 3.7.023(B)(3) superfluous, 
effectively reading the phrase “city approval(s) under this title and title IX of this code 
contingent upon all applicable section 404 permit requirements being met” out of the ordinance. 
If the City can simply deny a floodplain development permit application for fill or a building 
permit to construct or erect a structure in the special flood hazard—activities clearly permitted 
under the Shoreline and River Environs Zone ordinance—even if all applicable local, State, and 
Federal permit requirements are met, this section of Code is just a Trojan Horse. First, the 
ordinance swoons well-meaning property owners who seek to develop their property in 
compliance with federal law to apply for such permits.41 Then, the City of McCall collaterally 
attacks them by the denying a permit that in all respects complies with federal and state law—
just as the ordinance requires. 

P&Z’s decision, like the Administrator’s, found harm based on three criteria listed in 
MCC 3.7.023(C)(2). However, each of these criteria is also an activity that is a “discharge” for 
purposes of the CWA—that is, McCall City Code defines “harm” in much the same way as the 
Code of Federal Regulations defines “discharge,” which is an element of the activities requiring 
a permit under the Section 404 of the CWA.42 Here, a Section 404 permit was required because 
the FPDP-23-01 proposes to discharge fill into 0.15-acres of jurisdictional wetlands. To offset the 
impact to and loss of jurisdictional wetlands, the permit requires establishing 0.3-acres of new 
wetlands on the Sanders’ property, adjacent to the North Fork Payette River.43 The permit also 
requires conditions imposed by the State of Idaho’s 401 Water Quality Certificate to protect 
surface water quality. If these conditions, including the compensatory mitigation, are not 
followed, the permittee is subject to civil enforcement actions. Thus, it is illogical and 
completely unreasonable to find “harm” when the activity proposed in FPDP-23-01 is subject to 
such conditions that in all respect are imposed to mitigate for “harm.” 

 Finally, not only is it ridiculous to find “harm” when an applicant holds a Section 404 
permit but the determination leads to the unreasonably harsh result that no floodplain 
development permit seeking to place fill in jurisdictional wetlands in aid of a CLOMR 
Application can ever be obtained.44 The logical outgrowth of the Administrator’s and P&Z’s 
decisions is that there is no possible way to remove  property from the special flood hazard area 
in accordance with a legitimate and often used federal process—not to mention pursuant to a 
Section 404 permit—that assists property owners who just so happen to own low-lying property 

 
41 Both MCC 3.7.023(B)(3), which requires a Section 404 permit (or that one is at least “forthcoming”) and MCC 
9.8.043(A)(1)(g), which requires certification that all other local, State, and Federal permits have been received 
“prior to the issuance of a floodplain development permit,” seem to indicate that Federal permits must be obtained 
before the local permits, if any. If that is so, then such Federal permits and the conditions placed upon them should 
at least inform the analysis of impacts resulting from proposed activities in the special flood hazard area.  
42 See 33 C.F.R. § 323.2; 33 U.S.C. § 1344(f). 
43 See attached Exhibits A and B. 
44 Critically, the wetlands impacted by FPDP-23-01 are jurisdictional wetlands.  



APPELLANT’S OPENING SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF GRANTING FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 17 
 

subject to an increased risk of flooding. This flies in the face of the McCall City Code’s plain 
language, which clearly outlines a process for property owners in this situation to follow. 

D. There is No Evidence of “Harm” in the Record Made Below. 

The record contains no evidence that the proposed placement of fill would “harm” 
wetlands.45 While P&Z’s decision reiterates the language in MCC 3.7.03(C)2 as the basis for 
denying FPDP-23-01, it fails to elaborate on how it reached these conclusions other than to claim 
reliance on “Application materials, including detailed proposed construction drawings and plans; 
Testimony from the Applicant and the Applicant’s Attorney; and Staff testimony by Brian Parker, 
City Planner.” 

A review of the record indicates that the only evidence provided by the City to support a 
finding of harm are two statements by the City Planner that “the filling of lake bottom of 
wetlands” is unequivocally harm and that “since they have not included what sort of building 
they would like to do, and are just purely placing fill, any placement of fill or modification of 
natural vegetation would be excessive because they are not proposing any sort of 
development.”46 The City Planner then concluded “that is the extent of the reasoning” for finding 
“harm.”47 

These justifications are wholly unsupported by the record below. First, the claim that 
modification of natural vegetation would be excessive because no development is proposed 
simply begs the question: Does McCall City Code categorically prohibit issuing a flood 
development permit to place fill—whether or not wetlands are present—in aid of the CLOMR 
process? True, in this application the Sanders are not proposing to construct or erect any 
structures, but the modification of natural vegetation is not excessive because it is necessary to 
remove a portion their property from the special flood hazard area to complete the CLOMR and 
eventually LOMR process. Nor can there be “excessive clearing” because the Sanders Section 
404 permit contains a mandatory condition (Special Condition 1) to enhance and establish 0.30-
acres of wetlands on the property.48 There is simply no basis whatsoever to find activity 
proposed in FPDP-23-01 will cause “harm” under MCC 3.7.023(C)(2)(b). 

 Second, finding “harm” under MCC 3.7.023(C)(2)(c) and (d) is belied by the evidence in 
the record below. For starters, the Sanders provided a thirty-three-page expert report developed 

 
45 See Spencer v. Kootenai Cnty., 145 Idaho 448, 456 (2008) (“Substantial and competent evidence is less than a 
preponderance of the evidence, but more than a mere scintilla.”) 
46 McCall Area Planning & Zoning, at 2:05:10 to 2:06:06, YOUTUBE (Sept. 12, 2023) 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Q49Um0A-IZo.  
47 Id. at 2:06:07 to 2:06:10. 
48 City Staff claims that the MCC 3.8.23(D) prohibits the issuance of building permit because “an appropriate 
amount of site grading cannot be identified.” That reasoning makes no sense. The appropriate amount of site grading 
is the amount necessary to elevate 0.48-acres of the Sanders Property above the special flood hazard area—which is 
precisely what is applied for in FPDP-23-01. In any event, the amount of “site grading” is easily ascertainable: it is 
no more than is necessary to complete activity necessary to achieve the purposes of applying for FPDP-23-01.  
 



APPELLANT’S OPENING SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF GRANTING FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 18 
 

by Forsgren Associates, Inc. to analyze the extent of potential harm and outline measures to 
minimize any environmental harm that could be posed by the placement of the fill on the 
Property. The report notes that protection of water quality is (or would be) addressed in the 
conditions of the Section 404 permit and that by implementing best management practices 
(BMPs), FPDP-23-01 would presumptively comply with state water quality standards, including 
Idaho’s Antidegradation Policy, by maintaining and supporting the beneficial uses designated for 
the section of the North Fork Payette River that runs adjacent to the Property. The report also 
found that the proposed BMPs would protect adjacent wetlands that would remain undisturbed 
and prevent impermissible runoff from occurring.  

Furthermore, the Section 404 permit itself is substantial evidence that no “harm” will 
occur. Unconditionally finding harm just because there is removal, burial or destruction of other 
features in the vicinity of the highwater mark and filling jurisdictional wetlands is unreasonable 
when the McCall City Code recognizes certain means—this exact Section 404 permit—that will 
mitigate for impacts to jurisdictional wetlands. As explained above, MCC 3.7.023(C)(2)’s 
definition of “harm” is nearly identical to the activities that may be conducted pursuant to a 
Section 404 permit, which not only allows for the fill to be placed in jurisdictional wetlands but 
also imposes conditions on activities conducted before, during, and after placement of such fill. 
To mitigate for the impacts to 0.15-acres of Palustrine Scrub/Shrub (“PSS”) wetlands, the 
Sanders’ Section 404 permit requires establishing 0.30-acres of PSS wetlands on their property. 
Additionally, the Sanders must submit annual monitoring reports “following construction for a 
period of three years or until the Corps has determined the mitigation site has met its 
performance standards as described in the Mitigation Plan.” These conditions and requirements 
far exceed the “extent of the reasoning” provided by the City Planner, and therefore the record 
establishes that no “harm” will be caused by FPDP-23-01. 

E. As Applied to FPDP-23-01, MCC 3.7.023(C) Violates Idaho Law.  

The Administrator’s and P&Z’s finding of “harm” is void as a matter of law. Idaho Code 
§39-3601 prohibits imposing requirements “beyond those of the federal clean water act” on 
discharges of pollutants into waters of the United States. Even though FPDP-23-01 is subject to 
the conditions of a Section 404 permit, its denial is based solely on the Administrator and P&Z 
assumption that the proposed activities will create “harm” to jurisdictional wetlands. This is the 
functional equivalent of the City of McCall determining that the conditions imposed by the 
Sanders’ Section 404 permit, including compliance with Idaho’s Section 401 Water Quality 
Certification are inadequate to protect jurisdictional wetlands. Consequently, the McCall City 
Code unlawfully imposes requirements on placing fill into jurisdictional wetlands that are 
beyond those of the federal CWA. 

The CWA sets a national floor for regulating water pollution below which “States or 
political subdivisions thereof” cannot go.49 The CWA does not restrict States from allocating 

 
49 33 U.S.C. § 1370. 



APPELLANT’S OPENING SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF GRANTING FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 19 
 

water resources within their boundaries nor from regulating land use within their boundaries 
even if the areas regulated are also subject to CWA jurisdiction.50 Although States and political 
subdivisions are prohibited from adopting or enforcing standards or limitations respecting the 
“discharge of pollutants” (as that term is defined in 33 U.S.C. § 1362) into waters of the United 
States that are “less stringent than” the CWA, they are free to impose more onerous standards 
subject to the limitations of state law and federal law.51 

In Idaho, there are two limits on the power of a local government to impose more 
stringent standards than the CWA prescribes: express and implied preemption under the state 
constitution and Idaho Code § 50-301. 

1. Express preemption applies meaning the State law expressly prohibits the city from 
regulating discharges subject to the CWA more stringently than the requirements of 
the CWA. 

Article XII, § 2 of the Idaho Constitution permits an incorporated city or town to “make 
and enforce within its limits, all such local police, sanitary and other regulations as are not in 
conflict with its charter or with the general laws.”52 Similarly, Idaho Code § 50-301 allows cities 
to “exercise all powers and perform all functions of local self-government in city affairs as are 
not specifically prohibited by or in conflict with the general laws or the constitution of the state 
of Idaho.” While a city’s “ability to act is not confined to only those actions specifically 
mentioned in LLUPA,” such ability is constrained when the legislature says so.53 

With respect to the CWA, Idaho Code § 39-3601 is a general law that expressly prohibits 
local governments from imposing more stringent conditions on waters of the United States than 
what is required by the CWA: 

It is the intent of the legislature that the state of Idaho fully meet the goals and 
requirements of the federal clean water act and that the rules promulgated under 
this chapter not impose requirements beyond those of the federal clean water act.54 

When the City of McCall increases the regulatory burden on jurisdictional wetlands 
beyond those required by the CWA, such as in this case and finding “harm” for the activity 
proposed in FPDP-23-01, it renders the City’s action “in conflict with . . . the general laws” of 
the state of Idaho. Stated another way, jurisdictional wetlands are a subset of wetlands in the 
State of Idaho that must be regulated no more and certainly no less than the requirements of 
federal law. Although the City of McCall may categorically prohibit development activities in 
non-jurisdictional wetlands—subject to state and federal constitutional limitations—state law 

 
50 Id.; see also Prosolino v. Nastri, 291 F.3d 1123, 1140 (9th Cir. 2002). 
51 33 U.S.C. § 1370. 
52 IDAHO CONST. art. XII, § 2. 
53 Cisek v. Kootenai Cnty. Bd. of Comm’rs, 254 P.3d 24, 32-33 (Idaho 2011). 
54 I.C. § 39-3601. 



APPELLANT’S OPENING SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF GRANTING FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 20 
 

dictates that the City of McCall cannot more stringently regulate or impose requirements on 
jurisdictional wetlands beyond those of the federal CWA.  

In addition, Section 401 of the CWA inserts State authority with respect to jurisdictional 
wetlands by allowing issuance of water quality certificates, which may include additional 
conditions designed to protect the surface water quality of state water bodies subject to 
regulation under the CWA. For example, in the Sanders NWP No. 29, Idaho water quality 
certification is contingent upon compliance with additional conditions specific to Idaho’s Water 
Quality Standards promulgated under IDAPA 58.01.02, including the state’s antidegradation 
policy. Under this policy, all water bodies subject to CWA jurisdiction receive, at a minimum, 
Tier I antidegradation protection.55 For activities like those proposed in FPDP-23-01, all fill 
material must be clean and if there is any possibility the material may be contaminated, the 
permittee must apply the procedures in the Sediment Evaluation Framework for the Pacific 
Northwest.56 If a permittee under a Nationwide Permit complies with the conditions set forth in 
the water quality certification, Idaho’s water quality standards, including the narrative sediment 
criteria and turbidity criteria will be met. 

The unconditional finding of “harm” by the Administrator and P&Z completely ignores 
and in effect imposes additional requirements on federal and state conditions designed to protect 
jurisdictional wetlands and state water quality standards. These requirements, which are beyond 
those of the federal CWA, are expressly preempted by Idaho Code § 39-3601. Therefore, under 
both Article XII, § 2 and Idaho Code § 50-301, the City of McCall’s action denying FPDP-23-01 
on the basis that it will create “harm” to wetlands is beyond its powers (ultra vires) because the 
legislature has limited the extent that regulations may exceed the requirements of the CWA.57 

2. Even if the City of McCall is not expressly preempted, it is impliedly preempted 
from regulating more stringently than what is required by the CWA. 

The doctrine of implied preemption is a principle of long-standing in the State of Idaho. It 
derives from the language in Article XII, § 2 that limits the police power of local governments to 
making and enforcing laws that are not in conflict with laws enacted by the legislature and arises 
when the legislature “intend[s] to occupy the whole field” of regulation.58 

Implied preemption occurs where, despite the lack of specific language preempting or 
empowering local government regulation, “the state has acted in the area in such a pervasive 
manner that it must be assumed that it intended to occupy the entire field of regulation.”59 Intent 

 
55 See IDAPA 58.01.02.052.01 
56 NORTHWEST REGIONAL SEDIMENT EVALUATION TEAM (RSET), SEDIMENT EVALUATION FRAMEWORK FOR THE 
PACIFIC NORTHWEST (2018), https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2016-
07/documents/sediment_evaluation_framework_for_the_pacific_northwest_2016.pdf. 
57 See Black v. Young, 122 Idaho 302, 308-09, 834 P.2d 304, 310-11 (1992). 
58 See, e.g., Clyde Hess Distributing Co. v. Bonneville Cnty., 69 Idaho 505, 510, 210 P.2d 798, 800 (1949); Caesar v. 
State, 101 Idaho 158, 161 610 P.2d 517, 520 (1980). 
59 Envirosafe Services of Idaho, Inc. v. Owyhee Cnty., 112 Idaho 687, 690, 735 P.2d 998, 1001 (Idaho 1987) 



APPELLANT’S OPENING SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF GRANTING FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 21 
 

may be assumed where 1) state law indicates the subject matter is to be “regulated by means of 
one, uniform statewide scheme enabling the state to enter into meaningful interstate agreements,” 
or 2) the laws regulating the subject matter are a “comprehensive statutory scheme” that 
“demands a statewide, rather than local approach.”60 Even if the ordinance and statute are 
identical, “it is obvious that the field sought to be covered by the ordinance has already been 
occupied by the state legislation.”61 

The City of McCall is impliedly preempted from more stringently regulating activities of 
property owners that are otherwise subject to (i.e., in the same field as) the permitting 
requirements of the CWA. Title 39 of the Idaho Code is a comprehensive legislative scheme 
implementing, among other things, Idaho’s obligations and duties under the CWA. The law is 
clear that subject matter falling under the purview of the CWA is to be regulated to “avoid the 
existence of duplicative, overlapping or conflicting state and federal regulatory systems.”62 
Importantly, Title 39, Chapter 36 provides how the State of Idaho implements water quality 
standards with respect to waters of the United States within its borders: “If supported by the 
permit record, the department may also presume that discharges authorized under a general 
permit are insignificant or that the pollution controls required in the general permit are the least 
degrading alternative specified in the department’s rules.”63 Thus, the legislature intends for a 
uniform, statewide procedure ensures general permits, like the Sanders Section 404 permit, are 
adequate to protect water quality and not hijacked by local ordinances. 

Furthermore, when the City of McCall imposes more stringent conditions on a property 
owner whose activity is otherwise subject to the requirements of the CWA, it impairs the State of 
Idaho’s ability to manage and enforce State water quality standards in a comprehensive and 
statewide manner. The reason is not because banning otherwise regulated activities in waters of 
the United States leads to better environmental outcomes, but because conditions on such 
regulated activities that are designed to mitigate and offset impacts, which lead to better 
environmental outcomes, are required to be applied evenly and consistently throughout Idaho. 
The legislature clearly intends that for discharges into waters of the United States, federal, not 
local, law sets the limits because it has determined that such is the policy of the State of Idaho. 
Therefore, the City of McCall is impliedly preempted from more stringently regulating and thus 
denying FPDP-23-01, the activities in which proposed are permitted pursuant to Section 404 
permit. 

Because both the state constitution and state law prohibit the City of McCall from 
imposing requirements beyond those of the federal CWA, denying FPDP-23-01 on the basis that 
it will create “harm” to jurisdictional wetlands violates both constitutional and statutory 
provisions.  

 
60 Id. 
61 Id. at 691, 735 P.2d at 1002. 
62 I.C. § 39-175B. 
63 I.C. § 39-3603(2)(a). 



APPELLANT’S OPENING SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF GRANTING FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 22 
 

VI.  
CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, the Sanders respectfully request that the McCall City Council 
REVERSE the McCall Planning and Zoning Commission’s decision and GRANT FPDP-23-01. 

 

      Respectfully submitted, 

 

      
      Amy Holm 
      Steven J. Millemann 
      Fred Coriell 



Page 1 
 

WETLAND MITIGATION PLAN 
 
 
Sanders Property 
Rivers Crossing Subdivision – Lot 19 
October 17, 2023 
 
 
 
Prepared by: 
James Fronk LA – Certified Delineator 

James Fronk Consulting, LLC. 

P.O. Box 576 

McCall, Idaho 83638 

208 634 8093 

jamesfronkconsulting@gmail.com 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:jamesfronkconsulting@gmail.com


Page 2 
 

Wetland Mitigation Plan 

October 17, 2023 

 

Located in a portion of  
S 1/2 of Section 17, T8N., R.3E., B.M, 
221 Morgan Drive, McCall, Idaho 83638 
Valley County, Idaho.   

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS: 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
1.1 Wetland Alternative Analysis 

2.0 OBJECTIVES 
2.1 Wildlife 
2.2 Water Quality 

3.0 SITE SELECTION CRITERIA 
4.0 SITE PROTECTION INSTRUMENTS 
5.0 BASELINE INFORMATION 

5.1 Soils 
5.2 Plants 
5.3 Hydrology 

6.0 CREDIT DTERMINATION METHODODLGY 
7.0 MITIGATION WORK PLAN 
8.0 MAINTENANCE PLAN 
9.0 ECOLOGICAL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS 
10.0 MONITORING REQUIREMENTS 
11.0 LONG TERM MANAGEMENT PLAN 
12.0 ADAPTIVE MANAGEMENT PLAN 
13.0 OTHER INFORMATION 

 

  APPENDIX I – Figures 

Figure 1 – Vicinity Map 

   Figure 2 – Mitigation Plan 

Figure 3-3A – NRCS Soil Map     

 

 



Page 3 
 

1.0 Introduction 

James Fronk Consulting, LLC. was retained by Dwain and Cindy Sanders to prepare an amended Joint 
Application for Permit and mitigation plan for impacts to wetlands on the private property of the 
applicant. 

The project site is approximately 5.29 acres in size and includes approximately 1.97 acres of palustrine 
emergent wetland (PEM), and 0.54 acres Palustrine Scrub/Shrub wetland (PSS), and 0.19 acres of 
Deciduous/Forest wetlands. The property is located on 221 Morgan Drive, McCall, Idaho and is in the SE 
¼ NW ¼ of Section 7, Township 17 N, Range 4E (Figure 1, Vicinity Map).  The mitigation site is in the 
center of the property as shown on Figure 2, Mitigation Plan. 

1.1 Wetland Alternative Analysis 

Wetland impact avoidance and minimization was carefully considered during the project 
planning and design. This project planning reduced the proposed wetland impacts to 0.15 acres. 
The ability to avoid wetland impacts has been considered. However, the buildable site area is 
too small to construct a realistic sized single-family residence and detached shop/living quarters. 
The detached shop/living quarters is a necessary component to the plan. The detached living 
quarter is required to house a young adult with learning disabilities. Considerable effort has 
been made by the applicant with the Architect and Land Planner to minimize the wetland 
impacts to 0.15 acres on a 5.29-acre lot with a delineated wetland area of 2.7 acres. The 
wetland impact avoidance measures include consultation of fill impacts adjacent to existing 
uplands area by the front of Lot 19. Additional measures to avoid wetland impacts on Lot 19 
include the construction of a driveway bridge over a wetland area, helical screw construction of 
patio decks, walkways, and gazebo platform. The construction of the bridge and other raised 
platforms will be a minimum of 2 ft. above the delineated wetland areas natural ground. 

2.0 Objectives 

Wetland mitigation will provide for replacement of 0.15 acres Palustrine Scrub/Shrub (PSS) wetlands 
that will be impacted by fill as identified in the Joint Application for Permit (Attached). The proposed 
mitigation areas will consist of construction of 0.30 acres (2 to 1 Replacement Value) of Palustrine 
Scrub/Shrub (PSS) wetlands that will be constructed onsite with the specific purpose of replacing the 
impacted wetland from created by the construction of the proposed residential building. Other wetland 
mitigation objectives of the selected mitigation site will expand, spread, and increase the vegetative 
diversity, ecological diversity, wildlife habitat and water quality, in the mitigation areas.   

Specific mitigation objectives are described in the following subsections. 

2.1 Wildlife 

The placement and location of mitigation areas with Palustrine Scrub/Shrub (PSS) wetlands will 
improve vegetative diversity and will provide a number of benefits to wildlife including the 
planting of flowering shrubs which will provide food and cover for birds, bees, and terrestrial 
species such as rabbits deer, and mice as well as avian predators such as hawks and owls.  This 
will in turn provide opportunities for terrestrial predators such as foxes and coyotes.  Selective 



Page 4 
 

plantings of native shrubs will also enhance cover corridors for wildlife movement between 
areas of cover and open water areas. 

2.2 Water Quality 

The selected mitigation areas will enhance the water quality in the open meadow area by 
replacing the impacted Palustrine Scrub/Shrub (PSS) wetlands with an area closer to the North 
Fork of the Payette River. The placement of the mitigation will allow for additional nutrients and 
pollutant removal.  

3.0 Site Selection Criteria 

The areas selected for this wetland mitigation is driven by the requirement to meet mitigation goals and 
improving and creating additional habitat for wildlife and enhancing water quality.  The proposed 
mitigation area (Area 1 - 0.10 acres) is located adjacent to a natural swale that consists of existing wet 
meadow (PEM) wetlands. In addition, an adjacent lower elevation area (Area 2 – 0.20 acres) is also 
adjoining to existing wet meadow (PEM) wetlands. The mitigation areas selection has a high potential 
for successful mitigation by enhancing and diversifying vegetative species.  The mitigation area’s 
location can be minimally excavated to replicate the adjacent drainage swale to provide the necessary 
hydrology (ground water) that currently exists. The mitigation areas selection also allows for an 
opportunity to create PSS wetlands adjacent to PEM wetlands that currently exist.  The mitigation areas 
were chosen for mitigation replacement because of their location directly adjacent to a natural swale 
and lower ground areas, and groundwater availability: therefore, has the greatest potential to off-set 
the impacts of the proposed action.  This area is under the direct control of the applicant/owner for a 
USACE permit.  The mitigation area will occur in the center of the property to ensure future compliance 
and protection. (See Figure 2). 

4.0 Site Protection Instruments 

Long term protection will be a note on the Record of Survey stating, “Compensatory Mitigation Site 
associated with the Department of Army Permit DA No. NWW-No 2020-00422 – B03.”  

This site protection instrument will protect the mitigation area. The mitigation area will be 
maintained for the protection and enhancement of wildlife -habitat, riparian functions and values, 
and water quality.  Maintenance and preservation of the protected area shall be the responsibility of 
the property owner.  The property owner will operate under the following guidelines: 

(1) No structures shall be placed on the protected area, except structures necessary to protect 
and enhance wildlife habitat, riparian functions and values and water quality. Helical screw 
supported bridges involving no fills into waters of the United States will also be allowed for 
additional mitigation measures outlined in the Joint Permit for Application. 

(2) The property owners shall maintain the vegetative cover within the protected area in as 
natural a condition as practicable and shall plant only native or native-compatible vegetative 
species in the protected area. 

(3) All restrictions and conditions contained in any Permit issued by the Army Corps of 
Engineers related to the protected area shall be strictly enforced by the property owners. 
 
 



Page 5 
 

5.0 Baseline Information 

As part of a detailed monitoring plan for mitigation, a baseline will be established to provide information 
on proposed plant species, soil types, and hydrology.  Observation includes the following. 

5.1 Soils 

The United States Department of Agriculture (USDA), Natural Resources Conservation Service 
(NRCS) has identified the majority of soils within the wetland area of the site as Jurvannah sandy 
loam, a very deep, poorly drained soil that is listed as a hydric on the NRCS Hydric Soils List with 
inclusions of Blackwell clay loam also on NRCS Hydric List (see Figure 3). 

5.2 Plants 

Existing vegetative species observed across the wet meadow area and where the mitigation site 
areas will be placed include, but are not limited to those listed in the following table: 

 
Scientific Name   Common Name   
Achillea millefolium  Common Yarrow   
Aster occidnetalis  Aster species   
Juncus balticus   Rush species   
Phleum pratense  Timothy    
Poa annua   Annual Bluegrass   
Rumex acetosella  Sorrel species   
Salix lasiolepis   Willow species   
Carex nebrascensis  Sedge Species   
Centaurea stoebe  Spotted knapweed 
Populus tremula  Aspen Species   
Phalaris arundinacea  Reed Canary Grass  
Festuca rubra   Red Fescue    
Veratrum californicum  Skunk Cabbage   
Thermopsis montana  False Lupin    
Heracleum sphondylium Cow Parsnip   
Epilobium ciliatum  Fringed Willowherb  
  

Mitigation Areas Plant Species: 
Scientific Name   Common Name 
Salix lasiolepis   Willow species  
Juncus balticus   Rush species 
Potentilla gracilis  Northwest Cinquefoil  
Poa annua   Annual Bluegrass 
Juncus balticus   Rush species  
Carex nebrascensis  Sedge Species 
Asclepias specious Tarr.  Showy Milkweed 
 
Note: The Mitigation Areas Plant Species that will be planted for the mitigation areas will also 
consist of milk weed and flowering plant material (to be determined). 



Page 6 
 

5.3 Hydrology 
 
The proposed mitigation areas will consist primarily of Palustrine Scrub/Shrub (PSS) wetlands 
supplied by spring snow runoff associated with the Payette River and onsite groundwater.  The 
area is topographically relatively flat with the water table near the surface and saturation at or 
near the surface during spring flows. 
 

6.0 Credit Determination Methodology 

The applicant and James Fronk Consulting, LLC is proposing a 2:1 wetland replacement ratio.  The 0.30 -
acre mitigation areas located in the center of the property will be a Palustrine Scrub/Shrub (PSS) 
wetland. 

7.0 Mitigation Work Plan 

The wetland mitigation replacement areas will be 0.30 acres located in the center of the property.  
Starting in the spring/summer of 2024. Field verification of existing natural ground elevations in the 
proposed mitigation areas will be conducted. The higher elevation areas encountered within the 
proposed mitigation areas may be lowered approximately 9 inches of soil material and or matching the 
existing elevation of the adjacent existing wetlands areas. (See notes on Figure 2 for identified wetland 
areas highlighted in red). The soil material removed will be located under the existing topsoil and 
vegetation layer. The existing topsoil material will be pushed aside to remove approximately 9 inches of 
soil, after which the vegetative layer of topsoil will be returned and will reflect elevation characteristics 
of existing delineated PSS areas on site.  This will also facilitate groundwater and surface flow to this 
area. (Final field elevation will be determined by James Fronk Consulting, LLC.) The elimination if needed 
of approximately 9 inches of soil material will be removed to a higher upland area.  

The wetland mitigation areas will consist of native willow (Salix species at 80 percent), and (Emergent 
wetland species at 20 percent) with native emergent wetland species as indicated in the above 
Mitigation Areas Plant Species table. Native willow sprigs will be collected on site and will be propagated 
in the mitigation areas to create wetlands Palustrine Scrub/Shrub (PSS).  The intent of the planting plan 
is to cover 80 percent of the mitigation area with shrub/scrub species and 20 percent of the mitigation 
area with emergent wetlands species listed above for plant diversity. The intent of the propagated 
species planting plan is to install the shrub/scrub plantings in clusters with the following approximate 
sprig material count:   

Native willow (Salix species at 80 percent) – 800 sprig plantings 

Collection of native topsoil from impacted area will also be used to supplement the mitigation area with 
the existing Forbes, seeds, and plant material. 

8.0 Maintenance Plan 

The mitigation areas will include a maintenance plan to promote the establishment of viable plant 
populations and will be regularly checked monthly for the first growing season and quarterly thereafter 
to ensure mitigation is successful.  Monitoring reports will be collected annually (see Section 9 below), 
and mitigation will be adjusted as needed. 



Page 7 
 

9.0 Ecological Performance Standards 

Wetland mitigation will be considered successful when the following is met: 

Scrub/Shrub (PSS) presence in the mitigated area has a total of sixty percent (60%) successful plant 
distribution with approximate percentages of healthy plant species of native willow, and emergent 
wetland plant material, as identified in section 7.0. 

 
10.0 Monitoring Requirements 

• Monitor the established Assessment Area for three consecutive years.  Monitoring 
will record the amount of area, growth, and plant health for the scrub/shrub and 
emergent wetland areas.   

• Results of monitoring will be compiled into a report which will be submitted to 
USACE no later than December 31 annually. 

• The mitigation plan will be considered complete when the performance standards 
have been met. 

• If the performance standards are not met after the three-year period, an assessment 
of the mitigation plan will be reviewed and evaluated for different implementation 
wetland enhancement techniques and methods. 
 

11.0 Long Term Management Plan 
• The owner owns the parcel with wetland mitigation. 
• The Owner will maintain and monitor wetland mitigation area for the long term. 
• If the Owner sells the permitted property to another entity, the USACE permit 

responsibility will be transferred to the new ownership entity and will be part of the 
sales contract. 
 

12.0 Adaptive Management Plan 

Considering the size and scope of this proposed mitigation, the maintenance plan described in Section 8 
above should be sufficient to address any unforeseen issues with achieving the performance standards. 

13.0 Other Information: N/A 

 



5t 
� 
0 
"' 

V 

� 
z 

----,.,
"' 

:c 
V 
.. 

<( 

J 

J 

r: 

JAMES FRONK CONSULTING, LLC. 
14028 NORWOOD RD 
PO BOX 576

McCALL, ID 83638 
(208) 634-8093

WETLAND 

BOUNDARY 

co 

l

o 
__J 

Mitigation Site Plan 
SANDERS RESIDENCE 

221 MORGAN DRIVE MCCALL ID 83638 

RIVER'S CROSSING SUBDIVISION LOT 1 9 BLOCK 2 

O' 
-

l

o 
__J 

PROPERTY LINE 

50' 100' 200' 

-

FIGURE: 2 

DRAWN BY: JGF 

DATE: 10/14/2023 

EXISTING

EXISTING
EXISTING

EXISTING
EXISTING

Area 2 - Create 0.20 acres 
of Shrub-Scrub wetlands. 

Area 1 - Create 0.10 acres 
of Shrub-Scrub wetlands.



EXHIBIT A



City of McCalI

Floodpla in Development Permit

,Application forthe City of McCall . Date Recelved; ;

Land Use

App Number;

AFHCE USE ONLV

SECT,ON t: Applicant and Proiect lnforntation

No work of any kind may begin ln a floodplaln untll a floodplaln development permit is

The permit may be revoked if any false statements are made in thls application.

lf revoked, allwork must cease untila permlt is re-issued.

The development may not be used or occupied until a Certlflcate of Compliance is issued.

The permit wlll expire if no work is commenced within 6 months of the date of issue.

The permit witl not be issued until any other necessary local, state or federal permits have been obtalned.

By signing and submitting this application, the Applicant gives consent to the local Floodplain Administrator or

his/her representatlve to make reasonable inspections prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Compliance.

By signing and submitting this applicatlon, the Applicant certifies that all staterxents contained in SECTION I of the

applicatlon, and ln any additional attachments submitted by the Applicant, are true and accurate.

1.

2.

3.

4,

5.

6.

issued.
GENERAL INFORMATION

Property Owner:

Telephone Number:

EmailAddress:

Slgnature of Property
Owner:

Dwain and Cindy Sanders Maillng Address:

McCall, lD 83538
_208-6s4-764L

sJm@mpmplaw.com

c/o Steve Millemann, PO Box 1056,

Date:

OWNER INFORMATION

Applicant:

Telephone Number:

Fax Number:

Signature of Appllcant:

Notes;

_Same

APPLICANT 
'NFORMATION

_?2L [rg1 Drive, MCCall, lD -
Rivers Crossing-

Attach Legol Descriptlon to applicatlon.

BI

Project Address

Subdivislon:

PROJECT INFORMATrcN



Type of Structure: None ProPosed

f, Resldential (L to 4 families)

! Residentlal (More than 4 families)

I tr,ton-Residential

O Elevated

O Floodproofed {wet/dry)

I Comblned Use (Residential and Non-Residential)

I wtanufactured Home

fl Located within a Manufactured Home Park

f tocated outside a Manufactured Home Park

Type of Structural Activity: None proposed

fl wew Structure

Addition to Existing Structure*

Alteration of Existing Structurex

I Relocation of Existing Structure **

I oernolttion of Existlng Structure

f neplacement of Existing Structure

* Substantial lmprovement
lf the value of an addltion or alteration to a structure

equals or exceeds 50% of the value of the structure

before the addition or alteration, the entlre structure

must be treated as new construction,

Substantial lmprovement Evaluationl

Cost of lmprovement (a): $ -

Market Value of the Building (b) : -

Percent of Value Change (a/b); %

Disclaimer: Substantiol lmprovement Evaluation must

be supported by proiect cost documentatlon and

a p p r ov e d m a rket ev al u ati on, Att a ch s u p porti n g

documentatlon,

** Relocation or RePlacement

A relocated structure or a structure being replaced

must be treated as new construction.

Other Development Activitles (See attached Narrative)

fiExcavation (not related to a structural development)

tr cleartng

E Plr."rn"nt of Fill Material

E e rading

X uining

f oriiling

I Dredging

fl Watercourse alteration

f] Drainage improvement {including culvert work)

f] tnUivtdual water or sewer system (not lncluded to a

structural development listed above)

f Roadway or bridge construction

I Specify other development not listed abovel

passed on to the applicant. These fees are separate and in addition

Please inltlal that you are aware of these addltional fees 

-
ure of Property Owner:

for u ofrevlewandn ofte5 sun to p rposerhit s o legangntrtca sePlea tha bJect englneerlnote appllcatlAppl
rvicesse to fite rmsthese and/ortractse5.ssu The McCaof prlvaconllconformancedda ressl lance Cityndang compl

retn revlewsiteseth ssl alonuCo ciln The of floodpla permcostW d profestaff ith hourl rates by Cityv approve
ir fees,seu ication na dot landother appl perm

tcertify best of wledge the information contained in the

Date

application is true and accurate.

I /23 /zl

PROPERTY OW NE R SIGNAT U RE



1,

2,

3.

4.

developmentlslocatedonFlRMmappanel:-(numberandsufflx)

ls the proposed development located within the regulatory floodwayr [ ruo f] Yes (Attach Completed H&H Analysls for a No'

Rise Certificate)

The proposed development is located in Zone of the SFHA.

The

Effectlve date on the FIRM:

FLOOD INFOIIMATION

SECTION II: be completecl Flo tratorAdminis

For structures, the provisions af the flood ordinance specify that the lowest floor' includinq bssement' crawlspace ond utllitles' be

elevated to or above the fload protection elevotion'

The Ftood Protection Elevation for the proposed development lsi 

-

Source of Base Flood Elevation: I rtnrvr I rts or n otherl

Base Flood Elevation:

The followlng documents are regulred:

I An Elevation Certlflcate *

fl site Plan (Showing locatlon of SFHA

and development)

lhe followlng dacuments may be requlred:

I Floodprooflng Certificate * - required if floodproofing a non-residential structure

I I no-Rise cerflflcate t - if any of the proposed development ls ln a "regulatory

floodway"

I An elevatlon study showtng BFEs on developments/ subdlvislons exceedlng 50 lots

or 5 acres ln Zone A

* Certiftcates requlre completlon by a Professionol Land Surveyor or Registered Professlonal Engineer as indicoted'

Str u ctural D ev elo p ment

I have deterinlned that the proposed development:

n ls n tS ruOr (non-conformance described in separate document)

ln conformance wlth the local Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance,

The Floodplain Development Permit:

fl rs I ts ruor (denlals are described in separate document)

issued subJect to any conditions attached to and made part of this permit.

Date:Signature of Floodplain Administrator:

Permit Determination

AdministrutorSECTION lV: (To be by

ardinances,

ls found to be tn complidnce with all applicdbleCertlficate ol Compllance ls lssued and the development

l'lris Cenilicttte of Conplimrce indiuiles lhat strur/til'es may no'w be otettpied, cmd non-slrttcltuul devcloPnterils ilaU lts tttili:ed'

Signature of Floodplain Administrator: Date;

Ce rtiJ i cate of Co m pl i a nce



NARRATIVE TN SUPPORT OF

SANDERS FLOODPLAIN DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION

January 23,2023

l.@:
The property which is the subject of this Application is Lot 19, Block 2 of the Rivers

Crossing Subdivision (the "Property"). The Property is 5.29 acres, containing approximately 2.7

acres of delineated wetlands. The vast majority of the Property lies within the area designated by

FEMA as the "special Flood HazardArea" (a.k.a. the"TYo AEP inundation extent"). The project

for which this application is filed involves the placement of fill in less than .5 acres of the portion

of the Property which is located within the Special Flood Hazard Area.

The placement of the filI is a component of a "CLOMR" (Conditional Letter of Map

Revision) Application which is pending with FEMA. These applications allow an owner to

obtain a Floodplain map revision by raising the level of property to a level which removes it

from the Special Flood Hazard Area. The CLOMR process is expressly recognized by the

McCall City Code, at Section 9.8.042, A, 13.

The placement of the fill requires a Floodplain Development Permit under MCC 9.8 .043,

because it is within the definition of a "Development Activity" under MCC 9.8.02. No other

permits are required under the McCall City Code for the proposed placement of fill'

This Property was the subject of a variance application which was denied by the McCall

City Council. That denial has not been appealed and further variances from the Shoreline and

River Environs setback will not be sought by the Sanders. The placement of the minimal amount

of fill for which the Floodplain Development Permit is sought will not allow the previously

designed home to be built. It will modestly expand the buildable area on the Lot, without having

any adverse environmental impacts, and allow for a re-designed home to comply with the 50 foot

setback requirement of the Shoreline and River Environs Ordinance. It is believed that this is

precisely the process which was followed on the lot immediately to the north of the Sanders

Property.

2.@j.sI:
The activity for which the Permit is sought will be the placement of imported fill into .48

acres of the Property, of which .l 5 acres is delineated Shrub/Scrub wetlands. The area in which

the fill will be placed is depicted in Exhibit I (the "Project Area").

The Property Owners hold a Permit from the Army Corps of Engineers (issued pursuant

to Section 404 of the Clean Water Act) to place fill in the .15 acre area, thereby impacting only

2.8Yo of the Lot and 5.5% of the delineated wetlands. The Permit is a "Nationwide Permit",

which permits authorize "only activities with no more than minimal individual and cumulative

adverse environmental effects." (See Army Corps of Engineers Septembet 15,2020 Proposal to

Reissue and Modify Nationwide Permits).

7Narrative in Support of Floodplain Development Application



The fill will raise the existing elevation of the Project Area to a minimum elevation

matching the Base Flood Elevation (BFE) or higher. As the BFE within the Project Area varies,

the proposed minimum fill elevation also varies as depicted in Exhibits 2 and 3. No fill will be

placed within the designated Floodway. No fill will be placed in or will impact any existing

watercourse. Erosion control methods will consist of installation of silt fencing around disturbed

areas. The small amount of fill contemplated by this Application and the CLOMR Application

will result in only a slight rise in the project area (<0.1-ft during the 100-yr flood event). The

proposed inundation boundaries were computed in the hydraulic analysis documented in the

CLOMR and compared to existing and found no significant difference in floodplain delineations

within the project area or any upstream or downstream properties. The Application does not

propose the placement or construction of any structures'

3. The Floodnlain Develonment Application Requirements (M.C.C. 9.8.043):

The following are the Application requirements of the Ordinance (MCC 9.8 .0a3(A)(1)):

(a) A plot plan drawn to scale which shall include, but shall not be limited to, the

following specific details of the proposed floodplain development:

(1) The nature, location, dimensions, and elevations of the area of
development/disturbance; existing and proposed structures, utility systems, gradingipavement

areas, fill materials, storage areas, drainage facilities, and other development.

Compliance: See Plot Plan attached hereto as Exhibit 1. There are

no existing or proposed structures utility systems, or pavement contemplated by the Application.

(2) The boundary ofthe special flood hazard area as delineated on the

FIRM or other flood map as determined in section9.8.032 of this chapter, or a statement that the

entire lot is within the special flood hazard area.

Compliance: See attached Exhibit 1.

(3) The flood zone(s) designation of the proposed development area as

determined on the FIRM or other flood map as determined in section9.8.032 of this chapter.

Compliance: The cument flood zone designation for the Project

Area is *|yo AEP (100 yr) SFHA"" (see Exhibit l).

(4) The boundary of the floodway(s) as determined in section 9.8.032 of
this chapter,

Compliance: See Exhibit l. The Project Area is not within or

proximate to the Payette River Floodway.

(5) The base flood elevation (BFE) where provided as set forth in section

9.8.032,9.8.033., or 9.8.053 of this chapter'

Compliance: See Exhibit l.

(6) The old and new location of any watercourse that will be altered or

relocated as a result of proposed development.

2Narrative in Support of Floodplain Development Application



Compliance: The proposed activity will not alter, relocate or

impact any existing watercourse.

(b) Proposed elevation, and method thereof, of all development within a special

flood hazard area including but not limited to:

(1) Elevation in relation to mean sea level of the proposed lowest floor

(including basement) of all structures.

Compliance: NA. No structures are proposed as part of this

Application.

(2) Elevation in relation to mean sea level to which any non- residential

structure inZone A, AE, AH, AO, or Al-30 will be floodproofed.

Compliance: NA. No structures are proposed as part of this

Application.

(3) Elevation in relation to mean sea level to which any proposed utility

equipment and machinery will be elevated or floodproofed.

Compliance: NA. No such equipment is proposed as part of this

Application.

(c) If floodproofing, a Floodproofing Certificate (FEMA Form 086-0-33) with

supporting data, anoperational plan, and an inspection and maintenance plan that include, but

are not limited to, installation, exercise, and maintenance of floodproofing measures will be

required prior to Certificate of Occupancy/Completion.

Compliance: NA

(d) Foundation Plan, drawn to scale, which shall include details of the proposed

foundation system to ensure all provisions of this chapter are met.

Compliance: NA

4. General Standards, to the extent applicable to the proposed activitv (MCC 9.8.051(A)):

15. All subdivision proposals and other development proposals shall have received all

necessary permits from those governmental agencies for which approval is required by Federal

or State law, including section 404 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act Amendments of
1972,33 USC 1334.

Compliance: The Applicants hold a Permit from the Army Corps of Engineers

for the proposed activity.

5. Specific Standards (MCC 9.8.052): There are no Specific Standards applicable to this

Application.

3Narrative in Support of Floodplain Development Application



EXH IBIT 1

USGS,

RIVERS CROSSING (LOT 19)
Svmhol I adond

Fr-""r

.-." \i)r-.'l)1-\ I

. \.ll\)! ri\i i\\

I

a

a

N

s

25 0 25 50 75 r00

nrormalon a! I spayec
Jala is approxrmate rn ter
solrced iior oca ilate,

dih

PLOT PI-AN

CITY OF MCCALL,
VALLEY COUNTY, ID

1olo AEP (100-yr) SFHA
FLOODWAY

rr map s :o P ar nLng P rroses un ) I nF
m! of conleni;nd locatloa 3nd has beei

-FEMA 
XS

ffiApproved ACOE Wetla

KFill in Wetland
&lFill within 1"/,, AEP

Parcel Boundary
Effective

Zone - AE

Wetland
Boundary

Fill placed at or above BFE

icnain Profile on Line: 0

l'rti: :'

.:i:

Dr- -
4929 7

__-:;,:, -

irrii-:t-

-101
CcordLnateSvsten NAD T9E3 2lTT StalePane dahoU/estF PS 1T03Fi !S

r Projea!c: Transverse l/eicator
Dat!m NAD 19E3 2!11
F:ise East ng 2 624 666 6667
:e,se Noilhrng 0 0!00
Centra Mefoian -i15 i50t

.ScaLe Factor 0 9999
r., Lat,ilde O: Crgrn 41 656i

', !n is Foot US

'-rp'.: :. -

a'

. .'!-d ,f, ,

4930

BFE = 4930 25-ft ---r
,ri -r,'brJ<_ Wetland

Boundary

2

rn 160

Zone - X

Wetland
,'\ Wetland

Boundary
Boundary-----.-

1

h

':l].i.:--

BFE = 4s2&$-ft J

Source. Esri. Maxar GeoEye Earthstar Geographics. CNEsiAirbus
and the GIS User Community

Area

0.1 5 Acres

0.33 Acres

0.48 Acres

Proposed Fill in SFHA

Portion of fill in wetland

Portion of fill outside of wetland

Total fill in SFHA

RID. I



EXHIBIT 2

0 20

Tenin Frofileon'LinG: 1 '

4931

4930

g
L
o
rE
>.

_gul
4929

49e8

40 60 140 r6080
Station [ft]

r00 t20

= 4929.7

- LiDAR 20I 2.Post-20e2-1 2-05

- LiDARjzor2
---- Base Flood Elevationi(BFE)



EXHIBIT B



9. 8.03 3 : ESTABLISHMENT OF FLOODPLAIN DEVELOPMENT PERMIT:

A floodplain development permit shall be required in conformance with the provisions of this

chapter prior to the io-m"n""ment of any development activities within special flood hazard

areas deiermined in accordance with the provisions of section 9.8.043 of this chapter. (Otd- 977,

| -3 -20 I 9, eff . 2- | -20 I 9)



EXHIBIT C



TITLE 46
MILITIA AND MILITARY AFFAIRS

CHAPTER IO
STATE DISASTER PREPAREDNESS ACT

46-1020. PURPOSE AND FINDINGS. (1) The legislature of the state of ldaho finds:

(a) That recurring floods in Idaho threaten human life, health and property and that the public

interest requires that the floodplains of Idaho be managed and regulated in order to minimize flood

hazards to life, health and property.
(b) That it is the policy of this state to reduce flood damage and the number of people and

structures at risk in flood hazard areas through proper floodplain management, including such

measures as floodplain zoning ordinances which require structures to be built at a flood protection

elevation and/or with floodproofing.
(c) That local units of government have the primary responsibility for planning, adoption and

enforcement of land use regulations to accomplish this proper floodplain management.

Furthermore, they are best able to adopt and implement comprehensive floodplain management

programs that include nonregulatory techniques to accomplish the purposes of this act in
cooperation with federal, state and local agencies.

(2) The purpose of this act is:

(a) To protect human life, health and property;
(b) To preserve floodplains for the purpose of carrying and storing flood waters;

(c) To ieduce the public cost of providing emergency services, flood control structures and

rebuilding public works damaged by floods;
(d) To protect the tax base and jobs in Idaho;
(e) To reduce the threat of increased damage to existing development;

(0 To encourage the orderly development and wise use of floodplains;
(g) To minimize interruptions to business;

(h) To prevent increased flooding and erosion caused by improper development.
History:

[46-1020,added 1998, ch.301; sec. 1,p.992.]



EXHIBIT D



TITLE 46

MILITIA AND MILITARY AFFAIRS
CHAPTER IO

STATE DISASTER PREPAREDNESS ACT

46-1022. LOCAL GOVERNMENTS MAY ADOPT FLOODPLAIN ZONING

ORDINANCES. Subject to the availability of adequate mapping and data to properly identify the

floodplains, if any, within its jurisdiction, each local government is encouraged to adopt a

floodplain map and floodplain management ordinance which identifies these floodplains and

which requires, at a minimum, that any development in a floodplain must be constructed at a flood

protection elevation and/or have adequate floodproofing. The local govemment may regulate all

mapped and unmapped floodplains within its jurisdiction. Nothing in this act shall prohibit a local

gou"*rn"nt from adopting more restrictive standards than those contained in this chapter.

Floodplain zoning ordinances shall not regulate the operation, cleaning, maintenance or repair of
any ditch, canal,lateral, drain, diversion structure or other irrigation or drainage works that is

performed or authorized by the owner thereof pursuant to lawful rights and obligations. If not

btherwise exempt from approval, a flood control district's conduct of a "flood fight," as defined in

section A24rc3,Idaho Code, shall not require prior local government approval provided all such

approvals are obtained within a reasonable time aftdr the imminent flooding event has ended.

History:

146-1022,added 1998, ch.30l, sec. 7,p.994;am.2010,ch.l4l, sec.2, p.299;am.2074,
ch.72, sec.6, p. 188.]



EXHIBIT E



City of McCall
216 East Park Street

McCall, ldaho 83638

Phone 208-634-7052

Main 208-634-7'142

Fax 208-634'3038

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

www.mccall.id.us

Dwain and Cindy Sanders

C/O Steven J. Millemann
P.O. Box 1056

McCall, lD 83638

Re: FPDP-23-01- Floodplain Development Permit Application for River's Crossing Lot 19 Block 2 dated

January 23,2023

Dear Mr. and Mrs. Sanders:

Determination of Floodplain Administrator pursuant to McCall City Code: Application Denied

Basis for Determination, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law:

Applicable Code:

L. Floodplain Development Permit Applications are reviewed by the Floodplain Administrator. MCC

9.8.042.
2. The City Planner is designated as the Floodplain Administrator. 9.8.041.

3. According to MCC 9.8.034, no land within the Floodplain can be altered or developed "in any

way without full compliance with the terms of this chapter and other applicable regulations."

4. Title 9 Chapter 8 is not intended in any way to "repeal, abrogate, impair, or remove the

necessity of compliance with any other laws, ordinances, regulations, easements, covenants, or

deed restrictions, etcetera. However, where this chapter and another conflict or overlap,

whichever imposes more stringent or greater restrictions shall control'" MCC 9'8.035

5. No land may be altered within the floodplain without being in compliance "in full compliance

with the terms of this chapter and other applicable regulations." Mcc 9.8.038.

5. MCC 3.2.02 provides the following definitions:

a. Development: Any construction or activity that changes the existing character or use of land

upon which such construction or activity occurs.

b. Excavation: See chapter 70 of the international building code.

i. "Excavation is the mechanical removal of earth material." - 2018 IBC 7003

c. Record Grade: The natural grade existing prior to any site preparation grading, or filling,

unless a new record grade is approved at the time of subdivision approval and noted on the

filed final plat.

d. Wetlands: Lands which are dedicated and protected in accordance with Federal laws and

are not to be included in the calculation of land to meet the requirements for parks.

7. MCC 3.7.023(8): Permit Criteria: No conditional use or building permit shall be issued, nor is any

development, grading, or alteration of any land within this zone permitted, unless the applicant

establishes to the satisfaction of the commission and council in the case of a conditional use, or

of the administrator in the case of a building permit, that:

t. The proposed development meets all applicable requirements of this title and title lX of this

code.



Z. The plans accurately identify the water pool shore contours and high water marks, which, in

the case of river environs, shall mean the limits of the area of special flood hazard.

3. A letter is on file from a specialist certified by the United States army corps of engineers

wetlands expert that certifies that no wetlands related issues or issues related to fill of

navigable waters issues were presented by the proposed developmenU or that a section 404

permit has been issued or is forthcoming by the corps of engineers, whichever is

appropriate, city approval(s) under this title and title lX of this code are contingent upon all

applicable section 404 permit requirements being me! if a permit requirement is not met,

the city may revoke its approval(s) underthistitle and title lX of this code.

4. The requirements of the underlying zone are met.

5. The fifty foot (50') building setback line is met per subsection (C)3(c) of this section.

6, proof of stormwater certification training has been provided by the individual applying for

the building Permit.
8. According to MCC 3.7 .O23 (C) Prohibitions: No construction, alteration or activity shall cause

harm to:
a. Water quality.

b. Fish and aquatic habitats.
c. Wetlands.
d. Significant wildlife habitat harboring any threatened or endangered species'

e. Views of, from, or across a lake or river.

f . To this end, all applications for building permits within this overlay zone, no matter what

the permit may be for, shall be accompanied by a plan for the installation of appropriate

natural, storm, and melt water drainage and treatment facilities. Such plans for natural,

storm and melt water drainage of the property and on and through the property, shall

be consistent with best management practices under state and federal storm and melt

water regulatory programs to which the city is subject and consistent with other city

programs in these regards to the satisfaction of the city.

2. Harm Defined: "Harm" for these purposes means:

a. The creation of conditions which foster runoff of, or other source of fertilizers, toxic

substances, or other pollutants or contaminants, into the water;

b, The excessive clearing of natural vegetation or change of natural landforms within the

area between the water pool shore contour or high water mark and the fifty foot (50')

building setback line;

c. The removal, burial, or destruction in whole or part of boulders, sandy beaches, rocky

shores, or other features of the water pool shore contour or high water mark, the land

below the same, or the immediate upland edge;

d. The filling or dredging of lake bottom or wetlands;

e. The erection of visual barriers between the lake or river and the roads on the uplands,

beyond the extent reasonably necessary for an owner's usage of the land for a permitted

use; or
f. The creation of any other condition which would be inconsistent with best management

practices under, orthreaten a violation of, state and federal storm and melt water

regulatory programs to which the city is subject, or fail otherwise to be consistent with

other city programs in these regards, allas established to the satisfaction of the city.

9. pursuant to MCC 3.8.02(G): Building Permit Required: Until a valid building permit has been

issued by the city of McCall, no construction work, including grading, blasting, filling, trenching,

tree removal, etc., may be started, except as permitted in section 3.8.03 of this chapter.

L0. Pursuant to MCC 3.8.23(B): Structures shall be located in a manner that preserves significant

vegetation as set forth in section 3.8.13, as well as water courses, wildlife corridors, wetlands,

and significant natural features. Projects should be designed so they complement rather than

2



dominate the natural landscape. To meet this performance standard all structures should be

located:
t. ln one of three (3) locations: (a) within tree masses; (b) at the edge of tree or land masses

overlooking open space; or (c) in such a way as to preserve the predominate natural

features of the site; and

2. At least fifteen feet (15') from any wetland, stream or watercourse.

l"L. Pursuant to MCC 3.8.23(D) Site grading shall follow the natural terrain of the land and be the

minimum necessary for development of the site as determined by the Administrator and Public

Works Director.

ll. Discussion:
A. The provisions of McCall City Code Title 3 are applicable to Floodplain Development Permits

A condition for the approval of any Floodplain Development Permit (FDP) is that all proposed

Development must meet all applicable Laws, Ordinances, Regulations and Standards. The provisions

of Title 9 authorizing FDP's specifically subordinates and subjugates such permits to other applicable

standards within the McCall City Code. ln that way, a FDP is not a means by which an applicant may

avoid the development standards and requirements provided in Title 3 of the McCall City Code.

B. There are three basis found in Title 3 for the denial of the Sanders FDP:

t. No building permit has been issued.

MCC 9.8.042(AX2) requires that all necessary local, State, and Federal permits have been

received. As MCC3.8.02(G) requires a building permit prior to grading or filling. No building

permit has been issued forthis project and therefore, not all necessary local permits have been

received.

2. The proposed Development will cause unpermitted harm.

MCC 3.7.023 prohibits development which will cause harm to:
a. Water quality.
b. Fish and aquatic habitats.
c. Wetlands.
d. Significant wildlife habitat harboring any threatened or endangered species

The application materials provided to date do not provide adequate evidence that the risk of

harm has been minimized.

The proposed FDP may result in impermissible runoff

Modifications to the floodplain area for residential development may result in impermissible

runoff from the use of fertilizers on lawn areas, excessive silt creation and hazardous

materials being introduced to the Payette River during construction. As no building permit

application, construction plan, or stormwater management plan has been submitted to

date, inadequate evidence exists to determine that the proposed floodplain modification

will not result in the creation of impermissible runoff.

3



b. The proposed FDP will result in excessive clearing of natural vegetation or change ot

natural landforms within the area between the water pool shore contour or high water

mark and the fifty foot (50') building setback line

The proposed floodplain development permit will cause excessive clearing of natural

vegetation and likewise represents an excessive change to natural land forms within the

area between the river shore and the high water mark. The proposed development is

excessive because the property in question includes an area that is large enough to support

development without requiring excess and additional modification to the floodplain

environment. Thus, the proposed Development on the site is in excess of what is required to

develop the site in a way that is otherwise consistent with regulations under McCall City

Code,

c. The proposed floodplain development permit will result in the removal, burial, or

destruction in whole or part of boulders, sandy beaches, rocky shores, or other features of

the water pool shore contour or high water mark, the land below the same, or the

immediate upland edge.

The proposed floodplain development permit will result in the removal burial and

destruction of features of the high-water mark (defined by MCC 3.7.O23(Bl(2) to be the area

of special flood hazard along river environs), the land below the same and the immediate

upland edge, The proposed floodplain development permit clearly proposes destruction of

the existing high water mark land contour, filling and burial of areas below the high-water

mark, and extension of the upland edge to a location not previously found on site.

d. The Proposed floodplain development permit will result in the filling or dredging of lake

bottom or wetlands

The proposed floodplain development permit specifically and unequivocally prescribes and

includes the filling of wetlands. Exhibit L of the floodplain development permit application

clearly identifies Army Corps of Engineers delineated wetlands proposed to be filled.

3. The proposed site grading is in excess of the "minimum necessary for development of the site

as determined by the Administrator and Public Works.

As no building permit application or Shoreline and River Environs Design Review application has

been submitted to date, any site grading is in excess of the minimum necessary for development

of the site.

lll. Conclusion

Based upon the foregoing, it is my determination that the Sanders application for FDP is denied

because it proposes site work and grading not permissible under the above referenced sections of

McCall City Code,

lV. Availability of Appeal of this Determination

pursuant to MCC g.g.O7,this determination may be appealed according to the provision of Title lll,

Chapter 15 of the McCall City Code as follows:

4



3. 15.09: ADM I NISTRATIVE APPEALS:

(A) A person aggrieved by a decision by the administrator under this title may appeal such

decision to the commission.
(B) Appeals shall be filed within ten (10) days after mailing of notice of decision by the

ad ministrator.
(C) Appeals shall be conducted as a public hearing before the commission in the manner set forth

in subsections 3.L5.04 and 3.15.08 of this chapter. (Ord.82L,2-23-2006, eff. 3-L6-2005; amd. Ord.

998,7-t4-202t)

3.15.08: APPEAL OR REQUEST FOR HEARING BY AGGRIEVED PERSONS:

(A) Right To Appeal: An aggrieved person may appeal the commission decision, or request a

hearing on the commission recommendation, by filing a notice of appeal or request for hearing in

writing with the city clerk no later than ten (10) days after the issuance of the findings and

conclusions of the commission. When such notice of appeal or request is received, proceedings

before the council shall be on the record made below. A notice of appeal shall set out with

particularity the decision or part thereof from which the appeal is being taken, and whether or not

facts found by the commission are disputed by appellant.
(B) Time Limits For Actions: The council shall hold a public hearing on the appeal and the

application appealed within forty five (a5) days of the request and shall follow the hearing

procedures established in section 3.15.04 of this chapter. When there is no required hearing, the

council shall put the matter down on its agenda upon a date certain for the consideration of written

and oral arguments; notice of such hearing shall be provided to appellant no later than fifteen (15)

days before the hearing; should appellant desire to file written arguments, appellant shall do so no

later than five (5) days prior to the hearing.

(C) Stay Of Proceedings: An appeal or request for hearing stays all proceedings in furtherance of

the action appealed from unless, after the notice of appeal or request for hearing is filed, the council

finds that by reason of the facts stated in the application, a stay would cause imminent peril to

health, safety or property.
(D) Council Action: After the hearing has been held, the council may:

1. Grant or deny the appeal or the permit; or
2. Delay such decision for no longer than sixty (60) days after the hearing date for further study

or hearing; provided, however, that the council must render a decision no later than sixty (60) days

from the date of the hearing. (Ord.821, 2-23-2006, eff.3-16-2005)

3.15.10: JUDICIAL REVIEW:

A person aggrieved by a decision under this title may, after all remedies have been exhausted under

local ordinances, seek judicial review under the procedures provided by sections 67-5215(b) through

(e) and section 67-5216,ldaho Code. (Ord. 82L, 2-23-2006, eff.3-16-2005)

5



EXHIBIT F



9.9.07: PROCEDURES, APPEALS AND ACTION:

See the provisions of title III, chapter l5 of this code. (Ord. 822,2-23-2006, eff. 3-16-2006)

3. I 5.01 : APPLICANT; GENERAL PROCEDURES:
(A) An applicant for an approval required by this title must be the owner of the subject

property or a person who has written permission from the owner to make application in the name

of the owner.
(B) Unless waived or excepted by specific provisions of this chapter, title, or title IX of this

code, the procedures in this chapter apply to preliminary development plan reviews and

applications for: an amendment of this title or title IX of this code, a zoning map amendment

(eicept a legislative rather than quasi-judicial revision of the zoning map), a variance, a planned

unit development, a conditional use permit, a subdivision, a scenic route approval, a request to

vacate an easement or right of way, appeals, or other land use decisions referenced by this title

and title IX of this code.
(C) The provisions of section3.l5.02, "Preliminary Development Plan Review", of this

chapter, apply prior, and in addition, to the formal application for a land use approval. Evidence

of compliance with section 3.15.02 of this chapter must be submitted as part of the application.

(Ord. 821, 2-23-2006, eff. 3- 1 6-2006)

3.1 5.02 PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW:
(A) Presentation Of Plan: The applicant will present to the administrator and commission, in a

scheduled meeting, but a nonpublic hearing, a preliminary development plan for review and

discussion. All materials to be reviewed and discussed shall be provided, or be available, to

commission members at a regular scheduled meeting of the commission.

(B) Neighborhood Meetings: lt is required that the applicant organize one, or more, meetings

of neighboring groups before submitting plans for a public hearing. The purpose of such

meetings is to obtain input to improve plans and reduce negative comment from neighbors.

1. liming: Within 75 days and not less than 7 days prior to the submittal of an application,

the applicant shall conduct a neighborhood meeting.

2. 
- 

Notification: Notification of the neighborhood meeting shall be sent by US mail to all

property owners within 300' of the site of the proposed application at least l4 days prior to the

date of the meeting. The notice shall describe the application and invite those property owners to

the neighborhood meeting to discuss the proposal.

3. Summary of the Meeting: The application submitted to the City shall include a summary

of the comments received at the meeting and a listing of the persons attending.

(C) Review And Meetings Not Required For Appeals: Preliminary development plan review

and neighborhood meetings are not required for appeals.

(D) Waiver Of Requirements: The administrator may waive the requirements of this section

for those applications deemed to be routine in nature or to have no substantial impact on adjacent

properties or the community at large. (Ord. 821 ,2-23-2006, eff. 3-16-2006; amd. Ord. 983,12-

79 -2019, eff . I -l -2020)



3.15.03: DATE AND NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING:
(A) Date; Quorum: The date for public hearings shall be fixed by the chairman of the

commission within a reasonable time and in no event shall the date be set later than seventy five

(75) days after the receipt of a complete application and all necessary documents pertinent

thereto. Notwithstanding the absence of a quorum of the commission at the time set for a

particular hearing, members of the commission present may by public announcement at the time

and place of the hearing continue that hearing to a time and place where a quorum is anticipated

to be present, exercising the power of the chair to set the time of hearing, and thus utilizing

actuaf notice to those *ho r.iponded to public notice. Further public notice of such a continued

hearing need only be given by posting at city hall.
(B) Public Notice: The commission, through the administrator, shall give public notice at least

fifteen (15) days prior to the hearing date in the official newspaper of the city. Notice shall be

made available to all radio stations within the county for use as a public service announcement.

(C) Notice To Adjacent Property Owners: The applicant shall give notice by regular first class

U.S. mail or personal delivery, and shall provide an affidavit, or proof, of such notice, to each

owner of property of record as shown on records obtained from the Valley County assessor's

office, or a commercial title company doing business in the county or city, any portion of which

is located within three hundred feet (300') of the exterior boundary of the subject property, and to

all others as required by state law to be entitled to notice. The notice shall be mailed or delivered

at least fourteen (14) days prior to the scheduled public hearing. The notice shall give the date,

time and place of the hearing, the name(s) of the applicant(s), the relief sought, an identification

of the subject property, and such other information as may be prescribed by the commission. If
the city is the appiicant for modification or revocation of a variance or conditional use, such

notice shall also be sent to the owner of the subject property by certified mail, return receipt

requested, and delivered by hand to the occupant of the property. If an applicant is not the owner

of all of the property affected by the application, as a zoning map amendment initiated by some

but not all owners of the property affected, such notice shall also be sent to the owner of the

subject property by certified mail, return receipt requested.

(D) Notice To Property Owner: In the event that the application has been filed by a person

other than the property owner as such property owner is shown on the last equalized assessment

roll, notice shall be mailed to the property owner.
(E) Request For Notice; Fee: Notice shall be given by first class mail to any person who has

filed a written request with the administrator. Such a request may be submitted at any time

during the calendar year and shall apply for the balance of such calendar year. The city may

impoie a reasonable fee on persons requesting such notice for the purpose of recovering the cost

of such mailing.
(F) Additional Notices: If, during the preliminary review of the proposed project, the

commission decides that a greater number of property owners, or owners with properties more

than three hundred feet (300') from the exterior boundary ofthe subject property, should be

noticed, the commission will so advise the applicant of the decision and the additional notices

required.

f-Ci Failure To Receive Notice: The failure to receive notice by any person entitled thereto by

law or by this chapter does not affect the validity ofany action taken pursuant to the procedures

set forth in this chapter.



(H) Posting Notice On Property: The applicant shall post notice, in a form approved by the

administrator, conspicuously on the premises which is the subject of the application, not less than

fifteen (15) days prior to the hearing date. The applicant shall provide photographic evidence of
such notice to the administrator.

11; Published Notice And Map: When notice of a hearing on a proposed zoning map

amendment, conditional use, variance, scenic route application, planned unit development, or

other zoning action is required to two hundred (200) or more property owners or purchasers of
record, notice otherwise required by subsections (C) and (D) of this section need not be given;

provided, that the published notice under subsection (B) of this section includes a map

identifying the property together with text indicating the general nature of the zoning change

proposed. The format of notice shall be provided by the administrator.
(J) Payment Of Fees: Fees shall be paid by the applicant at the time of filing an application.

Fees shall be in accordance with a fee schedule established periodically by the council by

resolution. These fees shall include costs of publication, mailing fees, any application fees and

other charges as may be set by the council by resolution. (Ord. 821,2-23-2006' eff. 3-16-2006)

3.15.04: CONDUCT OF HEARINGS:
The commission and/or council shall conduct all public hearings under this title as follows:

(A) A sign-in roster shall be kept at the entrance to the hearing room for all persons who wish

to testify at the hearing on a particular application or issue.

(B) The chair of the meeting shall conduct the hearing in accordance with "Robert's Rules Of
Order, Newly Revised", or its most recent revision.

(C) A transcribable record shall be taken and maintained, including audio and written.

(D) The chair shall call upon the administrator or staff to make preliminary presentation of
facts and recommendations to the commission, including a summary of any comments or

recommendations from other agencies.
(E) The chair shall then invite the applicant to make a presentation of the proposal to the

commission.
(F) Every document or tangible thing referred to by any person during testimony (including

charts, maps, photographic evidence or any other evidence) shall be marked and entered into the

record of the proceeding. Such exhibits shall be maintained at the office of the city clerk during

the appeal p.iiod, and ifincorporated into or referenced by a condition ofapproval, thereafter for
as long as necessary to ensure conformance. No exhibit shall be used or presented by an

applicant as expressing the applicant's intent or promise, unless the applicant intends that

cbmpliance with that exhibit may be made a condition of the approval of the application.

(G) After the administrator or staff presentation and presentation by the applicant, the chair

shall open the hearing for public testimony and shall invite the public to address the commission

in the order of names found on the sign-in roster. If in the opinion of the chair the number of
persons testifying is so large as to unduly delay the process of the hearing, the chair may limit
public testimony to three (3) minutes or such other time for each member of the public.

(H) A11 persons testifying before the commission or council shall state, for the record, their

full name and address.

19 Members of the commission, council op the attorney assigned to advise the commission or

council may question any person who testified at any time or may, upon approval of a majority

of the members present, recall a person for further testimony.



(J) Before the close of the public testimony, the chair shallask if any person attending the

hearing who did not sign the roster wishes to be heard and any such person shall be given one

opportunity to testify.
(K) At the close of public testimony, the chair shall solicit comments from administrator or

staff for additional facts or clarifications as a result of the testimony given. After comments from

administrator or staff, the applicant or appellant shall be given an opportunity to address final

comments to the commission or council.
(L) After all testimony, the chair shall declare the public hearing closed and shall bring the

matter back before the commission or council for discussion and action. Audience participation

ceases atthattime. The public hearing may be continued upon motion to a date certain which

shall be announced to the public there assembled.

(M) The discussion and decision may be deferred until another date certain which shall be

then announced to the public there assembled. (Ord. 821,2-23-2006, eff. 3-16-2006)

3.15.05: ACTION BY COMMISSION:
Within thirty five (35) days after the public hearing, the commission shall recommend to the

council either approval, conditional approval, or disapproval of an application; or, in the case of
preliminary approval of a subdivision plat, make its decision to approve or not to approve such

plat, with or without conditions. Upon making a recommendation, granting or denying an

application, the commission shall specify in the minutes, and forward to the council, findings of
fact and conclusions of law which shall include:

(A) The ordinance and standards used in the evaluation of the application.
(B) The manner in which the applicant complies or does not comply with the standards used

in evaluating the application.
(C) The reasons for the recommendation upon, or approval or denial of the application.

(D) The conditions, if any, upon which a recommendation or an approval was made.

(E) A denial by the commission is a denial of an application, and, unless appealed to the city

council, the application will be terminated and the application fee forfeited.
(F) The actions, if any, that the applicant could take to gain approval of the application.

(G) The time limit set forth above for acting on the application may be extended at the request

of the developer and approved by the commission. (Ord. 821,2-23-2006, eff. 3-16-2006)

3. 1 5.06: NOTIFICATION TO APPLICANT:
Within twenty (20) days after arecommendation has been made or a decision has been rendered,

the administrator shall provide the applicant with written notice of the action. (Ord' 821,2-23-

2006, eff.3-16-2006)

3.15.07 ACTION BY CITY COUNCIL:
(A) Right To Hearing; Exceptions: Within forty five (45) days after receipt of a

recommendation and findings of fact and conclusions of law from the commission, the council

shall hold a public hearing at which interested persons shall have the opportunity to be heard,

except when:



l. The recommendation is for a variance, subdivision, planned unit development, or

conditional use permit; and
2. The commission recommended that no second hearing be held; and

3. An appeal of the commission's action is not filed'
When these three (3) conditions are met, the council may act on the commission's

recommendation without conducting a second hearing.
(B) Public Notice Of Hearing: If a hearing before the council is required, notice shall be given

to the public at least fifteen (15) days prior to the hearing date, by publication, in the official

newspaper of the city. Notice shall also be made available to all radio stations within the county'

(C) Notice To Adjacent Property Owners: Notice of the hearing shall be given by regular

United States mail or personal delivery to each owner of property as shown on records obtained

from the Valley County assessor's office, or a commercial title company doing business in the

county or city, any portion of which is within three hundred feet (300') of the subject property,

and to such other persons as may be required by state law. The notice shall give the date, time

and place of the hearing; the name(s) of the applicant(s); the relief sought; an identification of the

subject property; and, such other information as may be required by the council. Notice shall also

be posted conspicuously on the subject property not less than one week prior to the hearing date.

When notice of a hearing on a proposed zoning map amendment, conditional use, variance,

planned unit development, or other zoning action is required to two hundred (200) or more

property owners or purchasers of record, notice by mail and by posting as stated above need not

6e given; provided, that the published notice under subsection (B) of this section includes a map

identifying the property together with text indicating the general nature of the zoning change

proposed.
(D) Second Hearing; Fee: When a second hearing is required under any circumstances, the

applicant shall pay a second filing fee, in addition to the postage and publication fees for the

second hearing.
(E) Amendment Concerning Lands Within Impact Area: If an amendment to the zoning map

or a planned unit development is proposed with respect to lands in the impact area, and the action

proposed would be of legislative, rather than quasi-judicial scope as those terms are understood

in land use planning law, then final action must also include approval of the amendment or

proposal by the board, whether by identical county ordinance or by county ordinance referring to

lhe city ordinance, after public hearing conducted jointly with the council. Nothing in this

subsection shall be read to preclude approval by both council and board where doubt exists as to

the legislative or quasi-judicial character of a particular action respecting the zoning map or

planned unit development. (Ord. 82 1, 2-23 -2006, eff . 3 -1 6 -2006)

3.15.08: APPEAL OR REQUEST FOR HEARING BY AGGRIEVED PERSONS:

(A) Right To Appeal: An aggrieved person may appeal the commission decision, or request a

hearing on the commission recommendation, by filing a notice of appeal or request for hearing in

writing with the city clerk no later than ten (10) days after the issuance of the findings and

concluiions of the commission. When such notice of appeal or request is received, proceedings

before the council shall be on the record made below. A notice of appeal shall set out with
particularity the decision or part thereof from which the appeal is being taken, and whether or not

facts found by the commission are disputed by appellant'



(B) Time Limits For Actions: The council shall hold a public hearing on the appeal and the

application appealed within forty five (45) days of the request and shall follow the hearing

procedures established in section 3.15.04 of this chapter. When there is no required hearing, the

council shall put the matter down on its agenda upon a date certain for the consideration of
written and oral arguments; notice of such hearing shall be provided to appellant no later than

fifteen (15) days before the hearing; should appellant desire to file written arguments, appellant

shall do so no later than five (5) days prior to the hearing.
(C) Stay Of Proceedings: An appeal or request for hearing stays all proceedings in furtherance

of the action appealed from unless, after the notice of appeal or request for hearing is filed, the

council finds that by reason of the facts stated in the application, a stay would cause imminent
perilto health, safety or property.

(D) Council Action: After the hearing has been held, the council may:

l. Grant or deny the appeal or the permit; or
2. Delay such decision for no longer than sixty (60) days after the hearing date for further

study or hearing; provided, however, that the council must render a decision no later than sixty
(60) days from the date of the hearing. (Ord. 821, 2-23-2006, eff' 3-16-2006)

3. I 5.09: ADMINISTRATIVE APPEALS :

(A) A person aggrieved by a decision by the administrator under this title may appeal such

decision to the commission.
(B) Appeals shall be filed within ten (10) days after mailing of notice of decision by the

administrator.
(C) Appeals shall be conducted as a public hearing before the commission in the manner set

forth in subsections 3.15.04 and 3.15.08 of this chapter. (Ord. 821, 2-23-2006, eff .3-16-2006;
amd. Ord.998, I -14-2021)

3.15. I 0: JUDICIAL REVIEW:
A person aggrieved by a decision under this title may, after all remedies have been exhausted

under local ordinances, seekjudicial review under the procedures provided by sections 67-

5215(b) through (g) and section 67-52l6,ldaho Code. (Ord. 821,2-23-2006, eff. 3-16-2006)



EXHIBIT G



McCALL AREA PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

Appeal ofFPDP-23-01 - Findings ofFact
McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission - November 7,2023

Page I of9

FINDTNGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW'
AND DECISION

FINDINGS OF FACTS

Dwain & Cindy Sanders

Amy Holm, Millemann, Pemberton & Holm

An appeal of the Administrator's decision to deny a Floodplain

Development Permit Application.

Lot 19, Block Two of the River's Crossing Subdivision situate in

thesl%of Section 17,T18N, R3E, B.M. City of McCall, Valley

County,Idaho.

221Morgan Drive

Newspaper: The Notice of Hearing was published inthe Star

News on August 24,2023

Mailing: The Notice of Hearing was mailed by the applicant

to property owners within 300 feet on August 28,2023.

Posting: The Notice of Hearing was posted by the applicant

on the subject property on August 28,2023.

R8 - Medium Density Residential

5.29 acres

IN RE:

APPEAL OF DENIAL
OF FLOODPLAIN
DEVELOPMENT
PERMIT

Application Number:
FPDP-23-01

Appellant:

Representative(s):

Application:

Location

Property Address:

Public Notices:

Zoning:

Property Size:

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)



Appeal ofFPDP-23'01 - Findings ofFact
McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission - November 7 ,2023

Page2 of9

APPROVAL STANDARDS

Title 9. Chapter 8

Flood Control Regulations

Application Requirements: Application for a floodplain development permit shall be made

to the Floodplain Administrator prior to any development activities located within special

flood hazard areas. The following items shall be presented to the Floodplain Administrator

to apply for a floodplain development permit:

(a) A plot plan drawn to scale which shall include, but shall not be limited to, the following

specific details of the proposed floodplain development:

(1) The nature,location, dimensions, and elevations of the area of

development/disturbancel existing and proposed structures, utility systems,

grading/pavement areas, fill materials, storage areas, drainage facilities, and other

development;

The floodplain development permit application identifies all locations and dimensions of

proposed areas of fill. No other areas of development or disturbance are identified.

(2) The boundary of the special flood hazard area as delineated on the FIRM or other

flood map as determined in section 9.8.032 of this chapter, or a statement that the

entire lot is within the special flood hazard atea;

The floodplain development permit application identifies the special flood hazard area.

(3) The flood zone(s) designation of the proposed development area as determined on

the FIRM or other flood map as determined in section 9.8.032 of,this chapter;

2



MccarAreapranning*.,t"t#l"J#:1,3i;tl;*:#"t;,':#:
Page 3 of 9

The floodplain development permit application identifies the proposed fill within the

special flood hazard area.

(a) The boundary of the floodway(s) as determined in section 9.8.032 of this chapter;

The floodplain development permit application identifies the floodway boundary.

(5) The base flood elevation (BFE) where provided as set forth in section 9.8.032'

9.8.033, or 9.8.053 of this chapter;

The floodplain development permit application identifies the relevant base flood

elevations.

(6) The old and new location of any watercourse that will be altered or relocated as a

result of proposed development; and

The floodplain development permit application identifies the proposed modification of

the special flood hazard area.

(b) Proposed elevation, and method thereof, of all development within a special flood

hazard area including but not limited to:

(1) Elevation in relation to mean sea level of the proposed lowest floor (including

basement) of all structuresl

N/A

(2) Elevation in relation to mean sea level to which any non- residential structure in

Zone A,AE, AII, AO, or A1-30 will be floodproofed; and

N/A

(3) Elevation in relation to mean sea level to which any proposed utility equipment and

machinery will be elevated or floodproofed.

N/A

aJ



Appeal ofFPDP-23-01 - Findings ofFact
McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission - Novembet 7,2023

Page 4 of9

(c) If floodproofing, a Floodproofing Certificate (FEMA Form 086-0-33) with supporting

data, an operational plan, and an inspection and maintenance plan that include, but are

not limited to, installation, exerciseo and maintenance of floodproofing measures will be

required prior to Certificate of Occupancy/Completion.

N/A

(d) A Foundation PIan, drawn to scale, which shall include details of the proposed

foundation system to ensure all provisions of this chapter are met. These details include

but are not limited to:

(1) The proposed method of elevation, if applicable (i.e., fill, solid foundation perimeter

wall, solid backfilled foundation' open foundation' or on

colu m ns/posts/piers/piles/shear walls) ;

N/A

(2) Openings to facilitate automatic equalization of hydrostatic flood forces on walls in

accordance with subsection 9.8.051(A)8(b) of this chapter when solid foundation

perimeter walls are used in Zones A, AE, AH, AO, and 41-30.

N/A

(e) Usage details of any enclosed areas below the lowest floor.

N/A

(f) Plans and/or details for the protection of public utitities and facilities such as sewer' gas'

electrical, and water systems to be located and constructed to minimize flood damage.

N/A

(g) Certification that all other local, State, and Federal permits required prior to floodplain

development permit issuance have been received.

4



Appeal of FPDP-23-01- Findings of Fact

McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission - November 7,2023
Page 5 of9

The applicant has not received a building permit as required by McCall Code Section

3.8.02(G). Because the application has not demonstrated compliance with the Shoreline and

River Environs Requirements for Development (McCall Code Section3.T '023), a building

permit cannot be issued for the proposed placement of fill.

(h) Documentation for placement of recreational vehicles and/or temporary structures'

when applicable, to ensure that the provisions of subsections 9.8.052(A)5 and (,{)6 of

this chapter are met.

N/A

(i) A description of proposed watercourse alteration or relocation, when applicable'

including an engineering report on the effects ofthe proposed project on the flood-

carrying capacity of the watercourse and the effects to properties located both

upstream and downstreaml and

N/A

fi) A map (if not shown on plot plan) showing the location of the proposed watercourse

alteration or relocation.

N/A

Title 3. Chanter 7. Section 2

Shoreline and River Environs Zone

No conditional use or building permit shall be issued, nor is any developmento grading, or

alteration of any land within this zone permitted, unless the applicant establishes to the

satisfaction of the commission and council in the case of a conditional use, or of.the

administrator in the case of a building permit, that:

5



Appeal ofFPDP-23-01 - Findings ofFact
McCall Area P lanning and Zoning Commission - N ov ember 7, 2023

Page 6 of9

I The proposed development meets all applicable requirements of this title and title

IX of this code.

The placement of fill will create harm as defined in McCall Code Section3'7.023(C)(2)

because the facts in the record show that the proposed development will involve

excessive clearing of natural vegetation or change of natural land forms within the area

between the water pool shore contour or high-water mark and the fifty-foot (50') setback

line. Likewise, the facts in the record, and specifically the proposed plans and testimony

of the applicant and City Staff show that the proposed development will involve The

removal, burial, or destruction in whole or part of boulders, sandy beaches, rocky shores,

or other features of the water pool shore contour or high water mark, the land below the

same, or the immediate upland edge and the filling or dredging of lake bottom or

wetlands.

2. The plans accurately identify the water pool shore contours and high-water marks,

which, in the case of river environs, shall mean the limits of the area of special flood

hazard. The site plan indicates the Water Pool Shore Contour elevation. The water

pool contour line is indicated on the site plan.

3. A letter is on file from a specialist certified by the United States army corps of

engineers wetlands expert that certifies that no wetlands related issues or issues

related to fill of navigable waters issues were presented by the proposed

development; or that a section 404 permit has been issued or is forthcoming by the

corps of engineers, whichever is appropriate, city approval(s) under this title and

title IX of this code are contingent upon all applicable section 404 permit

requirements being met.

6



MccarAreapranning''rit"t"ffl[Tll,'?#;Il.#"t;,':ff:
Page 7 of 9

The applicant has applied for a section 404 permit.

4. The requirements of the underlying zone are met.

N/A

5. The fifty-foot (50') building setback line is met per subsection (C)3(c) of this section.

The applicant is proposing to place fill within and across the fifty-foot (50') building

setback area, in order to modify the location of said setback line.

6. Proof of stormwater certification training has been provided by the individual

applying for the building permit. Proof of stormwater certification is required prior to

issuance of a building permit.

PUBLIC COMMENTS

. Email received from Charles Petrock, dated September 12,2023.

o Email received from James Duzak, dated September 12,2023.

Additional Record Considered :

Application materials, including detailed proposed construction drawings and plans

Testimony from the Applicant and the Applicant's Attorney

Staff testimony by Brian Parker, City Planner.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

l. The City of McCall has provided for the processing of Floodplain Development Permit

Applications, pursuant to Title 9, Chapter 8 of McCall City Code.

2. Adequate notice of the September 12,2023 public hearing was provided, pursuant to Section

67-6512,ldaho Code and Title 3, Chapter l5 of McCall City Code.

7



Appeal ofFPDP-23-01 - Findings ofFact
McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission - November 1 ,2023

Page 8 of9

3. The application does not meet the standards for the granting of a Floodplain Development

Permit.

DECISION

THEREFORE, the McCall Area Planning and ZoningCommission hereby upholds the

administrator's denial of the floodplain development permit application.

Findings of Fact adopted this 7th Day of NOVEMBER, 2023.

Robert Lyons, Chair
McCall Area Planning and ZoningCommission

Attest:

Brian Parker, City Planner
City of McCall

Availabitity of Appeal of this Determination

Pursuant to MCC g.g .07 , this determination may be appealed according to the provision of Title III,

Chapter 15 of the McCall City Code as follows:

3.15.08: APPEAL ORREQUEST FORHEARING BY AGGRIEVED PERSONS:

(A) Right To Appeal: An aggrieved person may appeal the commission decision, or request a hearing on

the commission recommendation, by filing a notice of appeal or request for hearing in writing with

the city clerk no later than ten (10) days after the issuance ofthe findings and conclusions ofthe

commission. When such notice of appeal or request is received, proceedings before the council shall

be on the record made below. A notice of appeal shall set out with particularity the decision or part

thereof from which the appeal is being taken, and whether or not facts found by the commission are

disputed by appellant.

8



Appeal ofFPDP-23-01 - Findings ofFact
McCall Area Planning andZoning Commission - November 7,2023

Page 9 of 9

(B) Time Limits For Actions: The council shall hold a public hearing on the appeal and the application

appealed within forty five (45) days of the request and shall follow the hearing procedures established

in section 3.15.04 of this chapter. When there is no required hearing, the council shall put the matter

down on its agenda upon a date certain for the consideration of written and oral arguments; notice of

such hearing shall be provided to appellant no later than fifteen (15) days before the hearing; should

appellant desire to file written arguments, appellant shall do so no later than five (5) days prior to the

hearing.

(C) Stay OfProceedings: An appeal or request for hearing stays all proceedings in furtherance ofthe

action appealed from unless, after the notice ofappeal or request for hearing is filed, the council finds

that by reason of the facts stated in the application, a stay would cause imminent peril to health, safety

or property.

(D) Council Action: After the hearing has been held, the council may:

1. Grant or deny the appeal or the permit; or

2. Delay such decision for no longer than sixty (60) days after the hearing date for further study or

hearing; provided, however, that the council must render a decision no later than sixty (60) days

from the date ofthe hearing.

3.15.10: JUDICIAL REVIEW:

A person aggrieved by a decision under this title may, after all remedies have been exhausted under local

ordinances, seekjudicial review under the procedures provided by sections 67-5215(b) through (g) and

section 67 -5216, Idaho Code.

9



EXHIBIT H



I
MILLEMANN PEMBERTON & HOLM nP

ATTORNEYS AT LAW

Mailing Address: P.O. Box 1066, McCall, ID 83638

Physical Address: 706 North First St., McCall, ID 83638

STEVEN J. MILLEMANN Gig@lsrupla1alelq)
AMY N. PEMBERTON (amy@mpmplaw.com)
AMY K. HOLM (aholm@mpmplawcom)
JEANNEC.BAUCHMAN@
HANNAH R. DRABINSKI (hdrabinski@mpmplawcom)
FREDERICK CORIELL (fcoriell@mpmplaw.com)

TELEPHONE (208) 634-7641
FACSTMTLE (208) 63 4-4s 1 6

NOTICE OFAPPEAL

November 17,2023

City of McCall
McCall City Clerk and Council
216 East Park Street

McCall,Idaho 83638

Re: Appeal of FPDP-23-01 Ftoodplain Development Permit Applicationfor River s Crossing Lot

19 Block 2, Applicationfiled January 23, 2023, Administrative Denial emailed March 31, 2023,

Planning & Zoning Commission Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decision upholding

the Administrative Denial dated November j,3, 2023

Dear Madam Clerk and Councilmembers:

On behalf of our clients Dwain and Cindy Sanders, and pursuant to McCall City Code

Section 3.15.09, this letter shall serve as an appeal of the McCallArea Planning and Zoning

Commission's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Laq and Decision for the Appeal of Denial of
Floodplain Development PermitApplication FPDP-23-01 for River's Crossing Lot 19 Block 2,

which is referred to herein as"P&Z's Denial." The Sanders request that a public hearing be set

before the McCall City Council for this to be hedrd on January 25,2024, or thereafter, based on

the availability of the Sanders' counsel. The Sanders respectfully request that McCall City

Council reverse the Plannin g and Zoning Commission's decision and enter findings and

conclusions granting the Sanders' Floodplain Development Permit Application.

NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP-23-01
PAGE - I



Factual Backeround of FPDP-23-01

Dwain and Cindy Sanders own an approximately 5.3-acre vacant lot, Lot 19 in Rivers

Crossing Subdivision, that is adjacent to the North Fork Payette River (the "Property"). They

applied for FPDP-23-01 on January 23,2023, as part of the Conditional Letter of Map Revision

("CLOMR") Application process to remove a 0.48-acre portion of the 5.3-acre Property from the

Special Flood HazardArea ("SFHA"). This process, which is administered by FEMA and

recognized by McCall City Code in Title IX, Section 8, allows property owners who elevate

small areas of their property within the SFHA above the Base Flood Elevation to receive a letter

from FEMA stating the property's changed elevation will meet minimum National Flood

Insurance Program Standards. To obtain a CLOMR, the Sanders need to place fill material on

0.48 acres of the Property, of which 0.15 acres are wetlands within the SFHA. Although the

remaining 0.33 acres contains no wetlands, it too is within the SFHA.

Because the fill will be placed on wetlands subject to federal jurisdiction under the Clean

Water Act (CWA), the Sanders must also obtain a Section 404 permit from the United States

Army Corps of Engineers ("Corps"). Section 404 of the CWA prohibits the discharge of dredged

or fill material into Waters of the United States ("WOTUS"), including wetlands subject to

federal jurisdiction, without a permit.l If a project proposes minor discharges of dredged or fill
material that "will have only minimal individual or cumulative net adverse effects on the

environment," the Corps may issue a Nationwide Permit.2 Because of the length of time this

process has taken, the Sanders are currently working with the Corps to either extend their

original Section 404 Nationwide Permit or apply for a new one. In either case, to comply with

the federal CWA, the Sanders will obtain a permit from the Corps and be subject to all of that

permit's conditions prior to placing the proposed fill on the Property.

FDPD-23-01 seeks only to place fill on 0.48 acres of the Property. The Sanders do not

intend at this point to build any structures, but they have applied for a building permit to protect

their interest in obtaining FPDP-23-01. Although the Sander's contend thatP&Z's Denial erred

in requiring a building permit to merely place fill on the Property, applying for a building permit

was necessary 1) to ensure all administrative remedies are exhausted in this process and 2) to

preserve all the issues that are outlined in more detail below, should this appeal be denied.

Clearly, if the Sanders or any future owner of the Property desire to construct a home, a

building permit would be required to ensure compliance with building standards and setbacks,

including the 5$-foot Shorelines and River Environs Zone setback. Moreover, assuming placing

fill as contemplated in FPDP-23-01 is permitted, any future structures on the property would

need to be sighted approximately 400-feet away from the North Fork Payette River-much
farther away than any of the neighboring homes.

During this process, the Sanders engaged experts in wetlands and aquatic resources

management to assist in designing their proposal to minimizethe risk of harm and mitigate

impacts to the greatest extent practicable. If allowed to proceed, and in addition to complying

I :g u.s.c. $ 1344(0.
2:3 c.p.R. $ 330.1(d); see also 33 U.S.C. $ 13aa(e).

NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP-23-OI
PAGE - 2



with the conditions of a Section 404 permit, the Sanders are committed to adhering to the

recommendations of these experts, including use of best management practices before, during,

and after placing the fill to preserve and protect water quality, aquatic resources, and the

remaining 2.55 acres of wetlands on the Property.

As noted, FPDP-23-01 was filed on January 23,2023. On March 31,2023,the

Floodplain Administrator denied FPDP-23-01. The Sanders appealed that decision before the

McCall Area Planning & ZoningCommission and a public hearing was held on September 12,

2023.The Commission issued a signed Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decision on

November 13,2023, which upheld the Administrator's Denial. The Sanders contend thatP&Z's

Denial erred as a matter of law and undisputed fact and is arbitrary and capricious in several

significant ways, including the following:

1. P&Z's Denial misinterprets McCall City Code because it erroneously assumes that a

building permit is required in addition to a floodplain development permit for the sole

action of placing fill within the Shoreline and River Environs Zone to facilitate the

CLOMR process.

2. TheP&Z's Denial is erroneous as a matter of law because the provisions of the

Shoreline and River Environs Ordinance do not apply to FPDP-23-01; and, even if
found to apply, P&Z's conclusion that placing fill in wetlands unconditionally

constitutes "harm," even if such fill is placed pursuant to a Section 404 permit, is

erroneous as a matter of law.

3. The record establishes that placing filIas proposed in FPDP-23-01 will not cause

"harm" as that term is defined in MCC 3.7.023(C)2.

4. P&Z's Denial and any decision by the City of McCall upholdingP&Z's Denial

violates Article XII $ 2 of the Idaho Constitution and Idaho Code $ 50-301 because

ldaho law prohibits the City of McCall from imposing conditions that are more

stringent than those required by the federal Clean Water Act.

1. A buildins permit is not required to obtain FPDP-23-01 because the proposed

development activitv is only to place fill material within the SFHA in aid of a

CLOMRApplication and pursuant to a Section 404 permit.

P&Z's Denial erred in requiring the Sanders to also obtain a building permit as part of the

floodplain development permit application process. Title IX of the McCall City Code states that

"[a] floodplain development permit shall be required in conformance with the provisions of this

chapter prior to the commencement of any development activities within the special flood hazard

areas determined in accordance with the provisions of section 9.8.043 of this chapter'"3 Under

MCC 9.8.043, "[a]pplication for a floodplain development permit shall be made to the

Floodplain Administrat or prior to any development activities located within special flood hazard

3 vtcc 9.8.033.

NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP-23-OI
PAGE - 3



areas," and must include, among a detailed list of other requirements, "a complete description of
all development to be permitted under the floodplain development permit," which includes

"dredging" and "filling," as well as "[c]ertification that all other local, State, and Federal permits

required prior to floodplain development permit issuance have been received."4

Although P&Z's Denial properly recognized FPDP-23-01 complied with most relevant

application requirements, it erred in finding that under MCC 9.8.0a3(A)1(g):

The applicant has not received a building permit as required by McCall Code

Section 3.8.02(G). Because the application has not demonstrated compliance with

the Shoreline and River Environs Requirements for Development (McCall City

Code Section 3.7.023), a building permit cannot be issued for the proposed

placement of fill.

This illogical interpretation of the City Code not only renders some of its provisions in

conflict with one another but reads others straight into oblivion. Such a construction of the Code

leads to the ridiculous and unlawful result that within the City of McCall a property owner is per

se forbidden from ever seeking a CLOMR if the CLOMR requires filling wetlands.

Courts generally presume validity of the actions of zoning boards, including when those

boards interpret their own zoning ordinances.s However, when an ordinance is ambiguous-that

is, subject to more than one reasonable interpretation-"[c]onstructions that would lead to absurd

or unreasonably harsh results are disfavored."6 "All sections of applicable statutes must be

construed together so as to determine the legislature's intent," and be read so that "no part is

rendered superfl uous or insignifi c ant."1

There are two incorrect interpretations of McCall City Code at issue here: A) application

of the Shoreline Rivers and Environs Zone Requirements ("SREZ") for Development to FPDP-

23-01, and B) application of the General Development Prohibited Uses to require a building

permit for placing fiIl in the SFHA. Each are addressed in tum below.

A. The Shorelines and River Environs Zone Requirements for Development only

upply when the applicant is "building"-i7x other words, constructing u

" str uct ur e "-w ith in th e S F HA.

Applying the Shoreline and Rivers Environs Zone Requirements for Development to

FPDP-23-01 is incorrect because those requirements only apply to the building of structures. The

purpose of the SREZ is to "regulate development along and alterations of . . . the banks and

immediate vicinity of the [North Fork] Payette River in order to protect and maintain water

quality, fish and wildlife habitat, edge and forest habitat, vistas, and public visual and physical

access."8 "Development" for purposes of Title III, and which is also a word used extensively

4 MCC 9.s.043(A)2(a); MCC 9.8.043(4)1(g)
s Chisholmv. Twin Falls Cnty.,l39ldaho 131, 136 (2003).
6 Payette River Property Ow,ners Ass'n v. Bd. of Comm'rs of Valley County, 132 Idaho 551,557 (1999)'
7 Friends of Farm to Market v. Valley Cnty., 137 ldaho 792' 197 (2002).
8 lrtcc 3.7.020.

NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP-23-OI
PAGE - 4



throughout Title III, is defined as "[a]ny construction or activity that changes the existing

character or use of land upon which such construction or activity occurs."e Even so, the

permitted uses in the SREZ are "[a]ll those uses permitted in the underlying zones upon which

this zone is superimposed . . . provided they satisfy the special conditions set forth in this

chapter, except that . . . No buitding ond no tandfilling shall be permittedwithin ofloodway and

no building within an area of special Jlood hazard. . . unless the applicant complies with the

standards set forth in" Title IX, Chapter 8.10

Thus, the SREZ Ordinance narrows the definition of "development" for activities, and

specifically for activities occurring within the SFHA, to only those that involve "building." The

next exception to permitted uses in the SREZ makes this point abundantly clear: "Any structure,

wholly or partially within this zone . . . and any part of which is within" one hundred fifty feet of
the highwater mark of the North Fork Payette River, "notwithstanding that portions of the

structure are not on land that is within this zone" is subject to the SREZ Requirements for

Development.

Obviously, the plain text of MCC 3.7.022(B) prohibits both "building" and "filling"
activities in the floodway, but it requires compliance with Title IX, Chapter 8 for "building"

within the SFHA. The ordinary meaning of the word "build" or its present participle form

"building" is "to form by ordering and uniting materials by gradual means into a composite

whole," such as "birds building nests" or building new houses by the river.11 That is why one

does not build fill material on wetlands, rather such material is placed on wetlands-at least in

the ordinary sense of the word. The only other provision mentioning "fill" or "filling" in the

SREZ Ordinance are where it defines "harm" as "filling or dredging lake bottoms or wetlands"

and where it contemplates compliance with federal law with respect to WOTUS and the CWA' 12

Clearly, the ordinance recognizes a distinction between development activities that are

"building" and development activities that are "filling," which is necessary because the SREZ

Ordinance only applies to development activities proposing to build structures-and certainly

does not categorically prohibit filling within the SHFA.

What the Sanders propose here under FPDP-23-01 involves no building of structures

whatsoever, nor does it require a Conditional Use Permit. In its decision upholding the

Administrator's denial,theP&Z Commission failed to abide by the Code's limit on its power

because the Code provisions cited above apply the SREZ Development Requirement's "Permit

Criteria" only to those activities that either require a Conditional Use Permit or a building permit

for purposes of the SREZ.l3 FPDP-23-01 requires neither. Indeed, reading the specific activities

("development, grading, or alteration of any land") following the words "nor is any" in MCC

e MCC 3.02.02.
roMCC 3.7.022(8).
tt See https'./ lwww.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/build'
,2 MCC 3.7.023(C)2(d).
13 MCC 3.7 .022(B) siates: "No conditional use or building permit shall be issued, nor is any development, grading'

or alteration of any land within this zone permitted, unless the applicant establishes to the satisfaction of the

commission or council in the case of a conditional use, or of the administrator in the case of a building permit thaf'

six enumerated criteria are met.

NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP-23-01
PAGE - 5



3.7.023(B) as defining the activities that require a building permit renders the critically important

first part of the sentence completely out of the ordinance. That part specifically declares the

limits on the commission's, council's and administrator's power as to what permits can be held

subject to the SREZ Ordinance: building permits and Conditional Use Permits. P&Z's Denial

enlarges the activities for which a building permit is required in the SREZ and thus aggrandizes

the power of the Administrator and Commission. Neither of them had any legal right to do this

because FPDP-23-01 only proposes to fill, and not build, wetlands within the SFHA. The

Administrator's and Commission's legal authority stem from and are strictly limited by the

language of the Code, which in this case is clear. As one notable jurist put it, the legislature "does

not hide elephants in mouse holes."14 This maxim is true because applying a law or regulation

contrary to what it actually says is the essence of arbitrary government action'

Nor does the abrogation clause in MCC 9.8.035 change this result. Title IX, Chapter 8

does not'oremove the necessity of compliance with any other laws, ordinances, regulations," etc.

But because the development activity proposed in FPDP-23-01 is not covered by the SREZ

Ordinance, there is no non-compliance issue. Furthermore, since the SREZ Ordinance does not

apply, there can be no "conflict or overlap" where "more stringent or greater conditions shall

control."

Finally, interpreting McCall City Code as in P&Z's Denial leads to the absurd and

unreasonably harsh result that no floodplain development permit seeking to place fill in wetlands

in aid of a CLOMRApplication can ever be obtained-regardless of whether such wetlands are

subject to federal jurisdiction and regardless of whether the applicant has a valid Section 404

Permit. Under the Administrator's and P&Z's erroneous interpretation, there simply would be no

possible way to take actions that remove one's property from the SHFA in accordance with a

legitimate and often used federal process-not to mention pursuant to a federal Section 404

permit-intended to assist property owners who just so happen to own low-lying property

subject to an increased risk offlooding.

Because P&Z's Denial applied the SREZ Ordinance to FPDP-23-01, which seeks only to

place fill material within the SFHA in aid of a CLOMR Application and pursuant to a Section

404 permit, its finding denying the permit on the basis that FPDP-23-01 failed to comply with

the SREZ Requirements for Development was unlawful, and in any event, arbitrary, capricious,

and not in accordance with a reasonable interpretation of the ordinance's plain text.

B. FPDP-23-01 does not require jirst obtaining a building permit befote placingftll
material in aid of the CLOMR Application process and parsuant to a 404 permit.

P&Z's Denial found that the "applicant has not received a building permit as required by

McCall Code Section 3.8.02(G)." That section prohibits starting "construction work, including

grading, blasting, filling, trenching, tree removal, etc." without a valid building permit. Notably,

although a building permit is required for "construction work" that includes "tree removal," it is

not necessary for certain "Timber Harvest" activities that that would certainly fall within the list

following the word "including" in MCC 3.8.02(G). In that regard, another way to state the

ta Whitman v. American Trucking Ass'ns, 537 U'S. 457, 468 (200 1 ) (Scalia' J.)

NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP.23.OI
PAGE - 6



above-noted jurist's maxim is that the greater includes the lesser, but not the other way around.

In other words, while a building permit necessarily covers a broad range of construction

activities, those activities individually do not trigger the requirement for a building permit.

Failure to adhere to this rule caused P&Z's Denial to err by requiring a building permit for the

activity proposed in FPDP-23-01.

Under McCall City Code, it is "unlawful for any person to do, or cause or permit to be

done . . . any construction, improvement, extension, alteration or demolition of any building,

residence or structure, coming under the purview of this title, with\n the McCall area without

first procuring a permit authorizing such work to be done."ls Of course, there is an extremely

high likelihood that constructing, improving, extending, altering, or demolishing any building,

residence, or structure would require undertaking activities that alter the land, such as by

grading, filling, dredging, scraping, etc. But just because a building permit is required before

undertaking construction of a building (the greater) that necessarily involves other activities (the

lesser) in furtherance of the greater in no way leads to the conclusion that a building permit is

required to conduct only the other lesser activities. This is especially true where, as here, the

McCall City Code nowhere requires a building permit for the standalone activity of "filling"
wetlands.

As is relevant here, a floodplain development permit is required before commencing

development activity within the SFHA. There is no mention whatsoever that a building permit is

also required prior to commencing development activities. True, "development activity" for the

purpose of Title IX, Chapter 8 includes "[a]ny activity defined as development which will
necessitate a floodplain development permit; such as: the construction of buildings, structures, or

accessory structures; additions or substantial improvements to existing structures; bulkheads,

retaining walls, piers, and pools; the placement of mobile homes; or the deposition or extraction

of materials; the construction or elevation of dikes, berms and levees." But neither this

definition, nor the definition of "development" in Title IX, Chapter 8 have anything to do with

defining the activities that require a building permit. These definitions simply state when a flood

plain development permit is required, not when a building permit is required, and they certainly

do not define the uitical question of whether a building permit is required in addition to a

floodplain development permit.

The inescapable conclusion is thatP&Z's Denial does not and cannot point to any

provision in the McCall City Code that requires a building permit for the activities proposed in

FPDP-23-01. Yes, the activity of placing fill upon wetlands if conducted in conjunction with

building a residence would be covered by an issued building permit (and others such as a Section

404 permit and floodplain development permit.) But there is no construction, alteration, or

demolition of a building proposed in FPDP-23 -01.P&Z's Denial is unlawful because it requires

a permit where no permit is required and denies FPDP-23-01 on that basis.

rs lrtcc 2.1.040.

NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP-23-O]
PAGE - 7



2. TheP&z,s ial is erroneous as a of law and is arbitrarv canrrclous

because it unconditionallv defines placing fill in wetlands as constitutinq "harm"
even ifs h fill is nlaced nu ant to a Section 404 nermit-

As has been argued above, a building permit is not required for the activities

contemplated by FPDP -23-01, nor are the provisions of the SREZ Ordinance applicable to those

activities. Without in any way waiving those arguments, even if the provisions of the SREZ

Ordinance were found to be applicable to FPDP-23-0l,theP&Z Commission's conclusion that

any placement of fill in wetlands constitutes "harm" and therefore violates the SREZ Ordinance,

regardless of whether done pursuant to a valid Section 404 Permit, is erroneous as a matter of
law and arbitrary and capricious.

Unconditionally defining filling of wetlands as "hatm" renders other processes

contemplated and required by the McCall City Code meaningless. The SREZ Ordinance is

intended to regulate development more stringently within a certain area of land adjacent to and

extending away from enumerated water bodies that are "distinguishing features of this area

making it a destination resort for tourists and summer residents."

The principle flaw in the aforesaid legal conclusion inP&Z's Denial is that it wholly

ignores the SREZ Ordinance's Permit Criteria that require either a letter certifying "that no

wetlands related issues or issues related to fill of navigable waters were presented by the

proposed development; or thata section 404 permit has been issued or is forthcoming by the

corps of engineers, whichever is appropriate."l6 The SREZ Ordinance and Floodplain

Development Permit Ordinances both contemplate that, where federal jurisdiction exists over

jurisdictional Waters of the United States ("WOTUS"), compliance with those regulations is

sufficient to avoid a finding that filling of wetlands constitutes "harm" as defined in MCC

3.7.023(C)2.

Thus, a finding of harm cannot be made as to FPDP-23-01provided that the Applicant

obtains a Section 404 permit prior to the placement of the fill. Doing so would render MCC

3.7 .023(B)3 superfluous. In other words, there would be no reasons to make "city approval(s)

under this title and title IX of this code contingent upon all applicable section 404 permit

requirements being met." If the city can simply deny a floodplain development permit

application for fill or a building permit to construct a building in the SFHA even if all applicable

404 permitrequirements are met, then this section of Code is just a Trojan Horse to tempt

unsuspecting property owners seeking to develop property to comply with federal law only to be

collaterally attacked by the City of McCall's denial of a permit that in all respects complies with

federal law

Here,P&Z's Denial upheld the Administrator's Denial because it found the proposed

placement of fill will ueate harm as defined by McCall City Code Section 3.7.023(C)2. It listed

three bases,3.7.23(C)2b, c, and d, for finding "harm." Yet, each of these is an activity defined as

a "discharge" under Section 404 federal guidelines and therefore are permitted activities subject

16 MCC 3.7 .023(B)3 (emphasis supplied).

NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP-23.01
PAGE - 8



to issuance of a Section 404 permit.17 In this case, a Section 404 permit previously was issued,

and the Sanders are currently in the process of obtaining an extension or new Nationwide Permit'

Certainly, if the Section 404 permit is not issued, the City can revoke any approval to conduct

development activities within the SFHA under MCC 3.7.023(B)3. And it is always the case that

any applicant who caused the discharge of pollutants into WOTUS without a permit would be

subject to federal enforcement actions or the citizen suit provision in the CWA. Therefore, the

unconditional finding of harm has stymied all lawful procedure for FPDP-23-01 becauseP&Z's

Denial fails to recognize the process set forth in McCall City Code for developing in the SREZ

subject to a duly issued Section 404 permit.

3. The P&Z Commission's findine that placine fill as proposed in FPDP-23-01 will
cause'oharm'o is whollv unsupported bv the record.

The record contains no evidence that the proposed placement of fill would "ham"
wetlands.r8 While P&,2's Denial dutifully regurgitates the language in MCC 3.7.03(C)2 as the

reason for denying FPDP-23-01, it fails to elaborate on how it reached these conclusions other

than to claim reliance on "Application materials, including detailed proposed construction

drawings and plans; Testimony from the Applicant and the Applicant's Attorney; and Staff

testimony by Brian Parker, City Planner."

A review of the record indicates that the only evidence provided by the City to support a

finding of harm are two statements by the City Planner that "the filling of lake bottom of
wetlands" is unequivocally harm and that "since they have not included what sort of building

they would like to do, and are just purely placing fill, any placement of fill or modification of
natural vegetation would be excessive because they are not proposing any sort of
development."le The City Planner then concluded "that is the extent of the reasoning" to find

harm.20

In contrast to the City's dearth of evidence, the Sanders provided a thirty-three-page

expert report developed by Forsgren Associates, Inc. to analyze the extent of potential harm and

outline measures to minimize any environmental harm that could be posed by the placement of
the fill on the Property. Importantly, that report noted that the protection of water quality is (or

would be) addressed in the conditions of the Section 404 permit and that by implementing best

management practices (BMPs) FPDP-23-01 would presumptively comply with state water

quality standards, including ldaho's Antidegradation Policy, by maintaining and supporting the

beneficial uses designated for the section of the North Fork Payette River that runs adjacent to

the Property. The report also found that the proposed BMPs would protect adjacent wetlands that

would remain undisturbed and prevent impermissible runofffrom occurring. Additionally, the

placement of fill has been designed to protect higher functioning older forested wetlands on the

t7 See 40 C.F.R. $ 232.2;33 U.S.C. $ r344(I).
18 See Spencer v. Koorenai Cnty., 145 Idaho 448, 456 (2008) ("substantial and competent evidence is less than a

preponderance of the evidence, but more than a mere scintilla'")
1n M"Coll Arra Planning & Zoning, at 2:05:10 to2,0606, YouTuBE (Sept. 12,2023)

https ://www.youtube.com/watch?v:Q49Um0A-lZo.
20 Id. at2:06:07 to 2:06:10.

NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP-23-OI
PAGE - 9



Property and will primarily impact what are characterized as scrub/shrub wetlands, which

typically consist of woody vegetation that is less than six feet tall.

It is also important to recognize that the mere fact that a Secti on 404 permit can and will
be issued for the proposed placement of fill is substantial evidence that no harm, as that term is

defined by MCC 3.07.023(C)2, will occur. As stated in the previous section, that code provision

primarily defines "harm" as activities that may be conducted pursuant to a Section 404 permit,

which not only allows for the fill to be placed in wetlands subject to federal jurisdiction but also

imposes conditions on activities conducted before, during, and after placement of the fill.
Evidence of a Section 404 permit either issued or forthcoming is more than sufficient to

overcome the "extent of the reasoning" provided by the City Planner to conclude that FPDP-23-

0l would cause harm.

Because evidence in the record shows that no harm will be caused by FPDP-23-01,

P&Z's Denial must be reversed.

4. P&Z's Denial and anv decision bv the Citv of McCall upholdine P&Z's Denial

violates Article XII. Q 2 of the Idaho Constitution and Idaho Code S 50-301 because

Idaho law prohibits the Citv of McCall from imposins conditions that are more

strinsent than those required bv the federal Clean WaterAct.

P&Z's Denial is based on the finding that FPDP-23-01 will create harm because:

the facts in the record show that the proposed development will involve excessive

clearing of natural vegetation or change of natural land forms within the area

between the water pool shore contour or high-water mark and the fifty-foot (50')

setback line . . . the facts in the record, and specifically the proposed plans and

testimony of the applicant and City Staff show that the proposed development will
involve the removal, burial, or destruction in whole or part of boulders, sandy

beaches, rocky shores, or other features of the water pool shore contour or high

water mark, the land below the same, or the immediate upland edge and the filling
or dredging of lake bottom or wetlands.2l

As discussed in Section 2 above,these three bases are all activities that if occurring into

WOTUS would require a Section 404 permit. However, since a Section 404 permit can be issued

for the proposed dredge and fill of wetlands, FPDP-23-01 meets the requirements of the CWA to

discharge dredged or fill material into WOTUS. Thus, the only way to interpret P&Z's Denial of
FPDP-23-01 is as a determination that a Section 404 permit is insufficient to preventooharm" as

required by the McCall City Code. Consequently, the McCall City Code necessarily imposes

conditions on the placement of fill in wetlands subject to federal jurisdiction that are more

stringent than what is required by CWA.

The CWA sets a national floor for the control of water pollution below which "States or

political subdivisions thereof' cannot go.22 The CWA does not restrict States from allocating

2r Appeal of FPDP-23-01 - Findings of Fact, McCall Planning and Zoning Commission, at 6 (Nov. 7 ,2023).
22 33 U.S.C. S 1370.

NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP-23-OI
PAGE- 10



water resources within their boundaries nor from regulating land use within their boundaries

even if the areas regulated are also subject to CWA jurisdiction.23 In short, although States and

political subdivisions thereof are prohibited from adopting or enforcing standards or limitations

respecting the "discharge of pollutants" (as that term is defined in 33 U.S.C. $ 1362) into waters

of the United States that are "less stringent than" the CWA, they are free to impose more onerous

standards subject to the limitations of other state and federal law.2a

In Idaho, there are two limitations on the power of a local government to impose more

stringent standards than the CWA prescribes: express and implied preemption under the state

constitution and Idaho Code $ 50-301.

A. State law expressly preempts local governmentsfrom regulating discharges subiect

to the CWA more stringently than the requitements of the CWA-

Article XII, $ 2 of the Idaho Constitution permits an incorporated city or town to "make

and enforce within its limits, all such local police, sanitary and other regulations os are not in

conflict with its charter or with the general laws."25 Similarly, Idaho Code $ 50-301 allows cities

to exercise all powers and perform all functions of local self-government in city affairs as are not

specifically prohibited by or in conflict with the general laws or the constitution of the state of
Idaho." While a city's "ability to act is not confined to only those actions specifically mentioned

in LLUPA," such ability is constrained when the legislature says so.26

With respect to the CWA, Idaho Code $ 39-3601 is a general law that expressly prohibits

local governments from imposing more stringent conditions than what is required by the CWA:

It is the intent of the legislature that the state of Idaho fully meet the goals and

requirements of the federal clean water act and that the rules promulgated under

this chapter not impose requirements beyond those of the federal cleanwater act.21

Additionally, Idaho law provides:

The legislature cannot conveniently or advantageously set forth in this chapter all

the requirements of all of the regulations which have been or will be established

under the clean water act. However, any state permitting program must avoid the

existence of duplicative, overlapping or conflicting state and federal regulatory

systems. Further, the board may promulgate rules to irnplement a state permitting

program but such rules shall not impose conditions or requirements more stringent

or broader in scope than the clean water act and regulations adopted pursuant

thereto. Further, the department will not require Idaho pollutant discharge

23 Id.; see also Prosolino v. Nastri,291F.3d ll23 (gth Cir.2002).
24 33 U.S.C. $ 1370.
25 IDAHO CoNsr. art. XII, $ 2.
26 Cisekv. Kootenai Cnty. Bd. of Comm'rs,254P'3d24,32 (Idaho2011)
,t I.C.$ 39,3601.

NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP-23.01
PAGE- 11



elimination system (IPDES) permits for activities and sources not required to have

permits by the United States environmental protection agency.28

When the City of McCall increases the regulatory burden beyond what is required by the

CWA, such as P&Z's Denial of FPDP-23-01, it renders the City's action "in conflict with . . . the

general laws" of the state of ldaho. Moreover, the authority to make standards under the CWA is

clearly delegated to the Board of Environmental Quality and IDEQ, not city governments'

Therefore, under bothArticle XII, $ 2 and Idaho Code $ 50-301, the City of McCall has acted

ultra vires because the legislature has limited the extent that local regulation can exceed the

requirements of the CWA.2e

B. Even if the City of McCatl is not expressly preempted, it is impliedly preempted

from reguluting more stringently than what is required by the CWA-

The doctrine of implied preemption is a principle of long-standing in the State of ldaho. It

derives from the language in Article XII, $ 2 that limits the police power of local governments to

making and enforcing laws that are not in conflict with laws enacted by the legislature and arises

when the legislature "intend[s] to occupy the whole field" of regulation.30

Implied preemption occurs where, despite the lack of specific language preempting or

empowering local government regulation, "the state has acted in the area in such a pervasive

manner that it must be assumed that it intended to occupy the entire field of regulation."3l Intent

may be assumed where 1) state law indicates the subject matter is to be "regulated by means of
one, uniform statewide scheme enabling the state to enter into meaningful interstate agreements,"

or 2) the laws regulating the subject matter are a 'ocomprehensive statutory scheme" that

"demands a statewide, rather than local approach."32 Even if the ordinance and statute are

identical, "it is obvious that the field sought to be covered by the ordinance has already been

occupied by the state legislation."33

The City of McCall is impliedly preempted from more stringently regulating activities of
property owners that are otherwise subject to (i.e., in the same field as) the permitting

requirements of the CWA. Title 39, Chapter 36 of the Idaho Code is a comprehensive legislative

scheme implementing Idaho's obligations and duties under the CWA and indicates that the

subject matter is to be regulated to "avoid the existence of duplicative, overlapping or conflicting

state and federal regulatory systems."34 If the City of McCall imposes more stringent conditions

on property owners who are otherwise subject to the requirements of the CWA, it necessarily

infringes on the State of Idaho's ability to manage and enforce the state's water quality standards

in a comprehensive and statewide manner that respects the fact that water ways flow through

,t t.c. $ 39-175B.
2e See Blackv. Young,834P.2d304 (ldaho 1992).
30 See, e.g., Caesar v. State,6l 0 P.2d 5 17 (Idaho 1980); Clyde Hess Distributing Co. v. Bonneville Cnty.,2l0 P.2d

798 (ldaho 1949).
31 Envirosafe Services of ldaho, Inc. v. Owyhee Cnty.,735 P.2d 998, 1001 (ldaho 1987)
32 Id.
33 Id. a|1002.
,o I.C.$ 39-1758.

NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP-23-O]
PAGE- 12



multiple jurisdictions within and outside of the state. Therefore, the City of McCall is implied

preempted from more stringently regulating and thus denying FPDP-23-01 when the activities

proposed in FPDP-23-01 are permitted pursuant to a validly issued Section 404 permit.

Because both the state constitution and state law prohibit the City of McCall from

regulating more stringently than what is required by the CWA, P&Z's Denial of FPDP-23-01 is

in violation of both constitutional and statutory provisions.

Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, the Sanders respectfully request that the McCall City Council

REVERSE the McCall Planning andZoningCommission's decision and GRANT FPDP-23-01

Sin

Amy Ho
Steven J. Millemann
Fred Coriell

NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP-23-OI
PAGE - I3



trXHIBIT I



3.7 .023: REQUIREMENTS FOR DEVELOPMENT:
(A) Review: Design review is required for all development, including all single-family

residences and accessory buildings, as provided for in chapter l6 of this title.
1. In addition to the design review requirements set forth in other sections of this title,

design review for development within the Shoreline and River Environs Zone, shall also assess

and mitigate the visual impacts of development.
a. Development should not dominate the vistas of water to the extent that it has an

unreasonable adverse impact on the visual quality of its setting.
b. Development should be compatible in form, line, color and texture with its

surroundings.
c. Development should not significantly differ in scale or contrast to its sumoundings to

that extent that it has an unreasonable adverse impact on the visual quality of its setting.

d. Structures should be clustered to allow for visibility through the site of the lake or river
and avoid a wall of structures as viewed from the water.

2. If in the opinion of the Administrator, the visual impacts of the development are

potentially significant, a visual impact assessment of the development shall be required. An
applicant's visual impact assessment should visualize the proposed development and evaluate

potential adverse impacts of the development on scenic views or the views fiom or to the lake or

river, and determine effective mitigation strategies, if appropriate.
(B) Permit Criteria: No conditional use or building permit shall be issued, nor is any

development, grading, or alteration of any land within this zone permitted, unless the applicant

establishes to the satisfaction of the commission and council in the case of a conditional use, or

of the administrator in the case of a building permit, that:

1. The proposed development meets all applicable requirements of this title and title IX of
this code.

2. The plans accurately identiff the water pool shore contours and high water marks, which,

in the case of river environs, shall mean the limits of the area of special flood hazard.

3. A letter is on file from a specialist certified by the United States army co{ps of engineers

wetlands expert that certifies that no wetlands related issues or issues related to fill of navigable

waters issues were presented by the proposed development; or that a section 404 permrt has been

issued or is forthcoming by the corps of engineers, whichever is appropriate, city approval(s)

under this title and title IX of this code are contingent upon all applicable section 404 permit

requirements being met; if a permit requirement is not met, the city may revoke its approval(s)

under this title and title IX of this code.
4. The requirements of the underlying zone are met.

5. The hfty foot (50') building setback line is met per subsection (C)3(c) of this section.

6. Proof of stormwater certification training has been provided by the individual applying

for the building permit.
(C) Development:

l. Prohibitions: No construction, alteration or activity shall oause harm to:

a. Water quality.
b. Fish and aquatic habitats.
c. Wetlands.
d. Significant wildlife habitat harboring any threatened or endangered species.

e. Views of, from, or across a lake or river.



f. To this end, all applications for building permits within this overlay zone, no matter

what the permit rnay be for, shall be accompanied by a plan for the installation of appropriate

natural, storm, and melt water drainage and treatment facilities. Such plans for natural, storm and

melt water drainage of the property and on and through the property, shall be consistent with best

management practices under state and federal stot'm and melt water regulatory programs to

which the city is subject and consistent with other city programs in these regards to the

satisfaction of the city.
2. Harm Defined: "Ham" for these purposes means:

a. The creation of conditions which foster runoff of, or other source of fertilizers, toxic
substances, or other pollutants or contaminants, into the water;

b. The excessive clearing of natural vegetation or change of natural landforms within the

area between the water pool shore contour or high water mark and the fifty foot (50') building
setback line;

c. The removal, burial, or destruction in whole or part of boulders, sandy beaches, rocky
shores, or other features of the water pool shore contour or high water mark, the land below the

same, or the immediate upland edge;
d. The filling or dredging of lake bottom or wetlands;
e. The erection of visual barriers between the lake or river and the roads on the uplands,

beyond the extent reasonably necessary for an owner's usage of the land for a permitted use; or
f. The creation of any other condition which would be inconsistent with best management

practices under, or threaten a violation of, state and federal storm and melt water regulatory
programs to which the city is subject, or fail otherwise to be consistent with other city progmms

in these regards, all as established to the satisfaction of the city.
3. Improvements:

a. The owner shall apply for approval under the provisions of chapter 10, "Planned Unit
Development", of this title, if the owner wishes to construct, in whole or part on the land within
the zone, any improvements other than:

(1) A single-family residence; andlor
(2) Accessory structures commonly associated with dwellings, such as garages or

toolsheds; however,
(3) The application for a building permit for such a dwelling or accessory structure must

be accompanied by a site plan demonstrating that no "harm", as defined above, is threatened by

the construction; and construction in accord with that site plan shall be a condition of the permit

issuance.
b. The application shall be evaluated against the standards set out in subsections (C)1 and

(C)2 of this section, except that improvements discussed in subsection (C)a and the following
subsections of this section shall be evaluated against the standards in those subsections.

c. Fifty-foot (50') Building Setback Line:
(1) There is hereby established a fifty feet (50') setback from the lake water pool shore

contour and fifty feet (50') from the stream high water mark The setback shall be measured along

a line perpendicular to a line tangent to the nearest point so determined on the lake water pool

shore contour or stream high water mark, without regard to the spatial relationship between that

nearest point and any boundary lines of the lot in question. All structures, perched beaches,

lawns (except for native grasses identified in City of McCall publication, "Native and Suitable

Plants"), patios, walls and fences shall be prohibited within the fifty foot (50') setback with the

following exceptions: (1) structures addressed by subsection G)a; Q) public walkways to the



waterfront, and private walkways not exceeding eight feet (8') in width; (3) essential public

infrastructure; and (4) public parks facilities and civic uses not requiring sanitary waste disposal.

(2) Access along the beach below the lake water pool shore contour or strearn high
water mark shall be unobstructed, except as otherwise provided in the approval of an applicable

conditional use or variance.
d. Additionally, development in commercial zones, including buildings, parking areas,

and sidewalks, shall not cover more than eighty percent (80%) of the total area of the lot or
parcel; except in the central business district zone where the total lot coverage may be up to

ninety five percent (95%),with not less than the remaining five percent (5%) maintained in
landscaping.

e. Maximum height of any structure is thirty five feet (35').

4. Private And Public Docks And Piers: Private and public docks and piers shall:

a. Require a building permit from the city in addition to the permits required by the state

department of lands, or other authorities having jurisdiction.
b. Be used to provide access to boats.
c. Be floating or held on pilings.
d. Be built with chemically inert materials; and foam materials shall be fully enclosed.

e. Not be constructed in whole or part by or in association with excavation or dredging,

unless a conditional use permit has first been issued.

5. Commercial Marinas: Commercial marinas are a conditional use and shall meet all

requirements in subsection (A) of this section, and in addition shall:
a. Provide an environmental assessment which addressgs the issues identified by the

commission andlor city staff during the required preapplicatioh consultation.
b. Have restrooms, pump-out facilities for boat sewage receptacles, and trash receptacles

for other boat wastes, on or near and accessible from such facilities'
c. Meet all other building code and environmental requirements.

6. Commercial Docks And Piers: Commercial docks and piers are a conditional use and

shall meet requirements in subsection (A) of this section and shall meet all other building code

and environmental requirements.
7. Retaining Walls And Similar Construction: Retaining walls and similar construction to

arest erosion shall be permitted and shall:
a. Be at or above the higher of:

(1) The ordinary high water mark for purposes of this title to land, as determined by the

Idaho department of lands; or
(2) The lake water pool shore contour; and not involve fill above original, natural grade

and contour at the location, unless a different location, and/or different fill, is approved by the

commission as a conditional use, and is also declared by it to be beneficial to the public and the

environmental qualities of the shoreline; and unless that different location is also permitted by

other governmental authorities having jurisdiction; provided, however, that fill may be added

directly behind a retaining wall to an extent not greater than eighteen inches (18") above original,

natural grade at the wall, and blended back into the natural slope. "Original", for purposes of this

subsection, means existing historically within the prior two (2) years'

b. Be constructed of reinforced native rock and/or concrete.

c. Not be painted.



d. Be set at such a depth to prevent movement of backfill materials into the water, and at

such a depth set and reinforced to the extent to prevent frost heaving and other natural structural

deterioration.
8. Breakwater And Similar Construction: Breakwater and similar construction shall:

a. Conform to the structural standards required by the U.S. corps of engineers, and must

be approved in writing by the Idaho department of lands and by the planning commission as a

conditional use.

b. Be floating, and shall not extend more than one foot (1') above the surface of the lake;

and shall be lit or marked as required by the state of Idaho. (Ord. 821,2-23-2006, eff. 3-16-2006;
amd. Ord. 864,2-T2-2009; Ord. 880,9-23-2010; Ord. 998,1-14-2021;Ord. 1009, l0-6-2022)

3.8.23: SITE DESIGN:
(A) Purpose:

1. To ensure that site development maintains natural features of the site and is compatible

with the surrounding built and natural environment.
2. To guarantee that site planning is undertaken as an integrated process inclusive of all

factors influencing the development of the site and showing compliance with requirements of
this title including the following:

a. Chapters 3-7 "Development Standards" for all Zones including: setbacks, lot coverage,

and distance between buildings.
b. 3.7.02l "Shoreline And River Environs Zone."
c. 3.7.031"Scenic Route Zone."
d. 3.8.04 "Fire Mitigation Standards."
e. 3.8.061 "Parking, Loading And Internal Circulation Area Development Standards."

f. 3.8.063 "Bicycle Parking."
g. 3.8.064 "Driveways."
h. 3.8.066 "Loading Areas."
i. 3.8.10 "Fencing And Walls."
j. 3.8.12 "Corner Vision."
k. 3.8.13 "Landscaping And Buffering."
l. 3.8.15 "Snow Storage And Drainage."
m. 3.8.19 "Main Entrances In R4 Through Rl6 Zones."
n. 3.8.20 "Special Standards For Garages."
o. 3.8.24 "Design, Location, And Screening Of Service Areas."
p. Chapter l4 "Outdoor Lighting."
q. 9.7 .033 "Special Subdivision And Development Standards" for cuts, fills and grading.

(B) Structures shall be located in a manner that preserves significant vegetation as set forth in
section 3.8.13, as well as water courses, wildlife corridors, wetlands, and significant natural

features. Projects should be designed so they complement rather than dominate the natural

landscape. To meet this performance standard all structures should be located:

l. In one of three (3) locations: (a) within tree masses; (b) at the edge of tree or land masses

overlooking open space; or (c) in such away as to preserve the predominate natural features of
the site; and

2. At least fifteen feet (15') from any wetland, stream or watercourse.
(C) Site design shall minimizethe modification of natural drainage patterns.



1. When modifications are necessary, surface dlainage systems such as swales and retention

basins are preferable to underground systems.

2. Drainage designs shall avoid the concentration, runoff, and acceleration of the runoff.

3. Site design shall be executed in a way which will avoid drainage impacts such as erosion

and road damage both on-site as well as downstream.
4. Drainage designs shall avoid damage to the root systems of existing trees fiom either

trenching, grading changes or over saturation ofsoils around trees.

(D) SIte grading shall follow the natural terrain of the land and be the minimum necessary for
development of the site as determined by the Administrator and Public Works Director.

l. Slopes shall be no steeper than 3-to-l unless qualified soils engineering information is

provided as part of the application
2. Cuts and fills shall have surface drainage that prevents off-site impacts, provides erosion

control, and avoids impacts to existing and offsite trees.

3. Cut and fill slopes shall be re-vegetated and terraced or controlled by retaining walls to
protect against erosion, sedimentation, and the spread or cultivation of noxious and invasive

weeds.
(E) Structures shall be sited so that their form does not break prominent skyline and preserves

significant views. Development located on ridgetops is prohibited.
(F) The alignment of streets and driveways shall follow the contours of the site to minimize

cuts and fills, preserve natural drainage patterns, and produce roads that are easily negotiated'

(G) All utilities shall be installed underground.
I . New underground utilities shall be located outside of the dripline of existing trees if

trenched or be tunneled a minimum of three (3) feet below existing grade within the tree's

dripline. The guiding principle is that no tree root two inches (2") or larger shall be cut.

2. In all commercial zones, all utilities within the public right of way adjacent to the front
property line shall be undergrounded or conduit installed for future undergrounding. (Ord. 998,

r-r4-202t)



APPELLANTS’ REPLY 
PAGE – 1 
 

 
Mailing Address:  P.O. Box 1066, McCall, ID  83638 

Physical Address:  706 North First St., McCall, ID  83638 
  
STEVEN J. MILLEMANN (sjm@mpmplaw.com)  TELEPHONE (208) 634-7641 
AMY N. PEMBERTON (amy@mpmplaw.com)  FACSIMILE (208) 634-4516 
AMY K. HOLM (aholm@mpmplaw.com)  
JEANNE C. BAUGHMAN (jbaughman@mpmplaw.com) 
HANNAH R. DRABINSKI (hdrabinski@mpmplaw.com) 
FREDERICK CORIELL (fcoriell@mpmplaw.com) 

 
 

APPELLANTS’ REPLY TO WHITE PETERSON MEMORANDUM TO CITY 
COUNCIL REGARDING APPEAL OF FPDP-23-01 

 
March 19, 2024 
City of McCall 
McCall City Clerk and Council 
216 East Park Street 
McCall, Idaho 83638 
 
Re: Supplemental Briefing Requested for Appeal of FPDP-23-01 Floodplain Development Permit 
Application for River’s Crossing Lot 19 Block 2, Application filed January 23, 2023, 
Administrative Denial emailed March 31, 2023, Planning & Zoning Commission Findings of Fact, 
Conclusions of Law, and Decision upholding the Administrative Denial dated November 13, 2023. 

Dear Madam Clerk and Councilmembers: 

 On behalf of Dwain and Cindy Sanders (“Appellants”), we submit this reply to White 
Peterson’s Memorandum to the Mayor and City Council, dated February 17, 2024 and received 
March 1, 2024 (“Memo”). This reply addresses each question discussed in the Memo and responds 
to its conclusions with which Appellants do not agree. This reply is intended to be a succinct 
response to the Memo, providing a high-level review of Appellants’ position regarding FPDP-23-
01. A more extensive discussion of Appellants’ legal arguments is presented in Appellants’ 
Opening Supplemental Brief in Support of Granting FPDP-23-01, dated March 1, 2024 and based 
on the robust record before the Council. 

I. INTRODUCTION 

 FPDP-23-01 must be granted because it is “in full compliance with the terms of [Title IX, 
Chapter 8] and other applicable regulations.” The Administrator and P&Z unlawfully denied 
FPDP-23-01 because they believed a building permit was an “applicable regulation” but could not 

mailto:sjm@mpmplaw.com
mailto:amy@mpmplaw.com
mailto:aholm@mpmplaw.com
mailto:jbaughman@mpmplaw.com
mailto:hdrabinski@mpmplaw.com
mailto:fcoriell@mpmplaw.com


APPELLANTS’ REPLY 
PAGE – 2 
 

be issued because FPDP-23-01 would create “harm” to jurisdictional wetlands.1 But even if a 
building permit is required, there is no lawful basis for the Administrator’s and P&Z’s decision to 
find “harm,” as that term is defined in MCC 3.7.023, because FPDP-23-01 and the strict 
requirements of Appellants’ Section 404 permit clearly establish that placing the proposed fill will 
not “harm” jurisdiction wetlands. Requiring a building permit, or alternatively, applying the 
Shoreline and River Environs Zone ordinance as criteria to grant FPDP-23-01, is an arbitrary 
government action because nothing in the McCall City Code gives the Administrator or P&Z the 
authority to do so. Appellants seek only to have the law applied to them as written in the plain 
terms of the McCall City Code. Because it was not, the decision below must be reversed. 

II. APPELLANTS’ RESPONSES TO QUESTIONS POSED IN THE MEMO 

 1. What is being asked of the City Council?  

City Council is being asked to decide whether to grant or deny FPDP-23-01 based strictly 
on the “record made below.” MCC 3.15.08(A). Council may either “grant or deny” the appeal, 
and, in any event, must do so “no later than sixty (60) days from the date of the hearing.” MCC 
3.15.08(D)(2). If Council denies the appeal, it should clearly articulate the standard by which it 
reviewed the record and decisions below, and the Council must submit written findings and 
conclusions. If Council denies the appeal, the Sanders have a right to appeal that decision to the 
Valley County District Court.  

2. What is the nature of the application at issue? 

FPDP-23-01 proposes to place fill material on 0.48-acres of Appellants’ property that lies 
within the special flood hazard area, 0.15-acres of which are wetlands subject to federal jurisdiction 
under Section 404 of the Clean Water Act (“CWA”). McCall City Code defines the special flood 
hazard area as “[t]he land in the floodplain within a community subject to a one percent (1%) or 
greater chance of flooding in any given year.” MCC 9.8.02. 

Placing the fill material is necessary for Appellants to remove a portion of their property 
from the special flood hazard area pursuant to a process administered by the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency (“FEMA”) called a Conditional Letter of Map Revision (“CLOMR”) 
application. In order to submit Appellants’ CLOMR application, the McCall City Administrator 
must acknowledge that the “proposed project meets or is designed to meet all of the community 
floodplain management requirements . . . and that all necessary Federal, State, and local permits 
have been, or in the cases of a condition LOMR, will be obtained.” Because the Administrator 
refuses to sign the CLOMR application’s acknowledgement, Appellants’ plans to obtain a 
CLOMR and eventually a Letter of Map Revision to revise the effective Flood Insurance Rate 
Map are stuck in the mud. 

 
1 The term “jurisdictional wetlands” is used to define wetlands that meet the definition of waters of the United States 
as that term applies to 33 U.S.C. § 1344(g)(1). See Sacket v. Envtl. Prot. Agency, 143 S. Ct. 1322 (2023). 
 



APPELLANTS’ REPLY 
PAGE – 3 
 

3. What is a Floodplain Development Permit?  

Appellants agree that McCall City Code requires a floodplain development permit issued 
pursuant to MCC 9.08.033 for “any development activities within special flood hazard areas.” 
“Development activities” for purposes of Title IX, Chapter 8 include “the deposition . . . of 
materials.” Because Appellants’ proposed activities involve the deposition of materials in the 
floodplain, a floodplain development permit is required. 

4. Why does McCall require Floodplain Development Permits?  

Idaho’s Disaster Preparedness Act (“Act”), enacted in 1998, gives local governments 
“primary responsibility for planning, adoption and enforcement of land use regulations to 
accomplish proper floodplain management.” I.C. § 46-1020(c). Pursuant to this authority, the City 
of McCall adopted Title IX, Chapter 8 of the McCall City Code. By way of having a FEMA-
approved floodplain ordinance, property owners in McCall may obtain flood insurance through 
the National Flood Insurance Program. It should be noted that, one way a property owner can 
manage flood insurance for their property is to remove a portion of that property from the special 
flood hazard area through the Letter of Map Revision process. This is exactly what Appellants are 
seeking to do here. In other words, the Administrator’s refusal to sign the CLOMR application, 
which in all respects complies with all “other applicable regulations,” is frustrating the purpose of 
having a FEMA-approved floodplain ordinance—especially when additional criteria that are not 
required by that ordinance are imposed on Appellants.  

5. What authority does McCall have for its floodplain management ordinance?  

Under the Act, “each local government is encouraged to adopt a floodplain map and 
floodplain management ordinance . . . which requires, at a minimum, that any development in a 
floodplain must be constructed at a flood protection elevation and/or have adequate 
floodproofing.” I.C. § 46-1022. Additionally, local governments “may regulate all mapped and 
unmapped floodplains within its jurisdiction” and, subject to certain exceptions, “adopt more 
restrictive standards” than required by the Act. Id. The Act defines “floodplain” as “the land that 
has been or may be covered by floodwaters, or is surrounded by floodwater and inaccessible, 
during the occurrence of the regulatory flood.” In general terms, any land that is subject to a 1% 
chance of inundation in any given year is within a floodplain. 

As expressed in its declared purposes and implicit throughout the Act, “orderly 
development and wise use of floodplains” is concomitant with “prevent[ing] increased flooding 
and erosion caused by improper development.” McCall City Code embodies these purposes by 
permitting floodplain development that complies with the criteria set forth in Title IX, Chapter 8. 
Indeed, Appellants do not dispute that McCall has authority to regulate development in 
floodplains. Rather, Appellants contend that McCall is arbitrarily applying criteria to FPDP-23-01 
that by the unambiguous provisions of the McCall City Code do not apply to the proposed 
floodplain development. 



APPELLANTS’ REPLY 
PAGE – 4 
 

Indeed, the issue is not whether McCall has authority to regulate floodplain development, 
but whether applying the provisions of Title IX, Chapter 8 as written 1) require a building permit 
in addition to a floodplain development permit and 2) even if a building permit is required, whether 
a finding of “harm” to deny FPDP-23-01 is lawful. As such, it is Appellants’ position that the only 
local permit required to place the proposed fill material on their property is a floodplain 
development permit because no constructing or erecting buildings or other structures is proposed 
by FPDP-23-01. Alternatively, Appellants contend that there cannot be a finding of “harm,” as 
that term is defined by the Shoreline and River Environs Zone ordinance because a Section 404 
permit is both required and has been issued. Arguments supporting these positions are set forth in 
Appellants’ Opening Supplemental Brief in Support of Granting FPDP-23-01; Appellants’ Notice 
of Appeal, dated November 17, 2023; Appellants’ Notice of Appeal, dated April 10, 2023, and 
Letter to Brian Parker from Steve Millemann, dated September 2, 2022 all of which are in the 
record on appeal. 

6. Why is the Council hearing this matter, and how did it get to us? 

April 11, 2022 – U.S. Army Corp of Engineers issues 12-month extension for Appellants’ Section 
404 permit that was originally granted on September 1, 2020. 

December 7, 2022 – Appellants presented a CLOMR application and supporting documents to the 
Administrator, seeking his acknowledgement on the application. 

January 23, 2023 – Appellants applied for FPDP-23-01 to place 0.48-acres of fill material on their 
property as part of the CLOMR application—which starts the process of removing that portion of 
their property from the special flood hazard area. 

March 31, 2023 – Administrator denies the application for FPDP-23-01 because a building permit 
cannot be issued for the proposed activities due to the Administrator’s finding of “harm.” 

April 10, 2023 – Appellants give Notice of Appeal to the Administrator’s denial of FPDP-23-01. 

September 12, 2023 – McCall Area Planning & Zoning Commission hears appeal of the 
Administrator’s denial of FPDP-23-01. 

October 3, 2023 – Appellants provide City staff with written objections to the draft Findings of 
Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decision for FPDP-23-01. 

November 13, 2023 – P&Z issues signed Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decision 
upholding the Administrative denial of FPDP-23-01. 

November 17, 2023 – Appellant’s provide a Notice of Appeal of P&Z’s denial of FPDP-23-01. 

December 8, 2023 – U.S. Army Corp of Engineers re-issues Appellants’ Section 404 permit, 
which includes as a requirement that Sanders Property Rivers Crossing Subdivisions Mitigation 
Plan dated October 17, 2023. 

February 8, 2024 – City Council hears appeal of P&Z’s denial of FPDP-23-01 and requests 
supplemental briefing from both Appellants and the City Attorney. 



APPELLANTS’ REPLY 
PAGE – 5 
 

March 1, 2024 – First round of supplemental briefing submitted by Appellants and the City 
Attorney. 

March 19, 2024 – Second round of supplemental briefing submitted by Appellants. 

7. Who is the City’s Floodplain Administrator?  

The City Planner is the “Floodplain Administrator.” MCC 9.8.041.  

8. Why was the FPDP denied?  

FPDP-23-01 was denied because the Administrator and P&Z believed (erroneously) that 
the proposed placement of fill material into jurisdictional wetlands required a building permit, and 
that a building permit could not be issued because under the Shoreline and River Environs Zone 
ordinance, the placing of fill created “harm” to jurisdictional wetlands. To be very clear, 
Appellants contend that the plain language of the McCall City Code does not require a building 
permit for the specific activities proposed in FPDP-23-01. However, and without waiving that 
argument, Appellants also contend that even if a building permit is required, the Administrator’s 
and P&Z’s denials based on a finding of “harm” to jurisdiction wetlands are unsupported by the 
record below and unlawful because Idaho law bars the City of McCall from regulating 
jurisdictional wetlands in the way it is doing here.  

Specifically, both denials below applied three of the definitions of “harm” found in MCC 
3.7.023(C)(2)(b), (c), and (d). They did so without regard for MCC 3.7.023(B)(3), which 
unambiguously states that a permit can be issued to fill jurisdiction wetlands provided that a 
Section 404 permit is obtained and complied with: 

No . . . building permit shall be issued, nor is any development, grading, alteration 
of any land within this zone permitted, unless the applicant establishes . . . that a 
section 404 permit has been issued or is forthcoming by the corps of engineers . . . 
city approval(s) under this title and title IX of this code are contingent upon all 
applicable section 404 permit requirements being met; if a permit requirement is 
not met, the city may revoke its approval(s) under this title and title IX of this code. 

The Administrator’s and P&Z’s denials not only wholly ignore this provision of the McCall 
City Code but fails to acknowledge that if “all applicable section 404 permit requirements” are 
met, there is no “harm” to jurisdiction wetlands. Indeed, the Sanders permit requires that 0.30-
acres of jurisdictional wetlands be established adjacent to and on the same property as the 0.15-
acres in jurisdictional wetlands that FPDP-23-01 proposes to fill. Moreover, the Section 404 permit 
also requires monitoring and reporting to ensure that new jurisdictional wetlands are in fact 
established on the property. There can be no “harm” because the three bases in MCC 3.7.023(C)(2) 
relied upon by the Administrator and P&Z are the same activities that trigger the requirement of a 
Section 404 permit when such activities occur in jurisdictional wetlands. 

Consequently, the Administrator’s and P&Z’ decisions—and the Memo—imprecisely 
define wetlands in the McCall City Code. If the prohibition was meant to apply to all wetlands 



APPELLANTS’ REPLY 
PAGE – 6 
 

within City limits, there would be no need to carve out the exception that city approval is 
“contingent upon all applicable section 404 permit requirements being met.” Clearly, McCall City 
Code recognizes wetlands that are subject to federal jurisdiction and wetlands that are not. 
Unconditionally defining harm as placing fill in jurisdictional wetlands pursuant to a Section 404 
permit reads the plain text of MCC 3.7.023(B)(3) into oblivion. 

Next, the Administrator’s and P&Z’s reasoning that FPDP-23-01 constitutes “[e]xcessive 
site grading and disturbance beyond the minimum necessary for development” under MCC 
3.8.23(D) is absurd. Development as defined in Title III is “[a]ny activity that changes the existing 
character or use of land upon which such construction or activity occurs.” Thus, the minimum 
disturbance necessary would be that which is required to accomplish the purpose of the 
development. Here, the purpose of the activity is to place fill on 0.48-acres of Appellants’ property 
to remove that portion of the property out of the special flood hazard area in aid of the CLOMR 
process. With the purpose of the activity defined, the minimum disturbance necessary for 
development is the placing of 0.48-acres of fill material. Accordingly, even assuming that MCC 
3.8.23(D) applies to FPDP-23-01, the proposed activity does not run afoul of the prohibition on 
excessive site disturbance. 

Finally, the Administrator’s and P&Z’s denial refers to several provisions in Title IX, 
Chapter 8 that clearly require compliance with “other applicable regulations” prior to issuance of 
a floodplain development permit. See MCC 9.8.031; 9.8.035; and 9.8.038. As Appellants have 
explained in their Notice of Appeal, Opening Supplemental Brief, and this Reply, there are no 
other applicable regulations to FPDP-23-01 in the local ordinances other than a floodplain 
development permit, and even if there are, those requirements have all been met based on the 
record made below. 

9. Do the McCall Floodplain Management Ordinances violate the Constitution?  

Appellants’ position that imposing requirements beyond those of the federal Clean Water 
Act on jurisdictional wetlands violates Idaho law is explained in the Notice of Appeal, dated 
November 17, 2023, and Appellants’ Opening Supplemental Brief in Support of Granting FPDP-
23-01. This issue is not a red herring, but it is a question of law that the City of McCall must 
contend with, should it continue to deny FPDP-23-01, even if the proposed activities are authorized 
by both federal and state law. 

The Memo’s conclusion that Idaho Code § 46-1020 et seq. disposes of this issue is wrong. 
Idaho’s Disaster Preparedness Act certainly authorizes local governments to regulate floodplain 
development. However, “[a] basic tenet of statutory construction is that the more specific statute 
or section addressing the issue controls over the statute that is more general. Thus, the more general 
statute should not be interpreted as encompassing an area already covered by one which is more 
specific.” Valiant Idaho, LLC v. JV L.L.C., 164 Idaho 280, 289 (2018). Here, Idaho Code § 46-
1022 is the more general statute because it broadly permits local governments to adopt and regulate 
floodplain development. This presumably includes the ability of local governments to regulate 



APPELLANTS’ REPLY 
PAGE – 7 
 

wetlands within a floodplain. However, that does not end the analysis because certain wetlands are 
subject to regulation under the CWA—that is, because they are waters of the United States. 

Idaho Code § 39-3601 deals specifically with regulations and requirements imposed on 
waters of the United States and unambiguously prohibits imposing requirements on waters of the 
United States that are “beyond those of the federal clean water act.” Thus, with respect to 
jurisdictional wetlands within floodplains, there is a specific statute that dictates the standards by 
which they can be regulated. The inescapable conclusion—which is also expressly stated in MCC 
3.7.023(B)(2)—is that if a Section 404 permit is required, it is sufficient to protect waters of the 
United States, and any local government action imposing more onerous requirements on such 
permit contravenes the policy and legislative intent of Idaho law implementing the CWA. 

III.  CONCLUSION 

Because FPDP-23-01 meets all applicable requirements for a floodplain development 
permit under McCall City Code, the decisions below must be reversed, and FPDP-23-01 granted. 

 
      Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
      Steven J. Millemann  

Amy K. Holm 
      Fred Coriell 
 
 

 



 

Subject: McCall City Council 

From:  Brian Parker, City Planner, Floodplain Administrator  

Date:   February 8, 2024  

The intention of this Memorandum is to provide details on the appeal of the denial of FPDP-23-01. 

 

Background 
The Sanders (the applicant) is proposing to place fill on land within the Area of Special Flood Hazard on 
Lot 19, Block 2, River’s Crossing Subdivision. Staff issued an Administrative Denial of the application on 
March 31, 2023. The applicant appealed the administrative decision to the McCall Area Planning & 
Zoning Commission, who upon conducting a properly noticed public hearing on September 12, 2023, 
voted 4-1 to uphold the Administrative Denial. The Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decision 
document of the McCall Area Planning & Zoning Commission’s decision was adopted by the McCall Area 
Planning & Zoning Commission on November 7, 2023. The applicant appealed the decision of the McCall 
Area Planning & Zoning Commission on November 17, 2023. 

Summary Recommendation 

The applicant’s appeal of the administrative denial of FPDP-23-01 should be denied because: 

1. The proposed development under the subject Flood Plain Development Permit (FPDP) involves 
“grading” and filling areas within the Area of Special Flood Hazard, which is also designated as 
wetlands, and therefore requires a building permit from the City. 

2. The City cannot issue a building permit if the proposed action will result in harm within the 
Shoreline and River Environs Zone. 

3. The definition of harm under McCall City Code includes:  

“The removal, burial, or destruction in whole or part of boulders, sandy beaches, rocky 
shores, or other features of the water pool shore contour or high-water mark, the land 
below the same, or the immediate upland edge; 

 The filling or dredging of lake bottom or wetlands;” 

4. Because the proposed development will result in “harm” to the wetlands, a building permit 
cannot be issued. 

5. Because a building permit cannot be issued, the FPDP must also be denied. 

Documents to be Admitted to the Record 

Document Name Date 



 

2 
 

Floodplain development permit application 
(FPDP-23-01) 

January 23, 2023 

Narrative attached to floodplain development 
permit application 

January 23, 2023 

Plot plan attached to floodplain development 
permit application 

January 23, 2023 

Terrain profile of proposed fill attached to 
floodplain development permit application 

January 23, 2023 

Administrative Denial of FPDP-23-01 March 31, 2023 

Notice of Appeal of Administrative Denial of 
FPDP-23-01 

April 10 ,2023 

Memo from Patrick Wickman of Forsgren 
Associates Inc., and associated attachments 

July 17, 2023 

Staff memo to McCall Area Planning & Zoning 
Commission regarding appeal of Administrative 
Denial of FPDP-23-01 

September 12, 2023 

Minutes of September 12, 2023 McCall Area 
Planning & Zoning Commission meeting 

September 12, 2023 

McCall Area Planning & Zoning Commission 
Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decision 
upholding Administrative Denial of FPDP-23-01 

November 7, 2023 

Notice of Appeal of McCall Area Planning & 
Zoning Commission’s Decision to uphold 
Administrative Denial of FPDP-23-01 

November 17, 2023 

McCall City Council Findings of Fact, Conclusions 
of Law, and Decision for the denial of VAR-20-01 

February 25, 2021 

Application Materials associated with VAR-20-01 July 21, 2020 

 

Facts 

1. The subject property is within the City of McCall and Titles III and IX, McCall City Code are 
applicable. 

The floodplain development permit identifies the subject property as Lot 19, Block 2 of River’s 
Crossing Subdivision. The face of the plat of River’s Crossing Subdivision identifies that the 
subdivision is located within the City of McCall. 

McCall City Code Section 3.1.03 states that “This title applies to all land within the boundaries of the 
city of McCall, and to all land within the boundaries of the city of McCall area of city impact, both of 
which areas are commonly referred to together in this title as the planning jurisdiction, including, 
but not limited to, any lands that may after March 16, 2006, become part of the city of McCall or of 
the impact area.” 



 

3 
 

McCall City Code Section 9.1.03 states that “This title applies to all land within the boundaries of the 
city of McCall, and to all land within the boundaries of the city of McCall area of city impact, both of 
which areas are commonly referred to together in this title as the "planning jurisdiction", including 
any lands that may become part of the city of McCall or of the impact area.” 

2. A floodplain development permit is required for the alteration of lands within the area of 
special flood hazard. 

McCall City Code Section 9.8.043(A)(1) states that “Application for a floodplain development permit 
shall be made to the Floodplain Administrator prior to any development activities located within 
special flood hazard areas.” 

The McCall City Planner is the Floodplain Administrator, pursuant to McCall City Code Section 
9.8.041. 

“Development” is defined in McCall City Code Section 9.8.02 as “Any man-made change to improved 
or unimproved real estate, including but not limited to buildings or other structures, mining, 
dredging, filling, grading, paving, excavation or drilling operations, or storage of equipment or 
materials.” 

“Development Activity” is defined in McCall City Code Section 9.8.02 as “Any activity defined as 
development which will necessitate a floodplain development permit; such as: the construction of 
buildings, structures, or accessory structures; additions or substantial improvements to existing 
structures; bulkheads, retaining walls, piers, and pools; the placement of mobile homes; or the 
deposition or extraction of materials; the construction or elevation of dikes, berms and levees.” 
(Emphasis Added). 

3. The applicant is proposing to conduct development activities within the area of special flood 
hazard (ASFH). 

McCall City Code Section 9.8.02 defines the “Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA)” as “The land in the 
floodplain within a community subject to a one percent (1%) or greater chance of flooding in any 
given year. For purposes of these regulations, the term "special flood hazard area" is synonymous in 
meaning with the phrase "area of special flood hazard".” 

The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) published Flood Insurance Rate Map Number 
16085C0688C on February 1, 2019. The site of the proposed development is shown on this map as 
being within the AE Special Flood Hazard Area. 

The floodplain development permit applications states that excavation, placement of fill material, 
and grading are proposed. 

The narrative attached to the floodplain development permit application states “The placement of 
fill requires a Floodplain Development Permit under MCC 9.8.043 because it is within the definition 
of a “Development Activity” under MCC 9.8.02.” 

The plot plan attached to the floodplain development permit application identifies locations where 
fill is proposed to be placed within the ASFH. 

The terrain profile attached to the floodplain development permit application identifies that fill 
would be placed within the ASFH. 

4. A floodplain development permit may only be issued if all applicable local, State, and Federal 
permits have been received and included within the floodplain development permit 
application.  



 

4 
 

McCall City Code Section 9.8.043(A)(1) states (underline added): 

Application Requirements: Application for a floodplain development permit shall be made to the 
Floodplain Administrator prior to any development activities located within special flood hazard 
areas. The following items shall be presented to the Floodplain Administrator to apply for a 
floodplain development permit: 

(a) A plot plan drawn to scale which shall include, but shall not be limited to, the following 
specific details of the proposed floodplain development: 

(1) The nature, location, dimensions, and elevations of the area of 
development/disturbance; existing and proposed structures, utility systems, 
grading/pavement areas, fill materials, storage areas, drainage facilities, and other 
development; 

(2) The boundary of the special flood hazard area as delineated on the FIRM or other flood 
map as determined in section 9.8.032 of this chapter, or a statement that the entire lot 
is within the special flood hazard area; 

(3) The flood zone(s) designation of the proposed development area as determined on the 
FIRM or other flood map as determined in section 9.8.032 of this chapter; 

(4) The boundary of the floodway(s) as determined in section 9.8.032 of this chapter; 

(5) The base flood elevation (BFE) where provided as set forth in section 9.8.032, 9.8.033, 
or 9.8.053 of this chapter; 

(6) The old and new location of any watercourse that will be altered or relocated as a result 
of proposed development; and 

(b) Proposed elevation, and method thereof, of all development within a special flood hazard 
area including but not limited to: 

(1) Elevation in relation to mean sea level of the proposed lowest floor (including 
basement) of all structures; 

(2) Elevation in relation to mean sea level to which any non- residential structure in Zone A, 
AE, AH, AO, or A1-30 will be floodproofed; and 

(3) Elevation in relation to mean sea level to which any proposed utility equipment and 
machinery will be elevated or floodproofed. 

(c) If floodproofing, a Floodproofing Certificate (FEMA Form 086-0-33) with supporting data, an 
operational plan, and an inspection and maintenance plan that include, but are not limited 
to, installation, exercise, and maintenance of floodproofing measures will be required prior 
to Certificate of Occupancy/Completion. 

(d) A Foundation Plan, drawn to scale, which shall include details of the proposed foundation 
system to ensure all provisions of this chapter are met. These details include but are not 
limited to: 

(1) The proposed method of elevation, if applicable (i.e., fill, solid foundation perimeter 
wall, solid backfilled foundation, open foundation, or on 
columns/posts/piers/piles/shear walls); and 



 

5 
 

(2) Openings to facilitate automatic equalization of hydrostatic flood forces on walls in 
accordance with subsection 9.8.051(A)8(b) of this chapter when solid foundation 
perimeter walls are used in Zones A, AE, AH, AO, and A1-30. 

(e) Usage details of any enclosed areas below the lowest floor. 

(f) Plans and/or details for the protection of public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, 
electrical, and water systems to be located and constructed to minimize flood damage. 

(g) Certification that all other local, State, and Federal permits required prior to floodplain 
development permit issuance have been received. 

(h) Documentation for placement of recreational vehicles and/or temporary structures, when 
applicable, to ensure that the provisions of subsections 9.8.052(A)5 and (A)6 of this chapter 
are met. 

(i) A description of proposed watercourse alteration or relocation, when applicable, including 
an engineering report on the effects of the proposed project on the flood-carrying capacity 
of the watercourse and the effects to properties located both upstream and downstream; 
and 

(j) A map (if not shown on plot plan) showing the location of the proposed watercourse 
alteration or relocation. (Emphasis Added).  

5. Compliance with all applicable City Codes is required. 

McCall City Code Section 9.8.034 states that “No structure or land shall hereafter be located, 
extended, converted, altered, or developed in any way without full compliance with the terms of 
this chapter and other applicable regulations.” 

McCall City Code Section 9.8.035 states that “This chapter shall not in any way repeal, abrogate, 
impair, or remove the necessity of compliance with any other laws, ordinances, regulations, 
easements, covenants, or deed restrictions, etcetera. However, where this chapter and another 
conflict or overlap, whichever imposes more stringent or greater restrictions shall control.” 

6. The requirements of Chapter 8, Title III are applicable. 

McCall City Code Section 3.8.01 states “The requirements of this chapter apply to all zones.” 

McCall City Code Section 3.8.01(A) states “Compliance Required; Nuisance Prohibited: No 
development shall be permitted or authorized to be established or maintained which is a nuisance 
or otherwise does not comply with all applicable local, state and federal laws and regulations.” 

McCall City Code Section 3.2.02 defines “Development” as “Any construction or activity that 
changes the existing character or use of land upon which such construction or activity occurs.” 

The subject property is within the R8 – Medium Density Residential zoning district of the City of 
McCall. Pursuant to McCall City Code Section 3.8.01, the requirements of Chapter 8, Title III apply. 
The applicant is proposing to conduct activities that will change the existing character of the subject 
property. 

7. A building permit is required prior to conducting development activities. 

McCall City Code Section 3.8.02(G) states “Building Permit Required: Until a valid building permit has 
been issued by the city of McCall, no construction work, including grading, blasting, filling, trenching, 
tree removal, etc., may be started, except as permitted in section 3.8.03 of this chapter.” 



 

6 
 

McCall City Code Section 3.8.03 states: 

(A) Purpose: The existing forest in the McCall area, including the city jurisdiction and the McCall 
area of city impact, is considered a public resource. The purpose of these requirements is to 
protect that public resource in fulfillment of the McCall area comprehensive plan goals and 
policies: 

1. Maintain and increase McCall's urban forest as a key component of the green 
infrastructure network with economic and social benefits. 

2. Achieve no net loss of tree canopy coverage and strive to increase the overall tree 
canopy to reduce storm runoff, absorb air pollutants, reduce noise, stabilize soil, and 
provide habitat. 

3. Maintain McCall's heritage trees. 

4. Preserve, to the extent reasonable, native vegetation consistent with ensuring wildland 
fire defensible space. 

5. Strengthen incentives and requirements for tree preservation for new development. 

6. Improve forest health through selective thinning and using best forest management 
practices and guidelines. 

(B) Tree Removal Limitations: 

1. Any tree equal to or larger than twelve inches (12") DBH (Diameter at Breast Height 54") 
shall require the written approval of the city arborist. 

2. Any thinning of smaller trees in excess of twenty percent (20%) of the total stem count 
on the property shall require a consultation by the city arborist. 

3. Following issuance of a building permit or written pre-building permit approval by the 
city arborist, tree removal is permitted within the area of the building footprint, other 
structures, driveways, and other improvements, and in accord with section 3.8.04, "Fire 
Hazard Mitigation Standards", of this chapter. 

4. Development of the lot should endeavor to preserve standing, healthy trees outside the 
area occupied by improvements. 

5. Salvage of dead, dying, or hazardous timber and removal of brush and timber for fire 
safety shall be allowed. 

(C) Slash, Logging Debris: Slash, long butts, cull logs, and logging debris shall not be 
accumulated or piled within view of a roadway. All such debris shall either be removed to an 
approved location for disposal, burned (with proper permits), or converted to mulch. 

(D) Limitations On Timber Harvest: Timber harvest is prohibited except under the following 
conditions: 

1. A property owner has first obtained a conditional use permit for such harvest; 

2. Within road rights of way, timber harvest by or under contract with the public agency 
having jurisdiction of the right of way. 

3. By a developer as required for road or utility construction in connection with a 
subdivision having at least preliminary plat approval, as required for survey or 
engineering or to remove dead or dying trees with the approval of the city arborist. 



 

7 
 

4. On public state lands as provided in subsection (E) of this section. 

(E) Harvesting Without Permit; Procedure: Timber harvest from state endowment lands is 
permitted after review and consultation with the city and without a conditional use permit 
as follows: 

1. Notice of a proposed timber sale or other logging contract shall be given to the clerk by 
the department of lands at least sixty (60) days before the publication of invitation to bid 
upon the sale, or creation of contract rights in a logger, whichever first occurs; thereafter 
the clerk shall forward the notice and supporting materials to the planning and zoning 
commission, which, if it chooses to do so, may hold a public hearing on the question of 
the appropriate city response to the proposed state action. The commission may request 
additional information. 

2. The council, upon receiving the recommendations of the commission in this regard, may, 
if it chooses to do so, hold a second public hearing on the question of the city response 
to the proposed state action. The council may request additional information. Following 
such consideration by the council as it deems appropriate, a statement of council's 
concerns and recommendations may be approved for transmittal to the department of 
lands. 

3. Public notice of any such public hearing under this subsection shall be given by 
publication as provided in chapter 15, "Procedures, Appeals And Actions", of this title. 

4. The department shall not enter into the timber sale or other logging contract without 
first implementing or otherwise responding point by point, in writing, delivered to the 
city manager, to the council's statement of concerns and recommendations. 

5. Notice of a sale which is classed as a "direct sale" under present rules of the department 
of lands, that is, one hundred thousand (100,000) or fewer board feet, by negotiated sale 
for ten thousand dollars ($10,000.00) or less, and respecting certain trees the market 
value of which would be lost in the event of any appreciable delay, shall be timely if 
furnished to the clerk fifteen (15) or more days before the signing of a contract for such 
sale; and the clerk shall bring the matter directly to the attention of council at its next 
meeting. 

No tree removal or timber harvest is proposed with this application, nor does McCall City Code 
Section 3.8.03 permit any of the development proposed within this floodplain development permit 
application. As such, a building permit is required. 

8. A determination that the proposed site grading will be the minimum necessary for 
development cannot be made. 

McCall City Code Section 3.8.23(D) states that “Site grading shall follow the natural terrain of the 
land and be the minimum necessary for development of the site as determined by the Administrator 
and Public Works Director.” 

As no additional development beyond grading, excavation, and the placement of fill is identified, an 
appropriate amount of site grading cannot be identified. 

9. No building permit may be issued for development within the Shoreline and River Environs 
Overlay Zone without demonstrated compliance with requirements of McCall City Code. 

McCall City Code Section 3.7.023(B) states: 



 

8 
 

Permit Criteria: No conditional use or building permit shall be issued, nor is any development, 
grading, or alteration of any land within this zone permitted, unless the applicant establishes to 
the satisfaction of the commission and council in the case of a conditional use, or of the 
administrator in the case of a building permit, that: 

1. The proposed development meets all applicable requirements of this title and title IX of 
this code. 

2. The plans accurately identify the water pool shore contours and high water marks, which, in 
the case of river environs, shall mean the limits of the area of special flood hazard. 

3. A letter is on file from a specialist certified by the United States army corps of engineers 
wetlands expert that certifies that no wetlands related issues or issues related to fill of 
navigable waters issues were presented by the proposed development; or that a section 404 
permit has been issued or is forthcoming by the corps of engineers, whichever is 
appropriate, city approval(s) under this title and title IX of this code are contingent upon all 
applicable section 404 permit requirements being met; if a permit requirement is not met, 
the city may revoke its approval(s) under this title and title IX of this code. 

4. The requirements of the underlying zone are met. 

5. The fifty foot (50') building setback line is met per subsection (C)3(c) of this section. 

6. Proof of stormwater certification training has been provided by the individual applying for 
the building permit. 

10. The water pool shore contours and high water marks in the area adjacent to the North Fork of 
the Payette River is the boundary of the ASFH. 

McCall City Code Section 3.7.021 (B) identifies the lands between the water pool shore contour of 
the North Fork of the Payette River and a line parallel to and 150 feet away from the water pool 
shore contour or high water mark as lands included within the Shoreline and River Environs Overlay 
Zone. 

McCall City Code Section 3.7.023(B)(2) establishes that the water pool shore contour or high water 
mark for areas adjacent to the North Fork of the Payette River is to be defined as the ASFH. 

11. The proposed development is within 150 feet of the ASFH. 

The terrain profile attached to the floodplain development permit indicates that fill will be placed 
above, over, and below the boundary of the ASFH. 

12. The proposed development is within the Shoreline and River Environs Overlay Zone. 

As the areas within 150 of the ASFH are within the Shoreline and River Environs Overlay Zone, and 
the proposed development is within 150 feet of the Shoreline and River Environs Overlay Zone, the 
applicable regulations of McCall City Code Sections 3.7.02-3.7.023 apply. 

13. The proposed development includes the placement of fill within 0.15 acres of wetlands. 

The narrative attached to the floodplain development permit application states “The activity for 
which the Permit is sought will be the placement of imported fill into .48 acres of the Property, of 
which .15 acres is delineated Shrub/Scrub wetlands.” 

14. Harm to wetlands is prohibited within the Shoreline and River Environs Overlay Zone. 



 

9 
 

McCall City Code Section 3.7.023(B) requires that “any development, grading, or alteration of any 
land” within the Shoreline and River Environs Overlay Zone that “the proposed development meets 
all applicable requirements” of Titles III and IX of McCall Code. 

McCall City Code Section 3.7.023(C)(1) states (underline added): 

Prohibitions: No construction, alteration or activity shall cause harm to: 

a. Water quality. 

b. Fish and aquatic habitats. 

c. Wetlands. 

d. Significant wildlife habitat harboring any threatened or endangered species. 

e. Views of, from, or across a lake or river. 

f. To this end, all applications for building permits within this overlay zone, no matter what the 
permit may be for, shall be accompanied by a plan for the installation of appropriate 
natural, storm, and melt water drainage and treatment facilities. Such plans for natural, 
storm and melt water drainage of the property and on and through the property, shall be 
consistent with best management practices under state and federal storm and melt water 
regulatory programs to which the city is subject and consistent with other city programs in 
these regards to the satisfaction of the city. 

McCall City Code Section 3.7.023(C)(2) provides a specific definition of “harm” for the purposes of 
interpreting McCall City Code Section 3.7.023(C)(1) (underline added): 

Harm Defined: "Harm" for these purposes means: 

a. The creation of conditions which foster runoff of, or other source of fertilizers, toxic 
substances, or other pollutants or contaminants, into the water; 

b. The excessive clearing of natural vegetation or change of natural landforms within the area 
between the water pool shore contour or high water mark and the fifty foot (50') building 
setback line; 

c. The removal, burial, or destruction in whole or part of boulders, sandy beaches, rocky 
shores, or other features of the water pool shore contour or high water mark, the land 
below the same, or the immediate upland edge; 

d. The filling or dredging of lake bottom or wetlands; 

e. The erection of visual barriers between the lake or river and the roads on the uplands, 
beyond the extent reasonably necessary for an owner's usage of the land for a permitted 
use; or 

f. The creation of any other condition which would be inconsistent with best management 
practices under, or threaten a violation of, state and federal storm and melt water 
regulatory programs to which the city is subject, or fail otherwise to be consistent with 
other city programs in these regards, all as established to the satisfaction of the city. 

15. The proposed development includes the destruction of features of the water pool shore 
contour or high water mark, as well as land below the water pool shore contour or high water 
mark. 



 

10 
 

The plot plan attached to the floodplain development permit application identifies areas of the 
water pool shore contour or high water mark and lands below the water pool shore contour or high 
water mark to be covered with fill. 

16. The destruction of features of the water pool shore contour or high water mark, as well as 
land below the water pool shore contour or high water mark is considered harm. 

McCall City Code Section 3.7.023(B) requires that “any development, grading, or alteration of any 
land” within the Shoreline and River Environs Overlay Zone that “the proposed development meets 
all applicable requirements” of Titles III and IX of McCall Code. 

McCall City Code Section 3.7.023(C)(1) states: 

Prohibitions: No construction, alteration or activity shall cause harm to: 

a. Water quality. 

b. Fish and aquatic habitats. 

c. Wetlands. 

d. Significant wildlife habitat harboring any threatened or endangered species. 

e. Views of, from, or across a lake or river. 

f. To this end, all applications for building permits within this overlay zone, no matter what the 
permit may be for, shall be accompanied by a plan for the installation of appropriate 
natural, storm, and melt water drainage and treatment facilities. Such plans for natural, 
storm and melt water drainage of the property and on and through the property, shall be 
consistent with best management practices under state and federal storm and melt water 
regulatory programs to which the city is subject and consistent with other city programs in 
these regards to the satisfaction of the city. 

McCall City Code Section 3.7.023(C)(2) provides a specific definition of “harm” for the purposes of 
interpreting McCall City Code Section 3.7.023(C)(1) (underline added): 

Harm Defined: "Harm" for these purposes means: 

a. The creation of conditions which foster runoff of, or other source of fertilizers, toxic 
substances, or other pollutants or contaminants, into the water; 

b. The excessive clearing of natural vegetation or change of natural landforms within the area 
between the water pool shore contour or high water mark and the fifty foot (50') building 
setback line; 

c. The removal, burial, or destruction in whole or part of boulders, sandy beaches, rocky 
shores, or other features of the water pool shore contour or high water mark, the land 
below the same, or the immediate upland edge; 

d. The filling or dredging of lake bottom or wetlands; 

e. The erection of visual barriers between the lake or river and the roads on the uplands, 
beyond the extent reasonably necessary for an owner's usage of the land for a permitted 
use; or 

f. The creation of any other condition which would be inconsistent with best management 
practices under, or threaten a violation of, state and federal storm and melt water 



 

11 
 

regulatory programs to which the city is subject, or fail otherwise to be consistent with 
other city programs in these regards, all as established to the satisfaction of the city. 

17. Excessive clearing of natural vegetation or change of landforms within the area between the 
water pool shore contour or high water mark and the fifty foot (50’) building setback line is 
considered harm. 

McCall City Code Section 3.7.023(C)(2) provides a specific definition of “harm” for the purposes of 
interpreting McCall City Code Section 3.7.023(C)(1) (underline added): 

Harm Defined: "Harm" for these purposes means: 

a. The creation of conditions which foster runoff of, or other source of fertilizers, toxic 
substances, or other pollutants or contaminants, into the water; 

b. The excessive clearing of natural vegetation or change of natural landforms within the area 
between the water pool shore contour or high water mark and the fifty foot (50') building 
setback line; 

c. The removal, burial, or destruction in whole or part of boulders, sandy beaches, rocky 
shores, or other features of the water pool shore contour or high water mark, the land 
below the same, or the immediate upland edge; 

d. The filling or dredging of lake bottom or wetlands; 

e. The erection of visual barriers between the lake or river and the roads on the uplands, 
beyond the extent reasonably necessary for an owner's usage of the land for a permitted 
use; or 

f. The creation of any other condition which would be inconsistent with best management 
practices under, or threaten a violation of, state and federal storm and melt water 
regulatory programs to which the city is subject, or fail otherwise to be consistent with 
other city programs in these regards, all as established to the satisfaction of the city. 

18. The applicant is proposing to change landforms within the area between the water pool shore 
contour or high water mark and the fifty foot (50’) building setback line. 

The terrain profile attached to the floodplain development permit application indicates that fill will 

be placed above, over, and below the water pool shore contour or high water mark. 

19. The applicant has stated no construction of any structure or any development beyond the 
placement of fill is proposed at this time. 

The floodplain development permit application states that no structures are proposed to be 
constructed. 

20. The subject property has a buildable envelope of approximately 6,400 square feet without 
modifying the water pool shore contour or high water mark. 

The narrative attached to the floodplain development permit application states “The Property was 
the subject of a variance application which was denied by the McCall City Council.” An exhibit 
provided with the aforementioned variance application identified an area of approximately 6,400 
square feet that could be built upon without modification of the water pool shore contour or high 
water mark. 



 

12 
 

21. A determination that excessive clearing or change of landforms within the area between the 
water pool shore contour or high water mark will not occur cannot be made. 

As no additional development beyond grading, excavation, and the placement of fill is identified, an 
appropriate amount of clearing cannot be identified. 

22. Construction, alteration, and activity that causes harm is prohibited within the Shoreline and 
River Environs Overlay Zone. 

McCall City Code Section 3.7.023(C)(1) states: 

Prohibitions: No construction, alteration or activity shall cause harm to: 

a. Water quality. 

b. Fish and aquatic habitats. 

c. Wetlands. 

d. Significant wildlife habitat harboring any threatened or endangered species. 

e. Views of, from, or across a lake or river. 

f. To this end, all applications for building permits within this overlay zone, no matter what the 
permit may be for, shall be accompanied by a plan for the installation of appropriate 
natural, storm, and melt water drainage and treatment facilities. Such plans for natural, 
storm and melt water drainage of the property and on and through the property, shall be 
consistent with best management practices under state and federal storm and melt water 
regulatory programs to which the city is subject and consistent with other city programs in 
these regards to the satisfaction of the city. 

Administrative Decision 
Based upon the facts presented above, the issuance of a floodplain development permit for the 

proposed development activity cannot be issued. 



 
THURSDAY, JANUARY 18, 2024 - THE STAR-NEWS - B5

PUBLIC NOTICE

In accordance with IDAPA 

15.10.01.011.05 (“ISLD Rule” 011.05), 

the Idaho State Liquor Division (ISLD) 

hereby gives public notice that it 

is considering the relocation of the 

existing contract liquor store located 

at 112 N. Main St. in Riggins, Idaho. 

The store will continue to be operated 

as a Contract Store as defined in ISLD 

Rule 004. The desired location of said 

Contract Store is described as:

Within the retail trade area of Riggins, 

County of Idaho, State of Idaho.

Please note that Idaho Statute 23-303 

asserts that no liquor store shall be 

located within 300 feet of a school.

If interested in being considered to 

operate a Contract Store in the Rig-

gins area, you may inquire about or 

request an application by e-mailing 

the Idaho State Liquor Division:

Sally.ray@liquor.idaho.gov

Applications will be considered by 

the ISLD Director in accordance with 

ISLD Rule 011.06. Completed applica-

tions must be received no later than 

5:00 p.m. on January 26, 2024

Published in The Star-News January 

11, 18, 25, 2024.

1839780

1 INVITATION TO BID

The City of McCall is accepting sealed 

bids for the Davis Ave Reconstruction 

Phase 2 Project. All separate, sealed 

bids will be received at www.hor-

rocksplanroom.com , until 11:00 a.m. 

local time on Thursday, February 

1, 2024. That same day, all received 

bids will be opened virtually and 

read aloud at 11:15 a.m. via Microsoft 

Teams. Bid opening information will 

be sent out to all Contractors on the 

plan holders list by Wednesday, Janu-

ary 31, 2024. Bids not received by the 

indicated time will not be opened.

The work of this contract generally 

includes roadway improvements on 

Davis Avenue from Blue Water Circle 

to Lick Creek Road . Bid alternates 

include a new paved City parking lot, 

PVC and/or HDPE water main pipe 

substitution, and a separated pedes-

trian path. The roadway improve-

ments include cement recycled 

asphalt base stabilization (CRABS) 

pavement rehabilitation of the exist-

ing roadway and widening of the 

road section for bike lanes. Addition-

al roadwork includes installation of 

stormwater inlets and piping, drive-

way culverts, drainage ditches, strip-

ing, and traffic signs. The project also 

includes installation of a new 12-inch 

potable water main and a 16-inch 

raw water main in Davis Avenue and 

replacement of all water services, 

water meters, and fire hydrants.

A non-mandatory virtual pre-bid 

Meeting will be held on Thursday , 

January 18, 2024 at 1:30 p.m. MST. 

Those wanting to attend in person 

can meet at Legion Hall, located 

below City Hall at 216 E. Park St, 

McCall, ID 83638. There will also be an 

opportunity to walk the project site 

following the pre-bid meeting. Virtual 

meeting information will be sent out 

to all Contractors on the plan holders 

list by Wednesday, January 17, 2024. 

All potential bidders are encouraged 

to attend.

Bids must be accompanied by Bid 

Security in the form of a bid bond, 

certified check, cashier’s check, or 

cash in the amount not less than 5% 

of the total bid amount, payable to 

the City of McCall. Proof of Bid Securi-

ty must be submitted with the official 

bid documents. Said Bid Security shall 

be forfeited to the Owner as liquidat-

ed damages should the successful 

bidder fail to enter into a contract 

in accordance with their proposal as 

specified in the instructions to Bid-

ders. The City of McCall reserves the 

right to reject any or all proposals.

Complete project bidding documents 

and plans will be available at www.

horrocksplanroom.com by 5:00 pm 

on January 9, 2024. Bidding docu-

ments and plans may be download-

ed, at no cost, by searching Davis Ave 

Reconstruction Phase 2 Project on the 

website’s Public Jobs page . Please 

contact Elizabeth Harvey at (435) 650-

6935 or elizabethh@horrocks.com for 

assistance with registration, down-

loading, and working with this digital 

project information.

Neither the Engineer, Project Manager 

nor Owner shall be held responsible 

for any oral instruction. All questions 

or requests for additional information 

must be submitted in writing to the 

City’s engineering consultant, no lat-

er than 5:00 pm on Monday, January 

22, 2024 . Any changes to the Plan 

and Specifications will be in the form 

of a written addendum which will be 

made available to all plan holders by 

Close of Business on Friday, January 

26, 2024 . Please contact Tyson Lar-

son at 208-791-6776 or tyson.larson@

horrocks.com with any project related 

questions.

Published in The Star-News January 

11, 18, 25, 2024.

1838640

Valley County Sheriff’s Office is seek-

ing grant funding from the Water-

ways Improvement Fund (WIF) to 

purchase a jet boat enabling them to 

create a safer boating environment in 

Valley County. The Sheriff's Office will 

trade in their current boat and use the 

funds as a match for the grant. Valley 

County Sheriff’s Office is applying for 

$65,000 from the WIF program.  

If you have any comments or ques-

tions related to these projects or the 

applications, please contact Maken-

zie Castor, Grant Writer, at (208) 382-

7137 or mcastor@co.valley.id.us.  

Deadline for comments is January 24, 

2024. 

Published in The Star-News January 

11, 18, 2024.

1828000

PUBLIC NOTICE

Notice of Public Hearing

-February 8, 2024–

McCall City Council

City Hall, Legion Room

216 East Park Street

The McCall City Council will hold a 

public hearing on Thursday, February 

8, 2024 at 5:30 PM, or as soon there-

after as the matters may be heard, for 

the purpose of receiving testimony 

from interested persons regarding 

the following applications.

Public testimony is encouraged at the 

public hearing. To make a comment 

during the live meeting online or to 

call-in, or to leave a written comment 

go to the City’s website at https://

www.mccall.id.us/packets. Written 

comments and requests to speak vir-

tually must be made prior to 3:00 pm 

on February 8, 2024. The public are 

welcomed to attend the meeting in 

CITY OF CASCADE

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING

Notice is hereby given that the Cas-

cade City Council will hold a Public 

Hearing on Monday, February 5, 

2024 at 6:15 p.m. at Cascade City 

Hall, 105 South Main Street, Cas-

cade, Idaho. The purpose of receiving 

testimony from interested persons 

regarding the application for SUB 

24-01, PUD 24-01 and ZON 24-01 

submitted by Arrowhead RV Park, 

LLC. The proposed Arrowhead 

Micro Community is a residential 

community consisting of 117 Resi-

dential Tiny Home lots and 17 open 

space lots. The site is 16.67 acres 

and is zoned Commercial. Proper-

ty site address: 955 S Main Street, 

Cascade, ID 83611 with the legal 

description: a portion of the SWSW 

Section 31-T14N-R4E and a portion 

of SESE Section 36-T14N-R3E.

The application is on file at Cascade 

City Hall and is available for review 

during regular business hours. The 

public is invited and encouraged to 

attend and/or make written com-

ments by Thursday February 1, 

2024 . Written comments should be 

addressed to Brandee Nitzel, P.O. Box 

649, Cascade, ID 83611, or email: dep-

utyclerk@cascadeid.us. 

This meeting will be conducted in 

person and as a virtual meeting. The 

Public will be able to listen and partic-

ipate, including commenting for the 

public hearings, via telephone and/or 

another virtual platform. Instructions 

for virtual participation for the public 

will be posted with the Agenda. All 

information presented in the hearing 

will also be available upon advance 

request in a form usable by persons 

with hearing or visual impairments.

Brandee Nitzel

Published in The Star-News January 

11, 18, 2024.

1851180

NOTICE OF SHERIFF’S SALE

BY VIRTUE of a Writ of Execution in my 

hands, issued out of the Magistrate 

Court of the Fourth Judicial District, 

of the State of Idaho, in and for the 

County of Valley in the suit of Clark & 

Associates, Attorneys at Law v. Ringel, 

et al, Case No. CV43-23-00253 , duly 

attested November 24, 2023, I have 

levied upon all the right, title, and 

interest of the said judgment debtor 

FREDRICK SHANE RINGEL in and to 

the following described property, sit-

uated in Valley County, Idaho, viz:

The Defendant Frederick Shane Rin-

gel’s Interest in 3.4917 acres, legally 

described as TAX NO 2 IN S 1/2 SE S6 

T11N R4E, located at 80 Bacon Creek 

Rd., Cascade, Idaho, 83611, to satisfy 

the amount of $2,355.39, plus inter-

est due and owing under the forego-

ing judgments.

NOTICE: The judgment debtor or 

redemptioner may redeem the prop-

erty from the purchaser within six (6) 

months after the sale if the real prop-

erty sold consisted of a tract of land 

of twenty (20) acres or less, on pay-

ing the purchaser the amount of his 

purchase with interest thereon at the 

rate allowed in section 28-22-104(1), 

Idaho Code, from the date of sale to 

the date of redemption, together 

with the amount of any assessment 

or taxes which the purchaser may 

have paid thereon after the com-

mencement of the action and which 

are not included in the judgment, 

and interest at the rate allowed in 

section 28-22-104(1), Idaho Code, on 

such amount; and, if the purchaser be 

also a creditor having a prior lien to 

that of the redemptioner, other than 

the judgment under which such pur-

chase was made, the amount of such 

lien with interest at the rate allowed 

in section 28-22-104(1).

The Sheriff, by Certificate of Sale, will 

transfer all right, title, and interest of 

the judgment debtor in and to the 

property at the time the execution 

or attachment was levied. The Sher-

iff will give possession but does not 

guarantee clear title nor continued 

possessory right to the purchaser.

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that on Feb-

ruary1st, 2024, at 11:00, A.M.

AT:    108 W Spring St., Cascade, ID 

83611 at the EOC building across 

from the Sheriff's Office.

I will sell all the right, title, and interest 

of the said judgment debtor in and to 

the said above-described property, at 

public auction, to the highest bidder 

for cash in lawful money of the United 

States to satisfy said execution and all 

costs.

Given under my hand, January 2nd , 

2024.

KEVIN COPPERI, Valley County Sheriff

Nichole Scott    

Deputy Sheriff

Published in The Star-News January 

11, 18, 25, 2024.

1841860

PUBLIC NOTICE

Notice of Public Hearing

-February 6, 2024–

McCall Area Planning and Zoning 

Commission

McCall City Hall – Legion Room & via 

Microsoft Teams

216 E Park St, McCall, 83638

The McCall Area Planning and Zon-

ing Commission will hold a public 

hearing on Tuesday, February 6, 2024 

at 4:30 PM, or as soon thereafter as 

the matters may be heard for the 

purpose of receiving testimony from 

interested persons regarding the 

following applications.

Meetings will be available for in 

person and virtual attendance. 

Any member of the public can join 

and listen only to the meeting by 

calling in as follows:

Dial 208-634-8900 when asked for 

the Conference ID enter: 525 997 

816 # . If there are any questions, 

NOTICE is hereby given that the Valley 

County Planning and Zoning Com-

mission will hold public hearings on 

the following during the meeting on 

February 8, 2024, at 6:00 p.m. at the 

Valley County Courthouse, 219 North 

Main Street, Cascade, Idaho.  All mat-

ters are action items.

You may comment in person during 

the meeting or by mail or email. Send 

comments to PO Box 1350, Cascade, 

ID 83611 or cherrick@co.valley.id.us.  

Written comments must be received 

at least seven days prior to the public 

hearing. Watch the meeting and find 

additional information on the appli-

cations at: www.co.valley.id.us.

C.U.P. 23-53 Troutner Multiple Res-

idences: Jeff and Kathy Troutner are 

requesting a conditional use permit 

to allow two residences on one par-

cel.  Each home would have an indi-

vidual septic system; the existing well 

would be shared. Access would be 

from a shared driveway onto Elk Hav-

en Way, a private road. The existing 

home is addressed at 84 Elk Haven 

Way. The 19-acre parcel is Elk Haven 

Subdivision Lot 9 located in the W ½ 

Section 14, T.17N R.3E, Boise Meridi-

an, Valley County, Idaho.

C.U.P. 23-54 Lake Port Storage 

Amendment to C.U.P. 18-11:  Lake 

Port Holdings LLC is requesting a 

conditional use permit to construct 

two additional buildings adjacent to 

the eight existing storage buildings.  

All buildings would continue to be 

used as dry public storage facilities 

for boats and trailers.  Primary access 

would be through Mile High Power 

Sports onto Highway 55 with sec-

ondary access from Rogers Lane. The 

13.5-acre site, addressed at 13924 B 

Highway 55, is Hinson Subdivision 

Lot 3C, located in the NWNW ¼ Sec. 

3, T.17N, R.3E, Boise Meridian, Valley 

County, Idaho.

Tamarack Resort P.U.D. 98-1 

Amendment and C.U.P. 23-51 

Phase 3.4 – Lower Sugarloaf Cus-

tom Chalets – Preliminary Plat: 

Tamarack Resort Two is requesting an 

amendment to the approved planned 

unit development to allow residential 

lots in an area that was previously 

platted as open space in Phase 1. This 

site would include 3 residential lots, 

recreational easements, and open 

space.  The lots would be accessed 

by Discovery Drive, private. The site 

is served by Northlake Recreational 

Sewer and Water District. The 4.3-acre 

site is parcel RP0049200000C0 in the 

NW ¼ Section 5, T.15N, R.3E, Boise 

Meridian, Valley County, Idaho. Tabled 

from January 11, 2024.

P.U.D. 23-02 MacGregor Townsite 

and C.U.P. 23-52 Phase 1 Prelim-

inary Plat:  Groves Family LLC is 

requesting approval of 335 sin-

gle-family residential lots, community 

amenities, and open space.  The net 

density is 2.11 units per acre. North 

Lake Recreational Sewer and Water 

District would provide water and 

sewer service. Construction would 

occur in six phases over a 15-year 

period.  Access would be from Loomis 

Lane and Old State Road, both pub-

lic roads. Internal roads would be 

private. Variances from Valley County 

Code are requested to reduce right-

of-way widths, reduce front and rear 

setbacks, reduce maximum lot cov-

erage, reduce frontage widths along 

roads, and allow a hybrid approach 

to open space requirements. The 159-

acre site is parcel RP16N03E270005 

located at the intersection of Loomis 

Lane and Old State Road, in the NE ¼ 

Section 27, T.16N, R.3E, Boise Meridi-

an, Valley County, Idaho. Tabled from 

January 11, 2024.

 

Cynda Herrick, AICP, P&Z Director

Published in The Star-News January 

18, 25, 2024.

1871710

welcomed to attend the meeting in 

person. All comments are limited to 3 

minutes. Anyone desiring accommo-

dations for disabilities may contact 

the City Clerk’s office, 208-634-4874 

or bwagner@mccall.id.us at least 48 

hours prior to the public hearing.

Appeal of FPDP-23-01 (ACTION 

ITEM)

221 Morgan Drive – Dwain and Cin-

dy Sanders

An appeal of the Administrator’s deci-

sion to deny a Floodplain Develop-

ment Permit Application. The prop-

erty is zoned R8 – Medium Density 

Residential and is more particularly 

described as:

Lot 19, Block Two of the River’s Cross-

ing Subdivision situate in the S ½ of 

Section 17, T18N, R3E, B.M. City of 

McCall, Valley County, Idaho.

The complete applications are on 

file at the Community Development 

Department, McCall City Hall, 216 

East Park Street, McCall, ID, and are 

available for review by request. The 

applications are also available for 

review on the City of McCall website 

one week prior to the hearing.

Published in The Star-News January 

18, 2024.

1869610

PUBLIC NOTICE

The following application(s) have 

been filed to appropriate the public 

waters of the State of Idaho:

65-24280

BRUNDAGE MOUNTAIN RESORT LLC

PO BOX 1062

MCCALL, ID 83638-1062

Point of Diversion SWNE S29 T18N 

R03E VALLEY County

Source UNNAMED STREAM Tributary 

NORTH FORK PAYETTE RIVER

Use: COMMERCIAL

11/16 to 03/14; 0.1 CFS

Total Diversion: 0.1 CFS

Date Filed: 12-12-2023

Place Of Use: COMMERCIAL

T18N R03E S29 SWNE

Permits will be subject to all prior 

water rights.  For additional infor-

mation concerning the property 

location, contact the Western Region 

office at (208)334-2190; or for a full 

description of the right(s), please 

see https://idwr.idaho.gov/apps/

ExtSearch/WRApplicationResults/.  

Protests may be submitted based on 

the criteria of Idaho Code § 42-203A. 

Any protest against the approval of 

816 # . If there are any questions, 

contact Brian Parker, City Planner 

(contact provided below).

DR-23-32 & SH-23-12 (ACTION 

ITEM)

1200 Shady Lane Loop – Dave Lew-

is – IMPACT AREA

An application for Design Review 

and Shoreline Review to construct 

an approximately 1,120 square foot 

addition to an existing single-family 

residence including additional living 

space and garage space. The property 

is located along the Shoreline Envi-

rons Zone of Payette Lake and in the 

R4 – Low Density Residential Zone. 

The property is more particularly 

described as:

Lot 9 of the Shady Beach Community, 

a portion of Lot 4 in Section 2, T18N, 

R3E, B.M., Valley County, Idaho.

PUBLIC HEARING

DR-23-33, SH-23-10 (ACTION ITEM)

601 Lick Creek Rd – Luke Vannoy 

for the Scott-Classen Family

A design review and shoreline appli-

cation for the construction of an 

approximately 1,100 square foot 

addition to an existing single-family 

residence. The property is located 

and in the Shoreline Environs Zone of 

Payette Lake. The property is zoned 

R4– Low Density Residential, and is 

more particularly described as:

Lot 2 of Block 6 of the Davis Beach 

Tracts, situate in Section 4, T18N, R3E, 

BM, City of McCall, Valley County, Ida-

ho.

PUBLIC HEARING

DR-23-34 & SH-23-11 (ACTION 

ITEM)

2248 Payette Dr – Luke Vannoy for 

Berge Family – IMPACT AREA

An application for Design Review 

and Shoreline Review to renovate an 

existing ADU, and add an addition to 

the existing single-family residence. 

The ADU will total 1,440 square feet 

and primary residence will total 2,708 

square feet. The property is located 

along the Shoreline Environs Zone of 

Payette Lake. The property is zoned 

R4 – Low Density Residential and is 

more particularly described as:

The Easterly Portion of Lot 55 of the 

Amended Payette Lake Cottage Sites 

Subdivision, situated in the Govern-

ment Lot 3 of Section 25, T19N, R3E, 

B.M., Valley County, Idaho.

PUBLIC HEARING

CUP-23-12 (ACTION ITEM)

705 Brown Dr – Andy & Dandy Ste-

vens

A Preliminary Development Plan 

Review for a for a Conditional Use 

Permit for a Short-Term Rental with 

an occupancy of greater than 10 peo-

ple to be operated in a single-family 

residence. The property is zoned R4 – 

Low Density Residential, and is more 

particularly described as:

Lot 10 of Block 1 of the Amended Plat 

of the Hoff & Brown 1 st Addition, situ-

ate in Government Lot 4 in Section 9, 

T18N, R3E, B.M., City of McCall, Idaho.

PUBLIC HEARING

CUP-23-13 (ACTION ITEM)

2014 University Ln – Justin Man-

ning

An Application for a Conditional 

Use Permit to utilize an existing Sin-

gle-Family Home as a Short-Term 

Rental with an occupancy exceeding 

11 people. The Property is Zoned RE 

– Rural Estate, is located along the 

Shoreline of Payette Lake, and is more 

particularly described as:

Lot 1 of Block 3 of the University State 

Subdivision, situate in a portion of 

Section 4, T18N, R3E, B.M., City of 

McCall, Idaho.

PUBLIC HEARING

CUP-23-14 (ACTION ITEM)

1030 Bitterroot Dr – Dave Phillips

A Preliminary Development Plan 

Review for a for a Conditional Use 

Permit for a Short-Term Rental with an 

occupancy of greater than 10 people 

to be operated in a single-family resi-

dence with 7 bedrooms. The property 

is zoned R4 – Low Density Residential, 

and is more particularly described as:

Lot 16 of Block 1 Spring Mountain 

Ranch Subdivision No. 1, situated in 

the SW ¼ of the NE ¼ of Section 10, 

T18N, R3E, B.M., City of McCall, Valley 

County, Idaho.

PUBLIC HEARING

The complete applications are on 

file at the Community Development 

Department, McCall City Hall, 216 

East Park Street, McCall, ID, and are 

available for review by request. The 

applications are also available for 

review on the City of McCall website 

one week prior to the hearing. The 

public is invited and encouraged to 

attend and/or make written com-

ment. Written comments should be 

addressed to:

Brian Parker, City Planner

216 E. Park Street

McCall, ID 83638

(208) 634-4256

bparker@mccall.id.us

Published in The Star-News January 

18, 2024.

1871880

PUBLIC NOTICE

ADVERTISEMENT FOR BIDS

CITY OF CASCADE, IDAHO

ID2104-AE 2024 PAVEMENT RES-

ERVATION

General Notice

The City of Cascade (Owner) is 

requesting Bids for the construction 

of the following Project: ID2104-AE 

2024 PAVEMENT RESERVATION

Bids for the construction of the Proj-

ect will be received by the Cascade 

City Clerk at PO Box 649 , 105 S Main 

St, Cascade, Id 83611 , until Friday, 

February 9, 2024, at 10:00 AM local 

time. At that time the Bids received 

will be publicly opened and read 

aloud at 105 S Main St, Cascade, Id .

The project consists of approximately 

825 SY of HMA patching, 15,000 SY of 

Chip seal, and 10,400 FT of pavement 

marking.

Obtaining the Bidding Documents

Information and Bidding Documents 

for the Project can be found at the 

following designated website: www.

questcdn.com

Bidding Documents may be down-

loaded from the designated website 

for $22.00 by inputting project # 

8928281 on the website’s Project 

Search page. Please contact Quest-

CDN.com at 952-233-1632 or info@

questcdn.com for assistance in free 

membership registration, download-

ing, and working with this digital 

project information. Prospective Bid-

ders are urged to register with the 

designated website as a plan hold-

er, even if Bidding Documents are 

obtained from a plan room or source 

other than the designated website in 

ADVERTISEMENT FOR BIDS

CITY OF CASCADE, IDAHO

ID2104-D FEMA GAN 20-SR 161856

General Notice

The City of Cascade (Owner) is 

requesting Bids for the construction 

of the following Project: ID2104-D 

FEMA GAN 20-SR 161856 Storm 

Water Hazard Mitigation funded by 

the Federal Emergency Management 

Agency, US Department of Homeland 

Security.

Bids for the construction of the Proj-

ect will be received by the Cascade 

City Clerk at PO Box 649 , 105 S Main 

St, Cascade, Id 83611 , until Friday, 

February 9, 2024, at 10:00 AM local 

time. At that time the Bids received 

will be publicly opened and read 

aloud at 105 S Main St, Cascade, Id .

The Project consist of approximately 

1400ft of storm drain improvements 

including pipe, catch basins, man-

holes, and sediment boxes. IT also 

includes 70ft of CIPP lining of a 36” 

culvert crossing railroad tracks.

Obtaining the Bidding Documents

Information and Bidding Documents 

for the Project can be found at the 

following designated website: www.

questcdn.com

Bidding Documents may be down-

loaded from the designated website 

for $22.00 by inputting project # 

8928273 on the website’s Project 

Search page. Please contact Quest-

CDN.com at 952-233-1632 or info@

questcdn.com for assistance in free 

membership registration, download-

ing, and working with this digital 

project information. Prospective Bid-

ders are urged to register with the 

designated website as a plan hold-

er, even if Bidding Documents are 

obtained from a plan room or source 

other than the designated website in 

either electronic or paper format. The 

designated website will be updated 

periodically with addenda, lists of 

registered plan holders, reports, and 

other information relevant to submit-

ting a Bid for the Project. All official 

notifications, addenda, and other 

Bidding Documents will be offered 

only through the designated website. 

Neither Owner nor Engineer will be 

responsible for Bidding Documents, 

including addenda, if any, obtained 

from sources other than the designat-

ed website.

Pre-bid Conference

A pre-bid conference for the Project 

will be held on January 30, 2024 at 

10:00 AM at 105 S Main St, Cascade, 

Id. Attendance at the pre-bid confer-

ence is encouraged but not required.

Instructions to Bidders

Contact Trevor Howard (208-559-

2663, thoward@saiservices.com if you 

have any questions.

For all further requirements regard-

ing bid submittal, qualifications, pro-

cedures, and contract award, refer to 

the Instructions to Bidders that are 

included in the Bidding Documents.

Bids must be accompanied by Bid 

Security in the form of a bid bond, 

certified check, cashier’s check or 

cash in the amount of 5% of the 

amount of the bid proposal. Said bid 

security shall be forfeited to the City 

of Cascade, Idaho as liquidated dam-

ages should the successful bidder fail 

to enter into contract in accordance 

with their proposal as specified in the 

Instructions to Bidders.

The City of Cascade reserves the right 

to reject any or all proposals, waive 

any nonmaterial irregularities in the 

bids received, and to accept the pro-

posal deemed most advantageous 

to the best interest of The City of 

Cascade.

Published in The Star-News January 

18, 25, 2024.

1877050

Any protest against the approval of 

this application must be filed with 

the Director, Dept. of Water Resourc-

es, Western Region, 2735 W AIRPORT 

WAY, BOISE ID 83705-5082 together 

with a protest fee of $25.00 for each 

application on or before 2/5/2024. 

The protestant must also send a copy 

of the protest to the applicant.

MATHEW WEAVER, Director

Published in The Star-News January 

18, 25, 2024.

######

PUBLIC NOTICE

Need privacy and speed? 

Ask about our “blind boxes.”

ADVERTISEMENT FOR BIDS

CITY OF CASCADE, IDAHO

A022(953) SH 55, MAIN ST

SIDEWALK & BEACON

General Notice

The City of Cascade (Owner) is 

requesting Bids for the construction 

of the following Project: A022(953) 

SH 55, MAIN ST SIDEWALK & BEA-

CON

Bids for the construction of the Proj-

ect will be received by the Cascade 

City Clerk at PO Box 649 , 105 S Main 

St, Cascade, Id 83611 , until Friday, 

February 9, 2024, at 10:00 AM local 

time. At that time the Bids received 

will be publicly opened and read 

aloud at 105 S Main St, Cascade, Id .

The project consists of approximately 

900 feet of improvements including 

curb, gutter, & sidewalk,

super pave HMA, pavement mark-

ings, and Rectangular Rapid Flashing 

Beacons (RRFB).

Obtaining the Bidding Documents

Information and Bidding Documents 

for the Project can be found at the 

following designated website: www.

questcdn.com

Bidding Documents may be down-

loaded from the designated website 

for $22.00 by inputting project # 

8928270 on the website’s Project 

Search page. Please contact Quest-

CDN.com at 952-233-1632 or info@

questcdn.com for assistance in free 

membership registration, download-

ing, and working with this digital 

project information. Prospective Bid-

ders are urged to register with the 

designated website as a plan hold-

er, even if Bidding Documents are 

obtained from a plan room or source 

other than the designated website in 

either electronic or paper format. The 

designated website will be updated 

periodically with addenda, lists of 

registered plan holders, reports, and 

other information relevant to submit-

ting a Bid for the Project. All official 

notifications, addenda, and other 

Bidding Documents will be offered 

only through the designated website. 

Neither Owner nor Engineer will be 

responsible for Bidding Documents, 

including addenda, if any, obtained 

from sources other than the designat-

ed website.

Pre-bid Conference

A pre-bid conference for the Project 

will be held on January 30, 2024 at 

10:00 AM at 105 S Main St, Cascade, 

Id. Attendance at the pre-bid confer-

ence is encouraged but not required.

Instructions to Bidders

Contact Trevor Howard (208-559-

2663, thoward@saiservices.com if you 

have any questions.

For all further requirements regard-

ing bid submittal, qualifications, pro-

cedures, and contract award, refer to 

the Instructions to Bidders that are 

included in the Bidding Documents.

Bids must be accompanied by Bid 

Security in the form of a bid bond, 

certified check, cashier’s check or 

cash in the amount of 5% of the 

amount of the bid proposal. Said bid 

security shall be forfeited to the City 

of Cascade, Idaho as liquidated dam-

ages should the successful bidder fail 

to enter into contract in accordance 

with their proposal as specified in the 

Instructions to Bidders.

The City of Cascade reserves the right 

to reject any or all proposals, waive 

any nonmaterial irregularities in the 

bids received, and to accept the pro-

posal deemed most advantageous 

to the best interest of The City of 

Cascade.

Published in The Star-News January 

18, 25, 2024.

1877140

other than the designated website in 

either electronic or paper format. The 

designated website will be updated 

periodically with addenda, lists of 

registered plan holders, reports, and 

other information relevant to submit-

ting a Bid for the Project. All official 

notifications, addenda, and other 

Bidding Documents will be offered 

only through the designated website. 

Neither Owner nor Engineer will be 

responsible for Bidding Documents, 

including addenda, if any, obtained 

from sources other than the designat-

ed website.

Pre-bid Conference

A pre-bid conference for the Project 

will be held on January 30, 2024 at 

10:00 AM at 105 S Main St, Cascade, 

Id. Attendance at the pre-bid confer-

ence is encouraged but not required.

Instructions to Bidders

Contact Trevor Howard (208-559-

2663, thoward@saiservices.com if you 

have any questions.

For all further requirements regard-

ing bid submittal, qualifications, pro-

cedures, and contract award, refer to 

the Instructions to Bidders that are 

included in the Bidding Documents.

Bids must be accompanied by Bid 

Security in the form of a bid bond, 

certified check, cashier’s check or 

cash in the amount of 5% of the 

amount of the bid proposal. Said bid 

security shall be forfeited to the City 

of Cascade, Idaho as liquidated dam-

ages should the successful bidder fail 

to enter into contract in accordance 

with their proposal as specified in the 

Instructions to Bidders.

The City of Cascade reserves the right 

to reject any or all proposals, waive 

any nonmaterial irregularities in the 

bids received, and to accept the pro-

posal deemed most advantageous 

to the best interest of The City of 

Cascade.

Published in The Star-News January 

18, 25, 2024.

1877110

PUBLIC NOTICE

www.rocksplanroom.com
www.horrocksplanroom.com
www.horrocks.com
www.mccall.id.us/packets
www.co.valley.id.us
https://idwr.idaho.gov/apps
www.questcdn.com
www.cdn.com
www.questcdn.com
www.questcdn.com
www.cdn.com
www.questcdn.com
www.questcdn.com
www.cdn.com
www.questcdn.com












 









Narrative in Support of Floodplain Development Application 1 
 

NARRATIVE IN SUPPORT OF  

SANDERS FLOODPLAIN DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION 

January 23, 2023 

 

1. Overview:  

The property which is the subject of this Application is Lot 19, Block 2 of the Rivers 
Crossing Subdivision (the “Property”). The Property is 5.29 acres, containing approximately 2.7 
acres of delineated wetlands. The vast majority of the Property lies within the area designated by 
FEMA as the “Special Flood Hazard Area” (a.k.a. the “1% AEP inundation extent”). The project 
for which this application is filed involves the placement of fill in less than .5 acres of the portion 
of the Property which is located within the Special Flood Hazard Area.   

The placement of the fill is a component of a “CLOMR” (Conditional Letter of Map 
Revision) Application which is pending with FEMA. These applications allow an owner to 
obtain a Floodplain map revision by raising the level of property to a level which removes it 
from the Special Flood Hazard Area. The CLOMR process is expressly recognized by the 
McCall City Code, at Section 9.8.042, A, 13.  

The placement of the fill requires a Floodplain Development Permit under MCC 9.8 .043, 
because it is within the definition of a “Development Activity” under MCC 9.8.02. No other 
permits are required under the McCall City Code for the proposed placement of fill.  

This Property was the subject of a variance application which was denied by the McCall 
City Council. That denial has not been appealed and further variances from the Shoreline and 
River Environs setback will not be sought by the Sanders. The placement of the minimal amount 
of fill for which the Floodplain Development Permit is sought will not allow the previously 
designed home to be built. It will modestly expand the buildable area on the Lot, without having 
any adverse environmental impacts, and allow for a re-designed home to comply with the 50 foot 
setback requirement of the Shoreline and River Environs Ordinance. It is believed that this is 
precisely the process which was followed on the lot immediately to the north of the Sanders 
Property.  

2. The Project:  

The activity for which the Permit is sought will be the placement of imported fill into .48 
acres of the Property, of which .15 acres is delineated Shrub/Scrub wetlands.  The area in which 
the fill will be placed is depicted in Exhibit 1 (the “Project Area”).  

The Property Owners hold a Permit from the Army Corps of Engineers (issued pursuant 
to Section 404 of the Clean Water Act) to place fill in the .15 acre area, thereby impacting only 
2.8% of the Lot and 5.5% of the delineated wetlands. The Permit is a “Nationwide Permit”, 
which permits authorize “only activities with no more than minimal individual and cumulative 
adverse environmental effects.” (See Army Corps of Engineers September 15, 2020 Proposal to 
Reissue and Modify Nationwide Permits).   



Narrative in Support of Floodplain Development Application 2 
 

The fill will raise the existing elevation of the Project Area to a minimum elevation 
matching the Base Flood Elevation (BFE) or higher. As the BFE within the Project Area varies, 
the proposed minimum fill elevation also varies as depicted in Exhibits 2 and 3. No fill will be 
placed within the designated Floodway. No fill will be placed in or will impact any existing 
watercourse. Erosion control methods will consist of installation of silt fencing around disturbed 
areas. The small amount of fill contemplated by this Application and the CLOMR Application 
will result in only a slight rise in the project area (<0.1-ft during the 100-yr flood event). The 
proposed inundation boundaries were computed in the hydraulic analysis documented in the 
CLOMR and compared to existing and found no significant difference in floodplain delineations 
within the project area or any upstream or downstream properties. The Application does not 
propose the placement or construction of any structures.  

3. The Floodplain Development Application Requirements (M.C.C. 9.8.043): 

 The following are the Application requirements of the Ordinance (MCC 9.8 .043(A)(1)): 

  (a)  A plot plan drawn to scale which shall include, but shall not be limited to, the 
following specific details of the proposed floodplain development: 

   (1)  The nature, location, dimensions, and elevations of the area of 
development/disturbance; existing and proposed structures, utility systems, grading/pavement 
areas, fill materials, storage areas, drainage facilities, and other development. 

    Compliance:  See Plot Plan attached hereto as Exhibit 1. There are 
no existing or proposed structures utility systems, or pavement contemplated by the Application. 

   (2)  The boundary of the special flood hazard area as delineated on the 
FIRM or other flood map as determined in section 9.8.032 of this chapter, or a statement that the 
entire lot is within the special flood hazard area. 

    Compliance: See attached Exhibit 1. 

   (3)  The flood zone(s) designation of the proposed development area as 
determined on the FIRM or other flood map as determined in section 9.8.032 of this chapter. 

    Compliance: The current flood zone designation for the Project 
Area is “1% AEP (100 yr) SFHA”” (see Exhibit 1). 

   (4)  The boundary of the floodway(s) as determined in section 9.8.032 of 
this chapter, 

    Compliance: See Exhibit 1. The Project Area is not within or 
proximate to the Payette River Floodway. 

   (5)  The base flood elevation (BFE) where provided as set forth in section 
9.8.032, 9.8.033, or 9.8.053 of this chapter. 

    Compliance: See Exhibit 1. 

   (6)  The old and new location of any watercourse that will be altered or 
relocated as a result of proposed development. 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/mccallid/latest/mccall_id/0-0-0-7048#JD_9.8.032


Narrative in Support of Floodplain Development Application 3 
 

    Compliance: The proposed activity will not alter, relocate or 
impact any existing watercourse. 

  (b)  Proposed elevation, and method thereof, of all development within a special 
flood hazard area including but not limited to: 

   (1)  Elevation in relation to mean sea level of the proposed lowest floor 
(including basement) of all structures. 

    Compliance: NA. No structures are proposed as part of this 
Application. 

   (2)  Elevation in relation to mean sea level to which any non- residential 
structure in Zone A, AE, AH, AO, or A1-30 will be floodproofed. 

    Compliance: NA. No structures are proposed as part of this 
Application. 

   (3)  Elevation in relation to mean sea level to which any proposed utility 
equipment and machinery will be elevated or floodproofed. 

    Compliance:  NA. No such equipment is proposed as part of this 
Application. 

  (c)  If floodproofing, a Floodproofing Certificate (FEMA Form 086-0-33) with 
supporting data, an operational plan, and an inspection and maintenance plan that include, but 
are not limited to, installation, exercise, and maintenance of floodproofing measures will be 
required prior to Certificate of Occupancy/Completion. 

    Compliance:  NA 

  (d)  Foundation Plan, drawn to scale, which shall include details of the proposed 
foundation system to ensure all provisions of this chapter are met. 

    Compliance: NA 

 

4.  General Standards, to the extent applicable to the proposed activity (MCC 9.8.051(A)): 

 15.   All subdivision proposals and other development proposals shall have received all 
necessary permits from those governmental agencies for which approval is required by Federal 
or State law, including section 404 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act Amendments of 
1972, 33 USC 1334. 

  Compliance:  The Applicants hold a Permit from the Army Corps of Engineers 
for the proposed activity. 

 

5.  Specific Standards (MCC 9.8.052):   There are no Specific Standards applicable to this 
Application. 

  



XS - 100184 BM

XS - 99982

BFE = 4928.2 FEET

XS - 101345

XS - 101650

BFE = 4930.4 FEET

BFE = 4929.7 FEET
XS - 100560 BN

XS - 100870 BO

Zone - AE

Zone - X

Source: Esri, Maxar, GeoEye, Earthstar Geographics, CNES/Airbus DS, USDA, USGS, AeroGRID, IGN,
and the GIS User Community

RIVERS CROSSING (LOT 19)

D
at

e 
Pr

in
te

d:
 1

2/
5/

20
22

PLOT PLANµ
 Symbol Legend 

FEMA XS
Approved ACOE Wetlands
Fill in Wetland
Fill within 1% AEP
Parcel Boundary

Effective
1% AEP (100-yr) SFHA
FLOODWAY

Information as displayed on map is for Planning Purposes only. The
data is approximate in terms of content and location and has been
sourced from local, state, and national government agencies.  Please 
contact Forsgren Associates Inc. with questions. 801.364.4785

25 0 25 50 75 100
Feet

CITY OF MCCALL, 
VALLEY COUNTY, ID

0 20 60
1201008040

160140
PROFILE LINE

Coordinate System: NAD 1983 2011 StatePlane Idaho West FIPS 1103 Ft US
Projection: Transverse Mercator
Datum: NAD 1983 2011
False Easting: 2,624,666.6667
False Northing: 0.0000
Central Meridian: -115.7500
Scale Factor: 0.9999
Latitude Of Origin: 41.6667
Units: Foot US

Wetlands

Wetland
Boundary

Wetland
Boundary

Wetland
BoundaryWetland

Boundary

Proposed Fill in SFHA Area

0.15 Acres

0.33 Acres

0.48 Acres

Portion of fill in wetland

Portion of fill outside of wetland

Total fill in SFHA

BFE = 4930.25-ft

BFE = 4928.63-ft

BFE =
4929.7Fill placed at or above BFE

EXHIBIT 1

Steve
Inserted Text

Steve
Inserted Text



1

BFE = 4929.7

Fill placed at or above BFE

Base Flood Elevation (BFE)

EXHIBIT 2



 

Dwain and Cindy Sanders 
C/O Steven J. Millemann 
P.O. Box 1066 
McCall, ID 83638 
 
Re: FPDP-23-01 – Floodplain Development Permit Application for River’s Crossing Lot 19 Block 2 dated 
January 23, 2023 
 
Dear Mr. and Mrs. Sanders: 
 
Determination of Floodplain Administrator pursuant to McCall City Code: Application Denied 
 
 Basis for Determination, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law: 
 
I. Applicable Code: 

1. Floodplain Development Permit Applications are reviewed by the Floodplain Administrator. MCC 
9.8.042. 

2. The City Planner is designated as the Floodplain Administrator. 9.8.041. 
3. According to MCC 9.8.034, no land within the Floodplain can be altered or developed “in any 

way without full compliance with the terms of this chapter and other applicable regulations.” 
4. Title 9 Chapter 8 is not intended in any way to “repeal, abrogate, impair, or remove the 

necessity of compliance with any other laws, ordinances, regulations, easements, covenants, or 
deed restrictions, etcetera. However, where this chapter and another conflict or overlap, 
whichever imposes more stringent or greater restrictions shall control.” MCC 9.8.035 

5. No land may be altered within the floodplain without being in compliance “in full compliance 
with the terms of this chapter and other applicable regulations.” MCC 9.8.038. 

6. MCC 3.2.02 provides the following definitions: 
a. Development: Any construction or activity that changes the existing character or use of land 

upon which such construction or activity occurs. 
b. Excavation: See chapter 70 of the international building code. 
i. “Excavation is the mechanical removal of earth material.” - 2018 IBC 7003 

c. Record Grade: The natural grade existing prior to any site preparation grading, or filling, 
unless a new record grade is approved at the time of subdivision approval and noted on the 
filed final plat. 

d. Wetlands: Lands which are dedicated and protected in accordance with Federal laws and 
are not to be included in the calculation of land to meet the requirements for parks. 

7. MCC 3.7.023(B): Permit Criteria: No conditional use or building permit shall be issued, nor is any 
development, grading, or alteration of any land within this zone permitted, unless the applicant 
establishes to the satisfaction of the commission and council in the case of a conditional use, or 
of the administrator in the case of a building permit, that: 
1. The proposed development meets all applicable requirements of this title and title IX of this 

code. 



 

2 
 

2. The plans accurately identify the water pool shore contours and high water marks, which, in 
the case of river environs, shall mean the limits of the area of special flood hazard. 

3. A letter is on file from a specialist certified by the United States army corps of engineers 
wetlands expert that certifies that no wetlands related issues or issues related to fill of 
navigable waters issues were presented by the proposed development; or that a section 404 
permit has been issued or is forthcoming by the corps of engineers, whichever is 
appropriate, city approval(s) under this title and title IX of this code are contingent upon all 
applicable section 404 permit requirements being met; if a permit requirement is not met, 
the city may revoke its approval(s) under this title and title IX of this code. 

4. The requirements of the underlying zone are met. 
5. The fifty foot (50') building setback line is met per subsection (C)3(c) of this section. 
6. Proof of stormwater certification training has been provided by the individual applying for 

the building permit. 
8. According to MCC 3.7.023 (C) Prohibitions: No construction, alteration or activity shall cause 

harm to: 
a. Water quality. 
b. Fish and aquatic habitats. 
c. Wetlands. 
d. Significant wildlife habitat harboring any threatened or endangered species. 
e. Views of, from, or across a lake or river. 
f. To this end, all applications for building permits within this overlay zone, no matter what 

the permit may be for, shall be accompanied by a plan for the installation of appropriate 
natural, storm, and melt water drainage and treatment facilities. Such plans for natural, 
storm and melt water drainage of the property and on and through the property, shall 
be consistent with best management practices under state and federal storm and melt 
water regulatory programs to which the city is subject and consistent with other city 
programs in these regards to the satisfaction of the city. 

2. Harm Defined: "Harm" for these purposes means: 
a. The creation of conditions which foster runoff of, or other source of fertilizers, toxic 

substances, or other pollutants or contaminants, into the water; 
b. The excessive clearing of natural vegetation or change of natural landforms within the 

area between the water pool shore contour or high water mark and the fifty foot (50') 
building setback line; 

c. The removal, burial, or destruction in whole or part of boulders, sandy beaches, rocky 
shores, or other features of the water pool shore contour or high water mark, the land 
below the same, or the immediate upland edge; 

d. The filling or dredging of lake bottom or wetlands; 
e. The erection of visual barriers between the lake or river and the roads on the uplands, 

beyond the extent reasonably necessary for an owner's usage of the land for a permitted 
use; or 

f. The creation of any other condition which would be inconsistent with best management 
practices under, or threaten a violation of, state and federal storm and melt water 
regulatory programs to which the city is subject, or fail otherwise to be consistent with 
other city programs in these regards, all as established to the satisfaction of the city. 

9. Pursuant to MCC 3.8.02(G): Building Permit Required: Until a valid building permit has been 
issued by the city of McCall, no construction work, including grading, blasting, filling, trenching, 
tree removal, etc., may be started, except as permitted in section 3.8.03 of this chapter. 

10. Pursuant to MCC 3.8.23(B): Structures shall be located in a manner that preserves significant 
vegetation as set forth in section 3.8.13, as well as water courses, wildlife corridors, wetlands, 
and significant natural features. Projects should be designed so they complement rather than 



 

3 
 

dominate the natural landscape. To meet this performance standard all structures should be 
located: 
1. In one of three (3) locations: (a) within tree masses; (b) at the edge of tree or land masses 

overlooking open space; or (c) in such a way as to preserve the predominate natural 
features of the site; and 

2. At least fifteen feet (15') from any wetland, stream or watercourse. 
11. Pursuant to MCC 3.8.23(D) Site grading shall follow the natural terrain of the land and be the 

minimum necessary for development of the site as determined by the Administrator and Public 
Works Director. 

 
II. Discussion: 
A. The provisions of McCall City Code Title 3 are applicable to Floodplain Development Permits. 

 
A condition for the approval of any Floodplain Development Permit (FDP) is that all proposed 
Development must meet all applicable Laws, Ordinances, Regulations and Standards. The provisions 
of Title 9 authorizing FDP’s specifically subordinates and subjugates such permits to other applicable 
standards within the McCall City Code. In that way, a FDP is not a means by which an applicant may 
avoid the development standards and requirements provided in Title 3 of the McCall City Code.  
 

B. There are three basis found in Title 3 for the denial of the Sanders FDP: 
 

1. No building permit has been issued. 
 

MCC 9.8.042(A)(2) requires that all necessary local, State, and Federal permits have been 
received. As MCC3.8.02(G) requires a building permit prior to grading or filling. No building 
permit has been issued for this project and therefore, not all necessary local permits have been 
received. 

 
2. The proposed Development will cause unpermitted harm.  

 
MCC 3.7.023 prohibits development which will cause harm to: 
         a.   Water quality. 
         b.   Fish and aquatic habitats. 
         c.   Wetlands. 
         d.   Significant wildlife habitat harboring any threatened or endangered species. 
 
The application materials provided to date do not provide adequate evidence that the risk of 
harm has been minimized. 

 
a. The proposed FDP may result in impermissible runoff 

 
Modifications to the floodplain area for residential development may result in impermissible 
runoff from the use of fertilizers on lawn areas, excessive silt creation and hazardous 
materials being introduced to the Payette River during construction. As no building permit 
application, construction plan, or stormwater management plan has been submitted to 
date, inadequate evidence exists to determine that the proposed floodplain modification 
will not result in the creation of impermissible runoff. 

 



 

4 
 

b. The Proposed FDP will result in excessive clearing of natural vegetation or change of 
natural landforms within the area between the water pool shore contour or high water 
mark and the fifty foot (50') building setback line 

 
The proposed floodplain development permit will cause excessive clearing of natural 
vegetation and likewise represents an excessive change to natural land forms within the 
area between the river shore and the high water mark. The proposed development is 
excessive because the property in question includes an area that is large enough to support 
development without requiring excess and additional modification to the floodplain 
environment. Thus, the proposed Development on the site is in excess of what is required to 
develop the site in a way that is otherwise consistent with regulations under McCall City 
Code. 

 
c. The proposed floodplain development permit will result in the removal, burial, or 

destruction in whole or part of boulders, sandy beaches, rocky shores, or other features of 
the water pool shore contour or high water mark, the land below the same, or the 
immediate upland edge. 

 
The proposed floodplain development permit will result in the removal burial and 
destruction of features of the high-water mark (defined by MCC 3.7.023(B)(2) to be the area 
of special flood hazard along river environs), the land below the same and the immediate 
upland edge. The proposed floodplain development permit clearly proposes destruction of 
the existing high water mark land contour, filling and burial of areas below the high-water 
mark, and extension of the upland edge to a location not previously found on site.  

 
d. The Proposed floodplain development permit will result in the filling or dredging of lake 

bottom or wetlands 
 

The proposed floodplain development permit specifically and unequivocally prescribes and 
includes the filling of wetlands. Exhibit 1 of the floodplain development permit application 
clearly identifies Army Corps of Engineers delineated wetlands proposed to be filled. 

 
 

3. The proposed site grading is in excess of the “minimum necessary for development of the site 
as determined by the Administrator and Public Works.  

 
As no building permit application or Shoreline and River Environs Design Review application has 
been submitted to date, any site grading is in excess of the minimum necessary for development 
of the site. 

 
III. Conclusion. 
 

Based upon the foregoing, it is my determination that the Sanders application for FDP is denied 
because it proposes site work and grading not permissible under the above referenced sections of 
McCall City Code. 

 
IV. Availability of Appeal of this Determination 
 

Pursuant to MCC 9.9.07, this determination may be appealed according to the provision of Title III, 
Chapter 15 of the McCall City Code as follows: 



 

5 
 

 
3.15.09: ADMINISTRATIVE APPEALS: 
   (A)   A person aggrieved by a decision by the administrator under this title may appeal such 
decision to the commission.  
   (B)   Appeals shall be filed within ten (10) days after mailing of notice of decision by the 
administrator. 
   (C)   Appeals shall be conducted as a public hearing before the commission in the manner set forth 
in subsections 3.15.04 and 3.15.08 of this chapter. (Ord. 821, 2-23-2006, eff. 3-16-2006; amd. Ord. 
998, 1-14-2021) 
 
3.15.08: APPEAL OR REQUEST FOR HEARING BY AGGRIEVED PERSONS: 
   (A)   Right To Appeal: An aggrieved person may appeal the commission decision, or request a 
hearing on the commission recommendation, by filing a notice of appeal or request for hearing in 
writing with the city clerk no later than ten (10) days after the issuance of the findings and 
conclusions of the commission. When such notice of appeal or request is received, proceedings 
before the council shall be on the record made below. A notice of appeal shall set out with 
particularity the decision or part thereof from which the appeal is being taken, and whether or not 
facts found by the commission are disputed by appellant. 
   (B)   Time Limits For Actions: The council shall hold a public hearing on the appeal and the 
application appealed within forty five (45) days of the request and shall follow the hearing 
procedures established in section 3.15.04 of this chapter. When there is no required hearing, the 
council shall put the matter down on its agenda upon a date certain for the consideration of written 
and oral arguments; notice of such hearing shall be provided to appellant no later than fifteen (15) 
days before the hearing; should appellant desire to file written arguments, appellant shall do so no 
later than five (5) days prior to the hearing. 
   (C)   Stay Of Proceedings: An appeal or request for hearing stays all proceedings in furtherance of 
the action appealed from unless, after the notice of appeal or request for hearing is filed, the council 
finds that by reason of the facts stated in the application, a stay would cause imminent peril to 
health, safety or property. 
   (D)   Council Action: After the hearing has been held, the council may: 
      1.   Grant or deny the appeal or the permit; or 
      2.   Delay such decision for no longer than sixty (60) days after the hearing date for further study 
or hearing; provided, however, that the council must render a decision no later than sixty (60) days 
from the date of the hearing. (Ord. 821, 2-23-2006, eff. 3-16-2006) 
 
3.15.10: JUDICIAL REVIEW: 
A person aggrieved by a decision under this title may, after all remedies have been exhausted under 
local ordinances, seek judicial review under the procedures provided by sections 67-5215(b) through 
(g) and section 67-5216, Idaho Code. (Ord. 821, 2-23-2006, eff. 3-16-2006) 
 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/mccallid/latest/mccall_id/0-0-0-2750#JD_3.15.04
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/mccallid/latest/mccall_id/0-0-0-2786#JD_3.15.08
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/mccallid/latest/mccall_id/0-0-0-2750#JD_3.15.04


 
 Page 1 

 
Mailing Address:  P.O. Box 1066, McCall, ID  83638 

Physical Address:  706 North First St., McCall, ID  83638 
  
STEVEN J. MILLEMANN (sjm@mpmplaw.com)  TELEPHONE (208) 634-7641 
AMY N. PEMBERTON (amy@mpmplaw.com)  FACSIMILE (208) 634-4516 
AMY K. HOLM (aholm@mpmplaw.com)  
 

NOTICE OF APPEAL 
 

April 10, 2023 
 
City of McCall 
Brian Parker 
Planning & Zoning Commission 
216 East Park Street 
McCall, Idaho 83638 
 
Re: Appeal of FPDP-23-01 Floodplain Development Permit Application for River’s Crossing 
Lot 19 Block 2, Application filed January 23, 2023, Administrative Denial emailed March 31, 
2023 
 
Dear Mr. Brian Parker and Planning & Zoning Commission: 

 On behalf of our clients Dwain and Cindy Sanders, this letter shall serve as an appeal of 
the Determination of the Floodplain Administrator’s denial of the Floodplain Development 
Permit Application for River’s Crossing Lot 19 Block 2, which is referred to herein as 
“Administrative Denial.”  Pursuant to McCall City Code, this appeal is filed 10 days after the 
mailing of the Administrative Denial.  The Sanders request that a public hearing be set before the 
McCall Planning and Zoning Commission for this to be heard on June 6, 2023, or thereafter, 
based on the availability of the Sanders’ counsel.  The Sanders respectfully request that the 
McCall Planning and Zoning Commission enter findings and conclusions granting the Sanders’ 
Floodplain Development Permit Application and which findings and conclusions reverse the 
Administrative Denial.    

I. Identification of the Sanders’ Property and background 
Dwain and Cindy Sanders own a vacant lot, Lot 19 in Rivers Crossing Subdivision, 

which is approximately 5.3 acres (referred to as “Property”).  The Property abuts the Payette 
River.  At the time the Sanders submitted the Floodplain Development Permit Application, they 
held a 404 Permit issued by the Army Corps of Engineers under the Clean Water Act to fill .15 
acres of wetlands located within the Shoreline and River Environs Zone.  That permit will be 
extended by the Army Corps of Engineers and the record will reflect such as this appeal is 
decided.     

mailto:sjm@mpmplaw.com
mailto:amy@mpmplaw.com
mailto:aholm@mpmplaw.com


 
 Page 2 

The January 23, 2023, Floodplain Development Permit Application is based on the 
request to fill a total of .48 acres of a portion of the Property including the .15 acres in wetland in 
the Special Flood Hazard Area (“SFHA”) and .33 acres outside of the wetland.  The use of the 
fill is part of the “CLOMR” (Condition Letter of Map Revision) Application that the Sanders 
have applied for with FEMA.  Simply, by raising the level of the Property, the Property can be 
removed from the Special Flood Hazard Area.  This process is allowed under McCall City Code.  

The Sanders applied for a Floodplain Development Permit, which under MCC 9.8.033, 
“shall be required in conformance with the provisions of this chapter prior to the commence of 
any development activities within the special flood hazard areas.” 

The Sanders, or any future owner in interest, would still be required to comply with 
McCall City building standards, setbacks, and ultimately any placement or construction of a 
home on this Property.  If the Sanders are allowed to proceed with the fill process, any potential 
home in the future, must comply with a 50 feet Shoreline and River Environs setback and would 
be located approximately 400 feet from the Little Payette River.        

II. Legal Issues on Appeal and response to Administrator’s basis for denial 
The Sanders respectfully disagree with the City Administrator’s denial of the Sanders’ 

Application and the evidence on appeal will show that the site work and grading necessary for 
the fill process are permitted under McCall City Code.   

The Sanders are NOT proposing to install fill within the “floodway”, but they are 
proposing to install fill within a small portion of the special flood hazard area.  MCC 3.7.022  
provides that all those uses permitted in the underlying zone shall be permitted provided they 
satisfy the special conditions set forth in this chapter, except that (B) “No building and no land 
filling shall be permitted within a floodway and no building within an area of special flood 
hazard as such terms are defined in title IX, chapter 8, “Flood Control Regulations (Overlay)”, of 
this code, unless the applicant complies with the standards set forth in that chapter.” 

As defined in MCC 9.8.02: 
FLOODWAY: The channel of a river or other watercourse and the adjacent land 
areas that must be reserved in order to discharge the base flood without 
cumulatively increasing the water surface elevation more than a designated 
height. 
. . . .  
SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREA (SFHA): The land in the floodplain within a 
community subject to a one percent (1%) or greater chance of flooding in any 
given year. For purposes of these regulations, the term “special flood hazard area” 
is synonymous in meaning with the phrase “area of special flood hazard”. 
The Sanders’ Application is subject to the considerations of Title IX, Chapter 8 

only, and is not subject to the provisions of the Shoreline & River Environs Ordinance 
under MCC 3.2.020 as set forth in the record on appeal.  However, even if the Shoreline 
& River Environs Ordinance does apply, the Sanders can meet the standards of 
development for this fill project.   

1. No building permit is required for fill, but in an abundance of caution, the 
Sanders will simultaneously apply for a building permit. 

Currently, the Sanders are not requesting a permit to “build” a home or any kind of 
structure; instead, they seek approval to fill a portion of the Property with soil to raise the 



 
 Page 3 

elevation of such Property.  The applicable sections of McCall City Code regarding development 
in the Shoreline & River Environs Ordinance can be found in MCC 3.2.020.     

The Code section 3.2.023 when read in whole requires Shoreline & River Environs 
design review for single family residences/structures.  MCC 3.7.023(A).  It requires a CUP in 
certain circumstances.  It requires a building permit to build.  It does not clearly require a 
building permit to place fill.  Therefore, the Floodplain Development Application is the 
appropriate and necessary process for the City’s review of this matter.     

The purpose of the Shoreline & River Environs Ordinance is “to regulate development 
along and alterations of the shoreline of Payette Lake and the banks and immediate vicinity of 
the Payette River.”  According to MCC 2-1-040 a building permit is required for any 
“construction, improvement, extension, alteration or demolition of any building, residence or 
structure.”  MCC 3.8.02(G) states that “Until a valid building permit has been issued by the City 
of McCall, no construction work, including grading, blasting, filling, trenching, tree removal, etc. 
may be started, except as permitted in section 3.8.03 [timber harvest] of this chapter.”   

It is the Sanders position that both code sections can be given their plain meaning and 
when read together require a building permit for construction of a building, residence or structure 
and that when such building permit is required no other ancillary work (e.g. grading, blasting, 
trenching) can start until such building permit is issued.  But a request such as this to fill the 
property requires no such building permit – because no structure is being built.    

This is not an issue which is resolved by MCC 3.1.05(B), which provides that “In case of 
a conflict between the provisions of various sections of this title, the more restrictive provisions 
shall prevail. (Ord. 821, 2-23-2006, eff. 3-16-2006)”. The conflict here is not just within Title III, 
it also involves Title IX, Chapter 8 (Flood Control Regulations Overlay), which prohibits filling 
in the “Floodway”, but clearly allows for the placement of fill within the SFHA pursuant to a 
validly issued 404 Permit (see, for example, MCC 9.8.051(A)(15)). 

It is, thus, important to recognize that the reliance solely on MCC 3.7.023(C)(1) to 
resolve this issue would negate: (i) the aforesaid provisions of Title IX, Chapter 8; (ii) the 
provisions of MCC 3.7.023(B)(3), which allows for the issuance of building permits and 
conditional use permits impacting wetlands within the Shoreline Environs Zone provided that a 
404 Permit has been issued; and (iii) MCC 3.7.022(B), which allows for both buildings and fill 
within the Shoreline Environs Zone.  

The most logical way to reconcile the applicable code sections as they apply to this 
situation is that a building permit is required for fill if it is part of an application for a structure.  
The Sanders are required to apply for a Floodplain Development Permit to fill a portion of the 
Property, which is exactly what they have done.  And then, they would be required to apply for a 
building permit when a home is built. 

Whether a building permit is required becomes moot upon the Sanders application for a 
building permit to install the fill.  However, the Sanders do not waive their right to argue that no 
building is required.   

2. There will be no harm, and the Administrator provides no basis for the 
assertion that unpermitted harm would occur if the permit were granted. 

The Sanders do not waive their argument that Shoreline & River Environs Ordinance 
does not apply, but they address the Administrative Denial on each point. MCC 3.7.023(C)(1) 
prohibits “harm” to the stated water, etc.  However, (C)(1)(f) essentially requires that all 
“applications for building permits” address the “harm” issues. And, MCC 3.7.023(C)(2 ), on 



 
 Page 4 

which the City heavily relies, provides a definition of “harm”, is for purposes of the prior 
section, rather than a standalone independent ordinance. Supporting this interpretation is MCC 
3.7.023 (C)3a(3) (which requires an applicant for a building permit for a single family residence 
or accessory structure to demonstrate the absence of “harm”, “as defined above”; and under 
(3)(b) such application is evaluated under the standards of (C)(1) and (C)(2). 

The Administrative Denial of the Sanders’ Application alleges harm would occur if the 
Sanders were allowed placement of fill; however, that position is not supported by any City 
report or actual factual findings.  The Administrative Denial summarily states that harm will 
occur to water quality, fish and aquatic habitats, wetlands, and wildlife habitat harboring any 
threatened or endangered species.  To the contrary, the Sanders care deeply about preserving the 
Little Payette River, water quality, habitats, and wetlands.  The project, as proposed, would 
involve the placement of fill into .48 acres of the Property, which includes only .15 acres of 
shrub/scrub wetlands.   

Importantly, all parties involved desire to prevent harm to the Little Payette River and 
any building of a structure will require approval, which will allow for all of the stated concerns 
(water quality, habitat, wetlands) to be addressed.  So, the narrow issue for this Application is 
whether fill will cause harm, if those standards are even applicable.   

The evidence on appeal will establish that no such harm will occur if the Floodplain 
Development Application were granted.   

a. Any runoff can be safely mitigated. 
The Administrative Denial asserts that impermissible runoff will occur and sites that 

residential development may result in impermissible runoff from the use of fertilizers on lawn 
areas, excessive silt created, and hazardous materials introduced into the Payette River during 
construction.  The current Application to fill a small portion of the Property would clearly cause 
no pollution into the River, excessive silt, or any hazardous materials.  Any of those concerns 
could be mitigated by the City upon application to actually build a structure, landscape, etc.     

The Applicant will submit a stormwater management plan showing how runoff will be 
controlled both during and after placement of the fill to mitigate any concerns about runoff.   

b. Natural vegetation can be preserved. 
The Sanders received approval from the McCall City Arborist that clearing of “nuisance” 

shrubby and dead Aspen trees will benefit the remaining vegetation and foliage.  However, the 
Administrative Denial summarily claims that the proposed installation of fill will cause excessive 
clearing of natural vegetation and represents an excessive change to natural landforms within the 
area between the river shore and the high water mark.  The denial goes on to claim that the 
proposed development is excessive because there is an area “large enough” to support 
development without requiring excess and additional modification to the floodplain environment. 
The Administrative Denial, as written, does not rely on any engineering evidence.   

c. The high water mark will be maintained. 
The definition of “high water mark” pursuant to MCC 3.7.023(B)(2) as applied to this lot, 

is arbitrary, because it has no proximity to or impact on the Little Payette River.  That code 
section provides “The plans accurately identify the water pool shore contours and high water 
marks, which, in the case of river environs, shall mean the limits of the area of special flood 
hazard.” 

The very purpose of the Shoreline & River Environs Ordinance is to regulate 



 
 Page 5 

development of the banks and immediate vicinity of the Payette River.  The banks and 
immediate vicinity of the Payette River are not being developed with this fill application.  

d. The majority of the wetlands will stay intact. 
Even if the Shoreline & River Environs Ordinance is applicable, it does not prohibit fill 

in the wetland pursuant to valid 404 Permit which permitting process establishes a process for 
the wetland to stay intact. The Army Corps of Engineers has expressly allowed the fill in the .15 
acres of wetlands.  

3. The proposed site grading will comply with MCC and the minimum 
necessary for development of the Site. 

The Administrative Denial states “as no building permit application or Shoreline and 
River Environs Design Review application as been submitted to date, any site grading is in 
excess of the minimum necessary for development of the sites.”  As stated herein, no building 
permit or design review is required because the Sanders are not currently proposing to construct 
any building, residence, or structure.   

III. Conclusion 
The Sanders ask that this matter be set for a public hearing on June 6, 2023 or thereafter, 

as their attorneys Steve Millemann and Amy Holm are unavailable on May 2, 2023.  The 
Sanders believe that the record on appeal has and will establish that their Floodplain 
Development Permit should be granted, and they request that the Administrative Denial be 
reversed.    
 
      Sincerely, 
 
      Steven J. Millemann 
      Amy K. Holm 
      On Behalf of Dwain and Cindy Sanders 
  

 
 



 

1 
 

 
 

DATE:  July 17, 2023 

TO:  James Fronk, James Fronk Consulting, LLC 

FROM:  Patrick Wickman, Forsgren Associates, Inc. 

SUBJECT: River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2 – Measures to Minimize Environmental Harm 

 

1.0 PURPOSE 
 The owner of River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2 in the City of McCall, Idaho proposes to develop its parcel 
and construct a new residence (RPM05380020190) (Lot 19). Forsgren Associates, Inc. (Forsgren) was 
contracted by James Fronk Consulting, LLC (Client) to assess the proposed development’s potential to 
cause harm to the environmental resources identified in the City of McCall’s denial of a Floodplain 
Development Permit Application.  
 
McCall City Code (MCC) Section 3.7.023 prohibits development which will cause harm to:  

(a) water quality;  
(b) Fish and aquatic habitats;  
(c) wetlands; and  
(d) significant wildlife habitat harboring any threatened or endangered species.  

 
Also of concern is the potential of site development under the Floodplain Development Permit (FDP) to 
result in impermissible runoff.  
 

2.0 LOCATION  
Lot 19 is located within the River’s Crossing Subdivision at 221 Morgan Drive. The lot is bounded by the 
North Fork (NF) Payette River to its east. It is located on the inside of a meander of the NF Payette River. 
There are residential developments to the north, south, and west.  The McCall RV Resort is located across 
the river and directly north of the parcel. Riverfront Park is located east of the river. Lot 19 is 5.29 acres. 
See Figure 1.  
 

3.0 BACKGROUND RESEARCH  
 
Threatened or Endangered Species. An Information for Planning and Consultation (IPaC) Report was 
requested from the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and an email request was made to the Idaho Department 
of Fish and Game (IDFG) for a review of their Species of Greatest Conservation Need (SGCN) (Attachment 
1). These requests were made to determine potential species and habitat concerns for Lot 19.  
 
The IPaC identified three (3) threatened, endangered, or candidate species (Table 1) that may be present 
in the project area. The IPaC also states that there are no critical habitats within the project area. 
 
Fourteen (14) Birds of Conservation Concern (BCC) were identified in the IPaC (Attachment 3- Table 3). 
IDFG replied that while the agency does not conduct specific wildlife surveys on private property, they 



River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 
 

2 
 

provided records of nine (9) SGCN within 0.5 miles of Lot 19 (Attachment 3 – Table 4). Species listed within 
its database in the project vicinity are Tier 2 and Tier 3 SGCN.  No Tier 1 species (the highest priority 
species) were identified.  
 
Wetlands. Wetlands on the 5.29 acre parcel were delineated in 2020. The delineation identified a number 
of different wetland types totaling 2.7 acres. These included emergent wetlands (i.e., grasses and herbs), 
scrub-shrub wetlands (i.e., woody vegetation <6’ high), and forested wetlands (i.e., trees >6’ high). The 
highest value wetlands are the forested wetlands (aspens), which are located outside the area proposed 
for development. Proposed impacts are 0.15 acres and would affect a scrub-shrub wetland located away 
from the river (Attachment 4). 
 
Water Quality. To assess water quality, the Idaho Department of Environmental Quality’s (IDEQ) Final 
2022 §305(b) Integrated Report for the reach of the North Fork Payette River from Payette Lake to 
Cascade Reservoir was accessed. This reach is contiguous to the subject property, but still approximately 
220 feet from the proposed development.  
 
This section of the river is fully supporting Primary Contact Recreation (i.e., swimming humans) and not 
supporting Cold Water Aquatic Life or Salmonid Spawning (Attachment 1). This classifies this reach as a 
Category 5 Water (i.e., a water that does not meet applicable water quality standards for one or more 
beneficial use). Therefore, under Idaho’s Antidegradation Policy, the project must maintain and protect 
existing uses and water quality conditions.  
 
Fish and Aquatic Habitat. The North Fork Payette River provides habitat for fish and other aquatic wildlife. 
During consultation with IDFG, the agency identified one Species of Greatest Conservation Need, the 
Western Pearlshell, an invertebrate (mussel).  
 
As mentioned previously, the river is approximately 220 feet from the limits of proposed development.  
As such, the only potential for harm to the river would be attributed to runoff associated with site 
development.  
 

4.0 FIELD RECONNAISSANCE  
Field reconnaissance was performed on June 9, 2023, by Erica Koppes and Anna Weins from Forsgren. 
They were met on site by James Fronk (James Fronk Consulting) and Amy Holm (Owner’s legal counsel) 
who oriented them to the site and areas of proposed development.  The proposed development will 
include a new home and garage with various walkways and driveways built nearest Morgan Drive, 
primarily in scarcely vegetated uplands.  
 
The entire property was surveyed by foot starting at the site entrance at Morgan Drive. A thorough 
investigation was performed within the parcel boundary focused on the area of proposed development. 
The development will impact an upland area immediately east of Morgan Drive and two wetland areas. 
The wetland types to be impacted are scrub-shrub wetlands and emergent wetlands. Photos and a photo 
key from the reconnaissance are included in Attachment 2.  
 



River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 
 

3 
 

 
Figure 1. Vicinity map of River’s Crossing Subdivision Lot 19, Block 2 (Parcel RPM05380020190) 

 
The portion of the property nearest Morgan Drive is vegetated with upland grasses, scattered shrubs, and 
various flowering plants. The portion of the property further away from Morgan Drive is where wetlands 
are concentrated. This area is more densely vegetated with various flowering plants and includes clusters 
of large aspens and lodgepole pines.  
 
No bird nests were observed at the time of the site visit. Three bird species were identified at the time of 
the site visit: American Goldfinch, Red Winged Blackbird, and Common Swallow. All birds were observed 
in the eastern most wetlands adjacent to the river, outside of the influence of the proposed development. 
None of the species found in Tables 1, 3, or 4 were observed during the field visit. Most wetland areas 
were saturated with approximately 2-3 inches of standing water. A list of plants observed is included in 
Attachment 3. 
 

5.0 DISCUSSION 
 
Threatened or Endangered Species. Canada Lynx (Lynx canadensis) is a mammal species that has a 
“threatened” ESA status. The Canada Lynx habitat includes boreal spruce-fir forest ecosystems known as 
the taiga. This species prefers areas of horizontal forest cover with large populations of snowshoe hares 
(USFWS ECOS, 2023). Due to the developed nature of the site, proximity to humans, and limited access 
to prey, this species would not be found on the site and the proposed project have no effect on the 
species. 

NF Payette River 



River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 
 

4 
 

North American Wolverine (Gulo gulo luscus) is a mammal that has a “proposed threatened” ESA status. 
The North American Wolverine habitat includes a variety of biomes including Arctic tundra, subarctic-
alpine tundra, boreal forest, mixed forest, redwood forest, and coniferous forest. Their habitat is 
largely attributed to the availability of food. The North American Wolverine primarily scavenges 
carrion but can supplement their diet with small animals, birds, and fruit or berries (USFWS ECOS, 
2023). Due to the developed nature of the site, and proximity to humans, and limited food sources, this 
species would not be found on the site and the proposed project to have no effect on the species. 
 
Monarch Butterfly (Danaus plexippus) is an insect that has a “candidate” ESA status. The adult Monarch 
Butterfly habitat includes prairies, meadows, and grasslands populated with flowering plants. As Monarch 
Caterpillars only eat milkweed plants, the Monarch Butterfly relies on milkweed to lay their eggs (USFWS 
ECOS, 2023). No milkweed was observed on the project site. Many flowering plants within the property 
will remain undisturbed, providing habitat for adult Monarch Butterflies. Therefore, the proposed project 
may affect Monarch Butterfly, but is not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of this candidate 
species. 

Table 1. USFWS IPaC Endangered Species Act Listed Species 

Scientific Name Common Name ESA Listing Status Category 
Lynx canadensis Canada Lynx Threatened Mammal 

Gulo gulo luscus North American Wolverine Proposed Threatened Mammal 

Danaus plexippus Monarch Butterfly Candidate Insect 

 
SGCN and BCC Species. The SGCN lists two bird species as Tier 2 SGCN status, four bird species as Tier 3, 
one mammal (bat) species as Tier 2, one mammal (bat) species as Tier 3, and one invertebrate (mussel) 
species as Tier 2. The IDFG correspondence addressing SGCN species states that while the parcel has an 
intact native habitat with large deciduous trees; due to the surrounding developments, the agency would 
not anticipate effects from the proposed development to affect any SGCN species. No SGCN listed species 
were observed on the project site at the time of the site visit.  
 
Invertebrates will not be harmed as there is no in-channel work being performed. The correspondence 
does highlight the nesting and perching potential of the deciduous trees located on the property and 
suggests the following:  
 

“According to the Migratory Bird Treaty Act of 1918 (MBTA), if birds are actively using 
those trees for nesting and chicks are present, the nests may not be disturbed (i.e., the 
trees may not be removed) until after the chicks have fledged and permanently left the 
nest. Questions related to the MBTA and its rules and regulations should be directed to 
the Idaho U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Office at (208) 378-5243.” 

 
IDFG offered several recommended practices for residential subdivisions and houses located in areas such 
as this property. These are included in Attachment 1. 
 
The IPaC Report lists fourteen (14) bird species as BCC’s, thirteen (13) of which may breed in the vicinity 
of the project area. Breeding season for these species’ ranges from January through August. The IPaC 
provides a probability of presence summary, determining when BCCs are most likely to be present in the 
project area. No nests of the species listed were observed at the time of the site visit.  



River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 
 

5 
 

Bald Eagles (Haliaeetus leucocephalus) have been observed in the vicinity of the project and 
are well documented in the McCall area, while Golden Eagles (Aquila chrysaetos) have occasionally 
been recorded in the McCall area (IDFG, 2022). No Bald Eagles or nests were observed at the time of 
the site visit. Because of the level of human activity, bald eagles foraging in the area are likely highly 
acclimated to human activity; therefore, no impacts will occur. 
 
Wetlands. The proposed development proposes to impact 0.15 acres of the 2.7 acres of wetlands that are 
identified on the 5.29 acre site. Wetland impacts have been both avoided by placing the majority of the 
new residence in the upland area near Morgan Drive and minimized by impacting the lesser value scrub-
shrub wetlands and preserving the older forested wetlands.  
 
Impacts to wetlands will occur under a permit issued by the US Army Corps of Engineering and coverage 
under the IDEQ’s 401 Water Quality Certification blanket coverage. Permit Drawings that show wetland 
types and impacts are in Attachment 4.  
 
Stormwater and Site Control Best Management Practices (described further below) would surround the 
area of disturbance to protect adjacent wetlands. 
 
Water Quality. Protection of water quality is addressed in the conditions of the USACE permit required to 
fill wetlands, the IDEQ’s Idaho Pollution Discharge Elimination System (IPDES) Construction General 
Permit (CGP), and the City of McCall’s Drainage Management Guidelines1 
 
The USACE permit requires appropriate soil erosion and sediment control measures to be used and 
maintained in effective operating condition during construction. The IPDES CGP also requires the 
stabilization of disturbed areas and the use of Best Management Practices (BMP) to protect runoff from 
the project site to river and adjacent wetland areas. The Code also requires similar measures.  
 
An erosion control plan was developed for the project in 2020 and included in Attachment 4. The proposed 
includes the follow proposed measure:  

1. Stabilized Construction Entrance /Exit 
2. Onsite Proposed Stormwater Management Basins (6 total) 
3. Silt fencing and fiber wattles located around the perimeter of the site  

 
By implementing these proposed BMPs, the proposed project would presumably be able to adhere to 
Idaho’s Antidegradation Policy and maintain (and not diminish) the reach’s status of fully supporting 
Primary Contact Recreation and well as not create additional harm to its status of not supporting Cold 
Water Aquatic Life or Salmonid Spawning.  
 
These proposed BMPs will manage runoff and prevent impermissible runoff from occurring.  
 
Fish and Aquatic Habitat. As discussed previously, the proposed development is sited as far west on the 
parcel as possible with a minimal distance from the site to the river (approximately 220 feet). Therefore, 
harm to fish and aquatic habitat in the river are first avoided by site layout.  
 

 
1 Drainage Management Guidelines (Toothman-Orton Engineers, 1997): https://evogov.s3.amazonaws.com/141/media/115536.pdf 

https://evogov.s3.amazonaws.com/141/media/115536.pdf


River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 
 

6 
 

Additionally, the stormwater plan the contractor would implement would manage runoff during 
construction and stabilize the site post-construction. Stormwater management basins would detain 
stormwater on site so post-construction conditions match pre-construction conditions. Contractors would 
access the site through a stabilized entrance located at Morgan Drive. By following these measures, there 
would be minimal to no opportunity to harm fish or aquatic habitat.  
 

6.0 CONCLUSIONS 
Threatened or Endangered Species. No Federally listed species were observed during a field visit to the 
project area. No suitable habitat exists to support Canada Lynx, North American Wolverine, or Monarch 
Butterfly caterpillars within the project area. The proposed project would have no effect on the Canada 
Lynx and North American Wolverine and may affect the Monarch Butterfly but is not likely to jeopardize 
the continued existence of this candidate species. In other words, Block 19 does not possess significant 
wildlife habitat harboring any threatened or endangered species (MCC 3.7.023(C)(d)). The rationale for 
these decisions is provided in Table 2. 
 
The proposed development would not be anticipated to have an effect on either native plant, terrestrial 
wildlife populations, or SGCN species due to the surrounding residential development.  
 

Table 2. Threatened or Endangered Species Effects Determination 

Common Name ESA Listing Status Effect Determination Rationale 

Canada Lynx Threatened No Effect No habitat for this species in the project area. 
North American 
Wolverine 

Proposed 
Threatened No Effect No habitat for this species in the project area. 

Monarch Butterfly Candidate 

May affect; not likely to 
jeopardize the 
continued existence of 
species. 

No milkweed was observed on the project site. 
Any effect to flowering plants would be negligible 
by proposed development. Pollinator habitat 
(although no milkweed was observed) may be in 
the project area where mature riparian vegetation 
exists. Proposed BMPs are included. 

 
Wetlands. The proposed development has been designed and would be implemented to (1) avoid 
wetlands, (2) minimize impacts to higher value wetlands and (3) only impact wetlands permitted by the 
agency with jurisdiction, the USACE. Best Management Practices would be implemented during 
construction. 
 
It is believed that the proposed development has minimized the risk of harm to wetlands to the best 
practicable extent.  
 
Water Quality. By adhering to erosion and sediment control measures proposed to be implemented under 
the USACE permit required to fill wetlands, the IDEQ’s Idaho Pollution Discharge Elimination System 
(IPDES) Construction General Permit (CGP), and the City of McCall’s Drainage Management Guidelines, 
the risk of harm to water quality in the river and surrounding wetlands has been minimized to the best 
extent practicable. 
 



River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 
 

7 
 

Fish and Aquatic Habitat. Fish and aquatic habitat in the river are best protected from harm by site design 
and by the project adhering to its proposed stormwater runoff controls. By following these methods, it is 
understood the proposed development would minimize harm to these resources.  
 
Impermissible Runoff.  The construction and post-construction stormwater management plan will, at a 
minimum, follow the City of McCall Drainage Management Guidelines and manage/prevent runoff from 
the proposed development.  
 
Best Management Practices (BMPs) 
The project will remove several small to medium sized lodge pole pine trees and aspens around the 
proposed building pad. All planned work shall adhere to the Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA) and the 
Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act (BGEPA) requirements. The nesting season for this area is from May 
15th to August 15th. 
 
The Contractor shall implement the following BMP’s to support pollinators and pollinator habitat: 

1. Protect Existing Habitat: Protect existing stands of native vegetation. Ground disturbing activities 
will be limited only to those areas deemed necessary for the construction of the project. 
Disturbing existing areas of native vegetation purely for the convenience of the contractor is 
prohibited. 

2. Remove and control noxious weeds in the project limits.  
3. Herbicide Use: Reduce the risk of herbicide exposure to pollinators by: (1) Eliminating or reducing 

herbicide exposure to pollinators by first utilizing non-chemical (manual) methods to eliminate 
noxious and undesirable weeds. (2) If herbicide use is necessary, spot treat specific weeds with 
selective herbicides that do not leave residuals in the soil. (3) Treat weeds before they flower, to 
avoid spraying when pollinators are present. (4) Avoid spray application if winds are above 10 
mph. 

4. Re-vegetation: Revegetate disturbed areas with a native seed mix, including milkweed species.  
 
The Contractor shall implement the following BMP’s to protect wetlands, fish and aquatic habitat; and 
water quality: 

1. Prepare and implement a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan 
2. Adhere to the City of McCall’s Drainage Management Guidelines (1997) 
3. Proposed Best Management Practices: 

a.  Stabilized Construction Entrance /Exit 
b. Onsite Proposed Stormwater Management Basins (6 total) 
c. Silt fencing and fiber wattles located around the perimeter of the site  

 
  



River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 
 

8 
 

7.0 REFERENCES 
 
Idaho Fish and Game (IDFG), Brandon Flack (personal communication, June 08, 2023). 

Idaho Fish and Game (IDFG): View & Export. (2022, October 17). 
https://idfg.idaho.gov/species/observations/list?species_id=18587&county_id=224   (accessed 
June 12, 2023). 

McCall Code of McCall, Idaho. 1994. American Legal Publishing.  

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS): Environmental Conservation Online System (ECOS). Species 
Profile.  https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species  (accessed June 12, 2023). 

U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service (USFWS): Information for Planning and Consultation (IPaC)  
https://ipac.ecosphere.fws.gov   (accessed June 08, 2023, printed June 13, 2023). 

https://idfg.idaho.gov/species/observations/list?species_id=18587&county_id=224
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species
https://ipac.ecosphere.fws.gov/


River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 
 

 

ATTACHMENT 1 – AGENCY COORDINATION 
  



1

Erica Koppes

From: Flack,Brandon <brandon.flack@idfg.idaho.gov>
Sent: Thursday, June 8, 2023 2:43 PM
To: Erica Koppes
Cc: Patrick Wickman
Subject: RE: SGCN Species McCall Lot 19

***EXTERNAL MESSAGE*** 

Hi Erica, 
 
The Idaho Department of Fish and Game (IDFG) has received your request for a list of SGCN species on 
and around parcel RPM05380020190 (5.29 acres) located on Morgan Drive in McCall, ID for planning and 
zoning purposes. This email serves as an IDFG letter addressing fish, wildlife, and plant resources as a 
component of the natural features of the property, including any sensitive plant and wildlife species 
recorded in the project vicinity. 
  
IDFG has not conducted specific wildlife surveys on the property. The Idaho Fish and Wildlife Information 
System (IFWIS) database contains no records of special-status plant or animal species on the project 
property. The IFWIS database contains records of 9 Species of Greatest Conservation Need (SGCN) within 
0.5 miles of the property boundary.  
 

Common Name Scien fic Name Category SGCN Tier 
Clark’s Nutcracker Nucifraga columbiana Bird 3 

Common Nighthawk Chordeiles minor Bird 3 
Golden Eagle Aquila chrysaetos Bird 2 
Li le Brown Myo s Myo s lucifugus Mammal (bat) 3 
Olive-sided Flycatcher Contopus cooperi Bird 3 
Sandhill Crane Grus canadensis Bird 3 
Silver-haired Bat Lasionycteris noc vagans Mammal (bat) 2 
Western Grebe Aechmophorus occidentalis Bird 2 
Western Pearlshell Margari fera falcata Invertebrate (mussel) 2 

 
Aerial imagery indicates the parcel has a disturbed area near Morgan Dr. and that it likely has intact 
native habitat with large deciduous trees from there down to the river. The parcel is surrounded by other 
developed properties. Considering the parcel is surrounded by other development, IDFG would not 
anticipate effects from a residential home on native plant or terrestrial wildlife populations, including the 
SGCN species listed above. However, the presence of large deciduous trees can provide nesting and 
perching locations for many bird species. According to the Migratory Bird Treaty Act of 1918 (MBTA), if 
birds are actively using those trees for nesting and chicks are present, the nests may not be disturbed 
(i.e., the trees may not be removed) until after the chicks have fledged and permanently left the nest. 
Questions related to the MBTA and its rules and regulations should be directed to the Idaho U.S. Fish and 
Wildlife Service Office at (208) 378-5243. 
  
In addition, IDFG recommends the following practices for residential subdivisions and houses that are 
located in areas such as this: 

 Residents should control pets, including cats, at all times (fenced yard, keep indoors, kenneled, 
leashed, etc.). Pets, at-large, dramatically increase a residential subdivision’s negative effects on 
wildlife. 

 Prohibit the feeding of wildlife and require that potential wildlife attractants (pet food, garbage, 
gardens, etc.) be maintained in a way to reduce attraction of wildlife species (skunks, foxes, 



2

raccoons, magpies, etc.). Eliminating or minimizing the potential for wildlife depredations is the 
responsibility of the property owner. 

 Native vegetation should be retained to the extent possible during project implementation to 
support birds, small mammals, and pollinator species. 

 Yew species should not be used as landscaping plants as they are highly toxic to wildlife, pets, and 
humans. 

 Retain buffers of riparian vegetation that surround any wetland resources on the property. 
 If ponds are developed, legal water rights are required for the appropriate beneficial use (storage, 

irrigation, recreation, etc.). If the ponds will be used for fishing, a private pond permit from IDFG is 
required to stock the ponds with fish, and a live fish transport permit may also be required. 

 All fencing within and around the property should be wildlife friendly. IDFG can provide additional 
details upon request. 

  
Thank you for your interest in the state’s fish, wildlife, and plant resources.  Please feel free to contact me 
with additional information needs or other questions.   
  
Regards, 
 
 
 
Brandon Flack 
Regional Technical Assistance Manager 
Idaho Dept. of Fish and Game 
Southwest Region 
15950 N. Gate Blvd. 
Nampa, ID 83687 
Ph: (208) 854-8947 
  

 
 

From: Erica Koppes <ekoppes@forsgren.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, June 7, 2023 4:46 PM 
To: Flack,Brandon <brandon.flack@idfg.idaho.gov> 
Cc: Patrick Wickman <pwickman@forsgren.com> 
Subject: SGCN Species McCall Lot 19 
 
CAUTION: This email originated outside the State of Idaho network. Verify links and a achments BEFORE you click or open, even 
if you recognize and/or trust the sender. Contact your agency service desk with any concerns.  
 

Brandon,  
I am reques ng a list of SGCN species for planning and zoning purposes for the Parcel RPM05380020190 (5.29 
acres) and surrounding area, located in the City of McCall, Idaho. I have attached a .kmz with the project 
location. 
 
Thank you,  
Erica Koppes 
Water Resource Scientist 
 

  
1109 West Myrtle Street, Suite 300 



June 13, 2023

United States Department of the Interior
FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE

Idaho Fish And Wildlife Office
1387 South Vinnell Way, Suite 368

Boise, ID 83709-1657
Phone: (208) 378-5243 Fax: (208) 378-5262

In Reply Refer To: 
Project Code: 2023-0093162 
Project Name: Rivers Crossing - Lot 19
 
Subject: List of threatened and endangered species that may occur in your proposed project 

location or may be affected by your proposed project

To Whom It May Concern:

The enclosed species list identifies threatened, endangered, proposed and candidate species, as 
well as proposed and final designated critical habitat, that may occur within the boundary of your 
proposed project and/or may be affected by your proposed project. The species list fulfills the 
requirements of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (Service) under section 7(c) of the 
Endangered Species Act (Act) of 1973, as amended (16 U.S.C. 1531 et seq.).

New information based on updated surveys, changes in the abundance and distribution of 
species, changed habitat conditions, or other factors could change this list. Please feel free to 
contact us if you need more current information or assistance regarding the potential impacts to 
federally proposed, listed, and candidate species and federally designated and proposed critical 
habitat. Please note that under 50 CFR 402.12(e) of the regulations implementing section 7 of the 
Act, the accuracy of this species list should be verified after 90 days. This verification can be 
completed formally or informally as desired. The Service recommends that verification be 
completed by visiting the ECOS-IPaC website at regular intervals during project planning and 
implementation for updates to species lists and information. An updated list may be requested 
through the ECOS-IPaC system by completing the same process used to receive the enclosed list.

The purpose of the Act is to provide a means whereby threatened and endangered species and the 
ecosystems upon which they depend may be conserved. Under sections 7(a)(1) and 7(a)(2) of the 
Act and its implementing regulations (50 CFR 402 et seq.), Federal agencies are required to 
utilize their authorities to carry out programs for the conservation of threatened and endangered 
species and to determine whether projects may affect threatened and endangered species and/or 
designated critical habitat.

A Biological Assessment is required for construction projects (or other undertakings having 
similar physical impacts) that are major Federal actions significantly affecting the quality of the 
human environment as defined in the National Environmental Policy Act (42 U.S.C. 4332(2) 
(c)). For projects other than major construction activities, the Service suggests that a biological 



06/13/2023   2

   

evaluation similar to a Biological Assessment be prepared to determine whether the project may 
affect listed or proposed species and/or designated or proposed critical habitat. Recommended 
contents of a Biological Assessment are described at 50 CFR 402.12.

If a Federal agency determines, based on the Biological Assessment or biological evaluation, that 
listed species and/or designated critical habitat may be affected by the proposed project, the 
agency is required to consult with the Service pursuant to 50 CFR 402. In addition, the Service 
recommends that candidate species, proposed species and proposed critical habitat be addressed 
within the consultation. More information on the regulations and procedures for section 7 
consultation, including the role of permit or license applicants, can be found in the "Endangered 
Species Consultation Handbook" at:

http://www.fws.gov/endangered/esa-library/pdf/TOC-GLOS.PDF

Migratory Birds: In addition to responsibilities to protect threatened and endangered species 
under the Endangered Species Act (ESA), there are additional responsibilities under the 
Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA) and the Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act (BGEPA) to 
protect native birds from project-related impacts. Any activity, intentional or unintentional, 
resulting in take of migratory birds, including eagles, is prohibited unless otherwise permitted by 
the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (50 C.F.R. Sec. 10.12 and 16 U.S.C. Sec. 668(a)). For more 
information regarding these Acts see https://www.fws.gov/birds/policies-and-regulations.php.

The MBTA has no provision for allowing take of migratory birds that may be unintentionally 
killed or injured by otherwise lawful activities. It is the responsibility of the project proponent to 
comply with these Acts by identifying potential impacts to migratory birds and eagles within 
applicable NEPA documents (when there is a federal nexus) or a Bird/Eagle Conservation Plan 
(when there is no federal nexus). Proponents should implement conservation measures to avoid 
or minimize the production of project-related stressors or minimize the exposure of birds and 
their resources to the project-related stressors. For more information on avian stressors and 
recommended conservation measures see https://www.fws.gov/birds/bird-enthusiasts/threats-to- 
birds.php.

In addition to MBTA and BGEPA, Executive Order 13186: Responsibilities of Federal Agencies 
to Protect Migratory Birds, obligates all Federal agencies that engage in or authorize activities 
that might affect migratory birds, to minimize those effects and encourage conservation measures 
that will improve bird populations. Executive Order 13186 provides for the protection of both 
migratory birds and migratory bird habitat. For information regarding the implementation of 
Executive Order 13186, please visit https://www.fws.gov/birds/policies-and-regulations/ 
executive-orders/e0-13186.php.

We appreciate your concern for threatened and endangered species. The Service encourages 
Federal agencies to include conservation of threatened and endangered species into their project 
planning to further the purposes of the Act. Please include the Consultation Code in the header of 
this letter with any request for consultation or correspondence about your project that you submit 
to our office.



06/13/2023   3

   

▪
▪
▪
▪

Attachment(s):

Official Species List
USFWS National Wildlife Refuges and Fish Hatcheries
Migratory Birds
Wetlands



06/13/2023   1

   

OFFICIAL SPECIES LIST
This list is provided pursuant to Section 7 of the Endangered Species Act, and fulfills the 
requirement for Federal agencies to "request of the Secretary of the Interior information whether 
any species which is listed or proposed to be listed may be present in the area of a proposed 
action".

This species list is provided by:

Idaho Fish And Wildlife Office
1387 South Vinnell Way, Suite 368
Boise, ID 83709-1657
(208) 378-5243



06/13/2023   2

   

PROJECT SUMMARY
Project Code: 2023-0093162
Project Name: Rivers Crossing - Lot 19
Project Type: Residential Construction
Project Description: Forsgren Associates has been tasked with surveying a 5.3-acre property in 

McCall, Idaho to determine species present within and around the 
proposed site and the effects the proposed project has on any listed 
species. The Client intends to build a residential building on the property.

Project Location:
The approximate location of the project can be viewed in Google Maps: https:// 
www.google.com/maps/@44.892778050000004,-116.10977725993015,14z

Counties: Valley County, Idaho

https://www.google.com/maps/@44.892778050000004,-116.10977725993015,14z
https://www.google.com/maps/@44.892778050000004,-116.10977725993015,14z


06/13/2023   3

   

1.

ENDANGERED SPECIES ACT SPECIES
There is a total of 3 threatened, endangered, or candidate species on this species list.

Species on this list should be considered in an effects analysis for your project and could include 
species that exist in another geographic area. For example, certain fish may appear on the species 
list because a project could affect downstream species.

IPaC does not display listed species or critical habitats under the sole jurisdiction of NOAA 
Fisheries , as USFWS does not have the authority to speak on behalf of NOAA and the 
Department of Commerce.

See the "Critical habitats" section below for those critical habitats that lie wholly or partially 
within your project area under this office's jurisdiction. Please contact the designated FWS office 
if you have questions.

NOAA Fisheries, also known as the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS), is an 
office of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration within the Department of 
Commerce.

MAMMALS
NAME STATUS

Canada Lynx Lynx canadensis
Population: Wherever Found in Contiguous U.S.
There is final critical habitat for this species. Your location does not overlap the critical habitat.
Species profile: https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/3652

Threatened

North American Wolverine Gulo gulo luscus
No critical habitat has been designated for this species.
Species profile: https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/5123

Proposed 
Threatened

INSECTS
NAME STATUS

Monarch Butterfly Danaus plexippus
No critical habitat has been designated for this species.
Species profile: https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/9743

Candidate

CRITICAL HABITATS
THERE ARE NO CRITICAL HABITATS WITHIN YOUR PROJECT AREA UNDER THIS OFFICE'S 
JURISDICTION.

YOU ARE STILL REQUIRED TO DETERMINE IF YOUR PROJECT(S) MAY HAVE EFFECTS ON ALL 
ABOVE LISTED SPECIES.

1

https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/3652
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/5123
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/9743


06/13/2023   1

   

USFWS NATIONAL WILDLIFE REFUGE LANDS 
AND FISH HATCHERIES
Any activity proposed on lands managed by the National Wildlife Refuge system must undergo a 
'Compatibility Determination' conducted by the Refuge. Please contact the individual Refuges to 
discuss any questions or concerns.

THERE ARE NO REFUGE LANDS OR FISH HATCHERIES WITHIN YOUR PROJECT AREA.

http://www.fws.gov/refuges/


06/13/2023   1

   

1.
2.
3.

MIGRATORY BIRDS
Certain birds are protected under the Migratory Bird Treaty Act  and the Bald and Golden Eagle 
Protection Act .

Any person or organization who plans or conducts activities that may result in impacts to 
migratory birds, eagles, and their habitats should follow appropriate regulations and consider 
implementing appropriate conservation measures, as described below.

The Migratory Birds Treaty Act of 1918.
The Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act of 1940.
50 C.F.R. Sec. 10.12 and 16 U.S.C. Sec. 668(a)

The birds listed below are birds of particular concern either because they occur on the 
USFWS Birds of Conservation Concern (BCC) list or warrant special attention in your 
project location. To learn more about the levels of concern for birds on your list and how this 
list is generated, see the FAQ below. This is not a list of every bird you may find in this location, 
nor a guarantee that every bird on this list will be found in your project area. To see exact 
locations of where birders and the general public have sighted birds in and around your project 
area, visit the E-bird data mapping tool (Tip: enter your location, desired date range and a species 
on your list). For projects that occur off the Atlantic Coast, additional maps and models detailing 
the relative occurrence and abundance of bird species on your list are available. Links to 
additional information about Atlantic Coast birds, and other important information about your 
migratory bird list, including how to properly interpret and use your migratory bird report, can be 
found below.

For guidance on when to schedule activities or implement avoidance and minimization measures 
to reduce impacts to migratory birds on your list, click on the PROBABILITY OF PRESENCE 
SUMMARY at the top of your list to see when these birds are most likely to be present and 
breeding in your project area.

NAME
BREEDING 
SEASON

Bald Eagle Haliaeetus leucocephalus
This is not a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) in this area, but warrants attention 
because of the Eagle Act or for potential susceptibilities in offshore areas from certain types 
of development or activities.

Breeds Jan 1 to 
Aug 31

Bobolink Dolichonyx oryzivorus
This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its range in the continental USA 
and Alaska.

Breeds May 20 
to Jul 31

California Gull Larus californicus
This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its range in the continental USA 
and Alaska.

Breeds Mar 1 to 
Jul 31

1
2

https://www.fws.gov/birds/policies-and-regulations/laws-legislations/migratory-bird-treaty-act.php
https://www.fws.gov/birds/policies-and-regulations/laws-legislations/bald-and-golden-eagle-protection-act.php
https://www.fws.gov/program/migratory-birds/species
http://ebird.org/ebird/map/


06/13/2023   2

   

NAME
BREEDING 
SEASON

Cassin's Finch Carpodacus cassinii
This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its range in the continental USA 
and Alaska.
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/9462

Breeds May 15 
to Jul 15

Clark's Grebe Aechmophorus clarkii
This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its range in the continental USA 
and Alaska.

Breeds Jun 1 to 
Aug 31

Evening Grosbeak Coccothraustes vespertinus
This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its range in the continental USA 
and Alaska.

Breeds May 15 
to Aug 10

Franklin's Gull Leucophaeus pipixcan
This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its range in the continental USA 
and Alaska.

Breeds May 1 
to Jul 31

Golden Eagle Aquila chrysaetos
This is not a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) in this area, but warrants attention 
because of the Eagle Act or for potential susceptibilities in offshore areas from certain types 
of development or activities.
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/1680

Breeds Jan 1 to 
Aug 31

Lesser Yellowlegs Tringa flavipes
This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its range in the continental USA 
and Alaska.
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/9679

Breeds 
elsewhere

Lewis's Woodpecker Melanerpes lewis
This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its range in the continental USA 
and Alaska.
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/9408

Breeds Apr 20 
to Sep 30

Olive-sided Flycatcher Contopus cooperi
This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its range in the continental USA 
and Alaska.
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/3914

Breeds May 20 
to Aug 31

Rufous Hummingbird selasphorus rufus
This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its range in the continental USA 
and Alaska.
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/8002

Breeds Apr 15 
to Jul 15

Western Grebe aechmophorus occidentalis
This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its range in the continental USA 
and Alaska.
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/6743

Breeds Jun 1 to 
Aug 31

Willet Tringa semipalmata
This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its range in the continental USA 
and Alaska.

Breeds Apr 20 
to Aug 5

https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/9462
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/1680
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/9679
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/9408
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/3914
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/8002
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/6743


06/13/2023   3

   

1.

2.

3.

PROBABILITY OF PRESENCE SUMMARY
The graphs below provide our best understanding of when birds of concern are most likely to be 
present in your project area. This information can be used to tailor and schedule your project 
activities to avoid or minimize impacts to birds. Please make sure you read and understand the 
FAQ "Proper Interpretation and Use of Your Migratory Bird Report" before using or attempting 
to interpret this report.

Probability of Presence ( )

Each green bar represents the bird's relative probability of presence in the 10km grid cell(s) your 
project overlaps during a particular week of the year. (A year is represented as 12 4-week 
months.) A taller bar indicates a higher probability of species presence. The survey effort (see 
below) can be used to establish a level of confidence in the presence score. One can have higher 
confidence in the presence score if the corresponding survey effort is also high.

How is the probability of presence score calculated? The calculation is done in three steps:

The probability of presence for each week is calculated as the number of survey events in 
the week where the species was detected divided by the total number of survey events for 
that week. For example, if in week 12 there were 20 survey events and the Spotted Towhee 
was found in 5 of them, the probability of presence of the Spotted Towhee in week 12 is 
0.25.
To properly present the pattern of presence across the year, the relative probability of 
presence is calculated. This is the probability of presence divided by the maximum 
probability of presence across all weeks. For example, imagine the probability of presence 
in week 20 for the Spotted Towhee is 0.05, and that the probability of presence at week 12 
(0.25) is the maximum of any week of the year. The relative probability of presence on 
week 12 is 0.25/0.25 = 1; at week 20 it is 0.05/0.25 = 0.2.
The relative probability of presence calculated in the previous step undergoes a statistical 
conversion so that all possible values fall between 0 and 10, inclusive. This is the 
probability of presence score.

Breeding Season ( )
Yellow bars denote a very liberal estimate of the time-frame inside which the bird breeds across 
its entire range. If there are no yellow bars shown for a bird, it does not breed in your project 
area.

Survey Effort ( )
Vertical black lines superimposed on probability of presence bars indicate the number of surveys 
performed for that species in the 10km grid cell(s) your project area overlaps. The number of 
surveys is expressed as a range, for example, 33 to 64 surveys.

No Data ( )
A week is marked as having no data if there were no survey events for that week.

Survey Timeframe



06/13/2023   4

   

 no data survey effort breeding season probability of presence

Surveys from only the last 10 years are used in order to ensure delivery of currently relevant 
information. The exception to this is areas off the Atlantic coast, where bird returns are based on 
all years of available data, since data in these areas is currently much more sparse.

SPECIES JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC
Bald Eagle
Non-BCC 
Vulnerable

Bobolink
BCC Rangewide 
(CON)

California Gull
BCC Rangewide 
(CON)

Cassin's Finch
BCC Rangewide 
(CON)

Clark's Grebe
BCC Rangewide 
(CON)

Evening Grosbeak
BCC Rangewide 
(CON)

Franklin's Gull
BCC Rangewide 
(CON)

Golden Eagle
Non-BCC 
Vulnerable

Lesser Yellowlegs
BCC Rangewide 
(CON)

Lewis's 
Woodpecker
BCC Rangewide 
(CON)

Olive-sided 
Flycatcher
BCC Rangewide 
(CON)

Rufous 
Hummingbird
BCC Rangewide 
(CON)



06/13/2023   5

   

▪
▪

▪

SPECIES JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC
Western Grebe
BCC Rangewide 
(CON)

Willet
BCC Rangewide 
(CON)

Additional information can be found using the following links:

Birds of Conservation Concern https://www.fws.gov/program/migratory-birds/species
Measures for avoiding and minimizing impacts to birds https://www.fws.gov/library/ 
collections/avoiding-and-minimizing-incidental-take-migratory-birds
Nationwide conservation measures for birds https://www.fws.gov/sites/default/files/ 
documents/nationwide-standard-conservation-measures.pdf

MIGRATORY BIRDS FAQ
Tell me more about conservation measures I can implement to avoid or minimize impacts 
to migratory birds. 
Nationwide Conservation Measures describes measures that can help avoid and minimize 
impacts to all birds at any location year round. Implementation of these measures is particularly 
important when birds are most likely to occur in the project area. When birds may be breeding in 
the area, identifying the locations of any active nests and avoiding their destruction is a very 
helpful impact minimization measure. To see when birds are most likely to occur and be breeding 
in your project area, view the Probability of Presence Summary. Additional measures or permits 
may be advisable depending on the type of activity you are conducting and the type of 
infrastructure or bird species present on your project site.

What does IPaC use to generate the list of migratory birds that potentially occur in my 
specified location? 
The Migratory Bird Resource List is comprised of USFWS Birds of Conservation Concern 
(BCC) and other species that may warrant special attention in your project location.

The migratory bird list generated for your project is derived from data provided by the Avian 
Knowledge Network (AKN). The AKN data is based on a growing collection of survey, banding, 
and citizen science datasets and is queried and filtered to return a list of those birds reported as 
occurring in the 10km grid cell(s) which your project intersects, and that have been identified as 
warranting special attention because they are a BCC species in that area, an eagle (Eagle Act 
requirements may apply), or a species that has a particular vulnerability to offshore activities or 
development.

Again, the Migratory Bird Resource list includes only a subset of birds that may occur in your 
project area. It is not representative of all birds that may occur in your project area. To get a list 
of all birds potentially present in your project area, please visit the Rapid Avian Information 
Locator (RAIL) Tool.

https://www.fws.gov/program/migratory-birds/species
https://www.fws.gov/library/collections/avoiding-and-minimizing-incidental-take-migratory-birds
https://www.fws.gov/library/collections/avoiding-and-minimizing-incidental-take-migratory-birds
https://www.fws.gov/sites/default/files/documents/nationwide-standard-conservation-measures.pdf
https://www.fws.gov/sites/default/files/documents/nationwide-standard-conservation-measures.pdf
https://www.fws.gov/sites/default/files/documents/nationwide-standard-conservation-measures.pdf
https://avianknowledge.net/index.php/beneficial-practices/
https://www.fws.gov/birds/policies-and-regulations/permits.php
https://www.fws.gov/program/migratory-birds/species
https://www.fws.gov/program/migratory-birds/species
http://www.avianknowledge.net/
http://www.avianknowledge.net/
https://data.pointblue.org/api/v3/annual-summaries-about-data-types.html
https://data.pointblue.org/api/v3/annual-summaries-about-data-types.html
https://www.fws.gov/program/eagle-management
https://data.pointblue.org/apps/rail/
https://data.pointblue.org/apps/rail/


06/13/2023   6

   

1.

2.

3.

What does IPaC use to generate the probability of presence graphs for the migratory birds 
potentially occurring in my specified location? 
The probability of presence graphs associated with your migratory bird list are based on data 
provided by the Avian Knowledge Network (AKN). This data is derived from a growing 
collection of survey, banding, and citizen science datasets.

Probability of presence data is continuously being updated as new and better information 
becomes available. To learn more about how the probability of presence graphs are produced and 
how to interpret them, go the Probability of Presence Summary and then click on the "Tell me 
about these graphs" link.

How do I know if a bird is breeding, wintering or migrating in my area? 
To see what part of a particular bird's range your project area falls within (i.e. breeding, 
wintering, migrating or year-round), you may query your location using the RAIL Tool and look 
at the range maps provided for birds in your area at the bottom of the profiles provided for each 
bird in your results. If a bird on your migratory bird species list has a breeding season associated 
with it, if that bird does occur in your project area, there may be nests present at some point 
within the timeframe specified. If "Breeds elsewhere" is indicated, then the bird likely does not 
breed in your project area.

What are the levels of concern for migratory birds? 
Migratory birds delivered through IPaC fall into the following distinct categories of concern:

"BCC Rangewide" birds are Birds of Conservation Concern (BCC) that are of concern 
throughout their range anywhere within the USA (including Hawaii, the Pacific Islands, 
Puerto Rico, and the Virgin Islands);
"BCC - BCR" birds are BCCs that are of concern only in particular Bird Conservation 
Regions (BCRs) in the continental USA; and
"Non-BCC - Vulnerable" birds are not BCC species in your project area, but appear on 
your list either because of the Eagle Act requirements (for eagles) or (for non-eagles) 
potential susceptibilities in offshore areas from certain types of development or activities 
(e.g. offshore energy development or longline fishing).

Although it is important to try to avoid and minimize impacts to all birds, efforts should be made, 
in particular, to avoid and minimize impacts to the birds on this list, especially eagles and BCC 
species of rangewide concern. For more information on conservation measures you can 
implement to help avoid and minimize migratory bird impacts and requirements for eagles, 
please see the FAQs for these topics.

Details about birds that are potentially affected by offshore projects 
For additional details about the relative occurrence and abundance of both individual bird species 
and groups of bird species within your project area off the Atlantic Coast, please visit the 
Northeast Ocean Data Portal. The Portal also offers data and information about other taxa besides 
birds that may be helpful to you in your project review. Alternately, you may download the bird 
model results files underlying the portal maps through the NOAA NCCOS Integrative Statistical 
Modeling and Predictive Mapping of Marine Bird Distributions and Abundance on the Atlantic 
Outer Continental Shelf project webpage.

https://avianknowledge.net/
https://data.pointblue.org/api/v3/annual-summaries-about-data-types.html
https://data.pointblue.org/apps/rail/
https://www.fws.gov/program/migratory-birds/species
https://www.fws.gov/birds/management/managed-species/bald-and-golden-eagle-information.php
http://www.northeastoceandata.org/data-explorer/?birds
https://coastalscience.noaa.gov/project/statistical-modeling-marine-bird-distributions/
https://coastalscience.noaa.gov/project/statistical-modeling-marine-bird-distributions/
https://coastalscience.noaa.gov/project/statistical-modeling-marine-bird-distributions/


06/13/2023   7

   

Bird tracking data can also provide additional details about occurrence and habitat use 
throughout the year, including migration. Models relying on survey data may not include this 
information. For additional information on marine bird tracking data, see the Diving Bird Study 
and the nanotag studies or contact Caleb Spiegel or Pam Loring.

What if I have eagles on my list? 
If your project has the potential to disturb or kill eagles, you may need to obtain a permit to avoid 
violating the Eagle Act should such impacts occur.

Proper Interpretation and Use of Your Migratory Bird Report 
The migratory bird list generated is not a list of all birds in your project area, only a subset of 
birds of priority concern. To learn more about how your list is generated, and see options for 
identifying what other birds may be in your project area, please see the FAQ "What does IPaC 
use to generate the migratory birds potentially occurring in my specified location". Please be 
aware this report provides the "probability of presence" of birds within the 10 km grid cell(s) that 
overlap your project; not your exact project footprint. On the graphs provided, please also look 
carefully at the survey effort (indicated by the black vertical bar) and for the existence of the "no 
data" indicator (a red horizontal bar). A high survey effort is the key component. If the survey 
effort is high, then the probability of presence score can be viewed as more dependable. In 
contrast, a low survey effort bar or no data bar means a lack of data and, therefore, a lack of 
certainty about presence of the species. This list is not perfect; it is simply a starting point for 
identifying what birds of concern have the potential to be in your project area, when they might 
be there, and if they might be breeding (which means nests might be present). The list helps you 
know what to look for to confirm presence, and helps guide you in knowing when to implement 
conservation measures to avoid or minimize potential impacts from your project activities, 
should presence be confirmed. To learn more about conservation measures, visit the FAQ "Tell 
me about conservation measures I can implement to avoid or minimize impacts to migratory 
birds" at the bottom of your migratory bird trust resources page.

http://www.boem.gov/AT-12-02/
http://www.boem.gov/AT-13-01/
mailto:Caleb_Spiegel@fws.gov
mailto:Pamela_Loring@fws.gov
https://fwsepermits.servicenowservices.com/fws


06/13/2023   1

   

▪

▪

WETLANDS
Impacts to NWI wetlands and other aquatic habitats may be subject to regulation under Section 
404 of the Clean Water Act, or other State/Federal statutes.

For more information please contact the Regulatory Program of the local U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers District.

Please note that the NWI data being shown may be out of date. We are currently working to 
update our NWI data set. We recommend you verify these results with a site visit to determine 
the actual extent of wetlands on site.

FRESHWATER FORESTED/SHRUB WETLAND
PSSA

FRESHWATER EMERGENT WETLAND
PEM1A

http://www.fws.gov/wetlands/
http://www.usace.army.mil/Missions/CivilWorks/RegulatoryProgramandPermits.aspx
http://www.usace.army.mil/Missions/CivilWorks/RegulatoryProgramandPermits.aspx
https://ipac.ecosphere.fws.gov/wetlands/decoder?CodeURL=PSSA
https://ipac.ecosphere.fws.gov/wetlands/decoder?CodeURL=PEM1A


06/13/2023   2

   

IPAC USER CONTACT INFORMATION
Agency: Forsgren-Associates-Inc
Name: Erica Koppes
Address: 1109 W. Myrtle St.
Address Line 2: Suite 300
City: Boise
State: ID
Zip: 93702
Email ekoppes@forsgren.com
Phone: 2083423144



River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 

10 
 

ATTACHMENT 2 – SITE PHOTOS  

  
  

Photo 1. Lot entrance at Morgan Drive looking 
east. Upland area in foreground and trees in 
background to be developed. 

Photo 2. Lot entrance at Morgan Drive looking 
northeast. Neighboring house to north. 

Photo 3. Aspens and pine trees at proposed 
building site looking east. 

Photo 4. Proposed wetland area to be disturbed 
by proposed building looking east. 



River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 

11 
 

BLOCK 19 LOT 2 – PHOTO KEY   

1 3 

2 

4 



River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 

12 
 

ATTACHMENT 3 – LIST OF PLANTS OBSERVED ON SITE – JUNE 9, 2023 
 

Table 3. USFWS IPaC Birds of Conservation Concern Listed Species 

Scientific Name Common Name 

Haliaeetus leucocephalus Bald Eagle 
Dolichonyx oryzivorus Bobolink 
Larus californicus California Gull 
Carpodacus cassinii Cassin's Finch 

Aechmophorus clarkii Clark's Grebe 

Coccothraustes vespertinus Evening Grosbeak 

Leucophaeus pipixcan Franklin's Gull 

Aquila chrysaetos Golden Eagle 

Tringa flavipes Lesser Yellowlegs 

Melanerpes lewis Lewis's Woodpecker 

Contopus cooperi Olive-sided Flycatcher 

selasphorus rufus Rufous Hummingbird 

aechmophorus occidentalis Western Grebe 

Tringa semipalmata Willet 

 
Table 4. IDFG IGWIS Species of Greatest Conservation Need 

Scientific Name Common Name Category SGCN Tier 

Nucifraga columbiana Clark’s Nutcracker Bird 3 
Chordeiles minor Common Nighthawk Bird 3 

Aquila chrysaetos Golden Eagle Bird 2 

Myotis lucifugus Little Brown Myotis Mammal (bat) 3 

Contopus cooperi Olive-sided Flycatcher Bird 3 

Grus canadensis Sandhill Crane Bird 3 
Lasionycteris noctivagans Silver-haired Bat Mammal (bat) 2 
Aechmophorus occidentalis Western Grebe Bird 2 
Margaritifera falcata Western Pearlshell Invertebrate (mussel) 2 

 
  



River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 

13 
 

ATTACHMENT 3 – WETLANDS PERMIT DRAWINGS (AUGUST 2020) 

 



River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 

14 
 

  



River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 

15 
 

 

















 

Subject: FPDP-23-01 

From:  Brian Parker, City Planner  

Date:   September 12, 2023  

The intention of this Memorandum is to provide additional information regarding the denial of FPDP-23-

01 

The applicant has appealed the denial of FPDP-23-01. The basis of the appeal is as follows (staff analysis 

in italics). 

1. No Building Permit is required for fill, but in an abundance of caution, the Sanders will 

simultaneously apply for a building permit. 

The following McCall Code Sections are relevant to this statement: 

McCall Code Section 3.7.022(B) 

No building and no land filling shall be permitted within a floodway and no building 

within an area of special flood hazard as such terms are defined in title IX, chapter 8, 

"Flood Control Regulations (Overlay)", of this code, unless the applicant complies with 

the standards set forth in that chapter. 

McCall Code Section 3.8.02(G) 

Building Permit Required: Until a valid building permit has been issued by the city of 

McCall, no construction work, including grading, blasting, filling, trenching, tree removal, 

etc., may be started, except as permitted in section 3.8.03 of this chapter. 

McCall Code Section 9.8.031 

This chapter shall apply to all special flood hazard areas within the jurisdiction of the City 

of McCall. Nothing in this chapter is intended to allow uses or structures that are 

otherwise prohibited by the Zoning Ordinance. 

McCall Code Section 9.8.034 

No structure or land shall hereafter be located, extended, converted, altered, or 

developed in any way without full compliance with the terms of this chapter and other 

applicable regulations. 

McCall Code Section 9.8.035 

This chapter shall not in any way repeal, abrogate, impair, or remove the necessity of 

compliance with any other laws, ordinances, regulations, easements, covenants, or deed 

restrictions, etcetera. However, where this chapter and another conflict or overlap, 

whichever imposes more stringent or greater restrictions shall control. 



 

2 
 

As the applicant has not indicated the purpose or demonstrated compliance with the 

requirements of McCall Code, no building permit may be issued, and therefor no fill may occur. 

2. There will be no harm, and the Administrator provides no basis for the assertion that 

unpermitted harm would occur if the permit were granted. 

McCall Code Section 3.7.023(2) defines harm as: 

a. The creation of conditions which foster runoff of, or other source of fertilizers, toxic 

substances, or other pollutants or contaminants, into the water; 

b. The excessive clearing of natural vegetation or change of natural landforms within the area 

between the water pool shore contour or high water mark and the fifty foot (50') building 

setback line; 

c. The removal, burial, or destruction in whole or part of boulders, sandy beaches, rocky shores, 

or other features of the water pool shore contour or high water mark, the land below the 

same, or the immediate upland edge; 

d. The filling or dredging of lake bottom or wetlands; 

e. The erection of visual barriers between the lake or river and the roads on the uplands, 

beyond the extent reasonably necessary for an owner's usage of the land for a permitted 

use; or 

f. The creation of any other condition which would be inconsistent with best management 

practices under, or threaten a violation of, state and federal storm and melt water 

regulatory programs to which the city is subject, or fail otherwise to be consistent with other 

city programs in these regards, all as established to the satisfaction of the city. 

The first sentence of the applicant’s appeal document for this section states “Currently, the 

Sanders are not requesting a permit to “build” a home or any kind of structure.” As the applicant 

is not proposing to develop the land beyond modifying the 1% floodplain boundary, any clearing 

of natural vegetation or change of natural landforms within the area between the water pool 

shore contour and the fifty foot (50’) building setback line is excessive, and therefore “harm” is 

occurring pursuant to McCall Code Section 3.7.032(C)(2)(b). Additionally, the applicant’s 

floodplain development permit is explicitly calling for the filling of wetlands, which is included in 

the definition of “harm” in McCall Code Section 3.7.032(C)(2)(d). 

3. The proposed site grading will comply with MCC and the minimum necessary for development 

of the site. 

Again, as no development beyond modifying the 1% floodplain boundary is proposed, there is no 

site grading necessary. 



From: Brian Parker
To: Steve Millemann
Cc: James Fronk; Morgan Stroud; Nathan Stewart; Michelle Groenevelt
Bcc: William L. Punkoney
Subject: RE: River"s Crossing Lot 19 Block 2 - CLOMR Request
Date: Thursday, August 18, 2022 1:18:00 PM
Attachments: image001.png

image002.png

Steve,
 
Thank you for meeting with us to discuss options on this lot. After discussing with the team, we have
determined that while you are welcome to apply for an Administrative Design Review approval for
landscaping only to facilitate the construction of a floodplain berm, I am unlikely to approve it as
presented. Here is my general reasoning:

MCC 3.7.023(C)(1)(c) prohibits construction, alteration, or activity which causes harm to
wetlands. Harm is defined in MCC 3.7.023(C)(2) and includes “excessive clearing of natural
vegetation or change of natural landforms within the area between the water pool shore
contour or high water mark and the fifty foot (50') building setback line.”
MCC 3.8.13(4) states “On those sites where there exists vegetation of a significant or sensitive
character, the siting and design of buildings shall retain that vegetation.” Floodplains and
associated wetland areas are generally significant and sensitive areas, and disturbing them
unnecessarily would run contrary to this code.
MCC 3.8.23(C) states “Site grading shall follow the natural terrain of the land and be the
minimum necessary for development of the site as determined by the Administrator and
Public Works.” As determined in the Variance application on the subject property, there is
approximately 6,400 square feet of developable land on the property without impacting the
floodplain.

 
Please let me know if you have any questions.
 
Thank you,
 
Brian Parker, AICP   |  City Planner
216 E. Park Street | McCall | Idaho 83638
Direct: 208.634.4256 | Fax: 208.634.3038

Web: mccall.id.us
Blog: mccallcitysource.com
Social: Facebook.com/cityofmccall
 

Please click to sign up for CodeRED!

mailto:bparker@mccall.id.us
mailto:sjm@mpmplaw.com
mailto:jamesfronkconsulting@gmail.com
mailto:mstroud@mccall.id.us
mailto:nstewart@mccall.id.us
mailto:mgroenevelt@mccall.id.us
mailto:wpunkoney@WHITEPETERSON.com
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcodelibrary.amlegal.com%2Fcodes%2Fmccallid%2Flatest%2Fmccall_id%2F0-0-0-1364&data=05%7C01%7Cbparker%40mccall.id.us%7C128bd83ceb354c363ce008da80732003%7C3fcc645557cd446686b48d7a5b85d741%7C0%7C0%7C637963529228001341%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=cpNXG%2BgohKyEznNTlupEKmHLx%2FMXFdoxAlOXgBJlzc4%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcodelibrary.amlegal.com%2Fcodes%2Fmccallid%2Flatest%2Fmccall_id%2F0-0-0-1652&data=05%7C01%7Cbparker%40mccall.id.us%7C128bd83ceb354c363ce008da80732003%7C3fcc645557cd446686b48d7a5b85d741%7C0%7C0%7C637963529228001341%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=fixJKn%2F4uqXQG55HLtDREBJTqZMOzMBcdkmjQmqRP8s%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcodelibrary.amlegal.com%2Fcodes%2Fmccallid%2Flatest%2Fmccall_id%2F0-0-0-10684&data=05%7C01%7Cbparker%40mccall.id.us%7C128bd83ceb354c363ce008da80732003%7C3fcc645557cd446686b48d7a5b85d741%7C0%7C0%7C637963529228001341%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=t4KrgucmPkmVKzO4T66ILystRrHSSHSCIXTfjV7NSMM%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Ft.ly%2Fp26db&data=04%7C01%7Cbparker%40mccall.id.us%7C566193f136d04cc3cd5108d91f8eb680%7C3fcc645557cd446686b48d7a5b85d741%7C0%7C0%7C637575520098251232%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=ajOCEQwy2kcyYShZ1gjo0P4GXOYZOC3P%2FUHPLcIrPqA%3D&reserved=0




 

From: Steve Millemann <sjm@mpmplaw.com> 
Sent: Thursday, July 21, 2022 10:35 AM
To: Brian Parker <bparker@mccall.id.us>
Cc: James Fronk <jamesfronkconsulting@gmail.com>; Morgan Stroud <mstroud@mccall.id.us>;
Nathan Stewart <nstewart@mccall.id.us>
Subject: RE: River's Crossing Lot 19 Block 2 - CLOMR Request
 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you
recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

 
That works for me.
Thanks,
 
Steven J. Millemann
Millemann Pemberton & Holm LLP
P. O. Box 1066
706 N. 1st Street
McCall, ID  83638
Office: (208) 634-7641
Fax: (208) 634-4516
 

From: Brian Parker <bparker@mccall.id.us> 
Sent: Thursday, July 21, 2022 10:10 AM
To: Steve Millemann <sjm@mpmplaw.com>
Cc: James Fronk <jamesfronkconsulting@gmail.com>; Morgan Stroud <mstroud@mccall.id.us>;
Nathan Stewart <nstewart@mccall.id.us>
Subject: RE: River's Crossing Lot 19 Block 2 - CLOMR Request
 
 
How does Tuesday at 1:00 sound?
 
Brian Parker, AICP   |  City Planner
216 E. Park Street | McCall | Idaho 83638
Direct: 208.634.4256 | Fax: 208.634.3038

Web: mccall.id.us
Blog: mccallcitysource.com
Social: Facebook.com/cityofmccall
 

mailto:bparker@mccall.id.us
mailto:sjm@mpmplaw.com
mailto:jamesfronkconsulting@gmail.com
mailto:mstroud@mccall.id.us
mailto:nstewart@mccall.id.us


Please click to sign up for CodeRED!
 

From: Steve Millemann <sjm@mpmplaw.com> 
Sent: Thursday, July 21, 2022 10:08 AM
To: Brian Parker <bparker@mccall.id.us>
Cc: James Fronk <jamesfronkconsulting@gmail.com>
Subject: RE: River's Crossing Lot 19 Block 2 - CLOMR Request
 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you
recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

 
Hi, Brian.
Jim Fronk and I would like to meet with you about the below request. There have been some
changes in the owners’ plans that may be relevant to your evaluation  of the pending
CLOMAR/LOMAR Application that I would like to review with you. I think it would also be helpful to
have Nathan Stewart participate. My schedule is open next Tuesday afternoon (7/26) and all day
Wednesday (7/27).
Thanks,
 
Steven J. Millemann
Millemann Pemberton & Holm LLP
P. O. Box 1066
706 N. 1st Street
McCall, ID  83638
Office: (208) 634-7641
Fax: (208) 634-4516
 

From: Brian Parker <bparker@mccall.id.us> 
Sent: Friday, May 27, 2022 8:28 AM
To: rmanning@forsgren.com
Cc: jamesfronkconsulting@gmail.com; Steve Millemann <sjm@mpmplaw.com>
Subject: River's Crossing Lot 19 Block 2 - CLOMR Request
 
 
Ron,
 
I have received the CLOMR application, Community Acknowledgement Form, and supporting
documents for 221 Morgan Drive (Lot 19, Block 2, River’s Crossing Subdivision). As this application
violates McCall City Code, and the variance request to allow for work within the ASFH and 50’ buffer
was denied, I cannot sign the Community Acknowledgement Form.
 
Thank you,
 
Brian Parker, AICP   |  City Planner
216 E. Park Street | McCall | Idaho 83638

https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Ft.ly%2Fp26db&data=05%7C01%7Cbparker%40mccall.id.us%7Cf5293c7397f04b6c703a08da6b36f454%7C3fcc645557cd446686b48d7a5b85d741%7C0%7C0%7C637940181036811193%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=lPZfklEgJTz7Q450%2BgY9suQ0nAycLP6pynj7mj0lKHA%3D&reserved=0
mailto:sjm@mpmplaw.com
mailto:bparker@mccall.id.us
mailto:jamesfronkconsulting@gmail.com
mailto:bparker@mccall.id.us
mailto:rmanning@forsgren.com
mailto:jamesfronkconsulting@gmail.com
mailto:sjm@mpmplaw.com


Direct: 208.634.4256 | Fax: 208.634.3038

Web: mccall.id.us
Blog: mccallcitysource.com
Social: Facebook.com/cityofmccall
 

Please click to sign up for CodeRED!
 

https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Ft.ly%2Fp26db&data=05%7C01%7Cbparker%40mccall.id.us%7Cf5293c7397f04b6c703a08da6b36f454%7C3fcc645557cd446686b48d7a5b85d741%7C0%7C0%7C637940181036811193%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=lPZfklEgJTz7Q450%2BgY9suQ0nAycLP6pynj7mj0lKHA%3D&reserved=0














Narrative in Support of Floodplain Development Application 1 
 

NARRATIVE IN SUPPORT OF  

SANDERS FLOODPLAIN DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION 

January 23, 2023 

 

1. Overview:  

The property which is the subject of this Application is Lot 19, Block 2 of the Rivers 
Crossing Subdivision (the “Property”). The Property is 5.29 acres, containing approximately 2.7 
acres of delineated wetlands. The vast majority of the Property lies within the area designated by 
FEMA as the “Special Flood Hazard Area” (a.k.a. the “1% AEP inundation extent”). The project 
for which this application is filed involves the placement of fill in less than .5 acres of the portion 
of the Property which is located within the Special Flood Hazard Area.   

The placement of the fill is a component of a “CLOMR” (Conditional Letter of Map 
Revision) Application which is pending with FEMA. These applications allow an owner to 
obtain a Floodplain map revision by raising the level of property to a level which removes it 
from the Special Flood Hazard Area. The CLOMR process is expressly recognized by the 
McCall City Code, at Section 9.8.042, A, 13.  

The placement of the fill requires a Floodplain Development Permit under MCC 9.8 .043, 
because it is within the definition of a “Development Activity” under MCC 9.8.02. No other 
permits are required under the McCall City Code for the proposed placement of fill.  

This Property was the subject of a variance application which was denied by the McCall 
City Council. That denial has not been appealed and further variances from the Shoreline and 
River Environs setback will not be sought by the Sanders. The placement of the minimal amount 
of fill for which the Floodplain Development Permit is sought will not allow the previously 
designed home to be built. It will modestly expand the buildable area on the Lot, without having 
any adverse environmental impacts, and allow for a re-designed home to comply with the 50 foot 
setback requirement of the Shoreline and River Environs Ordinance. It is believed that this is 
precisely the process which was followed on the lot immediately to the north of the Sanders 
Property.  

2. The Project:  

The activity for which the Permit is sought will be the placement of imported fill into .48 
acres of the Property, of which .15 acres is delineated Shrub/Scrub wetlands.  The area in which 
the fill will be placed is depicted in Exhibit 1 (the “Project Area”).  

The Property Owners hold a Permit from the Army Corps of Engineers (issued pursuant 
to Section 404 of the Clean Water Act) to place fill in the .15 acre area, thereby impacting only 
2.8% of the Lot and 5.5% of the delineated wetlands. The Permit is a “Nationwide Permit”, 
which permits authorize “only activities with no more than minimal individual and cumulative 
adverse environmental effects.” (See Army Corps of Engineers September 15, 2020 Proposal to 
Reissue and Modify Nationwide Permits).   



Narrative in Support of Floodplain Development Application 2 
 

The fill will raise the existing elevation of the Project Area to a minimum elevation 
matching the Base Flood Elevation (BFE) or higher. As the BFE within the Project Area varies, 
the proposed minimum fill elevation also varies as depicted in Exhibits 2 and 3. No fill will be 
placed within the designated Floodway. No fill will be placed in or will impact any existing 
watercourse. Erosion control methods will consist of installation of silt fencing around disturbed 
areas. The small amount of fill contemplated by this Application and the CLOMR Application 
will result in only a slight rise in the project area (<0.1-ft during the 100-yr flood event). The 
proposed inundation boundaries were computed in the hydraulic analysis documented in the 
CLOMR and compared to existing and found no significant difference in floodplain delineations 
within the project area or any upstream or downstream properties. The Application does not 
propose the placement or construction of any structures.  

3. The Floodplain Development Application Requirements (M.C.C. 9.8.043): 

 The following are the Application requirements of the Ordinance (MCC 9.8 .043(A)(1)): 

  (a)  A plot plan drawn to scale which shall include, but shall not be limited to, the 
following specific details of the proposed floodplain development: 

   (1)  The nature, location, dimensions, and elevations of the area of 
development/disturbance; existing and proposed structures, utility systems, grading/pavement 
areas, fill materials, storage areas, drainage facilities, and other development. 

    Compliance:  See Plot Plan attached hereto as Exhibit 1. There are 
no existing or proposed structures utility systems, or pavement contemplated by the Application. 

   (2)  The boundary of the special flood hazard area as delineated on the 
FIRM or other flood map as determined in section 9.8.032 of this chapter, or a statement that the 
entire lot is within the special flood hazard area. 

    Compliance: See attached Exhibit 1. 

   (3)  The flood zone(s) designation of the proposed development area as 
determined on the FIRM or other flood map as determined in section 9.8.032 of this chapter. 

    Compliance: The current flood zone designation for the Project 
Area is “1% AEP (100 yr) SFHA”” (see Exhibit 1). 

   (4)  The boundary of the floodway(s) as determined in section 9.8.032 of 
this chapter, 

    Compliance: See Exhibit 1. The Project Area is not within or 
proximate to the Payette River Floodway. 

   (5)  The base flood elevation (BFE) where provided as set forth in section 
9.8.032, 9.8.033, or 9.8.053 of this chapter. 

    Compliance: See Exhibit 1. 

   (6)  The old and new location of any watercourse that will be altered or 
relocated as a result of proposed development. 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/mccallid/latest/mccall_id/0-0-0-7048#JD_9.8.032


Narrative in Support of Floodplain Development Application 3 
 

    Compliance: The proposed activity will not alter, relocate or 
impact any existing watercourse. 

  (b)  Proposed elevation, and method thereof, of all development within a special 
flood hazard area including but not limited to: 

   (1)  Elevation in relation to mean sea level of the proposed lowest floor 
(including basement) of all structures. 

    Compliance: NA. No structures are proposed as part of this 
Application. 

   (2)  Elevation in relation to mean sea level to which any non- residential 
structure in Zone A, AE, AH, AO, or A1-30 will be floodproofed. 

    Compliance: NA. No structures are proposed as part of this 
Application. 

   (3)  Elevation in relation to mean sea level to which any proposed utility 
equipment and machinery will be elevated or floodproofed. 

    Compliance:  NA. No such equipment is proposed as part of this 
Application. 

  (c)  If floodproofing, a Floodproofing Certificate (FEMA Form 086-0-33) with 
supporting data, an operational plan, and an inspection and maintenance plan that include, but 
are not limited to, installation, exercise, and maintenance of floodproofing measures will be 
required prior to Certificate of Occupancy/Completion. 

    Compliance:  NA 

  (d)  Foundation Plan, drawn to scale, which shall include details of the proposed 
foundation system to ensure all provisions of this chapter are met. 

    Compliance: NA 

 

4.  General Standards, to the extent applicable to the proposed activity (MCC 9.8.051(A)): 

 15.   All subdivision proposals and other development proposals shall have received all 
necessary permits from those governmental agencies for which approval is required by Federal 
or State law, including section 404 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act Amendments of 
1972, 33 USC 1334. 

  Compliance:  The Applicants hold a Permit from the Army Corps of Engineers 
for the proposed activity. 

 

5.  Specific Standards (MCC 9.8.052):   There are no Specific Standards applicable to this 
Application. 

  



XS - 100184 BM

XS - 99982

BFE = 4928.2 FEET

XS - 101345

XS - 101650

BFE = 4930.4 FEET

BFE = 4929.7 FEET
XS - 100560 BN

XS - 100870 BO

Zone - AE

Zone - X

Source: Esri, Maxar, GeoEye, Earthstar Geographics, CNES/Airbus DS, USDA, USGS, AeroGRID, IGN,
and the GIS User Community

RIVERS CROSSING (LOT 19)

D
at

e 
Pr

in
te

d:
 1

2/
5/

20
22

PLOT PLANµ
 Symbol Legend 

FEMA XS
Approved ACOE Wetlands
Fill in Wetland
Fill within 1% AEP
Parcel Boundary

Effective
1% AEP (100-yr) SFHA
FLOODWAY

Information as displayed on map is for Planning Purposes only. The
data is approximate in terms of content and location and has been
sourced from local, state, and national government agencies.  Please 
contact Forsgren Associates Inc. with questions. 801.364.4785

25 0 25 50 75 100
Feet

CITY OF MCCALL, 
VALLEY COUNTY, ID

0 20 60
1201008040

160140
PROFILE LINE

Coordinate System: NAD 1983 2011 StatePlane Idaho West FIPS 1103 Ft US
Projection: Transverse Mercator
Datum: NAD 1983 2011
False Easting: 2,624,666.6667
False Northing: 0.0000
Central Meridian: -115.7500
Scale Factor: 0.9999
Latitude Of Origin: 41.6667
Units: Foot US

Wetlands

Wetland
Boundary

Wetland
Boundary

Wetland
BoundaryWetland

Boundary

Proposed Fill in SFHA Area

0.15 Acres

0.33 Acres

0.48 Acres

Portion of fill in wetland

Portion of fill outside of wetland

Total fill in SFHA

BFE = 4930.25-ft

BFE = 4928.63-ft

BFE =
4929.7Fill placed at or above BFE

EXHIBIT 1

Steve
Inserted Text

Steve
Inserted Text



1

BFE = 4929.7

Fill placed at or above BFE

Base Flood Elevation (BFE)

EXHIBIT 2



www.EpikosDesign.com

E P I K O S
LAND PLANNING

+
ARCHITECTURE

McCALL OFFICE
303 Colorado Street

P.O.Box 2490
McCall, Idaho 83638
Tel:  208.634.4540

Stamp:

P&Z APPLICATION SET

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RE

SI
D

EN
C

E

C  2020 EPIKOS

Date:

Sheet:

Project No:

Drawn by:

Checked by: LB

LB, ES

A2-3

Revisions:

22
1

 M
O

RG
A

N
 D

RI
V

E
M

C
C

A
LL

, I
D

 8
36

38

BIMcloud: s132-148-167-156 - BIMcloud Basic for ARCHICAD 23/SANDERS RIVER CROSSING

8/31/2020

(  PLOT DATE:         8/31/2020  )

1916

THIS IS INTENDED TO BE PRINTED ON A 24"X36" SHEET.  ALL OTHER SHEET SIZES WILL NOT BE PRINTED TO SCALE.

P&Z SITE FEATURES

Title:

131
4933.185
SE WE R MANHOLE

178
4932.921
SEWER  MANHO LE

194
4932.444
SEWER MANHOLE

320
4931.216
TE LE RISE R321

4931.223
TELE R IS ER

W2W2

SCALE: 1"   = 40'
1

BUILDING SITE CONSTRAINTS
0 20' 40' 80'

S.F.H.A.
50' SETBACK

S.F.H.A.
ZONE: AE

(1% ANNUAL
CHANCE)

BUILDABLE
ENVELOPE

6,400 SF

PAYETTE RIVER

MORG
AN DRIVE

FLOODWAY

50' FR
ONT S

ETB
ACK



 

Dwain and Cindy Sanders 
C/O Steven J. Millemann 
P.O. Box 1066 
McCall, ID 83638 
 
Re: FPDP-23-01 – Floodplain Development Permit Application for River’s Crossing Lot 19 Block 2 dated 
January 23, 2023 
 
Dear Mr. and Mrs. Sanders: 
 
Determination of Floodplain Administrator pursuant to McCall City Code: Application Denied 
 
 Basis for Determination, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law: 
 
I. Applicable Code: 

1. Floodplain Development Permit Applications are reviewed by the Floodplain Administrator. MCC 
9.8.042. 

2. The City Planner is designated as the Floodplain Administrator. 9.8.041. 
3. According to MCC 9.8.034, no land within the Floodplain can be altered or developed “in any 

way without full compliance with the terms of this chapter and other applicable regulations.” 
4. Title 9 Chapter 8 is not intended in any way to “repeal, abrogate, impair, or remove the 

necessity of compliance with any other laws, ordinances, regulations, easements, covenants, or 
deed restrictions, etcetera. However, where this chapter and another conflict or overlap, 
whichever imposes more stringent or greater restrictions shall control.” MCC 9.8.035 

5. No land may be altered within the floodplain without being in compliance “in full compliance 
with the terms of this chapter and other applicable regulations.” MCC 9.8.038. 

6. MCC 3.2.02 provides the following definitions: 
a. Development: Any construction or activity that changes the existing character or use of land 

upon which such construction or activity occurs. 
b. Excavation: See chapter 70 of the international building code. 
i. “Excavation is the mechanical removal of earth material.” - 2018 IBC 7003 

c. Record Grade: The natural grade existing prior to any site preparation grading, or filling, 
unless a new record grade is approved at the time of subdivision approval and noted on the 
filed final plat. 

d. Wetlands: Lands which are dedicated and protected in accordance with Federal laws and 
are not to be included in the calculation of land to meet the requirements for parks. 

7. MCC 3.7.023(B): Permit Criteria: No conditional use or building permit shall be issued, nor is any 
development, grading, or alteration of any land within this zone permitted, unless the applicant 
establishes to the satisfaction of the commission and council in the case of a conditional use, or 
of the administrator in the case of a building permit, that: 
1. The proposed development meets all applicable requirements of this title and title IX of this 

code. 



 

2 
 

2. The plans accurately identify the water pool shore contours and high water marks, which, in 
the case of river environs, shall mean the limits of the area of special flood hazard. 

3. A letter is on file from a specialist certified by the United States army corps of engineers 
wetlands expert that certifies that no wetlands related issues or issues related to fill of 
navigable waters issues were presented by the proposed development; or that a section 404 
permit has been issued or is forthcoming by the corps of engineers, whichever is 
appropriate, city approval(s) under this title and title IX of this code are contingent upon all 
applicable section 404 permit requirements being met; if a permit requirement is not met, 
the city may revoke its approval(s) under this title and title IX of this code. 

4. The requirements of the underlying zone are met. 
5. The fifty foot (50') building setback line is met per subsection (C)3(c) of this section. 
6. Proof of stormwater certification training has been provided by the individual applying for 

the building permit. 
8. According to MCC 3.7.023 (C) Prohibitions: No construction, alteration or activity shall cause 

harm to: 
a. Water quality. 
b. Fish and aquatic habitats. 
c. Wetlands. 
d. Significant wildlife habitat harboring any threatened or endangered species. 
e. Views of, from, or across a lake or river. 
f. To this end, all applications for building permits within this overlay zone, no matter what 

the permit may be for, shall be accompanied by a plan for the installation of appropriate 
natural, storm, and melt water drainage and treatment facilities. Such plans for natural, 
storm and melt water drainage of the property and on and through the property, shall 
be consistent with best management practices under state and federal storm and melt 
water regulatory programs to which the city is subject and consistent with other city 
programs in these regards to the satisfaction of the city. 

2. Harm Defined: "Harm" for these purposes means: 
a. The creation of conditions which foster runoff of, or other source of fertilizers, toxic 

substances, or other pollutants or contaminants, into the water; 
b. The excessive clearing of natural vegetation or change of natural landforms within the 

area between the water pool shore contour or high water mark and the fifty foot (50') 
building setback line; 

c. The removal, burial, or destruction in whole or part of boulders, sandy beaches, rocky 
shores, or other features of the water pool shore contour or high water mark, the land 
below the same, or the immediate upland edge; 

d. The filling or dredging of lake bottom or wetlands; 
e. The erection of visual barriers between the lake or river and the roads on the uplands, 

beyond the extent reasonably necessary for an owner's usage of the land for a permitted 
use; or 

f. The creation of any other condition which would be inconsistent with best management 
practices under, or threaten a violation of, state and federal storm and melt water 
regulatory programs to which the city is subject, or fail otherwise to be consistent with 
other city programs in these regards, all as established to the satisfaction of the city. 

9. Pursuant to MCC 3.8.02(G): Building Permit Required: Until a valid building permit has been 
issued by the city of McCall, no construction work, including grading, blasting, filling, trenching, 
tree removal, etc., may be started, except as permitted in section 3.8.03 of this chapter. 

10. Pursuant to MCC 3.8.23(B): Structures shall be located in a manner that preserves significant 
vegetation as set forth in section 3.8.13, as well as water courses, wildlife corridors, wetlands, 
and significant natural features. Projects should be designed so they complement rather than 



 

3 
 

dominate the natural landscape. To meet this performance standard all structures should be 
located: 
1. In one of three (3) locations: (a) within tree masses; (b) at the edge of tree or land masses 

overlooking open space; or (c) in such a way as to preserve the predominate natural 
features of the site; and 

2. At least fifteen feet (15') from any wetland, stream or watercourse. 
11. Pursuant to MCC 3.8.23(D) Site grading shall follow the natural terrain of the land and be the 

minimum necessary for development of the site as determined by the Administrator and Public 
Works Director. 

 
II. Discussion: 
A. The provisions of McCall City Code Title 3 are applicable to Floodplain Development Permits. 

 
A condition for the approval of any Floodplain Development Permit (FDP) is that all proposed 
Development must meet all applicable Laws, Ordinances, Regulations and Standards. The provisions 
of Title 9 authorizing FDP’s specifically subordinates and subjugates such permits to other applicable 
standards within the McCall City Code. In that way, a FDP is not a means by which an applicant may 
avoid the development standards and requirements provided in Title 3 of the McCall City Code.  
 

B. There are three basis found in Title 3 for the denial of the Sanders FDP: 
 

1. No building permit has been issued. 
 

MCC 9.8.042(A)(2) requires that all necessary local, State, and Federal permits have been 
received. As MCC3.8.02(G) requires a building permit prior to grading or filling. No building 
permit has been issued for this project and therefore, not all necessary local permits have been 
received. 

 
2. The proposed Development will cause unpermitted harm.  

 
MCC 3.7.023 prohibits development which will cause harm to: 
         a.   Water quality. 
         b.   Fish and aquatic habitats. 
         c.   Wetlands. 
         d.   Significant wildlife habitat harboring any threatened or endangered species. 
 
The application materials provided to date do not provide adequate evidence that the risk of 
harm has been minimized. 

 
a. The proposed FDP may result in impermissible runoff 

 
Modifications to the floodplain area for residential development may result in impermissible 
runoff from the use of fertilizers on lawn areas, excessive silt creation and hazardous 
materials being introduced to the Payette River during construction. As no building permit 
application, construction plan, or stormwater management plan has been submitted to 
date, inadequate evidence exists to determine that the proposed floodplain modification 
will not result in the creation of impermissible runoff. 

 



 

4 
 

b. The Proposed FDP will result in excessive clearing of natural vegetation or change of 
natural landforms within the area between the water pool shore contour or high water 
mark and the fifty foot (50') building setback line 

 
The proposed floodplain development permit will cause excessive clearing of natural 
vegetation and likewise represents an excessive change to natural land forms within the 
area between the river shore and the high water mark. The proposed development is 
excessive because the property in question includes an area that is large enough to support 
development without requiring excess and additional modification to the floodplain 
environment. Thus, the proposed Development on the site is in excess of what is required to 
develop the site in a way that is otherwise consistent with regulations under McCall City 
Code. 

 
c. The proposed floodplain development permit will result in the removal, burial, or 

destruction in whole or part of boulders, sandy beaches, rocky shores, or other features of 
the water pool shore contour or high water mark, the land below the same, or the 
immediate upland edge. 

 
The proposed floodplain development permit will result in the removal burial and 
destruction of features of the high-water mark (defined by MCC 3.7.023(B)(2) to be the area 
of special flood hazard along river environs), the land below the same and the immediate 
upland edge. The proposed floodplain development permit clearly proposes destruction of 
the existing high water mark land contour, filling and burial of areas below the high-water 
mark, and extension of the upland edge to a location not previously found on site.  

 
d. The Proposed floodplain development permit will result in the filling or dredging of lake 

bottom or wetlands 
 

The proposed floodplain development permit specifically and unequivocally prescribes and 
includes the filling of wetlands. Exhibit 1 of the floodplain development permit application 
clearly identifies Army Corps of Engineers delineated wetlands proposed to be filled. 

 
 

3. The proposed site grading is in excess of the “minimum necessary for development of the site 
as determined by the Administrator and Public Works.  

 
As no building permit application or Shoreline and River Environs Design Review application has 
been submitted to date, any site grading is in excess of the minimum necessary for development 
of the site. 

 
III. Conclusion. 
 

Based upon the foregoing, it is my determination that the Sanders application for FDP is denied 
because it proposes site work and grading not permissible under the above referenced sections of 
McCall City Code. 

 
IV. Availability of Appeal of this Determination 
 

Pursuant to MCC 9.9.07, this determination may be appealed according to the provision of Title III, 
Chapter 15 of the McCall City Code as follows: 



 

5 
 

 
3.15.09: ADMINISTRATIVE APPEALS: 
   (A)   A person aggrieved by a decision by the administrator under this title may appeal such 
decision to the commission.  
   (B)   Appeals shall be filed within ten (10) days after mailing of notice of decision by the 
administrator. 
   (C)   Appeals shall be conducted as a public hearing before the commission in the manner set forth 
in subsections 3.15.04 and 3.15.08 of this chapter. (Ord. 821, 2-23-2006, eff. 3-16-2006; amd. Ord. 
998, 1-14-2021) 
 
3.15.08: APPEAL OR REQUEST FOR HEARING BY AGGRIEVED PERSONS: 
   (A)   Right To Appeal: An aggrieved person may appeal the commission decision, or request a 
hearing on the commission recommendation, by filing a notice of appeal or request for hearing in 
writing with the city clerk no later than ten (10) days after the issuance of the findings and 
conclusions of the commission. When such notice of appeal or request is received, proceedings 
before the council shall be on the record made below. A notice of appeal shall set out with 
particularity the decision or part thereof from which the appeal is being taken, and whether or not 
facts found by the commission are disputed by appellant. 
   (B)   Time Limits For Actions: The council shall hold a public hearing on the appeal and the 
application appealed within forty five (45) days of the request and shall follow the hearing 
procedures established in section 3.15.04 of this chapter. When there is no required hearing, the 
council shall put the matter down on its agenda upon a date certain for the consideration of written 
and oral arguments; notice of such hearing shall be provided to appellant no later than fifteen (15) 
days before the hearing; should appellant desire to file written arguments, appellant shall do so no 
later than five (5) days prior to the hearing. 
   (C)   Stay Of Proceedings: An appeal or request for hearing stays all proceedings in furtherance of 
the action appealed from unless, after the notice of appeal or request for hearing is filed, the council 
finds that by reason of the facts stated in the application, a stay would cause imminent peril to 
health, safety or property. 
   (D)   Council Action: After the hearing has been held, the council may: 
      1.   Grant or deny the appeal or the permit; or 
      2.   Delay such decision for no longer than sixty (60) days after the hearing date for further study 
or hearing; provided, however, that the council must render a decision no later than sixty (60) days 
from the date of the hearing. (Ord. 821, 2-23-2006, eff. 3-16-2006) 
 
3.15.10: JUDICIAL REVIEW: 
A person aggrieved by a decision under this title may, after all remedies have been exhausted under 
local ordinances, seek judicial review under the procedures provided by sections 67-5215(b) through 
(g) and section 67-5216, Idaho Code. (Ord. 821, 2-23-2006, eff. 3-16-2006) 
 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/mccallid/latest/mccall_id/0-0-0-2750#JD_3.15.04
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/mccallid/latest/mccall_id/0-0-0-2786#JD_3.15.08
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/mccallid/latest/mccall_id/0-0-0-2750#JD_3.15.04


 
 Page 1 

 
Mailing Address:  P.O. Box 1066, McCall, ID  83638 

Physical Address:  706 North First St., McCall, ID  83638 
  
STEVEN J. MILLEMANN (sjm@mpmplaw.com)  TELEPHONE (208) 634-7641 
AMY N. PEMBERTON (amy@mpmplaw.com)  FACSIMILE (208) 634-4516 
AMY K. HOLM (aholm@mpmplaw.com)  
 

NOTICE OF APPEAL 
 

April 10, 2023 
 
City of McCall 
Brian Parker 
Planning & Zoning Commission 
216 East Park Street 
McCall, Idaho 83638 
 
Re: Appeal of FPDP-23-01 Floodplain Development Permit Application for River’s Crossing 
Lot 19 Block 2, Application filed January 23, 2023, Administrative Denial emailed March 31, 
2023 
 
Dear Mr. Brian Parker and Planning & Zoning Commission: 

 On behalf of our clients Dwain and Cindy Sanders, this letter shall serve as an appeal of 
the Determination of the Floodplain Administrator’s denial of the Floodplain Development 
Permit Application for River’s Crossing Lot 19 Block 2, which is referred to herein as 
“Administrative Denial.”  Pursuant to McCall City Code, this appeal is filed 10 days after the 
mailing of the Administrative Denial.  The Sanders request that a public hearing be set before the 
McCall Planning and Zoning Commission for this to be heard on June 6, 2023, or thereafter, 
based on the availability of the Sanders’ counsel.  The Sanders respectfully request that the 
McCall Planning and Zoning Commission enter findings and conclusions granting the Sanders’ 
Floodplain Development Permit Application and which findings and conclusions reverse the 
Administrative Denial.    

I. Identification of the Sanders’ Property and background 
Dwain and Cindy Sanders own a vacant lot, Lot 19 in Rivers Crossing Subdivision, 

which is approximately 5.3 acres (referred to as “Property”).  The Property abuts the Payette 
River.  At the time the Sanders submitted the Floodplain Development Permit Application, they 
held a 404 Permit issued by the Army Corps of Engineers under the Clean Water Act to fill .15 
acres of wetlands located within the Shoreline and River Environs Zone.  That permit will be 
extended by the Army Corps of Engineers and the record will reflect such as this appeal is 
decided.     

mailto:sjm@mpmplaw.com
mailto:amy@mpmplaw.com
mailto:aholm@mpmplaw.com


 
 Page 2 

The January 23, 2023, Floodplain Development Permit Application is based on the 
request to fill a total of .48 acres of a portion of the Property including the .15 acres in wetland in 
the Special Flood Hazard Area (“SFHA”) and .33 acres outside of the wetland.  The use of the 
fill is part of the “CLOMR” (Condition Letter of Map Revision) Application that the Sanders 
have applied for with FEMA.  Simply, by raising the level of the Property, the Property can be 
removed from the Special Flood Hazard Area.  This process is allowed under McCall City Code.  

The Sanders applied for a Floodplain Development Permit, which under MCC 9.8.033, 
“shall be required in conformance with the provisions of this chapter prior to the commence of 
any development activities within the special flood hazard areas.” 

The Sanders, or any future owner in interest, would still be required to comply with 
McCall City building standards, setbacks, and ultimately any placement or construction of a 
home on this Property.  If the Sanders are allowed to proceed with the fill process, any potential 
home in the future, must comply with a 50 feet Shoreline and River Environs setback and would 
be located approximately 400 feet from the Little Payette River.        

II. Legal Issues on Appeal and response to Administrator’s basis for denial 
The Sanders respectfully disagree with the City Administrator’s denial of the Sanders’ 

Application and the evidence on appeal will show that the site work and grading necessary for 
the fill process are permitted under McCall City Code.   

The Sanders are NOT proposing to install fill within the “floodway”, but they are 
proposing to install fill within a small portion of the special flood hazard area.  MCC 3.7.022  
provides that all those uses permitted in the underlying zone shall be permitted provided they 
satisfy the special conditions set forth in this chapter, except that (B) “No building and no land 
filling shall be permitted within a floodway and no building within an area of special flood 
hazard as such terms are defined in title IX, chapter 8, “Flood Control Regulations (Overlay)”, of 
this code, unless the applicant complies with the standards set forth in that chapter.” 

As defined in MCC 9.8.02: 
FLOODWAY: The channel of a river or other watercourse and the adjacent land 
areas that must be reserved in order to discharge the base flood without 
cumulatively increasing the water surface elevation more than a designated 
height. 
. . . .  
SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREA (SFHA): The land in the floodplain within a 
community subject to a one percent (1%) or greater chance of flooding in any 
given year. For purposes of these regulations, the term “special flood hazard area” 
is synonymous in meaning with the phrase “area of special flood hazard”. 
The Sanders’ Application is subject to the considerations of Title IX, Chapter 8 

only, and is not subject to the provisions of the Shoreline & River Environs Ordinance 
under MCC 3.2.020 as set forth in the record on appeal.  However, even if the Shoreline 
& River Environs Ordinance does apply, the Sanders can meet the standards of 
development for this fill project.   

1. No building permit is required for fill, but in an abundance of caution, the 
Sanders will simultaneously apply for a building permit. 

Currently, the Sanders are not requesting a permit to “build” a home or any kind of 
structure; instead, they seek approval to fill a portion of the Property with soil to raise the 



 
 Page 3 

elevation of such Property.  The applicable sections of McCall City Code regarding development 
in the Shoreline & River Environs Ordinance can be found in MCC 3.2.020.     

The Code section 3.2.023 when read in whole requires Shoreline & River Environs 
design review for single family residences/structures.  MCC 3.7.023(A).  It requires a CUP in 
certain circumstances.  It requires a building permit to build.  It does not clearly require a 
building permit to place fill.  Therefore, the Floodplain Development Application is the 
appropriate and necessary process for the City’s review of this matter.     

The purpose of the Shoreline & River Environs Ordinance is “to regulate development 
along and alterations of the shoreline of Payette Lake and the banks and immediate vicinity of 
the Payette River.”  According to MCC 2-1-040 a building permit is required for any 
“construction, improvement, extension, alteration or demolition of any building, residence or 
structure.”  MCC 3.8.02(G) states that “Until a valid building permit has been issued by the City 
of McCall, no construction work, including grading, blasting, filling, trenching, tree removal, etc. 
may be started, except as permitted in section 3.8.03 [timber harvest] of this chapter.”   

It is the Sanders position that both code sections can be given their plain meaning and 
when read together require a building permit for construction of a building, residence or structure 
and that when such building permit is required no other ancillary work (e.g. grading, blasting, 
trenching) can start until such building permit is issued.  But a request such as this to fill the 
property requires no such building permit – because no structure is being built.    

This is not an issue which is resolved by MCC 3.1.05(B), which provides that “In case of 
a conflict between the provisions of various sections of this title, the more restrictive provisions 
shall prevail. (Ord. 821, 2-23-2006, eff. 3-16-2006)”. The conflict here is not just within Title III, 
it also involves Title IX, Chapter 8 (Flood Control Regulations Overlay), which prohibits filling 
in the “Floodway”, but clearly allows for the placement of fill within the SFHA pursuant to a 
validly issued 404 Permit (see, for example, MCC 9.8.051(A)(15)). 

It is, thus, important to recognize that the reliance solely on MCC 3.7.023(C)(1) to 
resolve this issue would negate: (i) the aforesaid provisions of Title IX, Chapter 8; (ii) the 
provisions of MCC 3.7.023(B)(3), which allows for the issuance of building permits and 
conditional use permits impacting wetlands within the Shoreline Environs Zone provided that a 
404 Permit has been issued; and (iii) MCC 3.7.022(B), which allows for both buildings and fill 
within the Shoreline Environs Zone.  

The most logical way to reconcile the applicable code sections as they apply to this 
situation is that a building permit is required for fill if it is part of an application for a structure.  
The Sanders are required to apply for a Floodplain Development Permit to fill a portion of the 
Property, which is exactly what they have done.  And then, they would be required to apply for a 
building permit when a home is built. 

Whether a building permit is required becomes moot upon the Sanders application for a 
building permit to install the fill.  However, the Sanders do not waive their right to argue that no 
building is required.   

2. There will be no harm, and the Administrator provides no basis for the 
assertion that unpermitted harm would occur if the permit were granted. 

The Sanders do not waive their argument that Shoreline & River Environs Ordinance 
does not apply, but they address the Administrative Denial on each point. MCC 3.7.023(C)(1) 
prohibits “harm” to the stated water, etc.  However, (C)(1)(f) essentially requires that all 
“applications for building permits” address the “harm” issues. And, MCC 3.7.023(C)(2 ), on 



 
 Page 4 

which the City heavily relies, provides a definition of “harm”, is for purposes of the prior 
section, rather than a standalone independent ordinance. Supporting this interpretation is MCC 
3.7.023 (C)3a(3) (which requires an applicant for a building permit for a single family residence 
or accessory structure to demonstrate the absence of “harm”, “as defined above”; and under 
(3)(b) such application is evaluated under the standards of (C)(1) and (C)(2). 

The Administrative Denial of the Sanders’ Application alleges harm would occur if the 
Sanders were allowed placement of fill; however, that position is not supported by any City 
report or actual factual findings.  The Administrative Denial summarily states that harm will 
occur to water quality, fish and aquatic habitats, wetlands, and wildlife habitat harboring any 
threatened or endangered species.  To the contrary, the Sanders care deeply about preserving the 
Little Payette River, water quality, habitats, and wetlands.  The project, as proposed, would 
involve the placement of fill into .48 acres of the Property, which includes only .15 acres of 
shrub/scrub wetlands.   

Importantly, all parties involved desire to prevent harm to the Little Payette River and 
any building of a structure will require approval, which will allow for all of the stated concerns 
(water quality, habitat, wetlands) to be addressed.  So, the narrow issue for this Application is 
whether fill will cause harm, if those standards are even applicable.   

The evidence on appeal will establish that no such harm will occur if the Floodplain 
Development Application were granted.   

a. Any runoff can be safely mitigated. 
The Administrative Denial asserts that impermissible runoff will occur and sites that 

residential development may result in impermissible runoff from the use of fertilizers on lawn 
areas, excessive silt created, and hazardous materials introduced into the Payette River during 
construction.  The current Application to fill a small portion of the Property would clearly cause 
no pollution into the River, excessive silt, or any hazardous materials.  Any of those concerns 
could be mitigated by the City upon application to actually build a structure, landscape, etc.     

The Applicant will submit a stormwater management plan showing how runoff will be 
controlled both during and after placement of the fill to mitigate any concerns about runoff.   

b. Natural vegetation can be preserved. 
The Sanders received approval from the McCall City Arborist that clearing of “nuisance” 

shrubby and dead Aspen trees will benefit the remaining vegetation and foliage.  However, the 
Administrative Denial summarily claims that the proposed installation of fill will cause excessive 
clearing of natural vegetation and represents an excessive change to natural landforms within the 
area between the river shore and the high water mark.  The denial goes on to claim that the 
proposed development is excessive because there is an area “large enough” to support 
development without requiring excess and additional modification to the floodplain environment. 
The Administrative Denial, as written, does not rely on any engineering evidence.   

c. The high water mark will be maintained. 
The definition of “high water mark” pursuant to MCC 3.7.023(B)(2) as applied to this lot, 

is arbitrary, because it has no proximity to or impact on the Little Payette River.  That code 
section provides “The plans accurately identify the water pool shore contours and high water 
marks, which, in the case of river environs, shall mean the limits of the area of special flood 
hazard.” 

The very purpose of the Shoreline & River Environs Ordinance is to regulate 



 
 Page 5 

development of the banks and immediate vicinity of the Payette River.  The banks and 
immediate vicinity of the Payette River are not being developed with this fill application.  

d. The majority of the wetlands will stay intact. 
Even if the Shoreline & River Environs Ordinance is applicable, it does not prohibit fill 

in the wetland pursuant to valid 404 Permit which permitting process establishes a process for 
the wetland to stay intact. The Army Corps of Engineers has expressly allowed the fill in the .15 
acres of wetlands.  

3. The proposed site grading will comply with MCC and the minimum 
necessary for development of the Site. 

The Administrative Denial states “as no building permit application or Shoreline and 
River Environs Design Review application as been submitted to date, any site grading is in 
excess of the minimum necessary for development of the sites.”  As stated herein, no building 
permit or design review is required because the Sanders are not currently proposing to construct 
any building, residence, or structure.   

III. Conclusion 
The Sanders ask that this matter be set for a public hearing on June 6, 2023 or thereafter, 

as their attorneys Steve Millemann and Amy Holm are unavailable on May 2, 2023.  The 
Sanders believe that the record on appeal has and will establish that their Floodplain 
Development Permit should be granted, and they request that the Administrative Denial be 
reversed.    
 
      Sincerely, 
 
      Steven J. Millemann 
      Amy K. Holm 
      On Behalf of Dwain and Cindy Sanders 
  

 
 



 

1 
 

 
 

DATE:  July 17, 2023 

TO:  James Fronk, James Fronk Consulting, LLC 

FROM:  Patrick Wickman, Forsgren Associates, Inc. 

SUBJECT: River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2 – Measures to Minimize Environmental Harm 

 

1.0 PURPOSE 
 The owner of River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2 in the City of McCall, Idaho proposes to develop its parcel 
and construct a new residence (RPM05380020190) (Lot 19). Forsgren Associates, Inc. (Forsgren) was 
contracted by James Fronk Consulting, LLC (Client) to assess the proposed development’s potential to 
cause harm to the environmental resources identified in the City of McCall’s denial of a Floodplain 
Development Permit Application.  
 
McCall City Code (MCC) Section 3.7.023 prohibits development which will cause harm to:  

(a) water quality;  
(b) Fish and aquatic habitats;  
(c) wetlands; and  
(d) significant wildlife habitat harboring any threatened or endangered species.  

 
Also of concern is the potential of site development under the Floodplain Development Permit (FDP) to 
result in impermissible runoff.  
 

2.0 LOCATION  
Lot 19 is located within the River’s Crossing Subdivision at 221 Morgan Drive. The lot is bounded by the 
North Fork (NF) Payette River to its east. It is located on the inside of a meander of the NF Payette River. 
There are residential developments to the north, south, and west.  The McCall RV Resort is located across 
the river and directly north of the parcel. Riverfront Park is located east of the river. Lot 19 is 5.29 acres. 
See Figure 1.  
 

3.0 BACKGROUND RESEARCH  
 
Threatened or Endangered Species. An Information for Planning and Consultation (IPaC) Report was 
requested from the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and an email request was made to the Idaho Department 
of Fish and Game (IDFG) for a review of their Species of Greatest Conservation Need (SGCN) (Attachment 
1). These requests were made to determine potential species and habitat concerns for Lot 19.  
 
The IPaC identified three (3) threatened, endangered, or candidate species (Table 1) that may be present 
in the project area. The IPaC also states that there are no critical habitats within the project area. 
 
Fourteen (14) Birds of Conservation Concern (BCC) were identified in the IPaC (Attachment 3- Table 3). 
IDFG replied that while the agency does not conduct specific wildlife surveys on private property, they 



River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 
 

2 
 

provided records of nine (9) SGCN within 0.5 miles of Lot 19 (Attachment 3 – Table 4). Species listed within 
its database in the project vicinity are Tier 2 and Tier 3 SGCN.  No Tier 1 species (the highest priority 
species) were identified.  
 
Wetlands. Wetlands on the 5.29 acre parcel were delineated in 2020. The delineation identified a number 
of different wetland types totaling 2.7 acres. These included emergent wetlands (i.e., grasses and herbs), 
scrub-shrub wetlands (i.e., woody vegetation <6’ high), and forested wetlands (i.e., trees >6’ high). The 
highest value wetlands are the forested wetlands (aspens), which are located outside the area proposed 
for development. Proposed impacts are 0.15 acres and would affect a scrub-shrub wetland located away 
from the river (Attachment 4). 
 
Water Quality. To assess water quality, the Idaho Department of Environmental Quality’s (IDEQ) Final 
2022 §305(b) Integrated Report for the reach of the North Fork Payette River from Payette Lake to 
Cascade Reservoir was accessed. This reach is contiguous to the subject property, but still approximately 
220 feet from the proposed development.  
 
This section of the river is fully supporting Primary Contact Recreation (i.e., swimming humans) and not 
supporting Cold Water Aquatic Life or Salmonid Spawning (Attachment 1). This classifies this reach as a 
Category 5 Water (i.e., a water that does not meet applicable water quality standards for one or more 
beneficial use). Therefore, under Idaho’s Antidegradation Policy, the project must maintain and protect 
existing uses and water quality conditions.  
 
Fish and Aquatic Habitat. The North Fork Payette River provides habitat for fish and other aquatic wildlife. 
During consultation with IDFG, the agency identified one Species of Greatest Conservation Need, the 
Western Pearlshell, an invertebrate (mussel).  
 
As mentioned previously, the river is approximately 220 feet from the limits of proposed development.  
As such, the only potential for harm to the river would be attributed to runoff associated with site 
development.  
 

4.0 FIELD RECONNAISSANCE  
Field reconnaissance was performed on June 9, 2023, by Erica Koppes and Anna Weins from Forsgren. 
They were met on site by James Fronk (James Fronk Consulting) and Amy Holm (Owner’s legal counsel) 
who oriented them to the site and areas of proposed development.  The proposed development will 
include a new home and garage with various walkways and driveways built nearest Morgan Drive, 
primarily in scarcely vegetated uplands.  
 
The entire property was surveyed by foot starting at the site entrance at Morgan Drive. A thorough 
investigation was performed within the parcel boundary focused on the area of proposed development. 
The development will impact an upland area immediately east of Morgan Drive and two wetland areas. 
The wetland types to be impacted are scrub-shrub wetlands and emergent wetlands. Photos and a photo 
key from the reconnaissance are included in Attachment 2.  
 



River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 
 

3 
 

 
Figure 1. Vicinity map of River’s Crossing Subdivision Lot 19, Block 2 (Parcel RPM05380020190) 

 
The portion of the property nearest Morgan Drive is vegetated with upland grasses, scattered shrubs, and 
various flowering plants. The portion of the property further away from Morgan Drive is where wetlands 
are concentrated. This area is more densely vegetated with various flowering plants and includes clusters 
of large aspens and lodgepole pines.  
 
No bird nests were observed at the time of the site visit. Three bird species were identified at the time of 
the site visit: American Goldfinch, Red Winged Blackbird, and Common Swallow. All birds were observed 
in the eastern most wetlands adjacent to the river, outside of the influence of the proposed development. 
None of the species found in Tables 1, 3, or 4 were observed during the field visit. Most wetland areas 
were saturated with approximately 2-3 inches of standing water. A list of plants observed is included in 
Attachment 3. 
 

5.0 DISCUSSION 
 
Threatened or Endangered Species. Canada Lynx (Lynx canadensis) is a mammal species that has a 
“threatened” ESA status. The Canada Lynx habitat includes boreal spruce-fir forest ecosystems known as 
the taiga. This species prefers areas of horizontal forest cover with large populations of snowshoe hares 
(USFWS ECOS, 2023). Due to the developed nature of the site, proximity to humans, and limited access 
to prey, this species would not be found on the site and the proposed project have no effect on the 
species. 

NF Payette River 



River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 
 

4 
 

North American Wolverine (Gulo gulo luscus) is a mammal that has a “proposed threatened” ESA status. 
The North American Wolverine habitat includes a variety of biomes including Arctic tundra, subarctic-
alpine tundra, boreal forest, mixed forest, redwood forest, and coniferous forest. Their habitat is 
largely attributed to the availability of food. The North American Wolverine primarily scavenges 
carrion but can supplement their diet with small animals, birds, and fruit or berries (USFWS ECOS, 
2023). Due to the developed nature of the site, and proximity to humans, and limited food sources, this 
species would not be found on the site and the proposed project to have no effect on the species. 
 
Monarch Butterfly (Danaus plexippus) is an insect that has a “candidate” ESA status. The adult Monarch 
Butterfly habitat includes prairies, meadows, and grasslands populated with flowering plants. As Monarch 
Caterpillars only eat milkweed plants, the Monarch Butterfly relies on milkweed to lay their eggs (USFWS 
ECOS, 2023). No milkweed was observed on the project site. Many flowering plants within the property 
will remain undisturbed, providing habitat for adult Monarch Butterflies. Therefore, the proposed project 
may affect Monarch Butterfly, but is not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of this candidate 
species. 

Table 1. USFWS IPaC Endangered Species Act Listed Species 

Scientific Name Common Name ESA Listing Status Category 
Lynx canadensis Canada Lynx Threatened Mammal 

Gulo gulo luscus North American Wolverine Proposed Threatened Mammal 

Danaus plexippus Monarch Butterfly Candidate Insect 

 
SGCN and BCC Species. The SGCN lists two bird species as Tier 2 SGCN status, four bird species as Tier 3, 
one mammal (bat) species as Tier 2, one mammal (bat) species as Tier 3, and one invertebrate (mussel) 
species as Tier 2. The IDFG correspondence addressing SGCN species states that while the parcel has an 
intact native habitat with large deciduous trees; due to the surrounding developments, the agency would 
not anticipate effects from the proposed development to affect any SGCN species. No SGCN listed species 
were observed on the project site at the time of the site visit.  
 
Invertebrates will not be harmed as there is no in-channel work being performed. The correspondence 
does highlight the nesting and perching potential of the deciduous trees located on the property and 
suggests the following:  
 

“According to the Migratory Bird Treaty Act of 1918 (MBTA), if birds are actively using 
those trees for nesting and chicks are present, the nests may not be disturbed (i.e., the 
trees may not be removed) until after the chicks have fledged and permanently left the 
nest. Questions related to the MBTA and its rules and regulations should be directed to 
the Idaho U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Office at (208) 378-5243.” 

 
IDFG offered several recommended practices for residential subdivisions and houses located in areas such 
as this property. These are included in Attachment 1. 
 
The IPaC Report lists fourteen (14) bird species as BCC’s, thirteen (13) of which may breed in the vicinity 
of the project area. Breeding season for these species’ ranges from January through August. The IPaC 
provides a probability of presence summary, determining when BCCs are most likely to be present in the 
project area. No nests of the species listed were observed at the time of the site visit.  



River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 
 

5 
 

Bald Eagles (Haliaeetus leucocephalus) have been observed in the vicinity of the project and 
are well documented in the McCall area, while Golden Eagles (Aquila chrysaetos) have occasionally 
been recorded in the McCall area (IDFG, 2022). No Bald Eagles or nests were observed at the time of 
the site visit. Because of the level of human activity, bald eagles foraging in the area are likely highly 
acclimated to human activity; therefore, no impacts will occur. 
 
Wetlands. The proposed development proposes to impact 0.15 acres of the 2.7 acres of wetlands that are 
identified on the 5.29 acre site. Wetland impacts have been both avoided by placing the majority of the 
new residence in the upland area near Morgan Drive and minimized by impacting the lesser value scrub-
shrub wetlands and preserving the older forested wetlands.  
 
Impacts to wetlands will occur under a permit issued by the US Army Corps of Engineering and coverage 
under the IDEQ’s 401 Water Quality Certification blanket coverage. Permit Drawings that show wetland 
types and impacts are in Attachment 4.  
 
Stormwater and Site Control Best Management Practices (described further below) would surround the 
area of disturbance to protect adjacent wetlands. 
 
Water Quality. Protection of water quality is addressed in the conditions of the USACE permit required to 
fill wetlands, the IDEQ’s Idaho Pollution Discharge Elimination System (IPDES) Construction General 
Permit (CGP), and the City of McCall’s Drainage Management Guidelines1 
 
The USACE permit requires appropriate soil erosion and sediment control measures to be used and 
maintained in effective operating condition during construction. The IPDES CGP also requires the 
stabilization of disturbed areas and the use of Best Management Practices (BMP) to protect runoff from 
the project site to river and adjacent wetland areas. The Code also requires similar measures.  
 
An erosion control plan was developed for the project in 2020 and included in Attachment 4. The proposed 
includes the follow proposed measure:  

1. Stabilized Construction Entrance /Exit 
2. Onsite Proposed Stormwater Management Basins (6 total) 
3. Silt fencing and fiber wattles located around the perimeter of the site  

 
By implementing these proposed BMPs, the proposed project would presumably be able to adhere to 
Idaho’s Antidegradation Policy and maintain (and not diminish) the reach’s status of fully supporting 
Primary Contact Recreation and well as not create additional harm to its status of not supporting Cold 
Water Aquatic Life or Salmonid Spawning.  
 
These proposed BMPs will manage runoff and prevent impermissible runoff from occurring.  
 
Fish and Aquatic Habitat. As discussed previously, the proposed development is sited as far west on the 
parcel as possible with a minimal distance from the site to the river (approximately 220 feet). Therefore, 
harm to fish and aquatic habitat in the river are first avoided by site layout.  
 

 
1 Drainage Management Guidelines (Toothman-Orton Engineers, 1997): https://evogov.s3.amazonaws.com/141/media/115536.pdf 

https://evogov.s3.amazonaws.com/141/media/115536.pdf


River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 
 

6 
 

Additionally, the stormwater plan the contractor would implement would manage runoff during 
construction and stabilize the site post-construction. Stormwater management basins would detain 
stormwater on site so post-construction conditions match pre-construction conditions. Contractors would 
access the site through a stabilized entrance located at Morgan Drive. By following these measures, there 
would be minimal to no opportunity to harm fish or aquatic habitat.  
 

6.0 CONCLUSIONS 
Threatened or Endangered Species. No Federally listed species were observed during a field visit to the 
project area. No suitable habitat exists to support Canada Lynx, North American Wolverine, or Monarch 
Butterfly caterpillars within the project area. The proposed project would have no effect on the Canada 
Lynx and North American Wolverine and may affect the Monarch Butterfly but is not likely to jeopardize 
the continued existence of this candidate species. In other words, Block 19 does not possess significant 
wildlife habitat harboring any threatened or endangered species (MCC 3.7.023(C)(d)). The rationale for 
these decisions is provided in Table 2. 
 
The proposed development would not be anticipated to have an effect on either native plant, terrestrial 
wildlife populations, or SGCN species due to the surrounding residential development.  
 

Table 2. Threatened or Endangered Species Effects Determination 

Common Name ESA Listing Status Effect Determination Rationale 

Canada Lynx Threatened No Effect No habitat for this species in the project area. 
North American 
Wolverine 

Proposed 
Threatened No Effect No habitat for this species in the project area. 

Monarch Butterfly Candidate 

May affect; not likely to 
jeopardize the 
continued existence of 
species. 

No milkweed was observed on the project site. 
Any effect to flowering plants would be negligible 
by proposed development. Pollinator habitat 
(although no milkweed was observed) may be in 
the project area where mature riparian vegetation 
exists. Proposed BMPs are included. 

 
Wetlands. The proposed development has been designed and would be implemented to (1) avoid 
wetlands, (2) minimize impacts to higher value wetlands and (3) only impact wetlands permitted by the 
agency with jurisdiction, the USACE. Best Management Practices would be implemented during 
construction. 
 
It is believed that the proposed development has minimized the risk of harm to wetlands to the best 
practicable extent.  
 
Water Quality. By adhering to erosion and sediment control measures proposed to be implemented under 
the USACE permit required to fill wetlands, the IDEQ’s Idaho Pollution Discharge Elimination System 
(IPDES) Construction General Permit (CGP), and the City of McCall’s Drainage Management Guidelines, 
the risk of harm to water quality in the river and surrounding wetlands has been minimized to the best 
extent practicable. 
 



River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 
 

7 
 

Fish and Aquatic Habitat. Fish and aquatic habitat in the river are best protected from harm by site design 
and by the project adhering to its proposed stormwater runoff controls. By following these methods, it is 
understood the proposed development would minimize harm to these resources.  
 
Impermissible Runoff.  The construction and post-construction stormwater management plan will, at a 
minimum, follow the City of McCall Drainage Management Guidelines and manage/prevent runoff from 
the proposed development.  
 
Best Management Practices (BMPs) 
The project will remove several small to medium sized lodge pole pine trees and aspens around the 
proposed building pad. All planned work shall adhere to the Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA) and the 
Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act (BGEPA) requirements. The nesting season for this area is from May 
15th to August 15th. 
 
The Contractor shall implement the following BMP’s to support pollinators and pollinator habitat: 

1. Protect Existing Habitat: Protect existing stands of native vegetation. Ground disturbing activities 
will be limited only to those areas deemed necessary for the construction of the project. 
Disturbing existing areas of native vegetation purely for the convenience of the contractor is 
prohibited. 

2. Remove and control noxious weeds in the project limits.  
3. Herbicide Use: Reduce the risk of herbicide exposure to pollinators by: (1) Eliminating or reducing 

herbicide exposure to pollinators by first utilizing non-chemical (manual) methods to eliminate 
noxious and undesirable weeds. (2) If herbicide use is necessary, spot treat specific weeds with 
selective herbicides that do not leave residuals in the soil. (3) Treat weeds before they flower, to 
avoid spraying when pollinators are present. (4) Avoid spray application if winds are above 10 
mph. 

4. Re-vegetation: Revegetate disturbed areas with a native seed mix, including milkweed species.  
 
The Contractor shall implement the following BMP’s to protect wetlands, fish and aquatic habitat; and 
water quality: 

1. Prepare and implement a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan 
2. Adhere to the City of McCall’s Drainage Management Guidelines (1997) 
3. Proposed Best Management Practices: 

a.  Stabilized Construction Entrance /Exit 
b. Onsite Proposed Stormwater Management Basins (6 total) 
c. Silt fencing and fiber wattles located around the perimeter of the site  

 
  



River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 
 

8 
 

7.0 REFERENCES 
 
Idaho Fish and Game (IDFG), Brandon Flack (personal communication, June 08, 2023). 

Idaho Fish and Game (IDFG): View & Export. (2022, October 17). 
https://idfg.idaho.gov/species/observations/list?species_id=18587&county_id=224   (accessed 
June 12, 2023). 

McCall Code of McCall, Idaho. 1994. American Legal Publishing.  

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS): Environmental Conservation Online System (ECOS). Species 
Profile.  https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species  (accessed June 12, 2023). 

U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service (USFWS): Information for Planning and Consultation (IPaC)  
https://ipac.ecosphere.fws.gov   (accessed June 08, 2023, printed June 13, 2023). 

https://idfg.idaho.gov/species/observations/list?species_id=18587&county_id=224
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species
https://ipac.ecosphere.fws.gov/


River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 
 

 

ATTACHMENT 1 – AGENCY COORDINATION 
  



1

Erica Koppes

From: Flack,Brandon <brandon.flack@idfg.idaho.gov>
Sent: Thursday, June 8, 2023 2:43 PM
To: Erica Koppes
Cc: Patrick Wickman
Subject: RE: SGCN Species McCall Lot 19

***EXTERNAL MESSAGE*** 

Hi Erica, 
 
The Idaho Department of Fish and Game (IDFG) has received your request for a list of SGCN species on 
and around parcel RPM05380020190 (5.29 acres) located on Morgan Drive in McCall, ID for planning and 
zoning purposes. This email serves as an IDFG letter addressing fish, wildlife, and plant resources as a 
component of the natural features of the property, including any sensitive plant and wildlife species 
recorded in the project vicinity. 
  
IDFG has not conducted specific wildlife surveys on the property. The Idaho Fish and Wildlife Information 
System (IFWIS) database contains no records of special-status plant or animal species on the project 
property. The IFWIS database contains records of 9 Species of Greatest Conservation Need (SGCN) within 
0.5 miles of the property boundary.  
 

Common Name Scien fic Name Category SGCN Tier 
Clark’s Nutcracker Nucifraga columbiana Bird 3 

Common Nighthawk Chordeiles minor Bird 3 
Golden Eagle Aquila chrysaetos Bird 2 
Li le Brown Myo s Myo s lucifugus Mammal (bat) 3 
Olive-sided Flycatcher Contopus cooperi Bird 3 
Sandhill Crane Grus canadensis Bird 3 
Silver-haired Bat Lasionycteris noc vagans Mammal (bat) 2 
Western Grebe Aechmophorus occidentalis Bird 2 
Western Pearlshell Margari fera falcata Invertebrate (mussel) 2 

 
Aerial imagery indicates the parcel has a disturbed area near Morgan Dr. and that it likely has intact 
native habitat with large deciduous trees from there down to the river. The parcel is surrounded by other 
developed properties. Considering the parcel is surrounded by other development, IDFG would not 
anticipate effects from a residential home on native plant or terrestrial wildlife populations, including the 
SGCN species listed above. However, the presence of large deciduous trees can provide nesting and 
perching locations for many bird species. According to the Migratory Bird Treaty Act of 1918 (MBTA), if 
birds are actively using those trees for nesting and chicks are present, the nests may not be disturbed 
(i.e., the trees may not be removed) until after the chicks have fledged and permanently left the nest. 
Questions related to the MBTA and its rules and regulations should be directed to the Idaho U.S. Fish and 
Wildlife Service Office at (208) 378-5243. 
  
In addition, IDFG recommends the following practices for residential subdivisions and houses that are 
located in areas such as this: 

 Residents should control pets, including cats, at all times (fenced yard, keep indoors, kenneled, 
leashed, etc.). Pets, at-large, dramatically increase a residential subdivision’s negative effects on 
wildlife. 

 Prohibit the feeding of wildlife and require that potential wildlife attractants (pet food, garbage, 
gardens, etc.) be maintained in a way to reduce attraction of wildlife species (skunks, foxes, 



2

raccoons, magpies, etc.). Eliminating or minimizing the potential for wildlife depredations is the 
responsibility of the property owner. 

 Native vegetation should be retained to the extent possible during project implementation to 
support birds, small mammals, and pollinator species. 

 Yew species should not be used as landscaping plants as they are highly toxic to wildlife, pets, and 
humans. 

 Retain buffers of riparian vegetation that surround any wetland resources on the property. 
 If ponds are developed, legal water rights are required for the appropriate beneficial use (storage, 

irrigation, recreation, etc.). If the ponds will be used for fishing, a private pond permit from IDFG is 
required to stock the ponds with fish, and a live fish transport permit may also be required. 

 All fencing within and around the property should be wildlife friendly. IDFG can provide additional 
details upon request. 

  
Thank you for your interest in the state’s fish, wildlife, and plant resources.  Please feel free to contact me 
with additional information needs or other questions.   
  
Regards, 
 
 
 
Brandon Flack 
Regional Technical Assistance Manager 
Idaho Dept. of Fish and Game 
Southwest Region 
15950 N. Gate Blvd. 
Nampa, ID 83687 
Ph: (208) 854-8947 
  

 
 

From: Erica Koppes <ekoppes@forsgren.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, June 7, 2023 4:46 PM 
To: Flack,Brandon <brandon.flack@idfg.idaho.gov> 
Cc: Patrick Wickman <pwickman@forsgren.com> 
Subject: SGCN Species McCall Lot 19 
 
CAUTION: This email originated outside the State of Idaho network. Verify links and a achments BEFORE you click or open, even 
if you recognize and/or trust the sender. Contact your agency service desk with any concerns.  
 

Brandon,  
I am reques ng a list of SGCN species for planning and zoning purposes for the Parcel RPM05380020190 (5.29 
acres) and surrounding area, located in the City of McCall, Idaho. I have attached a .kmz with the project 
location. 
 
Thank you,  
Erica Koppes 
Water Resource Scientist 
 

  
1109 West Myrtle Street, Suite 300 



June 13, 2023

United States Department of the Interior
FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE

Idaho Fish And Wildlife Office
1387 South Vinnell Way, Suite 368

Boise, ID 83709-1657
Phone: (208) 378-5243 Fax: (208) 378-5262

In Reply Refer To: 
Project Code: 2023-0093162 
Project Name: Rivers Crossing - Lot 19
 
Subject: List of threatened and endangered species that may occur in your proposed project 

location or may be affected by your proposed project

To Whom It May Concern:

The enclosed species list identifies threatened, endangered, proposed and candidate species, as 
well as proposed and final designated critical habitat, that may occur within the boundary of your 
proposed project and/or may be affected by your proposed project. The species list fulfills the 
requirements of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (Service) under section 7(c) of the 
Endangered Species Act (Act) of 1973, as amended (16 U.S.C. 1531 et seq.).

New information based on updated surveys, changes in the abundance and distribution of 
species, changed habitat conditions, or other factors could change this list. Please feel free to 
contact us if you need more current information or assistance regarding the potential impacts to 
federally proposed, listed, and candidate species and federally designated and proposed critical 
habitat. Please note that under 50 CFR 402.12(e) of the regulations implementing section 7 of the 
Act, the accuracy of this species list should be verified after 90 days. This verification can be 
completed formally or informally as desired. The Service recommends that verification be 
completed by visiting the ECOS-IPaC website at regular intervals during project planning and 
implementation for updates to species lists and information. An updated list may be requested 
through the ECOS-IPaC system by completing the same process used to receive the enclosed list.

The purpose of the Act is to provide a means whereby threatened and endangered species and the 
ecosystems upon which they depend may be conserved. Under sections 7(a)(1) and 7(a)(2) of the 
Act and its implementing regulations (50 CFR 402 et seq.), Federal agencies are required to 
utilize their authorities to carry out programs for the conservation of threatened and endangered 
species and to determine whether projects may affect threatened and endangered species and/or 
designated critical habitat.

A Biological Assessment is required for construction projects (or other undertakings having 
similar physical impacts) that are major Federal actions significantly affecting the quality of the 
human environment as defined in the National Environmental Policy Act (42 U.S.C. 4332(2) 
(c)). For projects other than major construction activities, the Service suggests that a biological 



06/13/2023   2

   

evaluation similar to a Biological Assessment be prepared to determine whether the project may 
affect listed or proposed species and/or designated or proposed critical habitat. Recommended 
contents of a Biological Assessment are described at 50 CFR 402.12.

If a Federal agency determines, based on the Biological Assessment or biological evaluation, that 
listed species and/or designated critical habitat may be affected by the proposed project, the 
agency is required to consult with the Service pursuant to 50 CFR 402. In addition, the Service 
recommends that candidate species, proposed species and proposed critical habitat be addressed 
within the consultation. More information on the regulations and procedures for section 7 
consultation, including the role of permit or license applicants, can be found in the "Endangered 
Species Consultation Handbook" at:

http://www.fws.gov/endangered/esa-library/pdf/TOC-GLOS.PDF

Migratory Birds: In addition to responsibilities to protect threatened and endangered species 
under the Endangered Species Act (ESA), there are additional responsibilities under the 
Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA) and the Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act (BGEPA) to 
protect native birds from project-related impacts. Any activity, intentional or unintentional, 
resulting in take of migratory birds, including eagles, is prohibited unless otherwise permitted by 
the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (50 C.F.R. Sec. 10.12 and 16 U.S.C. Sec. 668(a)). For more 
information regarding these Acts see https://www.fws.gov/birds/policies-and-regulations.php.

The MBTA has no provision for allowing take of migratory birds that may be unintentionally 
killed or injured by otherwise lawful activities. It is the responsibility of the project proponent to 
comply with these Acts by identifying potential impacts to migratory birds and eagles within 
applicable NEPA documents (when there is a federal nexus) or a Bird/Eagle Conservation Plan 
(when there is no federal nexus). Proponents should implement conservation measures to avoid 
or minimize the production of project-related stressors or minimize the exposure of birds and 
their resources to the project-related stressors. For more information on avian stressors and 
recommended conservation measures see https://www.fws.gov/birds/bird-enthusiasts/threats-to- 
birds.php.

In addition to MBTA and BGEPA, Executive Order 13186: Responsibilities of Federal Agencies 
to Protect Migratory Birds, obligates all Federal agencies that engage in or authorize activities 
that might affect migratory birds, to minimize those effects and encourage conservation measures 
that will improve bird populations. Executive Order 13186 provides for the protection of both 
migratory birds and migratory bird habitat. For information regarding the implementation of 
Executive Order 13186, please visit https://www.fws.gov/birds/policies-and-regulations/ 
executive-orders/e0-13186.php.

We appreciate your concern for threatened and endangered species. The Service encourages 
Federal agencies to include conservation of threatened and endangered species into their project 
planning to further the purposes of the Act. Please include the Consultation Code in the header of 
this letter with any request for consultation or correspondence about your project that you submit 
to our office.



06/13/2023   3

   

▪
▪
▪
▪

Attachment(s):

Official Species List
USFWS National Wildlife Refuges and Fish Hatcheries
Migratory Birds
Wetlands



06/13/2023   1

   

OFFICIAL SPECIES LIST
This list is provided pursuant to Section 7 of the Endangered Species Act, and fulfills the 
requirement for Federal agencies to "request of the Secretary of the Interior information whether 
any species which is listed or proposed to be listed may be present in the area of a proposed 
action".

This species list is provided by:

Idaho Fish And Wildlife Office
1387 South Vinnell Way, Suite 368
Boise, ID 83709-1657
(208) 378-5243



06/13/2023   2

   

PROJECT SUMMARY
Project Code: 2023-0093162
Project Name: Rivers Crossing - Lot 19
Project Type: Residential Construction
Project Description: Forsgren Associates has been tasked with surveying a 5.3-acre property in 

McCall, Idaho to determine species present within and around the 
proposed site and the effects the proposed project has on any listed 
species. The Client intends to build a residential building on the property.

Project Location:
The approximate location of the project can be viewed in Google Maps: https:// 
www.google.com/maps/@44.892778050000004,-116.10977725993015,14z

Counties: Valley County, Idaho

https://www.google.com/maps/@44.892778050000004,-116.10977725993015,14z
https://www.google.com/maps/@44.892778050000004,-116.10977725993015,14z


06/13/2023   3

   

1.

ENDANGERED SPECIES ACT SPECIES
There is a total of 3 threatened, endangered, or candidate species on this species list.

Species on this list should be considered in an effects analysis for your project and could include 
species that exist in another geographic area. For example, certain fish may appear on the species 
list because a project could affect downstream species.

IPaC does not display listed species or critical habitats under the sole jurisdiction of NOAA 
Fisheries , as USFWS does not have the authority to speak on behalf of NOAA and the 
Department of Commerce.

See the "Critical habitats" section below for those critical habitats that lie wholly or partially 
within your project area under this office's jurisdiction. Please contact the designated FWS office 
if you have questions.

NOAA Fisheries, also known as the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS), is an 
office of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration within the Department of 
Commerce.

MAMMALS
NAME STATUS

Canada Lynx Lynx canadensis
Population: Wherever Found in Contiguous U.S.
There is final critical habitat for this species. Your location does not overlap the critical habitat.
Species profile: https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/3652

Threatened

North American Wolverine Gulo gulo luscus
No critical habitat has been designated for this species.
Species profile: https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/5123

Proposed 
Threatened

INSECTS
NAME STATUS

Monarch Butterfly Danaus plexippus
No critical habitat has been designated for this species.
Species profile: https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/9743

Candidate

CRITICAL HABITATS
THERE ARE NO CRITICAL HABITATS WITHIN YOUR PROJECT AREA UNDER THIS OFFICE'S 
JURISDICTION.

YOU ARE STILL REQUIRED TO DETERMINE IF YOUR PROJECT(S) MAY HAVE EFFECTS ON ALL 
ABOVE LISTED SPECIES.

1

https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/3652
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/5123
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/9743


06/13/2023   1

   

USFWS NATIONAL WILDLIFE REFUGE LANDS 
AND FISH HATCHERIES
Any activity proposed on lands managed by the National Wildlife Refuge system must undergo a 
'Compatibility Determination' conducted by the Refuge. Please contact the individual Refuges to 
discuss any questions or concerns.

THERE ARE NO REFUGE LANDS OR FISH HATCHERIES WITHIN YOUR PROJECT AREA.

http://www.fws.gov/refuges/


06/13/2023   1

   

1.
2.
3.

MIGRATORY BIRDS
Certain birds are protected under the Migratory Bird Treaty Act  and the Bald and Golden Eagle 
Protection Act .

Any person or organization who plans or conducts activities that may result in impacts to 
migratory birds, eagles, and their habitats should follow appropriate regulations and consider 
implementing appropriate conservation measures, as described below.

The Migratory Birds Treaty Act of 1918.
The Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act of 1940.
50 C.F.R. Sec. 10.12 and 16 U.S.C. Sec. 668(a)

The birds listed below are birds of particular concern either because they occur on the 
USFWS Birds of Conservation Concern (BCC) list or warrant special attention in your 
project location. To learn more about the levels of concern for birds on your list and how this 
list is generated, see the FAQ below. This is not a list of every bird you may find in this location, 
nor a guarantee that every bird on this list will be found in your project area. To see exact 
locations of where birders and the general public have sighted birds in and around your project 
area, visit the E-bird data mapping tool (Tip: enter your location, desired date range and a species 
on your list). For projects that occur off the Atlantic Coast, additional maps and models detailing 
the relative occurrence and abundance of bird species on your list are available. Links to 
additional information about Atlantic Coast birds, and other important information about your 
migratory bird list, including how to properly interpret and use your migratory bird report, can be 
found below.

For guidance on when to schedule activities or implement avoidance and minimization measures 
to reduce impacts to migratory birds on your list, click on the PROBABILITY OF PRESENCE 
SUMMARY at the top of your list to see when these birds are most likely to be present and 
breeding in your project area.

NAME
BREEDING 
SEASON

Bald Eagle Haliaeetus leucocephalus
This is not a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) in this area, but warrants attention 
because of the Eagle Act or for potential susceptibilities in offshore areas from certain types 
of development or activities.

Breeds Jan 1 to 
Aug 31

Bobolink Dolichonyx oryzivorus
This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its range in the continental USA 
and Alaska.

Breeds May 20 
to Jul 31

California Gull Larus californicus
This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its range in the continental USA 
and Alaska.

Breeds Mar 1 to 
Jul 31

1
2

https://www.fws.gov/birds/policies-and-regulations/laws-legislations/migratory-bird-treaty-act.php
https://www.fws.gov/birds/policies-and-regulations/laws-legislations/bald-and-golden-eagle-protection-act.php
https://www.fws.gov/program/migratory-birds/species
http://ebird.org/ebird/map/


06/13/2023   2

   

NAME
BREEDING 
SEASON

Cassin's Finch Carpodacus cassinii
This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its range in the continental USA 
and Alaska.
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/9462

Breeds May 15 
to Jul 15

Clark's Grebe Aechmophorus clarkii
This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its range in the continental USA 
and Alaska.

Breeds Jun 1 to 
Aug 31

Evening Grosbeak Coccothraustes vespertinus
This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its range in the continental USA 
and Alaska.

Breeds May 15 
to Aug 10

Franklin's Gull Leucophaeus pipixcan
This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its range in the continental USA 
and Alaska.

Breeds May 1 
to Jul 31

Golden Eagle Aquila chrysaetos
This is not a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) in this area, but warrants attention 
because of the Eagle Act or for potential susceptibilities in offshore areas from certain types 
of development or activities.
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/1680

Breeds Jan 1 to 
Aug 31

Lesser Yellowlegs Tringa flavipes
This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its range in the continental USA 
and Alaska.
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/9679

Breeds 
elsewhere

Lewis's Woodpecker Melanerpes lewis
This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its range in the continental USA 
and Alaska.
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/9408

Breeds Apr 20 
to Sep 30

Olive-sided Flycatcher Contopus cooperi
This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its range in the continental USA 
and Alaska.
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/3914

Breeds May 20 
to Aug 31

Rufous Hummingbird selasphorus rufus
This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its range in the continental USA 
and Alaska.
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/8002

Breeds Apr 15 
to Jul 15

Western Grebe aechmophorus occidentalis
This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its range in the continental USA 
and Alaska.
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/6743

Breeds Jun 1 to 
Aug 31

Willet Tringa semipalmata
This is a Bird of Conservation Concern (BCC) throughout its range in the continental USA 
and Alaska.

Breeds Apr 20 
to Aug 5

https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/9462
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/1680
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/9679
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/9408
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/3914
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/8002
https://ecos.fws.gov/ecp/species/6743


06/13/2023   3

   

1.

2.

3.

PROBABILITY OF PRESENCE SUMMARY
The graphs below provide our best understanding of when birds of concern are most likely to be 
present in your project area. This information can be used to tailor and schedule your project 
activities to avoid or minimize impacts to birds. Please make sure you read and understand the 
FAQ "Proper Interpretation and Use of Your Migratory Bird Report" before using or attempting 
to interpret this report.

Probability of Presence ( )

Each green bar represents the bird's relative probability of presence in the 10km grid cell(s) your 
project overlaps during a particular week of the year. (A year is represented as 12 4-week 
months.) A taller bar indicates a higher probability of species presence. The survey effort (see 
below) can be used to establish a level of confidence in the presence score. One can have higher 
confidence in the presence score if the corresponding survey effort is also high.

How is the probability of presence score calculated? The calculation is done in three steps:

The probability of presence for each week is calculated as the number of survey events in 
the week where the species was detected divided by the total number of survey events for 
that week. For example, if in week 12 there were 20 survey events and the Spotted Towhee 
was found in 5 of them, the probability of presence of the Spotted Towhee in week 12 is 
0.25.
To properly present the pattern of presence across the year, the relative probability of 
presence is calculated. This is the probability of presence divided by the maximum 
probability of presence across all weeks. For example, imagine the probability of presence 
in week 20 for the Spotted Towhee is 0.05, and that the probability of presence at week 12 
(0.25) is the maximum of any week of the year. The relative probability of presence on 
week 12 is 0.25/0.25 = 1; at week 20 it is 0.05/0.25 = 0.2.
The relative probability of presence calculated in the previous step undergoes a statistical 
conversion so that all possible values fall between 0 and 10, inclusive. This is the 
probability of presence score.

Breeding Season ( )
Yellow bars denote a very liberal estimate of the time-frame inside which the bird breeds across 
its entire range. If there are no yellow bars shown for a bird, it does not breed in your project 
area.

Survey Effort ( )
Vertical black lines superimposed on probability of presence bars indicate the number of surveys 
performed for that species in the 10km grid cell(s) your project area overlaps. The number of 
surveys is expressed as a range, for example, 33 to 64 surveys.

No Data ( )
A week is marked as having no data if there were no survey events for that week.

Survey Timeframe



06/13/2023   4

   

 no data survey effort breeding season probability of presence

Surveys from only the last 10 years are used in order to ensure delivery of currently relevant 
information. The exception to this is areas off the Atlantic coast, where bird returns are based on 
all years of available data, since data in these areas is currently much more sparse.

SPECIES JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC
Bald Eagle
Non-BCC 
Vulnerable

Bobolink
BCC Rangewide 
(CON)

California Gull
BCC Rangewide 
(CON)

Cassin's Finch
BCC Rangewide 
(CON)

Clark's Grebe
BCC Rangewide 
(CON)

Evening Grosbeak
BCC Rangewide 
(CON)

Franklin's Gull
BCC Rangewide 
(CON)

Golden Eagle
Non-BCC 
Vulnerable

Lesser Yellowlegs
BCC Rangewide 
(CON)

Lewis's 
Woodpecker
BCC Rangewide 
(CON)

Olive-sided 
Flycatcher
BCC Rangewide 
(CON)

Rufous 
Hummingbird
BCC Rangewide 
(CON)



06/13/2023   5

   

▪
▪

▪

SPECIES JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC
Western Grebe
BCC Rangewide 
(CON)

Willet
BCC Rangewide 
(CON)

Additional information can be found using the following links:

Birds of Conservation Concern https://www.fws.gov/program/migratory-birds/species
Measures for avoiding and minimizing impacts to birds https://www.fws.gov/library/ 
collections/avoiding-and-minimizing-incidental-take-migratory-birds
Nationwide conservation measures for birds https://www.fws.gov/sites/default/files/ 
documents/nationwide-standard-conservation-measures.pdf

MIGRATORY BIRDS FAQ
Tell me more about conservation measures I can implement to avoid or minimize impacts 
to migratory birds. 
Nationwide Conservation Measures describes measures that can help avoid and minimize 
impacts to all birds at any location year round. Implementation of these measures is particularly 
important when birds are most likely to occur in the project area. When birds may be breeding in 
the area, identifying the locations of any active nests and avoiding their destruction is a very 
helpful impact minimization measure. To see when birds are most likely to occur and be breeding 
in your project area, view the Probability of Presence Summary. Additional measures or permits 
may be advisable depending on the type of activity you are conducting and the type of 
infrastructure or bird species present on your project site.

What does IPaC use to generate the list of migratory birds that potentially occur in my 
specified location? 
The Migratory Bird Resource List is comprised of USFWS Birds of Conservation Concern 
(BCC) and other species that may warrant special attention in your project location.

The migratory bird list generated for your project is derived from data provided by the Avian 
Knowledge Network (AKN). The AKN data is based on a growing collection of survey, banding, 
and citizen science datasets and is queried and filtered to return a list of those birds reported as 
occurring in the 10km grid cell(s) which your project intersects, and that have been identified as 
warranting special attention because they are a BCC species in that area, an eagle (Eagle Act 
requirements may apply), or a species that has a particular vulnerability to offshore activities or 
development.

Again, the Migratory Bird Resource list includes only a subset of birds that may occur in your 
project area. It is not representative of all birds that may occur in your project area. To get a list 
of all birds potentially present in your project area, please visit the Rapid Avian Information 
Locator (RAIL) Tool.

https://www.fws.gov/program/migratory-birds/species
https://www.fws.gov/library/collections/avoiding-and-minimizing-incidental-take-migratory-birds
https://www.fws.gov/library/collections/avoiding-and-minimizing-incidental-take-migratory-birds
https://www.fws.gov/sites/default/files/documents/nationwide-standard-conservation-measures.pdf
https://www.fws.gov/sites/default/files/documents/nationwide-standard-conservation-measures.pdf
https://www.fws.gov/sites/default/files/documents/nationwide-standard-conservation-measures.pdf
https://avianknowledge.net/index.php/beneficial-practices/
https://www.fws.gov/birds/policies-and-regulations/permits.php
https://www.fws.gov/program/migratory-birds/species
https://www.fws.gov/program/migratory-birds/species
http://www.avianknowledge.net/
http://www.avianknowledge.net/
https://data.pointblue.org/api/v3/annual-summaries-about-data-types.html
https://data.pointblue.org/api/v3/annual-summaries-about-data-types.html
https://www.fws.gov/program/eagle-management
https://data.pointblue.org/apps/rail/
https://data.pointblue.org/apps/rail/


06/13/2023   6

   

1.

2.

3.

What does IPaC use to generate the probability of presence graphs for the migratory birds 
potentially occurring in my specified location? 
The probability of presence graphs associated with your migratory bird list are based on data 
provided by the Avian Knowledge Network (AKN). This data is derived from a growing 
collection of survey, banding, and citizen science datasets.

Probability of presence data is continuously being updated as new and better information 
becomes available. To learn more about how the probability of presence graphs are produced and 
how to interpret them, go the Probability of Presence Summary and then click on the "Tell me 
about these graphs" link.

How do I know if a bird is breeding, wintering or migrating in my area? 
To see what part of a particular bird's range your project area falls within (i.e. breeding, 
wintering, migrating or year-round), you may query your location using the RAIL Tool and look 
at the range maps provided for birds in your area at the bottom of the profiles provided for each 
bird in your results. If a bird on your migratory bird species list has a breeding season associated 
with it, if that bird does occur in your project area, there may be nests present at some point 
within the timeframe specified. If "Breeds elsewhere" is indicated, then the bird likely does not 
breed in your project area.

What are the levels of concern for migratory birds? 
Migratory birds delivered through IPaC fall into the following distinct categories of concern:

"BCC Rangewide" birds are Birds of Conservation Concern (BCC) that are of concern 
throughout their range anywhere within the USA (including Hawaii, the Pacific Islands, 
Puerto Rico, and the Virgin Islands);
"BCC - BCR" birds are BCCs that are of concern only in particular Bird Conservation 
Regions (BCRs) in the continental USA; and
"Non-BCC - Vulnerable" birds are not BCC species in your project area, but appear on 
your list either because of the Eagle Act requirements (for eagles) or (for non-eagles) 
potential susceptibilities in offshore areas from certain types of development or activities 
(e.g. offshore energy development or longline fishing).

Although it is important to try to avoid and minimize impacts to all birds, efforts should be made, 
in particular, to avoid and minimize impacts to the birds on this list, especially eagles and BCC 
species of rangewide concern. For more information on conservation measures you can 
implement to help avoid and minimize migratory bird impacts and requirements for eagles, 
please see the FAQs for these topics.

Details about birds that are potentially affected by offshore projects 
For additional details about the relative occurrence and abundance of both individual bird species 
and groups of bird species within your project area off the Atlantic Coast, please visit the 
Northeast Ocean Data Portal. The Portal also offers data and information about other taxa besides 
birds that may be helpful to you in your project review. Alternately, you may download the bird 
model results files underlying the portal maps through the NOAA NCCOS Integrative Statistical 
Modeling and Predictive Mapping of Marine Bird Distributions and Abundance on the Atlantic 
Outer Continental Shelf project webpage.

https://avianknowledge.net/
https://data.pointblue.org/api/v3/annual-summaries-about-data-types.html
https://data.pointblue.org/apps/rail/
https://www.fws.gov/program/migratory-birds/species
https://www.fws.gov/birds/management/managed-species/bald-and-golden-eagle-information.php
http://www.northeastoceandata.org/data-explorer/?birds
https://coastalscience.noaa.gov/project/statistical-modeling-marine-bird-distributions/
https://coastalscience.noaa.gov/project/statistical-modeling-marine-bird-distributions/
https://coastalscience.noaa.gov/project/statistical-modeling-marine-bird-distributions/


06/13/2023   7

   

Bird tracking data can also provide additional details about occurrence and habitat use 
throughout the year, including migration. Models relying on survey data may not include this 
information. For additional information on marine bird tracking data, see the Diving Bird Study 
and the nanotag studies or contact Caleb Spiegel or Pam Loring.

What if I have eagles on my list? 
If your project has the potential to disturb or kill eagles, you may need to obtain a permit to avoid 
violating the Eagle Act should such impacts occur.

Proper Interpretation and Use of Your Migratory Bird Report 
The migratory bird list generated is not a list of all birds in your project area, only a subset of 
birds of priority concern. To learn more about how your list is generated, and see options for 
identifying what other birds may be in your project area, please see the FAQ "What does IPaC 
use to generate the migratory birds potentially occurring in my specified location". Please be 
aware this report provides the "probability of presence" of birds within the 10 km grid cell(s) that 
overlap your project; not your exact project footprint. On the graphs provided, please also look 
carefully at the survey effort (indicated by the black vertical bar) and for the existence of the "no 
data" indicator (a red horizontal bar). A high survey effort is the key component. If the survey 
effort is high, then the probability of presence score can be viewed as more dependable. In 
contrast, a low survey effort bar or no data bar means a lack of data and, therefore, a lack of 
certainty about presence of the species. This list is not perfect; it is simply a starting point for 
identifying what birds of concern have the potential to be in your project area, when they might 
be there, and if they might be breeding (which means nests might be present). The list helps you 
know what to look for to confirm presence, and helps guide you in knowing when to implement 
conservation measures to avoid or minimize potential impacts from your project activities, 
should presence be confirmed. To learn more about conservation measures, visit the FAQ "Tell 
me about conservation measures I can implement to avoid or minimize impacts to migratory 
birds" at the bottom of your migratory bird trust resources page.

http://www.boem.gov/AT-12-02/
http://www.boem.gov/AT-13-01/
mailto:Caleb_Spiegel@fws.gov
mailto:Pamela_Loring@fws.gov
https://fwsepermits.servicenowservices.com/fws


06/13/2023   1

   

▪

▪

WETLANDS
Impacts to NWI wetlands and other aquatic habitats may be subject to regulation under Section 
404 of the Clean Water Act, or other State/Federal statutes.

For more information please contact the Regulatory Program of the local U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers District.

Please note that the NWI data being shown may be out of date. We are currently working to 
update our NWI data set. We recommend you verify these results with a site visit to determine 
the actual extent of wetlands on site.

FRESHWATER FORESTED/SHRUB WETLAND
PSSA

FRESHWATER EMERGENT WETLAND
PEM1A

http://www.fws.gov/wetlands/
http://www.usace.army.mil/Missions/CivilWorks/RegulatoryProgramandPermits.aspx
http://www.usace.army.mil/Missions/CivilWorks/RegulatoryProgramandPermits.aspx
https://ipac.ecosphere.fws.gov/wetlands/decoder?CodeURL=PSSA
https://ipac.ecosphere.fws.gov/wetlands/decoder?CodeURL=PEM1A


06/13/2023   2

   

IPAC USER CONTACT INFORMATION
Agency: Forsgren-Associates-Inc
Name: Erica Koppes
Address: 1109 W. Myrtle St.
Address Line 2: Suite 300
City: Boise
State: ID
Zip: 93702
Email ekoppes@forsgren.com
Phone: 2083423144



River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 

10 
 

ATTACHMENT 2 – SITE PHOTOS  

  
  

Photo 1. Lot entrance at Morgan Drive looking 
east. Upland area in foreground and trees in 
background to be developed. 

Photo 2. Lot entrance at Morgan Drive looking 
northeast. Neighboring house to north. 

Photo 3. Aspens and pine trees at proposed 
building site looking east. 

Photo 4. Proposed wetland area to be disturbed 
by proposed building looking east. 



River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 

11 
 

BLOCK 19 LOT 2 – PHOTO KEY   

1 3 

2 

4 



River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 

12 
 

ATTACHMENT 3 – LIST OF PLANTS OBSERVED ON SITE – JUNE 9, 2023 
 

Table 3. USFWS IPaC Birds of Conservation Concern Listed Species 

Scientific Name Common Name 

Haliaeetus leucocephalus Bald Eagle 
Dolichonyx oryzivorus Bobolink 
Larus californicus California Gull 
Carpodacus cassinii Cassin's Finch 

Aechmophorus clarkii Clark's Grebe 

Coccothraustes vespertinus Evening Grosbeak 

Leucophaeus pipixcan Franklin's Gull 

Aquila chrysaetos Golden Eagle 

Tringa flavipes Lesser Yellowlegs 

Melanerpes lewis Lewis's Woodpecker 

Contopus cooperi Olive-sided Flycatcher 

selasphorus rufus Rufous Hummingbird 

aechmophorus occidentalis Western Grebe 

Tringa semipalmata Willet 

 
Table 4. IDFG IGWIS Species of Greatest Conservation Need 

Scientific Name Common Name Category SGCN Tier 

Nucifraga columbiana Clark’s Nutcracker Bird 3 
Chordeiles minor Common Nighthawk Bird 3 

Aquila chrysaetos Golden Eagle Bird 2 

Myotis lucifugus Little Brown Myotis Mammal (bat) 3 

Contopus cooperi Olive-sided Flycatcher Bird 3 

Grus canadensis Sandhill Crane Bird 3 
Lasionycteris noctivagans Silver-haired Bat Mammal (bat) 2 
Aechmophorus occidentalis Western Grebe Bird 2 
Margaritifera falcata Western Pearlshell Invertebrate (mussel) 2 

 
  



River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 

13 
 

ATTACHMENT 3 – WETLANDS PERMIT DRAWINGS (AUGUST 2020) 

 



River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 

14 
 

  



River’s Crossing Lot 19, Block 2, McCall, Idaho 
 

15 
 

 



MCCALL AREA 
PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

Minutes 
September 12, 2023 – 4:30 p.m. 

McCall City Hall – Lower Level & MSTeams Teleconference 
216 E Park St, McCall, ID 83638 

 

McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission Page 1 of 9 
September 12, 2023 Minutes 

The Agenda has been amended on 9/12 at 1:02pm to correct the project description and legal 
description for DR-23-20 & SR-23-15 (ACTION ITEM) to reflect the project and public notice documents 
already noticed properly. The Agenda Description was dictated in error by the administrator. 

Commissioner Rock noted the change of the Agenda item description and moved to adopt the agenda as 
posted, Commissioner Moss seconded. All commissioners voted aye and the agenda was adopted. 

 
MEETING – Began at 4:30 p.m. 
 
CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL – Commissioners Robert Lyons (Chair), Dave Petty, Liz Rock, Tony 
Moss, and Dana Paugh were present. Commissioners Mihlfeith and Kinzer were absent. Brian Parker 
(City Planner), Meredith Todd (Assistant Planner), Morgan Stroud (Staff Engineer), Michelle 
Groenevelt (CED Director), and Bill Punkoney (City Land Use Attorney) were also in attendance. 
 
1. REVIEW & APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

• August 1, 2023 P&Z Minutes 
 

2. PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW MEETINGS 
 

Preliminary Development Plan Review: PUD & SUB 
500 1st St – Rick Williams of Plantation Homes for Alan Cottle 
A Preliminary Development Review Plan for a Planned Unit Development and Subdivision to create a 
48-unit single-family townhome subdivision on approximately 5.97 acres. The property is zoned R8– 
Medium Density Residential, and is more particularly described as:  

McCall Acreage tax no’s 409 and 410, situate in the SW ¼  of the S! ¼ of Section 9, T18N, R3E, 
B.M., City of McCall, Idaho 

Not A Public Hearing 
 
Rick Williams of 11049 W Altar St and Derritt Kerner of David Evans Design-Engineering presented the 
Preliminary Development Plan for 46 Units on 5.97 acres at 500 1st St in partnership with the Alan Cottle 
Group. They reviewed a number of proposed infrastructure improvements including sewer and water 
improvements and ROW expansion, as well as potential site amenities such as Pickleball and a small, 
private community gym.  
 
Commissioners asked whether there will be other traffic or circulation improvements warranted with 
the development and a traffic study will be completed for the full application. There will likely be 
significant improvement of 1st St across the frontage of both properties.  
 

Preliminary Development Plan Review: PUD & SUB 
520 1st St – Rick Williams of Plantation Homes for Dennis Harmon 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DBED48EB-9897-4800-BD4F-2AC7CA27EBE2



 
McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission Page 2 of 9 
September 12, 2023 Minutes 
 

A Preliminary Development Plan Review for a Planned Unit Development and Subdivision to create a 
6-unit single-family townhome subdivision on approximately 0.82 acres. The property is zoned R8 – 
Medium Density Residential, and is more particularly described as: 

The Easterly part of McCall Acreage Tax No. 201 and Amended Tax No 202, situate in the SW ¼ 
of the SW ¼ of Section 9, T18N, R3E, B.M., City of McCall, Idaho.  

Not A Public Hearing 
 

Rick Williams of 11049 W Altar St and Derritt Kerner of David Evans Design-Engineering presented the 
Preliminary Development Plan for 6 units at 520 1st St. This property will be connected via a through-
private-street with the project at 500 1st St. Mr. Derritt asked whether some kind of alleviation would be 
possible to pursue a closer setback to the old Railroad Right-Of-Way and commissioners recommended 
the applicants work on the issue with staff to determine options available. Commissioners also asked 
whether any local housing units would be available and Mr. Williams indicated it would not be possible 
to complete the 2,000 to 2,200 square foot units for less than $800,000-$1.2 million per unit across both 
projects. Commissioners asked for more information on what the units would include and Mr. Williams 
described there would be at least 2-3 bedrooms, a 2-car garage and 1-2 bathrooms in each unit.  
 
Mr. Williams discussed some of the sewer improvements and asked Jeff Bateman, District Manager at 
Payette Lakes Recreational Water & Sewer District, to describe the sewer improvement expectations in 
brief. He mentioned some changes to locations of lines to be determined based on engineering design.  

 
Preliminary Development Plan Review: CUP 
1207 Zachary Dr – Colby Patchin 
A preliminary Development Plan Review for a Short Term Rental with an Occupancy greater than 10 
persons. The property is zoned R4 – Low Density Residential, and is more particularly described as:  

McCall Acreage Tax No 99, situate in the NE ¼ of the NE ¼ of Section 7, T18N, R3E, B.m>, City of 
McCall, Valley County, Idaho. 

Not A Public Hearing 
 
Colby Patchin of 1207 Zachary Road and Kelly Hill of DoneRight Management presented the pre-
application to entitle the use of a single-family residence with 8 bedrooms as a Short-Term Rental for a 
total of 18 occupants following the maximum set by the city as two (2) persons per bedroom plus two 
(2). The home has previously been operated as a Short-Term Rental with minimal challenges and has an 
inadvertent ADU inside that has been corrected structurally to only allow access to the additional living 
space from within the existing dwelling. The Neighborhood Meeting has been completed already. The 
property has an interesting access via “Zachary Road” which provides access to 3 other homes. Guests 
will be required to park on the property, and not on the access easement due to the possibility of 
impeding the access easement at the wishes of the neighboring owners. 
 
Ms. Hill described the noise monitoring and video monitoring systems that DoneRight uses to better 
keep an eye on properties and ensure the tenants renting the property are abiding by the City and 
DoneRight rules and regulations including noise ordinances and tenants/guests allowed on property. 
Commissioners asked Mr. Patchin to be cognizant of having parking reasonably limited, trash service 
that is realistic to manage the waste of the property, and how they plan to enforce the rules they’ve 
developed beyond the conceptual level.  
 
3. CONSENT AGENDA 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DBED48EB-9897-4800-BD4F-2AC7CA27EBE2



 
McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission Page 3 of 9 
September 12, 2023 Minutes 
 

All matters which are listed within the consent section of the agenda have been distributed to each 
member of the McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission for reading and study. Items listed are 
considered routine by the Commission and will be enacted with one motion unless a commissioner 
specifically requests it to be removed from the Consent Agenda to be considered separately. Staff 
recommends approval of the following ACTION ITEMS: 

 
ROS-23-01 (ACTION ITEM) 
TBD Spruce St – Greco Construction 
A Record of Survey application to create four (4) total lots of 11,072 square-feet, 11,072 square-feet, 
11,072 square-feet, and 10,370 square-feet. The property is zoned R4 – Low Density Residential, is 
located within the Spring Mountain Boulevard Scenic Route Buffer, and is more particularly 
described as: 

The SE ¼ of the NE ¼ of Section 9, T18N, R3E, B.M., City of McCall, Valley County, Idaho 
Not a Public Hearing 
 
ROS-23-02 (ACTION ITEM) 
TBD Osprey Dr/Appaloosa Trl 
An Application for a Record of Survey to combine Lots 88, 89, and 108 of Block 13 of Whitetail PUD 
Phase 2 for a combined lot acreage of 4.547 acres or 198,073 square feet. The property is zoned RR 
– Rural Residential, and is more particularly described as: 

Lots 88, 89, and 108 of Block 13 of Whitetail PUD Phase 2, situate in the SE ¼ of the NW ¼ of 
Section 13, T18N, R2E, B.M., City of McCall, Valley County, Idaho. 

Not a Public Hearing 
 
AA-22-14 (ACTION ITEM) – IMPACT AREA 
2030 Payette Dr – Ryan McColly for Mike Gustavel 
An Application for Administrative Design Approval to substitute the exterior finish materials on a 
single-family home which was previously granted Commission-Level Design Review Approval. The 
original Design Review approval was to construct a 6,081 square foot residence with attached 
garage adjacent to Payette Lake. The property is zoned R4 – Low Density Residential and is more 
particularly described as: 

Lot 3, Block 1 of Syringa Park - State Subdivision situate in Section 32, T18N, R3E, B.M., Valley 
County, Idaho.  

Not a Public Hearing 
 

Findings of Fact & Conclusions of Law from August 1, 2023, P&Z Commission Agenda & Review 
 
CUP-23-04 & DR-23-17 (ACTION ITEM) 
400 Krahn Lane – IMPACT AREA 
Vince Beer: An application for a Conditional Use Permit and Design Review to develop a new self-
storage facility with three (3) buildings, to include a total of 190 storage units of varying size. An 
existing single-family residence will remain on site. The property is zoned CC – Community 
Commercial and is more particularly described as: 

A parcel located in the SE ¼ of Section 16, T18N, R3E, B.M., City of McCall, Valley County, Idaho. 
 
DR-23-18 & SR-23-11 (ACTION ITEM)  
415 S Samson Trail – IMPACT AREA 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DBED48EB-9897-4800-BD4F-2AC7CA27EBE2



 
McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission Page 4 of 9 
September 12, 2023 Minutes 
 

Kim Apperson: An application for Design Review & Scenic Route Review to construct a new, 800 
square foot accessory garage on a parcel with an existing single-family residence and small 
accessory structures. The property is zoned R1 – Residential 1 Acre, and is more particularly 
described as: 

Tax No’s. 18-A and 18-B of Lot 16 of Block 1 of the West Place Subdivision, situated in the SW ¼ 
of the SW ¼ of Section 15, T18N, R3E, B.M., Valley County, Idaho. 

 
Commissioner Petty moved to approve the consent agenda, Commissioner Moss seconded. All 
commissioners voted aye and the motion carried. 
 
4. OLD BUSINESS - No old business 
 
5. NEW BUSINESS 

 
DR-23-20 & SR-23-14 (ACTION ITEM) 
1111 Knowles Rd – David Henderson 
An application for Design Review and Scenic Route Review to rebuild a collapsed commercial 
building and construct a new addition of residential space, creating a mixed-use development. new 
self-storage facility with three (3) buildings, to include a total of 190 storage units of varying size. An 
existing single family residence will remain on site. The property is zoned CC – Community 
Commercial and is more particularly described as: 

A parcel located in the SE ¼ of Section 16, T18N, R3E, B.M., City of McCall, Valley County, Idaho. 
An Application for Design Review and Scenic Route Review to reconstruct a collapsed portion of 
an existing commercial building and construct a residential addition onto the rear of the structure, 
creating a mixed-use development with one commercial unit and one residential unit. The Site 
will also provide 4 parking spaces and proposes to include and Electric Vehicle Charging station. 
The Property is zoned CC – Community Commercial, is located within the West Lake Street Scenic 
Route Overlay, and is more particularly described as:  

McCall Acreage Tax No. 36-A-1, situate in the SE ¼ of the NE ¼ of Section 7, T18N, R3E, B.M., 
City of McCall, Valley County, Idaho 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 
David Henderson of 3241 Big Creek Rd in New Meadows and owner of 1111 Knowles Rd, presented the 
application to reconstruct a commercial structure and add a residential unit to create a mixed-use 
building and development. His hope is to use the commercial space as a low-impact retail space and add 
a 2-bedroom 1-bathroom apartment above/behind the unit. Commissioners mentioned they would 
prefer having less vehicular access points but understand there is an existing access on the N side of the 
existing building.  
 
Mr. Parker provided the Staff Report and mentioned the proposal is generally consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Regulations. The main condition of approval would be to move the 
parking area to south of the building to comply with Scenic Route standards, add a more detailed 
pedestrian pathway/entrance, and get a detailed ground level topographic survey due to the building 
heigh being greater than 30 feet.  
 
Ms. Stroud provided the Engineering Report. The Streets department recommends the driveway be as 
far from the intersection with SH55 as possible, therefore on the South side of the building if possible as 
typically only 1 driveway access is maintained by the City in the winter. Ms. Stroud would also like to see 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DBED48EB-9897-4800-BD4F-2AC7CA27EBE2



 
McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission Page 5 of 9 
September 12, 2023 Minutes 
 

further clarification on the way stormwater is managed on the property given the flat lot and lack of 
space for a frontage swale.  
 
Chairman Lyons opened and closed the public hearing with no comments from the public. 
 
Commissioner Petty mentioned he doesn’t see reorienting much of the design will play along well with 
the existing foundation and wonders if the request to change the vehicular access would be too much to 
ask given the constraints of the existing building. Commissioners also discussed whether there will be 
adequate drainage. Ms. Stroud clarified that with such a small building footprint there should be enough 
space to manage for the snow, the applicant may need to get creative and pile snow strategically. 
 
Commissioner Petty moved to approved DR-23-20 & SR-23-14, Commissioner Moss seconded.  
 

Appeal of FPDP-23-01 (ACTION ITEM) 
221 Morgan Dr – Amy Holm 
An appeal of the Administrator’s decision to deny a Floodplain Development Permit Application. The 
property is zoned RE – Residential and is more particularly described as: 

Lot 19, Block Two of the River’s Crossing Subdivision situate in the S ½ of Section 17, T18N, R3E, 
B.M., City of McCall, Valley County, Idaho. 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 
Amy Holm of MPMP Law at 706 N First St and Jim Fronk of 14028 Norwood Rd, Environmental 
Consultant presented the Appeal to the Decision of the Administrator to deny a Floodplain Development 
Permit Application. The Sanders’ wish to fill some of the 100-year floodplain according to the FEMA 
process to enable the desired development on their property. 2.7 acres of the property are delineated 
wetland area. The proposed filling would impact 5% of those 2.7 acres. At the FEMA level, the process 
for this would be a Conditional Letter of Map Revision (CLOMR) to change the Base Flood Elevation (BFE) 
and subsequent shape of the Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA). Continuing the Federal Process, upon 
completing the CLOMR, the fill would be applied, and then the FEMA map for the 100 Year Flood would 
be updated to reflect the impact of the fill in raising some ground elevation.  
 
Referring to Exhibit 1, Ms. Holm and Mr. Holm identified the cross-hatched area totaling .15 acres as the 
wetlands to be filled; 0.33 acres of will are in 1% Floodplain but are not delineated as wetlands. This 
would be a total of 0.48 acres of fill. Mr. Fronk described the three classifications of wetlands present on 
the site and mentioned most is a shrub/scrub wetland. Ms. Holm described that upon applying for the 
Floodplain Development Permit according to the requirements in MCC 9.8.043 and that the application 
was denied by the Floodplain Administrator (City Planner in McCall). Other details provided by the 
appellant representative are included in the attachments to these minutes. 
 
Commissioners asked the representatives the longer history of the previous applications for a Variance 
in earlier history. The previous Variance application had been denied based on the determination of 
there being adequate buildable area on the property and therefore not meeting the standards for a 
Variance. The application/appeal at this point is not based on those same plans, and have specifically 
endeavored to pursue environmental impact information to form a more detailed basis for determining 
impact.  
 
Commissioners asked for some clarification on the procedure for their process and Mr. Punkoney 
clarified that the Commission should first open the public hearing, then move to admit all of the 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DBED48EB-9897-4800-BD4F-2AC7CA27EBE2



 
McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission Page 6 of 9 
September 12, 2023 Minutes 
 

information provided by the applicant thus far into the record, hear the staff report, collect any public 
testimony. 
 
Commissioner Moss moved to open the public hearing and admit all of the applicants testimony to the 
record. Commissioner Petty seconded. A Roll Call vote was held: 
Petty, Paugh, Lyons, Moss, Rock  
 
Mr. Parker and Mr. Punkoney provided the Staff and Legal Report. Mr. Parker reviewed the “abrogation” 
clause for interpreting conflicting sections. Because the applicants are requesting to do a fill-only 
process involving filling, grubbing, dredging, scrubbing or excavating within the Shoreline Environs Zone, 
the applicants must prove they are causing no harm. Harm is defined in the Shoreline Environs code to 
include “filling.” There also is no proposal for the property at this time beyond adding the fill. 
Commissioners asked for clarification on all the different  
 
Chairman Lyons called for public testimony: 
 
One letter of opposition to the appeal was submitted by Charles Petrock 
 
Cindy Sanders, owner of 221 Morgan Dr spoke in support of her appeal clarifying that they are trying to 
follow the processes required of both the HOA and the City and hope this is the way to do it. 
 
Chairman Lyons closed the public comment period.  
 
Ms. Holm rebutted the Staff Report and argued that the Shoreline Environs Zone rules from Title 3 
Chapter 7 (.023) do not apply because the request is not yet for a building and does not cause “harm” 
based on the analysis of a professional Biologist as included in the record. She argues that only the 
instructions of the Floodplain process in Title 9 are applicable, therefore granting the Floodplain 
Development Permit previously denied by the administrator. Mr. Fronk added that in preparation for 
the Federal Process beyond the McCall City Code Compliance process, the property has completed 
extensive environmental research but stands at this juncture awaiting direction from the City of McCall 
regarding the Floodplain Development Permit.  
 
Commissioner Petty asked for clarification on what standard(s) applies to placing “fill” in the cross-
hatched, proposed fill area and Mr. Punkoney clarified that the only standards applicable in this process 
that are for deliberation at this time. For simplicity, Mr. Punkoney asked Mr. Parker what code sections 
apply to this request:  

1) Title 9.8 – Floodplain Ordinance 
2) 9.8.035  
3) Title 3.7  
4) 3.07.022 

 
Commissioner Rock asked to have clarification on where Title 3 requires a building permit for fill 

 
5) 3.8.02(G) – Filling, Grubbing, 3.8.023 (Timber Harvest is only exception) 

 
Michelle Groenevelt clarified that the code sections in conflict were identified as the reasons for denial 
with the ultimate intent of the code as written being to restrict filling of wetlands. Mr. Parker also 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DBED48EB-9897-4800-BD4F-2AC7CA27EBE2



 
McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission Page 7 of 9 
September 12, 2023 Minutes 
 

mentioned that any conflicts or less restrictive information in the Floodplain Ordinance is language 
provided by FEMA, which by including in City Code allows for lower flood insurance rates.  
 
Mr. Punkoney also made a few clarifications with the commission for the record asking: 

Did any commissioner do a site visit?  
Commissioner Lyons had visited, 5 years ago but never in relationship to the current appeal 

Does any commissioner have any pecuniary interest or conflicts? 
Resounding no from all commissioners.  
 
Mr. Punkoney indicated he  had completed his questions.  
 
Commissioner Petty moved to close the public hearing, Moss seconded. All commissioners voted to close 
the public hearing. 
 
Commissioner Rock summarized the process staff described being: 1) Fill requires a building permit, 2) 
you cannot get a building permit which causes harm, which filling a wetland is; 3) therefore the 
Floodplain Permit is denied and the decision of the Administrator should be upheld. Commissioner 
Paugh concurred. Commissioners Rock and Paugh referenced back to the code indicating that what they 
are aiming to do simply doesn’t allow for the process because filling the wetland is not allowed by code 
at this time. Commissioner Petty agreed that at this time, with this code, and with the request being to 
fill a wetland, he agrees the commission should uphold Staff’s determination.  
 
Mr. Punkoney advised the Commission to include “directing staff to draft findings and conclusions 
consistent with Staff’s Decision” 
 
Commissioner Rock moved to direct staff to draft findings consistent with Staff’s Decision. Commissioner 
Paugh seconded. A roll call vote was held.  
 
Chairman Lyons – No 
Commissioner Moss – Yes 
Commissioner Petty – Yes 
Commissioner Paugh – Yes 
Commissioner Rock – Yes 
 

Appeal of AA-23-12 (ACTION ITEM) 
200 Lenora St – Lakeshore Board Shop 
An appeal of the Administrator’s decision to deny an application to utilize waterskis as a roofing 
material. The property is zoned CBD – Central Business District, and is more particularly described 
as: 

Government Lot 3, Block 4 situated in Section 9, T18N, R3E, B.M., Amended Plat of McCall, 
Original Townsite Book 1, Page 39 of Plats of Valley County, City of McCall, Valley County, Idaho. 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 
Commissioner Moss moved to open the public hearing. Commissioner Petty seconded.  
 
Mr. Parker provided the staff report recommending denial of the Waterski-roofing installation installed 
without an Administrative Design Review. The waterskis are located along the street frontage rooflines 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DBED48EB-9897-4800-BD4F-2AC7CA27EBE2



 
McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission Page 8 of 9 
September 12, 2023 Minutes 
 

and are dayglo colors that are not what staff would describe as snow country roofing application or 
natural materials.  
 
Cade Huskinson, owner of Lakeshore Board Shop said he did do the water skis and design changes 
without a permit and that he doesn’t wish to argue with Staff’s interpretation of code. He did however 
want to discuss the spirit of the Downtown Master Plan and Commercial Design Guidelines promoting 
the McCall Area as a Recreational Hub with a creative spirit.  
 
Commissioners asked for clarification on the safety and application of the waterskis and Mr. Huskinson 
clarified that they are screwed to the roof support beams. He believes that the snow will sluff off of the 
skis and heat-tape will be installed between the existing roof and the water skis in the gap between the 
materials. Ms. Todd clarified that waterskis are not a tested or classified roofing material so we at the 
staff level cannot speak to whether or not the waterskis are 
 
Mr. Punkoney asked to clarify if an application for Admin Approval was submitted, and it was, after the 
installation of the waterskis.  
 
Chairman Lyons called for public testimony. 
 

Judith O’Flaherty of 126 E Park St in McCall spoke in appreciation of code and as a non-roofing 
materials expert, and she spoke in support of the spirit of the appeal due to the natural world 
being broader in color scheme than  
 
5 letters in support had been submitted before the meeting packet deadline supporting the skis 
as good character brightening up the downtown. 

 
Chairman Lyons closed the public testimony.  
 
Moss moved to close the public hearing, Petty seconded.  
 
Commissioner Rock said she loves the creativity, but considering being consistent with all other color 
and creative decisions made, she does not see a code-related pathway for granting the Appeal. 
Commissioners Paugh and Moss concurred. Chairman Moss agreed that this would not be a can of 
worms that would be easy to contain across all development standards if opened.  
 
Commissioner Petty moved to uphold staff’s denial and directed staff to draft findings and conclusions 
consistent with denial. Commissioner Rock seconded. A roll call vote was held.  
 
Petty - Yes 
Moss - Yes 
Lyons - Yes 
Paugh - Yes 
Rock - Yes 
 

Appeal of AA-23-13 (ACTION ITEM) 
407 South 3rd Street – Payette Lakes Recreational Water and Sewer District 
An appeal of the Administrator’s decision to deny an application for administrative approval to 
construct a fence in the front yard of an existing residential property within the CC – Community 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DBED48EB-9897-4800-BD4F-2AC7CA27EBE2



 
McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission Page 9 of 9 
September 12, 2023 Minutes 
 

Commercial zone within a Scenic Route overlay zone. The property is zoned CC – Community 
Commercial and is more particularly described as: 

McCall Acreage Tax No. 57A-3 situate in Section 16, T18N, R3E, B.M., City of McCall, Valley 
County, Idaho 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 
Commissioner Lyons moved to open the public hearing, Commissioner Petty seconded. Unanimous. 
 
Jeff Bateman, District Manager at PLRWSD presented his appeal relating to the workforce housing 
duplex being used for On-call Sewer Staff, and a permanent staff member. While there isn’t hazardous 
material inside the fenceline as required to allow fencing in the zone, Mr. Bateman believes there is a 
safety, privacy and security hazard to the tenants including children and therefore the fence can protect 
the tenants from any hazards off of the property. He presented some photos identifying where on the 
site the proposed 6-foot cedar-fence ought to go in order to make the kids be better protected from any 
potential weirdos looking in from the highway.  
 
In new materials, Mr. Bateman has included the concept of a landscaped berm and would be a potential 
option and would be more interested in working with staff. Mr. Punkoney mentioned it may be more 
prudent to potentially withdraw the appeal, submit more aesthetically appealing materials and 
landscaping, and accomplish everybody’s goals. Mr. Bateman agreed to withdraw his appeal and work 
with staff on an option that could meet the City and Districts needs. 
 
No further deliberation was required.  
 
6. OTHER 

• Select ADA Training Date – Special Meeting (ACTION ITEM): 
o 4 hours requested by Planning Consultant Team – October 11 – 2:00-6:00pm 

• Signs approved administratively:  

• Upcoming Meeting Agenda – October 3, 2023 – Tentative 
o DR-23-21 – 615 Fox Ridge Rd – Single-Family Dwelling 
o DR-23-22 – 1697 Club Hill Rd – Single-Family Dwelling 
o DR-23-23 & SR-23-15 – 2326 Northshore Dr – Single-family Dwelling 
o DR-23-25 & SH-23-08 – TBD Rainbow Ln – Single-Family Dwelling 
o MPA-23-02 – 411 Railroad Ave – Depot Condominium Replat 
o CUP-23-07, DR & SH – Mile High Marina Expansion 
o ROS-23-03 – 209 Mather Rd 
o ROS-23-04 – 919 Flynn Ln 

   
7. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Commissioner Moss moved to adjourn the meeting – 7:47pm, Commissioner Paugh seconded. All 
commissioners voted aye and the meeting ended.  
 
Signed:    Attest: 
 
__________________________   __________________________ 
Robert Lyons, Chairman    Brian Parker 
McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission City Planner 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DBED48EB-9897-4800-BD4F-2AC7CA27EBE2



NAME 

PUBLIC HEARING 
SIGN IN SHEET 

McCall Area Planning & Zoning Commission 
September 12, 2023 

Item 
Primary ADDRESS 

In favor, 
Opposed, or 

Neutral 

l, C-IL GV I LA.,lAM S !2ef~ nh ~ 

* se,e,, b.e/ow be · 

0 \ 5 

I Y o 7-B Norz.woo D r2-D 

? 
I 

? ? 
.,. , 

, UJ!!J { Oil /1,w,.) ? 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DBED48EB-9897-4800-BD4F-2AC7CA27EBE2



NAME 

PUBLIC HEARING 
SIGN IN SHEET 

McCall Area Planning & Zoning Commission 
September 12, 2023 

Item In favor, 
Primary ADDRESS Commenting Opposed, or 

On Neutral 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DBED48EB-9897-4800-BD4F-2AC7CA27EBE2



From: CHARLES PETROCK
To: Brian Parker
Cc: Meredith Todd
Subject: Rivers Crossing Lot 19 / Block 2 / 221 Morgan Dr / Opposition to wetland modifications
Date: Tuesday, September 12, 2023 2:42:25 PM

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you
recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

Hello Brian.
I am responding to the public comments' opportunity for 221 Morgan Dr. 
SITE DEVELOPMENT:  My limited understanding is that the property is seeking to make
considerable changes to the property which will affect the wetlands.  In addition, I have heard
they intend to build two houses on the lot and both might exceed the HOA guidelines.  I do
not know the owners and have no malice against their project if they meet the HOA guidelines
and McCall City standards.
I have been a full-time resident of Rivers Crossing for over 5 years. I chose to live in this sub-
division in part because the HOA's website and numerous HOA guidelines and other
documents convey the importance to respect the surroundings and minimize disturbance of
existing terrain.  Such considerations follow:

EXAMPLES OF APPROPRIATENESS:  A few examples from the Rivers Crossing Design Guidelines
(8/17/20) include the following:
(1.2 Primary Goals) 'human scale', not dominate the terrain, 'adaptation to the site in every
possible way, including winter climate, its terrain....natural vegetation'.
(1.3 Design Theme) '..establishing compatibility between well designed building and the
natural environment'....residential areas should blend structures and landscape, respecting
natural landforms and existing vegetation'.
(2.1a1 Building Siting) '....cohesively integrate into existing terrain.
(2.1a2 Building Siting) ' New buildings ....should be placed on the site with respect to the
existing key features such as tree massing, topography, and rock outcroppings'.   'The
objective is to give each house a sense of unity within its site and surroundings, providing scale
to each house so as not to dominate the site'. 
(2.1a3 Building Siting) 'Building siting shall be responsive to existing features of terrain,
drainage patterns,.....'
(2.1a5 Building Siting) 'Buildings should step with the contours of the site'
(2.1b Grading)  'Grading should blend into natural landscape.  '.....site to avoid erosion'

WETLAND AND FLOOD PLAN CONCERNS:
I often kayak from the Payette Lake Dam in McCall and I frequently use the path to the bridge
to access River Front park.  I have many times seen the water cover a large percentage of this
property. I have seen the gravel path underwater and this property covered in water to within
200 feet of the paved parts of Morgan Drive.

DocuSign Envelope ID: DBED48EB-9897-4800-BD4F-2AC7CA27EBE2

mailto:charles_petrock@hotmail.com
mailto:bparker@mccall.id.us
mailto:mtodd@mccall.id.us


Changing this flood plan could adversely affect areas up and down stream from this property.
During high water it would create a bottle neck and potentially flood up river areas.  Down
stream it could potentially create increased erosion as the shape of the river is changed and
the flow rates changed. It could potentially impact the foundation of the walk bridge.
Reducing wetland area may also cause a change in habitat or vegetation as the rate water
saturation and dispersion is modified. 

BUILDING SQUARE FOOTAGE:  
According to the Rivers Crossing Design Guidelines, "4. Estate Homes", 'The total square
footage of a heated, livable space in a Single Family Structure or a Primary/Secondary
Structure on an Estate Lot may not be less than 2800 nor more than 7000 square feet.  Total
square footage of a Secondary Structure on these Lots may not be less than 600 nor more
than 750 square feet plus garage if any."

CONCLUSION/SUMMARY: 
To be consistent in the manner which River Crossing defines itself to the public and within its
documentation, I oppose a variance to the Wetland and I oppose any construction which does
not fit the character and guidelines written and inherent to Rivers Crossing intended use and
design constraints.   I believe damaging the Wetlands is a disservice to McCall way of life and
that oversized houses are a disservice to the character of the neighborhood.  Society no
knows that wetlands are an extremely important aspect of nature and human survival and we
should error and defending our natural resources.  Removing small chunks here and there add
up. 

Thank you.  Charles Petrock  155 Morgan Dr. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: DBED48EB-9897-4800-BD4F-2AC7CA27EBE2



From: Stephanie Kunkel
To: Brian Parker
Subject: Public comment Lake town 9/12
Date: Tuesday, September 12, 2023 11:17:11 AM

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless
you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

As the business next to Lake town, we have enjoyed the fun aesthetic they have added to our corner with the skis!
As a ski town, and with the shift toward art on display in downtown McCall, we think it fits well, and we hope you
will allow town to keep a great installation for all to enjoy!
Northfork Coffee

Sent from my iPad

DocuSign Envelope ID: DBED48EB-9897-4800-BD4F-2AC7CA27EBE2

mailto:steph@northforkcoffeeroasters.com
mailto:bparker@mccall.id.us


From: lifeisariver@icloud.com
To: Brian Parker
Subject: Laketown Store Front - Cade Huskinson appeal
Date: Tuesday, September 12, 2023 12:29:04 PM

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you
recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

Hi Brian, just wanted to comment on the skis that Cade Huskinson put up on the Laketown
building.  I think they look great, and are a true representation of a local ski town rustic decor..
The Council should be impressed by Mr. Huskinson’s effort to make the store front look fun
and inviting! Please allow him to keep his ski decor up.

THanks,

Tricia Warren
1942 Pilgrim Cove Rd
McCall, ID 83638
lifeisariver@icloud.com
“Life is a River—Prepare to Get Wet"

DocuSign Envelope ID: DBED48EB-9897-4800-BD4F-2AC7CA27EBE2

mailto:lifeisariver@icloud.com
mailto:bparker@mccall.id.us
mailto:lifeisariver@icloud.com


Appeal of FPDP-23-01 – Findings of Fact 
McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission – November 7, 2023 

Page 1 of 9 

1 
 

McCALL AREA PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

IN RE: )  
 )  
APPEAL OF DENIAL ) FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW,  
OF FLOODPLAIN ) AND DECISION 
DEVELOPMENT )  
PERMIT )  
 )  
Application Number:  )  
FPDP-23-01 )  

FINDINGS OF FACTS 

Appellant: Dwain & Cindy Sanders 

Representative(s): Amy Holm, Millemann, Pemberton & Holm  

Application: An appeal of the Administrator’s decision to deny a Floodplain 

Development Permit Application. 

Location: Lot 19, Block Two of the River’s Crossing Subdivision situate in 

the S ½ of Section 17, T18N, R3E, B.M. City of McCall, Valley 

County, Idaho. 

Property Address: 221 Morgan Drive 

Public Notices: Newspaper: The Notice of Hearing was published in the Star 

News on August 24, 2023 

 Mailing:  The Notice of Hearing was mailed by the applicant 

to property owners within 300 feet on August 28, 2023. 

 Posting:  The Notice of Hearing was posted by the applicant 

on the subject property on August 28, 2023. 

Zoning: R8 – Medium Density Residential 

Property Size: 5.29 acres 

  



Appeal of FPDP-23-01 – Findings of Fact 
McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission – November 7, 2023 

Page 2 of 9 

2 
 

 

APPROVAL STANDARDS 

Title 9, Chapter 8 

Flood Control Regulations 

Application Requirements: Application for a floodplain development permit shall be made 

to the Floodplain Administrator prior to any development activities located within special 

flood hazard areas. The following items shall be presented to the Floodplain Administrator 

to apply for a floodplain development permit: 

(a) A plot plan drawn to scale which shall include, but shall not be limited to, the following 

specific details of the proposed floodplain development: 

(1) The nature, location, dimensions, and elevations of the area of 

development/disturbance; existing and proposed structures, utility systems, 

grading/pavement areas, fill materials, storage areas, drainage facilities, and other 

development; 

The floodplain development permit application identifies all locations and dimensions of 

proposed areas of fill. No other areas of development or disturbance are identified. 

(2) The boundary of the special flood hazard area as delineated on the FIRM or other 

flood map as determined in section 9.8.032 of this chapter, or a statement that the 

entire lot is within the special flood hazard area; 

The floodplain development permit application identifies the special flood hazard area. 

(3) The flood zone(s) designation of the proposed development area as determined on 

the FIRM or other flood map as determined in section 9.8.032 of this chapter; 



Appeal of FPDP-23-01 – Findings of Fact 
McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission – November 7, 2023 

Page 3 of 9 

3 
 

The floodplain development permit application identifies the proposed fill within the 

special flood hazard area. 

(4) The boundary of the floodway(s) as determined in section 9.8.032 of this chapter; 

The floodplain development permit application identifies the floodway boundary. 

(5) The base flood elevation (BFE) where provided as set forth in section 9.8.032, 

9.8.033, or 9.8.053 of this chapter; 

The floodplain development permit application identifies the relevant base flood 

elevations. 

(6) The old and new location of any watercourse that will be altered or relocated as a 

result of proposed development; and 

The floodplain development permit application identifies the proposed modification of 

the special flood hazard area. 

(b) Proposed elevation, and method thereof, of all development within a special flood 

hazard area including but not limited to: 

(1) Elevation in relation to mean sea level of the proposed lowest floor (including 

basement) of all structures; 

N/A 

(2) Elevation in relation to mean sea level to which any non- residential structure in 

Zone A, AE, AH, AO, or A1-30 will be floodproofed; and 

N/A 

(3) Elevation in relation to mean sea level to which any proposed utility equipment and 

machinery will be elevated or floodproofed. 

N/A 



Appeal of FPDP-23-01 – Findings of Fact 
McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission – November 7, 2023 

Page 4 of 9 

4 
 

(c) If floodproofing, a Floodproofing Certificate (FEMA Form 086-0-33) with supporting 

data, an operational plan, and an inspection and maintenance plan that include, but are 

not limited to, installation, exercise, and maintenance of floodproofing measures will be 

required prior to Certificate of Occupancy/Completion. 

N/A 

(d) A Foundation Plan, drawn to scale, which shall include details of the proposed 

foundation system to ensure all provisions of this chapter are met. These details include 

but are not limited to: 

(1) The proposed method of elevation, if applicable (i.e., fill, solid foundation perimeter 

wall, solid backfilled foundation, open foundation, or on 

columns/posts/piers/piles/shear walls); 

N/A 

(2) Openings to facilitate automatic equalization of hydrostatic flood forces on walls in 

accordance with subsection 9.8.051(A)8(b) of this chapter when solid foundation 

perimeter walls are used in Zones A, AE, AH, AO, and A1-30. 

N/A 

(e) Usage details of any enclosed areas below the lowest floor. 

N/A 

(f) Plans and/or details for the protection of public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, 

electrical, and water systems to be located and constructed to minimize flood damage. 

N/A 

(g) Certification that all other local, State, and Federal permits required prior to floodplain 

development permit issuance have been received. 



Appeal of FPDP-23-01 – Findings of Fact 
McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission – November 7, 2023 

Page 5 of 9 

5 
 

The applicant has not received a building permit as required by McCall Code Section 

3.8.02(G). Because the application has not demonstrated compliance with the Shoreline and 

River Environs Requirements for Development (McCall Code Section 3.7.023), a building 

permit cannot be issued for the proposed placement of fill. 

(h) Documentation for placement of recreational vehicles and/or temporary structures, 

when applicable, to ensure that the provisions of subsections 9.8.052(A)5 and (A)6 of 

this chapter are met. 

N/A 

(i) A description of proposed watercourse alteration or relocation, when applicable, 

including an engineering report on the effects of the proposed project on the flood-

carrying capacity of the watercourse and the effects to properties located both 

upstream and downstream; and 

N/A 

(j) A map (if not shown on plot plan) showing the location of the proposed watercourse 

alteration or relocation. 

N/A 

Title 3, Chapter 7, Section 2 

Shoreline and River Environs Zone 

No conditional use or building permit shall be issued, nor is any development, grading, or 

alteration of any land within this zone permitted, unless the applicant establishes to the 

satisfaction of the commission and council in the case of a conditional use, or of the 

administrator in the case of a building permit, that: 



Appeal of FPDP-23-01 – Findings of Fact 
McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission – November 7, 2023 

Page 6 of 9 

6 
 

1. The proposed development meets all applicable requirements of this title and title 

IX of this code. 

The placement of fill will create harm as defined in McCall Code Section 3.7.023(C)(2) 

because the facts in the record show that the proposed development will involve 

excessive clearing of natural vegetation or change of natural land forms within the area 

between the water pool shore contour or high-water mark and the fifty-foot (50’) setback 

line. Likewise, the facts in the record, and specifically the proposed plans and testimony 

of the applicant and City Staff show that the proposed development will involve The 

removal, burial, or destruction in whole or part of boulders, sandy beaches, rocky shores, 

or other features of the water pool shore contour or high water mark, the land below the 

same, or the immediate upland edge and the filling or dredging of lake bottom or 

wetlands.  

2. The plans accurately identify the water pool shore contours and high-water marks, 

which, in the case of river environs, shall mean the limits of the area of special flood 

hazard.  The site plan indicates the Water Pool Shore Contour elevation. The water 

pool contour line is indicated on the site plan.  

3. A letter is on file from a specialist certified by the United States army corps of 

engineers wetlands expert that certifies that no wetlands related issues or issues 

related to fill of navigable waters issues were presented by the proposed 

development; or that a section 404 permit has been issued or is forthcoming by the 

corps of engineers, whichever is appropriate, city approval(s) under this title and 

title IX of this code are contingent upon all applicable section 404 permit 

requirements being met. 



Appeal of FPDP-23-01 – Findings of Fact 
McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission – November 7, 2023 

Page 7 of 9 

7 
 

The applicant has applied for a section 404 permit. 

4. The requirements of the underlying zone are met. 

N/A 

5. The fifty-foot (50') building setback line is met per subsection (C)3(c) of this section.  

The applicant is proposing to place fill within and across the fifty-foot (50’) building 

setback area, in order to modify the location of said setback line. 

6. Proof of stormwater certification training has been provided by the individual 

applying for the building permit. Proof of stormwater certification is required prior to 

issuance of a building permit. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

• Email received from Charles Petrock, dated September 12, 2023. 

• Email received from James Duzak, dated September 12, 2023. 

Additional Record Considered: 

Application materials, including detailed proposed construction drawings and plans.  

Testimony from the Applicant and the Applicant’s Attorney. 

Staff testimony by Brian Parker, City Planner.  

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The City of McCall has provided for the processing of Floodplain Development Permit 

Applications, pursuant to Title 9, Chapter 8 of McCall City Code. 

2. Adequate notice of the September 12, 2023 public hearing was provided, pursuant to Section 

67-6512, Idaho Code and Title 3, Chapter 15 of McCall City Code. 



Appeal of FPDP-23-01 – Findings of Fact 
McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission – November 7, 2023 

Page 8 of 9 

8 
 

3. The application does not meet the standards for the granting of a Floodplain Development 

Permit. 

DECISION 

THEREFORE, the McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission hereby upholds the 

administrator’s denial of the floodplain development permit application. 

Findings of Fact adopted this 7th Day of NOVEMBER, 2023. 

 

______________________________________ 
Robert Lyons, Chair 
McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission 

 

Attest: 

______________________________________ 
Brian Parker, City Planner 
City of McCall 

Availability of Appeal of this Determination 

Pursuant to MCC 9.9.07, this determination may be appealed according to the provision of Title III, 

Chapter 15 of the McCall City Code as follows: 

3.15.08: APPEAL OR REQUEST FOR HEARING BY AGGRIEVED PERSONS: 

(A) Right To Appeal: An aggrieved person may appeal the commission decision, or request a hearing on 

the commission recommendation, by filing a notice of appeal or request for hearing in writing with 

the city clerk no later than ten (10) days after the issuance of the findings and conclusions of the 

commission. When such notice of appeal or request is received, proceedings before the council shall 

be on the record made below. A notice of appeal shall set out with particularity the decision or part 

thereof from which the appeal is being taken, and whether or not facts found by the commission are 

disputed by appellant. 



Appeal of FPDP-23-01 – Findings of Fact 
McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission – November 7, 2023 

Page 9 of 9 

9 
 

(B) Time Limits For Actions: The council shall hold a public hearing on the appeal and the application 

appealed within forty five (45) days of the request and shall follow the hearing procedures established 

in section 3.15.04 of this chapter. When there is no required hearing, the council shall put the matter 

down on its agenda upon a date certain for the consideration of written and oral arguments; notice of 

such hearing shall be provided to appellant no later than fifteen (15) days before the hearing; should 

appellant desire to file written arguments, appellant shall do so no later than five (5) days prior to the 

hearing. 

(C) Stay Of Proceedings: An appeal or request for hearing stays all proceedings in furtherance of the 

action appealed from unless, after the notice of appeal or request for hearing is filed, the council finds 

that by reason of the facts stated in the application, a stay would cause imminent peril to health, safety 

or property. 

(D) Council Action: After the hearing has been held, the council may: 

1. Grant or deny the appeal or the permit; or 

2. Delay such decision for no longer than sixty (60) days after the hearing date for further study or 

hearing; provided, however, that the council must render a decision no later than sixty (60) days 

from the date of the hearing. 

3.15.10: JUDICIAL REVIEW: 

A person aggrieved by a decision under this title may, after all remedies have been exhausted under local 

ordinances, seek judicial review under the procedures provided by sections 67-5215(b) through (g) and 

section 67-5216, Idaho Code. 

 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/mccallid/latest/mccall_id/0-0-0-2750#JD_3.15.04


NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 1 
 

 
Mailing Address:  P.O. Box 1066, McCall, ID  83638 

Physical Address:  706 North First St., McCall, ID  83638 
  

STEVEN J. MILLEMANN (sjm@mpmplaw.com)  TELEPHONE (208) 634-7641 
AMY N. PEMBERTON (amy@mpmplaw.com)  FACSIMILE (208) 634-4516 
AMY K. HOLM (aholm@mpmplaw.com) 
JEANNE C. BAUGHMAN (jbaughman@mpmplaw.com) 
HANNAH R. DRABINSKI (hdrabinski@mpmplaw.com) 
FREDERICK CORIELL (fcoriell@mpmplaw.com)  
 

NOTICE OF APPEAL 

November 17, 2023 

 
City of McCall 
McCall City Clerk and Council 
216 East Park Street 
McCall, Idaho 83638 
 
Re: Appeal of FPDP-23-01 Floodplain Development Permit Application for River’s Crossing Lot 
19 Block 2, Application filed January 23, 2023, Administrative Denial emailed March 31, 2023, 
Planning & Zoning Commission Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decision upholding 
the Administrative Denial dated November 13, 2023 

 

Dear Madam Clerk and Councilmembers: 

 On behalf of our clients Dwain and Cindy Sanders, and pursuant to McCall City Code 
Section 3.15.09, this letter shall serve as an appeal of the McCall Area Planning and Zoning 
Commission’s Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decision for the Appeal of Denial of 
Floodplain Development Permit Application FPDP-23-01 for River’s Crossing Lot 19 Block 2, 
which is referred to herein as “P&Z’s Denial.”  The Sanders request that a public hearing be set 
before the McCall City Council for this to be heard on January 25, 2024, or thereafter, based on 
the availability of the Sanders’ counsel.  The Sanders respectfully request that McCall City 
Council reverse the Planning and Zoning Commission’s decision and enter findings and 
conclusions granting the Sanders’ Floodplain Development Permit Application. 

 

mailto:sjm@mpmplaw.com
mailto:amy@mpmplaw.com
mailto:aholm@mpmplaw.com
mailto:jbaughman@mpmplaw.com
mailto:hdrabinski@mpmplaw.com
mailto:fcoriell@mpmplaw.com


NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 2 
 

Factual Background of FPDP-23-01 

Dwain and Cindy Sanders own an approximately 5.3-acre vacant lot, Lot 19 in Rivers 
Crossing Subdivision, that is adjacent to the North Fork Payette River (the “Property”). They 
applied for FPDP-23-01 on January 23, 2023, as part of the Conditional Letter of Map Revision 
(“CLOMR”) Application process to remove a 0.48-acre portion of the 5.3-acre Property from the 
Special Flood Hazard Area (“SFHA”). This process, which is administered by FEMA and 
recognized by McCall City Code in Title IX, Section 8, allows property owners who elevate 
small areas of their property within the SFHA above the Base Flood Elevation to receive a letter 
from FEMA stating the property’s changed elevation will meet minimum National Flood 
Insurance Program Standards. To obtain a CLOMR, the Sanders need to place fill material on 
0.48 acres of the Property, of which 0.15 acres are wetlands within the SFHA. Although the 
remaining 0.33 acres contains no wetlands, it too is within the SFHA. 

 Because the fill will be placed on wetlands subject to federal jurisdiction under the Clean 
Water Act (CWA), the Sanders must also obtain a Section 404 permit from the United States 
Army Corps of Engineers (“Corps”). Section 404 of the CWA prohibits the discharge of dredged 
or fill material into Waters of the United States (“WOTUS”), including wetlands subject to 
federal jurisdiction, without a permit.1 If a project proposes minor discharges of dredged or fill 
material that “will have only minimal individual or cumulative net adverse effects on the 
environment,” the Corps may issue a Nationwide Permit.2 Because of the length of time this 
process has taken, the Sanders are currently working with the Corps to either extend their 
original Section 404 Nationwide Permit or apply for a new one. In either case, to comply with 
the federal CWA, the Sanders will obtain a permit from the Corps and be subject to all of that 
permit’s conditions prior to placing the proposed fill on the Property. 

FDPD-23-01 seeks only to place fill on 0.48 acres of the Property. The Sanders do not 
intend at this point to build any structures, but they have applied for a building permit to protect 
their interest in obtaining FPDP-23-01. Although the Sander’s contend that P&Z’s Denial erred 
in requiring a building permit to merely place fill on the Property, applying for a building permit 
was necessary 1) to ensure all administrative remedies are exhausted in this process and 2) to 
preserve all the issues that are outlined in more detail below, should this appeal be denied. 

Clearly, if the Sanders or any future owner of the Property desire to construct a home, a 
building permit would be required to ensure compliance with building standards and setbacks, 
including the 50-foot Shorelines and River Environs Zone setback. Moreover, assuming placing 
fill as contemplated in FPDP-23-01 is permitted, any future structures on the property would 
need to be sighted approximately 400-feet away from the North Fork Payette River—much 
farther away than any of the neighboring homes. 

During this process, the Sanders engaged experts in wetlands and aquatic resources 
management to assist in designing their proposal to minimize the risk of harm and mitigate 
impacts to the greatest extent practicable. If allowed to proceed, and in addition to complying 

 
1 33 U.S.C. § 1344(f). 
2 33 C.F.R. § 330.1(d); see also 33 U.S.C. § 1344(e). 



NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 3 
 

with the conditions of a Section 404 permit, the Sanders are committed to adhering to the 
recommendations of these experts, including use of best management practices before, during, 
and after placing the fill to preserve and protect water quality, aquatic resources, and the 
remaining 2.55 acres of wetlands on the Property. 

As noted, FPDP-23-01 was filed on January 23, 2023. On March 31, 2023, the 
Floodplain Administrator denied FPDP-23-01. The Sanders appealed that decision before the 
McCall Area Planning & Zoning Commission and a public hearing was held on September 12, 
2023. The Commission issued a signed Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decision on 
November 13, 2023, which upheld the Administrator’s Denial. The Sanders contend that P&Z’s 
Denial erred as a matter of law and undisputed fact and is arbitrary and capricious in several 
significant ways, including the following: 

1. P&Z’s Denial misinterprets McCall City Code because it erroneously assumes that a 
building permit is required in addition to a floodplain development permit for the sole 
action of placing fill within the Shoreline and River Environs Zone to facilitate the 
CLOMR process. 
 

2. The P&Z’s Denial is erroneous as a matter of law because the provisions of the 
Shoreline and River Environs Ordinance do not apply to FPDP-23-01; and, even if 
found to apply, P&Z’s conclusion that placing fill in wetlands unconditionally 
constitutes “harm,” even if such fill is placed pursuant to a Section 404 permit, is 
erroneous as a matter of law. 

 
3. The record establishes that placing fill as proposed in FPDP-23-01 will not cause 

“harm” as that term is defined in MCC 3.7.023(C)2. 
 

4. P&Z’s Denial and any decision by the City of McCall upholding P&Z’s Denial 
violates Article XII § 2 of the Idaho Constitution and Idaho Code § 50-301 because 
Idaho law prohibits the City of McCall from imposing conditions that are more 
stringent than those required by the federal Clean Water Act. 
 

1. A building permit is not required to obtain FPDP-23-01 because the proposed 
development activity is only to place fill material within the SFHA in aid of a 
CLOMR Application and pursuant to a Section 404 permit. 

P&Z’s Denial erred in requiring the Sanders to also obtain a building permit as part of the 
floodplain development permit application process. Title IX of the McCall City Code states that 
“[a] floodplain development permit shall be required in conformance with the provisions of this 
chapter prior to the commencement of any development activities within the special flood hazard 
areas determined in accordance with the provisions of section 9.8.043 of this chapter.”3 Under 
MCC 9.8.043, “[a]pplication for a floodplain development permit shall be made to the 
Floodplain Administrator prior to any development activities located within special flood hazard 

 
3 MCC 9.8.033. 



NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 4 
 

areas,” and must include, among a detailed list of other requirements, “a complete description of 
all development to be permitted under the floodplain development permit,” which includes 
“dredging” and “filling,” as well as “[c]ertification that all other local, State, and Federal permits 
required prior to floodplain development permit issuance have been received.”4 

Although P&Z’s Denial properly recognized FPDP-23-01 complied with most relevant 
application requirements, it erred in finding that under MCC 9.8.043(A)1(g): 

The applicant has not received a building permit as required by McCall Code 
Section 3.8.02(G). Because the application has not demonstrated compliance with 
the Shoreline and River Environs Requirements for Development (McCall City 
Code Section 3.7.023), a building permit cannot be issued for the proposed 
placement of fill. 

This illogical interpretation of the City Code not only renders some of its provisions in 
conflict with one another but reads others straight into oblivion. Such a construction of the Code 
leads to the ridiculous and unlawful result that within the City of McCall a property owner is per 
se forbidden from ever seeking a CLOMR if the CLOMR requires filling wetlands.    

 Courts generally presume validity of the actions of zoning boards, including when those 
boards interpret their own zoning ordinances.5 However, when an ordinance is ambiguous—that 
is, subject to more than one reasonable interpretation—“[c]onstructions that would lead to absurd 
or unreasonably harsh results are disfavored.”6 “All sections of applicable statutes must be 
construed together so as to determine the legislature’s intent,” and be read so that “no part is 
rendered superfluous or insignificant.”7 

There are two incorrect interpretations of McCall City Code at issue here: A) application 
of the Shoreline Rivers and Environs Zone Requirements (“SREZ”) for Development to FPDP-
23-01, and B) application of the General Development Prohibited Uses to require a building 
permit for placing fill in the SFHA. Each are addressed in turn below. 

A. The Shorelines and River Environs Zone Requirements for Development only 
apply when the applicant is “building”—in other words, constructing a 
“structure”—within the SFHA.  

 Applying the Shoreline and Rivers Environs Zone Requirements for Development to 
FPDP-23-01 is incorrect because those requirements only apply to the building of structures. The 
purpose of the SREZ is to “regulate development along and alterations of . . . the banks and 
immediate vicinity of the [North Fork] Payette River in order to protect and maintain water 
quality, fish and wildlife habitat, edge and forest habitat, vistas, and public visual and physical 
access.”8 “Development” for purposes of Title III, and which is also a word used extensively 

 
4 MCC 9.8.043(A)2(a); MCC 9.8.043(A)1(g) 
5 Chisholm v. Twin Falls Cnty., 139 Idaho 131, 136 (2003). 
6 Payette River Property Owners Ass’n v. Bd. of Comm’rs of Valley County, 132 Idaho 551, 557 (1999). 
7 Friends of Farm to Market v. Valley Cnty., 137 Idaho 192, 197 (2002). 
8 MCC 3.7.020. 



NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 5 
 

throughout Title III, is defined as “[a]ny construction or activity that changes the existing 
character or use of land upon which such construction or activity occurs.”9 Even so, the 
permitted uses in the SREZ are “[a]ll those uses permitted in the underlying zones upon which 
this zone is superimposed . . . provided they satisfy the special conditions set forth in this 
chapter, except that . . . No building and no land filling shall be permitted within a floodway and 
no building within an area of special flood hazard . . . unless the applicant complies with the 
standards set forth in” Title IX, Chapter 8.10 

Thus, the SREZ Ordinance narrows the definition of “development” for activities, and 
specifically for activities occurring within the SFHA, to only those that involve “building.” The 
next exception to permitted uses in the SREZ makes this point abundantly clear: “Any structure, 
wholly or partially within this zone . . . and any part of which is within” one hundred fifty feet of 
the highwater mark of the North Fork Payette River, “notwithstanding that portions of the 
structure are not on land that is within this zone” is subject to the SREZ Requirements for 
Development. 

Obviously, the plain text of MCC 3.7.022(B) prohibits both “building” and “filling” 
activities in the floodway, but it requires compliance with Title IX, Chapter 8 for “building” 
within the SFHA. The ordinary meaning of the word “build” or its present participle form 
“building” is “to form by ordering and uniting materials by gradual means into a composite 
whole,” such as “birds building nests” or building new houses by the river.11 That is why one 
does not build fill material on wetlands, rather such material is placed on wetlands—at least in 
the ordinary sense of the word. The only other provision mentioning “fill” or “filling” in the 
SREZ Ordinance are where it defines “harm” as “filling or dredging lake bottoms or wetlands” 
and where it contemplates compliance with federal law with respect to WOTUS and the CWA.12 
Clearly, the ordinance recognizes a distinction between development activities that are 
“building” and development activities that are “filling,” which is necessary because the SREZ 
Ordinance only applies to development activities proposing to build structures—and certainly 
does not categorically prohibit filling within the SHFA.  

What the Sanders propose here under FPDP-23-01 involves no building of structures 
whatsoever, nor does it require a Conditional Use Permit. In its decision upholding the 
Administrator’s denial, the P&Z Commission failed to abide by the Code’s limit on its power 
because the Code provisions cited above apply the SREZ Development Requirement’s “Permit 
Criteria” only to those activities that either require a Conditional Use Permit or a building permit 
for purposes of the SREZ.13 FPDP-23-01 requires neither. Indeed, reading the specific activities 
(“development, grading, or alteration of any land”) following the words “nor is any” in MCC 

 
9 MCC 3.02.02. 
10 MCC 3.7.022(B). 
11 See https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/build. 
12 MCC 3.7.023(C)2(d). 
13 MCC 3.7.022(B) states: “No conditional use or building permit shall be issued, nor is any development, grading, 
or alteration of any land within this zone permitted, unless the applicant establishes to the satisfaction of the 
commission or council in the case of a conditional use, or of the administrator in the case of a building permit that” 
six enumerated criteria are met. 



NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 6 
 

3.7.023(B) as defining the activities that require a building permit renders the critically important 
first part of the sentence completely out of the ordinance. That part specifically declares the 
limits on the commission’s, council’s and administrator’s power as to what permits can be held 
subject to the SREZ Ordinance: building permits and Conditional Use Permits. P&Z’s Denial 
enlarges the activities for which a building permit is required in the SREZ and thus aggrandizes 
the power of the Administrator and Commission. Neither of them had any legal right to do this 
because FPDP-23-01 only proposes to fill, and not build, wetlands within the SFHA. The 
Administrator’s and Commission’s legal authority stem from and are strictly limited by the 
language of the Code, which in this case is clear. As one notable jurist put it, the legislature “does 
not hide elephants in mouse holes.”14 This maxim is true because applying a law or regulation 
contrary to what it actually says is the essence of arbitrary government action.  

Nor does the abrogation clause in MCC 9.8.035 change this result. Title IX, Chapter 8 
does not “remove the necessity of compliance with any other laws, ordinances, regulations,” etc. 
But because the development activity proposed in FPDP-23-01 is not covered by the SREZ 
Ordinance, there is no non-compliance issue. Furthermore, since the SREZ Ordinance does not 
apply, there can be no “conflict or overlap” where “more stringent or greater conditions shall 
control.” 

Finally, interpreting McCall City Code as in P&Z’s Denial leads to the absurd and 
unreasonably harsh result that no floodplain development permit seeking to place fill in wetlands 
in aid of a CLOMR Application can ever be obtained—regardless of whether such wetlands are 
subject to federal jurisdiction and regardless of whether the applicant has a valid Section 404 
Permit. Under the Administrator’s and P&Z’s erroneous interpretation, there simply would be no 
possible way to take actions that remove one’s property from the SHFA in accordance with a 
legitimate and often used federal process—not to mention pursuant to a federal Section 404 
permit—intended to assist property owners who just so happen to own low-lying property 
subject to an increased risk of flooding.  

 Because P&Z’s Denial applied the SREZ Ordinance to FPDP-23-01, which seeks only to 
place fill material within the SFHA in aid of a CLOMR Application and pursuant to a Section 
404 permit, its finding denying the permit on the basis that FPDP-23-01 failed to comply with 
the SREZ Requirements for Development was unlawful, and in any event, arbitrary, capricious, 
and not in accordance with a reasonable interpretation of the ordinance’s plain text.   

B. FPDP-23-01 does not require first obtaining a building permit before placing fill 
material in aid of the CLOMR Application process and pursuant to a 404 permit. 

P&Z’s Denial found that the “applicant has not received a building permit as required by 
McCall Code Section 3.8.02(G).” That section prohibits starting “construction work, including 
grading, blasting, filling, trenching, tree removal, etc.” without a valid building permit. Notably, 
although a building permit is required for “construction work” that includes “tree removal,” it is 
not necessary for certain “Timber Harvest” activities that that would certainly fall within the list 
following the word “including” in MCC 3.8.02(G). In that regard, another way to state the 

 
14 Whitman v. American Trucking Ass’ns, 531 U.S. 457, 468 (2001) (Scalia, J.) 



NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 7 
 

above-noted jurist’s maxim is that the greater includes the lesser, but not the other way around. 
In other words, while a building permit necessarily covers a broad range of construction 
activities, those activities individually do not trigger the requirement for a building permit. 
Failure to adhere to this rule caused P&Z’s Denial to err by requiring a building permit for the 
activity proposed in FPDP-23-01. 

 Under McCall City Code, it is “unlawful for any person to do, or cause or permit to be 
done . . . any construction, improvement, extension, alteration or demolition of any building, 
residence or structure, coming under the purview of this title, within the McCall area without 
first procuring a permit authorizing such work to be done.”15 Of course, there is an extremely 
high likelihood that constructing, improving, extending, altering, or demolishing any building, 
residence, or structure would require undertaking activities that alter the land, such as by 
grading, filling, dredging, scraping, etc. But just because a building permit is required before 
undertaking construction of a building (the greater) that necessarily involves other activities (the 
lesser) in furtherance of the greater in no way leads to the conclusion that a building permit is 
required to conduct only the other lesser activities. This is especially true where, as here, the 
McCall City Code nowhere requires a building permit for the standalone activity of “filling” 
wetlands. 

As is relevant here, a floodplain development permit is required before commencing 
development activity within the SFHA. There is no mention whatsoever that a building permit is 
also required prior to commencing development activities. True, “development activity” for the 
purpose of Title IX, Chapter 8 includes “[a]ny activity defined as development which will 
necessitate a floodplain development permit; such as: the construction of buildings, structures, or 
accessory structures; additions or substantial improvements to existing structures; bulkheads, 
retaining walls, piers, and pools; the placement of mobile homes; or the deposition or extraction 
of materials; the construction or elevation of dikes, berms and levees.” But neither this 
definition, nor the definition of “development” in Title IX, Chapter 8 have anything to do with 
defining the activities that require a building permit. These definitions simply state when a flood 
plain development permit is required, not when a building permit is required, and they certainly 
do not define the critical question of whether a building permit is required in addition to a 
floodplain development permit. 

 The inescapable conclusion is that P&Z’s Denial does not and cannot point to any 
provision in the McCall City Code that requires a building permit for the activities proposed in 
FPDP-23-01. Yes, the activity of placing fill upon wetlands if conducted in conjunction with 
building a residence would be covered by an issued building permit (and others such as a Section 
404 permit and floodplain development permit.) But there is no construction, alteration, or 
demolition of a building proposed in FPDP-23-01. P&Z’s Denial is unlawful because it requires 
a permit where no permit is required and denies FPDP-23-01 on that basis. 

 
15 MCC 2.1.040. 



NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 8 
 

2. The P&Z’s Denial is erroneous as a matter of law and is arbitrary and capricious 
because it unconditionally defines placing fill in wetlands as constituting  “harm” 
even if such fill is placed pursuant to a Section 404 permit. 

As has been argued above, a building permit is not required for the activities 
contemplated by FPDP-23-01, nor are the provisions of the SREZ Ordinance applicable to those 
activities. Without in any way waiving those arguments, even if the provisions of the SREZ 
Ordinance were found to be applicable to FPDP-23-01, the P&Z Commission’s conclusion that 
any placement of fill in wetlands constitutes “harm” and therefore violates the SREZ Ordinance, 
regardless of whether done pursuant to a valid Section 404 Permit, is erroneous as a matter of 
law and arbitrary and capricious.   

Unconditionally defining filling of wetlands as “harm” renders other processes 
contemplated and required by the McCall City Code meaningless. The SREZ Ordinance is 
intended to regulate development more stringently within a certain area of land adjacent to and 
extending away from enumerated water bodies that are “distinguishing features of this area 
making it a destination resort for tourists and summer residents.” 

The principle flaw in the aforesaid legal conclusion in P&Z’s Denial is that it wholly 
ignores the SREZ Ordinance’s Permit Criteria that require either a letter certifying “that no 
wetlands related issues or issues related to fill of navigable waters were presented by the 
proposed development; or that a section 404 permit has been issued or is forthcoming by the 
corps of engineers, whichever is appropriate.”16 The SREZ Ordinance and Floodplain 
Development Permit Ordinances both contemplate that, where federal jurisdiction exists over 
jurisdictional Waters of the United States (“WOTUS”), compliance with those regulations is 
sufficient to avoid a finding that filling of wetlands constitutes “harm” as defined in MCC 
3.7.023(C)2. 

 Thus, a finding of harm cannot be made as to FPDP-23-01 provided that the Applicant 
obtains a Section 404 permit prior to the placement of the fill. Doing so would render MCC 
3.7.023(B)3 superfluous. In other words, there would be no reasons to make “city approval(s) 
under this title and title IX of this code contingent upon all applicable section 404 permit 
requirements being met.” If the city can simply deny a floodplain development permit 
application for fill or a building permit to construct a building in the SFHA even if all applicable 
404 permit requirements are met, then this section of Code is just a Trojan Horse to tempt 
unsuspecting property owners seeking to develop property to comply with federal law only to be 
collaterally attacked by the City of McCall’s denial of a permit that in all respects complies with 
federal law. 

Here, P&Z’s Denial upheld the Administrator’s Denial because it found the proposed 
placement of fill will create harm as defined by McCall City Code Section 3.7.023(C)2. It listed 
three bases, 3.7.23(C)2b, c, and d, for finding “harm.” Yet, each of these is an activity defined as 
a “discharge” under Section 404 federal guidelines and therefore are permitted activities subject 

 
16 MCC 3.7.023(B)3 (emphasis supplied). 



NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 9 
 

to issuance of a Section 404 permit.17 In this case, a Section 404 permit previously was issued, 
and the Sanders are currently in the process of obtaining an extension or new Nationwide Permit. 
Certainly, if the Section 404 permit is not issued, the City can revoke any approval to conduct 
development activities within the SFHA under MCC 3.7.023(B)3. And it is always the case that 
any applicant who caused the discharge of pollutants into WOTUS without a permit would be 
subject to federal enforcement actions or the citizen suit provision in the CWA. Therefore, the 
unconditional finding of harm has stymied all lawful procedure for FPDP-23-01 because P&Z’s 
Denial fails to recognize the process set forth in McCall City Code for developing in the SREZ 
subject to a duly issued Section 404 permit.     

3. The P&Z Commission’s finding that placing fill as proposed in FPDP-23-01 will 
cause “harm” is wholly unsupported by the record. 

The record contains no evidence that the proposed placement of fill would “harm” 
wetlands.18 While P&Z’s Denial dutifully regurgitates the language in MCC 3.7.03(C)2 as the 
reason for denying FPDP-23-01, it fails to elaborate on how it reached these conclusions other 
than to claim reliance on “Application materials, including detailed proposed construction 
drawings and plans; Testimony from the Applicant and the Applicant’s Attorney; and Staff 
testimony by Brian Parker, City Planner.” 

A review of the record indicates that the only evidence provided by the City to support a 
finding of harm are two statements by the City Planner that “the filling of lake bottom of 
wetlands” is unequivocally harm and that “since they have not included what sort of building 
they would like to do, and are just purely placing fill, any placement of fill or modification of 
natural vegetation would be excessive because they are not proposing any sort of 
development.”19 The City Planner then concluded “that is the extent of the reasoning” to find 
harm.20 

 In contrast to the City’s dearth of evidence, the Sanders provided a thirty-three-page 
expert report developed by Forsgren Associates, Inc. to analyze the extent of potential harm and 
outline measures to minimize any environmental harm that could be posed by the placement of 
the fill on the Property. Importantly, that report noted that the protection of water quality is (or 
would be) addressed in the conditions of the Section 404 permit and that by implementing best 
management practices (BMPs) FPDP-23-01 would presumptively comply with state water 
quality standards, including Idaho’s Antidegradation Policy, by maintaining and supporting the 
beneficial uses designated for the section of the North Fork Payette River that runs adjacent to 
the Property. The report also found that the proposed BMPs would protect adjacent wetlands that 
would remain undisturbed and prevent impermissible runoff from occurring. Additionally, the 
placement of fill has been designed to protect higher functioning older forested wetlands on the 

 
17 See 40 C.F.R. § 232.2; 33 U.S.C. § 1344(f). 
18 See Spencer v. Kootenai Cnty., 145 Idaho 448, 456 (2008) (“Substantial and competent evidence is less than a 
preponderance of the evidence, but more than a mere scintilla.”) 
19 McCall Area Planning & Zoning, at 2:05:10 to 2:06:06, YOUTUBE (Sept. 12, 2023) 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Q49Um0A-IZo.  
20 Id. at 2:06:07 to 2:06:10. 



NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 10 
 

Property and will primarily impact what are characterized as scrub/shrub wetlands, which 
typically consist of woody vegetation that is less than six feet tall. 

 It is also important to recognize that the mere fact that a Section 404 permit can and will 
be issued for the proposed placement of fill is substantial evidence that no harm, as that term is 
defined by MCC 3.07.023(C)2, will occur. As stated in the previous section, that code provision 
primarily defines “harm” as activities that may be conducted pursuant to a Section 404 permit, 
which not only allows for the fill to be placed in wetlands subject to federal jurisdiction but also 
imposes conditions on activities conducted before, during, and after placement of the fill. 
Evidence of a Section 404 permit either issued or forthcoming is more than sufficient to 
overcome the “extent of the reasoning” provided by the City Planner to conclude that FPDP-23-
01 would cause harm. 

 Because evidence in the record shows that no harm will be caused by FPDP-23-01, 
P&Z’s Denial must be reversed. 

4. P&Z’s Denial and any decision by the City of McCall upholding P&Z’s Denial 
violates Article XII, § 2 of the Idaho Constitution and Idaho Code § 50-301 because 
Idaho law prohibits the City of McCall from imposing conditions that are more 
stringent than those required by the federal Clean Water Act. 

P&Z’s Denial is based on the finding that FPDP-23-01 will create harm because: 

the facts in the record show that the proposed development will involve excessive 
clearing of natural vegetation or change of natural land forms within the area 
between the water pool shore contour or high-water mark and the fifty-foot (50’) 
setback line . . . the facts in the record, and specifically the proposed plans and 
testimony of the applicant and City Staff show that the proposed development will 
involve the removal, burial, or destruction in whole or part of boulders, sandy 
beaches, rocky shores, or other features of the water pool shore contour or high 
water mark, the land below the same, or the immediate upland edge and the filling 
or dredging of lake bottom or wetlands.21 

As discussed in Section 2 above, these three bases are all activities that if occurring into 
WOTUS would require a Section 404 permit. However, since a Section 404 permit can be issued 
for the proposed dredge and fill of wetlands, FPDP-23-01 meets the requirements of the CWA to 
discharge dredged or fill material into WOTUS. Thus, the only way to interpret P&Z’s Denial of 
FPDP-23-01 is as a determination that a Section 404 permit is insufficient to prevent “harm” as 
required by the McCall City Code. Consequently, the McCall City Code necessarily imposes 
conditions on the placement of fill in wetlands subject to federal jurisdiction that are more 
stringent than what is required by CWA. 

The CWA sets a national floor for the control of water pollution below which “States or 
political subdivisions thereof” cannot go.22 The CWA does not restrict States from allocating 

 
21 Appeal of FPDP-23-01 – Findings of Fact, McCall Planning and Zoning Commission, at 6 (Nov. 7, 2023). 
22 33 U.S.C. § 1370. 



NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 11 
 

water resources within their boundaries nor from regulating land use within their boundaries 
even if the areas regulated are also subject to CWA jurisdiction.23 In short, although States and 
political subdivisions thereof are prohibited from adopting or enforcing standards or limitations 
respecting the “discharge of pollutants” (as that term is defined in 33 U.S.C. § 1362) into waters 
of the United States that are “less stringent than” the CWA, they are free to impose more onerous 
standards subject to the limitations of other state and federal law.24 

In Idaho, there are two limitations on the power of a local government to impose more 
stringent standards than the CWA prescribes: express and implied preemption under the state 
constitution and Idaho Code § 50-301. 

A. State law expressly preempts local governments from regulating discharges subject 
to the CWA more stringently than the requirements of the CWA. 

Article XII, § 2 of the Idaho Constitution permits an incorporated city or town to “make 
and enforce within its limits, all such local police, sanitary and other regulations as are not in 
conflict with its charter or with the general laws.”25 Similarly, Idaho Code § 50-301 allows cities 
to exercise all powers and perform all functions of local self-government in city affairs as are not 
specifically prohibited by or in conflict with the general laws or the constitution of the state of 
Idaho.” While a city’s “ability to act is not confined to only those actions specifically mentioned 
in LLUPA,” such ability is constrained when the legislature says so.26 

With respect to the CWA, Idaho Code § 39-3601 is a general law that expressly prohibits 
local governments from imposing more stringent conditions than what is required by the CWA: 

It is the intent of the legislature that the state of Idaho fully meet the goals and 
requirements of the federal clean water act and that the rules promulgated under 
this chapter not impose requirements beyond those of the federal clean water act.27 

 Additionally, Idaho law provides: 

The legislature cannot conveniently or advantageously set forth in this chapter all 
the requirements of all of the regulations which have been or will be established 
under the clean water act. However, any state permitting program must avoid the 
existence of duplicative, overlapping or conflicting state and federal regulatory 
systems. Further, the board may promulgate rules to implement a state permitting 
program but such rules shall not impose conditions or requirements more stringent 
or broader in scope than the clean water act and regulations adopted pursuant 
thereto. Further, the department will not require Idaho pollutant discharge 

 
23 Id.; see also Prosolino v. Nastri, 291 F.3d 1123 (9th Cir. 2002). 
24 33 U.S.C. § 1370. 
25 IDAHO CONST. art. XII, § 2. 
26 Cisek v. Kootenai Cnty. Bd. of Comm’rs, 254 P.3d 24, 32 (Idaho 2011) 
27 I.C. § 39-3601. 



NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 12 
 

elimination system (IPDES) permits for activities and sources not required to have 
permits by the United States environmental protection agency.28 

When the City of McCall increases the regulatory burden beyond what is required by the 
CWA, such as P&Z’s Denial of FPDP-23-01, it renders the City’s action “in conflict with . . . the 
general laws” of the state of Idaho. Moreover, the authority to make standards under the CWA is 
clearly delegated to the Board of Environmental Quality and IDEQ, not city governments. 
Therefore, under both Article XII, § 2 and Idaho Code § 50-301, the City of McCall has acted 
ultra vires because the legislature has limited the extent that local regulation can exceed the 
requirements of the CWA.29 

B. Even if the City of McCall is not expressly preempted, it is impliedly preempted 
from regulating more stringently than what is required by the CWA. 

The doctrine of implied preemption is a principle of long-standing in the State of Idaho. It 
derives from the language in Article XII, § 2 that limits the police power of local governments to 
making and enforcing laws that are not in conflict with laws enacted by the legislature and arises 
when the legislature “intend[s] to occupy the whole field” of regulation.30 

Implied preemption occurs where, despite the lack of specific language preempting or 
empowering local government regulation, “the state has acted in the area in such a pervasive 
manner that it must be assumed that it intended to occupy the entire field of regulation.”31 Intent 
may be assumed where 1) state law indicates the subject matter is to be “regulated by means of 
one, uniform statewide scheme enabling the state to enter into meaningful interstate agreements,” 
or 2) the laws regulating the subject matter are a “comprehensive statutory scheme” that 
“demands a statewide, rather than local approach.”32 Even if the ordinance and statute are 
identical, “it is obvious that the field sought to be covered by the ordinance has already been 
occupied by the state legislation.”33 

The City of McCall is impliedly preempted from more stringently regulating activities of 
property owners that are otherwise subject to (i.e., in the same field as) the permitting 
requirements of the CWA. Title 39, Chapter 36 of the Idaho Code is a comprehensive legislative 
scheme implementing Idaho’s obligations and duties under the CWA and indicates that the 
subject matter is to be regulated to “avoid the existence of duplicative, overlapping or conflicting 
state and federal regulatory systems.”34 If the City of McCall imposes more stringent conditions 
on property owners who are otherwise subject to the requirements of the CWA, it necessarily 
infringes on the State of Idaho’s ability to manage and enforce the state’s water quality standards 
in a comprehensive and statewide manner that respects the fact that water ways flow through 

 
28 I.C. § 39-175B. 
29 See Black v. Young, 834 P.2d 304 (Idaho 1992). 
30 See, e.g., Caesar v. State, 610 P.2d 517 (Idaho 1980); Clyde Hess Distributing Co. v. Bonneville Cnty., 210 P.2d 
798 (Idaho 1949). 
31 Envirosafe Services of Idaho, Inc. v. Owyhee Cnty., 735 P.2d 998, 1001 (Idaho 1987) 
32 Id. 
33 Id. at 1002. 
34 I.C. § 39-175B. 



NOTICE OF APPEAL FPDP-23-01 
PAGE – 13 

multiple jurisdictions within and outside of the state. Therefore, the City of McCall is implied 
preempted from more stringently regulating and thus denying FPDP-23-01 when the activities 
proposed in FPDP-23-01 are permitted pursuant to a validly issued Section 404 permit. 

Because both the state constitution and state law prohibit the City of McCall from 
regulating more stringently than what is required by the CWA, P&Z’s Denial of FPDP-23-01 is 
in violation of both constitutional and statutory provisions.  

Conclusion 

For the foregoing reasons, the Sanders respectfully request that the McCall City Council 
REVERSE the McCall Planning and Zoning Commission’s decision and GRANT FPDP-23-01. 

Sincerely, 

Amy Holm 
Steven J. Millemann 
Fred Coriell 



IN RE: 

SANDERS SETBACK VARIANCE

Variance

File Number: VAR-20- 01

Instrument # 437938
VALLEY COUNTY, CASCADE, IDAHO

03- 01- 2021 13: 17: 16 No. of Pages: 13

Recorded for: CITY OF MCCALL

DOUGLAS A. MILLER Fee: $ 0. 00

Ex- Officio Recorder Deputy: AMF
Electronically Recorded by Simplifile

Sanders Setback Variance — Findings of Fact

McCall City Council — February 25, 2021
Page 1 of 13

McCALL CITY COUCNIL

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND

DECISION

FINDINGS OF FACTS

Applicant: Dwain and Cindy Sanders

Representatives: Epikos Planning and Design

Application: A Variance and Shoreline Review application to waive the 50 foot setback

requirement from the ordinary high- water mark and special flood hazard area of

the North Fork of the Payette River to permit the construction of a new

residence and accessory structure, which will encroach into the Area of Special

Flood Hazard by more than 150 ft. The residence will be a single -story structure

of 4,080 sq. ft. with an additional 3, 631 sq. ft. of patios. The accessory structure

is comprised of a 2, 941 sq. ft. detached shop with an attached accessory

dwelling unit, which will be deed restricted for local housing, totaling 747 sq. ft. 

with 564 sq. ft. of patios, for a total building and patio footprint on the site of

11, 494 sq. ft. The development is located primarily within the special flood

hazard area and of the Payette River and located entirely within the Shoreline

and River Environs Zone. 

Address: 221 Morgan Dr., McCall, ID 83638

Location: Lot 19, Block Two of the River' s Crossing Subdivision situate in the S Y2 of Section

17, T18N, R3E, B. M. City of McCall, Valley County, Idaho. 

Preliminary Development Plan Review: July 7, 2020



Sanders Setback Variance — Findings of Fact

McCall City Council — February 25, 2021
Page 2 of 13

Procedural History: During their regularly scheduled September 1, 2020 meeting, the McCall Area

Planning and Zoning Commission held a properly noticed public hearing on this

application. After discussion, the application and public hearing were continued

until the next regularly scheduled meeting on October 6, 2020 to allow more

time to gather information. The Commission also approved a motion to hold a

public hearing during a site visit to the property on Friday October 2, 2020. 

During the October 6th meeting, the Commission discussed the site visit and

deliberated on the application. A motion was made to direct staff to prepare

draft findings recommending the variance application to the McCall City Council

for approval; a roll call vote was held, and the motion carried with 5 ayes and 2

nays. During their regularly scheduled November 3, 2020 meeting, the McCall

Area Planning and Zoning Commission voted 5 — 2, to approve the findings

recommending City Council approve the variance application. 

During their December 3, 2020 meeting, the McCall City Council held a public

hearing on VAR- 20- 01. The hearing was closed, and the application was

continued to the January 14th meeting to allow more time for deliberations. 

Following the meeting, the applicant' s representative asked that the Council

consider reopening the public hearing to address select new information that

was introduced after the hearing was closed. The Council approved the request

to reopen the hearing. 

The application was noticed for the City Council' s February 11, 2021 meeting

date. The public hearing and new information on the project was limited to

three topic areas: 1. The assertion that, through appropriate due diligence, the

Sanders' should have been aware of the limited buildable area and that a



Sanders Setback Variance — Findings of Fact

McCall City Council — February 25, 2021
Page 3 of 13

variance would be required to proceed outside of that area, 2. The assertion

that granting the Variance would set a precedent for other applications. 3. The

assertion that denial of the Variance Application is necessary to protect the

River. Following the public hearing on February 11, 2021, the McCaII City Council

approved a motion to direct staff to prepare draft findings of facts and

conclusions of law documents denying the variance, for review and approval

during their February 25, 2021 meeting. 

Public Notices: Newspaper: The Notice of Hearing was published in the Star News on August

13th, September 10th, and November 12th, 2020, as well as January 21, 2021. 

Mailing: The applicant mailed the Notice of Hearing to property owners within

300 feet on August 17, September 14, and November 16, 2020, as well as

January 22, 2021. 

Posting: The applicant posted the Notice of Hearing on the subject property on

August 18, September 16, and November 16, 2020, as well as January 22, 2021. 

Zoning: R8 — Medium Density Residential

Property Size: 230, 607 sq. ft. (5. 29 acres) 

Lot Coverage: 11, 620 sq. ft. (50% of allowable) 

Setbacks: Per MCC 3. 3. 03, the minimum setback requirements for this parcel are 20 ft. 

from Morgan DR., 50 ft. from the area of special flood hazard, and 15 ft. from

either side property line. The applicant is proposing setbacks of more than 65 ft. 

from the front property line, more than 15 ft. from either side property line, and

more than 400 ft. from the easterly side property line fronting the river. 

However, in this case the easterly side property line is not in the same location

as the high water mark of the River, defined as the limits of the area of special



Parking: 

Sanders Setback Variance — Findings of Fact

McCall City Council — February 25, 2021
Page 4 of 13

flood hazard ( SFHA) per MCC 3. 7. 023B2. A significant portion of the property is

located within the SFHA and the applicant is requesting a variance to not only

eliminate the 50 ft. setback from the SFHA, but to construct within the SFHA as

can be seen in the attached maps. 

Per MCC 3. 8. 062 two parking spaces are required. The applicant is proposing

well in excess of 2 spaces. 

APPROVAL STANDARDS

Title 3, Chapter 13

Variances Authorized

A) Duties Of Commission: The Commission will set the date for and hold a public hearing and

subsequently make recommendations to the Council for approval or denial of the request in

accordance with the provisions set forth in chapter 15, " Procedures, Appeals And Actions", of this

title. The power to grant variances does not extend to use regulations. 

During their regularly scheduled September 1, 2020 meeting, the McCall Area Planning and Zoning

Commission held a properly noticed public hearing on the application. After discussion, the

application and public hearing were continued until the next regularly scheduled meeting on

October 6, 2020 to allow more time to gather information. The Commission also approved a motion

to hold a public hearing during a site visit to the property on Friday October 2, 2020. 

During the October 6th meeting, the Commission discussed the site visit and deliberated on the

application. A motion was made to direct staff to prepare draft findings recommending the variance

application to the McCaII City Council for approval; a roll call vote was held, and the motion carried

with 5 ayes and 2 nays. The findings were provided to the Commission for review and approval

during their regularly scheduled November 3, 2020 meeting. 



Sanders Setback Variance — Findings of Fact

McCaII City Council — February 25, 2021
Page 5 of 13

B) Limitation On Granting: Variances shall not be granted on the grounds of convenience or profit, 

and hardships created by a former or present owner of the property will not justify a variance. 

This Commission determined that the variance was not due to convenience or profit. However, the

City Council determined that because the lot still has a buildable footprint area in excess of 6, 000 sq. 

ft., that the hardship expressed by the applicant was due to the design and location of the project

on the site, which was of the property owner' s own making and was not due to the lot itself. 

C) Modification Of Requirements: A variance may be granted modifying the requirements of this title

respecting: lot width; lot depth; front, side, and rear yard setbacks; lot coverage; parking space; 

height of buildings; or other ordinance provisions affecting the size or shape of a structure or the

placement of the structure upon Tots, or the size or shape of lots. A variance may not be used to

authorize a land use not otherwise allowed in the applicable zone or to increase the density of

development beyond that which is authorized in the comprehensive plan. The applicant is

proposing only a single- family residence with a single accessory dwelling unit. Therefore, the

applicant is not requesting a use or density beyond what is permitted by the McCall City Code. 

The variance request is in regard to a property development standard ( setbacks) that are described

in McCall City Code 3. 7. 023B, that structures in the river environs zone be setback 50 ft. from the

area of special flood hazard. The applicant is proposing to remove the 50 ft. setback from the Area

of Special Flood Hazard to build within the Area of Special Flood Hazard. The applicant is proposing

to meet all requirements of MCC 9. 8 Flood Control Regulation ( Overlay), which describes the specific

building standards required to build within the Area of Special Flood Hazard. 

D) Granting Variances Authorized: The commission may grant variances to the regulations prescribed

by this Title 3, and Title 9 of this McCall City Code, in accordance with the procedures prescribed in

those chapters, with respect to any property development standard, performance standard, sign, 

accessory structure, wall or fence. 



Sanders Setback Variance — Findings of Fact

McCall City Council — February 25, 2021
Page 6 of 13

The variance request is in regard to a property development standard ( setbacks) that are described

in McCaII City Code 3. 7. 023B, that structures in the river environs zone be setback 50 ft. from the

area of special flood hazard. 

E) Varying Only To Extent Necessary: In the event that a variance is granted, the restricting zoning

regulation( s) shall be varied only to the extent necessary to relieve the applicant of the immediate

hardship; the existence of hardship does not confer upon the applicant a right to a variance where

the function of the proposed construction can be made to conform to the requirements of this

title. The Council determined that while the proposed construction could not be made to conform

to the requirements of this title because the residence and accessory structure would need to be

greatly reduced in size, they did determine that the lot had more than adequate space for a single

family residence and garage if it were to be redesigned. They determined that the removal of the 50

ft. setback, along with permitting an encroachment of more than an additional 150 ft. into the Area

of Special Flood Hazard for the two structure footprints totaling 11, 000 sq. ft., was more the

minimum extend necessary to relieve the applicant of the professed hardship because the lot is

buildable. 

F) Imposing Conditions: In granting any variance, the Commission may prescribe appropriate

conditions of approval in conformity with this title to reduce the impact of the variance. One such

condition of approval shall be a stated date before which it must be exercised, or lapse. 

The Council decided to deny the variance application; therefore, no conditions of approval are

necessary. 

Variance Standards

A variance shall not be granted unless the Commission makes specific findings of fact based directly

on the particular evidence presented to it which supports conclusions that the standards and



Sanders Setback Variance — Findings of Fact

McCall City Council — February 25, 2021
Page 7 of 13

conditions have been met by the applicant. The Commission may grant a variance only upon the

following findings: 

A) Special physical conditions and circumstances applicable to the land, structure or building

involved make a literal enforcement of the provisions of this title an undue hardship; provided, 

that: 

1. Economic hardship alone is not to be considered as an undue hardship

Economic factors were not a consideration in the request for the variance, nor in the Council

discussion and subsequent decision to deny the variance. 

2. The special conditions and circumstances are peculiar to the land, structure or building

involved, and are not applicable to other lands, structures or buildings conforming to Title 3, 

McCall City Code in the vicinity

The subject parcel is comprised heavily of wetlands, and the river' s Floodway and Area of

Special Flood Hazard encroach more than 500 ft. into the property, and the applicant is subject

to a 50 ft. setback on top of that. Between the front, side, and shoreline setback, the applicant

has stated that 97% of the lot was unbuildable without the variance. 

The Council discussed how the proposed code requirement, MCC 3. 7. 023, created a hardship by

reducing the buildable area of the lot, but that it was not unique to this parcel. Many parcels are

subject to this code requirement, although most parcel boundaries along the river are set at the

edge of the Area of Special Hazard and are only subject to the 50 ft. setback. However, there are

approximately a half dozen other parcels along the river in the City and Impact Area jurisdiction, 

that have reduced buildable areas due to the area of special flood hazard so the special

conditions are not peculiar to only the subject parcel. 



Sanders Setback Variance — Findings of Fact

McCall City Council — February 25, 2021
Page 8 of 13

3. That these special conditions and circumstances do not result from the actions of an owner of

the land; provided, that for purposes of a variance as to the characteristics of a building, a

subdivider who is not the applicant is not to be considered an owner for these purposes. 

The City Council determined that because the lot still has a buildable footprint area in excess of

6, 000 sq. ft., that the hardship expressed by the applicant was due to the design and location of

the project on the site, which was of the property owner' s own making and was not due to the

lot itself, and that the lot was still buildable for a single family residence and garage. 

B) Granting the variance would preserve for such property privileges enjoyed by other property in

the vicinity; provided, that: 

1. No nonconforming use of neighboring lands, structures or buildings in the same zone, and no

use of lands, structures or buildings in other zones, shall be considered a privilege enjoyed by

other property in the vicinity

The justification for the variance was not based on any nearby nonconforming uses of land. 

2. Granting the variance requested will not confer on the applicant any special privilege that is

denied by this title to other lands, structures or buildings in the same zone, and affected by

the same conditions and circumstances. 

The Council determined that while the variance may not have conferred on the applicant special

privilege that was denied to other property in the same zone because the majority of other

lands affected by the same conditions and circumstances had been previously developed prior

to the adoption of new more accurate flood maps, if the other undeveloped properties along

the river with substantial floodplain were to apply for a similar variance in the future and were

to be denied, then this variance application would have conferred special privileges to the

subject property. 



Sanders Setback Variance — Findings of Fact

McCall City Council — February 25, 2021
Page 9 of 13

C) Granting the variance would not be in conflict with the public interest and will not alter the

essential character of the neighborhood or violate the comprehensive plan. 

The River' s Crossing HOA has submitted a letter of approval for the project and has determined that

the granting of the variance will not alter the essential character of the neighborhood, which has

many riverfront homes. However, the design, which includes filling of wetlands, is not in compliance

with the HOA' s own design guideline criteria of being setback 15 ft. from all wetlands. 

Additionally, the development is not in accordance with several goals of the McCall Comprehensive

Plan, including the goals to conserve significant natural areas or encouraging development that will

enhance the ability of people and natural systems to withstand and recover from natural disaster

and other major disturbances. Specific policies that are outlined in the Comprehensive Plan that

conflict with the proposed variance are: 

1. Regulate activities in natural resources areas that are deemed to be detrimental to the provision

of food, water, and cover for fish and wildlife. 

2. Require site evaluation for habitat, wildlife corridors, and other natural features prior to

development design. 

3. Encourage flexibility in the siting and design of buildings and other improvements to reduce the

impact of development on environmentally sensitive areas. 

DEPARTMENT/ AGENCY COMMENTS

Payette Lakes Recreational Water and Sewer District ( PLRWSD) 

The application was distributed to the PLRWSD more than thirty (30) prior to the September 1, 2020

McCall Area Planning and Zoning Commission meeting date. In a letter dated August 3, 2020, PLRWSD

stated the following: 

1. There is a sewer service connection for the lot in the area of construction, the sewer service

connection shall be protected from damage during construction of the proposed structures to



Sanders Setback Variance — Findings of Fact

McCall City Council — February 25, 2021
Page 10 of 13

prevent excessive water, or debris, from entering the sewer system. Failure to do so will result

in the owner/ contractor being responsible for any cost incurred by the district for cleaning or

removing debris that enters the sewer system. 

2. Purchase of two ( 2) sewer connection permits will be required before a building permit is

issued and construction begins. 

3. Inflows of surface water and excessive infiltration are prohibited. Such prohibited sources of

inflow shall include, but not be limited to, the following: Heating, cooling, or water system

discharges in excess of one thousand gallons per day. Storm water connection, sub -water

drains, floor drains located within garages, foundation drains, roof drains, swimming pools, 

street drains, basement drains, sump pumps and abandoned sewer lines. 

4. The owner/ contractor shall notify the district two (2) business days before connection to the

sewer stub. 

McCall City Engineer

In an email dated August 25, 2020, the City Engineer made the following comments: 

The City has completed a preliminary engineering review of the land use applications. Given that the

proposed development is contingent upon the Planning and Zoning Commission' s determination of if a

Variance can be approved for this project, this review is cursory and is not intended to be

comprehensive of all engineering issues that need to be finally addressed. Accordingly, we have

prepared the following comments, respectfully: 

Grading, Drainage and Stormwater Management: 

1. The submitted stormwater application identifies that the project proposes to construct

approximately 17, 823 square feet of impervious area. A stormwater report, prepared in

accordance with the City' s drainage management guidelines to include sections A, B, C, D, E, and

F is required. 



Sanders Setback Variance — Findings of Fact

McCall City Council — February 25, 2021
Page 11 of 13

2. The proposed stormwater plan ( Sheet C2. 1) identifies two principal drainage areas. Treatment

of the water quality event appears to be accomplished by a series of retention basins and

vegetative buffers where stormwater is not directed into basins as the permanent best

management practices ( BMPs). This approach to managing stormwater is consistent with the

City' s DMGS, however, the stormwater drainage report ( see # 1 above) shall provide additional

details regarding the sizing of the basins, management of roof runoff, sizing of conveyance

facilities ( if any) and other temporary and permanent BMPs that may be necessary to insure the

project does not impact adjacent properties and/ or aquatic habitat ( i. e. wetlands, river, etc.). 

Floodplain Development Permit: 

1. The applicant has submitted a floodplain development permit application. On 7/ 16/ 20, the

City' s floodplain administrator( Morgan Bessaw) and Interim City Engineer ( Nathan Stewart) 

spoke with Jim Fronk to discuss, in detail the requirements for the City' s floodplain permitting

process. Staff explained that various submittals ( e. g. elevation certificates) will be required at

different stages of the project ( design, construction, post -construction as- builts). The City will

work with the applicant, pending variance approval, to specify floodplain permit requirements

necessary for final engineering approval in subsequent correspondence. 

2. Our initial review of the site utility plans, foundation details, and floodplain development permit

application indicate that this project may comply with the City' s Flood Control Regulations

9. 8). 

Additional Items: 

1. The application submittal did not include a site utilities plan. This plan is required to identify all

utilities ( water, sewer, power, communication, etc.) proposed for the project and how they are

routed through the property from their origin within the Morgan Drive ROW. Particularly, the

location of the water meter and the size of the desired water meter shall be identified. 



Sanders Setback Variance — Findings of Fact

McCall City Council — February 25, 2021
Page 12 of 13

2. The proposed bridge structure shall be designed by a licensed structural engineer and an

appropriate design submittal shall be provided to the City' s building official for review and

approval as part of the building permit for the residential structure. 

3. The application presents and describes that wetland impacts will occur as part of this proposed

development. Accordingly, approval from the US Army Corps of Engineers and the State of

Idaho ( via the Joint Application for Permits process) shall be contingent of any City engineering

approvals for this project. 

As previously stated, this engineering review #1 is considered preliminary. Should the variance

application be granted, the City will work with the applicant and their design team to provide additional

review and comment to facilitate the final engineering review of this project. 

US Army Corps of Engineers

In a letter dated September 1, 2020, the US Army Corps of Engineers stated that the applicant was

approved for a Nationwide Permit. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. The City of McCall has provided for the processing of Variances, authorized by Section 67- 6516, 

Idaho Code, pursuant to Title 3, Chapter 13 of McCall City Code. 

2. Adequate notice of the September 1, October 2, and October 6, and December 3, 2020 and

February 11, 2021 public hearings were provided, pursuant to Section 67- 6516, Idaho Code and Title

3, Chapter 15 of McCaII City Code. 

DECISION

THEREFORE, the McCall City Council hereby denies this Variance ( VAR- 20-01) application. 

Regulatory Taking Notice: Denial of a Variance application, or approval of a Variance application with

conditions unacceptable to the landowner, may be subject to the regulatory takings analysis provided for

by Section 67-8003, Idaho Code. 



Findings of Fact adopted this 25th day of FEBRUARY 2021. 

soot tu lj,g, , 

F- SB ) 0

Attest: • e O

i0
rV

BessieJo
Wagner City Lfff" STATE

OF IDAHO, ss: 

County

of Valley Sanders

Setback Variance — Findings of Fact McCall

City Council — February 25, 2021 Page
13 of 13 Robert

S. Giles, Mayor On

this A. t, day ofP_Xf.% , 2020, before me, a Notary Public, appeared ROBERT
S. GILES and BESSIEJO WAGNER, known, or identified to me to be the MAYOR and CITY CLERK, respectively, 

of CITY OF MCCALL that executed the said instrument, and acknowledged to me that they executed
the same on behalf of THE CITY OF MCCALL. SE

McCall

EDSON

NOTARY
PUBLICH

STATE

OF IDAHO COMMISSION
NUMBER 20200108 MY

COMMISSION EXPIRES 1-10. 2026 Ir otary Public for Idaho



• 

City of Mc 
216 East Park S 
McCall , Idaho 8 
P.208.634.7142 

Date Received : 

ND USE 
LICATION 

NOTICE OF ADDITIONAL FEES 

City of McCall 
COMMU N ITY 

DFVELOPMrrNT 

Fees Paid: 

Land use applications may be subject to engineering and legal review for purpose of addressing compliance 
and conformance issues. The City of McCall reserves the right to contract these services to private firms. The 
costs of these reviews are passed on to the applicant. These fees are separate. and in addition to. the City's 
application and permit fees. Completion of this application signifies consent to these fees. 

Please check all that apply: 
D # ______ Record of Survey (ROS) - $420 

D # Design Review (DR) - $300 + $25/1,000 sq . ft . of new construction (rounded to the nearest 1,000) 

D # Scenic Route (SR) - $300 

~ # Shoreline or River Environs (SH)..:..S.,300 

D # Conditional Use Permit (CUP) - $600 

D # Administrative Approval (AA) - $50 

D # Planned Unit Development (PUD) General Plan - $2,000 + $75/lot or un it 

D # Planned Unit Development (PUD) Final Plan - $500 + $75/lot or unit 

D # Subdivision (SUB) Preliminary Plat - $2,500 + $75/lot or unit 

D # Subdivision (SUB) Final Plat - $1000 + $75/lot or unit 

D # Minor Plat Amendment - $1,000 

pqt 'f'M t, J?P.f:.l{, Variance (VAR) - $1.000 
D # Rezone (ZON) - $1,500 

D # Zoni ng Code Ame ndment (CA) - $750/title 

D # Annexation - $3,000 

D # Vacation (VAC) - $750 

PROPERTY OWNER INFORMATION 

Incomplete applications 
cannot be accepted by 
the City. Unless 
otherwise exempted by 
the Administrator, all 
Application 
Requirements must be 
provided at the time of 
submission. Please 
refer to specific 
application info sheets 
for more details. 

Property Owner 1: owtt:1 N WO Dtt~Q~ SANDW:5 
Mailing Address: j<?u, I::, , ~ bf't xUJ-re-, 21L{ 

Email: pu,ws~ e Gmwi L,. l/5Y'(l 

Phone: 20q - 4M- D ?Jc./D 

Property Owner 2(/f Applicable ): ____________ Emai l:--------------

Mailing Address:------------------- Phone: -----------

AGENT/AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE INFORMATION 

Applicant/Representative: .... ~"4-Ll+-M~~ kV~ C--~------ Emai l: ~Wt~~hN, C6)Y\ 

Mailing Address: '.PO 1,t.{qb AAcCAfL. Phone: U?fS- ~~4::: -451:Z? Y"f'P2.-

PROPERTY INFORMATION 

Address(es) of Property: 2-2-1 Mofl(,A:N w . 
Legal Description of Property: Lo'( 1q fU Vfg':, cy.6S$,1.J, , E?k/JvK ~ 
Zoning District of Property: B:-i- Project Sq . Footage (If Applicable): 5 .3, ~~ (Z10,1i,D7 <a..~) 
Im pact Area D City Limits p( Residential D Commercial D 

VAR-20-01

SH-20-03



• 

LAND USE APPLICATION CONTINUED 
Payette Lakes Water and Sewer District~ or Septic System D or not applicable~ 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

Explain the general nature of what is proposed: (please attach supplemental information if needed) 

I SIGNATURES 

The Applicant hereby agrees to pay reasonable attorney fees, including attorney fees on appeal and expenses of the City of McCall, 
in the event of a dispute concerning the interpretation or enforcement of the Land Use Application in which the City of McCall is the 
prevailing party. 

I certify that I have reviewed and understand the procedures and requirements of the McCall City Code. I give permission for City 
staff and/or Planning & Zoning Commission members to view and enter the subject property in order to fully review this application. 
I understand that failure to provide complete and accurate information on this application may lead to denial of this application. 

I 
Property Owner 1 

Property Owner 2 (If Applicable) Signature 

J 
Agent/ Authorized Representative ~ ature 

FOR RECORD OF SURVEY APPLICATIONS ONLY: STATEMENT OF EASEMENT DISCLOSURE 

Surveyor Signature 

I hereby certify that I have performed a thorough search for all relevant easements that relate to the subject property and have 
indicated or referenced these by their instrument number on the provided survey. 

2 



NARRATIVE IN SUPPORT OF VARIANCE APPLICATION 
DWAIN AND CYNTHIA SANDERS 

LOT 19, BLOCK 2, RIVERS CROSSING SUBDIVISION 
 

The Application seeks a variance from the setback proscribed by MCC 3.7.023,B(2) in the 
Shoreline and River Environs Ordinance to allow for the construction of a home within  the 
most recently FEMA designated Special Flood Hazard Area and an accessory structure within 
fifty (50) feet of the Special Flood Hazard Area. 
 
The Applicants’ own a 5.3 acre riverfront Estate Lot in Rivers Crossing. They have been 
working with the Public Works Department, Epikos and Jim Fronk for the last two years to 
design a home and separated garage/shop/apartment. The site improvements have been 
designed and structural plans are well underway. Design Review approval from the Rivers 
Crossing Owners Association is in process. The design and site selection allow for the home 
to be screened from both the street and the Payette River, while still assuring that the 
structures as designed will be setback at least 480 feet from the River. 

 
The variance is required to address the extreme hardship caused by the conflict between the 
the amendment in 2006 of the definition of “stream high water mark” in the Shoreline and 
River Environs Ordinance and the provisions of the Flood Control Regulations Overlay (Title 
9, Chapter 8 of the McCall City Code), which was adopted by the City in 2019. The proposed 
construction is clearly allowed under the McCall Flood Regulations Overlay Ordinance, 
which allows construction within the Special Flood Hazard Area. However, under the 2006 
amendment to the Shoreline and River Environs Ordinance “stream high water mark” is 
defined as the upland limit of the Special Flood Hazard Area. As a result, the improvements 
would have to be setback 50 feet from the upland limit of the Special Flood Hazard Area.  
 
Thus, what is expressly allowed in the recently adopted Flood Regulations Overlay Ordinance 
runs contrary to the setback proscribed by the Shoreline and River Environs Ordinance. If the 
50-foot setback from the “stream high water mark” as therein defined is applied to the 
Applicants’ 230,607 square foot Estate Lot (along with the Rivers Crossing internal setbacks) 
the improvements would have to be set back approximately 565 feet from the River and the 
buildable area of the lot is reduced to 6,415 square feet, or roughly 2.8% of the lot. It is 
simply not possible to construct the improvements, or anything remotely resembling the 
proposed improvements, within this building area.  

 
This internal conflict was only discovered by City Staff and the Applicant as the Applicants’ 
representatives approached the actual submittal of the Shoreline Environs Application. It is 
believed that the consequence of this internal conflict was unintended. In 2006, the FEMA 
mapping did not distinguish between or separately designate “Floodway” from “Floodplain”, 
nor did it contain the elevations, gradient and detail on which the 2019 FEMA Mapping is 
based. This detail provided the basis for the conclusion, as incorporated into the City’s 2019 
Flood Regulations Overlay Ordinance, that construction can be safely undertaken in the 
Special Flood Hazard Area.  
 
The Application meets the standards of M.C.C. 3.13.021, governing variances. This is not a 



Narrative 2 
 

matter of mere economic hardship. To the contrary, the variance addresses the hardship of 
otherwise having over 97% of the Lot be unbuildable. Additionally, it appears that the 
circumstances underlying this Application are unique to this Lot and are not shared by other 
lots in the vicinity. Lastly, the underlying circumstances are not the result of any actions of 
the Applicants.  

 
 



Supplemental Narrative 1 
 

SUPPLEMENTAL NARRATIVE IN SUPPORT OF VARIANCE APPLICATION 
DWAIN AND CYNTHIA SANDERS 

LOT 19, BLOCK 2, RIVERS CROSSING SUBDIVISION 
(VAR-20-01, SH-20-03) 

 
This Supplemental Narrative addresses two issues which have arisen in the Planning and Zoning 
Commission’s review of the Variance and Shoreline and River Environs Applications: (i) The 
intent and significance of FEMA’s Special Flood Hazard Area designation; and, (ii) the issue of 
the filling of wetlands. 
 
1.  The Special Flood Hazard Area (“SFHA”):   

The SFHA is defined both by FEMA and by the City in Title 9, Chapter 8 of the McCall 
City Code (Flood Control Regulations Overlay) as an area having a 1 percent chance of being 
inundated by flood waters in any given year. However, it is critical to understand that this risk is 
eliminated by proper construction standards, which are required both by the federal regulations 
governing the SFHA designation and by MCC Title 9, Chapter 8. To suggest that the SFHA 
designation is intended to bar development in the area is flatly in error. The federal regulations 
governing the SFHA designation not only allow for development within the SFHA, but clearly 
contemplate that such development can safely occur.  

As stated on the FEMA Map Information eXchange (FMIX): 

“FEMA believes that strong State and local building codes represent the 
best practices in disaster-resistant construction and are critical for effective 
mitigation. FEMA’s Flood Insurance and Mitigation Administration is actively 
involved in monitoring the Nation’s building codes and participating in the 
development of higher standards…The NFIP floodplain management 
requirements for properties within special Flood Hazard Area’s (SFHAs) are 
designed to prevent new development from increasing the flood threat and to 
protect new and anticipated buildings from anticipated flood events.”  

The federal regulations which govern the SFHA designation contain the NFIP floodplain 
management requirements and construction standards for residential and nonresidential 
development in the SFHA. These include the following requirement for residential construction: 

(2) Require that all new construction and substantial improvements of residential 
structures within Zones A1-30, AE and AH zones on the community's FIRM have 
the lowest floor (including basement) elevated to or above the base flood level, 
unless the community is granted an exception by the Federal Insurance 
Administrator for the allowance of basements in accordance with § 60.6 (b) or (c). 

CFR Title 44, Chapter 1, Subchapter B, Part 60, §60.3(c)(2). 

In 2019, McCall followed up on these regulations by adopting Title 9. Chapter 8, which 
requires residential construction in the SFHA to be at least two feet above the base flood 
elevation or, where no BFE has been established, two feet above adjacent grade.  



Narrative 2 
 

Thus, both the federal NFIP Regulations and McCall City Code contemplate that a 
residence can be safely constructed in the SFHA without risk of flooding.  

2.  Wetlands:   

 Concern has been expressed that the provisions of the Shoreline and River Environs Code 
can be read to prohibit the filling of wetlands anywhere within the Shoreline and River Environs 
Zone. It is however very important to recognize that this is a subject which is under the 
jurisdiction of the federal government under the Clean Water Act, specifically the Army Corps 
of Engineers. The Corps has issued a “Nationwide Permit” for the minimal wetlands disturbance 
associated with the Sanders project. The Permit confirms that only .15 acres of wetlands will be 
impacted for the construction of the building pad. 

 The argument can certainly be made that, by the adoption of the Clean Water Act and 
extensive body of federal regulations applying the Act, the federal government has “pre-empted” 
the subject of wetlands impacts. 1 The consequence of pre-emption would be that conflicting 
State or Local Ordinances are invalid. However, for two reasons, it is not necessary to resolve 
the issue of pre-emption in order to approve the Sanders’ Applications.  

 First, it is possible to reconcile the federal jurisdiction under the Clean Water Act with 
the City Code provisions, to avoid any conflict. This can be done by simply making the 
reasonable inference that the Shoreline Environs Ordinance’s reference to filling wetlands refers 
to the filling of wetlands without a Permit from the A.C.E. The Army Corps’ willingness to 
declare that the disturbance of .15 acres of wetlands falls under a Nationwide Permits is 
noteworthy. In its September 15, 2020 Proposal to Reissue and Modify Nationwide Permits, the 
Corps states as follows regarding Nationwide Permits (NWP’s): 

We are proposing these modifications to simplify and clarify the NWPs, reduce 
burdens on the regulated public, and continue to comply with the statutory 
requirement that these NWPs authorize only activities with no more than minimal 
individual and cumulative adverse environmental effects.  

Thus, the conclusion that the minimal disturbance of .15 acres of wetlands contemplated by the 
Sanders will not cause “harm” to the Shoreline Environs Overlay Zone and is therefore not 
prohibited by the subject Code provisions would, under these circumstances, be a reasonable 
interpretation and application of the Code.  

 The second way to address this concern without resolving the issue of whether the federal 
government has completely preempted the area of filling wetlands would be to include this issue 
as one of the Code standards to which a variance is being granted. The fact of the minimal 
contemplated wetlands disturbance is transparent in the Application maps and materials. The 
Planning and Zoning Commission’s public hearing process is still underway. Under these 
circumstances, the amendment of the Application to include this issue would not be improper.2   

 
1 See, for example Boundary Backpackers v. Boundary County, 128 Idaho 371, 913 P.2d 1141 (1986) and 
Envirosafe Services of Idaho, Inc. v. the County of Owyhee, 112 Idaho 687, 735 P.2d 998 (1987).  
2 See Neighbors for a Healthy Gold Fork v. Valley County, 145 Idaho 121, 176 P.3d 126 (2007).  



www.EpikosDesign.com

E P I K O S
LAND PLANNING

+
ARCHITECTURE

McCALL OFFICE
303 Colorado Street

P.O.Box 2490
McCall, Idaho 83638
Tel:  208.634.4540

Stamp:

P&Z APPLICATION SET

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RE

SI
D

EN
C

E

C  2020 EPIKOS

Date:

Sheet:

Project No:

Drawn by:

Checked by: LB

LB, ES

A1-1

Revisions:

22
1

 M
O

RG
A

N
 D

RI
V

E
M

C
C

A
LL

, I
D

 8
36

38

BIMcloud: s132-148-167-156 - BIMcloud Basic for ARCHICAD 23/SANDERS RIVER CROSSING

7/21/2020

(  PLOT DATE:         7/21/2020  )

1916

THIS IS INTENDED TO BE PRINTED ON A 24"X36" SHEET.  ALL OTHER SHEET SIZES WILL NOT BE PRINTED TO SCALE.

COVER

Title:

A1-1

A2-1

A2-2

A2-3

A2-4

A2-5

A2-6

A2-7

A3-1

A3-2

A4-1

A5-1

A5-2

A5-3

A5-4

A5-5

A5-6

A5-7

A5-8

A6-1

A6-2

A6-3

A6-4

A6-5

A7-1

A8-1

A9-1

A9-2

A9-3

E1-1

L1.1

L1.2

C2.1

C2.2

C2.3

C2.4

S0.00

S0.01

S0.10

S0.11

S0.12

S0.13

S1.00

S1.01

S1.02

S1.03

S2.00

S2.01

S2.10

S2.11

COVER

EXISTING SITE ON AERIAL

EXISTING SITE PLAN

BUILDING SITE CONSTRAINTS

SITE PHOTOS

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

SITE GRADING & DEMO PLAN

STAGING PLAN

MAIN HOUSE FLOOR PLAN

SHOP FLOOR PLAN

ROOF PLAN

MAIN HOUSE FRONT ELEVATION

MAIN HOUSE ELEVATIONS

MAIN HOUSE ELEVATIONS

SHOP  EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

SHOP ELEVATION

MAIN HOUSE PERSPECTIVES

SHOP PERSPECTIVES

MATERIALS

BUILDING SECTION LIVING ROOM

BUILDING SECTIONS LIVING

BUILDING SECTIONS

BUILDING SECTION MASTER

BUILDING SECTIONS

WALL SECTIONS

WINDOW & DOOR SCHEDULES

DETAILS

TYVEK DETAILS

ENERGY STAR DETAILS

ELECTRICAL PLAN

LANDSCAPE PLAN AT HOUSE

LANDSCAPE PLAN AT SHOP

PRELIM STORMWATER MANAGEMENT PLAN

FLOOD HAZARD AREA

PRELIMINARY CRAWLSPACE AND GRADING DETAILS

Existing conditions with preliminary site plan

GENERAL STRUCTURAL NOTES

GENERAL STRUCTURAL NOTES

TYP. FOUNDATION DETAILS

TYP. STEEL DETAILS

TYP. SHEAR DETAILS

TYP. WOOD FRAMING DETAILS

FOUNDATION PLAN

ROOF FRAMING PLAN

SHOP FOUNDATION PLAN

SHOP ROOF FRAMING

CONCRETE DETAILS

CONCRETE DETAILS

WOOD FRAMING DETAILS

WOOD FRAMING NOTES

THIS SET OF DRAWINGS IS THE SHELL PACKAGE COVERING FOUNDATION, FRAMING, AND EXTERIOR FINISHES.  ALL
INTERIOR FINISHES, MILLWORK, CASEWORK, EXPOSED MECHANICAL AND ELECTRICAL WORK, ETC. WILL BE INCLUDED IN
THE FINISH PACKAGE TO FOLLOW.  ALL FINISH ITEMS IN THIS PACKAGE ARE FOR INFORMATION ONLY AND MAY
CHANGE.

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO FACE OF STUD OR CONCRETE, U.O.N.  ALL EXTERIOR WALLS TO BE 5 1/2" WIDE, U.O.N.  ALL
INTERIOR WALLS ARE 3 1/2" WIDE, U.O.N.

GANG TOGETHER VENT STACKS AS MUCH AS POSSIBLE TO MINIMIZE ROOF PENETRATIONS.

PROVIDE ELECTRICAL HEAT TAPE FOR ALL GUTTERS, DOWNSPOUTS AND OTHER PIPES AS REQUIRED.

SEE ELEVATIONS FOR TOP OF WINDOW HEIGHTS. TOP OF WINDOW DOES NOT INCLUDE ROUGH OPENING.

DOOR SCHEDULES ON THIS SHELL PACKAGE SET INDICATE SIZE AND TYPE FOR FRAMING INFORMATION ONLY.  REFER
TO THE FINISH PACKAGE FOR FURTHER INFORMATION ON WOOD SPECIES, FINISHES, AND SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS.

COORDINATE ALL INTERIOR NON-STRUCTURAL DROPPED CEILINGS WITH THE FINISH PACKAGE.

COORDINATE ALL MECHANICAL AND ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT AND ACCESS PANELS WITH ARCHITECT PRIOR TO
INSTALLATION.

CONTRACTOR TO COORDINATE ALL DESIGN/BUILD MECHANICAL AND ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT, DEVICES AND WORK.
SUBMIT DRAWINGS FOR REVIEW BY ARCHITECT AND PEER CONSULTANT.
REFER TO PROJECT MANUAL DIVISION 15 AND 16.

RESIDENTIAL GENERAL NOTES, IF APPLICABLE

PLUMBING NOTES (see also mpe notes)

FOUNDATION NOTES

MECHANICAL NOTES

ARCHITECTURAL NOTES

ALL WORK TO COMPLY WITH THE 2012 I.R.C. EDITION AND LOCAL CODES.

PROVIDE LOCATION OF GAS AND ELECTRICAL METERS IN AN AREA THAT IS PROTECTED FROM SNOW AND ICE DAMAGE.
L.M.C. 15-2.3-4

PROVIDE TANK TYPE WATER CLOSETS WITH A FLOW RATE OF NOT MORE THAN 1.6 GALLONS PER FLUSH. I.R.C. R2903.2

PROVIDE SHOWERHEADS WITH A FLOW RATE OF NOT MORE THAN 2.5 GPM. I.R.C. P2903.2

PROVIDE NON-FREEZE TYPE BACKFLOW PREVENTER HOSE BIBS. I.R.C. P2903.2

ALL PLUMBING VENTS THROUGH THE ROOF TO BE MINIMUM 3" PIPE, 10' FROM EAVES AND BLEND WITH ROOFING
COLOR(S). I.R.C. P3103.2

PROVIDE A FLOOR DRAIN BY THE WATER HEATER. PROVIDE A METAL PAN UNDER THE WATER HEATER OR STEAM SHOWER
EQUIPMENT IF LOCATED ON A WOOD FLOOR. I.R.C. P2801

IN SEISMIC DESIGN CATEGORIES C1, D1, AND D2, WATER HEATER SHALL BE ANCHORED OR STRAPPED IN THE UPPER THIRD
OF THE APPLIANCE TO RESIST A HORIZONTAL FORCE EQUAL TO ONE THIRD OF THE OPERATING WEIGHT.

IF BUILDING WATER SUPPLY LINE HS PRV VALUE INSTALLED WITHOUT THERMAL BY-PASS, PLUMBING CONTRACTOR SHALL
INSTALL DIAPHGRAM EXPANSION TANK EQUAL TO THERM-X-CONTROL MODEL ST-25V.

ALL WORK TO COMPLY WITH THE 2012 I.R.C. EDITION AND LOCAL CODES.

PROVIDE A COMFORT HEATING SYSTEM CAPABLE OF MAINTAINING 68 F AT A POINT 36 INCHES ABOVE THE FLOOR IN
ALL ROOMS. GENERALLY EQUIPMENT CANNOT BE INSTALLED IN SLEEPING ROOMS OR BATHROOMS. I.R.C. G2406

PROVIDE COMBUSTION AIR FOR ALL FUEL-BURNING APPLIANCES AT A MINIMUM RATE OF 1 SQ. INCH PER 3000
BTU/HOUR INPUT. THE ONE OPENING MUST BE IN THE TOP 12 INCHES OF THE ROOM. PROVIDE MINIMUM 1 INCH
CLEARANCE AROUND EQUIPMENT AT SIDES AND REAR OF THE APPLIANCE. PROVIDE MINIMUM 6 INCH CLEARANCE IN
FRONT OF THE APPLIANCE. I.F.G.C. 304.6.2

FUEL-BURNING APPLIANCES, INCLUDING FIREPLACES, ARE NOT PERMITTED TO BE INSTALLED IN SLEEPING ROOMS,
BATHROOMS, OR TOILET ROOMS UNLESS THE APPLIANCES ARE DIRECT VENT APPLIANCES. SEE I.R.C. SECTION G2406 AND
I.M.C. 303.3 FOR MORE INFORMATION AND THE LIST OF EXCEPTIONS.

FUEL-FIRED WATER HEATERS SHALL NOT BE INSTALLED IN A ROOM USED AS A STORAGE CLOSET. NON-DIRECT-VENT
WATER HEATERS LOCATED IN A BEDROOM OR BATHROOM SHALL BE INSTALLED IN A SEALED ENCLOSURE SO THAT
COMBUSTION AIR WILL NOT BE TAKEN FROM THE LIVING SPACE. I.R.C. M2005.2

APPLIANCES HAVING AN IGNITION SOURCE SHALL BE ELEVATED SUCH THAT THE SOURCE OF IGNITION IS NOT LESS THAN
18 INCHES ABOVE THE FLOOR IN GARAGES. ROOMS OR SPACES THAT ARE NOT PART OF THE LIVING SPACE OR A
DWELLING UNIT AND THAT COMMUNICATE WITH A PRIVATE GARAGE THROUGH OPENINGS SHALL BE CONSIDERED TO
BE PART OF THE GARAGE. I.R.C. M1307.3

ELECTRICAL NOTES

ALL WORK TO COMPLY WITH THE 2012 I.R.C. EDITION AND LOCAL CODES

DRAINAGE WATER SHALL BE DIRECTED TO THE STREET OR TO AN APPROVED DRAINAGE COURSE BUT NOT ONTO
NEIGHBORING PROPERTIES. THE GRADE SHALL FALL A MINIMUM OF 6 INCHES WITHIN THE FIRST 10 FT. I.R.C. R401.3

EXCAVATIONS, FILL, CUTS, AND GRADING SHALL COMPLY WITH I.R.C. CHAPTER 4

FOOTINGS SHALL BE A MINIMUM OF 36 INCHES BELOW FINISH GRADE. I.R.C. R403.1.4

TOP OF FOUNDATION WALLS SHALL BE A MINIMUM 6 INCHES ABOVE ADJACENT FINISH GRADE. I.R.C. R404.1.6

UNDERFLOOR VENTILATION: MINIMUM 1 SQ. FT. FOR EACH 150 SQ. FT. OF UNDERFLOOR AREA, OR 1:1,500 IF 6 MIL
VISQUEEN IS PROVIDED ON THE GROUND. VENTS TO BE ARRANGED TO PROVIDE CROSS-VENTILATION ON AT LEAST
TWO OPPOSING SIDES. I.R.C. R408

TEMPERED GLASS SHALL BE PROVIDED IN: FRAMELESS GLASS DOORS, GLASS IN DOORS, GLASS WITHIN A 24" ARCH OF
DOORS, GLAZING LESS THAN 60" ABOVE A WALKING SURFACE THAT IS WITHIN 5 FT. OF SPAS OR POOLS, CERTAIN
FIXED GLASS PANELS, AND SIMILAR GLAZED OPENINGS SUBJECT TO HUMAN IMPACT. I.R.C. R308

PROVIDE NOT LESS THAN 1/2 INCH GYPSUM BOARD ON THE GARAGE SIDE OF THE WALL AND CEILING SEPARATING A
GARAGE AND A DWELLING. WHERE THE SEPARATION IS A FLOOR-CEILING ASSEMBLY, THE STRUCTURE SUPPORTING THE
SEPARATION SHALL BE PROTECTED WITH NOT LESS THAN 5/8 INCH TYPE X GYPSUM BOARD ON THE CEILING. I.R.C.
R309.2

PROVIDE 24 INCH ON-CENTER BLOCKING FOR VERTICAL SIDING. I.R.C. TABLE R703.4 FOOTNOTE K

ALL WORK TO COMPLY WITH THE 2012 I.R.C. EDITION AND LOCAL CODES.

ALL RECEPTICALS SERVING KITCHEN, IN GARAGES, BATHS, UNFINISHED BASEMENTS AND OUTSIDE RECEPTICLES SHALL BE
GFCI PROTECTED. I.R.C. E3802

LIGHTS IN CLOSETS MUST COMPLY WITH THE CLEARANCE DIMENSIONS OR I.R.C. E3903.11

ELECTRICAL PANELS MUST COMPLY WITH I.R.C. E3305 FOR 30"X36" WORKING SPACE AND 6'-6" HEADROOM.

PROVIDE SMOKE DETECTORS CONFORMING TO I.R.C. SECTION R317. ALL LEVELS, ALL BEDROOMS, ACCESS TO ALL
BEDROOMS AND IN ALL ROOMS WITH SLOPED CEILINGS NEXT TO HALLS SERVING BEDROOMS. ALL DETECTORS SHALL BE
HARD-WIRED, INTERCONNECTED, AND HAVE BATTERY BACKUP. 1.R.C. R317

PROVIDE AT LEAST TWO OUTSIDE GRADE LEVEL RECEPTACLES-ONE IN THE FRONT YARD AND ONE IN THE REAR YARD.
I.R.C. E3801.7

CARBON MONOXIDE DETECTORS SHALL BE INSTALLED ON EACH HABITABLE LEVEL OF A DWELLING UNIT EQUIPPED WITH
A FUEL BURNING APPLIANCE. I.R.C. R313.2 AS AMENDED BY STATE.

ALL EXTERIOR LIGHT FIXTURES SHALL BE SHIELDED TO ELIMINATE ANY DIRECT LIGHT AND VISUAL IMPACT.

EXTERIOR LIGHTING TO COMPLY WITH COUNTY ORDINANCES FOR EXTERIOR LIGHTING.

ROOF TOP EQUIPMENT INCLUDING SATELLITE DISHES, ANTENNAS, AND OTHER ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT MUST BE
CONCEALED FROM PEDESTRIAN AND OVERLOOKING DEVELOPMENT VIEWS.

ALL OUTDOOR EQUIPMENT FOR SPA SHALL BE SCREENEDFROM VIEW WITH DESIGNED ELEMENTS OR LANDSCAPING.

ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS:

NOTE:  ALL SF CALCS TO OUTSIDE FACE OF STUD OR CONCRETE WALL

PROJECT TEAM PROJECT DATA

SANDERS RESIDENCE
221 MORGAN DRIVE
MCCALL, ID 83638

GENERAL NOTES INDEX TO DRAWINGS

CLIENT:

DWAIN AND CINDY SANDERS
106 E Park Street
McCall, Idaho 83638

PHONE: 209-480-0340

CONTACT:
dsanders@plowsheerllc.com

ARCHITECT:

EPIKOS LAND PLANNING + ARCHITECTURE
303 Colorado Street
McCall, Idaho 83638

PHONE: 208-634-4540

CONTACT:
LISA BECK/ WAYNE RUEMMELE
lbeck@epikosdesign.com

CONTRACTOR

PHONE: (208)

CONTACT:

CODE INFORMATION:

DESIGN CODE:  2012 IRC
OCCUPANCY:  R-3
CONSTRUCTION TYPE: V-B

LOCATION:

221 MORGAN DRIVE
MCCALL, ID 83638

ENERGY CODE:
BUILDING ENVELOPE MUST COMPLY WITH CURRENT ENERGY CODE.

LIGHTING AND MECHANICAL SYSTEMS MUST COMPLY WITH CURRENT ENERGY CODE.

50% OF LAMPS IN PERMANENT FIXTURES MUST BE HIGH EFFICACY LAMPS.

UNVENTED CRAWLSPACE CONTINUOUS VAPOR RETARDER SHALL BE INSTALLED OVER EXPOSED EARTH WTIH JOINTS
OVERLAPPED BY 6" AND SEALED, EXTENDING ATLEAST 6" UP AND ATTACHED TO WALL.

SUPPLY DUCTS IN ATTICS ARE INSULATED TO GREATER OR EQUAL TO R8.  ALL OTHER DUCTS IN UNCONDITIONED SPACES
OR OUTSIDE THE BUILDING ENVELOPE ARE AT LEAST R6.  SEAL JOINTS AND SEAMS OF ALL DUCTS.

CIRCULATING SERVICE HOT WATER PIPES ARE INSULATED TO R2.

AUTOMATIC OR GRAVITY DAMPERS ARE INSTALLED ON ALL OUTDOOR AIR INTAKES AND EXHAUSTS.

WOOD BURNING FIREPLACES SHALL HAVE GASKETED DOORS AND OUTDOOR COMBUSTION AIR.

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER:

RIVERSTONE STRUCTURAL CONCEPTS
600 E. RIVERPARK LANE, STE. #125
BOISE, ID  83706

PHONE:  (208) 343-2092

CONTACT: JAKE TIMMONS
jake@riverstonesc.com

PRESCRIPTIVE ENERGY CODE:
CLIMATE ZONE 6: REFER TO IECC 2012, TABLE R402.1.1

FENESTRATION (U-FACTOR): U-0.32

CEILING (R-VALUE): R-49.  ALTERNATE: R-38 SHALL BE DEEMED TO SATISFY THE REQUIREMENT FOR R-49 WHEREVER THE
FULL HEIGHT OF UNCOMPRESSED R-38 INSULATION EXTENDS OVER THE WALL TOP PLATE AT THE EAVES. IECC 2012,
R402.2.1

CEILINGS WITHOUT ATTIC SPACE (R-VALUE): R-30. UNLESS SHOWN OTHERWISE.  THE MINIMUM REQUIRED INSULATION
FOR SUCH ROOF/CEILING ASSEMBLIES SHALL BE R-30. THIS REDUCTION OF INSULATION IS LIMITED TO 500 SQ.FT. OR
20% OF THE TOTAL INSULATED CEILING AREA, WHICHEVER IS LESS. IECC 2012, R402.2.2

WALLS (R-VALUE): R-20 + R-5 (OR R-13 + R-10, WHERE R-13 IS CAVITY INSULATION & R-10 IS CONTINUOUS
INSULATION)

SLAB (R-VALUE & DEPTH) R-1 0 @ 4’-0”

THE BUILDING THERMAL ENVELOPE SHALL MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION R402.1.1 THROUGH R402.1.4 (IECC
2012)

WETLAND AND FLOODPLAIN CONSULTANT:

JAMES FRONK CONSULTING
PO BOX 576
McCALL, ID  83638

PHONE:  (208) 634-8093

CONTACT: JIM FRONK
jamesfronkconsulting@gmail.com

MAIN RESIDENCE:   LOT SIZE: 230,607 S.F.

MAIN HOUSE     3,308 @ 100% =3,308
GARAGE        772    @ 100  =   772
DECKS/PATIOS/PORCH   3,631  @   50  =1,815

SHOP/APARTMENT:

APARTMENT       747  @100% =   747
UPPER STORAGE      469  N/A
SHOP     2,472  @100% =2,472
DECKS/PATIOS/PORCH    564   @  50% =   282

DRIVEWAY    6,355  @  35% =2,224

TOTAL                =11,620

COVERAGE:   11,620/230,607 = 5%

LOT COVERAGE CALCULATION:



www.EpikosDesign.com

E P I K O S
LAND PLANNING

+
ARCHITECTURE

McCALL OFFICE
303 Colorado Street

P.O.Box 2490
McCall, Idaho 83638
Tel:  208.634.4540

Stamp:

P&Z APPLICATION SET

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RE

SI
D

EN
C

E

C  2020 EPIKOS

Date:

Sheet:

Project No:

Drawn by:

Checked by: LB

LB, ES

A2-1

Revisions:

22
1

 M
O

RG
A

N
 D

RI
V

E
M

C
C

A
LL

, I
D

 8
36

38

BIMcloud: s132-148-167-156 - BIMcloud Basic for ARCHICAD 23/SANDERS RIVER CROSSING

7/21/2020

(  PLOT DATE:         7/21/2020  )

1916

THIS IS INTENDED TO BE PRINTED ON A 24"X36" SHEET.  ALL OTHER SHEET SIZES WILL NOT BE PRINTED TO SCALE.

EXISTING SITE ON AERIAL

Title:

SCALE: 1"   = 40'
1

EXISTING AERIAL
0 20' 40' 80'

RECREATIONAL
PATH

TO SHEEP
BRIDGE

RECREATIONAL
PATH

PAYETTE RIVER

MORG
AN DRIVE

LOT 19
5.3 ACRES



www.EpikosDesign.com

E P I K O S
LAND PLANNING

+
ARCHITECTURE

McCALL OFFICE
303 Colorado Street

P.O.Box 2490
McCall, Idaho 83638
Tel:  208.634.4540

Stamp:

P&Z APPLICATION SET

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RE

SI
D

EN
C

E

C  2020 EPIKOS

Date:

Sheet:

Project No:

Drawn by:

Checked by: LB

LB, ES

A2-2

Revisions:

22
1

 M
O

RG
A

N
 D

RI
V

E
M

C
C

A
LL

, I
D

 8
36

38

BIMcloud: s132-148-167-156 - BIMcloud Basic for ARCHICAD 23/SANDERS RIVER CROSSING

7/21/2020

(  PLOT DATE:         7/21/2020  )

1916

THIS IS INTENDED TO BE PRINTED ON A 24"X36" SHEET.  ALL OTHER SHEET SIZES WILL NOT BE PRINTED TO SCALE.

EXISTING SITE PLAN

Title:

SNOW REMOVAL
AND UTILITY
EASEMENT @ 12'

PUBLIC
RECREATION
EASEMENT @
20'

PRIVATE
RECREATION
EASEMENT @
80'

EXISTING TREE (TYP.)

PROPERTY LINE

APPROXIMATE VEGETATION EDGE

EXISTING WETLANDS

EXISTING WETLANDS

APPROXIMATE VEGETATION EDGE

EXISTING TREE (TYP.)

EXISTING WETLANDS

EXISTING WETLANDS

EXISTING
RECREATION

PATH

EXISTING WETLANDS

SEWER
MANHOLE
4932.4

SEWER
MANHOLE
4932.9

WATER
UTILITY
4931.7

TRANSFORMER
4931.0

SCALE: 1"   = 30'
1

EXISTING SITE PLAN
0 30' 60'

NOT TO SCALE
2 VICINITY MAP



www.EpikosDesign.com

E P I K O S
LAND PLANNING

+
ARCHITECTURE

McCALL OFFICE
303 Colorado Street

P.O.Box 2490
McCall, Idaho 83638
Tel:  208.634.4540

Stamp:

P&Z APPLICATION SET

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RE

SI
D

EN
C

E

C  2020 EPIKOS

Date:

Sheet:

Project No:

Drawn by:

Checked by: LB

LB, ES

A2-3

Revisions:

22
1

 M
O

RG
A

N
 D

RI
V

E
M

C
C

A
LL

, I
D

 8
36

38

BIMcloud: s132-148-167-156 - BIMcloud Basic for ARCHICAD 23/SANDERS RIVER CROSSING

7/21/2020

(  PLOT DATE:         7/21/2020  )

1916

THIS IS INTENDED TO BE PRINTED ON A 24"X36" SHEET.  ALL OTHER SHEET SIZES WILL NOT BE PRINTED TO SCALE.

BUILDING SITE
CONSTRAINTS

Title:

21 8'

565'-7 1/2"

5029.7

5028.2

5030.4

5031.5

FEMA BASE FLOOD ELEVATION

SCALE: 1"   = 40'
1

BUILDING SITE CONSTRAINTS
0 20' 40' 80'

SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD
AREA SETBACK AT 50'

50' FRONT YARD SETBACK

SPECIAL FLOOD
HAZARD AREA-
(0.2% ANNUAL

CHANCE)

RECREATIONAL
PATH

TO SHEEP
BRIDGE

RECREATIONAL
PATH

15' SIDE YARD SETBACK

30% SIDE YARD SETBACK

30% SIDE YARD SETBACK

15' SIDE YARD SETBACK

SPECIAL FLOOD
HAZARD AREA-

AE (1% ANNUAL
CHANCE)

SPECIAL FLOOD
HAZARD AREA-

AE (1% ANNUAL
CHANCE)

SPECIAL FLOOD
HAZARD AREA-
(0.2% ANNUAL

CHANCE)

BUILDABLE
ENVELOPE=

6,400 SF
PROPOSED HOME

PROPOSED
GARAGE

PROPOSED GRADE ABOVE 5029.7

PAYETTE RIVER

PAYETTE RIVER FLOODWAY
 (1% ANNUAL CHANCE)

PAYETTE RIVER
FLOODWAY (1%
ANNUAL CHANCE)

MORG
AN DRIVE



www.EpikosDesign.com

E P I K O S
LAND PLANNING

+
ARCHITECTURE

McCALL OFFICE
303 Colorado Street

P.O.Box 2490
McCall, Idaho 83638
Tel:  208.634.4540

Stamp:

P&Z APPLICATION SET

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RE

SI
D

EN
C

E

C  2020 EPIKOS

Date:

Sheet:

Project No:

Drawn by:

Checked by: LB

LB, ES

A2-4

Revisions:

22
1

 M
O

RG
A

N
 D

RI
V

E
M

C
C

A
LL

, I
D

 8
36

38

BIMcloud: s132-148-167-156 - BIMcloud Basic for ARCHICAD 23/SANDERS RIVER CROSSING

7/21/2020

(  PLOT DATE:         7/21/2020  )

1916

THIS IS INTENDED TO BE PRINTED ON A 24"X36" SHEET.  ALL OTHER SHEET SIZES WILL NOT BE PRINTED TO SCALE.

SITE PHOTOS

Title:

3
SITE FROM ACROSS RIVER

1
SITE FROM RIVER TRAIL NEAR BRIDGE 2

STREET VIEW

BUILDING SITE SCREENED BEHIND EXISTING ASPEN GROVENEIGHBORING HOUSE TO SOUTH RV PARK

BUILDING SITE SCREENED BEHIND EXISTING
WILLOWS AND ASPEN GROVE

APPX. PROPERTY LINE



www.EpikosDesign.com

E P I K O S
LAND PLANNING

+
ARCHITECTURE

McCALL OFFICE
303 Colorado Street

P.O.Box 2490
McCall, Idaho 83638
Tel:  208.634.4540

Stamp:

P&Z APPLICATION SET

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RE

SI
D

EN
C

E

C  2020 EPIKOS

Date:

Sheet:

Project No:

Drawn by:

Checked by: LB

LB, ES

A2-5

Revisions:

22
1

 M
O

RG
A

N
 D

RI
V

E
M

C
C

A
LL

, I
D

 8
36

38

BIMcloud: s132-148-167-156 - BIMcloud Basic for ARCHICAD 23/SANDERS RIVER CROSSING

7/21/2020

(  PLOT DATE:         7/21/2020  )

1916

THIS IS INTENDED TO BE PRINTED ON A 24"X36" SHEET.  ALL OTHER SHEET SIZES WILL NOT BE PRINTED TO SCALE.

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

Title:

HP

H
P

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP = 4931.4

LP

LP

LIMITS OF
CONSTRUCTION

EXISTING TREE TO REMAIN (TYP.)

PROPOSED DRIVEWAY

LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION

LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION

LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION

PROPOSED TREE (TYP.)

LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION

50' FRONT YARD SETBACK

PROPOSED
STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT

BASIN, TYP.

FENCED
DOG RUN

SEAT WALL

HOT
TUB

PROPOSED BRIDGE

PROPOSED
STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT

BASIN, TYP.

SNOW
STORAGE

SNOW
STORAGE

SNOW
STORAGE

SNOW
STORAGE

SNOW
STORAGE

SNOW
STORAGE

SNOW
STORAGE

15' MIN. SIDE YARD SETBACK

30% SIDE Y
ARD SETB

ACK

15' M
IN. SIDE YARD SETB

ACK

SHOP W/ APARTMENT

PROPOSED
BUILDING

FOOTPRINT
AND ROOF

OUTLINE

PROPOSED TREE (TYP.)

EXISTING RECREATIONAL PATH

ELEVATED BOARDWALKELEVATED BOARDWALK

STONE TERRACE

BOULDERS AS NEEDED TO
RETAIN (TYP.)
BOULDERS AS NEEDED TO
RETAIN (TYP.)

SEAT WALL

SEAT WALL

SAUNA

OUTDOOR KITCHEN

STONE TERRACE

SCALE: 1/16" =    1'-0"
1 PROPOSED SITE PLAN

0 8' 16' 32'



www.EpikosDesign.com

E P I K O S
LAND PLANNING

+
ARCHITECTURE

McCALL OFFICE
303 Colorado Street

P.O.Box 2490
McCall, Idaho 83638
Tel:  208.634.4540

Stamp:

P&Z APPLICATION SET

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RE

SI
D

EN
C

E

C  2020 EPIKOS

Date:

Sheet:

Project No:

Drawn by:

Checked by: LB

LB, ES

A2-6

Revisions:

22
1

 M
O

RG
A

N
 D

RI
V

E
M

C
C

A
LL

, I
D

 8
36

38

BIMcloud: s132-148-167-156 - BIMcloud Basic for ARCHICAD 23/SANDERS RIVER CROSSING

7/21/2020

(  PLOT DATE:         7/21/2020  )

1916

THIS IS INTENDED TO BE PRINTED ON A 24"X36" SHEET.  ALL OTHER SHEET SIZES WILL NOT BE PRINTED TO SCALE.

SITE GRADING & DEMO
PLAN

Title:

-2'-0" = 4930.8

-1'-6" = 4931.3

-1'-0" = 4931.8

-6" = 4932.3

0" = 4932.8

0" = 4932.8

-6" = 4932.3

-9" = 4932.05

-1'-0" = 4931.8

0" = 4932.8

-3" = 4932.55

TO
W

 4933.3 
BO

W
 4931.8

TO
W

 4933.3 
BO

W
 4931.8

TO
W

 4933.3 
BO

W
 4931.8

HP

H
P

TO
W

 4934.3 
BO

W
 4932.8

TO
W

 4934.3 
BO

W
 4932.8TO

W
 4934.3 

BO
W

 4932.8

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP = 4931.4

LP

LP

TO
W

 4933.55 
BO

W
 4932.05

TO
W

 4936.3 
BO

W
 4932.8

LIMITS OF
CONSTRUCTION

LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION

LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION

LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION
LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION

EXISTING TREE TO BE REMOVED (TYP.)

EXISTING TREE TO REMAIN (TYP.)

EXISTING TREE TO BE REMOVED (TYP.)

EXISTING TREE TO BE REMOVED (TYP.)EXISTING TREE TO BE REMOVED (TYP.)

FFE 4
9

3
2.8

FFE 4
9

3
2.8

FFE 4932.8

FFE 4931.8

4932

4931

4930

4
93

2

4
93

1

4930

FFE 4
9

32
.8

4929

4929

4930

4928

4928

4932

4931

4931

4930

4929

4928

4931

4930

4929

493
1

493
0

4929

FFE 4932.8

FFE 4
93

2. 8

FFE 4932.8

FFE 4932.8

FFE 4
9

3
2. 8

4932

4
93

2

4
93

1

4
93

0

4931

4930

4
93

1

4928

492
8

PRESERVE AND PROTECT
EXISTING VEGETATION
WHEREVER POSSIBLE

PRESERVE AND
PROTECT
EXISTING

VEGETATION
WHEREVER
POSSIBLE

AREA OF WETLAND IMPACT
APPLICATION TO ARMY CORP
OF ENGINEERS FOR
ANTICIPATED NATIONWIDE
PERMIT #29

BOULDERS AS NEEDED TO
RETAIN (TYP.)

BOULDERS AS NEEDED TO
RETAIN WHEREVER SLOPES
EXCEED 3:1 (TYP.)

EXISTING WETLANDS

EXISTING WETLANDSEXISTING WETLANDS

EXISTING WETLANDS

SCALE: 1/16" =    1'-0"
1 SITE GRADING & DEMO PLAN

0 8' 16' 32'



www.EpikosDesign.com

E P I K O S
LAND PLANNING

+
ARCHITECTURE

McCALL OFFICE
303 Colorado Street

P.O.Box 2490
McCall, Idaho 83638
Tel:  208.634.4540

Stamp:

P&Z APPLICATION SET

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RE

SI
D

EN
C

E

C  2020 EPIKOS

Date:

Sheet:

Project No:

Drawn by:

Checked by: LB

LB, ES

A2-7

Revisions:

22
1

 M
O

RG
A

N
 D

RI
V

E
M

C
C

A
LL

, I
D

 8
36

38

BIMcloud: s132-148-167-156 - BIMcloud Basic for ARCHICAD 23/SANDERS RIVER CROSSING

7/21/2020

(  PLOT DATE:         7/21/2020  )

1916

THIS IS INTENDED TO BE PRINTED ON A 24"X36" SHEET.  ALL OTHER SHEET SIZES WILL NOT BE PRINTED TO SCALE.

STAGING PLAN

Title:

1
C2.3

1
C2.3

LIMITS OF
CONSTRUCTION

LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION

LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION

LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION
LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION

TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION ACCESS - SEE BMP PLAN

CONSTRUCTION ACCESS

PHASE 1 CONSTRUCTION

PHASE 1 STAGING AREA

PHASE 2 CONSTRUCTION

PHASE 2 STAGING AREA

PHASE 1 STAGING AREA

PHASE 1 STAGING AREA
PHASE 2 CONSTRUCTION

PHASE 2 STAGING AREA

PHASE 2 CONSTRUCTION

PHASE 1 CONSTRUCTION

PHASE 1 CONSTRUCTION

PHASE 1 CONSTRUCTION

PHASE 2 STAGING AREA

10' LIMIT OF STRUCTURAL EXCAVATION

10' LIMIT OF STRUCTURAL EXCAVATION/FILL

SCALE: 1/16" =    1'-0"
1

STAGING PLAN
0 8' 16' 32'

NOTE: PRESERVE AND PROTECT EXISTING VEGETATION
WHEREVER POSSIBLE DURING CONSTRUCTION



www.EpikosDesign.com

E P I K O S
LAND PLANNING

+
ARCHITECTURE

McCALL OFFICE
303 Colorado Street

P.O.Box 2490
McCall, Idaho 83638
Tel:  208.634.4540

Stamp:

P&Z APPLICATION SET

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RE

SI
D

EN
C

E

C  2020 EPIKOS

Date:

Sheet:

Project No:

Drawn by:

Checked by: LB

LB, ES

A3-1

Revisions:

22
1

 M
O

RG
A

N
 D

RI
V

E
M

C
C

A
LL

, I
D

 8
36

38

BIMcloud: s132-148-167-156 - BIMcloud Basic for ARCHICAD 23/SANDERS RIVER CROSSING

7/21/2020

(  PLOT DATE:         7/21/2020  )

1916

THIS IS INTENDED TO BE PRINTED ON A 24"X36" SHEET.  ALL OTHER SHEET SIZES WILL NOT BE PRINTED TO SCALE.

MAIN HOUSE FLOOR PLAN

Title:

SHEET NOTES:

1. INTERIOR FINISHED FLOOR ELEVATIONS (T.O.F.F.):
 MAIN LEVEL:                              0'-0" (#,###')
 
2. REFER TO COVER SHEET FOR GENERAL NOTES.
 
3. SEE LANDSCAPE DRAWINGS FOR DRAINAGE, GRADING, AND BOULDER RETAINING WALLS.
 
4. SEE LANDSCAPE AND STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS FOR ALL CONCRETE RETAINING WALLS.
 
5. SEE SHEET A8.1 FOR DOOR & WINDOW SCHEDULES.
 
6. 10 MIL. CRAWL SPACE VAPOR RETARDER OVER GRAVEL LEVELING COURSE.  LAP AND SEAL ALL JOINTS.
 
7. EXTERIOR PAVED DECKS, TERRACES, STEPS AND LANDINGS TO HAVE SLOPE OF NO LESS THAN 1/4" PER

FOOT.
 
8. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO FACE OF STUD OR CONCRETE WALL, U.O.N.
 
9. ALL EXTERIOR WALLS TO BE CONSTRUCTED W/ 2"x6" WOOD STUDS AND ALL INTERIOR WALLS WITH 2"x4"

WOOD STUDS, U.O.N.
 
10. WINDOWS, DOORS AND SINKS ARE DIMENSIONED TO CENTERLINE.
 
11. ALL DOORS, WINDOWS, AND OPENINGS TO BE CENTERED IN FINISHED WALL, U.O.N.
 
12. AT LEAST ONE EXTERIOR OPENING IN EVERY SLEEPING ROOM TO MEET APPLICABLE CODE FOR EGRESS.
 
13. FULL HEIGHT OF ALL CHIMNEYS TO BE ONE-HOUR FIRE RESISTANT CONTINUOUS CONSTRUCTION.  ALL

WOOD FRAMED CHIMNEY CHASE INTERIORS TO BE FINISHED WITH 5/8" TYPE "X" GYP. BRD. FIRE TAPED.
 
14. FLOOR MATERIAL IN CLOSETS TO MATCH ADJOINING ROOM, U.O.N.
 
15. ARCHITECT BEARS NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR DESIGN AND PERFORMANCE OF ELECTRICAL, MECHANICAL, AND

PLUMBING SYSTEMS.
 
16. PROVIDE ONE-HOUR FIRE SEPARATION BETWEEN ATTACHED GARAGE AND HOUSE.
 
17. SEE ELECTRICAL FLOOR PLANS FOR LOCATION OF SMOKE DETECTORS.
 
18. ALL T.O.W. ELEVATIONS ARE TO TOP OF CMU OR CONCRETE WALL AND DO NOT INCLUDE FINISH

MATERIAL.  SEE STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS FOR MORE INFORMATION.
 
19. ALL CRAWL SPACE TO BE UNCONDITIONED WITH HEAD HEIGHT LESS THAN 5', U.O.N., NOT TO BE

CONVERTED TO HABITABLE SPACE.
 
20. ANY FIBERGLASS SHOWERS OR TUBS SHALL BE INSTALLED WITH A MORTAR SETTING BED FOR SUPPORT.

D

D

E

E

F

F

C

C

B

B

11

22

33

44

55

A

A

8'-6" 8'-0" 16'-0" 16'-0" 14'-0"

8'
-0

"
12

'-0
"

12
'-0

"
12

'-0
"

32'-6"

14'-0"

46'-6"

23'-0"

14'-0"

15
'-0

"

9'-0"

14
'-0

"

27
'-0

"

5'-
0"

26'-0" 17'-0"

9'-0"

27
'-0

"

15
'-0

"

7'-
6"

12
'-0

"

7'-
6"

7'-
6"

7'-
6"

6'-
10

"

7'-
6"

7'-
6"

1
A6

-2
1

A6
-2

3
A

6-
2

3
A

6-
2

2
A6

-4

2
A6

-4

3
A6

-5

3
A6

-5

2A6-5

2A6-5

1A6-5

1A6-5

3
A

6-
4

3
A

6-
4

2
A6

-2
2

A6
-2

1
A

5-
3

2
A

5-
3

1
A5-2

1
A5-1

2
A5-1

4A5-1

3
A5

-1

3
A5-2

4A5
-2

2
A5-2

SHOWER

LIVING

KITCHEN DINING

BEDROOM SUITE 2

EXTERIOR GUEST PATIO

BUTLER'S PANTRY

WINE

MASTER

OUTDOOR
KITCHEN

UTILITY/
MECHANICAL

OUTDOOR LOUNGE

BOILER

H.W.

H.W.

BATH 2

LOCKERS

ENTRY

EXTERIOR ENTRY VESTIBULE

EXTERIOR ENTRY PATIO

EXTERIOR REAR PATIO

POWDER

BAR

MAIN RESIDENCE
3308 S.F.

1
A6-1

1
A6-1

1A6-4

1A6-4

2
A6-1

2
A6-1

W

F

D

R

DW

SCALE: 3/16" =    1'-0"
1

MAIN FLOOR (5,032.8')
0 4' 8' 12'



www.EpikosDesign.com

E P I K O S
LAND PLANNING

+
ARCHITECTURE

McCALL OFFICE
303 Colorado Street

P.O.Box 2490
McCall, Idaho 83638
Tel:  208.634.4540

Stamp:

P&Z APPLICATION SET

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RE

SI
D

EN
C

E

C  2020 EPIKOS

Date:

Sheet:

Project No:

Drawn by:

Checked by: LB

LB, ES

A3-2

Revisions:

22
1

 M
O

RG
A

N
 D

RI
V

E
M

C
C

A
LL

, I
D

 8
36

38

BIMcloud: s132-148-167-156 - BIMcloud Basic for ARCHICAD 23/SANDERS RIVER CROSSING

7/21/2020

(  PLOT DATE:         7/21/2020  )

1916

THIS IS INTENDED TO BE PRINTED ON A 24"X36" SHEET.  ALL OTHER SHEET SIZES WILL NOT BE PRINTED TO SCALE.

SHOP FLOOR PLAN

Title:

SC
7'-0"
7'-6"

SD
5'-0"
4'-0"

S1

8'-0"
3'-0"

SE 6'-0"
7'-6"

SG
1

9'-0"
10'-0"

SF

5'-0"
5'-0"

S7

8'-0"
4'-0"

SG

7'-0"
7'-6"

SH

5'-0"
5'-0"

SJ
5'-0"
5'-0"

SG
2

9'-0"
10'-0"

SG
3

9'-0"
8'-0"

S14

8'-0"
3'-0"

SP1

8'-0"
6'-0"

SA
4'-6"
2'-6"

SB

2'-6"
7'-6"

S9

6'-8"
2'-6"

S10

6'-8"
2'-8"

S11

6'-8"
2'-8"

S12

6'-8"
2'-8"

S13

6'-8"
2'-8"

S5

8'-0"
4'-0"

S8

8'-0"
8'-0"

S6

8'-0"
2'-6"

S3

8'-0"
2'-4"

S4

8'-0"
2'-8"

S2

8'-0"
2'-4"

SK
2'-0"
2'-6"

SL
2'-0"
2'-6"

SM
2'-0"
2'-6"

SN
2'-0"
2'-6"

SI

4'-6"
2'-6"

R

W/D

16'-0" 24'-0" 10'-0"
50'-0"

5'-0" 7'-0" 4'-0" 7'-0" 12'-0" 5'-0" 5'-0" 5'-0"

68'-0"

4'-0"
30'-0"

12'-0"
15'-0"

7'-0"

68'-0"

22'-0"
24'-0"

20'-0"
2'-0"

55'-0"

17'-0" 16'-0" 22'-0"

1
A

5-4

1
A

5-5

2
A5-4

2
A5-5

BOSCH COMPACTWASHER/DRYER

KENNEL 1

KENNEL 2

KENNEL 3

KENNEL 4

WOOD SHOP

GARAGE

KITCHEN

LIVING

BEDROOM

BATH

APARTMENT
749 SF

1,378 SF

372 SF

MAIN FLOOR
3,220 SF

SO

5'-0"
7'-6"

2
A5-5

14'-0"

34'-6"
12'-0"

3'-6"

SHOP STORAGE
469 SF

UPPER FLOOR
469 SF

SCALE: 3/16" =    1'-0"
1

SHOP FLOOR PLAN
0 4' 8' 12' SCALE: 3/16" =    1'-0"

2
SHOP UPPER STORAGE

0 4' 8' 12'



www.EpikosDesign.com

E P I K O S
LAND PLANNING

+
ARCHITECTURE

McCALL OFFICE
303 Colorado Street

P.O.Box 2490
McCall, Idaho 83638
Tel:  208.634.4540

Stamp:

P&Z APPLICATION SET

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RE

SI
D

EN
C

E

C  2020 EPIKOS

Date:

Sheet:

Project No:

Drawn by:

Checked by: LB

LB, ES

A5-6

Revisions:

22
1

 M
O

RG
A

N
 D

RI
V

E
M

C
C

A
LL

, I
D

 8
36

38

BIMcloud: s132-148-167-156 - BIMcloud Basic for ARCHICAD 23/SANDERS RIVER CROSSING

7/21/2020

(  PLOT DATE:         7/21/2020  )

1916

THIS IS INTENDED TO BE PRINTED ON A 24"X36" SHEET.  ALL OTHER SHEET SIZES WILL NOT BE PRINTED TO SCALE.

MAIN HOUSE PERSPECTIVES

Title:

NOT TO SCALE
2

REAR PERSPECTIVE MASTER

NOT TO SCALE
3 REAR PERSPECTIVE KITCHEN

NOT TO SCALE
1

FRONT PERSPECTIVE



www.EpikosDesign.com

E P I K O S
LAND PLANNING

+
ARCHITECTURE

McCALL OFFICE
303 Colorado Street

P.O.Box 2490
McCall, Idaho 83638
Tel:  208.634.4540

Stamp:

P&Z APPLICATION SET

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RE

SI
D

EN
C

E

C  2020 EPIKOS

Date:

Sheet:

Project No:

Drawn by:

Checked by: LB

LB, ES

A5-7

Revisions:

22
1

 M
O

RG
A

N
 D

RI
V

E
M

C
C

A
LL

, I
D

 8
36

38

BIMcloud: s132-148-167-156 - BIMcloud Basic for ARCHICAD 23/SANDERS RIVER CROSSING

7/21/2020

(  PLOT DATE:         7/21/2020  )

1916

THIS IS INTENDED TO BE PRINTED ON A 24"X36" SHEET.  ALL OTHER SHEET SIZES WILL NOT BE PRINTED TO SCALE.

SHOP PERSPECTIVES

Title:

3 SHOP PERSPECTIVE 1

4
SHOP PERSPECTIVE 2

2
PROPOSED STREET VIEW

1
EXISTING STREET VIEW



www.EpikosDesign.com

E P I K O S
LAND PLANNING

+
ARCHITECTURE

McCALL OFFICE
303 Colorado Street

P.O.Box 2490
McCall, Idaho 83638
Tel:  208.634.4540

Stamp:

P&Z APPLICATION SET

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RE

SI
D

EN
C

E

C  2020 EPIKOS

Date:

Sheet:

Project No:

Drawn by:

Checked by: LB

LB, ES

L1.1

Revisions:

22
1

 M
O

RG
A

N
 D

RI
V

E
M

C
C

A
LL

, I
D

 8
36

38

BIMcloud: s132-148-167-156 - BIMcloud Basic for ARCHICAD 23/SANDERS RIVER CROSSING

7/21/2020

(  PLOT DATE:         7/21/2020  )

1916

THIS IS INTENDED TO BE PRINTED ON A 24"X36" SHEET.  ALL OTHER SHEET SIZES WILL NOT BE PRINTED TO SCALE.

LANDSCAPE PLAN AT HOUSE

Title:

-9 5/8" = 4932

LP

LP = 4931.4

LP

LP

4' HIGH HORIZONTAL BOARD
ORNAMENTAL FENCING,

SEE MATERIALS SHEET

18"H SEAT WALL

GROUND
COVER &

PERENNIALS

GROUND
COVER &

PERENNIALS

GROUND
COVER &

PERENNIALS

GROUND
COVER &
PERENNIALS

GROUND
COVER &
PERENNIALS

GROUND
COVER &

PERENNIALS

GROUND
COVER &

PERENNIALS
GROUND
COVER &

PERENNIALS

APPROXIMATE EDGE OF
EXISTING VEGETATION:
MAINTAIN AND PROTECT
WHEREVER POSSIBLE

APPROXIMATE EDGE OF
EXISTING VEGETATION:
MAINTAIN AND PROTECT
WHEREVER POSSIBLE

APPROXIMATE EDGE OF
EXISTING VEGETATION:

MAINTAIN AND PROTECT
WHEREVER POSSIBLE & INFILL
AS NECESSARY TO PROVIDE

SCREENING

APPROXIMATE EDGE OF
EXISTING VEGETATION:

MAINTAIN AND PROTECT
WHEREVER POSSIBLE

RIVER ROCK UNDER EAVES

18"H SEAT WALL

18"H SEAT WALL

ELEVATED BOARDWALKELEVATED BOARDWALK

SAUNA ON
PLATFORM

BOULDERS AS
NEEDED TO

RETAIN

BOULDERS AS
NEEDED TO

RETAIN

SITE LIGHTING, TYP.
SEE MATERIALS SHEET
SITE LIGHTING, TYP.
SEE MATERIALS SHEET

OUTDOOR KITCHEN

HOT TUB

SAND SET STONE
TERRACE WITH 4' HIGH
STONE PRIVACY WALL

1' STONE
BAND AT 3"

STEP, TYP.

2 ASPEN

1 CRAB APPLE

5 ASPEN

1 CRAB APPLE

2 ASPEN

6 ASPEN

1 CRAB APPLE

3 ASPEN

1 CRAB APPLE

1 MAPLE

3 ASPEN

1 WILLOW 4 ASPEN

3 ASPEN

1 WILLOW

2 ASPEN

1 MAPLE

4 ASPEN

2 ASPEN

1 MAPLE

LOW GROWING
NATIVE GRASSES &

WILDFLOWERS

PRESERVE AND
PROTECT EXISTING
TREES AND SHRUBS

NATIVE GRASSES

NATIVE GRASSES

1 CRAB APPLE

NATIVE GRASSES

NATIVE GRASSES

NATIVE GRASSES

3 ASPEN

1 MAPLE

1 WILLOW

1 WILLOW

NATIVE GRASSES

1 SPRUCE

1 SPRUCE

2 SPRUCE

1 SPRUCE

SNOW STORAGE

SNOW STORAGE

NATIVE GRASSES

DRAIN

NATIVE GRASSES

HARD SURFACE DRIVE

RIVER ROCK UNDER EAVES

BRIDGE OVER
EXISTING

WETLANDS

SAND SET
STONE TERRACE

SAND SET
STONE TERRACE

SAND SET
STONE TERRACE

SCALE: 1"   = 10'
1

PLANTING PLAN
0 5' 10' 20'

PLANT LIST AND LEGEND

TREES:
2" cal. Quaking Aspen
Crab Apple
Maple
Spruce
Willow

SHRUBS:
5 gallon shrubs such as:
Ash Leaf Spiraea, Serviceberry, Native Spiraea,
Alpine Currant, Mugo Pine, and Snowberry

1 gallon shrubs and perennials such as:
Thimbleberry, Ornamental grasses

6" pots such as:
Native Lupine, Coneflower, Columbine, and Kinnicknick

GROUND COVERS:
Hydroseeded low growing native grasses such as:
Buffalo Grass, Fescues



www.EpikosDesign.com

E P I K O S
LAND PLANNING

+
ARCHITECTURE

McCALL OFFICE
303 Colorado Street

P.O.Box 2490
McCall, Idaho 83638
Tel:  208.634.4540

Stamp:

P&Z APPLICATION SET

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RE

SI
D

EN
C

E

C  2020 EPIKOS

Date:

Sheet:

Project No:

Drawn by:

Checked by: LB

LB, ES

L1.2

Revisions:

22
1

 M
O

RG
A

N
 D

RI
V

E
M

C
C

A
LL

, I
D

 8
36

38

BIMcloud: s132-148-167-156 - BIMcloud Basic for ARCHICAD 23/SANDERS RIVER CROSSING

7/21/2020

(  PLOT DATE:         7/21/2020  )

1916

THIS IS INTENDED TO BE PRINTED ON A 24"X36" SHEET.  ALL OTHER SHEET SIZES WILL NOT BE PRINTED TO SCALE.

LANDSCAPE PLAN AT SHOP

Title:

HP

-9 5/8" = 4932

HP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP

4' HIGH HORIZONTAL BOARD
ORNAMENTAL FENCING,

SEE MATERIALS SHEET

STEPPING STONE PATHWAY

RIVER ROCK UNDER EAVES

GATE

RIVER ROCK UNDER EAVES

RIVER ROCK UNDER EAVES

WOOD DECK

GROUND COVER & PERENNIALS

GROUND
COVER &

PERENNIALS
GROUND
COVER &
PERENNIALS

COVER &
PERENNIALS

APPROXIMATE EDGE OF
EXISTING VEGETATION:
MAINTAIN AND PROTECT
WHEREVER POSSIBLE

APPROXIMATE EDGE OF
EXISTING VEGETATION:

MAINTAIN AND PROTECT
WHEREVER POSSIBLE & INFILL
AS NECESSARY TO PROVIDE

SCREENING

APPROXIMATE EDGE OF
EXISTING VEGETATION:

MAINTAIN AND PROTECT
WHEREVER POSSIBLE

RIVER ROCK UNDER EAVES

4 ASPEN

PRESERVE AND
PROTECT EXISTING
TREES AND SHRUBS

NATIVE GRASSES
NATIVE GRASSES

1 MAPLE

3 ASPEN

2 ASPEN

3 ASPEN

1 MAPLE

1 WILLOW

1 WILLOW

LAWN

NATIVE GRASSES

NATIVE GRASSES

NATIVE GRASSES

NATIVE GRASSES

NATIVE GRASSES

3 ASPEN

SNOW STORAGE

SNOW STORAGE

SNOW STORAGE

SNOW STORAGE
SNOW STORAGE

SNOW STORAGE

SNOW STORAGE

1 SPRUCE

3 SPRUCE

3 SPRUCE

3 SPRUCE

3 SPRUCE

2 SPRUCE

NATIVE GRASSES

PROPOSED
DRIVEWAY

BRIDGE OVER
EXISTING

WETLANDS

SCALE: 1"   = 10'
1

PLANTING PLAN
0 5' 10' 20'

PLANT LIST AND LEGEND

TREES:
2" cal. Quaking Aspen
Crab Apple
Maple
Spruce
Willow

SHRUBS:
5 gallon shrubs such as:
Ash Leaf Spiraea, Serviceberry, Native Spiraea,
Alpine Currant, Mugo Pine, and Snowberry

1 gallon shrubs and perennials such as:
Thimbleberry, Ornamental grasses

6" pots such as:
Native Lupine, Coneflower, Columbine, and Kinnicknick

GROUND COVERS:
Hydroseeded low growing native grasses such as:
Buffalo Grass, Fescues



www.EpikosDesign.com

E P I K O S
LAND PLANNING

+
ARCHITECTURE

McCALL OFFICE
303 Colorado Street

P.O.Box 2490
McCall, Idaho 83638
Tel:  208.634.4540

Stamp:

P&Z APPLICATION SET

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RE

SI
D

EN
C

E

C  2020 EPIKOS

Date:

Sheet:

Project No:

Drawn by:

Checked by: LB

LB, ES

C2.1

Revisions:

22
1

 M
O

RG
A

N
 D

RI
V

E
M

C
C

A
LL

, I
D

 8
36

38

BIMcloud: s132-148-167-156 - BIMcloud Basic for ARCHICAD 23/SANDERS RIVER CROSSING

7/21/2020

(  PLOT DATE:         7/21/2020  )

1916

THIS IS INTENDED TO BE PRINTED ON A 24"X36" SHEET.  ALL OTHER SHEET SIZES WILL NOT BE PRINTED TO SCALE.

PRELIM STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT PLAN

Title:

H
P

HP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP
=

4931.4

LP

LP

PROPOSED
STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT
BASIN

STABILIZED
CONSTRUCTION

ENTRANCE

PROPOSED
STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT

BASIN

PROPOSED
STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT

BASIN

PROPOSED
STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT

BASIN

PROPOSED
STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT
BASIN

TEMPORARY
ACCESS

CULVERTS

16" BIO ROLL

SILT FENCE

SILT FENCE

SILT FENCE

CATCH
BASIN

RETAIN
EXISTING

VEGETATION

RETAIN
EXISTING

VEGETATION

RETAIN
EXISTING

VEGETATION

RETAIN
EXISTING

VEGETATION

FFE 4
93

2
.8

FFE 4
9

32
.8

FFE 4932.8

FFE 4931.8

4932

4931

4930

49
3

2

49
3

1

4930

FFE 49
3

2
.8

4929

4929

4930
4928

4928

4932

4931

4931

4930

4929

4928

4931

4930

4929

493
1

493
0

4929

FFE 4932.8

FFE 4
9 3

2. 8

FFE 4932.8

FFE 4932.8

FFE 4
9

32
.8

4932

49
32

49
3

1

49
3

0

4931

4930

49
3

1

4928DA-1

DA-1

DA-2

DA-2

492
8

BOULDERS AS NEEDED TO
RETAIN (TYP.)

BOULDERS AS NEEDED TO
RETAIN WHEREVER SLOPES
EXCEED 3:1 (TYP.)

SCALE: 1/16" =    1'-0"
1

PROPOSED STORMWATER PLAN
0 8' 16' 32'

DA-1

JA
M

ES
 F

RO
N

K  
C

O
N

SU
LT

IN
G

, L
LC

.
14

0
28

 N
O

RW
O

O
D

 R
D

PO
 B

O
X

 5
76

M
cC

A
LL

, I
D

 8
3

63
8

(2
0

8)
 6

3
4-

80
93



www.EpikosDesign.com

E P I K O S
LAND PLANNING

+
ARCHITECTURE

McCALL OFFICE
303 Colorado Street

P.O.Box 2490
McCall, Idaho 83638
Tel:  208.634.4540

Stamp:

P&Z APPLICATION SET

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RE

SI
D

EN
C

E

C  2020 EPIKOS

Date:

Sheet:

Project No:

Drawn by:

Checked by: LB

LB, ES

C2.2

Revisions:

22
1

 M
O

RG
A

N
 D

RI
V

E
M

C
C

A
LL

, I
D

 8
36

38

BIMcloud: s132-148-167-156 - BIMcloud Basic for ARCHICAD 23/SANDERS RIVER CROSSING

7/21/2020

(  PLOT DATE:         7/21/2020  )

1916

THIS IS INTENDED TO BE PRINTED ON A 24"X36" SHEET.  ALL OTHER SHEET SIZES WILL NOT BE PRINTED TO SCALE.

FLOOD HAZARD AREA

Title:

5029.7

5028.2

5030.4

5031.5

FEMA BASE FLOOD ELEVATION

SCALE: 1"   = 40'
1

SITE PLAN WITH SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREA
0 20' 40' 80'

50' FRONT YARD SETBACK

SPECIAL FLOOD
HAZARD AREA-
(0.2% ANNUAL

CHANCE)

RECREATIONAL
PATH

TO SHEEP
BRIDGE

RECREATIONAL
PATH

15' SIDE YARD SETBACK

30% SIDE YARD SETBACK

30% SIDE YARD SETBACK

15' SIDE YARD SETBACK

SPECIAL FLOOD
HAZARD AREA-

AE (1% ANNUAL
CHANCE)

SPECIAL FLOOD
HAZARD AREA-

AE (1% ANNUAL
CHANCE)

SPECIAL FLOOD
HAZARD AREA-
(0.2% ANNUAL

CHANCE)

PROPOSED HOME

PROPOSED
GARAGE

PROPOSED GRADE ABOVE 5029.7

TRANSFORMER @ 4931.0

SEWER
MANHOLE
@ 4932.4

SEWER
MANHOLE
@ 4932.9

WATER
UTILITY@
4931.7

PROPOSED GRADE ABOVE 5029.7

PAYETTE RIVER

PAYETTE RIVER FLOODWAY
 (1% ANNUAL CHANCE)

PAYETTE RIVER
FLOODWAY (1%
ANNUAL CHANCE)

MORG
AN DRIVE



www.EpikosDesign.com

E P I K O S
LAND PLANNING

+
ARCHITECTURE

McCALL OFFICE
303 Colorado Street

P.O.Box 2490
McCall, Idaho 83638
Tel:  208.634.4540

Stamp:

P&Z APPLICATION SET

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RE

SI
D

EN
C

E

C  2020 EPIKOS

Date:

Sheet:

Project No:

Drawn by:

Checked by: LB

LB, ES

C2.3

Revisions:

22
1

 M
O

RG
A

N
 D

RI
V

E
M

C
C

A
LL

, I
D

 8
36

38

BIMcloud: s132-148-167-156 - BIMcloud Basic for ARCHICAD 23/SANDERS RIVER CROSSING

7/21/2020

(  PLOT DATE:         7/21/2020  )

1916

THIS IS INTENDED TO BE PRINTED ON A 24"X36" SHEET.  ALL OTHER SHEET SIZES WILL NOT BE PRINTED TO SCALE.

PRELIMINARY CRAWLSPACE
AND GRADING DETAILS

Title:

107
S2.00

±0"
MAIN FLOOR (5,032.8')

10'-0"
STRUCTURAL EXCAVATION

4" GRAVEL, SLOPE TO INTERNAL DRAIN SYSTEM.
ALT.  SLOPE TO INSULATED FLOOD VENT

FINAL GRADE, SLOPE AWAY FROM BUILDING

6 MIL. (MIN.) POLY WATERPROOF LINER. SEAMS
LAPPED AND SEALED DOWNHILL

DAMP PROOFING

BACKUP OVERFLOW FLOOD VENT

BACKWATER VALVE
CONTINUOUS INTERNAL & EXTERNAL

PERIMETER DRAIN, JOINED AT LOW POINT

6 MIL. LINER ATTACHED W/ MASTIC

SUMP PUMP WITH MONITOR
AND MANUAL SWITCH

-2.5' (5,025.5' VARIES)
NATIVE STRATUM III POORLY GRADED SAND OR GRAVEL
OR REPLACE WITH COMPACTED STRUCTURAL FILL

-2.0' (5,026' VARIES)
ORGANIC SOIL (TO BE REMOVED AND STORED ON-SITE)

-3.0' (5,025' VARIES)
ADDITIONAL 1'-0" EXCAVATION INTO CLEAN
UNSATURATED STRATUM III

+/- 5028' (VARIES)
EXISTING GRADE

2' NEW STRUCTURAL FILL (2000 P.S.F)

ADDITIONAL EXCAVATION AND FILL MAY BE REQUIRED.
FIELD VERIFICATION REQUIRED BY GEOTECHNICAL
ENGINEER.

5029.7'
FEMA B.F.E.

+/- 5027.7'
BOTTOM OF FTG.

(EXISTING GRADE)

BACKFILL

BACKFILL

(EXISTING GRADE)

FEMA F.P.E.

SCALE: 1/2"   =    1'-0"
1

PRELIMINARY EXCAVATION SECTION
0 1' 2' 4'

2
SEALED CRAWLSPACE- PRIMARY CONTROL 3

OVERFLOW FLOOD VENT DIAGRAM- SECONDARY CONTROL



www.EpikosDesign.com

E P I K O S
LAND PLANNING

+
ARCHITECTURE

McCALL OFFICE
303 Colorado Street

P.O.Box 2490
McCall, Idaho 83638
Tel:  208.634.4540

Stamp:

P&Z APPLICATION SET

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RE

SI
D

EN
C

E

C  2020 EPIKOS

Date:

Sheet:

Project No:

Drawn by:

Checked by: LB

LB, ES

A2-4

Revisions:

22
1

 M
O

RG
A

N
 D

RI
V

E
M

C
C

A
LL

, I
D

 8
36

38

BIMcloud: s132-148-167-156 - BIMcloud Basic for ARCHICAD 23/SANDERS RIVER CROSSING

10/2/2020

(  PLOT DATE:         10/2/2020  )

1916

THIS IS INTENDED TO BE PRINTED ON A 24"X36" SHEET.  ALL OTHER SHEET SIZES WILL NOT BE PRINTED TO SCALE.

P&Z SITE VISIT EXHIBIT

Title:

131
4933.185
SE WE R MANHOLE

178
4932.921
SEWER  MANHO LE

194
4932.444
SEWER MANHOLE

320
4931.216
TE LE RISE R321

4931.223
TELE R IS ER

59994928.044ts3

60114929.007
cpt6011

60704928.204ts5

60924928.391
cpt6092

61154928.138ts 5

61174927.512ts 6

W2W2

SCALE: 1"   = 40'
1

P&Z SITE VISIT EXHIBIT
0 20' 40' 80'

S.F.H.A.
50' SETBACK

BUILDABLE
ENVELOPE

6,400 SF

S.F.H.A.
ZONE AE

WETLAND
BOUNDARY

PAYETTE RIVER

MORG
AN DRIVE

FLOODWAY

50
' F

RO
NT

 S
ET

BA
CK

ALTERNATE BUILDING
SITE



www.EpikosDesign.com

E P I K O S
LAND PLANNING

+
ARCHITECTURE

McCALL OFFICE
303 Colorado Street

P.O.Box 2490
McCall, Idaho 83638
Tel:  208.634.4540

Stamp:

P&Z APPLICATION SET

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RE

SI
D

EN
C

E

C  2020 EPIKOS

Date:

Sheet:

Project No:

Drawn by:

Checked by: LB

LB, ES

A2-5

Revisions:

22
1

 M
O

RG
A

N
 D

RI
V

E
M

C
C

A
LL

, I
D

 8
36

38

BIMcloud: s132-148-167-156 - BIMcloud Basic for ARCHICAD 23/SANDERS RIVER CROSSING

10/2/2020

(  PLOT DATE:         10/2/2020  )

1916

THIS IS INTENDED TO BE PRINTED ON A 24"X36" SHEET.  ALL OTHER SHEET SIZES WILL NOT BE PRINTED TO SCALE.

P&Z SITE VISIT EXHIBIT II

Title:

LP

LP

LP = 4931.4

LP

LP

4928

4928

4929

4929

4929

49
29

4930

4930

4931

4928
4928

59
99

49
28
.0
44

ts
3

60
11

49
29
.0
07

cp
t6
01
1

STORMWATER
DETENTION

BASIN

STORMWATER
DETENTION

BASIN

POTENTIAL
STORMWATER
BASIN AREA

STORMWATER
DETENTION

BASIN

SID
E SETBA

C
K

SIDE SETBAC
K

SCALE: 1/8"   =    1'-0"
1

P&Z SITE VISIT EXHIBIT II

AREA OF FILL

AREA OF COMPACTED
STRUCTURAL FILL

WETLAND

STORMWATER DRAINAGE

AREA FOR POTENTIAL
STORMWATER TREATMENT



www.EpikosDesign.com

E P I K O S
LAND PLANNING

+
ARCHITECTURE

McCALL OFFICE
303 Colorado Street

P.O.Box 2490
McCall, Idaho 83638
Tel:  208.634.4540

Stamp:

P&Z APPLICATION SET

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RE

SI
D

EN
C

E

C  2020 EPIKOS

Date:

Sheet:

Project No:

Drawn by:

Checked by: LB

LB, ES

A2-1

Revisions:

22
1

 M
O

RG
A

N
 D

RI
V

E
M

C
C

A
LL

, I
D

 8
36

38

BIMcloud: s132-148-167-156 - BIMcloud Basic for ARCHICAD 23/SANDERS RIVER CROSSING

8/31/2020

(  PLOT DATE:         8/31/2020  )

1916

THIS IS INTENDED TO BE PRINTED ON A 24"X36" SHEET.  ALL OTHER SHEET SIZES WILL NOT BE PRINTED TO SCALE.

VICINITY MAP

Title:

PROJECT LOCATION

VICINITY MAP
NOT TO SCALE



www.EpikosDesign.com

E P I K O S
LAND PLANNING

+
ARCHITECTURE

McCALL OFFICE
303 Colorado Street

P.O.Box 2490
McCall, Idaho 83638
Tel:  208.634.4540

Stamp:

P&Z APPLICATION SET

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RE

SI
D

EN
C

E

C  2020 EPIKOS

Date:

Sheet:

Project No:

Drawn by:

Checked by: LB

LB, ES

A2-2

Revisions:

22
1

 M
O

RG
A

N
 D

RI
V

E
M

C
C

A
LL

, I
D

 8
36

38

BIMcloud: s132-148-167-156 - BIMcloud Basic for ARCHICAD 23/SANDERS RIVER CROSSING

8/31/2020

(  PLOT DATE:         8/31/2020  )

1916

THIS IS INTENDED TO BE PRINTED ON A 24"X36" SHEET.  ALL OTHER SHEET SIZES WILL NOT BE PRINTED TO SCALE.

EXISTING SITE ON AERIAL

Title:

#DrgID
#LayID

#DrgID
#LayID

SCALE: 1"   = 40'
1

EXISTING AERIAL
0 20' 40' 80'

RECREATIONAL
PATH

TO SHEEP
BRIDGE

RECREATIONAL
PATH

PAYETTE RIVER

MORG
AN DRIVE

LOT 19
5.3 ACRES



www.EpikosDesign.com

E P I K O S
LAND PLANNING

+
ARCHITECTURE

McCALL OFFICE
303 Colorado Street

P.O.Box 2490
McCall, Idaho 83638
Tel:  208.634.4540

Stamp:

P&Z APPLICATION SET

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RE

SI
D

EN
C

E

C  2020 EPIKOS

Date:

Sheet:

Project No:

Drawn by:

Checked by: LB

LB, ES

A2-3

Revisions:

22
1

 M
O

RG
A

N
 D

RI
V

E
M

C
C

A
LL

, I
D

 8
36

38

BIMcloud: s132-148-167-156 - BIMcloud Basic for ARCHICAD 23/SANDERS RIVER CROSSING

8/31/2020

(  PLOT DATE:         8/31/2020  )

1916

THIS IS INTENDED TO BE PRINTED ON A 24"X36" SHEET.  ALL OTHER SHEET SIZES WILL NOT BE PRINTED TO SCALE.

P&Z SITE FEATURES

Title:

131
4933.185
SE WE R MANHOLE

178
4932.921
SEWER  MANHO LE

194
4932.444
SEWER MANHOLE

320
4931.216
TE LE RISE R321

4931.223
TELE R IS ER

W2W2

SCALE: 1"   = 40'
1

BUILDING SITE CONSTRAINTS
0 20' 40' 80'

S.F.H.A.
50' SETBACK

S.F.H.A.
ZONE: AE

(1% ANNUAL
CHANCE)

BUILDABLE
ENVELOPE

6,400 SF

PAYETTE RIVER

MORG
AN DRIVE

FLOODWAY

50' FR
ONT S

ETB
ACK



www.EpikosDesign.com

E P I K O S
LAND PLANNING

+
ARCHITECTURE

McCALL OFFICE
303 Colorado Street

P.O.Box 2490
McCall, Idaho 83638
Tel:  208.634.4540

Stamp:

P&Z APPLICATION SET

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RE

SI
D

EN
C

E

C  2020 EPIKOS

Date:

Sheet:

Project No:

Drawn by:

Checked by: LB

LB, ES

A2-5

Revisions:

22
1

 M
O

RG
A

N
 D

RI
V

E
M

C
C

A
LL

, I
D

 8
36

38

BIMcloud: s132-148-167-156 - BIMcloud Basic for ARCHICAD 23/SANDERS RIVER CROSSING

8/31/2020

(  PLOT DATE:         8/31/2020  )

1916

THIS IS INTENDED TO BE PRINTED ON A 24"X36" SHEET.  ALL OTHER SHEET SIZES WILL NOT BE PRINTED TO SCALE.

P&Z BUILDING SITE
CONSTRAINTS

Title:

440'
FROM ORD. HIGH WATER MARK

W
SS

SS

TR

49
28

49
28

4928

4 9
2 8

4928

49
28

49
28

4928

4928

49
28

49
2

8

49 28

49
3

0

49
3 0

49
31

49
3 1

49
30

49
30

49
31

49
31

4933

4933

49
28

4927

49
27

49
27

4927

49
2

8

4928

SS
131

4933.185
SE WE R MANHOLE

W
VW

V

W

V

SS
178
4932.921
SEWER  MANHO LE

SS
194
4932.444
SEWER MANHOLE

TR
320
4931.216
TE LE RISE RTR

321
4931.223
TELE R IS ER

324
4931.091
TR ANSFO RMER

326
4931.137

TR ANS FOR MER327
4930.822
TRANSF ORME R

1098
4928.774
VAULT

5029.7

5028.2

5030.4

5031.5

PROPOSED B.F.E.

W2W2

SCALE: 1"   = 40'1
BUILDING SITE CONSTRAINTS

0 20' 40' 80'

NOT TO SCALE
3

Flood Vent Diagram

PROPOSED GRADE ABOVE 5029.7
FLOODWAY

MORG
AN DRIVE 49

2
8

'

49
27

'

FF=4932.8'

49
30

'

49
30

'

107
S2.00

±0"
MAIN FLOOR (5,032.8')

10'-0"
STRUCTURAL EXCAVATION

4" GRAVEL, SLOPE TO INTERNAL DRAIN SYSTEM.
ALT.  SLOPE TO INSULATED FLOOD VENT

FINAL GRADE, SLOPE AWAY FROM BUILDING

6 MIL. (MIN.) POLY WATERPROOF LINER. SEAMS
LAPPED AND SEALED DOWNHILL

DAMP PROOFING

BACKUP OVERFLOW FLOOD VENT

BACKWATER VALVE
CONTINUOUS INTERNAL & EXTERNAL

PERIMETER DRAIN, JOINED AT LOW POINT

6 MIL. LINER ATTACHED W/ MASTIC

SUMP PUMP WITH MONITOR
AND MANUAL SWITCH

-2.5' (5,025.5' VARIES)
NATIVE STRATUM III POORLY GRADED SAND OR GRAVEL
OR REPLACE WITH COMPACTED STRUCTURAL FILL

-2.0' (5,026' VARIES)
ORGANIC SOIL (TO BE REMOVED AND STORED ON-SITE)

-3.0' (5,025' VARIES)
ADDITIONAL 1'-0" EXCAVATION INTO CLEAN
UNSATURATED STRATUM III

+/- 5028' (VARIES)
EXISTING GRADE

2' NEW STRUCTURAL FILL (2000 P.S.F)

ADDITIONAL EXCAVATION AND FILL MAY BE REQUIRED.
FIELD VERIFICATION REQUIRED BY GEOTECHNICAL
ENGINEER.

5029.7'
FEMA B.F.E.

+/- 5027.7'
BOTTOM OF FTG.

(EXISTING GRADE)

BACKFILL

BACKFILL

(EXISTING GRADE)

FEMA F.P.E.

NOT TO SCALE
2 EXCAVATION SECTION



DATE:  8/31/2020

JAMES FRONK CONSULTING, LLC.

DRAWN BY: ES

RIVER'S CROSSING SUBDIVISION, LOT 19, BLOCK 2

SANDERS RESIDENCE
221 MORGAN DRIVE MCCALL ID 83638

BI
M

cl
ou

d:
 s

13
2-

14
8

-1
6

7-
15

6
 -

 B
IM

cl
ou

d 
Ba

sic
 f

or
 A

RC
H

IC
A

D
 2

3
/S

A
N

D
ER

S 
RI

V
ER

 C
RO

SS
IN

G

14028 NORWOOD RD
PO BOX 576
McCALL, ID 83638
(208) 634-8093

FIGURE: 5

#D
rgID#Lay
ID

#Dr
gID#Lay
ID

LIM
ITS

 OF
CON

ST
RU

CTI
ON

LIM
ITS

 OF
 C

ON
STR

UC
TIO

N

LIM
ITS

 O
F C

ON
ST

RUC
TIO

N

LIM
ITS 

OF
 CO

N
STR

UC
TIO

N

LIM
ITS

 O
F C

ON
ST

RUC
TIO

N

W

SS

SS

TR

4928

49
28

4
92

8

4928

4
92

8

49
28

492
8

49
28

4
9

29

49
2

9

4
9

29

492
9

49
2

9

492
9

49
29

49
2

8

492
8

4
929

49
28

4
92

8
49

29

49
29

492
9

4
9

29

493
0

4930

4931

493
1

493
0

4930

4
9

32

493
1

4931

4
928

4
9

27

4927

4927

49
27

492
8

4
9 28

4
9

27

492
7

49
254926

4927

492
7

4926

492
5

492
6

49
27

49
28

492
7

492
8

49
2

9

49
28

49
2

9

4
92

8

4
92

6

49
2

7

4
92 8

4
92

9

N7
3 °

44
'25

"W
73

5.
00

'

S3
7°

00
'14

"W

80
.2

2'S2
0°

15
'46

"W

15
9.

07
'

S2
2°

42
'05

"E

22
1.

42
'S19°13'55"E

83.75'

N7
3°

24
'27

"E

72
2.

66
'

C1

TR TR

59
99

49
28

.0
44

ts3

60
00

49
29

.8
09

ts1

601
1

492
9

.00
7

cpt6
0

11

60
7

0
49

2
8.2

0
4

ts5

60
92

492
8

.39
1

cpt6
0

92

61
1

5
49

28
.1

3
8

ts5

611
7

492
7.

51
2

ts
6

PA
YE

TT
E 

  R
IV

ER

LO
T 

19

LO
T 

18

LO
T 

20

N DRIVE

PA
YE

T
R

IV
ER

W2W2

PROPERTY LINE

WETLAND
BOUNDARY

WETLAND
BOUNDARY

WETLAND
BOUNDARY

WETLAND
BOUNDARY

PROPOSED RESIDENCE

PROPOSED STRUCTURE

BRIDGE OVER
EXISTING WETLANDS

NO IMPACT

ELEVATED
WALKWAY & DECK
NO IMPACT

WETLAND IMPACT WITH PHOTO

0' 50' 100'            200'

MORGAN DRIVE

N
O

RTH
 FO

RK PA
YETTE RIVER

NORTH FORK PAYETTE RIVER













DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY 
U.S. ARMY CORPS OF ENGINEERS 

BOISE REGULATORY OFFICE 
720 EAST PARK BOULEVARD, SUITE 245 

BOISE, IDAHO 83712-7757 
 

September 01, 2020 
 
Regulatory Division 
 

SUBJECT: NWW-2020-00422-B03, Construct Single Family Residential House, 
Wetlands Abutting North Fork Payette River 

 
 
 
 
Mr. Dwain and Mrs. Cindy Sanders 
3411 South Koster Road 
Tracy, California 95304 
 
 
Dear Mr. and Mrs. Sanders: 
 
 We have determined that your proposed project, Construct Residential House, 
Wetlands Abutting North Fork Payette River, is authorized in accordance with 
Department of Army (DA) Nationwide Permit (NWP) No. 29: Residential 
Developments. This project is located at 221 Morgan Drive (Lot 19) within Section 17 
of Township 8 North, Range 3 East, near latitude 44º 53’ 34” N and longitude -116º 00’ 
74” W, in the City of McCall, Valley County, Idaho. Please refer to File Number NWW-
2020-00422-B03 in all future correspondence with our office regarding this project.  
 
 Project activities involve the estimated discharge of 968 cubic yards of native 
structural base material (rock, sand and silt) into 0.15 acres of wetlands adjacent to the 
North Fork Payette River. Project plans indicate that work activities are limited to 
constructing a residential building pad. An estimated 2.70 acres of jurisdictional 
wetlands are present on the building lot. Mitigation of wetlands has been achieved 
through avoidance and minimization. Wetland avoidance measures incorporated within 
the building plan include constructing a bridge over the driveway approach, installing 
helical screw jacks for elevated patio decks and walkways, and a gazebo. All work shall 
be done in accordance to the attached drawings, 1 through 7; titled; Sanders 
Residence, 221 Morgan Drive, McCall, Idaho, dated August 24, 2020, prepared by 
James Fronk Consulting, LLC.  
 
AUTHORITY 
 DA permit authorization is necessary because your project involves the discharge of 
dredged and/or fill material into Waters of the U.S., including wetlands. This 
authorization is outlined in Section 404 of the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. 1344). 
 



- 2 - 
 
 
 
 

 

PERMIT CONDITIONS 
 You must comply with all regional and general for this verification letter to remain 
valid and to avoid possible enforcement actions. The regional and general permit 
conditions for NWP No. 29: Residential Developments are available online at 
http://www.nww.usace.army.mil/Business-With-Us/Regulatory-Division/Nationwide-
Permits/. If you are unable to access this website or would prefer a hard copy of the 
regional and general conditions, please notify us and we will provide you a copy. In 
addition, you must also comply with the special conditions listed below. 
 
GENERAL AND/OR REGIONAL PERMIT CONDITIONS 
 General Condition 12 is emphasized, which states: “Appropriate soil erosion and 
sediment controls must be used and maintained in effective operating condition during 
construction, and all exposed soil and other fills, as well as any work below the ordinary 
high water mark, must be permanently stabilized at the earliest practicable date.” 

 
WATER QUALITY CERTIFICATION 
 You must also comply with the conditions detailed in the Section 401 Water Quality 
Certification (WQC) issued by the Idaho Department of Environmental Quality (IDEQ) 
on March 3, 2017. For your review, a copy of this 401 WQC is available on the IDEQ’s 
website at: http://www.deq.idaho.gov/media/60179758/nationwide-permits-2017-401-
certification-0317.pdf. If you have questions regarding the conditions set forth in the 
Water Quality Certification, telephone the IDEQ directly at 208-373-0550. 
 
COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATION 
 Further, Nationwide Permit General Condition 30 (Compliance Certification) requires 
that every permittee who has received NWP verification must submit a signed 
certification regarding the completed work and any required mitigation. The enclosed 
Compliance Certification Form is enclosed for your convenience and must be completed 
and returned to us.    
 
LIMITATIONS OF THIS VERIFICATION 
 This letter of authorization does not convey any property rights, or any exclusive 
privileges and does not authorize any injury to property or excuse you from compliance 
with other Federal, State, or local statutes, ordinances, regulations, or requirements 
which may affect this work. 
 
EXPIRATION OF THIS VERIFICATION 
 This verification is valid until March 18, 2022, unless the NWP is modified, 
suspended or revoked. If your project, as permitted under this NWP verification is 

http://www.nww.usace.army.mil/Business-With-Us/Regulatory-Division/Nationwide-Permits/
http://www.nww.usace.army.mil/Business-With-Us/Regulatory-Division/Nationwide-Permits/
http://www.deq.idaho.gov/media/60179758/nationwide-permits-2017-401-certification-0317.pdf
http://www.deq.idaho.gov/media/60179758/nationwide-permits-2017-401-certification-0317.pdf


- 3 - 
 
 
 
 

 

changed and/or modified, you must contact our office prior to commencing any work 
activities. In the event you have not completed construction of your project by March 18,  
2022, please contact us at least 60-days prior to this date. A new application and 
verification may be required.       
 
CUSTOMER SERVICE 
 We actively use feedback to improve our delivery and provide you with the best 
possible service. Please take our online customer service survey to tell us how we are 
doing. Follow this link to take the survey: http://corpsmapu.usace.army.mil/cm_apex 
/f?p=regulatory_survey. If you have questions or if you would like a paper copy of the 
survey, telephone our office at 208-433-4464. For more information about the Walla 
Walla District Regulatory program, visit us online at 
http://www.nww.usace.army.mil/Business-With-Us/Regulatory-Division/.  
 
 If you have questions or need additional information about this permit, you can 
contact me at 208-433-4462, by mail at the address in the letterhead, or email at 
eric.m.gerke@usace.army.mil For informational purposes, a copy of this letter will be 
sent to: Mr. Cass Jones (Idaho Department of Water Resources); Ms. Rachel Santiago-
Govier (City of McCall, P&Z); and, Mr. James Fronk (James Fronk Consulting, LLC). 
  

 
 
  Sincerely, 

   
  Eric M. Gerke 
  Project Manager 
  Regulatory Division 

 
Enclosures: 
 Transfer of Nationwide Permit Form 
 Compliance Form 

Drawings 1 through 7; titled; Sanders Residence, 221 Morgan Drive, McCall, Idaho, 
dated August 24, 2020, prepared by James Fronk Consulting, LLC.  

 
  

http://corpsmapu.usace.army.mil/cm_apex%20/f?p=regulatory_survey
http://corpsmapu.usace.army.mil/cm_apex%20/f?p=regulatory_survey
http://www.nww.usace.army.mil/Business-With-Us/Regulatory-Division/
mailto:eric.m.gerke@usace.army.mil


- 4 - 
 
 
 
 

 

TRANSFER OF NATIONWIDE PERMIT 
 
 
 
 
When the structures or work authorized by this Nationwide Permit, NWW-2020-00422-
B03, Construct Residential House, Wetlands Abutting North Fork Payette River, are 
still in existence at the time the property is transferred. The terms and conditions of this 
Nationwide Permit, including any special conditions, will continue to be binding on the 
new owner(s) of the property. To validate the transfer of this Nationwide Permit, the 
associated liabilities and compliance with the terms and conditions the transferee must 
sign and date below. 
 
 
 
Name of New Owner:   
Street Address: 
Mailing Address: 
City, State, Zip: 
Phone Number:   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signature of TRANSFEREE  DATE 
 
 
 

  



- 5 - 
 
 
 
 

 

COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATION 

® 
US Army Corps of Engineers 
Walla Walla District 
 
 
Permit Number: NWW-2020-00422-B03 
 
Name of Permittee: Mr. Dwain and Mrs. Cindy Sanders 
 
Date of Issuance: September 1, 2020 
 
 
Upon completion of the activity authorized by this permit and any mitigation required by 
the permit, please sign this certification and return it to the following address:   
 

Mr. Eric M. Gerke 
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 
Walla Walla District 
Boise Regulatory Office 
720 East Park Boulevard, Suite 245 
Boise, Idaho 83712-7757 

 
Please note that your permitted activity is subject to a compliance inspection by a U.S. 
Army Corps of Engineers representative. If you fail to comply with all terms and 
conditions of this permit, the permit is subject to suspension, modification, or revocation 
and you are subject to an enforcement action by this office. 
 
I hereby certify that the work authorized by the above-referenced permit has been 
completed in accordance with the terms and conditions of the said permit. The required 
mitigation was also completed in accordance with the permit conditions. 
 
 
 
 

Signature of PERMITEE  DATE 
 



- 6 - 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 



- 7 - 
 
 
 
 

 

 



- 8 - 
 
 
 
 

 

 



- 9 - 
 
 
 
 

 

 



- 10 - 
 
 
 
 

 

 



- 11 - 
 
 
 
 

 

 



- 12 - 
 
 
 
 

 

 



- 13 - 
 
 
 
 

 

 



From: Griffith, Christen CIV USARMY CENWW (USA)
To: jamesfronkconsulting@gmail.com
Subject: RE: [Non-DoD Source] Permit Renewal - NWW-2020-00422-B03
Date: Monday, April 11, 2022 3:38:15 PM

Jim,
 
Projects which have committed resources or have gotten under contract such as this, may receive an
additional 12 months from the expiration of the NWP to complete the work under the existing
authorization.
 
In consideration of the circumstances I consider this project to be eligible for that extension and you
can consider this email as approval to extend the existing authorization for another 12 months from
the date of the expiration.
 
Should the project not be completed by that time or there is a change in design/ location or
methods, you must coordinate with the Corp prior to implementing the project to determine if a
new verification is needed.

Thank you,
Marve Griffith
 

From: jamesfronkconsulting@gmail.com <jamesfronkconsulting@gmail.com> 
Sent: Monday, April 11, 2022 11:15 AM
To: Griffith, Christen CIV USARMY CENWW (USA) <Christen.M.Griffith@usace.army.mil>
Subject: [Non-DoD Source] Permit Renewal - NWW-2020-00422-B03
 
Marve,
 
The above permit expired on March 18, 2022. The client would like to renew the permit. There are
no changes or additional wetland impacts from the previous permit. The reason for the delay was
due to Covid related issues, these issues include the ability to find contractors to do the site work
and residential house construction. In addition, the residential house contractors were having
problems with acquiring materials for construction due to the Covid related supply chain issues. The
above-mentioned construction delay issues have been resolved.
 
Please provide me direction on how to proceed.
 
Thank You,
 
Jim Fronk L.A.
James Fronk construction, LLC.
208 634 8093

mailto:Christen.M.Griffith@usace.army.mil
mailto:jamesfronkconsulting@gmail.com


 

 

 
December 07, 2022 
 
 
Brian Parker 
City of McCall 
216 Park St 
McCall, ID 83638 
 
RE: Rivers Crossing, Lot 19 CLOMR – Community Acknowledgement Form 
 
 
Dear Mr. Parker, 
 

This correspondence letter is being sent to the City to review and provide signature of the revised FEMA-
CLOMR Community Acknowledgement Form submitted on behalf of Dwain Sanders, owner of River’s 
Crossing Lot 19. 
 
The attached Community Acknowledgement Form requires your signature. Please acknowledge in your 
response that the City has received a copy of the revised CLOMR application dated Dec. 07, 2022, and 
supporting documents delivered to you by this certified mailed letter. I would be happy to share electronic 
copies of those materials upon request. Please confirm whether or not the City will review the revised CLOMR 
and sign the Community Acknowledgement Form and return it to me via email to (rmanning@forsgren.com). 
 
Please let us know if you have additional questions. 
 
Thank you, 
 
 
 

 
Ron Manning, P.E., CFM 
 
Enclosures 
CLOMR application package 
 
Cc:  
Dwain Sanders 
James Fronk 
Steve Millemann 
 
 



 
 

CLOMR PROJECT NARRATIVE 
 

for Rivers Crossing – Lot 19 
 

McCall, ID 
 
 
 

December 07, 2022 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared By: Ronald Manning, P.E. 

 
 

Prepared for: 
Dwain Sanders 

106 E Park St. Suite 214 
McCall, ID 83638 

(209) 480-0340 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Prepared by: 

Forsgren Associates 
917 Lusk St. Ste 300 

Boise, ID 83706 
(208) 342-3314



Project Narrative - Rivers Crossing Lot 19 

 
2 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 INTRODUCTION...................................................................................................................................... 3 

1.1 EXISTING STRUCTURES AND ROADWAYS ........................................................................................................................... 3 
1.2 EFFECTIVE FEMA PRODUCTS .............................................................................................................................................. 3 

 HYDROLOGY ............................................................................................................................................ 4 

2.1 PAYETTE RIVER WATERSHED ............................................................................................................................................... 4 
2.2 EFFECTIVE HYDROLOGY PRODUCTS .................................................................................................................................. 5 

 HYDRAULICS ............................................................................................................................................ 6 

3.1 EXISTING SITE HYDRAULIC CONDITIONS ......................................................................................................................... 6 
3.2 EFFECTIVE MODELING PRODUCTS ..................................................................................................................................... 6 
3.3 DUPLICATE EFFECTIVE, CORRECTED EFFECTIVE & PRE-PROJECT MODELS ............................................................. 7 
3.4 PROPOSED SITE CONDITIONS & MODELING .................................................................................................................... 8 
3.5 WATER SURFACE ELEVATION COMPARISON ................................................................................................................... 10 

 Non-Floodway Simulations ............................................................................................................................................. 10 
 Floodway Simulation ....................................................................................................................................................... 10 

 ENDANGERED SPECIES ACT COMPLIANCE .................................................................................... 11 

 
TABLE OF FIGURES 
Figure 1. Area Map, Owner’s parcel (approx.) shown in red....................................................................................... 3 
Figure 2. Effective FIRM .................................................................................................................................................. 4 
Figure 3 Payette River watershed above site. ................................................................................................................. 5 
Figure 4. Peak discharge reported in Effective FIS. ...................................................................................................... 5 
Figure 5. Peak discharge from Effective model ............................................................................................................. 6 
Figure 6. Effective HEC-RAS model project description ............................................................................................ 7 
Figure 7. Owner’s parcel (red) shown with effective FEMA cross sections (green) ............................................... 7 
Figure 8. Floodway data for cross sections with project site highlighted .................................................................. 8 
Figure 9. Post-project HEC-RAS plan ............................................................................................................................ 8 
Figure 10. Plan view of proposed fill extent ................................................................................................................... 9 
Figure 11. XS 100560 BN – Existing terrain (grey) and proposed geometry (black). ............................................. 9 
Figure 12. Floodway Plan results comparison.............................................................................................................. 10 
 
 

TABLE OF TABLES 
Table 2. Comparison of FIS model output and published values for WSE ........................................................... 10 
 
 

  



Project Narrative - Rivers Crossing Lot 19 

 
3 

 

 INTRODUCTION 

This report summarizes the development and analysis of Hydrologic and Hydraulic conditions of the Payette 
River in support of the associated Conditional Letter of Map Revision application of effective FEMA flood 
insurance rate maps (FIRMs).  This effort focuses on the portion of the Payette River approximately 2.6 miles 
downstream of the outlet of Payette Lake. The project site is located within the City of McCall. The Owner of 
Rivers Crossing Subdivision Lot 19 intends to elevate a portion of their property with fill and remove the filled 
area from the floodplain via the CLOMR process. 
 

 

Figure 1. Area Map, Owner’s parcel (approx.) shown in red. 

1.1 Existing Structures and Roadways 

There is a small bridge over the Payette River directly south of the project parcel which is represented in the 
effective FEMA hydraulic model. There is also a gravel nature path near the west edge of the parcel. No 
other existing structures or roadways are present within the project parcel. 
 

1.2 Effective FEMA Products 

The effective FEMA products for this area are dated February 2019. The project is located within firm panel 
(16085C0688C). The Flood Insurance Study (FIS) contains sufficient information about the hydrology and 
hydraulics for this section of the Payette River. An effective HEC-RAS hydraulic model was obtained from 
FEMA and was found to be viable for this analysis. 
 



Project Narrative - Rivers Crossing Lot 19 

 
4 

 

 
Figure 2. Effective FIRM 

 HYDROLOGY 

This section outlines the hydrology information gathered to inform this CLOMR application. Upon review, it 
was determined the hydrology information published in the FEMA FIS was the best available data.  

2.1 Payette River Watershed 

The watershed upstream of this project drains an area of approximately 148.17 square-miles.  The 
watershed of interest includes the City of McCall, ID and runs north in unincorporated Valley County and 
Idaho County. This segment of the Payette River is located within the City of McCall.  The Figure 3. Payette 
River watershed above site. Figure 3 below shows the approximate watershed delineation above the 
project site.  



Project Narrative - Rivers Crossing Lot 19 

 
5 

 

 
Figure 3. Payette River watershed above site. 

2.2 Effective Hydrology Products 

The FIS contained the following summary of discharge values for the Payette River gathered from gage 
station 13239000 (1941-2013), located approximately 2.2 miles upstream of the project site (Figure 4).  
 

 
Figure 4. Peak discharge reported in Effective FIS. 

The peak discharges for this section of the river in the effective model appeared different from values 
published in the FIS. Figure 5. below was observed in the effective model with RS 114831 corresponding to 
the location “At USGS gage 13239000” shown above. There is another flow increase at RS 112680 which 
corresponds to the values published for Williams Creek, and again at RS 96622, which is published in the 
FIS as “3.02 miles downstream of confluence with Williams Creek”. 



Project Narrative - Rivers Crossing Lot 19 

 
6 

 

 
It was decided to leave the flow values in the model as they were since the model results matched published 
water surface values. 
 

 
Figure 5. Peak discharge from Effective model  

 

 HYDRAULICS 

3.1 Existing Site Hydraulic Conditions 

Generally, the site appears undisturbed from its natural condition and is comprised of vegetation cover typical 
of natural portions of the Payette River in this vicinity. The parcel is located on the inside of a bend. A review 
of historical aerial imagery between 1998 and 2017 appears to show the riverbank has remained stable 
during that time. 
 
LiDAR survey data collected in 2012 was obtained from the Idaho LiDAR Consortium. Based on collection 
date and comparison with HEC-RAS cross section elevations, we believe this terrain data were used as the 
basis for the effective model. 

3.2 Effective Modeling Products 

The effective HEC-RAS 4.1.0 model of the area was completed in April of 2013. A detailed study for this 
portion of Payette River (Reach 4) was carried out by the Strategic Alliance for Risk Reduction (STARR) 
team. Flows for the 10-, 25-, 50- ,100-, and 500-yr recurrence intervals were modeled. A floodway was also 
calculated in the HEC-RAS model. The following description was included in the model:  

 

Model Version: HEC-RAS version 4.1.0 
By: Strategic Alliance For Risk Reduction (STARR) - Lexington, KY 
Project Number: 173529050 
Project Name: Valley County, Idaho - Countywide FIRM Study 



Project Narrative - Rivers Crossing Lot 19 

 
7 

 

Case No. 11-10-0105S 
February 2014 
Updated November 2015 
Channel cross-sections were based on survey data and a 2-ft Digital Elevation MAP (DEM) 
Vertical Datum: NAVD 88 
Horizontal Datum: NAD83 
Geographical Coordinate System:  
NAD83 State Plane Idaho West 
Model may extend beyond limits of floodplain revision for tie in purposes. 

Figure 6. Effective HEC-RAS model project description 

 

 
Figure 7. Owner’s parcel (red) shown with effective FEMA cross sections (green) 

3.3 Duplicate Effective, Corrected Effective & Pre-Project Models 

The effective model results compared adequately with published results. Therefore, no duplicate effective 
model was created. Also, no substantial changes appear to have occurred in the area to warrant a corrected 
effective model. For this CLOMR, the effective models (payette_4_run & payette_4_fldwy) were used as-is 
and not corrected. 
 
The current effective models were also used as the pre-project condition since little to no man-made changes 
appear to have occurred in the vicinity of the project since the effective model was published. 



Project Narrative - Rivers Crossing Lot 19 

 
8 

 

 
Figure 8. Floodway data for cross sections with project site highlighted 

3.4 Proposed Site Conditions & Modeling 

The applicant proposes to elevate an area within the parcel by placing fill. The fill extent will be confined to 
the owner’s property. The area to be filled is located completely outside of the regulatory floodway. The 
effective model was used as the basis for modification. A proposed surface was generated based on design 
plans by others and imported into HEC-RAS. The effective model was duplicated, and cross sections 
modified as described below. The proposed conditions model ran to completion without errors. 
 
XS - 100560 – Ground modified to reflect the proposed fill. Top of fill set at 4931.00 elevation 
XS – 100870 - Ineffective flow area was modified to reflect fill immediately downstream. 
 

 
Figure 9. Post-project HEC-RAS plan 



Project Narrative - Rivers Crossing Lot 19 

 
9 

 

 
Figure 10. Plan view of Floodway (red), Floodplain (blue), and proposed fill extent (yellow). 

 
Figure 11. Post-Project cross section XS 100560 BN. 



Project Narrative - Rivers Crossing Lot 19 

 
10 

 

3.5 Water Surface Elevation Comparison 

Modeling results were compared between the effective plan and the post-fill plan for the 0.1 (10-yr), 0.04 (25-
yr), 0.02 (50-yr), 0.01(100-yr), 0.002 (500-yr) events. Since the fill is only being placed in the floodplain, there 
was no impact to the regulatory floodway Water Surface Elevation (WSE) or delineation. 

 Non-Floodway Simulations 

The project does not affect the 10- and 25-yr events as the fill is situated outside the inundation extent of 
these events and are not presented here. The project does cause slight increases to water surface elevations 
for the 50-, 100-, and 500-yr events as summarized below. The post-project inundation boundaries were 
computed and compared and found no significant difference in WSE or floodplain delineations within the 
project area. 

Table 1. WSE comparison of Pre- and Post- Project model results  

 

 Floodway Simulation 

Since the fill is being placed outside of the floodway encroachment boundary, the model showed no difference 
between the effective and post-fill scenarios. 

 
Figure 12. Floodway Plan results comparison 

  

 50-year   100-year   500-year 

HEC-RAS XS 
Published 

BFE 

Post-
Project 

 BFE 

Diff. 
(ft) 

  
Published 

BFE 

Post-
Project 

 BFE 
Diff.(ft)   

Published 
BFE 

Post-
Project 

 BFE 

Diff. 
(ft) 

101650 BQ 4,931.97 4,932.00 0.03  4,932.05 4,932.08 0.03  4,932.27 4,932.34 0.07 

101345 BP 4,931.45 4,931.51 0.06  4,931.53 4,931.60 0.07  4,931.79 4,931.91 0.12 

100870 BO 4,930.24 4,930.25 0.01  4,930.36 4,930.37 0.01  4,930.69 4,930.69 0.00 

100560 BN 4,929.50 4,929.49 -0.01  4,929.65 4,929.64 -0.01  4,930.06 4,930.04 -0.02 

100184 BM 4,928.08 4,928.08 0.00  4,928.21 4,928.21 0.00  4,928.58 4,928.58 0.00 

99892 4,927.10 4,927.10 0.00  4,927.22 4,927.22 0.00  4,927.59 4,927.59 0.00 



Project Narrative - Rivers Crossing Lot 19 

 
11 

 

 ENDANGERED SPECIES ACT COMPLIANCE 

Information for Planning and Consultation (IPaC) from U.S. Fish and Wildlife was used to identify 
endangered species in the area of study. It was found that there are no critical habitats at this location. 
Northern Idaho Ground Squirrels were listed as potentially being affected by activities in this location. Eight 
species of migratory birds were listed either because they are on the USFWS Birds of Conservation 
Concern (BCC) or because they require special attention in the project location. The list includes Bald 
Eagle, Golden Eagle, Cassin’s Finch, Clark’s Grebe, Lesser Yellowlegs, Marbled Godwit, Olive-sided 
Flycatcher, and the Rufous Hummingbird. The Bald Eagle and Golden Eagle were included because of the 
Eagle Act and is not a BCC. The remaining six species were included because they are BCCs throughout 
their range in the continental USA and may breed in our project area.  
The project area also overlaps with several wetlands including: PEM1A, and PSSA. (Subject to Regulation) 
 
A separate memo documenting ESA compliance is being included in the CLOMR. 
 

 



4950-ft

4970-ft

4940-ft

4960-ft

4980-ft

50
00

-ft

4 99
0-ft

50
10

-ft

4930-f t

49
30

-f t

5010-ft

49
80

-ft

49 30-ft

4

930-ft

4930-ft

49
80

-ft

4 980-
ft

4930-ft

49
30

-ft 5

0 10-ft

4
9 90-ft

4980-ft

5010-ft

4 9 30-ft

49
30

-ft

4930-ft

4930-ft

4960-ft

4930-f t

49
30

-ft
49

30
-ft

49
70

-ft

4990-ft

4930-ft

49 30-ft

4930-ft

498 0-ft

4930-ft

4930-ft

49
30

-ft

4980-ft

4960-ft

49
3

0-
ft

5010-ft

49
30

-ft
XS - 100560

XS - 100870

XS - 100184

XS - 99892

XS - 99713

XS - 101345

XS - 101650

XS - 1
020

81

XS - 99106

XS - 102765

Source: Esri, Maxar, GeoEye, Earthstar Geographics, CNES/Airbus DS, USDA, USGS, AeroGRID, IGN, and the GIS User Community

River Crossing Lot 19

D
at

e 
P

rin
te

d:
 1

2/
8/

20
22

Topographic Work Map

µ

  Symbol Legend  
Tie-In Point
S_XS
Existing Contour (10ft)
Existing Contour (2ft)
Parcel Boundary

Revised
500-yr
100-yr
FLOODWAY

Effective
100-yr
500-yr
FLOODWAY

Information as displayed on map is for Planning Purposes only.  
The data is approximate in terms of content and location and 
has been sourced from local, state, and national government 
agencies.  Please contact Forsgren Associates Inc. with questions. 
801.364.4785

0 160 320 48080
Feet

CITY OF MCCALL, ID



XS - 100560

XS - 100870

XS - 100184

XS - 99892

XS - 99713

XS - 101345

XS - 99106

XS - 101650

XS - 1
020

81

XS - 102765

River Crossing Lot 19

D
at

e 
P

rin
te

d:
 1

2/
8/

20
22

Annotated FIRMµ
  Symbol Legend  

Tie-In Point
S_XS
Parcel Boundary

Revised
500-yr
100-yr
FLOODWAY

Panel No.16085C0688C

Information as displayed on map is for Planning Purposes only.  
The data is approximate in terms of content and location and 
has been sourced from local, state, and national government 
agencies.  Please contact Forsgren Associates Inc. with questions. 
801.364.4785

0 160 320 48080
Feet

CITY OF MCCALL, ID







12/31/2023

12/07/2022



 

DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY 
U.S. ARMY CORPS OF ENGINEERS 

BOISE REGULATORY OFFICE 
720 EAST PARK BOULEVARD, SUITE 245 

BOISE, IDAHO  83712-7757 
 

December 8, 2023 
 
WALLA WALLA DISTRICT 
REGULATORY DIVISION 
 
SUBJECT:  NWW-2020-00422, Dwain and Cindy Sanders: Construct Residential 
Home, Wetlands Abutting Payette River 
 
 
 
 
Dwain and Cindy Sanders 
2411 S. Koster Road 
Tracy, California, 95304 
 
Dear Mr. and Mrs. Sanders: 
 
 We have determined that your proposed project, Dwain and Cindy Sanders: 
Construct Residential Home, Wetlands Abutting Payette River, is authorized in 
accordance with Department of the Army (DA) Nationwide Permit (NWP) No. 29:  
Residential Developments. This project is located at 221 Morgan Drive, within Section 
17 of Township 8 North, Range 3 East, near coordinates 44.8927º N latitude and -
116.1095º W longitude, in McCall, Valley County, Idaho. Please refer to File Number 
NWW-2020-00422 in all future correspondence with our office regarding this project. 
 
 Project activities include the discharge of fill material within wetlands adjacent to North 
Fork Payette River, which may be considered waters of the United States. The purpose 
of the proposed project is to construct a single-family residence and detached garage 
with living quarters. The work will entail the discharge of 968 cubic yards of fill material 
to construct the residential building pad and will result in the loss of 0.15 acres of PSS 
wetlands. Additional work entails the construction of 0.30 acres of PSS wetlands as part 
of the compensatory mitigation plan titled: Sanders Property Rivers Crossing 
Subdivision Mitigation Plan dated October 17, 2023.  All work shall be done in 
accordance with the enclosed drawings, titled: Sanders Residence Maps and Designs, 
dated August 24, 2020. 
 
AUTHORITY 
 DA permit authorization is necessary because your project may involve the 
discharge of fill material into waters of the U.S. This authorization is outlined in Section 
404 of the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. 1344).   
 
  



- 2 - 
 
 
 
 

PERMIT CONDITIONS 
 You must comply with all general, regional, and special conditions, for this 
verification letter to remain valid and to avoid possible enforcement actions. The general 
and regional permit conditions for NWP No. 29:  Residential Developments are attached 
and also available online1.  In addition, you must also comply with the special conditions 
listed below. 
 
The following Special Conditions include: 
 
Special Condition 1: Permittee shall mitigate for the impacts to 0.15 acres of PSS 
wetlands by enhancing and establishing wetlands on the parcel in accordance with the 
approved plan titled: Sanders Property Rivers Crossing Subdivision Mitigation Plan 
dated October 17, 2023. 
 
Special Condition 2: Upon construction of the mitigation site, the Permittee shall 
submit a monitoring report to the Corps by January 1st of each year following 
construction for a period of three years or until the Corps has determined the mitigation 
site has met its performance standards as described in Sanders Property Rivers 
Crossing Subdivision Mitigation Plan dated October 17, 2023. 
 
Special Condition 3: The permittee is responsible for all work done by any contractor.  
Permittee shall ensure any contractor who performs the work is informed of and follows 
all the terms and conditions of this authorization, including any Special Conditions listed 
above.  Permittee shall also ensure these terms and conditions are incorporated into 
engineering plans and contract specifications. 
 
WATER QUALITY CERTIFICATION 
 You must also comply with the conditions detailed in the attached Section 401 Water 
Quality Certification (WQC) issued by the Idaho Department of Environmental Quality 
(IDEQ) on December 4, 2020. If you have any questions regarding the conditions set 
forth in the WQC, please contact IDEQ directly at 208-373-0550, Boise Regional Office. 
 
COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATION 
 Nationwide Permit General Condition 30 (Compliance Certification) requires that 
every permittee who has received NWP verification must submit a signed certification 
regarding the completed work and any required mitigation. This Compliance 
Certification form is enclosed for your convenience and must be completed and 
returned to us within 30 days of your project’s completion.   
 
  

 
1  http://www.nww.usace.army.mil/Business-With-Us/Regulatory-Division/Nationwide-Permits/ 

http://www.nww.usace.army.mil/Business-With-Us/Regulatory-Division/Nationwide-Permits/


- 3 - 
 
 
 
 

LIMITATIONS OF THIS VERIFICATION 
 This letter of authorization does not convey any property rights, or any exclusive 
privileges and does not authorize any injury to property or excuse you from compliance 
with other Federal, State, or local statutes, ordinances, regulations, or requirements 
which may affect this work. 
 
EXPIRATION OF THIS VERIFICATION 
 This verification is valid until March 14, 2026, unless the NWP is modified, 
suspended or revoked.  If your project, as permitted under this NWP verification, is 
modified in any way you must contact our office prior to commencing any work 
activities. In the event that you have not completed construction of your project by 
March 14, 2026, please contact us at least 60-days prior to this date. A new application 
and verification may be required.  
 
SERVICE SURVEY 

We actively use feedback to improve our delivery and provide you with the best 
possible service. If you would like to provide feedback, please take our online survey2.  
If you have questions or if you would like a paper copy of the survey, please contact the 
Walla Walla District Regulatory. For more information about the Walla Walla District 
Regulatory program, you can visit us online3.   
 
 If you have any questions or need additional information about this permit 
authorization, you can contact me by phone at 208-433-4469, by mail at the address in 
the letterhead, or email at sarah.v.windham@usace.army.mil. For informational 
purposes, a copy of this letter has been sent to:  Chase Cusack with the Idaho 
Department of Environmental Quality, Katie Gibble with the Idaho Department of Water 
Resources and James Fronk, designated agent with James Fronk Consulting, LLC. 
 
 
  Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
  Sarah V. Windham 
  Project Manager, Regulatory Division 
   
 
  

 
2  https://regulatory.ops.usace.army.mil/customer-service-survey/      
3  http://www.nww.usace.army.mil/Business-With-Us/Regulatory-Division/ 

https://regulatory.ops.usace.army.mil/customer-service-survey/
http://www.nww.usace.army.mil/Business-With-Us/Regulatory-Division/


- 4 - 
 
 
 
 

Encls 
 Transfer of Nationwide Permit Form 
 Compliance Certification 
     Maps and Drawings: Sanders Residence Maps and Designs, dated August 24, 2020. 
 Nationwide Permit No. 29:  Residential Developments General and Regional 

Conditions 
 IDEQ General Water Quality Certification dated December 04, 2020 
 
 
 



 

 

TRANSFER OF NATIONWIDE PERMIT 
 
 
 
 
When the structures or work authorized by this Nationwide Permit, NWW-2020-00422 
Dwain and Cindy Sanders: Construct Residential Home, Wetlands Abutting 
Payette River, are still in existence at the time the property is transferred.  The terms 
and conditions of this Nationwide Permit, including any special conditions, will continue 
to be binding on the new owner(s) of the property. To validate the transfer of this 
Nationwide Permit, the associated liabilities and compliance with the terms and 
conditions the transferee must sign and date below. 
 
 
 
Name of New Owner:   
 
Street Address: 
 
Mailing Address: 
 
City, State, Zip: 
 
Phone Number:   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Signature of TRANSFEREE  DATE 

  



 
COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATION 

® 
US Army Corps of Engineers 
Walla Walla District 
 
 
Permit Number:  NWW-2020-00422 
 
Name of Permittee:  Dwain and Cindy Sanders 
 
Date of Issuance:  December 8, 2023 
 
 
Upon completion of the activity authorized by this permit and any mitigation required by 
the permit, please sign this certification and return it to the following address:   
 

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 
Walla Walla District 
Boise Regulatory Office 
720 East Park Blvd., Suite 245 
Boise, Idaho 83712-7757  

 
Please note that your permitted activity is subject to a compliance inspection by a U.S. 
Army Corps of Engineers representative. If you fail to comply with all terms and 
conditions of this permit, the permit is subject to suspension, modification, or revocation 
and you are subject to an enforcement action by this office. 
 
 
I hereby certify that the work authorized by the above-referenced permit has been 
completed in accordance with the terms and conditions of the said permit. The required 
mitigation was also completed in accordance with the permit conditions. 
 
 
 
 

Signature of PERMITEE  DATE 
 
 
 



DATE:  8/24/2020

JAMES FRONK CONSULTING, LLC.

DRAWN BY: ES

RIVER'S CROSSING SUBDIVISION, LOT 19, BLOCK 2

SANDERS RESIDENCE
221 MORGAN DRIVE MCCALL ID 83638

BI
M

cl
ou

d:
 s

13
2-

14
8-

16
7-

15
6 

- 
BI

M
cl

ou
d 

Ba
sic

 f
or

 A
RC

H
IC

A
D

 2
3/

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RI

V
ER

 C
RO

SS
IN

G

14028 NORWOOD RD
PO BOX 576
McCALL, ID 83638
(208) 634-8093

FIGURE: 1

Sources: Esri, HERE, Garmin, Intermap, increment P Corp., GEBCO, USGS, FAO, NPS, NRCAN, GeoBase, IGN,
Kadaster NL, Ordnance Survey, Esri Japan, METI, Esri China (Hong Kong), (c) OpenStreetMap contributors, and the

GIS User Community

PROJECT LOCATION

VICINITY MAP
NOT TO SCALE



DATE:  8/24/2020

JAMES FRONK CONSULTING, LLC.

DRAWN BY: ES

RIVER'S CROSSING SUBDIVISION, LOT 19, BLOCK 2

SANDERS RESIDENCE
221 MORGAN DRIVE MCCALL ID 83638

BI
M

cl
ou

d:
 s

13
2-

14
8-

16
7-

15
6 

- 
BI

M
cl

ou
d 

Ba
sic

 f
or

 A
RC

H
IC

A
D

 2
3/

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RI

V
ER

 C
RO

SS
IN

G

14028 NORWOOD RD
PO BOX 576
McCALL, ID 83638
(208) 634-8093

FIGURE: 2

W

S
S

S
S

TR

4928

4928

4
9
2
8

4928

4
9
2
8

4928

49
28

49
28

4
9
2
9

49
29

49
29

4929

49
29

492
9

4929

4
9
2
8

49
28

4929

4928

4
9
2
8

4929

4929

4929

4
9
2
9

4930

4930

4931

49
31

493
0

4930

49
32

4931

4931

49
28

4
9
2
7

4927

492
7

49
27

4928

49
28

4
9
2
7

49
27

49
254926

4927

492
7

4926

492
5

492
6

492
7

49
28

492
7

4928

49
29

49
28

4
9
2
9

4
9
2
8

4
9
2
6

4
9
2
7

49
28

49
29

N
7
3
°
4
4
'2
5
"W

7
3
5
.0
0
'

S
3
7
°
0
0
'1
4
"W

8
0
.2
2
'

S
2
0
°
15
'4
6
"W

15
9
.0
7
'

S
2
2
°
4
2
'0
5
"E

2
2
1.
4
2
'

S19°13'55"E

83.75'

N
73
°
24
'2
7"
E

72
2.
66
'

C
1

S
S

S
S

TR TR

5
9
9
9

4
9
2
8
.0
4
4

ts
3

6
0
0
0

4
9
2
9
.8
0
9

ts
1

6
0
11

4
9
2
9
.0
0
7

cp
t6
0
11

6
0
7
0

4
9
2
8
.2
0
4

ts
5

6
0
9
2

4
9
2
8
.3
9
1

cp
t6
0
9
2

6
11
5

4
9
2
8
.1
3
8

ts
5

6
11
7

4
9
2
7
.5
12

ts
6

P
A
Y
E
T
T
E
 
 
 
R
IV
E
R

LO
T
 
19

LO
T
 
18

LO
T
 
2
0

MO
RG
AN
 D
RIV

E

P
A
Y
E
T
T
E

R
IV
E
R

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

WETLAND
BOUNDARY

WETLAND
BOUNDARY

WETLAND
BOUNDARY

WETLAND
BOUNDARY

WETLAND
BOUNDARY
WETLAND
BOUNDARY
WETLAND
BOUNDARY

WETLAND
BOUNDARY

SITE MAP

0' 50' 100'            200'

MORGAN DRIVE

N
O

RTH FO
RK PAYETTE RIVER

NORTH FORK PAYETTE RIVER



DATE:  8/24/2020

JAMES FRONK CONSULTING, LLC.

DRAWN BY: ES

RIVER'S CROSSING SUBDIVISION, LOT 19, BLOCK 2

SANDERS RESIDENCE
221 MORGAN DRIVE MCCALL ID 83638

BI
M

cl
ou

d:
 s

13
2-

14
8-

16
7-

15
6 

- 
BI

M
cl

ou
d 

Ba
sic

 f
or

 A
RC

H
IC

A
D

 2
3/

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RI

V
ER

 C
RO

SS
IN

G

14028 NORWOOD RD
PO BOX 576
McCALL, ID 83638
(208) 634-8093

FIGURE: 4

-2'-0" = 4930.8

-1'-6" = 4931.3

-1'-0" = 4931.8

-6" = 4932.3

0" = 4932.8

0" = 4932.8

-6" = 4932.3

-9" = 4932.05

-1'-0" = 4931.8

0" = 4932.8

-3" = 4932.55

TOW 4933.3 
BOW 4931.8

TOW 4933.3 
BOW 4931.8

TOW 4933.3 
BOW 4931.8

HP

-9 5/8" = 4932

TOW 4934.3 
BOW 4932.8

TOW 4934.3 
BOW 4932.8

TOW 4934.3 
BOW 4932.8

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP = 4931.4

LP

LP

TOW 4933.55 
BOW 4932.05

TOW 4936.3 
BOW 4932.8

LI
M

IT
S 

O
F

C
O

N
ST

RU
C

TI
O

N

LI
M

IT
S 

O
F 

C
O

N
ST

RU
C

TI
O

N

LI
M

IT
S 

O
F 

C
O

N
ST

RU
C

TI
O

N

LI
M

IT
S 

O
F 

C
O

N
ST

RU
C

TI
O

N

LI
M

IT
S 

O
F 

C
O

N
ST

RU
C

TI
O

N

W

S
S

S
S

TR

4928

4928

4
9
2
8

4928

4
9
2
8

4928

49
28

49
28

4
9
2
9

49
29

49
29

4929

49
29

492
9

4929

4
9
2
8

49
28

4929

4928

4
9
2
8

4929

4929

4929

4
9
2
9

4930

4930

4931

49
31

493
0

4930

49
32

4931

4931

49
28

4
9
2
7

4927

492
7

49
27

4928

49
28

4
9
2
7

49
27

49
254926

4927

492
7

4926

492
5

492
6

492
7

49
28

492
7

4928

49
29

49
28

4
9
2
9

4
9
2
8

4
9
2
6

4
9
2
7

49
28

49
29

N
7
3
°
4
4
'2
5
"W

7
3
5
.0
0
'

S
3
7
°
0
0
'1
4
"W

8
0
.2
2
'

S
2
0
°
15
'4
6
"W

15
9
.0
7
'

S
2
2
°
4
2
'0
5
"E

2
2
1.
4
2
'

S19°13'55"E

83.75'

N
73
°
24
'2
7"
E

72
2.
66
'

C
1

S
S

S
S

TR TR

5
9
9
9

4
9
2
8
.0
4
4

ts
3

6
0
0
0

4
9
2
9
.8
0
9

ts
1

6
0
11

4
9
2
9
.0
0
7

cp
t6
0
11

6
0
7
0

4
9
2
8
.2
0
4

ts
5

6
0
9
2

4
9
2
8
.3
9
1

cp
t6
0
9
2

6
11
5

4
9
2
8
.1
3
8

ts
5

6
11
7

4
9
2
7
.5
12

ts
6

P
A
Y
E
T
T
E
 
 
 
R
IV
E
R

LO
T
 
19

LO
T
 
18

LO
T
 
2
0

MO
RG
AN
 D
RIV

E

P
A
Y
E
T
T
E

R
IV
E
R

W2W2

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

PRESERVE AND
PROTECT WETLANDS

(TYP.)

PRESERVE AND
PROTECT WETLANDS

(TYP.)

IMPACTED WETLAND
AREA = 6,800 SF

(0.15 ACRES)

BRIDGE OVER
EXISTING WETLANDS

NO IMPACT

WETLAND
BOUNDARY

WETLAND
BOUNDARY

WETLAND
BOUNDARY
WETLAND
BOUNDARY
WETLAND
BOUNDARY

WETLAND
BOUNDARY

ELEVATED
WALKWAY & DECK
NO IMPACT

WETLAND IMPACT WITH BUILDING

0' 50' 100'            200'0' 50' 100'            200'

MORGAN DRIVE

N
O

RTH FO
RK PAYETTE RIVER

NORTH FORK PAYETTE RIVER



DATE:  8/24/2020

JAMES FRONK CONSULTING, LLC.

DRAWN BY: ES

RIVER'S CROSSING SUBDIVISION, LOT 19, BLOCK 2

SANDERS RESIDENCE
221 MORGAN DRIVE MCCALL ID 83638

BI
M

cl
ou

d:
 s

13
2-

14
8-

16
7-

15
6 

- 
BI

M
cl

ou
d 

Ba
sic

 f
or

 A
RC

H
IC

A
D

 2
3/

SA
N

D
ER

S 
RI

V
ER

 C
RO

SS
IN

G

14028 NORWOOD RD
PO BOX 576
McCALL, ID 83638
(208) 634-8093

FIGURE: 7

HP

LP

LP

LP

LP

LP = 4931.4

LP

LP PR
O

PO
SE

D
ST

O
RM

W
A

TE
R

M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T

BA
SI

N

ST
A

BI
LI

ZE
D

C
O

N
ST

RU
C

TI
O

N
EN

TR
A

N
C

E

PR
O

PO
SE

D
ST

O
RM

W
A

TE
R

M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T

BA
SI

N

PR
O

PO
SE

D
ST

O
RM

W
A

TE
R

M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T

BA
SI

N

PR
O

PO
SE

D
ST

O
RM

W
A

TE
R

M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T

BA
SI

N

PR
O

PO
SE

D
ST

O
RM

W
A

TE
R

M
A

N
A

G
EM

EN
T

BA
SI

N

TE
M

PO
RA

RY
A

C
C

ES
S

C
U

LV
ER

TS

16
" 

BI
O

 R
O

LL

SI
LT

 F
EN

C
E

SI
LT

 F
EN

C
E

SI
LT

 F
EN

C
E

C
A

TC
H

BA
SI

N

RE
TA

IN
EX

IS
TI

N
G

V
EG

ET
A

TI
O

N

RE
TA

IN
EX

IS
TI

N
G

V
EG

ET
A

TI
O

N

RE
TA

IN
EX

IS
TI

N
G

V
EG

ET
A

TI
O

N

RE
TA

IN
EX

IS
TI

N
G

V
EG

ET
A

TI
O

N

W
S
S

S
S

TR

4928

4928

4
9
2
8

4
9
2
9

4
9
2
8

49
28

4929

4928

4
9
2
8

4929

4929

4929

4
9
2
9

4930

4930

4931

49
31

493
0

4930

49
32

4931

4931

49
33

492
7

4928

49
28

C
1

S
S

S
S

TR TR

FFE 4932.8

FFE 4932.8

FFE 4932.8

FF
E 

49
31

.8

49
3249

3149
30

4932

4931

4930
FFE 4932.8

4929

49
29

49
30

4928

4928

4932

4931

49
31

49
30

49
29

49
28

4931

49
3049

29

4931

4930

49
29

FFE 4932.8

FFE 4932.8

FFE 4932.8

FF
E 

49
32

.8

FFE 4932.8

4932

4932

4931

4930

4931

4930

4931

49
28

D
A

-1

D
A

-1

D
A

-2

D
A

-2
4928

FF
E 

49
32

.8

W2W2

BO
U

LD
ER

S 
A

S 
N

EE
D

ED
 T

O
RE

TA
IN

 (T
YP

.)

BO
U

LD
ER

S 
A

S 
N

EE
D

ED
 T

O
RE

TA
IN

 W
H

ER
EV

ER
 S

LO
PE

S
EX

C
EE

D
 3

:1
 (T

YP
.)

EROSION CONTROL

0'            25            50'              100'

MORGAN DRIVE



NATIONWIDE PERMIT 29 
 
Residential Developments:  
 
Discharges of dredged or fill material into non-tidal waters of the United States for the 
construction or expansion of a single residence, a multiple unit residential development, 
or a residential subdivision. This NWP authorizes the construction of building 
foundations and building pads and attendant features that are necessary for the use of 
the residence or residential development. Attendant features may include but are not 
limited to roads, parking lots, garages, yards, utility lines, storm water management 
facilities, septic fields, and recreation facilities such as playgrounds, playing fields, and 
golf courses (provided the golf course is an integral part of the residential development). 
 
The discharge must not cause the loss of greater than 1/2-acre of non-tidal waters of 
the United States. This NWP does not authorize discharges of dredged or fill material 
into non-tidal wetlands adjacent to tidal waters.   
 
Subdivisions: For residential subdivisions, the aggregate total loss of waters of United 
States authorized by this NWP cannot exceed 1/2-acre. This includes any loss of waters 
of the United States associated with development of individual subdivision lots. 
 
Notification: The permittee must submit a pre-construction notification to the district 
engineer prior to commencing the activity. (See general condition 32.) (Authorities: 
Sections 10 and 404) 
  



 

 
WATER QUALITY CERTIFICATION, NWP 29: 
 
Agency responsible for administration of water quality, based on project location is 
listed below. If DENIED, then an Individual Water Quality Certification or Waiver of 
Certification is required, prior to the commencement of any work activities and/or 
issuance of a DA verification, authorization and/or permit. 
 
State of Idaho: PARTIALLY DENIED; 
Activities Denied Certification: 
• activities resulting in loss in excess of 300 linear feet of streambed 
• activities resulting in a loss in excess of ½ acre of jurisdictional wetlands 
 
Coeur d’Alene Tribal Lands: DENIED 
 
Shoshone-Bannock Tribal Lands: DENIED 
 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency for all other Tribal Lands: DENIED 

 

  



 
 

 
2021 Nationwide Permits 

Regional Conditions 
Walla Walla District Regulatory Division (State of Idaho) 

 
March 15, 2021 

 
The following Nationwide Permit (NWP) regional conditions are required in the state of 
Idaho and apply to all 2021 NWPs1.  Regional conditions are established by individual 
Corps Districts to ensure projects result in no more than minimal adverse impacts to the 
aquatic environment and to address local resources concerns.  This document also 
includes regional additions to the NWP General Conditions, notification procedures 
pertaining to certain NWP’s, and regional additions to the definitions. 
 

 
REGIONAL CONDITIONS 

 
A. Watersheds Requiring Pre-Construction Notification, Specific to Anadromous Fish 

This Regional Condition applies to all 2021 NWPs. 

• Pre-construction notification (PCN) will be required for the above listed nationwide 
permits in the geographic area as shown on Figure 1: Watersheds Requiring Pre-
Construction Notification, dated January 6, 2021.  

B. Vegetation Preservation and Replanting  
 
• To avoid impacts to aquatic habitat and to reduce sedimentation and erosion, 

permittee shall avoid and minimize the removal of vegetation in waters of the U.S. 
to the maximum extent practicable.  Areas subject to temporary vegetation removal 
in waters of the U.S. during construction shall be replanted with appropriate native2 
species by the end of the first growing season, unless conditioned otherwise.  
Permittee shall avoid introducing or spreading noxious or invasive plants3.   
 

• Replanted vegetation that does not survive the first growing season shall be 
replanted before the end of the next growing season.  Re-plantings shall continue 
to occur until desired vegetation densities are achieved.  Re-vegetation densities 
should be based on reference conditions.     

 
 

 
1 For the list of 2017 Nationwide Permits please see: https://www.nww.usace.army.mil/Business-With-Us/Regulatory-
Division/Nationwide-Permits/   
2 Idaho Department of Transportation, Native Plants for Idaho Roadside Restoration and Revegetation Programs: 
https://itd.idaho.gov/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/RP171Roadside_Revegetation.pdf  
3 U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resource Conservation Service Plant Database of introduced, invasive, and 
noxious plants for Idaho: https://plants.usda.gov/java/noxious?rptType=State&statefips=16. 

https://www.nww.usace.army.mil/Business-With-Us/Regulatory-Division/Nationwide-Permits/
https://www.nww.usace.army.mil/Business-With-Us/Regulatory-Division/Nationwide-Permits/
https://itd.idaho.gov/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/RP171Roadside_Revegetation.pdf
https://plants.usda.gov/java/noxious?rptType=State&statefips=16


C. De-watering & Re-watering (as applicable) 
 

• Cofferdams shall be constructed of non-erosive material such as concrete jersey 
barriers, bulk bags, water bladders, sheet pile, and other similar non-erosive devices.  
Cofferdams may not be constructed by using mechanized equipment to push 
streambed material through flowing water. 

 
• Diversion channels constructed to bypass flow around the construction site shall be 

lined with plastic, large rock, pipe or otherwise protected from erosion prior to 
releasing flows into or through the diversion channel.  

 
• Water removed from within the coffered area shall be pumped to a sediment basin or 

otherwise treated to remove suspended sediments prior to its return to the waterway. 
 
• To prevent unwanted passage of state or federally-protected fish, if present, from the 

coffered area, Water pipe intakes shall be screened with openings measuring < 3/32 
inch to prevent entrainment of fish trapped in the coffered area.  

 
• Should fish be present within the coffered areas contact your local Idaho Department 

of Fish and Game (IDFG) office prior to performing fish removal or salvage.  Fish 
shall be collected by electrofishing, seining or dip net, or otherwise removed and 
returned to the waterway upstream of the project area.  If electrofishing is used, the 
National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) guidelines for electrofishing should be 
followed4, unless conditioned otherwise. 
 

• Stream channels that have been dewatered during project construction shall be re-
watered slowly to avoid lateral and vertical erosion of the de-watered channel, 
prevent damage to recently reclaimed work areas and/or damage to permitted work. 

• Temporary stockpiles in waters of the United States shall be removed in their 
entirety so as not to form a berm or levee parallel to the stream that could confine 
flows or restrict overbank flow to the floodplain. 

 
D.   In-Water Structures and Complexes 
 
• PCN notification in accordance with General Condition 32 is required for all non-

federal applicants with activities involving gabion baskets placed below the ordinary 
high water mark. 

• Stream meanders, riffle and pool complexes, pool stream structures, rock/log barbs, 
rock J-hooks, drop structures, sills, engineered log jams or similar structures/features 
when used shall be site specifically designed by an appropriate professional with 
experience in hydrology or fluvial geomorphology.   

 
4 Guidelines for Electrofishing Waters Containing Salmonids Listed Under the Endangered Species Act (June 2000) 
https://archive.fisheries.noaa.gov/wcr/publications/reference_documents/esa_refs/section4d/electro2000.pdf   

https://archive.fisheries.noaa.gov/wcr/publications/reference_documents/esa_refs/section4d/electro2000.pdf


E. Temporary Sidecasting 
 
• Materials from exploratory trenching and installation of utility lines may be 

temporarily side cast into a de-watered coffered area for up to 30 days but not 
within flowing waters.  Material from exploratory trenching and installation of utility 
lines in wetlands may be temporarily side cast for up to 30 days. 

 
F. Suitability of Sediments for Open Water Disposal and us as Fill 

 
• Sampling for determination of suitability of sediments for open water disposal or for 

use as fill, must comply with the Sediment Evaluation Framework for the Pacific 
Northwest (SEF)5.  

 
G. Avoidance and Minimization 
 

• In addition to information required under General Condition 32(b), the applicant shall 
include information about previous discharges of fill material into waters of the 
United States within the project area.  This is only for non-federal applicants where a 
PCN is required. 

• Discharges of dredged or fill material into waters of the U.S., including wetlands, 
to meet set back requirements are not authorized under NWP.    

 
H. Erosion Control  

 
• Erosion control blanket or fabric used in or adjacent to waters of the U.S. shall be 

comprised of biodegradable material, to ensure decomposition and reduced risk to 
fish, wildlife and public safety, unless conditioned otherwise.  If the applicant 
proposes to use materials other than as indicated above they must demonstrate how 
the use of such materials will not cause harm to fish, wildlife and public safety. 

I.  Reporting Requirement for Federal Permittees 
 
• Federal Agencies with projects that require compensatory mitigation for loss of 

waters of the U.S. and who propose to purchase credits from an approved wetland 
and/or stream mitigation bank must provide proof of purchase within 30 days of 
when the credits were purchased.  Purchase of credits from an approved mitigation 
bank must be IAW the Mitigation Banking Instrument of Record. 

 
 
 
 

 

 
5 Northwest Regional Sediment Evaluation Team (RSET) 2016. Sediment Evaluation Framework for the Pacific Northwest. 
Prepared by the RSET Agencies, July 2016, 160 pp plus appendices. http://nwd.usace.army.mil/Missions/Civil-
Works/Navigation/RSET/SEF 

http://nwd.usace.army.mil/Missions/Civil-Works/Navigation/RSET/SEF
http://nwd.usace.army.mil/Missions/Civil-Works/Navigation/RSET/SEF


REGIONAL ADDITIONS TO THE GENERAL CONDITIONS 
 
General Condition 4. Migratory Bird Breeding Areas.  Regional Addition: For additional 
information please contact the US Fish and Wildlife Service at the following field office 
locations: State Office (Boise) at (208) 387-5243; Northern Idaho Field Office (Spokane) at 
(509) 891-6839; or the Eastern Idaho Field Office (Chubbuck) at (208) 237-6975. 
https://www.fws.gov/idaho/promo.cfm?id= 177175802  
 
General Condition 6. Suitable Material.  Regional Addition: Erosion control blanket or fabric 
used in or adjacent to waters of the U.S. shall be comprised of biodegradable material, to 
ensure decomposition and reduced risk to fish, wildlife and public safety, unless conditioned 
otherwise.  If the applicant proposes to use materials other than as indicated above they must 
demonstrate how the use of such materials will not cause harm to fish, wildlife and public 
safety.   
 
General Condition 9. Management of Water Flows.  Regional Addition: To obtain 
information on State of Idaho definition of high water refer to Idaho Department of Water 
Resources (IDAPA 37.03.07. Rule 62.03.04.a). For culverts or bridges located in a 
community qualifying for the national flood insurance program, the minimum size culvert 
shall accommodate the 100-year flood design flow frequency (IDAPA 37.03.07. Rule 
62.03.04.c). 
 
General Condition 12. Soil Erosion and Sediment Controls.  Regional Addition: For 
additional information refer to the Idaho Department of Environmental Quality Catalog 
of Stormwater Best Management Practices for Idaho Cities and Counties, available 
online at: https://www.deq.idaho.gov/public-information/laws-guidance-and-
orders/guidance/. 
 
General Condition 18. Endangered Species.  Regional Addition: For additional information 
on ESA listed species in north Idaho please contact the US Fish and Wildlife Service 
(USFWS) Northern Idaho Field Office (Spokane) at (509) 893-8009, for all other counties 
in Idaho contact the USFWS State Office (Boise) at (208) 378-5388. 
 

General Condition 20. Historic Properties.  Regional Addition: Property is generally 
considered “historic” if it is at least 50 years old, and is not limited to buildings.  For 
additional information on the potential for cultural resources in proximity to the project site, 
contact the Idaho State Historic Preservation Office at (208) 334-3847 located in Boise, 
Idaho. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

https://www.fws.gov/idaho/promo.cfm?id=%20177175802
https://www.deq.idaho.gov/public-information/laws-guidance-and-orders/guidance/
https://www.deq.idaho.gov/public-information/laws-guidance-and-orders/guidance/


NOTIFICATION PROCEDURES BY THE CORPS FOR CERTAIN 
NATIONWIDE PERMITS 

 
Waivers:  For nationwide permits with a waiver provision, District coordination with Idaho 
Department of Environmental Quality (IDEQ) and Environmental Protection Agency (tribal 
lands) will be conducted prior to the District Engineer making a waiver determination to 
ensure the proposed activity is in compliance with Section 401 Water Quality Standards. 
 
Select Waters and Wetlands: The Corps will coordinate with the Idaho Department of 
Fish and Game (IDFG) for activities in the following waters and wetlands that require 
notification and are authorized by NWP: 
 

• Waters:  Anadromous waters as shown on Figure 1:  Watersheds Requiring Pre-
Construction Notification, dated January 6, 2021; Henry’s Fork of the Snake River 
and its tributaries; South Fork Snake River and its tributaries; Big Lost River and its 
tributaries upstream of the US 93 crossing; Beaver, Camas, and Medicine Lodge 
Creeks; Snake River; Blackfoot River above Blackfoot Reservoir; Portneuf River; 
Bear River; Boise River including South Fork, North Fork and Middle Fork; Payette 
River including South Fork, North Fork and Middle Fork; Coeur d’Alene River, 
including the North Fork; St. Joe River; Priest River; Kootenai River; Big Wood 
River; and Silver Creek and its tributaries. 
 

• Wetlands identified in Idaho Department of Fish and Game, Wetland Conservation 
Strategy as Class I, Class II and Reference Habitat Sites6.  
 

• Wetlands identified in the Idaho Wetland Conservation Prioritization Plan-20127.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
6 Idaho Department of Fish and Game (IDFG) Wetland Conservation Strategies have been developed for the Henrys Fork 
Basin, Northern Idaho, Big Wood River, Southeast Idaho, East-Central Idaho and Spokane River Basin, Middle and 
Western Snake River and tributaries, and the Upper Snake River–Portneuf Drainage, Weiser River Basin, and West 
Central Mountain Valleys and adjacent wetlands. Closed basins of Beaver-Camas Creeks, Medicine Lodge Creek, 
Palouse River and lower Clearwater River sub-basins, Middle Fork and South Fork Clearwater Basins and Camas Prairie 
in northern Idaho. Refer to the internet site at: http://fishandgame.idaho.gov/content/page/wetlands-publications-idaho-
natural-heritage-program#reports 
7 Murphy, C., J. Miller and A. Schmidt. 2012. https://idfg.idaho.gov/species/bibliography/project/wetlands   
  
 
 

http://fishandgame.idaho.gov/content/page/wetlands-publications-idaho-natural-heritage-program%23reports
http://fishandgame.idaho.gov/content/page/wetlands-publications-idaho-natural-heritage-program%23reports
https://idfg.idaho.gov/species/bibliography/project/wetlands


Figure 1 

 



2021 Nationwide Permit General Conditions 
 
 
Note: To qualify for NWP authorization, the prospective permittee must comply with the 
following general conditions, as applicable, in addition to any regional or case-specific 
conditions imposed by the division engineer or district engineer. Prospective permittees 
should contact the appropriate Corps district office to determine if regional conditions have 
been imposed on an NWP. Prospective permittees should also contact the appropriate 
Corps district office to determine the status of Clean Water Act Section 401 water quality 
certification and/or Coastal Zone Management Act consistency for an NWP. Every person 
who may wish to obtain permit authorization under one or more NWPs, or who is currently 
relying on an existing or prior permit authorization under one or more NWPs, has been 
and is on notice that all of the provisions of 33 CFR 330.1 through 330.6 apply to every 
NWP authorization. Note especially 33 CFR 330.5 relating to the modification, 
suspension, or revocation of any NWP authorization. 
 



1. Navigation 
(a) No activity may cause 
more than a minimal adverse 
effect on navigation. 

 

(b) Any safety lights and 
signals prescribed by the U.S. 
Coast Guard, through 
regulations or otherwise, 
must be installed and 
maintained at the 
permittee's expense on 
authorized facilities in 
navigable waters of the 
United States. 

 

(c) The permittee 
understands and agrees that, 
if future operations by the 
United States require the 
removal, relocation, or other 
alteration, of the structure or 
work herein authorized, or if, 
in the opinion of the 
Secretary of the Army or his 
or her authorized 
representative, said 
structure or work shall cause 
unreasonable obstruction to 
the free navigation of the 
navigable waters, the 
permittee will be required, 
upon due notice from the 
Corps of Engineers, to 
remove, relocate, or alter the 
structural work or 
obstructions caused thereby, 
without expense to the 
United States. No claim shall 
be made against the United 
States on account of any 
such removal or alteration. 

 

2. Aquatic Life Movements 
No activity may substantially 
disrupt the necessary life 

cycle movements of those 
species of aquatic life 
indigenous to the 
waterbody, including those 
species that normally 
migrate through the area, 
unless the activity's primary 
purpose is to impound 
water. All permanent and 
temporary crossings of 
waterbodies shall be suitably 
culverted, bridged, or 
otherwise designed and 
constructed to maintain low 
flows to sustain the 
movement of those aquatic 
species. If a bottomless 
culvert cannot be used, then 
the crossing should be 
designed and constructed to 
minimize adverse effects to 
aquatic life movements. 

 

3. Spawning Areas 
Activities in spawning areas 
during spawning seasons 
must be avoided to the 
maximum extent practicable. 
Activities that result in the 
physical destruction (e.g., 
through excavation, fill, or 
downstream smothering by 
substantial turbidity) of an 
important spawning area are 
not authorized. 

 
4. Migratory Bird Breeding 
Areas 
Activities in waters of the 
United States that serve as 
breeding areas for migratory 
birds must be avoided to the 
maximum extent practicable. 

 
5. Shellfish Beds 

No activity may occur in 
areas of concentrated 
shellfish populations, unless 
the activity is directly related 
to a shellfish harvesting 
activity authorized by NWPs 
4 and 48, or is a shellfish 
seeding or habitat 
restoration activity 
authorized by NWP 27. 

 

6. Suitable Material 
No activity may use 
unsuitable material (e.g., 
trash, debris, car bodies, 
asphalt, etc.). Material used 
for construction or 
discharged must be free 
from toxic pollutants in toxic 
amounts (see section 307 of 
the Clean Water Act). 

 
7. Water Supply Intakes 
No activity may occur in the 
proximity of a public water 
supply intake, except where 
the activity is for the repair 
or improvement of public 
water supply intake 
structures or adjacent bank 
stabilization. 

 

8. Adverse Effects From 
Impoundments 
If the activity creates an 
impoundment of water, 
adverse effects to the 
aquatic system due to 
accelerating the passage of 
water, and/or restricting its 
flow must be minimized to 
the maximum extent 
practicable. 



9. Management of Water 
Flows 
To the maximum extent 
practicable, the pre- 
construction course, 
condition, capacity, and 
location of open waters must 
be maintained for each 
activity, including stream 
channelization, storm water 
management activities, and 
temporary and permanent 
road crossings, except as 
provided below. The activity 
must be constructed to 
withstand expected high 
flows. The activity must not 
restrict or impede the 
passage of normal or high 
flows, unless the primary 
purpose of the activity is to 
impound water or manage 
high flows. The activity may 
alter the pre-construction 
course, condition, capacity, 
and location of open waters 
if it benefits the aquatic 
environment (e.g., stream 
restoration or relocation 
activities). 

 
10. Fills Within 100-Year 
Floodplains 
The activity must comply 
with applicable FEMA- 
approved state or local 
floodplain management 
requirements. 

 
11. Equipment 
Heavy equipment working in 
wetlands or mudflats must 
be placed on mats, or other 
measures must be taken to 
minimize soil disturbance. 

 
12. Soil Erosion and 
Sediment Controls 
Appropriate soil erosion and 
sediment controls must be 
used and maintained in 
effective operating condition 
during construction, and all 
exposed soil and other fills, 
as well as any work below 
the ordinary high water mark 
or high tide line, must be 
permanently stabilized at the 
earliest practicable date. 
Permittees are encouraged 
to perform work within 
waters of the United States 
during periods of low-flow or 
no-flow, or during low tides. 

 

13. Removal of Temporary 
Structures and Fills 
Temporary structures must 
be removed, to the 
maximum extent practicable, 
after their use has been 
discontinued. Temporary fills 
must be removed in their 
entirety and the affected 
areas returned to pre- 
construction elevations. The 
affected areas must be 
revegetated, as appropriate. 

 
14. Proper Maintenance 
Any authorized structure or 
fill shall be properly 
maintained, including 
maintenance to ensure 
public safety and compliance 
with applicable NWP general 
conditions, as well as any 
activity-specific conditions 
added by the district 

engineer to an NWP 
authorization. 

 

15. Single and Complete 
Project 
The activity must be a single 
and complete project. The 
same NWP cannot be used 
more than once for the same 
single and complete project. 

 

16. Wild and Scenic Rivers 
(a) No NWP activity may 
occur in a component of the 
National Wild and Scenic 
River System, or in a river 
officially designated by 
Congress as a “study river” 
for possible inclusion in the 
system while the river is in 
an official study status, 
unless the appropriate 
Federal agency with direct 
management responsibility 
for such river, has 
determined in writing that 
the proposed activity will not 
adversely affect the Wild and 
Scenic River designation or 
study status. 

 
(b) If a proposed NWP 
activity will occur in a 
component of the National 
Wild and Scenic River 
System, or in a river officially 
designated by Congress as a 
“study river” for possible 
inclusion in the system while 
the river is in an official study 
status, the permittee must 
submit a pre-construction 
notification (see general 
condition 32). The district 
engineer will coordinate the 
PCN with the Federal agency 



with direct management 
responsibility for that river. 
Permittees shall not begin 
the NWP activity until 
notified by the district 
engineer that the Federal 
agency with direct 
management responsibility 
for that river has determined 
in writing that the proposed 
NWP activity will not 
adversely affect the Wild and 
Scenic River designation or 
study status. 

 
(c) Information on Wild and 
Scenic Rivers may be 
obtained from the 
appropriate Federal land 
management agency 
responsible for the 
designated Wild and Scenic 
River or study river (e.g., 
National Park Service, U.S. 
Forest Service, Bureau of 
Land Management, U.S. Fish 
and Wildlife Service). 
Information on these rivers is 
also available at: 
http://www.rivers.gov/. 

 

17. Tribal Rights 
No activity or its operation 
may impair reserved tribal 
rights, including, but not 
limited to, reserved water 
rights and treaty fishing and 
hunting rights. 

 

18. Endangered Species 
(a) No activity is authorized 
under any NWP which is 
likely to directly or indirectly 
jeopardize the continued 
existence of a threatened or 
endangered species or a 

species proposed for such 
designation, as identified 
under the Federal 
Endangered Species Act 
(ESA), or which will directly 
or indirectly destroy or 
adversely modify designated 
critical habitat or critical 
habitat proposed for such 
designation. No activity is 
authorized under any NWP 
which “may affect” a listed 
species or critical habitat, 
unless ESA section 7 
consultation addressing the 
consequences of the 
proposed activity on listed 
species or critical habitat has 
been completed. See 50 CFR 
402.02 for the definition of 
“effects of the action” for the 
purposes of ESA section 7 
consultation, as well as 50 
CFR 402.17, which provides 
further explanation under 
ESA section 7 regarding 
“activities that are 
reasonably certain to occur” 
and “consequences caused 
by the proposed action.” 

 

(b) Federal agencies should 
follow their own procedures 
for complying with the 
requirements of the ESA (see 
33 CFR 330.4(f)(1)). If pre- 
construction notification is 
required for the proposed 
activity, the Federal 
permittee must provide the 
district engineer with the 
appropriate documentation 
to demonstrate compliance 
with those requirements. 
The district engineer will 
verify that the appropriate 
documentation has been 
submitted. If the appropriate 

documentation has not been 
submitted, additional ESA 
section 7 consultation may 
be necessary for the activity 
and the respective federal 
agency would be responsible 
for fulfilling its obligation 
under section 7 of the ESA. 

 
(c) Non-federal permittees 
must submit a pre- 
construction notification to 
the district engineer if any 
listed species (or species 
proposed for listing) or 
designated critical habitat (or 
critical habitat proposed 
such designation) might be 
affected or is in the vicinity 
of the activity, or if the 
activity is located in 
designated critical habitat or 
critical habitat proposed for 
such designation, and shall 
not begin work on the 
activity until notified by the 
district engineer that the 
requirements of the ESA 
have been satisfied and that 
the activity is authorized. For 
activities that might affect 
Federally-listed endangered 
or threatened species (or 
species proposed for listing) 
or designated critical habitat 
(or critical habitat proposed 
for such designation), the 
pre-construction notification 
must include the name(s) of 
the endangered or 
threatened species (or 
species proposed for listing) 
that might be affected by the 
proposed activity or that 
utilize the designated critical 
habitat (or critical habitat 
proposed for such 
designation) that might be 

http://www.rivers.gov/


affected by the proposed 
activity. The district engineer 
will determine whether the 
proposed activity “may 
affect” or will have “no 
effect” to listed species and 
designated critical habitat 
and will notify the non- 
Federal applicant of the 
Corps’ determination within 
45 days of receipt of a 
complete pre-construction 
notification. For activities 
where the non-Federal 
applicant has identified listed 
species (or species proposed 
for listing) or designated 
critical habitat (or critical 
habitat proposed for such 
designation) that might be 
affected or is in the vicinity 
of the activity, and has so 
notified the Corps, the 
applicant shall not begin 
work until the Corps has 
provided notification that 
the proposed activity will 
have “no effect” on listed 
species (or species proposed 
for listing or designated 
critical habitat (or critical 
habitat proposed for such 
designation), or until ESA 
section 7 consultation or 
conference has been 
completed. If the non- 
Federal applicant has not 
heard back from the Corps 
within 45 days, the applicant 
must still wait for notification 
from the Corps. 

 

(d) As a result of formal or 
informal consultation or 
conference with the FWS or 
NMFS the district engineer 
may add species-specific 

permit conditions to the 
NWPs. 

 

(e) Authorization of an 
activity by an NWP does not 
authorize the “take” of a 
threatened or endangered 
species as defined under the 
ESA. In the absence of 
separate authorization (e.g., 
an ESA Section 10 Permit, a 
Biological Opinion with 
“incidental take” provisions, 
etc.) from the FWS or the 
NMFS, the Endangered 
Species Act prohibits any 
person subject to the 
jurisdiction of the United 
States to take a listed 
species, where "take" means 
to harass, harm, pursue, 
hunt, shoot, wound, kill, 
trap, capture, or collect, or to 
attempt to engage in any 
such conduct. The word 
“harm” in the definition of 
“take'' means an act which 
actually kills or injures 
wildlife. Such an act may 
include significant habitat 
modification or degradation 
where it actually kills or 
injures wildlife by 
significantly impairing 
essential behavioral 
patterns, including breeding, 
feeding or sheltering. 

 
(f) If the non-federal 
permittee has a valid ESA 
section 10(a)(1)(B) incidental 
take permit with an 
approved Habitat 
Conservation Plan for a 
project or a group of projects 
that includes the proposed 
NWP activity, the non- 
federal applicant should 

provide a copy of that ESA 
section 10(a)(1)(B) permit 
with the PCN required by 
paragraph (c) of this general 
condition. The district 
engineer will coordinate with 
the agency that issued the 
ESA section 10(a)(1)(B) 
permit to determine whether 
the proposed NWP activity 
and the associated incidental 
take were considered in the 
internal ESA section 7 
consultation conducted for 
the ESA section 10(a)(1)(B) 
permit. If that coordination 
results in concurrence from 
the agency that the 
proposed NWP activity and 
the associated incidental 
take were considered in the 
internal ESA section 7 
consultation for the ESA 
section 10(a)(1)(B) permit, 
the district engineer does 
not need to conduct a 
separate ESA section 7 
consultation for the 
proposed NWP activity. The 
district engineer will notify 
the non-federal applicant 
within 45 days of receipt of a 
complete pre-construction 
notification whether the ESA 
section 10(a)(1)(B) permit 
covers the proposed NWP 
activity or whether 
additional ESA section 7 
consultation is required. 

 

(g) Information on the 
location of threatened and 
endangered species and their 
critical habitat can be 
obtained directly from the 
offices of the FWS and NMFS 
or their world wide web 
pages at 



http://www.fws.gov/ or 
http://www.fws.gov/ipac 
and 
http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/ 
pr/species/esa/ respectively. 

 

19. Migratory Birds and Bald 
and Golden Eagles 
The permittee is responsible 
for ensuring that an action 
authorized by an NWP 
complies with the Migratory 
Bird Treaty Act and the Bald 
and Golden Eagle Protection 
Act. The permittee is 
responsible for contacting 
the appropriate local office 
of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
Service to determine what 
measures, if any, are 
necessary or appropriate to 
reduce adverse effects to 
migratory birds or eagles, 
including whether "incidental 
take" permits are necessary 
and available under the 
Migratory Bird Treaty Act or 
Bald and Golden Eagle 
Protection Act for a 
particular activity. 

 

20. Historic Properties 
(a) No activity is authorized 
under any NWP which may 
have the potential to cause 
effects to properties listed, 
or eligible for listing, in the 
National Register of Historic 
Places until the requirements 
of Section 106 of the 
National Historic 
Preservation Act (NHPA) 
have been satisfied. 

 
(b) Federal permittees 
should follow their own 

procedures for complying 
with the requirements of 
section 106 of the National 
Historic Preservation Act (see 
33 CFR 330.4(g)(1)). If pre- 
construction notification is 
required for the proposed 
NWP activity, the Federal 
permittee must provide the 
district engineer with the 
appropriate documentation 
to demonstrate compliance 
with those requirements. 
The district engineer will 
verify that the appropriate 
documentation has been 
submitted. If the appropriate 
documentation is not 
submitted, then additional 
consultation under section 
106 may be necessary. The 
respective federal agency is 
responsible for fulfilling its 
obligation to comply with 
section 106. 

 

(c) Non-federal permittees 
must submit a pre- 
construction notification to 
the district engineer if the 
NWP activity might have the 
potential to cause effects to 
any historic properties listed 
on, determined to be eligible 
for listing on, or potentially 
eligible for listing on the 
National Register of Historic 
Places, including previously 
unidentified properties. For 
such activities, the pre- 
construction notification 
must state which historic 
properties might have the 
potential to be affected by 
the proposed NWP activity or 
include a vicinity map 
indicating the location of the 
historic properties or the 

potential for the presence of 
historic properties. 
Assistance regarding 
information on the location 
of, or potential for, the 
presence of historic 
properties can be sought 
from the State Historic 
Preservation Officer, Tribal 
Historic Preservation Officer, 
or designated tribal 
representative, as 
appropriate, and the 
National Register of Historic 
Places (see 33 CFR 330.4(g)). 
When reviewing pre- 
construction notifications, 
district engineers will comply 
with the current procedures 
for addressing the 
requirements of section 106 
of the National Historic 
Preservation Act. The district 
engineer shall make a 
reasonable and good faith 
effort to carry out 
appropriate identification 
efforts commensurate with 
potential impacts, which may 
include background research, 
consultation, oral history 
interviews, sample field 
investigation, and/or field 
survey. Based on the 
information submitted in the 
PCN and these identification 
efforts, the district engineer 
shall determine whether the 
proposed NWP activity has 
the potential to cause effects 
on the historic properties. 
Section 106 consultation is 
not required when the 
district engineer determines 
that the activity does not 
have the potential to cause 
effects on historic properties 
(see 36 CFR 800.3(a)). 

http://www.fws.gov/
http://www.fws.gov/ipac
http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/


Section 106 consultation is 
required when the district 
engineer determines that the 
activity has the potential to 
cause effects on historic 
properties. The district 
engineer will conduct 
consultation with consulting 
parties identified under 36 
CFR 800.2(c) when he or she 
makes any of the following 
effect determinations for the 
purposes of section 106 of 
the NHPA: no historic 
properties affected, no 
adverse effect, or adverse 
effect. 

 
(d) Where the non-Federal 
applicant has identified 
historic properties on which 
the proposed NWP activity 
might have the potential to 
cause effects and has so 
notified the Corps, the non- 
Federal applicant shall not 
begin the activity until 
notified by the district 
engineer either that the 
activity has no potential to 
cause effects to historic 
properties or that NHPA 
section 106 consultation has 
been completed. For non- 
federal permittees, the 
district engineer will notify 
the prospective permittee 
within 45 days of receipt of a 
complete pre-construction 
notification whether NHPA 
section 106 consultation is 
required. If NHPA section 
106 consultation is required, 
the district engineer will 
notify the non-Federal 
applicant that he or she 
cannot begin the activity 
until section 106 

consultation is completed. If 
the non-Federal applicant 
has not heard back from the 
Corps within 45 days, the 
applicant must still wait for 
notification from the Corps. 

 

(e) Prospective permittees 
should be aware that section 
110k of the NHPA (54 U.S.C. 
306113) prevents the Corps 
from granting a permit or 
other assistance to an 
applicant who, with intent to 
avoid the requirements of 
section 106 of the NHPA, has 
intentionally significantly 
adversely affected a historic 
property to which the permit 
would relate, or having legal 
power to prevent it, allowed 
such significant adverse 
effect to occur, unless the 
Corps, after consultation 
with the Advisory Council on 
Historic Preservation (ACHP), 
determines that 
circumstances justify 
granting such assistance 
despite the adverse effect 
created or permitted by the 
applicant. If circumstances 
justify granting the 
assistance, the Corps is 
required to notify the ACHP 
and provide documentation 
specifying the circumstances, 
the degree of damage to the 
integrity of any historic 
properties affected, and 
proposed mitigation. This 
documentation must include 
any views obtained from the 
applicant, SHPO/THPO, 
appropriate Indian tribes if 
the undertaking occurs on or 
affects historic properties on 
tribal lands or affects 

properties of interest to 
those tribes, and other 
parties known to have a 
legitimate interest in the 
impacts to the permitted 
activity on historic 
properties. 

 
21. Discovery of Previously 
Unknown Remains and 
Artifacts 
Permittees that discover any 
previously unknown historic, 
cultural or archeological 
remains and artifacts while 
accomplishing the activity 
authorized by an NWP, they 
must immediately notify the 
district engineer of what 
they have found, and to the 
maximum extent practicable, 
avoid construction activities 
that may affect the remains 
and artifacts until the 
required coordination has 
been completed. The district 
engineer will initiate the 
Federal, Tribal, and state 
coordination required to 
determine if the items or 
remains warrant a recovery 
effort or if the site is eligible 
for listing in the National 
Register of Historic Places. 

 
22. Designated Critical 
Resource Waters 
Critical resource waters 
include, NOAA-managed 
marine sanctuaries and 
marine monuments, and 
National Estuarine Research 
Reserves. The district 
engineer may designate, 
after notice and opportunity 
for public comment, 



additional waters officially 
designated by a state as 
having particular 
environmental or ecological 
significance, such as 
outstanding national 
resource waters or state 
natural heritage sites. The 
district engineer may also 
designate additional critical 
resource waters after notice 
and opportunity for public 
comment. 

 
(a) Discharges of dredged or 
fill material into waters of 
the United States are not 
authorized by NWPs 7, 12, 
14, 16, 17, 21, 29, 31, 35, 39, 
40, 42, 43, 44, 49, 50, 51, 52, 
57 and 58 for any activity 
within, or directly affecting, 
critical resource waters, 
including wetlands adjacent 
to such waters. 

 

(b) For NWPs 3, 8, 10, 13, 15, 
18, 19, 22, 23, 25, 27, 28, 30, 
33, 34, 36, 37, 38, and 54, 
notification is required in 
accordance with general 
condition 32, for any activity 
proposed by permittees in 
the designated critical 
resource waters including 
wetlands adjacent to those 
waters. The district engineer 
may authorize activities 
under these NWPs only after 
she or he determines that 

the impacts to the critical 
resource waters will be no 
more than minimal. 

 
23. Mitigation 
The district engineer will 
consider the following 

factors when determining 
appropriate and practicable 
mitigation necessary to 
ensure that the individual 
and cumulative adverse 
environmental effects are no 
more than minimal: 

 
(a) The activity must be 
designed and constructed to 
avoid and minimize adverse 
effects, both temporary and 
permanent, to waters of the 
United States to the 
maximum extent practicable 
at the project site (i.e., on 
site). 

 
(b) Mitigation in all its forms 
(avoiding, minimizing, 
rectifying, reducing, or 
compensating for resource 
losses) will be required to 
the extent necessary to 
ensure that the individual 
and cumulative adverse 
environmental effects are no 
more than minimal. 

 
(c) Compensatory mitigation 
at a minimum one-for-one 
ratio will be required for all 
wetland losses that exceed 
1/10-acre and require pre- 
construction notification, 
unless the district engineer 
determines in writing that 
either some other form of 
mitigation would be more 
environmentally appropriate 
or the adverse 
environmental effects of the 
proposed activity are no 
more than minimal, and 
provides an activity-specific 
waiver of this requirement. 
For wetland losses of 1/10- 
acre or less that require pre- 

construction notification, the 
district engineer may 
determine on a case-by-case 
basis that compensatory 
mitigation is required to 
ensure that the activity 
results in only minimal 
adverse environmental 
effects. 

 
(d) Compensatory mitigation 
at a minimum one-for-one 
ratio will be required for all 
losses of stream bed that 
exceed 3/100-acre and 
require pre-construction 
notification, unless the 
district engineer determines 
in writing that either some 
other form of mitigation 
would be more 
environmentally appropriate 
or the adverse 
environmental effects of the 
proposed activity are no 
more than minimal, and 
provides an activity-specific 
waiver of this requirement. 
This compensatory 
mitigation requirement may 
be satisfied through the 
restoration or enhancement 
of riparian areas next to 
streams in accordance with 
paragraph (e) of this general 
condition. For losses of 
stream bed of 3/100-acre or 
less that require pre- 
construction notification, the 
district engineer may 
determine on a case-by-case 
basis that compensatory 
mitigation is required to 
ensure that the activity 
results in only minimal 
adverse environmental 
effects. Compensatory 
mitigation for losses of 



streams should be provided, 
if practicable, through 
stream rehabilitation, 
enhancement, or 
preservation, since streams 
are difficult-to-replace 
resources (see 33 CFR 
332.3(e)(3)). 

 

(e) Compensatory mitigation 
plans for NWP activities in or 
near streams or other open 
waters will normally include 
a requirement for the 
restoration or enhancement, 
maintenance, and legal 
protection (e.g., 
conservation easements) of 
riparian areas next to open 
waters. In some cases, the 
restoration or 
maintenance/protection of 
riparian areas may be the 
only compensatory 
mitigation required. If 
restoring riparian areas 
involves planting vegetation, 
only native species should be 
planted. The width of the 
required riparian area will 
address documented water 
quality or aquatic habitat loss 
concerns. Normally, the 
riparian area will be 25 to 50 
feet wide on each side of the 
stream, but the district 
engineer may require slightly 
wider riparian areas to 
address documented water 
quality or habitat loss 
concerns. If it is not possible 
to restore or 
maintain/protect a riparian 
area on both sides of a 
stream, or if the waterbody 
is a lake or coastal waters, 
then restoring or 
maintaining/protecting a 

riparian area along a single 
bank or shoreline may be 
sufficient. Where both 
wetlands and open waters 
exist on the project site, the 
district engineer will 
determine the appropriate 
compensatory mitigation 
(e.g., riparian areas and/or 
wetlands compensation) 
based on what is best for the 
aquatic environment on a 
watershed basis. In cases 
where riparian areas are 
determined to be the most 
appropriate form of 
minimization or 
compensatory mitigation, 
the district engineer may 
waive or reduce the 
requirement to provide 
wetland compensatory 
mitigation for wetland 
losses. 

 

(f) Compensatory mitigation 
projects provided to offset 
losses of aquatic resources 
must comply with the 
applicable provisions of 33 
CFR part 332. 

 
(1) The prospective 
permittee is responsible for 
proposing an appropriate 
compensatory mitigation 
option if compensatory 
mitigation is necessary to 
ensure that the activity 
results in no more than 
minimal adverse 
environmental effects. For 
the NWPs, the preferred 
mechanism for providing 
compensatory mitigation is 
mitigation bank credits or in- 
lieu fee program credits (see 
33 CFR 332.3(b)(2) and (3)). 

However, if an appropriate 
number and type of 
mitigation bank or in-lieu 
credits are not available at 
the time the PCN is 
submitted to the district 
engineer, the district 
engineer may approve the 
use of permittee-responsible 
mitigation. 

 

(2) The amount of 
compensatory mitigation 
required by the district 
engineer must be sufficient 
to ensure that the authorized 
activity results in no more 
than minimal individual and 
cumulative adverse 
environmental effects (see 
33 CFR 330.1(e)(3)). (See also 
33 CFR 332.3(f).) 

 
(3) Since the likelihood of 
success is greater and the 
impacts to potentially 
valuable uplands are 
reduced, aquatic resource 
restoration should be the 
first compensatory 
mitigation option considered 
for permittee-responsible 
mitigation. 

 
(4) If permittee-responsible 
mitigation is the proposed 
option, the prospective 
permittee is responsible for 
submitting a mitigation plan. 
A conceptual or detailed 
mitigation plan may be used 
by the district engineer to 
make the decision on the 
NWP verification request, 
but a final mitigation plan 
that addresses the applicable 
requirements of 33 CFR 
332.4(c)(2) through (14) 



must be approved by the 
district engineer before the 
permittee begins work in 
waters of the United States, 
unless the district engineer 
determines that prior 
approval of the final 
mitigation plan is not 
practicable or not necessary 
to ensure timely completion 
of the required 
compensatory mitigation 
(see 33 CFR 332.3(k)(3)). If 
permittee-responsible 
mitigation is the proposed 
option, and the proposed 
compensatory mitigation site 
is located on land in which 
another federal agency holds 
an easement, the district 
engineer will coordinate with 
that federal agency to 
determine if proposed 
compensatory mitigation 
project is compatible with 
the terms of the easement. 

 

(5) If mitigation bank or in- 
lieu fee program credits are 
the proposed option, the 
mitigation plan needs to 
address only the baseline 
conditions at the impact site 
and the number of credits to 
be provided (see 33 CFR 
332.4(c)(1)(ii)). 

 
(6) Compensatory mitigation 
requirements (e.g., resource 
type and amount to be 
provided as compensatory 
mitigation, site protection, 
ecological performance 
standards, monitoring 
requirements) may be 
addressed through 
conditions added to the NWP 
authorization, instead of 

components of a 
compensatory mitigation 
plan (see 33 CFR 
332.4(c)(1)(ii)). 

 
(g) Compensatory mitigation 
will not be used to increase 
the acreage losses allowed 
by the acreage limits of the 
NWPs. For example, if an 
NWP has an acreage limit of 
1/2-acre, it cannot be used 
to authorize any NWP 
activity resulting in the loss 
of greater than 1/2-acre of 
waters of the United States, 
even if compensatory 
mitigation is provided that 
replaces or restores some of 
the lost waters. However, 
compensatory mitigation can 
and should be used, as 
necessary, to ensure that an 
NWP activity already 
meeting the established 
acreage limits also satisfies 
the no more than minimal 
impact requirement for the 
NWPs. 

 

(h) Permittees may propose 
the use of mitigation banks, 
in-lieu fee programs, or 
permittee-responsible 
mitigation. When developing 
a compensatory mitigation 
proposal, the permittee must 
consider appropriate and 
practicable options 
consistent with the 
framework at 33 CFR 
332.3(b). For activities 
resulting in the loss of 
marine or estuarine 
resources, permittee- 
responsible mitigation may 
be environmentally 
preferable if there are no 

mitigation banks or in-lieu 
fee programs in the area that 
have marine or estuarine 
credits available for sale or 
transfer to the permittee. 
For permittee-responsible 
mitigation, the special 
conditions of the NWP 
verification must clearly 
indicate the party or parties 
responsible for the 
implementation and 
performance of the 
compensatory mitigation 
project, and, if required, its 
long-term management. 

 

(i) Where certain functions 
and services of waters of the 
United States are 
permanently adversely 
affected by a regulated 
activity, such as discharges of 
dredged or fill material into 
waters of the United States 
that will convert a forested 
or scrub-shrub wetland to a 
herbaceous wetland in a 
permanently maintained 
utility line right-of-way, 
mitigation may be required 
to reduce the adverse 
environmental effects of the 
activity to the no more than 
minimal level. 

 
24. Safety of Impoundment 
Structures 
To ensure that all 
impoundment structures are 
safely designed, the district 
engineer may require non- 
Federal applicants to 
demonstrate that the 
structures comply with 
established state or federal, 
dam safety criteria or have 



been designed by qualified 
persons. The district 
engineer may also require 
documentation that the 
design has been 
independently reviewed by 
similarly qualified persons, 
and appropriate 
modifications made to 
ensure safety. 

 

25. Water Quality 
(a) Where the certifying 
authority (state, authorized 
tribe, or EPA, as appropriate) 
has not previously certified 
compliance of an NWP with 
CWA section 401, a CWA 
section 401 water quality 
certification for the proposed 
discharge must be obtained 
or waived (see 33 CFR 
330.4(c)). If the permittee 
cannot comply with all of the 
conditions of a water quality 
certification previously 
issued by certifying authority 
for the issuance of the NWP, 
then the permittee must 
obtain a water quality 
certification or waiver for the 
proposed discharge in order 
for the activity to be 
authorized by an NWP. 

 

(b) If the NWP activity 
requires pre-construction 
notification and the 
certifying authority has not 
previously certified 
compliance of an NWP with 
CWA section 401, the 
proposed discharge is not 
authorized by an NWP until 
water quality certification is 
obtained or waived. If the 
certifying authority issues a 

water quality certification for 
the proposed discharge, the 
permittee must submit a 
copy of the certification to 
the district engineer. The 
discharge is not authorized 
by an NWP until the district 
engineer has notified the 
permittee that the water 
quality certification 
requirement has been 
satisfied by the issuance of a 
water quality certification or 
a waiver. 

 
(c) The district engineer or 
certifying authority may 
require additional water 
quality management 
measures to ensure that the 
authorized activity does not 
result in more than minimal 
degradation of water quality. 

 
26. Coastal Zone 
Management. 
In coastal states where an 
NWP has not previously 
received a state coastal zone 
management consistency 
concurrence, an individual 
state coastal zone 
management consistency 
concurrence must be 
obtained, or a presumption 
of concurrence must occur 
(see 33 CFR 330.4(d)). If the 
permittee cannot comply 
with all of the conditions of a 
coastal zone management 
consistency concurrence 
previously issued by the 
state, then the permittee 
must obtain an individual 
coastal zone management 
consistency concurrence or 
presumption of concurrence 

in order for the activity to be 
authorized by an NWP. The 
district engineer or a state 
may require additional 
measures to ensure that the 
authorized activity is 
consistent with state coastal 
zone management 
requirements. 

 
27. Regional and Case-By- 
Case Conditions 
The activity must comply 
with any regional conditions 
that may have been added 
by the Division Engineer (see 
33 CFR 330.4(e)) and with 
any case specific conditions 
added by the Corps or by the 
state, Indian Tribe, or U.S. 
EPA in its CWA section 401 
Water Quality Certification, 
or by the state in its Coastal 
Zone Management Act 
consistency determination. 

 
28. Use of Multiple 
Nationwide Permits 
The use of more than one 
NWP for a single and 
complete project is 
authorized, subject to the 
following restrictions: 

 
(a) If only one of the NWPs 
used to authorize the single 
and complete project has a 
specified acreage limit, the 
acreage loss of waters of the 
United States cannot exceed 
the acreage limit of the NWP 
with the highest specified 
acreage limit. For example, if 
a road crossing over tidal 
waters is constructed under 
NWP 14, with associated 



bank stabilization authorized 
by NWP 13, the maximum 
acreage loss of waters of the 
United States for the total 
project cannot exceed 1⁄3- 
acre. 

 

(b) If one or more of the 
NWPs used to authorize the 
single and complete project 
has specified acreage limits, 
the acreage loss of waters of 
the United States authorized 
by those NWPs cannot 
exceed their respective 
specified acreage limits. For 
example, if a commercial 
development is constructed 
under NWP 39, and the 
single and complete project 
includes the filling of an 
upland ditch authorized by 
NWP 46, the maximum 
acreage loss of waters of the 
United States for the 
commercial development 
under NWP 39 cannot 
exceed 1/2-acre, and the 
total acreage loss of waters 
of United States due to the 
NWP 39 and 46 activities 
cannot exceed 1 acre. 

 
29. Transfer of Nationwide 
Permit Verifications 
If the permittee sells the 
property associated with a 
nationwide permit 
verification, the permittee 
may transfer the nationwide 
permit verification to the 
new owner by submitting a 
letter to the appropriate 
Corps district office to 
validate the transfer. A copy 
of the nationwide permit 
verification must be attached 

to the letter, and the letter 
must contain the following 
statement and signature: 

 
“When the structures or 
work authorized by this 
nationwide permit are still in 
existence at the time the 
property is transferred, the 
terms and conditions of this 
nationwide permit, including 
any special conditions, will 
continue to be binding on 
the new owner(s) of the 
property. To validate the 
transfer of this nationwide 
permit and the associated 
liabilities associated with 
compliance with its terms 
and conditions, have the 
transferee sign and date 
below.” 

 
 
 

   
   
(Transferee) 

 
 

   
   
(Date) 

 

30. Compliance Certification 
Each permittee who receives 
an NWP verification letter 
from the Corps must provide 
a signed certification 
documenting completion of 
the authorized activity and 
implementation of any 
required compensatory 
mitigation. The success of 
any required permittee- 
responsible mitigation, 
including the achievement of 

ecological performance 
standards, will be addressed 
separately by the district 
engineer. The Corps will 
provide the permittee the 
certification document with 
the NWP verification letter. 
The certification document 
will include: 

 
(a) A statement that the 
authorized activity was done 
in accordance with the NWP 
authorization, including any 
general, regional, or activity- 
specific conditions; 

 

(b) A statement that the 
implementation of any 
required compensatory 
mitigation was completed in 
accordance with the permit 
conditions. If credits from a 
mitigation bank or in-lieu fee 
program are used to satisfy 
the compensatory mitigation 
requirements, the 
certification must include the 
documentation required by 
33 CFR 332.3(l)(3) to confirm 
that the permittee secured 
the appropriate number and 
resource type of credits; and 

 

(c) The signature of the 
permittee certifying the 
completion of the activity 
and mitigation. 

 

The completed certification 
document must be 
submitted to the district 
engineer within 30 days of 
completion of the authorized 
activity or the 
implementation of any 
required compensatory 



mitigation, whichever occurs 
later. 

 

31. Activities Affecting 
Structures or Works Built by 
the United States 
If an NWP activity also 
requires review by, or 
permission from, the Corps 
pursuant to 33 U.S.C. 408 
because it will alter or 
temporarily or permanently 
occupy or use a U.S. Army 

Corps of Engineers (USACE) 
federally authorized Civil 
Works project (a “USACE 
project”), the prospective 
permittee must submit a pre- 
construction notification. See 
paragraph (b)(10) of general 
condition 32. An activity that 
requires section 408 
permission and/or review is 
not authorized by an NWP 
until the appropriate Corps 
office issues the section 408 
permission or completes its 
review to alter, occupy, or 
use the USACE project, and 
the district engineer issues a 
written NWP verification. 

 
32. Pre-Construction 
Notification 
(a) Timing. Where required 
by the terms of the NWP, the 
prospective permittee must 
notify the district engineer 
by submitting a pre- 
construction notification 
(PCN) as early as possible. 
The district engineer must 
determine if the PCN is 
complete within 30 calendar 
days of the date of receipt 
and, if the PCN is determined 

to be incomplete, notify the 
prospective permittee within 
that 30 day period to request 
the additional information 
necessary to make the PCN 
complete. The request must 
specify the information 
needed to make the PCN 
complete. As a general rule, 
district engineers will 
request additional 
information necessary to 
make the PCN complete only 
once. However, if the 
prospective permittee does 
not provide all of the 
requested information, then 
the district engineer will 
notify the prospective 
permittee that the PCN is still 
incomplete and the PCN 
review process will not 
commence until all of the 
requested information has 
been received by the district 
engineer. The prospective 
permittee shall not begin the 
activity until either: 

 
(1) He or she is notified in 
writing by the district 
engineer that the activity 
may proceed under the NWP 
with any special conditions 
imposed by the district or 
division engineer; or 

 
(2) 45 calendar days have 
passed from the district 
engineer’s receipt of the 
complete PCN and the 
prospective permittee has 
not received written notice 
from the district or division 
engineer. However, if the 
permittee was required to 
notify the Corps pursuant to 
general condition 18 that 

listed species or critical 
habitat might be affected or 
are in the vicinity of the 
activity, or to notify the 
Corps pursuant to general 
condition 20 that the activity 
might have the potential to 
cause effects to historic 
properties, the permittee 
cannot begin the activity 
until receiving written 
notification from the Corps 
that there is “no effect” on 
listed species or “no 
potential to cause effects” on 
historic properties, or that 
any consultation required 
under Section 7 of the 
Endangered Species Act (see 
33 CFR 330.4(f)) and/or 
section 106 of the National 
Historic Preservation Act (see 
33 CFR 330.4(g)) has been 
completed. If the proposed 
activity requires a written 
waiver to exceed specified 
limits of an NWP, the 
permittee may not begin the 
activity until the district 
engineer issues the waiver. If 
the district or division 
engineer notifies the 
permittee in writing that an 
individual permit is required 
within 45 calendar days of 
receipt of a complete PCN, 
the permittee cannot begin 
the activity until an individual 
permit has been obtained. 
Subsequently, the 
permittee’s right to proceed 
under the NWP may be 
modified, suspended, or 
revoked only in accordance 
with the procedure set forth 
in 33 CFR 330.5(d)(2). 



(b) Contents of Pre- 
Construction Notification: 
The PCN must be in writing 
and include the following 
information: 

 

(1) Name, address and 
telephone numbers of the 
prospective permittee; 

 
(2) Location of the proposed 
activity; 

 
(3) Identify the specific NWP 
or NWP(s) the prospective 
permittee wants to use to 
authorize the proposed 
activity; 

 
(4) (i) A description of the 
proposed activity; the 
activity’s purpose; direct and 
indirect adverse 
environmental effects the 
activity would cause, 
including the anticipated 
amount of loss of wetlands, 
other special aquatic sites, 
and other waters expected 
to result from the NWP 
activity, in acres, linear feet, 
or other appropriate unit of 
measure; a description of 
any proposed mitigation 
measures intended to reduce 
the adverse environmental 
effects caused by the 
proposed activity; and any 
other NWP(s), regional 
general permit(s), or 
individual permit(s) used or 
intended to be used to 
authorize any part of the 
proposed project or any 
related activity, including 
other separate and distant 
crossings for linear projects 
that require Department of 

the Army authorization but 
do not require pre- 
construction notification. 
The description of the 
proposed activity and any 
proposed mitigation 
measures should be 
sufficiently detailed to allow 
the district engineer to 
determine that the adverse 
environmental effects of the 
activity will be no more than 
minimal and to determine 
the need for compensatory 
mitigation or other 
mitigation measures. 

 

(ii) For linear projects where 
one or more single and 
complete crossings require 
pre-construction notification, 
the PCN must include the 
quantity of anticipated losses 
of wetlands, other special 
aquatic sites, and other 
waters for each single and 
complete crossing of those 
wetlands, other special 
aquatic sites, and other 
waters (including those 
single and complete 
crossings authorized by an 
NWP but do not require 
PCNs). This information will 
be used by the district 
engineer to evaluate the 
cumulative adverse 
environmental effects of the 
proposed linear project, and 
does not change those non- 
PCN NWP activities into NWP 
PCNs. 

 
(iii) Sketches should be 
provided when necessary to 
show that the activity 
complies with the terms of 
the NWP. (Sketches usually 

clarify the activity and when 
provided results in a quicker 
decision. Sketches should 
contain sufficient detail to 
provide an illustrative 
description of the proposed 
activity (e.g., a conceptual 
plan), but do not need to be 
detailed engineering plans); 

 
(5) The PCN must include a 
delineation of wetlands, 
other special aquatic sites, 
and other waters, such as 
lakes and ponds, and 
perennial and intermittent 
streams, on the project site. 
Wetland delineations must 
be prepared in accordance 
with the current method 
required by the Corps. The 
permittee may ask the Corps 
to delineate the special 
aquatic sites and other 
waters on the project site, 
but there may be a delay if 
the Corps does the 
delineation, especially if the 
project site is large or 
contains many wetlands, 
other special aquatic sites, 
and other waters. 
Furthermore, the 45-day 
period will not start until the 
delineation has been 
submitted to or completed 
by the Corps, as appropriate; 

 
(6) If the proposed activity 
will result in the loss of 
greater than 1/10-acre of 
wetlands or 3/100-acre of 
stream bed and a PCN is 
required, the prospective 
permittee must submit a 
statement describing how 
the mitigation requirement 
will be satisfied, or explaining 



why the adverse 
environmental effects are no 
more than minimal and why 
compensatory mitigation 
should not be required. As an 
alternative, the prospective 
permittee may submit a 
conceptual or detailed 
mitigation plan. 

 
(7) For non-federal 
permittees, if any listed 
species (or species proposed 
for listing) or designated 
critical habitat (or critical 
habitat proposed for such 
designation) might be 
affected or is in the vicinity 
of the activity, or if the 
activity is located in 
designated critical habitat (or 
critical habitat proposed for 
such designation), the PCN 
must include the name(s) of 
those endangered or 
threatenedspecies (or 
species proposed for listing) 
that might be affected by the 
proposed activity or utilize 
the designated critical 
habitat (or critical habitat 
proposed for such 
designation) that might be 
affected by the proposed 
activity. For NWP activities 
that require pre-construction 
notification, Federal 
permittees must provide 
documentation 
demonstrating compliance 
with the Endangered Species 
Act; 

 
(8) For non-federal 
permittees, if the NWP 
activity might have the 
potential to cause effects to 
a historic property listed on, 

determined to be eligible for 
listing on, or potentially 
eligible for listing on, the 
National Register of Historic 
Places, the PCN must state 
which historic property 
might have the potential to 
be affected by the proposed 
activity or include a vicinity 
map indicating the location 
of the historic property. For 
NWP activities that require 
pre-construction notification, 
Federal permittees must 
provide documentation 
demonstrating compliance 
with section 106 of the 
National Historic 
Preservation Act; 

 
(9) For an activity that will 
occur in a component of the 
National Wild and Scenic 
River System, or in a river 
officially designated by 
Congress as a “study river” 
for possible inclusion in the 
system while the river is in 
an official study status, the 
PCN must identify the Wild 
and Scenic River or the 
“study river” (see general 
condition 16); and 

 

(10) For an NWP activity that 
requires permission from, or 
review by, the Corps 
pursuant to 33 U.S.C. 408 
because it will alter or 
temporarily or permanently 
occupy or use a U.S. Army 
Corps of Engineers federally 
authorized civil works 
project, the pre-construction 
notification must include a 
statement confirming that 
the project proponent has 
submitted a written request 

for section 408 permission 
from, or review by, the Corps 
office having jurisdiction 
over that USACE project. 

 
(c) Form of Pre-Construction 
Notification: The nationwide 
permit pre-construction 
notification form (Form ENG 
6082) should be used for 
NWP PCNs. A letter 
containing the required 
information may also be 
used. Applicants may 
provide electronic files of 
PCNs and supporting 
materials if the district 
engineer has established 
tools and procedures for 
electronic submittals. 

 
(d) Agency Coordination: (1) 
The district engineer will 
consider any comments from 
Federal and state agencies 
concerning the proposed 
activity’s compliance with 
the terms and conditions of 
the NWPs and the need for 
mitigation to reduce the 
activity’s adverse 
environmental effects so that 
they are no more than 
minimal. 

 
(2) Agency coordination is 
required for: (i) all NWP 
activities that require pre- 
construction notification and 
result in the loss of greater 
than 1/2-acre of waters of 
the United States; (ii) NWP 
13 activities in excess of 500 
linear feet, fills greater than 
one cubic yard per running 
foot, or involve discharges of 
dredged or fill material into 
special aquatic sites; and (iii) 



NWP 54 activities in excess 
of 500 linear feet, or that 
extend into the waterbody 
more than 30 feet from the 
mean low water line in tidal 
waters or the ordinary high 
water mark in the Great 
Lakes. 

 

(3) When agency 
coordination is required, the 
district engineer will 
immediately provide (e.g., 
via e-mail, facsimile 
transmission, overnight mail, 
or other expeditious manner) 
a copy of the complete PCN 
to the appropriate Federal or 
state offices (FWS, state 
natural resource or water 
quality agency, EPA, and, if 
appropriate, the NMFS). 
With the exception of NWP 
37, these agencies will have 
10 calendar days from the 
date the material is 
transmitted to notify the 
district engineer via 
telephone, facsimile 
transmission, or e-mail that 
they intend to provide 
substantive, site-specific 
comments. The comments 
must explain why the agency 
believes the adverse 
environmental effects will be 
more than minimal. If so 
contacted by an agency, the 
district engineer will wait an 
additional 15 calendar days 
before making a decision on 
the pre-construction 
notification. The district 
engineer will fully consider 
agency comments received 
within the specified time 
frame concerning the 
proposed activity’s 

compliance with the terms 
and conditions of the NWPs, 
including the need for 
mitigation to ensure that the 
net adverse environmental 
effects of the proposed 
activity are no more than 
minimal. The district 
engineer will provide no 
response to the resource 
agency, except as provided 
below. The district engineer 
will indicate in the 
administrative record 
associated with each pre- 
construction notification that 
the resource agencies’ 
concerns were considered. 
For NWP 37, the emergency 
watershed protection and 
rehabilitation activity may 
proceed immediately in 
cases where there is an 
unacceptable hazard to life 
or a significant loss of 
property or economic 
hardship will occur. The 
district engineer will consider 
any comments received to 
decide whether the NWP 37 
authorization should be 
modified, suspended, or 
revoked in accordance with 
the procedures at 33 CFR 
330.5. 

 

(4) In cases of where the 
prospective permittee is not 
a Federal agency, the district 
engineer will provide a 
response to NMFS within 30 
calendar days of receipt of 
any Essential Fish Habitat 
conservation 
recommendations, as 
required by section 
305(b)(4)(B) of the 
Magnuson-Stevens Fishery 

Conservation and 
Management Act. 

 

(5) Applicants are 
encouraged to provide the 
Corps with either electronic 
files or multiple copies of 
pre-construction 
notifications to expedite 
agency coordination. 



 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Brad Little, Governor 
Jess Byrne, Director 

1410 N Hilton Street, Boise, ID 83706 
(208) 373-0502 

December 4, 2020 

Kelly J. Urbanek, Chief 
U.S. ACOE Regulatory Division 
Walla Walla District 
720 East Park Boulevard, Suite 245 
Boise, Idaho 83712-7757 

Subject: Final §401 Water Quality Certification for 2020 Nationwide Permits in Idaho 

Dear Ms. Urbanek:  

Enclosed please find the Idaho Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) final water quality 
certification for the 2020 Nationwide Permits in Idaho. DEQ offered a 21-day public comment 
period, beginning on November 2, 2020, and ending on November 23, 2020. 

DEQ received a single comment letter. After review of the comments received, minor 
modifications were made to the final certification in order to provide additional clarity. 

If you have any questions or concerns regarding this certification, please contact Jason Pappani 
at (208) 373-0515 or via email at jason.pappani@deq.idaho.gov. 

Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Mary Anne Nelson, PhD 
Surface and Wastewater Division Administrator 
 
MAN:JP:lf 
 
cc: Jason Pappani, DEQ State Office 
 DEQ Regional Administrators 
 James Joyner, ACOE Walla Walla District 
 Brent King, Idaho Attorney General’s Office 

  



2020 Nationwide Permits  1 

 

Idaho Department of Environmental Quality 

Final §401 Water Quality Certification 

December 4, 2020 

2020 U.S. Army Corps of Engineers §404 Nationwide Permits (NWPs) 

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 401(a)(1) of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act 
(Clean Water Act), as amended; 33 U.S.C. Section 1341(a)(1); and Idaho Code §§ 39-101 et seq. 
and 39-3601 et seq., the Idaho Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) has authority to 
review activities receiving Section 404 dredge and fill permits and issue water quality 
certification decisions. 

Based upon its review of the proposed 2020 Nationwide Permits published in the Federal 
Register on September 15, 2020, DEQ certifies that if the permittee complies with the terms and 
conditions imposed by the permits, including the Regional Conditions set forth by the Army 
Corps of Engineers (ACOE), along with the conditions set forth in this water quality 
certification, then activities will comply with the applicable water quality requirements of 
Sections 301, 302, 303, 306, and 307 of the Clean Water Act, the Idaho Water Quality Standards 
(WQS) (IDAPA 58.01.02), and other appropriate water quality requirements of state law. 

This certification does not constitute authorization of the permitted activities by any other state 
or federal agency or private person or entity. This certification does not excuse the permit holder 
from the obligation to obtain any other necessary approvals, authorizations, or permits, including 
without limitation, the approval from the owner of a private water conveyance system, if one is 
required, to use the system in connection with the permitted activities. 

1 Antidegradation Review 

The WQS contain an antidegradation policy providing three levels of protection to water bodies 
in Idaho (IDAPA 58.01.02.051).  

 Tier I Protection. The first level of protection applies to all water bodies subject to Clean 
Water Act jurisdiction and ensures that existing uses of a water body and the level of 
water quality necessary to protect those existing uses will be maintained and protected 
(IDAPA 58.01.02.051.01; 58.01.02.052.01). Additionally, a Tier I review is performed 
for all new or reissued permits or licenses (IDAPA 58.01.02.052.07). 

 Tier II Protection. The second level of protection applies to those water bodies considered 
high quality and ensures that no lowering of water quality will be allowed unless deemed 
necessary to accommodate important economic or social development (IDAPA 
58.01.02.051.02; 58.01.02.052.08). 



Idaho Department of Environmental Quality §401 Water Quality Certification 

2020 Nationwide Permits  2 

 Tier III Protection. The third level of protection applies to water bodies that have been 
designated outstanding resource waters and requires that activities not cause a lowering 
of water quality (IDAPA 58.01.02.051.03; 58.01.02.052.09). 

DEQ is employing a water body by water body approach to implementing Idaho’s 
antidegradation policy. This approach means that any water body fully supporting its beneficial 
uses will be considered high quality (IDAPA 58.01.02.052.05.a). Any water body not fully 
supporting its beneficial uses will be provided Tier I protection for that use, unless specific 
circumstances warranting Tier II protection are met (IDAPA 58.01.02.052.05.c). The most recent 
federally approved Integrated Report and supporting data are used to determine support status 
and the tier of protection (IDAPA 58.01.02.052.05).  

1.1 Pollutants of Concern 

The primary pollutant of concern, for projects permitted under the 2020 NWPs administered by 
the ACOE, is sediment. In locations where heavy metals are present due to mining activities, or 
where high concentrations of nutrients may be associated with sediments, additional 
considerations may be necessary. If the project reduces riparian vegetation, then temperature 
(thermal loading) may also be of concern.  

The procedures outlined in the Sediment Evaluation Framework for the Pacific Northwest1 may 
be applied to assess and characterize sediment to determine the suitability of dredged material for 
unconfined aquatic placement, to determine the suitability of post dredge surfaces, and to predict 
effects on water quality during dredging (See Section 2.4 for more details).  

As part of the Section 401 water quality certification, DEQ is requiring the applicant to comply 
with various conditions to protect water quality and to meet Idaho WQS, including the criteria 
applicable to sediment. 

1.2 Receiving Water Body Level of Protection 

The ACOE NWPs authorize construction activities in waters of the United States. In Idaho, 
jurisdictional waters of the state can potentially receive discharges either directly or indirectly 
from activities authorized under the NWPs. DEQ applies a water body by water body approach 
to determine the level of antidegradation protection a water body will receive. (IDAPA 
58.01.02.052.05).   

All waters in Idaho that receive discharges from activities authorized under a NWP will receive, 
at minimum, Tier I antidegradation protection because Idaho’s Tier I antidegradation policy 
applies to all state waters (IDAPA 58.01.02.052.01). Water bodies that fully support their aquatic 
life or recreational uses are considered high quality waters and will receive Tier II 
antidegradation protection (IDAPA 58.01.02.051.02).  Because of the statewide applicability, the 
antidegradation review will assess whether the NWP permit complies with both Tier I and Tier II 
antidegradation provisions (IDAPA 58.01.02.052.03).  

Although Idaho does not currently have any Tier III designated outstanding resource waters 
(ORWs), it is possible for a water body to be designated as an ORW during the life of the NWPs. 
                                                 
1 Northwest Regional Sediment Evaluation Team (RSET). 2018. Sediment Evaluation Framework for the Pacific 
Northwest. Prepared by the RSET Agencies, May 2018, 183 pp plus appendices. 



Idaho Department of Environmental Quality §401 Water Quality Certification 

2020 Nationwide Permits  3 

Because of this potential, the antidegradation review also assesses whether the permit complies 
with the outstanding resource water requirements of Idaho’s antidegradation policy (IDAPA 
58.01.02.051.03).  

To determine the support status of the receiving water body, the most recent EPA-approved 
Integrated Report, available on Idaho DEQ’s website, is to be used: 
http://www.deq.idaho.gov/water-quality/surface-water/monitoring-assessment/integrated-report/. 
(IDAPA 58.01.02.052.05). 

High quality waters are identified in Categories 1 and 2 of the Integrated Report. If a water body 
is in either Category 1 or 2, it is a Tier II water body. 

Unassessed waters are identified in Category 3 of DEQ’s Integrated Report. These waters require 
a case by case determination to be made by DEQ based on available information at the time of 
the application for permit coverage (IDAPA 58.01.02.052.05.b).  For activities occurring on 
unassessed waters under this certification, DEQ has determined that complying with the 
conditions of the NWP, the regional conditions, and this certification will ensure the provisions 
of IDAPA 58.01.02.052 are met. 

Impaired waters are identified in Categories 4 and 5 of the Integrated Report. Category 4(a) 
contains impaired waters for which a TMDL has been approved by EPA. Category 4(b) contains 
impaired waters for which controls other than a TMDL have been approved by EPA. Category 5 
contains waters which have been identified as “impaired”, for which a TMDL is needed. These 
waters are Tier I waters, for the use which is impaired. With the exception, if the aquatic life uses 
are impaired for any of these three pollutants—dissolved oxygen, pH, or temperature—and the 
biological or aquatic habitat parameters show a healthy, balanced biological community, then the 
water body shall receive Tier II protection, in addition to Tier I protection, for aquatic life uses 
(IDAPA 58.01.02.052.05.c.i).  

DEQ’s webpage also has a link to the state’s map-based Integrated Report which presents 
information from the Integrated Report in a searchable, map-based format: 
http://www.deq.idaho.gov/assistance-resources/maps-data/.  
Water bodies can be in multiple categories for different causes. If assistance is needed in using 
these tools, or if additional information/clarification regarding the support status of the receiving 
water body is desired, please feel free to contact your nearest DEQ regional office or the State 
Office (Table 1). 
 
 
  



Idaho Department of Environmental Quality §401 Water Quality Certification 

2020 Nationwide Permits  4 

Table 1. Idaho DEQ Regional and State Office Contacts 

Regional 
Office 

Address Phone 
Number 

Email 

Boise  
1445 N. Orchard Rd., 
Boise 83706 208-373-0550 kati.carberry@deq.idaho.gov 

Coeur d’Alene 
2110 Ironwood Parkway, 
Coeur d’Alene 83814 208-769-1422 chantilly.higbee@deq.idaho.gov  

Idaho Falls 
900 N. Skyline, Suite B., 
Idaho Falls 83402 208-528-2650 troy.saffle@deq.idaho.gov  

Lewiston 
1118 “F” St.,  
Lewiston 83501 208-799-4370 sujata.connell@deq.idaho.gov  

Pocatello 
444 Hospital Way, #300 
Pocatello 83201 208-236-6160 matthew.schenk@deq.idaho.gov  

Twin Falls 
650 Addison Ave. W., 
Suite 110,  
Twin Falls 83301 

208-736-2190 
balthasar.buhidar@deq.idaho.gov 

State Office 
1410 N. Hilton Rd.,  
Boise 83706 208-373-0502 jason.pappani@deq.idaho.gov  

 
1.3 Protection and Maintenance of Existing Uses (Tier I Protection) 

A Tier I review is performed for all new or reissued permits or licenses, applies to all waters 
subject to the jurisdiction of the Clean Water Act, and requires demonstration that existing uses 
and the level of water quality necessary to protect existing uses shall be maintained and protected 
(IDAPA 58.01.02.051.01; 052.01 and 04). The numeric and narrative criteria in the WQS are set 
at levels that ensure protection of existing and designated beneficial uses.   

Water bodies not supporting existing or designated beneficial uses must be identified as water 
quality limited, and a total maximum daily load (TMDL) must be prepared for those pollutants 
causing impairment (IDAPA 58.01.02.055.02). Once a TMDL is completed, discharges of 
causative pollutants shall be consistent with the allocations in the TMDL (IDAPA 
58.01.02.055.05). Prior to the completion of a TMDL, the WQS require the application of the 
antidegradation policy and implementation provisions to maintain and protect beneficial uses 
(IDAPA 58.01.02.055.04).  

The general (non-numeric) effluent limitations in the NWPs and associated Regional Conditions 
for the ACOE Walla Walla District address best management practices (BMPs) aimed at 
minimizing impacts to the aquatic environment, especially sediment and turbidity impacts 
including: vegetation protection and restoration, de-watering requirements, erosion and sediment 
controls, soil stabilization requirements, pollution prevention measures, prohibited discharges, 
and wildlife considerations. Although the NWPs do not contain specific (numeric) effluent 
limitations for sediment or turbidity, the conditions identified in the permits and in this water 
quality certification will ensure compliance with DEQ’s water quality standards, including the 
narrative sediment criteria (IDAPA 58.01.02.200.08) and DEQ’s turbidity criteria (IDAPA 
58.01.02.250.02.e). 

In order to ensure compliance with Idaho WQS, DEQ has included a condition requiring the 
permittee(s) to comply with Idaho’s numeric turbidity criteria, developed to protect aquatic life 



Idaho Department of Environmental Quality §401 Water Quality Certification 

2020 Nationwide Permits  5 

uses. The criterion states, “Turbidity shall not exceed background turbidity by more than 50 
nephelometric turbidity units (NTU)2 instantaneously or more than 25 NTU for more than 10 
consecutive days” (IDAPA 58.01.02.250.02.e). DEQ is requiring turbidity monitoring when 
project activities result in a discharge to waters of the United States that causes a visible 
sediment plume (IDAPA 58.01.02.054.01) (See Section  2.5 for more details). 

If an approved TMDL exists for a receiving water body that requires a load reduction for a 
pollutant of concern, then the project must be consistent with the provisions of that TMDL 
(IDAPA 58.01.02.055.05). 
For authorized activities requiring a pre-construction notification (PCN), the Corps will have the 
opportunity to evaluate the NWP activities on a case by case basis to ensure that the activity will 
not cause more than a minimal adverse environmental effect, individually and cumulatively. The 
Corps has agreed to forward the verification letters to the appropriate DEQ regional office (Table 
1) for all authorized activities including the NWP activities that require a PCN. This will better 
inform DEQ of the authorized activities that are occurring throughout the state and determine if 
additional conditions will need to be implemented when the ACOE reissues the NWPs.  

1.3.1 DEQ’s Determination 

DEQ concludes that, given the nature of the activities authorized by the 2020 NWPs, such 
activities will comply with Idaho’s Tier I requirements under IDAPA 58.01.02.051.01 and 
58.01.02.052.07, provided the permitted activities are carried out in compliance with the 
limitations and associated requirements of the 2020 NWPs, Regional Conditions, and conditions 
set forth in this water quality certification.   

 
1.4 Protection of High-Quality Waters (Tier II Protection) 

Water bodies that fully support their beneficial uses are recognized as high-quality waters and 
will be provided Tier II protection in addition to Tier I protection (IDAPA 58.01.02.051.02; 
58.01.02.052.05.a). Water quality parameters applicable to existing or designated beneficial uses 
must be maintained and protected under Tier II, unless a lowering of water quality is deemed 
necessary to accommodate important economic or social development (IDAPA 58.01.02.051.02; 
58.01.02.052.08). 

The ACOE does not authorize projects with more than minimal individual and cumulative 
impacts on the aquatic environment under a NWP (33 U.S.C.A. § 1344(e)). As required by the 
National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) the Corps has analyzed the individual and 
cumulative effects for the NWP activities. DEQ recognizes that short term changes in water 
quality may occur with respect to sediment as a result of the authorized activities, but has 
determined  that adherence to the terms and conditions imposed by the permits, including the 
Regional Conditions set forth by the Army Corps of Engineers (ACOE or Corps), along with the 
conditions set forth in this water quality certification will ensure that there are no long-term 
adverse changes to water quality or beneficial use support as a result of any activity authorized 
under this certification (IDAPA 58.01.02.052.03). As a general principle, DEQ believes 
degradation of water quality should be viewed in terms of permanent or long-term adverse 

                                                 
2NTU is a unit of measure of the concentration of suspended particles in the water (turbidity). It is determined by 
shining a light through a sample and measuring the incident light scattered at right angles from the sample. 



Idaho Department of Environmental Quality §401 Water Quality Certification 

2020 Nationwide Permits  6 

changes. Short-term or temporary reductions in water quality, if reasonable measures are taken to 
minimize them (such as the certification conditions in Section 2), may occur without triggering a 
Tier II analysis (IDAPA 58.01.02.052.03; 080.02). 

To ensure proposed regulated activities will not cause more than minimal individual and 
cumulative impacts on the aquatic environment, certain NWPs require project proponents to 
notify district engineers (in the form of a PCN) of their proposed activities prior to conducting 
regulated activities. This level of review gives the district engineer the opportunity to evaluate 
activities on a case by case basis to determine whether additional conditions or mitigation 
requirements are warranted to ensure that the proposed activity results in no more than the 
minimal individual and cumulative impacts on the aquatic environment.  

DEQ has denied certification for NWP 16, NWP 23, and NWP 53 (see Section 3.1); and for 
certain activities associated with NWP 3, NWP 12, NWP 13, NWP 14, NWP 21, NWP 29, NWP 
39, NWP 40, NWP 42, NWP 43, NWP 44, NWP 50, NWP 51, NWP 52, NWP C, NWP D, and 
NWP E (see Section 3.2). Projects seeking coverage under these NWPs will need to request 
individual certification from DEQ. DEQ will consider any additional conditions or denial of 
certification if necessary to ensure no lowering of water quality occurs for any of these projects 
proposed on Tier II water.  

Additionally, if an authorized project causes a visible sediment plume then turbidity monitoring 
is required (see Section 2.5 for more details).   

1.4.1 DEQ’s Determination 

DEQ concludes that the activities authorized by the 2020 NWPs and this certification will 
comply with Idaho’s Tier II requirements under IDAPA 58.01.02.051.02 and 58.01.02.052.08 
providing permitted activities are carried out in compliance with the limitations and associated 
requirements of the 2020 NWPs, Regional Conditions, and conditions of this water quality 
certification.  

1.5 Protection of Outstanding Resource Waters (Tier III Protection) 

Idaho’s antidegradation policy requires that the quality of outstanding resource waters (ORWs) 
be maintained and protected from the impacts of point and nonpoint source activities (IDAPA 
58.01.02.051.03). No water bodies in Idaho have been designated as ORWs to date. Because it is 
possible waters may become designated during the term of the 2020 NWPs, DEQ has evaluated 
whether the NWPs comply with the ORW antidegradation provision.  

DEQ has denied certification for any activities on any Outstanding Resource Water (ORW) (see 
Section 3) and is requiring that any activities proposed on an ORW apply for individual 
certification (see Section 2.3). 

1.5.1 DEQ’s Determination 

DEQ concludes that the activities authorized by the 2020 NWPs and this certification will 
comply with Idaho’s Tier III requirements under IDAPA 58.01.02.051.03 providing permitted 
activities are carried out in compliance with the limitations and associated requirements of the 
2020 NWPs, Regional Conditions, and conditions of this water quality certification.  



Idaho Department of Environmental Quality §401 Water Quality Certification 

2020 Nationwide Permits  7 

 

2 Conditions Necessary to Ensure Compliance with Water 
Quality Standards or Other Appropriate Water Quality 
Requirements of State Law 
 

For all activities covered under this certification, the following conditions are necessary to ensure 
that permitted projects comply with water quality requirements. 

2.1 Design, Implementation, and Maintenance of Appropriate Best 
Management Practices  

Best Management Practices (BMPs) must be designed, implemented, and maintained by the 
permittee to fully protect and maintain the beneficial uses and ambient water quality of waters of 
the state and to prevent exceedances of WQS (IDAPA 58.01.02.350.01.a). 

BMPs must be selected and properly installed. Proper installation and operation of BMPs are 
required to ensure the provisions of IDAPA 58.01.02.052 are met. In order to ensure that BMPs 
are operating properly and to demonstrate that degradation has not occurred, the permittee must 
monitor and evaluate BMP effectiveness daily during project activities to assure that water 
quality standards are being met.  

Approved BMPs for specific activities (mining, forestry, stream channel alteration, etc.) are 
codified in IDAPA 58.01.02.350. Additionally, DEQ provides a catalog of storm water best 
management practices, available at: http://www.deq.idaho.gov/media/60184297/stormwater-
bmp-catalog.pdf. This catalog presents a variety of BMPs that can be used to control erosion and 
sediment during and after construction. Other sources of information are also available and may 
be used for selecting project appropriate BMPs. 

This condition is necessary meet the following water quality requirements: 

Control of erosion, sediment, and turbidity to maintain beneficial use support and compliance 
with the following water quality standards:  

 General Surface Water Criteria for Sediment (IDAPA 58.01.02.200.08)  

 Numeric Turbidity Criteria for Aquatic Life (IDAPA 58.01.02.250.02.e) 

 Numeric turbidity criteria for protection of domestic water supply (IDAPA 58.01.02.252.01.b) 

 Point source wastewater treatment requirements (IDAPA 58.01.02.401.02) 

2.2 TMDL Compliance 
If there is an approved or established TMDL, then the permittee must comply with the 
established loads in the TMDL. Approved TMDLs can be found on DEQ’s website 
(https://www.deq.idaho.gov/water-quality/surface-water/tmdls/table-of-sbas-tmdls/) or by 
contacting the appropriate regional office contact (Table 1). 

This condition is necessary to meet the following water quality requirements: 



Idaho Department of Environmental Quality §401 Water Quality Certification 

2020 Nationwide Permits  8 

Ensure projects are consistent with waste load and load allocations established in approved 
TMDLs (IDAPA 58.01.02.055.04 and .05). 

2.3 Outstanding Resource Waters 

If waters become designated as ORWs during the term of the NWPs, a permittee proposing a 
project on an ORW must contact the appropriate DEQ regional office and apply for individual 
certification. 

This condition is necessary to meet the following water quality requirements: 

Ensure there is no lowering of water quality in any ORW as required by the Idaho 
Antidegradation Policy (IDAPA 58.01.02.051.03). 

2.4 Fill Material 

Material subject to suspension, including suspended dredge material, shall be free of easily 
suspended fine material. The fill material to be placed in waters of the United States shall be 
clean material only. If dredged material is proposed to be used as fill material and there is a 
possibility the material may be contaminated, then the permittee must apply the procedures in the 
Sediment Evaluation Framework for the Pacific Northwest (RSET, 2018) to assess and 
characterize sediment to determine the suitability of dredged material for unconfined-aquatic 
placement; determine the suitability of post dredge surfaces; and to predict effects on water 
quality during dredging.  

This condition is necessary to meet the following water quality requirements: 

Prevent suspension of fine sediment and turbidity in order to provide beneficial use support and 
compliance with the following water quality standards:  

 General Surface Water Criteria for Sediment (IDAPA 58.01.02.200.08)  

 Numeric Turbidity Criteria for Aquatic Life (IDAPA 58.01.02.250.02.e) 

 Numeric turbidity criteria for protection of domestic water supply (IDAPA 58.01.02.252.01.b) 

 Point source wastewater treatment requirements (IDAPA 58.01.02.401.02) 

Prevent suspension of hazardous, toxic, or deleterious materials or other pollutants that may be 
associated with fill material in order to ensure beneficial use support and compliance with the 
following water quality standards:  

 General Surface Water Criteria for hazardous materials (IDAPA 58.01.02.200.01), toxic 
substances (IDAPA 58.01.02.200.02), deleterious materials (IDAPA 58.01.02.200.03), excess 
nutrients (IDAPA 58.01.02.200.06), or oxygen demanding materials (IDAPA 
58.01.02.200.09) 

 Numeric toxics criteria for aquatic life and human health (IDAPA 58.01.02.210) 



Idaho Department of Environmental Quality §401 Water Quality Certification 

2020 Nationwide Permits  9 

2.5 Turbidity  

If no visible sediment plume is present, it is reasonable to assume that there is no potential 
violation of the water quality criteria for turbidity (IDAPA 58.01.02.250.02.e). Therefore, 
turbidity monitoring is only required when activities cause a visible sediment plume.  

A properly and regularly calibrated turbidimeter is required for measurements analyzed in the 
field, but grab samples may be collected and taken to a laboratory for analysis. When monitoring 
is required a sample must be taken at an undisturbed area immediately up-current from in-water 
disturbance or discharge to establish background turbidity levels. Background turbidity, 
latitude/longitude, date, and time must be recorded prior to monitoring down-current. Then a 
sample must be collected immediately down-current from the in-water disturbance or point of 
discharge and within any visible sediment plume. The turbidity, latitude/longitude, date, and time 
must be recorded for each sample. The downstream sample must be taken immediately following 
the upstream sample in order to obtain meaningful and representative results.  

Results from the down-current sampling point must be compared to the up-current or 
background level to determine whether project activities are causing an exceedance of state 
WQS. If the downstream turbidity is 50 NTUs or more greater than the upstream turbidity, then 
the project is causing an exceedance of the WQS (IDAPA 58.01.02.250.02.e).   
Any exceedance of the turbidity standard must be reported to the appropriate DEQ regional 
office (Table 1) within 24 hours.  

The following steps should be followed to ensure compliance with the turbidity standard:  

1. If a visible plume is observed, collect turbidity measurements at 1) an upstream location; 
and, 2) from within the plume, and compare the results to Idaho’s instantaneous numeric 
turbidity criterion (50 NTU over background).    

2. If turbidity in the plume is less than 50 NTU instantaneously over the background 
turbidity continue monitoring as long as the plume is visible. If turbidity exceeds 
background turbidity by more than 50 NTU instantaneously then stop all earth disturbing 
construction activities immediately and proceed to Step 3. If turbidity exceeds 
background turbidity by more than 25 NTU, or if a visible plume is observed for more 
than 10 consecutive days, then stop all earth disturbing construction activities and 
proceed to Step 3.  

3. Notify the appropriate DEQ regional office within 24 hours of any turbidity criteria 
exceedance.  Take action to address the cause of the exceedance. That may include 
inspecting the condition of project BMPs. If the BMPs are functioning to their fullest 
capability, then the permittee must modify project activities and/or BMPs to correct the 
exceedance.   

4. Earth disturbing activities may continue once turbidity readings return to within 50 NTU 
over background instantaneously; or, if turbidity has exceeded 25 NTU over background 
for more than ten consecutive days, once turbidity readings have no longer exceeded 25 
NTU over background for at least 24 consecutive hours. 



Idaho Department of Environmental Quality §401 Water Quality Certification 

2020 Nationwide Permits  10 

Copies of daily logs for turbidity monitoring must be available to DEQ upon request. The report 
must describe all exceedances and subsequent actions taken, including the effectiveness of the 
action. 

This condition is necessary to meet the following water quality requirements: 

Ensure that activities do not impair beneficial uses, and ensure and document compliance with 
the following water quality standards: 

 General Surface Water Criteria for Sediment (IDAPA 58.01.02.200.08)  

 Numeric Turbidity Criteria for Aquatic Life (IDAPA 58.01.02.250.02.e) 

 Numeric turbidity criteria for protection of domestic water supply (IDAPA 58.01.02.252.01.b) 

2.6 Mixing Zones 
No mixing zones are authorized through this certification. If a mixing zone, or alternatively, a 
point of compliance, is desired, the permittee must apply for an individual certification and must 
contact the appropriate DEQ regional office (Table 1) to request authorization for a mixing zone.  

This condition is necessary to meet the following water quality requirements: 

Ensure any mixing zone is properly authorized in accordance with the Idaho Mixing Zone Policy 
(IDAPA 58.01.02.060). 

2.7 Culverts 

To prevent road surface and culvert bedding material from entering a stream, culvert crossings 
must include best management practices to retain road base and culvert bedding material. For 
perennial waters, the permittee should consider the Idaho Stream Channel Alterations rules 
(IDAPA 37.03.07). Another source of BMPs for culvert installation can be found in the Idaho 
Forest Practices Act (IDAPA 20.20.01). Examples of best management practices include, but are 
not limited to: parapets, wing walls, inlet and outlet rock armoring, compaction, suitable bedding 
material, anti-seep barriers such as bentonite clay, or other acceptable roadway retention 
systems.   

This condition is necessary to meet the following water quality requirements: 

Control of erosion, sediment, and turbidity to provide beneficial use support and compliance 
with the following water quality standards:  

 General Surface Water Criteria for Sediment (IDAPA 58.01.02.200.08)  

 Numeric Turbidity Criteria for Aquatic Life (IDAPA 58.01.02.250.02.e) 

 Numeric turbidity criteria for protection of domestic water supply (IDAPA 58.01.02.252.01.b) 

2.8 Wood Preservatives 

DEQ’s Guidance for the Use of Wood Preservatives and Preserved Wood Products In or Around 
Aquatic Environments must be considered when using treated wood materials in the aquatic 
environment.  Within this guidance document DEQ references the Best Management Practices 



Idaho Department of Environmental Quality §401 Water Quality Certification 

2020 Nationwide Permits  11 

for the Use of Treated Wood in Aquatic and Wetland Environments3. This document provides 
recommended guidelines for the production and installation of treated wood products destined 
for use in sensitive environments. 

This condition is necessary to meet the following water quality requirements: 

Ensure that toxic chemicals are not introduced into waters and to ensure compliance with the 
following water quality standards:  

 General Surface Water Criteria for hazardous materials (IDAPA 58.01.02.200.01), toxic 
substances (IDAPA 58.01.02.200.02), and deleterious materials (IDAPA 58.01.02.200.03) 

 Numeric toxics criteria for aquatic life and human health (IDAPA 58.01.02.210) 

2.9 Reporting of Discharges Containing Hazardous Materials or 
Deleterious Materials 

All spills of hazardous material, deleterious material or petroleum products which may impact 
waters (ground and surface) of the state shall be immediately reported. Call 911 if immediate 
assistance is required to control, contain or clean up the spill.  If no assistance is needed in 
cleaning up the spill, contact the appropriate DEQ regional office in Table 2 during normal 
working hours or Idaho State Communications Center after normal working hours. If the spilled 
volume is above federal reportable quantities, contact the National Response Center.  

For immediate assistance: Call 911 

National Response Center:  (800) 424-8802 

Idaho State Communications Center: (800) 632-8000 
 
 
Table 2. Idaho DEQ regional contacts for reporting discharge or spill of hazardous or deleterious materials.  

Regional Office Toll Free Phone 
Number 

Phone Number 

Boise  888-800-3480 208-373-0550 

Coeur d’Alene 877-370-0017 208-769-1422 

Idaho Falls 800-232-4635 208-528-2650 

Lewiston 877-541-3304 208-799-4370 

Pocatello 888-655-6160 208-236-6160 

Twin Falls 800-270-1663 208-736-2190 
 

                                                 
3 Western Wood Preservers Institute, Wood Preservation Canada, Southern Pressure Treaters’ Association, and 
Southern Forest Products Association. 2011. “Best Management Practices: For the Use of Treated Wood in Aquatic 
and Wetland Environments” Vancouver, WA: Western Wood Preservers Institute.  



Idaho Department of Environmental Quality §401 Water Quality Certification 

2020 Nationwide Permits  12 

This condition is necessary to meet the following water quality requirements: 

Ensure compliance with the following water quality standards: 

 Hazardous Material Spills (IDAPA 58.01.02.850) 

 Petroleum release reporting, investigation, and confirmation (IDAPA 58.01.02.851) 

 Petroleum release response and corrective action (IDAPA 58.01.02.852) 

2.10  Other Conditions 

This certification is conditioned upon the requirement that if there are material modifications of 
the NWPs or the permitted activities—including without limitation, significant changes from the 
draft NWPs to final NWPs, or significant changes to the draft Regional Conditions, then DEQ 
must re-evaluate the certification to determine compliance with Idaho WQS and to provide 
additional certification pursuant to Section 401.  

This condition is necessary to ensure that DEQ can evaluate any material modification to ensure 
it meets water quality requirements and complies with the Idaho antidegradation policy (IDAPA 
58.01.02.051) and its implementation (IDAPA 58.01.02.052), general surface water quality 
criteria (200), numeric toxics criteria for aquatic life and human health (IDAPA 58.01.02.210), 
numeric criteria for aquatic life (IDAPA 58.01.02.250), recreation (IDAPA 58.01.02.251), and 
water supply uses (IDAPA 58.01.02.252).  
 

3 Projects for Which Certification Is Denied 
 
DEQ cannot certify that the following activities will comply with water quality requirements, 
including State WQS and other appropriate requirements of state law, and is therefore denying 
certification for the activities listed below.  
 
For activities for which certification has been denied, the applicant will be required to request an 
individual certification before the activity can be conducted. Individual certification requests will 
provide DEQ with the opportunity to review project details and determine if additional 
conditions are necessary to ensure that water quality requirements will be met.  
 
Upon review and evaluation of individual certification requests, DEQ may 1) certify without 
condition, 2) provide individual certification with conditions necessary to ensure water quality 
requirements will be met, or 3) deny certification for projects that will not meet water quality 
requirements.  

3.1 NWPs denied  

DEQ denies certification for all activities proposed to occur on waters designated as ORWs 
during the term of the permit. This denial is necessary to ensure compliance with the water 
quality requirements of Idaho’s antidegradation policy (IDAPA 58.01.02.051.03) and 
implementation procedures (IDAPA 58.01.02.052.09.g). 

 



Idaho Department of Environmental Quality §401 Water Quality Certification 

2020 Nationwide Permits  13 

In addition, the following NWPs are denied certification for all Idaho waters. Projects seeking 
coverage under these NWPs must request individual certification from DEQ. 

NWP 16 - Return Water from Upland Contained Disposal Areas 

Basis for denial:  

Return water from upland disposal areas has the potential to contribute turbidity, sediment, and 
other toxic and non-toxic pollutants to receiving waters.  

To ensure that discharge from upland contained disposal areas meets water quality requirements, 
DEQ must evaluate the quality of the return water and evaluate the potential pollutants 
associated with return water on a case-by-case basis to determine compliance with general 
surface water quality criteria (IDAPA 58.01.02.200); numeric toxics criteria for aquatic life and 
human health (IDAPA 58.01.02.210); and use specific criteria for aquatic life (IDAPA 
58.01.02.250),  recreation (IDAPA 58.01.02.251), and water supply uses (IDAPA 58.01.02.252). 

NWP 23 - Approved Categorical Exclusions 

Basis for denial: 

DEQ is unable to determine that meeting the requirements for categorical exclusion under the 
National Environmental Policy Act will meet state water quality requirements. 

DEQ will evaluate categorically excluded activities on a case-by-case basis to determine 
compliance with general surface water quality criteria (IDAPA 58.01.02.200); numeric toxics 
criteria for aquatic life and human health (IDAPA 58.01.02.210); and use specific criteria for 
aquatic life (IDAPA 58.01.02.250), recreation (IDAPA 58.01.02.251), and water supply uses 
(IDAPA 58.01.02.252). 

NWP 53 – Removal of Low-Head Dams 

Basis for denial: 

Material released from the removal of low head dams has the potential to contribute turbidity, 
sediment, and other toxic and non-toxic pollutants to receiving waters.  

In order to ensure that release of materials from the removal of low head dams meets water 
quality requirements, DEQ must evaluate the potential pollutants associated with this release on 
a case-by-case basis to determine compliance with general surface water quality criteria (IDAPA 
58.01.02.200); numeric toxics criteria for aquatic life and human health (IDAPA 58.01.02.210); 
and use specific criteria for aquatic life (IDAPA 58.01.02.250),  recreation (IDAPA 
58.01.02.251), and water supply uses (IDAPA 58.01.02.252). 

 

3.2 NWPs partially denied 
 
The following activities have the potential to disturb significant areas and could disturb a 
significant fraction of entire Assessment Units, causing permanent and significant impairment of 
designated and existing beneficial uses. The conditions associated with the NWP, regional 
conditions, and the conditions associated with this certification are not sufficient to provide DEQ 
with assurance that projects of this magnitude would not result in impairment of existing or 



Idaho Department of Environmental Quality §401 Water Quality Certification 

2020 Nationwide Permits  14 

designated beneficial uses in all waters, and potentially increase degradation in high quality (Tier 
II) waters.  
 
In order to meet the requirements of Idaho’s antidegradation implementation procedures (IDAPA 
58.01.02.052), ensure that beneficial uses are not impaired, and ensure compliance with general 
surface water quality criteria for sediment (IDAPA 58.01.02.200.08), DEQ must evaluate these 
projects on a case-by-case basis and provide individual certification where applicable. 
 

3.2.1 NWPs 3, 13, and 14 
 
The 2020 NWPs 3, 13, and 14 require preconstruction notification (PCN) for certain activities 
when it is necessary for the district engineer to review activities to ensure only minimal adverse 
environmental effects. 
 
While the additional district engineer review is intended to ensure that activities will cause only 
minimal adverse environmental effects, it is not reasonable to expect that the district engineer 
review will consider the requirements of Idaho’s antidegradation implementation procedures 
(IDAPA 58.01.02.052) when making their determination. Consequently, DEQ cannot certify that 
activities requiring PCN under these NWPs would not cause degradation of water quality, and 
therefore cannot certify that these activities would meet Idaho’s antidegradation implementation 
procedures (IDAPA 58.01.02.052).  
 
Therefore, DEQ is denying certification for the following activities that require PCN under the 
proposed 2020 NWPs: 
 
NWP 3 – Maintenance 
 Activities Denied Certification 

 Activities authorized by paragraph (b) of NWP 3  
 

NWP 13 – Bank Stabilization 
 Activities Denied Certification: 

 activities involving discharge into special aquatic sites;  
 activities in excess of 500 linear feet;  
 activities that involve discharge of greater than one cubic yard per running foot 

measured along the length of the treated bank below the plane of the ordinary high 
water mark 
 

NWP 14 – Linear Transportation Projects 
 Activities Denied Certification: 

 activities resulting in the loss of waters of the United States in excess of 1/10 acre;  
 discharge in a special aquatic site, including wetlands 

   

3.2.2 NWPs 12, C, and D 
 



Idaho Department of Environmental Quality §401 Water Quality Certification 

2020 Nationwide Permits  15 

The 2017 NWP 12 included activities proposed to be permitted under the 2020 NWPs C and D.  
 
The 2017 NWP 12 required PCN for activities that, among other thresholds, involved 
mechanized clearing in forested wetlands, exceeded 500 linear feet, or that resulted in loss of 
greater than 1/10 acre of waters of the United States. The 2020 NWP proposes removal of these 
thresholds for PCN, and does not require additional review from the ACOE district engineer to 
ensure only minimal adverse environmental effects. 
 
Without the requirement for PCN and additional review from the district engineer, DEQ cannot 
certify that these activities will not result in degradation. Therefore, DEQ is denying certification 
for the following activities:    
 
NWP 12 – Oil or Natural Gas Pipeline Activities  

Activities Denied Certification:  
 activities that involve mechanized clearing of a wooded wetland;  
 oil or natural gas pipelines in waters of the United States that exceed 500 linear feet 

or that run adjacent to a water body for greater than 500 linear feet;  
 activities where discharge will result in loss of greater than 1/10-acre, as determined 

by ACOE, of waters of the United States   
 

NWP C – Electric Utility Line and Telecommunications Activities 
Activities Denied Certification:  
 activities that involve mechanized clearing of a wooded wetland;  
 electric utility line and telecommunications activities in waters of the United States 

that exceed 500 linear feet;  
 activities where discharge will result in loss of greater than 1/10-acre, as determined 

by ACOE, of waters of the United States   
 
NWP D – Utility Line Activities for Water and Other Substances  

Activities Denied Certification:  
 activities that involve mechanized clearing of a wooded wetland;  
 utility line activities in waters of the United States that exceed 500 linear feet;  
 activities where discharge will result in loss of greater than 1/10-acre, as determined 

by ACOE, of waters of the United States   
 

3.2.3 NWPs 21, 29, 39, 40, 42, 43, 44, 50, 51, 52, and E 
 
The 2017 NWPs for the following activities had a 300 linear foot limit for losses of stream bed. 
The 2020 NWP proposes removal of the 300 linear foot limit for losses of stream bed and instead 
rely solely on the ½ acre limit.  
 
The median bankfull width measured from 48 wadeable streams monitored in 2010 as part of 
DEQ’s Beneficial Use reconnaissance Program (BURP) was 19.7 feet. A loss of ½ acre at this 
stream width would correspond to 1,105 linear feet of loss, or the equivalent of 0.2 miles of 
stream. DEQ cannot certify that losses of this magnitude of stream bed, or that losses of stream 



Idaho Department of Environmental Quality §401 Water Quality Certification 

2020 Nationwide Permits  16 

bed based solely on the ½ acre limit, would not result in permanent degradation. Therefore, DEQ 
is denying certification for the following activities that exceed the 300 linear foot limit 
previously imposed by the 2017 NWP:  

 
NWP 21 – Surface Coal Mining Activities 
 Activities Denied Certification: 

 activities resulting in loss in excess of 300 linear feet of streambed 
 activities resulting in loss in excess of ½ acre of jurisdictional wetlands 

 
NWP 29 – Residential Developments 
 Activities Denied Certification: 

 activities resulting in loss in excess of 300 linear feet of streambed 
 activities resulting in loss in excess of ½ acre of jurisdictional wetlands 

 
NWP 39 – Commercial and Institutional Developments 
 Activities Denied Certification: 

 activities resulting in loss in excess of 300 linear feet of streambed 
 activities resulting in loss in excess of ½ acre of jurisdictional wetlands 

 
NWP 40 – Agricultural Activities 
 Activities Denied Certification: 

 activities resulting in loss in excess of 300 linear feet of streambed 
 activities resulting in loss in excess of ½ acre of jurisdictional wetlands 

 
NWP 42 – Recreational Facilities 
 Activities Denied Certification: 

 activities resulting in loss in excess of 300 linear feet of streambed 
 activities resulting in loss in excess of ½ acre of jurisdictional wetlands 

 
NWP 43 – Stormwater Management Facilities 
 Activities Denied Certification: 

 activities resulting in loss in excess of 300 linear feet of streambed 
 activities resulting in loss in excess of ½ acre of jurisdictional wetlands 

 
NWP 44 – Mining Activities 
 Activities Denied Certification: 

 activities resulting in loss in excess of 300 linear feet of streambed 
 activities resulting in loss in excess of ½ acre of jurisdictional wetlands 

 
NWP 50 – Underground Coal Mining Activities 
 Activities Denied Certification: 

 activities resulting in loss in excess of 300 linear feet of streambed 
 activities resulting in loss in excess of ½ acre of jurisdictional wetlands 

 
NWP 51 – Land Based Renewable Energy Generation Facilities 



Idaho Department of Environmental Quality §401 Water Quality Certification 

2020 Nationwide Permits  17 

 Activities Denied Certification: 
 activities resulting in loss in excess of 300 linear feet of streambed 
 activities resulting in loss in excess of ½ acre of jurisdictional wetlands 

 
NWP 52 – Water-Based Renewable Energy Generation Pilot Projects 
 Activities Denied Certification: 

 activities resulting in loss in excess of 300 linear feet of streambed 
 activities resulting in loss in excess of ½ acre of jurisdictional wetlands 

 
NWP E – Water Reclamation and Reuse Facilities 

Activities Denied Certification:  
 activities resulting in loss in excess of 300 linear feet of streambed 
 activities resulting in loss in excess of ½ acre of jurisdictional wetlands 

 

4 Right to Appeal Final Certification 

The final Section 401 Water Quality Certification may be appealed by submitting a petition to 
initiate a contested case, pursuant to Idaho Code § 39-107(5) and the “Rules of Administrative 
Procedure before the Board of Environmental Quality” (IDAPA 58.01.23), within 35 days of the 
date of the final certification. 

Questions or comments regarding the actions taken in this certification should be directed to 
Jason Pappani, State Office IDEQ, at (208) 373-0515 or via email at 
jason.pappani@deq.idaho.gov. 
 

  

 Mary Anne Nelson, PhD 

 Surface and Wastewater Division 
Administrator 

 



 
 
 

 

 

 

Brad Little, Governor 
Jess Byrne, Director 

1410 N Hilton Street, Boise, ID 83706 
(208) 373-0502 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: James Joyner, Chief, Upper Snake and Idaho Panhandle Branch, U.S. Army Corps 
of Engineers 

FROM: Mary Anne Nelson, Surface and Wastewater Division Administrator of the 
Department of Environmental Quality 

DATE: 01/10/23 

SUBJECT: 2020 Final § 401 Water Quality Certification Contact and Hyperlink Updates  

The Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) is submitting an update for agency contacts 
and hyperlinks to be included as an attachment to the § 401 Water Quality Certification dated 
December 4, 2020, upon authorization of a federal permit or license. 
 

Table 1. DEQ state and regional office contacts. 

Regional Office Address Phone Number Email 

Boise  1445 N. Orchard St., 
Boise, ID 83706 

(208) 373-0490 chase.cusack@deq.idaho.gov 

Coeur d’Alene 2110 Ironwood Parkway, 
Coeur d’Alene, ID 83814 

(208) 666-4605 chantilly.higbee@deq.idaho.gov  

Idaho Falls 900 N. Skyline, Suite B., 
Idaho Falls, ID 83402 

(208) 528-2679 alex.bell@deq.idaho.gov  

Lewiston 1118 “F” St.,  
Lewiston, ID 83501 

(208) 799-4874 sujata.connell@deq.idaho.gov  

Pocatello 444 Hospital Way, #300 
Pocatello, ID 83201 

(208) 239-5007 matthew.schenk@deq.idaho.gov  

Twin Falls 650 Addison Ave. W., 
Suite 110,  
Twin Falls, ID 83301 

(208) 737-3877 sean.woodhead@deq.idaho.gov 

State Office 1410 N. Hilton St.,  
Boise, ID 83706 

(208) 373-0570 tambra.phares@deq.idaho.gov  

 
  

mailto:kati.carberry@deq.idaho.gov
mailto:june.bergquist@deq.idaho.gov
mailto:alex.bell@deq.idaho.gov
mailto:sujata.connell@deq.idaho.gov
mailto:matthew.schenk@deq.idaho.gov
mailto:sean.woodhead@deq.idaho.gov
mailto:tambra.phares@deq.idaho.gov


2020 Final § 401 Water Quality Certification Contact and Hyperlink Updates 
1/10/2023 
Page 2 of 2 

 

 

Table 2. Updated hyperlinks. 

Section  Hyperlink 

1.2 Integrated Report  

1.2 Final 2022 Integrated Report Interactive Mapper 

2.1 Catalog of Storm Water Best Management Practices 

2.2 Approved TMDLs 

2.8 
Guidance for the Use of Wood Preservatives and Preserved Wood Products In 
or Around Aquatic Environments 

2.8 
Best Management Practices for the Use of Treated Wood in Aquatic and 
Wetland Environments 

 

Please direct questions or comments about the actions taken in the 2020 Final § 401 Water 
Quality Certification to Tambra Phares, State Office DEQ, (208) 373-0187, or email at 
tambra.phares@deq.idaho.gov. 
 

APPROVAL:          01/10/2023  
 Mary Anne Nelson, PhD     Date 
 Department of Environmental Quality 
 Surface and Wastewater Division Administrator 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

https://www.deq.idaho.gov/water-quality/surface-water/monitoring-and-assessment/
https://www.deq.idaho.gov/water-quality/surface-water/monitoring-and-assessment/
https://www2.deq.idaho.gov/admin/LEIA/api/document/download/14968
https://www.deq.idaho.gov/water-quality/surface-water/total-maximum-daily-loads/
https://www2.deq.idaho.gov/admin/LEIA/api/document/download/4838
https://www2.deq.idaho.gov/admin/LEIA/api/document/download/4838
https://www2.deq.idaho.gov/admin/LEIA/api/document/download/4838
http://preservedwood.org/portals/0/documents/BMP.pdf
http://preservedwood.org/portals/0/documents/BMP.pdf
mailto:tambra.phares@deq.idaho.gov


 
Mailing Address:  P.O. Box 1066, McCall, ID  83638 

Physical Address:  706 North First St., McCall, ID  83638 
  

STEVEN J. MILLEMANN (sjm@mpmplaw.com)  TELEPHONE (208) 634-7641 
AMY N. PEMBERTON (amy@mpmplaw.com)  FACSIMILE (208) 634-4516 
AMY K. HOLM (aholm@mpmplaw.com)  
 

OBJECTION TO FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND DECISION 
 

October 3, 2023 
 
City of McCall 
Brian Parker 
Planning & Zoning Commission 
216 East Park Street 
McCall, Idaho 83638 
 
Re: Appeal of FPDP-23-01 Floodplain Development Permit Application for River’s Crossing 
Lot 19 Block 2, Application filed January 23, 2023, Administrative Denial emailed March 31, 
2023 
 
Dear Mr. Brian Parker and Planning & Zoning Commission: 

 On behalf of our clients Dwain and Cindy Sanders, we provide this written Objection to 
the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Decision as drafted by City staff and dated 
October 3, 2023.  Our Objection is based on the following: 

1. The Sanders object to the findings of fact contained on page 6 under subparagraph 1. 
“The placement of fill will create harm as defined under McCall Code Section 
3.7.023(C)(2).” This objection is based on the grounds that this finding wholly ignores 
the McCall City Code as it applies to the process for developing in the Shoreline and 
River Environs Zone (MCC 3.7.020) which allows such development with a 404 permit 
having been issued or when such permit is forthcoming from the army corps of engineers 
and if a permit requirement is not met, the City may revoke its approval.  MCC 
3.7.023(B)(3).  The Sanders also reserve their argument on appeal that the Shoreline and 
River Environs Zone code section does not apply until the Sanders develop a single-
family home.   

2. McCall City Code governs a process for filling of wetlands set forth in MCC 9.8.042 and 
MCC 9.8.043 which clearly provides a path for the Sanders to go through the process of a 
map amendment to bring the very small area in the wetland (.15 acres of a parcel sized at 
5.29 acres) and raise that area to remap it out of wetland designation. 

mailto:sjm@mpmplaw.com
mailto:amy@mpmplaw.com
mailto:aholm@mpmplaw.com


2 – October 3, 2023 - OBJECTION TO FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND DECISION 
 
 

 
 Page 2 

3. The Administrator’s interpretation that the filling of wetlands is unconditionally defined 
as harm under MCC 3.7.023(C)(2) is inconsistent with a broader reading of McCall City 
Code.  Yes “harm” is defined to include (among other things) the filing of wetlands.  But 
that code section must be read to mean the filling of wetlands without a 404 Permit and 
without following the process of map amendment and the federally recognized process 
and standard procedure of map amendment called a Letter of Map Amendment (LOMA) 
from FEMA.  That process starts with a conditional Letter of Map Revision (CLOMR), 
then the physical raising of the level of the property (here a very small area at .15 acres), 
then only upon approval from FEMA a final LOMA which would adjust the special flood 
hazard boundary slightly to be consistent with neighboring properties.   

4. The Sanders object to the Conclusion of Law #1 “The City of McCall has provided for 
the processing of Floodplain Development Permits Applications, pursuant to Title 9, 
Chapter 8 of McCall City Code” because the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and 
Decision as drafted by City staff and dated October 3, 2023 fails to follow those 
processes and the clearly establish method of a 404 permit, LOMA and CLOMR process. 
  

5. The Sanders object to the Conclusion of Law #3 “The application does not meet the 
standards for granting of a Floodplain Development Permit” and object to the Planning & 
Zoning Commission upholding the City Administrator’s denial of the floodplain 
development permit application, and they rely on the robust written record and oral 
presentation in its Appeal of the City’s Administrator’s decision denying the application 
and the Planning & Zoning public hearing held on September 12, 2023. 

6. The findings are error as a matter of law, contrary to the evidence on record, and are 
arbitrary and capricious.   

 
      Sincerely, 
 
      Steven J. Millemann 
      Amy K. Holm 
      On Behalf of Dwain and Cindy Sanders 
  

 
 



221 Morgan Dr.
Lot 19, Block 2 Rivers Crossing Sub

Appeal of FPDP-23-01
Dwain and Cindy Sanders
Represented by: Amy Holm, MPH



Appeal of Planning and Zoning 
Commission’s Findings

P&Z denied the Floodplain Development 
Permit Application 

City Administrator denied application
The Floodplain Development Permit 

Application should be GRANTED because 
MCC allows this exact process



Approval to fill portion of Property with soil to 
raise elevation of property

1. entire chapter on how to build in 1%, 
SFHA (“100-year flood” 1% annual chance)
2.  but then a 50-foot set back from SFHA
3.  remap it with FEMA approval



Owners hold a 404 Permit from the 
Army Corps of Engineers

Nationwide Permit
MCC requires Administrator to work with owners 

on CLOMR requests
Title IX, Chapter 8 expressly has a floodplain 

development permit process which the owners 
have followed



Property stats

Rivers Crossing Subdivision

5.29 acres

2.7 delineated wetlands

FEMA designation “Special Flood Hazard 
Area” 



CLOMR (Conditional Letter of Map 
Revision)
 Minor revision of FEMA Map after placement of small amount of fill

Map revision has to be approved by FEMA
 Bring this property into consistency with adjoining properties

 Raise level of property to remove it from Special Flood Hazard Area
 CLOMR process expressly allowed under MCC 9.8.042(A)(13)
 13. Letter Of Map Amendment: When the lowest floor and the lowest adjacent 

grade of a structure or the lowest ground elevation of a parcel in a special flood 
hazard area (SFHA) is above the base flood elevation (BFE), advise the property 
owner of the option to apply for a Letter of Map Amendment (LOMA) from FEMA. 
Maintain a copy of the LOMA issued by FEMA in the floodplain development permit 
file



Then install the fill….

Then apply for LOMA (Letter of Map 
Amendment) – FEMA process











Floodplain 
Develop.
Permit

January 23, 2023 – applicant 
filed for a permit to place fill 
in .48 acres of property of 
which .15 acres is shrub/scrub 
wetlands 

March 31, 2023 –
Administrative Denial

November 13, 2023 –
P&Z Denial



MCC 9.8.033

A floodplain development permit shall be 

required in conformance with the provisions of 

this chapter prior to the commencement of any 

development activities within special flood 

hazard areas

Development activities include fill under 

definition found in that code section 



Floodplain Development 
(9.8.043)

Appears that denial of permit found no 
grounds of denial on the actual floodplain 
development code section governing 
Floodplain development permits

Application meets requirements of 
ordinance



Title comparison:
MCC 9.8
(Flood Control 
Regulations)

 “Filling” wetlands within Special Flood Hazard 
Area in order to obtain a CLOMR

 Legitimate federal process to do just that

 9.8.042 – Floodplain Development Permit 
Applications reviewed by Administrator (City 
Planner)

MCC 3.7.020
(Shoreline & River 
Environs)

 This ordinance does not apply (because not 
currently building a structure in special flood 
hazard area)

 MCC 3.7.022 (B) No building and no land filling 
shall be permitted within a floodway and no 
building within an area of special flood hazard 
as such terms are defined in title IX, chapter 8, 
"Flood Control Regulations (Overlay)", of this 
code, unless the applicant complies with the 
standards set forth in that chapter.

 When Sanders build, subject to Shoreline and 
River Environs standards

 Even if the Shoreline & River Environs applies, 
NO finding of harm supported in the record



3.7.020: Shoreline and River Environs Zone 

PURPOSE:

Payette Lake and the North Fork of the Payette River are critical 

economic resources of the planning jurisdiction, because they 

are the distinguishing features of this area making it a 

destination resort for tourists and summer residents. It is 

therefore the purpose of this section 3.7.02 to regulate 

development along and alterations of the shoreline of Payette 

Lake and the banks and immediate vicinity of the Payette River 

in order to protect and maintain water quality, fish and wildlife 

habitat, edge and forest habitat, vistas, and public visual and 

physical access. (Ord. 821, 2-23-2006, eff. 3-16-2006)

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/mccallid/latest/mccall_id/0-0-0-1349#JD_3.7.02


If MCC 3.7.023 applies, standards can 
be met:

 Prohibitions: No construction, alteration or activity shall cause harm to:

 a. Water quality.

 b. Fish and aquatic habitats.

 c. Wetlands.

 d. Significant wildlife habitat harboring any threatened or endangered species.

 e. Views of, from, or across a lake or river.

 f. To this end, all applications for building permits within this overlay zone, no matter 
what the permit may be for, shall be accompanied by a plan for the installation of appropriate 
natural, storm, and melt water drainage and treatment facilities. Such plans for natural, 
storm and melt water drainage of the property and on and through the property, shall be 
consistent with best management practices under state and federal storm and melt water 
regulatory programs to which the city is subject and consistent with other city programs in 
these regards to the satisfaction of the city.



“Harm” 3.7.023
2. Harm Defined: "Harm" for these purposes means:

a. The creation of conditions which foster runoff of, or other source of fertilizers, toxic substances, or other 
pollutants or contaminants, into the water;

b. The excessive clearing of natural vegetation or change of natural landforms within the area between the water 
pool shore contour or high water mark and the fifty foot (50') building setback line;

c. The removal, burial, or destruction in whole or part of boulders, sandy beaches, rocky shores, or other features 
of the water pool shore contour or high water mark, the land below the same, or the immediate upland edge;

d. The filling or dredging of lake bottom or wetlands;

e. The erection of visual barriers between the lake or river and the roads on the uplands, beyond the extent 
reasonably necessary for an owner's usage of the land for a permitted use; or

f. The creation of any other condition which would be inconsistent with best management practices under, or 
threaten a violation of, state and federal storm and melt water regulatory programs to which the city is subject, or fail 
otherwise to be consistent with other city programs in these regards, all as established to the satisfaction of the city.



3.7.023: REQUIREMENTS FOR DEVELOPMENT:

(B) Permit Criteria: No conditional use or building permit shall be issued, nor is any 

development, grading, or alteration of any land within this zone permitted, unless the 

applicant establishes to the satisfaction of the commission and council in the case of a 

conditional use, or of the administrator in the case of a building permit, that:

. . . 

3.       A letter is on file from a specialist certified by the United States army 

corps of engineers wetlands expert that certifies that no wetlands related 

issues or issues related to fill of navigable waters issues were presented by 

the proposed development; or that a section 404 permit has been issued or is 

forthcoming by the corps of engineers, whichever is appropriate, city 

approval(s) under this title and title IX of this code are contingent upon all 

applicable section 404 permit requirements being met; if a permit requirement 

is not met, the city may revoke its approval(s) under this title and title IX of 

this code



Experts – Forsgren Associates Inc.
July 17, 2023 Report
Patrick Wickman
 Proposed impacts are 0.15 acres would affect scrub-shrub 

wetlands located away from the River
 Runoff – stormwater and site control best management 

practices would surround area of disturbance to protect 
adjacent wetlands
Hundreds of feet from Payette River
Erosion control 

Proposed stormwater management basins (6 total), silt 
fence, catch basins, etc.

Stabilized construction



Natural vegetation

 Designed to avoid wetlands, minimize impacts to higher 
value wetlands

Only impact wetlands permitted by agencies
 Significant areas to retain existing vegetation
 Remove shrubby and dead aspens 



Removal, burial and destruction of features of 

the water pool shore contour or high water mark, 

the land below the same, or the immediate 

upland edge

 Highwater mark has no proximity to Little Payette River
 in this case means the special flood hazard area
 Arbitrary definition as applied here 
 Not on banks of Payette River



Conclusion that any placement of 
fill in wetlands constitutes harms, 
regardless of whether done 
pursuant to a valid 404 Permit, is 
error as matter of law and arbitrary 
and capricious



Because….

Other processes under MCC

MCC 3.7.023(B)(3)

A SECTION 404 PERMIT HAS BEEN ISSUED



Request:
Reverse administrative and P&Z denial

Grant the Sanders’ Floodplain 
Development Permit Application

Thank you. 



FPDP-23-01 – 221 Morgan 
Drive

Floodplain Development 
Permit

Brian Parker, City Planner, Floodplain Administrator

February 8, 2023



Application History

• VAR-20-01/ROS-20-22/SH-20-03
• Request to waive the fifty foot (50’) setback requirement from the ordinary high water mark to 

facilitate the construction of, 4,080 square foot residence, 4,195 square feet of patio space, 2,941 
square feet of detached garage, and 747 square foot accessory dwelling unit

• Denied February 25, 2021

• Applicant submitted Floodplain Development Permit and Conditional Letter of Map Amendment with Fill 
(CLOMR-F) Applications on January 23, 2023.
• Administrative Denial issued March 31, 2023
• Appealed to McCall Area Planning & Zoning Commission on April 10, 2023
• Decision upheld by Planning & Zoning Commission on September 12, 2023. Findings of Fact 

approved November 7, 2023
• Appealed to McCall City Council on November 17, 2023



Criteria for Granting FPDP

Certification that all other local, State, and Federal permits required prior 
to floodplain development permit issuance have been received.



Abrogation

• McCall Code Section 9.8.031:
This chapter shall apply to all special flood hazard areas within the jurisdiction 
of the City of McCall. Nothing in this chapter is intended to allow uses or 
structures that are otherwise prohibited by the Zoning Ordinance.

• McCall Code Section 9.8.035:
This chapter shall not in any way repeal, abrogate, impair, or remove the 
necessity of compliance with any other laws, ordinances, regulations, 
easements, covenants, or deed restrictions, etcetera. However, where this 
chapter and another conflict or overlap, whichever imposes more stringent or 
greater restrictions shall control.



All Local Permits

• McCall Code Section 3.8.02(G):
Building Permit Required: Until a valid building permit has been issued 
by the city of McCall, no construction work, including grading, blasting, 
filling, trenching, tree removal, etc., may be started, except as permitted 
in section 3.8.03 of this chapter.



Shoreline and River Environs Zone (3.7.021)

The lands between the water pool shore contour of the named lakes and the high water mark of the other named water 
bodies below, and a line parallel to and one hundred fifty feet (150') away from the water pool shore contour or high 
water mark, except on lots fronting East Lake Street in McCall, where it shall be to Mill Road, but no more than three 
hundred feet (300'):

(A)   Payette Lake.

(B)   North Fork of the Payette River.

(C)   Little Payette Lake and tributaries.

(D)   Lake Fork Creek below Little Payette Lake.

The above environs together with so much of the land below such line or high water mark as is affected by a use addressed 
in this chapter. If any portion of a structure lies within this zone, then the total structure shall be deemed to be within this 
zone. Docks, landfills, retaining walls, and other uses addressed in this section 3.7.02 shall be deemed within and 
regulated by this zone without regard to whether all or any part thereof also falls within the "navigable water zone" as 
defined in this chapter.



Water Pool 
Shore Contours 
and High Water 
Marks 
(3.7.023(B)(2))
“…in the case of river environs, 
shall mean the limits of the area 
of special flood hazard.”



Criteria for Shoreline Development

• McCall Code Section 3.7.022(B):

No conditional use or building permit shall be issued, nor is any development, grading, or alteration of any land within this zone permitted, unless the applicant 
establishes to the satisfaction of the commission and council in the case of a conditional use, or of the administrator in the case of a building permit, that:

1. The proposed development meets all applicable requirements of this title and title IX of this code.

2. The plans accurately identify the water pool shore contours and high water marks, which, in the case of river environs, shall mean the limits of the area 
of special flood hazard.

3. A letter is on file from a specialist certified by the United States army corps of engineers wetlands expert that certifies that no wetlands related issues or 
issues related to fill of navigable waters issues were presented by the proposed development; or that a section 404 permit has been issued or is 
forthcoming by the corps of engineers, whichever is appropriate, city approval(s) under this title and title IX of this code are contingent upon all 
applicable section 404 permit requirements being met; if a permit requirement is not met, the city may revoke its approval(s) under this title and title IX of 
this code.

4. The requirements of the underlying zone are met.

5. The fifty foot (50') building setback line is met per subsection (C)3(c) of this section.

6. Proof of stormwater certification training has been provided by the individual applying for the building permit.



Criteria for Shoreline Development

• McCall Code Section 3.7.022(C)(1):
No construction, alteration or activity shall cause harm to:

a. Water quality.

b. Fish and aquatic habitats.

c. Wetlands.

d. Significant wildlife habitat harboring any threatened or endangered species.

e. Views of, from, or across a lake or river.

f. To this end, all applications for building permits within this overlay zone, no matter what the permit may be for, shall be 
accompanied by a plan for the installation of appropriate natural, storm, and melt water drainage and treatment facilities. Such
plans for natural, storm and melt water drainage of the property and on and through the property, shall be consistent with best 
management practices under state and federal storm and melt water regulatory programs to which the city is subject and 
consistent with other city programs in these regards to the satisfaction of the city.



Harm (3.7.023(C)(2))
"Harm" for these purposes means:

The creation of conditions which foster runoff of, or other source of 
fertilizers, toxic substances, or other pollutants or contaminants, into 
the water;

The excessive clearing of natural vegetation or change of natural 
landforms within the area between the water pool shore contour or 
high water mark and the fifty foot (50') building setback line;

The removal, burial, or destruction in whole or part of boulders, sandy 
beaches, rocky shores, or other features of the water pool shore 
contour or high water mark, the land below the same, or the 
immediate upland edge;

The filling or dredging of lake bottom or wetlands;

The erection of visual barriers between the lake or river and the roads 
on the uplands, beyond the extent reasonably necessary for an 
owner's usage of the land for a permitted use; or

The creation of any other condition which would be inconsistent with 
best management practices under, or threaten a violation of, state and 
federal storm and melt water regulatory programs to which the city is 
subject, or fail otherwise to be consistent with other city programs in 
these regards, all as established to the satisfaction of the city.





In Conclusion

• The application is to place fill within the area of special flood 
hazard associated with the North Fork of the Payette River.
• The application is within the Shoreline and River Environs Zone.
• The presence of a floodplain development permit application process 

does not abrogate the remainder of McCall Code.

• The application is to place fill within wetlands.
• The application involves the burial of boulders, sandy beaches, 

rocky shores, or other features of the water pool shore contour or 
high water mark and land below the immediate upland edge.

• The application involves excessive clearing of natural vegetation.



BLANK PAGE



McCALL CITY COUNCIL 216 East Park Street 

AGENDA BILL McCall, Idaho 83638 

Number AB 24-072 

Meeting Date April 4, 2024   
 

AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION 

SUBJECT:  

 

City Manager Recruitment Update and 

direction to staff 

Department Approvals Initials 

Originator  

or 

Supporter 

Mayor / Council   

City Manager   

Clerk  Originator 

Treasurer   

Community Development   

Police Department   

Public Works   

Golf Course   

COST IMPACT:  Parks and Recreation   

FUNDING 

SOURCE: 

 Airport   

Library   

TIMELINE:  Information Systems   

Grant Coordinator   

SUMMARY STATEMENT: 

The Recruiter with Peckham & McKinney, Tara Schultz, has reached out to staff with an update 

on the status of the City Manager recruitment. Ms. Schultz is recommending a change to the 

recruitment document, particularly The Compensation section. Interim City Manager Kushlan 

will give an update to Council and a recommendation regarding the recruitment document. 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

Council direction on City Manager Recruitment  

RECORD OF COUNCIL ACTION 

MEETING DATE ACTION 
  

  
 



City Manager 
City of McCall, Idaho



The Community
Nestled in Idaho’s picturesque west 
central mountains, McCall is a vibrant 
resort town approximately 100 miles 
north of Boise. McCall is known for 
its small-town charm and friendly, 
welcoming atmosphere. Named after 
its founder, Tom McCall, the city 
is situated on the southern shore of 
beautiful Payette Lake at 5,021 feet in 
elevation and is bordered by towering, 
pine-covered mountains averaging 
8,000-9,000 feet tall. As the largest 
city in rural Valley County, McCall 
encompasses 10 square miles and 
has a population of approximately 
3,686 residents that can more than 
triple during the summer months, 
special events and holidays. Founded 
on forestry, mining, and agriculture, 
industry that is still an integral 
part of the community’s economy, 
McCall today is an all-season tourist 
destination for outdoor recreation and 
adventure enthusiasts.

With the highest average snowfall 
in the state, McCall is known in the 
winter for its snowmobiling and alpine, 
Nordic and backcountry skiing. Area 
ski resorts boast a combined 2,600 

skiable acres featuring vertical drops 
ranging from 1,800 to 2,800 feet. Its 
annual Winter Carnival has grown 
into an iconic Idaho event. Carnival 
goers are captivated by snow sculptures, 
Torchlight and Mardi Gras Parades, 
live music, comedy shows, art auctions, 
the Idaho Sled Dog Challenge 
(Iditarod qualifier), and more.

In the summer, McCall’s warm, 
sunny days and cool nights provide 
the perfect setting to enjoy outdoor 
music, lakeside public parks, the 
annual July 4th Lakeside Liberty 
Fest, and water-related activities on 
Payette Lake. The north fork of the 
Payette River flows through McCall 
and offers fishing and floating in town 
and world class whitewater rapids to 
the south. Payette Lake is flanked by 
soaring pines and lush wetlands that 
provide excellent opportunities for 
wildlife viewing. There are numerous 
hiking and mountain biking trails in 

and around McCall, as well as five 
golf courses in the area. Residents of 
McCall value this precious resource and 
are enthusiastic about protecting this 
beautiful environment and being part 
of the solution to preserve it for future 
generations.

Residents of McCall enjoy a high 
quality of life with many amenities, 
including shopping, dining and cultural 
opportunities, and an excellent school 
system (America’s Top 1,000 High 
Schools). Additionally, McCall has 
a full-service hospital and medical 
clinic within the St. Luke’s network, 
municipal general aviation airport, 
a nationally recognized municipal 
golf course, and a wide range of 
city-sponsored recreation and sports 
opportunities.

McCall is strongly influenced by the 
large number of second homes and the 
involvement of seasonal residents in the 
community. There is strong community 
engagement from year-round residents, 
and it has long been understood that if 
a need is not being met in McCall, then 
there is a ready group of volunteers that 
will work together to meet that need.

For more information about the  
City of McCall, please visit  
http://www.mccall.id.us.

The Organization
The McCall City Council is made up 
of 5 council members whose mayor 
is elected by the council from among 
its membership for a two-year term 
of office. The City of McCall operates 
under the Council-Manager form 
of government with a City Manager 
appointed by the City Council, 
responsible for implementing the 
City Council’s policies and goals, and 
managing the day-to-day operations of 
the City. The City’s values are reflected 
in its Mission and Vision Statements:

http://www.mccall.id.us


The Position
This position is a 
wonderful and exciting 
career and a lifestyle 
opportunity for an 
individual with the 
expectation of becoming 
part of the fabric of the community, 
actively involved with and easily 
accessible to the residents. The ideal 
City Manager will have a close, 
trusting working relationship with 
the City Council, City staff, the 
community at large, and state and 
regional partners (e.g., special service 
districts for wastewater and Fire/EMS, 
the National Forest Service, County, 
Tribal, and others). The City is seeking 
an experienced, professional leader that 
values integrity, unquestionable honesty, 
and community. Applicants should 
be experienced in the policy areas of 
financial stewardship, community 
planning and infrastructure, 
community engagement, environmental 
stewardship, emergency planning, and 
workforce housing particularly in a 
year-round resort community.

The incoming City Manager will inherit 
an excellent team of strong, creative, and 
experienced Department Heads who 
are accustomed to being full partners 
in the planning and decision-making 
for the organization. The City Manager 
will be expected to foster a collaborative 
and respectful work environment with 
Department Heads and City staff, as 
well as the City Council. The ideal 
candidate should be a natural people 
person, approachable, genuine, and easy 

Information Systems, and City 
Manager (including Communications 
and Human Resources). The General 
Fund budget for Fiscal-Year 2024 (Oct 
– Sept) is $11.4 million with the Total 
Budget (including special revenue and 
enterprise funds) being $44.1 million. 
The total budget is approximately 50% 
Operational and 50% Capital.

The City is known for award-winning 
planning, and has a track record for 
successful implementation of its plans. 
The City has adopted the McCall Area 
Comprehensive Plan, numerous Master 
Plans, a Municipal Fiber Utility 
Strategic Plan, an ADA Transition 
Plan, as well as various other planning 
documents and has begun its Climate 
Action Plan process. Several of these 
plans have won state and national 
level American Planning Association 
awards. The team has been successful at 
writing and receiving state and federal 
grant funds and executing cutting-
edge projects. The City is nearing 
completion of their Downtown Core 
infrastructure and streetscape project 
and the new public library building, 
after which the City will begin 
construction of a new community 
meeting space and Council Chambers. 
Additionally, a revenue bond measure 
is scheduled for the May ballot to fund 
improvement and expansion of water 
treatment and storage facilities. A top 
priority for the City Council is local 
workforce housing, and coordinating 
and maintaining close working 
relationships with regional agencies 
is key to the success of these future 
housing projects.

• Our Economy - Support 
public agencies, local businesses, 
entrepreneurship, and recreational 
tourism, while providing a variety of 
housing types to meet varied income 
levels and stages of life. 

• Our Connections - Foster a sense 
of exploration and seek to enhance 
the recreational experience and 
mobility within the City for visitors 
and residents through safe walkable 
places, diverse transportation modes, 
and efficient transit choices.

The City of McCall is a full-service 
city employing approximately 80 
dedicated and award-winning staff. 
The organization is comprised of 
eleven departments consisting of: 
Police, Community & Economic 
Development, Public Works (including 
Streets, and Water), City Clerk, 
Finance, Parks and Recreation, 
Airport, Library, Golf Course, 

• Our Vision - McCall is a diverse, 
small town united to maintain a 
safe, clean, healthy, and attractive 
environment. It is a friendly, 
progressive community that is 
affordable and sustainable. 

• Our Character - Encourage the 
mountain character that is unique 
to McCall, representing a small-
town feel, while highlighting the 
natural setting and a quality-built 
environment. 



The Recruitment 
Process
To apply for this exciting career 
opportunity, please visit our website at:

Peckham & McKenney
www.peckhamandmckenney.com
Resumes are acknowledged within two 
business days. Contact Tara Schultz 
at 626-644-1398 or 866-912-1919, if 
you have any questions regarding this 
position or the recruitment process.

Photos by the City of McCall, McCall Area 
Chamber of Commerce and Chad Chase.

to engage; an exceptional communicator; 
a motivational leader that is able to 
listen and guide their team; honest and 
forthright with the ability to hold those 
around them accountable and equally 
comfortable with being held accountable. 
As a key member and leader of the 
McCall team, it is important that the 
City Manager is a strategic thinker that 
is equally a creative problem solver and 
supporter of new ideas and innovations. 

The City Manager is likewise expected 
to foster a strong relationship with 
the community at large. As the “face 
of the City” and easily recognized 
in Town, residents are accustomed 
to easy access to the City Manager, 
and the incoming Manager should 
plan to embrace the role of listening 
to citizen concerns and actively 
addressing them. Moreover, the City 
Manager serves as the ambassador and 
liaison to the City’s regional partners 
and should be skilled at proactively 
fostering and maintaining positive 
external relationships. It is further 
important that the next City Manager 
be politically astute and an experienced 
legislative advocate for the City.

The position requires a Bachelor’s degree 
in public or business administration or a 
related field; Master’s degree preferred. 
Ten (10) years of experience in municipal 
government which must include at 
least: one (1) year as a City Manager; 

three (3) years as an Assistant/Deputy 
City Manager; or five (5) years in a 
Department Head or equivalent level 
position with supervisory experience; or 
any equivalent combination.  Residency 
is required within 12 months of the 
start date.

The Compensation 
The salary range for this City Manager 
opportunity is $132,800 to $182,000, 
with a mid point of $154,000, the 
anticipated hiring range is from 
$132,800 to $140,400. Appointment 
will be dependent upon qualifications 
and experience. The City provides an 
attractive benefits package, including 
Public Employee Retirement System 
of Idaho (PERSI); vacation and sick 
leave; health, dental, vision, and life 
insurance; a Health Reimbursement 
Account (HRA); and a voluntary 
Flexible Spending Account.

Search Schedule
Filing Deadline:  ............................................................ April 12, 2024

Preliminary Interviews:  ............................................ April 13-26, 2024

Recommendation of Candidates:  .......................................May 2, 2024 

Finalist Interview Process:  May 10 (Virtual) and May 23-25 (In-person)

These dates have been confirmed, and it is recommended 
that you plan your calendar accordingly.

www.peckhamandmckenney.com

www.peckhamandmckenney.com
www.peckhamandmckenney.com

	2024.04.04 Special City Council Meeting Packet w_Agenda
	2024.04.04 Special Meeting Agenda
	AB 24-070 CUP-23-07 Additional Questions
	CUP-23-07 Additional Questions docs combined.pdf
	1 2024-03-11 - Responses
	2 2024-03-11 - Response Attachments
	Attachment 10- MIle High Marina Spill Control and Response Plan 12-12-2023.pdf
	MBA Review MileHighMarina Spill Plan Draft, 12-12-2023 
	23023_Figure1-ShutOffLocations
	Sheets and Views
	8.5x11



	Attachment 7- The US National Blueprint for Transportation Decarbonization.pdf
	Executive Summary
	1. Introduction 
	a. Context & Vision
	b. Plan & Strategy
	2. A Whole-of-Government Approach
	a. The Agencies
	b. Guiding Principles
	c. The Levers
	3. Transportation Challenges Today
	a. Current Status
	b. Changing Mobility Needs
	c. Mobility Costs and Impact of Fuel Prices
	4. Strategies to Decarbonize Transportation
	a. Increasing Convenience by Implementing System-Level and Design Solutions
	b. Improving Efficiency through Mode Shift and More Efficient Vehicles
	c. Transitioning to Clean Options by Deploying Zero-Emission Vehicles and Fuels
	5. Applying the Strategies by Transportation Mode
	a. Light-Duty Vehicles
	b. Medium- and Heavy-Duty On-Road Trucks and Buses
	c. Off-Road Vehicles and Mobile Equipment
	d. Rail
	e. Maritime Vessels
	f. Aviation
	g. Pipelines
	6. Conclusion – A Call to Action

	Attachment 6-City Water Quality Reports.pdf
	2011 Water Quality Rpt
	2012 Water Quality Rpt
	2013 Water Quality Rpt
	2014 Water Quality Rpt
	2015 Water Quality Rpt
	2016 Water Quality Rpt
	2017 Water Quality Rpt
	2018 Drinking Water Quality Report
	2020 WATER QUALITY REPORT
	2019 Water Quality Rpt
	2021 Water Quality Rpt
	2022 Water Quality Rpt

	Attachment 5- ZyPDF-2010 exhaust and evaporative standrads.pdf
	Summary
	Which engines and vehicles are affected?
	What are the differences between the final rule and the proposed rule?
	Why is EPA regulating these engines, equipment, and vessels?
	What are the New Requirements?
	Small Nonroad Engines
	Marine spark-ignition engines and vessels
	Health and Environmental Benefits
	Costs
	For More Information

	Attachment 4- Valley Waterways Management Plan_FinalDraft.pdf
	Chapter 1: summary
	Introduction
	Framework
	A Living Document
	Outreach Highlights

	Chapter 2: Focus Area Current Trends
	Introduction
	Recreation
	Land Use
	Environmental Resources 
	Waterway Existing Conditions Highlights

	Chapter 3: The plan
	Introduction
	County-Wide Vision
	Waterway Specific Vision & Strategies

	Chapter 4: Adaptive Management Plan
	A Plan in Action 
	Adaptive Management Program
	Plan Implementation 

	References

	Attachment 3- Fay Wakesurfing Study.pdf
	Numerical Study of the Impact of Wake Surfing on Inland Bodies of Water
	Abstract
	Keywords
	1. Introduction
	2. Boat Generated Waves
	3. Computational Fluid Dynamic Analysis of Wake Surf Boat
	3.1. CFD Model Domains
	3.2. Computational Results
	3.3. Wave Shape and Group Velocity

	4. Experimental Field Data
	5. Wave Energy Attenuation
	6. Turbidity
	7. Wind and Waves
	8. Conclusions
	9. Epilogue
	Acknowledgements
	Conflicts of Interest
	References


	3 2024-03-12 - Slip Owners Survey - Redacted
	4 2024-03-12 - Waitlist Survey - Redacted
	5 Pontoons continue to lead in recreational boating sales _ Boating Industry
	6 CUP-23-07 - Additional Questions - Staff Analysis
	7 Re_ CUP Applicant Responses to Additional Questions - Mile High Marina
	8 EPA National Management Measures
	2001_10_30_nps_mmsp_marinas
	Cover
	Contents
	Tables
	BMP Summary Tables
	Figures

	Section 1: Introduction
	Section 2: Sources Of Water Pollution From Marinas and Recreational Boating
	Section 3: Nonpoint Source Pollution Ccontrol and Waterbody Characteristics
	Section 4: Management Measures
	Section 5: Determining Pollutant Loads
	Appendicies
	Bibliography
	Glossary

	2001_10_30_nps_mmsp_section1
	Cover
	Contents
	Section 1: Introduction
	Section 1 Contents


	2001_10_30_nps_mmsp_section2
	Cover
	Contents
	Section 2: Sources Of Water Pollution From Marinas and Recreational Boating
	Section 2 Contents


	2001_10_30_nps_mmsp_section3
	Cover
	Contents
	Section 3: Nonpoint Source Pollution Ccontrol and Waterbody Characteristics
	Section 3 Contents


	2001_10_30_nps_mmsp_section4
	Management Measures overview
	Section 4.1 Marina Flushing
	Section 4.2 Water Quality Assissment
	Section 4.3 Habitat Assessment
	Section 4.4 Shoreline and Stream Bank Stabilization
	Section 4.5 Storm Water Runoff Management
	Section 4.6 Fueling Station Design
	Section 4.7 Petroleum Control
	Section 4.8 Liquid Material Management
	Section 4.9 Solid Waste Management
	Section 4.10  Fish Waste Management
	Section 4.11 Sewage Facility Management
	Section 4.12 Maintenance of Sewage Facilities
	Section 4.13 Boat Cleaning
	Section 4.14 Boat Operation
	Section 4.15 Public Education

	2001_10_30_nps_mmsp_section5
	Cover
	Contents
	Section 5: Determining Pollutant Loads
	Section 5 Contents


	2001_10_30_nps_mmsp_bib-gloss
	Cover
	Contents
	Bibliography
	Glossary

	2001_10_30_nps_mmsp_appendices
	Cover
	Contents
	Appendicies
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Appendix E
	Appendix F





	AB 24-071 FPDP-03-01 Appeal
	City Briefs Combined.pdf
	1 2024-03-01 - Memo to City Council 3-1-24 Final
	2 2024.03.19 (Final) Reply to Sanders FPDP App Appeal

	Appelant Briefs Combined.pdf
	1 2024-03-01 - FPDP-23-01 Supplemental Brief
	2 2024-03-01 - EXHIBIT A Sanders Property Wetland Mitigation Plan
	1.0 INTRODUCTION
	1.1 Wetland Alternative Analysis


	3 2024-03-01 - EXHIBIT B Figure 2 - Mitigation Site Plan
	4 2024-03-01 -Exhibits Complete and Sequential 3-1-24
	5 2024-03-19 FDPD-23-01 Reply to Memo to City Council

	.FPDP-23-01 Appeal Packet.pdf
	1 2024-02-08 - Staff Memo
	2 Proof of Publication
	3 Affidavit of Mailing
	4 Affidavit of Posting
	5 Complete Floodplain Application, 2023-1-23_Redacted
	Flood Development Permit  App, signed
	Narrative in Support of Floodplain Development Application 2023-1-23 FINAL
	Exhibit 1
	Exhibit 2

	6 FPDP-23-01 - 221 Morgan Drive - Denied
	7 2023-4-10 Adminstrative Decision - Notice of appeal
	8 2023-07-18 - Environmental Memo
	1.0 purpose
	2.0 Location
	3.0 Background Research
	4.0 Field Reconnaissance
	5.0 Discussion
	6.0 conclusions
	7.0 references
	AttacHment 1 – Agency Coordination
	Attachment 2 – Site Photos
	Block 19 Lot 2 – Photo Key
	Attachment 3 – List of PLants Observed on SIte – June 9, 2023
	Attachment 3 – WETLANDS Permit DRAWINGS (August 2020)

	9 FEMA Panel 16085C0688C
	10 - River's Crossing Plat
	11 - Appeal FPDP-23-01 - 221 Morgan Drive - 2023-09-12
	Complete Floodplain Application, signed, 2023-1-23_Redacted.pdf
	Flood Development Permit  App, signed
	Narrative in Support of Floodplain Development Application 2023-1-23 FINAL
	Exhibit 1
	Exhibit 2

	2023-07-18 - Environmental Memo.pdf
	1.0 purpose
	2.0 Location
	3.0 Background Research
	4.0 Field Reconnaissance
	5.0 Discussion
	6.0 conclusions
	7.0 references
	AttacHment 1 – Agency Coordination
	Attachment 2 – Site Photos
	Block 19 Lot 2 – Photo Key
	Attachment 3 – List of PLants Observed on SIte – June 9, 2023
	Attachment 3 – WETLANDS Permit DRAWINGS (August 2020)


	12 Signed Minutes - P&Z - 2023-09-12
	13 FPDP-23-01 - Findings and Conclusions - 221 Morgan
	 Email received from Charles Petrock, dated September 12, 2023.

	14 2023-11-17 - Notice of Appeal
	15 VAR-20-01 2021.02.22 - Sanders
	16 VAR-20-01 application materials
	2020-8-31 P&Z Supplement to Exhibits
	200831 P&Z UPDATE small
	A2-3 P&Z SITE FEATURES

	200721 Sanders plans reduced
	201002 P&Z Site Visit Exhibits
	Supplemental Nartrative in Support of Variance Application, 2020-9-28

	17 Sanders - Lot 19 - Jt. Application Permits
	18 NW2020-00422-B03_NWP29_Doc_September_1_2020
	AUTHORITY
	PERMIT CONDITIONS
	GENERAL AND/OR REGIONAL PERMIT CONDITIONS
	WATER QUALITY CERTIFICATION
	COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATION
	LIMITATIONS OF THIS VERIFICATION
	EXPIRATION OF THIS VERIFICATION
	CUStOMER SERVICE

	19 RE_ Non-DoD Source Permit Renewal
	20 Sanders_CLOMR - 0 Cover Letter
	21 Sanders_CLOMR - 1 Project Narrative
	22 Sanders_CLOMR - 2 Topo Work Map
	23 Sanders_CLOMR - 3 Annotated FIRM
	24 Sanders_CLOMR - FEMA Form 1
	25 NWW-2020-00422_NWP_29
	NWW-2020-00422_NWP.pdf
	The following Special Conditions include:

	NWW-2020-00422_Designs.pdf
	NWP29_Permit Conditions
	NWP29_Permit Conditions.pdf
	NWP29
	NWP Permit Conditions Package

	Memo_2020 WQC Updates_20220106.pdf


	2024-2-8 City Council Presentation FPDP-23-01.pdf
	221 Morgan Dr.	�Lot 19, Block 2 Rivers Crossing Sub
	Appeal of Planning and Zoning Commission’s Findings
	Approval to fill portion of Property with soil to raise elevation of property��1. entire chapter on how to build in 1%, SFHA (“100-year flood” 1% annual chance)�2.  but then a 50-foot set back from SFHA�3.  remap it with FEMA approval� �
	Owners hold a 404 Permit from the Army Corps of Engineers
	Property stats	
	CLOMR (Conditional Letter of Map Revision)
	Then install the fill….	
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Floodplain �Develop.�Permit
	MCC 9.8.033
	Floodplain Development (9.8.043)
	Title comparison:
	3.7.020: Shoreline and River Environs Zone PURPOSE:����Payette Lake and the North Fork of the Payette River are critical economic resources of the planning jurisdiction, because they are the distinguishing features of this area making it a destination resort for tourists and summer residents. It is therefore the purpose of this section 3.7.02 to regulate development along and alterations of the shoreline of Payette Lake and the banks and immediate vicinity of the Payette River in order to protect and maintain water quality, fish and wildlife habitat, edge and forest habitat, vistas, and public visual and physical access. (Ord. 821, 2-23-2006, eff. 3-16-2006)�
	If MCC 3.7.023 applies, standards can be met:
	“Harm” 3.7.023
	3.7.023: REQUIREMENTS FOR DEVELOPMENT: ��(B)   Permit Criteria: No conditional use or building permit shall be issued, nor is any development, grading, or alteration of any land within this zone permitted, unless the applicant establishes to the satisfaction of the commission and council in the case of a conditional use, or of the administrator in the case of a building permit, that:����									. . . 
	Experts – Forsgren Associates Inc.�July 17, 2023 Report�Patrick Wickman
	Natural vegetation	
	Removal, burial and destruction of features of the water pool shore contour or high water mark, the land below the same, or the immediate upland edge
	Conclusion that any placement of fill in wetlands constitutes harms, regardless of whether done pursuant to a valid 404 Permit, is error as matter of law and arbitrary and capricious
	Because….��Other processes under MCC��MCC 3.7.023(B)(3)��A SECTION 404 PERMIT HAS BEEN ISSUED���
	Request:

	FPDP-23-01 – 221 Morgan Drive - Staff Presentation.pdf
	Slide 1: FPDP-23-01 – 221 Morgan Drive Floodplain Development Permit
	Slide 2: Application History
	Slide 3: Criteria for Granting FPDP
	Slide 4: Abrogation
	Slide 5: All Local Permits
	Slide 6: Shoreline and River Environs Zone (3.7.021)
	Slide 7: Water Pool Shore Contours and High Water Marks (3.7.023(B)(2))
	Slide 8: Criteria for Shoreline Development
	Slide 9: Criteria for Shoreline Development
	Slide 10: Harm (3.7.023(C)(2))
	Slide 11
	Slide 12: In Conclusion



	AB 24-072 CM Recruitment



